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PREFACE,

In the compilation of the History of Rice Cothsttt it has been the aim of the

Publishers to present a local history, comprising, in a single volume of convenient

form, a varied fund of information, not only of interest to the present, but from vrhich the

coming searcher for historic data may draw without the tedium incurred in its preparation.

There is always more or less difficulty, even in a historical work, in selecting those things

which will interest the greatest number of readers. Individual tastes differ so widely, that

what may be of absorbing interest to oiie, has no attractions for another. Some are inter-

ested in that which concerns themselves, and do not care to read of even the most thrilling

adventures where they were not participants. Such persons are apt to conclude that what

they are not interested in is of no value, and its preservation in history a useless expense.

In the settlement of a new County or a new Township, there is no one person entitled to all

the credit for what has been accomplished. Every individual is a part of the great whole,

and this work is prepared for the purpose of giving a general resume of what has thus far

been done to plant the civilization of the present century in Rice Coun"tt.

That our work is wholly errorless, or that nothing of interest has been omitted, is more

than we dare hope, and more than is reasonable to expect. In closing our labors we have

the gratifyino- consciousness of having used our utmost endeavors in securing reliable data,

and feel no hesitancy in submitting the result to an intelligent public. The impartial

critic, to whom only we look for comment, will, in passing judgment upon its merits, be

governed by a knowledge of the manifold duties attending the prosecution of the under-

taking.

We have been especially fortunate in enlisting the interest of Rev. Edward D. Neill

and Charles S. Bryant, whose able productions are herewith presented. We also desire to

express our sincere thanks to Prof. J. L. Noyes who, assisted by Prof. J. J. Dow and Dr. Gr.

H. Knight, furnished the able sketch of " The Minnesota Institute for the Education

of the Deaf and Dumb and the Blind, and the School for Imbeciles and Idiots." Our ac-

knowledgements are likewise tendered to the County, Town, and Village officials for their

uniform kindness to us in our tedious labors; and in general terms we express our indebted-

ness to the Press, the Pioneers, atid the Citizens, who have extended universal encourage-

ment and endorsement.

That our efforts may prove satisfactory, and this volume receive a welcome commensu-

rate with the care bestowed in its preparation, is the earnest desire of the publishers,

ELLIS C. TURNER.
F. W. HARRINGTON.
B. F. PINKNEY.
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FOOTPRINTS OF CIVILIZATION TOWARD THE EXTREMITY OF LAKE SUPERIOR.
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Bay.—First White Hen in Minnesota.—Notices of Oroselliers' and Radisson.
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Hurons Flee to Minnesota.—Visited by Frenchmen.—Father Menard Disap-

pears.—Oroselliers Visits Hudson's Bay.—Father Allouez Describes the Sioux

Mission at La Fointe.—Father Marquette.—Sioux at Sault St. Marie,—Jesuit

Missions Fail.—Oroselliers Visits England.-Captain Qitlam, of Boston, at Hud-

son's Bay.—Letter of Mother Superior of Ursulines,, at Quebec.—Death of

Oroselliers.

The Dakotahs, called by the Ojibways, Nado-

waysioux, or Sioux (Soos), as abbreviated by the

French, used to claim superiority over other peo-

ple, because, their sacred men asserted that the

mouth of the Minnesota Eiver was immediately

over the centre of the earth, and below the centre

of the heavens.

While this teaching is very different from that

of the modern astronomer, it is certainly true,

that the region west of Lake Superior, extending

through the valley of the Minnesota, to the Mis-

souri River, is one of the most healthful and fer-

tile regions beneath the skies, and may prove to

be the centre of the republic of the United States

of America. Baron D'Avagour, a brave oflBcer,

who was killed in fighting the Turks, while he

was Governor of Canada, in a dispatch to the

French Govermnent, dated August 14th, 1663,

after referring to Lake Huron, wrote, that beyond
" is met another, called Lake Superior, the waters

of which, it is believed, flow into New Spain, and

this, according to general opinion, ought to be the

centre of the country."

As early as 1635, one of Champlain's interpre-

ters, Jean Nicolet (Mcolay), who came to Canar-

da in 1618, reached the western shores of Lake

Michigan. In the summer of 1634 he ascended

the St. Lawrence, with a party of Hurons, and

probably during the next winter was trading at

Green Bay, in Wisconsin. On the ninth of Be-

cember, 1635, he had returned to Canada, and on

the 7th of October, 1637, was married at Quebeci

and the next month, went to Three Rivers, where

he lived until 1642, when he died. Of him it is

said, in a letter written in 1640, that he had pen-

etrated farthest into those distant countries, and

that if he had proceeded " three days more on a

great river which flows from that lake [Green

Bay] he would have found the sea."

The first white men in Minnesota, of whom we
have any record, were, according to Garneau, two

persons of Huguenot aflanities, Medard Chouart,

known as Sieur GroseUiers, and Pierre d'Esprit,

called Sieur Radisson.

GroseUiers (pronoimced Gro-zay-yay) was bom
near Eerte-sous-Jouarre, eleven miles east of

Meaux, in France, and when about sixteen years

of age, in the year 1641, came to Canada. The fur

trade was the great avenue to prosperity, and in

1646, he was among the Huron Indians, who then

dwelt upon the eastern shore of Lake Huron,

bartering for peltries. On the second of Septem-

ber, 1647, at Quebec, he was married to Helen,

the widow of Claude Etienne, who was the daugh-

ter of a pilot, Abraham Martin, whose baptismal

name is still attached to the suburbs of that city,

the " Plains of Abraham," made famous by the

death there, of General Wolfe, of the English

army, in 1759, and of General Montgomery, of

the Continental armv, ia December, 1775, at the
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commencement of the " "War for Independence."

His son, Medard, was bom in 1657, and the next

year his mother died. The second wife of Gro-

selliers was Marguerite Hayet (Hay^y) Radisson,

the sister of his associate, in the exploration of

the region west of Lake Superior.

Eadisson was born at St. Malo, and, while a

boy, went to Paris, and from thence to Canada,

and in 1656, at Three Elvers, married Elizabeth,

the daughter of Madeleine Hauiault, and, after

her death, the daughter of Sir David Kirk or

Kerkt, a zealous Huguenot, became his wife.

The Iroquois of New York, about the year 1650,

drove the Hurons from their villages, and forced

them to take refuge with their friends the Tinon-

tates, called by the French, Petuns, because they

cultivated tobacco. In time the Hurons and

their allies, the Ottawas (Ottaw-waws), were

again driven by the Iroquois, and after successive

wanderings, were found on the west side of Lake

Michigan. In time they reached the Mississippi,

and ascending above the Wisconsia, they found

the Iowa Biver, on the west side, which they fol-

lowed, and dwelt for a time with the Ayoes

(loways) who were very friendly ; but being ac-

customed to a country of lakes and forestsj they

were not satisfied with the vast prairies. Eetum-
ing to the Mississippi, they ascended this river,

in search of a better land, and were met by some
of the Sioux or Dakotahs, and conducted to their

villages, where they were well received. The
Sioux, delighted with the axes, knives and awls

of European manufacture, which had been pre-

sented to them, allowed the refugees to settle

upon an island in the Mississippi, below the

mouth of the St. Croix Eiver, called Bald Island

from the absence of trees, about nine miles from

the site of the present city of Hastings. Possessed

of firearms, the Hurons and Ottawas asserted

their superiority, and determined to conquer the

country for themselves, and having incurred the

hostility of the Sioux, were obliged to fiee from
the isle in the Mississippi. Descending below
Lake Pepin, they reached the Black Eiver, and
ascending it, found an unoccupied country around
its sources and that of the Chippeway. In this

region the Hurons established themselves, while

their allies, the Ottawas, moved eastward, till

they found the shores of Lake Superior, and set-

tled at Chagouamikon (Sha - gah -wah - mik - ong

)

near what is now Bayfield. In the year 1659,

GroseUiers and Eadisson arrived at Chagouamik-

on, and determined to visit the Hurons and Pe-

tuns, with whom the former had traded when

they resided east of Lake Huron. After a six

days' journey, in a southwesterly direction, they

reached their retreat toward the sources of the

Black, Chippewa, and "Wisconsia Elvers. From
this point they journeyed north, and passed the

winter of 1659-60 among the " Nadouechiouec,"

or Sioux vUlages in the Mille Lacs (Mil Lak) re-

gion. Prom the Hurons they learned of a beau-

tiful river, wide, large, deep, and comparable with

the Saint Lawrence, the great Mississippi, which

flows through the city of Minneapolis, and whose

sources are in northern Minnesota.

Northeast of Mille Lacs, toward the extremity

of Lake Superior, they met the "Poualak,"or

Assiniboines of the prairie, a separated band of

the Sioux, who, as wood was scarce and small,

made fire with coal (charbon de terre) and dwelt

in tents of skins ; although some of the more in-

dustrious buUt cabins of clay (terre grasse), like

the swallows build their nests.

The spring and summer of 1660, GroseUiers and

Eadisson passed in trading aroimd Lake Superior.

On the 19th of August they returned to Mon-
treal, with three hundred Indians and sixty ca-

noes loaded with " a wealth of skins."

" Purs of bison and of beaver,

Purs of sable and of ermine."

The citizens were deeply stirred by the travelers'

tales of the vastness and richness of the region

they had visited, and their many romantic adven-

tures. In a few days, they began their return to

the far "West, accompanied by six Frenchmen and
two priests, one of whom was the Jesuit, EeneMe-
nard. His hair whitened by age, and his mind
ripened by long experience, he seemed the man
for the mission. Two hours after midnight, of the

day before departure,
_ the venerable missionary

penned at " Three Elvers," the foUowrng letter

to a friend

:

'Eevebend Father:
" The peace of Christ be with you : I write to

you probably the last, which I hope will be the
seal of our friendship until eternity. Love whom
the Lord Jesus did not disdain to love, though
the greatest of sinners; for he loves whom he
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loads with his cross. Let your friendship, my
good Father, be useful to me by the desirable

fruits of your daily sacrifice.

" In three or four months you may remember

me at the memento for the dead, on account of

my old age, my weak constitution and the hard-

ships I lay under amongst these tribes. Never-

theless, I am in peace, for I have not been led to

this mission by any temporal motive, but I think

it was by the voice of God. I was to resist the

grace of God by not coming. Eternal remorse

would have tormented me, had I not come when
I had the opportunity.

" We have been a little surprized, not being

able to provide ourselves with vestments and oth-

er things, but he who feeds the little birds, and

clothes the lilies of the fields, will take care of

his servants; and though it should happen we
should die of want, we would esteem ourselves

happy. I am burdened with business. What I

can do is to recommend our journey to your daily

sacrifice, and to embrace you with the same sen-

timents of heart as I hope to do in eternity.

.

" My Reverend Father,

Your most humble and affectionate

servant in Jesus Christ.

E. MENAED.
"From the Three Elvers, this 26th August, 2

o'clock after midnight, 1660."

On the loth of October, the party with which

he journeyed reached a bay on Lake Superior,

where he found some of the Ottawas, who had

fled from the Iroquois of New York. For more

than eight months, surrounded by a few French

voyageurs, he lived, to use his words, " in a kind

of small hermitage, a cabin built of fir branches

piled one on another, not so much to shield us

from the rigor of the season as to correct my im-

agination, and persuade me I was sheltered."

During the summer of 1661, he resolved to visit

the Hurons, who had fled eastwardfrom the Sioux

of Minnesota, and encamped amid the marshes of

Northern Wisconsin. Some Frenchmen, who had
been among the Hurons, in vain attempted to dis-

suade him from the journey. To their entreaties

he replied, " I must go, if it cost me my life. I

can not suffer souls to perish on the ground of

saving the bodily life of a miserable old man like

myself. What! Are we to serve God only when
there is nothing to sufEer, and no risk of life?"

Upon De I'lsle's map of Louisiana, published

nearly two centuries ago, there appears the Lake

of the Ottawas, and the Lake of the Old or De-

serted Settlement, west of Green Bay, and south

of Lake Superior. The Lake of the Old Planta-

tion is supposed to have been the spot occupied

by the Hurons at the time when Menard attempts

ed to visit them. One way of access to this seclu-

ded spot was from Lake Superior to the head-

waters of the Ontanagon Eiver, and then by a port-

age, to the lake. It could also be reached from

the headwaters of the Wisconsin, Black and Chip-

pewa Rivers, and some have said that Menard

• descended the Wisconsin and ascended the Black

Eiver.

Perrot, who lived at the same time, writes:

"Father Menard, who was sent as missionary

among the Outaouas [Utaw-waws] accompanied

by certain Frenchmen who were going to trade

with that people, w^as left by all who were with

him, except one, who rendered to him until death,

aU of the services and help that he could have

hoped. The Father followed the Outaouas TUtaw-

waws]to the Lake of the Illinoets [Illino-ay, now
Michigan] and in their flight to the Louisianne,

[Mississippi] to above the Black Eiver. There

this missionary had but one Frenchman for a

companion. This Frenchman carefully followed

the route, and made a portage at the same place

as the Outaouas. He found himself in a rapid,

one day, that was carrying him away in his canoe.

The Father, to assist, debarked from his own, but

did not find a good path to come to him. He en-

tered one that had been made by beasts, and de-

siring to return, became confused in a labyrinth

of trees, and was lost. The Frenchman, after

having ascended the rapids with great labor,

awaited the good Father, and, as he did not come,

resolved to search for him. With all his might,

for several days, he called his name in the woods,

hoping to find him, but it was useless. He met,

however, a Sakis [Sauk] who was carrying the

camp-kettle of the missionary, and who gave him

some intelligence. He assured him that he had

foimd his foot -prints at some distance, but that

he had not seen the Father. He told him, also,

that he had found the tracks of several, who were

going towards the Scioux. He declared that he

supposed that the Scioux might have killed or

captured him. Indeed, several years afterwards,



4 EXPL0BEB8 AND PIONEEBS OF MINNESOTA.

there were found among this tribe, his breviary

and cassock, which they exposed at their festivals,

making offerings to them of food."

In a journal of the Jesuits, Menard, about the

seventh or eighth of August, 1661, is said to have

been lost.

Groselliers (Gro-zay-yay), while Menard was

endeavoring to reach the retreat of the Hurons

which he had made known to the authorities of

Canada, was pushing through the country of the

Assuieboines, on the northwest shore of Lake

Superior, and at length, probably by Lake Alem-

pigon, or Nepigon, reached Hudson's Bay, and

early in May, 1662, returned to Montreal, and

surprised its citizens with his tale of new discov-

eries toward the Sea of the North.

The Hurons did not remain long toward the

sources of the Black Eiyer, after Menard's disap-

pearance, and deserting iheir plantations, joined

their allies, the Ottawas, at La Polnte, now Bay-

field, on Lake Superior. While here, they deter-

mined to send a war paxty of one hundred against

the Sioux of MUle Lacs (Mil Lak) region. At
length they met their foes, who drove them into

one of the thousand marshes of the water-shed

between Lake Superior and the Mississippi, where

they hid themselves among the tall grasses. The

Sioux, suspecting that they might attempt to es-

cape in the night, cut up beaverskins into strips,

and hung thereon little bells, which they had ob-

tained from the Trench traders. The Hurons,

emerging from theirwatery hiding place, stumbled

over the unseen cords, ringing the beUs, and the

Sioux instantly attacked, killing all but one.

About the year 1665, four Frenchmen visited

the Sioux of Minnesota, from the west end of

Lake Superior, accompanied by an Ottawa chief,

and in the summer of the same year, a flotilla of

canoes laden vrith peltries, came down to Mon-

treal. Upon their return, on the eighth of Au-

gust, the Jesuit Father, Allouez, accompanied the

traders, and, by the first of October, reached Che-

goimegon Bay, on or near the site of the modem
town of Bayfield, on Lake Superior, where he

found the refugee Hurons and Ottawas. While

on an excursion to Lake Alempigon, now Ne-
pigon, this missionary saw, near the mouth of

Saint Louis River, in Minnesota, some of the

Sioux. He writes :
" There is a tribe to the west

of this, toward the great river caUed Messipi.

They are forty or fifty leagues from here, in a

country of prairies, abounding in all kinds of

game. They have fields, in which they do not

sow Indian corn, but only tobacco. Providence

has provided them with a species of marsh rice,

which, toward the end of smnmer, they go to col-

lect in certain small lakes, that are covered with

it. They presented me with some when I was at

the extremity of Lake Tracy [Superior], where I

saw them. They do not use the gun, but only

the bow and arrow with great dexterity. Their

cabins are not covered with bark, but with deer-

skins well dried, and stitched together so that the

cold does not enter. These people are above all

other savage and warlike. In our presence they

seem abashed, and were motionless as statues.

They speak a language entirely unknown to us,

and the savages about here do not understand

them."

The mission at La Pointe was not encouraging,

and Allouez, " weary of their obstinate imbeUef,"

departed, but Marquette succeeded him for abrief

period.

The "JJeZations" of the Jesuits for 1670-71,

allude to the Sioux or Dakotahs, and their attack

upon the refugees at La Pointe :

" There are certain people called Nadoussi,

dreaded by their neighbors, and although they

only use the bow and arrow, they use it with so

much skill and dexterity, that in a moment they

fill the air. After the Parthian method, they

turn their heads in flight, and discharge their ar-

rows so rapidly that they are to be feared no less

in their retreat than in their attack.

"They dwell on the shores and around the

great river Messipi, of which we shaU speak.

They number no less than fifteen populous towns,

and yet they know not how to cultivate the earth

by seeding it, contenting themselves vnth a sort

of marsh rye, which we call wUd oats.

" For sixty leagues from the extremity of the

upper lakes, towards sunset, and, as it were, va.

the centre of the western nations, they have all

united their force by a general league, which has

been made against them, as against a common

enemy.
" They speak a peculiar language, entirely dis-

tinct from that of the Algonquins and Hurons,

whom they generally surpass in generosity, since

they often content themselves with the glory of
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having obtained the victory, and release the pris-

oners they have taken ia battle.

" Our Outouacs of the Point of the Holy Ghost

[La Pointe, now Bayfield] had to the present time

kept up a kind of peace with them, but affairs

having become embroiled during last winter, and

some murders having been committed on both

sides, our savages had reason to apprehend that

the storm would soon burstupon them , and judged

that it was safer for them to leave the place, which

in fact they did in the spring."

Marquette, on the 13th of September, 1669,

writes :
" The Nadouessi are the Iroquois of this

country. * * * they he northwest of the Mission

of the Holy Ghost [La Pointe, the modern Bay-

field] and we have not yet visited them, having

confined ourselves to the conversion of the Otta-

was."

Soon after this, hostilities began between the

Sioux and the Hurons and Ottawas of La Pointe,

and the former compelled their foes to seek an-

other resting place, toward the eastern extremity

of Lake Superior, and at length they pitched

their tents at Mackinaw.

In 1674, some Sioux warriors came down to

Sault Saint Marie, to make a treaty of peace with

adjacent tribes. A friend of the Abbe de GaUi-

nee vsrote that a council was had at the fort to

which "the Nadouessioux sent twelve deputies,

and the others forty. During the conference,

one of the latter, knife in hand, drew near the

breast of one of the Nadouessioux, who showed

surprise at the movement ; when the Indian with

the knife reproached him for cowardice. The
Nadouessioux said he was not afraid, when the

other planted the knife in his heart, and killed

him. All the savages then engaged in conflict,

and the Nadouessioux bravely defended them-

selves, but, overwhelmed by numbers, nine of

them were killed. The two who survived rushed

into the chapel, and closed the door. Here they

found munitions of war, and fired guns at their

enemies, who became anxious to bum down the

chapel, but the Jesuits would not permit it, be-

cause they had their skins stored between its roof

and ceiling. In this extremity, a Jesuit, Louis

Le Boeme, advised that a cannon should be point-

ed at the door, which was discharged, and the two

brave Sioux were killed."

Governor Frontenac of Canada, was indignant

at the occurrence, and in a letter to Colbert, one

of the Ministers of Louis the Fourteenth, speaks

in condemnation of this discharge of a cannon by

a Brother attached to the Jesuit Mission.

From this period, the missions of the Church of

Rome, near Lake Superior, began to wane. Shea,

a devout historian of that church, writes: "In
1680, Father Enjalran was apparently alone at

Green Bay, and Pierson at Mackinaw ; the latter

mission still comprising the two villages, Huron
and Kiskakon. Of the other missions, neither

Le Clerq nor Hennepin, the Recollect, writers of

the West at this time, makes any mention, or in

any way alludes to their existence, and La Hon-

tan mentions the Jesuit missions only to ridicule

them."

The Pigeon River, a part of the northern boun-

dary of Minnesota, was called on the French maps
GroselUer's River, after the first explorer of Min-

nesota, whose career, with his associate Radisson,

became quite prominent in connection with the

Hudson Bay region.

A disagreement occurring between Groselliers

and his partners in Quebec, he proceeded to Paris,

and from thence to London, where he was intro-

duced to the nejJhew of Charles I., who led the

cavalry charge against Fairfax and Cromwell at

Naseby, afterwards commander of the English

fleet. The Prince listened with pleasure to the

narrative of travel, and endorsed the plans for

prosecuting the fur trade and seeking a north-

west passage to Asia. The scientific men of Eng-
land were also full of the enterprise, in the hope

that it would increase a knowledge of nature.

The Secretary of the Royal Society wrote to Rob-
ert Boyle, the distinguished philosopher, a too

sanguine letter. His words were :
" Surely I need

not tell you from hence what is said here, witli

great joy, of the discovery of a northwest passage;

and by two Englishmen and one Frenchman
represented to his Majesty at Oxford, and an-

swered by the grant of a vessel to sail into Hud-
son's Bay and channel into the South Sea."

The ship Nonsuch was fitted out, in charge of

Captain Zachary Gillam, a son of one of the early

settlers of Boston ; and in this vessel GroseUiers

and Radisson left the Thames, in June, 1668, and
in September reached a tributary of Hudson's

Bay. The next year, by way of Boston, they re-

turned to England, and in 1670, a trading com-
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pany was chartered, still known among venerable

English corporations as " The Hudson's Bay

Company."

The Reverend Mother of the Incarnation, Su-

perior of the Ursulines of Quebec, in a letter of

the 27th of August, 1670, writes thus :

" It was about this time that a Frenchman of

our Touraiae, named des G-roseUiers, married ia

this country, and as he had not been successful

in making a fortune, was seized with a fancy to

go to New England to better his condition. He
excited a hope among the English that he had

found a passage to the Sea of the North. With

this expectation, he was sent as an envoy to Eng-

land, where there was given to him, a vessel,

with crew and every thing necessary for the voy-

age. With these advantages, he put to sea, and

in place of the usual route, which others had ta-

ken in vain, he sailed in another direction, and

searched so wide, that he found the grand Bay of

the North. He found large population, and fiUed

his ship or ships \ri.th peltries of great value. * * *

He has taken possession of this great region for

the King of England, and for his personal benefit

A publication for the benefit of this Erench ad-

venturer, has been made in England. He was

a youth when he arrived here, and his wife and

children are yet here."

Talon, Intendent of Justice in Canada, in a dis-

patch to Colbert, Minister of the Colonial Depart-

ment of France, wrote on the 10th of November,

1670, that he has received intelligence that two

EngUsh vessels are approaching Hudson's Bay,

and adds :
" After reflecting on all the nations

that might have penetrated as far north as that,

I can alight on only the English, who, under the

guidance of a man named Des GrozeUers, for-

merly an inhabitant of Canada, might possibly

have attempted that navigation."

After years of service on the shores of Hudson's

Bay, either with English or French trading com-

panies, the old explorer died in Canada, and it has

been said that his son went to England, where he

was living in 1696, in receipt of a pension.
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Before white men had explored the shores of

Lake Superior, Indians had brought to the tra-

ding posts of the St. Lawrence River, specimens of

copper from that region. Sagard, in his History

of Canada, published in 1636, at Paris, writes

:

" There are mines of copper which might be made
profitable, if there were inhabitants and work-

men who would labor faithfully . That would be

done if colonies were established. About eighty

or one hundred leagues from the Hurons, there

is a mine of copper, from which Truchemont

Brusle showed me an ingot, on his return from a

voyage which he made to the neighboring nation."

Pierre Boucher, grandfather of Sieur de la Ye-

rendrye, the explorer of the lakes of the northern

boundary of Minnesota, in a volume published

A. D. 1640, also at Paris, writes :
" In Lake Su-

perior there is a great island, fifty or one hundred

leagues in circumference, in which there is a very

beautiful mine of copper. There are other places

in those quarters, where there are similar mines

;

so I learned from four or five Frenchmen, who
lately returned. They were gone three years,

without finding an opportunity to return; they

told me that they had seen an ingot of copper all

refined which was on the coast, and weighed more

than eight hundred pounds, according to their es-

timate. They said that the savages, on passing

it, made a fire on it, aftei; which they cut off pie-

ces with their axes."

In the Jesuit Relations of 1666-67, there is this

description of Isle Royale :
" Advancing to a

place called the Grand Anse, we meet with an

island, three leagues from land, which is cele-

brated for the metal which is found there, and
for the thunder which takes place there; for they

say it always thunders there.

" But farther towards the west on the same

north shore, is the island most famous for copper,

Minong (Isle Royale). This island is twenty-five

leagues in length ; it is seven from the mainland,

and sixty from the head of the lake. Nearly all

around the island, on the water's edge, pieces of

copper are found mixed with pebbles, but espe-

cially on the side which is opposite the south,

and principally in a certain bay, which is near

the northeast exposure to the great lake. * * *

" Advancing to the head of the lake (Pon du

Lac) and returning one day's journey by the south

coast, there is seen on the edge of the water, a

rock of copper weighing seven or eight hundred

pounds, and is so hard that steel can hardly cut it,

but when it is heated it cuts as easily as lead.

Near Point Chagouamigong [Sha - gah - wah - mik-

ong, near Bayfield]where a missionwas establish-

ed rocks of copper and plates of the same metal

were found. * * * Returning stUl toward the

mouth of the lake, following the coast on the south

as twenty leagues from the place last mentioned,

we enter the river called Nantaouagan [Ontona-

gon] on which is a hill where stones and copper

fall into the water or upon the earth. They are

readily found.

"Three years since we received a piece which

was brought from this place, which weighed a

hundred pounds, and we sent it to Quebec to Mr.

Talon. It is not certain exactly where this was
broken from. "We think it was from the forks of

the river ; others, that it was from near the lake,

and dug up."

Talon, Intendent of Justice in Canada, visited

Prance, taking a half-breed voyageur with htm,

and while in Paris, wrote on the 26th of Febru-

ary, 1669, to Colbert, the Minister of the Marine

Department, " that this voyageur had penetrated

among the western nations farther than any other

Frenchman, and had seen the copper mine on
Lake Huron. [Superiori*] The man offers to go
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to that mine, and explore, either by sea, or by

lake and river, the communication supposed to

exist between Canada and the South Sea, or to

the rfegions of Hudson's Bay."

As soon as Talon returned to Canada he com-

missioned Jolliet and Pere pperrot] to search for

the mines of copper on the upper Lakes. Jolliet

received an outfit of four hundred livres, and four

canoes, and Perrot one thousand Uvres. Minis-

ister Colbert virrote from Paris to Talon, in Feb-

ruary, 1671, approving of the search for copper,

ia these words : " The resolution you have taken

to send Sieur de La Salle toward the south, and

Sieur de St. Lusson to the north, to discover the

South Sea passage, is very good, but the prinpipal

thing you ought to apply yourself in discoveries

of this nature, is to look for the copper muie.

" Were this mine discovered, and its utility

evident, it would be an assured means to attract

several Frenchmen from old, to New Prance."

On the 14th of June, 1671, SaintLusson at Sault

St. Marie, planted the arms of Prance, in the pres-

ence of Mcholas Perrot, who acted as interpreter

on the occasion ; the Sieur Jolliet ; Pierre Moreaji

or Sieur de la Taupine ; a soldier of the garrison

of Quebec, and several other Frenchmen.

Talon, in announcing Saint Lusson's explora-

tions to Colbert, on the' 2d of November, 1671,

wrote from Quebec :
" The copper which I send

from Lake Superior and the river Nantaouagan

[Ontonagon] proves that there is a mine on the

border of some stream, which produces this ma-

terial as pure as one could wish. More than

twenty Frenchmen have seen one lump at the

lake, which they estimate weighs more than eight

hundred pounds. The Jesuit Fathers among the

Outaouas [Ou-taw-waws] use an anvil of this ma-
terial, which weighs about one hundred pounds.

There will be no rest rmtilthe source from whence

these detached lumps come is discovered.

" The river Nantaouagan FOntonagonJ appears

between two high hUls, the plain above which

feeds the lakes, and receives a great deal of snow,

which, in melting, forms torrents which wash the

borders of this river, composed of solid gravel,

which is rolled down by it.

" The gravel at the bottom of this, hardens it-

self, and assumes different shapes, such as those

pebbles which I send to Mr. BeUinzany. My
opinion is that these pebbles, rounded and carried

off by the rapid waters, then have a tendency to

become copper, by the influence of the sun's rays

which they absorb, and to form other nuggets of

metal similar to those which I send to Sieur de

BeUinzany, found by the Sieur de Saint Lusson,

about fourhundred leagues, at some distance from

the mouth of the river.

"He hoped by the frequent journeys of the

savages, and French who are beginning to travel

by these routes, to discern the source of nroduc-

tion."

Governor DenonvUle, of Canada, sixteen years

after the above circumstances, wrote :
" The cop-

per, a sample of which I sent M. Amou, is found

at the head of Lake Superior. The body of the

mine has not yet been discovered. I have seen

one of our voyageurs who assures me that, some

fifteen months ago he saw a lump of two hundred

weight, as yellow as gold, in a river which falls

into Lake Superior. When heated, it could be

cut with an axe ; but the superstitious Indians,

regarding this boulder as a good spirit, would

never permit him to take any of it away. His

opinion is that the frost undermined this piece,

and that the mine is in that river. He has prom-

ised to search for it on his way back."

In the year 1730, there was some correspond-

ence with the authorities in France relative to

the discovery of copper at La Pointe, but, practi-

cally, little was done by the French, in developing

themineral wealth of Lake Superior.
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In the year 1678, several prominent merchants

of Quebec and Montreal, with the support of

Governor Frontenac of Canada, formed a com-

pany to open trade mth the Sioux of Minnesota,

and a nephew of Patron, one of these merchants,

a brother-in-law of Sieur de Lusigny, an oflBcer

of the Governor's Guards, named Daniel Grey-

solon Du Luth [Doo-loo], a native of St. Germain

en Laye, a few miles from Paris, although Lahon-

tan speaks of >n"r» as from Lyons, was made the

leader of the expedition. At the battle of SenefEe

against the Prince of Orange, he was a gendarme,

and one of the King's guards.

Du Luth was also a cousin of Henry Tonty ,who

had been in the revolutipn at Naples, to throw off

the Spanish dependence. Du Luth's name is va-

riously spelled in the documents of his day. Hen-

nepin* writes, " Du Luth ;" others, " Dulhut,"

" Du Lhu," " Du Lut," " De Luth," " Du Lud."

The temptation to procure valuable furs from

the Lake Superior region, contrary to the letter

of the Canadian law, was very great ; and more

than one Governor winked at the contraband

trade. Kandin, who visited the extremity of

Lake Superior, distributed presents to the Sioux

and Ottawas in the name of Governor Frontenac,

to secure the trade, and after his death, DuLuth
was sent to complete what he had begun. With

a party of twenty, seventeen Frenchmen and

three Indians, he left Quebec on the first of

September, 1678, and on the fifth of April, 1679,

Du Luth writes to Governor Frontenac, that he

is in the woods, about nine miles from Sault St.

Marie, at the entrance of Lake Superior, and

adds that : he " wUl not stir from the Nadous-

sioux, until further orders, and, peace being con-

cluded, he will set up the King's Arms ; lest the

English and other Europeans settled towards

California, take possession of the country."

On the second of July, 1679, he caused his

Majesty's Arms to be planted in the great village

of the Nadoussioux, called Kathio, where no

Frenchman had ever been, and at Songaskicons

and Houetbatons, one hundred and twenty leagues

distant from the former, where he also set up the

King's Arms. In a letter to Seignalay, published

for the first time by Harrisse, he writes that it

was in the village of Izatys [Issati]. Upon Fran-

quelin's map, the Mississippi branches into the

Tintonha [Teeton Sioux] country, andnot farfrom

here, he alleges, was seen a tree upon which was

this legend: " Armis of the King cut on this tree

in the year 1679."

He established a post at Kamanistigoya, which

was distant fifteen leagues from the Grand Port-

age at the western extremity of Lake Superior

;

and here, on the fifteenth of September, he held

a council with the Assenipoulaks [Assineboines]

and other tribes, and urged them to be at peace

with the Sioux. During this summer, he dis-

patched Pierre Moreau, a celebrated voyageur,

nicknamed La Taupine, with letters to Governor

Frontenac, and valuable furs to the merchants.

His arrival at Quebec, created some excitement.

It was charged that the Governor corresponded

with Du Luth, and that he passed the beaver,

sent by him, in the name of merchants in his in-

terest. The Intendant of Justice, Du Chesneau,

wrote to the Minister of the Colonial Department

of France,' that " the man named La Taupine, a

famous coureur des bois,who set out in the month

of September of last year, 1678, to go to the Ou-

tawacs, with goods, and who has always been in-

terested with the Governor, having returned this

year, and I, being advised that he had traded in
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two days, one hundred and fifty beaver robes in

one village of this trilje; amounting to nearly nine

hundred beavers, which is a matter of public no-

toriety ; and that he left with Du Lut two men
whom he had with him, considered myself bound

to have him arrested, and to interrogate him ; but

having presented me with a license from the Gov-

ernor, permitting him and his comrades, named
Lamonde and Dupuy, to repair to the Outawac,

to execute his secret orders, I had him set at

Uberty : and immediately on his going out, Sieur

Prevost, Town Mayor of Quebec, came atthe head

of some soldiers to force the prison, in case he

was still there, pursuant to his orders from the

Governor, in these terms :
" Sieur Prevost, Mayor

of Quebec, is ordered, in case the Intendant arrest

Pierre Moreau alias La Taupine, whom we have

sent to Quebec as bearer of our dispatches, upon

pretext of his having been in the bush, to set him
forthwith at Uberty, and to employ every means
for this purpose, at his peril. Done at Montreal,

the 5th September, 1679."

La Taupine, in due time returned to Lake Su-

perior with another consignment of merchandise.

The interpreter of Du Luth, and trader with the

Sioux, was Paffart, who had been a soldier under

La Salle at Fort Prontenac, and had deserted.

La Salle was commissioned in 1678, by the

King of Prance, to explore the West, and trade in

cibola, or buffalo skins, and on condition that he

did not traffic with the Ottauwaws, who carried

their beaver to Montreal.

On the 27th of August, 1679, he arrived at

Mackinaw, in the " Griffin," the first saiUng ves-

sel on the great Lakes of the "West, and from

thence went to Green Bay, where, in the face of

his commission, he traded for beaver. Loading

his vessel with peltries, he sent it back to Niag-

ara, while he, in.canoes, proceeded with his ex-

pedition to the Illinois River. The ship was.

never heard of, and for a time supposed to be lost,

but La Salle afterward learned from a Pawnee
boy fourteen or fifteen years of age, who was
brought prisoner to his fort on the Illinois by some
Indians, that the pilot of the " Griffin '"' had been
among the tribes of the Upper Missouri. He had
ascended the Mississippi with four others in two
birch canoes with goods and some hand grenades,

taken from the ship, with the intention of join

ing Du Luth, who had for months been trading

vnth the Sioux ; and if their efforts were unsuc-

cessful, they expected to push on to the English,

at Hudson's Bay. While ascending the Missis-

sippi they were attacked by Indians, and the pilot

and one other only survived, and they were sold

to the Indians on the Missouri.

In the month of June, 1680, DuLuth, accom-

panied by Paffart, an interpreter, with four

Frenchmen, also a Chippeway and a Sioux, with

two canoes, entered a river, the mouth o'f which

is eight leagues from the head of Lake Superior

on the South side, named Jfemitsakouat. Eeach-

ing its head waters, by a short portage, of half a

league, he reached a lake which was the source

of the Saint Croix River, and by this, he and his

companions were the first Europeans to journey

in a canoe from Lake Superior to the Mississippi.

La Salle writes, that Du Luth, finding that

the Sioux were on a hunt in the Mississippi val-

ley, below the Saint Croix, and that Aecault, Au-

gelle and Hennepin, who had come up from the

Illinois a few weeks before, were with them, de-

scended until he found them. In the same letter

he disregards the truth in order to disparage his

rival, and writes:

" Thirty-eight or forty leagues above the Chip-

peway they found the river by which the Sieur

Du Luth did descend to the Mississippi. He had

been three years, contrary to orders, with a com-

pany of twenty " coureurs du bois " on Lake Su-

perior; he had borne himself bravely, proclaiming

everywhere that at the head of his brave fellows

he did not fear the Grand Prevost, and t^at he

would compel an aronesty.

" While he was at Lake Superior, the Nadoue-

sioux, enticed by the presents that the late Sieur

Randin had made on the part of Count Fronte-

nac, and the Sauteurs [Ojibways], who are the sav-

ages who carry the peltries to Montreal, and who
dwell on Lake Superior, wishing to obey the re-

peated orders of the Count, made a peace to

unite the Sauteurs and French, and to trade with

the Nadouesioux, situated about sixty leagues to

the west of Lake Superior. Du Luth, to disguise

his desertion, seized the opportunity to make
some reputation for himself, sending two messen-

gers to the Count to negotiate a truce, during

which period their comrades negptiated still bet-

ter for beaver.

Several conferences were iield with the Nar
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douessioux, and as he needed an interpreter, he led

off one of mine, named Taflart, formerly a sol-

dier at Fort Frontenac. During this period there

were frequent visits between the Sauteurs [Ojib-

ways]*and Nadouesioux, and supposing that it

might increase the number of beaver skins, he

sent FafEart by land, with the Nadouesioux and

Sauteurs [Ojibways]. The young man on his re-

tnm, having given an account of the quantity of

beaver in that region, he wished to proceed thither

himself, and, guided by a Sauteur and a Nadoue-

sioux, and four Frenchmen, he ascended the river

Nemitsakouat, where, by a short portage, he de-

scended that stream, whereon he passed through

forty leagues of rapids [Upper St. Croix Biver],

and finding thatthe Nadouesioux were below with

my men and the Father, who had come down
again from the village of the Nadouesioux, he

discovered them. They went up again to the

village, and from thence they all together came

down. They returned by the river Ouisconsing,

and came back to Montreal, where Du Luth in-

sults the commissaries, and the deputy of the

'procureur general,' named d'Auteuil. Count

Frontenac had him arrested and imprisoned in

the castle of Quebec, with the intention of return-

ing him to France for the amnesty accorded to

the coureurs des bois, did not release him."

At this very period, another party charges

Frontenac as being Du Luth's particular friend.

Du Luth, during the fall of 1681, was engaged

in the beaver trade at Montreal and Quebec.

Du Chesneau, the Intendant of Justica for Can-

ada, on the 13th of November, 1681, wrote to the

Marquis de Siegnelay, in Paris :
" Not content

with the profits to be derived from the countries

under the King's dominion, the desire of making

money everywhere, has led the Governor [Fron-

tenac], Boisseau, Du Lut and Patron, his uncle,

to send canoes loaded with peltries, to the En-

glish. It is said sixty thousand livres' worth has

been sent thither;" and he further stated that

there was a very general report that within five

or six daySr Frontenac and his associates had di-

vided the money received from the beavers sent

to New England.

At a conference in Quebec of some of the dis-

tinguished men in that city, relative to difficulties

with the Iroquois, held on the 10th of October,

1682,Du Luth was present. From thence he went

to Prance, and, early in 1683, consulted with the

Minister of Marine at Versailles relative to the

interests of trade in the Hudson's Bay and Lake

Superior region. Upon his return to Canada, he

departed for Mackinaw. Governor De la Barre,

on the 9th of November, 1683, wrote to the French

Government that the Indians west and north of

Lake Superior, " when they heard by expresses

sent them by Du Lhut, of his arrival at MissiU-

makinak, that he was coming, sent him word to

come quickly and they would unite with him to

prevent others going thither. If I stop that pass

as I hope, and as it is necessary to do, as the Eng-

lish of the Bay [Hudson's] excite against us the

savages, whom Sieur Du Lhut alone can quiet."

While stationed at Mackinaw he was a partici-

pant in a tragic occurrence. During the summer

of 1683 Jacques le Maire and Colin Berthot, while

on their way to trade at Keweenaw, on Lake Su-

perior, were surprised by three Indians, robbed,

and murdered. Du Luth was prompt to arrest

and punish the assassins. In a letter from Mack-

inaw, dated April 12, 1684, to the Governor of

Canada, he writes: "Be pleased to know. Sir,

that on the 24th of October last, I was told that

FoUe Avoine, accomplice in the murder and rob-

bery of the two Frenchmen, had arrived at Sault

Ste. Marie vyith fifteen families of the Sauteurs

[Ojibways] who had fled from Chagoamigon [La

Pointe] on account of an attack which they, to-

gether with the people of the land, made last

Spring upon the Nadouecioux [Dakotahs.]

"He believed himself safe at the Sault, on ac-

count of the number of allies and relatives he had

there. Eev. Father Albanel informed me that

the French at the Saut, being only twelve in num-
ber, had not arrested him, believing themselves

too weak to contend with such numbers, espe-

cially as the Sauteurs had declared that they

would not allow the French to redden the land

of their fathers with the blood of their brothers.

" On receiving this information, I immediately

resolved to take with me six Frenchmen, and em-

bark at the dawn of the next day for Sault Ste.

Marie, and if possible obtain possession of the

miurderer. I made known my design to the Eev.

Father Engalran, and, at my request, as he had

some business to arrange with Kev. Father Al-

banel, he placed himself in my canoe.

" Having arrived within a league of the village
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of the Saut, the Rev. Father, the Chevalier de

Fourcille, Cafdonnierre, and I disembarked. I

caused the canoe, in which were Bariband, Le
Mere, La Fortune, and Macons, to proceed, while

we went across the wood to the house of the Eev.

Father, fearing that the savages, seeing me, might

suspect the object of my visit, and cause Folle

Avoine to escape. Finally, to cut the matter

short, I arrested him, and caused him to be

guarded day and night by six Frenchmen.
" I then called a council, at which I requested

all the savages of the place to be present, where

I repeated what I had often said to the Hurons

and Ottawas since the departure of M. Fere [Per-

rot], giving them the message you ordered me.

Sir, that in case there should be among them any

spirits so evil disposed as to follow the example

of those who have murdered the French on Lake
Superior and Lake Michigan, they must separate

the guilty from the innocent, as I did not wish

the whole nation to suffer, unless they protected

the guilty. * * * The savages held several

councils, to which I was invited, but their only

object seemed to be to exculpate the prisoner, in

order that I might release htm.

" All united in accusing Achiganaga and his

children, assuring themselves with the belief that

M. Fere, [Perrot] with his detachment would not

be able to arrest them, and wishing to persuade

me that they apprehended that all the Frenchmen
might be killed.

" I answered them, * * * ' As to the antici-

pated death of M. Fere [Perrot], as well as of the

other Frenchmen, that would not embarrass me,
since I believed neither the allies nor the nation

of Achiganaga would wish to have a war with us

to sustain an action so dark as that of which we
were speaking. Having only to attack a few
murderers, or, at most, those of their own family,

I was certain that the French would have them
dead or aUve.'

" This was the answer they had from me during
the three days that the councils lasted; after

which I embarked, at ten o'clock in the morning,
sustained by only twelve Frenchmen, to show a
few unruly persons who boasted of taking the
prisoner away from me, that the French did not
fear them.

" Daily I received accounts of the number of

savages that Achiganaga drew from his nation to

Kiaonan [Keweenaw] under pretext of going to

war In the spring against the liTadouecioux, to

avenge the death of one of his relatives, son of Ou-

enaus, but really to protect himself against us,

in case we should become convinced that his chil-

dren had killed the Frenchmen. This precaution

placed me between hope and fear respecting the

expedition which M. Pere [Perrot] had under-

taken.

" On the 24th of Ifovember, [1683], he came

across the wood at ten o'clock at night, to tell me
that he had arrested Achiganaga and four of his

children. He said they were not all guilty of the

murder, but had thought proper, in this affair, to

follow the custom of the savages, which is to seize

all the relatives. Folle Avoine, whom I had ar-

rested, he considered the most guilty, being with-

out doubt the originator of the mischief.

" I immediately gave orders that Folle Avoine

should be more closely confined, and not allowed

to speak to any one ; for I had also learned that

he had a brother, sister, and uncle in the village

of the Kiskakons.

" M. Pere informed me that he had released the

youngest son of Achiganaga, aged about thirteen

or fourteen years, that he might make known to

their nation and the Sauteurs [Ojibways], who are

at Nocke and in the neighborhood, the reason

why the French had arrested his father and bro-

thers. M. Pere bade him assure the savages that

if any one wished to complain of what he had
done, he wouldwait for them with a firm step ; for

he considered himself in a condition to set them
at defiance, having found at Kiaonau [Keweenaw]
eighteen Frenchmen who had wintered there.

" On the 25th, at daybreak, M. Pere embarked
at the Sault, with four good men whom I gave
him, to go and meet the prisoners. He left them
four leagues from there, imder a guard of twelve

Frenchmen ; and at two o'clock in the afternoon,

they arrived. I had prepared a room in my house
for the prisoners, in which they were placed imder
a strong guard, and were not allowed to converse

with any one.

" On the 26th, I commenced proceedings ; and
this, sir, is the course I pursued. I gave notice

to all the chiefs and others, to appear iat the

council which I had appointed, and gave to Folle

Avoine the privilege of selecting two of his rela
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tives to support his interests ; and to the other

prisoners I made the same offer.

" The comicil being assembled, I sent for FoUe

Avoiae to be iaterrogated, and caused his answers

to be written, and afterwards they were read to

him, and inquiry made whether they were not,

word for word, what he had said. He was then

removed under a safe guard. I used the same

form with the two eldest sons of Achiganaga, and,

as Folle Avoiae had indirectly charged the father

with being accessory to the murder, I sent for

him and also for FoUe Avoine, and bringing them

into the council, confronted the four.

" FoUe Avoine and the two sons of Achiganaga

accused each other of committing the murder,

without denying that they were participators in

the crime. Achiganaga alone strongly maintained

that he knew nothing of the design of Folle

Avoine, nor of his children, and called on them

to say if he had advised them to kill the French-

men. They answered, 'Ko.'

" This confrontation, which the savages did not

expect, surprised them; and, seeing the prisoners

had convicted themselves of the murder, the

Chiefs said: 'It is enough; you accuse your-

selves; the French are masters of your bodies.'

" The next day I held another council, in which

I said there could be no doubt that the French-

men had been murdered, that the murderers were

known, and that they knew what was the prac-

tice among themselves upon such occasions. To
all this they said nothing, which obliged us on

the following day to hold another council in the

cabin of Brochet, where, after having spoken, and

seeing that they would make no decision, and that

all my councils ended only in reducing tobacco to

ashes, I told them that, since they did not wish to

decide, I should take the responsibility, and that

the' next day I would let them know the deter-

mination of the French and myself.

" It is proper,' Sir, you should know that I ob-

served all these forms only to see t£ they would

feel it their duty to render to us the same justice

that they do to each other, having had divers ex-

amples in which when the tribes of those who
had committed the murder did not wish to go to

war with the tribe aggrieved, the nearest rela-

tions of the murderers killed them themselves;

that is to say, man for man.
" On the 29th of November. I gathered together

the French that were here, and, after the interro-

gations and answers of the accused had been read

to them, the guilt of the three appeared so evi-

dent, from their own confessions, that the vote

was unanimous that all should die. But as the

French who remained at Kiaonan to pass the win-

ter had written to Father Engakan and to myself,

to beg us to treat the afEair with all possible len-

iency, the savages declaring that if they made

the prisoners die they would avenge themselves,

I told the gentlemen who were with me in coun-

cil that, this being a case without a precedent, I

believed it was expedient for the safety of the

French who would pass the winter in the Lake

Superior countiry to put to death only two, as that

of the third might bring about grievous conse-

quences, while the putting to death, man for

man, could give the savages no complaint, since

this is their custom. M. de la Tour, chief of the

Fathers, who had served much, sustained my
opinions by strong reasoning, and all decided that

two should be shot, namely, FoUe Avoine and

the older of the two brothers, while the younger

should be released, and hold his life, Sir, as a gift

from you.

" I then returned to the cabin of Brochet with

Messrs* BoisguiUot, Pere, De Eepentigny, De
Manthet, De la Ferte, and Macons, where were

all the chiefs of the Outawas du Sable, Outawas

Sinagos, Kiskakons, Sauteurs, D'Achillny, a part

of the Hurons, and Oumamens, the chief of the

Amikoys. I informed them of our decision *

* * that, the Frenchmen having been killed by

the different nations, one of each must die, and

that the same death they had caused the French

to suffer they must also suffer. * * * This

decision to put the murderers to death was a hard

stroke to them all, for none had believed that I

would dare to undertake it. * * * I then left

the council and asked the Eev. Fathers if they

wished to baptize the prisoners, which they did.

"An hour after, I put myself at the head of

forty-two Frenchmen, and, in sight of more than

four hundred savages, and within two himdred

paces of their fort, I caused the two murderers

to be shot. The impossibility of keeping them
imtU spring made me hasten their death. * •'

* "When M. Pere made the arrest, those who had
committed the murder confessed it; and when ho

asked them what they had dorie with our jrnod*



14 EXPLORERS AND PIONEERS OF MINNESOTA.

they answered that they were almost all con-

cealed. He proceeded to the place of conceal-

ment, and was very much surprised, as were also

the Trench with him, to find them, in fifteen or

twenty different places. By the carelessness of

the savages, the tobacco and powder were entire-

ly destroyed, having been placed in the pinery,

under the roots of trees, and being soaked in the

water caused by ten or twelve days' continuous

rain, which inundated all the lower country.

The season for snow and ice having come, they

had all the trouble in the world to get out the

bales of cloth.

" They then went to see the bodies, but could

not remove them, these miserable wretches hav-

ing thrown them into a marsh, and thrust them

down into holes which they had made. Not sat-

isfied with this, they had also piled branches of

trees upon the bodies, to prevent them from float-

ing when the water should rise in the spring,

hoping by this precaution the French would find

no trace of those who were killed, but would think

them drowned ; as they reported that they had

found in the lake on the other side of the Portage,

a boat with the sides all broken in, which they

believed to be a French boat.

" Those goods which the French were able to

secure, they took to Kiaonau [Keweenaw], where

were a number of Frenchmen who had gone there

to pass the winter, who knew nothing of the death

of Colin Berthot and Jacques le Maire, until M.
Pere arrived.

"The ten who formed M. Pere's detachment

having conferred together concerning the means

they should take to prevent a total loss, decided

to sell the goods to the highest bidder. The sale

was made for 1100 livres, which was to be paid in

beavers, to M. de la Chesnaye, to whom I send

the names of the purchsers.

" The savages who were present when Achiga-

naga and his children were arrested wished to

pass the calumet to M. Pere, and give Viim cap-

tives to satisfy him for the murder committed on

the two Frenchmen; but he knew their inten-

tion, and would not accept their ofier. He told

them neither a hundred captives nor a hundred

packs of beaver would give back the blood of his

brothers ; that the murderers must be given up

to me, and I would see what I would do.

" I caused M. Pere to repeat these things in the

council, that in future the savages need not think

by presents to save those who commit similar

deeds. Besides, sir, M. Pere showed plainly by

his conduct, that he is not strongly inclined to

favor the savages, as was reported. Indeed, I do

not know any one whom they fear more, yet who
flatters them less or knows them better.

" The criminals being in two different places,

M. Pere being obliged to keep four of them, sent

Messrs. de Repentigny, Manthet, and six other

Frenchmen, to arrest the two who were eight

leagues in the woods. Among others, M. de Re-

pentigny and M. de Manthet showed that they

feared nothing when their honor called them.

" M. de la Chevrotiere has also served well in

person, and by his advice, having pointed out

where the prisoners were. Achiganaga, who had

adopted him as a son, had told him where he

should himt during the winter. *****
It still remained for me to give to Achiganaga and

his three children the means to return to his

family. Theirhome from which they were taken

was nearly twenty-six leagues from here. Know-
ing their necessity, I told them you would not be

satisfied in giving them life
;
you wished to pre-

serve it, by giving them all that was necessary to

prevent them from dying with hunger and cold

by the .way, and that your gift was made by my
hands. I gave them blankets, tobacco, meat,

hatchets, knives, twine to make nets for beavers,

and two bags of com, to supply them till they

could kill game.
" They departed two days after, the most con-

tented creatures in the world, but God was not

;

for when only two days' journey from here, the

old Achiganaga fell sick of the quinsy, and died,

and his children returned. When the news of his

death arrived, the greater part of the savages of

this place [Mackinaw] attributed it to the French,

saying we had caused him to die. I let them
talk, and laughed at them. It is only about two
months since the children of Achiganaga retumel
to Kiaonan."

Some of those opposed to Du Luth and Fron-
tenac, prejudiced the King of France relative to

the transaction we have described, and in a letter

to the Governor of Canada, the King writes : " It

appears to me that one of the principal causes of

the war arises from one Du Luth having caused
two to be killedwho had assassinated two French-
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men on Lake Superior ; and you sufficiently see

now much this man's voyage, which can not pro-

duce any advantage to the colony, and which was

permitted only in the interest of some private

persons, has contributed to distract the peace of

the colony."

Du Luth and his young brother appear to have

traded at the western extremity of Lake Superior,

and on the north shore, to Lake Nipegon.

In June, 1684, Governor De la Barre sent Guil-

letand Hebertfrom Montreal to request DuLuth
and I>urantaye to bring down voyageurs and In-

dians to assist in an expedition against the Iro-

quois of New York. Early in September, they

reported on the St. Lawrence, with one hundred

and fifty coureurs des bois and three him^dred and

fifty Indians ; but as a treaty had just been made

with the Senecas, they returned.

DelaBarre's successor, Governor DenonvlUe,

in a dispatch to the French Government, dated

November 12th, 1685, alludes to Du Luth being

in the far West, in these words :
" I likewise sent

to M. De la Durantaye, who is at Lake Superior

under orders from M. De la Barre, and to Sieur

Du Luth, who is also at a great distance in an-

other direction, and all so far beyond reach that

neither the one nor the other can hear news from

me this year ; so that, not being able to see them

at soonest, before next July, I considered it best

not to think of undertaking any thing during the

whole of next year, especially as a great number

of our best men are among the Outaouacs, and

can not return before the ensuing summer. * * *

In regard to Sieur Du Luth, I sent him. orders to

repair here, so that I may learn the number of

savages on whom I may depend. He is accredit-

ed among them, and rendered great services to

M. De la Barre by a large number of savages he

brought to Niagara, who would have attacked

the Senecas, was it not for an express order from

M. De la Barre to the contrary."

In 1686, while at Mackinaw, he was orderea to

establish a post on the Detroit, near Lake Erie.

A portion of the order reads as follows :
" After

having given all the orders that you may judge

necessary for the safety of this post, and having

well secured the obedience of the Indians, you

will return to Michilimackinac, there to await

Rev. Father Engelran, by whom I will commu-
nicate what I wish of you, there."

The design of this post was to block the pas-

sage of the EngUsh to the upper lakes. Before

it was established, in the fall of 1686, Thomas
Bosebodm, a daring trader from Albany, on the

Hudson, had found his way to the vicinity of

Mackinaw, and by the proffer of brandy, weak-

ened the allegiance of the tribes to the French.

A canoe coming to Mackinaw with dispatches

for the French and their allies, to march to the

Seneca country, in New York, perceived this New
York trader and associates, and, giving the alarm,

they were met by three hundred coureurs du
bois and captured.

In the spring of 1687 Du Luth,- Durantaye,

and Tonty aU left the vicinity of Detroit for Ni-

agara, and as they were coasting along Lake Erie

they met another EngUsh trader, a Scotchman

by birth, and by name Major Patrick McGregor,

a person of some influence, going with a number

of traders to Mackinaw. Having taken him pris-

oner, he was sent with Roseboom to Montreal.

Du Luth, Tonty, and Durantaye arrived at Ni-

agara on the 27th of June, 1687, with one hun-

dred and seventy French voyageurs, besides In-

dians, and on the 10th of July joined the army of

Denonville at the mouth of the Genesee River,

and on the 13th Du Luth and his associates had

a skirmish near a Seneca village, now the site of

the town of Victor, twenty miles southeast of the

city of Rochester, New York. Governor Denon-
ville, in a report, writes: " On the 13th, about 4

o'clock in the afternoon, having passed through

two dangerous defiles, we arrived at the third,

where we were vigorously attacked by eight hun-

dred Senecas, two hundred of whom fired, wish-

ing to attack our rear, while the rest would attack

our front, but the resistance, made produced

such a great consternation that they soon resolved

to fly. * * * "We witnessed the pmful sight

of the usual cruelties of the savages, who cut the

dead into quarters, as is done in slaughter houses,

in order to put them into the kettle. The greater

number were opened while stiU warm, that the

blood might be drunk. Our rascally Otaoas dis-

tinguished themselves particularly by these bar-

barities. * * * We had five or six men kiUed

on the spot, French and Indians, and about

twenty wounded, among the first of whom was the

Rev. Father Angelran, superior of all the Otaoan
Missions, by a very severe gun-shot. It is a great
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misfortune that this wound will prevent him go-

ing back again, for he is a man of capacity."

In the order to Du Luth assigning him to duty

at the post on the site of the modem Fort Gra-

tiot, aboye the city of Detroit, the Governor of

Canada said: " If you can so arrange your affairs

that your brother can be near you la the Spring,

I shall be very glad. He is an intelligent lad,

and might be a great assistance to you; he might

also be very serviceable to us."

This lad, Greysolon de la Toiirette, during the

winter of 1686-7 was trading among the Assina-

boines and other tribes at the west end of Lake

Superior, but, upon receiving a dispatch, hastened

to his brother, journeying in a canoe without any

escort from Mackinaw. He did not arrive until

after the battle with the Senecas. GovernorDen-

onville, on the 25th of August, 1687, wrote:

" Du Luth's brother, who has recently arrived

from the rivers above the Lake of the AUempi-

gons [Nipegon], assures me that he saw more than

fifteen hundred persons come to trade with him,

and they were very sorry he had not goods suffi-

cient to satisfy them. They are of the tribes ac-

customed to resort to the English at Port Nelson

and Eiver Bourbon, where, they say, they did not

go this year, through Sieur Du Lhu's influence."

After the battle in the vicinity of Rochester,

New York, Du Luth, with his celebrated cousin,

Henry Tonty, returned together as far as the post

above the present city of Detroit, Michigan, but

this point, after 1688, was not again occupied.

From this period Du Luth becomes less prom-

inent. At the time when the Jesuits attempted

to exclude brandy from the Indian country a bit-

ter controversy arose between them and the

traders. Cadillac, a Gascon by birth, command-

ing Tort Buade, at Mackinaw, on August 3, 1695,

wrote to Count Frontenac: "Now, what reason

can we assign that the savages should not drink

brandy bought with their own money as well as

we? Is it prohibited to prevent them from be-

coming intoxicated? Or is it because the use of

brandy reduces them to extreme piisery, placing

it out of their power to make war by depriving

them of clothing and arms? If such representa-

tions in regard to the Indians have been made to

the Count, they are very false, as every one knows

who is acquainted with the ways of the savages.

* * * It is bad faith to represent to the Count

that the sale of brandy reduces the savage to a

state of nudity, arid by that means places it out

of his power to make war, since he never goes to

war in any other condition. * * * Perhaps it

will be said that the sale of brandy makes the

labors of the missionaries unfruitful. It is neces-

sary to examine this proposition. If the mission-

aries care for only the extension of commerce,

pursuing the course they have hitherto, I agree

to it; but if it is the use of brandy that hinders

the advancement of the cause of God, I deny it,

for it is a fact which no one can deny that there

are a great number of savages who never drink

brandy, yet who are not, for that, better Chris-

tians.

" All the Sioux, the most numerous of all the

tribes, who inhabit the region along the shore of

Lake Superior, do not even like the smell of

brandy. Are they more advanced in religion for

that? They do not wish to have the subject men-

tioned, and when the missionaries address them

they only laugh at the foolishness of pneaching.

Yet these priests boldly fling before the eyes of

Europeans, whole volumes filled with glowing

descriptions of the conversion of souls by thou-

sands in this country, causing, the poor missiona-

ries from Europe, to run to martyrdom as flies to

sugar and honey."

Du Luth, or Du Lhut, as he wrote his name,

during this discussion, was foimd upon the side

of order alid good morals. His attestation is as

follows : "I certify that at different periods I

have lived about ten years among the Ottawa
nation, from the time that I made an exploration

to the Nadouecioux people until Port Saint Jo-

seph was established by order of the Monsieur
Marquis Denonville, Governor General, at the

head of the Detroit of Lake Erie, which is in the

Iroquois country, and which I had the honor to

command. During this period, I have seen that

the trade in eau-de-vie (brandy) produced great

disorder, the father killing the son, and the son
throwing his mother into the fire; and I maintain
that, morally speaking, it is impossible to export
brandy to the woods and distant missions, with-

out danger of its leading to misery."

Governor Prontenac, in an expedition against

the Oneidas of New York, arrived at Port Pron-
tenac, on the 19th of July, 1695, and Captain Du
Luth was left in command with forty soldiers.
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and masons and carpenters, with orders to erect

new buildings. In about four weeks he erected

a building one hundred and twenty feet la length,

containing oflBcers' quarters, store-rooms, a bakery

and a chapel. Early in 1637 he was still in com-

mand of the post, and in a report it is mentioned

that " everybody was then in good health, except

Captain Dulhut the commander, who was unwell

of the gout."

It was just before this period, that as a member
of the Boman Catholic Church, he was firmly

impressed that he had been helped by prayers

which he addressed to a deceased Iroquois girl,

who had died in the odor of sanctity, and, as a

thank offering, signed the following certificate

:

" I, the subscriber, certify to all whom it may
concern, that having been tormented by the gout,

for the space of twenty-three years, and with such

severe pains, that it gave me no rest for the spae

of three months at a time, I addressed myself to

Catherine Tegahkouita, an Iroquois virgin de-

ceased at the Sault Saint Louis, in the reputation

of sanctity, and I promised her to visit her tomb,

if God should give me health, through her inter-

cession. I have been as perfectly cured at the

end of one novena, which I made in her honor,

that after five months, I have not perceived the

slightest touch of my gout. Given at Fort Tron-

tenac, this 18th day of August, 1696."

As soon as cold weather returned, his old mal-

ady again appeared. Hediedearlyin A. D. 1710.

, Marquis de VaudreuU, Governor of Canada, un-

der date of first of May of that year, wrote to

Count Pon+^chartrain, Colonial Minister at Paris,

" Captain Du Lud died this winter. He was a

very honest man."
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CHAPTEE IV.

FIEST WHITE MEN AT FALLS OF SAINT ANTHONY OF PADUA.

Falls of St. Anthony Visited by White Men.—La Salle Gives the First Description

of Upper Mississippi Valley.—Accault, the LeaderrAccompanied by Augelle

and Hennepin, at Falls of Saint Anthony.—Hennepin Declared Unreliable by

La Salle.—His Early Life.—His First Book Criticised by Abbe Eerhou and

Tronson. — Deceptive Map.— First Meeting with Sioux.|— Astonishment at

Reading His Breviary,—Sioux Name for Guns.—Accault and Hennepin at

Lake Pepin.—Leave the River Below Saint Paul.—At Uille Lacs.—A Sweating

Cabin,—Sioux Wonder at Mariner's Compass.—Fears of an Iron Pot.—Making

a Dictionary.—Infant Baptised.—Route to the Pacific.—Hennepin Descends

Rum River.—First Visit to Falls of Saint Anthony.—On a Buffalo Hunt.—Meets

Du Luth.—Returns to Mille Lacs.—With Du Luth at Falls of St. Anthony.—

Returns to France.—Subsetjuent Life.—His Books Examined.—Denies in First

BookHisDescenttotheGulfof Mexico.—Dispute with Du Luth at Falls of St,

Anthony.—Patronage of Du Luth.—Tribute to Du Luth.—Hennepin's Answer

to Criticisms.—Denounced by D'Iberville and Father Gravier.—Residence in

Rome.

In the summer of 1680, Michael Accault (AJso),

Hennepin, the Pranciscan missionary, Augelle,

Du Luth, and Paffart aU' visited the Palls of

Saint Anthony.

The first description of the valley of the upper

Mississippi was written by La Salle, at Fort

Prontenac, on Lake Ontario, on the 22d of Au-
gust, 1682, a month before Hennepin, in Paris,

obtained a license to print, and some time before

the Pranciscan's first work, was issued from the

press.

La Salle's knowledge must have been received

from Michael Accault, the leader of the expedi-

tion, Augelle, his comrade, or the clerical attache,

the Pranciscan, Hennepin.

It differs from Hennepin's narrative in its free-

dom from bombast, and if its statements are to

be credited, the Pranciscan must be looked on as

one given to exaggeration. The careful student,

however, soon learns to be cautious in receiving

the statement of any of the early explorers and
ecclesiastics of the Northwest. The Pranciscan

depreciated the Jesuit missionary, and La Salle

did not hesitate to misrepresent Du Luth and
others for his own exaltation. La Salle makes
statements which we deem to be wide of the
truth when his prejudices are aroused.

At the very time that the Intendant of Justice
in Canada is complaining that Governor Pronte-
nac is a friend and correspondent of Du Luth

La Salle writes to his friends in Paris, that Du
Luth is looked upon as an outlawby the governor.

While official documents prove that Du Luth

was in Minnesota a year before Accault and asso-

ciatesj yet La Salle writes: " Moreover, the Na-

donesioux is not a region which he has discov-

ered. It is known that it was discovered a long

time before, and that the Bev. Pather Hennepin

and Michael Accault were there before him."

La Salle in this communication describes Ac-

cault as one well acquauited with the language

and names of the Indians of the lUinois region,

and also " cool, brave, and prudent," and the head

of the party of exploration.

We now proceed with the first description of

the country above the Wisconsin, to which ia

given, for the first and only time, by any writer,

the Sioux name, Meschetz Odeba, perhaps in-

tended for Meshdeke Wakpa, Elver of the Poxes.

He describes the Upper Mississippi in these

words :
" PoUowing the windings of the Missis-

sippi, they found the river Ouisconsing, Wiscon-

sing, or Meschetz Odeba, which flows between

Bay of Puans and the Grand river. * * * About
twenty-three or twenty-four leagues to the north

or. northwest of the mouth of the Ouisconsing,

* * * they found the Black river, called by the

Nadouesioux, Chabadeba [Chapa Wakpa, Beaver

river] not very large, the mouth of which is bor-

dered on the two shores by alders.

" Ascending about thirty leagues, almost at the

same point of the compass, is the BufEalo river

[Chippewa], as large at its mouth as that of the

IlUnois. They follow it ten or twelve leagues,

where it is deep, small and without rapids, bor-

dered by hills which vriden out from time to time

to form prairies."

About three o'clock in the afternoon of the 11th

of April, 1680, the travelers were met by a war
party of one himdred Sioux in thirty-three birch

bark canoes. "Michael Accault, who was the
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leader," says La Salle, "presented the Calumet."

The Indians were presented by Accault with

twenty knives and a fathom and a half of tobacco

and some goods. Proceeding with the Indians

ten days, on the 22d of April the isles in the Mis-

sissippi were reached, where the Sioux had killed

some Maskoutens, and they halted to weep over

the death of two of their own number ; and to

assuage their grief, Accault gave them in trade a

box of goods and twenty-four hatchets.

When they were eight leagues below the Falls

of Saint Anthony, they resolved to go by land to

their village, sixty leagues distant. They were

well received ; the only strife among the villages

was that which resulted from the desire to have

a Frenchman ta their midst. La Salle also states

that it was not correct to give the impression that

Du Luth had rescued his men from captivity, for

they could not be properly called prisoners.

He continues: "In going up the Mississippi

again, twenty leagues above that river [Saint

CroixJ is found the falls, which those I sent, and

who passing there first, named Saint Anthony.

It is thirty or forty feet high, and the river is nar-

rower here than elsewhere. There is a small

island in the, midst of the chute, and the two

.banks of the river are not bordered by high hills,

which gradually diminish at this point, but the

country on each side is covered with thin woods,

such as oaks and other hard woods, scattered wide

apart.

" The canoes were carried three or four hun-

dred steps, and eight leagues above was foimd

the west [east?] bank of the river of the Nadoue-

sioux, ending in a lake named Issati, which ex-

pands into a great marsh, where the wild rice

grows toward the mouth."

In the latter part of his letter La Salle uses the

foUowiag language relative to his old chaplain:

" I beUeved that it was appropriate to make for

you the narrative of the adventures of this canoe,

because I doubt not that they will speak of it, and

if you wish to confer with the Father Louis Hen-
nepin, Recollect, who has returned to France, you

must know him a little, because he wiU not fail

to exaggerate all things; it is his character, and

to me he has written as if he were about to be

burned when he was not even in danger, but he

believes that it is honorable to act in this manner,

and he speaks more conformably to that which

he wishes than to that which he knows."

Hennepin was bom in Ath, an inland town of

the Netherlands. From boyhood he longed to

visit foreign lands, and it is not to be wondered

at that he assumed the priest's garb, for next to

the soldier's life, it suited one of wandering pro-

pensities.

At one time he is on a begging expedition to

some of the towns on the sea coast. In a few

months he occupies the post of chaplain at an

hospital, where he shrives the dying and admin-

isters extreme unction. From the quiet of the

hospital he proceeds to the camp, and is present

at the battle of Seneffe, which occurred in the

year 1674.

His whole mind, from the time that he became

a priest, appears to have been on " things seen

and temporal," rather than on those that are " un-

seen and eternal." While on duty at some of the

ports of the Straits of Dover, he exhibited the

characteristic of an ancient Athenian more than

that of a professed successor of the Apostles.

He sought out the society of strang<;rs " who
spent their time in nothing else but either to tell

or to hear some new thing." With perfect non-

chalance he confesses that notwithstanding the

nauseating fumes of tobacco, he used to slip be-

hind the doors of sailors' taverns, and spend days,

without regard to the loss of his meals, listening

to the adventures and hair-breadth escapes of the

mariners in lands beyond the sea.

In the year 1676, he received a welcome order

from his Superior, requiring him to embark for

Canada. Unaccustomed to the world, and arbi-

trary in his disposition, he rendered the cabin of

the ship in which he sailed any thing but heav-

enly. As in modem days, the passengers in a

vessel to the new world were composed of hete-

rogeneous materials. There were young women
going out in search for brothers or husbands, ec-

clesiastics, and those engaged in the then new,

but profitable, conunerce in furs. One of his

fellow passengers was the talented and enterpri-

prising, though unfortunate, La Salle, v^thwhom
he was afterwards associated. If he is to be

credited, his intercourse with La SaUe was not

very pleasant on ship-board. The young women,
tired of being cooped up in the narrow accommo-

dations of the ship, when the evening was fair
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sought the deck, and engaged in the rude dances

of the Trench peasantry of that age. Hennepin,

feeling that it was improper, began to assume

the air of the priest, and forbade the sport. La

Salle, feeling that his interference was uncalled

for, called him a pedant, and took the side of the

girls, and during the voyage there were stormy

discussions.

Good humor appears to have been restored

when they left the ship, for Hennepin would oth-

erwise have not been the companion of La Salle

in his great western journey.

Sojourning for a short period at Quebec, the

adventure-loving Tranciscan is permitted to go

to a mission station on or near the site of the

present town of Kingston, Canada West.

Here there was much to gratify his love of

novelty, and he passed considerable time in ram-

bling among the Iroquois of New York. In 1678

he returned to Quebec, and was ordered to join

the expedition of Eobert La Salle.

On the 6th of December Father Hennepin and

a portion of the exploring party had entered the

Niagara river. In the vicinity of the Falls, the

winter was passed, and while the artisans were

preparing a ship above the Falls, to navigate the

great lakes, the KecoUect whiled away the hours,

in studying the manners and customs of the Sen-

eca Indians, and in admiring the sublimest han-

diwork of God on the globe.

On the 7th of August, 1679, the ship being

completely rigged, imfurled its sails to the breezes

of Lake Erie. The vessel was named the " Grtf-

fln," in honor of the arms of Frontenac, Governor

of Canada, the first ship of European construc-

tion that had ever ploughed the waters of the

great inland seas of North America.

Alter encountering a violent and dangerous

storm on one of the lakes, during which they had

given up all hope of escaping shipwreck, on the

27th of the month, they were safely moored in

the harbor of " Missilimackinack." From thence

the party proceeded to Green Bay, where they

left the ship, procured canoes, and continued

along the coast of Lake Michigan. By the mid-

dle of January, 1680, La Salle had conducted his

expedition to the Illinois River, and, on an emi-

nence near Lake Peoria, he commenced, with

much heaviness of heart, the erection of a fort.

which he called Crevecceur, on account of the

many disappointments he had experienced.

On the last of February, Accault, Augelle, and

Hennepin left to ascend the Mississippi.

The first work bearing the name of the Rev-

erend Father Louis Hennepin, Franciscan Mis-

sionary of the EecoUect order, was entitled, " De-

scription de la Louisiane," and in 1683 published

in Paris.

As soon as the book appeared it yas criticised.

Abbe Bernou, on the 29th of February, 1684,

writes from Rome about the "paltry book" (mes-

hcant livre) of Father Hennepin. About a year

before the pious Tronson, under date of March

13, 1683, wrote to a friend: " I have interviewed

the P. Recollect, who pretends to have descended

the Mississippi river to the Gulf of Mexico. I do

not know that one will Relieve what he speaks any

more than that which is in the printed relation of

P. Louis, which I send you that you may make

your own reflections."

On the map accompanying his first book, he

boldly marks a Recollect Mission many mUes

north of the point he had visited. In the Utrecht

edition of 1697 this deliberate fraud is erased.

Throughout the work he assumes, that he was

the leader of the expedition, and magnifies tripes
.

into tragedies. For instance, Mr. La Salle writes

that Michael Accault, also vreitten Ako, who was
the leader, presented the Sioux with the calu-

met ;" but Hennepin makes the occurrence more

formidable.

He writes :
" Our prayers were heard, when on

the 11th of April, 1680, about two o'clock in the

afternoon, we suddenly perceived thirty -three

bark canoes manned by "a hundred and twenty

Indians coming down with very great speed, on a

war party, against the Miamis, Illinois and Maro-

as. These Indians surrounded us, and while at

a distance, discharged some arrows at us, but as

they approached our canoe, the old men seeing us

with the calumet of peace in our hands, prevent-

ed the young men from killing us. These sava-

ges leaping from their canoes, some on land,

others into the water, with frightful cries and
yells approached us, and as we madfe no resist-

ance, being only three against so great a number,
one of them wrenched our calUmet from our

hands, while our canoe and theirs were tied to

the shore. We first presented to them a piece of
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French tobacco, better for smoking than theirs'

and the eldest among them uttered the words'
" Miamiha, Miamiha."

" As we did not imderstand their language, we
took a little stick, and by signs which we made
on the sand, showed them that their enemies, the

Miamis, whom they sought, had fled across the

river Colbert [Mississippi] to join the Islinois;

when they saw themselves discovered and unable

to surprise their enemies, three or four old men
laying their hands on my head, wept in a mourn-
ful tone. -

" With a spare handkerchief I had left I wiped
away their tears, 'but they would not smoke our

Calumet. They made us cross the river with
great cries, while all shouted with tears in their

eyes; they made us row before them, and we
heard yells capable of striking the most resolute

with terror. After landing our canoe and goods,

part of which had already been taken, we made a
fire to boil our kettle, and we gave them two large

wild turkeys which we had killed. These Indians
having called an assembly to deliberate what they
were to do with us, the two head chiefs of the

party approaching, showed us by signs that the

warriors wished to tomahawk us. This com-
pelled me to go to the war chiefs with one young
man, leaving the other by our property, and
throw into their midst six axes, fifteen knives
and six fathom of our black tobacco ; and then
bringing down my head, I showed them with an
axe that they might kill me, if they thought
proper. This present appeased many individual

members, who gave us some beaver to eat, put-

ting the three first morsels into our mouths, accor-

ding to the custom of the country, and blowing on
the meat, which was too hot, before putting the
bark dish before us to let us eat as we liked. We
spent the night in anxiety, because, before reti-

rmg at night, they had returned us our peace
calumet.

" Our two boatmen were resolved to sell their

lives dearly, and to resist if attacked ; their arms
and swords were ready. As for my own part, I
determined to allow myself to be killed without
any resistance ; as I was going to announce to
them a God who had been foully accused, un-
justly condemned, and cruelly crucified, without
showing the least aversion to those who put him
to death. We watched in turn, in our anxiety,

so as not to be surprised asleep. The next morn-

ing, a chief named Narrhetoba asked for the

peace calumet, flUed it with willow bark, and all

smoked. It was then signified that the white

men were to return with them to theiv villages."

In his narrative the Franciscan remarks, "I
found it diflBcult to say my office before these

Indians. Many seeing me move my lips, said in

a fierce tone, ' Ouakanche.' Michael, all out of

countenance, told me, that If I continued to say

my breviary, we should all three be kiUed, and

the Picard begged me at least to pray apart, so as

not to provoke them. I followed the latter's

advice, but the more I concealed myself the more
I had the Indians at my heels ; for when I en-

tered the wood, they thought I was going to hide

some goods under ground, so that I knew not on
what side to turn to pray, for they never let me
out of sight. This obUged me to beg pardon of

my canoe -men, assuring them I could not dis-

pense with saying my office. By the word, ' Ou-
akanche,' the Indians meant that the book I was
reading was a spirit, but by their gesture they

nevertheless showed a kind of aversion, so that

to accustom them to it, I chanted the litany of

the Blessed Virgin in the canoe, with my book
opened. They thought that the breviary was a
spirit which taughtme to sing for their diversion

;

for these people are naturally fond of singing."

This is the first mention of a Dahkotah word
in a European book. The savages were annoyed
rather than em-aged, at seeing the white man
reading a book, and exclaimed, " Wakan-de I"

this is wonderful or supernatural. The war
party was composed of several bands of the M'de-
wahfcantonwan Dahkotahs, and there was a di-

versity of opinion in relation to the disposition

that should be made of the white men. The
relatives of those who had been MUed by the

Miamis, were in favor of taking their scalps, but
others were anxious to retain the favor of the

French, and open a trading intercourse.

Perceiving one of the canoe-men shoot a wUd
turkey, they called the gun, " Manza Ouackange,"
iron that has understanding; more correctly,

" Maza Wakande," this is the supernatural metal.

Aquipaguetm, one of the head men, resorted

to the following device to obtain merchandise.

Says the Father, "This wUy savage had the

bones of some distinguished relative, which he
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preserved with great care in. some skins dressed

and adorned with several rows of black and red

porcupine quills. From time to time lie assem-

bled his men to give it a smoke, and made us

come several days to cover the bones with goods,

and by a present wipe away the tears he had shed

for him, and for his own son kiUed by the Miamis.

To appease this captious man, we threw on the

bones several fathoms of tobacco, axes, knives,

beads, and some black and white wampum brace-

lets. * * * "We slept at the point of the Lake

of Tears [Lake Pepin], which we so called from

the tears which this chief shed all night long, or

by one of his sons whoin he caused to weep when

he grew tired."

The next day, after four or five leagues' sail, a

chief came, and teUing them to leave their canoes,

he pulled up three piles of grass for seats. Then

taking a piece of cedar full of little holes, he

placed a stick into one, whichhe revolved between

the palms of his hands, until he kindled a fire,

and informed the Frenchmen that they would be

at Mille Lac in six days. On the nineteenth day

after their captivity, they arrived in the vicinity

of Saint Paul, not far, it is probable, from the

marshy groimd on which the Kaposia band once

lived, and now called Pig's Eye.

The journal remarks, " Having arrived on the

nineteenth day of our navigation, five leagues

below St. Anthony's Palls, these Indians landed

us in a bay, broke our canoe to nieces, and se-

creted their own in the reeds."

They then followed the traU to MUle Lac, sixty

leagues distant. As they approached their villa-

ges, the various bands began to show their spoils.

The tobacco was highly prized, and led to some

contention. The chalice of the Father, which

glistened in the ^sun, they were afraid to touch,

supposing it was "wakan." After five days'

walk they reached the Issati [Dalikptah] settle-

ments in the valley of the Bum or Knife river.

The different bands each conducted a Frenchman

to their village, the chief Aquipaguetin taking

charge of Hennepin. After marching through

the marshes towards the sources of Bum river,

five wives of the chief, in three bark canoes, met

them and took them a short league to an island

where their cabins were.

An aged Indian kindly rubbed down the way-

worn Franciscan; placing him on a bear-skin

near the fire, he anointed his legs and the soles

of his feet with wildcat oil.

The son of the chief took great pleasure in car-

rying upon his bare back the priest's robe with

dead men's bones enveloped. It was called Pere

Louis Chinnen. In the Dahkotah language Shin-

na or Shinnan signifies a buffalo robe.

Hennepin's description of his Ufe on the island

is in these words

:

" The day after our arrival, Aquipaguetin, who

was the head of a large family, covered me with

a robe made of ten large dressed beaver skins,

trimmed with porcupine quills. This Indian

showed me five or six of his vnves, telling them,

as I afterwards learned, that they shoul'' in fu'

ture regard me as one of their children.

" He set before me a bark dish full of fish, and

seeing that I could not rise from the ground, he

had a small sweating-cabin made, In which he

made me enter with four Indians. This cabin he

covered with buffalo skins, and inside he put

stones red-hot. He made me a sign to do as the

others before beginning to sweat, but I merely

concealed my nakedness with a handkerchief.

As soon as these Indians had -several times

breathed out quite violently, he began to sing vo-

ciferously, the others putting their hands on me
and rubbing me while they wept bitterly. I be-

gan to faint, but I came out and could scarcely

take my habit to put on. When he made me
sweat thus three times a week, I felt as strong as

ever."

The mariner's compass was a constant source

of wonder and amazement. Aquipaguetin hav-

ing assembled the braves, would ask Hennepin

to show his compass. Perceiving that the needle

turned, the chief harangued his men, and -told

them that the Europeans were spirits, capable of

doing any thing.

In the Franciscan's possession was an iron pot

with feet like lions', which the Indians would not

touch unless their hands were wrapped in buffalo

skins. The women'looked upon it as "wakan,"

and would not enter the cabin where it was.

" The chiefs of these savages, seeing that I was

desirous to learn, frequently made me write,

naming all the parts of the human body ; and as

I would not put on paper certain ii;idelicate words,

at which they do not blush, they were heartUy

amused."
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They often asked the Franciscaii questions, to

answer which it was necessary to refer to his lex-

icon. Tliis appeared very strange, and, as they

had no word for paper, they said, " That white

thing must he a spirit which tells Pare Louis all

we say."

Hennepin remarks :
" These Indians often

asked me how many wives and children I had,

and how old I was, that is, how many winters

;

for so these natives always count. Npver illu-

mined by the Ught of faith, they were surprised

at my answer. Pointing to our two Frenchmen,

whom I was then visiting, at-a point three leagues

from our village, I told them that a man among
us could only have one wife ; that as for me, I

had promised the Master of life to live as they

saw me, and to come and Uve with them to teach

them to be like the French.

" But that gross people, till then lawless and

faithless, turned all I said into ridicule. ' How,'

said they, ' would you have these two men with

thee have wives? Ours would not live with them,

for they have hair all over their face, and we have

none there or elsewhere.' In fact, they were

never better pleased with me than when I was

shaved, and from a complaisance, certainly not

criminal, I shaved every week.

" As often as I went to visit the cabins, I found

a sick child, whose father's name was Mamenisi.

Michael Ako would not accompany me; the

Picard du Gay alone followed me to act as spon-

sor, or, rather, to witness the baptism.

" I christened the child Antoinette, in honor pf

St. Anthony of Padua, as weU as for the Picard's

name, which was Anthony Auguelle. He was a

native of Amiens, and nephew of the Procurator-

General of the Premonstratensians both now at

Paris.. Having poured natural water on the head

and uttered these words :
' Creature of God, I

baptize thee ui the name of the Father, and of

the Son, and of the Holy Ghost,' I took half an

altar cloth which I had wrested from the hands

of an Indian who had stolen it from me, and put

it on the body of the baptized child; for as I

could not say mass for want of wine and vest-

ments, this piece of linen could not be put to bet-

ter use than to enshroud the first Christian child

among these tribes. I do not know whether the

softness of the linen had refreshed her, but she

was the next day smiling in her mother's arms.

who believed that I had cured the child ; but she

died soon after, to my great consolation.

" During my stay among them, there arrived

four savages, who said they were come alone five

hundred leagues from the west, and had been four

months upon the way. They assured us there

was no such place as the Straits of Anian, and

that they had traveled without resting, except to

sleep, and had not seen or passed over any great

lake, by which phrase they always mean the sea.

" They further inforjned us that the nation of

the Assenipoulacs [Assiniboines] who lie north-

east of Issati, was not above six or seven days'

journey ; that none of the nations, within their

knowledge, who lie to the east or northwest, had

any great lake about their countries, which were

very large, but only rivers, which came from the

north. They further assured us that there were

very few forests in the countries through which

they passed, insomuch that now and then they

were forced to make fires of buffaloes' dung to

boil their food. All these circumstances make it

appear that there is no such place as the Straits

of Anian, as we usually see them set down on the

maps. And whatever efforts have been made for

many years past by the English and Dutch, to

find out a passage to the Frozen Sea, they have

not yet been able to effect it. But by the help of

my discovery aud the assistance of God, I doubt

not but a passage may still be found, and that an

easy one too.

" For example, we may be transported into the

Pacific Sea by rivers which are large and capable

of carrying gi-eat vessels, and from flience it is

very easy to go to China and Japan, without cross-

ing the equinoctial line; and, in all probability,

Japan is on the same continent as America."

Hennepin in his first book, thus describes his

first visit to the Falls of St. Anthony :
" In the

beginiung of July, 1680, we descended the [Eimi]

Eiver in a canoe southward, with the great chief

Ouasicoude [Wauzeekootay] that is to say Pierced

Pine, with about eighty cabins composed of more

than a himdred and thirty families and about

two hundred and fifty warriors. Scarcely would

the Indians give me a place in their little flotilla,

for they had only old canoes. They went four

leagues lower down, to get birch bark to make
some more. Having made a hole in the ground,

to hide our silver chalice and our papers, till our
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return from the liiint, and keeping only our bre-

viary, so as not to be loaded, I stood on the bank

of the lake formed by the river we had called St.

Francis [now Eum] and stretched out my hand

to the canoes as they rapidly passed in succession.

"Our Frenchmen also had one forthemselves,

which the Indians had given them. They would

not take me in, Michael Ako saying that he had

taken me long enough to satisfy him. I was hurt

at this answer, seeing myself thus abandoned by

Christians, to whom I had always done good, as

they both often acknowledged; but God never

having abandoned me on that painful voyage, in-

spired two Indians to take me in their little

canoe, where I had no other employment than to

bale out with a little bark tray, the water which

entered by little holes. This I did not do with-

out getting all wet. This boat might, indeed, be

called a death box, for its hghtness and fragility.

These canoes do not generally weigh over fifty

pounds, the least motion of the body upsets them,

unless you are long accustomed to that kind of

navigation.

" On disembarking in the evening, the Picard,

as an pxcuse, told me that their canoe was half-

rotten, and that had we been three in it, we
should have run a great risk of remaining on the

way. * * * Four days after our departure for

the buffalo hunt, we halted eight leagues above

St. Anthony of Padua's FaUs, on an eminence

opposite the mouth of the Kiver St. Francis [Eum]
* * * The Picard and myself went to look for

haws, gooseberries, and Uttle wild fruit, which

often did us more harm than good. This obUged

us to go alone, as Michael Ako refused, in a

vreetched canoe, to Ouisconsin river, which was

more than a hvmdred leagues off, to see whether

the Sieur de la Salle had sent to that place a re-

inforcement of men, vsrith powder, lead, and

other munitions, as he had promised us.

"The Indians would not have suffered this

voyage had not one of the three remained with

them. They wished me to stay, but Michael

Ako absolutely refused. As we were making the

portage of our canoe at St. Anthony of Padua's

FaUs, we perceived five or six of our Indians who
had taken the start ; one of them was up in an

oak opposite the great faU, weeping bitterly, with

a rich dressed beaver robe, whitened inside, and

trimmed with porcupine quills, which he was

offering as a sacrifice tp the falls; which is, in it-

self, admirable and frightful. I heard him while

shedding copious tears, say as he spoke to, the

great cataract, 'Thou who art a spirit, grant that

our nation may pass here quietly, without acci-

dent; may kill buffalo in abundance ; conquer

our enemies, and bring in slaves, some of whom
we will put to deathbefore thee. The Messenecqz

(so they call the tribe named by the French Outa-

gamis) have killed our kindred
;
grant that we

may avenge them.' This robe offered in sacrifice,

served one of our Frenchmen, who took it as we
returned."

It is certainly wonderful, that Hennepin, who
knew nothing of the Sioux language a few weeks

before, should understand the prayer offered at

the Falls without the aid of an interpreter.

The narrator continues : "A league beyond

St. Anthony of Padua's Falls, the Picard was

obliged to land and get his powder horn, which he

had left at the FaUs. * * * As we descended

the river Colbert [Mississippi] we found some of

our Indians on the islands loaded with buffalo

meat, some of which they gave us. Two hours

after landing, fifteen or sixteen warriors whom we
had left above -St. Anthony of Padua's FaUs, en-

tered, tomakawk in hand, upset the cabin of those

who had invited us, took all the meat and bear

oil they found, and greased themselves from head

to foot,"

This was done because the others had violated

the rules for the buffalo hunt. With the Indians

Hennepin went down the river sixty leagues, and

then went up the river again, and met buffalo.

He continues

:

"WhUe seeking the Ouisconsin Eiver, that

savage father, Aquipaguetin, whom I had left,

and who I beUeved more than two hundred

leagues off, on the 11th of July, 1680, appeared

with the warriors." After this, Hennepin and
Picard continued to go up the river almost eighty

leagues.

There is great confusion here, as the reader

will see. "When at the mouth of the Eum Eiver,

he speaks of the Wisconsin as more than a hun-
dred leagues off. He fioats down the river sixty

leagues ; then he ascended, but does not state the

distance; then he ascends eighty leagues.

He continues :
" The Indians whom he had left

with Michael Ako at Buffalo [Chippeway] Eiver,
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with the flotilla of canoes loaded with meat, came

down. * * * All the Indian women had their

stock of meat at the mouth of Buffalo River and

on the islands, and again we went down the Col-

bert [Mississippi] about eighty leagues. * * *

We had another alarm in our camp : the old men
on duty on the top of the mountains announced

that they saw two warriors in the distance ; all

the bowmen hastened there with speed, each try-

ing to outstrip the others ; but they brought back

only two of their enemies, who came to tell them

that a party of their people were hunting at the

extremity of Lake Conde [Superior] and had found

four Spirits {so they call the French) who, by

means of a slave, had expressed a wish to come

on, knowing us to be among them. * * * On
the 25th of July, 1680, as we were ascending the

river Colbert, after the buffalo hunt, to the In-

dian villages, we met Sieur du Luth, who came

to the Nadouessious with five French soldiers.

They joined us about two hundred and twenty

leagues distant from the country of the Indians

who had taken us. As we had some knowledge

of the language, they begged us to accompany

them to the villages of these tribes, to which I

readily agreed, knowing that these two French-

men had not approached the sacrament for two

years."

Here again the number of leagues is confusing,

and it is impossible to believe that Du Luth and

his interpreter Faffart, who had been trading

with the Sioux for more than a year, needed the

help of Hennepin, who had been about three

months with these people.

"We are not told by what route Hennepin and

Du Liith reached Lake Issati or Mille Lacs, but

Hennepin says they arrived there on the 11th of

August, 1680, and he adds, " Toward the end of

September, having no implements to begin an

estabUshment, we resolved to tell these people,

that for their benefit, we would have to return to

the French settlements. The grand Chief of the

Issati or Nadouessiouz consented, and traced in

pencil on paper I gave him, the route I should

take for four hundred leagues. With this chart,

we set out, eight Frenchmen, in two canoes, and

descended the river St. Francis and Colbert [Eum
and Mississippi]. Two of our men took two bea-

ver robes at St. Anthony of Padua's Falls, which

the Indians had hung in sacrifice on the trees."

The second work of Hennepin, an enlargement

of the first, appeared at Utrecht in the year 1697,

ten years after La SaUe's death. During the in-

terval between the publication of the first and

second book, he had passed three years as Super-

intendent of the Recollects atRenymthe province

of Artois, when Father Hyacinth Lefevre, a friend

of La Salle, and Commissary Provincial of Recol-

lects at Paris, wished him to return to Canada.

He refused, and was ordered to go to Rome, arid

upon his coming back was sent to a convent at

St. Omer, and there received a dispatch from the

Minister of State in France to return to the coun-

tries of the King of Spain, of which he was a

subject. This order, he asserts, he afterwards

learned was forged.

In the preface to the EngUsh edition of the

New Discovery, published in 1698, in London, he

writes

:

"The pretended reason of that violent order

was because I refused to return into America,

where I had been already eleven years ; though

the particular laws of our Order oblige none of us

to go beyond sea against his will. I would have,

however, returned very willingly had I not known
the malice of M. La Salle, who would have ex-

posed me to perish, as he did one of the men who
accompanied me in my discovery. God knows
that I am sorry for his unfortunate death ; but

the judgments of the Almighty are always just,

for the gentleman was killed by one of his ovm
men, who were at last sensible that he exposed

them to visible dangers without any necessity and

for his private designs."

After this he was for about five years at Gosse-

Ues, in Brabant, as Confessor in a convent, and
from thence removed to his native place, Ath, in

Belgium, where, according to his narrative in the

preface to the "Nouveau Decouverte," he was
again persecuted. Then Father Payez, Grand

Commissary of Recollects at Louvain, being in-

formed that the King of Spain and the Elector of

Bavaria recommended the step, consented that

he should enter the service of William the Third

of Great Britain, who had been very kind to the

Roman Catholics of Netherlands. By order of

Payez he was sent to Antwerp to take the lay

habit in the convent there, and subsequently

went to Utrecht, where he finished his second

book known as the New Discovery.
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His first volume, printed in 1683, contains 312

pages, with an appendix of 107 pages, on the

Customs of the Savages, while the Utrecht book

of 1697 contains 509 pages without an appendix.

On page 249 of the New Discovery, he begins

an account of a voyage alleged to have been made

to the mouth of the Mississippi, and occupies

over sixty pages in the narrative. The opening

sentences give as a reason for concealing to this

time his discovery, that La Salle would have re-

ported him to his Superiors for presuming to go

down instead of ascending the stream toward the

north, as had been agreed ; and that the two with

him threatened that if he did not consent to de-

scend the river, they would leave him on shore

during the night, and pursue their own course.

He asserts that he left the Gulf of Mexico, to

return, on the 1st of April, and on the 24th left

the Arkansas ; but a week after this, he declares

he landed with the Sioux at the marsh about two

miles below the city of Samt Paul.

The account has been and is still a puzzle to

the historical student. In our review of his first'

book we have noticed that as early as 1683, he

claimed to have descended the Mississippi. In

the Utrecht publication he declares that while at

Quebec, upon his return to France, he gave to

Father Valentine Eoux, Commissary of Recol-

lects, his journal, upon the promise that it would

be kept secret, and that this Father made a copy

of his whole voyage, including the visit to the

Gulf of Mexico ; but in his Description of Louis-

iana, Hennepin wrote, " "We had some design of

going to the mouth of the river Colbert, which

more probably empties into the Gulf of Mexico

than into the Bed Sea, but the tribes that seized

us gave us no time to sail up and down the river."

The additions in his Utrecht book to magnify

his importance and detract from others, are

many. As Sparks and Parkman have pointed

out the plagiarisms of this edition, a reference

here is unnecessary.

Du Luth, who left Quebec in 1678, and had
been in northern Minnesota, with an interpreter,

for a year, after he met Ako and Hennepin, be-

comes of secondary importance, in the eyes of

the Franciscan.

In the Description of Louisiana, on page 289,

Hennepin speaks of passing the Falls of Sanit

Anthony, upon his return to Canada, in these

few words :
" Two of our men seized two beaver

robes at the Falls of St. Anthony of Padua,

which the Indians had in sacrifice, fg,stened to

trees." But in the Utrecht edition, commencing

on page 416, there is much added concerning Du
Lnth. After using the language of the edition

of 1688, already quoted it adds: "Hereupon

there arose a dispute between Sieur du Luth and

myself. I commended what they had done, say-

ing, ' The savages might judge by it that they

disliked the superstition of these people.' The

Sieur du Luth, on the contrary, said that they

ought to have left the robes where the savages

placed them, for they would not fail to avenge

the insult we had put upon them by this action,

and that it was feared that they would attack us

on this journey. I confessed he had some foun-

dation for what he said, and that he spoke accor-

ding tp the rules of prudence. But one of the.

two men flatly replied, the two robes suited them,

and they cared nothing for the savages and their

superstitions. The Sieur du Luth at these words

was so greatly enraged that he nearly struck the

one who uttered them, but I intervened and set-

tled the dispute. The Picard and Michael Ako
ranged themselves on the side of those who had

taken the robes in question, which might have

resulted badly.

" I argued with Sieur du Luth that the savages

would not attack us, because I. was persuaded

that their great chief Ouasicoude would have oiu-

interests at heart, and he had great credit with

his nation. The matter terminated pleasantly.

" When we arrived near the river Ouisconsin,

we halted to smoke the meat of the buffalo we
had killed on the journey. During our stay, three

savages of the nation we had left, came by the

side of our canoe to teU us that their great chief

Ouasicoude, having learned that another chief of

these people wished to pursue and kill us, and
that he entered the cabin where he was consult-

ing, and had struck him on the head with such

violence as to scatter his brains upon his associ-

ates ; thus preventing the executing of this inju-

rious project.

" We regaled the three savages, having a great

abundance of food at that time. The Sieur du
Luth, after the savages had left, was as enraged
as before, and feared that they would pursue and
attack us on our voyage. He would have pushed
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the matter (urther , but seeing that one man would
resist, and was not in the humor to be imposed

upon, he moderated, and I appeaSed them in the

end with the assurance that God would not aban-

don us in distress, and, provided we confided in

Him, he would deliver us from our foes, because

He is the protector of men and angels."

Alter describing a conference with the Sioux,

he adds, " Thus the savages were very kind,

without mentioning the beaver robes. The chief

Ouasicoude told me to oiler a fathom of Marti-

nico tobacco to the chief Aquipaguetin, who had

adopted me as a son. This had an admirable

effect upon the barbarians, who went oil shouting

several times the word 'Louis,' [Ouis or We]
.which, as he said, means the sun. Without van-

ity, I must say that my name will be for a long

time among these people.

"The savages having left us, to go to war
against the Messorites, the Maroha, the ILUnois,

and other nations which live toward the lower

part of the Mississippi, and are irreconcilable foes

of the people of the North, the Sieur du Luth,

who upon many occasions gave me marks of his

friendship, could not forbear to tell our men" that

I had all the reason in the world to believe that

the Viceroy of Canada would give me a favorable

reception, should we arrive before winter, and

that he wished with all his heart that he had been

among as many natives as myself."

The style of Louis Hennepin is unmistakable

in this extract, and it is amusing to read his pa-

tronage of one of the fearless explorers of the

Northwest, a cousin of Tonty, favored by Fron-

tenac, and who was in Minnesota a year before

his arrival.

In 1691, six years before the Utrecht edition of

Hennepin, another EecoUect Franciscan had pub-

lished a book at Paris, called " The First Estab-

lishment of the Faith in New France," in which
is the following tribute to Du Luth, whom Hen-
nepin strives to make a subordinate :

" In the last

years of M. de Frontenac's administration, Sieur

DuLuth, a man of talent and experience, opened

a way to the missionary and the Gospel in many
different nations, turning toward the north of

that lake [Superior] where he even built a fort,

he advanced as far as the Lake of the Issati,

called Lake Buade, from the family name of M.

de Frontenac, planting the arms of his Majesty

in several nations on the right and left."

In the second volume of his last book, which is

called " A Continuance of the New Discovery of

a vast Country in America," etc., Hennepm no-

ticed some criticisms.

To the objection that his work was dedicated

to William the Third of Great Britam, he replies

:

" My King, his most Catholic Majesty, his Elec-

toral Highness of Bavaria, the consent in writing

of the Superior of my order, the integrity of my
faith, and the regular observance of my vows,

which his Britannic Majesty allows me, are the

best warrants of the uprightness of my inten-

tions."

To the query, how he could travel so far upon
the Mississippi in so Uttle time, he answers with

a bold face, " That we may, with a canoe and a

pair of oars, go twenty, twenty-five, or thirty

leagues every day, and more too, if there be oc-

casion. And though we had gone but ten leagues

a day, yet in thirty days we might easily have
gone three hundred leagues. Ij during the time

we spent from the river of the lUinois to the

mouth of the Meschasipi, in the Gulf of Mexico,

we had used a httle more haste, we might have
gone the same twice over."

To the objection, that he said, he nad passed

eleven years in America, when he had been there

but about four, he evasively replies, that " reck-

oning from the year 1674, when I first set out, to

the year 1688, when I printed the second edition

of my ' Louisiana,' it appears that I have spent

fifteen years either in travels or printing my
Discoveries."

To those who objected to the statement in his

first book, in the dedication to Louis the Four-
teenth, that the Sioux always call the sun Louis,

he writes :
" I repeat what I have said before,

that being among the Issati and Nadouessans, by
whom I was made a slave in America, I never
heard them call the sun any other than Louis.

It is true these savages call also the moon Louis,

but with this distinction, that they give the moon
the name of Louis Bastache, which in their lan-

guage signifies, the sun that shines in the night."

The Utrecht edition called foi-th much censure,

and no one in France doubted that Hennepin
was the author. D 'Iberville, Governor of Lou-
isiana, while in Paris, wrote on July 3d 1699, to
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the Minister of Marine and Colonies of France,

in these words :
" Very much vexed at the Eec-

ollect, whose false narratives had deceived every

one, and caused our suffering and total failure of

our enterprise, by the time consumed in the

search of things which alone existed in his imag-

ination."

The Eev. Father James Gravier, in a letter

from a fort on the Gulf of Mexico, near the Mis-

sissippi, dated February 16th, 1701, expressed the

sentiment of his times when he speaks of Hen-

nepin " who presented to King William, the Kela-

tion of the Mississippi, where he never was, and

after a thousand falsehoods and ridiculous boasts,

* * * he makes Mr. de la Salle appear in his

Belation, wounded with two balls in the head,

turn toward the Recollect Father Anastase, to

ask him for absolution, having been killed in-

stantly, without uttering a word • and other like

false stories."

Hennepin gradually faded out of sight. Bru-

net mentions a letter wptten by J. B. Dubos,

from Rome, dated March 1st, 1701, which men-

tions that Hennepin was living on the Capitoline

Hill, in the celebrated convent of Ara Coeli, and

was a favorite of Cardinal Spada. The time and

place of his death has hot been ascertained.
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CHAPTER V.

NICHOLAS PEEEOT, FOUNDBK OF FIEST POST "ON LAKE PEPIK.

£iulr Life.—Searches for Copper,—Interpreter at Sault St. Marie, Employed by

La Salle.—Bwilds Stockade at Lake Pepin. — Hostile Indians Rebuked. —

A

Silver Ostensorium Qivcn to a Jesuit Chapel.—Perrot in the Battle against

Senecas, in New York.—Second Visit to Sioux Country.—Taking Possession by

"Proces Verbal."—Discovery of Lead Uinea.—Attends Council at Montreal.

—

Establishes a Post near Detroit, in Slichigan.—Ferrot's Death, and his Wife.

Nicholas Perrot, sometimes written Pare, was

one of the most energetic of the class in Canada

known as " coureurs des bois," or forest rangers.

Born in 1644, at an early age he was identified

with the fur trade of the great inland lakes. As
early as 1665, he was among the Outagamies

[Foxes], and in 1667 was at Green Bay. In 1669,

he was appointed by Talon to go to the lake re-

gion in search of copper mines. At the formal

taking possession of that country in the name of

the King of France, at Sault St. Marie, on the

14th of May, lb71, he acted as interpreter. In

1677, he seems to have been employed at Port

Prontenac. La Salle was made -very sick the

next year, from eating a salad, and one Nicholas

Perrot, called Joly Coeur (Jolly Soul) was sus-

pected of having mingled poison with the food.

After this he was associated with Du Luth in

the execution of two Indians, as we have seen.

In 1684, he was appointed by De la Barre, the

Governor of Canada, as Commandant for the

West, and left Montreal with twenty men. Ar-

riving at Green Bay in "Wisconsin, some Indians

told him that they had visited coimtries toward

the setting sun, where they obtained the blue

and green stones suspended from their ears and

noses, and that they saw horses and men like

Frenchmen, probably the Spaniards of New Mex-

ico ; and others said that they had obtained hatch-

ets from persons who lived in a house that walked

on the water, near the mouth of the river of the

Assiniboines, alluding to the English established

at Hudson's Bay. Proceeding to the portage be-

tween the Fox and Wisconsin, thirteen Hurons

were met, who were bitterly opposed to the es-

tablishment of a post near the Sioux. After the

Mississippi was reached, a party of Winnebagoes

was employed to notify the tribes of Northern

Iowa that the French had ascended the river,

and wished to meet them. It was further agreed

that prairie fires would be kindled from time to

time, so that the Indians could follow the French.

After entering Lake Pepin, near its mouth, on

the east side, Perrot found a place suitable for a

post, where there was wood. The stockade was

built at the foot of a blufE beyond which was a

large prairie. La Potherie makes this statement,

which is repeated by Penicaut, who vsrites of

Lake Pepin : "To the right and left of its shores

there are also prairies. In that on the right on

the bank of the lake, there is a fort, which was

built by Nicholas Perrot, whose name it yet [1700]

bears."

Soon after he was established, it was announced

that a band of Aiouez [loways] was encamped

above, and on the way to visit the post. The
French ascended in canoes to meet them, but as

they drew nigh, the Indian women ran up the

bluffs, and hid in the woods ; but twenty of the

braves mustered courage to advance and greet

Perrot, and bore him to the chief's lodge. The
chief, bending over Perrot, began to weep, and

allowed the moisture to fall upon his visitor.

After he had exhausted himself, the principal

men of the party repeated the slabbering process.

Then buffalo tongues were boiled in an earthen

pot, and after being cut into small pieces, the

chief took a piece, and, as a mark of respect,

placed it in Perrot's mouth.

During the winter of 1684-85, the French tra-

ded in Minnesota.

At the end of the beaver hunt, the Ayoes

[loways] came to the post, but Perrot was absent

visiting the Nadouaissioux. and they sent a chief

to notify him of their arrival. Four Illinois met
him on the way, and wore anxious for the return

of foiu: children held by the French. When the
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Sioux, who were at war with the Illinois, per-

ceived them, they wished to seize their canoes,

but the French voyageurs who were guarding

them, pushed into the middle of the river, and

the French at the post coming to their assistance,

a reconciliation was effected, and four of the

Sioux took the Illinois upon their shoulders, and

bore them to the shore.

An order having been received from Denon-

ville. Governor of Canada, to bring the Miamis,

and other tribes, to the rendezvous at Niagara,

to go on an expedition against the Senecas, Per-

•rot entrusting the post at Lake . Pepin to a few

Frenchmen, visited the Miamis, who were dwel-

ling below on the Mississippi, and with no guide

but Indian camp fires, went sixty miles into the

country beyond the river.

Upon his return, he perceivea a great smoke,

and at first thought that it was a war party pro-

ceeding to the Sioux country. Fortunately he

met a Maskouten chief, who had been at the post

to see him, and he gave the intelligence, that the

Outagamies [Foxes], Kikapous [Kjckapoos], and

Mascoutechs [Maskoutens], and others, from the

region of Green Bay, had determined to pillage

the post, kill the French, and then go to war

against the Sioux. Hurrying on, he reached the

fort, and learned that on that very day three

spies had been there and seen that there were

only six Frenchmen in charge.

The next day two more spies appeared, but

Perrot had taken the precaution to put loaded

guns at the door of each hut, and caused his men
frequently to change their clothes. To the query,
" How many French were there?" the reply was
given, " Forty, and that more were daily expected,

who had been on a buffalo hunt, and that the

guns were weU loaded andknives well sharpened."

They were then told to go back to their camp
aud bring a chief of each nation represented, and
that if Indians, in large numbers, came near, they

would be fired at. In accordance with this mes-

sage six chiefs presented themselves, After their

bows and arrows were taken away they were in-

vited to Perrot's cabin, who gave something to

eat and tobacco to smoke. Looking at Perrot's

loaded guns they asked, '-If he was afraid of his

children?" He replied, he was not. They con-

tinued, " You are displeased."- He answered,

" I have good reason to be. The Spirit has warned

me of your designs; you will take my things

away and put me in the kettle, and proceed

against the Nadouaissioux, The Spirit told me
to be on my guard, and he would help me." At
this they were astonished, and confessed that an

attack was meditated. That night the chiefs

slept in the stockade, and early the next morn-

ing a part of the hostile force was encamped in

the vicinity, and wished to trade. Perrot had

now only a force of fifteen men, and seizing the

chiefs, he told them he would break their heads

if they did not disperse the Indians. One of the

chiefs then stood up on the gate of the fort and

said to the warriors, " Do not advance, young

men, or you are dead. The Spirit has warned

Metaminens [PerrotJ of your designs." They fol-

lowed the advice, and afterwards Perrot present-

ed them with two guns, two kettles, and some

tobacco, to ,close the door of war against the Na-

douaissioux, and the chiefs were all permitted to

make a brief visit to the post.

Returning to Green Bay in 1686, he passed much
time in collecting allies for the expedition against

the Iroquois in New York. During this year he

gave to the Jesuit chapel at Depere, five miles

above Green Bay, a church utensil of silver, fif-

teen inches high, still in existence. The stand-

ard, nine inches in height, supports a radiated

circlet closed with glass on both sides and sur-

mounted with a cross. This vessel, weighing

about twenty dunces, was intended to show the

consecrated wafer of the mass, and is called a

soleil, monstrance, or ostensorium.

Around the oval base of the rim is the follow-

ing inscription:

^^^^^^BMBNicao^^^

X %

^.
4^

V .^

**"* n JI3 «aiA^
itf)"'

In 1802 some workmen in diggiag at Green
Bay, Wisconsin, on the old Langlade estate dia-
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covered this relic, which is now kept in the vault

of the Eoman Catholic bishop of that diocese.

During the spring of 1687 Perrot, with De Lu-

th and Tonty, was with the Indian alUes and the

French in the expedition against the Senecas of

the Genessee Valley in New York.

The next year Denonville, Governor of Canada,

again sent Perrot with forty Prenchmen to the

Sioux who, says Potherie, " were very distant,

and who would not trade with us as easily as

the other tribes, the Outagamis [Poxes] having

boasted of having cut off the passage thereto."

When Perrot arrived at Mackinaw, the tribes

of that region were much excited at the hostility

of the Outagamis [Poxes] toward the Sauteurs

[Chippeways].- As soon as Perrot and his party

reached Green Bay a deputation of the Poxes

sought an interview. He told them that he had

nothing to do with this quarrel with the Chippe-

ways. In justification, they said that a party of

their- young men, in going to war against the

Nadouaissioux, had found a young man an^ three

Chippeway girls.

Perrot was silent, and continued his journey

towards the Nadouaissioux. Soon he was met by

five chiefs of the Poxes in a canoe, who begged

him to go to their village. Perrot consented, and

when he went into ia chief's lodge they placed be-

fore him broiled venison, and raw meat for the

rest of the French. He refused to eat because,

said he, " that meat did not give him any spirit,

but he would take some when the Outagamis

[Foxes] were more reasonable." He then chided

them for not having gone, as requested by the

Governor of Canada, to the Detroit of Lake
Erie, and during the absence of the French fight-

ing with the Chippeways. Having ordered them

to go on their beaver hunt and only fight against

the Iroquois, he left a few Frenchmen to trade

and proceeded on his journey to the Sioux coun-

try. Arriving at the portage between the Fox and

"Wisconsin Rivers they were impeded by ice, but

with the aid of some Pottawattomies they trans-

ported their goods to,the Wisconsin, which they

found no longer frozen. The Chippeways were

informed that their daughters had been taken

from the Foxes, and a deputation came to take

them back, but being attacked by the Poxes, who
did not know their errand, they fled without se-

curing the three girls. Perrot then ascended the

Mississippi to the post which in 1684 he had

erected, just above the mouth, and on the east

side of Lake Pepin.

As soon as the rivers were navigable, the Na-

douaissioux came down and escorted Perrot to

one of their villages, where he was welcomed

with much enthusiasm. He was carried upon a

beaver robe, followed by a long line of warriors,

each bearing a pipe, and singing. After taking

him around the village, he was borne to the chief's

lodge, when several came in to we,ep over his head,

with the same tenderness that the Ayoes (loways)

did, when Perrot several years before arrived at

Lake Pepin. " These weepings," says an old

chronicler " do not weaken their souls. They are

very good warriors, and reported the bravest in

that region. They are at war with all the tribes

at present except the Saulteurs [Chippeways] and

Ayoes [loways], and even with these they have

quarrels. At the break of day the Nadouaissioux

balhe, even to the youngest. They have very fine

forms, but the women are not comely, and they

look upon them as slaves. They are jealous and

suspicious about them, and they are the cause

of quarrels and blood-shedding.

" The Sioux are very dextrous with their ca-

noes, and they fight unto death if surrounded.

Their country is full of swamps, which shelter

them in summer from being molested. One must
be a Nadouaissioux, to find the way to their vil-

lages."

While Perrot was absent in New York, fight-

ing the Senecas, a Sioux chief knowing that few
Frenchmen were left at Lake Pepin, came with
one hundred warriors, and endeavored to pUlage
it. Of this complaint was made, and the guilty

leader was near being put to death by his associ-

ates. Amicable relations having been formed,

preparations were made by Perrot to return to

his post. As they were going away, one of the

Frenchmen complained that a box of his goods
had been stolen. Perrot ordered a voyageur to

bring a cup of water, and into it he poured some
brandy. He then addressed the Indians and told

them he would dry up their marshes if the goods

were not restored; and then he set on fire the

brandy in the cup. The savages were astonished

and terrified, and supposed that he possessed su-

pernatural powers ; and in a little "-'"'lethe goods
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were found and restored to the owner, and the

Prench descended to their stockade.

The Poxes, while Perrot was in the Sioux

country, changed their village, and settled on the

Mississippi. Coming up to visit Perrot, they

asked him to establish friendly relations between

them and the Sioux. At the time some Sioux

were at the post trading furs, and at iirst they

supposed the Prench were plotting with the

Poxes. Perrot, however, eased them by present-

ing the calumet and saying that the Prench con-

sidered the Outagamis [Poxes] as brothers, and

then adding: "Smoke in my pipe; this is the

manner with which Onontio [Governor of Can-

ada] feeds his children." The Sioux replied that

they wished the Pbxes to smoke first. This was

reluctantly done, and the Sioux smoked, but

would not conclude a definite peace until they

consulted their chiefs. This was not concluded,

because Perrot, before the chiefs came down,

received orders to return to Canada.

About this time, in the presence of Pather Jo-

seph James Marest, a Jesuit missionary, Boisguil-

lot, a trader on the Wisconsin and Mississippi, Le

Sueur, who afterward,built a post below the Saint

Croix River, about nine miles from Hastings, the

following document was prepared:

" Nicholas Perrot, commanding for the King at

the post of the Nadouessioux, commissioned by

the Marquis Denonville, Governor and lieuten-

ant Governor of all New Prance, to manage the

interests of commerce among all the Indian tribes

and people of the Bay des Puants [Green Bay],

Nadouessioux, Mascoutens, and other western na-

tions of the Upper Mississippi, and to take pos-

session in the King's name of all the places where

he has heretofore been and whither he will go:

"We this day, the eighth of May, one thousand

six hundred and eighty-nine, do, in the presence

of the Reverend Pather Marest, of the Society of

Jesus, Missionary among the Nadouessioux, of

Monsieur de Boisguillot, commanding the Prench

in the neighborhood of the Ouiskonche, on the

Mississippi, Augustin Legardeur, Esquire, Sieur

de Caumont, and of Messieurs Le Sueur, Hebert,

Lemire and Blein.

" Declare to all whom it may concern, that, be-

ing come from the Bay des Puants, and to the

Lake of the Ouiskonches, we did transport our-

selves to the country of the Nadouessioux, on the

border of the river St. Croix, and at the mouth

of the river St. Pierre, on the bank of which were

the Mantantans, and further up to the Interior,

as far as the Menchokatonx [Med-ay-wah-kawn-

twawn], with whom dwell the majority of the

Songeskitons [Se-see-twawnsJ and other Nadou-

essioux who are to the northwest of the Missis-

sippi, to take possession, for and in the name of

the King, of the countries and rivers inhabited by

the said tribes, and of which they are proprietors.

The present act done in our presence, signed with

our hand, and subscribed."

The three Chippeway girls of whom mention

has been made were still with the Poxes, and

Perrot took them with him to Mackinaw, upon

his return to Canada.

While there, the Ottawas held some prisoners

upon an island not far from the mainland. The

Jesuit Pathers went over and tried to save the

captives from harsh treatment, but were unsuc-

cessful. The canoes appeared at length near each

other, one man paddling in each, while the war-

riors were answering the shouts of the prisoners,

who each held a white stick in his hand. As

they neared the shore the chief of the party made

a speech to the Indians who lived on the shore,

and giving a history of the campaign, told them

that they were masters of the prisoners. The

warriors then came on land, and, according to

custom, abandoned the spoils. An old man then

ordered nine" men to conduct the prisoners to a

separate place. The women and the young men

formed a Une with big sticks. The yormg pris-

oners soon found their feet, but the old men were

so badly used they spat blood, and they were con-

demned to be burned at the Mamilion.

The Jesuit Pathers and the Prench ofiicers

were much embarrassed, and feared that the Iro-

quois would complain of the little care which had

been used to prevent cruelty. -

Perrot, in this emergency, walked to the place

where the prisoners were singing the death dirge,

in expectation of being burned, ^nd told, them to

sit down and be silent. A few Ottauwaws rudely

told them to sing on, but Perrot forbade. He
then went back to the Council, where the old men
had rendered judgment, and ordered one prisoner

to be burned at Mackinaw, one at Sault St. Marie

and another at Green Bay. Undaunted he spoke

as follows : "I come to cut the strings of the
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dogs. I will not suffer them to be eaten . I have

pity on them,.since my Father, Onontio, has com-

manded me. You Outaouaks [Ottawaws] are

like tame bears, who wUl not recognize them who

has brought them up. You have forgotten Onon-

tio's protection. When he asks your obedience,

you want to rule over him, and eat the flesh of

those children he does not wish to give to you.

Take care, that, if oyu swallow them, Onontio

wUl tear them with violence from between your

teeth. I speak as a brother, and I think I am
showing pity to your children, by cutting the

bonds of your prisoners."

His boldness had the desired effect. The pris-

oners were released, and two of them were sent

with him to Montreal, to be returned to the Iro-

quois.

On the 22nd of May, 1890, with one hundred

and forty-three voyageurs and six Indians, Per-

rot left Montreal as an escort of Sieur de Lou-

vigny La Porte, a half-pay captain, appointed to

succeed Durantaye at Mackinaw, by Frontenac,

the new Governor of Canada, who in October of

the previous year had arrived, to take the place

of Denonville.

Perrot, as he approached Mackinaw, went in

advance to notify the French of the coming of

the commander of the post. As he came in sight

of the settlement, he hoisted the white flag with

the fleur de lis and the voyageurs shouted, " Long
live the king ! '

' Louvigny soon appeared and was

received by one hundred " coureur des bois

"

under arms.

From Mackinaw, Perrot proceeded to Green

Bay, and a party of Miamis there begged him to

make a trading establishment on the Mississippi

towards the Ouiskonsing ( Wisconsin. ) The chief

made him a present of a piece of lead from a

mine which he had found in a small stream which

flows into the Mississippi. Perrot promised to

visit him within twenty days, and the chief then

returned to his village below the d'Ouiskonche

(iWsconsin) Eiver.

Having at length reached his post on Lake
Pepin, he was infoi'med that the Sioux were

forming a large war party against the Outaga-

mis (Foxes) and other allies of the French. He
gave notice of his arrival to a party of about four

hundred Sioux who were on the Mississippi.

They arrested the messengers and came to the

post for the purpose of plunder. Perrot asked

them why they acted in this manner, and said

that the Foxes, Miamis, Kickapoos, Illinois, and

Maskoutens had united in a war party against

them, but that he had persuaded them to give it

up, and now he wished them to return to their

families and to their beaver. The Sioux declared

that they had started on the war-path, and that

they were ready to die. After they had traded

their furs, they sent for Peirot to come to their

camp, and begged that he would not hinder them

from searching for their foes. Perrot tried to dis-

suade them, but they insisted that the Spirit had

given them men to eat, at three days' journey

from the post Then more powerful influences

were used. After giving them two kettles and

some merchandise, Poerrt spoke thus: " I love

your life, and I am sure you will be defeated.

Your Evil Spirit has deceived you. If you kill

the Outagamis, or their allies, you must strike me
first; if you kill them, you kill me just the same,

for I hold them under one wing and you under

the other." After this he extended the calumet,

which they at first refused; but at length a chief

said he was right, and, making invocations to the

sun, wished Perrot to take him back to his arms.

This was granted, on condition that he would
give up his weapons of war. The chief then tied

them to a pole in the centre of the fort, turning

them toward the sun. He then persuaded the

other chiefs to give up the expedition, and, send-

ing for Perrot, he placed the calumet before him,

one end in the earth aud the other on a small

forked twig to hold it firm. Then he took from
his own sack a pair of his cleanest moccasins, and
taking off Perrot's shoes, put on these. After he
had made him eat, presenting the calumet, he

said: " We listen to you now. Do for us as you
do for our enemies, and prevent them from kill-

ing us, and we will separate for the beaver hunt.

The sun is the witness of our obedience."

After this, Perrot descended the Mississippi

and revealed to the Maskoutens, who had come to

meet him, how he had pacified the Sionx. He,
about this period, in accordance with his prom-
ise, visited the lead mines. He found the ore

abundant " but the lead hard to work because it

lay between rocks which required blowing up.

It had very little dross and was easily melted."
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Penicaut, who ascended the Mississippi in 1700,

wrote that twenty leagues below the Wisconsin,

on both sides of the Mississippi, were mines of

lead called "Mcolas Perrot's." Early French

maps indicate as the locality of lead mines the

site of modern towns, Galena, in Illinois, and Du-
buque, in Iowa.

In August, 1693, about two hundred Prench-

men from Mackinaw, with delegates from the

tribes of the West, arrived at Montreal to at-

tend a grand council called by Governor Pronte-

nac, and among these was Perrot.

On the first Sunday in September the governor

gave the Indians a great feast, after which they

and the traders began to return to the wilder-

ness. Perrot was ordered by Prontenac to es-

tabUsh a new post for the Miamis in Michigan,

in the neighborhood of the Kalamazoo River.

Two years later he is present again, in August,

at a council in Montreal, then returned to the

West, and in 1699 is recalled from Green Bay.

In 1701 he was at Montreal acting as interpreter,

and appears to have died before 1718: his wife

was Madeline Eaolos, and his residence was in

the Seigneury of Becancourt, not far from Three

Bivers, on the St. Lawrence.
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CHAPTER VI.

BAROSr LA BOSTTAN'S FABULOUS VOYAGE.

Li Hontan, ij, Gascon by Birth.— Early Life.—Description of Vox and Wisconsin

Rivers —Indian Feast —Alleged Ascent of Long River,—Bobe Exposes the

Deception.—Route to the Pacific.

The " Travels " of Baron La Hontan appeared

in A. D. 1703, both at London and at Hague, and

were as saleable and readable as those of Hermepin,

which were on the counters of booksellers at the

same time.

La Hontan, a Gascon by birth, and in style of

writing, when about seventeen years of age, ar-

rived in Canada, in 1683, as a private soldier, and

was with Gov. De la Barre in his expedition of

1684, toward Magara, and was also in the battle

near Rochester, New York, in 1687, at which Du
Luth and Perrot, explorers of Minnesota, were

present.

In 1688 he appears to have been sent to Fort

St. Joseph, which was built by Du Luth, on the

St. Clare River, near the Site of Fort Gratiot,

Michigan. It is possible that he may have accom-

panied Perrot to Lake Pepin, who came about

this time to reoccupy his old post.

From the following extracts it wiU be seen that

his style is graphic, and that he probably had been

in 1688 in the valley of the Wisconsin. At Mack-

inaw, after his return from his pretended voyage

of the Long River, he writes:

" I left here on the 24th September, with my
men and five Outaouas, good hunters,^whom I

have before mentioned to you as having been of

good service to me. All my brave men being

provided with good canoes, filled with provisions

and <immunition, together with goods for the In-

dian trade, I took advantage of a north wind, and

in three days entered the Bay of the Pouteouata-

mis, distant from here about forty leagues. The

entrance to the bay is fuU of islands. It is ten

leagues wide and twenty-five in length.

"On the 29th we entered a river, which is quite

deep, whose waters are so affected by the lake

that they often rise and fall three feet in twelve

hours. This is an observation that I made dur-

ing these three or four days that I passed here.

The Sakis, the Poutouatamis, and a few of the

Malominis have their villages on the border of this

river, and the Jesuits have a house there. In the

place there is carried on quite a commerce in furs

and Indian corn, which the Indians trafiic with

the ' coureurs des bois' that go and come, for it is

their nearest and most convenient passage to the

Mississippi.

" The lands here are very fertile, and produce,

almost without culture, the wheat of our Europe,

peas, beans, and any quantity of fruit unknown

in France.

" The moment I landed, the warriors of three

nations came by turns to my cabin to entertain

me with the pipe and chief dance ; the first in

proof of peace and friendship, the second to indi-

cate their esteem and consideration for me. In

return, I gave them several yards of tobacco, and

beads, with which they trimmed their capgts. The

next morning, I was asked as a guest, to one of

the feasts of this nation, and after having sent my
dishes, which is the custom, I went towards noon.

They began to compliment me of my arrival, and

after hearing them, they all, one after the other,

began to sing and dance, in a manner that I will

detail to you when I have more leisure. These

songs and dances lasted two hours, and were sea-

soned vrith whoops of joy, and quibbles that they

have woven into their ridiculous musique. Then

the captives waited upon us. The whole troop

were seated in the Oriental custom. Each one

had his portion before him, like our monks in

their refectories. They commenced by placing

four dishes before me. The first consisted of two

white fish simply boiled in water. The second

was chopped meats with the boiled tongue of a

bear ; the third a beaver's taU, all roasted. They

made me drink also of a syrup, mixed with water,

made out of the maple tree. The feast lasted two
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hours, after which, I requested a chief of the

nation to sing for me ; for it is the custom, when

we have business with them, to employ an inferior

for self in all the ceremonies they perform. I

gave him several pieces of tobacco, to oblige him

to keep the party till dark. The next day and the

day following, I attended the feasts of the other

nations, where I observed the same formalities."

He" alleges that, on the 23d of October, he

reached the Mississippi Elver, and, ascending, on

the 3d of November he entered into a river, a

tributary from the west, that was almost without

a current, and at its mouth filled with rushes.

He then describes a journey of five hundred miles

up this stream. He declares he found upon its

banks three great nations, the Eokoros, Essa-

napes, and Gnacsitares, and because he ascended

it for sixty days, he named it Long River.

For years his wondrous story was behoved, and

geographers hastened to trace it upon their maps.

But in time the voyage up the Long Eiver was

discovered to be a fabrication. There is extant

a letter of Bobe, a Priest of the Congregation of

the Mission, dated Versailles, March 15, 1716, and

addressed to De L'Isle, the geographer of the

Academy of Sciences at Paris, which exposes the

deception.

He writes: "It seems to me that you might

give the name of Bourbonia to these vast coim-

tries which are between the Missouri, Mississippi,

and the Western Ocean. Would it not be well to

efface that great river which La Hontan says he

discovered?
'

"All the Canadians, and even the Governor

General, have told me that this river is unknown.

If it existed, the Prench, who are on the Illinois,

and at Ouabache, would know of it. The last

volume of the ' Lettres Ediflantes' of the Jesuits,

in which there is a very fine relation of the Illinois

Country, does not speak of it, any more than the

letters which I received this year, which teU won-

ders of the beauty and goodness of the country.

They send me some quite pretty work, made by
the wife of one of the principal chiefs.

" They tell me, that among the Scioux, of the

Mississippi, there are always Erenchmen trading;

that the course of the Mississippi is from north

to west, and from west to south; that it is knovm
that toward the source of the Mississippi there is

a river in the highlands that leads to the western

ocean; that the Indians say that they have seen

bearded men with caps, who gather gold-dust on

the seashore, but that it is very far from this

country, and that they pass through many nations

unknown to the French.

"I have a memoir of La Motte CadUlac, form-

erly Governor of Missilimackinack, who says that

if St. Peters [MinnesotaJ Eiver is ascended to its

source they will, according to all appearance, find

in the highland another river leading to the West-

ern Ocean.

"Eor the last two years I have tormented

exceedingly the Governor-General, M. Eaudot,

and M. Duche, to move them to discover this

ocean. If I succeed, as I hope, we shall hear

tidings before three years, and I shall have the

pleasure and the consolation of having rendered

a good service to Geography, to Religion and to

the State."

Charlevoix, in his History of New Erance, al-

luding to La Hontan's voyage, writes: "The
voyage up the Long River is as fabulous as the

Island of Barrataria, of which Sancho Panza was

governor. Nevertheless, in Erance and else-

where, most people have received these memoirs

as the fruits of the travels of a gentleman who
wrote badly, although quite lightly, and who had
no religion, but who described pretty sincerely

what he had seen. The consequence is that the

compilers of historical and geographical diction-

aries have almost always foUowed and cited them
in preference to more faithful records."

Even in modern tunes, Nicollet, employed by
the United States to explore the Upper Mississ-

ippi, has the following in his report:

"Having procured a copy of La Hontan's
book, in which there is a roughly made map of

his Long River, I was struck with the resem-
blance of its course as laid down with that of
Cannon River, which I had previously sketched
in my own field-book. I soon convinced mjself
that the principal statements of the Baron in ref-

erence to the country and the few details he gives
of the physical character of the the river, coin-

cide remarkably with what I had laid down as
belonging to Cannon River. Then the lakes and
swamps corresponded; traces of Indian villages

mentioned by him might be found by a growth
of wild grass that propagates itself around all old
Indian settlements."
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CHAPTEB Vn.

LE SUEUR, EXPLORER OF THE MINNESOTA BIVBK.

Le Sueur Visits take Pepta.—StationeiJ at la Pointe.— Establishes a Post on an

Island Above Lake Pepin.—Island Described by Fenicaut.—I'irst Sioux Chief

at Montreal.—Ojibway Chiefs* Speeches.—Speech of Sioux Chief.—Teeoskah-

tay's Death.—Le Sueur Goes to France.—Posts West of Mackinaw Abandoned

—^Le Sueur's License Revoked.—Second Visit to Prance.—Arrives in Gulf of

Mexico with D'Iberville.—Ascends the Mississippi.—Lead Mines.—Canadians

Fleeing from the Sioux.—At the Mouth of the Wisconsin.—Sioux Robbers,—Elk

Hunting.—Lake Pepin Described.—Rattlesnakes.—La Place Killod.—St. Croix

River Named After a Frenchman.—Le Sueur Reaches St, Pterre, now Minne*

Bota River.—Enters Mankahto, or Blue Earth, River.—Sioux of the Plains,-^

Port L'Huillier Completed.—Conferences with Sioux Bands.—Assinaboines a

Separated Sioux Band.—An Indian Feast.—Names of the Sioux Bands.—Char-

leYoix'fli«Account.—Le Sueur Goes with D'Iberville to France.—D'Iberville'a

Memorial.— Early Census of Indian Tribes.—Penicaut's Account of Fort L'fiuil

lier.—Le Sueur's Departure from the Fort.—D'Evaqe Left in Charge.—Return'

to Mobile.—Juchereau at Mouth of Wisconsin. —Bonder a Montreal Merchant.

—

Sioux Attack Miamis.—Boudor Robbed by the Sioux.

Le Sueur was a native of Canada, and a rela-

tive of D'Iberville, the early Governor of Louis-

iana. He came to Lake Pepin in 1683, with

Nicholas Perrot, and his name also appears at-

tached to the document prepared in May, 1689,

after Perrot had re-occupied his post just above

the entrance of the lake, on the east side.

In 1692, he was sent by Governor Trontenac of

Canada, to La Pointe, on Lake Superior, and in a

dispatch of 1693, to the French Government, is

the following :
" Le Sueur, another voyageur, is

to remain at Chagouamagon [La Pointe] to en-

deavor to maintain the peace lately concluded be-

tween the Saulteurs [Chippeways] and Sioux.

This is of the greatest consequence, as it is now
the sole pass by which access can be had to the

latter nation, whose trade is very profitable ; the

country to the south being occupied by the Foxes

and Maskoutens, who several times plundered the

French, on the ground they were carrying ammu-
nition to the Sioux, their ancient enemies."

Entering the Sioux country in 1694, he estab-

lished a post upon a prairie island in the Missis-

sippi, about nine miles below the present town of

Hastings, according to BelUn and others. Peni-

caut, who accompanied him in the exploration of

the Minnesota, writes, " At the extremity of the

lake [PepinJ you come to the Isle Pelee, so called

because there are no trees on it. It is on this island

that the French from Canada established their

fort and storehouse, and they also winter here,

because game is very abundant. In the month of

September they bring their store of meat, obtained

by hunting, and after having skinned and cleaned

it, hang it upon a crib of raised scaffolding, in

order that the extreme cold, which lasts from

September to March, may preserve it from spoil-

ing. During the whole winter they do not go out

except for water, when they have to break the ice

every day, and the cabin is generally built upon

the bank, so as not to have far to go. When
spring arrives, the savages come to the island,

bringing their merchandize."

On the fifteenth of July, 1695, Le Sueur arrived

at Montreal with a party of Ojibways, and the

first Dakotah brave that had ever visited Canada.

The Indians were much impressed with the

power of France by the marching of a detach-

rdent of seven himdred picked men, under Chev-

aUer Cresafi, who were on their way to La Chine.

On the eighteenth, Frontenac, in the presence

of CaUieres and other persons of distinction, gave
them an audience.

The first speaker was the chief of the Ojibway
band at La Pointe, Shingowahbay, who said:

" That he was come to pay his respects to Onon-
tio [the title given the Governor of Canada] in the

name of the young warriors of Point Chagouami-
gon, and to thank him for having given them
some Frenchmen to dwell with them; to testify

their sorrow for one Jobin, a Frenchman, who
was killed at a feast, accidentally, and not ma-
liciously. We come to ask a favor of you, which
is to let us act. We are allies of the Sciou. Some
Outagamies, or Mascoutins, have been killed.

The Sciou came to moum with us. Let us act,

Father; let us take revenge.

"Le Sueur alone, who is acquainted with the
language of the one and the other, can serve us.

We ask that he return with us."
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Another speaker of the Ojibways was Le Bro-

chet.

Teeoskahtay, the Dahkotah chief, before he

spoke, spread out a beaver robe, and, laying an-

other with a tobacco pouch and otter skin, began

to weep bitterly. After drying his tears, he said:

" All of the nations had a fath'er, who afforded

them protection; all of them have iron. Biit he

was a bastard in quest of a father; he was come

to see him, and hopes that he will take pity on

him."

He then placed upon the beaver robe twenty-

two arrows, at each arrow naming a Dahkotah

village that desired Prontenac's protection. Ee-

suming his speech, he remarked:

"It is not on account of what I bring that I

hope him who rules the earth will have pity on

me. I learned from the Sauteurs that he wanted

nothing; thathe was the Master of the Iron; that

he had a big heart, into which he could receive

all the nations. This has induced me to abandon

my people and come to seek his protection, and

to beseech bim to receive me among the number

of his children. Take courage, Great Captain,

and reject me not; despise me not, though I ap-

pear poor in your eyes. All the nations here

present know that I am rich, and the little they

offer here is taken from my lands."

Count Frontenac in reply told the chief that he

would receive the Dahkotahs as his children, on

condition that they would be obedient, and that

he would send back Le Sueur with him.

Teeoskahtay, taking hold of the governor's

knees, wept, and said: "Take pity on us; we

are well aware that we are not able to speak, be-

ing children; but Le Sueur, who understands our

language, and has seen all our villages, will next

year inform you what will have been achieved by

the Sioux nations represented by those arrows be-

fore you."

Having finished, a Dahkotah woman, the wife

of a great chief whom Le Sueur had purchased

from captivity at Mackinaw, approached those in

authority, and, with downcast eyes, embraced

their knees, weeping and saying:

" I thank thee. Father; it is by thy means I

have been liberated, and am no longer captive."

Then Teeoskahtay resumed:

" I speak like a man penetrated with joy. The
Great Captain; he who is the Master of Iron, as-

sures me of his protection, and I promise him that

if he condescends to restore my children, now

prisoners among the Foxes, Ottawas and Hurous,

I will return hither, and bring with me the twen-

ty-two villages whom he has just restored to life

by promising to send them Iron."

On the 14th of August, two weeks after the

Ojibway chief left for his home on Lake Superior,

Nicholas Perrot arrived with a deputation of

Sauks, Foxes, Menomonees, Miamis of Maramek

and Pottowatomies.

Two days after, they had a council with the

governor, who thus spoke to a Fox brave:

" I see that you are a young man; your nation

has quite turned away from my wishes; it has

pillaged some of my young men, whom it has

treated as slaves. I know that your father, who
loved the French, had no hand in the indignity.

You only imitate the example of your father

who had sense, when you do not co-operate

with those of your tribe who are wishing to go

over to my enemies, after they grossly insulted

me and defeated the Sioux, whom I now consider

my son. I pity the Sioux; I pity the dead whose

loss I deplore. Perrot goes up there, and he will

speak to your nation from me for the release of

their prisoners; let them attend to him."

Teeoshkahtay never returned to his native land.

While in Montreal he "was taken sick, and in

thirty-three days he ceased to breathe; and, fol-

lowed by white men, his body was interred in the

white man's grave.

Le Sueur instead of going back to Minnesota

that year, as was expected, went to France and

received a license, in 1697, to open certain mines

supposed to esdst in Minnesota. The ship in

which he was returning was captured by the Eng-

lish, and he was taken to England. After his

release he went backto France, and, in 1698, ob-

tained a new commission for mining.

While Le Sueur was in Europe, the Dahkotas

waged war against the Foxes and Miamis. In

retaliation, the latter raised a war party and en-

tered the land of the Dahkotahs. Finding their

foes intrenched, and assisted by " coureurs des

bois," they were indignant; and on their return

they had a skirmish with some Frenchmen, who
were carrying goods to the Dahkotahs.

Shortly after, they met Perrot, and were about

to bum him to death, when prevented by some
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friendly Foxes. The Miamis, after this, were

disposed to be friendly to the Iroquois. In 1696,

the year previous, the authorities at Quebec de-

cided that it was expedient to abandon aU the

posts west of Mackinaw, and withdraw the French

from Wisconsin and Minnesota.

The voyageurs were not disposed to leave the

country, and the governor wrote to Pontchar-

train for instructions, in October, 1698. In his

dispatch he remarks:

" In this conjuncture, and mider aU these cir-

cumstances, we consider it our duty to postpone,

untU new instructions from the court, the execu-

tion of Sieur Le Sueur's enterprise for the mines,

though the promise had already been given him

to send two canoes in advance to Missilimackinac,

for the purpose of purchasing there some pro-

visions and other necessaries for his voyage, and

that he would be permitted to go and join them

early in the spring with the rest of his hands.

What led us to adopt this resolution has been,

that the French who remained to trade ofE with

the Five Nations the remainder of their merch-

andise, might, on seeing entirely new comers

arriving there, consider themselves entitled to

dispense with coming down, and perhaps adopt

the resolution to settle there; whilst, seeing no

arrival there, with permission to do what is for-

bidden, the reflection they will be able to make

during the winter, and the apprehension of being

guilty of crime, may oblige them to return in the

spring.

" This would be very desirable, in consequence

of the great difficulty there will be in constraining

them to it, should they be inclined to lift the mask

altogether and become buccaneers; or should

Sieur Le Sueur, as he easily could do, furnish

them with goods for their beaver and smaller

peltry, which he might send dovm by the return of

other Frenchmen, whose sole desire is to obey, and

who have remained only because of the impossi-

biUty of getting their effects down. This would

rather induce those who would continue to lead a

vagabond life to remain there, as the goods they

would receive from Le Sueur's people would afEord

them the means of doing so."

In reply to this communication, Louis XIV.
answered that

—

" His majesty has approved that the late Sieur

(ie Frontenac and De Champigny suspended the

execution of the license granted to the man named
Le Sueur to proceed, with fifty men, to explore

some mines on the banks of the Mississippi. He
has revoked said Ueense, and desires that the said

Le Sueur, or any other person, be prevented from

leaving the colony on pretence of going in search

of mines, without his majesty's express permis-

sion."

Le Sueur, undaunted by these drawbacks to the

prosecution of a favorite project, again visited

France.

Fortunately for Le Sueur, D'Iberville, who was

a friend, and closely connected by marriage, was

appointed governor of the new territory of Louis-

iana. In the month of December he arrived from

France, with thirty workmen, to proceed to the

supposed mines in Minnesota.

On the thirteenth of July, 1700, with a felucca,

two canoes, and nineteen men, having ascended

the Mississippi, he had reached the mouth of the

Missouri, and six leagues above tliis he passed the

Illinois. He there met three Canadians, who

came to join him, with a letter from Father Mar-

est, who had once attempted a mission among the

Dahkotahs, dated July 13, Mission Immaculate

Conception of the Holy Virgin, in Illinois.

" I have the honor to write, in order to inform

you that the Saugiestas have been defeated by the

Scioux and Ayavois [lowas]. The people have

formed an alliance with the Quincapous [Kicka-

poosj, some of the Mecoutlns, Eenards [Foxes],

and Metesigamias, and gone to revenge them-

selves, not on the Scioux, for they are too much
afraid of them, but perhaps on the Ayavois, or

very likely upon the Paoutees, or more probably

upon the Osages, for these suspect nothing, and
the others are on their guard.

"As you will probably meet these allied nar

tions, you ought to take precaution against their

plans, and not allow them to board your vessel,

since tliey are traitors, and utterlyfaithless. 1 pray

God to accompany you in all your designs."

Twenty-two leagues above the Illinois, he passed

a small stream which he called the Elver of Oxen,

and nine leagues beyond this he passed a smaU
river on the west side, where he met four Cana-

dians descending the Mississippi, on their way to

the Illinois. On the 30th of July, nine leagues

above the last-named river, he met seventeen

Scioux, in seven canoes, who were going to re-
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venge the death of three Scioux, one of whom had

been burned, and the others killed, at Tamarois,

a few days before his arrival in that village. As

he had promised the chief of the Illinois to ap-

pease the Scioux who should go to war against

Ms nation, he made a present to the chief of the

party to engage him to turn back. He told them

the King of Prance did not wish them to make

this river more bloody, and that he was sent to tell

them that, if they obeyed the king's word, they

would receive in future all things necessary for

them. The chief answered that he accepted the

present, that is to say, that he would do as had

been told him.

Prom the 30th of July to the 25th of August, Le

Sueur advanced fifty-three and one-fourth leagues

to a small river which he called the Biver of the

Mine. At the mouth it runs from the north, but

it turns to the northeast. On the right seven

leagues, there is a lead mine in a prairie, one and

a half leagues. The river is only navigable in

high water, that is to say, from early spring till

the month of June.

Prom the 25th to the 27th he made ten leagues,

passed two small rivers, and made himself ac-

quainted with a mine of lead, from which he took

a supply. Prom the 27th to the 30th he made
eleven and a half leagues, andmet five Canadians,

one of whom had been dangerously wounded in

the head. They were naked, and had no ammu-
nition except a miserable gun, with five or six

loads of powder and balls. They said they were

descending from the Scioux to go to Tamarois,

and, when seventy leagues above, they perceived

nine canoes in the Mississippi, in which were

ninety savages, who robbed and cruelly beat them.

This party were going to war against the Scioux,

and were composed of four different nations, the

Outagamies [Foxes], Poutouwatamis [Pottowatta-

mies], and Puans [Wtnnebagoes], who dwell in a

country eighty leagues east of the Mississippi

from where Le Sueur then was.

The Canadians determined to follow the detach-

ment, which was composed of twenty-eight men.

This day they made seven and a half leagues.

On the 1st of September he passed the Wisconsin

river. It runs into the Mississippi from the north-

east. It is nearly one and a half mUes wide. At
about seventy-five leagues up this river, on the

right, ascending, there is a portage of more than

a league. The half of this portage is shaking

ground, and at the end of it is a small river which

descends into a bay called Winnebago Bay. It is

inhabited by a great number of nations who carry

their furs to Canada. Monsieur Le Sueur came

by the Wisconsin river to the Mississippi, for the

first time, in 1683, on his way to the Scioux coun-

try, where he had already passed seven years at

different periods. The Mississippi, opposite the

mouth of the Wisconsin, is less than half a mUe
wide. Prom the 1st of September to the -Sth, our

voyageur advanced fourteen leagues. He passed

the river " Aux Canots," which comes from the

northeast, and then the Quincapous, named from

a nation which once dwelt upon its banks.

Prom the 5th to the 9th he made ten and a half

leagues, and passed the rivers Cachee and Aux
Ailes. The same day he perceived canoes, filled

with savages, descending the river, and the five

Canadians recognized them as the party who had
robbed them. They placed sentinels in the wood,

for fear of being surprised by land, and when
they had approached within hearing, they cried to

them that if they approached farther they would
fire. They then drew up by an island, at half the

distance of a gun shot. Soon, four of the princi-

pal men of the band approached in a canoe, and
asked if it was forgotten that they were our

brethren, and with what design we had taken

arms when we perceived them. Le Sueur replied

that he had cause to distrust them, since they had
robbed five of his party. JSTevertheless, for the

surety of his trade, being forced to be at peace

with all the tribes, he demanded no redress for

the robbery, but added merely that the king, their

master and his, wished that his subjects shotild

navigate that river without insult, and that they
had better beware how they acted.

The Indian who had.spoken was silent, but an-
other said they had been attacked by the Scioux,

and that if they did not have pity on them, and
give them a little powder, they should not be able

to reach their viUages. The consideration of a
missionary, who was to go up among the Scioux,
and whom these savages might meet, induced
them to give two pounds of powder.

M. Le Sueur made the same day three leagues;

passed a stream on the west, and afterward an-
other river on the east, which is navigable at all

times, and which the Indians call Red River.
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On the 10th, at daybreak, they heard an elk

whistle, on the other side of the river. A Cana-

dian crossed in a small Scioux canoe, which they

had found, and shortly returned with the body of

the animal, which was very easily killed, " quand

U est en rut," that is, from the beginning of Sep-

tember until the end of October. The hunters at

this time made a whistle of a piece of wood, or

reed, and when they hear an elk: whistle they an-

swer it. The animal, beUeving it to be another

elk, approaches, and is killed with ease.

From the 10th to the 14th, M. Le Sueur made
seventeen and a half leagues, passing the rivers

Raisin and Paqmlenettes (perhaps the Wazi Ozu
and Buffalo.) The same day he left, on the east

side of the Mississippi, a beautiful and large river,

which descends from the very far north, and

called Bon Secours (Chippeway), on account of the

great quantity of buffalo, elk, bears and deers

which are found there. Three leagues up this

river there is a mine of lead, and seven leagues

above, on the same side, they found another long

river, in the vicinity of which there is a copper

mine, from which he had taken a lump of sixty

pounds in a former voyage. In order to make

these mines of any account, peace must be ob-

tained between the Scioux and Ouatagamis (Fox-

es), because the latter, who dwell on the east side

of the Mississippi, pass this road continually when

going to war against the Sioux.

Penicaut, in his journal, gives a brief descrip-

tion" of the Mississippi between the Wisconsin

and Lake Pepin. He writes: "Above the Wis-

consin, and ten leagues higher on the same side,

begins a great prairie extending for sixty leagues

along the bank; this prairie is called Aux Ailes.

Opposite to Aux Ailes, on the left, there is

another prairie facing it called Paquilanet which

is not so long by a great deal. Twenty leagues

above these prairies is found Lake Bon Secours "

[Good Help, now Pepin.]

In this region, at one and a half leagues on the

northwest side, commenced a lake, which is six

leagues long and more than one broad, called

Lake Pepin. It is bounded on the west by a

chain of mountains; on the east is seen a prairie;

and on the northwest of the lake there is another

prairie two leagues long and one wide. In the

neighborhood is a chain of mountains quite two

hundred feet high, and more than one and a half

mUes long. In these are found several caves, to

which the bears retire in winter. Most of the

caverns are more than seventy feet in extent, and

two hundred feet high. There are several of

which the entrance is very narrow, and quite

closed up vidth saltpetre, It would be dangerous

to enter them in summer, for they are filled with

rattlesnakes, the bite of which is very dangerous.

Le Sueur saw some of these snakes Which were

six feet in length, but generally they are about

four feet. They have teeth resembUng those of

the pike, and their gums are full of small vessels,

in which their poison is placed. The Scioux say

they take it every morning, and cast it away at

night. They have at the tail a kind of scale which

makes a noise, and this is called the rattle.

Le Sueur made on this day seven and a half

leagues, and passed another river, called Hiam-
bouxecate Ouataba, or the River of Flat Rock.

[The Sioux call the Cannon river Inyanbosndata.]

On the 15th he crossed a small river, and saw
in the neighborhood several canoes, filled with

Indians, descending the Mississippi. He sup-

posed they were Scioux, because he could not dis-

tinguish whether the canoes were large or small.

The arms were placed in readiness, and soon they

heard the cry of the savages, which they are ac-

customed to raise when they rush upon their en-

emies. He caused them to be answered in the

same manner; and after having placed all the

men behind the trees, he ordered them not to fire

until they were commanded. He remained on
shore to see what movement the savages would
make, and- perceiving that they placed two on
shore, on the other side, where from an eminence
they could ascertain the strength of his forces, he
caused the men to pass and repass from the shore
to the wood, in order to make them beUeve that

they were numerous. This ruse succeeded, for

as soon as the two descended from the eminence
the chief of the party came, bearing the calumet,

which is a signal of peace among the Indians.

They said that having never seen the French navi-

gate the river with boats like the felucca, they had
supposed them to be EngUsh, and for that reason
they had raised the war cry, and arranged them-
selves on the other side of the Mississippi; but
having recognized their flag, they had come with-
out fear to uiform them, that one of their num-
ber, who was crazy, had accidentally killed a
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frenchman, and that they would go and bring his

comrade, who would tell how the mischief had

happened.

The Frenchman they brought was Denis, a Ca-

nadian, and he reported that his companion was

accidentally killed. His name was Laplace, a de-

serting soldier from Canada, who had taken ref-

uge in this country.

Le Sueur replied, that Onontio (the name they

give to all the governors of Canada), being their

father and his, they ought not to seek justificatibn

elsewhere than before him; and he advised them

to go and see him as soon as possible, and beg

him to wipe off the blood of this Prenchman from

their faces.

The party was composed of forty-seven men of

different nations, who dwell far to the east, about

the forty-fourth degree of latitude. Le Sueur,

discovering who the chiefs were, said the king

whom they had spoken of in Canada, had sent

Him to take possession of the north of the river;

and' that he wished the nations who dwell on it,

as well as those under his protection, to live in

peace.

He made this day three and three-fourths

leagues; and on the 16th of September, he left a

large river on the east side, named St. Croix, be-

cause a Frenchman of that name was shipwrecked

at its mouth. It comes from the north-northwest.

Pour leagues higher, in going up, is found a small

lake, at the mouth of which is a very large mass

of copper. It is on the edge of the water, in a

small ridge of sandy earth, on the west of this

lake. [One of La Salle's men was named St.

Croix.]

From the 16th to the 19th, he advanced thir-

teen and three-fourths leagues. After having

made from Tamarois two hundred and nine and a

half leagues, he left the navigation of the Missis-

sippi, to enter the river St. Pierre, on the west

side. By the 1st of October, he had made in this

river forty-four and one-fourth leagues. After he

entered Blue river, thus named on account of the

mines of blue earth found at its mouth, he found-

ed his post, situated in forty-four degrees, thir-

teen minutes north latitude. He met at this

place nine Scioux, who told him that the river

belonged to the Scioux of the west, the Ayavois

(lowas) and Otoctatas (Ottoes), who Uved a little

farther off; that it was not their custom to hunt

on ground belonging to others, unless invited to

do so by the owners, and that When they would

come to the fort to obtain provisions, they would

be in danger of being killed in ascending or de-

scending the rivers, v/hich were narrow, and that

if they would show their pity, Tie must establish

himself on the Mississippi, near the mouth of the St.

Pierre, where the Ayavois, the Otoctatas, and the

other Scioux could go as well as they.

Having finished their speech, they leaned over

the head of Le Sueur, according to their custom;

crying out, "Ouaechissou duaepanimanabb," that

is to say, " Have pity upon us." Le Sueur had

foreseen that the establishment of Blue Earth

river would not please the Scioux of the East,

who were, so to speak, masters of the other Scioux

and of the nations which will be hereafter men-

tioned, because tliey were the first with whom trade

was commenced, and in consequence of which they

had already quite a number of guns.

As he had commenced his operations not only

with a view to the trade of beaver but also to

gain a knowledge of the mines which he had pre-

viously discovered, he told them that he was sor-

ry that he had not known their intentions sooner,

and that it was just, since he came expressly for

them, that he should establish himself on their

land, but that the season was too far advanced

for him to return. He then made them a present

of powder, balls and knives, and an armful of to-

bacco, to entice them to assemble, as soon as pos-

s.ible, near the fort he was about to construct,

that when they should be all assembled he might
tell them the intention of the king, their and his

sovereign.

The Scioux of the West, according to the state-

ment of the Eastern Scioux, have more than a
thousand lodges. They do not use canoes, nor
cultivate the earth, nor gather wild rice. They
remain :ienerally on the prairies which are be-

tween the Upper Mississippi and Missouri rivers,

and live entirely by the chase. The Scioux gen-
erally say they have three souls, and that after

death, that which has done well goes to the warm
country, that which has done evil to the cold

regions, and the other guards the body. Poly-
gamy is common among them. They are very
jealous, and sometime^s fight in duel for their

wives. They manage the bow admirably, and
have been seen several times to kill ducks on the
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wing. They make their lodges of a number of

buffalo skins interlaced and sewed, and carry

them wherever they go. They are all great smo-

kers, but their manner of smoking differs from

that of other Indians. There are some Scioux

who Swallow all the smoke of the tobacco, and

others who, after having kept it some tune in

their mouth, cause it to issue from the nose. In

each lodge there are usually two or three men
with their families.

On fthe third, of October, they received at the

fort several Scioux, among whom was Wahkan-

tape,. chief of the village. Soon two Canadians

c^rrived who had been hunting, and who had been

robbed by the Scioux of the East, who had raised

their guns against the establishment which M.

Le Sueur had made on Blue Earth river.

On the fourteenth the fort was finished and

nEimed Eort L'Huillier, and on thejwenty-second

two Canadians were sent out to invite the Aya-

vois and Otoctatas to come and establish a vil-

lage near the fort, because these Indians are in-

dustrious and accustomed to cultivate the earth,

and they hoped to get provisions from them, and

to make them work in the mines.

On the twenty-fourth, six Scioux Oujalespoi-

tons wished to go into the fort", but were told

that they did not receive men who had killed

Frenchmen, This is the term used when they

have insulted them. The next day they came to

the lodge .of Le Sueur to beg him to have pity on

them. .They wished, according to custom, to

weep over his head and make him a present of

packs of beavers, which he refused. He told

them he was surprised that people who had rob-

bed should come to him ; to which they replied

that they had heard it said that two Frenchmen

had been robbed, but none from their village had

been present at that wicked action.

Le Sueur answered, that he knew it was the

Mendeoucantons and not the Oujalespoitons

;

" but," continued he, "yon are Scioux; it is the

Scioux who have robbed me, and if I were to fol-

low your manner of acting I should break your

heads ; for is it not true, thpt when a stranger

(it is thus they call the Indians who are not

Scioux) has insulted a Scioux, Mendeoucanton,

Oujalespoitons, or others—all the villages revenge

upon the first one they meet?"

,
As they had nothing to answer to what he said

to them, they wept and repeated, according to

custom, " Ouaechissou ! ouaepanimanabo I" Le
Sueur told them to cease crying, and added that

the French had good hearts, and that they had

come into the country to have pity on them. At
the same time he made them a present, saying to

them, " Carry back your beavers and say to all

the Scioux, that they will have from me no more

powder or lead, and they will no longer smoke

any long pipe until they have made satisfaction

for robbing the Frenchman.

The same day the Canadians, who had been

sent off on the 22d, arrived without having found

\h& road which led to the Ayavois and Otoctatas.

On the 25th, Le Sueur went to the river with .

three canoes, which he filled with green and blue

earth. It is taken from, the hills near which are

very abundant mines of copper, some of which

was worked at Paris in 1696, by L'Huillier, one

of the chief collectors of the king. Stones were

also found there which would be curious, if

worked.

On the ninth of November, eight Mantanton
Scioux arrived, who had been sent by their chiefs

to say that the Mendeoucantons were still at their

lake on the east of the Mississippi, and they could

not come for a long time ; and that for a single

village which had no good sense, the others ought

not to bear the punishment ; and that they were

willing to make reparation if they knew how.

Le Sueur replied that he was glad that they had
a disposition to do so.

On the 15th the two Mantanton Scioux, who
had been sent expressly to say that all of the

Scioux of the east, and part of those of the west,

were joined together to come to the French, be-

cause they had heard that the Christianaux and
the Assinipoils were making war on them.

These two nations dwell above the fort on the

east side, more than eighty leagues on the Upper
Mississippi.

The Assinipoils speak Scioux, and are certainly

of that nation. It is only a few years since that

they became enemies. The enmity thus origi-

nated: The Christianaux, having the use of arms
before the Scioux, through the English at Hud-
son's Bay, they constantly warred upon the As-

sinipoils, who were their nearest neighbors.

The latter, being weak, sued for peace, and to

render it more lasting, married the Christianaux
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women. The other Scioux, who had not made

the compact, continued the war; and, seeing some

Christianaux with the Assinipoils, broke their

heads. The Christianaux furnished the Assini-

poils with arms and merchandise.

On the 16th the Scioux returned to their Til-

lage, and it was reported that the Ayavois and

Otoctatas were gone to establish themselves to-

wards the Missouri Biver, near the Maha, who

dwell in that region. On the 26th the Mantan-

tons and Oujalespoitons arrived at the fort; and,

after they had encamped in the woods, Wah
kantape came to beg Le Sueur to go to his

lodge. He there found sixteen men with women
and children, with their faces daubed with black.

In the middle of the lodge were several bufEalo

skins which were sewed for a carpet. After mo-

tioning him to sit down, they wept for the fourth

of an hour, and the chief gave him some wild

rice to eat (as was their custom), putting the

iirst three spoonsful to his mouth. After which,

he said all present were relatives of Tioscate,

whom Le Sueur took to Canada in 1695, and who
died there in 1696.

At the mention of Tioscate they began to weep

again, and wipe their tears and heads upon the

shoulders ofLe Sueur. Then Wahkantape again

spoke, and said that Tioscate begged him to for-

get the insult done to the Frenchmen by the

Mendeoucantons, and take pity on his brethren

by giving them powder and balls whereby they'

could defend themselves, and gain a living for

their wives and children, who languish in a coun-

try full of game, because they had not the means

of killing them. " Look," added the chief, " Be-

hold thy children, thy brethren, and thy sisters;

it is to thee to see whether thou wishest them to

die. They will live if thou givest them powder

and ball; they will die if thou refusest."

Le Sueur granted them their request, but as

the Scioux never answer on the spot, especially

in matters of importance, and as he had to speak

to them about his establishment he went out of

the lodge without saying a word. The chief and

all those within followed him as far as the door

of the fort; and when he had gone in, they went

aroimd it three times, crying with all their

strength, " Atheouanan! " that is to say, " Pather,

have pity _on us." [Ate unyanpi, means Our
Father.]

The next day, he assembled in the fort the

principal men of both villages; and as it is not

possible to subdue the Scioux or to hinder them

from going to war, unless it be by inducing them

to cultivate the earth, he said to them that if

they wished to render themselves worthy of the

protection of the king, they must abandon their

erring life, and form a village near his dwelling,

where they wouM be shielded from the insults of

of their enemies; and that they might be happy

and not hungry, he would give them all the com
necessary to plant a large piece of ground; that

the king, their and his chief, in sending him, had

forbidden him-io purchase beaver skins, knowing

that this kind of hunting separates them and ex-

poses them to their enemies; and that in conse-

quence of this he had come to establish himself

on Blue Eiver and vicinity, where they had many
times assured him were many kinds of beasts,

for the skins of which he would give them all

things necessary; that they ought to reflect that

they could not do without French goods, and that

the only way not to want them was, not to go to

war with our allied nations.

As it is customary with the Indians to accom-

pany their word with a present proportioned to

the affair treated of, he gave them fifty poimds of

powder, as many balls, six guns, ten axes, twelve

armsful of tobacco, and a hatchet pipe.

On the first of December, the Mantantons in-

vited Le Sueur to a great feast. Of four of their

lodges they had made one, in which were one

hundred men seated around, and every one his

dish before him. After the meal, Wahkantape,
the chief, made them all smoke, one after another,

in the hatchet pipe which had been given them.

He then made a present to Le Sueur of a slave

and a sack of wild rice, and said to him, showing
him his men: '

' Behold the remains of this great

village, which thou hast aforetimes seen so nu-

merous! All the others'have been killed in wax";

and the few men whom thou seest in this lodge,

accept the present thou hast made them, and are

resolved to obey the great chief of all nations, of

whom thou hast spoken to us. Thou oughtest

not to regard us as Scioux, but as French, and in-

stead of saying the Scioux are miserable, and have
no mind, and are fit for nothing but to rob and
steal from the French, thou shalt say my breth-

ren are miserable and have no mind, and we miist



D'IBERVILLE'8 MEMOIB ON THE MISSISSIPPI TRIBES. 45

try to procure some for them. They rob us, but

I will take care that they do not lack iron, that is

to say, all kinds of goods. If thou dost this, I as-

sure thee that in a little time the Mantantons will

become Frenchmen, and they will have none of

those vices, with which thou reproachest us."

Having finished his speech, he covered his face

with his garment, and the others imitated him.

They wept ever their companions who had died

in war, and chanted an adieu to their country in

a tone so gloomy, that one could not keep from

partaking of their sorrow.

Wahkantape then made them smoke again, and

distributed the presents, and said that he was go-

ing to the Mendeoucantons, to inform them of the

resolution, and invite them to do the same.

On the twelfth, three Mendeoucauton chiefs,

and a large number of Indians of the same vil-

lage, arrived at the fort, and the next day gave

satisfaction for robbing the Frenchmen. They
brought four hundred pounds of beaver skins, and

promised that the summer following, after their

canoes were built and they had gathered their

wild rice, that they would come and establish

themselves near the French. The same day they

returned to their village east of the Mississippi.

NAMES OF THE BANDS OF SCIOUX OF THE
EAST, WITH THBIB SIGNIFICATION.

Mantantons—That is to say, Village of the

Great Lake which empties into a small one.

Mendeouacantons—Village of Spirit Lake.

QuioPETONS—Village of the Lake with one

River.

PsiouMANiTONS—Village of Wild Eice Gath-

erers.

OuADEBATONs—The Eiver Village.

OuAETEMANETONS—Village of the Tribe who
dwell on the Point of the Lake.

SoNGASQUiTONS—The Brave VOlage,

THE SCIOUX OF THE WEST.

ToucHouAESiNTONs—The Village of the Pole.

PsiNCHATONS—Village of the Red Wild Rice.

OuJALBSPOiTONS—Village divided into many
small Bands.

PsiNOTJTANHiNHiNTONS — The Great Wild
Rice Village.

TiNTANGAOTTGHiATONS— The Grand Lodge
Village.

OuAEPETONS—Village of the Leaf.

OuGHETGEODATONS—Dung Village.

OuAPEONTETONS—Village of those who shoot

in the Large Pine.

HiNHANBTONS — VUlage of the Red Stone

Quarry.

The above catalogue of villages concludes the

extract that La Harpe has made from Le Sueur's

Journal.

In the narrative of Major Long's second expe-

dition, there are just as many villages of the Gens

duLac, or M'dewakantonwan Scioux mentioned,

though the names are different. After leaving

the MUle Lac region, the divisions evidently were

different, and the villages known by new names.

Charlevoix, who visited the valley of the Lower

Mississippi in 1722, says that Le Sueur spent a

winter in his fort on the banks of the Blue Earth,

and that in the following April he went up to the

mine, about a mile above. In twenty-two days

they obtained more than thirty thousand pounds

of the substance, four thousand of which were se-

lected and sent to France.

On the tenth of February, 1702, Le Sueur carne

back to the post on the Gulf of Mexico, and found

D'lbervUle absent, who, however, arrived on the

eighteenth of the next month, with a ship from

France, loaded with supplies. After a few weeks,

the Governor of Louisiana sailed again for the

old country, Le Sueur being a fellow passenger.

On board of the ship, D'Iberville wrote a mem-
orial upon the Mississippi valley, with sugges-

tions for carrying on commerce therein, which

contains many facts furnished by Le Sueur. A
copy of the manuscript was in possession of the

Historical Society of Minnesota, from which are

the following extracts:

"If the Sioux remain in their own country,

they are useless to us, being too distant. We
could have no commerce with them except that

of the beaver. M. Le Sueur, who goes to France

to give an account of this country, is the proper per-

son to make these movements. He estimates the

Sioux at four thousand families, who could settle

upon the Missouri.

" He has spoken to me of another which he

calls the Mahas, composed of more than twelve

hundred families. The Ayooues (loways) and the

Octoctatas, their neighbors, are about three

hundred families. They occupy the lands be-
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tween the Mississippi and thie Missouri, about

one hundred leagues from the IlUnois. These

savages do not know the use of arms, and a de-

scent might be made upon them in a rivpr, which

is beyond the Wabash on the west. * * *

" The Assinibouel, Quenistinos, and people of

the north, who are upon the rivers which-fall into

the Mississippi, and trade at Fort Ifelson (Hud-

son Bay), are about four hundred. We could

prevent them from going there if we wish."

" In four or five years we can establish a com-

merce with these savages of sixty or eighty thou-

sand buffalo skins; more than one hundred deer

skins, which will produce, delivered in France,

more than two million four hundred thousand

hvres yearly. One might obtain for a buffalo

skin four or five pounds of wool, which sells for

twenty sous, two pounds of coarse hair at ten

sous.

"Besides, from smaller. peltries, two hundred

thousand livres can be made yearly."

In the third volume of the " History and Sta-

tistics of the Indian Tribes," prepared under the

direction of the Commissioner of Indian affairs,

by Mr. Schoolcraft, a manuscript, a copy of which

was in possession of General Cass, is referred to as

containing the iirst enumeration of the Indians of

the Mississippi Valley. The following was made
thirty-four years earlier by D 'Iberville:

"The Sioux, Families, 4,000

Mahas, , 12,000

Octata and Ayoues, 300

Canses [Kansas], 1,500

Missouri, 1,500

Akansas, &c., 200

Manton [Mandan], 100

Panis [Pawnee], 2,000

lUiaois, of the great village and Cama-

roua [Tamaroa], 800

Meosigamea [Metchigamias], .... 200

Kikapous and Mascoutens, .... 450

Miamis, . , 500

Chactas, 4,000

Chicachas, 2,000

Mobiliens and Chohomes, 350

Concaques [Conchas], 2,000

Ouma [Houmas], 150

Colapissa, 250

Bayogoula, 100

People of the Fork, 200

Counica, &c. [Tonicas], 300

Nadeches, 1,500

Belochy, [Biloxi] rascoboula, .... 100

Total, 23,850

" The savage tribes located in the places I have

marked out, make it necessary, to establish three

posts on the Mississippi, one at the Arkansas,

another at the Wabash (Ohio), and the third at

the Missouri. At each post it would be proper

to have an officer with a detachment of ten sol-

diers with a sergeant and corporal. All French-

men should be allowed to settle there with their

families, and trade with the Indians, and .they

might establish tanneries for properly dressiag

the buifalo and deer skins for transportation.

" No Frenchman shall be allowed, to follow the

Indians on their hunts, as it tends to keep them

hunters, as is seen in Canada, and when they are

in the woods, they do not desire to become tillers

of the soil.
*******

" I have said nothing in this memoir of Which

I have not personal knowledge or the most relia-

ble sources. The most of what I propose is

founded upon personal reflection in relation to

what might be done for the defence and advance-

ment of the colony. *****
* * * It will be absolutely necessary

that the king should define the limits of this

country in relation to the government of Canada.

It is important that the commandant of the

Mississippi should have a report of those who
inhabit the rivers that fall into the Mississippi,

and principally those of the river Illinois.

" The Canadians intimate to the savages that

they ought not to listen to us but to the governor

of Canada, who always speaks to them with large

presents, that the governor of Mississippi is mean
and never sends them any thing. This is true,

and what I cannot do. It is imprudent to accus-

tom the savages to be spoken to by presents, for,

with so many, it would cost 'the king more than

the revenue derived from the trade. When they

come to us, it will be necessary to bring them in

subjection, make them no presents, and compel

them to do what we wish, as if they were French-

men.

" The Spaniards have divided the Indians into'

parties on this point, and we can do the same.

When one nation does wrong, we can cease to
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trade with them, and threaten to draw down the

hostility of other Indians. "We rectify the diffi-

culty by having missionaries, who will bring

them into obedience secretly.

" The Illinois and Mascoutens have detained

the French canoes they find upon the Mississippi,

saying that the governors of Canada have given

them permission. I do not know whether this is

so, but if true, it follows that we have not the

liberty to send any one on the Mississippi.

"M. Le Sueur would have been taken if he

had not been the strongest. Only one of the

canoes he sent to the Sioux was plundered." * * *

Penicaut's account varies in sorne particulars

from that of La Harpe's. He calls the Mahkahto

Green Eiver instead of Blue and writes: " We
took our route by its mouth and ascended it forty

leagues, when we found another river falling in-

to the Saint Pierre, which we entered. "We

called this the Green Eiver because it is of that

color by reason of a green earth which loosening

itself from from the copper mines, becomes dis-

solved and makes it green.

" A league up this river, we found a point

of land a quarter of a league distant from the

woods, and it was upon this point that M. Le
Sueur resolved to build his fort, because we could

not go any higher on account of the ice, it being

the last day of September. Half of our people

went hunting whilst the others worked on the

fort. "We killed four hundred buffaloes, which

were our provisions for the winter, and which we
placed upon scaffolds in our fort, after having

skinned and cleaned and quartered them. "We

also made cabins in the fort, and a magazinp to

keep our goods. After having drawn up our

shallop within the inclosuxe of the fort, we spent

the winter in our cabins.

" "When we were working in our fort in the

begiiming seven French traders from Canada

took refuge there. They had been pillaged and

stripped naked by the Sioux, a wandering nation

Uving only by hunting and plundering. Among
these seven persons there was a Canadian gen-

tleman of Le Sueur's acquaintance, whom he rec-

ognized at once, and gave him some clothes, as

he did also to all the rest, and whatever else was
necessary for them. They remained with us

during the entire winter at our fort, where we
had not food enough for all, except buffalo meat

which we had not even salt to eat with. We had

a good deal of trouble the first two \\'eeks in ac-

customing ourselves to it, having fever and di-

arrhoea and becoming so tired of it as to hate the

smell. But by degrees our bodies became adapt-

ed to it so well that at the end of six weeks there

was not one of us who could not eat six pounds

of meat a day, and drink four bowls of broth.

As soon as we were accustomed to this kind of

living it made us very fat, and then there was no

more sickness.

" "When spring arrived we went to work in the

copper mine. This was the beginning of April of

this year [1701.] "We took with us twelve labor-

ers and four hunters. This mine was situated

about three-quarters of a league from our post.

"We took from the mine in twenty days more than

twenty thousand pounds weight of ore, of which

we only selected four thousand pounds of the

finest, which M. Le Sueur, who was a very good

judge of it, had carried to the fort, and which has

since been sent to France, though I have not

learned the result.

'• This mine is situated at the beginning of a

very long mountain, which is upon the bank of

the river, so that boats can go right to the mouth

of the mine itself. At this place is the green

earth, which is a foot and a half in tliickness,

and above it is a layer of earth as firm and

hard as stone, and black and burnt like coal by

the exhalation from the mine. The copper is

scratched out vnth a knife. There are no trees

upon this mountain. * * * After twenty-two

days' work, we returned to our fort. "When the

Sioux, who belong to the nation of savages who
pillaged the Canadians, came they brought us

merchandize of furs.

"They had more than four hundred beaver

robes, each robe made (5f nine skins sewed to-

gether. M. Le Sueur purchased these and many
other skins which he bargained for, in the week
he traded with the savages. * * * *

We seU. in return wares which come very dear to

the buyers, especially tobacco from Brazil, in the

proportion of a hundred crowns the pound; two

little horn-handled knives, and foiu- leaden bul-

lets are equal to ten crowns in exchange for

sldns ; and so with the rest.

" In the beginning of May, we launched our

shallop in the water, and loaded it with green
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earth that had been taken out of the river, and

with the furs we had traded for, of which we had

three canoes full. M. Le Sueur before going

held council with M. D'Evaque [or Eraque] the

Canadian gentleman, and the tliree great chiefs

of the Sioux, three brothers, and told them that

as he had to return to the sea, he desired them

to live in peace with M. D'Evaque, whom he left

in command at Fort L'Huillier, with twelve

Frenchmen. M. Le Sueur made a considerable

present to the three brothers, chiefs of the sava-

ges, desiring them to never abandon the French.

Afterward we the twelve menwhom he had chosen

to go down to the sea with him embarked. In set-

ting out, M. Le Sueur promised to M. D'Evaque

and the twelve Frenchmen who remained with

him to guard the fort, to send up munitions of

war from the Illinois country as soon as he should

arrive there ; which he did, for on getting there

he sent off to him a canoe loaded with two thou-

sand pounds of lead and powder, with three of

our people in charge."

Le Sueur arrived at the French fort on the

Gulf of Mexico in safety, and in a few weeks, in

the spring of 1701, sailed for France, with his

kinsman, D'Iberville, the first governor of Lou-

isiana.

In the spring of the next year (1702) D'Evaque

came to Mobile and reported to D'Iberville, who
had come back from France, that he had been

attacked by the Foxes and Maskoutens, who killed

three Frenchmen who were working near Fort

L'Huillier, and that, being out of powder and

lead, he had been obUged to conceal the goods

which were left and abandon the post. At the

Wisconsin River he had met Juchereau, formerly

criminal judge in Montreal, with thirty-five

men, on his way to establish a tannery for buffalo

skins at the Wabash, and that at the Illinois he

met the canoe of supplies sent by Bienville,

D 'Iberville's brother.

La Motte Cadillac, in command at Detroit, in

a letter written on August 31st, 1703, alludes to

Le Sueur's expedition in these words: " Last

year they sent Mr. Boudor, a Montreal merchant,

into the country of the Sioux to join Le Su-

eur. He succeeded so well in that journey he

transported thither twenty-five or thirty thous-

and pounds of merchandize with which to trade

in all the country of the Outawas. This proved

to him an unfortunate investment, as he has

been robbed of a part of the goods by the Outa-

gamies. The occasion of the robbery by one of

our own allies was as follows. I speak with a

full knowledge of the facts as they occurred while

I was at Michillimackianc. From time immemo-
rial our allies have been at war with the Sioux,

and on my arrival there in conformity to the or-

der of M. Frontenac, the most able man who has

ever come into Canada, I attempted to negotiate

a truce between the Sioux and all our allies.

Succeeding in this negotiation I took the occa-

sion to turn their arms against the Iroquois with

whom we were then at war, and soon after I ef-

fected a treaty of peace between the Sioux and

the French and their allies which lasted two years.

"At the end of tha'; time the Sioux came, in

great numbers, to the villages of the Miamis, un-

der pretense of ratifying the treaty. They were

well received by the Miamis, and, after spending

several days in their villages, departed, apparent-

ly perfectly satisfied with their good reception, as

they certainly had every reason to be.

" The Miamis, believing them already far dis-

tant, slept quietly; but the Sioux, who had pre-

meditated the attack, returned the same night to

the principal village of the Miamis, where most

of the tribe were congregated, and, taking them
by surprise, slaughtered nearly three thousandC!*)

and put the rest to flight..

"This perfectly infuriated all tne nations.

They came with their complaints, begging me to

join with them and exterminate the Sioux. But
the war we then had on our hands did not permit

it, so it became necessary to play the orator in a

long harangue. In conclusion I advised them to

' weep their dead, and wrap them up, and leave

them to sleep coldly till the day of vengeance
should come;' telling them we must sweep the

land on this side of the Iroquois, as it was neces-

sary to extinguish even their memory, after which
the allied tribes could more easily avenge the

atrocious deed that the Sioux had just committed
upon them. In short, I managed them so well

that the affair was settled in the manner that I

proposed.

"But the twenty-five permits still existed, and
the cupidity of the French induced them to go
among the Sioux to trade for beaver. Our alUes

complained bitterly of this, saying it was injust^
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ice to them, as they had taken up arms in our

quarrel against the Iroquois, while the French

traders were carrying munitions of war to the

Sioux to enable them to kill the rest of our aUies

as they had the Miamis.

" I immediately informed M. Frontenac, and M.

Champigny having read the communication, and

commandedthatanordinancebepublished atMon-

treal forbidding the traders to go into the'country

of the Sioux for the purpose of traffic under penalty

of a thousand francs fine, the confiscation of the

goods, and other arbitrary penalties. The ordi-

nance was sent to me and faithfully executed.

The same year [1699] I descended to Quebec,

having asked to be relieved. Since that time, in

spite of this prohibition, the French have con-

tinued to trade with the Sioux, but not without

being subject to affronts and indignities from our

allies themselves which bring dishonor on the

French name. * * * I do not consider it best

any longer to allow the traders to carry on com-

merce with the Sioux, under any pretext what-

ever, especially as M. Boudor has just been

robbed by the Fox nation, and M. Jucheraux has

given a thousand crowns, in goods, for the right

of passage through the country of the allies to

his habitation.

" The allies say that Le Sueur has gone to the

Sioux on the Mississippi; that they are resolved

to oppose him, and if hejjfEers any resistance they

will not be answerable for the consequences.

It would be well, therefore, to give Le Sueur

warning by the Governor of Mississippi.

" The Sauteurs [Chippeways] being friendly

with the Sioux wished to give passage through

their country to M. Boudor and others, permit-

ting them to carry arms and other munitions of

war to this nation; but the other nations being

opposed to it, differences have arisen between

them which have resulted in the robbery of M.
Boudor. This has given occasion to the Sau-

teurs to make an outbreak upon the Sacs and

Foxes, killing thirty or forty of them. So thers

is war among the people."
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After the Fox Indians drove away Le Sueur's

men, in 1702, from the Makahto, or Blue Earth

river, the merchants of Montreal and Quebec did

not encourage trade with the tribes beyond Mack-

inaw.

D'Aigreult, a French officer, sent to inspect

that post, in the summer of 1708, reported that

he arrived there, on the 19th of August, and

found there but fourteen or fifteen Frenchmen.

He also wrote: " Since there are now only a few

wanderers at MichiUmackinack, the greater part

of the furs of the savages of the north goes to the

EngUsh trading posts on Hudson's Bay. The

Outawas are unable to make this trade by them-

selves, because the northern savages are timid,

and will not come near them, as they have often

been plundered. It is, therefore, necessary that

the French be allowed to seek these northern

tribes at the mouth of their own river, which
I

empties into Lake Superior."

Louis de la Porte, the Sieur De Louvigny, in

1690, accompanied by Nicholas Perrot, with a de-

tachment of one hundred and seventy Canadians

and Indians, came to Mackinaw, and until 1694

was in command, when he was recalled.

In 1712, Father Joseph J. Marest the Jesuit

missionary wrote, " If this country ever needs

M. Louvigny it is now ; the savages say it is ab-

solutely necessary that he should come for the

safety of the country, to unite the tribes and to

defend those whom the war has caused to return

to Michilimacinac. **«*«*

I do not know what course the Pottawatomies

will take, nor even what course they will pursue

who are here, if M. Louvigny does not come, es-

pecially if the Foxes were to attack them or us."

The next July, M. Lignery urged upon the au-

thorities the establishment of a garrison of trained

soldiers at Mackinaw, and the Intendant of Can-

ada wrote to the King of France

:

" Michilimackinac might be re-established,

without expense to his Majesty, either by sur-

rendering the trade of the post to such individu-

als as will obligate themselves to pay all the ex-

penses of twenty-two soldiers and two officers; to

furnish munitions of war for the defense of the

fort, and to make presents to the savages.

" Or the expenses of the post nyght be paid by

the sale of permits, if the King should not think

proper to grant an exclusive commerce. ' It is ab-

solutely necessary to know the wishes of the King

concerning these two propositions ; and as M.

Lignery is at Michilimackinac, it will not be any

greater injury to the colony to defer the re-estab-

ment of this post, than it has been for eight or

ten years past."

The war with England ensued, and in April,

1713, the treaty of Utrecht was ratified. France

had now more leisure to attend to the Indian

tribes of the West.

Early in 1714, Mackinaw was re-occupied, and

on the fourteenth of March, 1716, an expedition

under Lieutenant Louvigny, left Quebec. His

arrival at Mackinaw, where he had been long ex-

pected, gave confidence to the voyageurs, and

friendly Indians, and with a force of eight hun-

dred men, he proceeded against the Foxes in

"Wisconsin. He brought with him two pieces of

cannon and a grenade mortar, and besieged the

fort of the Foxes, which he stated contained five

hundred warriors, and three thousand men, a

declaration which can scarcely be credited. After
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three days of skirmisliiiig, lie prepared, to mine

the fort, when the Foxes capitulated.

The paddles of the birch bark canoes and the

gay songs of the voyageurs now began to be heard

once more on the waters of Lake Superior and its

tributaries. In 1717, the post erected by Du
JLuth, on Lake Superior near the northern boun-

dary of Minnesota, was re-occupied by Lt. Eo-

bertel de la Noue.

In view of the troubles among the tribes of the

northwest, in the month of September, 1718, Cap-

tain St. Pierre, who had great influence with the

Indians of Wisconsin and Minnesota, was sent

with Ensign Linctot and some soldiers to re-oc-

cupy La Pointe on Lake Superior, now Bayfield,

in the northwestern part of Wisconsin. The

chiefs of the band there, and at Keweenaw,

had threatened war against the Poxes, who had

killed some of their number.

When the Jesuit Charlevoix returned to Prance

after an examination of the resources of Canada

and Louisiana, he urged that an attempt should

bemade to reach the Pacific Ocean by an inland

route, and suggested that an expedition should

proceed from the mouth of the Missouri and fol-

low that stream, or that a post should be estab-

lished among the Sioux which should be the point

of departure. The latter was accepted, and in

1722 an allowance was made by the Prench Gov-

ernment, of twelve hundred Uvres, for two Jes-

uit missionaries to accompany those who should

establish the new post. D'Avagour, Superin-

tendent of Missions, in May, 1723, requested the

authorities to grant a separate canoe for the con-

veyance of the goods of the proposed mission,

and as it was necessary to send a commandant

to persuade the Indians to receive the mission-

aries, he recommended Sieur Pachot, an officer of

experience.

A dispatch from Canada to the Prench govern-

ment, dated October 14, 1723, announced that

Pather de la Chasse, Superior of the Jesuits, ex-

pected that, the next spring. Father Guymoneau,

and another missionary from Paris, would go to

the Sioux, but that they had been hindered by the

Sioux a few months before killing seven French-

men, on their way to Louisiana. The aged

Jesuit, Joseph J. Marest, who had been on Lake

Pepin in 1689 vsdth Perrot, and was now in Mon-

treal, said that it was the wandering Sioux who

had killed the French, but he thought the sta-

tionary Sioux would receive Christian instruction.

The hostility of the Foxes had also prevented

the establishment of a fort and mission among the

Sioux.

On the seventh of June, 1726, peace was con-

cluded by De Lignery with the Sauks, Poxes, and

Winnebagoes at Green Bay; and Linctot, who
had succeeded Saint Pierre in command at La
Pointe, was ordered, by presents and the promise

of a missionary, to endeavor to detach the Dah-

kotahs from their alliance with the Foxes. At
this time Linctot made arrangements for peace

between the Ojibways and Dahkotas, and sent

two Frenchmen to dwell in the villages of the

latter, with a promise that, if they ceased to fight

the Ojibways, they should have regular trade,

and a " black robe" reside in their country.

Traders and missionaries now began to prepare

for visiting the Sioux, and in the spring of 1727

the Governor of Canada wrote that the fathers,

appointed for the Sioux mission, desired a case of

mathematical instruments, a universal astro-

nomic dial, a spirit level, chain and stakes, and a

telescope of six or seven feet tube.

On the sixteenth of June, 1727, the expedition

for the Sioux country left Montreal in charge of

the Sieur de la Perriere who was son of the dis-

tinguished and respected Canadian, Pierre Bou-

cher, the Governor of Three Rivers.

La Perriere had served in Newfoundland and
been associated with Hertel de Eouville in raids

into New England, and gained an unenviable no-

toriety as the leader of the savages, while Eou-

ville led the Prench in attacks upon towns like

Haverhill, Massachusetts, where the Indians ex-

.ultingly killed the Puritan pastor, scalped his

loving wife, and dashed out his infant's brains

against a rock. He was accompanied by his

brother and other relatives. Two Jesuit fathers,

De Gonor and Pierre Michel Guignas, were also

of the party.

In Shea's " Early French Yoyages" there was
printed, for the first time, a letter from Pather

Guignas, from the Brevoort manuscripts, -wTritten.

on May 29, 1728, at Port Beauharnois, on Lake
Pepin, which contains facts of much interest.

He writes: " The Scioux convoy left the end

of Montreal Island on the 16th of the month of

June last year, at 11 a. m., and reached Michili-
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mackinac the 22d of the month of July. This

post is two hundred and flfty-one leagues from

Montreal, almost due west, at 45 degrees 46 min-

utes north latitude.

" "We spent the rest of the month at this post,

in the hope of receiving from day to day some

news from Montreal, and in the design of

strengthening ourselves against the alleged ex-

treme difftculties of getting a free passage through

the Poxes. At last, seeing nothing, we set out

on our march, the first of the month of August,

and, after seventy-three leagues quite pleasant

sail along the northerly side of Lake Michigan,

running to the southeast, we reached the Bay

[Green] on the 8th of the same month, at 5:30 p.

M. This post is at 44 degrees 43 minutes north

latitude.

" We stopped there two days, and on the 11th

in the morning, we embarked, in a very great

impatience to reach the Foxes. On the third day

after our departure from the bay, quite late in

the afternoon, in fact somewhat in the night, the

chiefs of the Puans [Winnebagoes] came out three

leagues from their village to meet the French,

with their peace calumets and some bear meat as

a refreshment, and the next day we were received

by that small nation, amid several discharges of

a few guns, and with great demonstrations.

" They asked us with so good a grace to do

them the honor to stay some time with them that

we granted them the rest of the day from noon,

and the following day. There may be in all the

village, sixty to eighty men, but all the men and

women of very tall stature, and well made. They

are on the bank of a very pretty little lake, in a

most agreeable spot for its situation and the

goodness of the soil, nineteen leagues from the

bay and eight leagues from the Foxes.

" Early the nextmorning, the 15th of the month

of August, the convoy preferred to continue its

route, with quite pleasant weather, but a storm

coming on in the afternoon, we arrived quite wet,

still in the rain, at the cabins of the Foxes, anation

somuch dreaded, and really so little to be dreaded.

From all that we could see, it is composed of

two hundred men at most, but there is a perfect

hive of children, especially boys from ten to

fourteen years old, well formed.

'• They are cabined on a little eminence on the

bank of a small river that bears their name, ex-

tremely tortuous or wiading, so that you are con-

stantly boxing the compass. Yet it is apparently

quite vnde, with a chain of hills on both sides,

but there is only one miserable little channel

amid this extent of apparent bed, which is a kind

of marsh full of rushes and wild rice of almost

impenetrable thickness. They have nothing but

mere bark cabins, without any kind of palisade or

other fortification. As soon as the French ca-

noes touched their shore they ran down with

their peace calumets, lighted in spite of the rain,

and all smoked.

" We stayed among them the rest of this day,

and all the next, to know what were their designs

and ideas as to the French post among the Sioux.

The Sieur Keaume, interpreter of Indian lan-

guages at the Bay, acted efficiently there, and

Vidth devotion to the King's service. Even if my
testimony. Sir, should be deemed not impartial, I

must have the honor to tell you that Kev. Father

Chardon, an old missionary, was of very great as-

sistance there, and the presence of three mission-

aries reassured these cut-throats and assassins of

the French more than all the speeches of the best

orators could have done.

" A general council was convened in one of the

cabins, they were addressed in decided friendly

terms, and they replied in the same way. A
small present was made to them. On their side

they gave some quite handsome dishes, lined with

dry meat.

On the following Sunday, 17th of the month

of August, very early in the morning. Father

Chardon set out, with Sieur Eeaume, to return

to the Bay, and the Sioux expedition, greatly re-

joiced to have so easily got over this difficulty,

which had everywhere been represented as so in.-

surmountable, got under way to endeavor to

reach its journey's end.

" Never was navigation more tedious than

what we subsequently made from uncertainty as

to our course. Ifo one knew it, and we got

astray every moment on water and on land for

want of a guide and pilots. We kept on, as it

were feeling our way for eight days, for it was

only on the ninth, about three o'clock p. m., that

we arrived, by accident, believing ourselves still

far off, at the portage of the Ouisconsin, which is

forty-five leagues from the Foxes, countiag all

the twists and turns of this abominable river.
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This portage is half a league in length, and half

of that is a kind of marsh full of mud,
" The Ouisconsin is quite a handsome river,

but far below what we had been told, apparently,

as those who gave the description of it in Canada

saw it only in the high waters of spring. It is a

shallow river on a bed of quicksand, which forms

-bars almost everywhere, and these often change

place. Its shores are either steep, bare mountains

orlow points with sandy base. Its course is from

northeast to southwest. From the portage to its

mouth in the Mississippi, I estimated thirty-eight

leagues. The portage is at 43 deg. 24 min. north

latitude.

" The Mississippi from the mouth of the Ouis-

consin ascending, goes northwest. This beauti-

ful, river extends between two chains of high,

bare and very sterile mountains, constantly a

league, three-quarters of a league, or where it is

narrowest, half a league t.part. Its centre is oc-

cupied by a chain of well wooded islands, so that

regarding from the heights above, you would

think you saw an endless valley watered on the

right and left by two large rivers ; sometimes, too,

you could discern no river. These islands are

overflowed every year, and would be adapted to

raising rice. Fifty-eight leagues from the mouth
of the Ouisconsin, according to my calculation,

ascending the Mississippi, is Lake Pepin, which

is nothing else but the river itself, destitute of

islands at that point, where it may be half a

league wide. This river, in what I traversed of

it, is shallow, and has shoals in several places, be-

cause its bed is moving sands, like that of the

Ouisconsin.

"On the 17th of September, 1727, at noon, we
reached this lake, which had been chosen as the

bourne of our voyage. We planted ourselves on

the shore about the middle of the north side, on

a low point, where the soil is excellent. The
wood is very dense there, but is already thinned

in consequence of the rigor and length of the

winter, which has been severe for the climate,

for we are here on the parallel of 43 deg. 41 min.

It is true that the difference of the winter is

great compared to that of Quebec and Montreal,

for all that some poor judges say.

"Prom the day after our landing we put our

axes to the wood: on the fourth day following

the fort was entirely finished. It is a square plat

of one hundred feet, surrounded by pickets twelve

feet long, with two good bastions. For so smaU
a space there are large buildings quite distinct and

not huddled together, each thirty, thirty-eight

and twenty-five feet long by sixteen feet wide.

" All would go well there if the spot were not

inundated, but this year [1728], on the 15th of

the month of April, we were obUgedto camp out,

and the water ascended to the height of two feet

and eight inches in the houses, and it is idle to

say that it was the quantity of snow that fell

this year. The snow in the vicinity had melted

long before, and there was only a foot and a half

from the 8th of February to the 15th of March;

you could not use snow-shoes.

" I have great reason to think that this spot is

Inundated more or less every year; I have always

thought so, but they were not obUged to believe

me, as old people who said that they had lived in

this region fifteen or twenty years declared that

it was never overflowed. We could not enter

our much-devastated houses until the 30th of

April, and the disorder is even now scarcely re-

paired.

" Before the end of October [1727] all the houses

were finished and furnished, and each one found

himself tranquilly lodged at home. They then

thought only of going out to explore the hills and
rivers and to see those herds of all kinds of deer

of which they tell such stories in Canada. They
must have retired, or diminished greatly, since

the time the old voyageurs left the country; they

are no longer in such great numbers, and are

killed with difficulty.

" After beating the field, for some time, all re-

assembled at the fort, and thought of enjoying a
Uttle the fruit of their labors. On the 4th of ZSTo-

vember we did not forget it was the General's

birthday. Mass was said for him [Beauhamois,

Governor-General of Canada] in the morning,

and they were well disposed to celebrate the day

in the evening, but the tardiness of the pyro-

technists and the inconstancy of the weather

caused them to postpone the celebration to the

14th of the same month, when they set off some
very fine rockets and made the air ring with an
hundred shouts of Vive le Boy! and Vive Charles

de Beauhamois! It was on this occasion that the

wine of the Sioux was broached; it was par ex-
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cellence, although there are no wines here finer

than in Canada.

•' What contributed much to the amusement,

was the terror of some cabins of Indians, who

were at the time around the fort. When these

poor people saw the fireworks in the air, and the

stars fall from heaven, the women and children

began to take flight, and the most courageous of

the men to cry mercy, and implore us very earn-

estly to stop the surprising play of that wonder-

ful medicine.

" As soon as we arrived among them, they as-

sembled, in a few daya, around the French fort to

the number of ninety-flve cabins, which might

make in all one hundred and fifty men; for there

are at most two men in their portable cabins of

dressed skins, and in many there is only one.

This is all we have seen except a band of about

sixty men, who came on the 26th of the month of

February, who were of those nations called Sioux

of the Prairies.

"At the end of November, the Indians set out

for their winter quarters. They do not, indeed,

go far, and we saw some of them all through the

winter; but from the second of the month of

April last, when some cabins repassed here to go

in search of them, [he] sought them in vain, du-

ring a week, for more tlian sixty leagues of the

Mississippi. He [La Perriere?] arrived yesterday

without any tidings of them.

" Although I said above, that the Sioux were

alarmed at the rockets, which they took for new

phenomena, it must not be supposed from that

they were less intelligent than other Indians we

know. They seem to me more so ; at least they

are much gayer and open, apparently, and far

more dextrous thieves, great dancers, and great

medicine men. The men are almost all large and

well made, but the women are very ugly and dis-

gusting, which does not, however, check debauch-

ei^ among them, and is perhaps an eifect of it."

In the summer of 1728 the Jesuit De Gonor

left the fort on Lake Pepin, and, by way of Mack-

inaw, returned to Canada. The Foxes had now

become very troublesome, and De Lignery and

Beaujeu marched against their stronghold, to find

they had retreated to the Mississippi Eiver.

On the 12th of October., Boucherville, his bro-

ther Montbrun, a young jadet of enterprising

spirit, the Jesuit Guignas, and other Frenchmen,

eleven in all, left Fort Pepin to go to Canada, by

way of the Illinois River. They were captured

by the Mascoutens and Kickapoos, and detained

at the river " An Boeuf," which stream was prob-

ably the one mentioned by Le Sueur as twenty-

two leagues above the Illinois River, although the

same name was given by Hennepin to the Chip-

pewa River, just below Lake Pepin. They were

held as prisoners, with . the view of delivering

them to the Foxes. The night before the deliv-

ery the Sieur Montbrun and his brother and an-

other Frenchman escaped. Montbrun, leaving

his sick brother in the Illinois country, journeyed

to Canada and informed the authorities.

Boucherville and Guignas remained prisoners

for several months, and the former did not reach

Detroit until June, 1729, The account of expen-

ditures made during his captivity is interesting as

showing the value of merchandize at that time.

It reads as follows:

" Memorandum of the goods that Monsieur de

Boucherville was obliged to furnish in the ser-

vibe of the King, from the time of his detention

among the Kickapoos, on the 12th of October,

1728, until his return to Detroit, in the year 1729,

in the month of June. On arriving at the Kick-

apoo village, he made a present to the young men
to secure their opposition to some evil minded

old warriors

—

Two barrels of powder, each fifty pounds

at Montreal price, valued at the sum of 150 Uv.

One hundred pounds of lead and balls

making the sum of 50 liv.

Four pounds of vermillion, at 12 francs

the pound 48 fr.

Four coats, braided, at twenty francs. . . 80 fr.

Six dozen knives at four francs the dozen 24 fr.

Four hundred flints, one hundred gun-

worms, two hundred ramrods and one

hundred and fifty files, the total at the

maker's prices 90 liv.

After the Kickapoos refused to deliver them to

the Renards [Foxes] they wished some favors, and

1 was obliged to give them the following -which

would allow them to weep over and cover their

dead:

Two braided coats @ 20 fr. each 40fr.

Two woolen blankets @ 15 fr 30

One hundred pounds of powder@ 30 sons 75

One hundred pounds of lead @ 10 sous. . 25
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Two pounds of vermillion @ 12 fr 24fr.

Moreover, given to the Benards to cover

their dead and preparethem for peace,

fifty pounds of powder, making 75

One hundred pounds of lead @ 10 sous. 50

Two poimds of vermillion @ 12 fr 24

During the winter a considerable party was

sent to strike hands vsdth the IDinois. Given at

that time

:

Two blue blankets @ 15 fr 30

Pour men's shirts @ 6 fr 24

Four pairs of long-necked bottles@ 6 fr 24

Four dozen of knives @ 4 fr •. . 16

Gun-worms, files, ramrods, and flints, es-

timated 40

Given to engage the Kickapoos to establish

themselves upon a neighboring isle, to protect

from the treachery of the Eenards

—

Four blankets, @ 15f 60f

Two pairs of bottles, 6f 24

Two pounds of vermillion, 12f 24

Four dozen butcher knives, 6f 24

Two woolen blankets, @ 15f 30

Four pairs of bottles, @ 6f 24

Four shirts, @ 6f 24

Four dozen of knives, @ 4f 16

The Eenards having betrayed and killed their

brothers, the Kickapoos, I seized the favorable

opportunity, and to encourage the latter to avenge

themselves, I gave

—

Twenty-five pounds of powder,® SOsous 37f.l0s.

Twenty-five pounds of lead, @ 10s I2f.l0s.

Two guns at 30 livres each 60f

One half pound of vermilUon 6f

Flints, guns, worms and knives 20f

The Illinois coming to the Kilmpoos vil-

lage, I supported them at my expense,

and gave them powder, balls and shirts

valued at >. 60f

In departing from the Kikapoos village, I

gave them the rest of the goods for

their good treatment, estimated at 80f

In a letter, written by a priest, at Xew Orleans,

on July 12, 1730, is the following exaggerated ac-

count of the capture of Father Guignas: " We
always felt a distrust of the Fox Indians , although

they did not longer dare to undertake anything,

since Father Guignas has detached from their al-

liance the tribes of the Kikapous and Maskoutins.

You know, my Eeverend Father, that, being in

Canada, he had the courage to penetrate even to

the Sioux near the sources of the Mississippi, at

the distance of eight hundred leagues from New
Orleans and five hundred from Quebec. Obliged

to abandon this important mission by the unfor-

tunate result of the enterprise against the Foxes,

he descended the river to repair to the lUinois.

On the 15th of October in the year 1728 he was
arrested when half way by the Kickapous and

Maskoutins. For four months he was a captive

among the Indians, where he had much to suffer

and everything to fear. The time at last came

when he was to be burned alive, when he was

adopted by an old man whose family saved his

life and procured his liberty.

" Our missionaries who are among the Illinois

were no sooner acquainted with the situation

than they procured him all the alleviation they

were able. Everything which he received he em-

ployed to concUiate the Indians, and succeeded

to the extent of engaging them to conduct him to

the Illinois to make peace with the French and
Indians of this region. Seven or eight months

after this peace was concluded, the Maskoutins

and Kikapous returned again to the Illinois coun-

try, and took back Father Guignas to spend the

winter, from whence, in all probability, he wUl
return to Canada."

In dispatches sent to France, in October, 1729,

by the Canadian government, the following refer-

ence is made to Fort Beauhaniois :
" They agree

that the fort built among the Scioux, on the bor-

der of Lake Pepin, appears to be badly situated

on account of the freshets, but the Indians assure

that the waters rose higher in 1728 than it ever

did before. When Sieur de Laperriere located it

at that place it was on the assurance of the In-

dians that the waters did not rise so high." In

reference to the absence of Indians, is the fol-

lowing:

" It is very true that these Indians did leave

shortly after on a hunting excursion, as thQy are

in the habit of doing, for their own support and

that of their families, who have only that means

of hveUhood, as they do not cultivate the soil at

all. M. de Beauharnois has just been informed

that their absence was occasioned only by having

fallen in while himting vnth a number of prairie

Scioux, by whom they were invited to occompany

them on a war expedition against the Mahas,
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which invitation they accepted, and returned

only in the month of July following.

"The interests of religion, of the service, and

of the colony, are involved in the maintenance of

this establishment, which has been the more nec-

essary as there is no doubt but the Foxes, when
routed, would have found an asylum among the

Scioux had not the French been settled there,

and the docility and submission manifested by

the Foxes can not be attributed to any cause ex-

cept the attention entertained by the Scioux for

the French, and the offers which the former

made the latter, of which the Foxes were fully

cognisant.

" It is necessary to retain the Scioux in these

favorable dispositions, in order to keep the Foxes

in check and counteract the measures they might

adopt to gain over the Scioux, who will invaria-

bly reject their propositions so long as the French

remain in the country, and their trading post

shall continue there. But, despite all these "ad-

vantages and the importance of preserving that

establishment, M. de Beauhamois cannot take

any steps until he has news of the French who
asked his permission this summer to go up there

with a canoe load of goods, and until assured that

those who wintered there have not dismantled

the fort, and that the Scioux continue in the same

sentiments. Besides, it does not seem very easy,

in the present conjuncture, to maintain that post

unless there is a solid peace with the Foxes; on

the other hand, the greatest portion of the tra-

ders, who applied in 1727 for the establishment

of that post, have withdrawn, and will not send

thither any more, as the rupture with the Foxes,

through whose country it is necessary to pass in

order to reach the Scioux in canoe, has led them

to abandon the idea. But the one and the other

case might be remedied. The Foxes wiU, in all

probability, come or send next year to sue for

peace; therefore, if it be granted to them on ad-

vantageous conditions, there need be no appre-

hension when going to the Sioux, and another

company could be formed, less numerous than

the first, through whom, or some responsible mer-

chants able to afford the outfit, a- new treaty

could be made, whereby these difficulties would
be soon obviated. One only trouble remains, and
that is, to send a commanding and sub-officer,

and some soldiers, up there, which are absolutely

necessary for the maintenance of good order at

that post; the missionaries would not go there

without a commandant. This article, which re-

gards the service, and the expense of which must

be on his majesty's account, obliges them to ap-

ply for orders. They will, as far as lies in their

power, induce the traders to meet that expense,

which will possibly amount to 1000 Uvres or

1500 livres a year for the commandant, and in

proportion for the officer under him; but, as in

the beginnuig of an establishment the expenses

exceed the profits, it is improbable that any corn-

pany of merchants will assume the outlay, and

in this case they demand orders on this point, as

well as his majesty's opinion as to the necessity

of preserving so useful a post, and a nation which

has already afEorded proofs of its fidelity and at-

tachment.

" These orders could be sent them by the way

of He Eoyale, or by the first merchantmen that

will sail for Quebec. The time required to re-

ceive intelligence ofthe occurrences in the Scioux

country, will admit of their waiting for these

orders before doing anything."

Sieur de la Jemeraye, a relative of Sieur de la

Perriere Boucher, with a few French, during the

troubles remained in the Sioux country. After

peace was established with the Foxes, Legardeur

Saint Pierre was in command at Fort Beauhar-

nois, and Father Guignas again attempted to es-

tablish a Sioux mission. In a communication

dated 12th of October, 1736, by the Canadian au-

thorities is the following: "In regard to the

Scioux, Satat Pierre, who commanded at that

post, and Father Guignas, the missionary, have

written to Sieur de Beauharnois on the tenth and

eleventh of last April, that these Indians ap-

peared well intentioned toward the French, and

had no other fear than that of being abandoned

by them. Sieur de Beauhamois annexes an ex-

tract of these letters, and although the Scioux

seem very friendly, the result only can tell whether

this fidelity is to be absolutely depended upon,

for the unrestrained and inconsistent spirit which

composes the Indian character may easily change-

it. They have not come over this summer as yet,

but M. de la St. Pierre is to get them to do so

next year, and to have an eye on their proceed-

ings."

The reply to this communication from Louis



DH LVSIGNAN VISITS THE SIOUX COUNTRY. 61

XV. dated Versailles, May 10th, 1737, was in

these words :
" As respects the Scioux, according

to what the commandant and missionary at that

post have written to Sieur de Beauharnois rela-

tive to the disposition of these Indians, nothing

appears to be wanting on that point.

" But their delay in coming down to Montreal

since the time they have promised to do so, must

render their sentiments somewhat suspected, and

nothing but facts can determine whether their

fidelity can be absolutely relied on. But what

must still further increase the uneasiness to be

entertained in their regard is the attack on the

convoy of M. de Verandrie, especially if this officer

has adopted the course he had informed the

Marqui^ de Beauharnois he should take to have

revenge therefor."

The particulars of the attack alluded to will be

found in the next chapter. Soon after this the

Foxes again became troublesome, and the post on

Lake Pepin was for a time abandoned by the

French. A dispatch in 1741 uses this language :

" The Marquis de Beauharnois' opinion respect-

ing the war against the Foxes, has been the more

readily approved by the Baron de Longeuil,

Messieurs De la Chassaigne, La Come, de Lig-

nery, LaNoue, and Duplessis - Fabert, whom he

had assembled at his house, as it appears from

all the letters that the Count has wrii "n for sev-

eral years, that he has nothing so much at heart as

the destruction of that Indian iiation, which can

not be prevailed on by the presents and the good

treatment of the French, to live in peace, not-

withstanding all its promises.

" Besides, it is notorious that the Foxes have a

secret understanding with the Iroquois, to secure

a retreat among the latter, in case they be obliged

to abandon their villages. They have one already

secured among the Sioux of the prairies, with

whom they are allied; so that, should they be

advised beforehand of the design of the French

to wage war against them, it would be easy for

them to retire to the one or the other before their

passage could be intersected or themselves at-

tacked in their villages."

In the summer of 1743, a deputation of the

Sioux came down to Quebec, to ask that trade

might be resumed. Three years after this, four

Sioux chiefs came to Quebec, and asfed that a

commandant might be sent to Fort Beauharnois

;

wliich was not granted.

During the winter of 1745-6, De Lusignan vis-

ited the Sioux country, ordered by the govern-

ment to hunt up the "coureurs des bois," and

withdraw them from the country. They started

to return with him"; but learning that they would

be arrested at Mackinaw, for violation of law,

they ran away. While at the villages of the Sioux

of the lakes and plains, the chiefs brought to

this officer nineteen of their young men, bound
with cords, who had killed three Frenchmen, at

the Illinois. While he remained with them, they

made peace with the Ojibways of La Pointe,

with whom they had been at war for some time.

On his return, four chiefs accompanied him to

Montreal, to solicit pardon for their young braves.

The lessees of the trading-post lost many of

their peltries that winter in consequence of a fire.

Eeminiscences of St. Pierre's residence at Lake
Pepin were long preserved. Carver, in 1766, "ob-

served the ruins of a French factory, where, it

is said. Captain St. Pierre resided, and carried on

a great trade with the Nadouessies before the re-

duction of Canada."

Pike, in 1805, wrote in his journal: " Just be-

low Pt. Le Sable, the French, who had driven the

Renards [Foxes] from Wisconsin, and chased

them up the Mississippi, built a stockade on this

lake, as a barrier against the savages. It became
a noted factory for the Sioux."
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CHAPTER IX.

VEUENDBYE, THE EXPLOEEB OF NOETHEKN MINNESOTA, AND DISCOVEEEE OF THE BOCKY
MOUNTAINS. '

Conversation of Verendrye with Father De Gonor.—Parentage and Early Life.—

Old Indian Map Preserved.—^Vtrendrye's Son and Nephew Explore Pigeon

River and Reach Rainy l^ake.—Father Messayer a Companion.—Fort St. Pierre

Established.—Lake of the Woods Reached and Fort St. Charles Built.—De la

Jemeraye's Map.—Fort on the Assinahoine River.—Verendrye'a Son, Father

Ouneau and Associates Killed by Sioux, on Massacre Isle, in Lake of the Woods

—Fort La Reine.—Verendrye's Eldest Son, with Others, Reaches the Missouri

River.—Discovers the Rocky Mountains.—Returns to Lake of the Woods.

—

Exploration of Saskatchewan River.—Sieur de la Verendrye Jr.—Terendrye

the Father, made Captain of the Order of St. Louis.—His Death.—The Swedish

Traveler, Ealni, Notices Verendrye.—Bougainville Describes Verendrye's Ex-

plorations.—Legardeur de St. Pierre at Fort La Reine.—Fort Jonquiere Estab-

lished.—De la Corne Succeeds St. Pierre.—St. Pierre Meets Washington at

French Creek, in Pennsylvania.—Killed in Battle, near Lake George.

Early in the year 1728, two travelers met at

the secluded post of Mackinaw, one was named
De Gonor, a Jesuit Eather, who with Guighas,

had gone with the expedition, that the September

before had built Fort Beauharnois on the shores

of Lake Pepin, the other was Pierre Gualtier Va-
rennes, the Sieur dela Verendrye the commander
of the post on Lake Nepigon of the north shore

of Lake Superior, and a relative of the Sieur de

la Perriere, the commander at Lake Pepin.

Verendrye was the son of Eene Gualtier Va-
rennes who for twenty-two years was the chief

magistrate at Three Rivers, whose vrife was Ma-
rie Boucher, the daughter of his predecessor

whom he had married when she was twelve years

of age. He became a cadet in 1697, and in 1704

accompanied an expedition to New England.

The next year he was in l^"ewfoundland and the

year following he went to Prance, joined a regi-

ment of Brittany and was in the conflict at Mal-

plaquet when the French troops were defeated

by the Duke of Marlborough. When he returned

to Canada he was obUged to accept the position

of ensign notwithstanding the gallant manner in

which he had behaved. In time he became iden-

tified with the Lake Superior region. While at

Lake Nepigon the Indians assured him that there

was a communication largely by water to the

Pacific Ocean. One, named Ochagachs, drew a

rude map of the country, which is still preserved

among the French archives. Pigeon River is

marked thereon Mantohavagane, and the River

St. Louis is marked R. fond du L. Superior, and

the Indians appear to have passed from its head-

waters to Rainy Lake. Upon the western ex-

tremity is marked the River of the West.

De Gonor conversed much upon the route to

the Pacific with Verendrye, and promised to use

his influence with the Canadian authorities to

advance the project of exploration.

Charles De Beauharnois, the Governor of Can-

ada, gave Verendrye a respectful hearing, and

carefully examined the map of the region west of

the great lakes, which had been dravm by Ocha-

gachs (Otchaga), the Indian guide. Orders were

soon given to fit out an expedition of fifty men.

It left Montreal in 1731, under the conduct of his

sons and nephew De la Jemeraye, he not joining

the party till 1733, in consequence of the deten-

tions of business.

In the autumn of 1731, the party reached Rainy

Lake, by the Nantouagan, or Groselliers river,

now called Pigeon. Father Messayer, who had

been stationed on Lake Superior, at the Grosel-

liers river, was taken as a spiritual guide. At
the foot of Rainy Lake a post was erected and

called Fort St. Pierre, and the next year, having

crossed Minittie, or Lake of the Woods, they es-

tablished Fort St. Charles on its southwestern

bank. Five leagues from Lake Winnipeg they

established a post on the Assinaboine. An un-

published map of these discoveries by De la Jem-
eraye still exists at Paris. The river Winnipeg

called by them Maurepas, in honor of the minis-

ter of France in 1734, was protected by a fort of

the same name.

About this time their advance was stopped by
the exhaustion of supplies, but on the 12th of

April, 1735, an arrangement was made for a sec-

ond equipment, and a fourth son joined the expe-

dition.

In June, 1736, while twenty-one of the expedi-
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tion were camped upon an isle in the Lake of the

Woods, they were surprised by a band of Sioux

hostile to the French allies, the Cristuiaux, and

all killed. The island, upon this account, is

called Massacre Island. A few days after, a

party of five Canadian voyageurs discovered their

dead bodies and scalped heads. Father Ouneau,

the missionary, was found upon one knee, an ar-

row in his head, his breast bare, his left hand

touching the ground, and the right hand raised.

Among the slaughtered was also a son of Ver-

endrye, who had a tomahawk in his back, and his

body adorned with garters and bracelets of porcu-

pine. The father was at the foot of the Lake of

the "Woods when he received the news of his son's

murder, and about the same time heard of the

death of his enterprising nephew, Dufrost de la

Jemeraye, the son of his sister Marie Beine de

Varennes, and brother of Madame Youville, the

foundress of the Hospitallers at Montreal.

It was under the guidance of the latter that

the party had, in 1731, mastered the difHculties

of the Xantaouagon, or Groselliers river.

On the 3d of October, 1738, they built an ad-

vanced post. Fort La Keine, on the river Assini-

bof-ls, now Asslnaboine, which they called St

Charles, and beyond was a branch called St.

Pierre. These two rivers received the baptismal

name of Verendrye, which was Pierre, and Gov-

""nor Beauharnois, which was Charles. The post

became the centre of trade and point of departure

for explorations, either nortli or south.

It was by ascending the Assinaboine, ,and by

the present trail from its tributary, j\louse river,

they reached the country of the JMantanes, and in

1741, came to the upper Jlissouri, passed the Yel-

low Stone, and at length arrived at the Rocky

Mountains. The party was led by the eldest son

and liis brother, the chevalier. They left the

Lake of the Woods on the 29th of April, 1742,

came in sight of the Rocky Mountains on the 1st

of January, 1743, and on the 12th ascended them.

On the route they fell in with the Beaux Hom-
mes, Pioya, Petits Renards, and Arc tribes, and

stopped among the Snake tribe, but could go no

farther in a southerly direction, owing to a war
between the Arcs and Snakes.

On the 19th of May, 1744, they had returned to

the upper Missouri, and, in tlie country of the

Petite Cerise tribe, they planted on an eminence

a leaden plate of the arms of France, and raised

a monument of stones, which they called Beau-

harnois. They returned to the Lake of the Woods
on the 2d of July.

North of the Assiniboine they proceeded to

Lake Dauphin, Swan's Lake, explored the riv-

er "Des Biches," and ascended even to the

fork of the Saskatchewan, which they called Pos-

koiac. Two forts were subsequently established,

one near Lake Dauphin and the other on the

river " des Biches," called Fort Bourbon. The
northern route, by the Saskatchewan, was thought
to have some advantage over the Missouri, be-

cause there was no danger of meeting with the

Spaniards.

Governor Beauharnois having been prejudiced

against Verendrye by envious persons, De Noy-
elles was appointed to take command of the

posts. During these difficulties, we find Sieur de

la Verendrye, Jr., engaged in other duties. In

August, 1747, he arrives from Mackinaw at Mon-
treal, and in the autumn of that year he accom-

panies St. Pierre to Mackinaw, and brings back
the convoy to Montreal. In February, 1 748, with
five Canadians, five Cristenaux, two Ottawas, and
one Sauteur, he attacked the Mohawks near

Schenectady, and returned to Montreal with two
scalps, one that of a chief. On June 20th, 1748,

it is recorded that Chevalier de la Verendrye de-

pai-ted from Montreal for the head of Lake Supe-

rior. Margry states that he perished at sea in

November, 1764, by the wreck of the " Auguste."
Fortunately, Galissioniere the successor of

Beauharnois, although deformed and insignifi-

cant in appearance, was fair minded, a lover of

science,, especially botany, and anxious to push
discoveries toward the Pacific. Verendrye the

father was restored to favor, and made Captain
of the Order of St. Louis, and ordered to resume
explorations, but he died on December 6th, 1749,

while planning a tour up the Saskatchewan.

The Swedish Professor, Kalm, met him in Can-
ada, not long before his decease, and had inter-

esting conversations with him about the furrows

on the plains of the Missouri, which he errone-

ously conjectured indicated the former abode of

an agricultural people. These ruts are familiar

to modern travelers, and may be only buffalo

trails.

Father Coquard, wno had been associated with
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Verendrye, says that they first met the Mantanes,

and next the Broehets. After these were the

Gros Ventres, the Crows, the Flat Heads, the

Black Peet, and Dog Feet, who were established

on the Missouri, even up to the falls, and that

about thirty leagues beyond they found a narrow

pass in the mountains.

Bougainville gives a more full account: he says:

'He- who most advanced this discovery was

the Sieur de la Veranderie. He went from Fort

la Eeine to the Missouri. He met on the banks

of this river the Mandans, or White Beards, who
had seven villages with pine stockades, strength-

ened by a ditch. Next to these were the Kinon-

gewiniris. or the Broehets, in three villages, and

toward the upper part of the river were three

villages of the Mahantas. All along the mouth

of the Wabeik, or Shell Eiver, were situated

twenty-three villages of the Panis. To the south-

west of this river, on the banks of the Ouanarade-

ba, or La Graisse, are the Hectanes or Snake

tribe. They extend to the base of a chain of

mountains which runs north northeast. South

of this is the river Karoskiou, or 'Cerise Pelee,

which is supposed to flow to California.

" He found in the immense region watered by

the Missouri, and in the vicinity of forty leagues,

the Mahantas, the Owiliniock, or Beaux Hom-
mes, four villages; opposite the Broehets the Black

Feet, three villages of a hundred lodges each; op.

posite the Mandans are the Ospekakaerenousques,

or Flat Heails,, four villages; opposite tha Panis

are the Arcs of Cristinaux, and Utasibaoutehatas

of Assiniboel, three villages; following these the

Makesch, or Little Foxes, two villages; tho Pi-

wassa, or great talkers, three villages; the Ka-
kokoschena, or Gens de la Pie, five villages; the

Kisldpisounouini,, or the Garter tribe, seven vil-

lages."

Galassoniere was succeeded by Jonquiere in

the governorship of Canada, who proved to be a

grasping, peevish, and very miserly person. For
the sons of Verendrye he had no sympathy, and
forming a clique to profit by their father's toils.

he determined to send two expeditions toward

the Pacific Ocean, one by the Missouri and the

other by the Saskatchewan.

Father Coquard, one of the companions ef Ve-

rendrye, was consulted as to the probability of

finding a pass in the Eocky Mountains, through

which they might, in canoes, reach the great

lake of salt water, perhaps Puget's Sound.

The enterprise was at length confided to two

experienced oflBcers, Lamarque de 'Marin and

Jacques Legardeur de Saint Pierre. The former
was assigned the way, by the Missouri, and to

the latter was given the more northern route;

but Saint Pierre in some way excited the hostil-

ity of the Cristinaux, who attempted to kUl him,

and burned Fort la Eeine. His lieutenant, Bou-

cher de Niverville, who had been sent to establish

a post toward the source of the Saskatchewan,

failed on account of sickness. Some of hismen,

however, pushed on to the Eocky Mountains,

and in 1753 established Fort Jonquiere. Henry

says St. Pierre established Fort Bourbon.

In 1753, Saint Pierre was succeeded in the

command of the posts of the West, by de la

Corne, and sent to French Creek, in Pennsylva-

nia. He had been but a few days there when he

received a visit from Washington, just entering

upon manhood, bearing a letter from Governor

Dinwiddie of Virginia, complaining of the en

croachments of the French.

Soon the clash of arms between France and
England began, and Saint Pierre, at the head of

the Indian allies, fell near Lake George, in Sep-

tember, 1755, in a battle with the English. After

the seven years' war was concluded, by the treaty

of Paris, the French relinquished all their posts

in the Northwest, and the work begun by Veren-
drye, was, in 1805, completed by Lewis and
Clarke ; and the Northern Pacific Eailway is fast

approaching the passes of the Eocky Mountains,

through the valley of the Yellow Stone, and from
thence to the great land-locked bay of the ocean,

Puget's Sound.



EFFECT OF THE ENGLISH AND FRENCH WAR. 61

CHAPTER X.

EFFECT OF THE ENGLISH AND FRENCH WAB.

Bn^lish Influcnco Increasing.—Le Dnc Robbed at Lake Superior.—St. Pierre at

Mackinaw.—Escape ol Indian Prisoners.—LaRonde and Verendrye.—Influence

of Sieur iUarin.—St. Pierre Recalled from Winnipeg Region.—Interview with

Washington.—Langlade Urges Attack Upon Troops of Braddock.—Saint Pierre

Killed in Battle.—^Marin's Boldness.—Rogers, a Partisan Ranger, Commands at

Mackinaw.—At Ticonderoga.—French Deliver up the Posts in Canada. —Capt.

Balfour Takes Possession of Mackinaw and Green Bay.—Lieut. Gorrell in Com,

mand at Green Bay.—Sioux Visit Green Bay.—Penncnsha a French Trader

Among the Sioux.~Treaty ofParis.

English influence produced increasing dissatis-

faction among the Indians that were beyond

Mackinaw. Not only were the voyageurs robbed

and maltreated at Sault St. Marie and other points

on Lake Superior, but even the commandant at

Mackinaw was exposed to insolence, and there

was no security anywhere.

On the twenty-third of August, 1747, Philip Le
Due arrived at Mackinaw from Lake Superior,

stating that he had been robbed of his goods at

Kamanistigoya, and that the Ojibways of the

lake were favorably disposed toward the Enghsh.

The Dahkotahs were-also becoming unruly in the

absence of French oflflcers.

In a few weeks after Le Due's robbery, St.

Pierre left Montreal to become commandant at

Mackinaw, and Yercheres was appointed for the

post at Green Bay. In the language of a docu-

ment of the day, St. Pierre was '' a very good

officer, much esteemed among aU the nations of

those parts ; none more loved and feared." On
his arrival, the savages were so cross, that he ad-

vised that no Frenchman should come to trade.

By promptness and boldness, he secured the

Indians who had murdered some Frenchmen,

and obtained the respect of the tribes. While

the three murderers were being conveyed in a

canoe down the St. Lavsrrence to Quebec, in charge

of a sergeant and seven soldiers, the savages, with

characteristic cunning, though manacled, suc-

ceeded in killing or drowning the guard. Cutting

their irons with an axe, they sought the woods,

and escaped to their own country. " Thus,"

v\'rites Galassoniere, in 1748, to Coimt Maurepas,
[

was lost in a great measure the fruit of Sieur St.

Pierre's good management, and of all the fatigue

I endured to get the nations who surrendered

these rascals to listen to reason."

On the twenty-first of June of the next year.

La Ronde started to La Poiute, and Verendrye
for West Sea, or Fon du Lac, Minnesota.

Under the influence of Sieur Marin, who was
in command at Green Bay in 1753, peaceful re-

lations were in a measure restored between the

French and Indians.

As the war between England and France deep-

ened, the oflBcers of the distant French posts

were called in and stationed nearer the enemy.

Legardeur St. Pierre, was brought from the Lake
Winnipeg region, and, in December, 1753, was in

command of a rude post near Erie, Pennsylvania.

Langlade, of Green Bay, Wisconsin, arrived early

in July, 1755, at Fort Duquesne. With Beauyeu
and De Lignery, who had been engaged in fight-

ing the Fox Indians, he left that fort, at nine

o'clock of the morning of the 9th of July, and, a
Uttle after noon, came near the English, who had
halted on the south shore of the Monongahela,

and were at dinner, with their arms stacked. By
the urgent entreaty of Langlade, the western

half-breed, Beauyeu, the officer in command or-

dered an attack, and Braddock was overwhelmed,

and Washington was obliged to say, " We have

been beaten, shamefully beaten, by a handful of

Frenchmen."

Under Baron Dieskau, St. Pierre commanded
the Indians, in September, 1755, during the cam-
paign near Lake George, where he fell gallantly

fighting the English, as did his commander.

The Rev. Claude Coquard, alluding to the French
defeat, in a letter to his brother, remarks:

" We lost, on that occasion, a brave officer, M.
de St. Pierre, and had his advice, as well as that

of several other Canadian officers, been followed,

Jonckson [Johnson] was irretrievably destroyed,
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and we should have been spared the trouble we
have had this year."

Other officers who had been stationed on the

borders of Minnesota also distinguished them-

selves during the French war. The Marquis

Montcalm, in camp at Ticonderoga, on the twen-

ty-seventh of July, 1767, writes to Vaudreuil,

Governor of Canada:

" Lieutenant Maria, of the Colonial troops, who
has exhibited a rare audacity, did not consider

himself bound to halt, although his detachment

of about four hundred men was reduced to about

two hundred, the balance having been sent back

on account of inability to follow. He carried off

a patrol of ten men, and swept away an ordinary

guard of fifty Uke a wafer; went up to the en-

emy's camp, under Fort Lydias (Edward), where

he was exposed to a severe fire, and retreated like

a warrior. He was unwilUng to amuse himself

making prisoners; he brought in only one, and

thirty-two scalps, and must have killed many men
of the enemy, in the midst of whose ranks it was

neither wise nor prudent to go in search of scalps.

The Indians generally all behaved well. * * *

The Outaouais, who arrived with me, and whom
I designed to go on a scouting party towards the

lake, had conceived a project of administering a

corrective to the English barges. * * * On
the day before yesterday, your brother formed a

detachment to accompany them. I arrived at his

camp on the evening of the same day. Lieuten-

ant de Corbiere, of the Colonial troops, was re-

turning, in consequence of a misunderstanding,

and as I knew the zeal and intelligence of that

officer, I made him set out with a new instruc-

tion to join Messrs de Langlade and Hertel de

Chantly. They remained in ambush all day and

night yesterday; at break of day the English ap-

peared on Lake St. Sacrament, to the niimber of

twenty-two barges, rmder the command of Sieur

Parker. The whoops of our Indians impressed

them with such terror that they made but feeble

resistance, and only two barges escaped."

After De Corbiere 's victory on Lake Cham-
plain, a large French army was collected at Ti-

conderoga, with which there were many Indians

from the tribes of the Northwest, and the loways

appeared for the first' time in the east.

It is an interesting fact that the English offi-

cers who were in frequent engagements with St.

Pierre, Lusignan, Marin, Langlade, and others,

becante the pioneers of the British, a few years

afterwards, in the occupation of the outposts of

the lakes, and in the exploration of Minnesota.

Rogers, the celebrated captain of rangers, sub-

sequently commander of Mackinaw, and Jona-

than Carver, the first British explorer of Minne-

sota, were both on duty near Lake Champlaiu, the

latter narrowly escaping at the battle of Fort

George.

On Christmas eve, 1757, Rogers approached

Fort Ticonderoga, to fire the outhouses, but was

prevented by discharge of the cannons of the

Fren;h.

He contented himself with killing fifteenbeeves

,

on the horns of one of which he left tliis laconic

and amusing note, addressed to the commander

of the post:

'I am obUged to you. Sir, for the repose you

have allowed me to take; I thank youfor the fresh

meal you have sent ins, I request you to present

my compliments to the Marquis du Montcalm."

On the thu-teenth of March, 1758, Durantaye,

formerly at Mackinaw, had a skirmish with Rog-

ers. Both had been trained on the frontier, and

they met " as Greek met Greek." The conflict

was fierce, and the French victorious. The In-

dian allies, finding a scalp of a chief underneath

an officer's jacket, wei-e furious, and took one

hundred and fourteen scalps in return. When
the French returned, they supposed that Captain

Rogers was among the killed.

At Quebec, when Monteahn and "Wolfe fell,

there were Ojibways present assisting the French

The Indians, returning from the expeditions

against the EngUsh, were attacked with small-

pox, and many died at Mackinaw.

On the eighth of September, 1760, the French

delivered up all their posts in Canada. A few

days after the capitulation at Montreal, Major

Rogers was sent with English troops, to garrison

tli6 posts of the distant Northwest.

On the eighth of September, 1761, a year after

the surrender. Captain Balfour, of the eightieth

regiment of the British army, left Detroit, with

a detachment to take possession of the French
forts at Mackinaw and Green Bay. Twenty-five

soldiers were left at Mackinaw, in command of

Lieutenant Leslie, and the rest sailed to Grsen
Bay, under Lieutenant Gorrell of the Royal
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Americans, where they arrived on the twelfth of

October. The fort had been abandoned for sev-

eral years, and was in a dilapidated condition.

In charge of it there was left a lieutenant, a cor-

poral, and fifteen soldiers. Two English traders

arrived at the same time, McKay from Albany,

and Goddard from Montreal.

Gorrell in his journal alludes to the Minnesota

Sioux. He writes

—

" On March 1, 1763, twelve warriors of the Sous

came here. It is certainly the greatest nation of

Indians ever yet found. Not above two thousand

of them were ever armed with firearms ; the rest

depending entirely on bows and arrows, which

they use with more skiU than any other Indian

nation in America. They can shoot the wildest

and largest beasts in the woods at seventy or one

hundred yards distant. They are remarkable for

their dancing, and the other nations take the

fashions from them. ***** This nation

is always at war with the Chippewas, those who
destroyed Mishamakinak. They told me with

warmth that if ever the Chippewas or any other

Indians wished to obstruct the passage of the

traders coming up, to send them word, and they

would come and cut them off from the face of

the earth ; as all Indians were their slaves or dogs.

I told them I was glad to see them, and hoped to

have a lasting peace with them. They then gave

me a letter wrote in French, and two belts of

wampum from their king, in which he expressed

great joy on hearing of there being English at

his post. The letter was written by a French

trader whom I had allowed to go among them
last fall, with a promise of his behaving well

;

which he did, better than any Canadian I ever

knew. ***** With regard to traders, I

would not allow any to go amongst them, as I

then understood they lay out of the government

of Canada, but made no doubt they would have

traders from the ilississippi in the spring. They

went away extremely well pleased. June 14th,

1763, the traders came down from the Sack coun-

try, and confirmed the news of Landsing and liis

son being killed by the French. There came with

the traders some Puans, and four young men with

one chief of the Avoy [loway] nation, to demand

traders. *****
" On the nineteenth, a deputation of Winneba-

goes, Sacs, Foxes and Menominees arrived with

a Frenchman named Pennensha. This Pennen-

sha is the same man who wrote the letter the

Sous brought with them in French, and at the

same time held council with that great nation in

favour of the English, by which he much promo-

ted the interest of the latter, as appeared by the

behaviour of the Sous. He brought with him a

pipe from the Sous, desiring that as the road is

now clear, they would by no means allow the

Chippewas to obstruct it, or give the English any

disturbance, or prevent the traders from coming

up to them. If they did so they would send all

their warriors and cut them off."

In July, 1763, there arrived at Green Bay,

Bruce, Fisher; and Rosehoom of Albany, to en-

gage in the Indian trade.

By the treaty of Paris of 1763, France ceded to

Great Britain all of the country east of the Mis-

sissippi, and to Spain the whole of Louisiana, so

that the latter power for a time held the whole

region between the Mississippi River and the Pa-

cific Ocean, and that portion of the city of Min-

neapolis known as the East Division was then

governed by the British, while the West Division

was subject to the Spanish code.
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Jonathan Carver was a native of Connecticut

His grandfather, William Carver, was a native of

Wigan, Lancashire, England, and a captain in

King WilUam's army during the campaign in

Ireland, and for meritorious services received an

appointment as an officer of the colony of Con-

necticut.
,

His father was a justice of the peace in the

new world, and in 1732, the subject of this sketch

was born. At the early age of fifteen he was

called to mourn the death of his father. He then

commenced the study of medicine, but his roving

disposition could not bear the confines of a doc-

tor's office, and feeling, perhaps, that his genius

would be cramped by pestle and mortar, at the

age of eighteen he purchased an ensign's commis-

sion in one of the regiments raised during the

.French war. He was of medium stature, and of

strong mind and quick perceptions.

In the year 1757, he was captain under Colonel

Williams in the battle near Lake George, where

Saint Pierre was killed, and narrowly escaped

with his Ufe.

After the peace of 1763, between Erance and

England was declared, Carver conceived the pro-

j ect of exploring the Northwest. Lea'ving Boston

in the month of June, 1766, he arrived at Macki-

naw, then the most distant British post, in the

month of August. Having obtained a credit on

some French and EngUsh traders from Major

Bogers, the officer in command, he started with

them on the third day of September. Pursuing

the usual route to Green Bay, they arrived there

on the eighteenth.

The French fort at that time was standing,

though much decayed. It was, some years pre-

vious to his arrival, garrisoned for a short time

by an officer and thirty English soldiers, but they

having been captured by the Menominees, it was

abandoned.

In company with the traders, he left Green

Bay on the twentieth, and ascending Eox river,

arrived on the twenty-fifth at an island at the

east end of Lake Winnebago, containing about

fifty acres.

Here he found a Winnebago village of fifty

houses. He asserts that a woman was in author-

ity. In the month of October the party was at

the portage of the Wisconsin, and descending

that stream, they arrived, on the ninth at a town

of the Sauks. AVTiile here he visited some lead

mines about fifteen miles distant. An abundance

of lead was also seen in the village, that had been

brought from the mines.

On the tenth they arrived at the first village of

the " Ottigaumies" [Foxes] about five miles be-

fore the Wisconsin joins the Mississippi, he per-

ceived the remnants of another village, and

learned that it had been deserted about thirty

years before, and that the inhabitants soon after

their removal, built a town on the Mississippi,

near the mouth of the " Ouisconsin," at a place

called by the French La Prairie les Chiens, which

signified the Dog Plains. It was a large town,

and contained about three hundred families.

The houses were built after the Indian manner,

and pleasantly situated on a dry rich soil.

He saw here many houses of a good size and

shape. This town was the great mart where all

the adjacent tribes, and where those who inhabit

the most remote branches of the Mississippi, an-

nually assemble about the latter end of May,
bringing with them thgir furs to dispose of to the

traders. But it is not always that they conclude

their sale here. This was determined by a gen
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eral council of the chiefs, who consulted whether

it would be more conducive to their interest to

sell their goods at this place, or to carry them
on to Louisiana or Mackiaaw.

At a small stream called YeUow River, oppo-

site Prairie du Chien, the traders who had thus

far accompanied Carver took up their residence

for the wiatar.

From this point he proceeded in a canoe, with

a Canadian voyageur and a Mohawk Indian as

companions. Just before reaching Lake Pepin,

while his attendants were one day preparing din-

ner, he walked out and was struck with the pecu-

liar appearance of the surface of the country, and

tliought it was the site of some vast artificial

earth-work. It is a fact worthy of remembrance,

that he was the first to call the attention of the

civihzed world to the existence of ancient monu-
ments ta the Mississippi valley. We give his own
description

:

"On the first of November I reached Lake
Pepin, a few miles below which I landed, and,

whilst the servants were preparing my dinner, I

ascended the bank to view the country. I had

not proceeded far before I came to a fine, level,

open plain, on which I perceived, at a little dis-

tance, a partial elevation that had the appearance

of entrenchment. On a nearer inspection I had

greater reason to suppose that it had really been

intended for this many centuries ago. Notwith-

standing it was now covered with grass, I could

plainly see that it had once been a breastwork of

about four feet in height, extending the best part

of a mile, and sufficiently capacious to cover five

thousand men. Its form was somewhat circular

and its flanks reached to the river.

" Though much defaced by time, every angle

was distinguishable, and appeared as regular and

fashionedwith as much military skill as if planned

by Vauban himself. The ditch was not visible,

but I thought, on examining more curiously, that

I could perceive there certainly had been one.

From its situation, also, I am convinced that it

must have been designed for that purpose. It

fronted the country, and the rear was covered by

the river, nor was there any rising ground for a

considerable way that commanded it; a few

straggling lakes were alone to be seen near it.

In many places small tracks were worn across it

by the feet of the elks or deer, and from the depth

of the bed of earth by which it was covered, I was

able to draw certain conclusions of its great anti-

quity. I examined all the angles, and every part

with great attention, and have often blamed my-

self since, for not encamping on the spot, and

drawing an exact plan of it. To show that this-

description is not the offspring of a heated imag-

ination, or the chimerical tale of a mistaken trav-

eler, I find, on inquiry since my return, that

Mons. St. Pierre, and several traders have at dif-

ferent times, taken notice of similar appearances,

upon which they have formed the same conjec-

tures, but withont examining them so minutely

as I did. How a work of this kind could exist in

a country that has hitherto (according to the gen-

erally received opinion) been the seat of war to

untutored Indians alone, whose whole stock of

military knowledge has only, till within two cen-

turies, amounted to drawing the bow, and whose

only breastwork even at present is the thicket, I

know not. I have given as exact an account as

possible of this singular appearance, and leave to

future explorers of those distant regions, to dis-

cover whether it is a production of nature or art.

Perhaps the hints I have here given might lead

to a more perfect investigation of It, and give us

very different ideas of the ancient state of realms

that we at present believe to have been, from the

earliest period, only the habitations of savages."

Lake Pepin excited his admiration, as it has

that of every traveler since his day, and here he

remarks :
" I observed the ruins of a French fac-

tory, where it is said Captain St. Pierre resided,

and carried on a very great trade with the Nan-

dowessies, before the reduction of Canada."

Carver's first acquaintance with the Dahkotahs

commenced near the river St. Croix. It would

seem that the erection of trading posts on Lake

Pepin had enticed them from their old residence

on Eum river and Mille Lacs.

He says: "Near the river St. Croix reside

bands of the Naudowessie Indians, called the

River Bands. Tliis nation is composed at pres-

ent of eleven bands. They were origlnaUy

twelve, but the AssinipoUs, some years ago, re-

volting and separating themselves from the oth-

ers, there remain at this time eleven. Those I

met here are termed the River Bands, because

they chiefly dwell near the banks of this river;

the other eight axe generally distinguished by the



66 EXPLOREBS AND PIONHUBS OF MINNESOTA.

title of Nadowessies of the Plains, and inhabit a

cotintry more to the westward. The names of

the former are Kehogatawonahs, the Mawtaw-

bauntowahs, and Shashweentowahs.

Arriving at what is now a suburb of the cap-

ital of Minnesota, he continues: " About thir-

teen miles below the Falls of St. Anthony, at

which I arrived the tenth day after I left Lake

Pepin, is a remarkable cave, of an amazing depth.

The Indians term it Wakon-teebe [Wakan-tipi].

The entrance into it is about ten feet wide, the

height of it five feet. The arch vnthin is fifteen

feet high and about thirty feet broad; the bottom

consists of fine, clear sand. About thirty feet

from the entrance begins a lake,. the water of

which is transparent, and extends to an unsearch-

able distance, for the darkness of the cave pre-

ents all attempts to acquire a knowledge of it.]

I threw a small pebble towards the nterior part

of it with my utmost strength. I could hear that

it fell into the water, and, notwithstanding it was

of a small size, it caused an astonishing and ter-

rible noise, that reverberated through all those

gloomy regions. I found in this cave many In-

dian hieroglyphics, which appeared very ancient,

for time had nearly covered them with moss, so

that it was with difficulty I could trace them.

They were cut in a rude manner upon the inside

of the wall, which was composed of a stone so ex-

tremely soft that it might be easily penetrated

with a knife; a stone everywhere to be formd

near the Mississippi.

" At a little distance from this dreary cavern,

is the burying-place of several bands of the Nau-

dowessie Indians. Though these people have no

fixed_ residence, being in tents, and seldom but a

few months in one spot, yet they always bring

the bones of the dead to this place.

" Ten miles below the Tails of St. Anthony,

the river St. Pierre, called by the natives Wada-

paw Menesotor, falls into the Mississippi from the

west. It is not mentioned by Father Hennepin,

though a large, fair river. This omission, I con-

sider, must have proceeded from a small island

[Pike's] that is situated exactly in its entrance."

When he reached the Minnesota river, the ice

became so troublesome that he left his canoe in

the neighborhood of what is now St. Anthony,

and walked to St. Anthony, in company with a

yovmg "Winnebago chief, who had never seen the

curling waters. The chief, on reaching the emi-

nence some distance below Cheever's, began to

invoke his gods, and offer oblations to the spirit

in the waters.

"In the middle of the Falls stands a small

island, about forty feet broad and somewhat lon-

ger, on which grow a few cragged hemlock and

spruce trees, and about half way between this

island and the eastern shore is a rock, lying a1.

the very edge of the Falls, in an oblique position

that appeared to be about five or six feet broad,

and thirty or forty long. At a little distance be-

low the Falls stands a small island of about an

acre and a half, on which grow a great number of

oak trees."

From this description, it would appear that the

Uttle island, now some distance below the Falls,

was once in the very midst, and shows that a con-

stant recession has been going on, and that in

ages long past they were not far from the Minne-

sota river.

No description is more glowing than Carver's

of the country adjacent:

" The country around them is extremely beau-

tiful. It is not an uninterrupted plain, where the

eye finds no reUef , but composed of many gentle

ascents, which in the summer are covered with

the finest verdure, and interspersed with little

groves that give a pleasing variety to the pros^

pect. On the whole, when the Falls are inclu-

ded, which may be seen at a distance of foui

miles, a more pleasing and picturesque view, I

believe, cannot be found throughout the uni-

verse."

" He arrived at the Falls on the seventeenth of

November, 1766, and appears to have ascended as

far as Elk river.

On the twenty-fifth of November, he had re-

turned to the place opposite the Minnesota, where
he had left his canoe, and this stream as yet not

being obstructed with ice, he commenced its as-

cent, with the colors of Great Britain flying at

the stem of his canoe. There is no doubt that

he entered this river, but how far he explored it

cannot be ascertained. He speaks of the Bapids
near Shakopay, and asserts that he went as far as

two hundred miles beyond Mendota. He re-

marks:

" On the seventh of December, I arrived at the

utmost of my travels towards the West, where I
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met a large party of the Naudowessie Indians,

among whom I resided some months."

After speaking of the upper bands of the Dah-

kotahs and their allies, he adds that he " left the

habitations of the hospitable Indians the latter

end of AprU, 1767, but did not part from them

for several days, as I was accompanied on my
journey by near three hundred of them to the

mouth of the river St. Pierre. At this season

these bands annually go to the great cave (Day-

ton's Bluff) before mentioned.

When he arrived at the great cave, and the In-

dians had deposited the remains of their deceased

friends in the burial-place that stands adjacent

to it, they held their great council to which he

was admitted.

When the Naudowessies brought their dead for

interment to the great cave (St. Paul), I attempted

to get an insight into the remaining burial rites,

but whether it was on account of the stench

which arose from so many dead bodies, or whether

they chose to keep this part of their custom secret

from me, I could not discover. I found, however,

that they considered my curiosity as ill-timed,

and therefore I withdrew. * *

One formality among the Naudowessies in

mourning for the dead is very different from any

mode I observed in the other nations through

which I passed. The men, to show how great

their sorrow is, pierce the flesh of their arms

above the elbows with arrows, and the women
cut and gash their legs with broken flints till the

blood flows very plentifully. * *

After the breath is departed, the body is

dressed in the same attire it usually wore, his

face is painted, and he is seated in an erect pos-

ture on a mat or skin, placed in the middle of the

hut, with his weapons by his side. His relatives

seated around, each in turn harangues the de-

ceased; and if he has been a great warrior, i-e-

counts his heroic actions, nearly to the following

purport, which in the Indian language is extreme-

ly poetical aud pleasing

"You still sit among us, brother, your person

retains its usual resemblance, and continues sim-

ilar to ours, without any visible deficiency, ex-

cept it has lost the power of action! But whither

is that breath flown, which a few hours ago sent

up smoke to the Great Spirit? Why are those

Ups silent, that lately delivered to us expressions

and pleasing language? Why are those feet mo-

tionless, that a few hours ago were fleeter than

the deer on yonder mountains? Why useless

hang those arms, that could climb the tallest tree

or draw the toughest bow? Alas, every part of

that frame which we lately beheld with admira-

tion and wonder has now become as inanimate as

it was three hundred years ago! We will not,

however, bemoan thee as if thou wast forever

lost to us, or that thy name would be buried in

oblivion; thy soul yet lives in the great coxmtry

of spirits, with those of thy nation that have gone

before thee; and though we are left behind to

perpetuate thy fame-, we will one day join thee.

" Actuated by the respect we bore thee whilst

living, we now come to tender thee the last act of

kindness in our power; that thy body might not

lie neglected on the plain, and become a prey to

the beasts of the field or fowls of the air, and we
will take care to lay it with those of thy predeces-

sors that have gone before thee; hoping at the

same time that thy spirit will feed with their

spirits, and be ready to receive ours when we
shall also arrive at the great country of souls."

For this speech Carver is principally indebted

to his imagination, but it is well conceived, and

suggested one of Schiller's poems, which Goethe

considered one of his best, and wished " he had

made a dozen such."

Sir E. Lytton Bulwerthe distinguished novelist,

and Sir John Herschel the eminent astronomer,

have each given a translation of Schiller's " Song

of the Nadowessee Chief."

SIR E. L. bulweb's translation.

See on his mat—as if of yore.

All life-like sits he here !

With that same aspect which he wore

When hght to him was dear

But where the right hand's strength ? and where

The breath that loved to breathe

To the Great Spirit, aloft in air.

The peace pipe's lusty wreath ?

And where the hawk-like eye, alas

!

That wont the deer pursue.

Along the waves of rippling grass.

Or fields that shone with dew ?
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Are these the limber, bounding feet

That swept the winter's snows ?

"What stateliest stag so fast and fleet ?

Their speed outstripped the roe's

!

These arms, that then the steady bow
Could supple from it's pride,

How stark and helpless hang they now
Adown the stiffened side 1

Yet weal to him—at peace he stays

Wherever fall the snows

;

Where o'er the meadows springs the maize

That mortal never sows..

Where birds are blithe on every brake-
Where orests teem with deer

—

Where glide the fish through every lake

—

One chase from year to year

!

With spirits now he feasts above

;

All left us to revere

The deeds we honor with our love,

The dust we bury here.

Here bring the last gift ; loud and shrill

Wail death dirge for the brave

;

What pleased him most in life, may still

Give pleasure in the grave.

We liy the axe beneath his head

He swung when strength was strong

—

The bear on which his banquets fed,

The way from earth is long.

And here, new sharpened, place the knife

That severed from the clay.

From which the axe had spoiled the life,

The conquered scalp away.

The paints that deck the dead, bestow

;

Yes, place them in his hand.

That red the kingly shade may glow

Amid the spirit land.

SIB JOHir herschel's translation.

See, where upon the mat he sits

Erect, before his door.

With just the same majestic air

That once in life he wore.

But where is fled his strength of limb.

The whirlwiad of his breath,

To the Great Spirit, when he sent

The peace pipe's mounting wreath?

Where are those falcon eyes, which late

Along the plain could trace.

Along the grass's dewy waves

The reindeer's printed pace?

Those legs, which once with matchless speed,

Mew through the drifted snow.

Surpassed the stag's unwearied course.

Outran the mountain roe?

Those arms, once used with might andjnain.

The stubborn bow to twang?

See, see, their nerves are slack at last,

All motionless they hang.

'Tis well with him, for he is gone

Where snow no more is found.

Where the gay thorn's perpetual bloom

Decks all the field around.

Where wild birds sing from every spray,

Where deer come sweeping by,

Where fish from every lake afford

A plentiful supply.

With spirits now he feasts above,

And leaves us here alone,

To celebrate his valiant deeds.

And round his grave to moan.

Sound the death song, bring forth the gifts,

The last gifts of the dead,

—

Let all which yet may yield him joy

Within his grave be laid.

The hatchet place beneath his head

Still red with hostile blood;

And add, because the way is long,

The bear's fat limbs for food.

The scalping-knife beside him lay,

With paints of gorgeous dye,

That in the land of souls his form

May shine triumphantly.

It appears from other sources that Carver's

visit to the Dahkotahs was of some effect ia bring-

ing about friendly intercourse between them and

the commander of the English force at Mackinaw.
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TLe earliest mention of the Dahkotahs, in any

public British documents that we know of, is in

the con-espondence between Sir "William Johnson,

Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the Ctolony

of New York, and General Gage, in command of

the forces.

On the eleventh of September, less than six

months after Carver's speech at Dayton's Bluff,

and the departure of a number of chiefs to the

English fort at Macldnaw, Johnson writes to

General Gage: "Though I wrote to you some

days ago, yet I would not mind saying something

again on the score of the vast expenses Incurred,

and, as I understand, still incurring at Michili-

mackinac, chiefly on pretense of making a peace

between the Sioux and Chippeweighs, with which

I think we have very little to do, in good policy

or otherwise."

Sir William Johnson, In a letter to Lord HUls-

borough, one of his Majesty's ministers, dated

August seventeenth, 1768, again refers to the

subject

:

"Much greater part of those who go a trading

are men of such circumstances and disposition as

to venture their persons everywhere for extrava-

gant gains, yet the consequences to the public

are not to be slighted, as we may be led into a

general quarrel through their means. The In-

dians in the part adjacent to MichUlmackinac

have been treated with at a very great expense

for some time previous.

"Major Kodgers brings a considerable charge

against the former formediating a peace between

some tribes of the Sioux and some of the Chippe-

weighs, which, had it been attended with success,

would only have been Interesting to a very few
French, and others that had goods in that part

of the Indian country, but the contrary has hap-

pened, and they are now more violent, and war
against one another."

Though a wilderness of over one thousand

miles intervened between the Falls of St. An-
thony and the white settlements of the English,

Carver was fully impressed with the idea that the

State now organized under the name of Minne-
sota, on account of its beauty and fertility, would
attract settlers.

Speaking of the advantages of the country, he
says that the future population wiU be "able to

convey their produce to the seaports with great

facility, the crurent of the river from its source

to its entrance into the Gulf of Mexico being ex-

tremely favorable for doing this in small craft.

This might also in time befadlitated by canal' or

shorter cids, and a communication opened 6y water

with New York by way of the Lakes."

The subject of this sketch was also confident

that a route would be discovered by way of the

Minnesota river, which would open a passage

to Chma and the English settlements in the East

Indies."

Carver having returned to England, interested

"Whitworth, a member of parliament, in the

northern route. Had not the American Revolu-

tion commenced, they proposed to have buUt a

fort at Lake Pepin, to have proceeded up the

Minnesota untU they found, as they supposed

they could, a branch of the Missouri, and from

thence, journeying over the summit of lands un-

tU they came to a river which they called Ore-

gon, they expected to descend to the Pacific.

Carver, in common with other travelers, had
his theory in relation to the origin of the Dahko-
tahs. He supposed that they came from Asia.

He remarks: "But this might have been at dif-

ferent times and from various parts—from Tar-

tary, China, Japan, for the inhabitants of these

places resemble each other. * * *

"It is very evident that some of the names and
customs of the American Indians resemble those

of the Tartars, and I make no doubt but that in

some future era, and this not far distant, it wiU
be reduced to certainty that during some of the

wars between the Tartars and Chinese a part of

the inhabitants of the northern provinces were
driven from their native country, and took refuge

In some of the isles before mentioned, and from
thence found their way into America. * * •

"Many words are used both by the Chinese and
the Indians which have a resemblance to each

other, not only in their sound, but in their signi-

fication. The Chinese call a slave Shungo; and
the Noudowessie Indians, whose language, from
their little intercourse with the Europeans, is

least corrupted, term a dog Shungush [Shoan-

kali.J The former denominate one species of their

tea Shoushong; the latter call their tobacco Shou-

sas-sau [Chanshasha.] Many other of the words
used by the Indians contain the syllables die,

(!A.aMi, and ehu, after the dialect of the Chinese."



70 EXPLORERS AND PIONEERS OF MINNESOTA.

The comparison of languages has become a rich

source of historical knowledge, yet many of the

analogies traced are fanciful. The remark of

Humbolt in " Cosmos" is worthy of remembrance.

"As the structure of American idioms appears

remarkably strange to nations speaking the mod-

ern languages of "Western Europe, and who readily

suffer themselves to be led away by some acci-

dental analogies of sound, theologians have gen-

erally believed that they could trace an aflflnity

with the Hebrew, Spanish colonists with the

Basque and the English, or Erench settlers with

Gaelic, Erse, or the Bas Breton. I one day met

on the coast of Peru, a Spanish naval oflScer and

an English whaUng captain, the forifjer of whom
declared that he had heard Basque spoken at Ta-

hiti; the other, Gaelic or Erse at the Sandwich

Islands."

Carver became very poor while in England,

and was a clerk in a lottery-office. He died in

1780, and left a widow, two sons, and five daught-

ers, in New England, and also a child by another

wife that he had married in Great Britain

After his death a claim was urged for the land

upon which the capital of Minnesota now stands'

and for many miles adjacent. As there are still

many persons who believe that they have some

right through certain deeds purporting to be from

the heirs of Carver, it is a matter worthy of an

investigation.

Carver says nothing in his book of travels in re-

lation to a grant from the Dahkotahs, but after

he was buried, it was asserted that there was a

deed belonging to him in existence, conveying

valuable lands, and that said deed was executed

at the cave now in the eastern suburbs of Saint

Paul.

DEED PTJKPOETIKG TO HAVE BEEN' GIVEN AT
THE CAVE IN THE BLUFF BELOW ST. PAUL.
" To Jonathan Carver, 3 chief under the most

mighty and potent George the Third, King of the

English and other nations, the fame of whose

warriors has reached our ears, and has now been

fully told us by our good brother Jonathan, afore-

said, whom we rejoice to have come among us,

and bring us good news from his country.

"We, chiefs of the Naudowessies, who have

hereunto set our seals, do by these presents, for

ourselves and heirs forever, in return for the aid

and other good services done by the said Jona-

than to ourselves and alUes, give grant and con-

vey tp him, the said Jonathan, and to bis heirs

and assigns forever, the whole of a certain tract

or territory of land, bounded as follows, viz: from

the Ealls of St. Anthony, running on the east

bank of the Mississippi, nearly southeast, as far

as Lake Pepin, where the Chippewa joins the

Mississippi, and from thence eastward five days

travel, accounting twenty EngUsh miles per day;

and from thence again to the Falls of St. Anthony,

on a direct straight line. We do for ourselves,

heirs, and assigns, forever give unto the said Jo-

nathan, his heirs and assigns, with all the trees,

rocks, and rivers therein, reserving the sole lib-

erty of hunting and fishing on land not planted

or improved by the said Jonathan, his heirs and

assigns, to which we have aflSxed our respective

seals.

" At the Great Cave, May 1st, 1767.

"Signed, HAWNOPAWJATIN.
OTOHTGNGOOMLISHEAW.

"

The original deed was never exhibited by the

assignees of the heirs. By his English wife Car-

ver had one child, a daughter Martha, who was

cared for by Sir Bichard and Lady Pearson. In

time she eloped and married a sailor. A mercan-

tile firm in London, thinking that money could

be made, induced the newly married couple, the

day after the wedding, to convey the grant to

them, with the understanding that they were to

have a tenth of the profits.

The merchants despatched an agent by the

name of Clarke to go to the Dahkotahs, and ob-

tain a new deed; but on his way he was murdered

in the state of JSTew York.

In the year 1794, the heirs of Carver's Ameri-

can wife, in consideration of fifty thousand pounds

sterUng, conveyed their interest in the Carver

grant to Edward Houghton of Vermont. In the

year 1806, Samuel Peters, who had been a tory

and an Episcopal minister during the Revolu-

tionary war, alleges, in a petition to Congress,

that he had also purchased of the heirs of Carver

their rights to the grant.

Before the Senate committee, the same' year,

he testified as follows:

"In the year 1774, 1 arrived there (London),

and met Captain Carver. In 1775, Carver had a

hearing before the king, praying his majesty's

approval of a deed of land dated May first, 1767,



UNITED STATES BEJECT CABVEB'S CLAIM. 71

and sold and granted to him by the Naudowissies.

The result was his majesty approved of the exer-

tions and bravery of Captain CaiTer among the

Indian nations, near the Falls of St. Anthony, in

the Mississippi, gave to said Carver 1371Z. 13s. 8d.

sterling, and ordered a frigate to be prepared,

and a transport ship to carry one hundred and

fifty men, under command of Captain Carver, with

four others as a committee, to sail the next June

to New Orleans, and then to ascend the Missis-

sippi, to take possession of said territory conveyed

to Captain Carver ; but the battle of Bunker Hill

prevented."

In 1821, General Leavenworth, having made

Inquiries of the Dahkotahs, in relation to the

alleged claim, addressed the following to the

commissioner of the land oflBce :

" Sir:—Agreeably to your request, I have the

honour to inform you what I have understood

from the Indians of the Sioux Nation, as well as

some facts within my own knowledge, as to what

is commonly termed Carver's Grant. The grant

purports to be made by the chiefs of the Sioux

of the Plains, and one of the chiefs uses the sign

of a serpent, and the other of a turtle, purport-

ing that their names are derived from those ani-

mals.

"The land lies on the east side of the Mississ-

ippi. The Indians do not recognize or acknowl

edge the grant to be vaUd, and they among others

assign the following reasons:

"1. The Sioux of the Plains never owned a

foot of land on the east side of the Mississippi.

The Sioux Nation is divided into two grand di-

visions, viz: The Sioux of the Lake; or perhaps

more literally Sioux of the Eiver, and Sioux of

the Plain. The former subsists by himting and

fishing, and usually move from place to place by

water, in canoes, during the summer season, and

travel on the ice in the winter, when not on

their hunting excursions. The latter subsist en-

tirely by hunting, and have no canoes, nor do

theyknowbut little about the use of them. They

reside in the large prairies west of the Mississippi,

and follow the buffalo, upon which they entirely

subsist; these are called Sioux of the Plain, and

never owned land east of the Mississippi.

" 2. The Indians say they have no knowledge

of any such chiefs as those who have signed the

grant to Carver, either amongst the Sioux of the

River or the Sioux of the Plain. They say that

if Captain Carver did ever obtain a deed or

grant, it was signed by some foolish young men
who were not chiefs and who were not author-

ized to make a grant. Among the Sioux of the

River there are no such names.

" 3. They say the Indians never received any-

thing for the land, and they have no intention to

part with it without a consideration. From my
knowledge of the Indians, I am induced to think

they would not make so considerable a grant, anct

have it to go into full effect without receiving a

substantial consideration.

'• 4. They have, and ever have had, the pos-

session of the land, and intend to keep it. I

know that they are very particular in making

every person who wishes to cut timber on that

tract obtain their permission to do so, and to ob-

tain payment for it. In the month of May last,

some Frenchmen brought a large raft of red cedar

timber out of the Chippewa River, which timber

was cut on the tract before mentioned. The In-

dians at one of the villages on the Mississippi,

where the principal chief resided, compelled the

Frenchmen to land the raft, and would not per-

mit them to pass until they had received pay for

the timber, and the Frenchmen were compelled

to leave their raft with the Indians until they

went to Prairie du Chien, and obtained the nec-

essary articles,'and made the payment required."

On the twenty-third of January, 1823, the Com-

mittee of Public Lands made a report on the

claim to the Senate, which, to every disinterested

person, is entirely satisfactory. After stating

the facts of the petition, the report continues:

" The Rev. Samuel Peters, in his petition, fur-

ther states that Lefei, the present Emperor of

the Sioux and Naudowessies, and Red Wing, a

sachem, the heirs and successors of the two grand

chiefs who signed the said deed to Captain Car-

ver, have given satisfactory and positive proof

that they allowed their ancestors' deed to be gen-

uine, good, and valid, and that Captain Carver's

heirs and assigns are the owners of said territory,

and may occupy it free of all molestation.

The committee have examined and considered

the claims thus exhibited by the petitioners, and

remark that the original deed is not produced, nor

any competent legal evidence offered of its execu-

tion ; nor is there any proof that the persons, who
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it is alleged made the deed, were the chiefs of

said tribe, nor that (if chiefs) they had authority

to grant and give away the land belongiag to their

tribe. The paper annexed to the petition, as a

copy of said deed, has no subscribing witnesses

;

and it would seem impossible, at this remote pe-

riod, to ascertaiu the important fact, that the per-

sons who signed the deed comprehended and

understood the meaning and effect of their act.

" The want of proof as to these facts, would

interpose in the way of the claimants insuperable

difllculties. But, in the opinion of the committee

,

the claim is not such as the United States are

under any obligation to allow, even if the deed

were proved in legal form.

" The British government, beforethetime when
the alleged deed bears date, had deemed it pru-

dent and necessary for the preservation of peace

with the Indian tribes under their sovereignty,

protection and dominion, to prevent British sub-

jects from purchasing lands from the Indians,

and this rule of policy was made known and en-

forced by the proclamation of the king of Great

Britain, of seventh October, 1763, which contains

an express prohibition.

" Captain Carver, aware of the law, and know-
ing that such a contract could not vest the legal

title in him, applied to the British government to

ratify and confirm the Indian grant, and, though
it was competent for that government then to

confirm the grant, and vest the title of said land

in him, yet, from some cause, that government

.

did not think proper to do it.

"The territory has since become the property

of the United States, and an Indian grant not

good against the British government, would ap-

pear to be not bindiag unon the United States

government.

" What benefit the British government derived

from the services of Captain Carver, by his trav-

els and residence among the Indians, that gov-

ernment alone could determine, and alone could

judge what remuneration those services deserved.

" One fact appears from the declaration of Mr.

Peters, in his statement in writing, among the

papers exhibited, namely, that the British gov-

ernment did give Captain Carver the sum of one

thousand three hundred and seventy-five pounds

six shillings and eight pence sterling. To the

United States, however. Captain Carver rendered

no services which could be assumed as any equit-

able ground for the support of the petitioners'

claim.

" The committee being of opioion that the

United States are not bound in law and equity to

confirm the said alleged Indian grant, recom-

mend the adoption of the resolution:
"

' Besolved, That the prayer of the petitioners

ought not to be granted."

'

Lord Palmerston stated in 1839, that no trace

could be found in the records of the British

office of state papers, showing any ratification of

the Carver grant.
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CHAPTER XII.

EXPLOEATIOir BY THE FIRST UNITED STATES ARMY OFFICER, LIETTTENASTT Z. M. PIKE.

"niainjr Posts at the begmning of Ifineteentli Centuryl—Sandy Lake Fort.—

Leeoo Lake Fort.—William Morrison, before Schoolcraft at Itasca Lake.—Divi-

sion of Worthwest Territory.—Organization of Indiana, Michigan and Upper

Lonisiona.— Notices of Wood, Frazor, Fisher, Cameron, Faribault.— Early

Traders.—Pike's Council at Mouth of Minnesota River.—Grant for Military

Posts.—fincampment at Falls of St. Anthony.—Block House near Swan River.

—Tisit to Sandy and Leech Lakes.— British Flag Shot at and Lowered.

—

Tbompaon, Topographer of Northwest Company.—Pike at Dickson's Trading

Post.—Returns to Mendota.—Fails to find Carver's Cave.—Conference with

Little Crow. —Cameron sells Liquor to Indians.

At the beginning of the present century, the

region now known as Minnesota, contained no

white men, except a few engaged in the fur trade.

In the treaty effected by Hon. John Jay, Great

Britain agreed to withdraw her troops from aU

posts and places within, certain boundary lines,

on or before the first of June, 1796, but aU Brit-

ish settlers and traders might remain for one

year, and enjoy all their former privileges, with-

out being obliged to be citizens of the United

States of America.

In the year 1800, the trading posts of Minnesota

were chiefly held by the Northwest Company,

and their chief traders resided at Sandy Lake,

Leech Lake, and Ton du Lac, on St. Louis Elver.

In the year 1794, this company built a stockade

one hundred feet square, on the southeast end of

Sandy Lake. There were bastions pierced for

small arms, in the southeast and in the northwest

comer. The pickets which surrounded the post

were thirteen feet high. On the north side there

was a gate ten by nine feet ; on the west side, one

six by five feet, and on the east side a third gate

six by five feet. Travelers entering the main
gate, saw on the left a one story building twenty

feet square, the residence of the superintendent,

and on the left of the east gate, a building twenty-

flve by fifteen, the quarters of the voyagenis.

Entering the western gate, on the left was a stone

house, twenty by thirty feet, and a house twenty
by forty feet, used as a store, and a workshop,

and a residence for clerks. On the south shore

of Leech Lake there was another establishment,

i little larger. The stockade was one hundred

and fifty feet square. The main building was

sixty by twenty-five feet, and one and a half story

In height, where resided the Director of the firr

trade of the Fond du Lac department of the STorth-

west Company. In the centre was a small store,

twelve and a half feet square, and near the main

gate was flagstaff fifty feet in height, from

which used to float the flag of Great Britain.

William Morrison was, in 1802, the trader at

Leech Lake, and in 1804 he was at Elk Lake, the

source of the Mississippi, thirty-two years after-

wards named by Schoolcraft, Lake Itasca.

The entire force of the Northwest Company,

west of Lake Superior, in 1805, consisted of three

accountants, nineteen clerks, two interpreters,

eighty-five canoe men, and with them were

twenty-nine Indian or half-breed women, and

about fifty children.

On the seventh of May, 1800, the Northwest

Territory, which included all of the western

country east of the Mississippi, was divided.

The portion not designated as Ohio, was organ-

ized as the Territory of Indiana.

On the twentieth of December, 1803, the

province of Louisiana, of which that portion of

Minnesota west of the Mississippi was a part,

was oflBcially delivered up by the Erench, who
had just obtained it from the Spaniards, accord-

ing to treaty stipulations.

To the transfer of Louisiana by France, after

twenty days' possession, Spain at first objected

;

but in 1804 vidthdrew all opposition.

President Jefferson now deemed it an object

of paramount importance for the United States

to explore the country so recently acquired, and

make the acquaintance of the tribes residing

therein ; and steps were taken for an expedition

to the upper Mississippi.

Early in March, 1804, Captain Stoddard, of the

United States army, arrived at St. Louis, the

agent of the French Republic, to receive from
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the Spanish authorities the possession of the

country, which he immediately transferred to the

United States.

As the old settlers, on the tenth of March, saw

the ancient flag of Spain displaced hy that of the

United States, the tears coursed down their

cheeks.

On the twentieth of the same month, the terri-

tory of Upper Louisiana was constituted, com-

prising the present states of Arkansas, Missouri,

Iowa, and a large portion of Minnesota.

On the eleventh of January, 1805, the tsrri-

tory of Michigan was organized.

The first American officer who visited Minne-

sota, on business of a pubUc nature, was one who

was an ornament to his profession, and in energy

and endurance a true representative of the citi-

zens of the United States. "We refer to the

gallant Zebulon Montgomery Pike, a native of

New Jersey, who afterwards fell in battle at

York, Upper Canada, and whose loss was justly

mourned by the whole nation.

When a young lieutenant, he was ordered by

General Wilkinson to visit the region now known

as Minnesota, and expel the British traders who

were found violating the laws of the United

States, and form alliances with the Indians.

With only a few common soldiers, he was obliged

to do the work of several men. At times he

would precede his party for miles to reconnoitre,

and then he would do the duty of hunter.

During the day he would perform the part of

surveyor, geologist, and astronomer, and at night,

though hungry and fatigued, his lofty enthu-

siasm kept him awake until he copied the notes,

and plotted the courses of the day.

On the 4th day of September, 1805, Pike ar-

rived at Prairie du Chien, from St. Louis, and

was politely treated by three traders, all born un-

der the flag of the United States. One was named

Wood, another Prazer, a native of Vermont,

who, when a young man became a clerk of one

Blakely, of Montreal, and thus became a fur

trader. The third was Henry Fisher, a captain

of the Militia, and Justice of the Peace, whose

wife was a daughter of Goutier de Verville.

Fisher was said to have been a nephew of Pres-

dent Monroe, and later in life traded at the

sources of the Minnesota. One of his daughters

was the mother of Joseph Bolette, Jr., a mem-

ber of the early Minnesota Legislative assem-

blies. On the eighth of the month Lieutenant

Pike left Prairie du Chien, in two batteaux, with

Sergeant Henry Kennerman, Corporals William

E. Mack and Samuel Bradley, and ten privates.

At La Crosse, Frazer, of Prairie du Chien,

overtook him, and at Sandy point of Lake Pepta

he found a trader, a Scotchman by the name of

Murdoch Cameron, with his son, and a young

man named John EudsdeU. On the twonty-

first he breakfasted with the Kaposia band of

Sioux, who then dwelt at the marsh below Day-

ton's BlufE, a few miles below St. Paul. The

same day he passed three miles from Mendota

the encampment of J. B. Faribault, a trader and

native of Lower Canada, then about thirty years

of age, in which yictnity he continued for more

than fifty years, tie married Pelagie the daugh-

ter of Francis Klnnie by an Indian woman,

and tis eldest son, Alexander, bom soon after

Pike's visit, was the founder of the town of

Faribault.

Arriving at the confluence of the Minnesota

and the Mississippi Elvers, Pike and his soldiers

encamped on the Northeast point of the island

which still bears his name. The next day was

Sunday, and he visited Cameron, at his trading

post on the Minnesota Elver, a short distance

above Mendota.

On Monday, the 23d of September, at noon,

he held a Council with the Sioux, under a cover-

ing made by suspending saUs, and gave an ad-

mirable talk, a portion of which was as follows

:

" Brothers, I am happy to meet you here, at

this council fire which your father has sent me to

kindle, and to take you by the hands, as our chil-

dren. We having but lately acquired from the

Spanish, the extensive territory of Louisiana, our

general has thought proper to' send out a number

of his warriors to visit all his red children ; to tell

them his will, and to hear what request theymay
have to make of their father. I am happy the

choice fell on me to come this road, as I find

my brothers, the Sioux, ready to listen to my
words.

" Brothers, it is the wish of our government to

establish military posts on the Upper Mississippi,

at such places as might be thought expedient. I

have, therefore, examined the country, and have

pitched on the mouth of the river St. Croix, this
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place, and tlie i alls of St. Aathony ; I therefore

wish you to grant to the United States, nine

miles square, at St. Croix, and at this place, from

a league below the confluence of the St. Peter's

and Mississippi, to a league above St. Anthony,

extending three leagues on each side of the river

;

and as we are a people who are accustomed to

have all our acts written down, in order to have

them handed to our children, I have drawn up a

form of an agreement, which we will both sign,

in the presence of the traders now present. After

we know the terms, we will fill it up, and have it

read and interpreted to you.

" Brothers, those posts are intended as a bene-

fit to you. The old chiefs now present must see

that their situation improves by a communication
' with the whites. It is the intention of the Umted
States to establish at those posts factories, in

which the Indians may procure all their things

at a cheaper and better rate than they do now, or

ttian your traders can afford to sell them to you,

as they aie single men, who come from far in

small boats; but your fathers are many and

strong, and will come with a strong arm, in large

boats. There will also be chiefs here, who can

attend to the wants of their brothers, without

their sending or going all the way to St. Louis,

and will see the traders -that go up your rivers,

and know that they are good men. * * * *

"Brothers, I now present you with some of

your father's tobacco, and some other trifling

things, as a memorandum of my good will, and

before my departure I will give you some liquor

to clear your throats."

The traders, Cameron and Frazer, sat with

Pike. His interprflter was Pierre Rosseau.

Among the Chiefs present were Le Petit Cor-

beau (Little Crow), and Way-ago Enagee, and
L'Orignal Leve or Rising Moose. It was with

difficulty that the chiefs signed the following

agreement; not that they objected to the lan-

guage, but because they thought their word
should be taken, without any mark ; but Pike

overcame their objection , by saying that he wished

them to sign it on his account.

" Whereas, at a conference held between the

United States of America and the Sioux na-

tion of Indians,.Lieutenant Z. M. Pike, of the

army of the United States, and the chiefs and
warriors of said triije. have a«freed to the follow-

'

ing articles, which, when ratified and approved of

by the proper authority, shall be binding on both

parties

:

Aet. 1. That the Sioux nation grant unto the

United States, for the purpose of establishment

of military posts, nine miles square, at the mouth

of the St. Croix, also from below the confluence

of the Mississippi and St. Peter's, up the Missis-

sippi to include the Palls of St. Anthony, extend-

ing nine miles on each side of the river ; that the

Sioux Nation grants to the United States the fuU

sovereignty and power over said district forever.

Art. 2. That in consideration of the above

grants, the- United States shall pay [filled up by

the Senate with 2,000 dollars].

Aet. 3. The United States promise, on their

part, to permit the Sioux to pass and repass, hunt,

or make other use of the said districts, as they

have formerly done, without any other exception

than those specified in article first.

In testimony whereof, we, the undersigned,

have hereunto set our hands and seals, at the

mouth of the liver St. Peter's, on the 23d day of

September, 1805. '

Z. M. PIKE, [L. S.]

1st Lieutenant and agent at the above conference.

his

LE PETIT COEBEAU, M [L. S.]

mark
his

WAY-AGO ENAGEE, XI [L. S.]

mark "

The following entries from Pike's Journal, des-

criptive of the region around the city of Minne-

apolis, seventy-five years ago, are worthy of pres-

ervation:

"Sept. 26th, 37iMrsdo;/.—Embarked at the usual

hour, and after much labor in passing through

the rapids, arrived at the foot of the Palls about

three or four o'clock ; unloaded my boat, and had

the principal part of her cargo carried over the

portage. With the other boat, however, full

loaded, they were not able to get over the last

shoot, and encamped about six yards below. I

pitched my tent and encamped above the shoot.

The rapids mentioned in this day's march, might

properly be called a continuation of the Falls of

St. Anthony, for they are equally entitled to this

appellation, with the Falls of the PeUware aad
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Susquehanna. Killed one deer. Distance nine

miles.

Sept. 27tli, Friday. Brought over the residue

of my loading this morning. Two men arrived

from Mr. Frazer, on St. Peters, formy dispatches.

This business, closing and sealing, appeared like

a last adieu to the civilized world. Sent a large

packet to the General, and a letter to Mrs. Pike,

with a short note to Mr. Frazer. Two young

Indians brought my flag across by land, who ar-

rived yesterday, just as we came in sight of the

Fall. I made them a present for their punctual-

ity and expedition, and the danger they were ex-

posed to from the journey. Carried ourboats out

of the river, as far as the bottom of the hill. . .

Sept. 28th , Saturday.—Broughtmy barge oyer,

and put her in the river above the Falls. While

we were engaged with her three-fourths miles

from camp, seven Indians painted black, appeared

on the heights. We had left our guns at the

camp and were entirely defenceless. It occurred

tome that they were the small party of Siouxwho

were obstinate, and would go to war, when the

other part of the bands came in; these they

proved to be ; they were better armed than any I

had ever seen ; having guns, bows, arrows, clubs,

spears, and some of them even a case of pistols.

I was at that time giving my men a dram ; and

giving the cup of liquor to the first, he drank it

off ; but I was more cautious with the remainder.

I sent my interpreter to camp with them, to wait

my coming ; wishing to purchase one oi their war

clubs, it being made of elk horn, and decorated

with inlaid work. This and a set of bows and

arrows I wished to get as a curiosity. But the

liquor I had given him began to operate, he came

back for me, but refusing to go till I brought my
boat, he returned, and (I suppose being offended)

borrowed a canoe and crossed the river. In the

afternoon got the other boat near the top of the

hill, when the props gave way, and she sUd all the

way down to the bottom, but fortunately without

injuring any person. It raining very hard, we
left her. Killed one goose and a racoon.

Sept. 29th, Sunday.—I killed a remarkably

large racoon. Got our large boat over the port-

age, and put her in the river, at the upper land-

ing ; this night the men gave sufficient proof of

their fatigue, by all throwing themselves down to

sleep, preferring rest to supper. This day I had

but fifteen men out of twenty-two ; the others

were sick. This voyage could have been per-

formed with great convenience, if we had taken

our departure in June. But the proper time

would be to leave the Illinois as soon as the ice

would permit, when the river would be of a good

height.

Sept. 30th, Monday.—Loaded my boat, moved

over and encamped on the Island. The large boats

loading likewise, we went over and put on board.

In the mean time, I took a survey of the Falls,

Portage, etc. If it be possible to pass the Falls

in high water, of which I am doubtful, it must

be on the East side, about thirty yards from

shore ; as there are three layers of rocks, one be-

low the other. The pitch off of either, is not

more than five feet ; but of this I can say more

on my return.

On the tenth of October, the expedition

reached some large island below Sauk Rapids,

where in 1797, Porlier and Joseph EenvlUe had

wintered. Six days after this, he reached the

Rapids in Morrison county, which stUl bears his

name, and he writes :
' 'When we arose in the

morning, found that snow had fallen during the

night, the ground was covered and it continued

to snow. This, indeed, was but poor encourage-

ment for attacking the Rapids, in which we were

certain to wade to oiu: necks. I was determined,

however, if possible to make la riviere de Cor-

beau, [Crow Wing River], the highest point was

made by traders in their bark canoes. We em-

barked, and after four hours work, became so

benumbed vnth cold that our limbs were perfectly

useless. We put to shore on the opposite side of

the river, about two-thirds of the way up the

rapids. Built a large Are ; and then discovered

that our boats were nearly half fuU of water;

both having sprung large leaks so as to oblige me
to keep three hands bailing. My sergeant (Ken-

nerman) one of the stoutest men I ever knew,

broke a blood-vessel and vomited nearly two

quarts of blood. One of my corporals (Bradley)

.
also evacuated nearly a pint of blood, when he

attempted to void his urine. These imhappy

circumstances, in addition to the inabUity of

four other men whom we were obliged to leave

on shore, convinced me, that if I had no regard

for my own health and constitution, I should

have some for those poor fellows, who were Mil-
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ing themselves to obey my orders. After we had

breakfast and refreshed ourselves, we went down

to our boats on the rocks, where I was obliged to

leave them. I then informed my men that we
would return to the camp and there leave some

of the party and oui large boats. This informa-

tion was pleasing, and the attempt to reach the

camp soon accomplished. My reasons for this

step have partly been already stated. The nec-

essity of imloading and refitting my boats, the

beauty and convenience of the spot for buUditig

huts, the fine pine trees for peroques, and the

quantity of game, were additional inducements.

We immediately xmloaded our boats and secured

their cargoes. In the evening I went out upon a

small, but beautiful creek, which emptied into

the Falls, for the purpose of selecting pine trees

to make canoes. Saw five deer, and killed one

buck weighing one hundred and thirty-seven

pounds. By my leaving men at this plaije, and

from the great quantities of game in its vicinity,

I was ensured plenty of provision for my return

voyage. In the party left behind was one hunter,

to be continually employed, who would keep our

stock of salt provisions good. Distance two

hundred and thirty-three and a half mUes above

ttie Palls of St. Anthony.

Having left his large boats and some soldiers

at this point, he proceeded to the vicinity of

Swan Biver where he erected a block house, and

on the thirty-first of October he writes : "En-

closed my little work completely with pickets.

Hauled up my two boats and turned them over

on each side of the gateways ; by which means

a defence was made to the river, and had it not

been for various political reasons, I would have

laughed at the attack of eight hundred or a

thousand savages, if all my party were within.

For, except accidents, it would only have aflord-

ed amusement, the Indians having no idea of

taking a place by storm. Found myself power-

fully attacked with the fantastics of the brain,

called ennui, at the mention of which I had

hitherto scofied ; but my books being packed up,

I was like a person entranced, and could easily

conceive why so many persons who have been

confined to remote places, acquire the habit of

drinking to excess, and many other vicious prac-

tices, which have been adopted merely to pass

time.

During the next month he himted the buffalo

which were thjen in that vicinity. On the third

of December he received a visit from Robert

Dickson, afterwards noted in the history of the

country, who was then trading about sixty miles

below, on the Mississippi.

On the tenth of December with some sleds he

continued his journey northward, and on the last

day of the year passed Pine Eiver. On the third

of January, 1806, he reached the trading post at

Red Cedar, now Cass Lake, and was quite indig-

nant at finding the British flag floating from the

staff. The night after this his tent caught on

fire, and he lost some valuable and necessary

cltthing. On the evening of the eighth he reach-

ed Sandy Lake and was hospitably received by

Grant, the trader in charge. He writes

.

" Jan. 9th, Thursday.—Marched the corporal

early, in order that our men should receive

assurance of our safety and success. He carried

with him a small keg of spirits, a present from

Mr. Grant. The estabUshnaent of this place was
formed twelve years since, by the North-west

Company, and was formerly under the charge of

a Mr. Charles Brusky. It has attained at present

such regularity, as to permit the superintendent

to live tolerably comfortable. They have horses

they procured from Red River, of the Indians

;

raise plenty of Irish potatoes, catch pike, suckers,

pickerel, and white fish in abundance. They
have also beaver, deer, and moose ; but the pro-

vision they chiefly depend upon is wild oats, of

which they purchase great quantities from the

savages, giving at the rate of about one doUar

and a half per bushel. But flour, pork, and salt,

are almost interdicted to persons not principals

in the trade. Flour sells at half a dollar ; salt a

doUar
;
pork eiglity cents ; sugar half a dollar

;

and tea four dollars and fifty cents per pound.

The sugar is obtained from the Indians, and is

made from the maple tree."

He remained at Sandy Lake ten days, and on
the last day two men of the Northwest Company
arrived with letters from Fon du Lac Superior,

one of which was from Athapuscow, and had

been since May on the route.

On the twentieth of January began his journey

to Leech Lake, which he reached on the first of

February, and was hospitably received by Hugh
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McGillis, the head, of the Northwest Company at

this post.

A Mr. Anderson, in the employ of Eobert

Dickson, was residing at the west end of the lake.

While here he hoisted the American flag in the

fort. The English yacht still flying at the top of

the flagstaff, he directed the Indians and his sol-

diers to shoot at it. They soon broke the iron

pin to which it was fastened, and it fell to the

ground. He was informed by a venerable old

Ojibway chief, called Sweet, that the Sioux dwelt

there when he was a youth. On the tenth of

Eebruary, at ten o'clock, he left Leech Lake with

Corporal Bradley, the trader McGillis and two of

his men, and at sunset arrived at Bed Cedar, now
Cass Lake. At this place, in 1798, Thompson,

employed by the Northwest Company for three

years, in topographical surveys, made some ob-

servations. He believed that a line from the

Lake of the "Woods would touch the sources of

the Mississippi. Pike, at this point, was- very

kindly treated by a Canadian named Roy, and his

Ojibway squaw. On his return home, he reached

Clear Elver on the seventh of April, where he

found his canoe and men, and at night was at

Grand Rapids, Dickson's trading post. He talked

until four o'clock the next morning with this

person and another trader named PorUer. He
forbade while there, the traders Greignor [Grig-

non] and La Jennesse, to sell any more liquor to

Indians, who had become very drunken and un-

ruly. On the tenth he again reached the Palls

of Saint Anthony. He writes in his journal as

follows : ,

,
April 11th, Friday.—Although it snowed very

hard we brought over both boats, and descended

the river to the island at the entrance of the St.

Peter's. I sent to the chiefs and informed them

I had something to communicate to them. The
Pils de Pincho immediately waited on me, and

informed me that he would provide a place for

the purpose. About sundown I was sent for and

introduced into the council-house, where I found

a great many chiefs of the Sussitongs, Gens de

Feuilles, and the Gens du Lac. The Yanctongs

had not yet come down. They were all awaiting

for my arrival. There were about one hundred

lodges, or six hundred people; we were saluted

on our crossing the river with ball as usual. The
council-house was two large lodges, capable of

containing three hundred men. In the upper

were forty chiefs, and as many pipes set against

the poles, alongside of which I had the Santeur's

pipes arranged. I then informed them in short

detail, of my transactions with the Santeurs; but

my interpreters were not capable of making them-

selves understood. I was therefore obliged to

omit mentioning every particular relative to the

rascal who fired on my sentinel, and of the scoun-

drel who broke the Pols Avoins' canoes, and

threatened my life; the interpreters, however, in-

formed them that I wanted some of their princi-

pal chiefs to go to St. Louis; and that those who
thought proper might descend to the prairie,

where we would give them more explicit infor-

mation. They all smoked out of the Santeur's

pipe, excepting three, who were painted black,

and were some of those who lost their relations

last winter. I invited the Pils de Pinchow, and

the son of the KiUeur Rouge, to come over and

sup with me; when Mr. Dickson and myself en-

deavored to explain what I intended to have said

to them, could I have made myself understood;

that at the prairie we would have all things ex-

plained; that I was desirous of making a better

report of them than Captain Lewis could do from

their treatment of him. The former of those

savages was the person who remained around my
post all last winter, and treated my men so well;

they endeavored to excuse their people.

"Apkil 12th, Saturday.—Embarked early. Al-

though my interpreter had been frequently up the

river, he could not tell me where the cave (spoken

of by Carver) could be foimd ; we carefully

sought for it, but in vain. At the Indian village,

a few miles below St. Peter's, we were about to

pass a few lodges, but on receiving a very partic-

ular invitation to come on shore, we landed, and
were received in a lodge kindly; they presented

us sugar. I gave the proprietor a dram, and was
about to depart when he demanded a kettle of

liquor; on being refused, and after I had left the

shore, he told me he did not like the arrange-

ments, and that he would go to war this summer.
I directed the interpreter to tell him that if I

returned to St. Peter's with the troops, I would
settle that affair with him. On our arrival at the

St. Croix, I foimd the Pettit Corbeau with his

people, and Messrs. Prazer and Wood. We had
a conference, when the Pettit Corbeau made
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many apologies for the misconduct of his people;

he represented to us the different maimers in

which the young warriors had been inducing him

to go to war; that he had been much blamed for

dismissing his party last fall; but that he was de-

termined to adhere as far as lay in his power to

our instructions; that he thought it most prudent

to remain here and restrain the warriors. He
then presented me with a beaver robe and pipe,

and his message to the general. That he was

determined to preserve peace, and make the road

clear; also_a remembrance of his promised medal.

I made a reply, calculated to confirm him in his

good intentions, and assured him that he should

not be the less remembered by his father, although

not present. I was informed that, notwithstand-

ing the instruction of his license, and my par-

ticular request, Murdoch Cameron had taken

liquor and sold it to the Indians on the river St.

Peter's, and that his partner below had been

equally imprudent. I pledged myself to prose-

cute them according to law; for they have been

the occasion of great confusion, and of much
injury to the other traders. This day met a

canoe of Mr. Dickson's loaded with provisions,

under the charge of Mr. Anderson, brother of

the Mr. Anderson at Leech Lake. He politely

oilered me any provision he had on board (for

which Mr. Dickson had given me an order), but

not now being in want, I did not accept of any.

This day, for the first time, I observed the trees

beginning to bud, and indeed the climate seemed

to have changed very materially since we passed

the Falls of St. Anthony."

The strife of political parties growing out of

the French Eevolution, and the declaration of

war against Great Britain in the year 1812, post-

poned the military occupation of the Upper

Mississippi by the United States of America, for

several years.
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CHAPTER XIII.

THE YAXIiET OF THE TTPPEB MISSISSIPPI DUUJKG SECOND WAR "WITH GREAT BRITAIN.

Dickson and other traders hostile—American stocltade at rrairie du Chien—Fort

Shelby siurendcra to Lt. Col. 'William McKay—Loyal traders Provencalle and

Faribault—Itising Moose or One-eyed Sioux—Capt. Bulger evacuates Fort

McKay—Itttellisenco of Peace.
^

Notwithstanding the professions of friendship

made to Pike,- ra the second war with Great Brit-

ain, Dickson and others were found bearing arms

against the Bepubllc.

A year after Pike left Prairie du Chien, it was

evident, that under some secret influence, the

Indian tribes were combining against the United

States. Intheyearl809,McholasJarrotdeclared

that the British traders were furnishing the sav-

ages with guns for hostUe purposes. On the first

of May, 1812, two Indians were apprehended at

Chicago, who were on their way to meet Dickson

at Green Bay. They had taken the precaution

to hide letters in their moccasrns, and bury them

in the ground, and were allowed to proceed after

a brief detention. Prazer, of Prairie du Chien,

who had been with Pike at the Council at the

mouth of the Minnesota Biver, was at the port-

age' of the Wisconsin when the Indians dehvered

these letters, which stated that the British flag

would soon be flying again at Mackinaw. At

Green Bay, the celebrated warrior. Black Hawk,

was placed in charge of the Indians who were to

aid the British. The American troops at Macki-

naw were obliged, on the seventeenth of July,

1812, to capitulate without firing a single gun.

One who was made prisoner, writes from Detroit

to the Secretary of "War

:

" The persons who commanded the Indians are

Eobert Dickson, Indian trader, and John Askin,

Jr., Indian agent, and his son. The latter two

were painted and dressed after the manner

of the Indians. Those who commanded the

Canadians are John Johnson, Crawford, Pothier,

Armitinger, La Croix, Eolette, Franks, Living-

ston, and other traders, some ofwhom were lately

concerned in smuggling British goods into the

Indian country, and, in conjunction with others,

have been using their utmost efforts, several

months before .the declaration of war, to excite

the Indians to take up arms. The least resist-

ance from the fort would have been attended

with the destruction of all the persons who feU

into the hands of the British, as I have been as-

sured by some of the British traders,"

On the first of May, 1814, Governor Clark,

with two hundred men, left St. Louis, to build a

fort at the jimction of the "Wisconsin and Missisr

sippi. Twenty days before he arrived at Prairie

du Chien, Dickson had started for Mackinaw

with a band of Dahkotahs and "Winnebagoes.

The place was left in command of Captain Deace

and the Mackinaw Pencibles. The Dahkotahs

refusing to co-operate, when the Americans made

their appearance they fled. The Americans took

possession of the old Mackinaw house, in which

they found nine or ten trunks of papers belong-

ing to Dickson. Prom one they took the follow-

ing extract

:

"
' Arrived, from below, a few "Winnebagoes

with scalps. Gave them tobacco, six pounds

powder and six pounds ball.'

"

A fort was immediately commenced on the

site of the old residence of the late H. L. Dous-

man, which was composed of two block-houses

in the angles, and another on the bank of the

river, with a subterranean communication. In

honor of the governor of Kentucky it was named
" Shelby."

The fort was in charge of Lieutenant Perkins,

and sixty rank and file, and two gunboats, each

of which carried a six-pounder; and several

howitzers were commanded by Captains Yeiser,

Sullivan, and Aid-de-camp Kennerly.

The traders at Mackinaw, learning that the

Americans had built a fort at the Prairie, and

knowing that as long as they held possession

they would be cut ofC fromi the trade with the
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Dahkotahs, inunediately raised an expedition to

capture the garrison.

The captain was an old trader by the name of

McKay, and imder htm was a sergeant of ar-

tillery, with a brass six-pounder, and three or

four volunteer companies of Canadian voyageurs,

oflScered by Captains Griguon, Eolette and An-

derson, with Lieutenants Brisbois and Duncan

Graham, all dressed in red coats, with a number

of Indians.

The Americans had scarcely completed tfieir

rude fortification, before the British force, guid-

ed by Joseph Bolette, Sr., descended in canoes

to a point on the Wisconsin, several miles from

the Prairie, to which they marched in battle

array. McKay sent a flag to the Port demanding

a surrender. Lieutenant Perkins repUed that he

would defend it to the last.

A fierce encounter took place, in which the

Americans were worsted. The ofllcer was

wounded, several men were kUled and one of

their boats captured, so that it became necessary

to retreat to St. Louis. Port Shelby after its

capture, was called Port McKay.

Among the traders a few remained loyal, es-

pecially Provencalle and J. B. Paribault, traders

among the Sioux. Paribault was a prisoner

among the British at the time Lieut. Col. Wm.
McKay was preparing to attack Port Shelby, and

he refused to perform any service, Paribault's

wife, who was at Prairie du Chien, not knowing

that her husband was a prisoner in the hands of

the advancing foe, fled with others to the Sioux

village, where is now the city of Winona. Fari-

bault was at length released on parole and re-

turned to his trading post.

Pike writes of his flag, that " being in doubt

whether it had been stolen by the Indians, or had

fallen overboai d and floated away, I sent for my
friend the Orignal Leve." He also caU<5 the

Chief, Eising Moose, and gives his Sioux name
Tahamie. He was one of those, who in 1805,

signed the agreement, to surrender land at the

junction of the Minnesota and Mississippi Elvers

to the United States. He had but one eye,

having lost the other when a boy, belonged to

the Wapasha band of the Sioux, and proved

true to the flag which had waved on the day he

sat in council -v^ith Pike.

In the fall of 1814, with another of the same
6

nation, he ascended the Missouri under the pro-

tection of the distinguished trader, Manual Lisa,

as far as the An Jacques or James Elver, and

from thence struck across the country, enlisting

the Sioux in favour of the United States, and at

length arrived at Prairie du Chien. On his arri-

val, Dickson accosted him, and inquired from

whence he came, and what was his business ; at

the same time rudely snatching his bundle from

his shoulder, and searching for letters. The
" one-eyed warrior " told him that he was from

St. Louis, and that he had promised the white

chiefs there that he would go to Prairie du Chien,

and that he had kept his promise

Dickson then placed him in confinement in

Port McKay, as the garrison was called by the

British, and ordered him to divulge what infor-

mation he possessed, or he wo aid put him to

death. But the faithful fellow said he would

impart nothing, and that he was ready for death

if he wished to kill him. Pinding that confine-

ment had no effect, Dickson at last liberated him.

He then left, and visited the bands of Sioux on

the Upper Mississippi, with which he passed the

winter. When he returned in the spring, Dick-

son had gone to Mackinaw, and Capt. A. Bulger,

of the Eoyal New Foundland Eegiment, was in

command of the fort.

On the twenty-third of May, 1815, Capt. Bul-

ger, wrote from Port McKay to Gov. Clark at St.

Louis :
" Official intelligence of peace reached

me yesterday. I propose evacuating the fort,

taking with me the guns captured in the fort. *

* * * I have not the smallest hesitation in

declaring my decided opinion, that the presence

of a detachment of British and United States

troops at the same time, would be the means of

embroiling one party or the other in a fresh rup-

ture with the Indians, which I presume it is the

wish of both governments to avoid."

The next month the " One-Eyed Sioux," with

three other Indians and a squaw, visited St. Louis,

and he informed Gov. Clark, that the British

commander left the caimons in the fort when he

evacuated, but in a day or two came back, took

the cannons, and fired the fort with the American

flag flying, but that he rushed in and saved it

from being burned. Prom this time, the British

flag ceased to float in the Valley of the Missis-

sippi.
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CHAPTEE XIV.

long's expedition, ^. D. i817, IN A SIX-OABED SKIFF, TO THE FALLS OF SAINT ANTHONY.

Carver a Grandsons.—Eoque, Sioux Interpreter.—Wapashaw's Tillage and Its

Vicinity.—A Sacred Dance.—Indian ViUaso Below Dayton's Bluff.—Carver's

Cave.—Fountain Cave.—Falls of St. Anthony Described.—Site or a Fort.

Major Stephen H. Long, of the Engineer Corps

of the United States Army, learning that there

was little or no danger to be apprehended from

the Indians, determined to ascend to the Ealls of

Saint Anthony, in a six-oared skifE presented to

him by Governor Clark, of Saint Louis. His

party consisted of a Mr. Hempstead, a native of

New London, Connecticut, who had been living

at Prairie du Chien, seven soldiers, and a half-

breed interpreter, named Boque. A bark canoe

accompanied them, containing Messrs. Gun and

King, grandsons of the celebrated traveler, Jona-

than Carver.

On the ninth ot July, 1817, the expedition left

Prairie du Chien, and on the twelfth arrived at

" Trempe a I'eau." He writes

:

" When we stopped for breakfast, Mr. Hemp-

stead and myself ascended a high peak to take a

view of the country. It is known by the name

of the Kettle Hill, having obtained this appella-

tion from the circumstance of its having numer-

ous piles of stone on its top, most of them

fragments of the rocky stratifications which

constitute the principal part of the hill, but some

of them small piles made"by the Indians. These

at a distance have some similitude of kettlec

arranged along upon the ridge and sides of the

hiU. Prom this, or almost any other eminence in

its neighborhood, the beauty and grandeur of the

prospect would baflle the skill of the most inge-

nious pencil to depict, and that of the most ac-

complished pen to describe. Hills marshaled

into a variety of agreeable shapes, some of them

towering into lofty peaks, while others present

broad summits embellished with contours and

slopes in the most pleasing manner ; champaigns

and waving valleys; forests, lawns, and parks

alternating with each other ; the humble Missis-

sippi meandering far below, and occasionally

losing itseli la numberless islands, give variety

and beauty to the picture, while rugged cUfls and

stupendous precipices here and there present

themselves as if to add boldness and majesty to

the scene. In the midst of this beautiful scenery

is situated a village of the Sioux Indians, on an

extensive lawn eaUed. the Aux Aisle Prairie ; at

which we lay by for a short time. On our arrival

the Indians hoisted two American flags, and we
returned the compliment by discharging our

blunderbuss and pistols. They then fired several

guns ahead of us by way of a salute, after which

we landed and were received with much friend-

ship. The name of their chief is Wauppaushaw,

or the Leaf, commonly called by a name of the

same import in French, La Peuille, or La Eye,

as it is pronounced in English. He is considered

one of the most honest and honorable of any of

the Indians, and endeavors to inculcate into the

minds of his people the sentiments and principles

adopted by himself. He was not at home at the

time I called, and I had no opportunity of seeing

him. The Indians, as I suppose, with the ex-

pectation that I had something. to communicate

to them, assembled themselves at the place

where I landed and seated themselves upon the

grass. I inquired if their chief was at home,

and was answered in the negative. I then told

them I should be very glad to see him, but as he

w".,s absent I would call on him again in a few

days when I should return. I further told them

that cur father, the new President, wished to ob-

tain some more information relative to his red

children, and that I was on a tour to acquire any

intelligence he might stand in need of. With

this they appeared weU satisfied, and permitted

Mr. Hempstead and myself to go through their

village. While I was in the wigwam, one of th«

subordinate chiefs, whose name was Wazzecoota,

or Shooter from the Pine Tree, volunteered to
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accompany me np the river. I accepted of his

services, and he was ready to attend me on the

tour in a very short time. When we hove in

sight the Indians were engaged in a ceremony

called the Bea/r Dwnae; a ceremony which they

are in the habit of performing when any young

man is desirous of bringing himself into partic-

ular notice, and is considered a kind of initiation

into the state of manhood. I went on to the

ground where they had their performances,

which were ended sooner than usual on account

of our arrival. There was a kind of a, flag made
of fawn skin dressed with the hair on, suspended

on a pole. Upon the flesh side of it were drawn

certain rude figures indicative of the dream

which it is necessary the young man should have

dreamed, before he can be considered a proper

candidate for this kind of initiation; with this a

pipe was suspended by way of sacrifice. Two
arrows were stuck up at the foot of the pole,

and fragments of painted feathers, etc., were

strewed about the ground near to It. These per-

tained to the religious rites attending the cere-

mony, which consists in bewailing and self-mor-

tification, that the Good Spirit may be induced

to pity them and succor their undertaking.

"At the distance of two or three hundred

yards from the flag, is an excavation which they

call the bear's hole, prepared for the occasion.

It is about two feet deep, and has two ditches,

about one foot deep, leading across it at right an-

gles. The young hero of the farce places himself

in this hole, to be hunted by the rest of the young

men, all of whom on this occasion are dressed in

their best attire and painted in their neatest style.

The hunters approach the hole in the direction of

one of the ditches, and discharge their guns,

which were previously loaded for the purpose

with blank cartridges, at the one who acts the

part of the bear; whereupon he leaps from his

den, having a hoop in each hand, and a wooden

lance; the hoops serving as forefeet to aid him

in characterizing his part, and his lance to defend

him from his assailants. Thus accoutred he

dances round the place, exhibiting various feats

of activity, while the other Indians pursue him

and endeavor to trap him as he attempts to re-

turn to his den, to effect which he is privileged to

use any violence he pleases with impunity against

his assailants, even to taking the life of any of

them.

" This part of the ceremony is performed three

times, that the bear may escape from his den

and return to it again through three of the ave-

nues communicating with it. On being hunted

from the fourth or last avenue, the bear must

make his escape through all his pursuers, if pos-

sible, and flee to the woods, where he is to remain

through the day. This, however, is seldom or

never accomplished, as all the young men exert

themselves to the utmost in order to trap him.

When caught, he must retire to a lodge erected for

his reception in the field, where he is to be se-

cluded 'from all society through the day, except

one of his particular friends whom he is allowed

to take with him as an attendant. Here he

smokes and performs various other rites which

superstition has led the Indians to believe are sa-

cred. After this ceremony is ended, the young
Indian is considered qualified to act any pari; as

an efficient member of their community. The

Indian, who has the good fortune to catch the

bear and overcome him when endeavoring to

make his escape to the wood, is considered a

candidate for preferment, and is, on the first suit-

able occasion, appointed the leader of a small war

party, in order that he may further have an op-

portunity to test his^ prowess and perform more

essential service in behalf of his nation. It is

accordingly expected that he will kill some of

their enemies and return with their scalps. I re-

gretted very much that I had missed the oppor-

tunity of witnessing this ceremony, which is

never performed except when prompted by the

particular dreams of one or other of the young
men, who is never complimented twice in the

same maimer on aocoimt of his dreams."

On the sixteenth he approached the vicinity of

where is now the capital of Minnesota, and

writes: "Set sail at halt past four this morning

with a favorable breeze. Pased an Indian bury-

ing ground on our left, the first that I have seen

surrounded by a fence. In the center a pole is

erected, at the foot of which religious rites are

performed at the burial of an Indian, by the

particular friends and relatives of the deceased.

Upon the pole a flag is suspended when any per-

son of extraordinary merit, or one who is very

much beloved, is buried. In the inclosure were
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two scafiolds erected also, about six feet high

and sis feet square. Upon one of them were two

coffins containing dead bodies. Passed a Sioux

village on our right containing fourteen cabins.

The name of the chief is the Petit Corbeau, or

Little Eaven. The Indians were all absent on a

hunting party up the River St. Croix, which

is but a little distance across the country from

the village. Of this we were very glad, as this

band are said to be the most notorious beggars

of all the Sioux on the Mississippi. One of their

cabins is furnished with loop holes, and is sit-

uated so near the water that the opposite side

of the river is within musket-shot range from

the building. By this means the Petit CorJDeau

is enabled to exercise a command over the pass-

age of the river and has in some Instances com-

pelled traders to land with their goods, and in-

duced them, probably through fear of offending

him, to bestow presents to a considerable amount,

before he would suffer them to pass. The cabins

are a kind of stockade buildings, and of a better

appearance than any Indian dwelhngs I have

before met with.

" Two miles above the village, on the same

side of the river, is Carver's Cave, at which we

stopped to breakfast. However interesting it

may have been, it does not possess that character

in a very high degree at present. We descend-

ed it with lighted candles to its lower extremity.

The entrance is very low and about eight feet

broad, so that a man in order to enter it must be

completely prostrate. The angle of descent

within the cave is about 25 deg. The flooring

is an inclined plane of quicksand, formed of the

rock in which the cavern is formed. The dist-

ance from its entrance to its inner extremity is

twenty-four paces, and the width in the broadest

part about nine, and its greatest height about

seven feet. In shape it resembles a bakers's oven.

The cavern was once probably much more ex-

tensive. My interpreter informed me that, since

his remembrance, the entrance was not less

than ten feet high and its length far greater than

at present. The rock in which it is formed is

a very white sandstone, so friable that the frag-

ments of it will almost crumble to sand when
taken into the hand. A few yards below the

mouth of the cavern is a very copious spring of

fine water issuing from the bottom of the clifE.

" Five miles above this is the Fountain Cave,

on the same side of the river, formed in the same

kind of sandstone but of a more pure and fine

quality. It is far more curious and interesting

than the former. The entrance of the cave is a

large winding hall about one hundred and fifty

feet in length, fifteen feet in width, and from

eight to sixteen feet in height, finely arched

overhead, and nearly perpendicular. Next suc-

ceeds a narrow passage and difficult of entrance,

which opens into a most beautiful circular room,

finely arched above, and about forty feet in di-

ameter. The cavern then continues a meander-

ing course, expanding occasionally into small

rooms of a circular form. We penetrated about

one hundred and fifty yards, till our candles

began to fail us, when we returned. To beauti-

fy and embellish the scene, a fine crystal stream,

flows through the cavern, and cheers the lone-

some dark retreat with its enlivening murmurs.

The temperature of the water in the cave was

46 deg., and that of the air 60 deg. Entering

this cold retreat from an atmosphere of 89 deg.,

I thought it not prudent to remain in it long

enough to take its several dimensions and me-

ander its courses
;
particularly as we had to wade

in water to our knees in many places in order to

penetrate as far as we went. The fountain sup-

plies an abundance of water as fine as I ever

drank. This cavern I was informed by my
interpreter, has been discovered but a few years.

That the Indians formerly living in its neighbor-

hood knew nothing of it till within six years

past. That it is not the same as that described

by Carver is evident, not only from this circum-

stance, but also from the circumstance that in-

stead of a stagnant pool, and only cine accessible

room of a very different form, this cavern has

a brook running through it, and at least four

rooms in succession, one after the other. Car-

ver's Cave is fast filUng up with sand, so that

no water is now found in it, whereas this, from

the very nature of the place, must be enlarging,

as the fountain will carry along with its current

all the sand that falls into it from the roof and

sides of the cavern."

On the night of the sixteenth, he arrived at the

Falls of Saint Anthony and encamped on the east

shore just below the cataract. He writes in his

journal

:
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"The place -where we encamped last night need-

ed no embellishment to render it romantic in the

highest degree. The banks on both sides of the

river are about one hundred feet high, decorated

with trees and shrubbery of various kinds. The

post oak, hickory, walnut, linden, sugar tree,

white birch, and the American box ; also various

evergreens, such as the pine, cedar, juniper,

etc., added their embellishments to the scene.

Amongst the shrubery were the prickly ash,

plum, and cherry tree, the gooseberry, the black

and red raspberry, the chokeberry, grape vine,

etc. There were also various kinds of herbage

and flowers, among which were the wild parsley,

rue, spikenard, etc., red and white roses, morning

glory and various other handsome flowers. A
few yards below us was a beautiful cascade of

flne spring water, pouring down from a project-

ing precipice about one hundred feet hight. On
our left was the Mississippi hurrying through its

channel with great velocity, and about three

quarters of a mile above us, in plain view, was

the majestic cataract of the Tails of St. Anthony.

The murmuring' of the cascade, the roaring of the

river, and the thunder of the cataract, all contrib-

uted to render the scene the most interesting and

magnificient of any I ever before witnessed.''

"The perpendicular fall of the water at the

cataract, was stated by Pike in his journal, as six-

teen and a half feet, which I found to be true by

actual measurement. To this height, however,

four or five feet may be added for the rapid des-

cent which immediately succeeds to the perpen-

dicular fall within a few yards below. Immedi-

ately at the cataract the river is divided into two

parts by an island which extends considerably

above and below the cataract, and is about five

hundred yards long.. The channel on the right

side of the Island is about three times the width

of that on the left. The quanity of water pass-

ins through them is not, however, in the same

proportion, as about one-third part of the whole

passes through the left channel. In the broadest

channel, just below the cataract, is a small island

also, about fifty yards in length and thirty in

breadth. Both of these islands contain the same

kind of rocky formation as the banks of the river,

and are nearly as high. Besides these, there are

immediately at the foot of the cataract, two

islands of very inconsiderable size, situated in

the right channel also. The rapiu-s commence

several hundred yards above the cataract and

continue about eight miles below. The fall of

the water, beginning at the head of the rapids,

and extending two hundred and sixty rods down

the river to where the portage road commences,

below the cataract is, according to Pike, fifty-

eight feet. If this estimate be correct the whole

fall from the head to the foot of the rapids, is not

probably much less than one hundred feet. But

as I had no instrument sufficiently accurate to

level, where the view must necessarily be pretty

extensive, I took no pains to ascertain the extent

of the fall. The mode I adopted to ascertain

the height of a cataract, was to suspend a line

and plummet from the table rock on the south

side of the river, which at the same time had

very little water passing over it as tlie river was

unusually low. The rocky formations at this

place were arranged in the following order, from

the surface downward. A coarse kind of lime-

stone in thin strata containing considerable silex;

a kind of soft friable stone of a greenish color

and slaty fracture, probably containing Ume,

aluminum and silex ; a very beautiful satratiflca-

tion of shell limestone, in thin plates, extremely

regular in its formation and containing a vast

number of shells, all apparently of the same

kind. This formation constitutes the Table Hock

of the cataract. The next in order is a white or

yellowish sandstone, so easily crumbled that it

deserves the name of a sandbank rather than that

of a rock. It is of various depths, from ten to

fifty or seventy-five feet, and is of the same char-

acter with that found at the caves before des-

cribed. The next in order is a soft friable sand-

stone, of a greenish color, similar to that resting

upon the shell limestone. These stratifications

occupied the whole space from the low water

mark nearly to the top of the bluffs. On the east,

or rather north side of the river, at the Falls, are

high grounds, at the distance of half a mile from

the river, considerably more elevated than the

bluffs, and of a hilly aspect.

Speaking of the bluff at the confluence o^ ohe

Mississippi and Minnesota, he writes: "A military

work of considerable magnitude might be con-

structed on the point, and might be rendered

sufficiently secure by occupying the commanding

height in the rear in a suitable manner, as the
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latter would, control not only the point, but all

the neighboring heights, to the full extent of a

twelve pounder's range. The work on the point

would be necessary to control the navigation of

the two rivers. But without the commanding

work in the rear, would be liable to be greatly

annoyed from a height situated directly opposite

on the other side of the Mississippi, which is

here no more than about two hundred and fifty

yards wide. This latter height, however, would

not be eligible for a permanent post, on account

of the numerous ridges and ravines situated im-

mediately in its rear."
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CHAPTER XV.

THOMAS DOUGLAS, EABL OF SELiaEK, AND THE BED EFVEK VALLEY.

Early travelers to Lake Winnipeg—Earliest Map liy the Indian Otchaga—Benin's

allusion to it— Verendrye's Map—De la Jemeraye's Map—Fort La Reine—Fort

on Red River abandoned—Origin of name Red Lake—Earl of Selkirk—Ossini-

boia described—Scotcii immigrants at Pembina—Strife of trading companies

—

Earl of Selkirk visits America—Governor Seraple Killed—Romantic life of John

Tanner, and his son James—Letter relative to Selkirk's tour through Minne-

sota.

The valley of the Bed River of the North is

not only an important portion of Minnesota, but

has a most interesting history.

While there is no evidence that Groselliers, the

first white man who explored Minnesota, ever

visited Lake "Winnipeg and the Red River, yet he

met the Assineboines at the head of Lake Supe-

rior and at Lake Nepigon, while on his way by a

northeasterly trail to Hudson's Bay, and learned

something of this region from them.

The first person, of whom we have an account,

who visited the region, was an Englishman, who

came in 1692, by way of York River, to Winni-

peg.

Ochagachs, or Otchaga, an intelligent Indian, in

1728, assured Pierre Gualtier de Varenne, known

in history as the Sieur Verendrye, while he was

stationed at Lake Nepigon, that there was a

communication, largely by water, west of Lake

Superior, to the Great Sea or Pacific Ocean. The

rude map, drawn by this Indian, was sent to

France , and is still preserved. Upon it is marked

Kamanistigouia, the fort first established bj^ Du
Luth. Pigeon River is called Mantohavagane.

Lac Sasakanaga is marked, and Rainy Lake is

named Tecamemiouen. The river St. Louis, of

Minnesota, is R. fond du L. Superior. The

French geographer, BelUn, in his "Remarks
upon the map of North America," published in

1755, at Paris, alludes to this sketch of Ochagachs,

and says it is the earliest drawing of the region

west of Lake Superior, in the Depot de la Marine.

After this Verendrye, in 1737, drew a map,

which remains unpubUshed, which shows Red
Lake in Northern Minnesota, and the point of

the Big Woods in the Red River Valley. There

is another sketch in the archives of France,

drawn by De la Jemeraye. He was a nephew of

Verendrye, and, under his uncle's orders, he was

in 1731, the first to advance from the Grand

Portage of Lake Superior, by way of the Nalao-

uagan or GroseUiers, now Pigeon River, to Rainy

Lake. On this appears Fort Rouge, on the south

bank of the Assineboine at its junction with the

Red River, and on the Assineboine, a post estab-

lished on October 3, 1738, and called Fort La

Reine. Bellin describes the fort on Red River,

but asserts that it was abandoned because of its

vicinity to Fort La Reine, on the north side of

the Assinnebolne, and only about nine miles by

a portage, from Swan Lake. Red Lake and Red

River were so called by the early French explo-

rers, on accoimt of the reddish tint of the waters

after a storm.

Thomas Douglas, Earl of Selkirk, a wealthy,

kind-hearted but visionary Scotch nobleman, at

the commencement of the present century formed

the design of planting a colony of agriculturists

west of Lake Superior. In the year 1811 he

obtained a grant of land from the Hudson Bay

Company called Ossiniboia, which it seems

strange has been given up by the people of Man-

itoba. In the autumn of 1812 a few Scotchmen

with their families arrived at Pembina, in the

Red River Valley, by way of Hudson Bay, where

they passed the winter. In the winter of 1813-14

they were again at Fort Daer or Pembina. The
colonists of Red River were rendered very un-

happy by the strife of rival trading companies.

In the spring of 1815, McKenzie and Morrison,

traders of the Northwest company, at Sandy

Lake, told the Ojibway chief there, that they

would give him and his band all the goods and

rum at Leech or Sandy Lakes, if they would an-

noy the Red River settlers.

The Earl of Selkirk hearing of the distressed

i condition of his colony, sailed for America, and
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in the fall of 1815, arrived at New York City.

Proceeding to Montreal he found a messenger

who had traveled on foot in mid-wiater from the

Bed Kiver by vray of Eed Lake and Fon du Lac,

of Lake Superior. He sent back by this man,

kiad messages to the dispirited settlers, but one

night he was way-laid near Fon du Lac, and

robbed of his canoe and dispatches. An Ojib-

way chief at Sandy Lake, afterwards testified

that a trader named Grant offered him rum and

tobacco, to send persons to intercept a bearer of

dispatches to Eed Eiver, and soon the messenger

was brought in by a negro and some Indians.

Failing to obtain military aid from the

British authorities in Canada, Selkirk made an

engagement with four officers and eighty privates,

of the discharged Meuron regiment, twenty of

the De WattevUle, and a few of the Glengary

Fencibles, which had served in the late war with

the United States, to accompany him to Red
Kiver. They were to receive monthly wages for

navigating the boats to Bed Biver, to have lands

assigned them, and a free passage if they wished

to return.

When he reached Sault St. Marie, he received

the intelUgence that the colony had again been

destroyed, and that Semple, a mild, amiable, but

not altogether judicious man, the chief governor

of the factories and territories of the Hudson
Bay company, residiag at Bed Eiver, had been

killed.

Schoolcraft, in 1832, says he saw at Leech

Lake, Majegabowi, the man who had killed Gov.

Semple, after he feU wounded from his horse.

Before he heard of the death of Semple, the

Earl of Selkirk had made arrangements to visit

Ms colony byway of Fon du Lac, on the St. Louis

Eiver, and Eed Lake of Minnesota, but he now
changed his mind, and proceeded with his force

to Fort William, the chief trading post of the

Northwest Company on Lake Superior ; and ap-

prehending the principal partners, warrants of

commitment were issued, and they were forward-

ed to the Attorney-General of Upper Canada.

While Selkirk was engaged at Fort William,

a party of emigrants in charge of Miles McDon-
nel. Governor, and Captain D'Orsomen, went
forward to reinforce the colony. At Eainy

Lake they obtained the guidance of a man who
had all the characteristics of an Indian, and yet

had a bearing which suggested a different origin.

By his efficiency and temperate habits, he had se-

cured the respect of his employers, and on the Earl

of Selkirk's arrival at Eed Biver, his attention was

called to him, and in his welfare he became

deeply interested. By repeated conversations

with him, memories of a different kind of exist-

ence were aroused, and the light of other days

began to brighten. Though he had forgotten his

father's name, he furnished sufficient data for

Selkirk to proceed with a search for his relatives.

Visiting the United States tn 1817, he pubUshed

a circular in the papers of the Western States,

which led to the identification of the man.

It appeared from his own statement, and

those of his friends, that his name was John

Tanner, the son of a minister of the gospel, who,

aboutthe year 1790, Uved on the Ohio river, near

the Miami. Shortly after his location there, a

band of roving Indians passed near the house,

and found John Tanner, then a little boy, filling

his hat with "wahiuts from under a tree. They

seized him and fled. The party was led by an

Ottawa whose wife had lost a son. To compen-

sate for his death, the mother begged that a boy

of the same age might be captured.

Adopted by the band, Tanner grew up an

Indian in his tastes and habits, and was noted

for bravery. Selkirk was successful in finding

his relatives. After twenty-eight years of separ

ration, John Tanner in 1818, met his brother

Edward near Detroit, and went with him to his

home in Missouri. He soon left his brother, and
went back to the Indians. For a time he was
interpreter for Henry E. Schoolcraft, but became
lazy and ill-natured, and in 1836, skulking behind
some .bushes, he shot and killed Schoolcraft's

brother, and fled to the wilderness, where, in

1847, he died. His son, James, was kindly treat-

ed by the missionaries to the Ojibways of Minne-
sota; but he walked in the footsteps pf his father.

In the year 1851, he attempted to impose upon
the Presbyterian muuster in Saint Paul, and,

when detected, called upon the Baptist minister,

who, beheving him a penitent, cut a hole in the
ice, and received him into the church by immer-
sion. In time,'the Baptistsfound him out, when
he became an Unitarian missionary, and, at last,

it is said, met a death by violence.

Lord Selkirk was in the Eed Biver VaUey
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during the summer of ISlTrand on the eighteenth

of July concluded a treaty with the Crees and
Saulteaux, for a tract of land beginning at the

mouth of the Red Eiver, and extending along

the same as far as the Great Forks (now Grand
Forks) at the mouth of Eed Lake River, and
along the Assinniboine Eiver as far as Musk Rat
Eiver, and extending to the distance of six miles

from Fort Douglas on every side, and likewise

from Fort Daer (Pembina) and also from the

Great Forks, and in other parts extending to the

distance of two miles from the banks of the said

rivers.

Having restored order and confidence, attend-

ed by three or four persons he crossed the plains

to the Minnesota River, and from thence pro-

ceeded to St. Louis. The Indian agent at

Prairie du Chien was not pleased with Selkirk's

trip through Minnesota; and on the sixth of

February, 1818, wrote the Governor of Illinois

under excitement, some groundless suspicions :

•' What do you suppose, sir, has been the re-

sult of the passage through my agency of this

British nobleman? Two entire bands, and part

of a third, all Sioux, have deserted us and joined

Dickson, who has distributed to them large quan-

tities of Indian presents, together with flags,

medals, etc. Knowing this, what must have been

my feelings on hearing that his lordship had met

with a favourable reception at St. Louis. The
newspapers announcing his arrival, and general

Scottish appearance, all tend to discompose me

;

believing as I do, that he is plotting with his

friend Dickson our destruction—sharpening the

savage scalping knife, and colonizing a tract of

country, so«remote as that of the Red River, for

the purpose, no doubt, of monopolizing the fur

and peltry trade of this river, the Missouri and

their waters ; a trade of the first importance to

our )Vestern States and Territories. A courier

who had arrived a few days since, confirms the

belief that Dickson is endeavouring to undo what
I have done, and secure to the British govern-

ment the affections of the Sioux, and subject the

Northwest Company to his lordship. * * *

Dickson, as I have before observed, is situated

near the head of the St. Peter's, to which place

he transports his goods from Selkirk's Red River

establishment, in carts made for the purpose.

The trip is performed in five days, sometimes

less. He is directed to build a fort on the high-

est land between Lac du Traverse and Eed River,

which he supposes will be the established lines.

This fort will be defended by twenty men, mth
two small pieces of artillery."

In the year 1820, at Berne, Switzerland, a cir-

cular was issued, signed, R. May D'Uzistorf,

Captain, in his Britannic Majesty's service, and

agent Plenipotentiary to Lord Selkirk. Like

many documents to induce emigration, it was so

highly colored as to prove a delusion and a

snare. The climate was represented as "mild

and healthy." " Wood either for building or

fuel in the greatest plenty," and the country

supplying "in profusion, whatever can be re-

quired for the convenience, pleasure or comfort

of life." Remarkable statements considering

that every green thing had been devoured the

year before by grasshoppers.

Under the influence of these statements, a num-
ber were induced to embark. In the spring of

1821, about two hundred persons assembled on

the banks of the Rhine to proceed to the region

west of Lake Superior. Having desce'nded the

Rhine to the vicinity of Rotterdam, they went

aboard the sMp "Lord Wellington," and after a

voyage across the Atlantic, and amid the ice-

floes of Hudson's Bay, they reached York Fort.

Here they debarked, and entering batteaux, as-

cended Nelson River for twenty days, when they

came to Lake AVinnipeg, and coasting along the

west shore they reached the Red River of the

North, to feel that they had been deluded, and

to long for a milder clime. If they did not sing

the Switzer's Song of Home, they appreciated its

sentiments, and gradually these immigrants re-

moved to the banks of the Mississippi River.

Some settled in ^Minnesota, and were the first to

raise cattle, and tUl the soil.
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CHAPTER Xyi.

rOET SNELITNG DTTEIHG ITS OCCUPANCY BY COMPAISTEES OF THE .FIFTH EEGIMENT tT. S. IKFANTBY.
A. D. 1819, TO A. D. 1827.
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at Prairie da Chien—Birth in Camp—Troops arrive at Mendota—Cantonment

Estaiilished—Wheat carried to Pembina—Notice of Devotion, Prescott, and

Major Taliaferro—Camp Cold Water Established—Col. Snelling takes command
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—

Arrival of first Steamboat—Ma,ior Long's Expedition to Horthern Boundary-
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—

Death of Colonel Snelling.

The rumor that Lord Selkirk was founding a

colony on the borders of the United States, and

that, the British trading companies within the

boundaries of what became the territory of Min-

nesota, convinced the authorities at Washington

of the importance of a military occupation of the

valley of the Upper Mississippi.

By direction of Major General Brown, the fol-

lowing order, on the tenth of Tebruary, 1819, was
issued

:

"Major General Macomb, commander of the

Pifth Military department, will without delay,

concentrate at Detroit the Fifth Regiment of In-

fantry, excepting the recruits otherwiso directed

by the general order herewith transmitted. As
soon as the navigation of the lakes will admit, he

will cause the regiment to be transported to Port

Howard; from thence, by the way of the Pox
and Wisconsin Rivers, to Prairie du Chien, and,

after detaching a sufficient number of companies

to garrison Ports Crawford and Armstrong, the

remainder will proceed to the mouth of the River

St. Peter's, where they will establish a post, at

which the headquarters of the regiment will be

located. The regiment, previous to its depar-

tiu:e, will receive the necessary supplies of cloth-

ing, provisions, arms, and ammunition. Imme-
diate application will be made to Brigadier Gen-

eral Jesup, Quartermaster General, for funds

necessary to execute the movements required by
this order."

On the thirteenth of April, this additional order

was issued, at Detroit

:

"The season having now arrived when the

lakes may be navigated with safety, a detach-

ment of the Pifth Regiment, to consist of Major

Marston's and Captain Powle's companies, under

the command of Major Muhlenburg, will proceed

to Green Bay. Surgeon's Mate, R. M. Byrne, of

the Fifth Regiment, will accompany the detach-

ment. The Assistant Deputy Quartermaster

General will furnish the necessary transport, and

will send by the same opportunity two hundred

barrels of provisions, which he will draw from the

contractor at this post. The provisions must be

examined and inspected, and properly put up for

transportation. Colonel Leavenworth will, vsdth-

out delay, prepare his regiment to move to the

post on the Mississippi, agreeable to the Divi-

sion order of the tenth of February. The Assist-

ant Deputy Quartermaster General will furnish

the necessary transportation, to be ready by the

first of May next. The Colonel will make requi-

sition for such stores, ammunition, tools and
implements as may be required, and he be able to

take with him on the expedition. Particular in-

structions will be given to the Colonel, explaining

the objects of his expedition."

EVENTS OF THE YEAR 1819.

On Wednesday, the last day of June, Col. Leav-
enworth and troops arrived from Green Bay, at

Prairie du Chien. Scarcely had they reached
this point when Charlotte Seymour, the wife of

Lt. jSTathan Clark, a native of Hartford, Ct.,

gave birth to a daughter, whose first baptismal
name was Charlotte, after her mother, and the

second Ouisconsin, given by the officers in view
of the fact that she was bom at the junction of

that stream with the Mississippi.

In time Charlotte Ouisconsin married a youug
Lieutenant, a native of Princeton, New Jersey,

and a graduate of West Point, and still resides

with her husband. General H. P. Van Cleve, in
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the city of Minrz-sapolis, living to do good as she

has opportunity.

In June, under instructions from the "War

Department, Major Thomas Forsytli, connected

with the oflBce of Indian affairs, left St. Louis

with two thousand dollars worth of goods to be

distributed among the Sioux Indians, in accor-

dance with the agreement of 1805, already re-

ferred to, by the late General Pike.

About nine o'clock of the morning of the fifth

of July, he joined Leavenworth and his command
at Prairie du Chien. Some time was occupied by

Leavenworth awaiting the arrival of ordnance,

provisions and recruits, but on Sunday morning,

the eighth of August, about eight o'clock, the

expedition set out for the point now known as

Mendota. The flotilla was quite imposing; there

were the Colonel's barge, fourteen batteaux with

ninety-eight soldiers and ofBcers, two large canal

or Mackinaw boats, filled with various stores, and

Porsyth'D keel boat, containing goods and pres-

ents fov the Indians. On the twenty-third of

Augus*', Forsyth reached the mouth of the Min-

nesota with his boat, and the next morning Col.

Leave'aworth arrived, and selecting a place at

Mendota, near the present railroad bridge, he

ordered the soldiers to cut down trees and make
a clearing. On the next Saturday Col. Leaven-

worth, Major Vose, Surgeon Purcell, Lieutenant

Clark and the wife of Captain Gooding ivited

the PaUs of Saint Anthony with Porsyth, in

his keel boat.

Early in September two more boats and a bat-

teaux, with officers and one hundred ajid twenty

recruits, arrived.

During the winter of 1820, Laidlow and others,

in behalf of Lord Selkirk's Scotch settlers at

Pembina, whose crops had been destroyed by

grasshoppers, passed the Cantonment, on their

way to Prairie du Chien, to purchase wheat.

Upon the fifteenth of AprU they began their

return vsdth their Mackinaw boats, each loaded

with two himdred bushels of wheat, one hundred
of oats, and thirty of peas, and reached the mouth
of the Minnesota early in May. Ascending this

stream to Big Stone Lake, the boats were drawn
on rollers a mile and a half to Lake Traverse,

and on the thirdpf June arrived at Pembina and
cheered the desponding and needy settlers of the

Selkirk colony.

The first sutler of the post was a Mr. Devotion.

He brought with him a young man named Phi-

lander Prescott, who was bom in ISOl, at Phelps-

town, Ontario county, Xew York. At first they

stopped at Mud Hen Island, in the Mississippi

below the mouth of the St. Croix River. Coming

up late in the year 1819, at the site of the pres-

ent town of Hastings they found a keel-boat

loadedwith supplies for the cantonment, in charge

of Lieut. OUver, detained by the ice.

Amid all the changes of the troops, Mr. Pres-

cott remained nearly all his life in the vicinity of

the post, to which he came when a mere lad, and

was at length killed in the Sioux Massacre.

EVENTS OF THE YEAR 1820

In the spruig of 1820, Jean Baptiste Faribault

brought up Leavenworth's horses from Prairie

du Chien.

The first Indian Agent at the post was a former

army officer, Lawrence Taliaferro, pronounced

Toliver. As he had the confidence of the Gov-

ernment for twenty-one successive years, he is

deserving of notice.

His family was of Italian origin, and among
the early settlers of Virginia. He was born in

1794, in King William county in that State, and
when, in 1812, war was declared against Great

Britain, with four brothers, he entered the army,

and was commissioned as Lieutenant of the

Thirty-flfth Infantry. He behaved gallantly at

Fort Erie and Sackett's Harbor, and after peace

was declared, he was retained as a First Lieuten-

ant of the Third Infantry. In 1816 he was sta-

tioned at Fort Dearborn, now the site of Chicago.

"WhUe on a furlough, he called one day upon
President Monroe, who told him that a fort would
be built near the Palls of Saint Anthony, and an
Indian Agency established, to which he offered

to appoint him. His commission was dated

March 27th, 1819, and he proceeded in due time
to his post.

On the fifth day of May, 1820, Leavenworth
left his winter quarters at Mendota, crossed the

stream and made a summer camp near the

present military grave yard, which in consequence
of a fine spring has been called " Camp Cold
Water." The Indian agency, under Taliaferro,

remained for a time at the old cantonment.

The commanding officer estabhshed a fine
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garden in the bottom lands of the Mmnesota,

and on the fifteenth of June the earliest garden

peas were eaten. The first distuiguished visitors

at the new encampment were Governor Lewis

Cass, of Michigan, and Henry Schoolcraft, who
arrived in July, by way of Lake Superior and

Sandy Lake.

The relations between Col. Leavenworth and

Indian Agent Taliaferro were not entirely har-

monious, growing out of a disagreement of views

relative to the treatment of the Indians, and on

the day of the arrival of Governor Cass, Tel-

iaferro writes to Leavenworth :

" As it is now understood that I am agent for

Indian affairs in this country, and you are about

to leave the upper Mississippi, in all probability

in the course of a month or two, I beg leave to

suggest, for the sake of a general understanding

with the Indian tribes in this country, that any

medals, you may possess, would by being turned

over to me, cease to be a topic of remark among
the different Indian tribes under my direction.

I will pass to you any voucher that may be re-

quired, and I beg leave to observe that any pro-
,

gress in influence is much impeded in conse-

quence of this frequent intercourse with the gar-

rison."

In a few days, the disastrous effect of Indians

mingligg with the soldiers was exhibited. On
the third of August, the agent wrote to Leaven-

worth:

" His Excellency Governor Cass during his

visit to this post remarked to me that the Indians

jn this quarter were spoiled, and at the same

time said they should not be permitted to enter

the camp. An unpleasant affair has lately taken

place ; I mean the stabbing of the old chief

Mahgossau by his comrade. This was caused,

doubtless, by an anxiety to obtata the chief's

whiskey. I beg, therefore, that no whiskey

whatever be given to any Indians, unless it be

through their proper agent. While an overplus

of whiskey thwarts the beniflcent and humane
policy of the government, it entails misery upon
the Indians, and endangers their lives."

A few days after this note was v/ritten Josiah

SneUing, who had been recently promoted to the
Colonelcy of the Fifth Eegiment, arrived with
his family, relieved Leavenworth, and infused

new life and energy. A little wMle before his

arrival, the daughter of Captain Gooding was

married to Lieutenant Green, the Adjutant of

the regiment, the first marriage of white persons

in Minnesota. Mrs. Snelling, a few days after

her arrival, gave birth to a daughter, the first

white child bom in Minnesota, and after a brief

existence of thirteen months, she died and was

the first interred in the_ military grave yard, and

for years the stone which marked its resting

place, was visible.

The earliest manuscript in Minnesota, written

at the Cantonment, is dated October 4, 1820, and

is in the handwriting of Colonel Snelling. It

reads :
" In justice to Lawrence Taliaferro, Esq.,

Indian Agent at this post, we, the undersigned,

officers of the Fifth Eegiment here stationed,

have presented him this paper, as a token, not

only of our individual respect and esteem, but as

an entire approval of his conduct and deportment

as a public agent in this quarter. Given at St.

Peter, this 4th day of October, 1820.

J. Snelling, H. Clakk,

Col. 5th Inf. Lieutenant.

S. Bttbbank, Jos. Haeb,
Br. Major. Lieutenant.

David Pbeet, Ed. Puecbll,

Captain. Surgeon,

D. Gooding, P. E. Geeen,
Brevet Captain. Lieut, and Adjt.

J. Plympton, W. G. Camp,

Lieutenant. Lt. and Q. M.
E. A. McCabe, H. Wilkins,

Lieutenant. Lieutenant."

During the summer of 1820, a party of the

Sisseton Sioux killed on the Missouri, Isadore

Poupon, a half-breed, and Joseph Andrews, a

Canadian engaged in the fur trade. The Indian

Agent, through Colin Campbell, as interpreter,

notified the Sissetons that trade would cease

with them, until the murderers were delivered.

At a council held at Big Stone Lake, one of the

murderers, and the aged father of another, agreed

to surrender themselves to the commanding
ofllcer.

On the twelfth of November, accompamed by
their friends, they approached the encampment
in solemn- procession, and marched to the centre

of the parade. First appeared a Sisseton bear-

ing a British flag ; then the murderer and the de-

voted father of another, their arms pinioned, and



ABBIVAl, OF THE FIBST STEAMBOAT. 93

large wooden splinters thrust through the flesh

above the elbows indicating their contempt for

pain and death ; in the rear followed friends and

relatives, with them chanting the death dirge.

Having arrived in front of the guard, fire was

kindled, and the British flag burned ; then the

murderer delivered up his medal, and both prison-

ers were surrounded. Col. Snelling detained tl;e

old chief, while the murderer was sent to St.

Louis for trial.

EVENTS OF THE YEAR 1821.

Col. Snelling built the fort in the shape of a

lozenge, in view of the projection between the

two rivers. The first row of barracks was of

hewn logs, obtained from the pine forests of Eum
River, but the other buildings were of stone.

Mrs. Van Cleve, the daughter of Lieutenant,

afterwards Captain Clark, writes :

" In 1821 the fort, although not complete, was

fit for occupancy. My father had assigned to

him the quarters next beyond the steps leading

to the Commissary's stores, and during the year

my little sister Juliet was born there. At a later

period my father and Major Garland obtained

permission to build more commodious quarters

outside the walls, and the result was the two

stone houses afterwards occupied by the Indian

Agent and interpreter, lately destroyed."

Early in August, a yoimg and intelligent mixed

blood, Alexis Bailly, in after years a member of

the legislature of Minnesota, left the cantonment

with the first drove of cattle for the Selkirk Set-

tlement, and the next winter returned with Col.

Robert Dickson and Messrs. Laidlow and Mac-

kenzie.

The next month, a party of Sissetons visited

the Indian Agent, and told him that they had

started with another of the murderers, to which

reference has been made, but that on the way he

had, through fear of being hung, killed himself.

This fall, a mill was constructed for the use of

the garrison, on the west side of St. Anthony

PallSjUnder the supervision of LieutenantMcCabe.

During the fall, George Gooding, Captain by

brevet, resigned, and became Sutler at Prairie du

Chien. He was a native of Massachusetts, and

entered the army as ensign in 1808. In 1810 he

became a Second Lieutenant, and the next year

was wounded at Tippecanoe.

In the middle of October, there embarked on

the keel-boat " Saucy Jack," for Prairie du Chien,

Col. Snelling, Lieut. Baxley, Major Taliaferro,

and Mrs. Gooding,

EVENTS OF 1822 AND 1823.

Early in January, 1822, there came to the Fort

from the Red River of the North, Col. Robert

Dickson, Laidlow, a Scotch farmer, the superin-

tendent of Lord Selkirk's experimental farm, and

one Mackenzie, on their way to Prairie du Chien.

Dickson returned with a drove of cattle, but

owing to the hostility of the Sioux his cattle were

scattered, and never reached Pembina.

During the winter of 1823, Agent TaliafeiTO

was in Washington. While returning in March,

he was at a hotel in Pittsburg, when he received

a note signed G. C. Beltrami, who was an Italian

exile, asking permission to accompany him to the

Indian territory. He was tall and commanding

in appearance, and gentlemanly in bearing, and

Taliaferro was so forcibly impressed as to accedo

to the request. After reaching St. Louis they

embarked on the first steamboat for the Upper

Mississippi.

It was named the Virginia, and was built in

Pittsburg, twenty-two feet in width, and one

hundred and eighteen feet in length, in charge of

a Captain Crawford. It reached the Fort on the

tenth of May, and was saluted by the discharge

of cannon. Among the passengers, besides the

iVgent and the Italian, were Major Biddle, Lieut.

Russell, and others.

The arrival of the Virginia is an era in the

history of the Dahkotah nation, and will proba-

bly be transmitted to their posterity as long as

they exist as a people. They say their sacred

men, the night before, dreamed of seeing some

monster of the waters, which frightened them

very much.

As the boat neared the shore, men, women,

and children beheld with silent astonishment,

supposing that it was some enormous water-spirit,

coughing, puffing out hot breath, and splashing

water in every direction. When it touched the

landing their fears prevailed, and they retreated

some distance; but when the blowing off of

steam commenced they were completely un-

nerved : mothers forgetting their children, with

streaming hair, sought hiding-places ; chiefs, re-
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nouncing their stoicism, scampered away like

afErigMed animals.

The peace agreement beteen the Ojibways and

Dahkotahs, made through the influence of Gov-

ernor Cass, was of brief duration, the latter be-

ing the first to violate the provisions.

On the fourth of June, Taliaferro, the Indian

agent among the Dahkotahs, took advantage of

the presence of a large number of Ojibways to

renew the agreement for the cessation of hostili-

ties. Tlie council hall of the agent was a large

room of logs, in which waved conspicuously the

flag of the United States, surrounded by British

colors and medals that had been delivered up

from time to time by Indian chiefs.

Among the Dahkotah chiefs present were

Wapashaw, Little Crow, and Penneshaw ; of the

Ojibways there were Kendouswa, Moshomene,

and Pasheskonoepe. After mutual accusations

and excuses concerning the infraction of the pre-

vious treaty, the Dahkotahs lighted the calumet,

they having been the first to infringe upon the

agreement of 1820. After smoking and passing

the pipe of peace to the Ojibways, who passed

through the same formalities, they all shook

hands as a pledge of renewed amity.

The morning after the council, Plat Mouth,

the distinguished Ojibway chief, arrived, who

had left his lodge vowing that he would never be

at peace with the Dahkotahs. As he stepped from

his canoe, Penneshaw held out his hand, but was

repulsed with scorn. The Dahkotah warrior

immediately gave the alarm, and in a moment
runners were on their way to the neighbormg

villages to raise a war party.

On the sixth of June, the Dahkotahs had assem-

bled, stripped for a fight, and surrounded the

Ojibways. The latter, fearing the worst, con-

cealed their women and children behind the old

barracks which had been used by the troops while

the fort was being erected. At the solicitation of

the agent and commander of the fort, the Dahko-

tahs desisted from an attack and retired.

On the seventh, the Ojibways left for their

homes ; but, in a few hours, while they were

making a portage at Palls of St. Anthony, they

were again approached by the Dahkotahs, who
would have attacked them, if a detachment of

troops had not arrived from the fort.

A rumor reaching Penneshaw 's village that he

had been killed at the falls, his mother seized an

Ojibway maiden, who had been a captive froiB

infancy, and, with a tomahawk, cut her in two.

Upon tlie return of the son in safety he wasmuch

gratified at what he considered the prowess of

his parent.

On the third of July, 1823, Major Lon'g, of the

engineers, arrived at the fort in command of an

expedition to explore the Minnesota River, and

the region along the northern boundary line of

the United States. Beltrami, at the request of

Col. Snelling, was permitted to be of the party,

and Major Taliaferro kindly gave him a horse

and equipments.

The relations of the Italian to Major Long were

not pleasant, and at Pembina Beltrami left the

expedition, and with a " bois brule ", and two

Ojibways proceeded and discovered the northern

sources of the Mississippi, and suggested where

the western sources would be found ; which was

verified by Schoolcraft nine years later. About

the second week in September Beltr.ami returned

to the fort by way of the Mississippi, escorted by

forty or fifty Ojibways, and on the 25th departed

for New Orleans, where he published his discov-

eries in the French language.

The mill which was constructed in 1821, for

sawing lumber, at the Falls of St. Anthony, stood

upon the site of the Holmes and Sidle Mill, in

Minneapolis, and in 1823 was fitted up for grind-

ing flour. Tlie following extracts from corres-

pondence addressed to Lieut. Clark, Commissary

at Fort Snelling, will be read with interest.

Under the date of August 5th, 1823, General

Gibson writes :
" Prom a letter addressed by

Col. Snelling to tlie Quartermaster General,

dated the 2d of April, I learn that a large quan-

tity of wheat would be raised this summer. The

assistant Commissary of Subsistence at St. Louis

has been instructed to forward sickles and a pair

of millstones to St. Peters. If any flour is manu-

factured from the wheat raised, be pleased to let

me know as early as practicable, that I may deduct

the quantity manufactured at the post from the

quantity advertised to be contracted for."

In another letter. General Gibson writes

:

" Below you vnll find the amount charged on the

books against the garrison at Ft. St. Anthony,

for certain articles, and forwarded for the use of

the troops at that post, which you wiU deduct
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from the payments to be made for flour raised

and turned over to you for issue :

One pair buhr millstones $250 11

337 pounds plaster of Paris.
'

20 22

Two dozen sickles 18 00

Total $288 83

Upon the 19tli of January, 1824, the General

writes: " The mode suggested by Col. Snelling,

of fixing the price to be paid to the troops for the

flour furnished by them is deemed equitable and

just. You wUl accordingly pay for the flour

$3.33 per barrel."

Charlotte Ouisconsin Van Cleve, now the oldest

person living who was connected with the can-

tonment in 1819, in a paper read before the De-

partment of American History of the Minnesota

Historical Society in January, 1880, wrote

:

" In 1823, Mrs. Snelling and my mother estab-

lished the first Sunday School in the Northwest.

It was held in the basement of the commanding

officer's quarters, and was productive of much

good. Many of the soldiers, with their families,

attended. Joe. Brown, since so well know in

this country, then a drummer boy, was one of

the pupils. A Bible class, for the officers and

their wives, was formed, and all became so inter-

ested in the history of the patriarchs, that it fur-

nished topics of conversation for the week. One

day after the Sunday School lesson on the death of

Moses, a member of the class meeting my mother

on the parade, after exchanging the usual greet-

ings, said, in saddened tones, ' But don't you feel

sorry that Moses is dead ?

'

Early in the spring of 1824, the Tully boys

were rescued from the Sioux and brought to the

fort. They were children of one of the settlers

of Lord Selkirk's colony, and with their parents

and others, were on their way from Bed River

Valley to settle near Fort SneUing.

The party was attacked by Indians, and the

parents of these children murdered, and the boys

captured. Through the influence of Col. Snell-

ing the children were ransomed and brought

to the fort. Col. Snelling took ^lohn and

my father Andrew, the younger of the two.

Everyone became interested in the orphans, and

we loved Andrew as if he had been our own lit-

tle brother. John died some two years after his

arrival at the fort, and Mrs. Snelling asked me

when I last saw her if a tomb stone had been

placed at his grave, she as requested, during a

visit to the old home some years ago. She said

she received a promise that it should be done,

and seemed quite disappointed when I told her it

had not been attended to."

Andrew Tully, after being educated at an

Orphan Asylum in New York City, became a

carriage maker, and died a few years ago in that

vicinity.

EVENTS OF THE YEAR A. D. 1824.

In the year 1824 the Fort was visited by Gen.

Scott, on a tour of inspection, and at his sug-

gestion, its name was changed from Fort St.

Anthony to Fort Snelling. The following is an

extract froni his report to the War Department

:

" This work, of which the War Department is

in possession of a plan, reflects the highest credit

on Col. Snelling, his officers and men. The de-

fenses, and for the most part, the public store-

houses, shops and quarters being constructed of

stone, the whole is likely to endure as long as the

post shall remain a frontier one. The cost of

erection to the government has been the amount
paid for tools and iron, and the per diem paid

to soldiers employed as mechanics. I wish to

suggest to the General in Chief, and through him
to the War Department, the propriety of calling

this work Fort Snelling, as a just compliment

to the meritorious officer under whom it has

been erected. The present name, (Fort St. An-
thony), is foreign to all our associations, and is,

besides, geographically incorrect, as the work
stands at the junction of the Mississippi and

St. Peter's [Minnesota] Elvers, eight miles be-

low the great falls of the Mississippi, called

after St. Anthony."

In 1824, Major Taliaferro proceeded to Wash-
ington with a delegation of Gliippeways and Dah-
kotahs, headed by Little Crow, the gi-and father

of the chief of the same name, who was engaged
in the late horrible massacre of defenceless

women and children. The object of the visit, was
to secure a convocation of all the tribes of the

Upper Mississippi, at Prairie du Cheui, to define

theirboundary lines and establish friendly rela-

tions. When they reached Prairie du Chein,

Wahnatah, a Yankton chief, and also Wapashaw,
by the whisperings of mean traders, became dis-
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affected, and wished to turn back. Little Crow,

perceiving this, stopped all hesitancy by the fol-

lowing speech: "My friends, you can do as you

please. I am no coward, nor can my ears be

pulled about by evil counsels. We are here and

should go on, and do some good for our nation.

I have taken our Father here (Taliaferro) by the

coat tail, and will follow him until I take by the

hand, our great American Father."

While on board of a steamer on the Ohio

Eiver, Marcpee or the Cloud, in consequence of a

bad dream, jumped from the stern of the boat,

and was supposed to be drowned, but he swam
ashore and made his way to St. Charles, Mo.,

there to be murdered by some Sacs. The re-

mainder safely arrived in Washington and ac-

complished the object of the visit. •The Dahko-

tahs returned by way of New York, and while

there were anxious to pay a visit to certain par-

ties with Wm. Dickson, a half-breed son of Col

Kobert Dickson, the trader, who in the war of

1812-15 led the Indians of the Northwest against

the United States.

After this visit Little Crow carried a new
double-barreled gun, and said that a medicine

man by the name of Peters gave it to him for

signing a certain paper, and that he also prom-

ised he would send a keel-boat full of goods to

them. The medicine man referred to was the

Bev. Samuel Peters, an Episcopal clergyman,

who had made himself obnoxious during the

Eevolution by his tory sentiments, and was sub-

sequently nominated as Bishop of Vermont.

Peters asserted that in 1806 he had purchased

of the heirs of Jonathan Carver the right to a

tract of land on the upper Mississippi, embracing

St. Paul, alleged to have been given to Carver by
the Dahkotahs, in 1767.

The next year there arrived, in one of the keel-

boats from Prairie du Chien, at Port Snelling a

box marked Col. Eobert Dickson. On opening, it

was found to contain a few presents from Peters

to Dickson's Indian wife, a long letter, and a

copy of Carver's alleged grant, written on parch-

ment.

EVENTS OF THE TEARS 1825 AND 1826.

On the 30th of October, 1825, seven Indian
women in canoes, were drawn into the rapids

above the Palls of St. Anthony. All were saved

but a lame girl, who was dashed over the cata-

ract, and a month later her body was found at

Pike's Island in front of the fort.

Forty years ago, the means of communication

between Fort Snelling and the civilized world

were very limited. The mail in winter was usu-

ally carried by soldiers to Prairie du Chien. On
the 26th of January, 1826, there was great joy in

the fort, caused by the return from furlough of

Lieutenants Baxley and Eussell, who brought

with them the first mail received for five months.

About this period there was also another excite-

ment, cause by the seizure of liquors in the trad"

ing house of Alexis Bailey, at New Hope, now

Mendota.

During the months of February and March, in

this year, snow fell to the- depth of two or three

feet, and there was great suffering among the

Indians. On one occasion, thirty lodges of Sisse-

ton and other Sioux were overtaken by a snow

storm on a large prairie. The storm continued

for three days, and provisions grew scarce, for

the party were seventy in number. At last, the

stronger men, with the few pairs of snow-shoes

in their possession, started for a trading post one

hundred miles distant. They reached their des-

tination half alive, and the traders sympathizing

sent four Canadians with supplies for those left

behind. After great toil they reached the scene

of distress, and found many dead, and, what was

more horrible, the living feeding on the corpses

of their relatives. A mother had eaten her dead

child and a portion of her own father's arms.

The shock to her nervous system was so great

that she lost her reason. Her name was Pash-

uno-ta, and she was both young and good look-

ing. One day in September, while at Fort Snell-

ing, she asked Captain Jouett if he knew which

was the best portion of a man to eat, at the.same

time taking him by the collar of his coat. He
replied with great astonishment, "No !" and she

then said, "The arms." She then asked for a

piece of his servant to eat, as she was nice and

fat. A few days after this she dashed herself

from the bluffs near Fort Snelling, into the river.

Her body was found just above the mouth of the

Minnesota, and decently interred by the agent.

The spring of 1826 was very backward. On
the 20th of March snow fell to the depth of one

or one and a half feet on a level, and drifted in
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heaps from six to fifteen feet in height. On the

6th of April, early in the day, there was a violent

storm, and the ice was still thick in the river.

During the storm flashes of lightning were seen

and thunder heard. On the 10th, the thermome-

ter was four degrees above zero. On the 14th

there was raiu, and on the next day the St. Peter

river broke up, but the ice on the Mississippi re-

mained firm. On the 21st, at noon, the ice began

to move, and carried away Mr. Faribault's houses

on the east side of the river. For several days

the river was twenty feet above low water mark,

and all the houses on low lands were swept off.

On the second of May, the steamboat Lawrence,

Captain Eeeder, arrived.

Major Taliaferro had inherited several slaves,

which he used to hire -to oflBcers of the garrison.

On the 31st of March, his negro boy, "William,

was employed by Col. Snelling, the latter agree-

ing to clothe him. About this time, William at-

tempted to shoot a hawk, but instead shot a small

boy, named Henry CuUum, and nearly killed him.

In May, Captain Plympton, of the Fifth Infantry,

wished to purchase his negro woman, Eliza, but

he refused, as it was his intention, ultimately, to

free his slaves. Another of his negro girls, Har-

riet, was married at the fort, the Major perform-

ing the ceremony, to the now historic Dred Scott,

who was then a slave of Surgeon Emerson. The

only person that ever purchased a slave, to retain

in slavery, was Alexis Bailly, who bought a man
of Major Garland. The Sioux, at first, had no

prejudices' against negroes. They called them
" Black Frenchmen," and placing their hands on

their woolly heads would laugh heartily.

The foUovnng is a list of the steamboats that

had arrived at Fort Snelling, up to jMay 26, 1826 :

1 Virgmia, May 10, 1823 ; 2 Neville ; 3 Put-

nam, April 2, 1825 ; 3 Mandan ; 5 Indiana ; 6 Law-

rence, May 2, 1826 ; 7 Sciota ; 8 Eclipse ; 9 Jo-

sephine; 10 Fulton; 11 Bed Bover; 12 Black

Eover ; 13 Warrior ; 14 Enterprise ; 15 ^^olant.

Life within the walls qf a fort is sometimes the

exact contrast of a paradise. In the year 1826 a

Pandora box was opened, among the officers, and

dissensions began to prevail. One young officer,

a graduate of West Point, whose father hadbeen

a professor in Princeton College, fought a duel

with, and slightly wounded, William Joseph, the

talented son of Colonel SneUing, who was then

7

twenty-two years of age, and had been three years

at West Point. At a Court Martial convened to

try the officer for violating the Articles of War,

the accused objected to the testimony of Lieut.

William Alexander, a Tennesseean, not a gradu-

ate of the Military Academy, on the ground that

he was an infidel. Alexander, hurt by this allu-

sion, challenged the objector, and another duel

was fought, resulting only in slight injuries to

the clothing of the combatants. Inspector Gen-

eral E. P. Gaines, after this, visited the fort, and

in his report of the inspection he wrote : "A
defect in the discipline of this regiment has ap-

peared in the character of certain personal con-

troversies, between the Colonel and several of his

yoxmg officers, the particulars of which I forbear

to enter into, assured as I am that they will be

developed in the proceedings of a general court

martial ordered for the trial of Lieutenant Hun-

ter and other officers at Jefferson Barracks.

" From a conversation with the Colonel I can

have no doubt that he has erred in the course

pursued by him in reference to some of the con-

troversies, inasmuch as he has intimated to his

officers his willingness to sanction in certain cases,

and even to participate in personal conflicts, con-

trary to the twenty-fifth. Article of War."

The Colonel's son, WiUiam Joseph, after this

passed several years among traders and Indians,

and became distinguished as a poet and brilliant

author.

His "Tales of the Northwest," published in

Boston in 1820, by Hilliard, Gray, Little & WH-
kins, is a work of great literary ability, and CatUn

thought the book was the most faithful picture of

Indian life he had read. Some of his poems were

also of a high order. One of his pieces, deficient

in dignity, was a caustic satire upon modem
American poets, and was published under the

title of " Truth, a Gift for Scribblers."

Nathaniel P. WilUs, who had winced under

the last, wrote the following lampoon

:

" Oh, smelling Joseph I Thou art like a cur.

I'm told thovi once did live by himting fur :

Of bigger dogs thou smellest, and, in sooth.

Of one extreme, perhaps, can tell the truth.

'Tis a wise shift, and shows thou know'st thy

powers.

To leave the ' North West tales,' and take to

smelling oiirs."
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In 1832 a second edition of " Truth " appeared

witli additions and emendations. In this ap-

peared the following pasquinade upon "Willis :

"I live by hunting fur, thou say'st, so let it he,

But tell me, Natty ! Had I hunted thee,

Had not my time been thrown away, young sir,

And eke my powder ? Puppies have no fur.

Our tails ? Thou ownest thee to a tail,

I've scanned thee o'er and o'er

But, though I guessed the species right,

I was not sure before.

Our savages, authentic travelers say,

To natural fools, religious homage pay,

Hadst thou been bom in wigwam's smoke, and

died ia,

Nat ! thine apotheosis had been certain."

Snelling died at Chelsea, Mass., December six-

teenth, 1848, a victim to the appetite which en-

enslaved Robert Burns.

In the year 1826, a small party of Ojibways

(Chippeways) came to see the Indian Agent,

and three of them ventured to visit the Colum-

bia Pur Company's trading house, two miles

from the Port. While there, they became

aware of their danger, and desired two of the

white men attached to the establishment to

accompany them back, thinking that their pres-

ence might be some protection. They were in

error. As they passed a little copse, three Dah-

kotahs sprang from behind a logwith the speed of

light, flred their pieces into the face of the fore-

most, and then fled. The guns must have been

double loaded, for the man's head was literally

blown from his shoulders, and his white com-

panions were spattered with brains and blood.

The survivors gained the Port without further

molestation. Their comrade was buried on the

spot where he fell. A staff was set up on his

grave, which became a landmark, and received

the name of The Murder Pole. The murderers

boasted of their achievement and with impunity.

They and their tribe thought that they had struck

a fair blow on their ancient enemies, in a becom-

ing manner. It was only said, that Toopunkah
Zeze of the village of the Batture aiix Fievres,

and two others, had each acquired a right to

wear skunk skins on their heels and war-eagles'

feathers on their heads.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1827.

On the twenty-eighth of May, 1827, the Ojib-

way chief at Sandy Lake, Kee-wee-zais-hish

called by the English, Plat Mouth with seven

warriors and some women and children, in all

amounting to twenty-four, arrived about sunrise

at Port Snelling. "Walking to the gates of the

garrison, they asked the protection of Colonel

Snelling and Taliaferro, the Indian agent. They

were told, that as long as they remained under

the United States flag, they were secure, and

were ordered to encamp within musket shot of

the high stone walls of the fort.

During the afternoon, a Dahkotah, Toopunkah

Zeze, from a village near the first rapids of the

Minnesota, visited the Ojibway camp. They

were cordially received, and a feast of meat and

com and sugar, was soon made ready. The

wooden plates emptied of their contents, they

engaged in conversation, and whiiled the peace

pipe.

That night, some ofiicers and their friends were

spending a pleasant evening at the head-quarters

of Captain Clark, which was in one of the stone

houses which used to stand outside of the walls

of the fort. As Captain Cruger was walking on

the porch, a bullet whizzed by, and rapid firing

was heard.

As the Dahkotahs, or Sioux, left the Ojibway

camp, notwithstanding their friendly talk, they

tur-ned and discharged their guns with deadly aim
upon their entertainers, and ran off with a shout

of satisfaction. The report was heard by the

sentinel of the fort, and he cried, repeatedly,,

" Corporal of the guard !" and soon at the gates,

were the Ojibways, with their women and the

wounded, telling their tale of woe in wild and in-

coherent language. Two had been killed and six

wounded. Among others, was a little girl about

seven years old, who was pierced through both

thighs with z bullet. Surgeon McMahon made
every effort to save her life, but without avail.

Plat Mouth, the chief, reminded Colonel Snel-

ling that he had been attacked while under the

protection of the United States flag, and early the

next morning. Captain Clark, with one hundred
soldiers, proceeded towards Land's End, a tra-

ding-post of the Columbia Pur Company, on the

Minnesota, a mile above the former residence of
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Franklin. Steele, where the Dahkotahs were sup-

posed to be. The soldiers had just left the large

gate of the fort, when a party of Dahkotahs, in

battle array, appeared on one of the prairie

hUls. Alter some parleying they turned their

backs, and being pursued, thirty-two were cap-

tured near the trading-post.

Colonel Snelling ordered the prisoners to be

brought before the Ojibways, and two being

pointed out as participants in the slaughter of the

preceding night, they were delivered to the

aggrieved party to deal with in accordance with

their customs. They were led out to the plain

in front of the gate of the fort, and when placed

nearly without the range of the Ojibway guns,

they were told to run for their lives. With the

rapidity of deer they bounded away, but the Ojib-

way bullet flew faster, and after a few steps, they

fell gasping on the ground, and were soonhfeless.

Then the savage nature displayed itself in all its

hideousness. Women and children danced for

joy, and placing their fingers in the bullet holes,

from which the blood oozed, they licked them

with delight. The men tore the scalps from the

dead, and seemed to luxuriate in the privilege of

plunging their knives through the corpses. After

the execution, the Ojibways returned to the fort,

and were met by the Colonel. He had prevented

all over whom his authority extended from wit-

nessing the scene, and had done his best to con-

fine the excitement to the Indians. The same

day a deputation of Dahkotah warriors received

audience, regretting the violence that had been

done by their young men, and agreeing to deliver

up the ringleaders.

At the time appointed, a son of Flat Mouth,

with those of the Ojibwa party that were not

wounded, escorted by United States troops,

inarched forth to meet the Dahkotah deputation,

on the prairie just beyond the old residence of

the Indian agent. With much solemnity two

more of the guilty were handed over to the

assaulted. One was fearless, and with firmness

stripped himself of his clothing and ornaments,

and distributed them. The other could not face

death with composrire. He was noted for a hid-

eous haxe-lip, and had a bad reputation among

his fellows. In the spirit of a coward he prayed

for life, to the mortification of his tribe. The

same opportunity was presented to them as to the

first, of running for their lives. At the first fire

the coward fell a corpse; but his brave compan-

ion, though wounded, ran on, and had nearly

reached the goal of safety, when a second bullet

killed him. The body of the coward now became

a common object of loathing for both Dahkotahs

and Ojibways.

Colonel SnelUng told the Ojibways that the

bodies must be removed, and then they took the

scalped Dahkotahs, and dragging them by the

heels, threw them off the bluff into the river, a

hundred and fifty feet beneath. The dreadful

scene was now over ; and a detachment of troops

was sent with the old chief Flat Mouth, to escort

him out of the reach of Dahkotah vengeance.

An eyewitness wrote :
" After tliis catastrophe,

all the Dahkotahs quitted the vicinity of Fort Snel-

ling, and did not return to it for some months.

It was said that they formed a conspiracy to de-

mand a council, and kill the Indian Agent and

the commanding officer. If this was a fact, they

had no opportunity, or wanted the spirit, to exe-

cute their purpose.

" The Flat Mouth's band lingered in the fort

till their wounded comrade died. He was sensi-

ble of his condition, and bore his pains with great

fortitude. When he felt his end approach, he

desired that his horse might be gaily caparisoned,

and brought to the hospital whidow, so that he

might touch the animal. He then took from his

medicine bag a large cake of maple sugar, and held

it forth. It may seem strange, but it is true, that

the beast ate it from his hand. His features

were radiant with delight as he fell back on the

pillow exhausted. His horse had eaten the sugar,

he said, and he was sure of a favorable reception

and comfortable quarters in the other world.

Half an hour after, he breathed his last. We
tried to discover the details of his superstition,

but could not succeed. It is a subject on which

Indians unwillingly discourse."

In the fall of 1826, all the troops at Prairie du

Chien had been removed to Fort Snelling, the

commander taking with him two Winnebagoes

that had been confined in Fort Crawford. After

the soldiers left the Prairie, the Indians in the

vicinity were quite insolent.

In Jime, 1827, two keel-boats passed Prairie du
Chien on the way to Fort Snelling with provis-

ions. When they reached Wapashaw village, on
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the site of the present town of Winona, the crew

were ordered to come ashore by the Dahfeotahs.

Complying, they found themselves surrounded by

Indians with hostile intentions. The boatmen

had no fire-arms, but assuming a bold mien and a

defiant voice, the captain of the keel-boats ordered

the savages to leave the decks ; which was suc-

cessful, The boats pushed on, and at Bed Wing

and Kaposia the Indians showed that they were

not friendly, though they did not molest the

boats. Before they started on their return from

Fort SneUing, the men on board, amounting to

thirty-two, were all provided with muskets and a

barrel of ball cartridges.

When the descending keel-boats passed Wapa-

shaw, the Dahkotas were engaged in the war

dance, and menaced them, but made no attack.

Below this point one of the boats moved in ad-

vance of the other, and when near the mouth of

the Bad Axe, the half-breeds on board descried

hostile Indians on the banks. As the channel

nea,red the shore, the sixteen men on the first

boat were greeted with the war whoop and a vol-

ley of rifle balls from the excited Winnebagoes,

killing two of the crew. Bushing into their ca-

noes, the Indians made the attempt to board the

boat, and two were successful. One of these

stationed himself at the bow of the boat, and

fired with kilUng efEect on the men below deck.

An old soldier of the last war with Great Britain,

called Saucy Jack, at last despatched him, and

began to rally the fainting spirits on board. Du-

ring the fight the boat had stuck on a sand-bar.

With four companions, amid a shower of balls

from the savages, he plunged into the water and

piished off the boat, and thus moved out of reach

of the galling shots of the Winnebagoes. As
they floated down the river during the night,

they heard a wail in a canoe behind them, the

voice of a father mourning the death of the son

who had scaled the deck, and was now a corpse

in possession of the white men. The rear boat

passed the Bad Axe river late in the night, and

escaped an attack.

The first keel-boat arrived at Prairie du Chein,

with two of their crew dead, four wounded, and

the Indian that had been killed on the boat. The

two dead men had been residents of the Prairie,

and now the panic was increased. On the morn-

ing of the twenty-eighth of June the second

keel -boat appeared, and among her passengers

was Joseph SneUing, the talented son of the

colonel, who wrote a story of deep interest, based

on the facts narrated.

At a meeting of the citizens it was resolved to

repair old Port Crawford, and Thomas McNair

was appointed captain. Dirtwas thrown around

the bottom logs of the fortification to prevent its

being fired, and young Snelling was put in com-

mand of one of the block-houses. On the next

day a voyageur named Loyer, and the well-known

trader Duncan Graham, started through the in-

terior, west of the Mississippi, with intelligence

of the murders, to Port Snelling. IntelUgence

of this attack was received at the fort, on the

evening of the ninth of July, and Col. Snelling

started in keel boats with four companies to Port

Crawford, and on the seventeenth four more

companies left under Major Powle. After an

absence of six weeks, the soldiers, without firing

a gun at the enemy, returned.

A few weeks after the attack upon the keel

boats General Gaines inspected the Port, and,

subsequently in a communication to the War

Department wrote as follows

;

" The main points of defence against an enemy

appear to have been in some respects sacrificed,

in the effort to secure the comfort and conven-

ience of troops in peace. These are important

considerations, but on an exposed frontier the

primary object ought to be security against the

attack of an enemy.

" The buildings are too large, too numerous,

and extending over a space entirely too great,

enclosing a large parade, five times greater than

is at all desireable in that climate. The build-

ings for the most part seem well constructed, of

good stone and other materials, and they contain

every desirable convenience, comfort and securi-

ty as barracks and store houses.

" The work may be rendered very strong and

adapted to a garrison of two hundred men by re-

moving one-half the buildings, and with the ma-

terials of which they are constructed, building a

tower sufficiently high to command the hUl be-

tween the Mississippi and St. Peter's [Minnesota],

and by a block house on the extreme point, or

brow of the cUff, near the commandant's quarters,

to secure most effectually the banks of the river,

and the boats at the landing.
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"Much creuit ij due to Colonel Snelling, liis

oflBcers and men, for their immense labors and

excellent workmanship exhibited in the construc-

tion of these barracks and store houses, but this

has been effected too much at the expense of the

discipline of the regiment."

From reports made from 1823 to 1826, the health

of the troops was good. In the year ending Sep-

tember thirty, 1823, there were but two deaths

;

in 1824 only six, and in 1825 but seven.

In 181':$ there were three desertions, in 1824

twenty-two, and in 1825 twenty-nine. Most of

the deserters were fresh recruits and natives of

America, Ten of the deserters were foreigners,

and five of these were bom in Ireland. In 1826

there were eight companies numbering two hun-

dred and fourteen soldiers quartered in the Fort*

During the fall of 1827 the Pifth Eegiment was

relieved by a part of the First, and the next year

Colonel Snelling proceeded to Washington on bus-

iness, where he died with inflammation of the

braiu. Major General Macomb announcing his

death in an order, vtrote :

" Colonel Snelling joined the army in early

youth. In the battle of Tippecanoe, he was

distinguished for gallantry and good conduct.

Subsequently and during the whole late war with

Great Britain, from the battle of Brownstown to

the termination of the contest, he was actively

employed in the field, with credit to himself, and

honor to his country."
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CHAPTEE XVII.

OCCTJRRENCES IN THE VICINITY OF FOET SNELLING, CONTINUED.

Arrival of J. N. Nicollet—Marriage of James Wells—Nicollet's letter from Falls-

of St. Anthony—Perils of Martin McLeod—Cliippeway treachery—Sioux Re

yenge—Rum River and Stillwater tattles—Grog shops near the Port.

On the second of July 1836, the steamboat

Saint Peter landed supplies, and among its

passengers was the distinguished French as-

tronomer, Jean !N". McoUet (jSTicolay). Major

Taliaferro on the twelfth of July, wrote;

" Mr. Nicollet, on a visit to the post for scientific

research, and at present in my family, has shown

me the late work of Henry B. Schoolcraft on the

discovery of the source of the Mississippi ; which

claim is ridiculous in the extreme." On the

twenty-seventh, McoUet ascended the Mississippi

on a tour of observation.

James Wells, a trader, who afterwards was a

member of the legislature, at the house of Oliver

Cratte, near the fort, was married on the twelfth

of September, by Agent Taliaferro, to Jane, a

daughter of Duncan Graham. Wells was killed

in 1862, by the Sioux, at the time of the massacre

in the Minnesota Valley.

Nicollet in September returned from his trip

to Leech Lake, and on the twenty-seventh wrote

the following to Major TaUaferro the Indian

Agent at the fort, which is supposed to be the

earUest letter extant written from the site of the

city of Minneapolis. As the principal hotel and

one of the finest avenues of that city bears his

name it is worthy of preservation. He spelled

his name sometimes Nicoley, and the pronuncia-

tion in English, would be Nicolay, the same as

if written Mcollet in Prench. The letter shows

that he had not mastered the English language :

" St. Anthony's Palls, 27th September, 1836,

Dbab Friend :—I arrived last evening about

dark; all well, nothing lost, nothing broken,

happy and a very successful journey. But I

done exhausted, and nothing can relieve me, but

the pleasure of meeting you again under your

hospitable roof, and to see all the friends of the

garrison who have been so kind to me.

" This letter is more particularly to give you

a very extraordinary tide. Flat Mouth, the chief

of Leech Lake and suite, ten in number are with

me. The day before yesterday I met them again

at Swan river where they detained me one day.

I had to bear a new harangue and gave answer.

All terminated by their own resolution that they

ought to give you the hand, as well as to the

Guiuas of the Fort (Colonel Davenport.) I

thought it my duty to acquaint you with it be-

forehand. Peace or war are at stake of the visit

they pay you. Please give them a good welcome

until I have reported to you and Colonel Daven-

port all that has taken place during my stay

among the Pillagers. But be assured I have not

trespassed and that I have behaved as would

have done a good citizen of the U. S. As to

Schoolcraft's statement alluding to you, you will

have full and complete satisfaction from Flat

Mouth himself. In haste, your friend, J. N.

jSTicgley."

events of a. d. 1837.

On the seventeenth of March, 1837, there ar-

rived Martin McLeod, who became a prominent

citizen of Minnesota, and the legislature has

given his name to a county.

He left the Red Kiver country on snow shoes,

with two companions, one a Polander and the

other an Irishman named Hays, and Pierre Bot-

tineau as interpreter. Being lost in a violent

snow storm the Pole and Irishman perished. He
and his guide, Bottineau, lived for a tune on the

flesh of one of their dogs. After being twenty-

six days without seeing any one, the survivors

reached the trading post of Joseph R. Brown, at

Lake Traverse, and from thence they came to

the fort.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1838.

In the month of April, eleven Sioux were slain

in a dastardly manner, by a party of Ojibways,
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under the noted and elder Hole-in-the-Day. The

Chippeways feigned the warmest friendship, and

at dark lay down in the tents by the side of the

Sioux, and in the night silently arose and killed

them. The occurrence took place at the Chippe-

way River, about thirty miles from Lac qui Parle,

and the next day the Kev. Gr. H. Pond, the Indian

missionary, accompanied by a Sioux, \.ent out

and buried the mutilated and sealpless bodies.

On the second of August old Hole-in-the-Day,

and some Ojibways, came to the fort. They

stopped first at the cabin of Peter Quinn, whose

wife was a half-breed Chippeway, about a mUe
from the fort.

The missionary, Samuel W. Pond, told the

agent that the Sioux, of Lake Calhoun were

aroused, and on their way to attack the Chippe-

ways. The agent quieted them for a time, but

two of the relatives of those slaiii at Lac qui Parle

in April, hid themselves near Quinn's house, and

as Hole-in-the-Day and his associates were pass-

ing, they fired and killed one Chippeway and

wounded another. Obequette, a Chippeway from

Eed Lake, succeded, however, in shooting a

Sioux while he was in the act of scalping his

comrade. The Chippeways were brought within

the fort as soon as possible, and at nine o'clock

a Sioux was confined in the guard-house as a

Notwithstanding the murdered Chippeway had

been buried in the graveyard of the fort for safety,

an attempt was made on the part of some of the

Sioux, to dig it up. On the evening of the sixth,

Major Plympton sent the Chippeways across the

river to the east side, and ordered them to go

home as soon as possible.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1839.

On the twentieth day of June the elder Hole-

in-the-Day arrived from the Upper Mississippi

with several hundred Chippeways. Upon their

return homeward the Mississippi and Mille Lacs

band encamped the first night at the Palls of Samt
Anthony, and some of the Sioux visited them and

smoked the pipe of peace.

On the second of July, about sunrise, a son-in-

law of the chief of the Sioux band, at Lake Cal-

houn, named Meekaw or Badger, was killed and

scalped by two Chippeways of the Pillager band,

relatives of him who lost his lifp near Patrick

Quinn's the year before. The excitement was

intense among the Sioux, and immediately war

parties started in pursuit. Hole-in-the-Day's

band was not sought, but the Mille Lacs and

Saint Croix Chippeways. The Lake Calhoun

Sioux, vnth those from the villages on the

Minnesota, assembled at the Palis of Saint

Anthony, and on the morning of the fourth

of July, came up with the Mille Lacs

Chippeways on Rum River, before simrise. Not

long after the war whoop was raised and the

Sioux attacked, killing andwounding ninety.

The Kaposia band of Sioux pursued the Saint

Croix Chippeways, and on the third of July found

them in the Penitentiary ravine at Stillwater,

imder the influence of whisky. Aitkin, the old

trader, was with them. The sight of the

Sioux tended to make them sober, but in the fight

twenty-one were killed and twenty-nine were

wounded.

"Whisky, during the year 1839, was freely in-

troduced, in the face of the law prohibiting it.

The first boat of the season, the Ariel, came to

the fort on the fourteenth of April, and brought

twenty barrels of whisky for Joseph R. Brown,

and on the twenty-first of May, the Glaucus

brought six barrels of liquor for David Paribault.

On the thirtieth of June, some soldiers went to

Joseph R. Brown's groggery on the opposite side

of the Mississippi, and that night forty - seven

were in the guard-house for dxmikenness. The
demoralization then existing, led to a letter by

Surgeon Emerson on duty at the fort, to the Sur-

geon General of the United States army, in which

he writes

:

" The whisky is brought here by citizens who
are pouring in upon us and settling themselves

on the opposite shore of the Mississippi river,

in defiance of our worthy commanding officer.

Major J. Plympton, whose authority they set

at naught. At this moment there is a

citizen named Brown, once a soldier in

the Fifth Infantry, who was discharged at

this post, while Colonel Snelling commanded,

and who has been since employed by the Ameri-

can Pur Company, actually building on the land

marked out by the land officers as the reserve,

and within gunshot distance of the fort, a very

expensive whisky shop."



104 EXPL0BBB8 AND PIONEERS OF MINNESOTA.

CHAPTER XVIII.

nSTDIAN TRIBES IK MINNESOTA AT THE TIME OF ITS ORGANIZATION.

Sioux or Dahkotah people—Meaningofwords Sioux and Dalikotali—liarly villages

—Residence of Sioux in 1849—Tlie Winneliagoes—The Ojibways or Cliippeways.

The three Indian nations who dwelt in this

region after the organization of Minnesota, were

the Sioux or Dahkotahs ; the Ojibways or Chip-

peways ; and the Ho-tchun-graws or Wumeba-
goes.

SIOUX OR DAHKOTAHS.

They are an entirely different group from the

Algonquin and Iroquois, who were found by the

early settlers of the Atlantic States, on the banks

of the Connecticut, Mohawk, and Susquehanna

Rivers.

When the Dahkotahs were first noticed by the

European adventurers, large numbers were occu-

pying the Mille Lacs region of country, and appro-

priately called by the voyageur, "People of the

Lake," "Gens du Lac." And tradition asserts that

here was the ancient centre of this tribe. Though
we have traces of their warring and hunting on the

shores of Lake Superior, there is no satisfactory

evidence of their residence, east of the Mille Lacs

region, as they have no name for Lake Superior.

The word Dahkotah, by which they love to be

designated, signifies allied or joined together in

friendly compact, and is equivalent to " E pluri-

bus unum," the motto on the seal of the United

States.

In the history of the mission at La Pointe,

Wisconsin, published nearly two centuries ago, a

a writer, referring to the Dahkotahs, remarks

:

"For sixty leagues from the extremity of the

Upper Lake, toward sunset ; and, as it were in

the centre of the western nations, they have all

united their force by a general league.'"

The Dahkotahs in the earliest documents, and

even until the present day, are called Sioux, Scioux,

or Soos. The name originated with the early voy-

ageurs. For centuries the Ojibways of Lake

Superior waged war against the Dahkotahs ; and.

whenever they spoke of them, called them Nado-

waysioux, which signifies enemies.

The French traders, to avoid exciting the atten-

tion of Indians, while conversing in their pres-

ence, were accustomed to designate them by

names, which would not be recognized.

The Dahkotahs were nicknamed Sioux, a word

composed of the two last syllables of the Ojibway

word for foes

Under the influence of the French traders, the

eastern Sioux began to wander from the Mille

Lacs region. A trading post at O-ton-we-kpa-

dan, or Rice Creek, above the Falls of Saint

Anthony, induced some to erect th^ir summer
dwellings and plant corn there, which took the

place of wild rice. Those who dwelt here were

called Wa-kpa-a-ton-we-dan Those who dwell on

the creek. Another division was Imown as the

Ma-tan-ton-wan.

Less than a hundred years ago, it is said that

the eastern Sioux, pressed by the- Chippeways,

and influenced by traders, moved seven miles

above Fort SneUing on the Minnesota River.

MED-DAY-WAH-KAWN-TWAWNS.

In 1849 there were seven villages of Med-day-

wah-kawn-twawn Sioux. (1) Below Lake Pepin,

where the city of Winona is, was the village of

Wapashaw. This band was called Kee-yu-ksa,

because with them blood relations intermarried.

Bounding or Whipping Wind was the chief. (2)

At the head of Lake Pepin, under a lofty bluff,

was the Red Wing village, called Ghay-mni-chan
Hill, wood and water. Shooter was the name
of the chief. (3) Opposite, and a little below the

Pig's Eye Marsh, was the Kaposia band. The
word, Kapoja means light, given because these

people are quick travelers. His Scarlet People,

better known as Little Crow, was the chief, and
is notorious as the leader in the massacre of 1862.

On the Minnesota River, on the south side
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a few miles above Fort Snelling, was Black Dog
village. The inhabitants were called, Ma-ga-yu-

tay-shnee. People who do not a geese, be-

cause they found it profitable to sell game at Fort.

Snelling. Grey Iron was the chief, also known
as Pa-ma-ya-yaw, My head aches.

At Oak Grove, on the north side of the nver,

eight miles above the fort, was (5) Hay-ya-ta-o-

ton-wan, or Inland Village, so called because

they formerly lived at Lake Calkoun. Contigu-

ous was (6) 0-ya-tay-shee-ka, or Bad People,

Known as Good Beads Band and (7) the largest

village was Tin-ta-ton-wan, Prairie Village;

Shokpay, or Six, was the chief, and is now the

Dite of the town of Shakonee.

West of this division of the Sioux were—

WAR-PAY-KU-TAY.

The "VVar-pay-ku-tay, or leaf shooters, who
occupied the country south of the Minnesota

around the sources of the Cannon and Blue Earth

Elvers.

WAE-PAY-TWAWNS.

North and west of the last were the War-pay-

twawns, or People of the Leaf, and their princi-

pal village was Lac qui Parle. They numbered
about fifteen hundred.

SE-SEB-TWAWNS.

To the west and southwest of these bands of

Sioux were the Se-see-twawns (Sissetoans), or

Swamp Dwellers. This band claimed the land

west of the Blue Earth to the James River, and
the guardianship of the Sacred Red Pipestone

Quarry. Their principal village was at Traverse,

and the number of the band was estimated at

thirty-eight hundred.

HO-TCHUN-GEAWS, OR WINNEBAGOES.

The Ho-tchun-graws, or Winnebagoes, belong

to the Dahkotah family of aborigines. Cham-
plain, although he never visited them, mentions

them. Nicollet, who had been in his employ,

visited Green Bay about the year 1635, and an

early Relation mentions that he saw the Ouini-

pegous, a people called so, because they came
from a distant sea, which some French erron-

eously called Puants. Another writer speak-

ing "of tbese people says: "This people are

called ' Les Puants ' not because of any bad odor

peculiar to them, but because they claim to have

come from the shores of a far distant lake,

towards the north, whose waters are salt. They

call themselves the people ' de I'eau puants,' of

the putrid or bad water."

By the treaty of 1837 they were removed to

Iowa, and by another treaty in October, 1846,

they came to Minnesota in the spring of 1848,

to the country between the Long Prairie,

and Crow "Wing Rivers. The agency was located

on Long Prairie River, forty miles from the

Mississippi, and in 1849 the tribe numbered

about twenty-five hundred souls.

In February 1855, another treaty was made
with them, and that spring they removed to lands

on the Blue Earth River. Owing to the panic

caused by the outbreak of the Sioux in 1862, Con
gress, by a special act, without consulting them,

in 1863, removed them from their fields in Min-

nesota to the Missouri River, and in the words

of a missionary, "they* were, like the Sioux,

dumped ia the desert, one hundred miles above

Fort Randall"

OJIBWAY OR CHIPPBWAY NATION.

The Ojibways or Leapers, when the French

came to Lake Superior, had their chief settlement

at Sault St. Marie, and were called by the French

Saulteurs, and by the Sioux, Hah-ha-tonwan,

Dwellers at the Falls or Leaping Waters.

When Du Luth erected his trading post at the

western extremity of Lake Superior, they had not

obtained any foothold in Minnesota, and were

constantly at war with their hereditary enemes,

the Nadouaysioux. By the middle of the

eighteenth century, they had pushed in and occu-

pied Sandy, Leech, Mille Lacs and other points

between Lake Superior and the Mississippi, which

had been dwelling places of the Sioux. In 1820

the principal villages of Ojibways in Minnesota

were at Fond du Lac, Leech Lake and Sandy

Lake. In 1837 they ceded most of their lands.

Since then, other treaties have been made, until

in the year 1881, they are confined to a few res-

ervations, in northern Minnesota and vicinity.



106 EXPLORERS AND PIONEERS OF MINNESOTA.

CHAPTEE XIX.

EARLY MISSIONS AMONG THE OJIBWAYS AND DAHKOTAHS OF MINNESOTA.

Jesuit Missions not permanent—Fi-esbyterian Mission at Macltinaw—Visit of Rev.

A. Coe and J D. Stevens to Fort Snelling—Notice of Ayers, Hall, and Boutwell

—Formation of the word Itasca—The Brothers Pond—Arrival of Dr. William-

son— Presbj-terian Chnrch at Fort Snelling—Mission at Lake Harriet—Mourn-

ing for the Dead—Church at Lac-qui parle—Father Ravoux—Mission at Lake

Pokeguuia—Attack hy the Sioux—Chippeway attack at Pig's Eye—Death of

Rev. Sherman Hall—Methodist Missions Rev. S. W. Pond prepares a Sioux

Grammar and Dictionary Swiss Presbyterian Jilission.

Bancroft the distinguislied Mstorian, catching

the enthusiasm of the narratives of the early

Jesuits, depicts, in language which glows, their

missions to the Northwest
;
yet it is erroneous

to suppose that the Jesuits exercised any perma-

nent influence on the Aborigines.

Shea, a devoted member of the Roman Catho-

lic Church, in his History of American CathoUc

Missions writes :
" In 1680 Father Engalran was

apparently alone at Green Bay, and Pierson at

Mackinaw. Of the other missions neither Le-

Clerq nor Hennepin, the Becollect writers of the

' West at this time, make any mention, or in any

way allude to their existence." He also says

that "Father Menard had projected a Sioux

mission ; Marquette, Allouez, Druilletes, all en-

tertained hopes of reaUzing it, and had some

intercourse with that nation, but none of them
ever succeeded in establishing a mission."

Father Hennepin wrote: " Can it be possible,

that, that pretended prodigious amount of savage

converts could escape ,the sight of a multitude

of French Canadians who travel every year ?

* * * * How comes it to pass that these

churphes so devout and so numerous, should be

invisible, when I passed through so many
countries and nations ¥

"

After the American Fur Company was formed,"

the island of Mackinaw became the residence of

the principal agent for the Xorthwest, Eobert

Stuart a Scotchman, and devoted Presbyterian.

In the month of June, 1820, the Rev. Dr.

Morse, father of the distinguished inventor of

the telegraph, visited and preached at Mackinaw,

and in consequence of statements published by

him, upon his return, a Presbyterian Missionary

Society in the state of New York sent a graduate

of Union College, the Rev. W. M. Ferry, father

of the present United States Senator from Michi-

gan, to explore the field. In 1823 he had estab-

lished a large boarding school composed of

children of various tribes, and here some were

educated who became wives of men of intelli-

gence and influence at the capital of Minnesota.

After a few years, it was detemuned by the

Mission Board to modify its plans, and in the

place of a great central station, to send mission-

aries among the several tribes to teach and to

preach.

In pursuance of this poUcy, the Rev. Alvan

Coe, and J. D. Stevens, then a licentiate who

had been engaged in the Mackinaw Mission,

made a tour of exploration, and arrived on

September 1, 1829, at Fort Snelling. In the

journal of Major Lawrence TaUaferro, which

is in possession of the Minnesota Historical

Society, is the following enixy :
" The Rev.

Mr. Coe and Stevens reported to be on their way

to this post, members of the Presbyterian church

looking out for suitable places to make mission-

ary establishment for the Sioux and Chippeways,

found schools, and instruct in the arts and agri-

culture."

The agent, although not at that time a commu-
nicant of the Church, welcomed these visitors,

and afforded them every facility in visiting the

Indians. On Sunday, the 6th of September, the

Rev. Mr. Coe preached twice in the fort, and the

next night held a prayer meeting at the quarters

of the commanding officer. On the next Sunday

he preached again, and on the 14th, with Mr.

Stevens and a hired guide, returned to Mackinaw

by way of the St. Croix river. During this visit

the agent offered for a Presbyterian mission the

mill which then stood on the^ite of Minneapolis,

and had been erected by the government, as well as
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the farm at Lake Calhoun, which was begun to

teach the Sioux agriculture.

CHIPPEWAT MISSiaKS.

In 1830, Y. Ayer, one of the teachers at Mack-

inaw, made an exploration as far as La Pointe,

and returned.

Upon the 30th day of August, 1831, a Macki-

naw boat about forty feet long arrived at La
Pointe, bringing from Mackinaw the principal

trader, Mr. Warren, Eev. Sherman Hall and wife,

and Mr. Frederick Ayer, a catechist and teacher.

Mrs. Hall attracted great attention, as she was
the first white woman who had visited that

region: Sherman Hall was born on April 30,

1801, at Wethersfleld, Vermont, and ia 1828

graduated at Dartmouth College, and completed

his theological studies at Andover, Massachu-

setts, a few weeks before he journeyed to the

Indian country.

His classmate at Dartmouth and Andover, the

Bev W. T. Boutwell still living near Stillwater,

became his yoke-fellow, but remained for a time

at Mackinaw, which they reached about the mid-

dle of July. In June, 1832, Henry K. School-

craft, the head of an exploring expedition, invited

Mr. Boutwell to accompany him to the sources of

the Mississippi.

When the expedition reached Lac la Biche or

Elk Lake, on July 13, 1832, Mr. Schoolcraft, who
was not a Latin scholar, asked the Latin word for

truth, and was told "Veritas." He then wanted

the word which signified head, and was told

"caput." To the astonishment of many, School-

craft struck off the first sylable, of the word
ver-i-tas and the last sylable of ca-put, and thus

coined the word Itasca, which he gave to the

lake, and which some modem writers, with all

gravity, tell us was the name of a maiden who
once dwelt on its banks. Upon Mr. Boutwell's

return from this expedition he was at first asso-

ciated with Mr. Hall in the mission at La Pointe.

In 1833 the mission band which had centered

at La Pointe diffused their influence. In Octo-

ber Rev. Mr. Boutwell went to Leech Lake, Mr.
Ayer opened a school at Yellow Lake, Wiscon-

sin, and Mr. E. P. Ely, now in California, became
a teacher at Aitkin's trading post at Sandy Lake.

SIOUX MISSIONAMES.

Mr. Boutwell, of Leech Lake Station, on the

sixth of May, 1S34, happened to be on a visit to

Port SnelUng. While there a steamboat arrived,

and among the passengers were two young men,

brothers, natives of Washington, Connecticut,

Samuel W. and Gideon H. Pond, who had come,

constrained by the love of Christ, and without con-

ferring with flesh and blood, to try to improve

the Sioux.

Samuel, the older brother, the year before, had

talked with a liquor seller in Galena, Illinois, who
had come from the Bed River country, and the

desire was awakened to help the Sioux ; and he

wrote to his brother to go \^1th him.

The Rev. Samuel W. Pond still hves at Shako-

pee, in the old mission house, the first building of

sawed lumber erected in the valley of the ATinn p.-

sota, above Port SnelUng.

MISSIONS AMONG THE SIOUX A. D. 1835.

About this period, a native of South Carolina,

a graduate of Jefferson College, Pennsylvania,

the Re\'. T. S. WilUamson, jM. D., wlio previous

to liis ordination had been a respectable physi-

cian in Ohio, was appointed by the American

Board of Poreign Missions to visit the Dahkotahs

with the view of ascertaming what could be done

to introduce Christian instruction. Having made
inquiries at Prairie du Chien and Port Snelling,

he reported the field was favorable.

The Presbyterian and Congregational Churches,

through their joint Missionary Society, appointed

the following persons to labor in Minnesota

:

Rev. Thomas S. Williamson, M. D., missionary

and physician; Rev. J. D. Stevens, missionary;

Alexander Huggins, farmer ; and their wives
;

Mi^s Sarah Poage, and Lucy Stevens, teachers;

who were prevented during the year 1834, by the

state of navigation, from entering upon their

work.

During the winter of 1834-35, a pious ofiicer

of the army exercised a good influence on his

fello^v officers and soldiers under his command.

In the absence of a chaplain of ordained minis-

ter, he, like General Havelock, of the British

army in India, was accustomed not only to drill

the soldiers, hut to meet them in bis own quar-

ters, and reason with them " of righteousness,

temperance, and judgment to come."

In the month of May, 183-5, Dr. Williamson

and mission band arrived at Fort Snelling, and
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were hospitably received by the officers of the

garrison, the Indian Agent, and Mr. Sibley, Agent

of the Company at Mendota, who had been in

the country a few months.

On the twenty-seventh of this month the Rev.

Dr. Williamson united in marriage at the Fort

Lieutenant Edward A. Ogden to Eliza Edna, the

daughter of Captain G. A. Loomis, the first

marriage service in which a clergyman officiated

in the present State of Minnesota.

On the eleventh of June a meeting was held

at the Eort to organize a Presbyterian Church,

sixteen persons who had been communicants,

and six who made a profession of faith, one of

whom was Lieutenant Ogden, were enrolled as

members.

Four elders were elected, among whom were

Capt. Gustavus Loomis and Samuel W. Pond.

The next day a lecture preparatory to administer-

ing the communion, was delivered, and on Sun-

day, the 14th, the first organized church in the

Valley of the Upper Mississippi assembled for

the first time in one of the Company rooms of the

Fort. The services in the morningwere conducted

by Dr. "Williamson. The afternoon service com-

menced at 2 o'clock. The sermon of Mr. Stevens

was upon a most appropriate text, 1st Peter, ii:25
;

" For ye were as sh«ep going astray, but are now
returned unto the Shepherd and Bishop of your

souls." After the discourse, the sacrament of the

Lord's supper was administered.

At a meeting of the Session on the thirty-first

of July, Rev. J. D. Stevens, missionary, was in-

vited to preach to the church, " so long as the

duties of his mission will permit, and also to pre-

side at all the meetings of the Session." Captain

Gustavus Loomis was elected Stated Clerk of the

Session, and they resolved to observe the monthly

concert of prayer on the first Monday of each

month, for the conversion of the world.

Two points were selected by the missionaries

as proper Spheres of labor. Mr. Stevens and

family proceeded to Lake Harriet, and Dr. Wil-

liamson and family, in June, proceeded to Lac

qui Parle.

As there had never been a chaplain at Fort

Snelling, the Rev. J. D. Stevens, the missionary

at Lake Harriet, preached on Sundays to the

Presbyterian church, there, recently organized.

Writing on January twenty-seventh, 1836. he

says, in relation to his field of labor

:

" Yesterday a portion of this band of Indians,

who had been some time absent from this village,

returned. One of the number (a woman) was

informed that a brother of hers had died during

her absence. He was not at this village, but

with another band, and. the information had just

reached here. In the evening they set up a most

piteous crying, or r9,ther wailing, which con-

tinued, with some little cessations, during the

night. The sister of the deceased brotherwould

repeat, times without number, words which may

be thus translated into English :
' Come, my

brother, I shall see you no more for ever.' The

night was extremely cold, the thermometer

standing from ten to twenty below zero. About

sunrise, next morning, preparation was made for

performing the ceremony of cutting their flesh,

in order to give relief to their grief of mind.

The snow was removed from the frozen ground

over about as large a space as would be required

to place a small Indian lodge or wigwam. In the

centre a very small fire was kindled up, not to

give warmth, apparently, but to cause a smoke.

The sister of the deceased, who was the chief

mourner, came out of her lodge followed by

three other women, who repaired to the place

prepared. They were all barefooted, and nearly

naked. Here they set up a most bitter lamenta-

tion and crying, mingling their wailings with the

words before mentioned. The principal mourner

commenced gashing or cutting her ankles and
legs up to the knees with a sharp stone, until her

legs were covered with gore and flowing blood

;

then in like manner her arms, shoulders, and
breast. The others cut themselves in the same
way, but not so severely. On this poor infatuated

woman I presume there were more than a hun-
dred long deep gashes in the flesh. I saw the

operation, and the blood instantly followed the

instrument, and flowed down upon the flesh. She
appeared frantic with grief. Through the pain

of her wounds, the loss of blood, exhaustion of

strength by fasting, loud and long-continued and
bitter groans, or the extreme cold upon her al-

most naked and lacerated body, she soon sunk
upon the frozen ground, shaking as with a violent

fit of the ague, and writhing in apparent agony.
' Surely,' I exclaimed, as I beheld the bloody
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scene, 'the tender mercies of the heathen are

cruelty 1'

'' The little church at the fort begins to mani-

fest something of a missionary spirit Their con-

tributions are considerable for so small a nmnber.

I hope they will not only be willing to contribute

Uberally of their substance, but will give them-

selves, at least some of them, to the missionary

work.

" The surgeon of the military post, Dr. Jarvis,

has been very assiduous in his attentions to us in

our sickness, and has very generously made a do-

nation to our board of twenty-five dollars, being

the amount of his medical services in our family.

" On the nineteenth instant we commenced a

school with six full Indian children, at least so in

all their habits, dress, etc.; not one could speak a

word of any language but Sioux. The school has

since increased to the number of twenty-five. I

am now collecting and arranging words for a dic-

tionary. Mr. Pond is assiduously employed in

preparing a small spelling-book, which we may
forward next mail for printing.

On the fifteenth of September, 1836, a Presby-

terian church was organized at Lac-qui-Parle, a

branch of that in and near Port Snelling, and

Joseph Renville, a mixed blood of great influ-

ence, became a communicant. He had been

trained in Canada by a Eoman Catholic priest,

but claimed the right of private judgment. Mr.

Renville's wife was the first pure Dahkotah of

whom we have any record that ever joined the

Church of Christ. This church has never become

extinct, although its members have been neces-

sarily nomadic. After the treaty of Traverse des

Sioux, it was removed to Hazlewood. Driven

from thence by the outbreak of 1862, it has be-

came the parent of other churches, in the valley

of the upper Missouri, over one of which John
Renville, a descendant of the elder at Lac-qul-

Parle, is the pastor.

EOMAN CATHOLIC jaSSIOir ATTEMPTED.

Father Eavoux, recently from Prance, a sin-

cere and earnest priest of the Church of Rome,
came to Mendota in the autumn of 1841, and
after a brief sojourn with the Rev. L. Galtier,

who had erected Saint Paul's chapel, which has
given the name of Saint Paul to the capital of

Minnesota, he ascended the Minnesota River
and visited Lac-qui-Parle.

Bishop Loras, of Dubuque, wrote the next year

of his visit as foUows :
" Our young missionary,

M. Ravoux, passed the winter on the banks of

Lac-qui-Parle, without any other support than

Providence, without any other means of conver-

sion than a burning zeal, he has wrought in the

space of six months, a happy revolution among
the Sioux. Prom the time of his arrival he has

been occupied night and day in the study of their

language. ***** When he Instructs

the savages, he speaks to them with so much fire

whilst showing them a large copper crucifix which

he carries on his breast, that he makes the strong-

est impression upon them.''

The impression, however was evanescent, and

he soon retired from the field, and no more efforts

were made in this direction by the Church of

Rome. This young Mr. Ravoux is now the highly

respected vicar of the Roman Catholic diocese of

Minnesota, and justly esteemed for his simpUcity

and unobtrusiveness.

CHIPPEWAY jnSSIONS AT POKEGUMA.

Pokegmna is one of the " Mille Lacs," or thou-

sand beautiful lakes for which Minnesota is re-

markable. It is about four or five miles in extent,

and a mile or more in width.

This lake is situated on Snake River, about

twenty miles above the junction of that stream

with the St. Croix.

In the year 1836, missionaries came to reside

among the Ojibways and Pokegmna, to promote

their temporal and spmtual welfare. Their mis-

sion house was built on the east side of the lake
;

but the Indian village was on an island not far

from the shore.

In a letter written in 1837, we find the fol-

lowing: "The young women and girls now
make, mend, wash, and iron after our man-
ner. The men have learned to build log houses,

drive team, plough, hoe, and handle an American
axe with some skill in cutting large trees, the

size of which, two years ago, would have afforded

them a sufficient reason why they should notmed-
dle with them."

In May, 1841, Jeremiah Russell, who was In-

dian farmer, sent two Chippeways, aecompanied

by Elam Greeley, of Stillwater, to the Falls of

Saint Croix for supplies. On Saturday, the
fifteenth of the month they arrived there, and
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the next day a steamboat came up with the

goods. The captain said a war party of Sioux,

headed by Little Crow, was advancing, and the

two Chippeways prepared to go back and were

their friends.

They had hardly left the Palls, on their re-

turn, before they saw a party of Dahkotahs. The

sentinel of the enemy had not noticed the ap-

proach of the young men. In the twirtkling of

an eye, these two young Ojibways raised their

guns, flred, a'nd killed two of Little Crow's sons.

The discharge of the guns revealed to a sentinel,

that an enemy was near, and as the Ojibways

were retreating, he fired, and mortally wounded

one' of the two.

According to custom, the corpses of the chief's

sons were dressed, and then set up with their

faces towards the country of their ancient ene-

mies. The wounded Ojibway was horribly

mangled by the infuriated party, and his limbs

strewn about in every direction. His scalped

head was placed in a kettle, and suspended in

front of the two Dahkotah corpses.

Little Crow, disheartened Ijy the loss of his two

boys, returned with his party to Kaposia. But

other parties were in the field.

It was not till Friday, the twenty-first of May,

that the death of one of the young Ojibways

sent by Mr. Bussell, to the Palls of Saint Croix,

was known at Pokeguma.

Mr. Eusfell on the next Sunday, accompanied

by Captain "William Holcomb and a half-breed,

went to the mission station to attend a reUgious

service, and while crossing the lake in returning,

the half-breed said that it was rumored that the

Sioux were approaching. On Monday, the twen-

ty-fourth, three young men left in a canoe to go

to the west shore of the lake, and from thence to

Mille Lacs, to give intelligence to the Ojibways

there, of the sldrmish that had already occurred.

They took with them two Indian girls, about

twelve years of age, who were pupils of the mis-

sion school, for the purpose of bringing the canoe

back to the island. Just as the three were land-

ing, twenty or thirty Dahkotah warriors, with a

war whoop emerged from their concealment be-

hind the trees, and fired into the canoe. The
young men instantly sprang into the water, which

was shallow, returned the fire, and ran into the

woods, escaping without material injury.

The little girls, in their fright, waded into the

lake; but were pursued. Their parents upon

the island, heard the death cries of their children.

Some of the Indians around the mission-house

jumped -into their canoes and gained the island.

Others went into some fortified log huts. The
attack upon the canoe, it was afterwards learned,

was premature. The party upon that side of the

lake were ordered not to fire, until the party

stationed in the woods near the mission began.

There were in all one himdred and eleven

Dahkotah warriors, and all the fight was in the

vicinity of the mission-house, and the Ojibways

mostly engaged in it were those who had been

under religious instruction. The rest were upon

the island.

The fathers of the murdered girls, burning for

revenge, left the island in a canoe, and drawing

it up on the shore, hid behind it, and fired upon

the Dahkotahs and killed one. The Dahkotahs

advancing upon them, they were obliged to

escape. The canoe was now launched. One lay

on his back in the bottom; the other plunged

into the water, and, holding the canoe with one

hand, and swimming with the other, he towed

his friend out of danger. The Dahkotahs, in-

furiated at their escape, fired volley after volley

at the swimmer, but he escaped the balls by
putting his head under water whenever he saw
them take aim, and waiting till he heard the

discharge, he would then look up and breathe.

After a fight of two hours, the Dahkotahs re-

treated, with a loss of two men. At the request

of the parents, Mr. E. P. Ely, from whose
notes the writer has obtained these facts, be-

ing at that time a teacher at the mission,

went across the lake, with two of his friends, to

gather the remains of his murdered pupils. He
foimd the corpses on the shore. The heads cut

ofE and scalped, with a tomahawk buried in the
brains of each, were set up in the sand near the

bodies. The bodies were pierced in the breast,

and the right arm of one was taken away. Re-
moving the tomahawks, the bodies were brought
back to the island, and in the afternoon were
buried in accordance with the simple but solemn
rites of the Church of Christ, by members of the
mission.
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The sequel to tMs story is soon told. The In-

dians of Pokeguma, after the fight, deserted their

village, and went to reside with their countrymen

near Lake Superior.

In July of the following year, 1842, a war party

was formed at Fond du Lac, about forty in num-

ber, and proceeded towards the Dahkotah country.

Sneaking, as none but Indians can, they arrived

imnoticed at the little settlement below Saint

Paul, commonly called "Pig's Eye," which is

opposite to what was Kaposia, or Little Crow's

village. Finding an Indian woman at work in

the garden of her husband, a Canadian, by the

name of GameUe, they killed her ; also another

woman, with her infant, whose head was cut off.

The Dahkotahs, on the opposite side, were mostly

intoxicated ; and, flying across in their canoes but

half prepared, they were worsted in the en-

counter. They lost thirteen warriors, and one of

their number, known as the Dancer, the Ojib-

ways are said to have skinned.

Soon after this the Chippeway missions of the

St. Croix Valley were abandoned.

In a little while Bev. Mr. Boutwell removed to

the vicinity of Stillwater, and the missionaries,

Ayer and Spencer, went to Red Lake and other

points in Mianesota.

In 1853 the Eev. Sherman Hall left the Indians

and became pastor of a Congregational church at

Sauk Eapids, where he recently died.

METHODIST MISSIONS.

In 1837 the Eev. A. Brunson commenced a

Methodist mission at Kaposia, about four mUes
below, and opposite Saint Paul. It was afterwards

removed across the river to Red Eock. He was

assisted by the Eev. Thomas W. Pope, and the

latter was succeeded by the Rev. J. Holton.

The Eev. Mr. Spates and others also labored

for a brief period among the Ojibways.

FBBSBTTEBIAN MISSIONS CONTINTJBD.

At ihe stations the Dahkotah language was dil-

igently studied. Rev. S. W. Pond had prepared

a dictionary of three thousand words, and also a

small grammar. The Rev. S. R. Riggs, who
joined the mission in 1837, in a letter dated

February 24, 1841, writes: "Last summer
after returning from Fort SneUtng, I spent five

weeks in copying again the Sioux vocabulary

which we had collected and arranged at this sta-

tion. It contained then about 5500 words, not

including the various forms of the verbs. Since

that time, the words collected by Dr. "Williamson

and myself, have, I presume, increased the num-

ber to six thousand. ***** In this con-

nection, I may mention that during the winter of

1839-40, Mrs. Eiggs, with some assistance, wrote

an English and Sioux vocabulary containing

about three thousand words. One of Mr. Een-

ville's sons and three of his daughters are en-

gaged in copying. In committing the grammati-

cal principles of the language to writing, we have

done something at this station, but more has been

done by Mr. S. W. Pond."

Steadily the number of Indian missionaries

increased, and in 1851, before the lands of the

Dahkotahs west of the Mississippi were ceded to

the whites, they were disposed as follows by the

Dahkotah Presbytery.

Lac-qui-parle, Eev. S. R. Riggs, Rev. M. IvT.

Adams, Missionaries, Jonas Pettijohn, Mrs.

Fanny Pettijohn, ilrs. Mary Ann Riggs, Mis.

Mary A. M. Adams, Miss Sarah Rankin, .Is-

sistants.

Traverse des Sioux, Eev. Robert Hopkins, Mis-

sionary ; Mrs. Agnes Hopkins, Alexander G.

Huggins, Mrs. Lydia P. Iluggins, Assistants.

Shakpay, or Shukpay, Rev. Samuel W. Pond,

Missionary; Mrs. Sarah P. Pond, Assistant.

Oak Grove, Eev. Gideon H. Pond and wife.

Kaposia, Eev. Thomas Williamson, M. D.,

Missionary and Physician; Mrs. Margaret P.

WUUamson, Miss Jane S. WiUiamson, Assistants.

Bed Wing, Eev. John F. Alton, Eev. Joseph

W. Hancock, Missionaries; Mrs. Nancy H. Alton,

Mrs. Hancock, Assistants.

The Rev. Daniel Gavin, the Svriss Presbyte-

rian Missionary, spent the ninter of 1839 in Lac-

qui-Paiie and was afterwards married to a niece

of the Eev. J. D. Stevens, of the Lake Harriet

ilission. Mr. Stevens became the farmer and

teacher of the Wapashaw band, and the first

white man who Uved where the city of Winona

has been built. Another missionary from Switz-

erland, the Eev. Mr. Denton, married a Miss

Skinner, formerly of the Mackinaw mission.

During a portion of the year 1839 these Swiss

missionaries lived with the American mission-

aries at camp Cold Water near Fort Snelling,

but their chief field of labor was at Bed Wing.
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CHAPTER XX.

TREAD OF PIOmSEBS IN THE SAINT CEOIX VAX/LET AND ELSEWHEllE.

Origin of the name Saint Croix—Du Luth, first Explorer—French Post on the St.

Croix—Pitt, an early pioneer—Early settlers at Saint Croix Falls—Firstwomen

there—Marine Settlement—Joseph R. Brown's town site—Saint Croix County

orpanized—Piopripfors of Stillwater—A dead Negro woman—Pig's Eye, origin

of name—Rise of Saint Paul—Dr. Williamson secures fii-st school teacher for

Saint Paul—Description of first school room—Saint Croix County re-organized

—Rev. W. T. Boutwell, pioneer clergyman.

The Saint Croix river, according to Le Sueur,

named after a Frencliman who was drowned at

its mouth, was one of the earliest throughfares

from Lake Superior to the Mississippi. The first

white man who directed canoes upon its waters

was Du Luth, who had in 1679 explored Minne-

sota. He thus describes his tour in a letter, first

published by Harrisse :
" In June, 1680, not be-

ing satisfied, with having made my discovery by

land, I took two canoes, with an Indian who was

my interpreter, and four Frenchmen, to seek

means to make it by water. With this view I

entered a river which empties eight leagues from

the extremity of Lake Superior, on the south

side, where, after havmg cut some trees and

broken about a hundred beaver dams, I reached

the upper waters of the said river, and then I

made a portage of half a league to reach a lake,

the outlet which fell into a very fine river,

which took i^ e down into the Mississippi. There

I learned from eight cabins of Nadouecioux that

the Bev. Pather Louis Hennepin, Recollect, now
at the convent of Saint Germain, with t"wo other

Prenchmen had been robbed, and carried off as

slaves for more than three hundred leagues by

the Nadouecioux themselves."

He then relates how he left two Prenchmen

with his goods, and went with his interpreter and

two Prenchmen in a canoe down the Mississippi,

and after two days and two nights, found Henne-

pin, Accault and Augelle. He told Hennepin

that he must return with him through the country

of the Pox tribe, and writes :
" I preferred to re-

trace my steps, manifesting to them [the Sioux]

the just indignation I felt against them, rather

than to remain after the violence they had done

to the Rev. Pather and the other two Prenchmen

with him, whom I put in my canoes and brought

them to Michilimackinack."

After this, the Saint Croix river became a chan

nel for commerce, and Bellin writes, that before

1755, the Prench had erected a fort forty leagues

from its mouth and twenty from Lake Superior.

The pine forests between the Saint Croix and

Minnesota had been for several years a tempta-

tion to energetic men. As early as November,

1836, a Mr. Pitt went with a boat and a party of

men to the Falls of Saint Croix to cut pine tim-

ber, with the consent of the Chippeways but the

dissent of the United States authorities.

Inl837 while the treaty was beingmade by Com-

missioners Dodge and Smith at Port SneUing, on

one Sunday Pranklin Steele, Dr. Pitch, Jeremiah

Russell, and a Mr. Maginnis left Port SnelUng

for the Palls of Saint Croix in a birch bark canoe

paddled by eight men, and reached that point

about noon on Monday and commenced a log

cabin. Steele and Maginnis remained here,

while the others, dividing into two parties, one

under Pitch, and the other under RusseU, search-

ed for pine land. The first stopped at Sun Rise,

while Russel went on to the Snake River. About

the same time Robbinet and Jesse B. Taylor

came to the Falls in the interest of B. P. Baker

who had a stone trading house near Port Snelling,

since destroyed by fire. On the fifteenth of July,

1838, the Palmyra, Capt. Holland, arrived at

the Port, with the ofiieial notice of the ratifica-

tion of the treaties ceding the lands between the

Saint Croix and Mississippi.

She had on board C. A. Tuttle, L. W. Stratton

and others, with the machinery for the projected

mills of the Northwest Lumber Company at the

Palls of Saint Croix, and reached that point on

the seventeenth, the first steamboat to disturb the

waters above Lake Saint Croix. The steamer

Gypsy came to the fort on the twenty-first of
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October, with goods for the Chippeways, and was
chartered for four hundred and fifty dollars, to

carry them up to the Falls of Saint Croix. In

passing through the lake, the boat grounded near

a projetted town called StambaughviUe, after S.

C. Stambaugh, the sutler at the fort. On the

afternoon of the 26th, the goods were landed, as

stipulated.

The agent of the Improvement Company at the

falls was Washington Libbey, who left in the fall

of 1838, and was succeeded by Jeremiah EusseU,

Stratton acting as millwright in place of Calvin

Tuttle. On the twelfth of December, BusseU and

Stratton walked down the river, cut the first tree

and built a cabin at Marine, and sold their claim.

The firstwomen at the Tails of Saint Croix were

a Mrs. Orr, Mrs. Sackett, and the daughter of a

Mr. Young. During the winter of 18.38-9, Jere-

miah Eussell married a daughter of a respectable

and gentlemanly trader, Charles H. Oakes.

Among the first preachers were the Eev. W. T.

Boutwell and Mr. Seymour, of the' Chippeway

Mission at Pokeguma. The Bev. A. Brunson, of

Prairie du Chien, who visited this region in 1838,

wrote that at the mouth of Snake Elver he found

Franklin Steele, with twenty-five or thirty men,

cutting timber for a mill, and when he oflered to

preach Mr. Steele gave a cordial assent.

On the sixteenth of August, Mr. Steele, Living-

ston, and others, left the Falls of Saint Croix in a

barge, and went aroimd to Fort SneUing.

The steamboat Fayette about the middle of

May, 1839, landed sutlers' stores at Fort SneU-

ing and then proceeded with several persons of

intelUgence to the Saint Croix river, who settled

at Marine.

The place was called after Marine in Madison

county, Illinois, where the company, consisting

of Judd, Hone and others, was formed to build

a, saw mill in the Saint Croix Valley. The mUl
at Marine commenced to saw lumber, on August

24, 1839, the first in Minnesota.

Joseph E. Brown, who since 1838, had lived at

Chan Wakan, on the west side of Grey Cloud

Island, this year made a claim near the upper

end of the city of Stillwater, which he called

Dahkotah, and was the first to raft lumber down
the Saint Croix, as weU as the first to represent

the citizens of the vaUey in the legislature of

Wisconsin.
s

UntU the year 1841, the jurisdiction of Craw-

ford coimty, Wisconsin, extended over the delta

of country between the Saint Croix and Missis-

sippi. Joseph E. Brown having been elected as

representative of the county, in the territorial

legislature of Wisconsin, succeeded in obtaining

the passage of an act on November twentieth,

1841, organizing the county of Saint Croix, with

Dahkotah designated as the county seat.

At the time prescribed for holding a court in

the new county, it is said that the judge of the

district arrived, and to his surprise, found a

claim cabin occupied by a Frenchman. Speedily

retreating, he never came again, and judicial

proceedings for Saint Croix county ended for

several years. Phineas Lawrence was the first

sheriff of this county.

On the tenth of October, 1843, was commenced

a settlement which has become the tovrai of Still-

water. The names of the proprietors were John

McKusick from Maine, Calvin Leach from Ver-

mont, Elam Greeley from Maine, and Elias

MoKean from Pennsylvania. They immediately

commenced the erection of a sawmill.

John H. Fonda, elected on the twenty-second

of September, as coroner of Crawford county,

Wisconsin, asserts that he was once notified that

a dead body was lying in the water opposite Pig's

Eye slough, and immediately proceeded to the

spot, and on taking it out, recognized it as the

body of a negro woman belonging to a certain

captain of the United States army then at Fort

Crawford. The body was cruelly cut and bruised,

but no one appearing to recognise it, a verdict of

" Found dead," was rendered, and the corpse was

buried. Soon after, it came to light that the

woman was whipped to death, and thrown into

the river during the night.

The year that the Dahkotahs ceded their lands

east of the Mississippi, a Canadian Frenchman

by the name of Parrant, the ideal of an Indian

whisky seller, erected a shanty in what is now
the city of Saint Paul. Ignorant and overbear-

ing he loved money more than his own soul.

Destitute of one eye, and the other resembling

that of a pig, he was a good representative of

Caliban. Some one writing from his groggery

designated it as " Pig's Eye." The reply to the

letter was directed in good faith to" Pig's Eye"
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Some years ago the editor of the Saint Paul

Press described the occasion in these words

:

" Edmund Brisette, a clerkly Frenchman for

those days, who lives, or did live a little while

ago, on Lake Harriet, was one day seated at a

table in Parrant's cabin, with pen and paper

about to write a letter for Parrant (for Parrant,

like CharlemagrQ, could not write) to a friend

of the latter in Canada. The question of geog-

raphy puzzled Brissette at the outset of 'the

epistle ; where should he date a letter from a

place without a name ? He looked up inquir-

ingly to Parrant, and met the dead, cold glare of

the Pig's Eye fixed upon him, with an irresist-

ible suggestiveness that was inspiration to

Brisette."

In 1842, the late Henry Jackson, of Mahkahto,

settled at the same spot, and erected the first

store on the height just above the lower landing,

Roberts and Simpson followed, and opened

small Indian trading shops. In 1846, the site of

Saint Paul was chiefly occupied by a few shanties

owned by " certain lewd fellows of the baser

sort," who sold rum to the soldier and Indian.

It was despised by all decent white men, and

known to the Dahkotahs by an expression in

their tongue which means, the place where they

sell minne-wakan [supernatural water].

The chief of the Kapdsiaband in 1846, was shot

by his own brother in a drunken revel, but sur-

viving the wound, and apparently alarmed at the

deterioration under the influence of the modem
harpies at Saint Paul, went to Mr. Bruce, Indian

Agent, at Fort Snelling, and requested a mis-

sionary. The Indian Agent in his report to gov-

ernment, says

:

" The chief of the Little Crow's band, who re-

sides below this place (Fort Snelling) about nine

miles, in the immediate neighbourhood of the

whiskey dealers, has requested to have a school

established at his village. He says they are de-

termined to reform, and for the future, will try

to do better. I wrote to Doctor Williamson soon

after the request was made, desiring him to take

charge of the school. He has had charge of the

mission school at Lac qui Parle for some years

;

is well qualified, and is an excellent physician."

In November, 1846, Dr. "WilUamson came from

Lac qui Parle, as requested, and became a resi-

dent of Kaposia. While disapproving of their

practices, he felt a kindly iaterest in the whites

of Pig's Eye, which place was now beginning to

be called, after a little log chapel which had been

erected at the suggestion of Eev. L. Galtier, and

called Saint Paul's. Though a missionary among
the Dahkotahs, he was the first to take steps to

promote the education of the whites and half-

breeds of Minnesota. In the year 1847, he wrote

to ex-Governor Slade, President of the National

Popular Education Society, in relation to the

condition of what has subsequently become the

capital of the state.

In accordance with his request. Miss H. E.

Bishop came to his mission-house at Kaposia,

and, after a short time, was introduced by him

to the citizens of Saint Paul. The first school-

house in Minnesota besides those connected with

the Indian missions, stood near,the site of the

old Brick Presbyterian church, corner of Saint

Peter and Third street, and is thus described by

the teacher :

•' The school was commenced in a little log

hovel, covered with bark, and chinked with mud,

previously used as a blacksmith shop. On three

sides of the interior of this humble log cabin,

pegs were driven into the logs, upon which boards

were laid for seats. Another seat was made by

placing one end of a plank between the cracks

of the logs, and the other upon a chair. This

was for visitors. A rickety cross-legged table in

the centre, and a hen's nest in one corner, com-

pleted the furniture."

Saint Croix county, in the year 1847, was de-

tached from Crawford county, Wisconsin, and

reorganized for judicial purposes, and Stillwater

made the county seat. In the month of June
the United States District Court held its session

in the store-room of Mr. John McKusick ; Judge

Charles Dunn presiding. A large number of

lumbermen had been attracted by the pineries

in the upper portion of the valley of Saint Croix,

and Stillwater was looked upon as the center of

the lumbering interest.

The Rev. Mr. Boutwell, feeUng that he could

be more useful, left the Ojibways, and took up
his residence near Stillwater, preaching to the
lumbermen at the Falls of Saint Croix, Marine
Mills, Stillwater, and Cottage Grove. In a letter

speaking of Stillwater, he says, " Here is a little

village sprung up like a gourd, but whether it is

to perish as soon, God only knows."
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CHAPTER XXI.

ETENTS PRELIMIKART TO THE ORGAKIZATION OF THE MINNESOTA TEBRITORT.

fVlaconsin State Boundaries—First Bill for the Organization of Minnesota Terri-

tory, A. D. 1846—Change of Wisconsin Boundary—Memorial of Saint Croix

Valley citizens—Various names proposed for the New Territory—Convention at

Stillwater—H. H. Sibley elected Delegate to Congress.—Derivation of word

Minaesota.

Three years elapsed from the time that the

territory of Mihnesota was proposed in Congress,

to the final passage of the organic act. On the

sixth of August, 1846, an act was passed by Con-

gress authorizing the citizens of Wisconsin Ter-

ritory to frame a constitution and form a state

government. The act fixed the Saint Louis river

to the rapids, from thence south to the Saint

Croix, and thence down that river to its junction

with the Mississippi, as the western boundary.

On the twenty -third of December, 1846, the

delegate from Wisconsin, Morgan L. Martin, in-

troduced a bill in Congress for the organization

of a territory of Minnesota. This bill made its

western boundary the Sioux and Bed River of

the North. On the third of March, 1847, per-

mission was granted to Wisconsin to change her

boundary, so that the western Umit would pro-

ceed due south from the first rapids of the Saint

Louis river, and fifteen miles east of the most

easterly point of Lake Saint Croix, thence to the

Mississippi.

A number in the constitutionai convention of

Wisconsin, were anxious that Eum river should

be a part of her western boundary, while citizens

of the valley of the Saint Croix were desirous

that the Chippeway river should be the limit of

Wisconsin. The citizens of AVisconsin Territory,

in the valley of the Saint Croix, and about Fort

SnelUng, wished to be included in the projected

new territory, and on the twenty-eighth of March,

1848, a memorial signed by H. H. Sibley, Henry

M. Eice, Franklin Steele, William B. Marshall,

and others, was presented to Congress, remon-

strating against the proposition before the con-

vention to make Bum river a part of the bound-

ary line of the contemplated state of Wisconsin.

On the twenty-ninth of May, 1848, the act to

admit Wisconsin changed the boundary line to

the present, and as first defined in the enabling

act of 1846. After the bill of Mr. Martin was

introduced into the House of Representatives in

1846 it was referred to the Committee on Terri-

tories, of which 2ilr. Douglas was chairman. On
the twentieth of January, 1847, he reported in

favor of the proposed territory with the name
of Itasca. On the seventeenth of February, be-

fore the bill passed the House, a discussion arose

in relation to the proposed name. Mr. Win-

throp of Massachusetts proposed Chippewa as a

substitute, alleging that this tribe was the prin-

cipal in the proposed territory, which was not

correct. Mr. J. Thompson of Mississippi disliked

all Indian names, and hoped the territory would

be called Jackson. Mr. Houston of Delaware

thought that there ought to be one territory

named after the " Father of his country," and

proposed Washington. All of the names pro-

posed were rejected, and the name in the original

bill inserted. On the last day of the session,

March third, the bill was called up in the Senate

and laid on the table.

When Wisconsin became a state the query

arose whether the old territorial government did

not continue in force west of the Saint Croix

river. The first meeting on the subject of claim-

ing territorial privileges was held in the building

at Saint Paul, known as Jackson's store, near the

corner of Bench and Jackson streets, on the

bluff. This meeting was held in July, and a

convention was proposed to consider their posi-

tion. The first public meeting was held at Still-

water on August fourth, and Messrs. Steele and
Sibley were the oiily persons present from the

west side of the Mississippi. This meeting is-

sued a call foi a general convention to take steps

to secure an early territorial organization, to

assemble on the twenty-sixth of the month at
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the same place. Sixty-two delegates answered

the call, and among those present, were "W. D.

Phillips, J. W. Bass, A. Larpenteur, J. M. Boal,

and others from Saint Paul. To the convention

a letter was presented from Mr. Catlin, who
claimed to be acting governor, giving his opinion

that the Wisconsin territorial organization was

still in force. The meeting also appointed Mr.

Sibley to visit Washington and represent their

views; but the Hon. John H. Tweedy having

resigned his office of delegate to Congress on

September eighteenth, 1848, Mr. Catlin, who had
made Stillwater a temporary residence, on the

ninth of October issued a proclamation ordering

a special election at Stillwater on the thirtieth,

to iill a vacancy occasioned by the resignation.

At this election Henry H. Sibley was elected as

delegate of the citizens of the remaining portion

of Wisconsin Territory. His credentials were

presented to the House of Eepresentatives, and

the committee to whom the matter was referred

presented a majority and minority report; but

the resolution introduced by the majority passed

and Mr. Sibley took his seat as a delegate from
WisconsLU Territory on the fifteenth of January,

1849.

Mr. H. M. Eice, and other gentlemen, visited

Washington during the winter, and, uniting with

Mr. Sibley, used all their energies to obtain the

organization of a new territory.

Mr. Sibley, in an interesting communication to

the Minnesota Historical Society, writes :
" When

my credentials as Delegate, were presented by
Hon. James Wilson, of Kew Hampshire, to the

House of Eepresentatives, there was some curi-

osity manifested among the members, to see what

kind of a person had been elected to represent the

distant and wild territory claiming representation

in Congress. I was told by a Kew England mem-
ber with whom I became subsequently quite inti-

mate, that there was some disappointment when

I made my appearance, for it was expected that

the delegate from this remote region would make
his debut, if not in fuU Indian costume, at least,

with some peculiarities of dress and manners,

characteristic of the rude and semi-civilized peo-

ple who had sent him to the Capitol."

The territory of Minnesota was named after

the largest tributary of the Mississippi within its

limits. The Sioux call the Missouri Minnesho-

shay, muddy water, but the stream after which

this region is named, Minne-sota. Some say that

Sota means clear; others, turbid; Schoolcraft,

bluish green. Nicollet wrote. " The adjective

Sotah is of difficult translation. The Canadians

translated it by a pretty equivalent word, brouille,

perhaps more properly rendered into EngUsh by

blear. I have entered upon this explanation be

cause the word really means neither clear nor

turbid, as some authors have asserted, its true

meaning being found in the Sioux expression

Ishtah-sotah, blear-eyed. " From the fact that the

word signifies neither blue nor white, but the

peculiar appearance of the sky at certain times,

by some, Minnesota has been defined to mean the

sky tinted water, which is certainly poetic, and the

late Eev. Gideon H. Pond thought quite correct.
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CmVPTER XXII.

MINNESOTA FEOM ITS ORGANIZATION AS A TEKRITOET, A. D. 1849, TO A. D. 1854.

Appearance of the Country, A. D. 1849 — Arrival of first Editor — Governor

Ramsey arrives — Guefat of H. H. Sibley — Proclamation issued — Governor

Ramsey and H. M. Rice move to Saint Paul—Fourth of July Celebration

—

First election—Early newspapers—First Courts—First Legislature—Pioneer

KewB Carrier's Address—Wedding at Fort Snelling—Territorial Seal—Scalp

Dance at Stillwater—First Steamboat at Falls of Saint Anthony—Presbyterian

Chapel burned—Indian council iit Fort Snelling—First Steamboat above Saint

Anthony—First boat atthe Blue Earth River—Congressional election—Visit.of

Fredriha Bremer—Indian newspaper—Other newspapers—Second Legislature

—^University of Minnesota—Teamster killed by Indians—Sioux Treaties—Third

Legislature—Laud slide at Stillwater—Death of first Editor—Fourth Legislature

Baldwin School, now Macalester College—Indian light in Saint Paul.

On the third of March, 1849, the bill was passed

by Congress for organizing the territory of

Minnesota, whose boundary on the west, extended

to the Missouri Biver. At this time, the region was

little more than a wilderness. The west bank of

the Mississippi, from tlie Iowa line to Lalie

Itasca, was unceded by the Indians.

At Wapashaw, was a trading post in charge of

Alexis Bailly, and here also resided the ancient

voyageur, of fourscore years, A. Eocque.

At the foot of Lake Pepin was a store house

kept by Mr. F. S. Richards. On the west shore of

the lake lived the eccentric Wells, whose wife

was a bois brule, a daughter of the deceased

trader, Duncan Graham.

The two unfinished buildings of stone, on

the beautiful bank opposite the renowned

Maiden's Rock, and the surrounding skin lodges

of his wife's relatives and friends, presented a

rude but picturesque scene. Above the lake was

a cluster of bark wigwams, the Dahkotah village

of Raymneecha, now Red "Wing, at which was a

Presbyterian mission house.

The next settlement was Kaposia, also an In-

dian village, and the residence of a Presbyterian

missionary, the Rev. T. S. Williamson, M. D.

On the east side of the Mississippi, the first set-

tlement, at the mouth of the St. Croix, was Point

Douglas, then as now, a small hamlet.

At Red Rock, the site of a former Methodist

mission statioi i , there were a few farmers . Saint

Paul was just emerging from a collection of In-

dian whisky shops and birch roofed cabins of

half-breed voyageurs. Here and there a frame

tenement was erected, and, under the auspices of

the Hon. H. M. Rice, who had obtained an inter-

est in the town, some warehouses were con-

structed, and the foundations of the American

House, a frame hotel, which stood at Third and

Exchange street, were laid. In 1849, the popu-

lation had increased to two hundred and fifty

or three hundred inhabitants, for rumors had

gone abroad that it might be mentioned in the

act, creating the territory, as the capital

of Minnesota. More than a month after

the adjournment of Congress, just at eve,

on the ninth of AprU, amid terrific peals of

thunder and torrents of rain, the weekly steam

packet, the first to force its way through the icy

barrier of Lake Pepin, rounded the rocky point

whistling loud and long, as if the bearer of glad

tidings. Before she, was safely moored to the

landing, the shouts of the excited villagers were
heard announcing that there was a territory of

Minnesota, and that Saint Paul was the seat of

government.

Every successive steamboat arrival poured out

on the landing men big with hope, and anxious

to do something to mould the future of the new
state.

Nine days after the news of the existence of the

territory of Minnesota was received, there arrived

James M. Goodhue with press, type, and printing

apparatus. A graduate of Amherst college, and
a lawyer by profession, he wielded a sharp pen,

and wrote editorials, which, more than anything

else, perhaps, induced immigration. Though a

man of some faults, one of the counties properly

bears his name. On the twenty-eighth of April,

he issued from his press the first n'umber of the

Pioneer.

On the twenty - seventh of May, Alexander

Ramsey, the Governor, and family, arrived at

Saint Paul, butowing to the crowded state of pub-
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lie houses, immediately proceeded ia the steamer

to the establishment of the Far Company, known

as Mendota, at the junction of the Minnesota and

Mississippi, and became the guest of the Hon. H.

H. Sibley.

On the first of June, Governor Eamsey, by pro-

clamation, declared the territory duly organized,

with the following officers ; Alexander Ramsey,

of Pennsylvania, Governor ; C. K. Smith, of Ohio,

Secretary ; A. Goodrich, of Tennessee, Chief

Justice ; D. Cooper, of Pennsylvania, and B. B.

Meeljer, of Kentucky, Associate Judges ; Joshua

L. Taylor, Marshal ; H. L. Moss, attorney of the

United States.

On the eleventh of June, a second proclama-

tion was issued, dividing the territory into three

temporary judicial districts. The first comprised

the county of St. Croix ; the county of La Pouite

and the region north and west of the Mississippi,

and north of the Minnesota and of a fine running

due west from the headwaters of the Minnesota

to the Missouri river, constituted the second
;

and the country west of the Mississippi and south

of the Mimiesota, formed the third district.

Judge Goodrich was assigned to the first. Meeker

to the second, and Cooper to the third. A court

was ordered to be held at Stillwater on the second

Monday, at the Falls of St. Anthony on the third,

and at Mendota on the fourth Monday of August.

Until the twenty -sixth of June, Governor

Eamsey and family had been guests of Hon. H.

H. Sibley, at Mendota. On the afternoon of

that day they arrived at St. Paul, in a birch-bark

canoe, and became permanent residents at the

capital. The house first occupied as a guber-

natorial mansion, was a small frame building that

stood on Third, between Robert and Jackson

streets, formerly known as the New England

House.

A few days after, the Hon. H. M. Rice and

family moved from Mendota to St. Paul, and oc-

cupied the house he had erected on St. Anthony

street, near the corner of Market.

On the first of July, a land oflice was estab-

Ushed at Stillwater, and A. Van Vorhes, after a

few weeks, became the register.

The anniversary of our 1^ ational Indepenaence

was celebrated in a becoming manner at the cap-

ital. The place selected for the address, was a

grove that stood on the sites of the City HaU and

the I3aldwkL School building, and the late Prank-

lia Steele was the marshal of the day.

On the seventh of July, a proclamation was is-

sued, dividing the territory into seven council

districts, and ordering an election to be held on

the first day of August, for one delegate to rep-

resent the people in the House of Representatives

of the United States, for nine councillors and

eighteen representatives, to constitute the Legis-

lative Assembly of Minnesota.

In this month, the Hon. H. M. Rice despatch-

ed a hoat laded with Indian goods from the

the Falls of St. Anthony to Crow "Wing, which

was towed by horses after the manner of a canal

boat.

The election on the first of August, passed ofE

with little excitement, Hon. H, H. Sibley being

elected delegate to Congress without opposition.

David Lambert, on what might, perhaps, be

termed the old settlers' ticket, was defeated in

St. Paul, by James M. Boal. The latter, on the

night of the election, was honored with a ride

through town on the axle and fore-wheels of an

old wagon, which was drawn by his admiring

but somewhat undisciplined friends.

J. L. Taylor having decUned the office of

United States Marshal; A. M. Mitchell, of Ohio,

a graduate of "West Point, and colonel of a regi-

ment of Ohio volunteers in the Mexican war, was

appointed and arrived at the capital early in

August. V

There were three papers published in the ter-

ritory soon after its organization. The first was

the Pioneer, issued on April twenty-eighth, 1849,

under most discouraging circumstances. It was

at first the intention of the witty and reckless

editor to have called his paper " The Epistle of

St. Paul." About the same time there was issued

in Cincinnati, under the auspices of the late Dr.

A. EandaU, of California, the first number of

the Register. The second number of the paper

was printed at St. Paul, in July, and the office

was on St. Anthony, between Washington and

Market Streets, About the first of June, James

Hughes, afterward of Hudson, Wisconsin, arrived

vmh a press and materials, and established the

Minnesota Chronicle. After an existence of a

few weeks two papers were discontinued ; and,

in their place, was issued the " Chronicle and
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Begister," edited by Nathaiel McLean and John

P. Owens.

The first courts, pursuant to proclamation of

the governor, were held in the month of August.

At Stillwater, the court was organized on the

thirteenth of the month, Judge Goodrich pre-

siding, and Judge Cooper by coui-tesy, sitting on

the bench. On the twentieth, the second Judi-

cial district held a couit. The room used was

the old government mill at Minneapolis. The

presiding judge was B. B. Meeker ; tlie foreman

of the grand jury, rranklin Steele. On the last

Monday of the month, the court for the third

judicial district was organized in the large stone

warehouse of the fur company at JMendota. The

presiding judge was David Cooper. Governor

Bamsey sat on the right, and Judge Goodrich on

the left. Hon. H. II. Sibley was the foreman of

the grand jury. As some of the jurors could not

speak the English language, "W. H. Forbes acted

as interpreter. The charge of Judge Cooper was

lucid, scholarly, and dignified. At the request

of the grand jury it was afterwards published.

On Monday, the third of September, the first

Legislative Assembly convened in the " Central

IIoiise,Tin Saint Paul, a building at the corner

of Minnesota and Bench streets, facing the

Mississippi river which answered the double

purpose of capitol and hotel. On the first

floor of the main building was the Secreta-

ry's office and Representative chamber, and in

the second story was the library and Council

chamber. As the flag was run up the staff in

front of the house, a number of Indians sat on a

rocky bluff in the vicinity, and gazed at what to

them was a novel and perhaps saddening scene

;

for if the tide of immigration sweeps in from the

Pacific as it has from the Atlantic coast, they

must soon dwindle.

The legislature having organized, elected the

following permanent ofiBcers: David Olmsted,

President of Council ; Joseph E. Brown, Secre-

ary ; H. A. Lambert, Assistant. In the House
of Bepresentatives, Joseph ^V. Furber was elect-

ed Speaker: W. D. Phillips, Clerk; L. B. ^Vait,

Assistant.

On Tuesday afternoon, both houses assembled

in the dining hall of the hotel, and after prayer

was offered by Rev. E. D. Neill, Governor Ram-
sey delive'red his message. The message was ably

written, and its perusal afforded satisfaction at

home and abroad.

The first session of the legislature adjourned on

the first of November. Among other proceed-

ings of interest, was the creation of the following

counties: Itasca, Wapashaw, Dahkotah, Vah-
nahtah, Mahkahto, Pembina "Washington, Ram-
sey and Benton. The three latter counties com-

prised the country that up to that time had been

ceded by the Indians on the east side of the Mis-

sissippi, Stil.'water was declared the county seat

of Washington, Saint Paul, of Ramsey, and ' the

seat of justice of the county of Benton was to be

within one-quarter of a mile of a point on the east

side of the Mississippi, directly opposite the mouth

of Sauk river."

EVENTS OF A. D 1850.

By the active exertions of the secretary of th*

territory, C. K. Smith, Esq., the Historical

Society of Minnesota was incorporated at the

first session of the legislature. Tlie opening an-

nual address was delivered in the then Methodist

(now Swedenborgian) church at Saint Paul, on

the first of January, 1850.

The following account of the proceedings is

from the Chronicle and Register. "The first

public exercises of the Minnesota Historical

Society, took place at the Methodist church, Saint

Paul, on the first inst., and passed off higlily

creditable to all concerned. The day was pleasant

and the attendance large. At the appointed

hour, the President and both Vice-Presidents of

the society being absent ; on motion of Hon. C.

K. Smith, Hon. Chief Justice Goodrich was
called to the chair. The same gentleman then

moved that a committee, consisting of Messrs.

Parsons K. Johnson, John A. Wakefield, and B.

W. Branson, be appointed to wait upon the

Orator of the day, Rev. Mr. Neill, and inform

him that the audience was waiting to hear his

address.

" ^Ir. ]Srein was shortly conducted to the pulpit;

and after an eloquent and approriate prayer by

the Rev. ^Ir. Parsons, and music by the band, he

proceeded to deliver his discourse upon the early

French missionaries and "\^oyageurs into Minne-

sota. AYe hope the society will provide for its

publication at an early day.

After some brief remarks by Rev. Mr,
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Hobart, upon the objects and ends of history, the

ceremonies were concluded with a prayer by

that gentleman. The audience dispersed highly

delighted with all that occurred.''

At this early period the Minnesota Pioneer

issued a Carrier's New Year's Address, which

was amusing doggerel. The reference to the

future greatness and ignoble origin of the capital

of Minnesota was as follows :

—

The cities on this river must be three,

Two that are bui .'; and one that is to be.

One, is the mart of aU the tropics yield,

The cane, the orange, and the cotton-field,

And sends her ships abroad and boasts

Her trade extended to a thousand coasts

;

The other, central for the temperate zone,

Gamers the stores that on the plains are grown,

A place where steamboats from all quarters,

range,

To meet and speculate, as 'twere on 'change.

The third will lie, where rivers confluent flow

Prom the wide spreading north through plains

of snow

;

The mart of all that boundless forests give

To make mankind more comfortably live,

The land of manufacturing industry,

The workshop of the nation it shall be.

Propelled by this wide stream, you'll see

A thousand factories at Saint Anthony :

And the Saint Croix a hundred mills shall drive.

And all its smiling villages shall thrive

;

But then my town—remember that high bench

With cabins scattered over it, of French ?

A man named Henry Jackson's living there.

Also a man—why every one knows L. Bobair,

Below Fort Snelling, seven miles or so.

And three above the village of Old Crow ?

Pig's Eye ? Yes ; Pig's Eye ! That's the spot

!

A very funny name ; is't not ?

Pig's Eye's the spot, to plant my city on.

To be remembered by, when I am gone.

Pig's Eye converted thou shalt be, like Saul

:

Thy name henceforth shall be Saint Paul.

On the evening of New Year's day, at Fort

SneUing, there was an assemblage which is only

seen on the outposts of civUization. In one of

the stone edifices, outside of the wall, belonging

to the United States, there resided a gentleman

who had dwelt in_Mianesota since the year 1819,

and for many years had been in the employ of

the government, as Indian interpreter. In youth

he had been a member of the Columbia Fur Com-

pany, and conforming to the habits of traders,

had purchased a Dahkotah wife who was wholly

ignorant of the English language. As a family

of children gathered around hun he recognised

the relation of husband and father, and consci-

entiously discharged his duties as a parent. His

daughter at a proper age was sent to a boarding

school of some celebrity, and on the night re-

ferred to was married to an intelligent young

American farmer. Among the guests present

were the offtcers of the garrison in full uniform,

with their wives, the United States Agent for

the Dahkotahs, and family, the bois brules of

the neighborhood, and the Indian relatives of the

mother. The mother did not make her appear-

ance, but, as the minister proceeded with the

ceremony, the Dahkotah relatives, wrapped in

their blankets, gathered in the hall and looked

in through the door.

The marriage feast was worthy of the occa-

sion. In consequence of the numbers, the

ofiicers and those of European extraction partook

first ; then the bois brules of OJibway and Dah-

kotah descent; and, finally, the native Ameri-

cans, who did ample justice to the plentiful sup-

ply spread before them. ,

Governor Kamsey, Hon. H. H. Sibley, and the

delegate to Congress devised at "Washington, this

winter, the territorial seal . The design was Falls

of St. Anthony in the distance. An immigrant

ploughing the land on the borders of the Indian

country, full of hope, and looking forward to the

possession of the himting grounds beyond. An
Indian, amazed at the sight of the plough, and

fleeing on horseback towards the setting sim.

The motto of the Earl of Dunraven, "Qusb

sursum volo videre". (I wish to see what is above)

was most appropriately selected by Mr. Sibley,

but by the blunder of an engraver it appeared on

the territorial seal, "Quo sursum velo videre,"

which no scholar could translate. At length was

substituted, "L' Etoile du Nord," "Star of the

North," while the device of the .setting sim

remained, and this is objectionable, as the State

of Maine had already placed the North Star on

her escutcheon, with the motto "Dirigo," "I

guide.'' Perhaps some future legislature may
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direct the first motto to be restored and correctly

engraved.

In the montn of April, there was a renewal of

hostilities between the Dahkotahs and Ojibways,

on lands that had been ceded to the United States.

A war prophet at Red Wing, dreamed that he

ought to raise a war party. Announcing the fact,

' a number expressed their willingness to go on such

an expedition. Several from the Kaposia village

also joined the party, under the leadership of a

worthless Indian, who had been confined in the

guard-house at Fort SneUing, the year previous,

for scalping his wife.

Passing up the valley of the St. Croix, a rew

miles above Stillwater the party discovered on the

snow the marks of a keg and footprints. These

told them that a man and woman of the Ojibways

had been to some whisky dealer's, and were re-

turning. Following their trail, they found on

Apple river, about twenty miles from Stillwater,

a band of Ojibways encamped in one lodge . Wait-

ing tin daybreak of Wednesday, April second, the

Dahkotahs commenced firing on the unsuspecting

inmates, some of whom were drinMng from the

contents of the whisky keg. The camp was com-

posed of fifteen, and all were murdered and scalp-

ed, with the exception of a lad, who was made a

captive.

Oh Thru-sday, the victors came to StiUwater,

and danced the scalp dance around the captive

boy, in the heat of excitement, striking him in the

face with the scarcely cold and bloody scalps of

his relatives. The child was then taken to Ka-

posia, and adopted by the chief. Governor Ram-

sey immediately took measures to send the boy to

his friends. At a conference held at the Gov-

ernor's mansion, the boy was delivered up, and,

on being led out to the kitchen by a little son of

the Governor, since deceased, to receive refresh-

ments, he cried bitterly, seemingly more alarmed

at being left with the whites than he had been

while a captive at Kaposia.

Prom the first of April the waters of the Mis-

sissippi began to rise, and on the thirteenth, the

lower floor of the warehouse, then occupied by

William Constans, at the foot of Jackson street,

St. Paul, was submerged. Taking advantage of

the freshet, the steamboat Anthony Wayne, for a

purse of two hundred dollars, ventured through

the swift current above Fort Snelling, and reached

the Falls of St. Anthony. The boat loft the fort

after dinner, with Governor Ramsey and other

guests, also the band of the Sixth Regiment on

board, and reached the falls between three and

four o'clock in the afternoon. The whole town,

men, women and children, lined the shore as the

boat approached, and welcomed this first arrival,

with shouts and waving handkerchiefs.

On the afternoon of May fifteenth, there might

have been seen, hurrying through the streets of

Saint Paul, a number of naked and painted braves

of the Kaposia band of Dahkotahs, ornamented

with all the attire of war, and panting for the

scalps of their enemies. A few hours before, the

warlike head chief of the Ojibways, young Hole-

in-the-Day , having secreted his canoe in the retired

gorge which leads to the cave in the upper sub-

urbs, with two or three associates had crossed the

river, and, almost in sight of the citizens of the

town, had attacked a small party of Dahkotahs,

and murdered and scalped one man. On receipt

of the news. Governor Ramsey granted a parole

to the thirteen Dahkotahs confined in Fort SneU-

ing, for participating in the Apple river massacre.

On the morning of the sixteenth of May, the

first Protestant church edifice completed in the

white settlements, a small frame building, buUt

for the Presbj'terian church, at Saint Paul, was

destroyed by fire, it being the first conflagration

that had occurred since the organization of the

territory.

One of the most interesting events of the year

1850, was the Indian council, at Fort Snelling.

Governor Ramsey had sent runners to the differ-

ent bands of the Ojibways and Dahkotahs, to

meet liim at the fort, for the purpose of en-

deavouring to adjust their diflBculties.

On Wednesday, the twelfth of June, after

much talking, as is customary at Indian councils,

the two tribes agreed as they had frequently done

before, to be friendly, and Governor Ramsey

presenting to each party an ox. the council was

dissolved.

On Thursday, the Ojibways visited St. Paul

for the first time, young Hole-in-the-Day being

dressed in a coat of a captain of United States

infantry, which had been presented to him at the

fort. On Friday, they left in the steamer Gov-

ernor Ramsey, which had been built at St. An-

thony, and ]ust commenced running between
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that point and Sauk Rapids, for their homes in

the wilderness of the Upper Mississippi.

The summer of 1850 was the commencement
of the navigation of the Minnesota River by

steamboats. With the exception of a steamer

that made a pleasure excursion as far as Shokpay,

in 1841, no large vessels had ever disturbed the

waters of this stream. In June, the " Anthony

Wayne," which a few weeks before had ascended

to the Falls of St. Anthony, made a trip. On
the eighteenth of July she made a second trip,

going almost to Mahkahto. The " Jifominee

"

also navigated the stream for some distance.

On the twenty-second of July the ofBcijrs of

the " Yankee," taking advantage of the high

water, determined to navigate the stream as far

as possible. The boat ascended to near the Cot-

tonwood river.

As the time for the general election in Septem-

ber approached, considerable excitement was

manifested. As there were no political issues

before the people, parties were formed based on

personal preferences. Among those nominated

for delegate to Congress, by various meetings,

were H. H. Sibley, the former delegate to Con-

gress, David Olmsted, at that time engaged in

the Indian trade, and A. M. Mitchell, the United

States marshal. Mr. Olmsted withdrew Ms
name before election day, and the contest was

between those interested in Sibley and Mitchell.

The friends of each betrayed the greatest zeal,

and neither pains nor money were spared to in-

sure success. Mr. Sibley vi-as elected by a small

majority. For the first time in the territory,

soldiers at the garrisons voted at this election,

and there was considerable discussion as to the

propriety of such a course.

Miss Fredrika Bremer, the wellknown Swedish

novelist, visited Minnesota in the montli of

October, and was the guest of Governor Ramsey.

During November, the Dahkotah Tawaxitku

Kin, or the Dahkotah Friend, a monthly paper,

was commenced, one-half in the Dahkotah and

one-half in the English language. Its editor was

the Rev. Gideon H. Pond, a Presbyterian mis-

sionary, and its place of publication at Saint Paul.

It was published for nearly two years, and, though

it failed to attract the attention of the Indian

mind, it conveyed to the English reader much

correct information in relation to the habits, the

belief, and superstitions, of the Dahkotahs.

On the tenth of December, anew paper, owned

and edited by Daniel A. Robertson, late United

States marshal, of Ohio, and called the Minne-

sota Democrat, made its appearance.

During the summer there had been changes in

the editorial supervision of the " Chronicle and

Register." For a brief period it was edited by

L. A. Babcock, Esq., who was succeeded by W.

G. Le Due.

About the time of the issuing of the Demo-

crat, C. J. Henniss, formerly reporter for the
'

United States Gazette, Philadelphia, became the

editor of the Chronicle.

The first proclamation for a thanksgiving day

was issued in 1850 by the governor, and the

twenty-sixth of December was the time appointed

and it was generally observed.

EVEKTS OF A. D. 1851.

On Wednesday, January first, 1851, the second

Legislative Assembly assembled in a three-story

brick building, since destroyed by fire, that stood

on St. Anthony street, between Washington and

Franklin. D. B. Loomis was chosen Speaker of

the Council, and J.I. E. Ames Speaker of the

House. This assembly was characterized by
'

more bitterness of feeling than any that' has

since convened. The preceding delegate election

had been based on personal preferences, and

cliques and factions manifested themselves at an

early period of the session.

The locating of the penitentiary at Stillwater,

and the capitol building at St. Paul gave some

dissatisfaction. By the efforts of J. W. North,

Esq., a bill creating the University of Minnesota

at or near the Falls of St. Anthony, was passed,

and signed by the Governor. This institution,

by the State Constitution, is now the State Uni-

versity.

During the session of this Legislature, the pub-

lication of the " Chronicle and Register" ceased.

About the middle of May, a war party Of Dah-

kotahs discovered near Swan River, an Ojibway

with a keg of whisky. The latter escaped, with

the loss of his keg. The war party, drinking the

contents, became intoxicated, and, firing upon

some teamrters they met driving their wagons

with goods to the Indian Agency, killed one of
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them, Andrew Swarfcz, a resident of St. Paul.

The news was conveyed to Fort Bipley, and a

party of soldiers, with Hole-in-the-day as a guide,

started in pursuit of the murderers, but did not

succeed in capturing them. Through the influ-

ence of Little Six, the Dahkotah chief, whose vil-

lage was at (and named after him) Shok-

pay, five of the offenders were arrested and

placed in the guard house at Port Siielling. On
Monday, June ninth, they left the fort in a wagon,

guarded by twenty-five dragoons, destined for

Sauk Bapids for trial. As they departed they all

sang their death song, and the coarse soldiers

amused themselves by makiug signs that they

were going to be hung. On the first evening of

the journey the five culprits encamped with the

twenty-five dragoons. Handcuffed, they were

placed in the tent, and yet at midnight they all

escaped, only one being wounded by the guard-

What was more remarkable, the wounded man
was the first to bring the news to St. Paul. Pro-

ceeding to Koposia, his wouiid was examined by
the missionary and physteian, Dr. Williamson;

and then, fearing an arrest, he took a oanoe and

paddled up the Minnesota. The excuses offered

by the dragoons was, that all the guard but one

fell asleep.

The first paper published in Minnesota, beyond
the capital, was the St. Anthony Express, which

made its appearance during the last week of

April or May.

The most important event of the year 1851

was the treaty with the Dahkotahs, by which the

west side of the Mississippi and the valley of the

Minnnesota Kiver were opened to the hardy immi-
grant. The commissioners on the part of the

United States were Luke Lea, Commissioner of

Indian Affairs, and Governor Eamsey. The
place of meeting for the upper bands was Trav-

erse des Sioux. The commission arrived there

on the last of June, but were obliged to wait

many days for the assembling of the various

bands of Dahkotahs.

On the eighteenth of July, all those expected

having arrived, the Sissetons and Wahpayton
Dahkotahs assembled in grand council with the
United States commissioners. After the usual

feastings and speeches, a treaty was concluded
on Wednesday, July twenty-third. The pipe

having been smoked by the commissioners. Lea

and Eamsey, it was passed to the chiefs. The

paper containing the treaty was then read in

English and translated into the Dahkotah by the

Rev. S. E. Eiggs, Presbyterian Missionary among

this people. This finished, the chiefs came up

to the secretary's table and touched the pen; the

white men present then witnessed the document^

and nothing remained but the ratification of the

United States Senate to open that vast country

for the residence of the hardy immigrant.

During tbe first week in August, a treaty was

also concluded beneath an oak bower, on Pilot

Knob, Mendota, with the M'dewakantonwan and

Wa'ipaykootay bands of Dahkotahs. About sixty

of the chiefs and principal men touched the pen,

and Little Crow, who had beeen in the misssion-

school at Lac qui Parle, signed his own name.

Before they separated Colonel Lra and Governor

Eamsey gave them a few words of advice on

various subjects connected with their fTiture well-

being, but particularly on the subject of educa-

tion and temperance. Tbe treaty was interjiret-

ed to them by the Bev. G. H. Pond, a gentleman

who was conceded to be a most correct speaker

of the Dahkotah tongue.

The day after the treaty these lower bands

received thirty thousand dollars, which, bj' the

treaty of 1837, was set apart for education ; but,

by the misrepresentations of interested half-

breeds, the Indians were made to believe that

it ought to be given to them to be employed as

they pleased.

The next week, with their sacks filled with

money, they thronged the streets of St. Paul,

purchasing whatever pleased their fancy.

On the seventeenth of September, a new paper

was commenced in St. Paul, under the auspices

of the "Whigs," and John P. Owens became
editor, which relation he sustained until the fall

of 1857.

The election for members of the Legislature,

and county officers occurred on the fourteenth of

October; and, for the first time, a regular Demo-
cratic ticket was placed before the people. The
parties called themselves Democratic and Anti-

organization, or Coalition,

In the month of November Jerome Puller ar-

rived, and taok the place of Judge Goodrich as

Chief Justice of Minnesota, who was removed;

and, about the same time, Alexander Wilkin was
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appointed secretary of the territory in place of

0. K. Smith.

The eighteenth of December, pursuant to

proclamation, was observed as a day of Thanks-

giviag.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1852.

The third Legislative Assembly commencsd its

sessions in one of the scfafiaes on Tliird below

Jackson street, which became a portion of the

Merchants' Hotel, on the seventh of January,

1852.

This session, compared with the previous,

formed a contrast as great as that between a

boisterous day in March and a cahn June morn-

ing. The minds of the population were more

deeply interested in the ratification of the treaties

made with the Dahkotahs, than in poUtical dis-

cussions. Among othf^r Ipja-islation of interest

was the creation of Heiinepin county.

On Saturday, the ,?C'irteenth of February, a

dog-train arrived at S' Paul from the north,

with the distinguished Arctic explorer. Dr. Kae.

He had been in search of the long-missing Sir

John Tranklin, by way of the Mackenzie river,

and was now on his way to Europe.

On the fourteenth of May,, an interesting lusus

naturae occurred at Stillwater. On the prairies,

beyond the eleyated bluffs which encircle the

business portion of the town, there is a lake which
discharges its waters through a ravine, and sup-

pli(>,d McKusick's mill.' Owing to heavy rains,

the hills became saturated with water, and the

lake very full. Before daylight the citizens heard

the " voice of many waters," and looking out, saw
rushing down through the ravine, trees, gravel

and diluvium. Nothing impeded its course, and
as it issued from the ravine it spread over the

town site, covering up barns and small tenements,

and, continuing to the lake shore, it materially

improved the landing, by a deposit of many tons

of earth. One of the editors of the day, alluding

to the fact, quaintly remarked, that " it was a

very extraordinary movement of real estate."

During the summer, Elijah Terry, a young
man who had left St. Paul the previous March,

and went to Pembina, to act as teacher to the

mixed bloods in that vicinity, was murdered un-

der di/itressing circumstances. With a bois brule

he had started to the woods on the morning of

his death, to hew timber. While there he was

fired upon by a small party of Dahkotahs ; a ball

broke his arm, and he was pierced with arrows.

His scalp was wrenched from his head, and was

afterwards seen among Sisseton Dahkotahs, near

Big Stone Lake.

About the last of August, the pioneer editor

of Minnesota, James M. Goodhue, died.

At the November Term of the United States

District Court, of Eamsey county, a Dahkotah,

named Yu-ha-zee, was tried for the murder of a

German woman. With others she was travel-

ing above Shokpay, when a party of Indians, of

whom the prisoner was one, met them; and,

gathering about the wagon, were much excited.

The prisoner punchfed the woman first with his

gun, and, being threatened by one of the party,

loaded and flred, kiUiag the woman and woimd-

ing one of the men.

On the day of his trial he was escorted from

Eort SnelUng by a company of mounted dragoons

in full dress. It was an impressive scene to

witness the poor Indian half hid in his blanket,

in a buggy with the civil oflEicer, surrounded with

all the pomp and circumstance of war. The jury

found him guilty. On being asked if he had

anything to say why sentence of death should

not be passed, he replied, through the interpreter,

that the band to which he belonged would remit

their annuities if he could be released. To this

Judge Hayner, the successor of Judge Fuller,

replied, that he had no authority to release

him; and, ordering him to rise, after some

appropriate and impressive remarks, he pro-

nounced the first sentence of death ever pro-

nounced by a judicial oflScer in Minnesota. The
prisoner trembled while the judge spoke, and

was a piteous spectacle. By the statute of Min-

nesota, then, one convicted of murder could not

be executed until twelve months had elapsed, and

he was confined until the governor of the ter-

orrity should by warrant order his execution.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1853.

The fourth Legislative Assembly convened on

the fifth of January, 1853, in the two story brick

edifice at the corner of Third and Minnesota

streets. The Council chose Martin McLeod as

presiding ofiScer, and the House Dr. David Day,



INDIAN FIGHT IN 8TBEEI8 OF ST. PAUL. 125

Speaker. Governor Eamsey's message was an

interesting document.

The Baldwin school, now known as Macalester

College, was incorporated at this session of the

legislature, and was opened the following June.

On the ninth of April, a party of Ojibways

killed a Dahkotah, at the village of Shokpay. A
war party, from Kaposia, then proceeded up the

valley of the St. Croix, and killed an Ojibway.

On the morning of the twenty-seventh, a band

of^Ojibway warriors, naked, decked, and fiercely

gesticulating, might have been seen in the busiest

street of the capital, in search of their enemies.

Just at that time a small party of women, and

one man, who had lost a leg in the battle of Still-

water, arrived in a canoe from Kaposia, at the

Jackson street landing. Perceiving the Ojib-

ways, they retreated to the building then known
as the " Pioneer" office, and the Ojibways dis-

charging a volley through the windows, wounded

a Dahkotah woman who soon died. Por a short

time, the infant capital presented a sight

similar to that witnessed in ancient days in

Hadley or Deerfield, the then frontier towns of

Massachusetts. Messengers were despatched to

Fort Snelling for the dragoons, and a party of

citizens mounted on horseback, were quickly in

pursuit of those who with so much boldness had

sought the streets of St. Paul, as a place to

avenge their wrongs. The dragoons soon fol-

lowed, with Indian guides scenting the track of

the Ojibways, like bloodhounds. The next day

they discovered the transgressors^ near the Palls

of St. Croix. The Ojibways manifesting what

was supposed to be an insolent spirit, the order

was given by the lieutenant in command, to fire,

and he whose scalp was afterwards daguerreo

typed, and which was engraved for Graham's

Magazine, wallowed in gore.

During the summer, the passenger, as he stood

on the hurricane deck of any of the steamboats,

might have seen, on a scaffold on the bluffs in

the rear of Kaposia, a square box covered with a

coarsely fringed red cloth. Above it was sus-

pended a piece of the Ojibway's scalp, whose

death had caused the affray in the streets of St.

Paul. AVithin, was the body of the woman who
had been shot in the " Pioneer " building, while

seeking refuge. A scalp suspended over the

corpse is supposed to be a consolation to the soul,

and a great protection in the journey to the spirit

land.

On the accession of Pierce to the presidency of

the United States, the officers appointed mider

the Taylor and Fillmore administrations were

removed, and the following gentlemen substitu-

ted : Governor, W. A. Gorman,\)f Indiana ; Sec-

retary, J. T. Eosser, of Virginia ; Chief Justice,

"W. H. Welch, of Minnesota ; Associates, Moses

Sherburne, of Maine, and A. G. Chatfield, of

Wisconsin. One of the first official acts of the

second Governor, was the making of a treaty

vsdth the Winnebago Indians at Watab, Benton

county, for an exchange of country.

On the twenty-ninth of June, D. A. Robertson,

who by his enthusiasm and earnest advocacy of

its principles had done much to organize the

Democratic party of Minnesota, retired from the

editorial chair and was succeeded by David Olm-

sted.

At the election held in October, Henry M.
Eice and Alexander Wilkin were candidates

for deUgate to Congress. The former was elect-

ed by a decisive majority.
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CHAPTER XXIII.

EVENTS FROM A. D. 1854 TO THE ADMISSION OF MINNESOTA TO THE UNION.

Fifth Legislature—Execution ofYuhazce—Sixth Legislature—First bridge over the

Mississippi—Arctic Explorer—Seventh Legislature—Indian girl killed near

Bloomington Ferry— Eighth Legislature—Attempt to Remove the Capital

—

Special Session of the Legislature—Convention to frame a State Constitution

—

Admission of Minnesota to the Union.

The fifth, session of the legislature was com-

menced in the building just completed as the

Capitol, on January fourth, 1854. The President

of the Council was S. B. Olmstead, and the Speak-

er of the House of Eepresentatives was N. C. D.

Taylor.

Governor Gorman delivered his first annual

message on the tenth, and as his predecessor,

urged the importance of railway communications,

and dwelt upon the necessity of fostering the in-

terests of education, and of the lumbermen.

The exciting bill of the session was the act in-

corporating the Minnesota and Northwestern

Eailroad Company, introduced by Joseph P..

Brown. It was passed after the hour of midnight

on the last day of the session. Contrary to the

expectation of his friends, the Governor signed

the bill.

On the afternoon of December twenty-seventh,

the first public execution In Minnesota, in accord-

ance with the forms of law, took place. Yu-ha-

zee, the Dahkotah who had been convicted in

November, 1852, for the murder of a German
woman, above Shokpay, was the individual.

The scaffold was erected on tlie open space be-

tween an inn called the Pranklin House and the

rear of the late Mr. J. W. Selby's enclosure

in St. Paul. About two o'clock, the prisoner,

dressed in a white shroud, left the old log pris-

on, near the court house, and entered a carriage

vrith the officers of the law. Being assisted up
the steps that led to the scaffold, he made a few
remarks in his own language, and was then exe-

cuted. Numerous ladies sent in a petition to

the governor, asking the pardon of the Indian,

to which that officer in declining made an appro-

priate reply.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1855.

The sixth session of the legislature convened

on the third of January, 1855. W. P. Murray

was elected President of the Council, and James

S. Norris Speaker of the House.

About the last of January, the two houses ad-

journed one day, to attend the exercises occa-

sioned by the opening of the first bridge of

any kind, over the mighty Mississippi, from

Lake Itasca to the Gulf of Mexico. It was at

Palls of Saint Anthony, and made of wire, and

at the time of its opening, the patent for the

land on which the west piers were built, had not

been issued from the Land Office, a striking evi-

dence of the rapidity with which the city of

Minneapolis, which now surrounds the Falls, has

developed.

On the twenty-ninth of March, a convention

was held at Saint Anthony, which led to the

formation of the Republican party of Minnesota.

This body took measures for the holding of a

territorial convention at St. Paul, which con-

vened on the twenty-fifth of July, and William

R. Marshall was nominated as delegate to Con-

gress. Shortly after the friends of Mr. Sibley

nominated David Olmsted and Henry M. Rice,

the former delegate was also a candidate. The
contest was animated, and resulted in the elec-

tion of Mr. Rice.

About noon of December twehfth, 1855, a four-

horse vehicle was seen driving rapidly through
St. Paul, and deep was the interest when it was
announced that one of the Arctic exploring party,

Mr. James Stewart, was on his way to Canada
with reUcs of the world -renowned and world-

mourned Sir John Pranklin. Gathering together

the precious fragments found on Montreal Island

and vicinity, the party had left the region of ice-

bergs on the ninth of August, and after a con-

tinued land journey from that tune, had reached
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Saint Paul on that day, en route to the Hudson

Bay Company's quarters in Canada.

• EVENTS OF A. D. 1856.

The seventh session of the Legislative Assem-

bly was begun on the second of January, 1856,

and again the exciting question was the Minne-

sota and Northwestern Railroad Company.

John B. Brisbin was elected President of the

Council, and Charles Gardner, Speaker of the

House.

This year was comparatively devoid of interest.

The citizens of the territory were busily engaged

in making claims in newly organized counties,

and in enlarging the area of civilization.

On the twelfth of June, several Ojibways

entered the farm house of Mr. Whallon, who re-

sided in Hennepin county, on the banks of the

Minnesota, a mile below the Bloomington ferrj'.

The wife of the farmer, a friend, and three child-

ren, besides a little Dahkotah girl, who had been

brought up in the mission-house at Kaposia, and

so changed in manners that her origin was

scarcely perceptible, were sitting in the room

when the Indians came in. Instantly seizing

the little Indian maiden, they threw her out of

the door, Idlled and scalped her, and fled before

the men wlio were near by, in the field, could

reach the house.

EVENTS OF A. D. 1857.

The procurement of a state organization, and

a grant of lands for railroad purposes, were the

topics of political interest during the year 1857.

The eighth Legislative Assembly convened at

the capitol on the seventh of January, and J. B.

Brisbin was elected President of the Council, and

J. W. Furber, Speaker of the House.

A bill changing the seat of government to

Saint Peter, on the Minnesota Biver, caused

much discussion.

On Saturday, February twenty -eighth, Mr.

Balcombe offered a resolution to report the bill

for the removal of the seat of government, and

should Mr. Kolette, chairman of the committee,

fail, that W. W. Wales, of said committee, report

a copy of said bill.

Mr. Setzer, after the reading of the resolution,

moved a call of the Council, and Mr. Eolette ^vas

found to be absent. The chair ordered the ser-

geant at arms to report Mr Eolette ui his seat.

Mr. Balcombe moved that farther proceedings

under the call be dispensed with ; which did not

prevail. From that time until the next Thursday

afternoon, March the fifth, a period of one hun-

dred and twenty-three hoiurs, the Council re-

mained in th€ir chamber without recess. At that

time a motion to adjourn prevailed. On Friday

another motion was made to dispense with the

call of the Council, which did not prevail. On
Saturday, the Council met, the president declared

tlie call still pending. At seven and a half p. m.,

a committee of the House was amiounced. The

chair ruled, that no communication from the

House could be received while a call of the Coun-

cil was pending, and the committee withdrew.

A motion was again made during the last night

of the session, to dispense with all further pro-

ceedings under the call, which prevailed, with

one vote only in the negative.

Mr. Ludden then moved that a committee be

appointed to wait on the Governor, and inquire if

he had any further communication to make to

the Council.

Mr. Lowry moved a call of the Council, which

was ordered, and the roll being called, Messrs.

Rolette, Thompson and Tillotson were absent.

At twelve o'clock at night the president re-

sumed the chair, and announced that the time

limited by law for the continuation of the session

of the territorial legislature had expired, and he

therefore declared the Council adjourned and the

seat of government remained at Saint Paul.

The excitement on the capital question was in-

tense, and it was a strange scene to see members

of the Council, eating and sleeping in the hall of

legislation for days, waittag for the sergeant-at-

arms to report an absent member in his seat.

On the twenty-third of February, 1857, an act

passed the United States Senate, to authorize

the people of Minnesota to form a constitution,

preparatory to their admission into the Union

on an equal footing with the original states.

Governor Gorman called a special session

of the legislature, to take into consideration

measures that would give efficiency to the act.

The extra session convened on ^Vpril twenty-

seventh, and a message was transmitted by Sam-

uel Medary, who had been appointed governor

in place of W. A. Gorman, whose term of ofiice
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had expired. The extra session adjourned on

the twenty-third of May ; and in accordance

with tne provisions of the enabling act of Con-

gress, an. election was held on the first Monday

in June, for delegates to a convention which was

to assemble at the capitol on the second Monday

in July. The election resulted, as was thought,

in giving a majority of delegates to the Kepubli-

can party.

At midnight previous to the day fixed for the

meeting of the convention, the Republicans pro-

ceeded to the capitol, because the enabling act

had not fixed at what hour on the second Mon-

day the convention should assemble, and fear-

ing that the Democratic delegates might antici-

pate them, and elect the officers of the body.

A little before twelve, a. m., on Monday, the

secretary of the territory entered the speaker's

rostrum, and began to call the body to order;

and at the same time a delegate, J. W. North,

who had in his possession a written request from

the majority of the delegates prsccnt, proceeded

to do the same thing. The secretary of the ter-

ritory put a motion to adjourn, and the Demo-

cratic members present voting in the affirmative,

they left the hall. The Republicans, feeling that

they were in the majority, remained, and in due

time organized, and proceeded with the business

specified in the enabling act, to form a constitu-

tion, and. take all necessary steps for the estab-

lishment of a state government, in conformity

with the Federal Constitution, subject to the

approval and ratification of the people of the

proposed state.

After several days the Democratic wing also

organized in the Senate chamber at the capitol,

and, claiming to be the true body, also proceeded

to form a constitution. Both parties were re-

markably orderly and intelligent, and everything

was marked by perfect decorum. After they had

been, in session some weeks, moderate counsels

prevailed, and a committee of conference was

appointed from each body, which resulted in

both adopting the constitution framed by tlft

Democratic wing, on the twenty-ninth of Aug-

gust. According to the provision of the consti-

tution, an election was held for state officers

and the adoption of the constitution, on the

second Tuesday, the thirteenth of October. The

constitution was adopted by almost a unanimous

vote. It provided that the territorial ofticers

should retain their oflBces until the state was ad-

mitted into the Union, not anticipating the

long delay which was experienced.

The first session of the state legislature com-

menced on the first Wednesday of December, at

the capitol, in the city of Saint Paul ; aiid during

the month elected Henry M. Rice and James

Shields as their Representatives in the United

States Senate.

EVENTS OP A. D. 1868.

On the twenty-ninth of January, 1858, Mr.

Douglas submitted a bill to the United States

Senate, for the admission of Minnesota into the

Union. On the first of Pebruary, a discussion

arose on the bill, in which Senators Douglas,

Wilson, Gwin, Hale, Mason, Green, Brown, and

Crittenden participated. Brown, of Mississippi,

was opposed to the admission of Minnesota, un-

til the Kansas question was settled. Mr. Crit-

tenden, as a Southern man, could not endorse till

that was said by the Senator from Mississippi

;

and his words of wisdom and moderation during

this day's discussion, were worthy of remem-

brance. On April the seventh, the bill passed

the Senate with only three dissenting votes ; and

in a short time the House of Representatives

concurred, apd on May the eleventh, the Presi-

dent approved, and Minnesota was fully rec-

ognized as one of the United States of America.
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CHAPTEE XXIV.

PIEST STATE iEGISLATUBE STATE BAItWAT BONDS

MINNESOTA DUEING THE CIVIL WAB—BBGIMENTS
—THE SIOUX OUTBBBAX.

The transition of Minnesota from a territorial

to a state organization occurred at the peripd when

the whole republic was suffering from financial em-

barrassments.

By an act of congress approved by the president

on the 5th of March, 1857, lands had been granted

to Minnesota to aid ia the construction of railways.

During an extra session of the legislature of Min-

nesota, an act was passed in May, 1857, giving

the congressional grant to certain corporations to

build railroads.

A few months after, it was discovered that the

corporators had neither the money nor the credit

to begin and complete these internal improve-

ments. In the winter of 1858 the legislature again

listened to the siren voices of the railway corpora-

tions, untU their words to some members seemed

like "apples of gold in pictures of silver," and an

additional act was passed submitting to the people

an amendment to the constitution which provided

for the loan of the publio credit to the land grant

railtoad companies to the amount of $5,000,000,

upon condition that a certain amount of labor on

the roads was performed.

Some of the citizens saw in the proposed meas-

tire "a cloud no larger than a man's hand," which

vpould lead to a terrific storm, and a large publio

meeting was convened at the capitol in St. Paul,

and addressed by ex-Governor Gorman, D. A.

Robertson, WUliamE. Marshall and others depre-

9

ciating the engrafting of such a peculiar amend-

ment into the constitution; but the people were

poor and needy and deluded and would not lis-

ten; their hopes and happiness seemed to depend

upon the plighted faith of railway corporators, and

on April the 15th, the appointed election day,

25,023 votes were deposited for, while only 6,733

votes were oast against the amendment.

FIEST STATE LEGISLATUBE.

The election of October, 1857, was carried on
with much partisan feeling by democrats and re-

publicans. The returns from wilderness precincts

were unusually large, and in the counting of votes

for governor, Alexander Eamsey appeared to have

received 17,550, and Henry H. Sibley 17,796 bal-

lots. Governor Sibley was declared elected by a

majority of 246, and duly recognized. The first

legislature assembled on the 2d of December,

1857, before the formal admission of Minnesota

into the Union, and on the 25th of March, 1858,

adjourned until June the 2d, when it again met.

The next day Governor Sibley delivered his mes-

sage. His term of ofEoe was arduous. On the

4th of AugTist, 1858, he expressed his determina-

tion not to deliver any state bonds to the railway

companies unless they would give first mortgages,

with priority of lien, upon their lands, roads and

franchises, in favor of the state. One of the com-

panies applied for a mandamus from the supreme

court of the state, to compel the issue of the

bonds without the restrictions demanded by the

governor.

In November the court, Judge Plandrau dis-

senting, directed the governor to issue state bonds

as soon as a railway company delivered their first
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mortgage bonds, as provided by the amendment

to the constitution. But, as was to be expected,

bonds sent out under such peculiar circumstances

were not sought after by capitalists. Moreover,

after over two million dollars in bonds had been

issued, not an iron rail had been laid, and only

about two hundred and fifty miles of grading had

been completed.

In his last message Governor Sibley in refer-

ence to the law in regard to state credit to railways,

says: "I regret to be obliged to state that the

measure has proved a failure, and has by no means

accomplished what was hojied from it, either in

providing means for the issue of a safe currency

or of aiding the companies in the completion of

the work upon the roads.''

ACT FOB NOBMAIi SCHOOLS.

Notwithstanding the pecuniary complications of

the state, during Governor Sibley's administra-

tion, the legislature did not entirely forget that

there were some interests of more importance than

railway construction, and on the 2d of August,

1858, largely through the influence of the late

John D. Ford, M. D., a public spirited citizen of

Winona, an act was passed for the establishment

of three training schools for teachers.

FIKST STEAMBOAT ON THE BBBf BIVBE OB THE
NOBTH.

In the month of June, 1859 an important route

was opened between the Mississippi and the Bed
Biver of the North. The then enterprising firm

of J. 0. Burbank & Co., of St. Paul, having se-

cured from the Hudson Bay Company the trans-

portation of their supplies by way of the Missis-

sippi, in place of the tedious and treacherous routes

through Hudson's Bay or Lake Superior, they

purchased a little steamboat on the Bed Biver of

the North which had been built by Anson North-

rup, and commenced the carrying of freight and

passengers by land to Breokenridge and by water

to Pembina.

This boat had been the first steamboat which

moved on the Mississippi above the falls of St.

Anthony, to which there is a reference made upon
the 121st page.

Mr. Northrup, after he purchased the boat, with

a large number of wagons carried the boat and
machinery from Crow Wing on the Mississippi

and on the 8th of April, 1859, reached the Bed
Biver not far from the site of Fargo.

SECOND STATE LEGISLATUEB.

At an election held in October, 21,335 votes were

deposited for Alexander Eamsey as governor, and

17,532 for George L. Becker. Governor Eamsey,

in an inaugural delivered on the second of Jan-

uary, 1860, devoted a large space to the discus-

sion of the difficulties arising from the issue of

the railroad bonds. He said: "It is extremely

desirable to remove as speedily as possible so vex-

ing a question from our state politics, and not al-

low it to remain for years to disturb our elections,

possibly to divide our people into bond and anti-

bond parties, and introduce, annually, into our

legislative halls an element of discord and possi-

bly of corruption, aUtoend justas similar compli-

cations ia other states have ended. The men who
will have gradually engrossed the posession of all

the bonds, at the cost of a few cents on the dollar,

will knock year after year at the door of the legisla-

ture for their payment in full, the press will be

subsidized; the cry of repudiation will be raised;

all the ordinary and extraordinary means of pro-

curing legislation in doubtful cases will be freely

resorted to, until finally the bondholders wiU pile

up almost fabulous fortunes. * * * * It is

assuredly true that the present time is, of all

others, alike for the present bondholder and the

people of the state, the very time to arrange, ad-

just and settle these unfortunate and deplorable

railroad and loan complications."

The legislature of this year passed a law sub-

mitting an amendment to the constitution which

would prevent the issue of any more railroad bonds.

At an election in November, 1860, it was voted on,

and reads as follows : "The credit of the state

shall never be given on bonds in aid of any in-

dividual, association or corporation; nor shall there

be any further issue of bonds denominated Min-

nesota state railroad bonds, under what purports

to be an amendment to section ten, of article nine,

of the constitution, adopted April 14, 1858, which

is hereby expunged from the constitution, saving,

excepting, and reserving to the state, nevertheless,

all rights, remedies and forfeitures accruing under

said amendment."

FIBST WHITE PEESON EXECUTED.

On page 126 there is a notice of the first In-

dian hung under the laws of Minnesota. Oo
March 23, 1860 the first white person was executed
and attracted considerable attention from the fact,

the one who suffered the penalty of the law was a

woman.

Michael Bilansky died on the 11th of March,

1859, and uptjn examination, he was found to have
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been poisoned. Anna, his fourth wife, was tried

for the offence, found guilty, and on the 3d of De-

cember, 1859, sentenced to be hung. The oppo-

nents to capital punishment secured the passage of

an act, by the legislature, to meet her case, but it

was vetoed by the governor, as unconstitutional.

Two days before the execution, the unhappy wo-

man asked her spiritual adviser to write to her

parents in North Carolina, but not to state the

cause of her death. Her scaffold was erected

within the square of the Bamsey county jail.

THIRD STATE IiBGISLATDKB.

The third state legislature assembled on the 8th of

January, 1861, and adjourned on the 8th of March.

As Minnesota was the first state which received

1,280 acres of land in each township, for school

purposes, Governor Eamsey in his annual message

occupied several pages, in an able and elaborate

argument as to the best methods of guarding and

selling the school lands, and of protecting the

school fund.

His predecessor in oflce, while a member of the

convention to frame the constitution, had spoken

in favor of dividing the school funds among the

townships of the state, subject to the control of

the local officers.

MINNESOTA DUBING THE CIVHi WAB.

The people of Minnesota had not been as excited

as the citizens of the Atlantic states on the ques-

tion which was discussed before the presidential

election of November, 1860, and a majority had

calmly declared their preference for Abraham Lin-

coln, as president of the repubhc.

But the blood of her quiet and intelligent popu-

lation was stirred on the morniug of April 14»

1861, by the intelligence iu the daily newspapers

that the day before, the insurgents of South Caro-

lina had bombarded Port Sumter, and that after a

gallant resistance of thirty-four hours General

Eobert Anderson and the few soldiers of his com-

mand had evacuated the fort.

Governor Eamsey was in Washington at this

period, and called upon the president of the repub-

lic with two other citizens from Minnesota, and

was the first of the state governors to tender the

services of his fellow citizens. The offer of a regi-

ment was accepted. The first company raised un-

der the call of Minnesota was composed of ener-

getic young men of St. Paul, and its captain was

the esteemed William H. Acker, who afterwards

fell in battle.

On the last Monday of April a 'camp for the

First regiment was opened at Fort SneUing.

More companies having offered than were necessary

on the 80th of May Governor Bamsey sent a tele-

gram to the secretary of war, offering another

regiment.

THE PIBST EEGIMBNT.

On the 14th of June the First regiment was or-

dered to Washington, and on the 21st it embarked

at St. Paul on the steamboats War Eagle and

Northern Belle, with the following ofScers

:

Willis A. Gorman, Colonel—^Promoted to be

brigadier general October 7, 1861, by the advice

of Major General Winfield Scott.

Stephen Miller, Lt. Colonel—Made colonel of 7th

regiment August, 1862.

William H. Dike, Major—Besigned October 22,

1861.

WOliam B. Leach, Adjiitant—Made captain and

A. A. G. February 23, 1862.

Mark W. Downie, Quartermaster— Captain

Company B, July 16, 1861.

Jacob H. Stewart, Surgeon—Prisoner at Bull

Bun, July 21, 1861. Paroled at Biohmond, Vir-

ginia.

Charles W. Le BoutUlier, Assistant Surgeon—
Prisoner at Bull Bun. Surgeon 9th regiment.

Died April, 1863.

Edward D. Neill, Chaplain—Commissioned July

13, 1862, hospital chaplain U. S. A., resigned in

1864, and appointed by President Lincoln, one

of his secretaries.

After a few days in Washington, the regi-

iment was sent to Alexandria, Virginia, where

until the 16th of July it remained. On the

morning of that day it began with other

troops of Franklin's brigade to movetoward

the enemy, and that night encamped in the val-

ley of Pohick creek, and the next day marched

to Sangster's station on the Orange & Alexandria

railroad. The third day Centreville was reached.

Before daylight on Sunday, the 21st of July, the

soldiers of the First regiment rose for a march to

battle. About three o'clock in the morning they

left camp, and after passing through the hamlet of

Centreville, halted for General Hunter's column to

pass. At dayhght the regiment again began to

move, and after crossing a bridge on the Warren-

ton turnpike, turned into the woods, from which at

about ten o'clock it emerged into an open coun-

try, from which could be seen an artillery engage-

ment on the left between the Union troops under

Hunter, and the insurgents commanded by Evans.
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An hour after this the regiment reached a branch

of Bull Eun, and, as the men were thirsty, began

to fill their empty canteens. While thus occu-

pied, and as the St. Paul company under Captain

WUkins was crossing the creek, an order came

for Colonel Gorman to hurry up the regiment.

The men now moved rapidly through the wood-

land of a hillside, stepping over some of the dead

of Bumside's command, and hearing the cheers

of victory caused by the pressing back of the in-

surgent troops. At length the regiment, passing

Sudley church, reached a clearing in the woods,

and halted, while other troops of Franklin's brig-

ade passed up the Sudley church road. Next

they passed through a narrow strip of woods and

occupied the cidtivatsd field from which Evans and

Bee of the rebel army had been driven by the

troops of Bumside, Sykes and others of Hunter's

division.

Crossing the Sudley road, Biokett's battery un-

limbered and began to fire at the enemy, whose

batteries were between the Bobinson and Henry

house on the south side of the Warrenton turn-

pike, while the First Minnesota passed to the right.

After firing about twenty minutes the battery was

ordered to go down the Sudley road nearer the

enemy, where it was soon disabled. The First

Minnesota was soon met by rebel troops advancing

under cover of the woods, who supposed the reg-

iment was a part of the confederate army.

Javan B. Irvine, then a private citizen af St.

Paul, on a visit to the regiment, now a captain in

the "United States army, wrote to his wife: "We
had just formed when we were ordered to kneel

and fire upon the rebelswho were advancing under

the cover of the woods. We fired two volleys

through the woods, when we were ordered to rally

in the woods in our rear, which all did except the

first platoon of our own company, which did not

hear the order and stood their ground. The

rebels soon came out from their shelter between

us and their battery. Colonel Gorman mistook

them for friends and told the men to cease firing

apon them, although they had three secession

flags directly in front of fheir advancing columns.

This threw our men into confusion, some declaring

they are friends; others that they are enemies. I

called to our boys to give it to them, and fired

away myself as rapidly as possible. The rebels

themselves mistook us for Georgia troops, and

waved their hands at us to cease firing. I had

just loaded to give them another charge, when a

lieutenant-colonel of a Mississippi regiment rode

out between us, waiving his hand for us to stop

firing. I rushed up to him and asked 'If he was a

secessionist?' He said 'He was a Mississippian.'

I presented my bayonet to his breast and com-

manded him to surrender, which he did after some

hesitation. I ordered him to dismount, and led

him and his horse from the field, in the meantime

disarming him of his sword and pistols. I led him
off about two miles and placed him in charge of

a lieutenant with an escort of cavalry, to be taken

to General McDowell. He requested the officer to

allow me to accompany him, as he desired my pro-

tection. The ofhoer assured him that he would

be safe in their hands, and he rode off. I retained

his pistol, but sent his sword with him." In an-

other letter, dated the 25th. of July, Mr. Irvine

writes from Washington : "I have just returned

from a visit to Lieutenant-Colonel Boone, who is

confined in the old Capitol. I found him in a

pleasant room on the third story, snrrotmded by
several southern gentlemen, among whom was

Senator Breckenridge. He was glad to see me,

and appeared quite well after the fatigue of the

battle of Sunday. There were with me Chaplain

Neill, Captains Wilkin and ColviUe, and Lieuten-

ant Ooates, who were introduced."

The mistake of several regiments of the Union

troops in supposing that the rebels were friendly

regiments led to confusion and disaster, which was

followed by panic.

SECOND KBGIMBNT.

The Second Minnesota Begiment which had
been organized in July, 1861, left Fort SneUing

on the eleventh of October, and proceeding to

Louisville, was incorporated with the Army of the

Ohio. Its officers were: Horatio P. Van Cleve,

Colonel. Promoted Brigader General March 21,

1862. James George, Lt. Colond. Promoted

Colonel; rasigned June 29, 1864. Simeon Smith,

Major. Appointed Paymaster U. S. A., Septem-

ber, 1861. Alexander Wilkin, Major. Colonel

9th Minnesota, August, 1862. Eeginald Bingham,

Swrgeon. Dismissed May 27, 1862. M. C. Toll-

man, AssH Surgeon. Promoted Surgeon. Timothy

Oressey, Chaplain. Eesigned October, 10, 1863.

Daniel D. Heaney, Adjutant. Promoted Captain

Company O. William S. Grow, Quarter Master.

Eesigned, January, 1863.

SHABP SHOOTBES.

A company of Sharp Shooters under Captain

F, Peteler, proceeding to Washington, on the 11th.
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of October was assigned as Co., A, '2d Kegiment

TJ. S. Sharp Shooters.

THIRD REGIMENT.

On the 16th of November, 1861, the Third Beg-

iment left the State and went to Tennessee. Its

officers were: Henry Q. Lester, CotoTieZ. Dismissed

Decmber 1, 1862. Benjamin F. Smith, Lt. Colonel.

Eesigned May 9, 1862. John A. Hadley, Major.

Resigned May 1, 1862. B. C. Olin, Adjutant.—
Eesigned. 0. H, Blakely, Adjutant. Levi Butler.

Surgeon.—^Resigned September 30, 1863. Francis

Millipan, AssH Surgeon.—Eesigned April 8, 1862.

Chauncey Hobart, Chaplain.— Eesigned June 2,

1863.

AETtLLEHY.

In December, the First Battery of Light Artil-

lery left the State, and reported for duty at St.

Louis, Missouri

CAVALRT.

During the fall, three companies of oavaby

were organized, and proceeded to Benton Barracks,

Missouri. Ultimately they were incorporated

with the Fifth Iowa Cavalry.

MOVEMENTS OF MINNESOTA TROOPS IN 1862.

On Sunday the 19th of January, 1862, not far

from Somerset and about forty miles from DanviUe,

Kentucky, about 7 o'clock in the morning, Ool.

Van Cleve was ordered to meet the enemy. In

ten minutes the Second Minnesota regiment was

in line of battle. After supporting a battery for

some time it continued the march, and pro-

ceeding half a mile found the enemy behind the

fences, and a hand to hand fight of thirty minutes

ensued, resulting in the flight of the rebels. Gen.

Zollicoffer and Lieut. Peyton, of the insurgents

were of the killed.

BATTLE OF PITTSBTJEQ LANDING.

On Sunday, the 6th of April occurred the battle

of Pittsburg Landing, in Tennessee. Minnesota

was there represented by the First Minnesota bat-

tery, Captain Emil Munch, which was attached to

the division of General Prentiss. Captain Munch
was severely wounded. One of the soldiers of his

command wrote as follows: "Sunday morning,

just after breakfast, an officer rode up to our Cap-

tain's tent and told him to prepare for action. *

* * * * We wheeled into battery and opened

upon them. * * * Tiie first time we wheeled

one of our drivers was killed; his name was Colby

Stinson. Haywood's horse was shot at almost the

same time. The second time we came into bat-

tery, the captain was wounded in the leg, and his

horse shot under him. They charged on our guns

and on the sixth platoon howitzer, but they got

hold of the wrong end of the gun. We then lim-

bered up and retreated within the line of battle.

While we were retreating they shot one of our

horses, when we had to stop and take him out,

which let the rebels come up rather close. When
within about six rods they fired and wounded
Corporal Davis, breaking his leg above the "ankle."

As the artUlery driver was picked up, after be-

ing fatally wounded, at the beginning of the fight

he said, 'Don't stop with me. Stand to your guns
like men,' and expired.

PXBST REGIMENT AT YORKTOWN SIEGE.

Early in April the First regiment as a

part of Sedgwick's division of the Army
of the Potomac arrived near Yorktown,

Virginia, and was stationed between the

Warwick and York rivers, near Wynnes' miU. Dur-
ing the night of the 30th of May, there was a con-

tinual discharge of cannon by the enemy, but just

before daylight the next day, which was Sunday,

it ceased and the pickets cautiously approaching

discovered that the rebels had abandoned their

works. The next day the regiment was encamped
on the field where Comwallis surrendered to Wash-
ington.

BATTLE OP FAIR OAKS.

While Gorman's brigade was encamped at

Goodly Hole creek, Hanover county, Virginia, an

order came about three o'clock of the afternoon of

Saturday, the thirty-first day of May to

to cross the Ohicahominy and engage in

the battle which had been going on for a few

hours. In a few minutes the First Minnesota was
on the march, by a road which had been out

through the swamp, and crossed the Chicahominy

by a rude bridge of logs, with both ends com-
pletely submerged by the stream swollen by re-

cent rains, and rising every hour.

About 5 o'clock in the afternoon the First Min-
nesota as the advance of Gorman's brigade reached

the scene of action, and soon the whole brigade

with Kirby's battery held the enemy in check at

that point.

The next day they were in line of battle but not

attacked. Upon the field around a country farm

house they encamped.

BATTLE OF SAVAGE STATION.

Just before daylight on Sunday, June the 29th,

Sedgwick's, to which the First Minnesota belonged,

left the position that had been held since the bat-
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tie of Fair Oaks, and had not proceeded more than

two miles before they met the enemy in a peach

orchard, and after a sharp conflict compelled

them to retire. At about 5 o'clock the afternoon

of the same day they again met the enemy at

Savage Station, and a battle lasted till dark. Bur-

gess, the color sergeant who brought ofl' the flag

from the Bull Eun battle, a man much respected,

was kiUed instantly.

On Monday, between White Oak swamp and

WiUis' church, the regiment had a skii-mish, and

Captain ColviUe was slightly wounded. Tuesday

was the 1st of July, and the regiment was drawn

up at the dividing line of Henrico and Charles

City county, in sight of James river, and although

much exposed to the enemy's batteries, was not

actually engaged. At midnight the order was

given to move, and on the morning of the 2d of

July they tramped upon the wheat fields at Har-

rison's Landing, and in a violent rain encamped.

MOVEMENTS OE OTHER TB00P3.

The Fourth regiment left Fort Snelling for Ben-

ton barracks, Missouri, on the 21st of April, 1862,

with the following oiEcers:

John B. Sanborn, CoZorae^—Promoted brigadier

general.

Minor T. Thomas, Lt. CoZoraeZ—Made colonel of

8th regiment August 24, 1862.

A. Edward Welch, Major—Died at Nashville

February 1, 1864.

John M. Thompson, Adjutant—Captain Com-

pany E, November 20, 1862.

Thomas B. Hunt, Qaartermaster—Made captain

and A. Q. M. April 9, 1863.

John H. Murphy, Surgeon—^Resigned July 9,

1863.

Elisha W. Cross, Assistant Swrgeon—Promoted

July 9, 1863.

Asa S. Fiske, OTmplain—Resigned Oct. 3, 1864.

FIETH KEGIMBNT.

The Second Minnesota Battery, Captain W. A.

Hotchkiss, left the same day as the Fourth regi-

ment. On the 13th of May the Fifth regiment

departed from Fort Snelling with the following

officers: Eudolph Borgesrode, colonel, resigned

August 31, 1862; Lucius P. Hubbard, heutenant-

oolonel, promoted colonel August 31, 1862, elected

governor of Minnesota 1881; William B. Gere,

major, promoted lieutenant-colonel; Alpheus R.

French, adjutant, resigned March 19, 1863; W.
B. MoGrorty, quartermaster, resigned September

15, 1864; F. B. Etheridge, surgeon, resigned Sep-

tember 3, 1862 ; V. B. Kennedy, assistant surgeon,

promoted surgeon; J. F. Chaffee, chaplain, re-

signed June 23, 1862; John Ireland, chaplain, re-

signed April, 1863.

Before the close of May the Second, Fourth and

Fifth regiments were in conflict with the insur-

gents, near Corinth, Mississippi.

BATTIiB OF lUKA.

On the 18th of September, Colonel Sanborn,

acting as brigade commander in the Third divis-

ion of the Army of the Mississippi, moved his

troops, including the Fourth Mionesota regiment,

to a position on the Tuscumbia road, and formed

a hue of battle.

BATTLE OE CORINTH.

Li a few days the contest began at luka, culmi-

nated at Corinth, and the Fourth and Fifth regi-

ments and First Minnesota battery were engaged.

On the 3d of October, about five o'clock, Colo-

nel Sanborn advanced his troops and received a

severe fire from the enemy. Captain Mowers

beckoned with ilis sword during the firing, as if

he wished to make an important communication,

but before Colonel Sanborn reached his side he

fell, having been shot through the head. Before

daylight on the 4th of October the Fifth regiment,

under command of Colonel L. F. Hubbard, was

aroused by the discharge of artillery. Later in

the day it became engaged with the enemy, and

drove the rebels out of the streets of Corinth. A
private writes: "When we charged on the enemy

General Rosecrans asked what little regiment that

was, and on being told said 'The Fifth Minnesota

had saved the town.' Major Coleman, General

Stanley's assistant adjutant-general, was with us

when he received his bullet-wound, and his last

words were, "Tell the general that the Fifth Min-

nesota fought nobly. God bless the Fifth.'

"

OTHER MOVEMENTS.

A few days after the fight at Corinth the Sec-

ond Minnesota battery, Captain Hotchkiss, did

good service with BueU's army at Perryville, Ky.

In the battle of Fredericksburg, Va., on the

13th of December, the First Minnesota regiment

supported Kirbey's battery as it had done at Fair

Oaks.

THIRD REGIMENT HUMIIjIATED.

On the morning of the 13th of July, near Mur-

freesboro, Ky., the Third regiment was in the pres-

ence of the enemy. The colonel called a council

of officers to decide whether they should fight,

and the first vote was in the affirmative, but an-
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other vote being taken it was decided to surrender.

Lieutenant-Colonel 0. W. Griggs, Captains An-

drews and Hoyt voted each time to fight. In

September the regiment returned to Minnesota,

humiliated by the want of good judgment upon

the part of their colonel, and was a:ssigned to duty

in the Indian country.

THE SIOUX OTJTBBEAK.

The year 1862 will always be remembered as the

period of the uprising of the Sioux, and the

slaughter of the unsuspecting inhabitants of the

scattered settlements in the Minnesota valley.'

Elsewhere in this work will be found a detailed ac-

coimt of the savage cruelties. In this place we

only give the narrative of the events as related by

Alexander Bamsey, 4hen the governor of Min-

nesota.

"My surprise may therefore be judged, when, on

August 19th, while busy in my office, Mr. Wm. H.

Shelley, one of our citizens who had been at the

agency just before the outbreak, came in, dusty

and exhausted with a fifteen hours' ride on horse-

back, bearing dispatches to me of the most start-

ling character from Agent Galbraith, dated Au-

gust 18th, stating that the same day the Sioux at

the lower agency had risen, murdered the settlers,

and were plundering and burning all the build-

ings in that vicinity. As I beUeve no particulars

regarding the manner in which the news were first

conveyed to me has been published, it might be

mentioned here. Mr. Shelley had been at Ked-

wood agency, and other places in that vicinity,

with the concurrence of the agent, recruiting men

for a company, which was afterwards mustered into

the Tenth regiment under Captain James O'Gor-

man, formerly a clerk of Nathan Myrick, Esq., a

trader at Eedwood, and known as the Benville

Bangera. He (Shelley) left Eedwood, he states,

on Saturday, August 16th, with forty-five men,

bound for Port SneUing. Everything was quiet

there theu. It may be well to note here that one

of the supposed causes of the outbreak was the

fact that the Indians had been told that the gov-

ernment needed soldiers very badly, that many

white men had been killed, and that all those in

that locality were to be marched south, leaving

the state unprotected. Seeing the men leave on

Saturday may have strengthened this belief. Stop-

ping at Eort Eidgely that night, the Benville

Bangers the next day continued their march, and

on Monday afternoon arrived at St. Peter. Gal-

braith was with them. Here he was overtaken by

a messenger who had ridden down from Bed-

wood that day, hearing the news of the ten-ible

occurrences of that morhing. This messenger was

Mr. — Dickinson, who formerly kept a hotel at

Henderson, but was living on the reservation at

that time. He was in great distress about the

safety of his family, and returning at once was

killed by the Indians.

"When Agent Galbraith received the news, Mr.

SheUey states, no one would at first believe it,

as such rumors are frequent in the Indian country.

Mr. Dickinson assured him of the truth with such

earnestness, however, that his accoimt was finally

credited and the Benville Bangers were at once

armed and sent back to Port Bidgely, where they

did good service in protecting the post.

"Agent Galbraith at once prepared the dispatches

to me, giving the terrible news and calling for aid.

No one could be found who would volunteer to

carry the message, and Mr. Shelley ofiered to

come himself. He had great difficulty in getting

a horse ; but finally secured one, and started for

St. Paul, a distance of about ninety miles, about

dark. He had not ridden a horse for some years,

and as may be well supposed by those who have

had experience in amateur horseback-riding, suf-

fered very much from soreness; but rode all night

at as fast a gate as his horse could carry him,

spreading the startling news as he went down the

Minnesota valley. Beaching St. Paul about 9 A.

M., much exhausted he made his way to the capitol,

and laid before me his message. The news soon

spread 'through the city and created intense ex-

citement.

"At that time, of course, the full extent and

threatening nature of the outbreak could not be

determined. It seemed serious, it is true, but in

view of the riotous conduct of the Indians at

Yellow Medicine a few days before, was deemed a

repetition of the emeute, which would be simply

local in its character, and easily quelled by a small

force and good management on the part of the

authorities at the agency.

"But these hopes, (that the outbreak was a local

one) were soon rudely dispelled by the arrival, an

hour or two later, of another courier, George C.

Whitcomb, of Forest City, bearing the news of

the murders at Acton. Mr. Whitcomb had ridden

to Chaska or Carver on Monday, and came down
from there on the small steamer Antelope, reaching

the city an hour or two after Mr. Shelley.

"It now became evident that the outbreak was
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more general than had at &st been credited, and

that prompt and vigorous measures would be re-

quired for its suppression and the protection of

the inhabitants on the frontier. I at once pro-

ceeded to Port Snelling and consulted with the

authorities there (who had abeady received dis-

patches from Fort Eidgely) regarding the out-

break and the best means to be used to meet the

danger.

"A serious difficulty met us at the outstart. The

only troops at Fort Snelling were the raw recruits

who had been hastily gathered for the five regi-

ments. Most of them were without arms or suit-

able clothing as yet; some not mustered in or

properly officered, and those who had arms had

no fixed ammunition of the proper calibre. We
were without transportation, quartermaster's or

commissary stores, und, in fact, devoid of anything

with which to commence a campaign against two

or three thousand Indians, well mounted and

armed, with an abundance of ammunition and

provisions captured at the agency, and flushed

with the easy victories they had just won over the

unarmed settlers. Finally four companies were

fully organized, armed and uniformed, and late at

night were got off on two small steamers, the An-

telope and Pomeroy, for Shakopee, from which

point they would proceed overland. It was ar-

ranged that others should follow as fast as they

could be got ready.

"This expedition was placed under the manage-

ment of H. H. Sibley, whose long residence in the

country of the Sioux had given him great influ-

ence with that people, and it was hoped that the

chiefs and older men were stiU sensible to reason,

and that with his diplomatic ability he could bring

the powers of these to check the mad and reck-

less disposition of the "young men," and that if

an opportunity for this failed that his knowledge

of Indian war and tactics would enable him to

overcome them in battle. And I think the result

indicated the wisdom of my choice.

•'I at once telegraphed all the facts to President

Lincoln, and also telegraphed to Governor Solo-

mon, of Wisconsin, for one hundred thousand cart-

ridges, of a calibre to fit our rifles, and the requi-

sition was kindly honored by that patriotic officer,

and the ammunition was on its way next day.

The governors of Iowa, Illinois and Michigan were

also asked for arms and ammunition.

During the day other messengers arrived from

Fort Bidgely, St. Peter and other points on

the upper Minnesota, with intelligence of the

most painful character, regarding the extent and

ferocity of the massacre. The messages all pleaded

earnestly for aid, and intimated that without

speedy reinforcements or a supply of arms, Fort

Eidgely, New Ulm, St. Peter and other points

would imdoubtedly fall into the hands of the

savages, and thousands of persons be butchered

The principal danger seemed to be to the settle-

ments in that region, as they were in the vicinity

of the main body of Indians congregated to await

the payments. Comers arrived from various

points every few hours, and I spent the whole

night answering their calls as I could.

"Late that night, probably after midnight, Mr.

J. T. Branham, Sr., arrived from Forest City, after

a forced ride on horseback of 100 miles, bearing

the following message:;(:*»** ***
"PoKBST City, Aug. 20, 1862, 6 o'clock a. m.

His Excellency, Alexander Banisey, Governor,

etc.—Sir: In advance of the news from the Min-

nesota river, the Indians have opened on us in

Meeker. It is war I A few propose to make a

stand here. Send us, forthwith, some good guns

and ammunition to match. Tours truly,

A. C. Smith.

Seventy-five stands of Springfield rifles and sev-

eral thousand rounds of ball cartridges were at

once issued to George 0. Whitcomb, to be used in

arming a company which I directed to be raised

and enrolled to use these arms; and Gen. Sibley

gave Mr. Whitcomb a captain's commission for

the company. Transportation was furnished him,

and the rifles were in Forest City by the morning

of the 23d, a portion having been issued to a

company at Hutchinson on the way up. A com-

pany was organized and the arms placed in their

hands, and I am glad to say they did good service

in defending the towns of Forest City and Hutch-

inson on more than one occasion, and many of the

Indians are known to have been killed with them.

The conduct and bravery of the courageous men
who guarded those towns, and resisted the assaults

of the red savages, are worthy of being commemo-
rated on the pages of our state history."

MOVEMENT OF MINNESOTA BBGIMENTS 1863.

On the 3d of April, 1863, the Fourth regiment

was opposite Grand Gulf, Mississippi, and in a

few days they entered Port Gibson, and here Col.

Sanborn resumed the command of a brigade. On
the 14th of May the regiment was at the battle
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of Raymond, and on the 14th partibipated in the

buttle of Jackson. A newspaper correspondent

writes: "Captain L. B. Martin, of the Fourth

Minnesota, A. A. G. to Colonel Sanborn, seized the

flag of the 59th Indiana infantry, rode rapidly be-

yond the skirmishers, (Co. H, Fourth Minnesota,

Lt. Geo. A. Clark) and raised it over the dome of

the capitol" of Mississippi. On the 16th the regi-

ment was in the battle of Champion Hill, and fpur

days later in the siege of Vioksburg.

FIFTH EEQIMENT.

The Fifth regiment reached Grand Gulf on the

7th of May and was in the battles of Eaymond
and Jackson, and at the rear of Vioksburg.

BATTLE OF GETTYSBniia.

The First regiment reached Gettysburg, Pa.,

on the Ist of July, and the next morning Han-

cook's corps, to which it was attached, moved to a

ridge,- the right resting on Cemetery HiU, the left

near Sugar Loaf Mountain. The line of battle

was a semi-ellipse, and Gibbon's division, .to

which the regiment belonged occupied the

center of the curve nearest the enemy. On tho

2d of July, about 5 o'clock in the afternoon, Gen-

eral Hancock rode up to Colonel Colville, and

ordered him to charge upon the advancing foe.

The muzzles of the opposing maskets were not far

distant and the conflict was terrific. When the

sun set Captain Muller and Lieutenant Farrer were

kflled; Captain Periam mortally wounded; Colonel

Colville, Lieut-Colonel Adams, Major Downie,

Adjutant PeUer, Lieutenants Sinclair, Demerest,

DeGray and Boyd, severely wounded.

On the 3d of July, about 10 o'clock in the morn-

ing, the rebels opened a terrible artUlery fire,

which lasted untU 3 o'clock in the afternoon, and

then the infantry was suddenly advanced, and

there was a fearful conflict, resulting in the defeat

of the enemy. The loss on this day was also very

severe. Captain Messick, in command of the

First regiment, after the wounding of Colville,

and Adams and Downie,was killed. Captain Farrell

was mortally wounded, and Lieutenants Harmon,

HeffelfiBger, and May were wounded. Color-Ser-

geant E. P. Perkins was wounded on the 2d of

July. On the 3d of July Corporal Dehn, of the

color guard was shot through tte hand and the

flag staff out in two. Corporal H. D. O'Brien

seized the flag with the broken staff and waving

it over his head rushed up to the muzzles of the

enemy's muskets and was wounded in the hand,

but Corporal W. N. Irvine instantly grasped the

flag arvd held it up. Marshall Sherman of com-

pany E, captured the flag of the 28th Virginia

regiment.

THE SECOND EEGIMENT.

The Second regiment, under Colonel George,

on the 19th of September fought at Chicamauga,

and in the first day's fight, eight were killed and

forty-one wounded. On the 25th of November,

Lieutenant-Colonel Bishop in command, it moved

against the enemy at Mission Eidge, and of the

seven non-commissioned officers in the color guard,

six were killed or wounded.

The Fourth regiment was also in the vicinity of

Chattanooga, but did not suffer any loss.

EVENTS OF 1864.

The Third regiment, which after the Indian ex-

pedition had been ordered to Little Eock, Arkan-

sas, on the 30th of March, 1864, had an engage-

ment near Augusta, at Fitzhugh's Woods. Seven

men were killed and sixteen wounded. General

C. C. Andrews, in command of the force, had his

horse killed by a bullet.

' FIRST KBGIMENT.

The First regiment after three year's service

was mustered out at Fort Snelling, and on the

28th of April, 1864, held its last dress parade, in

the presence of Governor Miller, who had once

been their Heutenant-colonel and commander. In

May some of its members re-enlisted as a battal-

ion, and again joined the Army of the Potomac.

SIXTH, SEVENTH, NINTH AND TENTH EBGIMENTS.

The Sixth regir'»ut, which had been in the ex-

pedition against the Sioux, in June, 1864, was as-

signed to the 16th army corps, as was the Seventh,

Ninth and Tenth, and on the 13th of July, near

Tupelo, Mississippi, the Seventh, Ninth and Tenth,

with portions of the Fifth, were in battle. Dur-

ing the first day's fight Surgeon Smith, of the

Seventh, was fatally wounded through the neck.

On the morning of the 14th the battle began in

earnest, and the Seventh, under Colonel W. E.

Marshall, made a successful charge. Colonel Al-

exander Wilkin, of the Ninth, was shot, and fell

dead from his horse.

THE FOUBTH EEGIMENT.

On the 15th of October the Fourth regiment

were engaged near Altoona, Georgia.

THE EIGHTH EEGIMENT.

On the 7th of December the Eighth was in bat-

tle near Murfreesboro, Tennessee, and fourteen

were killed and seventy-six wounded.
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BATTLE OF NASHVILIiB.

During the month of December the Fifth,

Seventh, Ninth and Tenth regiments did good ser-

vice before Nashville. Colonel L. F. Hubbard, of

the Fifth, commanding a brigade, after he had

been knocked off his horse by a ball, rose, and on

foot led his command over the enemy's works.

Colonel "W. R. Marshall, of the Seventh, in com-

mand of a brigade, made a gallant charge, and

Lieutenant-colonel S. P. Jennison, of the Tenth,

one of the first on the enemy's parapet, received a

severe wound.

MINNESOTA TBOOPS IN 18&5.

In the spring of 1865 the Fifth, Sixth, Seventh,

Ninth and Tenth regiments were engaged in the

siege of Mobile. The Second and Fourth regi-

ments and First battery were with General Sher-

man in his wonderful campaign, and the Eighth

in the month of March was ordered to North Car-

olina. The battalion, the remnant of the First,

was with the Army of the Potomac until Lee's sur-

render.

Arrangements were soon perfected for disband-

ing the Union army, and before the close of the

summer all the Minnesota regiments that had been

on duty were discharged.

LiST OF MINNESOTA EBGIMENTS AND TEOOPS.

First, Organized April
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and received 45,883 votes, while 30,092 ballots

were oast for Winthrop Young, the democratic

candidate. The important event of his adminis-

tration was the veto of an act of the legislature

giving the internal improvement lands to certain

railway corporations.

Toward the close of Governor Austin's adminis-

tration, William Seeger, the state treasurer, was im-

peached for a wrong tise of public funds. He
plead guilty and was disqualified from holding

any office of honor, trust or profit in the state.

GOVEENOB OUSHMAN K. DAVIS.

The republicans in the fall of 1873 nominated

Cnshman K. Davis for governor, who received

40,741 votes, while 35,245 ballots were thrown for

the democratic candidate, Ara Barton.

The summer that he was elected the locust

made its appearance in the land, and in certain

regions devoured every green thing. One of the

first acts of Governor Davis was to relieve the

farmers who had sufi'ered from the visitation of

locusts. The legislature of 1874 voted relief, and

the people of the state voluntarily contributed

clothing and provisions.

During the administration of Governor Davis the

principle was settled that there was nothing in the

charter of a railroad company limiting the power

of Minnesota to regulate the charges for freight

and travel.

WOMEN ALLOWED TO VOTE FOE SOHOOi OFEICEBS.

At the election in November, 1875, the people

sanctioned the following amendment to the con-

stitution: "The legislature may, notwithstanding

anything in this article, [Article 7, section 8] pro-

vide, by law that any woman at the age of

twenty-one years and upwards, may vote at any

election held for the purpose of chosipg any officer

of schools, or upon any measure relating to schools,

and may also provide that any such woman shall

be eligible to hold any office solely pertaining to

the management of schools."

GOVERNOB J. S. PIDDSBUBY.

John 8. Pillsbury, the republican nominee, at

the election of November, 1875, received 47,073

for governor while his democratic competitor, D.

L. Buell obtained 35,275 votes. Governor Pillsbury

in his inaugural message, delivered on the 7th of

January, 1876, urged upon the legislature, as his

predecessors had done, the importance of provid-

ing for the payment of the state railroad bonds.

EAID ON NOETHEIELD BANK.

On the 6th of September, 1876, the quiet citi-

zens of Minnesota were excited by a telegraphic

announcement that a band of outlaws from Mis-

souri had, at mid-day, ridden into the town of

Northfield, recklessly discharging firearms, and

proceeding to the bank, kOled the acting cashier

in an attempt to secure its funds. Two of the

desperadoes were shot in the streets, by firm resi-

dents, and in a brief period, parties from the

neighboring towns were in pursuit of the assassins.

After a long and weary search four were sur-

rounded in a swamp in Watonwan county, and one

was killed, and the others captured.

At the November term of the fifth district court

held at Faribault, the criminals were arraigned,

and under an objebtionable statute, by pleading

guilty, received an imprisonment for life, instead

of the merrited death of the gallows.

THE BOOKT MOUNTAIN LOCUST.

As early as 1874 in some of the counties of

Minnesota, the Kocky Mountain locust, of the

same genus, but a different species from the Eu-

rope and Arctic locust, driven eastward by the

failure of the succulent grasses of the upper Mis-

souri valley appeared as a short, stout-legged, da-

vouring army, and in 1875 the myriad of eggs

deposited were hatched out, and the 'insects bom
within the state, flew to new camping grounds, to

begin their devastations.

In the spring the locust appeared in some coun-

ties, but by an ingenious contrivance of sheet

iron, covered with tar, their numbers were speedily

reduced. It was soon discovered that usually

but one hatching of eggs took place in the same

district, and it was evident that the crop of 1877

would be remunerative. When the national

Thanksgiving was observed on the 26th of No-

vember nearly 40,000,000 bushels of wheat had

been garnered, and many who had sown in tears,

devoutly thanked Him who had given plenty, and

meditated upon the words of the Hebrew Psahn-

ist, "He maketh peace within thy borders and

filleth thee with the finest of the wheat."

GOVEENOB PILLSBUBT's SECOND TEBM.

At the election in November, 1877, Governor

Pillsbury was elected a second time, receiving

59,701, while 39,247 votes were cast forWilham L.

Banning, the nominee of the democratic party.

At this election the people voted to adopt two im-

portant amendments to the constitution.

BIENNIAL SESSION OE THE LEGISLATUEE,

One provided for a biennial, in place of the an-

nual session of the legislature, in these words:
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"The legislatare oi the state shall consist of a

senate and house of representatives, who shall

meet biennially, at the seat of government of the

state, at such time as shall be prescribed by law,

but no session shall exceed the term of sixty

days."

CHRISTIAN rNSTBTJOTION EXOIitJDBD FEOM SCHOOLS.

The other amendment excludes Christian and

other religious instructions from all of the edu-

cational institutions of Minnesota in these words:

"But in no case, shall the moneys derived as afore-

said, or' any portion thereof, or any public moneys,

or property be appropriated or used for the sup-

port of schools wherein the distinctive doctrines,

or creeds or tenets of any particular Christian or

other religious sect, are promulgated or taught."

IMPEACHMENT OF JUDGE PAGE.

The personal unpopularity of Sherman Page,

judge of the Tenth judicial district, culminated by

the house of representatives of the legislature of

1878, presenting articles, impeaching him, for con-

duet unbecoming a judge: the senate sitting as a

coiirt, examined the charges, and on the 22d of

June, he was ac quitted.

GOVBBNOB PIIiIiSBUKY'S THIRD TEEM.

The republican party nominated John S. Pills-

bury for a third term as governor, and at the elec-

tion in November, 1879, he received 57,471 votes,

while 42,444 were given for Edmund Eioe, the rep-

resentative of the democrats.

With a persistence which won the respect of the

opponents of the measui-e, Governor Pillsbury con-

tinued to advocate the payment of the state rail-

road bonds. The legislature of 1870 submitted an

amendment to the constitution, by which the "iu-

ternal improvement lands" were to be sold and the

proceeds to be used in cancelling the bonds, by the

bondholders agreeing to purchase the lands at a

certain sum per acre. The amendment was

adopted by a vote of the people, but few of the

bondholders accepted the provisions, and it failed

to effect the proposed end. The legislature of

1871 passed an act for a commission to make an

equitable adjustment of the bonds, but at a special

election in May it was rejected.

The legislature of 1877 passed an act for calling

m the railroad bonds, and issueing new bonds,

which was submitted to the people at a special

election on the 12th of June, and not accepted.

The legislature of 1878 proposed a constitu-

tional aniendment offering the internal improve-

ment lands in exchange for railroad bonds, and the

people at the November election disapproved of the

proposition. Against the proposed amendment

45,669 votes were given, and only 26,311 in favor.

ITBST BIENNIAL SESSION.

The first biennial session of the legislature con-

vened in January, 1881, and Governor Pillsbury

again, in his message of the 6th of January, held

up to the view of the legislators the dishonored

railroad bonds, and the duty of providing for their

settlement. In his argument he said:

"The liability having been voluntarily incurred,

whether it was wisely created or not is foreign to

the present question. It is certain that the obli-

gations were fairly given for which consideration

was fairly received; and the state having chosen

foreclosure as her remedy, and disposed of the

property thus acquired unconditionally as her own,

the conclusion ' seems to me irresistible that she

assumed the payment of the debt resting upon

such property by every principle of law and

equity. And, moreover, as the state promptly

siezed the railroad property and franchises, ex-

pressly to indemnify her for payment of the bonds,

it is difiScult to see what possible justification there

can be for her refusal to make that payment."

The legislature in March passed an act for the

adjustment of these bonds, which being brought

before the supreme court of the state was declared

void. The court at the same time declared the

amendment to the state constitution, which pro-

hibited the settlement of these bonds, without the

assent of a popular vote, to be a violation of the

clause in the constitution of the United States of

America prohibiting the impairment of the obliga-

tion of contracts. This decision cleared the -way

for final action. Governor Pillsbm-y called an

extra session of the legislature in October, 1881,

which accepted the offer of the bondholders, to be

satisfied with 'a partial payment, and made provis-

ions for cancelling bonds, the existence of which

for more than twenty years had been a humiliation

to a large majority of the thoughtful and intelli-

gent citizens of Minnesota, and a blot upon the

otherwise fair name of the commonwealth.

aOVEENOB HUBBABD.

Lucius F. Hubbard, who had been colonel of

the Fifth Kegiment, was nominated by the repub-

hcan party, and elected in November, 1881, by a

large majority over the democratic nominee, E,

W. Johnson. He entered upon his duties in Jan-

uary, 1882, about the time of the present chapter

going to press.
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CHAPTER XXVI.

OAPITOIi ^PBNITENTIABY
—

'nNIVEKSITY—DEAP AND

DtTMB INSTITTJTION SCHOOL FOR BLIND AND

IMBBOrLES^ INSANE ASYLUMS STATE EBBOEM

SCHOOL NOBMAL SCHOOLS.

Among the public buildings ot Minnesota, the

capitol is entitled to priority of notice,

TEMPOEAET CAPITOLS.

In the absence of a capitol the first legislature

of the territory of Minnesota convened on Mon-
day, the 3d of September, 184.9, at St. Paul, in

a log building covered with pine boards painted

white, two stories high, which was at the time a

public inn, afterward known as the Central Housj,

and kept by Robert Kennedy. It was situated on

the high bank of the river. The main portion of

the building was used for the library, secretary's

office, courioil chamber and house of representa-

tives' hall, while the annex was occupied as the

dining-room of the hotel, with rooms for travelers

in the story above. Both houses of the legisla-

ture met in the dining-hall to listen to the first

message of Governor Eama'ey.

The permanent location of the capital was not

settled by the first legislature, and nothing could

be done toward the erection of a capitol with the

$20,000 appropriated by congress, as the perma-

nent seat of government had not been designated.

William B. Marshall, since governor, at that

time a member of the house of representatives

from St. Anthony, with others, wished that point

to be designated as the capital.

Twenty years after, in some remarks before ths

Old Settlers' Association of Hennepin county, Ex-

Governor Marshall alluded to this desire. He
said: "The original act [of congress] made

St. Paul the temporary capital, but provided that

the legislature might determine the permanent

capital. A bill was introduced by the St. Paul

delegation to fix the permanent capital there. I

opposed it, endeavoring to have St. Anthony made

the seat of government. We succeeded in defeat-

ing the bill which sought to make St. Paul the

permanent capital, but we could not get through

the bill fixing it at St. Anthony. So the question

remained open in regard to' the permanent capital

until the next session in 1851, when a compromise

was effected by which the capitol was to be at St.

Paul, the State University at St. Anthony, and

the Penitentiary at Stillwater. At an early day,

as well as now, caricatures and burlesques were

in vogue. Young WiUiam Randall, of St. Paul,

now deceased, who had some talent in the graphic

line, drew a picture of the elforts at capitol re-

moval. It was a building on wheels, with ropes

attached, at which I was pictured tugging, while

Brunson, Jackson, and the other St. Paul mem-
bers, wer? holding and checking the wheels, to

prevent my moving it, with humorous speeches

proceeding from the mouths of the parties to the

contest."

The second territorial legislature assembled on

the 2d of January, 1871, in a brick building three

stories in height, which stood on Third street in

St. Paul, on a portion of the site now occupied by

the Metropolitan Hotel, and before the session

closed it was enacted that St. Paul should be the

permanent capital, and commissioners were ap-

pointed to expend the congressional appropriation

for a capitol.

When the Third legislature assembled, in Jan-

uary, 1852, it was stUl necessary" to occupy a

hired building known as Goodrich's block, which

stood on Third street just below the entrance of

the Merchants' Hotel. In 1853, the capitol not

being finished, the fourth legislature was obliged

to meet in a two-story brick building at the corner

.

of Third and Minnesota streets, and directly in the

rear of the wooden edifice where the first legisla-

ture in 184:9 had met.

THE CAPITOL.

After it was decided, in 1851, that St. Paul was

to be the capital of the territory, Charles BaziUe

gave the square bounded by Tenth, Eleventh,

Wabasha, and Cedar streets for the capitol.

Apian was adopted by the building commission-

ers, and the contract was taken by Joseph Daniels,

a builder, who now resides in Washington as a

lawyer and claim agent. The building was of

brick, and at first had a front portico, supported

by four Ionic columns. It was two stories above

the basement, 139 feet long and nearly 54 feet in

width, with an extension in the rear 44x52 feet.

In July, 1853, it was so far completed .as to allow

the governor to occupy the executive office.

SPEECHES OP EX-PBESIDENT FILLMOEE AND GEOEaE

BANCBOET.

Before the war it was used not only by the legis-

lature, and for the offices of state, but was granted
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for important meetings. On the 8th of June a

large excursion party, under the auspices of the

builders of the Chicago & Eock Island railway,

arrived at St. Paul from the latter point, ia five

large steamboats, and among the passengers were

some of the most distinguished scholars, statesmen

and divines of the republic. At night the popu-

lation of St. Paul filled the capitol, and the more

sedate listened in the senate chamber to the stir-

ring speeches of Ex-President PiUmore; and the

historian, George Bancroft, who had been secre-

tary of the navy, and minister plenipotentiary to

Great Britain, while at a later period of the night

the youthful portion of the throng danced in the

reom then used by the supreme court.

The " Pioneer " of the next day thus alludes to

the occasion :
" The ball in honor of the guests

of the excursion came off, in fine style. At an

early hour, the assembly having been called to or-

der, by the Hon. H. H. Sibley, a welcoming speech

was delivered by Governor Gorman, and replies

were made by Ex-President Fillmore and the

learned historian Bancroft. ******
The dancing then commenced and was kept up till

a, late hour, when the party broke up, the guests

returning to the steamers, and our town's people

to their homes, all" delighted with the rare enter-

tainment."

HON. W. H. SBWAKD'S SPEECH.

On the 8th of September, 1860, the capitol was

visited by Hon. William H. Seward. At mid-day

he met by invitation the members of the Histori-

cal Society in their rooms at the Capitol, and an

address of welcome was made by the Et. Eev.

Bishop Anderson, of Eupert's Land, to which he

made a brief response.

In the afternoon, crowds assembled in the

grounds to listen to an expected speech, and every

window of the capitol was occupied with eager

faces. Standing upon the front steps, he ad-

dressed the audience in the language of a patriot

and a statesman, and among his eloquent utter-

ances, was the following prediction.

" Every step of my progress since I reached the

northern Misissippi has been attended by a great

and agreeable surprise. I had, early, read the

works in which the geographers had described the

scenes upon which I was entering, and I had

studied them in the finest productions of art, but

still the grandeur and luxuriance of this region

had not been conceived. Those sentinel walls that

look down upon the Mississippi, seen as I beheld

them, in their abundant verdure, just when the

earliest tinge of the fall gave luxuriance to the

forests, made me think how much of taste and

genius had been wasted in celebrating the high-

lands of Scotland, before the civilized man had

reached the banks of the Mississippi; and the

beautiful Lake Pepin, seen at sunset, when the

autumnal green of the hills was lost in the deep

blue, and the genial atmosphere reflected the rays

of the sxm, and the skies above seemed to move

down and spread their gorgeous drapery on the

scene, was a piece of upholstery, such as none

but the hand of nature could have made, and it

was but the vestibule of the capitol of the state

of Minnesota. ***** *****
* * * Here is the place, the central place

where the agriculture of the richest region of

North America must pour its tribute. On the

east, all along the shore of Lake Superior, and

west, stretching in one broad plain, in a belt quite

across the continent, is a country where State after

State is to arise, and where the productions for the

support of humanity, in old and crowded States,

must be brought forth.

"This is then a commanding field, but it is as

commanding in regard to the destiny of this coun-

try and' of this continent, as it is, ia regard to the

commercial future, for power is not permanently

to reside on the eastern slope of the Alleghany

Mountains, nor in the sea-ports. Sea-ports have

always been overrun and controlled by the people

of the interior, and the power that shall communi-

cate and express the will of men on this continent

is to be located in the Mississippi valley and at the

sources of the Mississippi and Saint Lawrence.

"In our day, studying, perhaps what might

seem to others trifling or visionary, I had cast

about for the future and ultimate central seat of

power of North American people. I had looked

at Quebec, New Orleans, Washington, Cincinnati,

St. Louis, and San Francisco, and it had been the

result of my last conjecture, that the seat of power

in North America could be found in the valley of

Mexico, and that the glories of the Aztec capital

would be surrendered, at its' becoming at last the

capital of the United States of America, but I

have corrected that view. I now believe that the

ultimate seat of government in this great Conti-

nent, will be found somewhere within the circle or
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radius not very far from the spot where I now
stand."

FLAG PEBSBNTATION.

In a few months after this speech, Mr. Seward

was chosen by President Lincoln, inaugurated

March 4, 1861, as secretary of state, and the next

great crowd in front of the capitol was collected

by the presentation of a flag by the ladies of St.

Paul to the First Minnesota regiment which had

been raised for the suppression of the slave-holders

rebellion. On May the 25th, 1861, the regiment

came down from their rendezvous at Fort Snelling,

and marched to the capital grounds. The wife of

Governor Eamsey, with the flag in hand, appeared

on the front steps, surrounded by a committee of

ladies, and presenting it to Colonel Gorman, made

a brief address in which she said: "Prom this

capitol, to the most remote frontier cottage, no

heart but shall send up a prayer for your safety;

no eye but shall follow with affection the flutter-

ings of your banner, and no one but shall feel

pride, when you crown the banner as you will

crown it, with glory."

As the State increased in population it was nec-

essary to alter and enlarge the building, and in

1873, a wing was added fronting on Exchange

street, and the cupola was improved. The legis-

lature of 1878 provided for the erection of another

wing, at an expense of $14,000, fronting on Waba-
sha street. The building, by successive additions,

was in length 204 feet, and in width 150 feet, and

the top of the dome was more than 100 feet from

the ground.

THE OAPITOIi IN FLAMES..

On the morning of the 1st of March, 1881, it

was destroyed by fire. About 9 o'clock ia the

the evening two gentlemen, who lived opposite,

discovered the capitol was on fixe, and immedia-

tely, by the telegraph, an alarm notified the firemen

of the city, and the occupants of the capitol.

The flames rapidly covered the cupola and licked

the flag flying fi-om the staff on top. One of the

reporters of the Pioneer Press, who was in the

senate chamber at the time, graphically describes

the scene within.

He writes: "The senate was at work on third

reading of house bills; Lieutenant Governor GU-

man in his seat, and Secretary Jennison reading

something about restraining cattle in Bice county

;

the senators were lying back listening carelessly.

when the door opened and Hon. Michael Doran

annoimced that the building was on fire. All eyes

were at once turned in that direction, and the

flash of the flames was visible from the top of the

gallery, as well as from the hall, which

is on a level with the floor of the senate. The panic

that ensued had a different effect upon the differ-

ent persons, and those occupying places nearest the

entrance, pushing open the door, and rushing pell

mell through the blinding smoke. Two or three

ladies happened to be in the vicinity of the doors,

and happily escaped uninjured. But the opening

of the door produced a draft which drew into the

senate chamber clouds of smoke, the fire in the

meantime having made its appearance over the

center and rear of the gallery. All this occurred

so suddenly that senators standing near the re-

porter's table and the secretary's desk, which were

on the opposite side of the chamber from the en-

trance, stood as if paralyzed, gazing in mute as-

tonishment at the smoke that passed in through

the open doors, at the flames over the gallery, and

the rushing crowd that blocked the door-ways.

The senate suddenly and formally adjourned.

President Gilman, however stood in his place,

gavel in hand, and as he rapped his desk, loud and

often he yelled: "Shut that door! Shut that

door!"

"The cry was taken up by Colonel Crooks and

other senators, and the order was finally obeyed,

after which, the smoke clearing away, the senators

were enabled to collect their senses and decide

what was best to be done. President Gilman,

stiU standing up in his place, calm and collected

as if nothing unusual had happened, was encour-

aging the senators to keep cool. Colonel Crooks

was giving orders as if a battle was raging around

him.

"Other senators were giving such advice as oc-

curred to them, but unfortunately no advice was

pertinent except to keep cool and that was all.

Some were importuning the secretary and his as-

sistants to save the records, and General Jennison,

his hands fuU of papers, was waiting a chance to

walk out with them. But that chance looked re-

mote, indeed, for there, locked in the senate cham-

ber, were at least fifty men walking around, some

looking at each other in a dazed sort of » way;

others at the windows looking out at the snow-cov-

ered yard, now illuminated from the flames, that

were heard roaring and craokhng overhead.
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From some windows men were yelling to the lim-

ited crowd below: "Get some ladders! Send for

ladders!" Other windows were occupied. About

this time terror actually siezed the members, when
Senator Buck remarked that the fire was raging

overhead, and at the same moment burnmg brands

began to drop through the large ventilators upon

the desks and floor beneath.

"Then, for a moment, it seemed as if all hopes of

escape were out off. *****
But happily the flames having made their way
through the dome, a draught was created strong

enough to clear the halls of smoke. The dome

was almost directly over the entrance of the senate

chamber, and burning brands and timbers had

fallen down through the glass ceiling in front of

the door, rendering escape in that dii-ector im-

possible.

"But a small window leading from the cloak room

of the senate chamber to the first landing of the

main stairway furnished an avenue of escape, and

through this little opening every man in the sen-

ate chamber managed to get out.

"The windows were about ten feet high, but Mr.

Michael Doran and several other gentlemen stood

at the bottom, and nobly rendered assistance to

those who came tumbling out, some headlong,

some sideways and some feet foremost.

" As the reporter of the Pioneer-Press came out

and landed on his feet, he paused for a moment to

survey the scene overhead, where the flames were

lashing themselves into fury as they played under-

neath the dome, and saw the flag-staff burning,

and coals dropping down like fiery hail.

"It took but a few minutes for the senators to get

out, after which they assembled on the outside,

and they had no sooner gained the street than the

ceiling of the senate chamber fell in, and in ten

minutes that whole wing was a mass of flames."

Similar scenes took place in the hall of the

house of representatives. A young lawyer, with

a friend, as soon as the fire was noticed, ran into

the law library and began to throw books out of

the windows, but in a few minutes the density of

the smoke and the approach of the flames com,

pelled them to desist, and a large portion of the

library was burned. The portraits of Generals

Sherman and Thomas which were hung over the

stairway were saved. The books of the Histori-

cal Society, in the basement, were removed, but

were considerably damaged. In three hours the

bare walls alone remained of the oapitol which

for nearly thirty years had been familiar to the

law-makers and public men of Minnesota.

Steps were immediately taken to remove the

debris and build a new capitol, upon the old site.

The foundation walls have been laid, and in the

course of a year the superstructure will be com-

pleted.

THE PBNITENTIAET.

Before the penitentiary was built, those charged

or convicted of crime were placed in charge of the

commandants of Fort SnelUng or Eipley, and kept

at useful employment under nulitary supervision.

At the same time it was decided to erect a capitol

at St. Pauljit was also determined that the territorial

prison should be built at or within half a mile of

Stillwater. A small lot was secured in 1851 in

what was called the Battle ravine, in consequence of

the conflict between the Sioux and Ohippeways de-

scribed on the 103d page. Within a stone wall was

erected ofllces of the prison, with an annex con-*

taining six cells. A warden's house was built

on the outside of the wall. In 1853, an addition

of six cells was made and on the 5th of March,

1863, F. E. Delano entered upon his duties as

warden. His reports to the legislature show that

for several years there was little use for the cells.

The prison was opened for criminals on the 1st of

September,1853,anduntilJanuary, 1858 there had

been received only five convicts, and forty-one

county cind thirty city prisoners awaiting trial.

The use of the prison by the counties and city as

a temporary place of confinement led to some

misunderstanding between the warden and Wash-

ington county, and the grand jury of that county

in November, 1857, complained that the warden

was careless in discharge of his duties. The jury,

among other complaints sent the following ironi-

cal statement: "It was also found in such exami-

nation that one Maria RofBn, committed on charge

of selling spirituous liquors to the Indians within

the territory of the United States escaped in the

words of the record, 'by leaving the prison' and it

is a matter of astonishment to this grand jury

that she so magnanimously consented to leave the

penitentiary behind her."

Francis O. J. Smith acted as warden for a brief

period after Delano, and then H. N. Setzer. In

1859, the number of cells had increased to sixteen,

and among the inmates was a hitherto respectable
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citizen sentenced for fifteen years for robbing a

post-office.

In 1860 John S. Proctor became warden, and

after eight years of efficient serFice, was succeeded

by Joshua L. Taylor. By successive additions

in 1869 nearly ten acres were enclosed by prison

walls, and during this year extensive shops were

built. The State in 1870 erected a costly prison

at an expense of about $80,000, which, besides a

chapel and necessary offices, contained two hun-

dred and ninety-nine cells.

A. C. Webber succeeded Taylor as Warden in

March, 1870, and the followmg October, Henry

A. Jackman took his place, and continued in office

until August, 1874, when the present incumbent,

J. A. Eeed, was appointed.

It has been the policy of the State to hire the

convicts to labor for contractors, in workshops

within the walls. At present the inmates are

largely engaged in the making of agricultural

machines for the firm of Seymour, Sabin & Go.

THE tTNIVEBSlTT 01' MINNESOTA.

The Territorial Legislature of 1851, passed an

act establishing the University of Minnesota at or

near the Falls of St. Anthony, and memorialized

Congress for a grant of lands for the Institution.

Soon after, Congress ordered seventy-two sections

of laud to be selected and reserved for the use of

said University.

As the Regents had no funds, Franklin Steele

gave the site now the public square, on Second

Street in the East Division, opposite the Minnesota

Medical College. Mr. Steele and others at their

own expense erected a wooden building thereon,

for a Preparatory Department, and the Eev. E. W.

Merrill was eugiiged as Principal. At the close

of the year 1853, the Eegents reported that there

was ninety-four students in attendance, but that

the site selected being too near the Falls, they had

purchased of Joshua L. Taylor and Paul B. George

about twenty-five acres, a mile eastward, on

the heigth overlooking the Falls of St. Anthony.

Governor Gorman, in his message in 1854 to

the Legislature said : "The University of Minne-

sota exists as yet only in name, but the time has

come when a substantial reality may and should

be created." But the Eegents could not find any

patent which would compress a myth into reality,

for not an acre of the land grant of Congress was

available. The Governor in his message therefore

lidded: "It would not embarrass our resources,

10

in my judgment, if a small loan was effected to

erect a building, and establish one or two profes-

sorships, and a preparatory department, such loan

to be based upon the townships of land appropri-

ated for the sole use of the University."

' While it was pleasing to loc; 1 pride to have p

building in prospect which could be seen from

afar, the friends of education shook their heads,

and declared the prospect of borrowing money to

build a University building before the common

school system was organized was visionary, and

would be unsuccessful. The idea, however, con-

tinued to be agitated, and the Eegents at length

were authorized by the Legislature of 1856, to

issue bonds in the name of the University, under

its corporate seal, for fifteen thousand dollars, to

be secured by the mortgage of the University

building which had been erected on the new site,

and forty thousand dollars more were authorized

to be issued by the Legislature of 1858, to be

secured by a lien on the lands devoted for a Ter-

ritorial University. With the aid of these loans a

costly and inconvenient stone edifice was con-

structed, but when finished there was no demand

for it, and no means for the payment of interest or

professors.

In the fall of 1858, in the hope that the Uni-

versity might be saved from its desperate condi-

tion, the Eegents elected the Eev. Edward D.

Neill as Chancellor. He accepted the position

Avithout any salary being pledged, and insisted

that a University must necessarily be of slow de-

velopment, and must succeed, not precede, the

common schools, and contended that five years

might elapse before anything could be done for a

University which would be tangible and visible.

He also expressed the belief that in time, with

strict watchfulness, the heavy load of debt could

be lifted.

The Legislature of 1860 abolished the old board

of Eegents of the Territorial University by pass-

ing an act for a State University, which had been

prepared by the Chancellor, and met the approval

of Chancellor Tappan, of Michigan University.

Its first section declared "that the object of the

State University established by the Constitution of

the State, at or near the Falls of St. Anthony,

shall be to provide the best and most efficient

means of imparting to the youth of the State an

education more advanced than that given in the

public schools, and a thorough knowledge of the
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branches of literature, the arts and eoienoes, with

their various applications."

This charter also provided for the appointment

of five Eegents, to be appointed by the Governor,

and confirmed by the Senate, in place of the

twelve who had before been elected by the Legis-

lature. The Legislature of 1860 also enacted that

the Chancellor shoiild be ex-officio State Superin-

tendent of Publio Listruction.

The first meeting of the Regents of the State

University was held on the fifth of April, 1860,

and steps were taken to secure the then useless edi-

fice from further dilapidation. The Chancellor

urged at this meeting that a large portion of the

territorial land grant would be absorbed in pay-

ment of the moneys used in the erection of

a building in advance of the times, and that

the only way to secure the existence of a State

University was by asking Congress for an addi-

tional two townships, or seventy-two sections of

land, which he contended coiild be done under the

phraseology of the enabling act, which said : "That

seventy-two sections of land shallbe set apart and

reserved for the use and support of a State Univer-

sity to be selected by the Oovemor of said State,"

etc.

The Eegents requested the Governor to suggest

to the authorities that it was not the intention of

Congress to turn over the debts and prospectively

encumbered lands of an old and badly managed
Territorial institution, but to give the State that

was to be, a grant for a State University, free

from all connection with the Territorial organiza-

tion. The Governor communicated these views

to the authorities at Washington, but it was not

till after years of patient waiting that the land was

obtained by an act of Congress.

At the breaking out of the civil war in 1861,

the Chancellor became Chaplain of the First Regi-

ment of Minnesota Volunteers, and went to the

seat of war, and the University affairs continued to

grow worse, and the University building was a

by-word and hissing among the passers by. Dar-

ing the year 1863, some of the citizens of St. An-

thony determined to make another effort to extri-

cate the institution from its difficulties, and the

legislature of 1864 passed an act abolishing the

board of Eegents, and creating three persons sole

regents, with power to liquidate the debts of the

institution. The Regents under this law were

John 8. Pillsbury and O. 0. Merriman, of St. An-

thony, and John Nicols, of St. Paul.

The increased demand for pine lands, of which

the University owned many acres, and the sound

discretion of these gentlemen co-operated in pro-

curing, happy results. In two years Governor

Marshall, in his message to the legislature, was

able to say: "The very able and successful man-

agement of the affairs of the institution, under the

piesent board of Eegents, relieving it of over one

hundred thousand dollars of debt, and saving over

thirty thousand acres of land that was at one time

supposed to be lost, entitles Messrs. Pillsbury,

Merriman, and Nicols to the lasting gratitude of

the State."

The legislature of 1867 appropriated $5,000 for

a preparatory and Normal department, and the

Eegents this year chose as principal of the school,

the Eev. W. W. Washburn, a graduate of the Uni-

versity of Michigan, and Gabriel Campbell, of the

same institution, and Ira Moore as assistants. The

legislature of 1868 passed an act to reorganize the

University, and to establish an Agricultural Col-

lege therein.

Departing from the policy of the University of

Michigan, it established what the Eegents wished,8

department of Elementary instruction. It also pro-

vided for a College of Science, Literature and the

Arts; a College of Agriculture and Meolianics with

Military Tactics; a college of Law, and a College

of Medicine.

The provision of the act of 1860, for the appoint-

ment of Eegents was retained, and the number to

be confirmed by the Senate, was increased from

five to seven.

The new board of Eegents was organized in

March, 1868. John S. Pillsbury, of St. Anthony,

President; O. C. Merriman, of St. Anthony, Sec-

retary, and John Nicols, of St. Paul, Treasurer.

At a meeting of the Eegents in August, 1869,

arrangements were made for coUegiate work by

electing as President and Professor of mathematics

William W. Polwell.

President Folwell was bom in 1835, in Seneca

county. New York, and graduated with distinction

in 1827, at Hobart College in Geneva, New York.

For two years he was a tutor at Hobart, and then

went to Europe. Upon his return the civil war was

raging, and he entered the 60th New York Volun-

teers. After the army was disbanded he engaged

in business in Ohio, but at the time of his election

to the presidency of the University, was Professor
•

of mathematics, astronomy, and German at Ken-

yon College.
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THE FACULTY.

The present faculty of the institution is as fol-

lows:

WilUam W. Folwell, instructor, political science.

Jabez Brooks, D. D., professor, Greek, and in

charge of Latin.

Newton H. WinoheU, professor, State geologist,

C. N. Hewitt, M. D., professor, Public Health.

John G. .Moore, professor, German.

Moses Marston, Ph. D., professor, English lit-

erature.

0. W. Hall, professor, geology and biology.

John 0. Hutchinson, "assistant .professor, Greek

and mathematics.

John S. Olark, assistant professor, Latin.

Matilda J. Campbell, instructor, German and

English.

Maria L. Sanford, professor, rhetoric, and elocu-

tion.

William A. Pike, 0. E., professor, engineering

and physics.

John F. Downey, professor, mathematics and

astronomy.

James A. Dodge, Ph. D., professor, chemistry.

Alexander T. Ormond, professor, mental and

moral philosophy and history.

Charles W. Benton, professor, French.

Edward D. Porter, professor, agriculture.

William H. Leib, instructor, vocal music.

William P. Decker, instructor, shop work and

drawing.

Edgar C. Brown, U. S. A., professor, military

science.

James Bowen, instructor, practical horticulture.

THE OAMPTJS AND BUILDINGS.

The campus of the university since it was orig-

inally acquired, has been somewhat enlarged, and

now consists of about fifty acres in extent, undu-

lating in surface, and well wooded with native

trees. The buildings are thus far but two in

number, the plan of the original building, which

in outline was not unlike the insane asylum build-

ing at St. Peter, having been changed by the

erection in 1876, of a large four-story structure

built of stone and surmounted by a tower. This

building is 186 feet in length and ninety in

breadth, exclusive of porches, having three stories

above the basement in the old part- The walls

are of blue limestone and the roof of tin. The

rooms, fifty-three in number, as well as all the

corridors are heated by an efEcient steam appara-

tus, and are thoroughly ventilated. Water is sup-

plied from the city mains, and there is a stand-

pipe running from the basement through the roof

with hose attached on all the floors for protection

against fire. The assembly hall, in the third

story, is 87x55 feet, 24 feet high, and will seat

with comfort 700 people, and 1,200 can be accom-

modated.

THE AGBIOULTUEAL BUILDING

is the first of the special buildings for the separ-

ate colleges, and was built in 1876. It is of

brick, on a basement of blue stone, 146x54 feet.

The central portion is two stories in height. The

south wing, 46x25 feet, is a plant house of double

sash and glass. The north wing contains the

chemical laboratory. There are class rooms for

chemistry, physics and agriculture, and private

laboratories for the professors. A large room in

the second story is occupied by the museum of

technology and agriculture, and the basement is

filled up with a carpenter shop, a room with vises

and tools at which eight can work, and another

room fitted with eight forges and a blower—the

commencement of the facihties for practical in-

struction.

DEAF AND DUMB INSTITUTION.

Of all the public institutions of Minnesota, no

one has had a more pleasing history, and more

symmetrical development than the Institution for

the education of the deaf and dumb and the blind

at Faribault.

The legislature of 1858, passed an act for the

establishment of "The Minnesota State Institute

for the Education of the Deaf and Dumb," within

two miles of Faribault, in Bice county, upon con-

dition that the town or county, should within one

year from the passage of the law give forty acres

of land for its use. The condition was complied

with, but the financial condition of the country

and the breaking out of the civil war, with other

causes retarded the progress of the Institution for

five years.

The legislature of 1863 made the first appro-

priation of fifteen hundred doUars for the opening

of the Institution. Mr. E. A. Mott, of Faribault,

who has to this time been an efficient director, at

the request of the other two directors, visited the

East for teachers, and secured Prof. Kinney and

wife of Columbus, Ohio. A store on Fiont Street

was then rented, and adapted for the temporary
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use of the Institution, wluch opened on the 9th of

September, 1863, with five pupils, which soon in-

creased to ten.

On February 13th, 1864, the State appropriated

about four thousand dollars for the suppert of the

Institution, and the directors expended about one

- thousand dollars in the erection of small additional

building, eighteen by twenty feet in dimensions,

as a boys' dormitory.

After laboring faithfully for three years and se-

curing the respect of his associates, on July 1st,

1866, Prof. Kinney resigned on account of ill health.

The directors the next month elected as Super-

intendent Jonathan L. Noyes, A. M. On the 7th

of September Professor Noyes arrived at Faribault

with Miss A. L. Steele as an assistant teacher and

Henrietta Watson as matron.

NORTH WING 03? EDIPIOB COMPIiBTED.

Upon the 17th of March, 1868, the Institution

was removed to a wing of the new building upon
a site of fifty-two acres beautifully situated upon
the brow of the hills east of Faribault. The edi-

fice of the French louvre style, and was designed

by Monroe Sheire, a St. Paul architect, and cost

about fifty-three thousand dollars, and water was
introduced from springs in the vicinity,

WOBK SHOPS.

In 1869, the Superintendent was cheered by the

completion of the first work shop, and soon eight

mutes under the direction of a mute foreman be-

gan to make flour barrels, and in less than a year

had sent out more than one thousand, and in 1873

4,054 barrels were made.

S0T3TH WING BEGAN.

The completed wing was not intended to accom-

modate more than sixty pupils and soon there was
a demand for more room. During the year 1869

the foundation of the south wing was completed,

and on the 10th of September 1873 the building

was occupied by boys, the other wing being used

for the girls. By the time the building was ready

fftudents were waiting to occupy.

MAIN BUILDING COMPnBTED.

In 1879 the design was completed by the finish-

ing of the centre building. The whole edifice is

thus described by the architect, Monroe Sheire

:

"The plan of the building is rectangular, and con-

sists of a central portion one hundred feet north

and south, and one hundred and eight feet east

and west, exclusive of piazzas, and two wings, one

on the north, and the other on the south side,

each of these being eighty by forty-five. This

makes the extreme length two hundred and sixty

feet, and the width one hundred and eight feet.

The entire building is four stories above the base-

ment."

The exterior walls are built of blue lime stone

from this vicinity, and the style Franco Roman-
esque. Over the center is a graceful cupola, and

the top of the same is one hundred and fifty feet

above the ground.

The entire cost to the State of aU the improve-

ments was about $175,000, and the building wiU

accommodate about two hundred pupils. The

rooms are lighted by gas from the Faribault Gas

Works.

INDTJSTEIAn SOHOOIia.

The first shop opened was for making barrels.

To this cooper shop has been added a shoe shop, a

tailor shop and a printing ofSoe.

MAGAZINE.

The pupils established in March, 1876, a little

paper called the Gopher. It was printed on a

small press, and second-hand type was used.

In June, 1877, it was more than doubled in

size, and changed its name to "The Mutes' Com-
panion." Printed with good type, and filled with

pleasant articles it still exists, and adds to the in-

terest in the institution.

EDUCATION OP THE BLIND.

In 1863 a law was passed by the legislature re-

quiring blind children to be educatedunder the sir-

pervision of the Deaf and Dumb Institution.

Early in July, 1866, a school for the bhnd was
opened in a separate building, rented for the pur-

pose, under the care of Miss H. N. Tucker. Dur-
ing the first term there were three pupils. In May,
1803, the blind pupils were brought into the deal

and dumb institution, but the experiment of in- .

struoting these two classes together was not satis-

factory, and in 1874 the blind were removed to

the old Faribault House, half a mile south of

the Deaf and Dumb Institution,- which had been
fitted up for their accommodation, and where
a large new brick building, for the use of the

blind, has since been erected. In 1875, Profes-

sor James J. Dow was made principal of the

school.
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SOHOOIi FOB THE FEEBLE MINDED.

From time to time, in Ms report to the Legisla-

ture, SuperiDtendent Noyes alluded to the fact that

some oMldren appeared deaf and dumb because of

their feeble mental development, and in 1879, the

state appropriated $5,000 for a school for imbecile

children.

The institution was started in July of that year

by Dr. Henry M. Knight, now deceased, then

Superintendent and founder of the Connecticut

school of the same description, who was on a visit

to Faribault. He superintended the school until

the arrival, in -September, of his son. Dr. George

H. Knight, who had been trained under his father.

For the use of the school the Fairview House was

rented, and fourteen feeble children were sent

from the Insane Asylum at St. Peter. In eigh-

teen months the number had increased to twenty -

five.

The site of the new building for the school is

about forty rods south of the Blind School. The

dimensions are 44x80 feet, with a tower projection

20x18 feet. It is of limestone, and three stories

above the basement, covered with kn iron hip-roof,

and cost about $25,000.

STIPEEINTBNDENT 3. Ii. NOYES,

The growth of the Minnesota institution for the

education of the deaf and dumb and the blind,

has been so symmetrical, and indicative of one

moulding mind, that a sketch of the institution

would be incomplete without some notice of the

Superintendent, who has guided it for the last

sixteen years.

On the 13th of June, 1827, Jonathan Lovejoy

Noyes was bom in Windham, Eockingham county.

New Hampshire. At the age of fourteen years he

was sent to Phillips Academy, Andover, Massachu-

setts, not only one of the oldest, but among
the best schools in the United States. At Andover

he had the advantage of the instruction of the

thorough Greek scholar. Dr. Samuel H. Taylor,

the eminent author, Lyman H. Coleman, D. D.,

afterwards Professor of Latin in Lafayette Col-

lege, Pennsylvania, and William H. Wells, whose

English grammar has been used in many insti-

tutions.

After completing his preparatory studies, in

1848, he entered Yale College, and in four years

received the diploma of Bachelor of Arts. After

graduation he received an appointment in the

Pennsylvania Institution of the Deaf and Dumb, on

Broad Street, Philadelphia, and found instructing

deaf mutes was a pleasant occupation. After six

years of important work in Philadelphia, he was

employed two years in a similar institution at

Baton Rouge, Louisiana, and then received an ap-

pointment in the well known American Asylum so

long presided over by Thomas H. Gallandet, at

Hartford, Connectictit. WhUe laboring here he

was invited to take charge of the "Minnesota In-

stitution for the Education of the Deaf and Dumb
and the Blind," and in September, 1866, he ar-

rived at Faribault. With wisdom and patience,

gentleness and energy, and an unfaltering trust in

a superintending Providence, he has there contin-

ued his work with the approbation of his fellow

citizens, and the affection of the pupils of the

institution.

At the time that he was relieved of the care of

theblind and imbecile, the directors entered upon

their minutes the following testimonial:

"Mesolved, That upon the retirement of Prof. J.

L. Noyes from the superintendency of the depart-

ments of the blind and imbecile, the board of

Directors, of the Minnesota Institution for the

Deaf and Dumb, and Blind and Idiots, and Imbe-

ciles, desire to testify to his deep interest in these

several departments; his efScient and timely ser-

vices in their establishment; and his wise direction

of their early progress, until they have become

full-fledged and independent departments of our

noble State charitable institutions.

"For his cordial and courteous co-operation with

the directors in their work, and for his timely

counsel and advice, never withheld when needed,

the board by this testimonial, render to him their

hearty recognition and warm acknowledgement."

On the 21st of July, 1862, Professor Noyes mar-

ried Eliza H. Wadsworth, of Hartford, Connecti-

cut, a descendent of the Colonel Wadsworth, who

in the old colony time, hid the charter of Connecti-

cut in an oak, which for generations has been

known in history as the "Charter Oak." They

have but one child, a daughter.

INSANE HOSPITAl AT ST. PBTEE.

UntU the year 1866, the insane of Minnesota

were sent to the Iowa Asylum for treatment, but

in January of that year the Legislature passed an

act appointing Wm. E. Marshall, John M. Berry,

Thomas Wilson, Charles Mclhath, and 8. J. R
McMillan to select a proper place for the Minna-
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sota Hospital for the Insane. The vicinity of St.

Peter was chosen, the citizens presenting to the

State two hundred and ten acres ohe mile south o£

the city, and on the Minnesota Eiver, directly op-

posite to Kasota.

In October, 1866, temporary buildings were

erected, and the Trustees elected Samuel E.

Shantz, of Utica, N. T., as the Superintendent.

A plan submitted by Samuel Sloan, a Philadelphia

architect, consisting of a central building, with

sections and wings for the accommodation of at

least five hundred patients, in 1867, was adopted,

and in 1876 the great structure was completed.

It is built of Kasota limestone, the walls lined

with brick, and the roof covered with slates. The
central building is four stories in height, sur-

mounted with a fine cupola, and therein are the

chapel and offices. Each wing is three stories

high, with nine separate halls.

The expenses of construction of the Asylum,

with the outbuildings, has been more than half a

million of dollars. ' Dr. Shantz having died, Cyrus

K. Bartlett, M. D., of Northampton, Massachu-

setts, was appointed Superintedent.

In January, 1880, in the old temporary build-

ings and in the Asylum proper there were six hun-

dred and sixty patients. On the 15th of Novem-
ber, 1880, about half past eight in the evening,

the Superintendent and assistants were shocked by
the announcement that the north wing was on

fire. It began in the northwest comer of the

basement, and is supposed to have been kindled by
a patient employed about the kitchen who was not

violent. The flames rapidly ascended to the dif-

ferent stories, through the holes for the hot air

pipes, and the openings for the dumb waiters.

The wing at the time contained two hundred

and seventy patients, and as they were liberated

by their nurses and told to make their escape, ex-

hibited various emotions. Some clapped their

hands with glee, others trembled with fear.

Many, barefooted and with bare heads, rushed for

the neighboring hills and sat on the cold snow.

A few remained inside. One patient was noticed

in a window of the third story, with his knees

drawn up to his chin, and his face in his hands, a

cool and interested looker on, and with an expres-

sion of cynical contempt for the flames as they ap-

proached his seat. When a tongue of fire would

shoot toward him, he would lower his head, and

after it passed would resume his position with more

than the indifference of a stoic. At last the brick '

work beneath him gave way with a loud crash,

and as he was precipitated into the cauldron of fire

soon to be burned to ashes, his maniacal laugh waa

heard above the roar of the flames.

The remains of eighteen patients were found in

the ruins, and seven died in a few days after the

fire, in consequence of injuries and exposure.

Immediate steps were taken by the Governor to

repair the damages by the fire.

INSANE HOSPITAIi AT BOCHBSTEB.

In 1878, the Legislature enacted a law by

which an inebriate asylum commenced at Eoches-

ter could be used for an Insane Asylum. With the

appropriation, alteratigps and additions were

made. Dr. J. E. Bowers elected Superintendent,

and on the 1st of January, 1879, it was opened for

patients.

Twenty thonsatld dollars have since been appro-

priated for a wing for female patients.

STATE EEFOEM SCHOOL.

During the year 1865, I. V. D. Heard, Esq., a

lawyer of Saint Paul, and at that time City At-

torney sent a communication to one of the daily

papers urging the importance of separating child

ren arrested for petty crimes, from the depraved

adults found in the station house or county jail,

and also called the attention of the City OouncU
to the need for a Reform School.

The next Legislature, in 1866, under the influ-

ence created by the discussion passed a law creat-

ing a House of Eefuge, and appropriated $5,000 for

its use on condition that the city of Saint Paul

would give the same amount.

In November, 1867, the managers purchased

thirty acres with a stone farm house and barn

thereon, for $10,000, situated in Eose township, in

Saint Anthony near Snelling Avenue, in the west-

ern suburbs of Saint Paul.

In 1868 the House of Eefuge was ready to re-

ceive wayward youths, and this year the Legis-

lature changed the name to the Minnesota State

Eetorm School, and accepted it as a state institu-

tion. The Eev. J. G. Eiheldaffer D. D., who had
for years been pastor of one of the Saint Paul
Presbyterian churches was elected superintendent

In 1869 the main building of light colored

brick, 40x60 feet was erected, and occupied in

December.

.
In February, 1879, the laundry, a separate

building was burned, and an appropriation of the
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Legislature was made soon after of $15,000 for

the rebuilding of the laundry and the erection of

a work shop. This shop is 50x100 and three

stories high. The boys besides receiving a good

English education, are taught to be tailors, tinners,

carpenters and gardeners. The sale of bouquets

fiom the green house, of sleds and toys, and of

tin ware has been one of the sources of revenue.

Doctor Eiheldaffer continues as superintendent

and by his judicious management has prepared

many of the inmates to lead useful and honorable

lives, after their discharge from the Institution.

STATE NOBMAli SOHOOIi.

By the influence of Lieut. Gov. Holcomb and

others the first State Legislature in 1858 passed

an Act by which three Normal schools might be

erected, but made no proper provision for their

support.

WINONA NOBMAIi SOHOOIi.

Dr. Ford, a graduate of Dartmouth college,

and a respectable physician in Winona, with sev-

eral residents of the same place secured to the

amount of $5,512 subscriptions for the establish-

ment of a Normal School at that point, and a

small appropriation was secured in 1880 from the

Legislature.

John Ogden, af Ohio, was elected Principal, and

in September, 1860, the school was opened in a

temporary building. Soon after the civil war be-

gan the school was suspended, and Mr. Ogden

entered the army.

In 1864 the Legislature made an appropriation

of $3,000, and and WiUiam T. Phelps, who had

been in charge of the New Jersey Normal School

at Ti-enton, was chosen principal. In 1865 the

State appropriated $5,000 annually for the school

and the citizens of Winona gave over $20,000 to-

ward the securing of a site and the erection of a

permanent edifice.

One of the best and most ornamental education-

al buildings in the Northwest was commenced and

in September, 1869, was so far finished as to ac-

commodate pupils. To complete it nearly $150,-

000 was given by the State.

In 1876 Prof. W. F. Phelps resigned and was

succeeded by Charles A. Morey who in May,

1879 retired. The present principal is Irwin

Shepard.

MANKATO NOBMAIi SCHOOIi.

In 1866, Mankato having offered a site for a

second Normal School, the Legislature give $5,000

for its support. George M. Gage was elected

Principal and on the 1st of September, 1868 the

school was opened. It occupied the basement of

the Methodist church for a few weeks, and then

moved into a room over a store at the corner of

Front and Main streets. In April 1870, the State

building was first occupied.

Prof. Gage resgned in June, 1872, and his suc-

cassor was Miss J. A. Sears who remained one year.

In July 1873, the Kev. D. 0. John was elected

principal, and in the spring of 1880, he retired.

The present Principal is Professor Edward Sear-

ing, formerly State Superintendent of PubUo In-

struction in Wisconsin, a fine Latin scholar, and

editor of an edition of Virgil.

ST. CliOTJD NOEMAIi SCHOOL.

In 1869, the citizens of St. Cloud gave $5,000

for the establishment in that city of the third

Normal School, and a building was fitted up for

its use. The legislature in 1869, appropriated

$3,000 for current expenses. In 1870, a new build-

ing was begun, the legislature having appropriated

$10,000, and in 1873, $30,000; this building in

1875 was first occupied. In 1875, the Bev. D. L.

Kiehle was elected Principal, Prof. Ira Moore, the

first Principal having resigned. In 1881, Prof.

Kiehle was appointed State Superintendent of

Public Instruction, and Jerome Allen, late of New
York, was elected bis successor.

CHAPTER XXVIL

MINNESOTA QOVEKNOBS—UNITED STATES SENATOBS

MEMBERS OF UNITED STATES HOUSE OF BEPBE-

SENTATIVES.

GOVEENOE EAMSEY A. D. 1849 TO A. D. 1853.

Alexander Eamsey, the first Governor of the

Territory of Minnesota, was bom on the 8th of

September, 1815, near Harrisburg, in Dauphin

county, Pennsylvania. His grandfather was a

desoendent of one of the many colonists who came

from the north of Ireland before the war of the

Eevolution, and his father about the time of the

first treaty of peace with Great Britain, was born in

York county, Pennsylvania. His mother Elizabeth

Kelker, was of Grerman descent, a woman of en-

ergy, industry and religious principle.

His father dying, when the subject of this sketch
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was ten years of age, he went into the store of his

maternal uncle in Harrisburg, and remained two

years. Then he was employed as a copyist in the

oflBce of Register of Deeds. For several years he

was engaged in such business as would give sup-

port. Thoughtful, persevering and studious, at

the age of eighteen he was able to enter Lafayette

College, at Easton, Pennsylvania. After he left

college he entered a lawyer's oflBce in Harrisburg,

and subsequently attended lectujej at the Law
School at Carlisle, Pennsylvania.

At the age of twenty-four, in 1839, he was ad-

mitted to the bar of Dauphin county. His execu-

tive ability was immediately noticed, and the next

year he took an active part in the political cam-

paign, advocating the claims of William H. Harri-

son, and he was complimented by being made
Secretary of the Pennsylvania Presidential Elec-

tors. After the electoral vote was delivered in

Washington, in a few weeks, in January 1841, he

was elected chief clerk of the House of Represen-

tatives of Pennsylvania. Here his ability in dis-

patching business, and his great discretion made
a most favorable impression, and in 1843, the

Whigs of Dauphin, Lebanon and Schuylkill

counties nominated him, as their candidate for

Congress. Popular among the young men of

Harrisburg, that city which had hitherto given a

de/mocratio majority, voted for the Whig ticket

which he represented, and the whole district gave

him a majority of votes. At the expiration of his

term, in 1845 he was again elected to Congress.

Strong in his political preferences, withoutman-
ifesting political rancor, and of large perceptive

power, he was in 1848 chosen by the Whig party

Pensylvania, as the secretary of the Central Com-
mittee, and he directed the movements in his na-

tive State, which led to the electoral votes being

thrown for General Zachary Taylor for President.

On the 4th of March, 1849, President Taylor

took the oath of office, and in less than a month he

signed the commission of Alexander Ramsey as

Governor of the Territory of Minnesota, which

had been created by a law approved the day before

his inauguration.

By the way of Buffalo, and from thence by
lake to Chicago, and from thence to Galena, where

he took a steamboat, he traveled to Minnesota and

arrived at St. Paul early in the morning of the

27th of May, with his wife, children and nurse,

but went with the boat up to Mendota, where he

was cordially met by the Territorial delegate,

Hon. H. H. Sibley, and with his family was his

.

guest for several weeks. He then came to St,

Paul, occupied a small hous3 on Third street near

the comer of Robert.

On the 1st of June he issued his first proclama-

mation declaring the organization of the Territorial

government, and on the 11th, he issued another

creating judicial districts and providing for the

election of members of a legislature to assemble

in September. To his^ duties as Governor was

added the superintendenoy of Indian affairs and

during the first summer he held frequent confer-

ences with the Indians, and his first report to the

Commissioner of Indian Afi^airs is still valuable

for its information relative to the Indian tribes at

that time hunting in the valleys of the Minnesota

and the Mississippi.

During the Governor's term of office he visited

the Indians at their villages, and made himself

familiar with their needs, and in the summer of

1851, made treaties with the Sioux by which the

country between the Mississippi Rivers, north of the

State of Iowa, was opened for occupation by the

whites. His term of office as Governor expired in

April, 1853, and in 1855 his fellow townsmen

elected him Mayor of St. Paul. In 1857, after

Minnesota had adopted a State Constitution, tha

Repubhcan party nominated Alexander Ramsey

for Governor, and the Democrats nominated Henry

H. Sibley. The election in October was close

and exciting, and Mr. Sibley was at length de-

clared Governor by a majority of about two hun-

dred votes. The Republicans were dissatisfied

with the result, and contended that more Demo-

cratic votes were thrown in the Otter Tail Lake

region than there were citizens residing in the

northern disti-ict.

In 1859, Mr. Ramsey was again nominated by

the Republicans for Governor, and elected by four

thousand majority. Before the expiration of his

term of office, the Republic was darkened by civil

war. Governor Ramsey happened to be in Wash-

ington when the news of the firing upon Fort

Sumter was received, and was among the fii'st of

the State Governors to call upon the President

and tender a regiment of volunteers in defense of

the Republic. Returning to the State, he dis-

played energy and wisdom in the organization of

regiments.

In the fall of 1861, he was again nominated and

elected as Governor, but before the expiration of

this term, on July 10th, 1863, he was elected by
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the Legislature, United States Senator. Upon en-

tering the Senate, he was placed on the Commit-

tees on Naval Affairs, Post-offices, Patents, Pacific

Kailroad, and Chairman of the Committee on Rev-

olutionary Pensions and Eevolutionary Claims.

He was also one of the Conimittee appointed by

Congress to accompany the remains of President

Lincoln to Springfield Cemetery, Illinois.

The Legislature of 1869 re-elected him for the

term ending in March, 1875. In 1880, he was ap-

pointed Secretary of War by President Hayes, and

for a time also acted as Secretary of the Navy.

He was married in 1845 to Anna Earl, daughter

of Michael H. Jenks, a member of Congress from

Bucks county. He has had three children; his

two sons died in early youth; his daughter

Marion, the wife of Charles Eliot Purness, resides

with her family, with her parents in St. Paul.

GOVBENOK GOBMAN A. D. 1853 TO A. T>. 1857.

At the expiration of Governor Eamsey's term

of office. President Pierce appointed Willis Arnold

Gorman as his successor. Gevernor Gorman was

the only son of David L. Gorman and born in

January, 1866 near Flemingsburgh, Kentucky-

After receiving a good academic education he went

to Bloomington, Indiana, and in 1836 graduated

in the law department of the State University.

He imediately. entered upon the practice of law

with few friends and no money, in Bloomington,

and in a year was called upon to defend a man
charged with murder, and obtained his acquittal.

That one so young should have engaged in

such a case excited the attention of the public, and

two years afterwards was elected a member of the

Indiana legislature. His popularity was so great

that he was re-elected a number of times. When
war was declared against Mexico he enlisted as a

private in a company of volunteers, which with

others at New Albany was mustered into the ser-

vice for one year, as the Third Regiment of

Indiana Volunteers, with James H. Lane, aftei;-

^^ards U. S. Senator for Kansas, as Colonel, while

he was commissioned as Major. It is said that

under the orders of General Taylor with a de-

tachment of riflemen he opened the battle of

Buena Vista. In this engagement his horse was

shot and fell into a deep ravine carrying the

Major with, him and severely bruising him.

In August, 1847, he returned to Indiana and by

his enthusiasm helped to raise the Fourth Regi-

ment and was elected its Colonel, and went back

to the seat of war, and was present in several bat-

tles, and when peace was declared returned with

the reputation of being a dashing officer.

Resuming the practice of law, in the fall of 1848

he was elected to Congress and served two terms,

his last expiring on the 4th of March, 1853, the

day when his fellow officer in the Mexican War,

Gen. Franklin Pierce took the oath of office as

President of the United States. With a commis-

sion bearing the signature of President Pierce he

arrived in Saint Paul, in May, 1853, as the second

Territorial Governor of Minnesota.

His term of Governor expired in the spring of

1857, and he was elected a member of the Com-

mittee to frame a State Constitution, which on the

second Monday in July of that year, convened at

the Capitol. After the committee adjourned he

again entered upon the practice of law but when

the news of the firing of Fort Sumter reached

Siiint Paul he realized that the nation's life

was endangered, and that there would be a civil

war. He offered his services to Governor Ram-

sey and when the First Regiment of Minnesota

volunteers was organized he was commissioned as

Colonel. He entered with ardor upon his work of

drilling the raw troops in camp at Fort SneUing,

and the privates soon caught his enthusiasm.

No officer ever had more pride in his regiment

and his soldiers were faithful to his orders. His

regiment was the advance regiment of FrankUn's

Brigade, in Heintzelman's Division at thefirst Bat-

tle of Bull Run, and there made a reputation

which it increased at every battle, especially at

Gettysburg. Upon the recommendation of Gen-

eral Winfield Scott who had known him in Mex-

ico after the battle of Bull Run he was appointed

Brigadier General by President Lincoln,

After three years of service as Brigadier General

he was mustered out and returning to St. Paul

resumed his profession. From that time he held

several positions under the city government. He
died on the afternoon of the 25th of May, 1876.

GOVEENOH SIBLEY, A. D. 1858 to A. D. 1860.

No one is more intimately asssociated with the

development of the Northwest than Henry Hast-

ings Sibley, the first Governor of Minnesota under

the State constitution.

By the treaty of Peace of 1783, Great Britain

reoognizBd the independence of the United States

of America, and the land east of the Mississippi,
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and northwest of the Ohio river was open to set-

tlement by American citizens.

In 1786, while Congress was in session in New
York City, Dr. Manasseh Cutler, a graduate of

Yale, a Puritan divine of a considerable scientific

attainments, visited that place, and had frequent

conferences with Dane of Massachusetts, and Jef-

ferson, of Virginia, relative to the colonization of

the Ohio valley, and he secured certain provisions

in the celebrated "ordinance of 1787," among

others, the grant of land in each township for the

support of common schools, and also two

townships for the use of a University.

Under the auspices of Dr. Cutler, and a few

others, the first colony, in December, 1787, left

Massachusetts, and after a wearisome journey, on

April 7, 1788, reached Marietta, at the mouth of

the Muskingum Biver.

Among the families of this settlement was the

maternal grandfather of Governor Sibley, Colonel

Ebenezer Sproat, a gallant oflBcer of Ehode Island,

in the war of the Eebellion, and a friend of Kos-

ciusko.

Governor Sibley's mother, Sarah Sproat, was

sent to school to the then celebrated Moravian

Seminary at Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, and subse-

quently finished her education at Philadelphia.

In 1797 she returned to her wilderness home and

her father purchased for her pleasure a piano, said

to have been the first transported over the Alle-

ghany Mountains. Soon after this Solomon Sibley,

a young lawyer, a native of Sutton, Massachusetts,

visited Marietta, and become acquainted and at-

tached to Sarah Sproat, and in 1802, they were

married. The next year Mrs. Sibley went to De-

troit where her husband had settled, and she com-

menced housekeeping ' opposite where the Biddle

House is situated in that city. In 1799, Gover-

nor Sibley's father was a representative from the

region now known as Michigan, in the first Ter-

ritorial Legislature of Northwest, which met at

Cincinnati. From 1820 to 1823 he was delegate

to Congress from Michigan, and in 1824 he became

judge of the supreme court, and in 1836 resigned.

Respected by all, on the 4th of April he died.

His son, Henry Hastings Sibley, was bom in

February, 1811, in the city of Detroit. At the age

of seventeen, relinquishing the study of law, he

became a clerk at Sault St. Marie and then was

employed by Robert Stuart, of the American Fur
Company at Mackinaw. In 1834 he was placed in

charge of the Indian trade above Lake Pepin with

his new quarters at the mouth of the Minnesota

River.

In 1836, he built the first stone residence in

Minnesota, without the military reservation, at

Mendota, and here he was given to hospitality.

The missionary of the cross, and the man of sci-

ence, the ofBcer of the army, and the tourist from

a foreign land, were received with a friendliness

that caused them to forget while under his roof

that they were strangers in a strange land.

In 1848, he was married to Sarah J. Steele, the

sister of Franklin Steele, at Fort Snelling.

On August 6th, 1846, Congress authorized the

people of Wisconsin to organize a State govern-

ment with the St. Croix River as a part of its west-

em boundary, thus leaving that portion of Wis-

consin territory between the St. Croix and Missis-

sippi Rivers st 11 under the direct supervison of

Congress, and the Hon. M. L. Martin, the dele-

gate of Wisconsin territory in Congress, intro-

duced a bill to organize the territory of Minnesota

including portions of Wisconsin and Iowa.

It was not until the 29th of May, 1848, how-

ever, that Wisconsin territory east of the Saint

Croix, was reorganized as a State. On the 30th

of October, Mr. Sibley, who was a resident of Iowa

territory, was elected delegate to Congress, and

after encountering many difBculties, was at length

admitted to a seat.

On the 3d of March, 1849, a law was approved

by the President for the organization of Minne-

sota teritory, and in the fall of that year he was

elected the first delegate of the new Territory, as

his father had been at an early period elected a

delegate from the then new Michigan territory. In

1851, he was elected for another term of two

years.

In 1857, he was a member of the convention to

frame a State constitution for Minnesota, and was

elected presiding officer by the democrats. By
the same party he was nominated for Governor and

elected by a small majority over the republican

'

candidate, Alexander Ran-sey.

Minnesota was admitted as a State on the 11th

of May, 1858, and on the ^Sth Governor Sibley

delivered his inaugural message.

After a residence of twenty-eight years at Men-
dota, in 1862, he became a resident of Saint Paul.

At the beginning of the Sioux outbreak, Governor

Ramsey appointed him Colonel, and placed him
at the head of the forces employed against the In-

dians. On the 23d of September, 1862, he fought
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the severe and decisive battle of Wood Lake. In

March, 1863, he was confirmed by the senate as

Brigadier General, and on the 29th of November,

1865, he was appointed Brevet Major General for

efficient and meritorious services.

Since the war he has taken an active interest in

every enterprise formed for the advancement of

Minnesota, and for the benefit of St. I'aul, the city

of his residence. His sympathetic nature leads

him to open Lis ear, and also his purse to those in

distress, and among his chief mourners when he

leaves this world will be the many poor he has be-

friended, and the faint-hearted who took courage

from bis words of kindness. His beloved wife, in

May, 1869, departed this Ufe, leaving four chil-

dren, two daughters and two sons.

GOVBBNOB BAMSBT, JANUABY 1860 TO APEUi 1863.

Alexander Bamsey, the first Territorial Gov-

ernor, was elected the second State Governor, as

has already been mentioned on another page. Be-

fore his last term of office expired he was elected

United States Senator by the Legislature, and

Lieutenant Governor Swift became Governor, for

the unexpired term.

GOVEBNOE SWIFT, APKIIi, 1863 TO JANTTAET, 1864.

Henry A. Swift was the son of a physician, Dr.

John Swift, and on the 23d of March, 1823, was

born at Ravenna, Ohio. In 1842, he graduated at

Western Reserve College, at Hudson, in the same

State, and in 1845 was admitted to the practice of

the law. During the winter of 1846-7, he was an

assistant clerk of the lower house of the Ohio

Legislature, and his quiet manner and methodic

method of business made a favorable impression.

The next year he was elected the Chief Clerk, and

continued in office for two years. For two or

three years he was Secretary of the Portage Farm-

ers' Insurance Company. In April, 1853, he

came to St. Paul, and engaged in merchandise and

other occupations, and in 1856, became one of the

founders of St. Peter. At the election of 1861, he

was elected a State Senator for two years. In

March, 1863, by the resignation of Lieutenant

Governor Donnelly, who, had been elected to the

United States House of Representatives, he was

chosen temporary President of the Senate, and

when Governor Ramsey, in April, 1863, left the

gubernatorial chair, for a seat in the United States

Senate he became the acting Governor. When he

ceased to act as Governor, he was again elected to

the State Senate, and served during the years

1864 and 1865, and was then appointed by the

President, Register of the Land Office at St. Peter.

On the 25th of February, 1869 he died.

GOVEKNOE MILliBB—A. D. 1864 TO A. D. 1866.

Stephen A. MOler was the grandson of a Ger-

man immigrant who about the year 1785 settled

in Pennsylvania. His parents were David and

Rosanna Miller, and on the 7th of January, 1816,

he was born in what is now Perry county in that

State.

He was like many of our best citizens, obliged

to bear the yoke in his youth. At one time he

was a canal boy and when quite a youth was in

charge of a canal boat. Fond of reading he ac-

quired much information, and of pleasing address

he made friends, so that in 1837 he became a for-

warding and commission merchant in Harrisburg.

He always felt an interest in public affairs, and

was an efficient speaker at political meetings. In

1849 he was elected Prothonatary of Dauphin

county. Pa., and from 1853 to 1855 was editor of

the Harrisburg Telegraph; then Governor Pol-

lock, of Pennsylvania, appointed him Flour In-

spector for Philadelphia, which office he held until

1858, when he removed to Minnesota on account of

his health, and opened a store at Saint Cloud.

In 1861, Governor Ramsey who had known him

in Pennsylvania, appointed him Lieutenant Colo

nel of the First Regiment of Minnesota Volunteers,

and was present with his regiment on July 2lBt of

that year in the eventful battle of Bull Run.

Gorman in his report of the return of the First

Minnesota Regiment on that occasion wrote: "Be-

fore leaving the field, a portion of the right wing,

owing to the configuration of the ground and in-

tervening woods, became detached, under the com-

mand of Lt. Col. Miller whose gallantry was con-

spicuous throughout the entire battle, and who
contended every inch of the ground with his for-

ces thrown out as skirmishers in the woods, and

succeeded in occupying the original ground on

the right, after the repulse of a body of cavalry.''

After this engagement, his friend Simon Cam-

eron, the Secretary of War, tendered him a posi-

tion in the regular army which he declined.

Although in iU. health he continued with the

'regiment, and was present at Fair Oaks and Mal-

vern HOI.

In September, 1862, he was made Colonel of the

Seventh Regiment, and proceeded against the
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Sioux Indians who had massacred so many set-

tlers in the Upiser Minnesota Valley, and in De-

cember he was the Colonel commanding at Man-

kato, and under his supervision, thirty -eight

Siox, condemned for participation in the killing

of white persons, on the 26th of February, 1863,

were executed by hanging from gallows, upon one

scaffold, at the same time. This year he was made

Brigadier General, and also nomiaiated by the re-

pubhoans for Governor, to which office he was

elected for two years, and in January, 1864, en-

entered upon its duties.

In 1873, he was elected to the Legislature for

a district in the southwestern portion of the State,

and in 1876, was a Presidential elector, and bore

the electoral vote to Washington.

During the latter years of his life he was em-

ployed as a land agent by the St. Paul & Sioux

City Railroad Company. In 1881 he died. He
was married in 1839 to Margaret Funk, and they

had three sons, and a daughter who died in early

childhood. His son Wesley, a Lieutenant in the

United States Army, fell in battle at Gettysburg;

his second son was a Commissary of Subsistence,

but is now a private; and his youngest son is in

the service of a Pennsylvania railroad.

GOVBBNOE MAESHAL, A. D. 1866 to A. D. 1870.

William Eainey Marshall is the son of Joseph

Marshall, a farmer and native of Bourbon county,

Kentucky, whose wife was Abigail Shaw, of Penn-

sylvania. He was bom on the 17th of October,

1825, in Boone county, Missouri. His boyhood

was passed in Quincy, Illinois, and before he at-

tained to manhood he went to the lead miae dis-

trict of Wisconsin, and engaged in mining and

surveying.

In September, 1847, when twenty-two years of

age, he came to the Falls of St. Croix, and in a

few months visited the Falls of St. Anthony, staked

out a claim and retiirned. In the spring of 1848,

he was elected to the Wisconsin legislature, but

his seat was contested on the ground that he

lived beyond the boundaries of the state of Wis-

consin. In 1849, he again visited the Falls of St.

Anthony, perfected his claim, opened a store, and

represented that district in the lower house of the

first Territorial legislature. In 1851, he came to

St. Paul and established an iron and heavy hard-

ware business.

In 1852, he held the office of County Suryeyor,

and the next year, with his brother Joseph and

N. P. Langford, he went into the banking busi-

ness. In January, 1861, he became the editor of

the Daily Press, which succeeded the Daily Times.

In August, 1862, he was commissioned Lieut.

Colonel of the Seventh Minnesota Eegiment of In-

fantry and proceeded to meet the Sioux who had

been engaged in the massacre of the settlers of

the Minnesota vallfey. In a few weeks, on the 23d

of September, 1862, he was in the battle of Wood
Lake, and led a charge of five companies of his

own regiment, and two of the Sixth, which routed

the Sioux, sheltered in a ravine.

In November, 1863, he became Colonel of the

Se^>enth Eegiment. After the campaign in the

Indian country the regiment was ordered south,

and he gallantly led his command, on the 14th of

July, 1864, at the battle near Tupelo, Mississippi.

In the conflict before Nashville, in December, he

acted as a Brigade commander, and in AprO, 1865,

he was present at the surrender of Mobile.

In 1865, he was nominated by the Eepublican

party, and elected Governor of Minnesota, and in

1867, he was again nominated and elected. He
entered upon his duties as Governor, in January,

1866, and retired in 1870, after four years of

service.

Tn 1870, he became vice-president of the bank

which was known as the Marine National, which

has ceased to exist, and was engaged in other en-

terprises.

In 1874, he was appointed one of the board of

Eailroad Commissioners, and in 1875, by a change

of the law, he was elected Eailroad Commissioner,

and until January, 1882, discharged its duties.

He has always been ready to help in any move-

ment which would tend to promote the happiness

and intelligence of humanity.

On the 22d of March, 1854, he was married to

Abby Langford, of Utica, and has had one child,

a son.

GOVBBNOB AUSTIN A. D. 1870 TO A. D. 1874.

Horace Austin, about the year 1831, was bom
in Connecticut. His father was a blacksmith, and

for a time he was engaged in the same occupation.

Determined to be something in the world, for sev-

eral years, during the winter, he taught school.

He then entered the office of a well known law

firm at Augusta, Maine, and iu 1854 came west.

For a brief period he had charge of a school at

the Falls of Saint Anthony.

In 1856, he became a resident of St. Peter, on
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the Minnesota Biver. In 1863, in the expedition

against the Sioux Indians, he served as captain in

the volunteer cavalry. In 1869, he was elected

Governor, and in 1871 he was re-elected. Soon

after the termination of his second gubernatorial

term, he was appointed Auditor of the United

States Treasury at Washington. He has since

been a United States Land Officer in Datota ter-

ritory, but at present is residing at P'ergus Falls,

Minnesota.

GOVEBNOB DAVIS A. D. 1874 TO A. D. 1876.

Oushman KeUog Davis, the son of Horatio M.

and Clarissa P. Davis, on the 16th of June, 1838,

was bom at Henderson, Jefferson county, New
York. "When he was a babe but a few months old,

his father moved to Waukesha, Wisconsin, and

opened a farm. At Waukesha, Carroll College

had been commenced, and in this institution Gov-

ernor Davis was partly educated, but in 1857 grad-

uated at the University of Michigan.

He read law at Waukesha with Alexander Ban-

dall, who was Governor of Wisconsin, and at a

later period Postmaster General of the United

States, and in 1859 was admitted to the bar.

In 1862, he was commissioned as first lieuten-

ant of the 28th Wisconsin Infantry, and in time

became the adjutant general of Brigadier General

Willis A. Gorman, ex-Governor of Minnesota, but

in 1864, owing to ill health he left the army.

Coming to Saint Paul in August, 1864, he en-

tered upon the practice of his profession, and

formed a partnership with ex-Governor Gorman.

Gifted with a vigorous mind, a fine voice, and an

impressive speaker, he soon took high rank in his

profession.

In 1867, he was elected to the lower house of

the legislature, and the next year was commisioned

United States District Attorney, which position

he occupied for five years.

In 1863, he was nominated by the republicans,

and elected Governor. Entering upon the duties

of the office in 1874, he served two years.

Since his retirement he has had a large legal

practice, and is frequently asked to lecture upon

literary subjects, always interesting the audience.

GOVEENOB PILLSBUEY—A. D. 1876 TO 1882.

John Sargent Pillsbury is of Puritan ancestry.

He is the son of John and Susan Pillsbury, and

on the 29th of July, 1828, was bom at Sutton,

New Hampshire, where his father and grandfather

lived.

Like the sons of many New Hampshire farmers,

he was obliged, at an early age, to work for a sup-

port. He commenced to learn house painting, but

at the age of sixteen was a boy in a counti-y store.

When he was twenty-one years of age, he formed

11 partnership with Walter Harriman, subsequently

Governor of New Hampshire. After two years he

removed to Concord, and for four years was a tailor

and dealer in cloths. In 1853, he came to Michigan,

and in 1855, visited Minnesota, and was so pleased

that he settled at St. Anthony, now the East Divi-

sion of the city of Minneapolis, and opened a

hardware store. Soon a fire destroyed his store

and stock upon which there was no insurance, but

by perseverance and hopefulness, he in time re-

covered from the loss, with the increased confidenci

of his fellow men. For six years he was an efficient

member of the St. Anthony council.

In 1863, he was one of three appointed sole Be-

gents of the University of Minnesota, with powei

to liquidate a large indebtedness which had been

unwisely created in Territorial days. By his

carefulness, after two or three years the debt was

canceled, and a large partion of the land granted

to the University saved.

In 1863, he was elected a State Senator, and

served for seven terms. In 1875, he was nomi-

nated by the republicans and elected Governor;

in 1877, he was again elected, and in 1879 for the

third time he was chosen, the only person who has

served three successive terms as the Governor of

Minnesota.

By his courage and persistence he succeeded in

obtaining the settlement of the railroad bonds

which had been issued under the seal of the State,

and had for years been ignored, and thus injured

the credit of the State.

In 1872, with his nephew he engaged in the

manufacture of flour, and the firm owns several

miUs. Lately they have erected a mill in the

East Division, one of the best and largest in the

world.

GOVEBNOB HUBBAED, A. D. 1882.

Lucius Frederick Hubbard was born on the 26th

of January, 1836, at Troy, New York. His father,

Charles Frederick, at the time of his death was

Sheriff of Bensselaer county. At the age of six-

teen, Governor Hubbard left the North GranviUe

Academy, New York, and went to Poultney, Ver-
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mont, to learn the tinner's trade, and after a short

period he moved to Chicago, -where he worked for

four years.

In 1857, he came to Minnesota, and established

a paper called the "Kepublican," which he con-

ducted until 1861, when in December of that year

he enlisted as a private in the Fifth Minnesota

Eegiment, and by his efficiency so commended

himself that in less than one year he became its

Colonel. At the battle of Nashville, after he had

been knocked off his horse by a ball, he rose, and

on foot led his command over the enemy's works.

"For gallant and meritorious service in the battle

of Nashville, Tennessee, on the 15th and 16th of

December, 1864," he received the brevet rank of

Brigadier General.

After the war he returned to Bed Wing, and has

been engaged in the grain and flour business. He
was State Senator from 1871 to 1875, and in 1881

was elected Governor. He married in May, 1868,

Amelia Thomas, of Bed Wing, and has three

children.

MIBNBSOtVs EEPBBSBNTATrVBS IN CONGKBSS OF THE

"ONITED STATES OB AMEBIOA.

From March, 1849, to May, 1858, Minnesota

was a Territory, and entitled to send to the con-

gress of the United States, one delegate, with the

privilege of representing the interests of his con-

stituents, but not allowed to vote.

TBEEITOKIAL DELEGATES.

Before the recognition of Minnesota as a sepa-

rate Territory, Henry H. Sibley sat in Congress,

from January, 1849, as a delegate of the portion

Wisconsin territory which was beyond the boun-

daries of the state of Wisconsin, in 1848 admit-

ted to the Union. In September, 1850 he was

elected delegate by the citizens of Minnesota ter-

ritory, to Congress.

Henry M. Bice succeeded Mr. Sibley as delegate,

and took his seat in the thirty -third congress, which

convened on December 5th 1853, at Washington. He
was re-elected to the thirty-fourth Congress, which

assembled on the 3d of March, 1857. During his

term of ofloe Congress passed an act extending

the pre-emption laws over the unsurveyed lands of

Minnesota, and Mr. Bice obtained valuable land

grants for the construction of railroads.

William W. Kingsbury was the last Territorial

delegate. He took his seat in the thirty-fifth con-

gress, which convened on the 7th of ] )eoember.

1857, and the next May his seat was vacated by

Minnesota becoming a State.

tTNITBD STATES SENATORS.

Henry M. Bice, who had been for four years

delegate to the House of Eepresentatives, was on

the 19th of December, 1857, elected one of two

United States Senators. During his term the civil

war began, and he rendered efficient service to the

Union and the State he represented. He is etill

living, an honored citizen in St. Paul.

James Shields, elected at the same time as Mr.

Bice, to the United States Senate, drew the short

term of two years.

Morton S. JVilkinson was chosen by a joint con-

vention of the Legislature, on December 15th,

1859, to sucoed General Shields. During the re-

belUon of the Slave States he was a firm supporter

of the Union.

Alexander Bamsey was elected by the Legisla-

ture, on the 14th of January, 1863, as the suc-

cessor of Henry M. Bice. The Legislature of

1869 re elected Mr. Bamsey for a second term of

six years, ending March 1875. For a full notice

see the 138th page.

Daniel S. Norton was, on January 10th, 1865,

elected to the United States Senate as the suc-

cessor of Mr. Wilkinson. Mr. Norton, who had

been in feeble health for years, died in June, 1870.

O. P. Stearns was elected on January 17th, 1871,

for the few weeks of the unexpired term of Mr.

Norton.

William Windom, so long a member of the

United States House of Eepresentatives, was

elected United States Senator for a term of six

years, ending March 4th, 1877, and was re-elected

for a second term ending March 4th, 1883, but re-

signed, having been appointed Secretary of the

Treasury by President Garfield.

A. J. Edgerton, of Kasson, was appointed by

the Governor to fill the vacancy. President Gar-

field having been assassinated, and Mr. Edgerton

having been appointed Chief Justice of Dakota

territory, Mr. Windom, at a special session of the

Legislature in October, 1881, was re-elected

United States Senator.

S. J. E. McMfflan, of St. Paul, on the 19th of

February, 1875, was elected United States Sen-

ator for the term expiring March 4th, 1881, and

has since been re-elected for a second term, which,

in March. 1887, will expire.
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EBPEESBNTATIVES IN THE TJ. S. HOtTSB Or BBPBB-

SENTATIVBS.

William W. Phelps was one of the first mem-

bers of the United States House of Eepresentatives

from Minnesota. Bom in Michigan in 1826, he

graduated in 1846, at its State University. In

1854, he came to Minnesota as Register of the

Land Office at Eed Wing, and in 1857, was elected

a representative to Congress.

James M. Oavanaugh was of Irish parentage,

and came from Massachusetts. He was elected to

the same Congress as Mr. Phelps, and subsequently

removed to Colorado, where he died.

WUliam Windom was born on May 10th, 1827,ia

Belmont,oounty,Ohio. He was admitted to the bar

in 1850, and was, in 1853, elected Prosecuting At-

torney for Knox county, Ohio. The next year he

came to Minnesota, and has represented the State

in Congress ever since.

Cyrus Aldrich,of Minneapolis, Hennepin county,

was elected a member of the Thirty-sixth Con-

gress, which convened December 5th, 1859, and

was re-elected to the Thirty-seventh Congress.

Ignatius Donnelly was born in Philadelphia in

1831. Graduated at the High School of that city,

and in 1853 was admitted to the bar. In 1857,

he came to Minnesota, and in 1859 was elected

Lt. Governor, and re-elected in 1861. He be-

came a representative of Minnesota in the United

States Congress which convened on December 7th,

1863, and was re-elected to the Thirty-ninth Con-

gress which convened on December 4th, 1865. He
was also elected to the Fortieth congress, which

convened in December, 1867. Since 1873 he has

been an active State Senator from Dakota county,

in which he has been a resident, and Harper

Brothers have recently published a book from his

pen of wide research called "Atlantis."

Eugene M. Wilson, of Minneapolis, was elected

to the the Forty-first Congress, which assembled

in December, 1869. He was bom December 25th,

1833, at Morgantown, Virginia, and graduated at

Jefferson College, Pennsylvania. From 1857 to

1861, he was United States District Attorney

for Minnesota. During the civQ war he was cap-

tain in the First Minnesota Cavalry. .

Mr. Wilson's father, grandfather, and maternal

grandfather were members of Congress.

M. S. Wilkinson, of whom mention has been

made as U. S. Senator, was elected in 1868 a rep-

resentative to the congress which convened in De-

cember, 1869, and served one term.

Mark H. Dunnell of Owatonna, in the fall of

1870, was elected from the First District to fill

the seat in the House of Bepresentatives so long

occupied by Wm. Windom.

Mr. Dunnell, in July, 1823, was born at Bux-

ton, Maine. He graduated at the college estab-

lished at WaterviUe, in that State, in 1849. From

1855 to 1859 he was State Superintendent of

schools, and in 1860 commenced the practice of

law. For a short period he was Colonel of the

5th Maine regiment but resigned in 1862, and

was appointed U. S. Consul at Vera Cruz, Mexi-

co. In 1865, he came to Minnesota, and was

State Superintendent of Public Instruction from

April, 1867 to August, 1870. Mr. DunneU stiU

represents his district.

John T. Averill was elected in November, 1870,

from the Second District, to succeed Eugene M.

WUson.

Mr. Averill was bom at Alma, Maine, and com-

pleted his studies at the Maine Wesleyan Univer-

sity. He was a member of the Minnesota Senate

in 1858 and 1859, and during the rebellion was

Lieut. Colonel of the 6th Minnesota regiment.

He is a member of the enterprising firm of paper

manufacturers, Averill, EusseU and Carpenter.

In the fall of 1872 he was re-elected as a member

of the Forty-second Congress, which convened in

December. 1878.

Horace B. Strait was elected to Forty-third and

Forty-fourth Congress, and is still a representative.

WilKam S. King, of Minneapolis, was bom De-

cember 16, 1828, at Malone, New York. He has

been one of the most active citizens of Minnesota

in developing its commercial and agriculutral in-

terests. For several years he was Postmaster of

the United States House of Eepresentatives, and

was elected to the Forty-fourth Congress, which

convened in 1875.

Jacob H. Stewart, M. D., was elected to the

Forty-fifth Congress, which convened in Decem-

ber, 1877. He was bom Jcinuary 15th, 1829, in

Columbia county, New York, and in 1851, grad-

uated at the University of New York. For sev-

eral years he practiced medicine at PeekskiU, New
York, and in 1855, removed to St. Paul. In 1859,

he was elected to the State Senate, and was Chair-

man of the Eailroad Committee. In 1864, he was

Mayor of St. Paul. He was Surgeon of the First
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Minnesota, and taken prisoner at the first battle of

Bull Run. From 1869 to 1873, he was again

Mayor of St. Paul, and is at the present time

United States Surveyor General' of the Minnesota

land office.

Henry Poehler was the successor of Horace B.

Strait for the term ending March 4, 1881, when

Mr. Strait was ag;iin elected.

William Drew Washburn on the 14th of Jan-

uary, 1831, was born at Livermore, Maine, and in

1854, graduated at Bowdoin College. In 1857, he

came to Minnesota, and in 1861, was appointed by

the President, Surveyor General of U. S. Lands,

for this region. He has been one of the most

active among the business men of Minneapolis.

In November, 1878, he was elected to represent

the 3d district in the U. S. House of Eepresenta-

tives, and in 1880, re-elected. He . is a brother of

G. 0., late Governor of Wisconsin, and of E. B.,

the Minister Plenipotentiary of U. S. of America,

to Prance, and resident in Paris during the late

Franco-German war.

BBCAPITtTLATlON TEBKITOBIAIi GOVBKNOKS OF

MINNESOTA.

Alexander Earn spy 1819-1853

WiUis A. Gorman 1053-1857

Samuel Medary 1857

STATE GOVEIlNOnS.

Henry H. Sibley 1858-1860

Alexander Eamsey 1860-1863

H. A. Swift, Acting Gov 1863-1864

Stephen Miller 1864-1866

W.E. Marshall 1866-1870

Horace Austin 1870-1874

0. K. Davis 1874-1876

John S. Pillsbury 1876-1882

L. F. Hubbard 1882

TBEEITOEIAL DELEGATES TO CONGEESS.

Henry H. Sibley 1849-1853

Henry M. Eice 1853-1857

W. W. Kingsbury 1857-1858

UNITED STATES SBNATOES.

Henry M. Eice 1857-1863

James Shields 1857-1859

M. S. Wilkinson 1859-1865

Alexander Eamsey 1863-1875

Daniel S. Norton 1865-1870

O. P. Stearns 1871

William Windom 1871

A. J. Edgerton 1881

S. J. E. BIcMillan 1875

MEMBERS UNITED STATES HOUSE OF EEPEESENTA-
TIVBS.

W. W. Phelps 1857-1859

J. M. Gavanaugh 1857-1859

William Windom 1859-1871

Cyrus Aldrich 1859-1863

Ignatius Donnelly 1863-1869

Eugene M. Wilson 1869-1871

M. S. Wilkinson 1869-1771

M. H. Dunnell 1871

J. T.AveriU 1871-1875

H. B. Strait 1875-1879

1881

Henry Poehler 1879-1881

W. S. King 1875-1877

J. H. Stewart 1877-1879

W. D. Washburn 1879
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STATE EDUCATION.

BY CHARLES S. BEYANT, A. M.

CHAPTER XXVIII.

EDtrCATION—DEFINITION OF THE WOKD—OHUBCH

AND STATE SEPARATED OOLONIAIj PERIOD

—

HOWARD COMEGE—-WII/MAM PENN's GREAT LAW
WILLIAM AND MARY COLLEGE STATE EDUCA-

TION tWDEK THE CONFEDERATION AID GIVEN TO

STATES IN THE NORTHWEST.

As a word, education is of wide application and

may convey but an indefinite idea. Broadly, it

means to draw out, to lead forth, to traiu up, to

foster, to enable the individual to properly use the

faculties, mental or corporal, with which he is en-

dowed; and to use them in a way that will accom-

plish the desired result in all relations and in any

department of industry, whether in the domain of

intellectual research, or confined to the fields of

physical labor.

State Education points at once to a definite field

of investigation; an organization which is to have

extensive direction and control of the subject matter

embraced in the terms chosen. It at once excludes

the conclusion that any other species of education

than secular education is intended. It excludes all

other kinds of education not included in this term,

without the slightest reflection upon parochial, sec-

tarian, denominational or individual schools; inde-

pendent or corporate educational organizations.

State Education, then, may embrace whatever is

required by the State, in the due execution of its

mission in the protection of individual rights and

the proper advancement of the citizen in material

prosperity; in short whatever may contribute in

any way to the honor, dignity, and fair fame of a

State; whose sovereign wUl directs, and, to a very

great extent, controls the destiny of its subjects.

11

A reason may be given for this special depart-

ment of education, without ignoring any others

arising from the necessity of civil government, and

its necessary separation from ecclesiastical control.

It must be observed by every reasoning mind, that

in the advancement and growth of social elements

from savagery through families and tribes to civil-

ization, and the better forms of government, that

in the increasing growth multiplied industries

continually lead to a resistless demand for devisiou

of labor, both intellectual and physical. This

division inust eventually lead, in every form of

government, to a separation of what may be termed

Church and State; and, of course, in such division

every separate organization must control the ele-

ments necessary to sustain its own perpetuity; for

otherwise its identity would be lost, and it would

cease to have any recognized existence.

In these divisions of labor, severally organized

for different and entirely distinct objects, mutual

benefits must result, not from any invasion of the

separate rights of the one or the other, by hostile

aggression, but by reason of the greatest harmony

of elements, and hence greater perfection in the

labors of each, when limited to the promotion of

each separate and peculiar work. In the division,

one would be directed towards the temporal, the

other toward the spiritual advancement of man, in

any and aU relations which he sustains, not only

to his fellow men, but to the material or immaterial

universe. These departments of labor are sufiic-

iently broad, although intimately related, to requu-e

the best directed energies of each, to properly cul-

tivate their separate fields. And an evidence of

the real harmony existing between these organiza-
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tions, the Churoh and State, relative to the present

investigation, is found in the admitted fact that

education, both temporal and spiritual, secular and

sectarian, was a principal of the original organiza-

tion, and not in conflict with its highest duty, or its

most vigorous growth. In the division of the

original organization, that department of educa-

tion, which was only spiritual, was retained with

its necessary adjuncts, while that which was only

temporal was relegated to a new organization, the

temporal organization, the State. The separate

elements are stiU of the same quality, although

wielded by two instead of one organization. In

this respect education may be compared to the

diamond, which when broken and subdivided into

most minute particles, each separate particle re-

tains not only the form and number of facets, but

the brilliancy of the original diamond. So in the

case before us, though education has suffered

division, and has been appropriated by different

organisms, it is nevertheless the same in nature,

and retains the same quality and luster of the

parent original.

The laws of growth in these separate organiza-

tions, the Church composed of every creed, and

the State in every form of government, must de-

termine the extent to which their special educa-

tion shall be carried. If it shall be determined

by the church, that her teachers, leaders, and fol-

lowers in any stage of its growth, shall be limited

in their acquisitions to the simple elements of

knowledge, reading, writing, and arithmetic, it may
be determined that the State should limit educa-

tion to the same simple elements. But as the

Church, conscious of its immature growth, has

never restricted her leaders, teachers, or followers,

to these simple elements of knowledge; neither

has the State seen fit to limit, nor can it ever limit

education to any standard short of the extreme

limits of its growth, the fullest development of

its resources, and the demands of its citizens.

State Education and Church Education are alike

in their infancy, and no one is able to prescribe

limits to the one or the other. The separation of

Church and State, in matters of government only

is yet of very narrow limits, and is of very recent

origin. And the separation of Church and State,

in matters of education, has not yet clearly dawned
upon the minds of the accredited leaders of these

clearly distinct organizations.

It is rational, however, to conclude, that among

reasonable men, it would be quite as easy to de-

termine the final triumph of State Education, as

to determine the final success of the Christian

faith over Buddhism, or the final triumph of man
in the subjugation of the earth to his control.

The decree has gone forth, that man shall subdue

the earth; so that, guided by the higher law, Ed-

ucation, Tinder the direction or protection of the

State, must prove a final success, for only by

organic, scientific, and human instrumentality can

the purpose of the Creator be possibly accom;

plished on earth.

If we have foimd greater perfection in quality,

and better adaptation of methods in the work done

by these organizations sinoe the separation, we

must conclude that the triumphs of each will be

in proportion to the completeness of the separa-

tion; and that the countries the least shackled by

entangling alliances in this regard, must, other

things being equal, lead the van, both in the ad-

vancement of science and in the triuinphs of an

enlightened faith. And we can, by a very slight

comparison of the present with the past, deter-

mine for ourselves, that the scientific curriculum of

State schools has been greatly widened and en-

riched, and its methods better adapted to proposed

ends. We can as easily ascertain the important

fact that those countries are in advance, where the

two great organizations. Church and State, are

least in conflict. We know also, that from the

nature of the human movement westward, that

the best defined conditions of these organizations

should be found in the van of this movement. On
this continent, then, the highest development of

these organizations should be found, at least, when
time shall have matured its natural results in the

growth and polish of our institutions. Even now,

in our infancy, what country on earth can show
equal results in either the growth of general

knowledge, the advance of education, or the tri-

umphs of Christian labor at home and abroad ?

These are the legitimate fruits of the wonderful

energy given to the mind of man in the separate

labors of these organizations, on the principle of

the division of labor, and consequently better di-

rected energies in every department of industry.

This movement is onward, across the continent,

and thence around the globe. Its force is irresist-

able, and all efforts to reunite these happily di-

vided powers, and to return to the culture of past

times, and the governments and laws of past ages.
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must be as unavailing as an attempt to reverse

the laws of nature. In their separation and

friendly rivalry, exists the hope of man's temporal

and spiritual elevation.

State Education is natural in its application.

In the beginning God created the heavens and the

earth, and every organism after its own kind.

Now, in pursuance of this well known law of na-

ture, that everything created is made after its own

order and its own hkeness, it follows that the new

comers on this continent brought with them the

germ of national and spiritual life. If we are

right in this interpretation of the laws of life re-

lating to living organisms, we shall expect to find

its proper manifestation in the early institutions

they created for their own special purposes imme-

diately after their arrival here. We look into

their history, and we find that by authority of the

General Court of Massachusetts, in 1636, sixteen

years after the landing of the Pilgrim Fathers,

Harvard College was established, as an existing

identity; that in 1638, it was endowed by John

Harvard, and named after him. But the Common
School was not overlooked. At a public meeting

in Boston, April 13th 1636, it was "generally

agreed that one Philemon Pormont be entreated

to become schoolmaster for teaching and nourter-

ing children."

After the date above, matters of education ran

through the civil authority, and is forcibly ex-

pressed in the acts of 1642 and 1647, passed by

the General Court of the Massachusetts Bay Col-

ony. By the act of 1642, the select men of every

town are required to have vigilant eye over their

brothers and neighbors, to see, first, that none of

them shall suffer so much barbarism in any of

their families, as not to endeavor to teach, by them-

selves or others, their phildren and apprentices so

much learning as shall enable them perfectly to

read the English tongue, and knowledge of the

Capital laws, under penalty of twenty shillings

for each ofience. By the act of 1647, support of

schools was made compulsory, and their blessings

universal. By this law "every town containing

fifty house-holders was required to appoint a

teacher, to teach all children as shall resort to him

to write and read;" and every town containing one

hundred families or house-holders was required to

"set up grammar schools, the master thereof being

able to instruct youths so far as they may be fitted

tor the University."

In New Amsterdam, among the Beformed Prot-

estant Dutch, -the conception of a school system

guaranteed aud protected by the State, seems to

have been entertained by the colonists from Hol-

land, although circumstances hindered its practi-

cal development. The same general statement is

true of the mixed settlements along the Delaware;

Menonites, Catholics, Dutch, and Swedes, in con-

nection with their churches, established little

schools in their early settlements. In 1682, the

legislative assembly met at Chester. WiUiam
Penn made provision for the education of youth

of the province, and enacted, that the Governor

and provincial Council should erect and order all

public schools. One section of Penn's "Great

law" is in the woi'ds following

:

"Be it enacted by authority aforesaid, that all

persons within the province and territories thereof,

having children, and all the guardians and trus-

tees of orphans, shall cause such to be instructed

in reading and writing, so that they may be able

to read the scriptures and to write by the time that

they attain the age of 12 years, and that they then

be taught some useful trade or skill, that the poor

may work to live, and the rich, if they become

poor, may not want; of which every county shall

take care. And in case such parents, guardians,

or overseers shall be found deficient in this respect,

every such parent, guardian, or overseer, shall pay

for every such 'chUd five pounds, except there

should appear incapacity of body or understanding

to hinder it."

And this "Great law" of William Penn, of 1682,

wiD not suffer in comparison with the English

statute on State Education, passed in 1870, and

amended in 1877, one hundred and ninety-five

years later. In this respect, America is two hun-

dred years in advance of Great Britain in State

education. But our present limits will not allow

us to compare American and English State school

systems.

In 1693, the assembly of Pennsylvania passed a

second school law providing for the education of

youth in every county. These elementary

schools were free for boys and girls. In 1755,

Pennsylvania College was endowed, and became a

University in 1779.

In Virginia, William and Mary College was

famous even in colonial times. It was supported

by direct State aid. In 1726, a tax was levied on

liquors for its benefit by the House of Burgesses;
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in 1759, a tax on peddlew was given this college

by law, and from various revenues it was, in 1776,

the richest college in North America.

These extracts from the early history of State

Education in pre-Colonial and Colonial times give

abundant evidence of the nature of the organisms

planted in American soil by the Pilgrim Fathers

and their successors, as well as other early settlers

on our Atlantic coast. The inner life has kept

pace with the requirements of the external organ-

izations, as the body assumes still greater and

more national proportions. The iuner life grew

with the exterior demands.

On the 9th of July, 1787, it was proclaimed to

the world, that on the 15th of November, 1778, in

{he second year of the independence of America,

the several colonies of New Hampshire, Massa-

chusetts Bay, Bhode Island, Providence Planta-

tions,
.
Connecticut, New York, New Jersey, Penn-

sylvania, Delaware, Maryland, Virginia, North

Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia had entered

into a Confederate Union.

This Confederate Union, thus organized as a

Government, was able to receive grants of land

and to hold the same for such purposes as it saw

proper. To the new government -cessions were

made by several of the States, from 1781 to 1802,

of which the Virginia grant was tlie most im-

portant.

The Confederate Government, on the 13th of

July, 1787, and within less than four years after

the reception of the Virgiaia Land Grant, known
as the Northwest Territory, passed the ever memo-
rable ordinance of 1787. This was the first real

estate to which the Confederation had acquired

the absolute title in its own right. The legal

government had its origin September 17th, 1787,

while the ordinance for the government of the

Northwest Territory was passed two months and

four days before. Article Third of the renowned

ordinance reads as follows

:

"Keligion, morality, and knowledge being nec-

essary to good government and the happiness of

mankind, schools and the means of education shall

forever be encouraged."

What is the territory embraced By this authori-

tative enunciation of the Confederate Government ?

The extent of the land embraced is almost if not

quite equal to the area of the original thirteen colo-

nies. Out of this munificent possession added to the

infant American Union, have since been carved, by

the authority of the United States government, the

princely states of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois, Michi-

gan, Wisconsin, and in part Minnesota. In this

vast region at least, the Government has said that

education "shall be forever encouraged." En-

couraged how and by whom? Encouraged by

the Government, by the legal State, by the su-

preme power of the land. This announcement of

governmental aid to State schools was no idle

boast, made for the encouragement of a delusive

hope, but the enunciation of a great truth, in-

spired by the spirit of a higher life, now kindled

in this new American temple, in which the Creator

intended man should worship him according to the

dictates of an enlightened conscience, "where none

should molest or make him afraid."

The early Confederation passed away, but the

spirit that animated the organism was immortal,

and immediately manifested itself in the new Gov-

ernment, under our present constitution. On the

17th of September, 1787, two months and four

days from the date of the ordinance erecting the

Northwest Territory was adopted, the new Con-

stitution was inaugurated. The first State gov-

ernment erected in the new territory was the state

of Ohio, in 1802. The enabling act, passed by

Congress on this accession of the first new State,

a part of the new acquisition, contains this sub-

stantial evidence that State aid was faithfully

remembered and readUy ofiered to the cause of

education:

Sec. 3: "That the following proposition be and

the same is hereby offered to the convention of the

eastern States of said territory, when formed, for

their free acceptance or rejection, which if accepted

by the convention shall be obligatory upon the

United States:

" That section number sixteen in every town-

ship, and where such section has been sold, granted

or disposed of, other lands,equivalent thereto, and

most contiguous to the same, shall be granted to

the inhabitants of such township for the use of

schools."

The proposition of course was duly accepted by

the vote of the people in the fvdoption of theii

constitution prior to their admission to the Union,

and on March 3d, 1803, Congress granted to Ohio
in addition to section sixteen, an additional grant

of one complete township for the purpose of estab-

lishing any higher institutions of learning. This

was the beginning of substantial national recogui-
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tion of State aid to schools by grants of land out of

the national domain, but the government aid did

not end in this first effort. The next State, Indi-

ana, admitted in 1816, was granted the same sec-

tion, number sixteen in each township; and in

addition thereto, two townships of land were ex-

pressly granted for a seminary of learning. In the

admission of Illinois, in 1818, the section numbered

sixteen in each township, and two entire townships

in addition thereto, for a seminary of learning and

the title thereto vested in the legislature. In the

admission of Michigan in 1836, the same section

sixteen, and seventy-two sections in addition there-

to, were set apart to said State for the purpose of

a State University. In the admission of Wis-

consin, in 1848, the same provision was made as

was made to the other States previously formed

out of the new territory. This was the com-

mencement.

These five States completed the list of States

which could exist in the territory northwest of the

Ohio Eiver. Minnesota, the next State, in part

lying east of the Mississippi, and in part west,

takes its territory from two different sources; that

east' of the Father of Waters, from Virginia, which

was embraced in the Northwest Territory, and that

lying west of the same from the " Louisiana Pur-

chase," bought of France by treaty of April 30,

1803, including also the territory west of the Mis-

sippi, which Napoleon had previously acquired

from Spain. The greater portion of Minnesota,

therefore lies outside the first territorial acquisi-

tion of the Government of the United States; and

yet the living spirit that inspired the early grants

out of the first acquisition, had lost nothing of its

fervor in the grant made to the New Northwest.

When the Territory of Minnesota was organized,

Hon. Stephen A. Douglas, then a Senator in Con-

gress from the state of Illinois, nobly advocated

the claims of Minnesota to an increased amount of

Government aid for the support of schools, extend-

ing from the Common school to the University.

By Mr. Douglas' very able, disinterested and gen-

erous assistance and support in Congress, aided by

Hon. H. M. Rice, then Delegate from Minnesota,

our enabling act was made still more liberal in

relation to State Education, than that of any State

or Territory yet admitted or organized in the,

amount of lands granted to schools generally.

Section eighteen of the enabling act, passed on

the 3d of March, 1849, is as follows:

"And be it further enacted, That when the lands

in said Territory shall be surveyed under the direc-

tion of the Government of the United States, pre-

paratory to bringing the same into market, sec-

tions numbered sixteen and thirty-six in each town-

ship in said Territory, shall be, and the same are

hereby reserved for the purpose of being applied

to schools in said Territory, and in the States and

Territories hereafter to be oi-eated out of the same."

As the additions to the family of States increase

westward, the national domain is still more freely

contributed to the use of schools; and the charac-

ter of the education demanded by the people

made more and more definite. In 1851, while

Oregon and Minnesota were yet territories of the

United States, Congress passed the following act:

" Be it enacted by the Senate and House of

Eepresentatives of America, in Congress assembled

:

That the Governors and legislative assemblies of

the territories of Oregon and Minnesota, be, and

they are hereby authorized to make such laws and

•needful regulations as they shall deem most expe-

dient to protect from injury and waste, sections

numbered sixteen and thirty-six in said Territories

reserved in each township for the support of schools

therein.

(2.) "And be it further enacted. That the Secre-

tary of the Interior be, and he is hereby authorized

and directed to set apart and reserve from sale, out

of any of the public lands within the territory of

Minnesota, to which the Indian title has been or

may be extinguished, and not otherwise appropri-

ated, a quantity of land not exceeding two entire

townships, for the use and support of a University

in said Territory, and for no other purpose what-

ever, to be located by legal subdivisions of not

less than one entire section."

[Approved February 19, 1851. j
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OHAPT^E XXIX.

STATE EDUCATION IN MINNESOTA BOAED OF KE-

GENTS tJNIVEKSITY GliANT—AID OF CONGEBSS IN

1862 -VKLVK OF SOHOOLHOUSES—LOCAL TAXA-

TION IN DIFFERENT STATES STATE SOHOOIi SYS-

TEM KNOWS NO SBOT IGNOEANOB INHEEITED,

THE COMMON FOE OF MAEKIND CONCLUSION.

When Minnesota was prepared by her popula-

tion for application to Congress for admission as

a State, Congress, in an act authorizing her to

form a State government, makes the following

provision for schools

:

( 1 ) "That sections numbered sixteen and thirty-

six in every township of public lands in said State,

and where either of said sections, or any part

thereof, has been sold or otherwise disposed of,

other lands equivalent thereto, and as contiguous

as may be, shall be granted to said State for the

use of schools.

(2) "That seventy-two sections of land shall

be set apart and reserved for the use and support

of a State University to be selected by the Gov-

ernor of said State, subject to the approval of the

commissioner at the general land olfice, and be

appropriated and applied in such manner as the

legislature of said State may prescribe for the

purposes aforesaid, but for no other purpose."

[Passed February 26, 1857."]

But that there might be no misapprehension

that the American Government not only had the

inclination to aid in the proper education of the

citizen, but that in cases requiring direct control,

the government would not hesitate to exercise its

authority, in matters of education as well as in

any and all other questions affecting its sover-

eignty. To this end, on the second of July, 1862,

Congress passed the "act donating public lands to

the several States and Territories which may pro-

vide colleges for the benefit of agriculture and the

mechanic arts."

"Beit enacted, &c., that there be granted to the

several States for the purposes hereinafter men-

tioned, an amount of public land to be appor-

tioned to each State (except States in rebellion), a

quantity equal to thirty thousand acres for each

senator and representative in Congress to which

the States are respectively entitled by the appor-

tionment under the census of 1860."

Section four of said act is in substance as fol-

lows:

"That all moneys derived from the sale of these

lands, directly or indirectly, shall be invested in

stocks yielding not less than five per cent, upon

the par value of such stocks. That the money so

invested shall constitute a perpetual fund, the cap-

ital of which shall remain forever undiminished,

and the interest thereof shall be inviolably appro-

priated by each State which may claim the benefit

of the act to the endowment, support, and main-

tenance of at least one college, where the leading

object shall be, without excluding other scientific

and classical studies, and including military tac-

tics, to teach such branches of learning as are re-

lated to agriculture and the mechanic arts, in

sueh manner as the legislatures of the States may
respectively prescribe, in order to promote the

liberal and practical education of the industrial

classes in the several pursuits and professions of

life.

Section five, second clause of said act, provides

"That no portion of said fund, nor the interest

thereon, shall be applied, directly or indirectly,

under any pretence whatever, to the purchase,

erection, preservation, or repair of any building or

buildings."

Section five, third clause, "That any State

which may take and claim the benefit of the pro-

visions of this act shall provide, within five years,

at least not less than one college, as described in

the fourth section of this act, or the grant to such

State shall cease; and the said State shall be

bound to pay the United States the amount re-

ceivjed of any lands previously sold."

Section five, fourth clause, "An annual report

shall be made regarding the progress of each col-

lege, recording any improvements and experi-

ments made, with their costs and results, and such

other matters, including State industrial and eco-

nomical statistics, as may be supposed useful; one

copy of which shall be transmitted by mail free,

by each, to all the other colleges which may be

endowed under the provisions of this act, and also

one copy to the Secretary of the Interior."

Under this act Minnesota is entitled to select

150,000 acres to aid in teaching the branches in

the act named in the State University, making the

endowment fund of the Government to the state

of Minnesota for educational purposes as follows:

1. For common Schools, in acres 3,000,000

2. For State University, four townships 208,360

Total apportionment 3,208,360
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AH these lands have Bot been selected. Under

the agricultural college grant, only 94,439 acres

have been selected, and only 72,708 acres under

the two University grants, leaving only 167,147

acres realized for University purposes, out of the

208,360, a pos&ible loss of 41,203 acres.

The permanent school fund derived from the

national domain by the state of Minnesota, at a

reasonable estimate of the value of the lands se-

cured out of those granted to her, cannot vary

far from the results below, considering the prices

already obtained:

1. Common school lands in acres,

3,000,000, valued at $18,000,000

2. University grants, in all, in acres,

223,000, valued at. 1,115,000

Amount in acres, 3,223,000 $19,115,000

Out of this permanent school fund may be real-

ized an annual fund, when lands are all sold:

1. For common schools .$1,000,000

2. University instruction 60,000

These several grants, ample as they seem to be,

are, however, not a tithe of the means required

from the State itself for the free education of the

children of the State. We shall see further on

what the State has already done in her free school

system.

Minnesota, a State first distinguished by an

extra grant of government land, has something to

unite it to great national interest. Its position ia

the sisterhood of States gives it a prominence that

none other can occupy. A State lying on both

sides of the great Father of waters, in >i, conti-

nental valley midway between two vast oceans,

encircling the Western Hemisphere, with a soil of

superior fertility, a climate unequalled for health,

and bright with skies the most inspiring, such a

State, it may be said, must ever hold a promiaent

position in the Great American Union,

In the acts of the early settlements on the At-

lantic coast, in the Colonial Government, and the

National Congress, we have the evidence of a

determined intention "that schools and the means

of education shall forever be encouraged" by the

people who have the destinies of the Western

Hemisphere in their hands. That the external

organism of the system capable of accomplishing

this heavy task, and of carrying forward this re-

sponsible duty, rests with the people themselves.

and is as extensive as the government they have

established for the protection of their rights and

the growth of their physical industries, and the

free development of their intellectual powers.

The people, organized as a Nation, in assuming

this duty, have in advance proclaimed to the

world that "Religion, Morality, and Knowledge"

are alike essential "to good government." And in

organizing a government free from sectarian con-

trol or alliance, America made an advance hitherto

unknown, both in its temporal and spiritual power

;

for hitherto the work of the one had hindered the

others, and the labors and unities of the two were

inconsistent with the proper functions of either.

The triumph, therefore, of either, for the control

of both, was certain ruin, while separation of each,

the one from the other, was the true lite of both.

Such a victory, therefore, was never before known

on earth, as the entire separation, and yet the

friendly rivalry of Church and State, first inaugu-

rated in the free States of America. This idea was

crystalized and at once stamped on the fore-front

of the Nation's life in the aphorism, "Iteligion,

morality, and knowledge are alike essential to

good government." And the deduction from this

national aphorism necessarily follows: "That

schools and the means of education should forever

be encouraged." We assume, then, without fur-

ther illustration drawn from the acts of the Nation,

that the means of education have not and will not

be withheld. We have seen two great acquisitions,

the Northwest Territory, and the Louisiana Pur-

chase, parceled out in greater and greater pro-

fusion for educational uses, till the climax is

reached in the Mississippi Valley, the future great

center of national power. At the head of this

valley sits as regnant queen the state of Minne-

sota, endowed with the means of education unsur-

passed by any of her compeers in the sisterhood

of States. Let us now inquire, as pertinent to

this discussion,

WHAT HAS MINNIiSOTA DONE FOB STATE EDTJOATION?

The answer is in part made up from her con-

stitution and the laws enacted in pursuance

thereof: First, then, article VIII. of her consti-

tution reads thus:

Section 1. The stability of a republican form of

government depending mainly upon the intelli-

gence of the people, it shaU be the duty of the

Legislature to establish a general and uniform

system of public schools.
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Section 2. The proceeds of such lands as are,

or hereafter may be granted by the United States,

for the use of schools in each township in this

State, shall remain a perpetual school fund to the

State. * * * * The principal of all funds

arising from sales or other disposition of lands or

other property, granted or entrusted to this State,

shall forever be preserved inviolate and undimin-

ished; and the income arising from the lease or sale

of said school land shall be distributed to the dif-

ferent townships throughout the State in propor-

tion to the number of scholars in each township,

between the ages of five and twenty-one years;

and shall be faithfully applied to the specific object

of the original grant or appropriation."

Section 3. The legislature shall make such pro-

vision by taxation or otherwise, as, with the in-

come arising from the school fund, will secure a

thorough and efficient system of public schools in

each township in the State.

But in no case shall the moneys derived as afore-

said, or any portion thereof, or any piiblic moneys

or property, be appropriated or used for the sup-

port of schools wherein the destinctive doctrines,

creeds, or tenets of any particular Christian or

other religious sect are promulgated or taught."

THE UNIVERSITY.

" Section 4. The location of the University of

Minnesota, as established by existing laws, [Sept.

1851] is hereby confirmed, and said institution is

hereby declared to be tbe University of Minnesota.

All the rights, immunities, franchises, and endow-

ments herelofore granted or conferred, are hereby

perpetuated unto the said University ; and all lands

which may be granted hereafter by Congress, or

other donations for said University purposes, shall

rest in the institution referred to in this section.

The State constitution is in full harmony with

the National government in the distinctive outlines

laid down in the extracts above made. And the

Territorial and State governments, within these

limits, have consecutively appropriated by legis-

lation, sufficient to carry forward the State school

system. In the Territorial act, establishing the

University, the people of the State announced in

advance of the establishment of a State govern-

ment, " that the proceeds of the land that may
hereafter be granted by the United States to the

Territory for the support of the University, shall

be and remain a perpetual fund, to be called "the

University Fund," the interest of which shall be

appropriated to the support of a University, and

no sectarian instruction shall be allowed in such

University I
' This organization of the University

was confirmed by the State constitution, and the

congressional land- grants severally passed to that

corporation, and the use of the funds arising there-

from were subjected to the restrictions named. So

that both the common school and University were

dedicated to ' State school purposes, and expressly

excluded from sectarian control or sectarian in-

struction.

In this respect the State organization corres-

ponds with the demands of the general govern-

ment; and has organized the school system reach-

ing from the common school to the university, so

that it may be said, the State student may, if he

choose, in the state of Blinnesota pass from grade

to grade, through common school, high school, and

State University free of charge for- tuition. With-

out referring specially to the progressive legisla-

tive enactments, the united system may be referred

to as made up of units of different orders, and suc-

cessively in its ascending grades, governed by
separate boards, rising in the scale of importance

from the local trustee, directors, and treasurer, in

common school, to the higher board of education,

of six members iij the independent school district,

and more or less than that number in di^ricts and
large cities under special charter, until we reach

the climax in the dignified Board of Eegents; a

board created by law and known as the Begents of

the State University. This honorable body con-

sists of seven men nominated by the Governor and
confirmed by the senate of the State legislature,

each holding his office for three years; and besides

these there are three ex-offloio members, consisting

of the President of the State University, the

Superintendent of Public Instruction, and the Gov-
ernor of the State. This body of ten men are in

reality the legal head of the State University, and
indirectly the efiective head of the State school

system of Minnesota, and are themselves subject

only to the control of the State Legislature.

These various officers, throughout this series, are

severally trustees of legal duties which cannot be
delegated. They fall under the legal maxim
"that a trustee cannot make a trustee." These
are the legal bodies to whom the several series of

employes and servitors owe obedience. These
various trusl^pes determine the course of study
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and the rules of transfer from grade to grade until

the last grade is reached at the head of the State

system, or the scholar has perhaps completed a

post-graduate course in a polytechnic school, in-

augurated by the State for greater, perfection, it

may be in chemistry, agriculture, the mechanic

arts, or other specialty, required by the State or

national government.

This system, let it be understood, differs from

all private, parocliial, denominational, or sectarian

schools. The State organism and all the sectarian

elements of the church are, in this department of

labor, entirely distinct. The State protects and

encourages, but does not control either the schools

or the faith of the church. The church supports

and approves, but does not yield its tenets or its

creed to the curriculum of the schools of the State.

The State and the Church are in this respect en-

tirely distinct and different organizations. State

education, however, and the education of the ad-

herents of the church are in harmony throughout

a great portion of the State oumculum. Indeed,

there seems to be no reason why the greater por-

tion of denominational teaching, so far as the same

is in harmony with the schools of the State, should

not be relegated to the State, that the church

throughout all its sectarian element might be the

better able to direct its energies and economize

its benevolence in the cultivation of its own fields

of chosen labor. But, however this may be, and

wherever these two organizations choose to divide

their labors, they are still harmonious even in their

rivalry.

The organism as a State system has, in Minne-

sota, so matured that through aU the grades to the

University, the steps are defined and the gradients

passed without any conflict of authority. The

only check to the regular order of ascend-

ing grades was first met in the State Uni-

versity. These schools, in older countries, had at

one time an independent position, and in their

origin had their own scholars of all grades, from

the preparatory department to the Senior Class in

the finished course; but in our State system, when

the common schools became graded, and the High

School had grown up as a part of the organism of

a completed system, the University naturally took

its place at the head of the State system, having

the same relation to the High School as the High

School has to the Common School. There was no

longer any reason why the same rule should not

apply in the transfer from the High School to the

University, that applied in the transfer from the

Common School to the High School, and to this

conclusion the people of the State have already

fully arrived. The rules of the board of Eegents

of the State University now allow students, with

the Principal's certificate of qualification, to enter

the Freshman class, on examination in sub-Fresh-

man studies only. But even this is not satisfac-

tory to the friends of the State school system.

They demand for High School graduates an en-

trance into the University, when the grade below

is passed, on the examination of the school below

for graduation therein. If, on the one hand, the

High schools of the State, under the law for the

encouragement of higher education, are required

to prepare students so that they shall be qualified

to enter some one of the classes of the University,

on the other hand the University should be re-

quired to admit the students thus qualified with-

out further examination. The rule should work

in either direction. The rights of students under

the law are as sacred, and should be as inalienable,

as the rights of teachers or faculties in State in-

stitutions. The day of unlimited, irresponsible

discretion, a relic of absolute autocracy, a des-

potic power, has no place in systems of free

schools under constitutional and statutory limita-

tions, and these presidents and faculties ti ho con-

tinue to exercise this power in the absence of

right, should be reminded by Boards of Eegents

at the head of American State systems that their

resignation would be acceptable. They belong to

an antiquated system, outgrown by the age in

which we live.

The spirit of the people of our State was fully

intimated in the legislature of 1881, in the House

bill introduced as an amendment to the law of

1878-79, for the encouragement of higher educa-

tion, but finally laid aside for the law then in

force, slightly amended, and quite in harmony

with the House bill. Sections two and five

alluded to read as follows:

"Any public, graded or high school in any city

or incorporated village or township organized into

a district under the sf/^called township system,

which shall have regular classes and courses of

study, articulating with some course of study, op-

tional or required, in the State University, and

shall raise annually for the expense of said school

double the amount of State aid allowed by this
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act, and shall admit students of either sex into the

higher classes thereof from any part of the State,

without charge for tuition, shall receive State aid,

as specified in section four of this act. Provided,

that non-resident pupils shall in all cases be qual-

ified to enter the highest department of said

school at the entrance examination for resident

pupUs."

"The High School Board shall have power, and

it is hereby made their duty to provide uniform

questions to test the qualifications of the scholars

of said graded or high schools for entrance and

graduation, and especially conduct the examina-

tions of scholars in said schools, when desired and

notified, and award diplomas to graduates who

shall upon examination be found to have completed

any course of study, either optional or required,

entitling the holder to enter any class in the Uni-

versity of Minnesota named therein, any time

within one year from the date thereof, without

further examination; said diploma to be executed

by the several members of the High School

Board."

THE RELATED SYSTEM.

We have now seen the position of the University

in our system of public schools. In its position

only at the head of the series it differs from the

grades below. The rights of the scholar follow

him throughout the series. When he has com-

pleted and received the certificate or diploma in

the prescribed course in the High School, articu-

lating with any course, optional or required, in the

University, he has the same right, unconditioned,

to pass to the higher class in that course, as he

had to pass on examination, from one class to the

other in any of the grades beiow. So it follows,

that the University faculty or teacher who as-

sumes the right to reject, condition, or re-examine

such student, would exercise an abuse of power,

unwarranted in law, arbitrary in spirit, and not

republican in character. This rule is better and

better understood in all State Universities, as free

State educational organisms are more crystalized

into forms, analogous to our State and national

governments. The arbitrary will of the interme-

diate, or head master, no longer prevails. His will

must yield to more certain legal rights, as the

luarner passes on, under prescribed rules, from in-

iancy to manhood through all the grades of school

life. And no legislation framed on any other

theory , of educational promotion in republican

States can stand against this American conscious-

ness of equality existing between all the members

of the body politic. In this consciousness is em-

braced the inalienable rights of the child or the

youth to an education free in all our public

schools. In Minnesota it is guaranteed in the

constitution that the legislature shall make such

provisions, by taxation or otherwise, as, with the

income arising from the school fund, wiU secure a

thorough and elBoient system of public schools in

each township in the State. Who shall say that

the people have no right to secure such thorough

and efficient system, even should that "thorough

and efficient system" extend to direct taxation for

a course extending to graduation from a Univer-

sity? Should such a course exceed the constitu-

tional limitation of a thorough and efficient sys-

tem of public schools?

INTBRPBETATION OF THE OONSTITUTION'.

The people, through the medium of the law-

making power, have given on three several occa-

sions, in 1878, 1879, and 1881, an intimation of

the scope and measuriag of our State constitution

on educational extension to higher education than

the common school. In the first section of the act

of 1881, the legislature created a High School

Board, consisting of the Governor of the State,

Superintendent of Public Instruction, and the

President of the University of Minnesota, who are

charged with certain duties and granted certain

powers contained in the act. And this High
School Board are required to grant State aid to

the amount of |400 during the school year to any
public graded school, in any city or incorporated

village, or township organized into a district,

which shall give preparatory instruction, extend-

ing to and articulating with the University course

in some one of its classes, and shall admit stu-

dents of either sex, from any part of the State,

without charge for tuition. Provided only that

non-resident pupils shall be qualified to enter

some one of the organized classes of such graded

or high school. To carry out this act, giving

State aid directly out of the State treasury to a

course of education reaching upward from the

common school, through the high school to the

University, the legislature appropriated the entire

sum of $20,000. In this manner we have the in-

terpretation of the people of Minnesota as to the
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meaning of "a thoi-ough and eflBoient system of

public schools, operative alike in each townshijj in

the State." And this interpretation of ouf legis-

lature is in harmony with the several acts of Con-

gress, and particularly the act of July the second,

1862, granting lands to the several States of the

Union, known as the Agricultural College Grant.

The States receiving said lands are required, in

their colleges or universities, to "teach such

branches of learning as are related to Agriculture

and the Mechanic arts, without excluding other

scientific and classical studies, and including mil-

itary tactics, in such manner as the legislatures of

the States may respectively prescribe, in. order to

promote the liberal and practical education of the

industrial classes in the several pursuits and pro-

fessions of life."

And the Legislature of Minnesota has already

established in its University, optional or required

courses of study folly meeting the limitations in

the congressional act of 1862. In its elementary

department it has three courses, known as classi-

cal, scientific, and modern. In the College of

Science, Literature, and the Arts, the courses of

study are an extension of those of the elementary

departments, and lead directly to the degrees of

Bachelor of Arts, Bachelor of Science, and Bach,

elor of Literature. In the College of Mechanic

Arts the several courses of studies are principally

limited to CivU Engineering, Mechanical Engi-

neering, and Architecture. In the College of Ag-

riculture are: (1) The regular University course,

leading to the degree of Bachelor of Agriculture.

(2) The elementary course, in part coinciding witli

the Scientific course of the Elementary Depart-

ment. (3) A Farmers' Lecture course. (4) Three,

special courses for the year 1880-81. Law and

Medicine have not yet been opened in the State

University for want of means to carry forward

these departments, now so much needed.

Our State constitution has therefore been prac-

tically interpreted by the people, by a test that

canBot be misconstrued. They have fortified

their opinion by the payment of the necessary tax

to insure the success of a thorough and eiBoieut

system of public schools throughout the State.

This proof of the people's interest in these schools

appears in the amounts paid for expenses and in-

struction. From the school fund the State of

Minnesota received, in 1879, the full sum of

$232,187.43 The State paid out the same year.

the sum of $394,737.71. The difierence is $162,-

550.28, which was paid out by the State more than

was derived from the government endowment fund.

And it is not at all likely that the endowment fund,

generous as it is, will ever produce an amount

equal to the cost of instruction. The ratio of the

increase of scholars it is believed will always be in

advance of the endowment fund. The cost of in-

struction cannot fall much below an average, for

aU grades of scholars, of eight dollars per annum
to each pupil. Our present 180,000 scholars en-

rolled would, at this rate require $1,440,000, and

in ten years and long before the sale of the school

lands of the State shall have been made, this 180,-

000 will have increased a hundred per cent.,

amonnting to 360,000 scholars. These, at $8.00

per scholar for tuition, would equal $2,880,000

per annum, while the interest from the school

fund in the same time cannot exceed $2,000,000,

even should the land average the price of $6.00

per acre, and the interest realized be always equal

to 6 per cent.
'

SOME OF THE EESTTITS

In these infant steps taken by our State, we can

discern the tendency of our organism towards a

completed State system, as an element of a still

wider union embracing the nation. To know

what is yet to be done in this direction we must

know what has already been done. We have, in

the twenty years of our State history, built 3,693

sclioolhouses, varying in cost from $400 to $90,-

000; total value of aU, $3,156,210; three Normal

school buildings at a cost of (1872) $215,231.52;

a State University at an expenditure for buildings

alone of $70,000, and an allowance by a late ack

of the legislature of an additional $100,000, in

three yearly appropriations, for additional build-

ings to be erected, in all $170,000, allowed by the

State for the University. Add these to the cost of

common school structures, and we have already

expended in school buOdings over $4,800,000 for

the simple purpose of housing the infant organ-

ism, our conunon school system here planted.

We have seen a movement in cities like St. Paul,

Minneapolis, Stillwater, and Winona, towards the

local organization of a completed system of home

schools, carrying instruction free to the University

course, with a total enrollment of 13,500 scholars

and 265 teachers, daily seated in buildings, all in

the modem style of school architecture and school
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furniture, coating to these cities the sum of $850,-

000 for buildings, and for instruction the sum of

$118,000 annually.

We have, in addition to these schools in the

cities named, other home and fitting schools, to

whom have been paid |400 each, under the law

for the "Encouragement of Higher Education,"

passed in 1878, and amended in 1879, as follows:

Anoka, Austin, Blue Earth City, Ohatfield, Cannon

Falls, Orookston, Duluth, Detroit, Eyota, Fari-

bault, Garden City, Glencoe, Howard Lake, Hast-

ings, Henderson, Kasson, Litchfield, Lane&boro,

Le Sueur, Lake City, Monticello, Moorhead, Man-

kato, Northfleld, Owatonna, Osseo, Plainview, Red

Wing, Eushford, Eochester, St. Cloud, St. Peter,

Sauk Centre, Spring Valley, Wells, Waterville,

Waseca, Wabasha, Wilmar, Winnebago City, Zum-

brota, and Mantorville.

These forty-two State aid schools have paid in

all for buildings and furniture the gross sum of

$642,700; some of these buildings are superior in

all that constitutes superiority in school architect-

ure. The Eochester buildings and grounds cost

the sum of $90,000. Several others, such as the

Austin, Owatonna, Faribault, Hastings, Ked Wing,
Eushford, St. Cloud, and St. Peter schoolhouses,

exceed in value the sum of $25,000; and others of

these buildings are estimated at $6,000, $8,000,

$10,000, and $15,000. In all they have an enroll-

ment of scholars in attendance on classes graded up

to the University course, numbering 13,000, under

301 teachers, at an annual salary amounting in all

to $123,569, and having in their A, B, C, D classes

1704 scholars, of whom 126 were prepared to

enter the sub-freshman class of the State Univer-

sity in 1880, and the number entering these grades

in the year 1879-80 was 934, of whom 400 were

non-residents of the districts. And in all these

forty-two home schools of the people, the fitting

schools of the State University, one uniform course

of study, articulating with some course in the

University, was observed. As many other courses

as the local boards desired were also carried on in

these schools. This, in short, is a part of what

we have done.

The organic elements that regularly combine to

form governments, are similar to those organic ele-

ments that combine to form systems of mental

culture. The primitive type of government is the

family. This is the lowest organic form. If no
improvement is ever made upon this primitive ele-

ment, by other combinations of an artificial na-

ture, human governments would never rise higher

than the family. If society is to advance, this

organism widens into the clan, and in like manner

the clan into the village, and the village into the

more dignified province, and the province into the

State. All these artificial conditions above tho

family are the evidences of growth in pursuance

of the laws of artificial life. In like manner the

growth of intellectual organisms proceeds from

the family instruction to the common school.

Here the artificial organism would cease to ad-

vance, and would remain stationary, as the clan in

the organism of government, unless the common
school should pass on to the wider and still higher

unit of a graded system reaching upward to the

high school. Now this was the condition of the

common school in America during the Colonial

state, and even down to the national organization.

Soon after this period, the intellectual life of the

nation began to be aroused, and within the last

fifty years the State common school has culmi-

nated in the higher organism of the high school,

and it is of very recent date that the high school

has reached up to and articulated in any State

with the State University. On this continent, both

government and State schools started into life,

freed from the domination of institutions grown
effete from age and loss of vital energy. Here,

both entered into wider combinations, reaching

higher results than the ages of the past. And
yet, in educational organization we are far below
the standard of perfection we shall attain in the

rapidly advancing future. Not until our system
of education has attained a national character as

complete in its related articulation as the civil or-

ganization of towns, counties, and States in the

national Union, can our educational institutions do
the work required of this age. And in Minnesota,
one of the leading States in connected school or-

ganic relations, we have, as yet, some 4,000 com-
mon school districts, with an enrollment of some
100,000 scholars of different ages, from five to

twenty-one years; no higher in the scale than the

common school, prior to the first high school on
the American continent. These chaotic elements,

outside of the system of graded schools now aided

by the State, must be reduced to the same organ-
ized graded system as those that now articulate in

their course with the State University.

Our complete organization as a State system for
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cJuoational purposes, equal to the demands of the

State, and required by the spirit of the age, will

not be consummated until our four thousand

school districts shall reap the full benefits of a

graded system reaching to the high school course^

articulating with some course in the State Uni-

versity and a course in commen with every other

high school in the State. The system thus or-

ganized might be required to report to the Board

of Eegents, as the legal head of the organization

of the State School system, not only the numerical

statistics, but the number and standing of the

classes in each of the high schools in the several

studies of the uniform course, established by the

Board of Regents, under the direction of the State

Legislature. To this system must finally belong

the certificate of standing and graduation, en-

titling the holder to enter the designated class in

any grade of the State schools named therein,

whether High School or University. But this

system is not and can never bo a skeleton merely,

made up of Uteless materials, as an anatomical

specimen in the office of the student of the

practice of the healing art. Withiuthis organism

there must preside the living teacher, bringing

into this organic structure, not the debris of the

effete systems of the past, not the mental exuvia

of dwarfed intellectual powers of this or any for-

mer age, but the teacher inspired by nature to

feel and appreciate her methods, and ever moved

by her diviae afflatus.

Every living organism has its own laws of

growth; and the one we have under consideration

may, in its most important feature, be compared to

the growth of the forest tree. In its earlier years

the forest tree strikes its roots deep into the earth

and matures its growing rootlets, the support of

its future trunk, to stand against the storms and

winds to which it is at all times exposed. When
fully rooted in the ground, with a trunk matured

by the growth of years, it puts forth its infant

branches and leaflets, suited to its immature but

maturing nature; finally it gives evidence of stal-

wart powers, and now its widespreading top tow-

ers aloft among its compeers rearing its head high

among the loftiest denizens of the woods. In like

manner is the growth of the maturing State school

organism. In the common school, the foundation

is laid for the rising structure, but here are no

branches, no fruitage. It seems in its earliest in-

fancy to put forth no branches, but is simply tak-

ing hold of the elements below on which its inner

life and growth depend. As the system rises, the

underlaying laws of life come forth in the princi-

ples of invention, manufacturing, engraving, and

designing, enriching every branch of intellectual

and professional industry, and beautifying every

Qeld of human culture. These varied results are

all in the law of growth in the organism of State

schools carried on above the common schools to

the University course. The higher the course the

more beneficial the results to the industries of the

world, whether those industries are intellectual or

purely physical, cater only to the demands of

wealth, or tend to subserve the modest demands of

the humblest citizen.

The only criticism that can reach the question

now under consideration, is whether the graded

organisation tends to produce the results to which

we have referred. The law relating to the division

of labor has especially operated in the graded sys-

tem of State schools. Under its operation, it is

claimed, by good judges, that eight years of

school life, from five to twenty-one, has been saved

to the pupils of the present generation, over those

of the ungraded schools ante-dating the last fifty

years. By the operation of this law, in one gen-

eration, the saving of time, on the enrollments of

State schools in the graded systems of the north-

ern States of the American Union, would be

enormous. For the State of Mipnesota alone, on

the enrollment of 180,000, the aggregate years of

time saved would exceed a million! The time

saved on the enrollment of the schools of the dif-

ferent States, under the operation of this law

would exceed over twenty million years!

To the division of labor is due the wonderful

facility with which modem business associations

have laid their hands upon every branch of indus-

trial pursuits, and bestowed upon the world the

comforts of life. Introduced into our system of

education it produces results as astonishing as the

advent of the Spinning Jenny in the manufacture of

cloth. As the raw material from the cotton field

of the planter, passing, by gradation, through the

unskilled bands of the ordinary laborer to the

more perfect process of improved machinery, se-

cure additional value in a constantly increasing

ratio ; so the graded system of intellectual culture,

from the Primary to the High school, and thence

to the University, adds increased lustre and value

to the mental development in a ratio commen-
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surate with the increased skill of the mental ope-

rator.

The law o£ growth in State schools was clearly

announced by Horace Mann, when he applied to

this system the law governing hydraulics, that no

stream could rise above its fountain. The com-

mon school could not produce a scholarship above

its own curriculum. The high school was a grade

above, and as important in Ihe State system as

'the elevated fountain head of the living stream.

This law of growth makes the system at once the

moat natural, the most economical, and certainly

the most popular. These several elements might

be illustrated, but the reader can easily imagine

them at his leisure. As to the last, however, suffer

an illustration. In Minnesota, for the school year

ending August 21st, 1880, according to the report

of the Superintendent of Public Instruction', there

were enrolled, one hundred and eighty thousand,

two hundred and fifty-eight scholars in the State

schools, while all others, embracing kindergartens,

private schools, parochial schools, of all sects and

all denominations, had an attendance at the same

time of only two thousand four hundred and

twenty-eight; and to meet all possible omissions,

if we allow doijble this number, there is less than

three per cent, of the enrollment in the State

school. This ratio will be found to hold good, at

least throughout all the Northern States of the

American Union. These State schools, then, are

not unpopular in comparison with the schools of a

private and opposite character. Nor is it owing

altogether to the important fact, that State schools

are free, that they are more popular than schools

of an opposite character; for these State schools

are a tax upon the property of the people, and yet

a tax most cheerfully borne, in consequence of

their superior excellence and importance.

The State school, if not already, can be so

graded that each scholar can have the advantage

of superior special instruction far better adapted

to the studies through which he desires to pass,

than similar instruction can be had in ungraded

schools of any character whatever. In this re-

spect the State system is without a rival. It has

the power to introduce such changes as may meet

aU the demands of the State and all the claims of

the learner.

The State school knows no sect, no party, no

privileged class, and no special favorites; the high,

the low, the rich, and the poor, the home and for-

eign-born, black or white, are aU equal at this

altar. The child of the ruler and the ruled are

here equal. The son of the Governor, the wood-

sawyer, and the hod-carrier, here meet on one

level, and alike contend for ranks, and alike expect

the honors due to superior merit, the reward of

intellectual culture. But, aside from the repubU-

can character of the State school system, the sys-

tem is a State necessity. Without the required

State culture under its control, the ' State must

cease to exist as an organism for the promotion of

human happiness or the protection of human
rights, and its people, though once cultured and

refined, must certainly return to barbarism and

savage life. There can be no compromise in the

warfare against inherited ignorance. Under .all

governments the statute of limitations closes over

the subject at twenty-one years; so that during

the minority of the race must this warfare be

waged by the government without truce. No
peace can ever be proclaimed in this war, until the

child shall inherit the matured wisdom, instead of

the primal ignorance of the ancestor.

The State school system, in our government, is

from the necessity of the case, national. No
State can enforce its system beyond the limits of

its own territory. And unless the nation enforce

its own uniform system, the conflict between juris-

dictions could never be determined. No homo-

geneous system could ever be enforced. As the

graded system of State schools has now reached

the period in its history which corresponds to the

colonial history of the national organization, it

must here fail, as did the colonial system of gov-

ernment, to fully meet the demands of the people.

And what was it, let us consider, that led the peo-

ple in the organization of the national government

"to form a more perfect union?" Had it then be-

come necessary to take this step, that "justice"'

might be established, domestic tranquility insured,

the common defense made more efficient, the gen-

eral welfare promoted, and the blessings of liberty

better secured to themselves and their posterity,

that the fathers of the government should think it

neoessaiy to form a more perfect union?" Why
the necessity of a more perfect union? Were our

fathers in fear of a domestic or foreign foe, that

had manifested his power in their immediate pres-

ence, threatening to jeopardize or destroy their do-

mestic tranquility ? Was this foe an hereditary

enemy, who might at long intervals of time invade
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their territory, and endanger the liberties of this

people? And for this reason did they demand a

more perfect union? And does not this reason

now exist in BtUl greater force for the formation of

a still more perfect union in our system of State

schools? Our fathers were moved by the most

natural of all reasons, by this law of self-defense.

They were attacked by a power too great to bo

successfully resisted in their colonial or unorgan-

ized state. The fear of a destruction of the sev-

eral colonies without a more perfect union drove

them to this alternative. It was union and the

hope of freedom, against disunion and the fear of

death, that cemented the national government.

And this was an external organism, the temple in

which the spirit of freedom should preside, and in

which her worshippers should enjoy not only do-

mestic but national tranquility. Now, should it be

manifested to the world that the soul and spirit,

the very life of this temple, erected to freedom, is

similarly threatened, should not be the same cause

that operated in the erection of the temple itself,

operate in the protection of its sacred fires, its soul

and spirit? It would seem to require no admoni-

tion to move a nation in the direction of its highest

hopes, the protection of its inner hfe.

And what is this enemy, and where is the power

able to destroy both the temple and the spirit of

freedom?. And why should State Education take

upon itself any advanced position other than its

present independent organic elements?. In the

face of what enemy should it now be claimed we

should attempt to change front, and "foim a more

perfect union to insure domestic tranquility, and

promote the {;eneral welfare," to the end that we

may the better secure the blessings of liberty to

ourselves and our posterity ? That potent foe to

our free institutions, to which we are now brought

face to face, is human ignomuce, the natural hered-

itary foe to every form of enlightened free gov-

ernment. This hereditary enemy is now home-

steaded upon our soil. This enemy, in the lan-

guage of the declaration made by the colonies

against their herediteiry foe, this enemy to our

government, has kept among us a standing army

of illiterates, who can neither read nor write, but

are armed with the ballot, more powerful than the

sword, ready to strike the most deadly blow at

human freedom; he has out off and almost en-

tirely destroyed our trade between States of the

same government; has imposed a tax upon us

without our consent, most grievous to be borne;

he has quite abolished the free system of United

States laws in several of our States; he has estab-

lished, in many sections, arbitrary tribunals, ex-

cluding the subject from the right of trial by jury,

and enlarged the powers of his despotic rule, en-

dangered the lives of peaceable citizens; he has

alienated government of one section, by declaring

the inhabitants aliens and enemies to his supposed

hereditary right; he has excited domestic insur-

rections amongst us; he has endeavored to destroy

the peace and harmony of our people by bringing

his despotic ignorance of our institutions into con-

flict with the freedom and purity of our elections;

he has raised up advocates to his cause who have

openly declared that our system of State Educa-

tion, on which our government rests, is a failure;*

he has spared no age, no sex, no portion of our

country, but has, with his ignominious minions,

afflicted the North and the South, the East and the

West, the rich and the poor, the black and the

white; an enemy alike to the people of every sec-

tion of the government, from Maine to California,

from jilinnesota to Louisiana. Such an inexora-

ble enemy to government and the domestic tran-

quility of all good citizMis deserves the oppro-

brium due only to the Prince of Darkness, against

whom eternal war should be waged; and for the

support of this declaration, with a firm reliance on

the protection of Divine Providence, we should, as

did our fathers, mutually pledge to each other,

as citizens of the free States of America, our lives,

our fortunes, and our sacred honor.

We have thus far considered the State school

system in some of its organic elements, and the

nature, tendency, and neceseary union of these

elements; first in States, and finally for the forma-

tion of a more perfect union, that they may be

united in one national organization under the con-

trol of one sovereign will. The mode in which

these unorganized elements shall come into union

and harmony with themselves, and constitute the

true inner life and soul of the American Union, is

left for the consideration of those whose special

duty it is to devote their best energies to the pro-

motion of the welfare of .the Nation, and by

statesman-like forethought provide for the domes-

tic, social, civil, intellectual, and industrial pro-

gress of the rapidly accumulating millions who

*Eichard Grant White in North American Review
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are soon to swarm upon the American continent.

We see truly that

"The rudiments of empire here

Are plastic yet and "warm;

The chaos of a mighty world

Is rounding into form!

"Each rude and jostling fragment soon

Its fitting place shall find—

The raw material of a State,

Its muscle and its mind."

But we must be allowed, in a word, to state the

results which we hope to see accomplished, before

the jostling fragments which are yet plastic and

warm, shall have attained a temperament not

easily fused and "rounded" into one homogenous

national system, rising in the several States from

the kindergarten to the University, and from the

State Universities through all orders of specialties

demanded by the widening industries and growing

demands of a progressive age. And ia this direc-

tion we cannot fail to see that the national govern-

ment must so mould its intellectual systems that

the State and national curricula shall be uniform

throughout the States and territories, so that a

class standing of every pupil, properly certified,

shall be equally good for a like class standing in

every portion of the government to which he may

desire to remove. America will then be ready to

celebrate her final independence, the inalienable

right of American youth, as having a standing

limited by law in her State and national systems

of education, entitling them to rank everywhere

with associates and compeers on the same plain;

when in no case, shall these rights be denied or

abridged by the United States, or by any State

or authority thereof, on account of race, color,

or previous condition of scholarship, secular or

sectarian, till the same shall forever find the most

ample protection under the broad banner of

NATIONAL and NATUEAii rights, common alike to

all in the ever widening kbpuhhc of leiteks.
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The first authentic knowledge of the country

upon the waters of the Upper Mississippi and its

tributaries, was given to the world by Louis Hen-

nepin, a native of France. In 1680 he visited the

Falls of St. Anthony, and gave them the name of

his patron saint, the name they still bear.

Hennepin found the country occupied by wild

tribes of Indians, by whom he and his compan-

ions were detained as prisoners, but kindly treated,

and finally released.

In 1766,,this same country was again visited by

a white man, this time by Jonathan Carver, a

British subject, and an officer in the British army.

Jonathan Carver spent some three years among

different tribes of Indians in the Upper Missis-

sippi country. He knew the Sioux or Dakota

Indians as the Naudowessies, who were then occu-

pying the country along the Mississippi, from

Iowa to the Falls of St. Anthony, and along the

Minnesota river, then called St. Peter's, from its

source to its mouth at Mendota. To the north of

these tribes the country was then occupied by the

Ojibwas, commonly called Chippewas, the heredi-

tary enemies of the Sioux.

Carver found these Indian nations at war, and

by his commanding influence finally succeeded in

making peace between them. As a reward for his

good offices in this regard, it is claimed that two

cliiefs of the Naudowessies, acting for their nation,

»t a council held with Carver, at the great cave,

12

now in the corporate limits of St. Paul, deeded to

Carver a vast tract of land on t^he Mississippi

river, extending from the Falls of St. Anthony to

the foot of Lake Pepin, on the Mississippi; thence

east one hundred English miles; thence north one

hundred and twenty miles; thence west to the

place of beginning. But this pretended grant has

been examined by our government and entirely

ignored as a pure "invention of parties in interest,

after Carver's death, to profit by his Indian ser-

vice in Minnesota.

There can be no doubt that these same Indians,

known to Captain Carver as the Naudowessies, in

1767, were the same who inhabited the country

upon the Upper Mississippi and its tributaries

when the treaty of Traverse des Sioux was made,

in 1851, between the United States and the Sisse-

ton and Wapaton bands of Dakota or Sioux Indi-

ans. The name Sioux is said to have been bestowed

upon these tribes by the French; and that it is a

corruption of the last syllable of their more an-

cient name, which in the peculiar guttural of the

Dakota tongue, has the sound of the last syllable

of the old name Naudowess««s, Sioux.

The tribes inhabiting the Territory of Minne-

sota at the date of the massacre, 1862, were the

following: Medawakontons (or Village of the

Spirit Lake); Wapatons (or Village .of the

Leaves); Sissetons (or Village of the Marsh);

and Wapakutas (or Leaf Shooters). All these

were Sioux Indians, connected intimately with

other wUd bands scattered over a vast region of

country, including Dakota Territory, and the

country west of the Missouri, even to the base of

the Eocky Mountains. Over all this vast region

roamed these, wild bands of Dakotas, a powerful

and warlike nation, holding by their tenure the

country north to the British Possessions.

(177)



178 BISTORT OF THE SIOUX MASSAORE.

The Sissetons had a hereditary chief, Ta-tanka

Mazin, or Standing Buffalo; and at the date of

the massacre his father, "Star Pace," or the "Or-

phan,"' -was yet alive, but superannuated, and all

the duties of the chief were vested in the son.

Standing Buffalo, who remained friendly to the

whites and took no part in the terrible massacre

on our border in 1862.

The four tribes named, the Medawakontons, Wa-
patons, Sissetons and Wapakutas, comprised the

entire "annuity Sioux" of Minnesota; and in 1862

these tribes numbered about six thousand and two

hundred persons. All these Indians had from

time to time, from the 19th day of July, 1815, to

the date of the massacre of 1862, received pres-

ents from the Government, by virtue of various

treaties of amity and friendship between us and

their accredited chiefs and heads of tribes.

Soon after the close of the last war with Great

Britain, on the first day of June, 1816, a treaty

was concluded at St. Louis between the United

States and the chiefs and warriors representing

eight bands of the Sioux, composing the three

tribes then called the "Sioux of the Leaf," the

"Sioux of the Broad Leaf," and the "Sioux who

Shoot in the Pine Tops," by the terms of which

these tribes confirmed to the United States all

cessions or grants of lands previously made by

them to the British, French, or Spanish govern-

ments, within the limits of the United States or

its Territories. For these cessions no annuities

were paid, for the reason that they were mere con-

firmations of grants made by them to powers

from whom we had acquired the territory.

From the treaty of St. Louis, in 1816, to the

treaty ratified by the United States Senate in 1859,

these tribes had remained friendly to the whites,

and had by treaty stipulations parted with all the

lands to which they claimed title in Iowa; all on

the east side of the Mississippi river, and all on

the Minnesota river, in Minnesota Territory, ex-

cept certain reservations. One of these reserva-

tions lay upon both sides of the Minnesota, ten

miles on either side of that stream, from Hawk
river on the north, and Yellow Medicine river on

the south side, thence westerly to the head of Big

Stone Lake and Lake Traverse, a distance of

about one hundred miles. Another of these reser-

vations commenced at Little Bock river on the

east, and a line running due south from opposite

its mouth, and extending up the river westerly to

the easterly line of the first-named reservation, at

the Hawk and Yellow Bledicine rivers. This last

reservation had also a width of ten miles on each

side of the Minnesota river.

The Indians west of the Missouri, in referring

to those of their nation east of the river, called

them Isanties, which seems to have been applied

to them from the fact that, at some remote period,

they had lived at Isantamde, or "Knife Lake,"

one of the Mille Lacs^ in Minnesota.

These Indian treaties inaugurated and contrib-

uted greatly to strengthen a custom of granting,

to the pretended owners of lands occupied for

purposes of hunting the wild game thereon, and

living upon the natural products thereof, a con-

sideration for the cession of their lands to the

Government of the United States. This custom

culminated in a vast annuity fund, in the aggre-

gate to over three million doUars, owing to these

tribes, before named, in Minnesota. This annuity

system was one of the causes of the massacre of

1862.

Indian LiPB.^Before the whites came in con-

tact with the natives, they dressed in the skins o*

animals which they killed for food, such as the

buffalo, wolf, elk, deer, beaver, otter, as well as the

small fur-bearing animals, which they trapped on

lakes and streams. In later years, as the settle-

ments of the white race approached their borders,

they exchanged these peltries and furs for blankets,

cloths, and other articles of necessity or ornament.

The Sioux of the plains, those who iahabited the

Ooteau and beyond, and, indeed, some of the

Sisseton tribes, dress in skins to this day. Even

among those who are now called "civilized," the

style of costume is often unique. It is no picture

of the imagination to portray to the reader a "stal-

WABT Indian" in breech-cloth and leggins, with

a calico shirt, all "fluttering in the wind," and his

head surmounted with a stove-pipe hat of most

surprising altitude, carrying in his hand a pipe of

exquisite workmanship, on a stem not unlike a

cane, sported as an ornament by some city dandy.

His appearance is somewhat varied, as the seascms

come and go. He may be seen in summer or in

winter dressed in a heavy cloth coat of coarse fab-

ric, often turned inside out with all his civilized

and savage toggery, from head to foot, ia the most

bewildering juxtaposition. On beholding him,

the dullest imagination cannot refrain from the

poetic exclamtion of Alexander Pope,

"Lo! the poor Indian, whose untutored mindl"
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Efeoets to Civilize these Annuity Indians.

—The treaty of 1858, made at WaskLngton, elabo-

rated a scheme for the civilization of these amraity

Indians. A civilization fund was jarovided, to be

taken from their annuities, and expended in im-

provements on the lands of such of them as should

abandon their tribal relations, and I'.dopt the habits

and modes of life of the white race. To aU such,

lands .were to be assigned in severalty, eighty

acres to each head of a family. On these farms

were to be erected the necessary farm-buildings,

and farming implements and cattle were to be

furnished them.

In addition to these favors the government

offered them pay for such labors of value as were

performed, in addition to the crops they raised.

Indian farmers now augmented rapidily, until the

appalling outbreak in 1862, at which time about

one hundred and sixty had taken advantage of the

munificent provisions of the treaty. A number of

farms, some 160, had good, snug brick houses

erected upon them. Among these cimlized savages

was Little Crow, and many of these farmer-Indians

belonged to his own band.

The Indians disliked the idea of taking any por-

tion of the general fund belonging to the tribe for

the purpose of carrying out the civilization scheme-

Those Indians who retained the "blanket," and

hence called "blanket Indians," denounced the

measure as a fraud upon their rights. The chase

was then a God-given right; this scheme forfeited

that ancient natural right, as it pointed unmistaka-

bly to the destruction of the chase.

But to the friends of Indian races, the course

inaugurated seemed to be, step by step, lifting

these rude children of the plains to a higher level.

This scheme, however, was to a great degree

thwarted by the helpless condition of the "blanket

Indians" during a great portion of the year, and

their persistent determination to remain followers

of the chase, and a desire to continue on the war-

path.

When the chase fails, the "blanket Indians" re-

sort to their relatives, the farmers, pitch their

tepees around their houses, and then commence

the process of eating them out of house and home.

When the ruin is complete, the farmer Indians,

driven by the law of self-preservation, with their

wives and children, leave their homes to seek such

subsistence as the uncertain fortunes of the chase

may yield.

In the absence of the family from the house and

fields, thus deserted, the wandering "blanket In-

dians" commit whatever destruction of fences or

tenements their desires or necessities may suggest.

This perennial process goes on; so that in the

spring ^^iien the disheartened farmer Indian re-

turns to his desolate home, to prepare again for

another crop, he looks forward with no different

results for the coming winter.

It will be seen, from tliis one illustration, drawn

from the actual results of the civilizing process,

how hopeless was the prospect of elevating one

class of related savages without at the same time

protecting them from the incursions of their own

relatives, against whom the class attempted to be

favored, had no redress. In this attempt to civil-

ize these Dakota Indians the forty years, less or

more, of missionary and other efforts have been

measurably lost, and the money spent in that di-

rection, if not wasted, sadly misapplied.

The treaty of 1858 hul opened for settlement a

vast frontier country of the most attractive char-

acter, in the Valley of the Minnesota, and the

streams putting into the Minnesota, on either side,

such as Beaver creek, Sacred Heart, Hawk and

Chippewa rivers and some other small streams,

were flourishing settlements of white families.

Within this ceded tract, ten miles wide, were the

scattered settlements of Birch Coolie, Patterson

Eapids, on the Sacred Heart, and others as far up

as the Upper Agency at Yellow Medicine, in Een-

ville county. The county of Brown adjoined the

reservation, and was, at the time of which we are

now writing, settled mostly by Germans. In this

county was the flourishing town of New Ulm, and

a thriving settlement on the Big Cottonwood and

Watonwan, consisting of German and American

pioneers, who had selected this lovely and fertile

valley for their future homes.

Other counties, Blue Earth, Nicollet, Sibley,

Meeker, McLeod, Kandiyohi, Monongalia and

Murray, were all situated in the finest portions of

the state. Some of the valleys along the streams,

such as Butternut valley and others of similar

character, were lovely as Wyoming and as fertile

as the Garden of Eden. These counties, with

others somewhat removed from the direct attack of

the Indians in the massacre, as Wright, Stearns

and Jackson, and even reaching on the north to

Fort Abercrombie, thus extending from Iowa to

the Valley of the Bed Biver of the North, were

severally involved in the consequences of the war-
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fare of 1862. This extended area had at the time

a population of over fifty thousand people, princi-

pally ia the pursuit of agriculture; and although

the settlements were in their infancy, the people

were happy and contented, and as prosperous as

any similar community in any new country on the

American continent, since the landing of the PU-

grim Fathers.

We have in short, traced the Dakota tribes of

Mumesota from an early day, when the white man
first visited and explored these then unknown re-

gions, to the time of the massacre. We have also

given a synopsis of aU the most important treaties

between them and the government, with an allu-

sion to the country adjacent to the reservations,

and the probable number of people residing in the

portions of the state ravaged by the savages.

CHAPTER XXXI.

COMPIiAINTS OP THE INDIANS TBBATIES OF TBA-

VBBSE DBS SIOUX AND MENDOTA OBJECTIONS TO

THE MODE as PAYMENT—^INKPADUTA MASSACEE

AT SPIBIT LAKE PEOOF OS CONSPIBAOY ^IN-

DIAN COUNCILS.

In a former chapter the reader has h'ad some

account of the location of the several bands of

Sioux Indians in Mimiesota, and their relation

to the white settlements on the western border of

the state. It is now proposed to state in brief

some of the antecedents of the massacre.

PBOMINBNT CAUSES.

1. By the treaty of Traverse des Sioux, dated

July 23, 1851, between the United States and the

Sissetons and Wapatons, $276,000 were to be paid

their chiefs, and a further sum of $30,000 was to

be expended for their benefit in Indian improve-

ments. By the treaty of Mendota, dated August
5, 1851, the Medawakantons and Wapakutas were
to receive the sum of $200,000, to be paid to their

chief, and for an improvement fund the farther

sum of $30,000. These several sums, amounting
in the aggregate to .$565,000, these Indians, to

whom they were payable, claim they were never

paid, except, perhaps, a small portion expended in

improvements on the reservations. Thej became
dissatisfied, and expressed then- views in council

freely with the agent of the government.

In 1857, the Indian department at Washington
sent out Major Kintzing Prichette, a man of great
experience, to inquire into the cause of this disaf-

fection towards the government. In his report of

that year, made to the Indian department, Major

Prichette says

:

"The complaint which runs through all their coun-

cils points to the imperfect performance, or non-ful-

fiUment of treaty stipulations. Whether these

were well or ill founded, it is not my promise to

discuss. That such a behef prevails among them,

impairing their confidence and good faith in the

government, cannot be questioned."

In one of these councils Jagmani said: "The

Indians sold their lands at Traverse des Sioux. 1

say what we were told. For fifty years they were

to be paid $50,000 per annum. We were also

promised $300,000, and that we have not seen."

Mapipa Wicasta (Cloud Man), second chief of

Jagmani 's band, said:

"At the treaty of Traverse des Sioux, $275,000

were to be paid them when they came upon their

'

reservation; they desired to know what had be-

come of it. Every white man knows that they

have been five years upon their reservation, and

have yet heard nothing of it."

In this abridged form we can only refer in brief

to these complaints; but the history would seem

to lack completeness without the presentation of

\thi3 feature. As the fact of the dissatisfaction ex-

isted, the government thought it worth while to

appoint Judge Young to investigate the charges

made against the governor, of the then Minnesota

territory, then acting, ex-qfflcio, as superintendent

of Indian affairs for that locality. Some short

extracts from Judge Young's report are here pre-

sented :

"The governor is next charged with having paid

over the greater part of the money, appropriated

tmder the fourth article of the treaty of July 23

and August 6, 1851, to one Hugh Tyler, for pay-

ment or distribution to the 'traders' and 'half-

breeds,' contrary to the wishes and remonstrances

of the Indians, and in violation of law and the

stipulations contained in said treaties; and also

in violation of his own solemn pledges, personally

made to them, in regard to said payments.

"Of $275,000 stipulated to be paid under the

first clause of the fourth article of the treaty of

Traverse des Sioux, of July 24, 1851, the sum of

$250,000, was delivered over to Hugh Tyler, by
the governor, for distribution omong the 'traders'

and 'half-breeds,' according to the arrangement

made by the schedule of the Traders' Paper, dated

at Traverse des Sioux, July 23, 1851."



CAUSES OF IRRITATION. 181

" For this large sum of money, Hugh Tyler ex-

ecuted two receipts to the Governor, as the attor-

ney for the 'traders' and 'half breeds;' the one for

$210,000 on account of the 'traders,' and the other

for $40,000 on account of the ' half-breeds;' the

first dated at St. Paul, December 8, 1852, and the

second at Mendota, December 11, 1852."

"And of the sum of $110,000, stipulated to be

paid to the Medawakantons, under the fourth ar-

ticle of the treaty of August 5, 1851, the sum of

$70,000 was in like manner paid over to the said

Tyler, on a power of attorney executed to him by
the traders and claimants, under the said treaty,

on December 11, 1852. The receipts of the said

Tyler to the Governor for this money, $70,000, is

dated at St. Paul, December 13, 1852, making to-

gether the sum of $320,000. This has been shown

to have been contrary to the wishes and remon-

strances of a large majority of the Indians." And
Judge Young adds: "It is also believed to be in

violation of the treaty stipulations, as well as the

law making the appropriations under them."

These several sums of money were to be paid to

these Indians in open council, and soon after they

were on their reservations provided for them by

the treaties. In these matters the report shows

they were not consulted at all, in open council;

but on the contrary, that arbitrary divisions and

distributions were made of the entire fund, and

their right denied to direct the manner in which

they should be appropriated. See Acts of Gon-

gress, August 30, 1852.

The Indians claimed, also, that the third section

of the act was violated, as by that section the ap-

propriations therein referred to, should, in every

instance, be paid directly to the Indians them-

selves, to whom it should be due, or to the tribe,

or part of the tribe, per capita, " unless otherwise

the imperious interest of the Indians or some

treaty stipulation should require the payment to

be made otherwise, under the direction of the

president." This money was never so paid. The

report further states that a large sum, " $55,000,

was deducted by Hugh Tyler by way of discount

and percentage on gross amount of payments,

and that these exactions were made both from tra-

ders and half-breeds, without any previous agree-

ment, in many instances, and in such a way, in

some, as to make the impression that unless they

were submitted to, no payments would be made to

such claimants at all."

And, finally the report says, that from the testi-

mony it was evident that the money was not paid

to the chiefs, either to the Sisseton, Wapaton, or

Medawakanton bands, as they in open council re-

quested; but that they were compelled to submit

to this mode of payment to the traders, otherwise

no payment would be made, and the money would

be returned to Washington; so that in violation of

law they were compelled to comply with the Gov-

ernor's terms of payment, according to Hugh Ty-

ler's power of attorney.

The examination of this complaint, on the part

of the Indians, by the Senate of the United States,

resulted in exculpating the Governor of Minnesota

(Governor Bamsey) from any censure, yet the In-

dians were not satisfied with the treatment they

had received in this matter by the accredited agents

of the Government.

2. Another cause of irritation among these In-

dians arose out of the massacre of 1857, at Spirit

Lake, known as the Inkpaduta massacre. Inkpa-

duta was an outlaw of the Wapakuta band of

Sioux Indians, and his acts in the murders at

Spirit Lake were entirely disclaimed by the "annu-

ity Sioux." He had slain Tasagi, a Wapakuta

chief, and several of his relatives, some twenty

years previous, and had thereafter led a wandering

and marauding life about the head waters of the

Des Moines river.

Inkpaduta was connected with several of the

bands of annuity Sioux Indiana, and similar rela-

tions with other bands existed among his followers.

These ties extended even to the Yanktons west of

the James river, and even over the Missouri. He
was himself an outlaw for the murder of Tasagi

and others as stated, and followed a predatory and

lawless life in the neighborhood of his related

tribes, for which the Sioux were themselves blamed.

The depredations of these Indians becoming in-

sufferable, and the settlers finding themselves suf-

ficiently strong, deprived them of their guns and

drove them from the neighborhood. Recovering

some of their guns, or, by other accounts, digging

up a few old ones which they had buried, they

proceeded to the settlement of Spirit Lake and

demanded food. This appears to have been given

to a portion of the band which had first arrived,

to the extent of the means of those applied to.

Soon after, Inkpaduta, with the remainder of his

followers, who, in all, numbered twelve men and

two boys, with some women who had lingered be-

hind, came in and demanded food also. The set-

tler gave him to understand that he had no more
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to give; wliereupon Inkpaduta spoke to liis eldest

son to the effect that it was disgraceful to ask

these people for food which they ought to .take

themselves, and not to have it thrown to them like

dogs. Thus assured, the son immediately shot the

man, and the murder of the whole famUy fol-

lowed. Prom thence they proceeded from house

to house, until every family in the settlement,

without warning of those previously slain, were

all massacred, except four women, whom they bore

away prisoners, and afterward violated, with cir-

cumstances of brutality so abhorrent as to find no

parallel in the annals of savage barbarity, unless

we except the massacre of 1862, which occurred a

few years later.

From Spirit Lake the murderers proceeded to

Springfield, at the outlet of Shetek, or Pelican

lake, near the head waters of the Des Moines

river; where they remained encamped for some

days, trading with Mr. William Wood from Man-
kato, and his brothers. Here they succeeded in

killing seventeen, including the Woods, making",

in all, forty-seven persons, when the men rallied,

and firing upon them, they retreated and deserted

that part of the counti-y. Of the four women
taken captives by Inkpaduta, Mrs. Stevens and

Mrs. Noble were killed by the Indians, and Mrs.

Marble and Miss Gardner were rescued by the

Wapaton Sioux, under a promise of reward from

the Government, and for wliich the three Indians

who brought in these captives received each one

thousand dollars.

The Government had required of the Sioux the

delivery of Inkpaduta and his band as the condi-

tion for the payment of their annuities. This was

.regarded by certain of the bands as a great wrong
visited upon the innocent for the crimes of the

guilty. One of their speakers (Mazaknti Mani),

in a council held with the Sissetons and Wapatons,

A.ugust 10, 1857, at Yellow Medicine, said

:

"The soldiers have appointed me to speak for

them. The men who killed the white people did

not belong to us, and we did not expect to be called

upon to account for the deeds of another band.

We have always tried to do as our Great Father

tells us. One of our young men brought in a

captive woman. I went out and brought in the

other. The soldiers came up here and our men
assisted to kill one of Inkpaduta's sons at this

place. The lower Indians did not get up the war-

party for you; it was our Indians, the Wapatons
and Sissetons. The soldiers here say that they

were told by you that a thousand dollars would

be paid for killing each of the murderers. We,

with the men who went out, want to be paid for

what we have done. Three men were killed, as

we know. ***** All of us want our

money very much. A man of another band has

done wrong, and we are to suffer for it. Our old

women and children are hungry for this. I have

seen $10,000 sent here to pay for our going out.

I wish our soldiers were paid for it. I suppose

our Great Father has more money than this."

Major Pritohette, the special government agent,

thought it necessary to answer some points made
by Mazakuti Mani, and spoke, in council, as fol-

lows:

"Your Great Father has sent me to see Super-

intendent Oullen, and to say to him he was well

satisfied with his conduct, because he had acted ac-

cording to his instructions. Your Great Father

had heard that some of his white children had been

cruelly and brutally murdered by some of the

Sioux nation. The news was sent on the wings of

the lightning, from the extreme north to the land

of eternal summer, throughout which his children

dwell. His young men wished to make war on

the whole Sioux nation, and revenge the deaths of

their brethren. But your Great Father is a just

father and wishes to treat all his children aUke

with justice. He wants no innocent man punished

for the guilty. He punishes the guilty alone. He
expects that those missionaries who have been here

teaoLing you the laws of the Great Spirit had

taught you this. Whenever a Sioux is injured by
a white man your Great Father will punish him,

and expects from the chiefs and warriors of the

great Sioux nation that they will punish those In-

dians who injure the whites. He considers the

Sioux as a part of his family; and as friends and
brothers he expects them to do as the whites do to

them. He knows that the Sioux nation is divided

into bands; but he knows also how they can all

band together for common protection. He expects

the nation to punish these murderers, or to deliver

them up. He expects this because they are his

friends. As long as these murderers remain un-

punished or not delivered up, they are not actings

as friends of their Great Father. It is for this

reason that he has witheld the aunuity. Your

Great Father will have his white children pro-

tected; and all who have told you that your Great

Father is not able to punish those who injure them

will find themselves bitterly mistaken. Your
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Great Father desires to do good to all his children

and will do all in his power to accomplish it; but

he is firmly resolved to punish all who do wrong."

After this, another similar council, September 1,

1857, was held with the Sisseton and Wapaton

band of Upper Sioux at Yellow Medicine. Agent

Flandrau, in the meantime, had succeeded in or-

ganizing a band of warriors, made up of all the

"annuity" bands, under Little Crow. This expe-

dition numbered altogether one hundred and six,

besides four half-breeds. This party went out af-

ter Inkpaduta on the 22d of July,_ 1857, starting

from Yellow Medicine.

On the 5th of August Major Pritchette reported

to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, "Tftat the

party of Indians, representing the entire Sioux na-

tion, under the nominal head of Little Crow, re-

turned yesterday from the expedition in search of

Inkpaduta and his band," after an absence of thir-

teen days.

As this outlaw, Inkpaduta, has achieved an im-

mortality of infamy, it may be allowable in the

historian to record the names of his followers. In-

kpaduta (Scarlet Point) heads the list, and the

names of the eleven men are given by the wife of

Tateyahe, who was killed by the party of Sioux

under Little Crow, thus: Tateyahe (Shifting

Wind); Makpeahoteman (Roaring Cloud), son of

Inkpaduta, killed at Yellow Medicine; Makpiope-

ta (Pii'e Cloud), twin brother of Makpeohotoman;

Tawachshawakan (His Mysterious Feather), killed

in the late expedition; Bahata (Old Man); Kech-

omon (Putting on as He Walks); Huhsan (One

Leg); Kahadai (Eattling), son-in-law of Inkpa-

duta; Fetoa-tanka (Big Pace); Tatelidashinksha-

mani (One who Makes Crooked Wind as He
Walks); Tachanchegahota (His Great Gun), and

the two boys, children of Inkpaduta, not named.

After the band had been pursued by Little

Crow into Lake Chouptijatanka (Big Dry Wood),

distant twenty miles in a northwestern direction

from Skunk Lake, and three of them killed out-

right, wounding one, taking two women and a

little child prisoners, the Indians argued that they

had done sufficient to merit the payment, of their

annuities; and on the 18th of August, 1854, Maj.

OuUen telegraphed the following to the Hon. J.

W. Denver, commissioner of Indian affairs

:

"If the department concurs, I am of the opinion

that the Sioux of the Mississippi, having done all

in their power to punish or surrender Inkpaduta

and his band, their aimuities may with propriety

be paid, as a signal to the military movements

from Forts Eidgely and EandaU. The special

agent from the department waits an answer to

this dispatch at Dunleith, and for instructions in

the premises.''

,
In this opinion Major Pritchette, in a letter of

the same date, concurred, for reasons therein

stated, and transmitted to the department. In

this letter, among other things, the writer says:

"No encouragement was given to them that

such a request would be granted. It is the -

opinion, however, of Superintendent CuUen, the

late agent, Judge Flandrau, Governor Medary,

and the general intelligent sentiment, that the an-

nuities may now with propriety, be paid, without

a violation of the spirit of the expressed deter-

mination of the department to withhold them until

the murderers of Spirit Lake should be surren-

dered or punished. It is argued that the present

friendly disposition of the Indians is manifest, and

should not be endangered by subjecting them to

the wants incident to their condition during the

coming winter, and the consequent temptation to

depredation, to which the withholding their

money would leave them exposed."

The major yielded this point for the reasons

stated, yet he continued:

"If not improper for me to express an opinion, I

am satisfied that, without chastising the whole

Sioux nation, it is impossible to enforce the sur-

render of Inkpaduta and the remainder of bis

band." * * * "Nothing less than the entire

extirpation of Inkpaduta's murderous outlaws will

satisfy the justice and dignity of the government,

and vindicate outraged humanity."

We here leave the Inkpaduta massacre, remark-

ing only that the government paid the Indians

their annuities, and made no further effort to bring

to condign punishment the renmant who had

escaped alive from the pursuit of Little Crow and

his soldiers. This was a great error on the part

of our government. The Indians construed it

either as an evidence of weakness, or that tie

whites were afraid to pursue the matter further,

lest it might terminate in still more disastrous re-

sults to the infant settlement of the state border-

ing upon the Indian country. The result was,

the Indians became more insolent than ever be-

fore. Little Crow and his adherents had found

capital out of which to foment future difficulties

in which the two races should become involved.

And it is now believed, and subsequent circum-
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stances have greatly strengthened that belief, that

Little Crow, from the time the government ceased

its efforts to punish Inkpaduta, began to agitate

his great scheme of driving the whites from the

state of Minnesota; a scheme which finally cul-

minated in the ever-to-be-remembered massacre of

August, A. D. 1862.

The antecedent exciting causes of this massacre

are numerous. The displaced agents and traders

find the cause in the erroneous action of the Gov-

ernment, resulting ia their removal from office.

The statesman and the philosopher may unite in

tracing the cause to improper theories as to the

mode of acquiring the right to Indian lands.

The former may locate the evil in our system of

treaties, and the latter in our theories of govern-

ment. The philanthropist may find the cause in

the absence of justice which we exhibit in all our

intercourse with the Indian races. The poet and

the lovers of romance in human character find the

true cause, as they believe, in the total absence of

all appreciation of the noble, generous, confiding

traits peculiar to the native Indian. The Chris-

tian teacher finds apologies for acts of Indian

atrocities in the deficient systems of mental and

moral culture. Each of these different classes

are satisfied that the great massacre of August,

1862, had its origin in some way intimately con-

nected with his favorite theory.

Let us, for a moment, look at the facts, in rela-

tion to the two races who had come into close con-

tact with each other, and in the light of these

, facts, judge of the probable cause of this fearful

coUision. The white race, some two hundred

years ago, had entered upon the material conquest

of the American continent, armed with all the ap-

pliances for its complete subjugation. On the

shores of this prolific continent these new ele-

ments came in contact with a race of savages with

many of the traits peculiar to a common human-

ity, yet, with these, exhibiting all, or nearly all,

the vices of the most barbarous of savage races.

The period of occupancy of this broad, fertile

land was lost in the depths of a remote antiquity.

The culture of the boU, if ever understood, had

been long neglected by this race, and the chase

was their principal mode of gaining a scanty sub-

sistence. It had lost all that ennobled man, and

was aUve only to all his degradations. The white

man was at once acknowledged, the Indian being

judge, superior to the savage race with which he

had come in contact.

Here, then, is the first cause, in accordance with

a universal principle, in which the conflict of the

two races had its origin. It was a conflict of

knowledge with ignorance, of right with wrong.

If this conflict were only mental, and the weapons

of death had never been resorted to in a single

instance, the result would have been the same.

The inferior race must either recede before the su-

perior, or sink into the common mass, and, like the

raindrops falling upon the bosom of the ocean,

lose aU traces of distinction. This warfare takes

place the world over, on the principle of mental

and material progress. The presence of the supe-

rior light eclipses the inferior, and causes it to

retire. Mind makes aggression upon mind, and

the superior, sooner or later, overwhelms the infe-

rior. This process may go on, with or without

the conflict of physical organisms. The final

result will be the same.

Again, we come to the great law of right. The

white race stood upon this undeveloped continent

ready and willing to execute the Divine injunc-

tion, to replenish the earth and subdue it. On the

one side stood the white race armed with his law;

on the other the savage, resisting the execution of

that law. The result could not be evaded by any

human device. In the case before us, the Indian

races were in the wrongful possession of a conti-

nent required by the superior right of the white

man. This right, founded in the wisdom of God,

eliminated by the ever-operative laws of progress,

wUl continue to assert its dominion, with varying

success, contingent on the use of means employed,

until all opposition is hushed in the perfect reign

of the superior aggressive principle.

With these seemingly necessary reflections, we

introduce the remarks of the Sioux agent touching

the antecedents of the great massacre, unparalleled

in the history of the conflict of the races. The

agent gives his peculiar views, and they ale worthy

of careful consideration.

Major Thomas Galbfaith, Sioux Agent, says-:

" The radical, moving cause of the outbreak is,

I am satisfied, the ingrained and fixed hostility of

the savage barbarian to reform and civilization.

As in aU barbarous communities, in the history of

the world, the same people have, for the most part,

resisted the encroachments of civilization upon

their ancient customs; so it is in the case before

us. Nor does it matter materially in what shape

civilization makes its attack. Hostile, opposing

forces meet in conflict, and a war of social elements
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is the result—civilization is aggressive, and bar-

barism stubbornly resistant. Sometimes, indeed,

civilization has achieved a bloodless victory, but

generally it has been otherwise. Christianity, it-

self, the true basis of civilization, has, in most in-

stances, -waded to success through seas of blood.

* * * Having stated thus much, I state as a

- settled fact in my mind, that the encroachments of

Christianity, and its handmaid, civilization, upon

the habits and customs of the Sioux Indians, is

the cause of the late terrible Sioux outbreak. There

were, it is true, many immediate inciting causes,

which will be alluded to and stated hereafter, but

they are subsidiary to, and developments of, or

incident to, the great cause set forth. * * *

But that the recent Sioux outbreak would have

happened at any rate, as a result, a fair conse-

quence of the cause here stated, I have no more

doubt than I doubt that the great rebellion to

overthrow our Government would have occurred

had Mr. Lincoln never been elected President of

the United States.

" Now as to the existing or immediate causes of

the outbreak: By my predecessor a new and

radical system was inaugurated, practically, and,

in its inauguration, he was aided by the Christian

missionaries and by the Government. The treaties

of 1858 were ostensibly made to carry this new

system into effect. The theory, in substance, -asss

to break up the community-system which prevailed

among the Sioux; weaken and destroy their

tribal relations, and individualize them, by giving

them each a separate home. * * * On the

1st day of June, A. D. 1861, when I entered upon

the duties of my office, I found that the system

had just been inaugurated. Some hundred fami-

lies of the Annuity Sioux had become novitiates,

and their relatives and friends seemed to be favor-

ably disposed to the new order of things. But I

also found that, against these, were arrayed over

five thousand "Annuity Sioux," besides at least

three thousand Yanktonais, all inflamed by the

most bitter, relentless, and devilish hostility.

"I saw, to some extent, the difficulty of the

situation, but I determined to continue, if in my
power, the civilization system. To favor it, to aid

and build it up by 'every fair means, I advised,

encouraged, and assisted the farmer novitiates; in

short, I sustained the policy inaugurated by my
predecessor, and sustained and recommended by the

Government. I soon discovered that the system

could not be successful without a sufficient force

to protect the "farmer" from the hostihty of the

"blanket Indians."

"During my term, and up to the time of the out-

break, about one hundred and seventy-five had

their hair cut and had adopted the habits and cus-

toms of white men.

" For a time, indeed, my hopes were strong that

civilization would soon be in the ascendant. But

the increase of the civilization party and their evi-

dent prosperity, only tended to exasperate the In-

dians of the 'ancient customs,' and to widen the

breach. But while these are to be enumerated, it

may be permitted me to hope that the radical

cause will not be forgotten or overlooked; and I

am bold to express this desire, because, ever since

the outbreak, the pubUo journals of the country,

religious and secular, have teemed with editorials

by and communications from 'reliable individuals,'

politicians, philanthropists, philosophers and hired

'penny-a-liners,' mostly mistaken and sometimes

willfully and grossly false, giving the cause of the

Indian raid."

Major Galbraith enumerates a variety of other

exciting causes of the massacre, which pur limit

will not allow us to insert in this volume. Among
other causes, * * that the United States was

itself at war, and that Washington was taken by
the negroes. * * But none of these were, in

his opinion, the cause of the outbreak.

The Major then adds:

"Grievances such as have been related, and

numberless others akin to them, were spoken of,

recited, and chanted at their councils, dances, and

feasts, to such an extent that, in their excitement,

in June, 1862, a secret organization known as the

'Soldier's Lodge,' was founded by the young

men and soldiers of the Lower Sioux, with the

object, as far as I was able to learn through spies

and informers, of preventing the 'traders' from

going to the pay-tables, as had been their custom.

Since the outbreak I have become satisfied that

the real object of this 'Lodge' was to adopt

measures to 'clean out' all the white people at the

end of the payment."

Whatever may have been the cause of the fear-

ful and bloody tragedy, it is certain that the man-

ner of the execution of the infernal deed was a

deep-laid conspiracy^ long cherished by Little

Crow, taking form under the guise of the ".Sol-

diers' Lodge," and matured in secret Indian coun-

cils. In all these secret movements Little Crow

was the moving spirit.
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Now the opportime moment seemed to haVe

come. Only thirty soldiers were stationed at Fort

Eidgely. Some thirty were all that Fort Bipley

could muster, and at Fort Abercrombie one com-

pany, under Captain Van Der Hork, was all the

whites could depend upon to repel any attack in

that quarter. The whole effective force for the

defense of the entire frontier, from Pembina to the

Iowa line, did not exceed two hundred men. The

annuity money was daily expected, and no troops

except about one huudred men at Yellow Medi-

oiae, had been detailed, as usual, to attend the an-

ticipated payment. Here was a glittering prize to

be paraded before the minds of the excited sav-

ages. The whites were weak; they were engaged

in a terrible war among themselves; their atten-

tion was now directed toward the great struggle

in the South. At such a time, offering so many

chances for rapine and plunder, it would be easy

to unite, at least, all the annuity Indians in one

common movement. Little Orow knew full well

that the Indians could easily be made to believe

that now was a favorable time to make a grand

attack upon the border settlements. In view of all

the favorable auspices now concurring, a famous

Indian council was called, which was fully attended

by the. "Soldiers' Lodge." Rev. S. E. Kiggs, in

his late work, 1880, ("Mary and I"), referring to

the outbreak, says:

"On A-ugust 17th, the outbreak was commenced

in the border white settlements at Acton, Minne-

sota. That night the news was carried to the

Lower Sioux Agency, and a council of war was

called." * * * " Something of the kind had

been meditated and talked of, and prepared for

undoubtedly. Some time before this, they had

formed the Tee-yo-tee-pee, or Soldiers' Lodge."

A memorable council, convened at Little Crow's

village, near the Lower Agency, on Sunday night

previous to the attack on Fort Eidgely, and pre-

cisely two weeks before the first massacres at Ac-

ton. Little Crow was at this council, and he was

not wanting in ability to meet the greatness of

the occasion. The proceedings of this council, of

course, were secret. Some of the results arrived

at, however, have since come to the writer of these

pages. The council matured the details of a con-

spiracy, which for atrocity has hitherto never

found a place in recorded history, not excepting

that of Oawnpore.

The evidence of that conspiracy comes to us, in

part, from the relation of one who was present at

the infamous council. Comparing the statement

of the narrative with the known occurrences of

the times, that council preceded the attack on the

Government stores at the Upper Agency, and was

convened on Sunday night; the attack on the

Upper Agency took place the next day, Monday,
the 4th of August; and on the same day, an at-

tempt was made to take Fort Eidgely by strategy.

Not the slightest danger was anticipated. Only
thirty soldiers occupied the post at Fort Eidgely

and this was deemed amply sufficient in times of

peace. But we will not longer detain the reader

from the denouement of this horrible plot.

Our informant states the evidences of the de-

crees of the council of the 3d of August, thus:

"I was looking toward the Agency and saw a

large body of men coming toward the fort, and

supposed them soldiers returning from the pay-

ment at Yellow Medicine. On a second look, I

observed they were mounted, and knowing, at this

time, that they must be Indians, was surprised at

seeing so large a body, as they were not expected.

I resolved to go into the garrison to see what it

meant, having, at the time, not the least suspicion

that the Indians intended any hostile demonstr.i-

tion. When I arrived at the garrison, I found

Sergeant Jones at the entrance with a mounted
howitzer, charged with shell and cauister-shot,

pointed towards the Indians, who were removed

but a short distance from the guardhouse. I

inquired of the sergeant what it meant? whether

any danger was apprehended? He replied indif-

ferently, "No, but that he thought it a good rule

to observe that a soldier should always be ready

for any emergency."

These, Indians had requested the privilege to

dance in the inclosure surrounding the fort. On
this occasion that request was refused them. But

I saw that, about sixty yards west of the guard

house, the ludians were making the necessary

preparations for a dance. I thought nothing of it

as they had frequently done the same thing, but a

little further removed from the fort, under some-

what different circumstances. I considered it a

singular exhibition of Indian foolishness, and, at

the solicitation of a few ladies, went out and was

myself a spectator of the dance.

"When the dance was concluded, the Indians

.sought and obtained permission to encamp on

some rising ground about a quarter of a mUe west

of the garrison. To this ground they soon re-

paired, and encamped for the night. The next
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tno-'mng, by 10 o'clock, all had left the vicinity of

the garrison, departing in the direction of the

Lower Agency. This whole matter of the dance

was so <3ondTioted as to lead most, if not all, the

residents of the garrison to believe that the In-

dians had paid them that visit for the purpose of

dancing and obtaining provisions for a feast.

"Some things were observable that were unu-

sual. The visitors were all warriors, ninety -six in

number, all in undress, except a very few who wore

calico shirts; and, in addition to this, they all car-

ried arms, guns and tomahawks, with ammunition

pouches suspended around their shoulders. Pre-

vious to the dance, the war implements were de-

posited some two hundred yards distant, where

they had left their ponies. But even this circum-

stance, so far as it was then known, excited no

suspicion of danger or hostilities in the minds of

the residents of the garrison. These residents

were thirty-five men ; thirty soldiers and five citi-

zens, with a few women and children. The guard

that day consisted of three soldiers; one was walk-

ing leisurely to and fro in front of the guard-

house; the other two were off duty, passing about

an''' taking their rest; and all fentirely •without ap-

prehension of danger from Indians or any other

f le. As the Indians left the garrison without do-

ing any mischief, most of us supposed that no evil

was meditated by them. But there was one man
who acted on the supposition that there was al-

ways danger surrounding a garrison when visited

by savages; that man was Sergeant Jones. From

t je time he took his position at the gun he never

left it, but acted as he said he believed it best to

do, that was to be always ready. He not only re-

mained at the gun himself, but retained two other

men, whom he had previously trained as assistants

to work the piece.

"Shortly before dark, without disclosing his in-

tentions, Sergeant Jones said to his wife: 'I have

a little business to attend to to-night; at bed-time

I wish you to retire, and not to wait for me.' As

he had frequently done this before, to discharge

some official duty at the quartermaster's office, she

thought it not singular, but did as he had re-

quested, and retired at the usual hour. On awak-

ening in the morning, however, she was surprised

at finding that he was not there, and had not been

in bed. In truth, this faithful soldier had stood

by his gun throughout the entire night, ready to

fire, if occasion required, at any moment during

that time; nor could he be ptr uaded to leave that

gun until all this party of Indians had entirely

disappeared from the vicinity of the garrison.

"Some two weeks after this time, those same In-

dians, with others, attacked Fort Kidgely and, af-

ter some ten days' siege, the garrison was reheved

by the arrival of soldiers under Colonel H. H Sib-

ley. The second day after Colonel Sibley arrived,

a Frenchman of pure or mixed blood appeared

befoi-e Sergeant Jones, in a very agitated manner,

and intimated that he had some disclosures to

make to him; but no sooner had he made this in-

timation than he became extremely and violently

agitated, and seemed to be in a perfect agony of

mental perturbation. Sergeant Jones said to him,

'If you have anything to disclose, you ought, at

once, to make it known.' The man repeat-ed that

he had _ disclosures to make, but that he did not

dare to make them; and although Sergeant Jones

urged him by every consideration in his power to

tell what he knew, the man seemed to be so com-

pletely under the dominion of terror, that he was

unable to divulge the great secret. 'Why,' said

he, 'they will kill me; they will kill my wife and

children.' Saying which he turned and walkec^

away.

"Shortly after the first interview, this man rt

turned to Sergeant Jones, when again the Ser-

geant urged him to disclose what he knew; and

promised him that if he would do so, he would
keep his name a profound secret forever; that if

the information which he should disclose should

lead to the detection and punishment of the guilty

the name of the informant should niver be made
known. Being thus assured, the Frenchman soon

became more calm. Hesitating a moment, he in-

quired of Sergeant Jones if he remembered that,

some two weeks ago, a party of Indians came
down to the fort to have a dance? Sergeant

Jones rejolied that he did. 'Why,' said the French-

man, 'do you know that these Indians were all

warriors of Little Crow, or some of the other lower

bands ? Sir, these Indians had all been selecteil

for the purpose, and came down to Fort Eidgel

by the express command of Little Crow and tj,

other chiefs, to get permission to dance ; and when

all suspicion should be completely lulled, in the

midst of the dance, to seize their weapons, kill

every person in the fort, seize the big guns, open

the magazine, and secure the ammunition, when

they should be joined by all the remaining war-

riors of the lower bands. Thus armed, and in-

creased by numbers, they were to proceed together
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down the valley of the Minnesota. With this

force and these weapons they were assured they

could drive every white man beyond the Missis-

sippi.'

"All this, the Frenchman informed Sergeant

Jones, he had learned by being present at a coun-

cil, and from conversations had with other Indians,

who had told him that they had gone to the gar-

rison for that very purpose. When he had con-

cluded this revelation, Sergeant Jones inquired,

'Why did they not execute their purpose? Why
did they not take the fort?' The Frenchman re-

phed: 'Because they saw, during all their dance,

and theii stay at the fort, that big gun constantly

pointed at them.'

"

Interpreter Quinn, now dead, told the narrator

of the foregoing incidents that Little Orow had

said, repeatedly, in their councils, that the Indians

could kill all the white men in the Minnesota Val-

ley. In this way, he said, we can get all our lands

back; that the whites would again want these lands,

and that they could get double annuities. Some

of the councils at which these suggestions of Lit-

tle Orow were made, dated, he said, as far back as

the summer of 1857, immediately after the Ink-

paduta war.

On the 17th day of August, 1862, Little Crow,

Inkpaduta, and Liltle Priest, the latter one of the

Winnebago chiefs, attended church at the Lower

Agency, and seemed to listen attentively to the

services, conducted by the Eev. J. D. Hinman.

On the afternoon of that day Little Crow invited

these Indians to his house, a short distance above

the Agency. On the same day an Indian oouncO.

was held at Kice Creek, sixteen miles above the

Lower Agency, attended by the Soldiers' Lodge.

Inkpaduta, it is believed, and Little Priest, with

some thirteen Winnebago warriors, attended this

council. Why this council was held, and what

was its object, can easily be imagined. The de-

crees of the one held two weeks before had not been

executed. The reason why the fort was not taken

has been narrated. The other part of the same

scheme, the taking of the agency at the Yellow

Medicine, on^he same day the fort was to have

fallen, wiU be alluded to in another chapter. It

then became necessary for the conspirators to hold

another council, to devise new plans for the exe-

cution of their nefarious designs upon the whites.

The Acton tragedy, forty miles distant, had taken

place but a few hours before this councU was con-

vened. On Monday, the 18th of August, these

Acton milrderers were seen at the mill on Crow

river, six miles from Hutchinson, with the team

taken from Acton; so that these Indians did not

go to the Lower Agency, but remained in th(

country about Hutchinson. One of the number

only returned to the Agency by the next morning

after the council at Bice Creek" had been held.

All that followed in the bloody drama, originated

at this council of Death, over which Little Crow

presided, on Sunday afternoon, the 17th day of

August, 1862, on the evening of the same day of

the Acton murders. The general massacre of all

white men was by order of this council, to com-

mence at the Agency, on the morning of the 18th,

and at as many other points, simultaneously, as

could be reached by the dawn of day, radiating

from that point as a center. The advantage

gained by the suddenness of the attack, and the

known panic that would result, was to be followed

up until every settlement was massacred. Fort

Kidgely taken, both Agencies burned. New Ulm,

Mankato, St. Peter, and all the towns on the river

destroyed, the whole country plundered and devas-

tated, and as many of the inhabitants as were left

alive were to be driven beyond the Mississippi

river. The decree of this savage council, matured

on a Christian Sabbath, by Indians, who were sup-

posed to be civilized, so immediately after atten-

tively listening to the gospel of peace, filled the

measure of the long-cherished conspiracy matured

by Little Orow, until it was iull of the most hope-

ful results to his polluted and brutal nature.

"Once an Indian, always an Indian," seems in this

instance to have been horribly demonstrated.

OHAPTEE XXXn.
OhANGB of INDIAN OrMCIALS PAYMENT OP 1861

EEPOBT OP AGENT GAI;BRAITH ITPPEB AND

nOWBK BANDS—SUPPLIES ATTACK ON THE WAEE-

HOUSE BBNVLLLE EANGEES EETUEN TO POBT

EIDGEIiT.

The change in the administration of the Gov-

ernment in 1861, resulting, as it did, in a general

change in the minor offices throughout the coun-

try, carried into retirement Major William J. Cul-

len. Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the

Northern Superintendency, and Major Joseph E.

Brown, Agent for the Sioux, whose places were

flUed respectively by Colonel Clark W. Thomp-
son and Major Thomas J. Galbraith. Colonel
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Thompson entered upon the duties of his office in

May of that year, and Major Galbraith on the

first day of June. In that month the new agent

and many of the new employes, with theii' fami-

lies, took up their residence on the reservations.

These employes, save a few young men who

were employed as laborers, were, with two excep-

tions, men of families, it being the policy of the

agent to employ among the Indians as few un-

married men as possible.

During that year nothing occurred on the res-

ervations of an unusual character more than the

trouble with which the Agents had always to deal

at every semi-annual gathering at the Agencies.

We' say "semi-annual," because they came ia the

summer to draw their annuities, and again in the

autumn for their winter supply of goods.

It has been usual at the payment of annuities

to have a small force of troops to guard against

any untoward event which might otherwise occur.

The payment to the lower bands, in 1861, was

made in the latter part of June, and to the upper

bands about the middle of July. These pay-

ments were made by Superintendent Thompson

in person.

The Sisseton bands came down to the Agency

at a very early day, as had always been their

habit, long before the arrival of the money,

bringing with them a large body of Yanktonais

(not annuity Sioux), who always came to the

payments, claiming a right to a share of the an

nuities issued to the Indians.

These wild hunters of the plains were an un-

failing element of trouble at the payments to the

upper bands. At this last payment they were in

force, and by their troublesome conduct, caused a

delay of some days in the making of the payments.

This was, however, no unusual occurrence, as they

always came with a budget of grievances, upon

which they were wont to dUate in council. This

remark is equally true of the annuity Indians.

Indeed, it would be very strange if a payment

could be made without a demand, on the part of

the "young men," for three or four times the

amount of their annual dues.

These demands were usually accompanied by
overt acts of violence; yet the payment was made;

and this time, after the payment, aU departed to

their village at Big Stone Lak& They came

again in the fall, drew their supply of goods, and

went quietly away.

It so turned out, however, tha"t the new agent,

Galbraith, came into office too late to insure a large

crop that year. He says:

"The autumn of 1861 closed upon us rather un-

favorably. The crops were light; especially was
this the case with the Upper Sioux; they had little

or nothing. As heretofore communicated to the

Department, the cut-worms destroyed all the

Sisetons, and greatly injured the crop of the

"Wapatons, Medawakantons, Wapakutas. For
these latter I purchased on credit, in anticipation

of the Agricultural and' Civilization Funds, large

quantities of pork and 'flour, ut curr.ent rates, to

support them during the winter.

"Early in the autumn, in view of the necessitous

situation of the Sisetons, I made a requisition on

the department for the snm of |5,000, out of the

special fund for the rehef of 'poor and destitute

Indians;' and, in anticipation of receiving this

money, made arrangements to feed the old and in-

firm men, and the women and children of these

people. I directed the Eev. S. B. Kiggs to make
the selection, and furnish me a list.

"He carefully did this, and we fed, in an econ-

omical, yea, even parsimonious way, about 1,500

ot these people from the middle of December until

nearly the first of April. We had hoped to get

them off on their spring hunt earlier, but a tre-

mendous and unprecedented snow-storm during

the last days of February prevented.

"In response to my requisition, I received

$3,000, and expended very nearly $5,000, leaving

a deficiency not properly chargable to the regular

funds, of about $2,000.

"These people, it is believed, must have per-

ished had it not been for this scanty assistance.

In addition to this, the regular issues were made
to the farmer Indians in payment for their labor.**** * ^ ^ * *

"In the month of August, 1861, the supennten-

dents of farms were directed to have ploughed 'in

the fall,' in the old public and neglected private

fields, a sufficient quantity of land to provide

'plantings' for such Indians as could not be pro-

vided with oxen and implements. In pursuance

of this direction, there were ploughed, at rates

ranging from $1.50 to $2,00 per acre, ac-

cording to the nature of the work, by teams and
men hired for the purpose, for the Lower Sioux

about 500 acres, and for the Upper Sioux, about

475 acres. There were, also, at the same time,

ploughed by the farmer Indians and the depart-

ment teams, about 250 acres for the Lower, and
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about 325 acres for the Upper Sioux. This fall

ploughing was continued until the frost prevented

its further prosecution. It was done to facilitate

the work of the agricultiiral department, and to

kill the worms which had proved so injurious the

previous year. * * *

"The carpenter-shops at both Agencies were

supplied with lumber for the manufacture and re-

pair of sleds, wagons, and other farming utensils.

Sheds were erected for the protection of the cattle

and utensils of the depertment, and the farmer

Indians, assisted by the department carpenters,

erected stables, pens, and out-houses for the pro-

tection of their catt^.e, horses and utensils. * *

Hay, grain, and other supplies were provided,

and, in short, every thing was done which the

means at command of the agent would justify.

"The work of the autumn being thus closed, I

set about making preparations for the work of the

next spring and summer, and in directing the

work of the winter. I made calculations to erect,

during the summer and autumn of 1862, at least

fifty dwelling-houses for Indian families, at an

estimated average cost of $300 each; and also to

aid the farmer Indians in erecting as many ad-

ditional dwellings as possible, not to exceed thirty

or forty; and to have planted for the Lower

Sioux, at least 1,200 acres, and for the Upper

Sioux, at least 1,300 acres of crops, and to have

all the land planted, except that at Big Stone

Lake, inclosed by a fence.

"To carry out these calculations, early in the

the winter the superintendents of farms, the black-

smiths, the carpenters, and the superintendents of

schools were directed to furnish estimates for the

amount of agricultural implementa, horses, oxen,

wagons, carts, building material, iron, steel, tools,

and supplies needed to carry on successfully their

several departments for one year from the open-

ing of navigation in the spring of 1862.

"These estimates were prepared and furnished

me about the 1st of February. In accordance

with these estimates, I proceeded to purchase, in

open marlcet, the articles and supplies recommend-

ed.

"I made the estimates' for one year, and pur-

chases accordingly, in order to secure the benefit

of transportation by water in the spring, and thus

avoid the delays, vexations, and extra expense of

transportation by land in the fall. The bulk of

purchases were made with the distinct underetand-

in^ that payment would be made out of the funds

belonging to the quarter in which the goods, im-

plements, or supplies, were expended."

"Thus it will be seen that, in the spring of 1862,

there was on hand supplies and material sufficient

to carry us through the coming year. * * *

Thus, to all appearance, the spring season opened

propitiously. * * * To carry out my original

design of having as much as possible planted for

the Indians at Big Stone Lake and Lac qui Parle

as early in the month of May, 1862, as the condi-

tion of the swollen streams would permit, I visited

Lao qui Parle and Big Stone Lake, going as far

as North Island, in Lake Traverse, having with

me Antoine Freniere, United States Interpreter,

Dr. J. L. Wakefield, physician of the Upper Sioux,

and Nelson Givens, assistant Agent. At. Lac qui

Parle I found the Indians willing and anxious to

plant. I inquired into their condition and wants,

and made arrangements to have them supplied

with seeds and implements, and directed Amos W.
Huggins, the school teacher there, to aid and in-

struct them in their work, and to make proper

distribution of the seeds and implements furnished,

and placed at his disposal an ox-team and wagon

and two breaking-teams, with instructions to de-

vote his whole time and attention to the superin-

tendence and instruction of the resident Indians

during the planting season, and until the crops

were cultivated and safely harvested.

"I also found the Indians at Big Stone Lake and

Lake Traverse very anxious to plant, but without

any means whatever so to do. I looked over their

fields in order to see what could be done. After

having inquired into the whole matter, I instructed

Mr. Givens to remain at Big Stone Lake and su-

perintend and direct the agricultural operations

of the season, and to remain there until it was too

late to plant any more. I placed at his disposal

ten double plough teams, with men to operate

them, and ordered forward at once one hundred

bushels of seed corn and five- hundred bushels of

seed potatoes, with pumpkin, squash, turnip, and

other seeds, in reasonable proportion, together

with a sufficient supply of ploughs, hoes, and

other implements for the Indians, and a black-

smith -to repair breakages; and directed him to

see that every Indian, and every Indian horse or

pony, did as much work as was possible. , * *

"On my way down to the agency, I visited the

plantings of Tahampih'da, (Battling Moccasin),

i'dazasha, (Bed Iron), Mahpiya Wicasta, (Cloud

Man), and Battling Oloud, and found that the
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Superintendent of Farms for the Upper Sioux had,

in accordance with my instructions, been faithfully

attending to the wants of these bands. He had

supphed them with implements and seeds, and I

left them at work. On my arrival at the Agency,

I foimd that the farmer Indians residing there-

abouts had, in my absence, been industriously at

work, and had not only completed their plowing,

but had planted very extensively. The next day

after my arrival at the Agency, I visited each

farmer Indian at the Yellow Medicine, and con-

gratulated him on his prospect for a good crop,

and spoke to him such words of encouragement

<i8 occurred to me.

"The next day I proceeded to the Lower Agency,

and then taking with me Mr. A. H. Wagner, the

Superintendent of Farms for the Lower Sioux, I

went around each planting, and, for the second

time, visited each farmer Indian, and found that,

in general, my instructions had been carried out.

The plowing was generally completed in good

order, and the planting nearly all done, and many

of the farmer Indians were engaged in repairing

old and making new fences. I was pleased and

gratified, and so told the Indians—the prospect

was so encouraging.

"About the first of July I visited all the plant-

ings of both the Upper and Lower Sioux, except

those at Big Stone Lake, and found, in nearly

every instance, the prospects for good crops very

hopeful indeed. The superintendents of farms,

the male school teachers, and aU the employes

assisting them, had done their duty. About this

time Mr. Givens returned from Big Stone Lake,

and reported to me his success there. From all I

knew and all I thus learned, I was led to believe

that we would have no 'starving Indians' to feed

the next winter, and little did I dream of the un-

fortunate and terrible outbreak which, m a short

time, burst upon us, * * *

"In the tall of 1861, a good and substantial

school-room and dwelling, a store-house and black-

smith-shop, were completed at Lac qui Parle, and,

about the first of November, Mr. Amos W. Hug-

gins and his family occupied the dweUing, and,

assisted by Miss Julia LaFxambois, prepared the

school-room, and devoted their whole time to

teaching such Indian children as they could in-

duce to attend the school.

"The storehouse was supplied with provisions,

which Mr. Huggins was instructed to issue to the

children and their parents at his discretion. Here

it may be pei-mitted me to remark to Mr. Hug-
gins, who was bom and raised among the Sioux,

and Miss LaFrambois, who was a Sioux mixed-

blood, were two persons entirely capable and in

every respect qualified for the discharge of the

duties of their situation, than whom the Indians

had no more devoted friends. They hved amoi
;

the Indians of choice, because they thought tlit;)

could be beneficial to them. Mr. Huggins exer-

cised nothing but kindness toward them. He fed

them when hungry, clothed them when naked,

attended them when sick, and advised and cheered

them in all their diificulties. He was intelligent,

energetic, industrious, and good, and yet he was

one of the first victims of the outbreak, shot down
hke a dog by the very Indians whom he had so

long and so well served. * * * * -^ ^j: ;);

"In the month of June, 1862, being well aware

of the influence exerted by Little Orow over the

blanket Indians, and, by his plausibility, led to

beheve that he intended to act in good faith, I

promised to build him a good brick house pro-

vided that he would agree to aid me in bringing

around the idle young men to habits of industry

and civilization, and that he would abandon the

leadership of the blanket Indians and become a

'white man.'

"This being well understood, as I thought, I

directed Mr. Nairn, the carpenter of the Lower
Sioux, to make out the plan and estimates for

Crow's house, ahd to proceed at once to make the

window and door frames, and to prepare the lum-

ber necessary for the building, and ordered the

teamsters to deliver the necessary amount of brick

as soon !,s possible. Little Orow agreed to dig

the cellar and haul the necessary lumber, both of

which he had commenced. The carpenter had

nearly completed his part of the work, and the

brick was being promptly delivered at the time

of the outbreak.

"On the 15th of August, only three days pre-

vious to the outbreak, I had an interview with

Little Crow, and he seemed to be well pleased and

satisfied. Little indeed did I suspect, at that

time, that he would be the leadet in the terrible

outbreak of the 18th."

There were planted, according to the statement

of Agent Galbraith in his report, on the lower

reservation, one thousand and twenty-five acres of

corn, two hundred and sixty acres of potatoes,

sixty acres of turnips and ruta-bagas, and twelve

acres of wheat, besides a large quantity of field
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and garden vegetables. These crops, at a low

estimate, would have harvested, in the fall, 74,865

bushels. There were, on the lower reservation,

less than three thousand Indians, all told. This

crop, therefore, would have yielded fuU twenty-

five bushels to each man, woman and child, in-

cluding the blanket as well as the farmer Indians

There were, also, of growing crops, in fine con-

dition, on the upper reservation, one thousand one

hundred and ten acres of corn, three hundred

acres of potatoes, ninety acres of turnips and

ruta-bagas, and twelve acres of wheat, and field

and garden vegetables in due proportion. These,

at a low estimate, would have harvested 85,740

bushels. There were, on the upper reservation, a

little over four thousand annuity Sioux. This

crop, therefore, would have harvested them about

twenty-one bushels for each man, woman and

child, including, also, the blanket Indians.

Thus, under the beneficent workings of the hu-

mane policy of the Government inaugurated in

1858, they were fast becoming an iadependent

people. Let it be borne in mind, however, that

these results, so beneficial to the Indian, were ac-

complished only through the sleepless vigilance

and untiring energy of those who had the welfare

of these rude, savage beings ia their care.

Major Galbraith, after giving these statistics of

the crops on the reservations, and the arrange-

ments made for gathering hay, by the Indians,

for their winter's use, says:

" I need hardly say that our hopes were high at

the prospects before us, nor need I relate my
chagrin and mortification when, in a moment, I

found these high hopes blasted forever."

Such, then, was the condition, present and pros-

pective, of the "Annuity Sioux Indians," in the

summer of 1862. No equal number of pioneer

settlers on the border could, at that time, make a

better showing than was exhibited on these reser-

vations. They had in fair prospect a surplus over

and above the wants of the entire tribes for the

coming year. This had never before occurred in

their history.

The sagacity 'and wise forethought of their

agent, and the unusually favorable season, had

amply provided against the posSibihty of recurring

want. The coming winter would have found their

granaries full to overflowing. Add to this the

fact that they had a large cash annuity coming to

them from the Goveiiiment, as well as large

amounts of goods, consisting of blankets, cloths.

groceries, flour and meats, powder, shot, lead, etc.,

and we confidently submit to the enlightened

reader the whole question of their alleged griev-

ances, confident that there can be but one verdict

at their hands, and that the paternal care of the

Government over them was good and just; nay,

generous, and that those having the immediate su-

pervision of their interests were performing their

whole duty, honestly and nobly.

The hopes of the philanthropist and Christian

beat high. They believed the day was not far

distant when it could be said that the Sioux Indi-

ans, as a race, not only could he civilized, but that

here were whole tribes who were civilized, and had
abandoned the chase and the war-path for the cul-

tivation of the soil and the arts of peace, and that

the juggleries and sorcery of the medicine-men

had been abandoned for the milder teachings of

the missionaries of the Cross.

How these high hopes were dashed to the earth,

extinguished in an ocean of blood, and their own
bright prospects utterly destroyed, by their horri-

ble and monstrous perfidy and unheard of atroci-

ties, it will be our work, in these pages, to show.

We are now rapidly approaching the fatal and

bloody denouement, the terrible 18th of August,

the memory of which wiU linger in the minds of

the survivors of its tragic scenes, and the succeed-

ing days and weeks of horror and blood, till rea-

son kindly ceases to perform its office, and blots

out the fearful record in the oblivion of the grave.

Again we quotefrom the able report of Major

Galbraith:

"About the 25th of June, 1862, a number of the.

chiefs and head men of the Sissetons and Wapa-
tons visited the Agency and inquired about the

payments; whether they were going to get any

( as they had been told, as they alleged, that they

would not be paid,) and if so, how much, and

when? I answered them that they would cer-

tainly be paid; exactly how much I could not

say, but that it would be nearly, d£ not quite, a

fiill payment; that I did not know when the pay-

ment would be made, but that I felt sure it could

not be made before the 20th of July. I advised

them to go home, and admonished them not to come
back again until I sent for them. I issued pro-

visions, powder and shot and tobacco to them, and
they departed.

" In a few days after I went to the Lower Agency,
and spoke to the lower Indians in regard to their

payments. As thev aU lived within a few mUes of
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the Agency, little was said, as, when the money

came, they could be called together in a day. I

remained about one week there, visiting the farms

and plantings, and issued to the Indians a good

supply of pork, ilour, powder, shot, and tobacco,

and urged upon them the necessity of cutting and

securing hay for the winter, and of watching and

keeping the birds from their com.

" I left them apparently satisfied, and arrived at

Yellow Medicine on the 14th of July, and found,

to my sui'prise, that nearly all the Upper Indians

had arrived, and were encamped about the Agency.

I inquired of them why they had come, and they

, answered, that they were afraid something was

wrong; they feared they would not get their

money, because white men had been telling them so.

" Being in daily expectation of the arrival of

the money, I determined to make the best of it,

and notified the Superintendent of Indian Afiairs

accordingly.

"How were over 4,000 Annuity, and over 1,000

Yanktonais Sioux, with nothing to eat, and entirely

dependent on me for supplies, to be provided for?

I supplied them as best I could. Our stock was

nearly used up, and still, on the 1st day of Au-

gust, no money had come.

" The Indians complained of starvation. I held

back, in order to save the provisions to the last

moment. On the 4th of August, early in the

morning, the young men and soldiers, to the num-

ber of not less than four hundred mounted, and

one hundred and fifty on foot, surprised and de-

ceived the commander of the troops on guard,

and surrounded the camp, and proceeded to

the warehouse in a boisterous manner, and in

sight of, and within one hundred and fifty

yards of one hundred armed men, with two

twelve-pound mountain howitzers, cut down the

door of the warehouse, shot down the American

flag, and entered the building, and before they

could be stopped had carried over one hundred

sacks of flour from the warehouse, and were evi-

dently bent on a general 'clearing out.'

"The soldiers, now recovered from their panic,

came gallantly to our aid, entered the warehouse

and took possession. The Indians all stood around

with their guns loaded, cooked and leveled. I

spoke to them, and they consented to a talk. The

result was, that they agreed, if I would give them

plenty of pork and flour, and issue to them the

annuity goods the next day, they would go away.

I told them to go away with enough to eat for two

13

days, and to send the chiefs and head men for a

council the next day, unarmed and peaceably and

I would answer them. They assented and went

to their camp. In the meantime I had sent for

Captain Marsh, the commandant of Fort Kidgely,

who promptly arrived eai-ly in the morning of the

next day.

"I laid the whole case before him, and stated

my plan. He agreed with me, and, in the after-

noon, the Indians, unarmed, and apparently

peaceably disposed, came in, and we had a 'talk,'

and, in the presence of Captain Marsh, Bev. Mr.

Eiggs and others, I agreed to issue the annuity

goods and a fixed amount of provisions, provided

the Indians would go home and watch their corn,

and wait for the payment until they were sent for.

They assented. I made, on the 6th, 7th and 8th

of August the issues as agreed upon, assisted by
Captain Marsh, and, on the 9th of August the In-

dians were all gone, and on the 12th I had defi-

nite information that the Sissetons, who had started

on the 7th, had all arrived at Big Stone Lake, and

that the men were preparing to go on a buffalo

hunt, and that the women and children were to

stay and guard the crops. Thus this threatening

and disagreeable event passed off, but, as usual,

without the punishment of a single Indian who
had been engaged in the attack on the warehouse.

They should have been punished, but they were

not, and simply because we had not the power to

punish them. And hence we had to adopt the

same 'sugar-plum' pohcy which had been so often

adopted before with the Indians, and especially at

the time of the Spirit Lake massacre, in 1857."

On the 12th day of August, thirty men enlisted

at Yellow Medicine; and, on the 13th, accompa-

nied by the agent, proceeded to the Lower Agency,

where, on the 14th, they were joined by twenty

more, making about fifty in all. On the afternoon

of the 15th they proceeded to Fort Kidgely, where

they remained until the morning of the 17tli,

when, having been furnished by Captain Marsh

with transportation, accompanied by Lieutenant

N. K. Culver, Sergeant McGrew, and four men of
Company B, Fifth Minnesota Volunteers, they

started for Fort Snelling by the way of New Ulm
and St. Peter, little dreaming of the terrible mes-

sage, the news of which would reach them at the

latter place next day, and turn them back to the

defense of that post and the border.

On Monday morning, the 18th, at about 8

o'clock, they left New Ulm, and reached St. Peter
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at about 4 o'clock P. M. About 6 o'clock, Mr. J.

0. Dickinson arrived from the Lower Agency,

bringing the startling news that the Indians had

broken out, and, before he left, had commenced

murdering the whites.

They at once set about making preparations to

return. There were in St. Peter some fifty old

Harper's Ferry muskets; these they obtained, and,

procuring ammunition, set about preparing cart-

ridges, at which many of them -worked all night,

and, at sunrise on Tuesday morning were on their

way back, with heavy hearts and dark forebodings,

toward the scene of trouble.

In the night Sergeant Sturgis, of Captain

Marsh's company, had arrived, on his way to St.

Paul, with dispatches to Governor Bamsey, from

Lieutenant Thomas Gere, then in command of

Fort Eidgely, bringing the sad news of the des-

truction of Captain Marsh and the most of his

command at the ferry, at the Lower Agency, on

Monday afternoon. They had but a slender

chance of reaching the fort in safety, and still less

of saving it from destruction, for they knew that

there were not over twenty-five men left in it,

Lieutenant Sheehan, with his company, having

left for Fort Ripley on the 17th, at the same time

that the "Eenville Eangers" (the company from

the Agencies) left for Fort Snelling. Their friends,

too, were in the very heart of the "Indian country.

Some of them had left their wives and little ones

at Yellow Medicine, midway between the Lower

Agency and the wild bands of the Sissetons and

Yanktonais, who made the attack upon the ware-

house at that Agency only two weeks before.

Their hearts almost died within them as they

thought of the dreadful fate awaiting them at the

hands of those savage and blood-thirsty monsters.

But they turned their faces toward the West, de-

termined, if Fort Ridgely was yet untaken, to enter

it, or die in the attempt, and at about sundown

entered the fort, and found all within it as yet

safe.

, A messenger had been sent to Lieutenant Shee-

han, who immediately turned back and had enter-

ed the fort a few hours before chem. There were

in the fort, on their arrival, over two hundred and

fifty refugees, principally women and children,

and they continued to come in, until there were

nearly three hundred.

Here they remained on duty, night and day,

until the morning of the 28th, when reinforce-

ments, under Colonel McPhail and Captain Anson

Northrup and R. H. Chittenden arrived.

The annuity money by Superintendent Thomp-

son had been dispatched to the Agency in charge

of his clerk, accompanied by E. A. C. Hatch, J.

0. Ramsey, M. A. Daily, and two or three others.

On their arrival at the fort, on Tuesday night.

Major Galbraith found these gentlemen there,

they having arrived at the post Monday noon, the

very day of the outbreak. Had they been one day

sooner they would have been at the Lower Agency,

and their names would have been added, in all

probability,, to the longroU of the victims, at that

devoted point of Indian barbarity, and about.

$10,000 in gold would have fallen into the hands

of the savages.

These gentlemen were in the fort during the

siege which followed, and were among the bravest

of its brave defenders. Major Hatch, afterwards

of "Hatch's Battalion" (cavalry), was particu-

lary conspicuous for his cool courage and undaunt-

ed bravery.

Thus it will be seen how utterly false was the

information which the Indians said ' they had re-

ceived that they were to get no money.

And notwithstanding all that has been said as

to the cause of the outbreak, it may be remarked

that the removal of the agent from Yellow Medi-

cine, with the troops raised by him for the South-

em Rebellion, at the critical period when the In-

dians were exasperated and excited, and ready at

any moment to arm for warfare upon the whites,

was one of the causes acting directly upon the In-

dians to precipitate the blow that afterwards fell

upon the border settlements of Minnesota on the

18th of August, 1862. Had he remained with his

family at Yellow Medicine, as did the Winnebago

agent, with his family, at the agency, the strong

probability is that the attack at YeUow Medicine

might have been delayed, if not entirely pre-

vented.

CHAPTER XXXni.
MUBDBR AT ACTON MASSACEB AT THE liOWBB

AGENCY CAPTDBE OE MATTIB WILLIAMS, MABI
ANDERSON AND MAEY SOHWANDT MTJBDBE OE

GEORGE GLEASON—CAPTURE OB MRS. WAKEFIELD
AND CHILDREN.

We come now to the massacre itself, the terrible

blow which fell, like a thunderbolt from a clear

sky, with such appalling force- and suddenness.
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upon the unarmed and defenceless border, crim-

soning its fair fields with the blood of its murdered

people, and lighting up the midnight sky with

the lurid blaze of burning dwellings, by the Ught

of which the affrighted survivors fled from the

nameless terrors that beset their path, before the

advancing gleam of the uplifted tomahawk, many

of them only to fall victims to the Indian bullet,

while vainly seeking a place of security.

The first blow fell upon the town of Acton,

thirty-five miles north-east of the Lower Sioux

agency, in the county of Meeker. On Sunday,

August 17, 1862, at 1 o'clock P. M., six Sioux In-

dians, said to be. of Shakopee's band of Lower An-

nuity Sioux, came to the house of Jones and de-

manded food. It was refused them, as Mrs. Jones

was away from home, at the house of Mr. Howard

Baker, a son-in-law, three fourths of a mile dis-

tant. They became angry and boisterous, and

fearing violence at their hands, Mr. Jones took

his children, a boy and a girl, and went himself to

Baker's, leaving at the house a girl from fourteen

to sixteen years of age, and a boy of twelve-

brother and sister—-who lived with him. The In-

dians soon followed on to Baker's. At Howard

Baker's were a Mr. "Webster and his wife. Baker

and wife and infant child, and Jones and his wife

and two children.

Soon after reaching the house, the Indians pro-

posed to the three men to join them in target-

shooting. They consented, and all discharged

their guns at the target. Mr. Baker then traded

guns with an Indian, the savage giving him $3

as the difference in the value of the guns. Then

all commenced loading again. The Indians got

the charges into their guns first, and immediately

turned and shot Jones. Mrs. Jones and Mrs.

Baker were standing in the door. When one of

the savages leveled his gun at Mrs. Baker, her

husband saw the movement, and sprang between

them, receiving the bullet intended for his wife

in his own body. At the same time they shot

Webster and Mrs. Jones. Mrs. Baker, who had

her infant in her arms, seeing her husband fall,

fainted, and fell backward into the cellar (a trap-

door being open), and thus escaped. Mrs. Web-
ster was lying in their wagon, from which the

goods were not yet unloaded, and escaped unhurt.

The children of Mr. Jones were in the house, and

were not molested. They then returned to the

house of Mr. Jones, and killed and scalped the girl.

The boy was lying on the bed and was undiscov-

ered, but was a silent witness of the tragic fate of

his sister.

After killing the girl the savages left without

disturbing anything, and going directly to the

house of a settler, took from his stable a span of

horses already in the harness, and while the fam-

ily was at dinner, hitched them to a wagon stand-

ing near, and without molesting any one, drove

off in the direction of Beaver Creek settlement and

the Lower Agency, leaving Acton at about 3

o'clock in the afternoon. This span of horses, har-

ness and wagon were the only property taken from

the neighborhood by them.

The boy at Jones's who escaped massacre at

their hands, and who was at the house during the

entire time that they were there, avers that they

obtained no liquor there that day, but even that

when they came back and murdered his sister, the

bottles upon the shelf were untouched by them.

They had obtained none on their first visit before

going over to Baker's. It would seem, therefore,

that the very general beHef that these first mur-

ders at Acton, on the 17th, were the result of

drunkenness, is a mistake.

Mrs. Baker, who was unhurt by the fall, re-

mained in the cellar until after the Indians were

gone, when, taking the children, she started for a

neighboring settlement, to give the alarm. Before

she left, an Irishman, calling himself Oox, came
to the house, whom she asked to go with her, and
carry her child. Cox laughed, saying, "the men
were not dead, but drunk, and that, falling down,

they had hurt their noses and made them bleed,"

and refusing to go with Mrs. Baker, went off in

the direction taken by the Indians. This man
Oox had frequently been seen at the Lower Agen-
cy, and was generally supposed to be an insane

man, wandering friendless over the country. It

has been supposed by many that he was in league

with the Indians. We have only to say, if he was,

he counterfeited insanity remarkably well.

Mrs. Baker reached the settlement in safety, and
on the next day (Monday) a company of citizens

of Forest City, the county seat of Meeker county,

went out to Acton to bury the dead. Forest City

is twelve miles north of that place. The party

who went out on Monday saw Indians on horse-

back, and chased them, but failed to get near

enough to get a shot, and they escaped.

As related in a preceding chapter, a council was
held at Kice Creek on Sunday, at which it was de-

cided that the fearful tragedy should oonamence
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on the next morning. It is doubtful whether the

Acton murders were then known to these con-

spirators, as this council assembled in the after-

noon, and the savages who committed those mur-

ders had some forty miles to travel, after 3 o'clock

in the afternoon, to reach the place of this coun-

cil. It would seem, therefore, that those murders

could have had no influence in precipitating this

'council, as they could not, at that time, have been

known to Little Crow and his conspirators.

The final decision of these fiends must liave been

made as early as sundown; for by early dawn al-

most the entire force of warriors, of the Lower

tribes, were ready for the work of slaughter. They

were already armed and painted, and dispersed

through the scattered settlements, over a region at

least forty miles in extent, and were rapidly gath-

ering in the vicinity of the Lower Agency, until

some 250 were collected at that point, and sur-

rouhded the houses and stores of the traders,

while yet the inmates were at their morning meal,

or asleep in their beds in fancied security, aU un-

conscious of the dreadful fate that awaited them.

The action was concerted, and the time fixed.

The blow was unexpected, and unparalleled! In

the language af Adjutent-General Malmros:

"Since the formation of our general Govern-

ment, no State or Territory of the Eepublic has

received so severe a blow at the hands of the sav-

ages, or witnessed within its borders a parallel

scene of murder, butchery, and rapine."

Philander Prescott, the aged Government In-

terpreter at that Agency, who had resided amopg

the Sioux for forty-five years, having a wife and

children allied to them by ties of blood, and who

knew their language and spoke it better than any

man of their own race, and who seemed to under-

stand every Indian impulse, had not the slightest

intimation or conception of such a catastrophe as

was about to fall upon the country. The Eev. S.

R. Eiggs, in a letter to a St. Paul paper, under

date of August 13, writes that "all is quiet and

orderly at the place of the forthcoming payment."

This gentleman had been a missionary among
these people for over a quarter of a century. His

intimate acquaintance with their character and

language were of such a nature as to enable him
to know and detect the first symptoms of any in-

tention of committing any depredations upon the

whites, and had not the greatest secrecy been ob-

served by them, the knowledge of their designs

would undoubtedly have been communicated to

either Mr. Prescott, Mr. Riggs, or Dr. Williamson,

who had also been among them almost thirty

years. Such was the position of these gentlemen

that, had they discovered or suspected any lurking

signs of a conspiracy, such as after developments

satisfy us actually existed, and had failed to com-

municate it to the authorities and the people, they

would have laid themselves open to the horrible

charge of complicity with the murderers. But

whatever may be the public judgement upon the

course afterward pursued by the two last-named

gentlemen; in their efforts to shield the guilty

wretches from that punishment their awful crimes

so justly merited, no one who knows them would

for a moment harbor a belief that they had any

silspioion of the coming storm until it burst upon

them.

A still stronger proof of the feeling of security

of these upon the reservation, and the belief that

the recent demonstrations were only such as wer&i

of yearly occurrence, and that all danger waa

passed, is to be found in the fact that, as late m
the 15th of August, the substance of a dispatch

was published in the daily papers of St. Paul,

from Major Galbraith, agreeing fully with thi;

views of Mr. Riggs, as to the quiet and orderlj>

conduct of the Indians. This opinion is aocom.

panied by the very highest evidence of human
sincerity. Under the belief of their peaoeabl4>

disposition, he had, on the 16th day of August,

sent his wife and children from Port Eidgely to-

Yellow Medicine, where they arrived on Sunday,

the 17th, the very day of the mur(ia.<a at Acton,,

and on the very day, also, that the cATincil at Rico

Creek had decided that the white ittce ia Minnfr-

sota must either perish or be drivbu back east oi'

the Mississippi. But early on tils fatal Monday
morning Mr. Pi-esoott and Re./', J. D. Hiamaw
learned from Little ' Crow that tUe storm of sfavagb

wrath was gathering, and abowt to break upo4

their devoted heads, and that bheir only safety

was in instant flight.

The first crack of the Indiaii guns that fell m,

his ear, a moment afterward, tound Prescott a.u(i

Hinman, and his household fleeing for their hves,

"While on the billowy bosom jf the air

Boiled the dread notes of anguish and despair.*'

Mrs. Hinman was, fort-unately, then at Fari-

bault. All the other members of the family es-

caped with Mr. Hinman do Port Ridgely. The

slaughter at the Agency now commenced. John

Lamb, a teamster, was shot down, near the house
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of Mr. Hinman, jiist as that gentleman and his

family were starting on their perUoua journey of

escape. At the same time some Indians entered

the stable, and were taking therefrom the horses

belonging to the Government. Mr. A. H. Wag-
ner, Superintendent of Farms at that Agency, en-

tered the stable to prevent them, and was, by order

of Little Crow, instantly shot down. Mr. Hin-

man waited to see and hear no more, but fled

toward the ferry, and soon put the Minnesota river

between himself and the terrible tragedy enact-

ing behind him.

At about the same time, Mr. J. 0. Dickinson,

who kept the Government boarding-house, with

all his family, including several girls who were

working for him, also succeeded in crossing the

river with a span of horses and a wagon; these,

with some others, mostly women and children, who
had reached the ferry, escaped to the fort.

Very soon after, Dr. Philander P. Humphrey,

physician to the Lower Sioux, with his sick

wife, and three children, also succeeded in

crossing the river, but never reached the fort.

All but one, the eldest, a boy of about twelve

years of age, were killed upon the road. They

had gone about four miles, when Mrs. Humphrey
became so much exhausted as to be unable to pro-

ceed further, and they went into the house of a

Mr. Magner, deserted by its inmates. Mrs. Hum-
phrey was placed on the bed; the son was sent to

the spring for water for his mother. * * The

boy heard the wild war-whoop of the savage

break upon the stillness of the air, and, in the

next moment, the ominous crack of their guns,

which told the fate of his family, and left him its

sole survivor. Fleeing hastily toward Fort Eidge-

ly, about eight miles distant, he met the com-

mand of Captain Marsh on their way toward the

Agency. The young hero turned back with them

to the ferry. As they passed Magner's house,

they saw the Doctor lying near the door, dead,

but the house itself was a heap of smouldering

ruins; and this brave boy was thus compelled to

look upon the funeral pyre of his mother, and his

little brother and sister. A burial party afterward

found their charred remains amid the blackened

ruins, and gave them Christian sepulture. In the

charred hands of the little girl was found her china

doU, with which she refused to part even in death.

The boy went on to the ferry, and in that disas-

trous conflict escaped unharmed, and finally made

his way into the fort

In the mean time the work of death went on.

The whites, taken by surprise, were utterly de-

fenseless, and so great had been the feeling of se-

curity, that many of them were actually unarmed,

although living in the very midst of the savages.

At the store of Nathan Myrick, Hon. James W.
Lynd, formerly a member of the State Senate,

Andrew J. Myrick, and G. W.DivoU were among
the first victims. * * * In the store of' Wil-

liam H. Forbes were some five or six persons,

among them Mr. George H. Spencer, jr. Hearing

the yeUing of the savages outside, these men ran

to the door to ascertain its cause, when they were

instantly fired upon, killing four of their number,

and severely wounding Mr. Spencer. Spencer and

his uninjured companion hastily sought a tempo-

rary place of safety in the chamber of the build-

ing.

Mr. Spencer, in giving an account of this open-

ing scene of the awful tragedy, says:

" When I reached the foot of the stairs, I turned

and beheld the store filling with Indians. One

had followed me nearly to the stairs, when he took

deliberate aim at my body, but, providentially,

both barrels of his gun missed fire, and I succeeded

in getting above without further injury. Not ex-

pecting to live a great while, I threw myself upou

a bed, and, while lying there, could hear them

opening cases of goods, and carrying them out,

and threatening to bum the building. I did not

relish the idea of being burned to death very weU,

so I arose very quietly, and taking a bed-oord, I

made fast one end to the bed-post, and carried the

other to a window, which I raised. I intended, in

case they fired the buUding, to let myself down
from the window, and take the chances of being

shot again, rather than to remain where I was and

bum. The man who went up-stairs with me, see-

ing V good opportunity to escape, rushed down
through the crowd and ran for life; he was fired

upon, and two charges of buckshot struck him,

but he succeeded in making his escape. I had

been iip-stairs probably an hour, when I heard the

voice of an Indian inquiring for me. I recognized

his voice, and felt that I was safe. Upon being

told that I was up-stairs, he rushed up, followed by

ten or a dozen others, and approaching my bed,

asked if I was mortally wounded. I told him that

I did not know, but that I was badly hurt. Some
of the others came up and took me by the hand,

and appeared to be sorry that I had been hurt.

; Tteir then asked me where the guns were. I
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pointed to them, when my comrade assisted me in

getting down stairs.

" The name of this Indian is Wakinyatawa, or,

in English, 'His Thunder.' He was, up to the time

of the outbreak, the head soldier of Little Crow,

and, some four or five years ago, went to Wash-

ington with that chief to see their Great Father.

He is a fine-looking Indian, and has always been

noted for his bravery in fighting the Ohippewas.

When we reached the foot of the stairs, some of

the Indians cried out, 'Kill him!' 'Spare no

Americans 1' 'Show mercy to none!' My friend,

who was unarmed, seized a hatchet that was lying

near by, and declared that he would cut down the

first one that should attempt to do me any further

harm. Said he, ' If you had killed him before I

saw him, it would have been all right; but we have

been friends and comrades for ten years, and now
that I have seen him, I will protect him or die with

him.' They then made way for us, and we passed

out; he procured a wagon, and gave me over to a

couple of squaws to take me to his lodge. On the

way we were stopped two or three times by armed

Indians on horseback, who inquired of the squaws

'What that meant?' Upon being answered that

' This is Wakinyatawa's friend, and he has saved

hisjife,' they suffered us to pass on. His lodge

was about four miles above the Agency, at Little

Crow's village. My friend soon came home and

washed me, and dressed my wounds with roots.

Some few white men succeeded in making their

escape to the fort. There were no other white

men taken prisoners."

The relation of "comrade," which existed be-

tween Mr. Spencer and this Indian, is a species

of Freemasonry which is in existence among the

Sioux, and is probably also common to other In-

dian tribes.

The store of Louis Robert was, in like manner,

attacked. Patrick McOlellan, one of the clerks in

charge of the store, was killed. There were at the

store several other persons; some of them were

killed and some made their escape. Mr. John
Nairn, the Government carpenter at the Lower
Sioux Agency, seeing the attack upon the stores

and other places, seized his children, four in num-
ber, and, with his wife, started out on the prairie,

making their way toward the fort. They were

accompanied by Mr. Alexander Hunter, an at-

tached personal friend, and his young wife. Mr.

Nairn had been among them ia the employ of the

Government, some eight years, and had, by his

urbane manners and strict attention to their in-

terests, secured the personal friendship of many
of the tribe. Mr. Nairn and his family reached

the fort in safety that afternoon. "Mr. Hunter had,

some years before, frozen his feet so badly as to

lose the toes, and, being lame, walked with great

difficulty. When near an Indian village below the

Agency, they were met by an Indian, who urged

Hunter to go to the village, promising to get them

a horse and wagon with which to make their es-

cape. Mr. Hunter and his wife went to the Indian

village, believing their Indian friend would re-

deem his promises, but from inability, or some

other reason, he did not do so. They went to the

woods, where they remained all night, and in the

morning started for Fort Ridgely on foot. They

had gone but a short distance, however, when they

met an Indian, who, without a word of warning,

shot poor Hunter dead, and led his distracted

young wife away into captivity.

We now return once more to the scene of blood

and conflagration at the Agency. The white-

haired interpreter. Philander Prescott (now verg-

ing upon seventy years of age), hastily left his

house soon after his meeting with Little Crow, and

fled toward Fort Ridgely. The other members of

his family remained behind, knowing that their

relation to the tribe would save them. Mr. Pres-

cott had gone several miles, when he was overtaken.

His murderers came and talked with him. He
reasoned with them, saying: "I am an old man:

I have lived with you now forty-five years, almost

half a century. My wife and children are among
you, of your own blood; I have never done you

any harm, and have been your true friend, in all

your troubles; why should you wish to kill me?"

Their only reply was: "We would save your life

if we could, but the white man must die; we cannot

spare your lite; our orders are to kill aU white

men; we cannot spare you."

Seeing that aU remonstrance was vain and hope-

less, and that his time had come, the aged man
with a firm step and noble bearing, sadly turned

away from the deaf ear and iron heart of the sav-

age, and with dignity and composure received the

fatal messenger.

Thus perished Phflander Prescott, the true, tried,

and faithful friend of the Indian, by the hands of

that perfidious race, whom he had so long and so

faithfully labored to benefit to so little purpose.

The number of persons who reached Fort Ridge-

ly from the agency was forty-one. Some are
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known to have reached other places of safety. All

suffered incredible hardships; many hiding by day

in the tall prairie grass, in bogs and sloughs, or

under the trunks of prostrate trees, crawling

stealthUy by night to avoid the lurking and wily

foe, who, with the keen scent of the blood-hound

and ferocity of the tiger, followed on their trail,

thirsting for blood.

Among those who escaped into the fort were

Mr. J. C. Whipple, of Faribault; Mr. Charles B.

Hewitt, of New Jersey. The services of Mr.

Whipple were recognized and rewarded by the

Government with a first lieutenant's commis-

sion in the volunteer artillery service.

James Powell, a young man residing at St.

Peter, was at the Agency herding cattle. He had

just turned the cattle out of the yard, saddled and

mounted his mule, as the work of death com-

menced. Seeing Lamb and Wagner shot down

near him he turned to flee, when Lamb called to

him tor help; but, at that moment two shots were

fired at him, and, putting spurs to his mule he

turned toward the ferry, passing close to an In-

dian who leveled his gun to fire at him; but the

caps exploded, when the savage, evidently sur-

prised that he had failed to kill him, waved his

hand toward the river, and exclaimed, "Puckachee!

Puckachee!" Powell did not wait for a second

warning, which might come in a more unwelcome

form, but slipped at once from the back of his an-

imal, dashed down the bluff through the brush,

and reached the ferry just as the boat was leaving

the shore. Looking over his shoulder as he ran,

he saw an Indian in fuU pursuit on the very mule

he had a moment before abandoned.

All that day the work of sack and plunder went

on; and when the stores and dwellings and the

warehouses of the Government had been emptied

of their contents, the torch weis applied to the var-

ious buildings, and the little village was soon a

heap of smouldering ruins.

The bodies of their slain victims were left to fes-

ter in the sun where they fell, or were consumed

ill the buildings from which they had been unable

to effect their escape.

So complete was the surprise, and so sudden

and unexpected the terrible blow, that not a sin-

gle one of all that host of naked savages was slain.

In thirty minutes from the time the first gun was

fired, not a white person was left alive. All were

either weltering in their gore or had fled in fear

and terror from that place of death.

BEDWOOD BIVEB.

At the Redwood river, ten miles above the

Agency, on the road to Yellow Medicine, resided

Mr. Joseph B. Eeynolds, in the employment of

the Government as a teacher. His house was
within one mile of Shakopee's village. His family

consisted of his wife, a niece—Miss Mattie Wil-

liams, of Painesville, Ohio—Mary Anderson and
Mary Schwandt, hired girls. William Landmeier,

a hired man, and Legrand Davis, a young man
from Shakopee, was also stopping with them tem-

porarily.

On the morning of the 18th of August, at about

6 o'clock, John Moore, a half-breed trader, resid-

ing near them, came to the house and .informed

them that there was an outbreak among the In-

dians, and that they had better leave at once. Mr.

Eeynolds immediately got out his buggy, and,

taking his wife, started off across the prairie in

such a direction as to avoid the Agency. At the

same time Davis and the three girls got into the

wagon of a Mr. Patoile, a trader at Yellow Medi-

cine, who had just arrived there on his way to New
Ulm, and they also started out on the prairie.

William, the hired man, would not leave until he
had been twice warned by Moore that his life was
in danger. He then went down to the river bot-

tom, and following the Minnesota river, started for

the fort. When some distance on his way he

came upon some Indians who were gathering up
cattle. They saw him and there was no way of

escape. They came to him and told him that if

he would assist them in driving the cattle they

would not kill him. Making a merit of necessity

he complied, and went on with them tUl they were

near the Lower Agency, when the Indians, hear-

ing the firing at the ferry, suddenly left him and
hastened on to take part in the battle then pro-

gressing between Captain Marsh and their friends.

WiUiam fled in an opposite direction, and that

night entered Fort Ridgely.

We return now to Patoile aiad his party.

After crossing the Bedwood near its mouth, he
drove some distance up that stream, and, turning

to the left, struck across the prairie toward New
Ulm, keeping behind a swell in the prairie which
ran parallel with the Minnesota, some three miles

south of that stream.

They had, unpursued, and apparently unob-

served, reached a point within about ten miles of

New Ulm, and nearly opposite Fort Eidgely, when
they were suddenly assailed by Indians, who
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killed Patoile and Davis, and severely wounded

Mary Anderson. Miss Williams and Mary

Sehwandt were captured unhurt, and were taken

back to Waucouta's village.

The poor, injured young woman survived her

wounds and the ' brutal and fiendish violation of

her person to which she was subjected by these

dmiU -incarnate, but a few days, when death, in

mercy, came to her relief and ended her sufferings

in the quiet of the grave!

Mattie WiJhams and Mary Sohwandt were af-

terwards restored to their friends by General Sib-

ley's expedition, at Camp Eelease. We say, res-

stored to their friends; this was hardly true t)f

Mary Sohwandt, who, when release came, found

aUve, of all her father's family, only one, a little

brother; and he had witnessed the fiendish slaugh-

ter of all the rest, accompanied by circumstances

of infernal barbarity, without a parallel in the his-

tory of savage brutality.

On Sunday, the 17th, George Gleason, Govern-

ment store-keeper at the Lower Agency, accompa-

nied by the family of Agent Galbraith, to YeUow

Medicine, and on Monday afternoon, ignorant of

the terrible tragedy enacted below, started to re-

turn. He had with him the wife and two children

of Dr. J. S. Wakefield, physician to the Upper

Sioux. When about two miles above the mouth

of the Eedwood, they met two armed Indians on

the road. Gleason greeted them with the usual

salutation of "Ho!" accompanied with the inquiry,

in Sioux, as he passed, "Where are you going ?"

They returned the salutation, but Gleason had

gone but a very short distance, when the sharp

crack of a gun behind him bore to his ear the first

intimation of the death in store for him. The

buUet passed through his body and he feU to the

ground. At the same moment Ohaska, the Indian

who had not fired, sprang into the wagon, by the

side of Mrs. Wakefield, and driving a short dis-

tance, returned. Poor Gleason was lying upon

the ground, still alive, writhing in m'ortal agony,

when the savage monster completed his hellish

work, by placing his gun at his breast, and shoot-

ing him again. Such was the sad end of the life

of George Gleason
;
gay, jocund, genial and gen-

erous, he was the Ufe of every circle. His pleas-

ant face was seen, and his mellow voice was heard

in song, at almost every social gathering on that

rude frontier. He had a smile and pleasant word

for all; and yet he feU, in his manly strength, by

the hands of these bloody monsters, whom he had

never wronged in word or d.eed. Some weeks af-

terward, his mutilated remains were found by the

troops under Colonel Sibley, and buried where he

fell. They were subsequently removed by his

friends to Shakopee, where they received the rites

of Christian sepulture.

Mrs. Wakefield and children were held as pris-

oners, and were reclaimed with the other captives

at Camp Eelease.

CHAPTEE XXXrV.

MASSACBB ON THE NOBTH SIDE OF THE MINNESOTA

BUENING OF MBS. HENDERSON AND TWO OHlIiDEEN

ESCAPE OE J. W. BABLE AND OTHEES THE SET-

TLEES ENDEAVOE TO ESCAPE MUEDEB OF THE

SOHWANDT FAMILY WHOLESALE MASSAOBE UP-

PEB AGENCY THE PEOPLE WAENED BY JOSEPH

LAFBAMBOIS AND OTHEE DAY ESCAPE OP THE
WHITES FEOM YELLOW MEDICINE SETTLEMENT

ON THE CHIPPEWA MDBDBB OF JAMES W. LIND-

SAY AND HIS COMBADB.

Early on the morning of the 18tb, the settlers

on the north side of the Minnesota river, adjoining

the reservation, were surprised to see a large num-
ber of Indians in their immediate neighborhood.

They were seen soon after the people arose, simul-

taneously, all along the river from Birch Coohe to

Beaver Creek, and beyond, on the west, apparent-

ly intent on gathering up the horses and cattle.

When interrogated, they said they were after

Ohippewas. At about 6 or 7 o'clock they sudden-

ly began to repair to the various houses of the set-

tlers, and then the flight of the inhabitants and

the work of death began.

In the immediate vicinity of Beaver Creek, the

neighbors, to the number of about twenty-eight,

men, women, and children, assembled at the house

of Jonathan W. Earle, and, with several teams,

started for Fort Eidgely, having with them the

sick wife of S. E. Henderson, her children, and

the family of N. D. White, and the wife and two

children of James Carrothers.

There were, also, David Carrothers and family,

Earle and family, Henderson, and a German named
Wedge, besides four sons of White and Earle; the

rest were women and children. They had gone

but a short distance when they were surrounded

by Indians. When asked, by some of the party

who could speak their language, what they wanted,

the Indians answered, "We are going to kill you."



MASSACRE AT GERMAN SETTLEMENT. 201

When asked why they were to be killed, the In-

dians consented to let them go, with one team and

the buggy with Mrs. Henderson, on giving up the

rest. They had gone but a short distance when

they were again stopped by the savages, and the

remaining team taken. Again they moved on,

drawing the buggy and the sick woman by hand

but had gone but a few rods further, when the In-

dians began to fire upon them. The men were

with the buggy ; the women and children had gone

on ahead, as well as the boys and Oarrothers.

Mr. Earle, seeing the savages were determined

to kiU them, and knowing that they could not now

save Mrs. Henderson, hastened on and came up

with the fleeing fugitives ahead. Mr. Henderson

waved a white cloth as a flag of truce, when they

shot off his fingers, and, at the same time, killed

"Wedge. Henderson then ran, seeing that he could

not save his wife and children, and made his es-

cape. They came up with his buggy, and, taking

out the helpless woman and children, threw them

on the prairie, and placing the bed over them, set

it on fire, and hastened on after the fleeing fugi-

tives.

The burned and blackened remains of both the

mother and her two children were afterward found

by a burial party, and interred.

Coming up with the escaping women and chil-

dren, they were all captured but two children of

David Oarrothers. These they had shot in the

chase after Oarrothers, Earle, and the sons of Earle

and White. They killed, also, during this chase

and running fight, Eugene White, a son of N. D.

White, and Badner, son of Jonathan W. Earle.

Oarrothers escaped to Orow Eiver, and thence to

St. Paul. Mr. Earle and two of his sons, and one

son of Mr. White, after incredible hardships, es-

caped to Oedar Oity, and subsequently made their

way back to St. Peter and Fort Eidgely. All the

captives taken at this time were carried to Orow's

village, and, with the exception of Mrs. James

Oarrothers and her children, were recovered at

Oamp Belease.

After they had captured the women and children,

they returned to the houses of the settlers, and

plimdered them of their contents, carrying off

what they could, and breaking up and destroying

the balance. They then gathered up the stock

and drove it to their village, taking their captives

with them.

Some two or three miles above the neighborhood

of Earle and White was a settlement of German

emigrants, numbering some forty persons, quiet,

industrious, and enterprising. Early on the

morning of the 18th these had all assembled at

the house of John Meyer. Very soon after they

had assembled here, some fifty Indians, led by

Shakopee, appeared in sight. The people all fled,

except Meyer and his family, going into the grass

and bushes. Peter Bjorkman ran toward his own

house. Shakopee, whom he knew, saw him, and

exclaimed, "There is Bjorkman; kfll himi" but,

keeping the building between him and the sav-

ages, he plunged into a slough and concealed

himself, even removing his shirt, fearing it might

be the means of revealing his whereabouts to the

lurking savages. Here he lay from early morning

until the darkness of night enabled him to leave

with safety—suffering unutterable torments, mos-

quitoes literally swarming upon his naked person,

and the hot sun scorching him to the bone.

They immediately attacked the house of Meyer,

killing his wife and all his children. Seeing his

family butchered, and having no means of de-

fense, Meyer effected his escape, and reached Fort

Bidgely. In the meantime the affrighted people

had got together again at the house of a Mr.

Sitzton, near Bjorkman's, to the number of about

thirty, men, women, and children. In the after-

noon the savages returned to the house of Sitzton,

killing every person there but one woman, Mrs.

Wilhelmina Eindenfield, and her child. These

ware captured, and afterward found at Oamp Be-

lease, but the husband and father was among the

slain. From his place of concealment Mr. Bjork-

man witnessed this attack and wholesale massacre

of almost an entire neighborhood. After dark he

came out of the slough, and, going to his house,

obtained some food and a bundle of clothing, as

bis house was not yet plundered; fed his dog and

calf, and went over to the house of Meyer; here

he found the windows all broken in, but did not

enter the house. He then went to the house of

Sitaton; his iierves were not equal to the task of

entering that charnel-house of death. As he

passed the yard, he turned out some cattle that the

Indians had not taken away, and hastened toward

Fort Bidgely. On the road he overtook a woman
and two children, one an infant of six months, the

wife and children of John Sateau, who had

been killed. Taking one of the children in his

arms, these companions in misfortune and suffer-

ing hurried on together. Mrs. Sateau was nearly

nalied, and without either shoes or stockings.
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The rough prairie grass lacerated her naked feet

and limbs terribly, and she was about giving out

in despair. Bjorkman took from his bundle a

shirt, and tearing it in parts, she wound it about

her feet, and proceeded on.

At daylight they came in sight of the house of

Magner, eight miles above the fort. Here they

saw some eight or ten Indians, and, turning aside

from the road, dropped down into the grass, where

they remained until noon, when the Indians disap-

peared. They again moved toward the fort, but

slowly and cautiously, as they did not reach it

until about midnight. Upon reaching the fort

Mrs. Sateau found two sons, aged ten and twelve

years respectively, who had effected their escape

and reached there before her.

Mrs. Mary, widow of Patrick Hayden, who re-

sided about one and a half miles from the house

of J. W. Earle, near Beaver Creek, in EenviUe

county, says:

• "On the morning of the 18th of August, Mr.

Hayden started to go over to the house of Mr. J.

B. Reynolds, at the Eedwood river, on the reser-

vation, and met Thomas Eobinson, a half-breed,

who told him to go home, get his family, and

leave as soon as possible, for the Indians were

coming over to kiU all the whites. He came im-

mediately home, and we commenced to make

preparations to leave, but in a few minutes we

saw some three or four Indians coming on horse-

back. We then went over to the house of a

neighbor, Benedict June, and found them all

ready to leave. I started off with June's people,

and my husband went back home, still thinking

the Indians would not kill any one, and intending

to give them some provisions if they wanted them.

I never saw him again.

"We had gone about four miles, when we saw a

man lying dead in the road and his faithful dog
watching by his side.

"We drove on till we came to the house of David
Faribault, at the foot of the hill, about one and a

half miles from the Agency ferry. When we got

here two Indians came out of Faribault's house,

and stopping the teams, shot Mr. Zimmerman,

who was driving, and his two boys. I sprang out

of the wagon, and, with my child, one year old, in

my arms, ran into the bushes, and went up the

hill toward the fort. When I came near the house

of Mr. Magner, I saw Indians throwing furniture

out of the door, and I went down into the bushes

again, on the lower side of the road, and staid

there untU sundown.

"While I lay here "concealed, I saw the Indians

taking the roof off the warehouse, and saw the

buildings burning at the Agency. I also heard

the firing during the battle at the ferry, when
Marsh and his men were killed.

"I then went up near the fort road, and sitting

down under a tree, waited till dark, and then

started for Fort Eidgely, carrying my child aU the

way. I arrived at the fort at about 1 o'clock A.

M. The distance from our place to Eidgley was

seventeen miles.

"On Tuesday morning I saw John Magner, who
told me that, when the soldiers went up to the Agen-

cy the day before, he saw my husband lying in the

road, near David Faribault's house, dead. John

Hayden, his brother, who lived with us, was found

dead near La Croix creek. They had got up the

oxen, and were bringing the family of Mr. Eisen-

rich to the fort, when they were overtaken by In-

dians. Eisenrich was killed and his wife and five

children were taken prisoners.

"Mrs. Zimmerman, who was blind, and her re-

maining children, and Mrs. June and her children,

five in number, were captured and taken to the

house of David Faribault, where they were kept

till night, the savages torturing them by telling

them that they were going to fasten them in the

house and bum them alive, but for some inexpli-

cable reason let them go, and they, too, reached

the fort in safety. Mr. June, who with one of his

boys, eleven years old, remained behind to drive

in his cattle, was met by them on the road and

killed. The boy was captured, and, with the other

prisoners, recovered at Camp Kelease."

The neighborhoods in the vicinity of La Croix

creek, and between that and Fort Eidgely, were

visited on Monday forenoon, and the people either

massacred, driven away or made prisoners.' Ed-

ward Magner, living eight miles above the fort,

was killed. His wife and children had gone to

the fort. He had returned to look after his cat-

tle when he was shot. Patrick Kelley and David

O'Connor, both single men, were killed near Mag-
ner's.

Kearn Horan makes the following statement.

"I lived four miles from the Lower Sioux

Agency, on the fort road. On the ISth of August
Patrick Horan, my brother, came early from the

Agency and told us that the Indians were murder-

ing the whites. He had escaped alone and crossed
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the ferry, and with some Frenchmen was on his

way to the fort. My brothers and William and

Thomas Smith went with me. We saw Indians in

the road near Magner's, Thomas Smith went to

them, thiniing they were white men, and I saw

them kill him. We then turned to flee, and saw

men escaping with teams along the road. All fled

towards the fort together, the Indians firiag upon

us as we ran. The teams were oxen, and the In-

dians were gaining upon us, when one of men in

his excitement dropped his gun. The savages

came up to it and picked it up. AU stopped to

examine it, and the men in the wagons whipped

the oxen into a run. This delay enabled us to

elude them.

"As we passed the house of Ole Sampson, Mrs.

Sampson was crying at the door for help. Her

three children were with her. We told her to go

into the bush and hide, for we could not help

her. We ran into a ravine and hid in the grass.

After the Indians had hunted some time for us,

they came along the side of the ravine, and called

lo us ill good EngUsh, saying, 'Come out, boys;

what are you afraid of? We don't want to hurt

you.' After they left us we crawled out and made

our way to the fort, where we arrived at about 4

o'clock P. M. My family had gone there before

me. Mrs. Sampson did not go to the bush, but

hid in the wagon from which they had recently

come from Waseca county. It was what we call a

prairiiB schooner, covered with cloth, a genuine

emigrant wagon. They took her babe from her,

and throwing it down upon the grass, put hay un-

der the wagon, set fire to it and went away. Mrs.

Sampson got out of the wagon, badly burned, and

taking her infant from the ground made he. w y
to the fort. Two of her children were burned to

death in the wagon. Mr. Sampson had been pre-

viously killed about eighty rods from the house.

In the neighborhood o{ La Croix creek, or Birch

Coolie, Peter Pereau, Frederick Closen,

Piguar, Andrew Bahlke, Henry Keartner, old Mr.

Closen and Mrs. William Vitt, and several others

were killed. Mrs. Maria Frorip, an aged Ger-

man woman, was wounded four different times

with small shot, but escaped to the fort. The wife

of Henry Eeartner also escaped and reached the

fort. The wife and child of a Mr. OardeneUe

were taken prisoners, as were also the wife and

child of Frederick Closen.

William Vitt came into Fort Kidgely, but not

until he had, with his own hands, buried his mur-

dered wife and also a Mr. Piguar.

A flourishing German settlement had sprung up

near Patterson's Eapids, on the Sacred Heart,

'

twelve miles below Yellow Medicine.

Word came to this neighborhood about sun-

down of the 18th, that the Indians were murder-

ing the whites. This news was brought to them

by two men who had started from the Lower

Agency, and had seen the lifeless and mutilated

remains of the murdered victims lying upon the

road and in their plundered dwellings towards

Beaver Creek. The whole neighborhood, with the

exception of one family, that of Mr. Schwandt,

soon assembled at the house of Paul Kitzman, with

their oxen and wagons, and prepared to start for

Fort Bidgely.

A messenger was sent to the house of Schwandt

but the Indian rifle and the tomahawk had done

their fearful work. Of aU that family but two

survived; one a boy, a witness of the awful scene

of butchery, and he then on his way, covered with

blood, towards Port Eidgely. The other, a young
girl of about seventeen years of age, then residing

at Eedwood, who was captured as previously

stated.

This boy saw his sister, a young married wo-

man, ripped open, while alive, and her unborn

babe taken, yet struggling, from her person and

nailed to a tree before the eyes of the dying

mother.

This party started in the evening to make their

escape, going so as to avoid the settlements and

the traveled roads, striking across the country to-

ward the head of Beaver creek.

They traveled this way aU night, and in the

morning changed their course towards Fort Bidge-

ly. They continued in this direction until the

sun was some two hours higi^hen they were met

by eight Sioux Indians, who told them that the

murders were committed by Chippewas, and that

they had come over to protect them and punish

the murderers; and thus induced them to turn

back toward their homes. One of the savages

spoke English weU. He was acquainted with some

of the company, having often hunted with Paul

Kitzman. He kissed Kitzman, telling him he was

a good man; and they shook hands with aU of the

party. The simple hearted Germans believed

them, gave them food, distributed money among
them, and, gratefully receiving their assurances of

friendship and protection, turned back.
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They traveled on toward their deserted homes

till noon, when they again halted, and gave their

pretended protectors food. The Indians went

away by themselves to eat. The siispicions of the

ftigitives were now somewhat aroused, but they

felt that they were, to a great extent, in the power

of the wretches. They soon came back, and or-

dered them to go on, taking their position on each

side of the train. Soon after tli py went on and

disappeared. The train kept on toward home;

and when within a few rods of a house, where they

thought they could defend themselves, as they had

guns with them, they were suddenly surrounded

by fourteen Indians, who instintly fired upon them,

killing eight (all but three of the men) at the first

discharge. At the next fire they killed two of the

remaining men and six of the women, leaving only

one man, Frederick Kreiger, alive. His wife was

also, as yet, unhurt. They soon dispatched Kreiger,

and, at the same time, began beating out the brains

of the screaming children with the butts of their

guns. Mrs. Kreiger was standing in the wag6n,

and, when her husband fell, attempted to spring

from it to the ground, but was shot from behind,

and feU back in the wagon-box, although not dead,

or entirely unconscious. She was roughly seized

and dr-agged to the ground, and the teams were

driven off. She now became insensible. A few of

the children, during this awful scene, escaped to

the tipber near by ; and a few also, maimed and

mangled by these horrible monsters, and left for

dead, survived, and, after enduring incredible

hardships, got to Fort Eidgely. Mrs. Zable, and

five children, were horribly mangled, and almost

naked, entered the fort eleven days afterward-

Mrs. Kreiger also survived her unheard-of suffer-

ings.

Some forty odd bodies were afterward found and

buried on that fatal field of slaughter. Thus per-

ished, by the hands of these terrible scourges of

the border, almost an entire neighborhood. Quiet,

sober, and industrious, they had come hither from

the vine-clad hills of their fatherland, by the green

shores and gliding waters of the enchanting

Rhine, and had built for themselves homes, where-

they bad fondly hoped, in peace and quiet, to

spend yet long years, under the fair, blue sky, and

in the sunny cUme of Minnesota, when suddenly,

and in one short hour, by the hand of the savage,

they were doomed to one common annihilation.

During all the fatal 18th of August, the people

at the Upper Agency pursued their usual avoca-

tions. As riight approached, however, an unusual

gathering of Indians was observed on the hiU just

west of the Agency, and between it and the house

of John Other Day. Judge Givens and Charles

Crawford, then acting as interpreters in the ab-

sence of Freniere, went out to them, and sought

to learn why they were there in cotmcil, but could

get no satisfactory reply. Soon after this. Other

Day came to them with the news of the outbreak

below, as did also Joseph Laframbois, a half-

breed Sioux. The families there were soon all

gathered together in the warehouse,and dwelling

of the agent, who resided in the same building,

and with the guns they had;; prepared themselves

as best they could, and awaited the attack, deter-

mined to seU their lives as dearly as possible.

There were gathered here sixty-two persons, men,

women, and children.

Other Day, and several other Indians, who came

to them, told them they would stand by them to

the last. These men visited the council outside,

several times during the night; but when they

were most needed, one only, the noble and heroic

Other Day, remained faithful. All the others dis-

appeared, one after another, during the night.

About one or two o'clock in the morning, Stewart

B. Garvie, connected with the traders' store, known
as Myrick's, came to the warehouse, and was ad-

mitted, badly wounded, a charge of buckshot hav-

ing entered his bowels. Garvie was standing in

the door or his store when he was fired upon and

wounded. He ran up stairs, and jumping from

the window into the garden, crawled away, and

reached the Agency without further molestation.

At about this time Joseph Laframbois went to the

store of Daily & Pratt, and awakened the two men

in charge there, Duncan E. Kennedy and J. D.

Boardman, and told them to flee for their lives.

They hastily dressed and left the store, but had

not gone ten rods when they saw in the path be-

fore them three Indians. They stepped down

from the path, which ran along the edge of a rise

in the ground of some feet, and crouching in the

grass, the Indians passed within eight feet of

them. Kennedy went on toward Fort Eidgely,

determined to reach that post if possible, and

Boardman went to the warehouse. At the store of

WiUiam H. Forbes, Oonstans, book-keeper, a na-

tive of France, was killed. At the store of Pa-

toile, Peter PatoUe, clerk, and a nephew of the

proprietor, was shot just outside the store, the ball

entering at the back and coming out near the nip-
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pie, passing through his lungs. An Indian came

to him after he fell, turned him over, and saying,

"He is dead," left him.

They then turned their attention to the stores.

The. clerks in the store of Louis Kobert had effect-

ed their escape, so that there were now no white

men left, and when they had become absorbed in

the work of plunder, Patoile crawled off into the

bushes on the banks of the Yellow Medicine, and

secreted himself. Here he remained all day.

After dark he got up and started for a place of

safety; ascending the bluff, out of the Yellow Med-

icine bottom, he dragged himself a mile and a

half further, to the ' Minnesota, at the mouth of

the Yellow Medicine. Wading the Minnesota, he

entered the house of Louis Labelle, on the oppo-

site side, at the ford. It was deserted. Finding a

bed in the house he lay down upon it and was soon

fast asleep, and did not awake until morning.

Joseph Laframbois and Narces Freniere, and an

Indian, Makacago, entered the house, and finding

him there, awoke him, telling him there were hos-

tile Indians about; that he must hide. They gave

him a blanket to disguise himself, and going with

him to the ravine, concealed him in the grass and

left him, promising to return, as soon as it was

safe to do so, to bring him food, and guide him

away to the prairie. He lay in this ravine until

toward night, when his friends, true to their

promise, returned, bringing some crackers, tripe,

and onions. They went with him some distance

out on the prairie, and enjoined upon him not to

attempt to go to Fort Bidgely, and giving him the

best directions they could as to the course he

should take, shook hands with, him and left him.

Their names should be inscribed upon tablets more

enduring than brass. That night he slept on the

prairie, and the next day resumed his wanderings,

over an unknown region, without an inhabitant.

After wandering for days without food or drink,

his little stock of crackers and tripe being exhaust-

ed, he came to a deserted house, which he did not

know. Here he remained all night, and obtained

two raw potatoes and three ears of green corn.

These he ate' raw. It was aU the food he had for

eight days. Wandering, and unknowing whither

to go, on the twelfth day out from Labelle's house,

he heard the barking of dogs, and creeping nearer

to them, still fearing there might be Indians about,

he was oveijoyed at seeing white men. Soon

making himself and his condition known, he was

tiiken and kindly cared for by these men, who had

some days before deserted their farms, and had

now returned to look after their crops and cattle.

He now learned for the first time where he was.

He had struck a settlement far up the Sauk Val-

ley, some forty miles above St. Cloud. He must
have wandered, in these twelve days of suffering,

not less than two hundred miles, including devia-

tions from a direct course.

He was taken by these men, in a wagon, to St.

Cloud, where his wound was dressed for the first

time. From St. Cloud the stage took him to St.

Anthony, where he took the cars to St. Paul. A
case of equal suffering and equal eudurance is

scarcely to be found on record. With a bullet

wound through the lungs, he walked twelve days,

not over a smooth and easy road, but across a

trackless prairie, covered with rank grass, wading
sloughs and streams on hig way, almost without

food, and for days without water, before he saw the

face of a man; and traveled by wagon, stage,

and oars, over one hundred miles.

His recovery was rapid, and he soon enlisted in

the First Eegiment Minnesota Mounted Eangers
under General Sibley, in the expedition against

the Sioux. Patoile was in the battles on the Mis-

souri in the summer of 1863, where his company,

that of Captain Joseph Anderson, is mentioned as

having fought with great bravery.

We now return to the warehouse at Yellow Med-
icine, which we left to follow the strange fortunes

of young Patoile. Matters began to wear a seri-

ous aspect, when Garvie came to them mortally

wounded. Other Day was constantly on the watch
outside, and reported the progress of affairs to

those within. Toward daylight every friendly

Indian had deserted save Other Day; the yells of

the savages came distinctly to their ears from the

trading-post, half a mile distant. They were ab-

sorbed in the work of plunder. The chances of

escape were sadly against them, yet they decided

to make the attempt. Other Day knew every foot

of the country over which they must pass, and
would be their guide.

The wagons were driven to the door. A bed
was placed in one of them; Garvie was laid upon
it. The women and children provided a few loaves

of bread, and just as day dawned, the cortege

started on its perilous way. This party consisted

of the family of Major Galbraith, wife and three

children; Nelson Givens, wife, and wife's mother,

and three children ; Noah Sinks, wife, and two chil-

dren; Henry Esohelle, wife, and five children; John
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Fadden, wife, and three children; Mr. German and

wife; Frederick Patoile, wife, and two children;

Mrs. Jane K. Murch, Miss Mary Charles, Miss

Lizzie Sawyer, Miss Mary Daly, Miss Mary Hays,

Mrs. Eleanor Warner, Mrs. John Other Day and

one child, Mrs. Eaurahan, N. A. Miller, Edward

Oramsie, Z. Hawkins, Oscar Oanfil, Mr. Hill, an

artist from St. Paul, J. D. Boardman, Parker

Pierce, Dr. J. L. Wakefield, and several others.

They crossed the Minnesota at Labelle's farm,

and soon turned into the timber on the Hawk

river, crossed that stream at some distance above

its mouth, and ascended from the narrow valley

through which it runs to the open prairie beyond,

and followed down the Minnesota, keeping back

on the prairie as far as the farm of Major J. E.

Brown, eight miles below the Yellow Medicine.

Mr. Fadden and Other Day visited the house and

found it deserted. A consultation then took place,

for the purpose of deciding where they should go.

Some of them wished to go to Fort Bidgely; oth-

ers to some town away from the frontier. Other

Day told them that if they attempted to go to the

fort they would all be killed, as the Indians would

either be lying in ambush on that road for them,

or would follow them, believing they would at-

tempt to go there. His counsel prevailed, and

they turned to the left, across the prairie, in the

direction of Kandiyohi Lakes and Glencoe. At

night one of the party mounted a horse and rode

forward, and found a house about a mile ahead.

They hastened forward and reached it in time to

escape a furious storm. They were kindly re-

ceived by the only person about the premises, a

man, whose family were away. The next morn-

ing, soon after crossing Hawk river, they were

joined by Louis Labelle and Gertong, his son-in-

law, who remained with them all that day.

On Wednesday morning they left the house of

the friendly settler, and that night reached Cedar

City, eleven miles from Hutchinson, in the county

of McLeod. The inhabitants had deserted the

town, and gone to an island, in Cedar Lake, and

had erected a rude shelter. From the main land

the island was reached through shallow water.

Through this water our escaping party drove,

guided by one of the citizens of Cedar City, and

were cordially welcomed by the people assembled

there.

That night it rained, and all were drenched to

the skin. Poor Garvie was laid under a rude

shed, upon his bed, and all was done for him that

man could do; but, in the morning, it was evident

that he could go no further, and he was taken to

the house of a Mr. Peck, and left. He died there,

a day or two afterward. Some of the company,

who were so worn out as to be unable to go on be-

yond Hutchinson, returned to Cedar City and saw

that he was decently interred.

On Thursday they went on, by way of Hutchin-

son and Glencoe, to Carver, and thence to Shako-

pee and St. Paul. Major Galbraith, in a report to

the department, says of this escape:

"Led by the Noble Other Day, they struck out

on the naked prairie, literally placing their lives

in this faithful creature's hands, and guided by

him, and Mm alone. After intense suffering and

privation, they reached Shakopee, on Friday, the

22d of August, Other Day never leaving them for

an instant; and this Other Day is a puj'e, full-

blooded Indian, and was, not long since, one of the

wildest and fiercest of his race. Poor, noble fel-

low ! must he, too, be ostracized for the sins of his

nation ? I commend him to the care of a just God

and a liberal government ; and not only him, but

all others who did likewise."

[Government gave John Other Day a farm in

Minnesota. He died several years since univer-

sally esteemed by the white people.]

After a knowledge of the designs of the Indians

reached the people at the Agency, it was impossi-

ble for them to more than merely communicate

with the two families at the saw-inill, three miles

above, and with the families at the Mission. They

were, therefore, reluctantly left to their fate.

Early in the evening of Monday, two civiHzed In-

dians, Ohaskada and Tankanxaceye, went to the

house of Dr. Williamson, and warned them of their

danger, informing them of what had occurred be-

low; and two half-breeds, Michael and Gabriel

Renville, and two Christian Indians, Panl Maxa-

kuta Mani and Simon Anaga Mani, went to the

house of Mr. Eiggs, the missionary, at Hazel-

wood, and gave them warning of the danger im-

pending over them.

There were at this place, at that time, the family

of the Itev. Stephen E. Eiggs, Mr. H. D. Cun-

ningham and family, Mr. D. W. Moore and his

wife (who reside in New Jersey), and Jonas Petti-

john and family. Mr. Pettijohn and wife were

in charge of the Government school at Eed Iron's

village, and were now at Mr. Eiggs'. They got

up a team, and these friendly Indians went with

them to an Island in the Minnesota, about three
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miles from the Mission. Here they remained till

Tuesday evening. In the afternoon of Tuesday,

Andrew Himter, a son-in-law of Dr. Williamson,

came to him with the information that the family

of himself and the Doctor were secreted below.

The families at the saw-mill had been informed by

the Eenvilles, and were with the party of Dr. Wil-

liamson. At night they formed a junction on the

north side of the Minnesota, and commenced their

perilous journey. A thunder-storm effectually ob-

literated their tracks, so that the savages could not

follow them. They started out on the prairie in a

northeasterly direction, and, on Wednesday morn-

ing, changed their course south-easterly, till they

struck the Lao qui Parle road, and then made di-

rectly for Fort Bidgely. On Wednesday they

were joined by three Germans, who had escaped

from Yellow Medicine. On Wednesday night they

found themselves in the vicinity of the Upper

Agency, and turned to the north again, keeping

out on the prairie. On Friday they were iu the

neighborhood of Beaver Creek, when Dr. Wil-

liamson, who, with his wife and sister, had re-

mained behind, overtook them in an ox-cart, hav-

ing left about twenty-four hours later. They now

determined to go to Fort Bidgely. When within

a few mUes of that post, just at night, they were

discovered by two Indians on horseback, who rode

along parallel with the train for awhile, and then

turned and galloped away, and the fugitives has-

tened on, momentarily expecting an attack. Near

the Three-Mile creek they passed a dead body

lying by the road-side. They drove on, passing

the creek, and, turning to the left, passed out on

to the prairie, and halted a mile and a half from

the fort. It was now late at night; they had

heard firing, and had seen Indians in the vicinity.

They were in doubt what to do. It was at length

decided that Andrew Hunter should endeavor to

enter the fort and ascertain its condition, and

learn, if possible, whether they could get in.

Hunter went, and, although it was well-nigh sur-

rounded by savages (they had been besieging it

all the afternoon), succeeded in crawling by on his

hands and knees. He was told that it would be

impossible for so large a party, forty-odd, to get

through the Indian lines, and that he had better

return and tell them to push on toward the towns

below. He left as he had entered, crawling out

into the prairie, and reached his friends in safety.

It seemed very hard, to be so near a place of fan-

cied security, and obliged to turn away from it,

and, weary and hungry, press on. Perils beset

their path on every hand; dangers, seen and un-

seen, were around them ; but commending them-

selves to the care of Him who "suffereth not a

sparrow to faU to the ground without His notice,"

they resumed their weary march. They knew
that all around them the work of death and deso-

lation was going on, for the midnight sky, on

every side, was red with the lurid flame of burn-

ing habitations. They heard fi'om out the gloom

the tramp of horses' feet, hurrying past them in

the darkness; but they still pressed on. Soon

their wearied animals gave out, and again they

encamped for the night. With the early dawn
they were upon the move, some eight miles from

the fort, in the direction of Henderson. Here,

four men, the three Germans who had joined them
on Wednesday, and a young man named GilHgan,

left them, and went oil in the direction of New
Ulm. The bodies of these unfortunate men were

afterward found, scarcely a mile from the place

where they had left the guidance of Other Day.

They traveled on in the direction of Henderson,

slowly and painfully, for their teams, as well as

themselves, were nearly exhausted. That day the

savages were beleaguering New Ulm, and the

sounds of the conflict were borne faintly to their

ears upon the breeze. They had flour with them,

but no means of cooking it, and were, consequently,

much of the time without proper food. On the

afternoon of this day they came to a deserted

house, on the road from Fort Ridgley to Hender-

son, the house of Bliohael Cummings, where they

found a stove, cooking utensils, and a jar of cream.

Obtaining some ears of corn from the field or gar-

den near by, and " confiscating" the cream, they

prepared themselves the first good meal they had
had since leaving their homes so hastily on Mon-
day night.

After refreshing themselves and their worn ani-

mals at this place for some hours, their journey

was again resumed. That night they slept in a

forsaken house on the prairie, and, on Sabbath

morning early, were again on their way. As they

proceeded, they met some of the settlers returning

to their deserted farms, and calling a halt at a de-

serted house, where they found a large company of

people, they concluded to remain until Monday,

and recuperate themselves and teams, as well as to

observe in a proper manner the holy Sabbath. On
Monday morning they separated, part going to

Henderson and part to St. Peter, all feeling thai
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the All-seeing Eye that never slumbers or sleeps

had watched over them, and that the loving hand

. of God had guided them safely through the dan-

gers, seen and unseen, that had beset their path.

In the region of the State above the Upper

Agency there were but few white inhabitants. Of

all those residing on the Chippewa river, near its

mouth, we can hear of but one who escaped, and

he was wounded, while his comrade, who lived with

him was kiUed. This man joined the party of the

missionaries, and got away with them.

On the Yellow Medicine, above the Agency about

twelve miles, was a settler named James W.

Lindsay. He was unmarried, and another single

man was "baching it" with him. They were both

killed. Their nearest white neighbors were at

the Agency, and they could not be warned of their

danger, and knew nothing of it until the savages

were upon them.

CHAPTER XXXV.

LEOPOLD WOHLBB AND WIFE LBAVBNWOBTH

STATEMENT OE MBS. MAKT J. OOVILL STOBY OP

MBS. LATJEA WHTTON MILTTOED NICOLLET COUN-

TY WEST NEWTON LAFAYETTE—OOUBTLAND

SWAN LAKE PABTIAL LIST OF THE KILLED IN

NICOLLET COUNTY INDIANS SOOUKING THE OOUN-

TBY A SOOtJTING PAETY SEEN AT ST. PETEK.

The news of the murders below reached Leo-

pold AVohler at the "lime-kUn," three miles be-

low Yellow Medicine, on Monday afternoon.

Taking his wife, he crossed the Minnesota river,

and went to the house of Major Joseph E. Brown.

Major Brown's family consisted of his wife and

nine children; Angus Brown and wife, and Charles

Blair, a son-in-law, his wife, and two children.

The Major himself was away from home. Includ-

ing Wohler and his wife, there were then at their

house, on the evening of the 18th of August,

eighteen persons.

They started, early on the morning of the 19th,

to make their escape, with one or two others of

their neighbors, Charles Holmes, a single man, re-

siding on the claim above them, being of the party.

They were overtaken near Beaver Creek by Indi-

ans, and all of the Browns, Mr. Blair and family,

and Mrs. Wohler, were captured, and taken at

once to Little Crow's village. Messrs. Wohler and

Holmes escaped. Major Brown's family were of

mixed Indian blood. This fact, probably, accounts

for their saving the life of Blair, who was a

white man.

Crow told him to go away, as his young men
were going to kill him; and he made his escape to

Fort Ridgely, being out some five days and nights

without food. Mr. Blair was in poor health. The
hardships he endured were too much for his al-

ready shattered constitution; and although he es-

caped the tomahavk and scalping-knife, he was

soon numbered among the victims of the massacre.

J. H. Ingalls, a Scotchman, who resided in this

neighborhood, and his wife, were killed, and their

four children were taken into captivity. Two of

them, young girls, aged twelve and fourteen years,

were rescued at Camp Eelease, and the two little

boys were taken away by Little Crow. Poor little

fellows! their fate is still shrouded in mystery.

A Mr. Frace, residing near Brown's place, was also

killed. His wife and two children were found at

Camp Eelease.

The town of Leavenworth was situated on the

Cottonwood, in the county of Brown. Word was

brought to some of the settlers in that town, on

Monday afternoon, that the Indians had broken

out and were killing the inhabitants on the Min-

nesota. They immediately began to make prepa-

rations to leave. Mr. William Carroll started at

once for New Ulm alone, to learn the facts of the

rumored outbreak. The most of the inhabitants,

alarmed by these rumors, fled that night toward

New Ulm. Some of them reached that town in

safety, and others were waylaid and massacred

upon the road.

The family of a Mr. Blum, a worthy German
citizen, were all, except a small boy, kiUed while

endeavoring to escape. On Tuesday morning,

Mr. Philetus Jackson was killed, while on the wav
to town with his wife and son. Mrs. Jackson and

the young man escaped.

We insert here the statements of two ladies, who
escaped from this neighborhood, as they detail

very fully the events of several days in that local-

ity. Mrs. Mary J. CoviU, wife of George W.
Oovill, says:

"On Monday, the 18th of August, messengers

came to the house of Luther Whiton, from both

above and below, with a report of an outbreak of

the Indians. My husband was at Mr. Wliiton's,

stacking grain. He came home about four o'clock

P. M., and told me about it, and then went back

to Whiton's, about half a mile away, to get a Mr.

Eiant, who had recently come there from the State
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of Maine, to take his team and eaoaps. I packed

a trunk with clothing, and hid it in the grass, and

then went myself to Whiton's, as I was afraid to

remain at home. Mr. Eiant got up his team,

and taking his two trunks—one of them

,
containing over two thousand dollars in gold

—took us all with him. There was a family at

Mr. Whiton's from Tennessee, and a young child

of theirs had died that day. The poor woman

took her dead cnild in her arms, and we all started

across the prairie, avoiding the road, for Mankato.

We camped that night about three miles from

home, on the prairie; and seeing no fires, as of

burning buildings, returned to the house of our

neighbor, Van Guilder, and found that the settlers

had nearly all left. Mr. Van Guilder and family,

Edward Allen and wife, Charles Smith and family

and Mrs. Carroll, were all we knew of that re-

mained.

" We started on, thinking that we would over-

take the Leavenworth party, who had been gone

about an hour. We had gone about two and a

half miles, when we saw, ahead of us, a team, with

two men in the wagon, who drove toward us until

they got into a hollow, and then got out and went

behind a knoll. We drove quite near them, when

Mr. Oovill discovered them to be Indians. Eiant

turned his horses round and fled, when they jumped

up out of the grass, whooped, and fired at us.

They then jumped into their wagon and followed.

Mr. Covill had the only gun in tlie party that

could be used, and kept it pointed at the Indians

as we retreated. They fired at us some halt-dozen

times, but, fortunately, without injuring any one.

"We drove hastily back to the house of Van

Guilder, and entered it as quickly as possible, the

savages firing upon us all the time. Mr. Van

Guilder had just started away, with bis family, as

we came back, and returned to the house with us.

A shot from the Indians broke the arm of his mo-

ther, an aged lady, soon after we got into the

house, as she was passing a window. In our haste,

we had not stopped to hitch the horses, and they

soon started off, and the Indians followed. As

they were going over a hill near the house, they

shook a white cloth at us, and, whooping, disap-

peared. There were in this company—after Riant

was gone, who left us, and hid in a slough—fifteen

persons. We immediately started out on the prai-

rie again. We had now only the ox-team of Van
Guilder, and the most of us were compelled to

walk. His mother, some small children, and some

trunks, made a wagon-load. The dead child,

which the mother bad brought back to the house

with her, was left lying upon the table. It was

afterward found, with its head aenerecl from its body

by the fiends. 8. L. Wait and Luther Whiton,

who had concealed themselves in the grass when

they saw the Indians coming, joined us. Mrs. A.

B. Hough and infant child were with the family of

Van Guilder. These made our number up to fif-

teen. We traveled across the prairie aU. day with-

out seeing any Indians, and, at night, camped on

the Little Cottonwood. We waded the stream,

and made our camp on the opposite side, in the

tall grass and reeds. We reached tliis spot on

Tuesday night, and remained there till Friday af-

ternoon, without food, save a little raw flour, which

we did not dare to cook, for fear the smoke would

reveal our whereabouts to the savages, when a

company from New Ulm rescued us.

"On Wednesday night, after dark, Covill and

Wait started for New Ulm, to get a party to come

out to our aid, saying they would be back the

next day. That night, and nearly all the next

day, it rained. At about daylight the next day,

when just across the Big Cottonwood, five miles

from New Uhn, they heard an Indian whooping in

their rear, and turned aside into some hazel-bushes,

where they lay all day. At the place where they

crossed the river they found a fish-rack in the

water, and in it caught a fish. Part of this they

ate raw that day. It was now Thiursday, and

they had eaten nothing, since Monday noon. They

started again at dark for New Ulm. When near

the graveyard, two miles from the town, an Indian,

with grass tied about his head, arose from the

ground and attempted to head them off. They
succeeded in evading him, and got in about ten

o'clock. When about entering the place, they'

were fii-ed upon by the pickets, which alarmed the

town, and when they got in, all was in commo-
tion, to meet an expected attack.

" The nest morning, one hundred and fifty men,

under Captain Tousley, of Le Sueur, and 8. A.

Buell, of St. Peter, started to our relief, reaching

our place of concealment about two o'clock. They
brought us food, o! which our famished party

eagerly partook. They were accompanied by Dr.

A. W. Daniels, of St. Peter, and Dr. Mayo, of

Le Sueur. They went on toward Leavenworth,

intending to remain tljere all night, bury

the dead, should any be found, the next

day, rescue any who might remain ahve.

14
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and then return. They buried the Blum fam-

ily of six persons that afternoon, and then con-

cluded to return that night. We reached New
Ulm before midnight. Mr. Van Guilder's mother

died soon after we got into town from the effects

of her wound and the exposure to which she had

been subjected.

"At about the same time that we returned to the

house of Mr. Van Guilder, on Tuesday, Charles

Smith and family, Edward AUen and wife, and

Mrs. Carroll had left it, and reached New Ulm
without seeing Indians, about half an hour before

the place was attacked. The same day, "William

Carroll, with a party of meij, came to the house

for us, found Mr. Eiant, who was concealed in a

slough, and started back toward New Ulm. But

few of them reached the town alive."

An account of the adventures of this company,

and its fate, will be found elsewhere, in the state-

ment of Ealph Thomas, one of the party.

On Monday, the 18th- of August, two women,

Mrs. Harrington and Mrs. Hill, residing on the

Cottonwood, below Leavenworth, heard of the out-

break, and prevailed upon a Mr. Henshaw, a sin-

gle man, living near them, to harness up his team

and take them away, as their husbands were away

from home. Mrs. Harrington had two children

;

Mrs. Hill none. They had gone but a short dis-

tance when they were overtaken by Indians. Mr.

Henshaw wag killed, and Mrs. Harrington was

badly wounded, the ball passing through her

shoulder. She had just sprung to the ground

with her youngest child in her arms; "one of its

arms was thrown over her shoulder, and the ball

passed through its little hand, lacerating it dread-

fully. The Indians were intent upon securing the

team, and the women were not followed, and es-

caped. Securing the horses, they drove away in

an opposite direction.

Mrs. Harrington soon became faint from the loss

of blood; and Mrs. Hill, conceaHng her near a

slough, took the eldest child and started for New
Ulm. Before reaching that place she met John
Jackson and William Carroll, who resided on the

Cottonwood, above them; and, telling them what
had happened, they put her on one of their horses

and turned back with her to the town.

On the next day, Tuesday, Mr. Jackson was one

of the party with CarrcU, heretofore mentioned,

that went out to Lea^fenworth, and visited the

house of Van Guilder, in search of their families.

When that party turned back to New Uhn, Jack-

son did not go with them, but went to his own

house to look for his wife, who had already left.

He visited the houses of most of his neighbors, and

finding no one, started back alone. When near

the house of Mr. HUl, between Leavenworth and

New Ulm, on the river, he saw what he supposed

were white men at the- house, but when within a

few rods of them, discovered they were Indians.

The moment he made this discovery he turned to

flee to the woods near by. They fired upon him,

and gave chase, but he outran them, and reached

the timber unharmed. Here he remained concealed

until late at night, when he made his way back to

town, where he found his wife, who, with others of

their neighbors, had fled on the first alarm, and

reached the village in safety. Mrs. Laura Whiton,

widow of Elijah Whiton,_of Leavenworth; Brown
county, makes the following statement:

"We had resided on our claim, at Leavenworth,

a little over four years. There were in our family,

on the 18th of August, 1862, four persons—Mr.

Whiton, myself, and two children—a son of sixteen

years, and a daughter nine years of age. On Mon-

day evening, the 18th of August, a neighl^or, Mr.

Jackson, and his son, a young boy, who resided

three miles from our place, ccme to our house in

search of their horses, and told us that the Indians

had murdered a family on the Minnesota river, and

went away. We saw no one, and heard nothing

more until Thursday afternoon following, about 4

o'clock, when about a dozen Indians were seen

coming from the direction of the house of a neigh-

bor named Heydrick, whom they were chasing.

Heydrick jumped off a bridge across a ravine, and,

running down the ravine, concealed himself under

a log, where he remained until 8 o'clock, when
he came out, and made his escape into New Ulm.

'The savages had already slain all his family,

consisting of his wife and two children. Mr.

Whiton, who was at work near the door at the

time, came into the house, but even then did not

believe there was any thing serious, supposing

Heydrick was unnecessarily frightened. But when
he saw them leveling their guns at him, he came
to the conclusion that we had better leave. He
loaded his double-barreled gun, and we aU started

for the timber. After reaching the woods, Mr.
Whiton left us to go to the house of his brother,

Luther, a single man, to see what had become of

him, telling us to remain where we were until he
came back. We never saw him again. After he
left us, not daring to remain where we were, we
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forded the river (Cotton,wood), and hid in the tim-

ber, on the opposite side, where we remained

until about 8 o'clock, when we started for New Ulm.

" "While we lay concealed in the woods, we heard

the Indians driving up our oxen, and yoking them

up. They hitched them to our wagon, loaded it

up with our trunks, bedding, etc., and drove away.

we went out on the prairie, and walked all night

and all next day, arriving at New Ulm at about

dark on Friday, the 22d. About midnight, on

Thursday night, as we were fleeing along the road,

we passed the bodies of the family of our neigh-

bor, Blum, lying dead by the road-side. They had

started to make their escape to town, but were

overtaken by the savages upon the road, and all

but a little boy most brutally murdered.

" Mr. Whiton returned home, from his visit to

the house of his brother, which he found deserted,

and found that our house had already been plun-

dered. He then went to the woods to search for

us. He remained in the timber, prosecuting his

search, until Saturday, without food; and, failing

to find us, he came to the conclusion that we were

either dead or in captivity, and then himself start-

ed for New Ulm. On Saturday night, when trav-

eling across the prairie, he came suddenly upon a

camp of Indians, but they did not see him, and he

beat as hasty a retreat as possible from their vi-

cinity.

"When near the Lone Cottonwood Tree, on

Sunday morning, he fell in with William J. Duly,

who had made his escape from Lake Shetek.

They traveled along together tiU they came to the

house of Mr. Henry Thomas, six miles from our

faiTQ, in the town of MUford. This house had evi-

dently been deserted by the family in great haste,

for the table was spread for a meal, and the food

remained untouched upon it. Here they sat down

to eat, neither of them having had any food for a

long time. While seated at the table, two Indians

came to the house; and, as Mr. Whiton arose and

stepped to the stove for some water, they came into

the door, one of them saying, 'Z'a mea tepee.''

[This is my house.] There was no way of escape,

and Mr. Whiton, thinking to propitiate him, said

'Come in' Mr. Duly was sitting partly behind the

door, and was, probably, unobserved. The savage

made no answer, but instantly raised his gun, and

shot him through the heart, they then both went

into the corn. Duly was unarmed; and, when Mr.

Whiton was killed, took his gun and ran out of tlie

house, and concealed him self in the bushes near by.

"While lying here he could hear the Indians

yeUing and firing their guns in close proximity to

his place of concealment. After awhile he ven-

tured out. Being too much exhausted to carry

it, he threw away the gun, and that night ar-

rived at New Ubn, without again encountering

Indians."

We now return to Mrs. Han-ington, whom, the

reader will remember, we left badly wounded, con-

cealed near a slough. We regret our inability to

obtain a full narrative of her wanderings during

the eight succeeding days and nights she spent

alone upon the prairie, carrying her wounded
child. We can only state in general terms, that

after wandering for eight weary days and nights,

without food or shelter, unknowing whither, early

on the morning of Tuesday,' the 26th, before day-

light, she found herself at Crisp's fai-m, midway
between New Ulm and Mankato. As she ap-

proached the pickets she mistook them for In-

dians, and, when hailed -by them, was so fright-

ened as not to recognize the English language,

and intent only on saving her life, told them she

was a Sioux. Two guns were instantly leveled at

her, but, providentially, both missed fire, when an
exclamation from her led them to think she was
white, and a woman, and they went out to her.

She was taken into camp and all done for her by
Judge Flandrau and his men that could be done.

They took her to Mankato, and soon after she was
joined by her husband, who was below at the time

of the outbreak, and also found the child which
Mrs. Hill took with her to New Ulm.

Six miles from New Uhn there Uved, on the

Cottonwood, in the county of Brown, a German
family of the name of Heyers, consisting of the

father, mother and two sons, both young men.
A burial party that went out from New Ulm on
Friday, the 22d, found them all murdered, and
buried them near where they were kiUed.

The town of Milford, Brown county, adjoining

New Ulm on the west and contiguous to the res-

ervation, was a farming community, composed en-

tirely of Germans. A quiet, sober, industrious,

and enterprising class of emigrants had here

made their homes, and the prairie wilderness

around them began to "bud and blossom like the

rose." Industry and thrift had brought their sure

reward, and peace, contentment and happiness

filled the hearts of this simple-hearted people.

The noble and classic Rhine and the vine-clad hUls

of Fatherland were almost forgotten', or, if not
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forgotten, were now remembered without regret,

in these fair prairie homes, beneath the glowing

and genial sky of Minnesota.

When the sun arose on the morning of the 18th

of August, 1862, it looked down upon this scene

in all its glowing beauty; but its deolinilig rays

fell upon a field of carnage and horror too fearful

to describe. The council at Eice Creek, on Sun-

day night, had decided upon the details of the

work of death, and the warriors of the lower

bands were early on the trail, thirsting for blood.

Early in the forenoon of Monday they appeared

in large numbers in this neighborhood, and the

work of slaughter began. The first house visited

was that of "Wilson Massipost, a prominent and

influential citizen, a widower. Mr. Massipost had

two daughters, intelligent and accomplished.

These the savages murdered most brutally. The

head of one of them was afterward found, severed

from the body, attached to a fish-hook, and hung

upon a nail. His son, a young man of twenty-

four years, was also killed. Mr. Massipost and a

son of eight years escaped to New Ulm. The

house of Anton Hanley was likewise visited. Mr.

Hanley was absent. The children, four in num-

ber, were beaten with tomahawks on the head and

person, inflicting fearful wounds. Two of them

were kUled outright, and one, an infant, recovered;

the other, a young boy, was taken by the parents,

at night, to New TJlm, thence to St. Paul, where

he died of his wounds. After killing these child-

ren, they proceeded to the field near by, where

Mrs. Hanley, her father, Anton Mesmer, his wife,

son Joseph, and daughter, were at work harvesting

wheat. AU these they instantly shot, except Mrs.

Hanley, who escaped to the woods and secreted

herself till night, when, her husband coming home,

they took their two wounded children and

made their escape. At the house of Agrenatz

Hanley all the children were killed. The parents

escaped.

Bastian Mey, wife, and two children were mas-

sacred in their house, and three chUdren were ter-

ribly mutilated, who afterward recovered.

Adolph Shilling and his daughter were killed;

his son badly wounded, escaped with his mother.

Two families, those of a Mr. Zeller and a Mr. Zet-

tle, were completely annihilated; not a soul was

left to tell the tale of their sudden destruction.

Jacob Keck, Max Fink, and a Mr. Belzer were

also victims of savage barbarity at th's place. Af-

ter killing the inhabitants, they plundered and

sacked the houses, destroying all the property

they could not carry away, driving away all the

horses and cattle, and when night closed over the

dreadful scene, desolation and death reigned su-

preme.

There resided, on tbe Big Cottonwood, between

New Ulm and Lake Shetek, a German, named

Charles Zierke, familiarly known throughout all

that region as' "Dutch Charley." On the same

road resided an old gentleman, and his son and

daughter, named Brown. These adventurous pio-

neers lived many miles from any other human
habitation, and kept houses of entertainment on

that lonely road. This last-named house was

known as "Brown's place.'' It is not known to us

when the savages came to those isolated dwell-

ings. "We only know that the mutilated bodies of

all three of the Brown family were found, and

buried, some miles from their house. Zierke and

his family made their escape toward New "Dim,

and, when near the town, were pursued and over-

taken by the Indians on the prairie. By sharp

running, Zierke escaped to the town, but his wife

and children, together with his team, were taken

by them. Beturning afterward with a party of

men, the savages abandoned the captured t«am,

woman, and children, and they were recovered

and all taken into New "Ulm in safety.

The frontier of Nicollet county contiguous to

the reservation was not generally visited by the

savages until Tuesday, the 19th, and the succeed-

ing days of that week. The people had, generally

in the meantime, sought safety in flight, and were

principally in the town of St. Peter. A few, how-

ever, remained at their homes, in isolated locali-

ties, where the news of the awful scenes enacting

around them did not reach them; or, who having

removed their families to places of safety, returned

to look after their property. These generally fell

victims to the rifle and tomahawk of the savages.

The destruction of life in this county, was, how-

ever, trifling, compared with her sister counties of

Brown and Kenville; but the loss of property was

immense. The entire west half of the county was,

of necessity, abandoned and completely desolated.

The ripened grain crop was much of it uncut, and

wasted in the field, while horses and cattle and

sheep and hogs roamed unrestrained at will over

the unharvested fields. And, to render the ruin

complete the savage hordes swept over this por-

tion of the county, gathering up horses and cattle

shooting swine and sheep, and all other stock thtit
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tliey could uot catch; fimshing the "work of ruin

by applying the torch to the stacks of hay and

grain, and in some instances to the dwellings of

the settlers.

William Mills kept a public house in the town

of West Newton, four miles from Fort Eidgely, on

the St. Peter road. Mr. Mills heard of the out-

break of the Sioux on Monday, and at once took

the necessary steps to secure the safety of his fam-

ily, by sending them across the prairie to a se-

cluded spot, at a slough some three miles from the

house. Leaving a span of horses and a wagon

with them, he instructed them, if it should seem

necessary to their safety, to drive as rapidly as

possible to Henderson. He then went to Fort

Ridgely to possess himself, if possible, of the exact

state of affairs. At night he visited his house, to

obtain some articles of clothing for his family, and

Barried them out to their place of concealment, and

went again to the fort, where he remained until

Tuesday morning, when he started out to his fam-

ily, thinking he would send them to Henderson,

and return and assist in the defense of that post.

Soon after leaving the fort he met Lieutenant T. J.

Sheehan and his company, on their way back to

that post. Sheehan roughly demanded of him

where he was going. He replied he was going to

send his family to a place of safety, and return.

The lieutenant, with an oath, wrested from him his

gun, the only weapon of defense he had, thus leav-

iag him defenseless. Left thus unarmed and

powerless, he took his family and hastened to Hen-

derson, arriving there that day in safety.

A few Indians were seen in the neighborhood of

West Newton on Monday afternoon on horseback,

but at a distance on the prairie. The most of the

inhabitants fled to the fort on that d&y : a few re -

maiaedat their homes and some fled to St. Peter

and Henderson. The town of Lafayette was, in

like manner, deserted on Monday and Monday
night, the inhabitants chiefly making for St. Peter.

Oourtland township, lying near New Ulm, caught

the contagion, and her people too fled—the women
and children going to St. Peter, while many of her

brave sons rushed to the defense of New Ulm, and

in that terrible siege bore a conspicuous and hon-

orable part.

As the cortege of panic stricken fugitives poured

along the various roads leading to the towns be-

low, OP Monday night and Tuesday, indescribable

terror seized the inhabitants; and the rapidly ac-

cumulating human tide, gathering force and num-

bers as it moved across the prairie, rolled an

overwhelming flood into the towns along the

river.

The entire county of Nicollet, outside of St.

Peter, was depopulated, and their crops and herds

left by the inhabitants to destruction.

On the arrival of a force of mounted men, under

Captains Anson Northrup, of Minneapolis, and E.

H. Chittenden, of the First Wisconsin Cavalry, at

Henderson, on the way to Fort Eidgely, they met

Charles Nelson, and, on consultation, decided to go

to St. Peter, where they were to report to Colonel

Sibley, by way of Norwegian Grove. Securing

the services of Nelson, John Fadden, and one or

two others, familiar to the country, they set out

for the Grove.

Captain Chittenden, in a letter to the "New
Haven Palladium," written soon after, says:

" The prairie was magnifioent, but quite desert-

ed. Sometimes a dog stared at us as we passed;

but even the brutes seemed conscious of a tenible

calamity. At 2 o'clock we reached the Grove,

which surrounded a lake. The farms were in a fine

state of cultivation; and, strange to say, although

the houses were in ruins, the grain stacks were un-

touched. Eeapers stood in the field as the men
had left them. Cows wandered over the prairies

in search of their masters. Nelson led the way to

the spot where he had been overtaken in attempt-

ing to escape with his wife and children. We
found his wagon; the ground was strewn with ar-

ticles of apparel, his wife's bonnet, boxes, yarn, in

fact everything they had hastily gathered up. But

the wife and boys were gone. Her he had seen

them murder, but the children had run into the

corn-field. He had also secreted a woman and
child under a hay -stack. We went and turned it

over; they were gone. I then so «rranged the

troops that, by marching abreast, we made a

thorough search of the corn-field. No clue to his

boys could be found. Passing the still burning

embers of his neighbor's dwellings, we came to

Nelson's own, the only one still standing. * * h<

The heart-broken man closed the gate, and turned

away without a tear; then simply asked Sergeant

Thompson when he thought it would be safe to

return. I must confess that, accustomed as I am
to scenes of horror, the tears would come."

The troops, taking Nelson with them, proceeded

to St. Peter, where he found the dead body of bis

wife, which had been carried there by some of Jiis

neighbors, and his children, alive. They had fled
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through the com, and escaped from their savage

pursuers.

Jacob Mauerle had taken his family down to

St. Peter, and returned on Friday to his house,

in West Newton. He Iiad tied some clothing

in a bundle, and started for the fort, when he

was shot and scali^ed, some eighty rods from the

house.

The two Applebaum's were evidently fleeing to

St. Peter, when overtaken by the Indians and

kiUed.

Pelix Smith had escaped to Fort Eidgely, and

on Wednesday forenoon went out to his house,

some three miles away. . The Indians attacked the

fort that afternoon, and he was killed in endeavor-

ing to get back into that post.

Small parties of Indians scoured the country be-

tween Fort Eidgely, St. Peter, and Henderson,

during the first week of the massacre, driving away

cattle and burning buildings, within twelve miles

of the first-named place. The Swan Lake House

was laid in ashes. A scouting party of six savages

was seen by General M. B. Stone, upon the bluff,

in sight of the town of St. Peter, on Friday, the

22d day of August, the very day they were making

their most furious and determined assault upon
' Fort Bidgely.

This scouting party had, doubtless, been de-

tached from the main force besieging that post,

and sent forward, under the delusion that the fort

must fall into their hands, to reconnoiter, and re-

port to Little Crow the condition of the place, and

the ability of the people to defend themselves.

But they failed to take Fort Eidgely, and, on the

22d, their scouts saw a large body of troops, under

Colonel Sibley, enter St. Peter.

CHAPTEE XXXVL

BIG STONE IjAKB WHITBS KIIiIiBD—LAKE SHBTBK

—

NAMES or SBTTIjBBS MBS. AlOMINA HDBD ES-

CAPES WITH HER TWO OHILDKEN THE BATTLE OB

SPIEIT IjAKB WABBAEE IN JACKSON COUNTY

DAKOTA TEEBITOEY MUEDEES AT SIOUX EAIiLS

DBSTEUOTION OE PBOPBBTY KILLING OP AMOS

HUGQINS.

At Big Stone Lake, in what is now Big Stone

county, were four trading houses, Wm. H. Forbes,

Daily, Pratt & Co., and Nathan Myrick. The haU-

tues of these Indian trading houses, as usual, were

mostly haU-breeds, natives of the country. The

store of Daily, Pratt & Co. was in charge of Mr.

Eyder of St. Paul. On the 21st of August, four

of these men at work cutting hay, unsuspicious of

dangisr, were suddenly attacked and all murdered,

except Anton Manderfield; while one half-breed,

at the store, Baptiste Gubeau, was taken prisoner,

and was informed that he would be killed that

night. But Gubeau succeeded in escaping from

their grasp, and making his way to the lake. His

escape was a wonderful feat, bound as he was, as

to his hands, pursued by yelling demons determ-

ined on his death. But, ahead of aU his pursuers, he

reached the lake, and dashing into the reeds on the

margin, was hid from the sight of his disappointed

pursuers. Wading noiselessly into the water, u6tU

his head alone was above the water, he remained

perfectly still for' some time. The water soon

loosened the rawhide on his wrists, so that they

were easily removed. The Indians sought for him

in vain; and as the shades of night gathered aroxmd

him, he came out of his hiding place, crossed the

foot of the lake and struck out for the Upper

Mississippi. He finally reached St. Cloud. Here

he was mistaken for an Indian spy, and threatened

with death, but was finally saved by the interposi-

tion of a gentleman who knew him.

The other employes at the lake were all killed

except Manderfield, who secreted himself while his

comrades were being murdered. Manderfield, in

his escape, when near Lac qui Parle, was met by

Joseph Laframboise, who had gone thither to ob-

tain his sister Julia, then a captive there. Man-
derfield received from Laframboise proper direc-

tions, and finally reached Fort Eidgely in safety.

Lake Shbtbk.—This beautiful lake of quiet

water, some six nules long and two broad, is situ-

ated about seventy miles west of New tJlm, in the

county of Murray. Here a little community of

' some fifty persons were residing far out on our

frontier, the nearest settlement being the Big Cot-

tonwood. The families and persons located here

were: John Eastliok and wife, Charles Hatch,

Phineas B. Hurd and wife, John Wright, Wm. J,

Duly and wife, H. W. Smith, Aaron Myers, Mr.

Everett and wife, Thomas Ireland and wife, Koch
and wife; these with their several families, and six

single men, Wm. James, Edgar Bently, John

Voight, E. G. Cook, and John P. and Daniel

Burns, the latter residing alone on a claim at Wal-

nut Grove, some distance from the lake, consti-

tuted the entire population of Lake Shetek settle-

ment, in Murray county.
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On the 20tii o£ August some twenty Sioux In-

dians rode up to the house of Mr. Hard. Mr.

Hurd himself had left home for the Missouri river

on the 2d day of June previous. Ten of these In-

dians entered the house, talked and smoked their

pipes while Mrs. Hurd was getting breakfast. Mr.

Voight, the work-hand, while waiting for break-

fast, took up the babe, as it awoke and cried, and

walked with it out in the yard in front of the door.

No sooner had he left the house than an Indian

took his gun and deliberately shot him dead near

the door. Mrs. Hurd was amazed at the infernal

deed, as these Indians had always been kindly

treated, and often fed at her table. She ran to

the fallen man to raise him up and look after the

safety of her child. To her utter horror, one of

the miscreants intercepted her, telling her to leave

at once and go to the settlements across the prairie.

She was refused the privilege of dressing her

naked children, and was compelled to turn awaj

from her ruined home, to commence her wandering

over an almost trackless waste, without food, and

almost without raiment, for either herself or little

ones.

These Indians proceeded from the house of Mr.

Hurd to that of Mr. Andi-ew Koch, whom they

shot, and plundered the house of its contents.

Mrs. Koch was compelled to get up the oxen and

hitch them to the wagon, and drive them, at the

direction of her captors, into the Indian country.

In this way she traveled ten days. She was the

captive of White Lodge, an old and ugly chief of

one of the upper bands. As the course was tow-

ards the Missouri river, Mrs. Koch refused to go

farther in that direction. The old chief threatened

to shoot her if she did not drive on. Making a

virtue of necessity she reluctantly obeyed. Soon

after she was required to carry the vagabond's

gun. Watching her opportunity she destroyed

the explosive quality. of the cap, and dampened

the powder in the tube, leaving the gun to appear-

ance all right. Soon afterward she again refused

to go any farther in that direction. Again the

old scoundrel threatened her with death. She in-

stantly bared her bosom and dared him to fire.

He aimed his gun at her breast and essayed to

fire, but the gun refused to take part in the work

of death. The superstitious savage, supposing

she bore a charmed life, lowered his gun, and

asked which way she wishsd to go. She pointed

toward the settlements. -In this direction the

teams were turned. They reached the neighbor-

hood of the Upper Agency in ten days after leav-

ing Lake Shetek, about the time of the arrival of

the troops under Colonel Sibley in the vicinity of

Wood Lake and Yellow Medicine. White Lodge
did not like the looks of things around Wood
Lake, and left, moving off in an opposite direction

for greater safety. Mrs. Koch was finally rescued

at Camp Kelease, after wading or swimming the

Minnesota river ten times in company with a

friendly squaw.

At Lake Shetek, the settlers were soon all gath-

ered at the house of John Wright, prepared for

defense. They were, however, induced by the ap-

parently friendly persuasion of the Indians to

abandon the house, and move towards the slough

for better safety. The Indians commenced firing

upon the retreating party. The whites returned

the fire as they ran. Mi-s. Easthck was wounded
in the heel, Mr. Duly's oldest son and daughter

were shot through the shoulder, and Mrs. Ireland's

youngest child was shot thi-ough the leg, while

running to the slough. Mr. Hatch, Mr. Everett,

Mr. Eastlick, Mrs. Easthok, Mrs. Everett, and sev-

eral children were shot. The Indians now told

the women t(j come out of the slough, and they

would not kill them or the children, if they would
come out. They went out to them with the children,

when they shot Mrs. Everett, Mrs. Smith, and Mrs.

Ireland dead, and killed some of the children.

Mrs. Eastlick was shot and left on the field, sup-

posed to be dead, but she finally escaped, and two

of her children, Merton and Johnny. Her inter-

esting narrative will be found in the large work,

from which this abridgment is made up. Mrs.

Julia A. Wright, and Mrs. Duly, and the two chil-

dren of Mrs. Wright, and two of the children of

Mrs. Duly were taken captive. Some of these

were taken by the followers of Little Crow to the

Missouri river, and were subsequently ransomed
at Fort Pierre, by Major Galpin. All the men ex-

cept Mr. Eastlick, being only wounded, escaped

to the settlements. The brothers Bums remained

on their claim, and were not molested. One
sneaking Indian coming near them paid the for-

feit with his life.

Spibit Lake.—On or about the 25th day of

August, 1862, the "Annuity Sioux Indians" made
their appearance at Spirit Lake, the scene of the

terrible Inkpaduta massacre of 1857. The inhab-

itants fled in dismay from their homes; and the

savages, after plundering the dwellings of the set-
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tiers, completed their fiendish work by setting fire

to the country.

Dakota Tbbbitoet.—Portions of Dakota Ter-

ritory were visited by the Sioux in 1862. At

Sioux Falls City the following murders were com-

mitted by the Sioux Indians on the 25th of Au-

gust: Mr. Joseph B. and Mr. M. Amidon, father

and son, were found dead in a corn-field, near

which they had been making hay. The son was

shot with both balls and arrows, the father with

balls only. Their bodies lay some ten rods apart.

On the morning of the 26th, about fifteen Indians,

supposed to be Sioux, attacked the camp of sol-

diers at that place. They - were followed, but

eluded the vigilant pursuit of our soldiers and es-

caped. The families, some ten in number, were

removed to Yankton, the capital, sixty-five miles

distant. This removal took place before the mur-

ders at Lake Shetek were known at Sioux Falls

City. The mail carrier who carried the news from

New Ulm had not yet arrived at Sioux Falls, on

his return trip. He had, on his outward trip,

found Mrs. Eastlick on the prairie, near Shetek,

and carried her to the house' of Mr. Brown, on the

Cottonwood.
'

In one week after the murders at the Falls, one-

half of the inhabitants of the Missouri slope had

fled to Sioux City, Iowa, six miles below the mouth

of the Big Sioux.

The Mubdbb of Amos Htjggins.—Amos Hug-

gins (in the language of Eev. S. B. Eiggs, in his

late work, 1880, entitled "Mary and I,") "was the

eldest child of Alexander G. Huggins, who had

accompanied Dr. Williamson to the Sioux coun-

try in 1835. Amos was born in Ohio, and was at

this time (1862) over thirty years old. He was

married, and two children blessed their home,

which for some time before the outbreak had been

at Lac qui Parle, near where the town of that

name now stands. It was then an Indian village

and planting place, the principal man being Wa-
kanmane—Spirit Walker, or Walking Spirit. If

the people of the village had been at home Mr.

Huggins and his family, which included Miss

Julia Laframboise, who was also a teacher in the

employ of the Government, would have been safe.

But in the absence of Spirit Walker's people three

Indian men came—two of them from the Lower

Sioux Agency—and killed Mr. Huggins, and took

from the house such things as they wanted." pp.

169-170.

This apology for the conduct of Christian In-

dians towards the missionaries and their assistants,

who had labored among them since 1835 up to

1862, a period of twenty-seven years, shows a

truly Christian spirit on the part of the Eev. S. K.

Eiggs; but it is scarcely satisfactory to the general

reader that the Christian Indians were entirely in-

nocent of all blame in the great massacre of 1862.

OHAPTEE XXXVIL

OCCUBBBNCES PEBVIOTJS TO THE ATTACK ON THE

TOWN OE NEW trijM THE ATTACK BY INDIANS

JUDGE FLANDBAU ABBIVBS WITH EEINFOECEMENTS

EVAOUATION 01" NEW ULM.

On the 18th of August, the day of the outbreak,

a volunteer recruiting party for the Union army

went out from New Ulm. Some eight miles west

of that place several dead bodies were found on

the road. The party turned back toward the town,

and, to the surprise of all, were fired upon by In-

dians in ambush, killing several of their party.

Another party leaving New Ulm for the Lower

Agency, when seven miles above the town some

fifty Indians near the road fired upon them, killing

three of these men. This party returned to town.

One of these parties had seen, near the Cotton-

wood, Indians kUl a man on a stack of grain, and

some others in the field. The people of the sur-

rounding country fled for their lives into the town,

leaving, some of them, portions of their families

killed at their homes or on the way to some place

of safety.

Daring the 18th and 19th of August the In-

dians overran the country, burning buildings and

driving off the stock from the farms.

The people had no arms fit for use, and were

perfectly panic-stricken and helpless. But the

news of the outbreak had reached St. Peter, and at

about one o'clock of August 19th, T. B. Thompson,

James Hughes, Charles Wetherell, Samuel Coffin,

Merrick Dickinson, H. Caywood, A. BI. Bean, James

Parker, Andrew Friend, Henry and Frederick Otto,

C. A. Stein, E. G. Covey, Frank Kennedy, Thomas
and Grifdn Williams, and the Hon. Henry A. Swift,

afterwards made Governor of Minnesota, by opera-

tion of the organic law, and William-G. Hayden,
organized themselves into a company, by the elec- -

tion of A. M. BeaU; Captain, and Samuel CoflSn,

Lieutenant, and took up position at New Ulm, in

the defense of that beleaguered place. They at once

advanced upon the Indians, who were posted behind
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the houses in the outer portions of the place. By

this opportune arrival the savage foe were, held in

check. These were soon Joined by another arrival

from St. Peter: L. M. Bordman, J. B. Trogdon, J.

K. Moore, Horace Austin (since Governor), P. M.

Bean, James Homer, Jacob and Philip Stetzer,

William Wilkinson, Lewis Patch, S. A. Buell, and

Henry Snyder, all mounted, as well as a few from

the surrounding country.

By the time these several parties had arrived,

the savages had retired, after burning five build-

ings on the outskirts of the town. In the first

battle several were killed, one Miss Paule of the

place, standing on the sidewalk opposite the Da-

kota House. The enemy's loss is not known.

On the same evening Hon. Charles E. Flandrau,

at the head of about one hundred and 'twenty-five

men, volunteers from St. Peter and vicinity, en-

tered the town; and reinforcements continued to

arrive from Mankato, Le Sueur, and other points,

until Thursday, the 21st, when about three hun-

dred and twenty-five armed men were in New Ulm,

under the command of Judge Flandrau. Cap-

tain Bierbauer, at the head of one hundred men,

from Mankato, arrived and participated in the de-

fense of the place.

Some rude barricades around a few of the

houses in the center of the village, fitted up by

means of wagons, boxes and waste lumber, par-

tially protected the volunteer soldiery operating

now under a chosen leader.

On Saturday, the 22d, the commandant sent

across the river seventy-five of his men to dislodge

some Indians intent on burning buildings and

grain and hay stacks. First Lieutenant William

Huey, of Traverse, des Sioux, commanded this

force. This officer, on reaching the opposite

shore, discovered a large body of Indians in ad-

vance of him; and in attempting to return was

completely intercepted by large bodies of Indians

on each side of the river. There was but one way

of escape, and that was to retreat to the company

of E. St. Julien Cox, known to be approaching

from the direction of St. Peter. This force, thus

cut off, returned with the command of Captain E.

St. Julien Cox; and with this increased force of

one hundred and seventy-five, Captain Cox soon

after entered the town to the relief of both citizens

and soldiers.

The Indians at the siege of New Ulm, at the

time of the principal attack before the arrival of

Captain Cox, were estimated at about five hundred.

coming from the direction of the Lower Agency-

The movement is thus described by Judge Elan-

drau:

"Their advance upon the sloping prairie in the

bright sunlight was a very fine spectacle, and to

such inexperienced soldiers as we all were, intense-

ly exciting: When within about one mile of us

the mass began to expand like a fan, and increas-

ing in the velocity of its approach, continued

'this movement uutU within about double rifle-shot,

when it covered our entire front. Then the sav-

ages uttered a terrific yell and came down upon

us like the wind. I had stationed myself at a

point in the rear where communication could be

had with me easily, and awaited the fii-st discharge

with great anxiety, as it seemed to me that to

yield was certain destruction, as the enemies would

rush into the town and drive all before them. The
yell unsettled the men a little, and just before the

rifles began to crack they fell back along the whole

line, and committed the error of passing the outer

houses without taking possession of them, a mis-

take which the Indians immediately took advan-

tage of by themselves occupying them in squads

of two, three and up to ten. They poured into

us a sharp and rapid fi;-e as we fell back, and

opened from the hoTises in e^ery direction. Sev-

eral of us rode up to the hill, endeavoring to rally

the men, and with good effect, as they gave three

cheers and sallied out of the various houses they

had retreated to, and checked the advance effect-

ually. The firing from both sides then became
general, sharp and rapid, and it got to be a regu-

lar Indian skirmish, in which every man did his

own work after his own fashion. The Indians had
now got into the rear of our men, and nearly on
all sides of them, and the fire of the enemy was

becoming very gaUing, as they had possession of

a large number of buildings."

Eight at the Wind-Mii,i.—Bev. B. G. Coflfin,

of Mankato, George B. Stewart, of Le Sueur, and

J. B. Trogdon, of Nicollet, and thirteen others,

fought their way to the wind-mill. This they

held during the battle, their unerring shots tell-

ing fearfully upon the savages, and finally forcing

them to retire. At night these brave men set fire

to the building, and then retreated within the bar-

ricades, in the vicinity of the Dakota House.

During the firing from this miU a most determined

and obstinate fight was kept up from the brick

post-office, where Governor Swift was stationed,

which told most fataUy upon the foe, and from
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this point many an Indian fell before the deadly

aim of the true men stationed there.

Captain William B. Dodd.—^When the attack

was made upon the place the Indians had suc-

ceeded in reaching the Lower Town. The wind

was favoring them, as the smoke of burning build-

ings was carried into the main portion of the town,

behind which they were advancing. "Captain

William B. Dodd, of St. Peter, seeing the move-

ment from that quarter, supposed the expected re-

inforcements were in from that direction. He

made at once a superhuman effort, almost, to en-

courage the coming troops to force the Indian

line and gain admittance into the town. He had

gone about seventy-five yards outside the lines,

when the Indians from, buildings on either side of

the street poured a full volley into the horse and

rider. The Captain received three balls near his

heart, wheeled his horse, and riding within twenty-

five yards of our lines fell from his horse, and was

assisted to walk into a house, where in a few mo-

ments he died, 'the noblest Roman of them all.'

He dictated a short message to his wife, and re-

marked that he had discharged his duty and was

ready to die. No man fought more courageously,

or died more nobly. Let his virtues be forever re-

membered. He was a hero of the truest type!"

—St. Peter Statesman.

At the stage of the battle in which Captain

Dodd was killed, several others also were either

killed or wounded. Captain Saunders, a Baptist

minister of Le Sueur, was wounded, with many

others. Howell Houghton, an old settler, was

killed. The contest was continued until dark,

when the enemy began to carry off their dead and

wounded. In the morning of the next day (Sun-

day) a feeble firing was kept up for several hours

by the sullen and retiring foe. The battle of New
Ulm had been fought, and the whites were masters

of the field; but at what a fearful price! The

dead and dying and, wounded filled the buildings

left standing, and this beautiful and enterprising

German town, which on Monday morning con-

tained over two hundred buildings, had been laid

in ashes, only some twenty-five houses remaining

to mark the spot where New Ulm once stood.

On Sunday afternoon. Captain Cox's command,

one hundred and fifty volunteers from Nicollet,

Sibley and Le Sueur, armed with Austrian rifles,

shot-guns and hunting rifles arrived. The Indians

retreated, and returned no more to make battle

with the forces at New Ubn.

But strange battle field. The Indians deserted

it on Sunday, and on Monday the successful de-

fenders also retire from a place they dare not at-

tempt to hold! The town was evacuated. All

the women and children, and wounded men,

making one hundred and fifty-three wagon loads,

while a considerable number composed the com-

pany on foot. All these moved with the command
of Judge Flandrau towards Mankato.

The loss to our forces in this engagement was

ten killed, and about fifty wounded. The loss of the

enemy is unknown, but must have been heavy, as

ten of their dead were found on the field of battle,

which they had been unable to remove.

We might fill volumes with incidents, and mi-

raculous escapes from death, but our limits abso-

lutely forbid their introduction in this abridge-

ment. The reader must consult the larger work

for these details. The escape of Governor Swift,

Flandrau and Bird, and J. B. Trogdon and D. G.

Shellack and others from perilous positions, are

among the many exciting incidents of the siege of

New Ulm.

Omitting the story of Jolin W. Young, of won-

derful interest, we refer briefly to the weightier

matters of this sad chapter, and conclude the same

by the relation of one short chapter.

THE EXPBmTION TO LEAVENWORTH.

During the siege of New Ulm, two expeditions

were sent out from that place toward the settle-

ments on the Big Cottonwood, and although not

really forming a part of the operations of a de-

fensive character at that place, are yet so connect-

ed with them that we give them here.

On Thursday morning, the 21st of August, a

party went out on the road to Leavenworth for the

purpose of burying the dead, aiding the wounded

and bringing them in, should they find any, and

to act as a scouting party. They went out some

eight miles, found and buried several bofiies, and

returned to New Ulm, at night, without seeing

any Indians.

On Friday, the 22d, another party of one hun-

dred and forty men, under command of Captain

George M. Tousley, started for the purpose of res-

cuing a party of eleven persons, women and child-

ren, who, a refugee informed the commandant,

were hiding in a ravine out toward Leavenworth.

Accompanying this party were Drs. A. W. Daniels,

of St. Peter, and Ayer, of Le Sueur.

On the way out, the cannonading at Fort

Eidgely was distinctly heard by them, and then
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Dr. Daniels, who had resided among the Sioux

several years as a physician to the lower bands,

had, for the first time, some conception of the ex-

tent and magnitude of the outbreak.

As the main object of the expedition had alrea-

dy been accomplished

—

i. e., the rescue of the wo-

men and children—Dr. Daniels urged a return to

New Ulm. The question was submitted to the

company, and they decided to go on, and proceed-

ed to within four miles of Leavenworth, the de-

sign being to go to that place, remain there all

night, bury the dead next day, and return.

It was now nearly night; the cannonading at

the fort could still be heard; Indian spies were,

undoubtedly, watching them; only about one

hundred armed men were left in the town, and

from his intimate knowledge of the Indian char-

acter. Dr. Daniels was convinced that the safety of

their force, as well as New Ulm itself, required

their immediate return.

A halt was called, and this view of the case was

presented to the men by Drs. Daniels, Ayer, and

Mayo. A vote was again taken, and it was deci-

ded to return. The return march commenced at

about sundown, and at one o'clock a. m.. they re-

entered the village.

Ealph Thomas, who resided on the Big Cotton-

wood, in the county of Brown, had gone with

many of his neighbors, on Monday, the 18th of

August, into New Ulm for safety, while William

Carroll and some others residing further up the

river, in Leavenworth, had gone to the same place

to ascertain, whether the rumors they had heard

of an uprising among the Sioux were true. Mr.

Thomas makes the following statement of the do-

ings of this little party, and its subsequent fate:

" There were eight of us on horseback, and the

balance of the party were in three wagons. We
had gone about a mile when we met a German

going into New Ulm, who said he saw Indians at

my place skinning a heifer, and that they drove

him off, chasing him with spears. He had come

from near Leavenworth. We kept on to my place,

near which we met John Thomas and Almon Par-

ker, who had remained the night before in a grove

of timber, one and a half miles from my place.

About eight o'clock the evening before, they had

seen a party of ten or twelve Indians, mounted on

ponies, coming toward them, who chased them into

the grove, the savages passing on to the right,

leaving them alone. They stated to us that they

had seen Indians that morning traveling over the

prairie southward. We stopped at my place and

fed our horses. While the horses were eating, I

called for three or four men to go with me to the

nearest houses, to see what had become of the peo-

ple. We went first to the house of Mr. Mey, where

we found him and his family lying around the

house, to aU appearance dead. We also found

here Joseph Emery and a Mr. Heuyer, also appa-

rently dead. We had been here some five minutes

viewing the scene, when one of the children, a girl

of seven years, rose up from the ground and com-

menced crying piteously. I took her in my arms,

and told the other men to examine the other bodies

and see if there were not more of them alive.

They found two others, a twin boy and girl about

two years old; all the rest were dead.

" We next proceeded to the house of Mr. Greorge

Kaeser, and found the bodies of himself and wife

lying near the house by a stack of grain. We
went into the house and found their child, eighteen

months old, alive, trying to get water out of the

paU. We then went back to my place, and sent

John Thomas and Mr. Parker with an ox-team to

New Ulm with these children. Mr. Mey's three

children were wounded with blows of a tomahawk
on the head; the other child was uninjured. We
then went on toward Leavenworth, seeing neither

Indians nor whites, untU we arrived at the house

of Mr. Seaman, near which we found an old gen-

tleman named Eiant concealed in a slough among
the tall grass. He stated to us that a party of

whites with him had been chased and fired upon
by a party of Indians. It consisted of himself,

Luther Whiton, George W. Covill and wife, Mrs.

Covin's son, Mrs. Hough and child, Mr. Van Guil-

der and wife and two children, and ' Mr. Van Guil-

der's mother. AU these Mr. Riant said had scat-

tered over the prairie. We remained about two

hours, hunting for the party, and not finding

them, turned back toward New Ulm, taking Mr.

Riant with us. We proceeded down opposite my
place, where we separated, eleven going down on

one side of the Big Cottonwood,, to Mr. Tuttle'a

place, and seven of us proceeded down on the

other, or north side of the stream. The design

was to meet again at Mr. Tattle's house, and all

go back to New Ulm together; but when we ar-

rived at Tuttle's, they had gone on to town with-

out waiting for us, and we followed. When near

Mr. flibbard's place we met Mr. Jakes going west.

He said that he had been within a mile of New
Ulm, and saw the other men of our party. He
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further informed us that he saw grain-stacks and

sh^ds on fire at that distance from tlie place.

" When we came to the burning stacks we halted

to look for Indians. Our comrades were half an

hour ahead of us. When they got in sight of the

town, one of them, Mr. Hinton, rode up on an ele-

vation, where he could overlook the place, and saw

Indians, and the town on fire in several places. He

went back and told them that the Indians had at-

tacked the town, and that he did not consider it

safe for them to try to get in, and proposed cross-

ing the Cottonwood, and going toward the Man-

kato road, and entering town on that side. His

proposition was opposed by several of the party,

who thought him frightened at the sight of half a

dozen Indians. They asked him how many he had

seen. He said some forty. They came up and

looked, but could see but three or four Indians.

Mr. Carroll told them they had better go on, and,

if opposed, out their way through. He told Hin-

ton to lead, and they would follow. They passed

down the hill, and met with no opposition until

they came to a slough, half a mile from the town.

Here two Indians, standing on a large stone by the

side of the road, leveled their double-barreled

guns at Mr. Hinton. He drew his revolver, placed

it between his horse's ears, and made for them.

The balance of the company followed. The Indi-

ans retired to cover without firing a shot, and the

company kept on until they had crossed the slough,

when the savages, who were lying in ambush,

arose from the grass, and firing upon them, killed

five of their nitmber, viz. : William Carroll, Alrtiond

Loomis, Mr. Lamb, Mr. Riant, and a Norwegian,

and chased the balance into the town.

"We came on about half an hour afterward, and

passing down the hill, crossed the same slough,

and unconscious of danger, approached the fatal

spot, when about one hundred and fifty savages

sprang up out of the grass and fired upon us,

killing five horses and six men. My own horse

was shot th]-ough the body, close to my leg, killing

him instantly. My feet were out of the stirrups in

a moment, and I sprang to the ground, striking

on my hands and feet. I dropped my gun, jump-

ed up, and ran. An Indian, close behind, dis-

charged the contents of both barrels of a shot-gun

at me. The charge tore up the ground at my feet,

throwing dirt all around me ES I ran. I made my
way into town on foot as fast as I could go. No
other of our party escaped; all the rest were

killed. Reinforcements from St. Peter came to

the relief of the place in about half an hour after

I got in, and the Indians soon after retired."

CHAPTER XXXVIII.

BATTIiB AT liOWEE AGENCY FEREY SIEGE OP FOET

EipGBIiY BATTLE OF WEDNESDAY JACK FEAZBE

BATTLE OF FKIDAY EEINFOKCBMENTS ABEIVE.

On Monday morning, the 18th of August, 1862,

at about 9 o'clock, a messenger arrived at Fort

Eidgely, from the Lower Sioux Agency, bringing

the startling news that the Indians were massacre-

ing the whites at that place. Captain John S.

Marsh, of Company B, Fifth Regiment Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, then in command, immediately

dispatched messengers after Lieutenant Sheehan,

of Company C, of the same regiment, who had left

that post on the morning before, with a detach-

ment of his company, for Fort Ripley, on the

Upper Miesissipi, and Major T. J. Galbraith, Sioux

Agent, who had also left the fort at the same time

with fifty men, afterwards known as the Ren-

ville Rangers, for Fort Snelling, urging them to

return to Fort Eidgely with aU possible dispatch,

as there were then in the fort only Company B,

numbering about seventy-five or eighty men. The
gallant captain then took a detachment of forty-

six men, and accompanied by Interpreter Quinn,

immediately started for the scene of blood, distant

twelve miles. They made a very rapid march.

When within about four miles of the ferry, op-

posite the Agency, they met the ferryman, Mr.

Martelle, who informed Captain Marsh that the In-

dians were in considerable force, and were mur-

dering aU the people, and advised him to return.

He replied that he was there to protect and defend

the frontier, and he should do so if it was in his

power, and gave the order "Forward!" Between

this point and the river they passed nine dead

bodies on or near the road. Arriving near the

ferry the company was halted, and Corporal

Ezekiel Rose was sent forward to examine the ferry,

and see if all was right. The captain and inter-

preter were mounted on mules, the men were on

foot, and formed in two ranks in the road, near

the ferry-house, a few rods from the banks of the

river. The corporal had taken a pail with him to

the river, iind returned, reporting the ferry all

right, bringing with him water for the exhausted

and thirsty men.
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In the meantime an Indian had made his ap-

pearance on the opposite bank, and calling to

Quinn, urged them to come across, telling him all

was right on that side. The suspicions of the cap-

tain were at once aroused, and he ordered the men
to remain in their places, and not to move on to

the boat until he could ascertain whether the In-

dians were in ambush in the ravines on the oppo-

site shore. The men were in the act of drinking,

when the savage on the opposite side, seeing thev

were not going to cross at once, fired his gun, as a

signal, when instantly there arose out of the grass

and brush, all around them, some four or five hun-

dred warriors, who poured a terrific volley upon

the devoted band. The aged interpreter fell from

his mule, pierced by over twenty balls. The cap-

tain's mule fell dead, but he himself sprang to the

ground unharmed. Several of the men fell at this

first fire. The testimony of the survivors of this

sanguinary engagement is, that their brave com-

mander was as cool and collected as if on dress pa-

rade. They retreated down the stream about a

mile and a hall, fighting their way inch by inch,

when it was discovered that a body of Indians,

taking advantage of the fact that there was a bend

in the river, had gone across and gained the bank

below them.

The heroic little band was already rediiced to

about one-half its original number. To cut their

way through this large number of Indians was

impossible. Their only hope now was to cross the

river to the reservation, as there appeared to be no

Indians on that shore, retreat down that side and

reoross at the fort. The river was supposed to be

fordable where they were, and, accordingly, Capt.

Marsh gave the order to cross. Taking his sword

in one hand and his revolver in the other, accom-

panied by his men, he waded out into the stream.

It was very soon ascertained that they must swim,

when these who could not do so returned to the

shore and hid in the grass as best they could,

while those who could, dropped their arms and

struck out for the opposite side. Among these

latter was Oapt. Marsh. When near the opposite

shore he was struck by a ball, and immediately

sank, but arose again to the surface, and grasped

the shoulder of a man at his side, but the garment

gave way in his grasp, and he again sank, this

time to Zlse no more.

Thirteen of the men reached the bank in safety,

aid returned to the fort that night. Those of

them who were unable to cross remained in the

grass and bushes until night, when they made
their way, also, to the fcrt or settlements. Some
of them were badly wounded, and were out two or

three days before they got in. Two weeks after-

ward, Josiah F. Marsh, brother of the cap-

tain, with a mounted escort of thirty men—his

old neighbors from Fillmore county—made search

for his body, but without success. On the day
before and the day after this search, as was sub-

sequently ascertained, two hundred Indians were

scouting along the river, upon the the very ground
over which these thirty men passed, in their fruit-

less search for the remains of their dead brother

and friend. Two weeks later another search was
made with boats along the river, and this time the

search was successful. His body was discovered

a mile and a half beloiv where he was killed, under
the roots of a tree ttauding at the water's edge.

His remains were borne by his sorrowing com-
panions to Fort Eidgely, and deposited in the

military burial-ground at that place.

This gallant officer demands more than a pass-

ing notice. When the Southern rebelhon broke

out, in 1861, John S. Marsh was residing in Fill-

more county, Minnesota. A company was re-

cruited in his neighborhood, designed for the gal-

lant 1st Minnesota, of which he was made first

lieutenant. Before, however, this company reach-

ed Fort Snelling, the place of rendezvous, the reg-

iment was lull, and it was disbanded. The patri-

otic fire still burned in the soul of young Marsh.
Going to La Orosse, he volunteered as a %irimle in

the 2d Wisconsin regiment, and served some ten

months in the ranks. In the following winter his

brother, J. F. Marsh, assisted in raising a com-
pany in Fillmore county, of which John S. was
elected first lieutenant, and he was therefore trans-

ferred, by order of the Secretary of War, to his

company, and arrived at St. Paul about the 12th
of March, 1862. In the meantime, Captain Gere
was promoted to major, and on the 2'lth Lieuten-

ant Blarsh was promoted to the captaincy of his

company, and ordered to report at Fort Eidgely
and take command of that important ti'ontier post.

Captain Marsh at once repaired to his post of

duty, where he remained in command imtil the
fatal encounter of the 18th terminated both his

usefulness and life. He was a brave and accom-
plished soldier, and a noble man,

''None knew him but to love him,
None named him but to praise."
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SIEGE OF FOET EIDGEIiY.

Foiled in their attack on New Ulm by the

timely arrival of reiaforcemeifts under Flandrau,

the Indiana turned their attention toward Fort

Eidgely, eighteen miles north-west. On Wednes-

day, at three o'clock P. M., the 20th of August,

they suddenly appeared in great force at that

post, and at once commenced a furious assault

upon it. The fort is situated on the edge of the

prairie, about half a mile from the Minnesota river,

a timbered bottom intervening, and a wooded ra-

vine running up out of the bottom around two

sides of the fort, and within about twenty rods of

the buildings, affording shelter for an enemy on

three sides, within easy rifle or musket range.

The first knowledge the garrison had of the

presence of the foe was given by a volley from the

ravine, which drove in the pickets. The men were

instantly formed, by order of Lieutenant Sheehan,

in line of battle, on the parade-ground inside the

works. Two men, Mark M. Grear, of Company

0, and William Goode, of Company B, felj at the

first fire of the concealed foe, after the line was

formed; the former was instantly killed, the latter

badly wounded, both being shot in the head.

Bobert Baker, a citizen, who had escaped from the

massacre at the Lower Agency, was shot through

the head and instantly killed, while standing at a

window in the barracks, at about the same time.

The men soon broke for shelter, and from behind

boxes, from windows, from the shelter of the

buildings, and from every spot where concealment

was possible, watched their opportunities, wasted

no ammunition, but poured their shots with deadly

effect upon the wily and savage foe whenever he

suffered himself to be seen.

The forces in the fort at this time were the rem-

nant of Company B, 5th Eegiment M. V., Lieu-

tenant Culver, thirty men; about fifty men of

Company C, same regiment, Lieutenant T. J.

Sheehan; the Eenville Eangers, Lieutenant James

Gorman, numbering fifty men, all under command

of Lieutenant T. J. Sheehan.

Sergeant John Jones, of the regular army, a

brave and skillful man, was stationed at this fort

as post-sergeant, in charge of the ordnance, and

took immediate command of the artillery, of which

there were in the fort six pieces. Three only, how-

ever, were used—two six-pounder howitzers and

one twenty-four-pounder field-piece. A sufficient

number of men had been detailed to work these

guns, and at the instant of the first alarm were

promptly at their posts. One of the guns was

placed in charge of a citizen named J. C. Whipple,

an old artillerist, who had seen service in the Mex-

ican war, and in the United States navy, and had

made his escape from the massacre at the Lower

Agency, and one in charge of Sergeant MoGrew,

of Company C; the other in charge of Sergeant

Jones in person. In this assault there were, prob-

ably, not less than five hundred warriors, led by

their renowned chief, Little Crow.

So sudden had been the outbreak, and so weak

was the garrison that there had been no time to

construct any defensive works whatever, or to re-

move or destroy the wooden structures and hay-

stacks, behind which the enemy could take position

and shelter. The magazine was situated some

twenty rods outside the main works on the open

prairie. Men were at once detailed to take the

ammunition into the fort. Theirs was the post of

danger; but they passed through the leaden storm

unscathed.

In the rear of the barracks was a ravine up which

the St. Peter road passed. The enemy had poses-

sion of this ravine and road, while others were

posted in the buildings, at the windows, and in

sheltered portions in the sheds in the rear of the

officer's quarters. Here they fought from 3 o'clock

until dark, the artillery all the while shelling the

ravine at short range, and the rifles and muskets

of the men dropping the yelling demons Kke au-

tumn leaves. In the meantime the Indians had

got into some of the old. out-buildings, and had

crawled up behind the hay-stacks, from which they

poured heavy volleys into the fort. A few well-di-

rected shells from the howitzers set them on fire,

and when night closed over the scene the lurid

light of the burning buildings shot up with a fit-

ful glare, and served the purpose of revealing to

the wary sentinel the lurking foe should he again

appear.

The Indians retired with the closing day, and

were seen in large numbers on their ponies, mak-

ing their way rapidly toward the Agency. The

great danger feared by all was, that, under cover

of the darkness, the savages might creep up to the

buildings and with fire-arrows ignite the dry roots

of the wooden structures. But about midnight

the heavens opened and the earth was deluged

with rain, effectually preventing tho consumma-

tion of such a design, if it was intended. As the

first great drops teU on the faces upturned to the



FORT BIDOELT ATTACKED. 223

gathering heavens the glad shout of "Eain! rain!

thank God! thank God!" went round the beleag-

uered garrison. Stout-hearted, strong-armed men

breathed free again; and weary, frightenedwomen

and children slept onoe more in comparative safety.

In this engagement there were two men killed,

and nine wounded, and all the government mules

were stampeded by the Indians. Jack Frazer, an

old resident in the Indian country, volunteered as

a bearer of dispatches to Governor Kamsey, and

availing himself of the darkness and the furious

storm, made his way safely out of the fort, and

reached St. Peter, where he met Colonel Sibley and

his command on their way to the relief of the fort.

Bain continued to fall until nearly night of

Thursday, when it ceased, and that night the stars

looked down upon the weary, but still wakeful and

vigilant watchers in Fort Bidgely. On that night

ft large quantity of oats, in sacks, stored in the

granary near the stable, and a quantity of cord-

wood piled near the fort, were disposed about the

works in such a manner as to afford protection to

the men, in case of another attack. The roof of

the commissary building was covered with earth, as

a protection against flre-arrows. The water in the

fort had given out, and as there was neither well

nor cistern in the works, the garrison were depend-

ent upon a spring some sixty rods distant in the

ravine, for a supply of that indispensable element.

Their only resource now was to dig for water,

which they did at another and less exposed point,

and by noon had a supply suiEcient for two or

three days secured iaside the fort.

In the meantime the small arm's ammunition

hairing become nearly exhausted in the battle of

Wednesday, the balls were removed from some of

the- spherical case-shot, and a party of men and

ivomen made them up into cartridges, which were

jr^atly needed. Small parties of Indians had

twen seen about the fort, out of range, during

Thursday and Friday forenoon, watching the fort,

to report if reinforcements had reached it. At

about 1 o'clock in the afternoon of Friday, the 22d,

they appeared again in force, their numbers greatly

augmented, and commenced a furious and most de-

termined assault. They came apparently from the

Lower Agency, passing down the Minnesota bot-

tom, and round into the ravine surrounding the

fort. As they passed near the beautiful residence

of E. H. Eandall, post sutler, they applied the

torch and it was soon wrapped in flames. On came

the painted savages yelling hke so many demons

let loose from the bottomless pit; but the brave

men in that sore pressed garrison, knowing full

well that to be taken alive was certain death to

themselves and all within the doomed fort, each

man was promptly at his post.

The main attack was directed against that side

of the works next to the river, the buildings here

being frame structures, and the most vulnerable

part of the fort. This side was covered by the

stable, granary, and one or two old buildings,

besides the sutler's store on the west side, yet

standing, as well as the buildings named above.

Made bold by their augmented numbers, and the

non-arrival of reinforcements to the garrison, the

Indians pressed on, seemingly determined to rush

at once into the works, but were met as they

reached the end of the timber, and swept round

up the ravine with such a deadly fire of musketry

poured upon them from behind the barracks and

the windows of the quarters, and of grape, canister

and shell from the guns of the brave and heroic

Jones, Whipple, and MoGrew, that they beat a

hasty retreat to the friendly shelter of the bottom,

out of musket range. But the shells continued to

scream wildly through the air, and burst around

and among them. They soon rallied and took

possession of the stable and other out-buildings

on the south side of the fort, from which they

poured terrific volleys upon the frail wooden

buildings on that aide, the bullets actually passing

through their sides, and through the partitions

inside of them. Here Joseph Vanosse, a citizen,

was shot through the body by a ball which came

through the side of the building. They were

soon driven from these buildings by the artillery,

which shelled them out, setting the buildings on

fire. The sutler's store was in like manner

shelled and set on fire. The scene now became

grand and terrific. The flames and smoke of the

burning buildings, the wild and demoniac yells of

the savage besiegers, the roaring of cannon, the

screaming of shells as they hurtled through the

air, the sharp crack of the rifle, and the unceasing

rattle of musketry presented an exhibition never

to be forgotten by those who witnessed it.

The Indians retired hastily from the burning

buildings, the men in the fort sending a shower of

bullets among them as they disappeared over the

bluflfs toward the bottom. "With wild yeUs they

now circled round into the ravine, and from the

tall grass, lying on their faces, and from tho

shelter of the timber, continued the battle till
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night, their leader, Little Crow, vainly ordering

them to charge on the guns. They formed once

for that purpose, about sundown, but a shell and

round of canister sent into their midst closed the

contest, -whenj-with an unearthly yell of rage and dis-

appointment, they left. These shots, as was after-

wards ascertained, killed and wounded seventeen

of their number. Jones continued to shell the

ravine and timber around the fort until after dark,

when the firing ceased, and then, as had been

done on each night before, since the investment of

the fort, the men all went to their several posts to

wait and watch for the coming of the wily foe.

The night waned slowly ; but they must not sleep;

their foe is sleepless, and that wide area of dry

shingled roof must be closely scanned, and the

approaches be vigilantly guarded, by which he

may, under cover of the darkness, creep upon

them unawares.

Morning broke at last, the sun rode up a clear

and cloudless sky, but the foe came not. The day

passed away, and no attack; the night again, and

then another day; and yet other days and nights

of weary, sleepless watching, but neither friend nor

foe approached the fort, until about daylight on

Wednesday morning, the 27th, when the cry was

heard from the look-out on the roof, "There are

horsemen coming on the St. Peter road, across the

ravine!" Are they friends or foes? was the ques-

tion on the tongues of all. By their cautious

movements they were evidently reoonnoitering,

and it was yet too dark for those in the fort to be

able to tell, at that distance, friends from foes.

But as daylight advanced, one hundred and fifty

mounted men were seen dashing through the ra-

vine; and amidst the wild hurras of the assembled

garrison, Colonel Samuel McPhail, at the head of

two companies of citizen-cavalry, rode into the

fort. In command of a company of these men

were Anson Northrup, from Minneapolis, a a old

frontiers-man, and R. H. Chittenden, of the First

Wisconsin Cavalry. This for::e had ridden all

night, having left St. Peter, forty-five miles dis-

tant, at 6 o'clock the night before. From them

the garrison learned that heavy reinforcements

were on their way to their relief, under Colonel

(now Brigadier-General) H. H. Sibley. The worn-

out and exhausted garrison could now sleep with

a feeUng of comparative security. The number

of killed and wounded of the enemy is not known,

but must have been considerable, as, at the close

(.: each battle, they were seen carrying away their

dead and .wounded. Our own fallen heroes were

buried on the edge of the prairie near the fort;

and the injuries of the wounded men were care-

fully attended to by the skillful and excellent post'

surgeon, Dr. Alfred MuUer.

We close our account of this protracted siege

by a slight tribute o:~ behalf of the sick and

wounded in that garrisui», to One whose name will

ever be mentioned by them with love and respect.

The hospitals of Sebastopol had their Florence

Nightingale, and over every blood-stained field of

the South, in our own struggle for national life,

hovered angels of mercy, cheering and soothuig

the sick and wounded, smoothing the pillows

and closing the eyes of our fallen braves.

And when, in after years, the brave men who fell,

sorely wounded, in the battles of Fort Eidgely,

Birch Coolie, and Wood Lake, fighting against

the savage hordes, who overran the borders of our

beautiful State, in August and September', 1862,

carrying the flaming torch, the gleaming toma-

hawk, and bloody scalping-knife to hundreds of

peaceful homes, shall tell to their children and

children's children the story of the "dark and

bloody ground" of Minnesota, and shall exhibit to

them the scars those wounds have left; they will

tell, with moistened cheek and swelling hearts of

the noble, womanly deeds of Mrs. Eliza MuUer,

the "Florence Nightingale" of Fort Eidgely.

[Mrs. MuUer several years since died at the asylum

at St. Peter.]

SBKGBANT JOHN JONES.

We feel that the truth of history will not be fully

vindicated should we fail to bestow upon a brave

and gallant officer that meed of praise so justly

due. The only officer of experience left in the fort

by the death of its brave commandant was Ser-

geant John Jones, of the regular artillery ; and it

is but just to that gallant ofiicer that we should

say that but for the cool courage and discretion of

Sergeant Jones, Fort Eidgely would, in the first

day's battle have become a funeral pyre for all

within its doomed walls. And it gives us more

than ordinary pleasure to reooi-d the fact, that the

services he then rendered the Government, in the

defense of the frontier were fully recognized and

rewarded with the commission of Captain of the

Second MinneGota Battery.
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CHAPTEB XXXIX.

CAPTAIN WHITOOMB'S AEEIVAIj AT ST. PATH; PASSES

THBOnGH MEEKER COTJNTT—A EOBT CONSTETJOTED

—ENGAGEMENT WITH INDIANS ATTACK ON FOEEST

CITY CONDITION OF THE OOTJNTEX CAPTAIN

STBOUT AT GLENCOB—ATTACKED NEAB ACTON BY

ONE HUNDBED AND EIFTY INDIANS—ATTACK ON

HTJTOHINSON.

This chapter will be devoted to the upper por-

tion of the state, and the movements of troops for

the relief of the frontier, not immediately con-

nected with the main expedition under Colonel

Sibley; and to avoid repetition, the prominent in-

cidents of the massacre ia this portion of the state

wUl be given in connection with the movements of

the troops. We quote from the Adjutant-Gen-

eral's Eeport:

The 19th day of August the first news of the

outbreak at Eedwood was received at St. Paul.

On the same day a messenger arrived from Meeker

county, with news of murders committed in that

coimty by the Indians, and an earnest demand for

assistance. The murders were committed at Ac-

ton, about twelve miles from Forest City, on Sun-

day, the 17th day of the month. The circum-

stances under which these murders were committed

are fully detailed in a previous chapter.

George 0. Whitcomb, cormnander of the state

forces raised in the county of Meeker, was sta-

tioned at Forest City. On the 19th of August,

Mr. Whitcomb arrived at St. Paul, and received

from the state seventy-five stand of arms and a

small quantity of ammunition, for the purpose of

enabling the settlers of Meeker county to stand on

the defensive, until other assistance could be sent

to their aid. With these in his possession, he

started on his return, and, on the following day he

met Ool. Sibley at Shakopee, by whom he was or-

dered to raise a company of troops and report with

command to the Colonel, at Fort Eidgely. On ar-

riving at Hutchinson, in MoLeod county, he found

the whole country on a general stampede, and

smaU bands of Indians lurking ia the border of

Meeker county.

Captain Bichard Strout was ordered, under date

of August 24, to proceed with a company of men
to Forest City, in the county of Meeker, for the

protection of that locaHty.

In the meantime Captain Whitcomb arrived at

Forest City with the arms furnished hiTn by the
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state, with the exception of those left by him at

Hutchinson. Upon ids arrival he speedily en-

listed, for temporary service, a company of fifty-

three men, twenty-five of whom were mounted,

and the remainder were to act as infantry.

Captain Whitcomb, with the mounted portion of

his company, made a rapid march into the county

of Monongalia, to a point about thirty miles from

Forest City, where he found the bodies of two men
who had been shot by the Indians, who had muti

lated the corpses by cutting their throats and

scalping them. In the same vioiriity he found the

ruins of three houses that had been burned, and

the carcasses of a large number of cattle that had

been wantonly killed and devoted to destruction.

Owing to rumors received at this point, he pro-

ceeded in a north-westerly direction, to the distance

of ten miles further, and found on the route the

remains of five more of the settlers, all of whom
had been shot and scalped, and some of them were

otherwise mutilated by having their hands cut off

and gashes cut in their faces, done apparently with

hatchets.

On the return to camp at Forest City, when
within about four miles of Acton, he came to a

point on the road where a train of wagons had been

attacked on the 23d. He here found two more

dead bodies of white men, mutilated in a shocking

manner by having their hands cut off, being dis-

emboweled and otherwise disfigured, having knives

still remaining in their abdomens, where they had

been left by the savages. The road at this place

was, for three miles, lined with the carcasses of

dead cattle, a great portion of which belonged to

the train upon which the attack had been made.

On this excursion the company were abont foui'

days, during which time they traveled over one

hundred miles, and buried the bodies of nine per-

sons who had been murdered.

On the next day after having returned to the

camp, being the 28th of the month, the same

party made a circuit through the western portion

of Meeker county, and buried the bodies of three

more men that were found mutilated and disfigured

in a similar manner to those previously mentioned.

In addition to the other services rendered by the

company thus far, they had discovered and re-

moved to the camp several persons found wounded

and disabled in the vicinity, and two, who had

been very severely wounded, had been sent by
them to St. Cloud for the purpose of receiving

surgical attention.
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The company, in addition to their other labors,

were employed in the construction of a stockade

fort, to be used if necessary for defensive purposes,

and for the protection of those who were not capa-

ble of bearing arms. It was formed by inserting

the ends of pieces of rough timber into the earth

to the depth of three feet, and leaving them from

ten to twelve feet above the surface of the ground.

In this way an area was inclosed of one hundred

and forty feet in length and one hundred and

thirty in width. Within the fortification was in-

cluded one frame dwelling-house and a well of

water. At diagonal comers of the inclosure were

erected two wings or bastions provided with port-

holes, from each of which two sides of the main

work could be guarded and raked by the lilies of

the company.

Information was received by Captain Whitoomb

that a family at Green Lake, in Monongalia county,

near the scenes visited by him in his expedition to

t)i, t county, had made their escape from the In-

dians, and taken refuge upon an island in the lake.

In attempting to rescue this family Captain Whit-

comb had a severe encounter with Indians found

in ambush near the line of Meeker county, and

lifter much skirmishing and a brisk engagement,

which proved very much to the disadvantage of

the Indians, they succeeded in effecting their es-

cape to the thickly-timbered region in the rear of

their first position. The members of the company

were nearly all experienced marksmen, and the

Springfield rifles in their hands proved very gall-

ing to the enemy. So anxious was the latter to

effect his retreat, that he left three of his dead

upon the ground. No loss was sustained on the

part of our troops, except a flesh-wound in the leg

received by one of the company. As it was

deemed unadvisable to pursue the Indians into the

heavy timber with the small force at command, the

detachment fell back to their camp, arriving the

same evening.

On the following day, Captain Whitcomb,

taking with him twenty men from his company,

and twenty citizens who volunteered for the occa-

sion, proceeded on the same route taken the day

previous. With the increase in his forces he

expected to be able, without much difficulty, to

overcome the Indians previously encountered.

After proceeding about ten miles from the camp,

their further progress was again disputed by the

Indians, who had likewise been reinforced since

their last encounter. Owing to the great superi-

ority of the enemy's forces, the Captain withdrew

his men. They feU gradually back, fighting

steadily on the retreat, and were pursued to within

four miles of the encampment. In this contest,

one Indian is known to have been killed. On the

part of the whites one horse and wagon got mired

in a slough, and had to be abandoned. No other

injury was suffered from the enemy; but two men
were wounded by the accidental discharge of a

gun in their o^^^l ranks.

A fortification was prepared, and the citizens,

with their families, were removed within the

inclosure. Captain Whitcomb quartered his com-

pany in the principal hotel of the place, and

guards were stationed for the night, while all the

men were directed to be prepared for any contin-

gency that might arise, and be in readiness fur

using their arms at any moment.

Between 2 and 3 o'clock the following morning,

the guards discovered the approach of Indians,

and gave the alarm. As soon as the savages per-

ceived that they were discovered, they uttered the

war-whoop, and poured a volley into the hotel

where the troops were quartered. The latter

immediately retired to the stockade, taking with

them all the ammunition and equipments in their

possession. They had scarcely effected an en-

trance when fire was opened upon it from forty or

fifty Indian rifles. Owing to the darkness of the

morning, no distinct view could be obtained of the

enemy, and, in consequence, no very effective fiie

could be opened upon him.

While one party of the Indians remained to keep

up a fire upon the fort and harass the garrison,

another portion was engaged in setting fire to

buildings and haystacks, while others, at the same

time, were engaged in collecting horses and cattle

found in the place, and driving them off. Occa-

sional glimpses could be obtained of those near

the fires, but as soon as a shot was fired at them

they woiild disappear in the darkness. Most of

the buildings burned, however, were such a dis-

tance from the fort as to be out of range of the

guns of the garrison. The fire kept up from that

point prevented the near approach of the incen-

diary party, and by that means the principal part

of the town was saved from destruction. On one

occasion an effort was made to carry the flames

into a more central part of the town, and the

torches in the hands of the party were seen

approaching the office of A. 0. Smith, Esq.

Directed by the light of the torches, a voUey was
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poured into their midst from the fort, whereupon

the braves hastily abandoned their incendiary

implements and retreated from that quarter of the

village. From signs of blood afterward found

upon the ground, some of the Indians were sup-

posed to have met the fate intended for them, but

no dead were left behiud.

The fight continued, without other decided re-

sults, until about daylight, at which time the prin-

cipal part of the forces retired. As the light in-

creased, so that objects became discernible, a small

party of savages were observed engaged in dri-

ving off a number of cattle. A portion of the

garrison, volunteering for the purpose, sallied

out to recover the stock, which they accomplish-

ed, with the loss of two men wounded, one of them

severely.

This company had no further encounters with

the Indians, but afterward engaged in securing

the graiu and other property belonging to the set-

tlers who had abandoned, or been driven from, their

farms and homes. Nearly every settlement be-

tween Forest City and the western frontier had, by

this time, been deserted, and the whole cpuntry

was in the hands of the savages. In speaking of

his endeavors to save a portion of the property

thus abandoned. Captain Whitcomb, on the 7th of

September, wrote as follows:

"It is only in their property that the inhabitants

can now be injured; the people have all fled.

The country is totally abandoned. Not an inhab-

itant remaius in Meeker county, west of this place.

No white person (unless a captive) is now living

in Kandiyohi or Monongalia county."

On the 1st of September, Captain Strout, who

had previously arrived at Glencoe, made prepara-

tions for a further advance. Owing to the vigor-

ous measures adopted by General John H. Stevens,

of the State militia, it was thought unnecessary

that any additional forces should be retained at

this point. Under his directions no able-bodied

man having deserted the country further to the

westward, had been permitted to leave the neigh-

borhood, or pass through. All such were re-

quired to desist from further flight, and assist

in making a stand, in order to check the further

advance of the destroyers of their homes. The

town of Glencoe had been fortified to a certain

extent, and a military company of seventy-three

members had been organized, and armed with such

guns as were in possession of the settlers. With

Glencoe thus provided for, General Stevens did

not hesitate to advise, nor Captain Strout to at-

tempt a further advance into the overrun and

threatened territory.

The company of the latter, by this time, had

been increased by persons, principally from Wright

county, who volunteered their services for the ex-

pedition, untjl it numbered about seventy-five men.

With this force he marched, as already stated, on

the 1st day of September.

Passing through Hutchinson on his way, no op-

position was encountered until the morning of the

3d of September. On the night previous, he had

arrived at and encamped near Acton, on the west-

em border of Meeker county.

At about half-past five o'clock the next morning

his camp was attacked by a force comprising about

one hundred and fifty Indians. The onset was

made from the direction of Hutchinson, with the

design, most probably, of cutting off the retreat

of the company, and of precluding the possibility

of sending a messenger after reinforcements. They

fought with a spirit and zeal that seemed determ-

ined to annihilate our little force, at whatever cost

it might require.

For the first half hour Captain Strout formed

his company into four sections, in open order^ and

pressed against them as skirmishers. Finding their

forces so much superior to his own, he concentra-

ted the force of his company, and hurled them

against the main body of the enemy. In this

manner the fight was kept up for another hour

and a half, the Indians falling slowly back as they

were pressed, in the direction of Hutchinson, but

maintaining all the while their order and line of

battle. At length the force in front of the compa-

ny gave way, and falling upon the rear, continued

to harrass it in its retreat.

About one-half of the savages were mounted,

partly on large, fine horses, of which they had

plundered the settlements, and partly on regular

Indian ponies. These -latter were so well trained

for the business in which they were now engaged,

that their riders would drive them at a rapid rate

to within any desirable distance of our men, when

pony and rider would both instantly lie down in

the tall grass, and thus become concealed from the

aim of the sharp-shooters of the company.

With the intention, most likely, of creating a

panic in our ranks, and causing the force to scat-

ter, and become separately an easy prey to the

pursuers, the Indians would at times, uttering the

most terrific and unearthly yells of which their



228 HISTORY OP THE SIOUX MASSACRE.

luBgs and skill were capable, charge in a mass

upon the little band. On none of these occasions,

however, did a single man falter or attempt a

flight; and, after approaching within one hundred

yards of the retreating force, and perceiving that

they still remained firm, the Indians would halt

the charge, and seek concealment in the grass or

elsewhere, from which places they would continue

their fire.

After having thus hung upon and harrassed the

rear of the retreating force for about half an hour,

at the end of which time the column had arrived

within a short distance of Cedar City, in the

extreme north-west corner of McLeod county, the

pursuit was given up, and the company continued

the retreat without further opposition to Hatohin-

son, at which place it arrived at an early hour in

the same afternoon.

The loss of the company in the encounter was

three men killed and fifteen wounded, some of

them severely. All were, however, brought from

the field.

In addition to this they lost most of their ra-

tions, cooking utensils, tents, and a portion of

their ammunition and arms. Some of their horses

became unmanageable and ran away. Some were

mired and abandoned, making, with those killed

by the enemy, an aggregate loss of nine. The

loss inflicted upon the enemy could not be de-

termined with any degree of certainty, but Oaj]-

tain Strout was of the opinion that their killed and

wounded were two or three times as great as ours.

At Hutchinson a military company, consisting of

about sixty members, had been organized for the

purpose of defending the place against any attacks

from the Indians. Of this company Lewis Har-

rington was elected captain. On the first appre-

hension of danger a house was barricaded as a

last retreat in case of necessity. The members of

the company, aided by the citizens, afterward con-

structed a small stockade fort of one hundred feet

square. It was built after the same style as that

at Forest City, with bastions in the same position,

and a wall composed of double timbers rising to

the height of eight feet above the ground. The

work was provided with loop-holes, from which a

,

musketry fire could be kept up, and was of sufQ-

cient strength to resist any projectiles that the sav-

ages had the means of throwing. At this place

Captain Strout halted his company, to await fur-

ther developments.

At about nine o'clock on the next morning, the

4th of September, the Indians approached the

town thus garrisoned and commenced the attack.

They were replied to from the fortification; but.

as they were careful not to come within close

range, and used every means to conceal their per-

sons, but little punishment was inflicted upon

them. They bent their energies more in attempts

to burn the town than to inflict any serious injury

upon the military. In these endeavors they were

so far successful as to bum all the buildings sit-

uated on the bluff in the rear of the town, includ-

ing the college building, which was here located.

They at one time succeeded in reaching almost the

heart of the village, and applying the incendiary

torch to two of the dwelling-houses there situated,

which were consumed.

Our forces marched out of the fort and engaged

them in the open field; but, owing to the superior

numbers of the enemy, and their scattered and

hidden positions, it was thought that no advantage

could be gained in this way, and, after driving

them out of the town, the soldiers were recalled to

the fort. The day was spent in this manner, the

Indians making a succession of skirmishes, but at

the same time endeavoring to maintain a suflcient

distance between them and the soldiers to insure

an almost certain impunity from the fire of their

muskets. At about five o'clock in the evening

their forces were withdrawn, and our troops rested

on their arms, in expectation of a renewal of the

fight in a more desperate form.

As soon as General Stevens was informed of the

attack made upon Captain Strout, near Acton, and

bis being compelled to fall back to Hutchinson,

he directed Captain Davis to proceed to the com-

mand of Lieutenant Weinmann, then stationed

near Lake Addie, in the same county, t(3 form a

junction of the two commands, and proceed to

Hutchinson and reinforce the command of Captain

Strout.

On the . morning of the 4th of September the

pickets belonging to Lieutenant Weinmann's com-

mand reported having heard firing in the direction

of Hutchinson. The Lieutenant immediately as-

cended an eminence in the vicinity of his camp,

and from that point could distinguish the smoke
from six different fires in the same direction.

Being satisfied from these indications that an at-

tack had been made upon Hutchinson, he deter-

mined at once to march to the assistance of the

place. Leaving behind him six men to collect the

teams and follow with the wagons, he started with
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the remainder of his force in the direction iadi-

oated.

Some time after he had commenced his march

the company of Captain Davis arrived at the camp

he had just left.

Upon learning the state of affairs, the mounted

company followed in the same direction, and, in a

short time, came up with Lieutenant Weinmann.

A junction of their forces was immediately effect-

ed, and they proceeded in a body to Hutchinson,

at which place they arrived about 6 o'clock in the

evening. No Indians had been encountered on

the march, and the battle, so long and so diligently

kept up during most of the day, had just been

terminated, and the assailing forces withdrawn.
,

A recormoissanoe, in the immediate vicinity, was

made from the fort on the same evening, but none

of the Indians, who, a few hours before, seemed to

be everywhere, could be seen; but the bodies of

three of their victims, being those of one woman
and two children, were found and brought to the

village.

On the following morning, six persons arrived

at the fortification, who had been in the midst of

and surrounded by the Indians during the greater

part of the day before, and had succeeded in con-

cealing themselves until they retired from before

the town, and finally effected their escape to

the place.

The companies of Captain Davis and Lieuten-

ant Weinmann made a tour of examination in the

direction that the Indians were supposed to have

taken. All signs discovered seemed to indicate

that they had left the vicinity. Their trail, indi-

cating that a large force had passed, and that a

number of horses and cattle had been taken

along, was discovered, leading in the direction of

Redwood. As the battle of Birch Coolie had been

fought two or three days previous, at which time

the Indians first learned the great strength of the

column threatening them in that quarter, it is

most likely that the party attacking Hutchinson

had been called in to assist in the endeavor to

repel the forces under Colonel Sibley.

On the 23d of September the Indians suddenly

reappeared in the neighborhood. About 3 o'clock

in the afternoon a, messenger arrived, with dis-

patches from Lieutenant Weiimiann, informing

Captain Strout that Samuel White and family,

residing at Lake Addie, had that day been brutally

murdered by savages.

At about 11 o'clock P. M., the scouts from the

direction of Cedar City came in, ha^'ing been at-

tacked near Grecnleaf, and one of their number, a

member of Captain Harrington's company, kille

and left upon the ground. They reported h,. i j;

seen about twenty Indians, having killed one, an

their belief that more were in the party. : in

scouts from nearly every direction reported h-;v :

seen Indians, some of them in consider; lile niu.

bers, and the country all arotmd seemed at una
to have become infested with them.

On the 5th of September, Lieutenant William

Byrnes, of the Tenth Eegiment Minnesota Volun-

teers, with a command of forty-seven men, started

from Minneapolis, where his men were recnjited,

for service in Meeker and MoLeod counties. Upon
his arrival in the country designated, he was

finally stationed at Kingston, in the county of

Meeker, for the purpose of affording protection to

that place and vicinity. He quartered his men in

the storehouse of HaU & Co., which had been pre-

viously put in a state of defense by the citizens of

the place. He afterward strengthened the place

by means of earth-works, and made daily examina-

tions of the surrounding country by means of

scouts.

Capt. Pettit, of the Eighth Regiment Minnesota

Volunteers, was, about the same time, sent to re-

inforce Captain Whitcomb, of Forest City, at which

place he was stationed at the time of the sudden

reappearance of the Indians in the country. On
the 22d of September word was brought to Forest

City that the Indians were committing depreda-

tions at Lake Ripley, a point some twelve miles to

the westward of that place. Captain Pettit there-

upon sent a messenger to Lieutenant Byrnes, re-

questing his co-operation, -with as many of his

command as could leave their post in safety, for

the purpose of marching into the invaded neigh-

borhood.

In pursuance of orders, Lieutenant Byrnes, with

thirty-six men, joined the command of Capt Pettit

on the same evening. On the next morning, the

23d of September, the same day that Captain

Strout's scouting party was attacked at Greenleaf,

Captain Pettit, with the command of Lieutenant

Byrnes and eighty-seven men, from the post at

Forest City, marched in the direction in which the
Indians had been reported as committing depre-

dations on the previous day. Four mounted men
of Captain Whitcomb's force accompanied the party
as guides.

On arriving at the locality of reported depreda-
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tions, they found the mutilated corpse of a citizen

by the name of Oleson. He had received three

shots through the body and one through the

hand. Not even satisfied with the death thus in-

flicted, the savages had removed his scalp, beaten

out his brains, cut his throat from ear to ear, and

cut out his tongue by the roots. Leaving a de-

tachment to bury the dead, the main body of ex-

pedition continued the march by way of Long

Lake, and encamped near Acton, where Captain

Strout's command was first attacked, and at no

great distance from the place where his scouts were

attacked.

Scouts were sent out by Captain Pottit, all of

whom returned without having seen any Lidians.

Two dwelling-houses had been visited that had

been set on fire by the Indians, but the flames had

made so little progress as to be capable of being

extinguished by the scouts, which was done ac-

cordingly. Three other houses on the east side of

Long Lake had been fired and consumed during

the same day. Three women were found, who had

been lying in the woods for a number of days,

seeking concealment from the savages. They were

sent to Forest City for safety. During the early

part of the night, Indians were heard driving or

collecting cattle, on the opposite side of Long

Lake from the encampment.

During the 24th of September the march was

continued to Diamond Lake, in Monongalia county.

All the houses on the route were found to be ten-

antless, all the farms were deserted, and every thing

of value, of a destructible nature, belonging to the

settlers, had been destroyed by the savages. Only

one Indian was seen during the day, and he being

mounted, soon made his.escape into the big woods.

The carcasses of cattle, belonging to the citizens,

were found in all directions upon the prairie, where

they had been wantonly slaughtered and their

flesh abandoned to the natural process of decom-

position.

At break of day, on the morning of the 25th,

an Indian was seen by one of the sentinels to rise

from the grass and attempt to take a survey of

the encampment. He was immediately fired upon

when he uttered a yell and disappeared. Captain

Pettit thereupon formed his command in order of

battle and sent out skirmishers to reconnoiter; but

the Indians had decamped, and nothing further

could be ascertained concerning them.

At seven o'clock the return march to Forest City

was commenced, by a route different from that

followed in the outward march. About ten o'clock

the expedition came upon a herd, comprising sixty-

five head of cattle, which the Indians had collected,

and were in the act of driving oflf, when they were

surprised by the near approach of volunteers. As

the latter cordd be seen advancing at a distance

of three miles, the Indians had no diiiioulty in

making their escape to the timber, and in this way

eluding pursuit from the expedition by abandon-

ing their plunder. The cattle were driven by the

party to Forest City, where a great portion of the

herd was found to belong to persons who were

then doing military duty, or taking refuge from

their enemies.

At Eockford, on the Crow river, a considerable

force of citizens congregated for the purpose of

mutual protection, and making a'stand against the

savages in case they should advance thus far. A
substantial fortification was erected at the place,

affording ample means of shelter and protection to

those there collected; but we are not aware that it

ever became necessary as a place of last resort to

the people, nor are we aware that the Indians

committed any act of hostilities within the county

of Wright.

On the 24th of August rumors reached St.

Cloud that murders and other depredations had

been committed by the Indians near Paynesville,

on the border of Stearns county, and near the di-

viding line between Meeker and Monongalia coun-

ties. A public meeting of the citizens was called

at four o'clock in the afternoon, at which, among

other measures adopted, a squad, well armed and

equipped, was instructed to proceed to Paynes-

ville, and ascertain whether danger was to be ap-

prehended in that direction. This party immedi-

ately entered upon the discha,rge of their duty,

and started to Paynesville the same evening.

On the evening of the following day they re-

turned, and reported that they met at Paynesville

the fugitives from Norway Lake, which latter

place is situated in Monongaha county, and about

seventeen miles in a south-west direction from the

former. That, on Wednesday, the 20th day of

August, as a family of Swedes, by the name of

Lomberg, were returning from church, they were

attacked by a party of Indians, and three brothers

killed, and another one, a boy, wounded. The

father had fourteen shots fired at him, but suc-

ceeded in making his escape. One of his sons,

John, succeeded in bearing off his wounded

brother, and making their escape to Paynesville.
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On the 24th, a party went out from Paynesville

tor the purpose of burying the dead at Norway

Lake, where they found, in addition to those of

the Lomberg family, two other entire families

murdered—not a member of either left to teU the

tale. The clothes had all been burned from their

bodies, while from each had been cut either the

nose, an ear or a finger, or some other act of muti-

lation had been committed upon it.

The party, having buried the dead, thirteen in

number, wei'e met by a little boy, who informed

them that his father had that day been killed by

the savages while engaged in cutting hay in a

swamp. They proceeded with the intention of

burying the body, but discovered the Indians to

be in considerable force around the marsh, and

they were compelled to abandon the design.

The party beheld the savages in the act of driv-

ing off forty-four head of cattle, a span of horses,

and two wagons; but the paucity of their num-

bers compelled them to refrain from any attempt

to recover the property, or to inflict any punish-

ment upon the robbers and murderers having it

in their possession. A scouting party had been

sent to Johanna Lake, about ten miles from Nor-

way Xake, where about twenty persons had been

living. Not a single person, dead or aKve, could

there be found. Whether they had been killed,

escaped by hasty flight, or been carried off as

prisoners, could not be determined from the sur-

rounding circumstances. As the party were re-

turning, they observed a man making earnest en-

deavors to escape their notice, and avoid them by

flight, under the impression that they were Lidi-

ans, refusing to be convinced to the contrary by
any demonstrations they could make. Upon their

attempting to overtake him, he plunged into a

lake and swam to an island, from which he could

not be induced to return. His family were dis-

covered and brought to PaynesviUe, but no infor-

mation could be derived from them respecting the

fate of their neighbors.

When this report had been made to the citizens

of St. Cloud by the returned party, a mounted
company, consisting of twenty-five members, was
immediately formed, for the purpose of co-oper-

ing with any forces from Paynesville in efforts to

recover and rescue any citizens of the ravaged

district. Of this company Ambrose Freeman was
elected captain, and they proceeded in the direc-

tion of Paynesville the next morning at 8 o'clock.

At Maine Prairie, a point to the south-west of

St. Cloud, and about fifteen miles distant from

that place, a determined band of farmers united

together with a determination never to leave nntU

driven, and not to be driven by an inferior force.

Their looaUty was a small prairie, entirely sur-

rounded by timber and dense thickets, a circum-

stance that seemed to favor the near approach of

the stealthy savage.

By concerted action they soon erected a sub-

stantial fortification, constructed of a double row

of timbers, set vertically, and inserted firmly in

the ground. The building was made two stories

in height. The upper story was fitted up for the

women and children, and the lower was intended

for purposes of a more strictly mihtary character.

Some of their number were dispatched to the State

Capital to obtain such arms and supplies as could

be furnished them. Provisions were laid in, and

they soon expressed their confidence to hold the

place against five hundred savages, and to stand

a siege, if necessary. Their determination was

not to be thus tested, however. The Lidians

came into their neighborhood, and committed

some small depredations, but, so far as reported,

never exhibited themselves within gunshot of the

fort.

At Paynesville, the citizens and such others as

sought refuge in the town constructed a fortifica-

tion for the purpose of protecting themselves and

defending the vUlage; but no description of the

work has ever been received at this office, and, I

believe, it was soon abandoned.

At St. Joseph, in the Watab VaUey, the citizens

there collected erected three substantial fortifica-

tions. These block-houses were built of solid

green timber, of one foot in thickness. The
structure was a pentagon, and each side was fifty

feet in length. They were located at different

points of the town, and completely commanded
the entrance in all directions. In case the savages

had attacked the town, they must have suffered a

very heavy loss before a passage could be effected,

and even after an entry had been made, they would

have become fair targets for the riflemen of the

forts. Beyond them, to the westward, every house

is said to have become deserted, and a great por-

tion of the country ravaged, thus placing them

upon the extreme frontier in that direction; but,

owing, no doubt, to their activity in preparing the

means for effective resistance, they were permitted

to remain almost undisturbed.

Sauk Center, near the north-western comer of
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the countj, and situated on the head-waters of the

Sauk river, is, perhaps, the most extreme point in

this direction at which a stand was made by the

settlers. Early measures were taken to perfect

a military organization, which was effected on the

25th of August, by the election of Sylvester

Eamsdell as captain. The company consisted of

over fifty members, and labored under discourag-

ing circumstances at the outset. The affrighted

and panic-stricken settlers, from all places located

still further to the north and west, came pouring

past the settlement, almost communicating the

same feeling to the inhabitants. From Holmes

Oity, Chippewa Lake, Alexandria, Osakis, and West

Union, the trains of settlers swept by, seeking

safety only in flight, and apparently willing to re-

ceive it in no other manner.

Assistance was received from the valley of the

Ashley river, from Grove Lake, and from West-

port, in Pope county.

A small stockade fort was constructed, and

within it were crowded the women and children.

The haste with which it was constructed, and the

necessity for its early completion, prevented its

either being so extensive or so strongly built as

the interest and comfort of the people seemed to

require.

Upon being informed of the exposed situation

of the place, and the determination of the settlers

to make a united effort to repel the destroyers from

their homes, orders were, on the 30th day of Au-

gust, issued to the commandant at Port Snelling,

directing him, with all due speed, to detail from

his command two companies of troops, with in-

structions to proceed to Sauk Center, for the pur-

pose of protecting the inhabitants of the Sauk

Valley from any attack of hostile Indians, and to

co-operate as far as possible with the troops sta-

tioned at Pert Abercrombie.

Tn obedience to these orders, the companies

under command respectively of Captains George

G. McCoy, of the Eighth Kegiment Minnesota

Volunteers, and Theodore H. Barrett, of the Ninth
' Ilegiment, were sent forward. Their arrival at the

stockade created a thrill of joy in the place, espe-

cially among the women and children, and all, even

the most timid, took courage and rejoiced in their

security. Captain Barrett was, shortly afterward,

sent with his command in the expedition for the

relief of Fort Abercombie, and a short time after-

ward Captain McCoy, in obedience to orders from

General Pope, feU back to St. Cloud.

Upon the departure of these troops, many of the

more timid were again almost on the verge of

despair, and would willingly have retreated from

the position they so long held. More courageous

councils prevailed, and the same spirit of firmness

that refused safety by flight in the first instance,

was stiU unbroken, and prompted the company to

further action, and to the performance of other

duties in behaK of themselves and those who had

accepted their proffers of protection. Disease was

beginning to make its appearance within the stock-

ade, where no other enemy had attempted to

penetrate, and this fact admonished the company
that more extensive and better quarters were

required in order to maintain the health of the

people.

Several plans were submitted for a new stock-

ade, from which one was selected, as calculated to

secure the best means of defense, and at the same
time, to afford the most ample and comfortable

quarters for the women, children, and invalids,

besides permitting the horses and cattle to be

secured within the works. In a few days the new
fort was completed, inclosing an area of about one

acre in extent, the walls of which were constructed

of a double row of timbers, principally tamarack

poles, inserted firmly in the ground, and rising

eleven feet above the surface. These were prop-

erly prepared with loopholes and other means of

protection to those within, and for the repulsion

of an attacking party.

When the people had removed their stock and
other property within the new fortification, and
had been assigned to their new quarters, they for

the first time felt really secure and at ease in

mind. Had any vigorous attack been made upon
the party in their old stockade, they might have

saved the lives of the people, but their horses and
cattle would most certainly have been driven off

or destroyed. Now they felt that there was a

chance of safety for then- property as well as

themselves.

A short time after this work had been completed
Captain McCoy, after, having rendered services in

other parts of the country, was ordered back to

Sauk Center. A company from the Twenty-
fifth Wisconsin Kegiment was sent to the same
place upon its arrival in the state, and remained
there until about the first of December.

Two days after the citizens from Grove Lake

—

a point some twelve miles to the south-west of

Sauk Center—^had cast their lot with the people
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of the latter place, the night-sentinels of Captain

KamsdeU's company discovered fires to the south-

west. Fearing that all was not right in the

vicinity of Grove Lake, a party was sent out the

next morning to reconnoiter in that neighborhood.

They found one dwelling-house burned, and

others plundered of such things as had attracted

the fancy of the savages, while all furniture was

left broken and destroyed. A number of the

cattle which had not been taken with the settlers

when they left, were found kiUed.

A Mr. Van Eaton, who resided at that place,

about the same time, started from Sauk Center,

with the intention of revisiting his farm. He is

supposed to have fallen into the hands of the sav-

ages, as he never returned to the fort. Several

parties were sent in search of him; but no positive

trace could ever be found.

At St. Cloud, in the upper part of the town, a

small but substantial fortification was erected, and

"Broker's Block" of buildings was surrounded

with a breastwork, to be used in case the citizens

should be compelled to seek safety in this manner.

In Lower Town a small work was constructed,

called Fort Holes. It was located upon a ridge

overlooking the "flat" and the lower landing on

the river. It was circular in form, and was forty-

five feet in diameter. The walls were formed by

two rows of posts, deeply and firmly set in the

ground, with a space of four feet between the

rows. Boards were then nailed upon the sides of

the posts facing the opposite row, and the inter-

space filled and packed with earth, thus forming

an earthen wall of four feet in thickness. The

structure was then covered with two-inch plank,

supported by heavy timbers, and this again with

sods, in order to render it fire-proof. In the cen-

ter, and above all, was erected a bullet-proof tower,

of the "monitor" style, but without the means of

causing it to revolve, prepared with loop-holes for

twelve sharp-shooters. This entire structure was

inclosed with a breastwork or wall similar to that

of the main building, two feet in thickness and ten

in height, with a projection outward so as to ren-

der it difficult to be scaled. It was pierced for

loop-holes at the distance of every five feet.

Within this fortification it was intended that the

inhabitants of Lower Town should take refuge in

case the Indians should make an attack in any

considerable force, and where they expected to be

able to stand a siege until reinforcements would

be able to reach them. They were not put to

this test, however; but the construction of the

fort served to give confidence to the citizens,

and prevented some from leaving the place that

otherwise would have gone, and were engaged in

the preparation at the time the work was com-

menced.

On the 22d of September a messenger arrived

at St. Cloud from Kichmond, m the same county,

who reported that, at four o'clock the same morn-

ing, the Indians had appeared within a mile of the

last-mentioned town, and had attacked the house

of one of the settlers, killing two children and

wounding one woman. Upon the receipt of this

intelligence Captain McCoy, who was then sta-

tioned at St. Cloud with forty men of his com-

mand, got under way for the reported scene of dis-

turbance at ten o'clock a. m., and was followed

early in the afternoon by a mounted company of

home-guards, under command of Captain Cramer.

Upon arriving at Kichmond the troops took the

trail of the Indians in the direction of Paynes-

ville, and all along the road found the dwellings

of the settlers in smouldering ruins, and the stock

of their farms, even to the poultry, killed and

lying in aU directions. Seven of the farm-houses

between these two to^vns were entirely consumed,

and one or two others had been fired, but were

reached before the flames had made such progress

as to be incapable of being extinguished, and

these were saved, in a damaged condition, through

the exertions of the troops. On arriving at Paynee-

viUe they found eight dwelling-houses either con-

sumed or so far advanced in burning as to pre-

clude the hope of saving them, and all the out-

buildings of every description had been commit-

ted to the flames and reduced to ruins. Only two

dwelling-houses were left standing in the village.

At -Clear Water, on the Mississippi river, below

St. Cloud, and in the county of Wright, the citizens

formed a home guard and built a fortification for

their own protection, which is said to have been a

good, substantial structure, but no report has been

received in regard either to their mUitary force or

preparations for defense.

Morrison county, which occupies the extreme

frontier in this direction, there being no organized

county beyond it, we believe, was deserted by but

few of its inhabitants. They collected, however,

from the various portions of the county, and took

position in the town of Little Falls, its capital,

where they fortified the court-house, by strength-

ening its walls and digging entrenchments around
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it. During the night the women and children

occupied the inside of the building, while

the men remained in quarters or on guard on the

outside. In the morning the citizens of the town

would return to their habitations, taking with them

such of their neighbors as they could accommo-

date, and detachments of the men would proceed

to the farms of some of the settlers and exert them-

selves in securing the produce of the soil. In-

dians were seen on several occasions, and some of

the people were fired upon by them, but so far as

information has been communicated, no lives were

lost among the settlers of the county.

OHAPTEE XL.

Hostilities in the VAi/iiEY op the bed bivbe or

THE NOETH CAPTAINS PEBBMAN AND DAVIS OE-

DBKBD TO GO TO THE BELIEF OS ABBECEOMBIE

INDIANS APPBAE NBAE THE FOET IN LAEGE NtTM-

BEES THE ATTACK—INDIANS BETIEB SECOND

ATTACK ON THE FOBT UNION OF FOECBS—^AN-

OTHBB ATTACK UPON THE FOET EFFECT OF THE

HOWITZEE EBTDEN OF CAPTAIN FEEEMAN TO ST.

CLOUD.

On the 23d of August the Indians commenced

hostilities in the valley of the Bed Eiver of the

North. This region of country was protected by

the post of Port Aberorombie, situated on the west

bank of the river, in Dakota Territory. The troops

that had formerly garrisoned the forts had been

removed, and sent to aid in suppressing the

Southern rebellion, and their place was supplied,

as were all the posts within our state, by a de-

tachment from the Fifth Begiment Minnesota Vol-

unteers. But one company had been assigned to

this point, which was under the command of Cap-

tain John Van der Horck. About one-half of the

company was stationed at Georgetown, some fifty

miles below, for the purpose of overawing the In-

dians in that vicinity, who had threatened some

opposition to the navigation of the river, and to de-

stroy the property of the Transportation Company.

The force was thus divided at the commencement

of the outbreak.

The interpreter at the post, who had gone to

Yellow Medicine for the purpose of attending the

Indian payment, returned about the 20th of Au-

gust, and reported that the Indians were becoming

exasperated and that he expected hostilities to be

immediately commenced. Upon the receipt of this

intelligence the guards were doubled, and every

method adopted that was likely to insure protec-

tion against surprises.

The Congress of the United States had author-

ized a treaty to be made with the Bed Lake In-

dians, (Chippewas,) and the officers were already

on their way for the purpose of consummating such

treaty. A train of some thirty wagons, loaded

with goods, and a herd of some two hundred head

of cattle, to be used at the treaty by the United

States Agent, was likewise on the way, and was

then at no great distance from the fort.

Early in the morning of the 23d a messenger

arrived, and informed the commandant that a band

of nearly five hundred Indians had already crossed

the Otter Tail river, with the intention of cutting

off and capturing the train of goods and cattle in-

tended for the treaty. Word was immediately sent

to those having the goods in charge, and request-

ing them to take refuge in the fort, which was

speedily complied with. Messengers were like-

wise sent to Breckenridge, Old Crossing, Graham's

Point, and all the principal settlements, urging

the inhabitants to flee to the fort for safety, as

from the weakness of the garrison, it was not pos-

sible that proteotien could be afi'orded them else-

where.

The great majority of the people from the set-

tlements arrived in safety on the same day, and

were assigned to quarters within the fortification.

Three men, however, upon arriving at Brecken-

ridge, refused to go any further, and took posses-

sion of the hotel of the place, where they declared

they would defend themselves and their property

without aid from any source. On the evening of

the same day a detachment of six men was sent

out in that direction, in order to learn, if possible,

the movements of the Indians. Upon their arriv-

ing in sight of Breckenridge they discovered the

place to be occupied by a large force of the sav-

ages. They were likewise seen by the latteV, who
attempted to surround them, but being mounted,

and the Indians on foot, they were enabled to make
their escape, and returned to the fort.

The division of the company at Georgetown
was immediately ordered in; and, on the morning
of the 24:th, a detachment was sent to Brecken-

ridge, when they found the place deserted by the

Indians, but discovered the bodies of the three

men who had there determined to brave the vio-

lence of the war party by themselves. They had
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been brutally murdered, and, when found, had

chains bound around their ankles, by which it ap-

peared, from signs upon the floor of the hotel,

their bodies at least had been dragged around in

the savage war-dance of their murderers, and, per-

haps, in that very mode of torture they had suf-

fered a lingering death. The mail-coach for St.

Paul, which left the fort on the evening of the

22d, had fallen into the hands of the Indians, the

driver killed, and the contents of the mail scat-

tered over the prairie, as was discovered by the

detachment on the 24th.

Over fifty citizens capable of bearing arms had

taken refuge with the garrison, and wUlingly be-

came soldiers for the time being; but many of

them were destitute of arms, and none could be

furnished them from the number in the possession

of the commandant. There was need, however,

to strengthen the position with outside intrench-

ments, and all that could be spared from other

duties were employed in labor of that character.

On the morning of the 25th of August, messen-

gers were dispatched from the post to head-quar-

ters, stating the circumstances under which the

garrison was placed, and the danger of a severe

attack; but, as all troops that could be raised, and

were not indispensable at other points, had been

sent to Colonel Sibley, then on the march for the

relief of Fort Bidgely, it was impossible at once to

reinforce Fort Abercrombie with any troops al-

ready reported ready for the field. Authority had

been given, and it was expected that a considera-

ble force of mounted infantry for the State ser-

vice had been raised, or soon would be, at St.

Oloud.

As the place was directly upon the route to Ab-

ercrombie, it was deemed advisable to send any

troops that could be raised there to the assistance

oE Captain Van der Horck, relying upon our abil-

ity to have their places shortly fiUed with troops,

then being raised in other parts of the. State. Ac-

cordingly, Captain Freeman, with his company, of

about sixty in number, started upon the march;

but upon arriving at Sauk Center, he became con-

vinced, from information there received, that it

would be extremely dangerous, if not utterly im-

possible, to make the march to the fort with so

small a number of men. He then requested Cap-

tain EamsdeU, iu command of the troops at Sauk

Center, to detail thirty men from his command, to

be united with his own company, and, with his

force so strengthened, he proposed to make the

attempt to reach the fort. Captain EamsdeU

thought that, by complying with this request, he

would so weaken his own force that he would be

unable to hold position at Sauk Center, and that

the region of country around would become over-

run by the enemy, and he refused his consent.

Captain Freeman then deemed it necessary to

await reinforcements before proceeding any further

on his perilous journey.

On the same day that orders were issued to the

mounted men then assembling at St. Cloud, simi-

lar orders were issued to those likewise assembling

in Goodhue county, under the command of Cap-

tain David L. Davis, directing them to complete

their organization with all speed, and then to pro-

ceed forthwith to the town of Carver, on the Min-

nesota river, and thence through the counties of

McLeod, Meeker, and Stearns, until an intersec-

tion was made with the stage-route from St. Cloud

to Fort Abercrombie, and thence along such stage-

route to the fort, unless the officers in command

became convinced that their services were more

greatly needed in some other quarter, in which

case they had authority to use disoretionavy pow-

ers. This company, likewise, marched pursunn'

to orders; but, in consequence of the attack.i t

being made upon Forest City, Acton, and Hut^

inson, they deemed it their duty to rendpv

sistance to the forces then acting in that pait

the country.

The first efforts to reinforce the garrison on the

Ked River had failed. Upon the fact becoming

known at this office, there were strong hopes that

two more companies of infantry could be put into

the field in a very short time, and, therefore, on

the 30th day of August, orders were issued to the

commandant of Fort Snelling, directing him to

detail two companies, as soon as they could be

had, to proceed to Sauk Center, and thence to

proceed to Fort Abercrombie, in case their ser-

vices were not urgently demanded in the Sauk

Valley. These companies were, soon after, dis-

patched accordingly, and it was hoped that, by

means of this increased foirce on the north-western

frontier, a sufficiently strong expedition might be

formed to effect the reinforcement of Abercrombie.

Upon the arrival of these troops at the rendez-

vous, however, they stiU considered the forces in

that vicinity inadequate to the execution of the

task proposed. Of this fact we first had notice on

the 6th day of September. Two days previously,

the effective forces of the state had been strength-
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ened by the arrival of tlie Third Eegiment Minne-

sota Volunteers, without any commissioned officers

and being but a wreck of that once noble regi-

ment. Three hundred of the men had already

been ordered to the field, under the command of

Major Welch. It was now determined to send

forward the remaiaing available force of the regi-

ment, to endeavor to effect the project so long

delayed, of reinforcing the command of Captain

Van der Horok, on the Bed Eiver of the North.

Orders were accordingly issued to the commandant

at Fort Snelling, on the 6th day of September,

directing him to fit out an expedition for that pur-

pose, to be composed, as far as possible, of the

troops belonging to the Third Begiment; and

Colonel S"aith, the commandant at the post, im-

mediately entered upon the discharge of the duties

assigned him in the order.

During the time that these efforts had been

making for their relief, the garrison at Fort Aber-

crombie was kept in a state of siege by the sav-

ages, who had taken possession of the surrounding

country in large numbers. On the 25th of August,

tho same day that the first messengers were sent

from that post, Captain Van der Horck detailed a

squad, composed of six men from his company and

six of the citizens then in the fort, to proceed to

Breokenridge and recover the bodies of the men

who had there been murdered. They proceeded,

without meeting with any opposition, to the point

designated, where they found the bodies, and con-

signed them to boxes or rough coffins, prepared

for the purpose, and were about starting on the

return, when they observed what they supposed to

be an Indian in the saw-mill, at that place. A
further examination revealed the fact that the

object mistaken for an Indian was an old lady by

the name of Scott, from Old Crossing, on the

Otter Tail, a point distant fifteen miles from

Breckenridge.

When discovered, she had three wounds on the

breast, which she had received from the Indians,

at her residence, on the morning of the previous

day. Notwithstanding the severity of her wounds,

and the fact that she was sixty-five years of age,

she made her way on foot and alone, by walking

or crawling along the banks of the river, until she

arrived, in a worn-out, exhausted, and almost dy-

ing condition, at the place where she was found.

She stated that, on the 24th of August, a party of

Indians came to her residence, where they were

met by her son, a young man, whom they instantly

shot dead, and immediately fired upon her, inflict-

ing the wounds upon her person which she still

bore. That then a teamster in the employment of

Burbank & Co. appeared in sight, driving a wagon

loaded with oats, and they went to attack him,

taking with them her grandchild, a boy about

eight years of age. That they fired upon the

teamster, wounding him in the arm, after which he

succeeded in making his escape for that time, and

they left her, no doubt believing her to be dead,

or, at least, in a dying condition. She was con-

veyed to the fort, where her wounds were dressed,

after which she gradually recovered. A party was

sent out, on the 27th of August, to the Old Cross-

ing, for the purpose of burying the body of her

son, which was accomplished, and on their way to

that point they discovered the body of another

man who had been murdered, as was supposed, on

the 24th.

On Saturday, the 30th of August, . another

small party were sent out, with the intention of

going to the Old Crossing for reconnoitering pur-

poses, and to collect and drive to the fort such

cattle and other live stock as could there be found.

They had proceeded ten miles on their way, when

they carae^upon. a party of Indians, in ambush, by

whom they were fired upon, and one of their party

killed. The remainder of the squad made their

escape unhurt, but with the loss of their baggage

wagon, five mules, and their camp equipage.

At about two o'clock in the afternoon of the

same day, the Indians appeared in large numbers

in sight of the fort. At this time nearly all the

live stock belonging to the post, as well as that

belonging to the citizens then quartered within

the work, together with the cattle that had been

intended for the treaty in contemplation with the

Bed Lake Indians, were all grazing upon the

prairie in rear of the fort, over a range extending

from about one-half mile to three miles from it.

The Indians approached boldly within this dis-

tance, and drove off the entire herd, about fifty

head of which afterward escaped. They succeeded,

however, in taking between one hundred and sev-

enty and two hundred head of cattle, and about

one hundred horses and mules. They made no

demonstration against the fort, except their appa-

rently bold acts of defiance; but, fi'om the weak-

ness of the garrison in men and arms, no force

was sent out to dispute with them the possession

of the property. It was mortifying in tho ex-

treme, especially to the citizens, to be compelled
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to look thiis quietly on, while they were being

robbed of their property, and dare not attempt its

rescue, lest the fort sliould be filled with their ene-

mies in their absence.

On the 2d day of September, another reconnoi-

tering party of eight were sent out in the direction

of Breckenridge, who returned, at four o'clock p. m.

without haying encountered any opposition from

the Indians, or without having even seen any; but

brought with them the cattle above spoken of as

having escaped from their captors, which were

found running at large during their march.

At daybreak on the following morning, the 3d

of September, the garrison was suddenly called to

arms by the report of alarm-shots fired by the sen-

tinels in the vicinity of the stock-yard belonging

to the post. The firing soon became sharp and

rapid in that direction, showing that the enemy

were advancing upon that point with considerable

force. The command was shortly after given for

aU those stationed outside to fall back within the

fortification. About the same time, two of the

haystacks were discovered to be on fire, which

greatly emboldened and inflamed the spirits of the

citizens, whose remauiing stock they considered to

be in extreme jeopardy. They rushed with great

eagerness and hardihood to the stables, and as the

first two of them entered on one side, two of the

savages had just entered from the other. The fore-

most of these men killed one of the Indians and

captured his gun. The other Indian fired upon

the second man, wounding him severely in the

shoulder, notwithstanding which, he afterward

shot the Indian and finished him with the bayonet.

By this time two of the horses had been taken

away and two kUled.

The fight was kept up for about two hours and

a half, during which time three of the inmates, of

the fort were seriously wounded (one of whom af-

terward died from the wound) by shots from the

enemy; and the commandant received a severe

wound in the right arm from an accidental shot,

fired by one of his own men. The Indians then

retired without having been able to eflect an en-

trance into the fort, and without having been able

to succeed in capturing the stock of horses and

cattle, which, most probably, had been the princi-

pal object of their attack.

Active measures were taken to strengthen the

outworks of the fort. The principal materials at

hand were cord-wood and hewn timber, but of

this there was a considerable abundance. By

means of these the barracks were surrounded with

a breastwork of cord-wood, well filled in with

earth to the height of eiglat feet, and this capped

with hewn oak timbers, eight inches square, and

having port-holes between them, from which a fire

could be opened on the advancing foe. This was

designed both as a means of protection, in case of

attack, and a place of final retreat in case the

main fort should by any means be burned or de-

stroyed, or the garrison should in any manner be

driven from it.

On Saturday, the 6th day of September, the

same day that an expedition to that point was or-

dered from the Third Begiment, the fort was a se-

cond time attacked. Immediately after daybreak

on that morning, the" Indians, to the number of

about fifty, mounted on horaebaok, made their ap-

pearance on the open prairie in the rear of the

tort. Their intention evidently was, by this bold

and defiant challenge, with so small a force, to in-

duce the garrison to leave their fortifications and

advance against them, to punish their audacity.

In becoming satisfied that our troops could not

be seduced from their intrenehments, the Indians

soon displayed themselves in different directions,

and in large numbers. Their principal object ol

attack in this instance, as on the former occasion,

seemed to be the Government stables, seeming de-

termined to get possession of the remaining horses

and cattle at almost any sacrifice, even if they

should make no other acquisition.

The stables were upon the edge of the prairie,

with a grove of heavy timber lying between them

and the river. The savages were not slow in per-

ceiving the advantage of making their approach

upon that point from this latter direction. The

shores of the river, on both sides, were lined with

Indians for a considerable distance, as their war-

whoops, when they concluded to commence the

onset, soon gave evidence. They seemed determ-

ined to frighten the garrison into a cowardly sub-

mission, or, at least, to drive them from the ovit-

posts, by the amount and unearthliness of their

whoops and yells. They, in turn, however, were

saluted and partially quieted by the opening upon

them of a six-pounder, and the explosion of a shell

in the midst of their ranks.

A large force was led by one of their chiefs

from the river through the timber until they had

gained a close proximity to the stables, still under

cover of large trees in the grove. When no nearer

position could be gained without presenting them-
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selves in the open ground, they were urged by

their leader to make a charge upon the point thus

sought to be gained, and take the place by storm.

They appeared slow in rendering obedience to his

command, whereby they were to expose themselves

in an open space intervening between them and

the stables. When at length he succeeded in cre-

ating a stir among them (for it assuredly did not

approach the grandeur of a charge), they were

met by such a voUey from the direction in which

they were desired to march that they suddenly re-

versed their advance, and each sought the body of

a tree, behind which to screen himself from the

threatened storm of flying bullets.

' As an instance of the manner in which the fight

was now conducted, we would mention a part of

the personal adventures of Mr. Walter P. HiUs,

a citizen, who three times came as a messenger

from the fort during the time it was in a state of

siege. He had just returned to the post with dis-

patches the evening before the attack was made.

He took part in the engagement; and killed his

Indian in the early portion of the fight before

the enemy was driven across the river.

He afterward took position at one of the port-

holes, where he paired off with a particular Sioux

warrior, posted behind a tree of his own selection.

He, being acquainted with the language to a con-

siderable extent, saluted and conversed with his

antagonist, and as the opportunity was presented,

each would fire at the other. This was kept up

for about an hour without damage to either party,

when the Indian attempted to change his position,

so as to open fire from the opposite side of his tree

from that which he had been using hitherto. In

this maneuver he made an unfortunate exposure of

his person in the direction of the upper bastion of

the fort. The report of _a rifle from that point was

heard, and the Indian was seen to make a sudden

start backward, when a second and third shot fol-

lowed in rapid succession, and Mr. Hills beheld his

polite opponent stretched a corpse upon the

ground. He expressed himself as experiencing a

feeling of dissatisfaction at beholding the death of

his enemy thus inflicted by other hands than his

jwn, after he had endeavored so long to accom-

plish the same object.

Several of the enemy at this point were killed

while in the act of skulking from one tree to an-

other. The artillery of the post was used with

considerable effect during the engagement. At

one time a number of the enemy's horsemen were

observed collecting upon a knoll on the prairie, at

the distance of about half a mile from the fojt,

with the apparent intention of making a charge.

A howitzer was brought to bear upon them, and a

shell was planted in their midst, which immediately

afterward exploded, filling the air with dust, sand,

and other fragments. When this had sufficiently

cleared away to permit the knoll to be again seen,

the whole troop, horses and riders, had vanished,

and could nowhere be discovered.

The fight lasted until near noon, when the enemy

withdrew, taking with him nearly all his dead.

The loss which he sustained could not be fully as-

certained, but from the number killed in plain

view of the works, and the marks of blood, broken

guns, old rags, and other signs discovered where

the men had fallen or been dragged away by their

companions, it must have been very severe. Our

loss was one man killed and two wounded, one of

them mortally.

Mr. Hills left the fort the same evening as bearer

of dispatches to headquarters at St.. Paul, where

he arrived in safety on the evening of the 8th of

September.

Captain Emil A. Buerger was appointed, by

special order from headquarters, to take command
of the expedition for the relief of Fort Abercrom-

bie. He had served with some distinction in the

Prussian army for a period of ten years. He after-

ward emigrated to the United States, and be-

came a resident of the state of Minnesota,

taking the oath of allegiance to the Gov-

ernment of the United States, and making a

declaration of his intention to become a citizen.

He enlisted in the second company of Minnesota

Sharp-Shooters, and was with the company in the

battle of Pair Oaks, in Virginia, where he was

severely wounded and left upon the field. He was

there found by the enemy, and carried to Eioh-

mond as a prisoner of war. After having in a

great measure recovered from his wounds, he was

paroled and sent to Benton Barracks, in the state

of Missouri, where he was sojourning at the time

the 3d Regiment was ordered to this state. As the

regiment at that time was utterly destitute of com-

missioned officers. Captain Buerger was designated

to take charge and command during the passage

from St. Louis, and to report the command at head-

quarters in this state.

Prom his known experience and bravery, he

was selected to lead the expedition to the Bed
Eiver of the North, for the relief of the garrison at
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Fort Abercrombie. On the 9tli of September lie

was informed, by the commandant at Fort Snell-

ing, that the companies commanded respectively

by Captains George Atkinson and Eolla Banks,

together with about sixty men of the Third Kegi-

ment, under command of Sergeant Dearborne, had

been -assigned to his command, constituting an

aggregate force of about 250 men.

The next day (September 10) arms and accou-

trements were issued to the men, and, before noon

of the 11th of September, Captain Atkinson's

company and the company formed from the mem-

bers of the Third Eegiment were ready for the

march. With these Captain Buerger at once set

out, leaving Captain Bank's company t6 receive

their clothing, but with orders to follow after and

overtake the others as soon as possible, which they

did, arriving at camp and reporting about 3 o'clock

the next morning.

It wr.-i also deemed expedient to send the only

n maining field-piece belonging to the state along

with the expedition, and Lieutenant Robert J.

McHenry was, accordingly, appointed to take

command of the piece, and was sent after the

expedition, which he succeeded in overtaking, near

Clear Water, on the 13th of September, and imme-

diately reported for further orders to the captain

commanding the expedition.

Being detained by heavy rains and muddy

roads, the expedition was considerably delayed

upon its march, but arrived at Richmond, in

Steams county, on the 16th of September, and

encamped in a fortification erected at that point by

the citizens of the place. Upon his arrival, Cap-

tain Buerger was informed that the night previous

an attack had been made upon the neighboring

village of Paynesville, and a church and school-

house had been burned, and that, on the day of

his arrival, a party of thirty Sioux warriors, well

mounted, had been seen by some of the Richmond

home-guards,"about three miles beyond the Sauk

river at that point.

Captain Buerger thereupon detailed a party of

twenty men to proceed to Richmond, to patrol up

and down the bank of the river as far as the town

site extended, and, in case of an attack being

made, to render all possible or necessary assistance

and aid to the home militia; at the same time he

held the remainder of his command in readiness to

meet any emergency that might arise. No In-

dians appeared during the night, and, on the

morning following, the march was resumed.

On the 19th of September the expedition reached

Wyman's Station, at the point where the road

enters the "Alexandria Woods." At the setting

out of the expedition it was next to impossible to

obtain means of transportation for the baggage
and supplies necessary for the force. The fitting

out of so many other expeditions and detachments

about the same time had drawn so heavily upon
the resources of the country, that scarcely a horse

or wagon could be obtained, either by contract or

impressment. Although Mr. Kimball, the quarter-

master of the expedition, had been assiduously

engaged from the 8th of September in endeavor-

ing to obtain such transportation, yet, on the 11th,

he had but partially succeeded in his endeavors.

Captain Buerger had refused longer to delay,

and started at once with the means then at liand,

leaving directions for others to be sent forward as

rapidly as circumstances would allow. The march
was much less rapid, for want of this part of the

train. These, fortunately, arrived while the com-

mand was encamped at Wyman's Station, just

before the commencement of what was considered

the dangerous part of the march.

On the 14th of September, Captains Barrett

and Freeman, having united their commands, de-

termined to make the attempt to reheve Fort

Abercrombie, in obedience to previous orders.

They broke up camp on the evening of that day,

and by evening of the 15th, had reached Lake
Amelia, near the old trail to Red River, where they

encamped. During the night a messenger arrived

at their camp, bearing dispatches from Captain

McCoy, advising them of the advance of the expe-

dition under command of Captain Buerger, by
whom they were directed to await' further orders.

On the 18th they received orders directly from
Captain Buerger, directing them to proceed to

Wyman's Station, on the Alexandria road, and

join his command at that point on the 19th,

which was promptly executed. Captain Buerger

expressed himself as being highly pleased with

these companies, both oiBcers and men. He had
been directed to assume command over these

companies, and believing the country in his rear

to be then sufficiently guarded, and being so well

pleased with both companies that he disliked to

part with either, he ordered them to join the ex-

pedition during the remainder of the march.

By the accession of these companies the strength

of the expedition was increased to something over

four hundred effective men. This whole force,
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with the entire train, marched on the 20th of Sep-

tember, and passed through the "Alexandria

Woods" without seeing any Indians. After pass-

ing Sauk Center, however, there was not an inhab-

itant to be seen, and the whole country had been

laid waste. The houses were generally burned,

and those that remained had been phmdered of

their contents and broken up, until they were mere

wrecks, while the stock and produce of the farms

had been all carried off or destroyed.

On the 21st they passed the spot where a Mr.

Andrew Austin had been murdered by the Indian-?

a short time previous. His body was found, terri-

ribly mutilated, the head having been severed from

the body, and lying about forty rods distant from

it, with the scalp torn off. It was buried by- the

expedition in the best style that circumstances

would admit. Pomme de Terre river was reached

in the evening.

On the 22d they arrived at the Old Crossing, on

the Otter Tail river, between Dayton and Breck-

enridge, about fifteen miles from the latter place.

On the 23d the march was resumed, and nothing

worthy of remark occurred until the expedition

had approached within about a mile of the P.ed

River, and almost within sight of Port Abercrom-

bie. At this point a dense smoke was observed in

the direction of the fort, and the impression cre-

ated among the troops was, that the post had al-

ready fallen, and was now being reduced to aghas

by the victorious savages, through the means of

their favorite element of war.

Upon ascending an eminence where a better

view could be obtained, a much better state of af-

fairs was discovered to be existing. There stood

the little fort,^ yet monarch of the prairie, and the

flag of the Union was still waving above its bat-

tlements. The fire from which the smoke was

arising was between the command and the post,

and was occasioned by the burning of the prauie,

which had been set on fire by the Indians, with the

evident design of cutting off the expedition from

the crossing of the river. After they had advanced

a short distance further toward the river, a party

of thirteen Indians appeared on the opposite bank,

nishing in wild haste from a piece of woods.

They hastily fired a few shots at our men from a

distance of about fifteen hundred yards, inflicting

no injuries on any one of the command, after

which they disappeared in great trepidation, be-

hind some buslies on the river shore.

A detachment comprising twenty mounted men

of Captain Freeman's company, under command of

Lieutenant Taylor, and twenty from the members
of the Third Kegiment, the latter to act as skir-

mishers in the woods, was directed to cross the

river with all possible celerity, and follow the re-

treating enemy. The men entered upon the duty

assigned them with the greatest zeal, crossed the

river, and followed in the direction taken by the

Indians.

Captain Buerger took with him the remaining

force of the Third Eegiment and the field-piece,

and proceeded up the river to a point where he sus-

pected the Indians would pass in their retreat, and

where he was able to conceal his men from their

sight until within a very short distance.

He soon discovered, however, that the savag. »

were retreating, under cover of the woods, across

the prairie, in the direction of the Wild Eice river.

The whole expedition was then ordered to cross the

river, which was effected in less than an hour, the

men not awaiting to be carried over in wagons, but

plunging into the water, breast-deep, and wading
to the opposite shore.

By this time the savages had retreated some
three miles, and were about entering the heavy

timber beyond the prairie, and further pursuit was
considered useless. The march was continued to

the fort, at which place the expedition arrived

about 4 o'clock of the same day, to the great joy

of the imprisoned garrison and citizens, who wel-

comed their deliverers with unbounded cheers and

demonstrations of delight.

When the moving columns of the expedition

were first descried from the ramparts of the fort,

they were taken to be Indians advancing to an-

other attack. All was excitement and alarm.

The following description of the after-part of the

scene is from the pen of a lady who was an inmate

of the fort during the long weeks that they were

besieged, and could not dare to venture beyond
half cannon-shot from the post without being in

imminent peril of her life

:

"About 5 o'clock the report came to quarters

that the Indians were again coming from up to-

ward Bridges. With a telescope we soon discovered

four white men, our messengers, riding at full

speed, who, upon reaching here informed us that

in one half hour we would be reinforced by three

hundred and fifty men. Language can never ex-

press the dehght of all.. Some wept, some
laughed, others hallooed and cheered. The sol-

(ixevs and citizens here formed in a line and went
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out to meet them. It was quite dark before all got

in. We all cheered so that the next day more than

half of us could hardly speak aloud. The ladies

all went out, and as they passed, cheered them.

They were so dusty I did not know one of them."********
On the same day that the expedition reached

the fort, but at an early hour, it had been deter-

mined to dispatch a messenger to St. Paul, with re-

ports of the situation of the garrison, and a request

for assistance. The messenger was escorted a con-

siderable distance by a force of twenty men, com-

posed of soldiers and partly of the citizens quar-

tered at the pest. "When returning, and within

about a mile of the fort, they were fired upon by

Indians in ambush, and two of the number, one

citizen and one soldier, were killed, and fell into

the hands of the enemy. The others, by extraor-

dinary exertions, succeeded in making their es-

cape, and returned to the garrison.

The next morning, about two-thirds of the

mounted company, under command of Captain

Freeman, escorted by a strong infantry force, went

out to search for the bodies of those slain on the

day before. After scouring the woods for a con-

siderable distance, the bodies were found upon the

prairie, some sixty or eighty rods apart, mangled

and mutilated to such a degree as to be almost de-

prived of human form. The body of the citizen

was found ripped open from the center of the ab-

domen to the throat. The heart and liver were en-

tirely removed, while the lungs were torn out and

left upon the outside of the chest. The head was

cut olT, scalped, and thrust within the cavity of the

abdomen, with the face toward the feet. The hands

were cut oflf and laid side by side, with the palms

downward, a short distance from the main portion

of the body. The body of the soldier had been

pierced by two balls, one of which must have oc-

casioned almost instant death. When found, it

was lying upon the face, with the upper part of the

head completely smashed and beaten in with clubs

while the brains were scattered around upon the

grass. It exhibited eighteen bayonet wounds in

the back, and one of the legs had received a gash

almost, or quite, to the bone, extending from the

calf to the junction with the body.

The citizen had lived in the vicinity for years.

The Indians had been in the habit of visiting his

father's house, sharing the hospitalities of the

dwelling, and receiving alms of the family. He
must have been well known to the savages who in-

16

flioted such barbarities upon his lifeless form;

neither could they have had aught against him,

except his belonging to a di£ferent race, and his be-

ing found in a country over which they wished to

re-establish their supremacy.

That his body had been treated with still greater

indignity and cruelty than that of the soldier was

in accordance with feelings previously expressed to

some of the garrison. In conversation with some

of the Sioux, previous to the connnencement of

hostilities, they declared a very strong hatred

against the settlei-s in the country, as they fright-

ened away the game, and thus interfered with

their hunting. They objected, in similar terms, to

having United States troops quartered so near

them, but said they did not blame the soldiers, as

they had to obey orders, and go wherever they

were directed, but the settlers had encroached upon

them, of their own free will, and as a matter of

choice ; for this reason the citizens should be se-

verely dealt with.

No more Indians were seen around the fort until

the 26th of September. At about 7 o'clock of that

day, as Captain Freeman's company were water-

ing their horses at the river, a volley was fired

upon them by a party of Sioux, who had placed

themselves in ambush for the purpose. One man,

who had gone as teamster with the expedition,

was mortally wounded, so that he died the suc-

ceeding night; the others were unarmed. From
behind the log-buildings and breastworks the fire

was soon returned with considerable effect, as a

number of the enemy were seen to fall and be car-

ried off by their comrades. At one time two In-

dians were observed skulking near the river. They

were fired upon by three men from the fortifica-

tion, and both fell, when they were dragged away

by their companions.

On another occasion, during the fight, one of

the enemy was discovered perched on a tree, where

he had stationed himself, either for ijhe purpose of

obtaining a view of the movements iaside of the

fort, or to gain a more favorable position for firing

upon our men. He was fired upon by a member
of Captain Barret's company, when he released

his hold upon the tree and fell heavily into a fork

near the ground, from which he was removed and

borne off by his comrades. In a very short time

a howitzer was brought into position, and a few

shells (which the Indians designate as rotten bul-

lets) were thi'own among them, silencing their fire

and causing them to withdraw.
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A detachment, comprising Captain Freeman's

company, fifty men of the 3d Begiment, and a

squad in charge of a howitzer, were ordered in

pursuit, and started over the prairie, up the river.

At the distance of about two miles they came upon

the Sioux camp, but the warriors fled in the great-

est haste and consternation upon their approach.

A few shots were fired at them in their flight, to

which they replied by yells, but were in too great

haste to return the fire. The howitzer was again

opened upon them, whereupon their yelling sud-

denly ceased, and they rushed, if possible, with

stiU greater celerity through the brush and across

the river.

Their camp was taken possession of, and was

found to contain a considerable quantity of plun-

der, composed of a variety of articles, a stock of

liquors being part of the assortment. Everything

of value was carried to the fort, an'd the remainder

was burned upon the ground.

On the evening of September 29th a light skir-

mish was had with a small party of Sioux, who

attempted to gain an ambush in order to fixe upon

the troops while watering their horses, as on a pre-

vious ococasion. Fire was first opened upon them,

which they returned, wounding one rnan. They

were immediately routed and driven off, but with

what loss, it any, was unknown.

On the 30th of September Captain Freeman's

company and the members of the 3d Eegiment,

together with a number of citizens and families,

started on their return from Fort Abercrombie to

St. Oloud. They passed by where the town of

Dayton had formerly stood, scarcely a vestige of

which was then found remaining. The dead body

of one of the citizens, who had been murdered,

was there found, and buried in the best manner

possible under the circumstances. The whole

train arrived in safety at St. Cloud, on the 5th of

October, without having experienced any consid-

erable adventures on the journey.

CHAPTER XLI.

BOTJTH-WBSTEBN DBPAETMENT—HON. CHARLES B.

ITLANDBAU FBAES OE WINNBBAGOBS AND SIOUX

MANKATO KAISES A COMPANY POB THE DEFENSE
OP NEW trliM HBADQTJAETBBS AT SOUTH BEND
WAKBPIBIiD SIOUX EAID IN WATONWAN COUNTY

PUESUIT OP INDIANS STATE TEOOPS BE-

lilBVED FBOM DUTY OOIiONEL SIBLEY ADVANCED
PBOM ST. PETBB CONCLUSION.

That portion of the State lying between the

Minnesota river and the Iowa line, supposed in

the early part of the military movement to occupy

a position of extreme danger, was placed under

the control of Hon. Charles E. Flandrau. In the

division was the Winnebago Beservation. And it

was reasonably supposed that the Winnebagoes

would more readily unite with the Sioux than with

the Ojibwas [Chippewas] in the northern part of

the State, the former tribe being on good terms

with the Sioux, while the latter held the .Sioux as

hereditary enemies, with whom an aUiance offen-

sive or defensive would hardly take place, unless

under extraordinary conditions, such as a general

war of the Indian tribes upon the white race. This

peculiar condition did not mark the present out-

break.

In this portion of the State were distributed the

following forces, subject to special duty as circum-

stances required: a company of sixty-three mem-
bers under the command of Captain Cornelius F.

Buck, marched from Winona, Sept.l, 1861 ; on the

26th of August, six days previous. Captain A. J.

Edgerton, of the 10th Eegiment, with one hun-

dred and nine men, arrived at the Winnebago

Agency, where the inhabitants were in great ter-

ror. After the evacuation of New Ulm, by Col-

onel Flandrau, he encamped at Crisp's farm, half

way between New Ulm and Mankato. On the 31st

of August, a company of forty-four members, from

Mankato, took up position at South Bend, at

which place Colonel Flandrau had established his

headquarters. On the 23d of August a company

of fifty-eight members, from Winnebago City,

under command of Captain H. W. Holly, was

raised for special services in the counties of Blue

Earth, Faribault, Martin, Watonwan, and Jackson.

This command, on the 7th of September, was re-

lieved at Winnebago City by the Fillmore County

Rangers, under the command of Captain Colbum.

At Blue Earth City, a company of forty-two mem-
bers, under command of Captain J. B. Wakefield,

by order of Colonel Flandrau, remained at that

point and erected fortifications, and adopted means

for subsisting his men there during the term of

their service. Major Charles E. Bead, of the State

militia, with a squad of men from south-eastern

Minnesota, also reported to Colonel Flandrau at

South Bend. Captain Dane, of the 9th Eegi-

ment, was by order of the Colonel in command,

stationed at New Ulm. Captain Post, and Colonel

John E. Jones, of the State militia, reported a

company of mounted men from the county of Fill-
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more, aud were assigned a position at Garden

City. Captain Aldrioh, of the 8th Eegiment, re-

ported his company at South Bend, and was placed

in position at New Uhn. Captain Ambler, of the

10th Begiment, reported his company, and was

stationed at Mankato. Captain Sanders, of the

10th, also reported, and was stationed at Le Sueur.

Captain Meagher likewise was assigned a position

with his company at Mankato, where the company

was raised. Captain Cleary, with a company, was

stationed at Marysburg, near the Winnebago

Beserve, and a similar company, under Captain

Potter, was raised, and remained at camp near

home. Captain E. St. Julien Cox, with a com-

mand composed of detachments from different

companies, was stationed at Madelia. He here

erected a fort commanding the Country for some

twenty miles. It was octagonal in form, two

stories in height, with thirty feet between the walls.

This was inclosed by a breastwork and ditch six

feet deep, and four feet wide at the bottom, with

projecting squares of similar thickness on the cor-

ners, from which the ditch could be swept through

its entire length. This structure was named Port

Cox, in honor of its projector.

Prom this disposition of forces in the depart-

ment commanded by Colonel Plandrau, it will be

seen that the south-western portion of the State

was provided with the most ample means of de-

fense against any attack from any open enemy in

any ordinary warfare; and yet on the 10th of Sep-

tember, the wily Indian made an attack upon But-

ternut Valley, near the line of Blue Earth and

Brown counties and fired upon the whites, wound-

ed a Mr. Lewis in the hand, killed James Edwards,

and stUl further on killed Thomas J. Davis, a Mr.

Mohr, and wounded Mr. John W. Task and left

him for dead. Mr. Task, however, survived. And

again on the 21st of September, a party of Sioux

came into Watonwan county, killed John Arm-

strong, two children of a Mr. Patterson, and a Mr.

Peterson.

The consequences of the massacre we have de-

tailed in these pages to some extent can be easily

imagined, and the task of the historian might here

be transferred to the reader. But even the reader

of fiction, much^more the reader of history, re-

quires some aid to direct the imagination in arriv-

ing at proper conclusions. A few words in connec-

tion with the facts already presented will suffice to

exhibit this tragic epoch in our State's history in

its proper light.

MiiiTiesota, the first State in the North-west,

boundsd on the east by the Great Pather of Wa-
ters, had taken her place in the fair sisterhood of

states with prospects as flattering as any that ever

entered the American Union. The tide of hardy,

vigorous, intelligent emigrants had come hither

from the older states, as well as from England,

Ireland, and the different countries on the Euro-

pean continent, until a thriving population of

200,000 had taken up their abode upon her virgin

soil, and were in the quiet and peaceable enjoy-

ment of her salubrious climate. Her crystal lakes,

her wooded streams, her bewitching water-falls, her

island groves, her lovely praii'ies, would have added

gems to an earthly paradise. Her Lake Superior,

her Mississippi, her Ked Kiver of the North, and

her Minnesota, were inviting adjuncts to the com-

merce of the world. Her abundant harvests and

her fertile and enduring soil gave to the husband-

man the highest hopes of certain wealth. Her po-

sition in the track of the tidal human current

sweeping across the continent to the Pacific coast,

and thence around the globe, placed her forever on

the highway of the nations.

Minnesota, thus situated, thus lovely in her virgin

youth, had one dark spot resting on the horizon ot

her otherwise cloudless sky. The dusky savage,

as we have seen, dwelt in the land. And, when all

was peace, without a note of warning, that one

dark spot, moved by the winds of savage hate,

suddenly obscured the whole sky, and poured out,

to the bitter dregs, the vials of its wrath, without

mixture of mercy. The blow fell like a storm of

thunderbolts from the clear, bright heavens. The
storm of fierce, savage murder, in its most horrid

and frightful forms, rolled on. Day passed and

night came;

"Down nank the sun, nor ceased the carnage there

—

Tumultuous horrors rent the midnight air,"

until the sad catalogue reached the fearful number
of two tlwusand human victims, from the gray-

haired sire to the helpless infant of a day, who lay

mangled and dead on the ensanguined field! The

dead were left to bury the dead; for

"The dead reigned there alone."

In two days the whole work of murder was done,

with here and there exceptional cases in differ-

ent settlements. And during these two days a

population of thirty thousand, scattered over some
eighteen counties, on the western border of the

state, on foot, on horseback, with teams of oxen

and horses, under the momentum of the panic thus
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created, were rushing wildly and frantically over

the prairies to places of safety, either to Fort

Kidgely or to the yet retoaining towns on the Min-

nesota and Mississippi rivers. Plight from an in-

vading army of civilized foes is awful; but flight

from the uplifted tomahawk, in the hands of sav-

age fiends in pursuit of unarmed men, women and

children, is a scene too horrible for the stoutest

heart. The unarmed men of the settlements offer-

ed no defense, and could offer none, but fled before

the savage horde, each in his own way, to such

places as the dictates of self preservation gave the

slightest hope of safety. Some sought the protec-

tion of the nearest slough; others crawled into the

tall grass, hiding, in many instances, in sight of

the lurking foe. Children of tender years, hacked

and beaten and bleeding, fled from their natural

protectors, now dead or disabled, and, by the aid

of some trail of blood, or by the instincts of our

common nature, fled away from fields of slaughter,

cautiously crawling by night from the line of fire

and smoke in the rear, either toward Fort Ridgely

or to some distant town on the Minnesota or the

Mississippi. Over the. entire border of the State,

and even near the populous towns on the river, an

eye looking down from above could have seen a

human avalanche of thirty thousand, of all ages,

and in all possible plight, the rear ranks maimed

and bleeding, and faiut from starvation and the

loss of blood, continually falling into the hands of

inhuman savages, keen and fierce, on the trail of

the white man. An eye thus situated, if human,

could not endure a scene so terrible. And angels

from the realms of peace, if ever touched with

hunian woe, over such a scene might have shed

tears of blood; and, passing the empyreal sphere

into the Eternal presence, we might see

1, * * » * "QoA lament,

And draw a cloud of mournlnij round hia throne."

Who will say, looking on this picture, that the

human imagination can color it at all equal to the

sad reality ?' Eeality here has outdone the highest

flights to which fancy ever goes! The sober-

minded Governor Sibley, not unused to the most

horrible phases of savage life, seeing only a tithe

of the wide field of ruin, giving utterance to his

thoughts in official form, says: "Unless some

crushing blow can be dealt at once upon these too

successful murderers, the state is ruined, and some

of its fairest portions wiU revert, for years, into the

possession of these miserable wretches, who, of all

devils in human shape, are among the most cruel

and ferocious. To appreciate this, one must see,

as I have, the mutilated bodies of their victims.

My heart is steeled against them, and if I have

the means, and can catch them, I will sweep them

with the besom of death." Again, alluding to the

narrations of those who have escaped from the

scenes of the brutal carnage, he says: "Don't

think there is an exaggeration in the horrible

pictures.given by individuals—^they faU far short

of the dreadful reality."

The Adjutant-General of the State, in an official

document, has attempted, by words of carefully-

measured meaning, to draw a picture of the

scenes we are feebly attempting to present on

paper. But this picture is cold and stately com-

pared with the vivid coloring of living reality.

"During the time that this iorce was being mar-

shaled and engaged in the march to this point

(St. Peter), the greater portion of the country

above was being-laid waste by murder, fire, and

robbery. The inhabitants that could make their

escape were fleeing like affrighted deer before the

advancing gleam of the tomahawk. Towns were

deserted by the residents, and their places gladly

taken by those who had fled from more sparsely-

settled portions of the regions. A stream of

fugitives, far outnumbering the army that was

marching to their relief, came pouring down the

valley. The arrivals from more distant poiats

communicated terror to the settlements, and the

inhabitants there fled to poults still further in the

interior, to communicate in turn the alarm to

others stiU further removed from the scene of hos-

tilities. This rushing tide of humanity, on foot,

on horse, and in all manner of vehicles, came meet-

ing the advancing columns of our army. Even

this sign of protection failed to arrest their pro-

gress. On they came, spreading panic in their

course, and many never halted till they had

reached the capital city of the state; while others

again felt no security even here, and hurriedly

and rashly sacrificed their property, and fled from

the state of their adoption to seek an asylum of

safety in some of our sister states further removed

from the sound of the war-whoop."

Thirty thousand panic-stricken inhabitants at

once desert their homes in the midst of an indis-

criminate slaughter of men, women, and children.

All this distracted multitude, from the wide area

of eighteen counties, are on the highways and

byways, hiding now in the sloughs, and now in

the grass of the open prairie; some famishing for
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water, and some dying for want of food; some

barefooted, Bome in torn garments, and some en-

tirely denuded of clothing; some, by reason of

wounds, crawUng on their hands, and dragging

their torn limbs after them, were all making their

way over a country in which no white man could

offer succor or administer consolation. The varied

emotions that stniggled for utterance in that frag-

mentary mass of humanity cannot be even faintly

set forth ia words. The imagination, faint and

aghast, turns from the picture in dismay and hor-

ror I What indelible images are burned in upon

the tablets of the souls of thousands of mothers

bereft of their children by savage barbarity!

What unavailing tears fall unseen to the ground

from the scattered army of almost helpless in-

fancy, now reduced by cruel hands to a life of

cheerless orphanage! How many yet linger

around the homes they loved, hiding from the

keen-eyed savage, awaiting the return of father,

mother, brother, or friend, who can never come

again to their relief I We leave the reader to his

own contemplations, standing in view of this

mournful picture, the narration of which the heart

sickens to pursue, and turns away with more be-

coming silence!

The scene of the panic extended to other coun-

ties and portions of the State remote from all ac-

tual danger. The Territory of Dakota was de-

populated, except in a few towns on the western

border. Eastward from the Minnesota river to the

Mississippi, the inhabitants fled from their homes

to the towns of Bed Wing, Hastings, Wabasha,

and Winona; and thousands again from these

places to Wisconsin, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, and

some to distant New England friends.

Thirty thousand human beings, suddenly forced

from their homes, destitute of all the necessaries

of life, coming suddenly upon the towns in the

Minnesota Valley, can easily be supposed to have

betm a burden of onerous and crushing weight.

It came like an Alpine avalanche, sweeping down,

in the wildness of its fury, upon the plain. No
wisdom could direct it; no force could resist it.

No power of description is equal to the task of

presenting it in fitting words. It was horribly

"grand, gloomy, and peculiar." One faint picture

must here suffice.

St. Peter, on the morning of the 19th of August,

1862, manifested some unwonted commotion.

Couriers arrived before the dawn of that day, an-

nouncing the alarming news that the neighboring

town of New Ulm was on fire, and its inhabitants

were being massacred by the savages, led by Lit-

tle Crow. At the same time, or a little previous,

came the tidings that Fort Kidgely was in immi-
nent danger; that Captain Marsh had been killed,

and his command almost, if not entirely, cut off,

in attempting to give succor to the Lower Agency,

which had been attacked on the morning of the

18th, the day previous, and was then in ashes.

By nine o'clock the news of these events began to

meet a response from the surrounding country.

Horsemen and footmen, from different parts of

Nicollet and Le Sueur counties, came hurrying

into town, some with guns and ammunition, but
more without arms. Men were hurrying through

the streets in search of guns and ammunition;

some were running bullets, while others were fit-

ting up teams, horses, and provisions. Busiest

among the agitated mass were Hon. Charles E.

Elandrau and Captain William B. Dodd, giving

directions for a hasty organization for the purpose

of defending New Ulm, or, if that was impossible,

to hold the savages in check, outside of St. Peter,

sufBciently long to give the men, women, and

children some chance to save their lives by hasty

flight, if necessary. Every man, woman, and
child seemed to catch the spirit of the alarming

moment. Now, at about ten o'clock. Judge Plan-

drau, as captain, with quick words of command,
aided by proper subalterns in rank, with one hun-

dred and thirty-five men, armed as best they could

be, with shot-guns, muskets, rifles, swords, and re

volvers, took up the line of march for New TUm.
At an earlier hour, fifty volunteers, known as the

Renville Rangers, on their way to Fort SneUing,

had turned then- course toward Fort Ridgely,

taking with them all the Government arms at St.

Peter.

With the departure of these noble bands went
not only the wishes and prayers of wives, motherp,

brothers, sisters, and children for success, but with

them aU, or nearly all, the able-bodied citizens

capable of bearing arms, together with aU the

guns and ammunition St. Peter could muster. For

one moment we follow these little bands of soldiers,

the hope of the Minnesota VaUey. Their march

is rapid. To one of these parties thirty weary

miles intervened between them and the burning

town of New Ulm. Expecting to meet the savage

foe on their route, flushed with their successful

massacre at New Ulm, the skirmishers—a few men
on horseback—were kept in advance of the hurry-
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ing footmen. Before dark, the entire force des-

tined for New Ulm reached the crossing of the

Minnesota at the Ked Stone Ferry. Here, for a

moment, a halt was ordered; the field of ruta lay

in full view before them. The smoke of the burn-

ing buildings was seen ascending over the town.

No signs of life were visible. Some might yet be

alive. There was no wavering in that little army

of relief. The ferry was manned, the river was

crossed, and soon New Ulm was frantic with the

mingled shouts of the delivered and their deliv-

erers. An account of the hard-fought battle

which terminated the siege is to be found in

another chapter of this work. Such expedition

has seldom, if ever, been chronicled, as was exhib-

ited by the deliverers of New Ulm. Thirty miles

had been made in a little over half a day, travel-

ing all the time in the face of a motley crowd of

panic-stricken refugees, pouring in through every

avenue toward St. Peter.

The other party, by dusk, had reached Fort

Eidgely, traveling about forty-fjve miles, crossing

the ravine near the fort at the precise point where

one hundred and fifty Indians had lain in ambush

awaiting their approach until a few moments be-

fore they came up,' and had only retired for the

night; and, when too late to intercept them, the

disapppinted savages saw the Eenville Eangers

enter the fort.

But let us now return to St. Peter. What a

night and a day have brought forth! The quiet

village of a thousand inhabitants thus increased

by thousands, had become full to overflowing.

Every private house, every public house, every

church, school-house, warehouse, shed, or saloon,

and every vacant structure is full. The crowd

throng the public highways; a line of cooking-

stoves smoke along the streets; the vacant lots are

occupied, for there is no room in the houses. All

is clatter, rattle, and din. Wagons, ponies, mules,

oxen, cows and calves are promiscuously distrib-

uted among groups of men, women and children.

The live stock from thousands of deserted farms

surround the outskirts of the town; the lowing of

strange cattle, the neighing of restless horses, the

crying of lost and hungry children, the tales of

horror, the tomahawk wounds undressed, the

bleeding feet, the cries for food, and the loud

wailing for missing friends, all combine to bum
into the soul the dreadful reality that some ter-

rible calamity was upon the country.

But the news of the rapid approach of the

savages, the bodies of the recently-murdered, the

burning of houses, the admitted danger of a

sudden attack upon St. Peter, agitated and moved
that vast multitude as if some volcano was ready

to engulf them. The overflowing streets were

crowded into the already overflowing houses. The
stone buildings were barricaded, and the women
and children were huddled into every conceivable

place of safety. Between hope and fear, and
prayer for succor, several weary days and nights

passed away, when, on the 22d day of August, the

force under Colonel Sibley, fourteen hundred
stj'ong, arrived at St. Peter.

Now, as the dread of immediate massacre was
past, they were siezed with a fear of a character en-

tirely different. How shall this multitude be fed,

clothed and nursed? The grain was unthreshed

in the field, and the flour in the only mill left

standing on the Minnesota, above Belle Plaiue,

was almost gone. The flouring mill at Mankato,
twelve miles above, in the midst of the panic, had
been burned, and fears were entertained that the

mill at St. Peter would share the same fate. Nor
had this multitude any means within themselves

to support life a single day. Every scheme known
to human ingenuity was canvassed. Every device

was suggested, and every expedient tried. The
multitude was fearfully clamoring for food, rai-

ment, and shelter. The sick and wounded were in
need of medicine and skillful attention. Between
six and seven thousand persons, besides the citi-

zens of the place, were already crowding the town;

and some thousand or fifteen hundred more daily

expected, as a proper quota from the two thousand

now compelled to abandon New Ulm. The gath-

ering troops, regular and irregular, were moving,
in large numbers, upon St. Peter, now a frontier

town of the State, bordering on the country under
the full dominion of the Annuity Sioux Indians,

with torch and tomahawk, burning and murdering
in their train.

A committee, aided by expert clerks, opened
ah office for the distribution of such articles

of food, clothing and medical stores as the

town could furnish, on their orders, trusting to the
State or General Government for pay at some fu-

ture day. So great was the crowd pressing for

relief, that much of the exhausting labor was per-

formed while bayonets guarded the entrance to the

building in which the office of distribution was
held. A bakery was established, furnishing two
thousand loaves of bread per day, while many pri-



EBFtlGEEa AT ST. PBTEE. 247

vate houses were put under requisition for the

same purpose, and, aided by individual benevo-

lence throughout the town, the hungry began to

be BoantUy fed. A butoher-shop was pressed into

the needed service, capable of supplying ten thou-

sand rations a day over and above the citizens'

ordinary demand. Still, there was a vast moving

class, single persons, women, and children, not yet

reached by these well-directed efforts. The com-

mittee, feeling every impulse of the citizens, to

satisfy the demand for food fitted up a capacious

soup-house, where as high as twelve hundred

meals were supplied daily. This institution was

a great success, and met the entire approval of the

citizens, while it suited the conditions of the pe-

culiar population better than any other mode in

which relief could be administered. Soup was al-

ways ready, and its quality was superior. The

aged and the young could here find relief, singly

or in families; the well relished it, and the sict

found it a grateful beverage. In this way the

committee, aided by the extreme efforts of private

charity, ever active and vigilant, continued for

weeks to feed the refugees at St. Peter, taxing every

energy of body and mind from twelve to sixteen

hours per day. The census of the population was

never taken; but it is believed that, after the arri-

val of the refugees from New TJlm, and a portion

of the inhabitants from Le Sueur coimty, east of

the town, excluding the fourteen hundred troops

under Colonel H. H. Sibley, who were here a part

of the time, the population of St. Peter was at

least nine thousand. This was an estimate made

by the committee of supplies, who issued eight

thousand rations of beef each day to refugees

alone, estimating one ration to a person. The ra-

tion was from a half-pound to a pound, varied to

meet the condition of persons and families.

But the task of feeding the living did not stop

with the human element. The live stock, horses

and oxen, with an innumerable herd of cattle from

a thousand prairies, ruly and unruly, furious from

fright, so determined on food that in a few days

not a green spot could be protected from their vo-

racious demands. Fences offered no obstruction.

Some bold leader laid waste the field or garden,

and total destruction followed, until St. Peter was

as barren of herbage, with scarce an exception, as

the Great American desert. The committee could

not meet successfully this new demand. The

sixty tons of hay cut by their order was only an

aggravation to the teams of the Government and

the necessary demands of the gathering cavalry.

Some military power seemed needed to regulate

the collection and distribution of food in this de-

partment. This soon came in an official order

from Ool. H. H. Sibley to a member of the com-

mittee, assigning him to the separate duty of col-

lecting food for Government use at St. Peter. A
wider range of country was now brought under

contribution, and such of the live stock as was re-

quired for constant use was amply suppHed. The
cattle not required by the butchers were forced to

a still wider extent of country.

Not only food, such as the mill, the bakery, the

butcher-shop, and the soup-house could furnish

was required among this heterogeneous multitude,

but the infirm, the aged and the sick needed other

articles, which the merchant and druggist alone

could furnish. Tea, coffee, sugar, salt, soap, can-

dles, wipe, brandy, and apothecaries' drugs, as

well as shoes, boots, hats, and wear for men,

women and children, and articles of bedding and

hospital stores, were demanded as being abso-

lutely necessary. The merchants and druggists

of the town honored the orders of the committee,

and this demand was partially supplied. In all

these efforts of the town to meet the wants of the

refugees, it was discovered that the limit of sup-

ply would soon be reached. But the demand still

continued inexorable. The fearful crisis was ap-

proaching! Public exertion had found its limit;

private benevolence was exhausted; the requisite

stores of the merchant and the druggist were well-

nigh expended. It was not yet safe to send the

multitude to their homes in the country. The
fierce savage was yet in the land, thirsting for

blood. What shall be done? Shall this vast

crowd be sent to other towns, to St. Paul, or stiU

further, to other States, to seek reUef from public

charity ? or shall they be suffered to perish here,

when all means of relief shall have failed ?

On the 13th of September, 1862, after a month
had nearly expired, a relief committee, consisting

of Eev. A. H. Kerr and P. Lange, issued an ap-

peal, approved by M. B. Stone, Provost Marshal

of St. Peter, from which we make a few extracts,

showing the condition of things at the time it bears

date. Previous to this, however, a vast number
had left for other places, principally for St. Paul,

crowding the steamboats on the Minnesota river to

their utmost capacity. The appeal says:

"Fbiends! Bkethken! In behalf of the suf-

fering, the destitute, and homeless—^in behalf of
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the widow, the fatherless, and the houseless, we

make this appeal for help. A terrible blow has

fallen upon this frontier, by the uprising of the

Sioux or Dakota Indians. All the horrors of an

Indjian war; the massacre of families, the aged and

the young; the burning of houses and the wanton

destruction of property; aU, indeed that makes an

Indian war so fearful and terribly appalling, are

upon the settlements immediately west and north-

west of us.

"In some oases the whole family have been mur-

dered; in others the husband has fallen; in others

the wife and children have been taken captive; in

others only one child has escaped to tell the sad

story. Stealthily the Indians came upon the set-

tlements, or overtook families flying for refuge.

Unprotected, alarm and terror siezed the people,

and to escape with life was the great struggle.

Mothers clasped their little ones in their arms and

fled; if any lagged behind they were overtaken by

a shot or the hatchet. Many, many thus left their

homes, taking neither food nor clothing with them.

The Indians immediately commenced the work of

pillaging, taking clothing and bedding, and, in

many instances giving the house and all it con-

tained to the flames. Some have lost their all,

and many, from comparative comfort, are left ut-

terly destitute. A great number of cattle have

. been driven back into the Indian country, and

where a few weeks ago plenty abounded, desolation

now reigns. ******
"Friends of humanity—Christians, brethren, in

your homes of safety, can you do something for

the destitute and homeless? We ask for cast-off

clothing for men, women and children—for shoes

and stockings; caps for boys, anything for the lit-

tle girls and infants; woolen underclothing,

blankets, comfortables; anything, indeed, to alle-

viate their sufferings. Can not a church or town

collect such articles, flU a box and send it to the

committee? It should be done speedily."

Circulars, containing the appeal from which we

have made the above quotations, were sent to

churches in Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, Pennsylvania,

New York, and throughout the towns and cities of

New England. And similar appeals, from other

places, were made, and met with universal re-

sponse, worthy of men and women who honor the

'Christian profession. By these efforts, the

refugees throughout the state were greatly

relieved. In reply to these circulars about $20,000

were received, to which was added $25,000 by the

state, for general distribution.

Other places on the frontier, such as Henderson,

Chaska, Carver, and even BeUe Plaine, Shakopee,

and St. Paul, felt, more or less, the crushing

weight of the army of refugees, as they poured

across the country and down the Minnesota Val-

ley; but no place felt this burden so heavily as

the frontier town of St. Peter.

One reflection should here be made. Had New
Ulm and Fort Bidgely fallen on the first attack,

Mankato and St. Peter would have been taken be-

fore the state troops could have offered the proper

assistance. Had New Ulm~ fallen on the 19th,

when it was attacked, and Fort Eidgely on the

20th, when the attack was made on that place,

Mankato and St. Peter could easily have been

reached by the 21st, when the state troops were

below, on their way to St. Peter. The successful

defense of these places, New Ulm and Fort Eidge-

ly, was accomplished by the volunteer citizens of

Nicollet, Le Sueur, and Blue Earth counties, who

reached New Ulm by the 19th of August, and the

Eenville Bangers, who timely succored Fort Eidge-

ly, by a forced march of forty-five miles in one

day, reaching the fort previous to the attack or

that post." Whatever credit is due to the state

troops, for the successful defense of the frontiei

and the rescue of the white captivQS, should be

gratefully acknowledged by the citizens of Min-

nesota." Such acts are worthy of lasting honor to

all who were participants in those glorious deeds.

But to the brave men who first advanced to the

defense of New Ulm and Fort Eidgely, higher

honor and a more lasting debt of gratitude are

due from the inhabitants of the valley of the Min-

nesota. Let their names be honored among men.

Let them stand side by side with the heroes of

other days. Let them rank with veteran brethren

who, on Southern battle-fields, have fought nobly

for constitutional freedom and the- perpetuity of

the Union of these states. These are all of them

worthy men, who like

''Patriots have toiled, and in their coantry's cause

Bled nobly, and their deeds, as they deserve,

Receive proud recompense. "We give in charge
Their names to the sweet lyre. The Historic Muse,
Proud of her treasure, marches with it down
To latest times ; and iSculpture, in her turn.

Gives bond, in stone and ever-during brass,

To guard them, and immortalize her trust."



BATTLE OF DIIiGH COOLIB. 249

CHAPTER XLII.

BATTLE OF BIBOH COOLIB BATTLE 01' WOOD LAKE

CAMP BBLEASE—MILITABS COMPANIES SUC-

CESS as THE EXPEDITION DNDER GENBEAL SIBLET.

The massacre being the main design of this his-

tory, the movement of the troops, in the pursuit

and punishment of the Indians connected with the

atrocious murders initiated on the 18th of August,

1862, must especially, in this abridgement, be ex-

ceedingly brief.

On the day after the outbreak, August 19th, 1862,

an order was issued by the commander-in-chief to

Colonel H. H. Sibley, to proceed, with four com-

panies, then at Fort Snelling, and such other

forces as might join his command, to the protec-

tion of the frontier counties of the State. The

entire force, increased by the separate commands

of Colonels Marshall and MoPhail, reached

Port Eidgely, August 28th, 1862. A detachment

made up of Company A, 6th Eegiment Minnesota

Volunteers, under Captain H. P. Grant, some sev-

entj mounted men under Captain Joseph Ander-

son, and a fatigue party, aggregating in aU a

force of over one hundred and fifty men, were sent

in advance of the main army, to jorotect the set-

tlements from further devastation, and at the same

time collect and bury the dead yet lying on the

field of the recent slaughter. On the first of Sep-

tember, near the Beaver Creek, Captain Grant's

party found Justina Krieger, who had escaped

alive from the murders committed near Sacred

Heart. Mrs Krieger had been shot and dread-

fully butchered. During this day this detachment

buried fifty-five victims of savage barbarity, and

in the evening went into camp at Birch Coolie.

The usual precautions were taken, and no imme-

diate fears of Indians were apprehended; yet at

half-past four o'clock on the morning of the sec-

ond of September, one of the guards shouted

"Indians!" Instantly thereafter a shower of bul-

lets was poured into the encampment. A most

fearful and terrible battle, ensued, and for the num-

bers engaged, the most bloody of any in which

our forces had been engaged during the war. The

loss of men, in proportion to those engaged, was

extremely large; twenty-three were killed out-

right, or mortally wounded, and forty-five so se-

verely wounded as to require surgical aid, while

scarce a man remained whose dress had not been

pierced by the enemies' bullets. On the evening

of the 3d of September the besieged camp was

relieved by an advance movement of Colonel Sib'

ley's forces at Fort Ridgely.

This battle, in all probability, saved the towna

of Mankato and St. Peter from the destruction in-

tended by the savages. They had left YeUow

Medicine with the avowed object of attacking

these towns on the Minnesota. The signal defeat

of the forces of Little Crow at Birch Coolie, not

only saved the towns of Mankato and St. Peter,

but in effect ended his efforts in subduing the

whites on the borders.

After the battle of Birch Coolie aU the maraud-

ing forces under the direction of Little Crow were

called in, and a retreat was ordered up the valley

of the Minnesota toward Yellow Medicine; and on

the 16th day of September Colonel Sibley ordered

an advance of his whole column in pursuit of the

fleeing foe; his forces now increased by the 3d

Minnesota Volunteers, paroled prisoners returned

from Murfreesboro, Tennessee, under command of

Major Abraham E. Welch.

On the evening of the 22d Colonel Sibley ar-

rived at Wood Lake. On the morning of the 23d,

at about seven o'clock, a force of three hundred

Indians suddenly appeared before his camp, yell-

ing as savages only can yell, and firing with great

rapidity. The troops under Colonel Sibley were

cool and determined, and the 3d Regiment needed

no urging by oflfioers. All our forces engaged the

enemy with a wUl that betokened quick work with

savages who had outraged every sentiment of hu-

manity, and earned for themselves an immortality

of infamy never before achieved by the Dakota

nation. The fight lasted about two hours.

We lost in killed four, and about fifty wounded.

The enemy's loss was much larger; fourteen of

their dead were left on the field, and an unknown
number were carried off the field, as the Indians

are accustomed to do.

The battle of Wood Lake put an end to all the

hopes of the renowned chief. His warriors were

in open rebellion against his schemes of warfare

against the whites. He had gained nothing.

Fort Ridgely was not taken. New Ulm was not

in his possession. St. Peter and Mankato were

intact, and at Birch Coolie and Wood Lake he had
suffered defeat. No warrior would longer follow

his fortunes in a war so disastrous. On the same

day of the battle at Wood Lake a deputation from

the Wapeton band appeared under a flag of truce,

asking terms of peace. The response of Colonel

Sibley was a demand for the delivery of all the
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white captives in the possession of these savages.

Wabasha, at the head of fifty lodges, immediately

parted company with Little Crow, and established

a camp near Lao qui Parle, with a view of sur-

rendering his men on the most favorable terms.

A flag of truce announced his action to Colonel

Sibley, -who soon after, under proper military

guard, visited Wabasha's camp. After the formal-

ities of the occasion were over. Colonel Sibley re-

ceived the captives, in all, then and thereafter, to

the number of 107 pure whites, and about 162

half-breeds, and conducted them to his headquar-

ters. The different emotions of these captives at

their release can easily be imagined by the reader.

This place well deserved the name given it, "Camp

Release.''

A MiMTABT Commission was soon after inau-

gurated to try the parties charged with the mur-

der of white persons. The labors of this commis-

sion continued until about the 5th of November,

1862. Three hundred and twenty-one of the sav-

ages and their allies had been found guilty of the

charges preferred against them; three hundred

and three of whom were recommended for capital

punishment, the others to suffer imprisonment.

These were immediately removed, under a guard

of 1,500 men, to South Bend, on the Minnesota

river, to await further orders from the United

States Government.

PoESUiT or thm! Desbetsbs.— A.fter the disaster

met with at Wood Lake, Little Crow retreated,

with those who remained with him, in the direc-

tion of Big Stone Lake, some sixty miles to the

westward. On the 5th of October, Colonel Sibley

had sent a messenger to the principal camp of the

deserters, to inform them that he expected to be

able to pursue and overtake all who remained in

arms against the Government; and that the only

hope of mercy that they need expect, even for

their wives and children, -would be their early re-

turn and surrender at discretion. By the 8th of

October the prisoners who had come in and sur-

rendered amounted to upwards of 2,000. On the

14th of October, Lieutenant Colonel Marshall,

with 252 men, was ordered to go out upon the fron-

tier as a scouting party,,to ascertain whether there

were any hostile camps of savages located within

probable striking distance, from which they might

be able, by sudden marches, to fall upon the set-

tlements before the opening of the campaign in

the coming spring. About this time. Colonel Sib-

ley, hitherto acting under State authority, received

the commission of Brigadier General of Volun-

teers from the United States.

The scouting party under Lieutenant-Colonel

Marshall followed up the line of retreat of the fugi-

tives, and near the edge of the Coteau de Prairie,

about forty-five miles from Camp Eelease, found

two lodges of straggling Indians. The males of

these camps, three young men, were made prison-

ers, and the women and children and an old man
were directed to deliver themselves up at Camp
Belease. From these Indians here captured they

received information of twenty-seven -lodges en-

camped near Chanopa (Two Wood) lakes. Al

these lakes they found no Indians; they had left,

but the trail was followed to the north-west, to-

wards the Big Sioux river. At noon of the 16th,

Lieutenant-Colonel Marshall took -with him fifty

mounted men and the howitzer and' started in pur-

suit, without tents or supplies of any kind, but

leaving the infantry and supply wagons to follo-w

after. They crossed the Big Sioux river, passing

near and on the north side of Lake Kampeska.

By following closely the Indian trail, they ar-

rived at dark at the east end of a lake some six or

eight miles long, and about eight miles in a north-

westwardly direction from Lake Kampeska. Here

they halted, without tents, fire or food, until near

daylight, when reconnoitering commenced, and at

an early hour in the morning they succeeded in

surprising and capturing a camp composed of ten

lodges, and thirteen Indians and their families.

From those captured at this place information was

received of another camp of some twelve or fifteen

lodges, located at the distance of about one day's

march in the direction of James river.

Placing a guard over the captured camp, the re-

maining portion of the force pressed on in the di-

rection indicated, and at the distance of about ten

miles from the first camp, and about midway be

tween the Big Sioux and James rivers they came

in sight of the second party, just as they were

mo-ving out of camp. The Indians attempted to

make their escape by flight, but after an exciting

chase for some distance they were overtaken and

captured, without any armed resistance. Twenty-

one men were taken at this place. Some of them

had separated from the camp previous to the cap-

ture, and were engaged in hunting at the time.

On the return march, which was shortly after com-

menced, six of these followed the detachment, and,

after making inefiectual eSorts to recover their

families, came forward and surrendered themselves
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into our hands The infantry and wagons were

met by the returning party about ten miles west of

the Big Sioux.

The men of this detachment, officers and pri-

vates, evinced to a large degree the bravery and

endurance that characterizes the true soldier.

They willingly and cheerfully pressed on after the

savages, a part of them without food, fire or shel-

ter, and all of them knowing that they were

thereby prolonging the period of their absence

beyond the estimated time, and subjecting them-

selves to the certain necessity of being at least one

or two days without rations of any kind before the

return to Camp Eelease could be eflfeoted.

On the 7th of November, Lieutenant-Colonel

Marshall, with a guard of some fifteen Ijundred

men, started for Fort Snelling in charge of other

captured Indians, comprising the women and

children, and such of the men as were not found

guilty of any heinous crime by the Military Com-

mission, and arrived safely at their destination on

the 18th.

Prom the commencement of hostilities until the

16th day of September the war was carried on

almost entirely from the resources of the State

alone, and some little assistance from our sister

States in the way of arms and ammunition. On
this latter date Major-General John Pope, who had

been appointed by the President of the United

States to take command of the Department of the

North-west, arrived and established his headquar-

ters in the city of St. Paul, in this state. The

principal part of the active service of the season's

campaign had previously been gone through with;

but the forces previously under the command of

of the State authorities were immediately turned

over to his command, and the after-movements

were entirely under his control and direction.

He brought to the aid of the troops raised in

the State the 25th Wisconsin and the 27th Iowa

Regiments, both infantry. These forces were

speedily distributed at different points along the

frontier, and assisted in guarding the settlements

during the autumn, but they were recalled and

sent out of the State before the closing in of the

winter.

It was contemplated to send the 6th and 7th

Eegiments Minnesota Volunteers to take part in

the war against the rebels in the Southern States,

and orders to this effect had already been issued,

but on the 6th of November, in obedience to the

expressed wish of a large portion of the inhab-

itants of the State, these orders vrera counter-

manded. They were directed to remain in the

state, and the 3d Eegiment was ordered off instead.

All the forces then remaining in the state were
assigned to winter quarters at such points as it was
thought expedient to keep guarded during the

winter, and on the 25th of November Major-Gen-
eral Pope removed his headquarters to Madison, in

the State of Wisconsin. Brigadier-General Sib-

ley then remained in the immediate command of

the troops retained in service againat the Indians,

and established his headquarters in the city of

St. Paul.

On the 9th of October the "Mankato Eecord"
thus speaks of this expedition

:

"Considering the many serious disadvantages
under which General Sibley has labored—a defi-

ciency of arms and ammunition, scarcity of pro-

visions, and the total absence of cavalry at a time
when he could have successfully pursued and cap.

tured Little Crow and his followers—the expedi-

tion has been successful beyond the most sanguine
anticipations. Of the three hundred white cap-

tives in the hands of the Indians at the commence-
ment of the war, all, or nearly all, have been
retaken and returned to their friends. Much pri-

vate property has been secured, and some fifteen

hundred Indians, engaged directly or indirectly in

the massacres, have been captured; and those who
have actually stained their hands in the blood of

our frontier settlers are condemned to sufier death.

Their sentence will be carried into execution, un-

less countermanded by authorities at Washington."

CHAPTER XLin.
INDIAN STMPATHIZEBS —MEMOEIAI, TO THE PRESI-
DENT—THE HANGING OP TH/RTT-EIGHT ANNOL-
IiING THE TBBATIB, WITH CERTAIN SIOUX EE-
MOVAI, OF WINNEBAGOES AND SIOUX TO THE UPPER
MISSOURI.

After the campaign of 1862, and the guilty par-
ties were confined at Camp Lincoln, near Mendota,
the idea of executing capitally, three hundred In-

dians, aroused the sympathy of those far removed
from the scenes of their inhuman butcheries.

President Lincoln was importuned, principally by
parties in the East, for the release of these sav-

ages. The voice of the blood of innocence crying
from the ground, the wailings of mothers bereft of

their children was hushed in the tender cry of



252 HISTORY OF THE HIOTJX MASSACRE.

sympathy for the condemned. Even the Christian

ministers, stern ia the belief that, "Whosoever

sheddeth man's blood by man shaU his blood be

shed," seemed now the most zealous for the par-

don of these merciless outla-ws, who, without cause

had shed the blood of innocent women and chil-

dren in a time of peace.

Senator M. S. Wilkinson'and Congressmen 0. Al-

drich and WUHam Windom, made an Urgent ap-

peal to the President for the proper execution of

the sentence in the case of these Indians. From

this appeal the following extract will be sufficient

to indicate its character

:

"The people of Minnesota, Mr. President, have

stood firmly by you and your Administration. They

have given both you and it their cordial support.

~ They have not violated any law. They have borne

these sufferings with patience, such as few people

have ever exhibited under extreme trials. These

Indians now are at their mercy; but our people

have not risen to slaughter, because they believed

their President would deal with them justly.

"We are told, Mr. President, that the committee

from Pennsylvania, whose families are living hap-

pily in their pleasant homes in that state, have

called upon you to pardon these Indians. We
protest against the pardon of these Indians; be-

cause if it ia done, the Indians will become more

insolent and cruel than they ever were before, be-

lieving, as they certainly will, that their Great

Father at Washington either justifies their acts or

is afraid to punish them for their crimes.

•'We protest against it, because, if the President

does not permit the execution to take place under

the forms of law, the outraged people of Minne-

sota will dispose of these wretches without law.

These two people cannot live together. We do

not wish to see mob law inaugurated in Minne-

sota, as it certainly will be, if you force the peo-

ple to it. We tremble at the approach of such

a condition of things in our state.

"You can give us peace, or you can give us law-

less violence. We pray you, as in view of all we
have suffered, and of the danger which still awaits

us, let the law be executed. Let justice be done to

our people."

The press of Minnesota, without a single excep-

tion, insisted that the condemned Indians should

expiate their dreadful crime upon the gallows,

while the Eastern press, with some few exceptions,

gave vent to the deep sympathy of the sentimen-

tal philosophers and the fanciful strains of the im-

aginative poets. It seemed to our Eastern neigh-

bors that Minnesotians, in their contact with sav-

age Ufe, had ceased to appreciate the

* * * "Poor Indian, whose untutored mind
Sees God in clouds, and hears Him in the wind ;"

that they had looked upon the modem race of sav-

ages in their criminal degradation until they had
well-nigh forgotten the renoun of Massasoit, and
his noble sons Alexander and Philip.

But two hundred years never fails to change

somewhat the character and sentiments of a great

people, and blot from its memory something of

its accredited history. This may have happened
in the case of our fellow-kinsmen in the Eastern

and Middle States. They may not now fully enter

into the views and sentiments of those who witness-

ed the outrages of PhiUp and his cruel warriors

in their conspiracies against the infant colonieB;

in their attacks upon Springfield, Hatfield, Lan-

caster, Medfield, Seekong, Groton, Warwick, Marl-

borough, Plymouth, Taunton, ScituatCj Bridge-

water, and Northfield. They seem not fully now
to appreciate the atrocities of the savages

of these olden times. The histoi-ian of the

times of Philip was not so sentimental as some of

later days.

" The town of Springfield received great injury

from their attacks, more than thirty houses being

burned; among the rest one containing a 'brave

library,' the finest in that part of the country,

which belonged to the Bev. Pelatiah Glover."

"This," says Hubbard, "did, more than any
other, discover the said actors to be the children

of the devU, full of all subtilty and malice." And
we of the present can not perceive why the massacre

of innocent women and children should not as

readily discover these Minnesota gavages, under
Little Crow, to be children of the devQ as the

burning of a minister's library two hundred years

ago. Minnesotians lost by these Indians splen-

did, not to say bram libraries; but of this miuor
evil they did not complain, in their demand for the

execution of the condemned murderers.

Indians are the same in all times. Two hun-
dred years have wrought no change upon Indian
character. Had King Philip been powerful
enough, he would have kiUed all the white men
inhabiting the New England Colonies. "Once an
Indian, always an Indian," is fully borne out by
their history during two hundred years' contact

with the white race.

Eastern writers of the early history of the coun-
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try spoke and felt in regard to Indians very much

as Minnesotians now speak and feel. When Weet-

amore, queen of Pooasset, and widow of Alexan-

der, Philip's eldest brother, in attempting to es-

cape from the pursuit of Captain Church, had lost

her Ufe, her head was out off by those who discov-

ered her, and fixed upon a pole at Taunton! Here,

being discovered by some of her loving subjects,

then in captivity, their unrestrained grief at the

shocking sight is characterized by Mather as "a

most horrid and diabolical lamentation!" Have

Minnesotians exhibited a more unfeeling senti-

ment than this, even against condemned murder-

ers? Mather lived, it is true, amid scenes of In-

dian barbarity. Had he lived in the present day

and witnessed these revolting cruelties, he would

have said with Colonel H. H. Sibley, "My heart

is steeled against them." But those who witness-

ed the late massacre could truly say, in the lan-

guage of an Eastern poet,

" All died—the wailing babe—the shrieking maid—
And ID the flood of lire that Bcathed the glade,

The roofs went down I"

Early in December, 1862, while the final decis-

ion of the President was delayed, the valley towns

of Minnesota, led ofi^ by the city of St. Paid, held

primary meetings, addressed by the most intelli-

gent speakers of the different localities. An ex-

tract from a memorial of one of the assemblages

of the people is given as a sample of others of

similar import. The extract quoted is from the

St. Paul meeting, drawn up by George A. Nourse,

United States District Attorney for the District

of Minnesota:

"To the President o£ the United States: We,

the citizens of St. Paul, in the State of Minnesota,

respectfully represent that we have heard, with

regret and alarm, through the public press, reports

of an intention on the part of the United States

Government to dismiss without punishment the

Sioux warriors captured by our soldiers; and fur-

ther, to allow the several tribes of Indians lately

located upon reservations within this State to re-

main upon the reservations.

"Against any such policy we respectfully but

firmly protest. The history of this continent pre-

sents no event that can compare with the late Sioux

outbreak in wanton, unprovoked, and fiendish

cruelty. All that we have heard of Indian warfare

in the early history of this country ia tame in

contrast with the atrocities of this late massacre.

Without warning, in cold blood, beginning with '

the murder of their best friends, the whole body

of the Annuity Sioux commenced a deliberate

scheme to exterminate every white person upon the

land once occupied by them, and by them long

since sold to the United States. In carrying out

this bloody scheme they have spared neither age

aox sex, only reserving, for the gratification of

their brutal lust, the few white women whom the

rifle, the tomahawk and the scalping-knife spared.

Nor did their fiendish barbarities cease with

death, as the mutilated corpses of. their victims,

disemboweled, cut limb from limb, or chopped

into fragments, will testify. These cruelties, too,

were in many cases preceded by a pretense of

friendship; and in many instances the victims of

these more than murderers were shot down in cold

blood as soon as their backs were turned, after a

cordial shaking of the hand and loud professions

of friendship on the part of the murderers.

"We ask that the same judgment should be

passed and executed upon these deliberate mur-

derers, these ravishers, these mutilators of their

murdered victims, that would be passed upon

white men guilfcy of the same offense. The blood

of hundreds of our murdered and mangled fellow-

citizens cries from the ground for vengeance.

'Vengeance is mine; I will repay, saith the Lord;'

and the authorities of the United States are, we
believe, the chosen instruments to execute that

vengeance. Let them not neglect their plain duty.

"Nor do we ask alone for vengeance. We de-

mand security for the future. There can be no

safety for us or for our families unless an example

shall be made of those who have committed the

horrible murders and jDarbarities we have recited.

Let it be once understood that these Indians can

commit such crimes, and be pardoned upon sur-

rendering themselves, and there is henceforth a

torch for every white man's dwelling, a knife for

every white man's heart upon our frontier.

"Nor will even the most rigorous punishment

give perfect security against these Indians so long

as any of them are left among, or in the vicinity

of our border settlements. The Indian's nature

can no more be trusted than the wolf's. Tame
him, cultivate him, strive to Christianize him as

you wiU, and the sight of blood will in an instant

call oat the savage, wolfish, devilish instincts of

the race. It is notorious that among the earliest

and most murderous of the Sioux, in perpetrating

their late massacre, were many of the 'civilized

Indians,' so called, with their hair cut short, wear-
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ing white men's clothes, and dwelling in brick

houses built for them by the Government.

"We respectfully ask, we demand that the cap-

tive Indians now in the hands of our military

forces, proved before a military commission to be

guilty of murder, and even worse crimes, shall re-

ceive the punishment due those crimes. This, too,

not merely as a matter of vengeance, but much

more as a matter of future security for our border

settlers.

"We ask, further, that these savages, proved to

be treacherous, unreliable, and dangerous beyond

example, may be removed from close proximity to

our settlements, to such distance and such isola-

tion as shall make the people of this State safe

from their future attacks."

DISAPPOINTMENT OS THE PEOPLE IN MINNESOTA..

The final decision of the President, on the 1 7th

of December, 1862, ordering the execution of thir-

ty-nine of the three hundred condemned murderers,

disappointed the people of Minnesota. These

thirty-nine were to be hung on Friday, the 26th

of December.

It was not strange that the people of Minnesota

were disappointed. How had New England looked

upon her Indian captives in her early history ?

Her history says

:

" King Philip was hiinted lUte a wild beast, his

body quartered and set on poles, his head exposed

as a trophy for twtn'^y years on a gibbet, in

Plymouth, and one of his hands sent tb Boston;

then the ministers returned thanks, and one said

that they had played a bullet into Philip's heart.

In 1677, on a Sunday, in Marblehead, the women,

as they came out of the meeting-house, fell upon

two Indians that had been brought in as cantives,

and, in a very tumultuous way, murdered them, in

revenge for the death of some fishermen."

These Puritan ideas have greatly relaxed in the

descendants of the primitive stock. But, as the

sepulohers of the fathers are garnished by their

children as an indorsement of their deeds, shall we

not hope that those who ha e in this way given

evidence of their paternity will find some pallia-

tion for a people who have sinned in the similitude

of their fathers?

On the 24th of December, at the request of the

citizens of Manli;ato of a previous date. Colonel

Miller, (Ex-Governor Stephen Miller, whose death

at Worthington, Minn., took place in August,

1881), in order to secure the public peace, declared

martial law over all the territory within a circle of

ten miles of the place of the intended execution.

On Monday, the 21st, the thirty-nine had been

removed to apartments separate and distinct fx'om

the other Indians, and the death-warrant was made
known to them through an interpreter—the Kev.

Mr. Eiggs, one of the Sioux missionaries. Through

the interpreter. Colonel Miller addressed the pris-

oners in substance, as follows:

" The commanding ofiioer at this place has called

to speak to you upon a .very serious subject thit

afternoon. Your Great Father at Washington,

after carefully reading what the witnesses have

testified in your several trials, has come to the con-

clusion that you have each been guilty of wantonlj

and wickedly murdering his white children; and,

for this reason, he has directed that you each be

hanged by the neck until you are dead, on next

Friday, and that order will be carried into effect on

that day at ten o'clock in the forenoon.

" Good ministers, both Catholic and Protestant,

are here, from among whom each of you can se-

lect your spiritual adviser, who will be permitted

to commune with you constantly during the few

days that you are yet to live."

Adjutant Arnold was then instructed to read to

them in English the letter of President Lincoln,

which, in substance, stated the number and names

of those condemned for execution, which letter

was also read by Rev. B. R. Riggs, in Dakota.

The Colonel further instructed Mr. Eiggs to tell

them that they had so sinned against their fellow-

men that there is no hope of clemency except in

the mercy of God through the merits of the

Blessed Redeemer, and that he earnestly exhorted

them to apply to Him as their only remaining

source of consolation.

The number condemned was forty, but one died

before the day fixed for the execution, and one,

Henry Milord, a half breed, had his sentence com-

muted to imprisonment for life in the penitentiary;

so that thirty-eight only were hung.

On the 16th of February, 1863, the treaties be-

fore that time existing between the United States

and these annuity Indians were abrogated and an-

nulled, and all lands and rights of occupancy

within the state of Minnesota, and all annuities

and claims then existing in favor of said Indians

were declared forfeited to the United States.

These Indians, in the language of' the act, had,

m the year 1862, "made unprovoked aggression

and most savage war upon the United States, and
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massacred a large number of men, women and

children -within the state ot Minnesota;" and as

in this war and massacre they had "destroyed and

damaged a large amount of property, and thereby

forfeited all just claims" to their "monies and an-

nuities to the United States," the act provides that

"two-thirds ot the balance remaining unexpended"

of their annuities for the fiscal year, not exceeding

one hundred thousand dollars, and the further sum

of one hundred thousand dollars, being two-thirds

of the annuities becoming due, and payable during

the next fiscal year, should be appropriated and

paid over to three commissioners appointed by the

President, to be by them apportioned among the

heads of families, or their survivors, who suffered

damage by the depredations of said Indians, or

the troops of the United States in the war against

them, not exceeding the sum of two hundred dol-

lars to any ofie family, nor more than actual dam-

age sustaiued. All claims for damages were re-

quired, by the act, to be presented at certain

times, and according to the rules prescribed by

the coimnissioners, who should hold their first ses-

sion at St. Peter, in the state of Minnesota, on or

before the first Monday of April, and make

and return their finding, and all the papers re-

lating thereto, on or before the first Monday in

December, 1863.

The President appointed for this duty, and

with the advice and consent of the Senate, the

Hons. Albert S. White, of the state of Indiana,

. Eli E. Chase, of 'Wiscousiii, and Cyrus Aldrich, of

Minnesota.

The duties of this board were so vigorously

prosecuted, that, by the Ist of November following

their appointment, some twenty thousand sheets

of legal cap paper had been consumed in reducing

to writing the testimony under the law requiring

the commissioners to report the testimony in

writing, and proper decisions made requisite to the

payment of the two hundred dollars to that class

of sufferers designated by the act of Congress.

Such dispatch in Government agents gives abund-

ant evidence of national vigor and integrity.

It was, no doubt, the object of this act of Con-

gress to make such an appropriation as would re-

lieve the sufferings of those who had lost all pres-

ent means of support, and for the further purpose

of ascertaining the whole amonut of claims for

damages as a necessary pre-requisite to future leg-

islation. Eegarded in this light, the act is one of

wisdom and economy.

On the 21st of February following the annulling

ot the treaty with the Sioux above named. Con-

gress passed "An act for the removal of the Win-

nebago Indians, and the sale of their reservation

in Minnesota for their benefit." The money aris-

ing from the sale of their lands, after paying

their indebtedness, is to be paid into the treasury

of the United States, and expended, as the same is

received, under the direction of the Secretary of

the Interior, in necessary improvements upon their

new reservation. The lands in the new reservation

are to be allotted in severalty, not exceeding eighty

acres to each head of a family, except to the chiefs,

to whom larger allottments may be made, to be

vested by patent in the Indian and his heirs, with-

out the right of alienation.

These several acts of the General Government
moderated to some extent the demand of the peo-

ple for the execution of the condemned Sioux yet

in the military prison at Mankato awaiting the

final decision of the President. The removal of

the Indians from the bprders of Minnesota, and
the opening up for settlement of over a million

of acres of superior land, was a prospective ben-

efit to the State of immense value, both in its do-

mestic quiet and its rapid advancement in material

wealth.

In pursuance of the acts of Congress, on the

22d of April, and for the purpose of carrying

them into execution, the condemned Indians were
first taken from the State, on board the steamboat
Favorite, carried down the Mississippi, and con-

fined at Davenport, in the state of Iowa, where
they remained, with only such privileges as are

allowed to convicts in the penitentiary.

On the 4th of May, A. D. 1863, at six o'clock in

the afternoon, certain others of the Sioux Indians
squaws and pappooses, in all about seventeen hun-
dred, left Fort Snelling, on board the steamboat
Davenport, for their new reservation on the Upper
Missouri, above Fort Eandall, accompanied by a
strong guard of soldiers, and attended by certain

of the missionaries and employes, the whole being
under the general direction of Superintendent
Clark W. Thompson. By these two shipments,

some two thousand Sioux had been taken from the
State and removed far from the borders of Minne-
sota. The expedition of 1863, fitted out against
the scattered bands of the Sioux yet remaining on
the borders of the State, or still further removed
into the Dakota Territory, gave to the border set-

tlements some assurance of protection and secmity
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against any further disturbance from these partic-

ular bands of Indians.

•DEATH OP LITTLE OEOW.

On Friday evening, July 3, 1863, Mr. Lampson

and his son Ohauncey, while travehng along the

road, about six miles north of Hutchinson, discov-

ered two Indians in a little prairie opening in the

woods, interspersed with clumps of bushes and

vines and a few scattering poplars, picking berries.

These two Indians were Little Grow and his son

Wowinapa.

STATEMENT BY HIS SON.

"lam the son of Little Crow; my name is "Wo-

winapa; I am sixteen years old; my father had

two wives before he took my mother; the first one

had one son, the second one a son and daughter;

the third wife was my mother. After taking my
mother he put away the first two; he had seven

children by my mother—six are dead; I am the

only one living now; the fourth wife had four

children bom ; do not know whether any died or

not; two were boys and three were girls; the fifth

wife had five children—three of them are dead,

two are living ; the sixth wife had three children;

all of them are dead; the oldest was a boy, the

olher two were girls; the last four wives were

sisters.

"Father went to St. Joseph last spring. When

we were coming back he said he could not fight

the white men, but would go below and steal horses

from them, and give them to his children, so that

they could be comfortable, and then he would go

away off.

"Father also told me that he was getting old,

and wanted me to go with him to carry his bun-

dles. He left his wives and his other children be-

hind. There were sixteen men and one squaw in

the party that went below with us. We had no

horses, but walked all the way down to the settle-

ments. Father and I were picking red-berries,

near Scattered Lake, at the time he was shot. It

was near night. He was hit the first time in the

side, just above the hip. His gun and mine were

lying on the ground. He took up my gun and

fired it first, and then fired his own. He was shot

the second time when he was firing his own gun.

The ball struck the stock of his gun, and then hit

him in the side, near the shoulder. This was the

shot that killed him. He told me that he was

killed, and asked me for water, which I gave him.

He died immediately after. When I heard the

first shot fired I laid down, and the man did not

see me before father was killed.

"A short time before father was killed an Indian

named Hiuka, who married the daughter of my
father's second wife, came to him. He had a

horse with him—also a gray-colored coat that he

had taken from a man that he had kiUed to the

north of where father was killed. He gave the

coat to father, telling him he might need it when

it rained, as ho had no coat with him. Hiuka said

he had a horse now, and was going back to the

Indian country.

"The Indians that went down with us separated.

Eight of them and the squaw went north; the

other eight went further down. I have not set n

any of them since. After father was killed I took

both guns and the ammunition and started to go

to Devil's Lake, where I expected to find some of

my friends. When I got to Beaver creek I saw

the tracks of two Indians, and at Standing

Buffalo's village saw where the eight Indians that

had gone north had crossed.

"I carried both guns as far as the Sheyenne

river, where I saw two men- I was soared, and

threw my gun and the ammunition down. After

that I traveled only, in the night; and, as I had no

ammunition to kill anything to eat, I had not

strength enough to travel fast. I' went on until I

arrived near Devil's Lake, when I staid in one place

three days, being so weak and hungry that I

could go no further. I had picked up a cartridge

near Big Stone Lake, which I still had with me,

and loaded father's gun with it, cutting, the ball

into slugs. With this charge I shot a wolf, ate

some of it, which gave me strength to travel, and

went on up the lake until the day I was captured,

which was twenty-six days from the day my
father was killed."

Here ends this wonderful episode in our contact

with the Indian race in Minnesota. It commenced

with Little Crow, in this instance, and it is proper

that it should end with his inglorious life. With

the best means for becoming an exponent of In-

dian civilization on this continent, he has driven

the missionaries from his people and become a

standing example of the assertion: "Once an In-

dian always an Indian."

Little Crow has indeed given emphasis to the

aphorism of Ferdousi, "For that which is unclean

by nature, thou cans't entertain no hope; no wash-

ing wiU make the gypsy white."
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CHRONOLOGY.

CHAPTER XLIV.

PRINOIPAI/ EVENTS CHEONOiOQIOALLT ARRANGED.

1659. Groselliers (Gro-zay-yay) and Eadisson

visit Minnesota.

1661. Menard, a Jesuit missionary, ascends

the Mississippi, according to Herrot, twelve years

before Marquette saw this river.

1665. Allouez, a Jesuit, visited the Minnesota

shore of Lake Superior.

1679. Du Luth planted the arms of France,

one hundred and twenty leagues beyond MiUe

Lacs.

1680. Du Luth, the first to travel in a canoe

from Lake Superior, by way of the St. Croix river,

to the Mississippi. Descending the Mississippi,

he writes to Signelay, 1683 : "I proceeded in a

canoe two days and two nights, and the next day,

at ten o'clock in the morning, found Aecoult,

Augelle, and Father Hennepin, with a, hunting

party ot Sioux." He writes: "The want of respect

which they showed to the said Eeverend Father

provoked me, and this I showed them, telling

them he was my brother, and I had placed him in

my canoe to come with me into the villages of said

Nadouecioux." In September, Du Luth and Hen-

nepin were at the Falls of St. Anthony on their

way to Mackinaw.

1683. Perrot and Le Sueur visit Lake Pepin.

Parrot, with twenty men, builds a stockade at the

base of a bluff, upon the east bank, just above the

entrance of Lake Pepia.

1688. Perrot re-occupies the post on Lake

Pepin.

1689. Perrot, at Green Bay, makes a formal

record of taking possession of the Sioux country

in the name of the king of France

17

1693. Le Sueur at the extremity ot Lake Su-

perior.

1694. Le Sueur builds a post, on a prairie

island in the Mississippi, about nine miles below

Hastings.

1695. Le Sueur brings the first Sioux chiefs

who visit Canada.

1700. Le Sueur ascends the Minnesota River.

Fort L'Huillier built on a tributary of the Blue

Earth River.

1702: Fort L'Huillier abandoned.

,

1727. Fort Beauhamois, in the fall of this

year, erected in sight of Maiden's Rook, Lake

Pepin, by La Perriere du Boucher.

1728. Verendrye stationed at Lake Nepigon.

1731. Verendrj^e'a sons reach Rainy Lake.

Fort St. Pierre erected at Rainy Lake.

1732. Fort St. Charles erected at the south-

west corner of the Lake of the Woods.

1734. Fort Maurepas established on Winnipeg

River.

1736. Verendrye's sons and others massacred

by the Sioux on an isle in the Lake of the Woods.

1738. Lort La Eeine on the Red River estab-

lished.

1743. Verendrye's sons reach the Rocky Moun-

tains.

1766. Jonathan Carver, on November 17th,

reitches the Falls of St. Anthony.

1794. Sandy Lake occupied by the Northwest

Company.

1802. William Morrison trades at Leach Lake.

1804. William Morrison trades at Elk Lake,

now Itasca.

1805. Lieutenant Z. M. Pike purchases the

site since occupied by Fort SnelUng.

1817. Earl of Selkirk passes through Minne-
sota for Lake Winnipeg.
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Major Stephen H. Long, U. S. A., visits Falls

of St. Anthony.

1818. Dakotah war party under Black Dog

attack Ojibways on the Pomme de Terre Biver.

1819. Ool. Leavenworth arrives on the 24th of

August, with troops at Mendota.

1820. J. B. Faribault brings up to Mendota,

horses for Col. Leavenworth.

Laidlow, superintendent of farming for Earl Sel-

kirk, passes from Pembina to Prairie du Ohien to

purchase seed wheat. Upon the 15th of April,

left Prairie du Ohien with Mackinaw boats and

ascended the Minnesota to Big Stone Lake, where

the boats were placed on rollers and dragged a

short distance to Lake Traverse, and on the 3d of

June reached Pembina.

On the 5th of May, Ool. Leavenworth estab-

lished summer quarters at Oamp Coldwater, Hen-

nepin county.

Li July, Governor Oass, of Michigan, visits the

camp.

In August, Ool. Snelling succeeds Leavenworth.

September 20th, corner-stone laid under com-

mand of Ool. Snelling.

First white marriage in Minnesota, Lieutenant

Green to daughter of Captain Gooding.

First white child born in Minnesota, daughter

to Col. Snelling; died following year.

1821. Fort St. Anthony was sufficiently com-

pleted to be occupied by troops.

Mill at St. Anthony Falls constructed for the

use of garrison, under the supervision of Lieuten-

ant McCabe.

1822. Col. Dickson attempted to take a drove

of cattle to Pembina.

1823. The first steamboat, the Virginia, on

May 10th, arrived at the mouth of the Minnesota

river.

Mill stones for grinding flour sent to St. An-

thony Falls.

Major Long, U. S. A., visits the northern bound-

ary by way of the Minnesota and Eed Eiver.

Beltrami, the Italian traveler, explores the

northernmost source of the Mississippi.

1824. General Winfield Scott inspects Fort

St. Anthony, and at his suggestion the War De-

partment changed the name to Fort Snelling.

1825. April 5th, steamboat Eufus Putnam

reaches the Fort. May, steamboat Rufus Putnam
arrives again and delivers freight at Land's End
trading post on the Minnesota, about a mile above
the Fort.

1826. January 26th, first mail in five months

received at the Fort.

Deep snow during February and March.

March 20th, snow from twelve to eighteen inches.

April 5th, snow-storm with flashes of lightning.

April 10th, thermometer (our degrees above zero.

April 21st, ice began to move in the river at the

Fort, and with Jiwenty feet above low water mark.

May 2d, first steamboat of the season, the Law-

rence, Captain Eeeder, took a pleasure party to

within three miles of the Falls of St. Anthony.

1826. Dakotahs kill an Ojibway near Fort

Snelling.

1827. Flat Mouth's party of Ojibways attacked

at Fort Snelling, and Sioux delivered by Colonel

Snelling to be killed by Ojibways, and their bodies

thrown over the blufif into the river.

General Gaines inspects Fort Snelling.

Troops of the Fifth Eegiment relieved by those

of the First.

1828. Colonel Snelling dies in Washington.

1829. Eev. Alvin Ooe and J. D. Stevens, Pres-

byterian missionaries, visit the Indians around

Fort SnelUng.

Major Taliaferro, Indian agent, establishes a

farm for the benefit of the Indians at Lake Cal-

houn, which he called Eatonville, after the Secre-

tary of War.

Winter, Spring and Summer very dry. One

inch was the average monthly fall of rain or snow

for ten months. Vegetation more backward than

it had been for ten years.

1830. August 14th, a sentinel at Fort Snelling,

just before daylight, discovered the Indian council

house on fire. Wa-pa-sha's son-in-law was the

incendiary.

1831. August 17th, an old trader Eocque, and

his son arrived at Fort Snelling from Prairie du

Ohien, having been twenty-six days on the journey.

Under the influence of whisky or stupidity, they

ascended the St. Croix by mistake, and were lost

for fifteen days.

1832. May 12th, steamboat Versailles arrives

at Fort Snelling.

June 16th, William Carr arrives from Missouri

at Fort Snelling, with a drove of cattle and horses.

Henry E. Schoolcraft explores the sources of

the Mississippi.

1833. Eev. W. T. Boutwell establishes a mission

among the Ojibways at Leech Lake.

E. F. Ely opens a mission" school for Ojibways
at Aitkin's trading post, Sandy Lake.
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1834. May. Samuel W. and Gideon H. Pond

arrive at Lake Calhoun as missionaries among the

Sioux.

November. Henry H. Sibley arrives at Mendota

as agent of Fur Company.

1835. May. Eev. T. S. Williamson and J. D.

Stevens arrive as Sioux missionaries, with Alex-

ander G. Huggins as lay- assistant.

Jane. Presbyterian Church at Fort Snelling

organized.

July Slat. A Bed River train arrives at Fort

Snelling with fifty or sixty head of cattle, and

about twenty-five horses.

Major J. L. Bean surveys the Sioux and Chip-

peway boundary line under treaty of 1825, as far

as Otter Tail Lake.

November. Col. S. C. Btambaugh arrives; is

sutler at Fort Snelling.

1836. May 6th, "Missouri Fulton," first steam-

boat, arrives at Fort Snelling.

May 29th. "Frontier," Oapt. Harris, arrives.

June Ist. "Palmyra" arrives.

July 2d. "Saint Peters" arrives with J. N.

Nicollet as passenger.

July 30. Sacs and Foxes kill twenty-four

Winnebagoes on Root Eiver.

1837. Eev. Stephen R. Biggs and wife join

Lake Harriet Mission.

Eev. A. Branson and David King establish

Kaposia Mission.

Commissioners Dodge and Smith at Fort Snel-

ling make a treaty with the Chippeways to cede

lands east of the Mississippi.

Franklin Steele and others make claims at Falls

of St. Croix and St. Anthony. '

September 29th. Sioux chiefs at Washington

sign a treaty.

November 10th. Steamboat Eolla alrives at

Fort Snelling with the Sioux on their return from

Washington.

December 12th. Jeremiah EusseU and L. W.
Stratton make the first claim at Marine, in St.

Croix valley.

1838. April, Hole-in-the-Day and party kill

thirteen of the Lac-qui-parle Sioux. Martin Mo-
Leod from Pembina, after twenty-eight days of

exposure to snow, reaches Lake Traverse.

May 25th, Steamboat Burlington arrives at Fort

SneHing with J. N. Nicollet and J. 0. Fremont on
a scientific expedition.

June 14th, Marryat, the British novelist, Frank-

lin Steele and others rode from the Fort to view

FaUs of St. Anthony.

July 12th, steamboat Palmyra arrives at Fort

Snelling with an ofBcial notice of the ratification

of treaty. Men arrived to develop the St. Croix

Valley.

August 2d, Hole-in the-Day encamped with a

party of ChippeAvays near Fort Snelling, and was

attacked by Sioux from Mud Lake, and one killed

and another wounded.

August 27th, Steamboat Ariel arrives with com-

missioners Pease and Ewing to examine half-breed

claims.

September 30th, steamboat Ariel makes the first

trip up the St. Croix river.

October 26th, steamboat Gypsy first to arrive at

Falls of St. Croix with annuity goods for the

Chippeways. In passing through Lake St. Croix

grounded near the townsite laid out by S. C.

Stambaugh and called StambaughvUle.

1839. April 14th, the first steamboat at Fort

Snelling, the Ariel, Capt. Lyon.

Henry M. Bice arrives at Fort Snelling.

May 2d, Eev. E. G. Gear, of the Protestant

Episcopal church, recently appointed chaplain, ar-

rived at Fort Snelling in the steamboat Gipsy.

May 12th, steamboat Fayette arrives on the St'

Croix, having been at Fort Snelling, with members
of Marine Mill Company.

May 21st, the Glancus, Gapt. Atchinson, arrives

at Port Snelling.

June 1st, the Pennsylvania, Capt. Stone, arrives

at Fort Snelling.

June 5th, the Glancus arrives again.

June 6th, the Ariel arrives.

June 12th, at Lake Harriet mission, Eev. D.

Gavin, Swiss missionary among the Sioux at Bed
Wing, was married to Cordelia Stevens, teacher at

Lake Harriet mission.

June 25th, steamboat "Knickerbocker," arrived

at Fort Snelling.

June 26th, steamboat Ariel, on third trip.

June 27th, a train of Bed Eiver carts, under

Mr. Sinclair, with emigrants, who encamped near

the fort.

July 2d, Chippeways killed a Sioux of Lake Cal-

houn band.

July 3d, Sioux attack Chippeways in ravine

above Stillwater.

1840. April, Eev. Lucian Galtier, of the Roman
Catholic church, arrives at Mendota.
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May 6th, squatters removed on military reser-

vation.

June 15th, Thomas Simpson, Artie explorer,

shoots himself near Turtle Eiver, under aberration

of the mind.

June 17th, four Ohippeways kill and scalp a

Sioux man and woman.

1841. March 6th, wild geese appeared at the

fort.

March 20th, Mississippi opened.

April 6th, steamboat Otter, Oapt. Harris, arrived.

Kaboka, an old chief of Lake Calhoun band, killed

by Chippeways.

May 2ith, Sioux attack Chippeways at Lake

Pokeguma, of Snake river. Methodist mission

moved from Kaposia to Bed Bock, Eev. B. P.

Kavenangh, snperintendent.

November 1st, Father Galtier completes the log

chapel of St. Paul, which gave the name to the

capital of Minnesota. Eev. Augustin Eavoux ar-

rives.

1842. July, the Chippeways attack the Kapo-

sia Sioux.

1843. Stillwater laid out. Ayer, Spenoe:- and

Ely establish a Chippeway mission at Bed lake.

July 15th, Thomas Longly, brother-in-law of

Eev. 8. E. Eiggs, drowned at Traverse des Sioux

mission station.

1844. August, Captain Allen with fifty dra-

goons marches from' Fort Des Moines through

southwestern Minnesota, and on the 10th of Sep-

tember reaches the Big Sioux Eiver. Sisseton war

party kill an American named Watson, driving

cattle to Fort Snelling.

1845. June 25th, Captain Sumner reaches

Traverse des Sioux, and proceeding northward

arrested three of the murderers of Watson.

1846. Dr. Williamson, Sioux missionary, moves

from Lac-qui-parle to Kaposia. March 31st,

steamboat Lynx, Capt. Atchinson, arrives at Fort

Snelling.

1847. St. Croix county, Wisconsin, organized.

Stillwater the county seat. Harriet E. Bishop

establishes a school at St. Paul. Saw-mills begun

at St. Anthony Palls.

August, Commissioner Verplanck and Henry M.

Eice make treaties with the Chippeways at Pond

du Lac and Leech Lake. The town of St. Paul

surveyed, platted, and recorded in the St. Croix

county Eegister of Deeds oflBce.

1848. Henry H. Sibley Delegate to Congress

from Wisconsin territory.

May 29th, Wisconsin admitted, leaving Minne-

sota (with its present boundaries) without a gov-

ernment.

August 26th, "Stillwater convention" held to

take measures for a separate territorial organiza-

tion.

October 30th, H. H. Sibley, elected Delegate to

Congress.

1849. March, act of Congress creating Minne-

sota Territory.

April 9th, Highland Mary, Capt. Atchinson, ar-

rives at St. Paul.

April 18th, James M. Goodhue arrives at St.

Paul with first newspaper press.

May 27th, Gov. Alexander Eamsey arrives at

Mendota.

June 1st, Gov. Eamsey issues proclamation de-

claring the territory duly organized.

August 1st, H. H. Sibley elected Delegate to

Congress from Blinnesota.

September 3d, first Tjegislature convened.

November, First Presbyterian church, St. Paul,

organized.

December, first literary address at Falls of St.

Anthony.

1850. January 1st, Historical Society meeting.

June 11th, Indian council at Fort Snelling.

June 14th, steamer Governor Eamsey makes

first trip above Falls of St. Anthony.

June 26th, the Anthony Wayne reaches the

Falls of St. Anthony.

July 18th, steamboat Anthony Wayne ascends

the Minnesota to the vicinity of Traverse des

Sioux.

July 25th, steamboat Yankee goes beyond Blue

Earth Eiver.

September, H. H. Sibley elected Delegate to

Congress.

October, Fredrika Bremer, Swedish noveUst

visits Minnesota.

November, the Dakotah Friend, a monthly pa-

per appeared.

December, Colonel D. A. Eobertson establishes

Minnesota Democrat.

December 26th, first public Thanksgiving Day.

1851. May, St. Anthony Express newspaper

begins its career.

July, treaty concluded with the Sioux at Tra-

verse des Sioux.

July, Eev. Eobert Hopkins, Sioux missionary

drowned.
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August, treaty concluded with the Sioux at

Mankato.

September I9tb, the Mirmesotian, of St. Paul,

edited by J. P. Owens, appeared.

November, Jerome Fuller, Chief Justice in place

of Aaron Goodrich, arrives.

December 18th, Thanksgiving Day.

1852. Hennepin county created.

February 14th, Dr. Kae, Arctic explorer, arrives

at St. Paul with dog train.

May 14th, land slide at Stillwater.

August, James M. Goodhue, pioneer editor, dies.

November, Yuhazee, an Indian, convicted of

murder.

1853. April 27th, Chippewas and Sioux fight

in streets of St. Paul. Go7ernor Willis A. Gor-

man succeeds Governor Bamsey.

October, Henry M. Rice elected delegate to con-

gress. The capitol building completed.

1854. March 3d, Presbyterian mission house

near Lac-quf-parle burned.

June 8th, great excursion from Chicago to St.

Paul and St. Anthony Falls.

December 27th, Yuhazee, the Indian, hung at

St. Paul.

1855. January', first bridge over Mississippi

completed at Palls of St. Anthony.

October, H. M. Bice re-elected to Congress.

December 12, James Stewart arrives in St. Paul

direct from Arctic regions, with relics of Sir John

Franklin.

1856. Erection of State University building

was begun.

1857. Congress passes an act authorizing peo-

ple of Minnesota to vote for a constitution.

March. Inkpadootah slaughters settlers in

southwest Minnesota.

Governor Samuel Medary succeeds Governor W.
A. Gorman.

March 5th. Land-grant by congress for rail-

ways.

April 27th. Special session of legislature con-

venes.

July. On second Monday convention to form

a constitution assembles at Capitol.

October 13th. Election for State officers, and

ratifying of the constitution.

H. H. Sibley first governor under the State con-

stitution.

December. On first Wednesday, first State

legislature assembles.

December. Henry M. Bice and James Shields

elected United States senators.

1858, April 15th. People approve act of legis-

lature loaning the public credit for five millions of

dollars to certain railway companies.

May 11th. Minnesota becomes one of the

United States of America.

June 2d. Adjourned meeting of legislature

held.

November. Supreme court of State orders Gov-

ernor Sibley to issue Eailroad bonds.

1859. Normal school law passed.

June. Burbank and Company place the first

steamboart on Bed Eiver of the North.

August. Bishop T. L. Grace arrived in St.

Paul.

1859. October 11th, State election, Alexander

Bamsey chosen governor. •

1860. March 23d, Anna Bilanski hung at St.

Paul for the murder of her husband, the first white

person executed in Minnesota.

1861. April 14th, Governor Bamsey calls upon

President in Washington and offers a regiment of

volunteers.

June 21st, First Minnesota Begiment, Col. W.
A. Gorman, leaves for Washington.

July 21st, First Minnesota in battle of Bull

Bun.

October 13th, Second Minnesota Infantry, Col.

H. P. Van.Cleve, leaves Fort Snelling.

November 16th, Third Minnesota Infantry, H.

C. Lester, go to seat of war.

1862. January 19th, Second Minnesota in bat-

tle at Mill Spring, Kentucky.

April 6th. First Minnesota Battery, Captain

Munch, at Pittsburg Landing.

April 21st, Second Minnesota Battery goes to

seat of war.

April 21st, Fourth Minnesota Infantry Volun-

teers. Col. J. B. Sanborn, leaves Fort Snelling.

May 13th, Fifth Begiment Volunteers, Col. Eor-

gensrode, leaves for the seat of war.

May 28th, Second, Fourth, and Fifth in battle

near Corinth, Mississippi.

May Slst, First Minnesota in battle at Fair

Oaks, Virginia.

June 29th, First Minnesota in battle at Savage

Station.

June 30th, First Minnesota in battle near.Wil-
lis' Church.

July 1st, First Minnesota in battle at Malvern
Hill.
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August, Sixth Begiment, Ool. Crooks, organized.

August, Seventh Kegiment, Ool. Miller, organ-

ized.

August, Eighth Eegiment, Col, Thomas, organ-

ized.

August, Ninth Kegiment, Col. Wilkiii, organ-

ized.

August 18th, Sioux attack whites at lower

Sioux Agency.

September 23d, Col. Sibley defeats Sioux at

Mud Lake.

December 26th, Thirty-eight Sioux executed on

the same scaffold at Mankato.

1863. January, Alexander Eamsey elected

United States Senator.

May 14th, Fourth and Fifth Begiment in battle

near Jackson, Mississippi.

July 2d, First Minnesota Infantry in battle at

Gettysburg, Pennsylvania.

September 19 th, Second Minnesota Infantry en-

gaged at Chiokamauga, Tennessee.

November 23d, Second Minnesota Infantry en-

gaged at Mission Bidge.

1864. January, Col. Stephen Miller inaugur-

ated Governor of Minnesota.

March 30th; Third Minnesota Infantry engaged

at Fitzhugh's Wooods.

June 6th, Fifth Minnesota Infantry engaged at

Lake Chicot, Arkansas.

July 13th, Seventh, Ninth, and Tenth, with por-

tion of the Fifth Minnesota Infantry, engaged at

Tupelo, Mississippi.

July 14th, Col. Alex. Wilkin, of the Ninth,

killed.

October 15th, Fourth Kegiment engaged near

Altoona, Georgia.

December 7th, Eighth Eegiment engaged near

Murfreesboro, Tennessee.

Fifth, Seventh, Ninth, and Tenth Begiments at

Nashville, Tennessee.

1865. January 10th, Daniel S. Norton, elected

United States Senator.

April 9th, Fifth, Sixth, ' Seventh, Ninth, and

Tenth at the siege of Mobile.

November 10th, Shakpedan, Sioux chief, and

Medicine Bottle executed at Fort Snelling.

1866. January 8th, Col. William B. Marshall

inaugurated Governor of Minnesota.

1867. Preparatory department of the State
University opened.

1868. January, Governor Marshall enters upon
second term.

1869. Bill passed by legislature, removing sea

of Government to spot near Big Kandiyohi Lake
—^vetoed by Governor Marshall.

1870. January 7th, Horace Austin inaugurated

as Governor.

1871. .January, Wm. Windom elected United

States Senator. In the fall destructive fires, oc-

casioned by high winds, swept over frontier coun-

ties.

1872. January, Governor Austin enters upon a

second term.

1873. January 7th, 8th, and 9th, polar wave

sweeps over the State, seventy persons perishing.

May 22d, the senate of Minnesota convicts State

Treasurer of corruption in office.

September, grasshopper raid began, and con-

tinued five seasons. Jay Cooke failure occasions a

financial panic.

1874. January 9th, Cushman K. Davis inaug-

urated Governor. William S. King elected to con-

gress.

1875. February 19th, S. J. B. McMillan elected

United States senator.

November, amendment to State constitution, al-

lowing any women twenty-one years of age to vote

for school officers, and to be eligible for school of-

fices. Rocky Mountain locusts destroy crops in

southwestern Minnesota.

1876. January 7th, John S. Pillsbury inaug-

urated Governor.

September, 6th, outlaws from Missouri kUl the

cashier of the Northfield Bank.

1879. November, State constitution amended

forbidding public moneys to be used for the sup-

port of schools wherein the distinctive creeds or

tenets of any particular Christian or other religious

sect are taught. J. H. Stewart, M. D., elected to

congress. Biennial sessions of the legislature

adopted.

1878. January, Governor Pillsbury enters

upon a second term.

May 2d, explosion in the Washburn and other

flour mills at Minneapolis. One hundred and fifty

thousand dollars appropriated to purchase seed

• grain for destitute settlers.

1880. November 15th, a portion of the Insane

Asylum at St. Peter was destroyed by fire and

twenty-seven inmates lost their lives.

1881. March 1st, Capitol at St. Paul destroyed
by fire.

November. Lucius P. Hubbard elected Gov-
ernor.
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DESCRIPTIVE—SITUATION AND AREA—SURFACE FEA-

TURES AND SOIL—TIMBER GEOLOGICAL STRTJC-

TCBB MATERIAL RESOURCES— QUARRIES LIME

KILNS—BRICK.

Eice county is one of the earliest and best set-

tled counties in Minnesota, as well as one of the

most prominent. It is well situated, has an

abundance of wood and water, unexceptionaUy

good soil, and excellent market facilities. The

people are industrious and economical, and pro-

vided with good homes, the average farming facil-

ities being second to none in the State.

The most important villages are Faribault,

Northfleld, and Dunda's, with several others of

less pretensions. The two first mentioned have

city charters, and each will be fully described

under their respective names.

Numerous expeditions and reoonnoisances had

been made through this romantic region long be-

fore and up to the time when the Sioux title to the

land was extinguished by treaty stipulation.

The point which became the nucleus for

the final permanent" settlement, the conflu-

ence of the Straight with the Cannon River,

had been visited, and glowing accounts given of

its natural advantages, its magnificent forest, its

undulating prairie, the verdure covered banks of

its rippling streams, its health giving climate, and

indeed, of nature's handiwork here in her hap-

piest moods, for the creation of all the conditions

required by man for the planting of his home, and

surrounding it with those institutions which dis-

tinguish it from the wretched abode of the untu-

tored savage.

When the land was opened up to settlement,

and the vanguard of the pioneers began to arrive,

they remained right here; no representations

could lure them on in search of a better land, be-

cause it was really unattainable, and the reports

returned to the homes they had left were of such

a glowing character, that others rapidly followed,

and the whole country was soon taken up. Any
person visiting this county to-day, with its ad-

vanced civilization, and not knowing the facts,

could hardly be persuaded to believe that not

quite a generation has passed since not a building

stood anywhere on its territory, except a rude

bark or skin shelter for the few scattered savages

who lingered here with the depressing feeling of

impending extermination. What has been accom-

plished is most wonderful, and the various steps

that have been taken in this remarkable develop-

ment wiU be seen as this work is perused.

GEOLOGY.

The following geological extracts are taken

from the very able report by Mr. L. B. Sperry,

dated 1878:

The parallel of 44 degrees and 20 minutes north

latitude runs through the center of the county.

The surrounding counties are Scott and Dakota

on the north, Dakota and Goodhue on the east,

Steele and Waseca on the south, and Le Sueur on

the west. The east line of the county is twenty

miles from Hastings, on the Mississippi Eiver; the

north line is thirty-four miles south of St. Paul,

and the south line is forty-eigbt miles from the

northern boundary of Iowa. It is four govern-

ment townships, or twenty-four miles in width,

east and west. The western portion of the county

(263)
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is of the same length—twenty-four miles north

and south—but the eastern two tiers of townships

are shorter by five miles. The county contains

fourteen townships, each of them, except two,

containing thirby-six square miles. Of these two

exceptions, one, Bridgewater, contains forty square

miles, and the other, Northfield, forty-four square

miles. Its area, then, is 330,240 acres, of which

nearly one-half is timber land interspersed with

many lakes.

There is but very little land in the county unfit

for tillage. That portion east of the Straight and

Cannon Elvers is the finest of prairie land, while

most of that west of thebe rivers is, or was orig-

inally, covered with valuable timber, which, on

being removed) leaves a strong and fertile soil.

NATUBAL DBAINAQB.

The drainage of the county is to the north and

east. Straight Biver enters the county two and one-

half miles east of the middle of the southern border,

and flowing northward about eight miles, forms

a junction (where the city of Faribault now stands)

with the Cannon Biver, which enters the county

about two miles north of its southeast corner.

From the junction of the Straight and Cannon

Elvers—taking the latter name—the waters flow

northward and leave the county four miles east of

the meridian line upon which the Straight Biver

enters its borders. The western half of the county

contains about a score of shallow but pretty lakes,

which receive the surface waters of their localities,

and empty for the most part by very circuitous

routes into the Cannon. The Straight and Cannon

also receive the drainage from the eastern portions

of the townships through which they flow; while

the eastern tier of townships, for the most part,

shed their waters through small streams into the

Little Cannon and Zumbro Bivers in Goodhue

county. The Straight Biver enters the county in

the Lower Trenton formation, and cuts through

into the St. Peter sandstone three miles north of

the county line, near Walcott's mill.

A short distance from Walcott's the river makes

an extensive bend toward the south, and on reach-

ing Faribault has cut eighty feet into the sand-

stone.

At a point near the line separating Bridgewater

and Cannon City townships the river has cut

through the St. Peter sandstone and begins its

flow over the Shakopee limestone, into which it

has cut about thirty feet when it leaves the north-

ern boundary of the county.

This descent of about 150 feet in crossing the

county furnishes at least eleven or more available

mill privileges which have been improved and are

in operation.

SURPAOB PEATUEBS AND SOIL.

The eastern portion of the connty is, for the

most part, a high and gently rolling prairie of

great beauty and fertility.

Skirting the small streams there is a little tim-

ber, and along the east bank of the Straight Biver

—and also of the Cannon, from its junction with

the Straight northerly to Dundas—there is a belt

of timber averaging about three miles wide. The

soil bearing this belt of timber is sandy with grave

subsoil, and is of comparatively little value for ag-

ricultural purposes.

The surface of the southwest part of the county

lies above the Trenton formation, and is gently

undulating. The surface of the northeast part is

more broken because the Trenton is largely car-

ried away, and the St. Peter sandstone is eroded

to quite variable depths. The western portion of

the county also is quite undulating—sometimes

rough and hilly—and over the greater part is cov-

ered with heavy timber, interspersed with many

beautiful but shallow lakes. The surface soil is

usually a dark loam, but is generally very thin.

A strong and productive yellow clay overlying

thick deposits of blue clay—which is frequently

exposed—characterize the soil of this region.

Maple, Elm, and Basswood characterize the timber.

There are about twenty beautiful lakes in the

western halt of the county, ranging from one to

ten square miles in area, and varying from ten to

fifty feet in depth. These lakes abound in fish,

and are much frequented by sportsmen. The

southwestern part of the county, being lower and

more sandy, furnishes better beaches for its lakes

than are found further north where clay deposits

overlie and conceal the sand.

I am under obligation to Surveyor Jewett, of

Faribault, through whose kindness I secured the

following

:

TOWNSHIP 109, RANGE 19.—EIOHLAND.

EoUing prairie. Soil a black loam with clay

subsoil. The north branch of the Zumbro Biver

flows easterly through the northern part, taking

the surface water of nearly the whole town.
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TOWNSHIP 110, EANQB 19. WHEELING.

Surface rolling, becoming bluffy along the

creek. The east branch of Prairie Greek heads

near the center of the town, where there is a body

of about one section of timber. This creek flows

northeasterly, and forms a valley from one-eighth

to one-fourth of a mile wide, about fifty feet below

the general level of the prairie. From the bluffs

along this valley in the north part of the town,

limestone crops out with sandstone below.

TOWNSHIP 111, RANGE 19.—NOBTHPIEIiD.

Surface mostly a high rolling prairie sloping

toward Prairie Creek, which runs northeasterly

through the township; a part of the town is

drained northwesterly toward Cannon Eiver. Soil

a rich black loam; play subsoil; limestone in bluffs

along the creek; sandstone below.

TOWNSHIP 109, BANGE 20. WAIiOOTT.

Surface rolling to hilly; slopes toward Straight

Eiver, which runs northerly through nearly the

center of the town; a body of timber three to four

miles wide lies on the east side of the river. Lime-

stone appears in the bed of the river as far north

as section four. North of this point it appears

in the bluffs from twenty to fifty feet above the

river. Soil in the river valley light and sandy

with gravel subsoil; rest of town black loam over

clay.

TOWNSHIP 110, EANGE 20.—CANNON OITY AND FABI-

BAUM.

Surface qjuite rolling; bluffy along the east side

of river. The Straight River forms a junction with

the Cannon River in section thirty, from which

point the Cannon River runs northeasterly to the

cei'.ter of the north boundary. The two eastern

sections are prairie; the remauider of the town is

timber laud; soil a rich loam with clay subsoil.

Limestone crops out of river bluffs with sandstone

below; a small lake in section fifteen, containing

forty-five acres.

TOWNSHIP 111, BANGE 20. BBIDGEWATEB

Land roUing; become^ bluffy along the river as

far north as section ten. Cannon River flows

northeasterly through the eastern part of the

town. About six sections on east side of town are

prairie; rest of town timber land; soil black loam
with clay subsoil, excepting on river bottoms,

where the soil is light and sandy over a gravelly

subsoil; limestone in the bluffs along the river
i

south of section ten. In section one it appears in

the bed of river.

TOWNSHIP 109, EANGE 21.—WABSAW.

Surface rolling; drains toward the north; Can-

non Lake, with ari area of 1,475.28 acres, lies in

the northwestern part of the township; four sec-

tions of land northwest of lake are timber land;

rest of town is prairie and brush land; soil black

loam over clay subsoil.

TOWNSHIP 110, EANGE 21. WELIiS.

A 11 timber land excepting sections thirty-five and

thirty-six; surface rolling; soil black loam with

clay below; area of meandered lakes 2,114.44

acres; drains toward the south.

TOWNSHIP 111, EANGE 21. FOBEST.

All timber land; surface rolliug; draining east-

ward;- sou black loam, clay subsoil; area of lakes,

1,694.41 acres.

TOWNSHIP 112, HANGE 21.—WEBSTEE.

Timber and brush land; surface rolling; drains

to the south and east; soil light-colored loam over

clay; area of meandered lakes, 208.81 acres.

TOWNSHIP 109, EANGE 22. MOBEISTOWN.

Nine sections in southeast part prairie land; re-

mainder of town timber. Cannon River flows

easterly through the center of the township; sur-

face rolling, slopes towards the river; soil a rich

black loam with clay subsoil. Area of meandered

waters, 935.70 acres.

TOWNSHIP 110, BANGE 22. SHIELDSVIILB.

Surface rolling, becoming hilly in some parts of

the town; soil black loam over clay. Area of

lakes, 2,574.23 acres. The Cannon River heads in

Tuft's Lake, in section three.

TOWNSHIP 111, BANGE 22. EBIN.

Surface rolling to hilly, timber and brush lands;

soil rich loam over clay. Area of lakes, 856.32

acres.

TOWNSHIP 112, BANGE 22.— WHEATLAND.

Surface rolling and hilly; soil black loam on

clay subsoil; timber and brush land. Area of

lakes, 307.27 acres.

TIMBEB.

As before stated the eastern portion of the

county originally produced timber only along the

streams. Through cultivation for shade, hedges,

protection from winds, etc., timber is increasing

over this area. The western half of the county
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was originally covered with heavy timber—except-

ing a few limited, enclosed spaces, which were

open prairie, or sparsely covered with Oak and

under-brush—and forms a part of what is de-

nominated the "Big Woods." J]his region is be-

ing cleared up rapidly and there are now many
fine farms in every township of the timber regions

.of this, county. The following list embraces all

the native trees and shrubs that were noticed dur-

ing the survey. It is not believed, however, that

it includes all that grow naturally in the limits of

the county :

Baswood. Till Americana. L,

Smooth Sumach. Ehus glabra. L.

Jersey Tea. Oeanothus Americanus. L.

Sugar Maple. Acer saccharinum. Wang.

Sivery Maple. A. dasycarpun, Elir.

Red or Swamp Maple. Acer rubrum. L:

Box-Elder. Negundo aceroides. Mwnch.

False Indigo. Amorpha fruticosa. L.

Locust. Eobina Pseudacacia. L. Cultivated.

Cherry. Prunns.

Red Raspberry. Eubus strigosus. Miclix.

Blackberry. E. villosus. Ait.

Crab. Pyras arbutifolia. L.

Dogwood. Cornus paniculata. Viler.

Wolfberry. Symphoricarpus occidentalis. li.Pir.

Ash. Fraxinus.

Slippery Elm. Ulmus fulva. Miclix.

Butternut. Juglans cinerea. L.

Walnut. Juglans nigra. L.

Hickory. Carya.

Burr Oak. Quercus macrooarpa. Michx.

Black Oak. Quercus coccinea. Wancj. Var

tinctoria. Bartram.

Wild Hazle-nut. Corylus Americana. Walt.

Iron-wood. Ostrya Virginica. Willd.

American Aspen. Populus tremuloides. Miclix.

Cottonwood. P. monilifera. Ait.

Large-toothed Aspen. P. grandidentata. Miclix.

Balm of Gilead. P. balsmifera. L. Var. can-

dicaus. Ait.

Eed Oak. Quercus rubra. L.

White Oak. Quercus alba. L.

Wild Plum. Prunus Americana.

American Elm. Ulmus Americana. {PI Glyt.)

Willd.

American Crab. Pyrus Coronaria. L.

Black Cherry. Prunus serotina. Ahr.

Bitternut. Carya amara. Nutt.

Wild Eed Cherry. Prunus Pennsylvanica. L.

Thorn Apple. Cratsegus Crus-galli. L.

White Birch. Betula alba. Var. populifoha.

Spach.

Small Cedar. Juniperas Sabina. L. Var. pro-

cumbens.

White Pine. Pinus Strobus. L.

Water Beech. Carpinus Americana. Michx.

Cornel. Cornus paniculata. DHer.

Cornel. Cornus circinata. VHer.

American Woodbine. Lonioera grata. Ait.

Juneberry. Amolanchier Canadensis. Toit &
Oray.

Dwarf Wild Rose. Rosa luoida.

Pipe Vine. Aristolochia Sipho.

Grape. Vitis oordifolia. Michx.

Virginia Creeper. Ampelopsis quinquefolia.

Michx.

Nine Bark. Spirsea opulifolia. L.

Bittersweet. Celastrus scandens. L.

Rose. Rosa blanda. Ait.

Lombardy Poplar. P. diUtata. Ait.

Speckled Alder. Almus inoanar Willd.

GBOLOGICAIj stbucture.

In general the drainage of Rice county is

toward the north and east, which fact indicates

the relative elevations.

The Chicago and Milwaukee railroad survey

(Minnesota Division) found the elevations of nat-

ural surface, where the railroad crosses the north-

em line of the county, to be over 1050 feet above

the sea level. At Faribault depot it is 993 feet;

at Dandas depot, 945 feet; at Northfield depot,

905 feet. The entire western half, awi the south-

eastern portions of the county, have a higher

elevation. I have no means of knowing positively

the relative elevations or the highest point in the

county ; but judging from appearances I conclude

that the rolling prairie, on which Cannon City is

located, is the highest by at least 100 feet.

The only geological formations that appear in

this county are the

Loam.

Drift.

Trenton Limestone.

St. Peter's Sandstone.

Shakopee Limestone.

In general appearance these formations are not

imiike the same formations as they are seen in

other portions of the State, and earefully described

by Professor Winchell in his reports made during

the past few years. Nor did I find in the county
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any remarkable special peculiarities in any of the

formations.

The loam is deep, dark colored and fertile, over

nearly all the eastern portion of the county ; but

over the western portion as a rule it is thin.

Drift, consisting largely of blue clay overlain by

a yellow clay, characterizes the soil of the western

half of the county. Boulders of granite, gneiss

trap, and porplyry are quite abundant in some

places; but fine clay, with small quantities of

gravel, are the rule throughout this region. No
well yet dug in the western part of the county

has passed through the blue clay—though some

of the wells are over 100 feet deep. A hint as to

the depth of the clay is found in the fact that a

well dug last season south of Eice county, about

thirty miles west of Owatonna—^near Janesville

—

after passing through 200 feet of blue clay reached

a sandstone said to be identical with the St. Peter's

in appearance. An abundance of good water,

which rose to within thirty feet of the surface, was

found between the clay and the sandstone. This

fact should be considered by the residents of this

drift and timber region, as many of them have

failed to secure good and abundant water in the

clay. Indeed there is much uncertainty about

getting good well water in this region. Some
holes at 100 feet or over fail to bring enough

water for drinking and cooking purposes. Some
wells that furnish an abundance of water are so

strongly impregnated with mineral impurities as

to be nearly useless, while others are quite pure.

It is possible that good water that would rise

nearly to the surface might invariably be pro-

cured by boring through the clay to the under-

lying rocks.

Illustrations of the peculiarities of the deposits

in this region are seen in the following facts:

On the southeast side of Union Lake ( seven miles

west of Northfleld) Mr. B. Benton dug forty feet

and secured an abundance of water, but is

strongly impregnated with some mineral impuri-

ties. About forty rods from here Mr. M. J. Punk
secured better water at sixteen feet; and about

forty rods further Mr. S. A. Amsden secured

nearly pure water at a depth of thirty-six feet.

It has been supposed by some that the forma-

tion underlying the drift throughout the timber

region is the Cretaceous, and I see that Prof.

Harrington, in his report on Steele county, ex-

presses his belief in the existence of the Creta-

ceous along that belt. I am not satisfied that

such is the fact. To my mind there is but very

little evidence of it; but I do not care to discuss

the matter till I have procured more light on the

subject. At present my belief is that the drift

rests immediately upon a thin remnant of the St.

Peter sandstone. Perhaps in some places the St.

Jeter is all eroded so that the drift rests imme-

diately upon the Shakopee.

The Trenton limestone is nearly removed from

the western part of the county, the bluff's along

the Straight Kiver to a point a little south of Far-

ibault, and a hill near Northfield, being the only

places where it occurs. East of the river, however

it is extensive, and furnishes abundance of mater-

ial for building purposes, of which mention will

be made under the head "Material Resources.''

In general character the Trenton resembles so

closely that found in other parts of the State, and

so carefully described in previous reports on the

survey of the State, that little need be said here.

For building purposes, the most of that found

in this county is superior to that quarried near St.

Paul, in that it contains less clay and does not

weather so easily. On the other hand the Kice

county limestone contains more concretionary iron

pyrites, and hence necessitates more care in its

selection for architectural purposes.

The Straight Eiver cuts through the Trenton

and enters upon the St. Peter at Walcott's mill,

three miles south of Faribault. At a point eight

miles further north the river (having now become

the Cannon) has worked its way through the St.

Peter and enters upon the Shakopee. The thick-

ness of the St. Peter, in Eice county, is from 100

to 125 feet. It appears in the form of cliffs at

frequent points along both sides of the river fropi

the place where it is first reached by the Straight

to the northern limits of the county, and in the

northeastern part of the county it frequently ap-

pears in the hills—indeed it largely gives charac-

ter to the topography of this section. .

Judging from the topography also I am satis-

fied that many of the hUls in the northwestern

part of the county—in Wheatland and Webster

townships—consist largely of the St. Peter; but

they are so heavily covered by drift and timber

that I could neither find nor leam of any expos-

ures. In Cedar Lake there is an island, the top-

ography and flora of which indicate the St.

Peter, capped by Trenton. I was unable to verify

this by excavations.
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There is no place in the county where the St.

Peter sandstone is sufficiently compact and firm

for building stone. As along the Mississippi, it

may be removed by pick and shovel. In color it

is—as along the Mississippi Eiver—white to red,

according to the percentage of iron, and its oxida-

tion resulting from exposure. No fossils are

found in it here.

The Shakopee limestone is reached by the Can-

non Biver at a point about four miles south of

Dundas—six miles south of Northfield.

On leaving the county one-half mile north of

Northfield, the river has cut into the Shakopee

about thirty feet. The map shows approximately

the extent of this formation as exposed. The de-

scriptions of it in preceding reports will apply to

the formation as seen here.

MATEEIAL EBSOUBCBS.

Limestone—both for building-stone and quick-

lime—and sand for mortar, are abundant along

the valleys of the Cannon and Straight Kivers, and

throughout the western half of the county ; while

in the western portion no limestone is found.

Good clay for the manufacture of brick is suf-

ficienty abundant all over the county.

Stone QuABEres are abnndant throughout the

eastern half of the county. The bluffs through-

out this region are capped by a layer of the

Trenton varying from a few inches to several feet

in thickness. The various neighborhoods of this

section have their quarry, or quarries, from which

all the building stone for general purposes is

f
easily obtained.

Prairie Creek valley has scores of quarries

opened along its bluffs; and the valley of the

Cannon looks up to as many more. Good cours-

ing stone is furnished at Northfield for about $6

per cord.

At Pall Creek, three miles east of Faribault,

tliere is a fine deposit which is being extensively

quarried by its owner, Mr. PhUip Cromer. The

deposit of limestone here is about twelve feet

thick, and is covered by about four feet of drift

and loam. The strata in this quarry range from

three to twelve inches in thickness, and are easily

quarried. The upper stratum, eight inches in

thickness, is quite light-colored and filled with

fossils which are so thoroughly cemented and

transformed as to render the stone compact, while

its fossiliferous nature is still clearly apparent.

But few specimens of fossils can be enucleated.

The rock is infiltrated by gypsum and Iron Pyrites

which often cement its seams quite firmly. Mr.

Cromer sells undressed stone for prices ranging

from .$5 to $15 per cord. The greater part of his

business however is in the best varieties, which he

sells by the cubic foot, at prices ranging from

twenty-five cents to seventy-five cents.

Mr. N. Lord, two miles soutji of Faribault, on

the west side of the river, has two quarries opened,

from which he has sold as high as 300 cords in

one year.

In Eichland township, bordering on Goodhue

county, Messrs. Halver Johnson and Peter Halver-

son have each a fine quarry at which I saw about

100 cords ready for market.

Messrs. I. Lenhart, A. Bevere, C. Stetson, D.

Ferguson, and P. Oleson are the principal quarry-

men in the vicinity of Northfield; and on Prairie

Creek, in Wheeling township, Messrs. J. Thomp-

son, A. Knapf, and S. Aslagson do quite a busi-

ness in quarrying for their neighbors.

Limb Kilns.—The upper four strata of the

Lower Trenton formation, as exposed in this

county, furnish tolerably good material for quick-

lime, though in some places the deposit is too sili-

cious, and in no place is the lime obtained suf-

ficiently white for fine work. When first burned

the lime is yellowish in color, but when slacked is

nearly white. It is excellent for stone work.

Though lime has been burned in every town-

ship of the county east of the Cannon Eiver, it

is not now made a regular and paying business,

except at Phillip Cromer's kiln, on Fall Creek,

near Faribault. Mr. Cromer uses a patent kiln

and bums from 3,000 to 3,500 barrels a year, which

he sells at sixty-five cents per barrel. Three other

kilns near Faribault, owned respectively by Messrs.

Pond, Lee, and Iiord, bum in the aggregate about

1,000 barrels per year. There is a kiln one mile

from Northfield, in Dakota county, which supplies

Northfield and vicinity. This kiln burns its lime

from the best strata of the Shakopee formation.

In general character the lime is like that of the

Trenton.

Beiok.—Eice county contains an abundance of

clay for the manufacture of brick, but none has

been found sufficiently free from iron to make the

white or cream colored brick. At Faribault Mr.

J. G. McCarthy makes about 700,000 per year,

which he sells at $6 per thousand. One season

he made one million. All the clav of this section
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is so cleaT that to make good brick it is necessary

to add sand.

Henry Durham, of Faribault, burns about

300,000 per year and finds lying immediately

under the clay a stratum of sand for mixture

with it.

Another brickyard has been started at Faribault,

which has been a success. At Prairieville, Messrs,

Meisner and Leonard are making about 300,000

per year. Their brick are said to contain consid-

erable lime and to be very good. At Morristown,

Mr. Pettiel makes about 50,000 per year. Three

miles northeast of Faribault, Mr. Dungay is mak-

ing the best brick yet produced in the county.

His product so far has been but about 100,000

per year, but these have been sold at from $7.50

to $8 per thousand. At Shieldsville one kiln is

burned each year for home supply, and at North-

field one or two small kilns are burned every

season.

In 1878, a bank of clay was opened about three

miles from Northfield, and brick for the new col-

lege building (St. Olafs) have been burned.

They are pronounced of fine quality.

CHAPTER XLVI.

BABLT SBTTIiBMENT—INCIDENTS—THE KED MEN

FAEIEAULT AND BlOE COUNTT IN 1858.

Alexander Faribault, the pioneer of the county,

a son of Jean B. Faribault, who had been for years

in the employ of the Fur Company, started from

Fort Snelling in the fall of 1836, with Joseph

Dashner, who remained here until a few years

ago, when he went to Dakota, and afterwards

died. There were several others in the party; he

had a one-horse cart laden with goods, and after a

trip of ten days a trading post was established at

Te-ton-ka To-nah, or the "Lake of the Village,"

which is three miles above Faribault. The In-

dians were got together, and the goods trusted out

to them, on their promise to pay in furs when the

party should return in the spring, about the first

of April, and to the credit of the red men it may
be said, that they, almost \4ithout exception, were

prompt in meeting their obligations.

In relation to the prices paid for furs by the fur

companies, about which there might ba some curi-

osity, it may be said that there were certain tech-

nicalities connected with the trade that was well

understood. A certain number of skins of a

smaller animal represented a certain fraction of a

larger one. The price of a bear skin, for instance,

would be a multiple of so many muskrat skins?

and the prices paid were well up, if not equal to

the New York price. The object, of course, was

to monopolize the trade, the profit being made on

the goods paid in exchange, which were of two,

three, four or more prices. This post was kept up

until removed to the present site of Faribault, and

Mr. Faribault kept on collecting furs, and supply-

ing goods up to the time of the settlement of the

place, and the removal of the Waupakutas, that

being the name of the band of Sioux that occu-

pied this region.

The Indians removed from the lake where their

village was, and built on the point which is now
occupied by Mr. Faribault's old residence. This

was in 1835, and at that time there were about

forty of their bark covered abodes. Their burial

ground is enclosed by the dooryard of Mr. Fari-

bault's house. There rest the bones of Visiting

Eagle and his family, a prominent chief who was

killed at the instigation of Jack Frazer, a half-

breed who had a rival trading post, because Visit-

ing Eagle's people traded with Faribault, and the

chief refused to restrain them and give him a mo-

nopoly.

After the village of Faribault began to be set-

tled, there was chief Red Leg, brother to Visiting

Eagle, who was a fine red man but very intem-

perate. A second chief at that time was Pah-pa,

or Prick Leg, as he was commonly called, but he

was a teetotaler, a sort of John B. Gough in his

tribe.

Two log houses were built bv the agents of a

trading company, in 1845, and would be occupied

in winter by the whites, and when they left in the

spring the red men would take possession. These

buildings afterwards served as a residence and

hotel which was kept by Mr. Peters Buh and fam-

ily, who came in 1853, which date must be set

down as the actual beginning of the settlement,

which has gone on with no real interruption until

the present time. Mr. Bush afterwards became

the proprietor at Lake Te-ton-ka To-nah.

E. J. Orump with his wife crossed Sti-aight

River on the 2d of May, 1853. Mr. Crump, in

cjmpany with Rev. Standish and John Gekler,

under the direction of the Massachuseets Colony,
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had previously selected a claim here and erected a

cabin.

Mr. J. Wells was an early one to establish a

home here, and he opened a farm on the Cannon

bottom just above town, which became one of the

finest in the vicinity.

The next important arrivals were Luke Hulett

andfamily, with Levi Nutting, Mark "Wells, Mc-

Kinzie, and Mr. Boyington, with others who will

be mentioned further on.

In relation to the very earliest visits to this

region, Mr. Alexander Faribault, who is still alive

and most excellent authority, as all will admit who

have the honor of his acquaintance, gives the fol-

lowing account, and also furnishes incidents at and

subsequent to the actual occupation by the whites.

General H. H. Sibley, who knew him long years

ago when in the employ of the North American

Fur Company, pays an unqualified tribute to his

character, integrity, energy, and reliability, as

well as his high sense of honor and his unbounded

hospitality ; indeed,the exercise of this last quality,

more than all else, has left him pecuniarily

stranded. He was led into investments in the

rbilling and other interests to which he was not

adapted by nature or education, and not having

the "almighty dollar" before him as the chief end

of man, we find him to-day in his old age, de-

pendent upon his old friends whom, years ago, he

himself placed on the road to prosperity. The

house in which he lives was furnished by J. D.

Greene, and the citizens of the town who are so

largely indebted to him for having a city here at

all, will see that during his remaining years the

few requirements for his support are within easy

reach. But, to his relation; as already stated he

was an Indian trader who established a post near

here in 1826, at a time when the North American

Fur Company, under the management of John

Jacob Astor, was a mammoth institution, employ-

ing three thousand men, scattered all through the

Northwest. In 1835, the post was fixed here, at

what was tlien known as the junction of the

Straight with the Cannon Kivers. About the year

1844, he resolved to locate on the very site of the

present city of Faribault, and make it a permanent

residence, to await the oncoming tide of emigra-

tion which had halted at the Father of Waters,

but which was absolutely certain to resume its

march, not again to halt until the Pacific ocean,

with a mandate not to be disobeyed, should say.

"Thus far and no farther, and here shall thy

proud waves be stayed."

So that year Mr. Faribault sent Joseph Dash-

ner and Hypolite Martin to open a farm and take

charge of it for him. Three years afterwards, Al-

exander Graham, Mr. Faribault's brother-in-law,

together with Mr. Brunei, his- wife and one child,

all of whom were French Canadians, came on here,

as they had all been engaged to take care of the

farm. About this time John Eix was employed to

cook and help care for the stock, and after a time

Peter St. Antoine and his wife came to relieve Mr.

Brunei. In 1853, Peter Bush came out to do the

blacksmithing, and his family came along and oc-

cupied the building erected some years before by

Mr. Faribault for a trading post, which was near

where the mill built by Mr. Faribault now stands.

He also had a log house near the Travis place,

which he used as a sugar camp. Mr. Faribault

lived here at intervals every year, after first bring-

ing these people, spending usually several months

each summer. At such times he was visited by

Gen. Sibley, Major Forbes, and other acquain-

tances, who sometimes brought their families.

In the winter of 1827, Mr. Faribault spent some

time at Elysium with his wife. He claims to

have been the very first one to open a farm here,

and his land, which was broken and cultivated,

was on the flat south of the Faribault stone rmll,

and here he raised wheat, barley, oats, and root

crops. On his farm he had, as he declares, twenty

horses, forty head of cattle, three hundred chick-

ens, and flity or more turkeys, and the Indians

never gave him any trouble.

Mr. Faribault was a member of the Territorial

Legislature for this county, and had the privilege

of naming it, so he selected the name of Rice, in

honor of his old friend. Senator Henry M. Bice.

When Mr. Hulett came there was quite a well de-

fined track from St. Paul to this point, made by
teams hauling provisions, and at that time there

were actually here, Peter Bush and family, Ed-

ward Le May, Narcisse Arpan, Henry Millard,

Joseph Dashuer, Mr. E. J. Crump, and a Rev. Mr.

Standish, with five log shanties all told, such as

they were.

At the Old Settlers re-union in 1875, the Hon.

Henry M. Bice was present, and delivered an ad-

mirable address, full of historical anecdotes, and

what will be of especial interest to residents of this

county will be here condensed. In 1844, General
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Sumner had command at Fort Atkinson, in Iowa,

which was then Indian territory, and he got up

an expedition to Minnesota, and invited Mr. Eice

to accompany the party. They had no wagons

along, but only pack mules to carry provisions.

Arriving at the confluence of the Straight and

Cannon Bivers, they found Mr. A. Faribault, and

he was engaged as a guide. Up to this poiat they

had not met a human being, but they pushed on

and swung around to Fort Snelling, up the Min-

nesota valley to the Blue Earth, and so west

toward the Des Moines, and thence to Shell Rook

and Cedar Eiver. At Shakopee there was found a

brother of Mr. Faribault, and at St. Peter's there

was a polite old Frenchman, "Mons Provincial."

Not a soul was then living at Mankato.

General Sumner kindly allowed Mr. Kice and

Mr. Faribault to leave the company and hunt

buffalo, and they soon spotted a fine animal and at

once gave chase. A shot wounded him, and he

became furious and at once reversed the order of

things, the pursuers becoming the pursued. Mr.

Kice was thrown from his horse, and he began to

realize how rapidly his earthly career was drawing

to a close, when Mr. Faribault, who was a most

admirable marksman, brought down the infuriated

brute. On this journey the men had to swim the

rivers holding on to the tails Of their horses.

In 1847, Mr. Faribault went with Mr. Eice on a

trip up the upper Mississippi, and he never, as he

stated, saw him more than pleasurably excited,

'

under any circumstances.

At this same meeting Sheriff Barton made a few

remarks, relating how he came to St. Paul in

1850, when comer lots were selling at $10. There

was a girl east that he thought a good deal of, and

he went back to find that some other fellow had

got her. He returned to St. Paul and found that

some other fellow had got that, and this exasper-

ating loss of two good things so discouraged him
that he sought the country air, which he has been

breathing ever since.

In the spring of 1852, Mr. Luke Hulett, who
had already had quite a frontier experience, was

living on his farm in Wisconsin, and he read in

the "New York Tribune" that the purchase of the

lands west of the Mississippi from the Sioux had
been effected. He then resolved to carry out his

purpose formed long before, to make his home in

Minnesota, and he accordingly started for St.

Paul, but on arriving there he saw a letter from

Hon. H. H. Sibley, the delegate in Congress,

stating that the treaty had been defeated in the

Senate, but he concluded not to allow a little eir-

cumstance like this to disarrange his plans. Low
water, however, in the Wisconsin Eiver, prevented

him from getting his family and effects on the

road until the next spring. It seems that he had

read in the "Milwaukee Sentinel" a truthful ac-

count of this region, from the pen of a gentleman

who had been one of a surveying party to lay out

a road from Lake Pepin to Mankato, the junction

of the Straight with the Cannon Elvers being a

point. The description filled his idea of a place

to locate, and he started up the Mississippi, and

arrived in St. Paul on Sunday, the 9th of May,

1853. He stopped at a tavern, and the landlord,

learning that he proposed to go to the Straight

and Cannon Eivers, advised him to stick to the

water communications, but if he must go back

into the country, that Mankato was the place.

But Mr. Hulett had his mind made up, after a

careful survey of the subject, to examine the loca-

tion of which he had received such glowing ac-

count, and while making arrangements he formed

the acquaintance of Levi Nutting, which resulted

in a lasting friendship.

Mr. Niltting, on learning that Mr. Hulett was

going to explore for a location, inquired as to his'

plans, and informed him that himself and several

other young men had just arrived in St. Paul, and

desired to find a place to locate, and the result of

the interview was that a party of six was thus

formed, and with an emigrant team of two horses

they started from St. Paul, leaving the family

there, and made the first attempt to establish a

permanent agricultural colony in Rice county.

On the 13th of May, 1853, the little party crossed

the Mississippi at St. Paul, to the bottom oppo-

site that little hamlet. Eoads then were mere

trails, and whatever facilities for transportation

existed in the country anywhere, was due to nature

and not »rt. That spring was wet, and before

they had got out of the bottom the wagon was

mired and the horses had to be detached, the

wagon unloaded and hauled by human muscle,

iiasisted by human brain, to high ground. Dur-

ing the journey they saw no more of humanity

outside of their own party, except two settlers'

cabins near the river. The first night they en-

camped in a grove fifteen miles from St. Paul, and

a northeast storm which had been threatening
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through the night broke upon them in the morn-

ing, and its copious stores continued to drench

them until they arrived at a slough within a few

miles of Cannon City, which seemed to interpose

a barrier against further progress, as there was ten

inches of water on a network of roots for a road

bed. The horses were unhitched and taken over,

and then the young men hauled the wagon

through. As they entered the woods between

Cannon City and Faribault, the rain ceased and

the clouds began to disperse, and the prospect

that opened up before them was most charming,

looked upon in a practical way; good timber and

good water laying contiguous to good cleared

land aggregated the very desideratum for a pio-

neer settler. Superadd to this a climate where

health holds the highest place, and what could be

found better after traveling the wide world over?

The varieties of timber were familiar, and to say

that Mr. Hulett was delighted would be expressing

it mildly, and as they reached the brow of the hill

opposite the site of the old Barron House, the sun,

as it was about to set, broke through the canopy of

the clouds, and casting a mellow golden light upon

the village of the Wau-pa-ku-ta band of Indians,

comprising some sixty wigwams, stretched along

where Main Street now is, the vision presented was

most enchanting, and the newcomers felt that they

had arrived in the promised land, which it was

proposed to occupy, whether they had a commis-

sion to drive out the aborigines that inhabited it

or not. The view is well described in poetic

words

:

' Over the fields the daisies lie.

With the buttercups under the azure sky

;

Shadow and sunshine side by side,

Are chasing each other o'er meadows wide

;

While the warm, sweet breath of the summer air,

Is filled with the perfume of blossoms fair.

Ferns and grasses and wild vines grow
Close where the waters ripple and flow,

And the merry zephyrs the livelong day
With the nodding leaves are ever at play

;

And the birds are winging their happy flight

'Mongst all things beautiful, free and bright.

With a hum of bees in the drowsy air.

And a glitter of butterflies everywhere."

The next morning, on the 15th of May, 1853,

the sun rose clear and the air was balmy, and having
spanceled the horses and set them out to feed

near where the stone mill now is, our adventurers

ascended the hill near the present site of the Cath-

olic Church, "and viewed the landscape o'er," and
as they faced to the north, the junction of the two

streams and their respective backgrounds were in

full view, and the panoroma was most enchanting

as there had been no marring of nature's handi-

work by the vandal hand of man. The thoughts

uppermost in the mind were that here is a rich and

pleasant land, a fit abode for civilization, that has

been preserved for this purpose by the various

races that have occupied it, the last being the

"Ani-chin-a-bees," in the vernacular, or the Indian

with his animal neighbors. Unnumbered sum-

mers had annually renewed the rich vegetation of

these lovely valleys to be swept away by autumnal

fires. These two smiling rivers mingled their

waters unwitnessed by man, except in his hunter

state. Man is left to work out his own destiny,

and with such facilities there should be no uncer-

tainty as to the result.

'"Our lives through various scenes are drawn,
And vexed with trifling cares,

While Thine eternal thoughts move on.

Their undisturbed aftairs."

Mr. Hulett judged that this country, being

known, would be settled as fast as it would be de-

sirable, and here nature had certainly conspired to

produce a business center. He therefore came to

the conclusion that this should be his future home,

and he so informed the young men who were with

him, advising them to take a quarter section right

here, hold on to it, and go to work and secure, as

soon as possible, the two hundred dollars with

,whioh to pay for it, for the slave power being

dominant then, there was no hope for a homestead

law, and that in a few years they would be worth

four or five thousand dollars each. Such modest

hopes and expectations did not meet the views of

a majority of these ambitious young men, and they

declared that in a few years they expected to be

worth ten or twelve thousand dollars. Mr. Hulett

asked them how much they had s&ved in the last

three years, they replied, not a "red cent;" well,

said he, "the experience of the past is the prophecy

as to the future;" but they could not be prevailed

upon to embark with the colony here, and so only

Mark Wells remained to make a home, although

Levi Nutting returned the next year.

Five claims were found staked out in the inter-

est of Alexander Faribault, when Mr. Hulett ar-

rived, who up to this time had never heard of

him. While returning to St. Paul for his family,

Mr. Hulett and Mr. Faribault met and talked over

the whole business, and although Mr. Faribault

had resolved to have a settlement of French Cana-
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dians, he was so favorably impressed with the

new comer that he cordially invited him to come

and they would together work in the interest of

building up a town.

In a few days Mr. Hulett returned and found

Peter Bush, Edward J. Crump, and James Wells

were with the party. Mr. Wells was one of the

first members of the Territorial Legislature. He
was an eccentric, but sincere and honest man in

all his dealings.

Here is a complete list of those who spent the

winter of 1853 in Faribault, who had responded

in a praoticel way to the refrain so popular at that

time:

"To the west, to the west, the land of the free,

Where the mighty Missouri rolls down to the sea,

Where a man is a man if he's willing to toil

And the poorest may gather the fruits of the soil."

Alexander Faribault and family, Luke Hulett

and family, James Wells and family, Frederick

Faribault and family, Edward J. Crump and wife,

Peter Bush and family, Mr. Sprague and wife,

Mr. Springer and wife, and the following young

unmarried people, Norbert Paquin, Smith John-

son, Orlando Johnson, John Hulett, Hugh Mc-

Clelland, Mark Wells, A.MoKenzie, Eobert Smith,

and Theodore Smith.

The spring and summer of 1854 brought the

following accessions; John Morris, who subse-

quently laid out Morristown, Major Babcock,

Truman Bass, Mr. Tripp, who was the first to

settle on East Prairie, Dennis O'Brien, Mr. Travis,

Mr. Parshall, and James and Henry Scott,

who built the first saw-mill in town. The Sears',

father and son, in the fall of 1854, located in

Cannon City and became formidable competitors

for the county seat. Judge Woodman came about

this time, and also Mr. William Dunn, who se-

cured a claim east of Cannon City. Mr. Drake

and others settled near Northfield. This is sub-

stantially Mr. Hulett's statement as written out for

the "Bepublican"' a few years before his death,

there is a slight variation, in the personnel of the

pioneers, from other accounts.

General Levi Nutting's account of the first trip

to Faribanlt from St. Paul, and his early exper-

ience here is well worthy of perusal. He came with

Mr. Hulett, Mark Wells, Mr. McKenzie and

others. The boat they got over the Mississippi

on was a little larger than a hogshead; their stock

of provisions consisted of flour, pork, ham, tea,

ooflee, and a few other things. The first night

18

they encamped one mile from Empire City. A
fire was built and they "turned in" with their feet

toward the embers, and during the night a coal of

fire dropped upon Mr. Nuttings blanket, and

burned through to his boot and eat a hole through

that. After a while the General smelled some-

body's foot burning, and an investigation revealed

the uncomfortable fact that it was his own mem-
ber,, so he proceeded- to promptly suppress the

impending cremation, as that was before this

method of disposing of bodies had been seriously

agitated. In the morning the Journey was re-

sumed. Castle Eock, in the distance, looked like

a meeting house.

At five o'clock in the evening of the 14th of

May, 1853, the party reached Faribault and found

Peter Bush and wife living near where Biedell &
Turner's mill now is. This, with the cabin of

Norbert Paquin, were the only white residents

here. He remained three weeks and had a good

appetite and enjoyed a varied bill of fare, "bread

and pork for breakfast, pork and bread for dinner,

and some of both for supper.''

The stone quarry hill was an Indian burial

ground, if such a name can be given to a place

where the cadavers are hung up on trees, after being

tied up in blankets. There were from twenty to

thirty of these repiilsive objects, swaying in the

breeze over there at that time. While Mr. Hulett

and one or two of the others remained at that time,

the General did not come back until April, 1855-

He declares the very earliest settlers are entitled

to the greatest credit for what they accomplished.

He once sold 100 bushels of wheat for |25, and

paid it all to the hired man. A steer he had

raised was slaughtered, and he sold the fore quar-

ters to B. A. Mott for $4, and he then had so much

money in his pocket, more than any other man in

town, that he borrowed a musket from Mr. Mott

to protect himself on his way home ! He says that

our dignified Postmaster used to wear jeans and

work at carpentering with a borrowed hammer, or

in a saw-mill.

Four young men kept a boarding house, two of

them did the chamber work and waited upon the

table, and the other two did the cooking; one of

them is now on the supreme bench, another has

been a State Senator, a third has been a distin-

guished European traveler, and the other has been

State Senator and City Attorney.

At one of the old settlers' reunions, Hon.
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George E. Skinner, who was present, in a' banter-

ing way asked General Nutting how it was that a

gentleman like him should go to bed with his

boots on ? The General at once promptly replied

that it was because he did not come here bare-

footed as Skinner did.

Gen. Nutting relates how the town was named.

It was soon after the arrival of Mr. Hulett, when a

meeting was called at the Hotel de Bush, and as

Mr. Faribault was so well known, his name was

agreed upon and a petition drawn up and given

to Gen. Sibley for a Post-ofBce and a post route,

with Alexander Faribault as Postmaster and Mr.

Davis as mail carrier.

Peter Bush made the following statement as to

his advent at this point:

In 1851, he started from Beloit, Wisconsin, to

St. Paul, with a load of wagons, and while there

met several Canadians and trappers who were ac-

quainted with this part of the country, and they

told him that a good place to settle with his fam-

ily would be at the junction of the Straight and

Cannon Elvers, as there was water power, wood,

and prairie there. In August, 1852, he visited the

place and was pleased with it, and saw Mr. Fari-

bault, who was then stopping at Mendota; he told

Mr. Bush, however, that he did not intend to re-

main there long, but proposed to locate here where

he had already cultivated a farm, and an agree-

ment was made to come here in April, 1853, and

occupy the old trading post, which he did. He
was not in the exclusive employ of Mr. Faribault,

but did work for him, and also for Mr. Wells.

The first settlers after Mr. Bush, according to his

recollection, were Mr. Wright, Mr. Lull, E. J.

Crump, John Dutch, P. Standish, and quite a

number of men who had come to work for Mr.

Faribault. When Mr. Hulett came, there were

two cows here, and he wanted to get board at Mr.

Bush's, who had a log house and a blacksmith

shop opposite where St. Mary's Hall now is, with

some land staked off, but was told that his claim

would be jumped unless he had plenty of money
to defend it, and so he was induced to sell it for

$116, and removed to the -lake where he lived

afterwards.

There were at first at least 100 Indian tee-pees

here. Mr. Bush is now unfortunately insane and
an inmate at St. Peter Asylum.

At the reunion of the old settlers in February,

1877, an interesting letter from Gen. H. H. Sibley

was read, and a brief resume of its contents will be

presented : Mr. Alexander Faribault, who was the

founder of the city, was for years connected with

the American Fur Company, of which the Generdl

was the managing partner in this region, and he

was always found to be a man of sterling worth

and integrity. Jean Baptiste Faribault, the father

of Alexander, came to this country when young,

and was a fur trader who in the war of 1812, when

the extreme Northwest was in the hands of the

British, remained true to the American cause; he

was of a highly respectable Canadian family.

Years ago Mr. Faribault and Gen. Sibley used to

hunt together with Little Crow, and Mr. Fari-

bault pointed out this spot where he proposed to

settle as soon as the title of the Sioux was extin-

guished. Few men have responded as he has

done to the demands upon him, to support so

many of his wife's I'elations, but whatever his

financial condition may be, he will go down to

his grave honored and respected by all.

At the meeting of the old settlers in March,

1875, Hon. O. F. Perkins related his experience,

an abstract of which is here given. He left Ver-

mont in 1854, fell in with the great western bound

Hood tide of emigration, and traveled by rail to

the western terminus of the railroad, at Galena,

Illinois, and there took passage for St. Paul, on

the Alhambra, which was two weeks making the

trip. St. Paal then claimed 4,000 inhabitants.

He went to St. Anthony and MinneapoUs, spend-

ing the winter there. He had no business, but

was invited to deliver an address on the Maine

liquor law, which he then thought would be most

admirable for this new country, which he did with

such success that he supposed the whole commu-
nity was converted to his views. About that time

the first suspension bridge across the Mississippi,

at Minneapolis, was completed, at Mr. Perkins, at

the celebration and banquet which followed this

event, was called upon for a speech, and although

all the public men there were intensely democratic,

he introduced his anti-sla;very views, which, had he

been a little older he might have been a littla

more cautious in doing in such a presence. This,

however, proved to be a turning point in his

career, for the Hon. J. W. North, hearing of the

incident, invited him to go with him to Faribault,

where just such daring men were wanted, and he

accepted the invitation and rode out in a sleigh

with him, being two days on the road. It was
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bitter cold, arid arriving here the scene was in

striking contrast with what would greet a visitor

now. He remained a few days in mortal fear of

having his scalp lifted, came back the following

spring and opened a law office and studied up the

claim business, boarded with Mr. Crump, and had

his office up stairs. He afterwards moved into a

blacksmith -shop, but as business did not open up,

he went to farming. He bought a bushel of pota-

toes for $2.50, and carried them to a spot of ground

he had procured north of D. W. Humphrey's

house, and planted them with an axe; did nothing

more with them until fall, when the crop was sold

to Dr. Charles Jewett for $35. He also planted

some corn on the bluff near the stone quarry; it

came up two or three times, by the aid of the

gophers, but finally got ready to grow, and in

due time it was harvested by the cattle, and he

concluded that raising com was not his forte, that

potatoes were his "best holt." Law being at a

discount, he tried his hand at theology, and

preached the first sermon, as far as he knew, in

this region, from a book loaned him by Truman
Nutting, and it was pure, tfnadulterated Calvin-

ism, without any "sugar coating." He also as-

sisted in the formation of the first Bible Society;

he was the Secretary, and Frank Nutting local

agent. According to his recollection, E. J.

Crump, Esq., was the first Justice of the Peace,

and the first case before him was a replevin case

for a gun worth $2.50. Mr. Perkins was the pros-

ecuting attorney, but the case was sworn out of

the jurisdiction of the court. When at work as a

horny-handed yeoman, carrying his potatoes to

plant, he met John M. Berry and G. W. Batohel-

der, and with his brother they aU went to living

together in a little board shanty.

That 4th of July was duly celebrated in Fari-

bault; Dr. Charles Jewett delivered the oration,

and Frank Nutting sung one of Ossian E. Dodge's

songs, "The Unfortunate Man.''

In October, 1855, there was a severe snow-

storm, but it soon melted, and November was a

fine month. In the winter Berry, Batchelder, and
the Perkins brothers kept a bachelor's haU, divid-

ing the housework, and the devices resorted to, to

get rid of washing the dishes, were often original

and ingenious. Mr. Perkins went east and got

his wife, and returned to remain in the county

ever since.

G. W. Tower came from Chickasaw county.

Iowa, in 1854, with a team, in company with

Messrs Carter, Bobert Douglass, Sears, and two

others, and after visiting various other places they

finally struck Faribault, and Mr. Tower took a

farm where Petitt's place now is; he afterwards

bitUt a store opposite the Barron House.

It should be remarked here, that the Old Set-

tlers' Association of Eice county has proved to be

quite a historical "bonanza,'' and, to add another

mining term, has "panned out" well in the interest

of preserved reminiscenses.

Hon. G. W. Batchelder arrived and planted him-

self here in the spring of 1855, coming on foot

with Judge Berry, who was not a judge then, ex-

cept of a good thing when he saw it. They had

traveled around prospecting, visiting St. Paul,

Shakopee, Mankato, Cannon Falls, Zumbrota, and

finally here, where, enchanted with the country,

they resolved to halt. John Cooper was

here at the time and there was talk about his

jumping the townsite, but his claim proved a good

one and became Cooper's addition. At first Berry

and Batchelder boarded with Truman Nutting at

$4 a week, and afterwards with Moses Cole at the

"Ox Head Tavern."

Reuben Kundel), G. W. Baohelder, Judge Berry,

andO. F. and 0. C. Perkins afterwards established a

hotel on the European plan, north of the meeting

house. The great event the next year was the ar-

rival of H. E. Barron, whose fame had preceded

him as a man of wealth. He built the hotel, and

at its opening there was a great celebration, a pro-

cession, dinner, a dance, and speeches. The ar-

rival of Maj. Dike created another sensation, his

hair was then black and he was a fine looking

young man, and when the people were told that

he was going to stay and open » bank they began

to feel the importance of the place and to contem-

plate metropolitan airs. The place above all

others at an early day, for generous hospitality,

was at the house of Col. J. C. Ide, on East Prairie,

whose gates were always ajar, and the constant

round of bountiful entertainment enjoyed there

was an oasis in the experience of those who were

fortunate enough to enjoy it, that compensated for

the long journey through social deserts which so

many at that day were obliged to travel.

Captain R. H. L. Jewett relates his first expe-

rience coming here from Faribault on foot, in July,

1855, during a very hot day.

Captain E. H. Cutts came to the State in 1853,
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and stopped awhile in Eed Wing, and when he

came to Faribault, saw and heard a scalp dance

where Turner's mill now stands. The Dakotas

had some Chippewa scalps and were skulking

through the monotonous contortions of this san-

guinary dance, accompanied with the most blood

curdling yells. He presided over the first deba-

ting club here, went back to Illinois, and secur-

ing a wife, returned.

In June, 1854, John C. Cooper came from St.

Paul, in company with the mail carrier, who had

the whole mail for the week on his person ; it con-

sisted of one letter and Mr. Hulett's regular copy

of the Tribune.

Mr. P. W. Frink relates a story as to the late

Lieut. John C. Whipple, who was commissioned

as a Justice of the Peace in and for Bice county,

and in a certain case, the first one he had brought

before him, he made a ruling to which exception

was taken on account of its being directly in con-

flict with the law, but the irate justice brought

his fist down upon the table and emphatically de-

clared that he did not care a continental whether

it was law or not, that he proposed to administer

justice. An appeal was taken and sustained, and

in disgust he resigned.

Hon. H. M. Matteson, one of the pioneers,

started for this section in February, 1854, and

stopped with John Hojt, where Dundas now is,

made a claim of some land and began to improve

it by changing work with Mr. Hoyt, giving him

a' day's work for a day's use of his oxen. He
caught a large cat fish that lasted him for meat

quite a long time.

In a late number of the "Republican," Mr. F.

W. Frink related his experience as a pioneer news-

paper man, which may not be uninteresting read-

ing, now that such changes in transportation, and

in almost all else that pertains to human life, have

taken place. An abstract of his story can only be

presented here. On the 6th of September, 1856,

he arrived at Hastings with a press and material

to print a newspaper, and paid $1 a hundred to

have it hauled to Faribault, and to save |5 stage

fare traveled the distance himself on foot. On un-

packing the type it was found to be all pied>

except two forms that were left locked up. They
had lots of trouble sorting "pi," and it was not

until the 22d of October that the "Eice County

Herald" flashed upon the benighted world.

Major Cook, who afterwards fell gallantly fighting

for his country, made most of the wooden furni-

ture for the office. Clark Turner, a brother of

J. C. Turner, made the iron work, and he also gave

his life to his country. Charley Decker paid the

first dollar for subscription, and George W. & J.

BI. Tower paid the first- advertising bills. The

foreman of the office was Cal. Johnson; the com-

positors were Andrews and Cressey. One of them

is now a Baptist minister. A young Sioux used to

hang around the office, but he cared more for

"gosh-paps"—dimes—than for work, and he was

afterwards in the massacre business. The "Fari-

bault Eepublican," the outgrowth of this first at-

tempt at journalism, has for years been one of the

best printed and edited sheets in the State, and has

never missed a day in its publication.

A list of the old settlers with the date of their

coming, as recorded in the Old Settlers Associa-

tion:

1853—Alexander Faribault, Mendota, February.

W. E. Faribault,

Peter Bush, Canada, April.

Luke Hulett, Vermont, May.

E. H. Cutts.

1854—H. M. Matteson, Herkimer, N. Y., August.

F. W. Frink, Vermont, October.

J. G. Scott, New Jersey, June.

J. E. Parshall, Ohio, June.

S. Benhaus, New Jersey, October.

A. S. Cromwell, New York, November.

John Cooper, England, July.

1855—Levi Nutting, Massachusetts, April.

James Shants, New York, May.

G. S. Woodruff, Connecticut.

S. Atherton, Vermont, September.

E. N. Leavens, Connecticut, October.

George G. Howe, New York, June.

S. Barnard, Vermont.

J. S. Closson, New York, May.
R. H. L. Jewett, Ehode Island, July.

G. W. Bachelder, Vermont, May.

James Colleyers, England, May.

1856—E. E. Eogers, Massachusetts, October.

W. H. Stevens, New York, June.

John MuUin, New York, May.

J. B. Wheeler, Massachusetts, May.

C. M. Millspaugh, August.

Lyman Tuttle, June.

William MoGinnis, Ireland, June.

A. Mortensen, Sweden, June.

C. A. Bailor, Indiana, June.
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S. 0. Duniam, Connecticut, May.

C. D. Horn.

E. W. Dike.

D. O'Brien.

John Close, Ohio, June.

J. L. Dunham, New Jersey, April.

W. J. Goll, New Hampshire, July.

Q. E. Skinner, New York, November.

P. E. Brown, New York, October.

F. G. Stevens, Michigan, June.

John Jipson, New York, August.

G. W; Newell.

T. H. Loyhed.

1857—H. Milson, Ohio, February.

N. S. Flint, Vermont, April.

S. A. Wiley, New York, June.

Thomas Mee, New York, April.

Gordon E. Cole, Massachusetts, January.

W. H. Dike, Vermont, May.

W. A. Shaw, New York.

On the occasion of the centennial celebration of

the independence of the country in 1876, the gov-

ernment requested every county in the country to

have a historical sketch prepared up to that date.

Eice county was particularly fortunate in this re-

spect, and the sketch of the county was prepared

and presented as an address on Independence Day,

by F. W. Frink. For the sake of preserving it in

this permanent form, and on account of its being

a resume of what had occurred up to that time, and

of some facts not found elsewhere in this work, if

is reproduced here entire.

Fellow-Citizens—For an artist who has all his

life confined his art to life-size painting to attempt

a reproduction of his principal work in miniature,

it must require all his skill to prevent his picture

from proving a failure. Yet such is the task I

attempt to-day. For twenty years, or ever since

Eice county first took shape as a separate organ-

ization, it has been either my duty ormy pleasure,

and sometimes both, to chronicle its progress and

put upon record every forward step it has taken

in the march of its destiny, and now I am to try

to condense the work of this score of years into

the space allotted for our page of the centennial

history of the nation. Under the circumstances it

will be a wonder, not if I fail, but if I succeed in

reproducing from the abundant material at my
command anything which may not be without

form, and void.

Eice county, unlike many ambitious places in

the western world, is not called by the name of

some old hero renowned in song or story, nor has

it assumed the name of anceint or modern place

of proportions vast, or storied fame, but the Hon.

Henry M. Eice, of St. Paul, an early settler in the

State, and a warm friend of him who gave to the

city of Faribault his local habitation and his

name, is the man from whom our county takes its

name, and the man who still feels a warm interest

in everything pertaining to its welfare.

Although it was not until October, 1855, that

Rice county held an election as a separate organ-

ization, electing then for the first time its county

officers, Mr. Alexander Faribault had established a

trading post at the foot of what is now known as

Cannon Lake, but then called by the Sioux, Te-

ton-ka Tonah, or Lake of the Village, as early as

1826. While he was doubtless the first settler of

Eice county, and according to the records of the

Old Settler's Association, Mr. Peter Bush the

next, it was not until May, 1853, when the Hon
Luke Hulett, who still resides within the limits of

the city of Faribault, removed here with his fam-

ily, that the history of Eice county properly be-

gins, for the first settlement of a farmer in an

agricultural region is the beginning of its his-

tory. Alexander Faribault, Luke Hulett, and

Peter Bush should be considered the founders of

the first settlement in Rice county.

The history of the towns and villages of this

county begins even earlier than that of tlie county

itself, that is to say, before the county existed as a

political organization with well defined boundary

lines, the towns of Faribault, Northfield, Morris-

town, and Cannon City were surveyed, platted and

recorded in the order named. Alex. Faribault, F.

B. Sibley, John W. North, and Porter Nutting, as

proprietors, filed the plat of the town of Faribault

in the office of the Register of Deeds in Dakota

county, to which Eice county was then attached

tor judicial purposes, on the 17th day of Feb-

ruary, 1855. Previous to this date, however, a

preliminary survey had been made, and Walter

Morris owned the share afterward represented by

John W. North.

In August, 1855, Mr. North having disposed of

his interest in Faribault, while in search of fresh

fields and pastures new, selected the site of the

present city of Northfield, and on the 7th of

March, 1856, filed the plat in the office of the

Register of Deeds in Rice county, which was theu
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an office a little over two months old. A plat of

Cannon City had been made almost as early as that

of Faribault, but owing to the fact that the plat

had been made without the usual formality of a

preceding survey, it was thought best by the pro-

prietors, after a vain attempt to harmonize con-

flicting interests caused by conflicting boundary

lines, to have a survey made, the plat of which

was not filed for record until the 11th day of

November, 1856, but previous to that date it was a

town of sufBcient force to give Faribault a lively

race in a contest for the location of the county

seat.

April 1st, 1856, Mrs. Sarah Morris, mother of

Walter Morris, one of the first proprietors of the

town of Faribault, and widow of Jonathan Morris,

one of the first settlers of Morristown, filed and

recorded the plat of Morristown. These were the

first born towns of Bice county, but the times were

then prolific in the birth of towns and cities, and

the eye of the speculator saw beside every crystal

lake or limpid stream a site for a city full of the

possibilities of future glory. Numerous additions

were surveyed and added to towns already re-

corded. The new towns of Wheatland, Wedge-
wood, Warsaw, Walcott, Shieldsville, Dundas,

Millersburg, EastPrairieville, and Lake City were

added to the list. Of these, some are dead and

some are dying, and nearly all remaining have

from time to time, by vacations obtained through

the courts, contracted their vast circumference in

conformity with the request made at an early day

to the Territorial Legislature to limit the area of

town sites, and reserve certain portions of the pub-

lic domain for agricultural purposes.

While, however, visionary speculators were

creating town sites and multiplying town lots with

almost as much facility as farmers increased the

number of their pigs or chickens, the agricultural

interest was also thriving until the year 1858,

when occurred the nearest to a failure of crops

that Kice county has ever experienced. The land

office had been located in Faribault the year pre-

vious, and the little store of money that most of

the settlers had brought with them had been gen-

erally used in payment for their lands. The pros-

pect was gloomy, and many families anticipated

actual want before the coming of another harvest;

but the silver lining to the cloud was not long ob-

scured, and relief came from a quarter as little

looked for as. was the manna in the wilderness by

the Israelites. By somebody the happy discovery

was made that our timbered lands were full of

ginseng, the sovereign balm for every ill that Chi-

nese flesh is heir to, and forthwith our population

was transferred into a community of diggers, and

many a man, and even woman, too, who had never

earned more than a dollar a day before, received

from two to four dollars for their day's labor in

the woods. Thus was Rice county's darkest hour

tided over, and from that day to this there has

never been a time when its citizens have had reason

to fear a lack of the necessaries of life.

The statistics of crops for 1860, previous to

which no record is obtainable, show 18,000 acres

under cultivation in various fruits and grains, with

a product of 260,000- bushels of wheat. Five

years later the cultivated area had increased to

25,000 acres, with a product of 325,000 bushels of

wheat; in 1872, 56,672 acres were cultivated, and

548,000 bushels of wheat produced, while the wheat

crop alone, of Eice county, reached nearly 700,000

bushels in the year 1875. Yet, this county must

not be judged as an agricultural district by the

amount of wheat it raises, although that cereal is

still the one the most relied upon by our farmers

as a source of income; yet, as more than two-thirds

of its area is or has been timbered laud, is not so

well adapted to growing wheat extensively as a

prairie country, its agricultural productions are

necessarily more diversified.

The population of the county, as indicated by

the number of votes cast at its first election, which,

being a county seat contest, probably brought out

as large a proportion of legal voters as could be

summoned on any occasion, was in 1855, between

1,500 and 2,000, the number of votes cast being

384. In 1860, the first census, it was 7,886; in

1865, 10,966; in 1870, 16,399, and the census of

last year makes the number 20,622.

While Eice county, more fortunately situated

than some of her western sisters, never experienced

any of the horrors of Indian warfare, yet her his-

tory would not be complete without mention of

its terrible fright in the winter of 1857. There

are doubtless some of the present audience who
well remember how panic-stricken we were when
the news came through some mysterious channel

that the Indians had sacked and destroyed St.

Peter, only forty miles away, and were in rapid

march for Faribault. Then "there was running to

and fro and gathering in pale distress, and cheeks
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all pale that but an hour ago blushed at the tale

of their own loveliness.'' Gen. Shields, by reason

of his military experience, was made commander-

in-chief of all the forces in and around Faribault,

with headquarters at the head of the stairs in the

old Faribault House, and all of our brave young

men who could be armed with shot-guns, rusty

pistols, or anything having the appearanoe of fire-

arms, were posted on guard at all the principal

thoroughfares leading into town, and in front of

the houses of the most timid and defenceless.

This state of affairs lasted all of one night and

until time of changing guard the next, when the

relief, finding that the extreme cold had induced

the guards to seek the inside of the houses they

were defending, retreated in good order to more

comfortable quarters, and our first Indian war was

over. The cause of the panic was afterward ascer-

tained to be the Spirit Lake massacre, more than

a hundred miles away, by Inkpadutah and his

band of outlawed Sioux. It should be here

chronicled, however, that when the war actually

came, although it came no nearer than Mason &
Dixon's line, Kice county bore its full share of its

responsibilities, losses, and calamities right man-

fully. The war of the Kebellion found us nurtured

in the arts of peace, a happy and home-loving peo-

ple, and yet, before its close more than a thousand

of its bravest and best had volunteered to defend

the flag they loved so well. How well they boro

themselves on the battle field, the number of the

unreturning brave whose "graves are severed far

and wide by mountain, stream, and sea," too well

attests. The records show that more than one-

eighth of the number shown by the census of the

year before the breaking out of the great rebel-

lion as the entire» population of the county, had
enlisted in the Union army before its close, a

record of which our citizens may well be proud.

If I were asked what, in my opinion, has been

the most notable events in the history of Kice

county, I should answer that first in importance

was its settlement in the beginning by a class of

people who were intelligent tillers of the soil, men
who came here imbued with the idea that labor,

education, and religion are the true foundation

stones upon which to build a perfect and perma-
nent social fabric. In accordance with these ideas

we find that in three years after its first settlement,

and in a little more than one year after the rush

of immigration begun, while the grass on the

prairie sod had scarcely withered under the newly

turned furrow, schoolhonses, churches, and even a

printing press had taken their places as permanent

institutions of Kice county. In pursuance of this

same idea, in 1858, Rev. Dr. Breck founded the

mission schools of the Church of the Good Shep-

herd, which were the germ from which has grown

Seabury Hall, Shattuck School, and St. Mary's.

In 1863, the exertions of its citizens, who

bought and paid for the land it occupies, secured

the location of the Asylum for the Deaf and Dumb
and the Blind within the borders of Eice county.

In 1868, was opened in Northfleld the prepara-

tory department of what is now known as Carleton

College, and what in the near future will be

known as the best college of its denomination in

the Northwest. The location, establishment, and

prosperity of Carleton College is due entirely to

the energy and liberality of the citizens of North-

field. While all the time from the establishment

of district No. 1, in 1856, to that of No. 101, in

1876, the public schools have been nourished and

cherished to a degree equalled by few countries in

the Union. More than one-third of all taxes for

all purposes levied in the county being devoted to

the use of public education in the common schools.

From this brief sketch it will appear that the

history of our county has not been eventful in the

light in which the historian usually regards events.

It has been the scene of no fierce conflict of arms,

and within our borders no monumental marble

rises to commemorate bloody victories won, or the

heroic deeds of knightly chivalry, which contrib-

ute so largely to the romance of history. Never-

theless, is our history full of those "victories not

less renowned than war," victories which in less

than a quarter of a century after the extinguish-

ment of the Indians' title to these lands, without

bloodshed, swept away every vestige of their bar-

barous lite, and substituted the school, the church,

and on every hand, happy and contented homes;

victories which vanquished the hearts of our suf-

fering people on the frontier when Kice county

was the first to send relief after the devastation

from haU and fire in the memorable year 1871.

The suffering people of Chicago, northern Wis-

consin, and Michigan were subjugated by the

munificent donations sent to their relief in that

terrible year of fire, and of those donations Rice

county gave with no sparing hand. These are the

victories not less renowned than war of which our
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county can boast. Victories over a stubborn soil,

turning a wild waste into fruitful fields and happy

homes. Victories over ignorance and superstition

best shown by the maintenance and prosperity of

a free press and the public school. Victories over

the selfishness of human nature in devoting so

large a share of our worldly goods in the relief of

suffering humanity at home and abroad, and

above all it was a grand and glorious victory when

the echoing of Sumter's guns found response in

a thousand brave hearts ready to give their lives

for their country. These are the victories which

give assurance that government of the people, by

the people, and for the people, can longest endure

supported and defended by a peace-loving, gen-

erous, and intelligent people."

THE EBD MEN.

Anything authentic in relation to the race that

occupied this land only a generation ago, is of ab-

sorbing interest, especially to those who are now
making their entrance upon the stage of active life,

and this interest must continue to grow as time

recedes and the period of their existence as the

rude possessors of the land becomes more distant.

The question as to how these people lived, what

they ate, how they cooked their food, how they

made their clothes, how they fashioned their hunt-

ing weapons and their fishing tackle, how they

formed their residences, and in short, how they

kept themselves and their children from perishing

from off the face of the earth during those hard

Minnesota winters, with the thermometer thirty or

more degrees below zero, and blockading snows

all around, is indeed a conundrum difficult to

solve.

We do not forget their sparseness, and remember

the abundance of game in the forest and streams,

but to offset this advantage we reflect upon their

indolence and improvidence. After a careful con-

templation of the whole subject we are compelled

to the conclusion that they were a decaying race,

who had occupied this land, and, in a certain

sense, preserved it for the use of the present civil-

ization. The law of creation which begins with

the simplest forms of Ute, is that the inferior must

give place to the superior, as the conditions are

favorable for its existence, and that the Indian

race antedates the Caucasian in its origin, is evi-

dent, for while the one, viewed as a whole, is in

its senility, the other is just entering its teens, not

having yet reached its true manhood.

There were certain things that the red man
readily absorbed when coming in contact with the

white race. He seemed to take to the "firewater"

in a spontaneous way, and very soon learned to

use fire arms and hunting traps, and how to make

maple sugar, and this seems to have been about

the limit of their educational capacity. As to

agriculture, the Squaws, if the males could be

persuaded to stop long enough in a place, would

plant a little corn.

It is supposed that the French voyageurs who

first encountered the Dakotas, which word is said

to signify the "nation of the seven council fires,"

gave them the name of Sioux, so that in convers-

ing about them in their presence, their suspicion

would not be excited by hearing their name pro-

nounced. When the whites came here the Wau-

pakuta band of this tribe occupied the present site

of Main street. It is difficult to learn as to the

exact number, but that there were several hun-

dred there can be no doubt. The name of this

tribe has been variously spelled by different writers,

but there is no reason ..why there should be any

redundant letters, or why it should not be spelled

as near as it is pronounced as our imperfect alpha-

bet will admit. In this case the "a" has the

broad sound. This name should be preserved in

some local way, and it is respectfully suggested at

the risk of horrifying the whole community, that,

as there is a Faribault county, that the name of

"Waupakuta" be given to the city itself! As an

instance of the havoc made with Indian names,

there is the Chippewa, a tribe which must have

originated in northern New England and Canada,

or perhaps Nova Scotia, and pushing west, north

of the great lakes, finally encountered the

Dakotas near the Mississippi Biver. Now this

tribe called themselves the Ojibway, or Ud-jib-

e-wa, which the English speaking race at once

made into Chippewa. The Chippewas, who hardly

reached this point, except on a predatory expedi-

tion, had, among other things that the Dakotas

did not, birch bark canoes, and in form and build

they were exactly like those made in Old Town,

near Bangor, to-day, by the Penobscot Indians.

The Sioux had dugouts for canoes, and were

lighter colored than the Chippewas, besides other

striking differences.

To those who came from Wisconsin and had

been familiar with the Ohippewas,the Winnebagoes

or the Menomonees, the Wau-pa-ku-tas seemed
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more wild and lesa accustomed to the presence of

the whites, the young, particularly, looked with

stolen glances upon the new comers, with a cur-

iosity mingled with apprehension. The first

houses they would visit in squads, looking over

everything and keeping this up all day long,

seeming to be totally oblivious to the annoy-

ance and disgust they occasioned. Colonel Por-

tier, an Indian trader who knew the red men per-

fectly well, told the settlers to locate right in their

midst and they would be perfectly safe, so long

as they were not roughly treated, which proved to

be true. Mr.Hulett had a lot of oxen that got into the

com that was planted by tlie Indians,and a party

of visitors from Bed Dog's band that were visiting

here, said that these people and their oxen were

trespassers, and should be shot, saying, that is the

way our folks do, and so one of the oxen was laid

low. Mr. Hulett then started to lay the case be-

fore the Governor, and arriving there the Gover-

nor acknowledged that the whites were trespassers,

and said that he had authority to punish dep-

redations. As he was about leaving, the chief,

accompanied by Mr. Faribault, arrived, and the

matter was settled by the payment of $125, with

which he bought another yoke of oxen, and he

had beef and a spare ox as a compensation for this

outrage. This was the most serious, and in fact

the only thing of the kind that ever happened.

On the 4:th of February, 1874, an "Old Settlers'

Association" was organized, several reunions were

held, and early incidents recited which were most

interesting and valuable in a historical point of

view, and from the publication of these statements

much reliable material for this work has been ob-

tained; the statements of the pioneers are given

substantially as they fell from their lips, and it

is remarkable that the discrepancies which always

exist in such cases are so slight.

FAEIBAULT AND KICE CODNTT AS IT WAS IN THE

BAKLT SPRING OF 1858.

To ^ive a very full and comprehensive idea of

this region during the early years of its settle-

ment, copious extracts from an article in the "Fari-

bault Herald," from the facile pen of its editor,

K. A. Mott, are here reproduced

:

"Faribault—T!ie Valleys of the Cannon and Straight

There are thousands of our eastern friends pro-

posing to come west this spring, and the great

question with them is, where shall we go? There

are many things desirable in seeking a new home:

to find good land, good water, good timber, good

health and to escape the privations of pioneer

life, find good neighbors and get all these advan-

tages at comparatively small cost. From our own
observation in a number of the western States,

and knowledge of the advantages offered by other

sections, we are confident that no other part of the

country presents so many inducements to settlers

as Minnesota and our own Straight and Cannon

Kiver valleys. Our soil is a rich sandy loam,

yielding the most abundant crops in turn for little

care. The county is well watered by streams

whose water is equal to the mountain brooks of

New England, and wells are easily dug which fur-

nish an abundance of pure water at a depth of

from twelve to thirty feet.

The general surface of the country is rolling.

The depth of the soil varies from two to four feet,

and below that a yellowish loam, and at the depth

of from six to ten feet considerable clay is usually

found.- Our river bottoms are not so fertile as the

high prairie; they are more sandy with a gravelly

subsoil. Beets, ruta-bagas, and onioils sown

broadcast and harrowed in, yield enormously. We
have an abundance of excellent grass for hay.

Cattle and horses love it and do well on it. The

cattle that run on our prairies are fat enough for

excellent beef at any time during the summer.

Our county is, as they say of eastern advertised

farms, "suitably divided into pasturing, mowing,

tillage, and timber lots." We can safely chal-

lenge the West to furnish a like section of the

country where all these things are so abundant

and so equally distributed. We have the best of

timber for finishing houses, an abundance of but-

ternut and black walnut; burnishing shows their

beautiful, rich grain, which no painter can begin

to rival. Butternut can be bought for from |18

to $20 per thousand, and black walnut from $20

to $30, and other lumber from $10 to $18. There

are at least twenty saw-mills in the county, and

a number of flouring mills in operation, and others

being erected. Abundance of material for brick

is found here, and we have in this town two brick-

yards. There are excellent stone quarries, and

abundance of lime.

We are not destitute of fruit. Cranberries are

"thick as blackberries on the plain;" plums of the

most delicious kinds are found in large groves

covering acres; strawberries grow wild, and can
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easily be cultivated. Let any one coming bring

a few vines in their trunk, and they soon can have

a plentiful supply. Orab-apples, which make ex-

cellent sauce and pies, are good baked, and make

the very best of jelly, superior to any other, are

to be had by the bushel for the picking. Goose-

berries grow wild, and our streams are bordered

with fine grapes, and the Isabella and Catawba

are ripened fifty miles north of us.

The thousands of acres of maple forest furnish

us with sugar and syrup, equal to the best. The

sugar cane was tried here last year, and succeeded

admirably. In fact, every needful thing will

grow here. Winter wheat succeeds well where

tried, and our spring wheat is unsurpassed by any.

Game is abundant enough to pay for hunting.

Our sharp-shooters get deer, and any one that can

lire a gun can get prairie chickens enough with

very little trouble. They are in large flocks

through the fall and winter. Fish are so plenty

and so large that the whole truth would sound like

a "fish story." AH through the winter any one

could go up to oilr lakes, about four miles, and

get from forty to one hundred pounds in a day.

Pickerel are frequently caught weighing from six

to seventeen pounds each. There are a number of

lakes, and all well stocked with the best of fish.

In the spring and fall our lakes are covered with

ducks and geese, and our woods during the season

are alive with pigeons and partridges. Not much
danger of starving.

In regard to the healthfulness of the country it

might be enough to say the fever and ague, the

curse of the West, is never found here. Probably

a case never originated here, and thousands are

cui-ed by coming here. There is no State or Ter-

ritory south of here that this can be said truth-

fully of. The wonderful salubrity of the climate of

Kansas, where there are thousands of New England-

ers, with constitutions shattered by disease con-

tracted on its prairies, pronounce it a humbug.
Our climate is very dry. The most reliable statis-

tics in regard to climate, health, or anything re-

quiring a long series of accurate and impartial

observation and records, are always found in the

reports connected with the military service. Prom
these reports, even did not the experience of every

one here testify to it, abundant proof is furnished

that Minnesota is the lieaWiiest climate in the

United States. The dryness of our atmosphere is

especially favorable to persons inclined to lung
complaints.

The average depth of water (rain and melted

snow) for a year during the last twenty years has

been at Port Snelling, forty miles from here, 25|

inches; at Cambridge, Massachusetts, 44| inches,

and Muscatine, Iowa, 44^ inches. Yet the char-

acter of our soil, our numerous lakes and heavy

dews, prevent our crops from drying up, and we

are not near so likely to suffer with drought as

New England. The army register gives the force

of the wind during the year as considerably less

here than at any other station in the United States.

The average depth of snow is light. The two

winters previous to this last were severe, and the

amount of snow large, bui there was not as much
snow, nor was the cold as unendurable, as in the

Eastern States. This past winter has been the

most delightful one it ever was our lot to ex-

perience.

One most blessed thing in regard to us here is

that we have good roads, and we are not forced to

do penance for pleasant winter weather by drag-

ging through mud three feet deep. Our transi-

tion from winter to spring does not include a

month or two months of mud so deep as to make

the roads impassable. While in the States south

of us, and in the East, they are waiting for the

ground to settle, we are sowing wheat and oats.

This spring we sowed wheat the 20th of March.

A great deal of land was sown the week commenc-

ing the 22d of March, and from that time farm

work has gone on rapidly. A summer shower

does not render our roads and soil a mass of jelly

for some days, but they quickly dry. The tem-

perature of southern Minnesota, as given by the

army register, is the same as central New York.

Faribault, the county seat of Rice county, situ-

ated on the Straight Eiver half a mile from its

junction with the Cannon Eiver, is a place that

has grown within three years from half a dozen

log huts to be a town of 2,500 inhabitants, and the

center of a large trade. There are twenty-five dry

goods and grocery stores, two drug stores, five

hardware stores, two meal markets, three bakeries,

a cracker factory, four large hotels, two steam

saw-mills, one flouring mill, and two large ones

being erected, three cabinet shops, a number of

joiner shops, a planing mill, two shingle mills, sev-

eral banks, and printing office, and other things

too numerous to mention.

The Congregational Society have a good church

building, erected at a cost of $2,300. The Rev.
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L. Armsby is the minister. The want of religious

and Sabbath privileges, so often feared by those

coming west, can hardly be felt, while under the

teachings of one combining the soinewhat rare

qualities of good preacher and good pastor. The

Baptists and Methodists each have a church or-

ganization and a minister. The Baptists have a

building lot secured, and will probably proceed to

build before long.

We have a number of excellent schools. We
have during the winter a well sustained lyceum,

and a library association and a reading room

where all the leading papers and periodicals of

the day are taken, including four British quarter-

lys, Little's Living Age, &c. Institute lectures

are delivered every fortnight through the winter

by star lecturers found this side of the great river.

We have an excellent brass band which furnishes

fine music.

Many eastern persons think oar stores can be

only little shanties with a few hundred dollars

worth of goods in them. To correct that impres-

sion one would only need walk through our streets

and see the goods displayed in the glass fronts of

the stores. Two sales of entire hardware stocks

have recently been made here, and the inventory

of one footed up over $14,000. The other was

large, and in addition, the purchaser is bringing

in a new stock of $8,000. The other hardware

stores are very large. The dry goods and grocer-

ies are in due proportion, we suppose.

Faribault is the natural center of trade for a

very large country. It is now the most important

inland place in southern Minnesota, and bids fair

to be without a rival.- Some idea of our central

position may be gathered from the fact that there

are nice different mail routes centering in Fari-

bault. Another significant fact is that Congress,

in the land grant of 4,500,000 acres to Minnesota

railroads, made one condition of the grant that

PSribault should be made a point in the north

and south railroad, and our Legislature in a loan

of State credit, based on these lands, requires

that work shall be commenced here at the same

time as anywhere else on the road. ,We want the

road, and shall have it.

We are not alone in the belief that there is a

bright future before us ; every impartial observer,

and even those prejudiced and interested against

us, can but admit it. With our railroad will

come other wants, and the supply will come too.

Let those who would reap come early.

We want now a plow factory and an establish-

ment for the manufacture of general agricultural

implements. Our plows are wrought cast-steel.

The number sold is very large and price high,

and doubtless the making of them here would be

a profitable business. A machine shop and small

foundry would do well here. Now all our mills

must go from fifty to eighty miles to get the

smallest break repaired. • If we had conveniences

here there are probably thirty or forty mills that

would come here for such work. Power for such

a shop might be rented of one of our steam mills.

We want a cooper's shop; not one is in the

county.

Every year thousands of hides are sent off at

from two and a halt to three cents per pound, and

the leather, at a high price, brought back, and

the same hair that was carried away on them,

comes back at eighty cents a bushel for plastering.

An abundance of bark for tanning is in our woods,

and no one who understands the business could

find a better place to go into it than here.

Of carpenter and joiners we have a fair supply,

but blacksmith work is very high, and more good

blacksmiths might do well.

Every manufactured article is brought up from

below, and the large amount of money carried

away for these things would largely pay for the

establishment of the shops above mentioned, and

the demand for all is constantly increasing.

This present time is the best there has ever

been, and is the best there will be, to come here.

Capitalists desirous of investing money can buy

property now for one-half what they can when our

railroad is commenced. Many borrowed money

to pre-empt their farms, and now are ready to sell

for the want of the means to pay.

The pioneering is over. We have good schools,

good society, a county unsurpassed in healthful-

ness—yes, unequaled, a good soil, well timbered

and watered, and farms to be bought cheaper than

one could come here three years ago and pay gov-

ernment price and live until now, and put the im-

provement on them.

Come, and we think your own observation will

satisfy you that of all western States, Minnesota

is the one.

Leave the river at Hastings, and come to the

Cannon Eiver valley, and see if it is not all it is

represented to be, and more too."
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CHAPTEE XLVII.

COTTNTY OBGANIZATION TBKHITOBIAL POLITICS

COUNTY GOVBKMENT CODNTY FINANCES EIOB

COUNTY IN THE STATE GOVEENMBNT-CENSUS AND

OTHER STATISTICS.

After the treaty of March, 1853, by which the

Sioux vacated their lands for settlement, the Ter-

ritorial Legislature divided Dakota county and

made quite a number of new ones, including

Rice, but, as the United States surveyors had not

yet run the lines, the description of boundaries

could only be indicated by natural objects, and it

so happened that three counties cornered at the

junction of the Straight and Cannon Rivers. This

would indeed seem to be a discouraging circum-

stance in connection with the establishment of a

county seat here in Faribault, but our pioneers

had views of their own, and while many would

have considered that the obstacles in the way of se-

curing a readjustment of county lines were too for-

midable to be overcome, they never for a moment

abandoned their firm determination to make this the

capital of the county. Besides, it is a matter

of history that in the carving out of the State

lines, on the admission of the State into the Union,

a serious attempt was made to so arrange it as to

bring this point so near the center of the new

commonwealth as to make it available as the cap-

ital of the State itself. Thus it stood, with Rice,

Dakota, and Goodhue counties cornering here,

until the fall of 1854, when, as the territory to

the south was rapidly filling up, it became cer-

tain that the next legislature would rearrange the

couuties all through southern Minnesota. While

everything was being done to make this a business

center, the political aspect of affairs was carefully

scrutinized and it was at once determined that it

was imperative to have a good strong clear-headed

man who would be master of the situation as a

representative in the legislature from this district,

and Mr. Faribault, who was always quick to see

what should be done, and as prompt to act, opened

a correspondence with H. H. Sibley, urging him

to be a candidate for the position, and insisting

that in the fight over the county's boundaries,

which was certain to be a bitter one and the con-

test for county seats most distressing—to the de-

feated ones—he was the man to represent the inter-

ests of this section. Mr. Sibley replied that he

would admit that his knowledge of the country

might be of use to the settlers if elected to the

position, and intimated that there would be oppo

sition to him in the Minnesota valley, but, if nom
inated in the convention to be held, he could be

elected. So the voters held a caucus at Mr. Fari-

bault's house and appointed Alexander Faribault,

N. Paquin, William Dunn, James Wells, Jonathan

Morris, E. J. Crump, and Walter Morris as dele-

gates to the convention soon to be held at Shak-

opee. Feeling that they might not all attend, Mr.

Hulett wrote a resolution instructing the delegates

to vote for Mr. Sibley, and authorizing them to

cast the full vote of the delegation. Mr. Dunn,

of Cannon City, who with all the others, was in

favor of Mr. Sibley, arose, and with imperial dig-

nity positively declined to be instructed, insisting

that be and the others knew enough to go to the

convention and do their duty. James Wells also

opposed the resolution, and notwithstanding Mr.

Hulett urged its necessity in case of a contingency,

which actually happened, and that its passage

implied no disrespect to the delegation, it was

voted down. In due time the convention met,

two of the delegates were not there, and the result

of the first ballot was a tie between Mr. Sibley and

a gentleman up the Minnesota River; so the dele-

gation then asked for the privilege of casting the

entire vote for Mr. Sibley, but to this objection

was successfully made, as they had not been so

instructed by their constituents. But Mr. Wells,

who was well up in party methods, was equal to

the emergency and retrieved his mistake in sec-

onding Mr. Dunn's objection to Mr. Hulett's res-

olution, by finding a man in whose palm a ten

dollar gold piece exactly fitted, and the next bal-

lot placed Mr. Sibley in nomintion.

General Sibley was duly elected, and succeeded

in making the county lines conform to the wishes

of his Faribault friends, and the law, establishing

the county substantially as it is to-day, contained

a provision that the legal voters could at any gen-

eral election organize the county, provided that

there were at least fifty votes cast for county com-

missioners, and empowering the first county board

to permanently establish the county seat. With

this condition of things the people of Faribault

were content,.as the place was fast filling up.

During the summer of 1854, however, a town

had been laid out three miles northeast of the vil-

lage of Faribault by the Messrs. Sears, and given

the name of Cannon City, and town lots were rap-

idly selling at their office in the "City Hotel."
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From representations made to Willis A. Gorman,

the county had been organized by the appoint-

ment of provisional commissioners, and the estab-

lishment of Cannon City as the county seat. The

citizens of Faribault, knowing it to be without the

warrant of authority, treated the whole thing as a

nullity, and at the next general election proceeded

to vindicate their rights by organizing the county

under the provisions of the territorial law.

There were three voting precincts, one at Fari-

bault, one at Cannon City, and the other at Mor-

ristown. Mr. Morris had first located at Fari-

bault, but not securing such an interest as he

desired, transferred himself and his retinue to

Morrisfown. He was a man of native ability who

had been a Campbellite preacher, but wholly un-

educated as to letters, although he would read

chapters from the New Testament, from memory

perhaps, holding the book upside down. He evi-

dently held the balance of power as between Fari-

bault and Cannon City, and it became imperative

in the interests of the future county seat, that a

compromise should be made with him, which was

effected by the preparation of a ticket for county

officers, with the lion's share of candidates from

Morristown. But the most difficult feat in this

arrangement was to suppress the aspirations of a

numerous horde in Faribault, who could not be

led to believe that they were not exactly adapted

for these opening positions. They were, however,

finally induced to forego the gratification of their

ambition to a more convenient season. The ticket

for this combination was headed by 0. Ide for

Representative in the Legislature; F. W. Frink,

Frank Pettitts, and Mr. Storer as the Board of

Supervisors; Charles Wood for Sheriff ; Isaac Ham-
mond for Treasurer.

Mr. Hulett, who was very anxious, rode over to

Morristown, but Mr. Morris assured him that the

precinct was solid for Faribault, and as that in-

terested precinct was true to itself, the ticket was

successful. Mr. Morris showed his visitor his miU
dam, which he had just completed, and expressed

the utmost confidence in its stability, asserting

that nothing but the finger of God could remove

it, but in a few weeks an inordinate volume of

water proved to be one of the agencies he had

overlooked, and it went out and the mill also was

much damaged.

To return from this brief digression, the board

thus elected proceeded to establish the county

seat, and the various other oificers assumed their

duties.

THE COUNTY GOVEENMBNT.

While Minnesota was still a Territory, in the

winter of 1855-'56, Eice count «r was set apart

from Dakota county, and the first county election

was held in the fall of 1855. Prior to this, as

early as 1854, the county of Bice was made a

part, by common usage, of Dakota county, but this

was never accepted as legal by the citizens of

Rice, and they refused to recognize any proceed-

ing of the "consolidated" county as, lawful. In

1855, a tax was levied upon personal property in

Dakota county, but the citizens of the territory,

now of Rice, rebelled and refused to pay the

same, and bat few in the entire county paid it.

In the latter part of 1855, Dakota county was

divided, and Rice county formed. An election

was held in November, 1855, the following officere

being elected: Register of Deeds, Isaac Ham-
mond; Sheriff, Charles Wood; Judge of Probate,

Isaac Woodman, and board of County Commis-

sioners, F. W. Frink, Andrew Storer, and George

F. Pettit. The government of the county was at

first vested in this board of County Commissioners,

a session of which august body was dignified by

the name of "court."

When the county governmental wheels were

actually set in motion, and the organization of

Rice county a matter of fact, steps were taken to

obtain the records when in connection with Dakota

county, and the Deputy Register of Deeds, C. C.

Perkins, was directed to go to Mendota, which had

been the county seat of Dakota county, and copy

off all records of deeds, mortgages, and miscella-

neous records pertaining to Rice county, and

transport the same to the county seat of Rice. Upon

this authority Mr. Perkins went to St. Paul and

purchased the necessary books, and thence to

Mendota, where he transcribed records as directed

and returned to Rice county, delivering them into

the hands of the Register, Isaac Hammond, in the

early part of December, 1855, and made Faribault

the county seat in a practical sense.

On the 7th of January, 1856, the first court of

County Commissioners convened at the office of

Berry & Batohelder, in Faribault, and was com-

posed of the boai'd which had been elected the pre-

vious November; the clerk being the Register of

Deeds, Isaac Hammond. At this meeting nothing

was accomplished except the organization, which
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was effected by the election of F. W. Frink, Chair-

man, for the ensuing year, and the board ad-

journed until the following day, the 8th of Jan-

uary, 1855.

The Court convened as per adjournment, on the

morning of the 8th, and began disposing of such

business as should come before it.

The first business to be laid before the Court

was the organization of school district No 1, the

first organized in the county. The board declared

that it should consist of sections nineteen, thirty,

and thirty-one, in township 110, range 20, and sec-

tions twenty-four, twenty-five, thirty-six, and the

oast half of section thirty-five, in township 110,

range 21. This embraces most of the incorpo-

rated limits of the city of Faribault. They also

granted a petition for school district No. 2, to em-

brace territory in township 111, ranges 19 and

20. School districts Nos. 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and

10 were formed at this meeting, and their terri-

tory placed upon record, and much of the time was

consumed by road petitions. The first road busi-

ness entered upon record was in the form of a

petition, and is as follows:

"A petition for a road by Luke Hulett, and

twenty-two others, beginning at the quarter post

on the north line of the town of Faribault, run-

ning thence due north to the center of section

nineteen, township 110, range 20, thence in a di-

rect line, as near as may be, toward St. Paul until

it shall intersect the Dodd road; and Charles

Wood, Levi Nutting, and A. H. BuUis are hereby

appointed examiners to view said road and report

to the board of.Commissioners at their next regu-

lar session." Numerous roads were established by
the board.

On the 8th of July, 1856, the board, in sum-

ming up the assessment rolls from the three asses-

sors districts in the county, found the aggregate

assessed valuation $613,364.95.

The board met as required by law on the 5th of

January, 1857, the members comprising the body
being, Levi Nutting, Franklin Kelley, and Andrew
Storer. The board organized by electing Levi

Nutting as Chairman for the ensuing year, and

then engaged in routine business.

At the session of the court on the 17_th of Feb-

ruary, reports were received from the various

school districts in the county, showing the number
of scholars in attendance in each district. The
several reports are given below

:

No. of No. of
Dist. Clerk. ScholarB.

1. B. Thayer 268
2. Daniel Bowe 34
3. D. B. Turner 44
4. H. M. Matteson 36
6. T. H. Willis 41

8. James Anderson 30
11. T-B. Van Eaton 30
12. Ezra Carter 41

13. E. 8. Drake 44
14. WiUiam Burbeck 74

16. Nathan Colestock 22

Total number of scholars in'the county . . 664

The board then ordered that the sum of $2 be

appropriated from the county funds for each

scholar, and apportioned to the various school dis-

tricts for school purposes. The list of districts

was then made out, showing the amount due each

district, as follows:

Diet. No. Scholars. Am*t due.

1 268 $536
2 34 68
3 44 88
4 36 72

6 41 82
8 30 60

11 30 60
12 41 82
13 44 88
14 74 148
16 22 44

654 $1,328

The board then took into consideration Asses-

sor's reports from the different districts, and

found the total assessed valuation $2,107,770.

District No. 1 reporting $722,865; district No. 2,

$1,143,353; and district No. 3, $241,552. The

total amount of tax raised for Territorial, County,

and School purposes, in 1857, was $15,810.42.

During the year 1858, in which the territory of

Minnesota was admitted as a State, nothing of

special interest or note was accomplished by the

board. They met on the 5th of January, and or-

ganized by electing Levi Nutting, Chauman, the

other members being Franklin Kelley and Andrew
Storer. Charles Wheeler, the Sheriff elect, pre-

sented his official bond, and it was approved.

John Hoover presented his bond as Assessor, and

other county officers presented bonds, which, were

duly approved.

Reports were received from the various schools

in the county, and it was found that in the thirty

schools reported there was an attendance of 1,489
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scholars. The apportioned school fund of this

year was sixty-five cents for every scholar entered

upon the rolls.

A new book in which to record the proceedings

of the County Commissioners was purchased.

In the summer of this year the government of

the county was subjected to a change by an act

of the Legislature, and the management of county

affairs was vested in a "Board of Supervisors,"

consisting of the chairman of each board of town-

ship supervisors—one member from each town-

ship. On the 14th of September, 1858, the first

meeting of this board was held in the city of Fari-

bault, and was called to order by J. A. Starks.

The roll was called, and the following gentlemen

representing the towns set opposite their names,

answered to the roll:

G. L. Carpenter Webster

L. Barlow Richland

W. A. Pye Wheeling
Daniel Bowe Northfleld

Isaac Woodman Walcott

J. A. Starks Cannon City

B. Lockerby Bridgewater

Miles HoUister Wheatland
Thos. Kirk Wells

E. F. Taylor Foreist

Isaac Hammond Morristown

J. Hagevty Shieldsville

John Oonniflf Erin

G. W. Batchelder Warsaw

They then proceeded to ballot for Chairman,

and the result was one vote for Isaac Woodman,
and eight for J. A. Starks; the latter was there-

upon declared elected and took the chair. John
C. Gihnore was appointed clerk of the board, and,

one of the dissatisfied proposing it, he was re-

quired to give bonds to the amount of $500. The
board then proceeded to business by appointing

eight or nine committees to attend to the various

matters that should come before it.

On the 15th of September, the committee ap-

pointed to consider a petition for assistance in

building a bridge at Dundas, reported that they

did not consider the county finances in shape, nor

able to assist in building the bridge. The peti-

tion was therefore tabled. At the same meeting a

note was presented by NichoUs & Buckley, which
had been given by the board, but could not be

paid. The interest on the same was 2 J per cent,

per month.

An apportionment fund of ninety-five cents per

scholar was made from the county fund in favor

of the school districts Licenses were regulated

at $50 for "liquor" and $25 for "beer." On the

27th of September, the board appropriated $100

for the upper, and $100 for the lower bridge at

Faribault, over Straight River.

The year 1859 dawned upon the county, and

the same board still held the reins of the couoty

government. On the 8th of January reports were

received from thirty-seven of the school districts,

and showed an attendance of 1939 scholars. At a

session of the board on the 17th of February, the

first coroner was appointed in the person of J. B.

Wheeler, who afterward resigned, and E. J. Crump
was appointed in his stead.

From the record of the proceedings it seems that

sjmething was wrong with the management of

finances and county orders, for, at a session of the

board on the 17th of February, it was declared by

a resolution that all county orders issued by tbe

former board of County Commissioners as voi d,

and repudiated and forbade the County Treasurer

paying any of the same. This resolution, how-

ever, after investigation of the matter, was re-

scinded, and the former chairman of the board,

Levi Nutting, was requested to deliver up all notes

and matters pertaining thereto into the hands of

the board.

At the annual election in the fall of this year a

new board was elected, and the newly elected

Commissioners took their places and oath of office

at a meeting on the 13th of September, the follow-

ing being members: A. Anderson, J. D. Hoskins,

Isaac Woodman, L. Hulett, J. H. Winter, I. N.

Sater, Benjamin Lookerby, E. Roberds, J. H.

Bartlett, James McOabe, R. M. Norton, H. Oonary,

and N. Paquin.

Reports to the board of Supervisors from forty

of the fifty-four school districts in the county

showed a total of 2,046 scholars in attendance.

On the 7th of January, 1860, the last meeting

of the board was held and adjourned sine die, as

the governmental principles of the county reverted

to the former method, that of Commissioners.

Thus was the new method inaugurated, and then

discarded, while a mile post in the history of the

county was auspiciously passed.

Rice county, in January, 1860, was divided into

five commissioner districts, each being entitled to

on3 representative in the county board. District
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No. 1 comprised the towns of Eichland, Wheeling,

and Cannon City; district No. 2, Northfield and

Bridgewater; district No. 3, Faribault; district No.

4, Walcott, Sargent, Morristown, and Wells; dis-

trict No. 5, Shieldsville, Erin, Wheatland, Web-

ster and Forest.

The newly elected board met on the 15th of

May, 1860, the following gentlemen representing

the various districts: J. H. Parker, G. H. Batch-

elder, S. Webster, and William Thorp. They or-

ganized by electing J. H. Parker Chairman for the

ensuing year. The board then appointed G. F.Batch-

elder County Auditor to serve until the next elec-

tion, fixing bis bond at $5,000. It also decided that

his salary should be $400 per annum. Nothing

more of importance came before the board, and

the balance of time was spent among the road

and school districts, together with other routine

business.

In 1861, the board met as required by law, on

the 5th of January, with the following members
iu attendance: G. H. Batchelder, William Dunn,

W. M. Thorp, G. Woodruff, James McCabe, and

John Conniff. G. H. Batchelder was elected

Chairman for the year, and the board proceeded

to business. They next raised the salary of the

County Auditor from $400 to $600 per year.

At a session on the 15th of January, from re-

ports sent in to the board from the clerks of school

districts it was found that there were 2,287 schol-

ars in Kice county entitled to apportionment. The
total apportionment fund for this year was

$3,458.46.

In 1862, the board consisted of the same gen-

tlemen as did the last, except J. B. Wheeler, who
was elected Chairman. They fixed the salary of

the County Auditor at $600 for the ensuing year,

and that of the County Attorney at $400 per

annum. The balance of the year was spent in

routine business.

At the beginning of the next year, 1863, the

board met as required by law, on the 6th of Jan-

uary, and the records state that the full board was
present, but as to the personnel of the body, the

records do not give any information. The Com-
missioners passed a resolution raising the Auditor's

salary from $600 to $800 per year. A considera-

ble portion of the Commissioners's time in this

year was devoted to issues arising from the war,

and making appropriations for filUng the quota.

An account of their proceedings with regard to

this will be found in the ''War Record" of the

county.

In 1864, the County Commissioners met on the

5th of January for organization, and the record of

the meeting says Messrs. Jackson, Adams, Whea-

ton, and Wilson were in attendance. The board

organized by electing H. Wilson, Chairman. A
special meeting was held on the 16th of April, for

the purpose of taking into consideration the pro-

priety of appointing a County Superintendent of

Schools, under authority of an 'act of the Legisla-

ture to provide for a general system of schools.

After consideration they appointed Thomas S.

Buckham, and fixed bis salary at $500 a year.

Nothing of particular importance transpired the

following year, 1865, the time being consumed by

routine business. The Commissioners met in the

early part of January, substantially the same

boardbeing present. They organized by electing

Hudson Wilson to the chair. On the 5th of Jan-

uary, the board raised the salary of the County

Attorney from $450 to $500. On the 6th of Sep-

tember, $400 was appropriated to take care of the

county poor, that amount having been deficient in

the former year's report. The board closed the

year's labors by allowing bills of Commissioners

for services, mileage, etc.

In 1866, the newly elected board met on the 2d

of January, and was composed of the following

gentlemen: Joseph Hagerty, C. A. Wheatou,

Hudson Wilson, C. D. Adams, and John Close.

The board organized by electing Hudson Wilson,

Chairman. At the January session the matter of

a county poor farm was before the board, and the

following is entered upon the records: "The

board having in discussion the propriety of procur-

ing a farm in support of the county poor, and as

the demands upon the county treasury will not

leave sufficient funds to purchase such a farm, in

case we should deem it advisable to provide for the

poor in that way at a subsequent session. The

County Attorney was requested to prepare a bill

to present to the Legislature at this session, au-

thorizing the board of Rice county to issue bonds

in their discretion to an amount not exceeding

$15,000, for the purchase of a county poor farm

and the erection of the necessary buildings

thereon." The County Superintendent of Schools,

Thomas S. Buckham, resigned his position as

such, and the board appointed Myron Wheaton to

fill the place. At the same meeting the salary of
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the Auditor was increased to $1,800 per year. At

a later session of the Commissioners, in September,

1866, the board issued bonds, under authority of

an act approved by the Legislature the Ist of

March, 1866, entitled "An act to authorize the

County Commissioners of Rice county to issue

bonds to provide for the purchase of a county

poor farm.' Forty-three bonds, of denominations

jarying from S50 to $500, .were issued, payable

within eight years, with interest at ten per cent.

In January, 1867, the board met upon the 2d

of the month, and consisted of the following mem-
bers: Hudson Wilson, C. S. Hulbert, C. D.

Adams, John Close, and Joseph Hagerty. The

organization was effected by the election of H.

Wilson, Chairman. They then increased the sal-

ary of the Auditor to $2,000. At the September

session the following resolution was passed by the

board: ^^Besolved, That three members of this

board be a committee to purchase, and are hereby

instructed to negotiate for and purchase lota 1, 2,

and 3, of block 43, town of Faribault, for Rice

county, as an addition for the site for county

buildings. The committee to consist of Hudson
Wilson, John Close, C. S. Hulbert, and the County

Auditor." The said committee were also author-

ized to draw orders on the county treasury in pay-

ment for the same.

At the next session of the board it was "Me-

solved, Thnt -Wie Chairman be instructed to pre-

sent to the next Legislature a bill authorizing the

Commissioners of Rice county to issue bonds to

an amount not exceeding $50,000 for the erection

of county buildings."

In 1868, the board met as usual, in the early

part of January, and organized by electing Hud-
son Wilson, Chairman. The members present

were: Hudson Wilson, John Close, 0. 8. Hul-

bert, and Richard Browne. This year was spent

entirely with routine business; attending to school

districts, tax abatements, and allowing bills.

The year, 1869, was spent by the Commission-

era in much the same manner as the previous year.

The board met on the 5th of January, as required

by law, and organized by electing Hudson Wil-

son, Chairman. The members present were: P.

Filbert, Hudson Wilson, R. Browne, and Dr. Coe.

The regular business coming before the board

during the year was disposed of, and the Com-
missioners closed the year by allowing two pages
of bills.
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The board elected for 1870, met on the ith of

January, and organized by electing Hudson Wil-

son, Chairman, the members being E. Lathrop, R.

Browne, P. Filbert, and Dr. S. B. Coe. Nothing

of importance transpired this year.

The members elected for 1871, as a board of

County Commissioners, were as follows: First

commissioner's district, Peter Filbert; second dis-

trict, E. Lathrop; third district, H.Wilson; fourth

district, C. D. Adams; fifth district, Richard

Browne. The seat of Peter Filbert was afterward

declared vacant by the board on the ground that

he was not a resident of the district at the time of

electi<jn, and Mr. O. Osmandson was made his auc-

cessor.

At a meeting of the board on the 2d pf Jan-

uary, 1872, Hudson Wilson was re-elected Chair-

man. The members for the year being J. C. Clos-

son, E. Lathrop, C. D. Adams, and Richard

Browne. At this session the salary of the County

Attorney was fixed at $700 per year. It was also

decided that all the county buildings should be

insured.

The following year, 1873, the board met on the

7th of January, composed of the same gentlemen

as was in the last board, with the exception that

Hudson Wilson was dropped out and T. B. Clem-

ent appeared in his place, and the board was or-

ganized by electing the latter gentleman Chair-

man. They then spent some time in "iburning re-

deemed county orders. The next matter taken

into consideration by the board was the erection

of a Court House and Jail, and a bill was drawn

up for preaentation to the next Legislature, to

authorize the County Commiaaioners to issue bonda

for the erection of thoae buildings, not exceeding

$50,000 in amount, and the aame to be submitted

to a vote of the people. This was the same, in sub-

stance, as the resolution passed in 1867. The sal-

ary of the County Superintendent of Schools was

fixed at $1,000 per year.

At a session of the board in May, the building

committee was authorized to purchase lots six and

seven in block forty-four, of Patrick MoGreevy,

at a cost not to exceed $5,000; they were also di-

rected to advertise for bids on the same. In

July, the contract of completing the stone work on

the basement of the Court House was let to

Pfieffer & Co., for the sum of $9,615. The bid of

Babcock & Woodruff was accepted. They agreed

to do carpenter work in the basement, also to fur-
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nish everything and complete the building from

the water tables up, according to certain plans and

Bpeciflcations, for the sum of $26,515.

At a session of the board in Aiigust of this year,

it was resolved as follows: "That the board of

County Commissioners of Eice county acknowl-

edge themselves and the citizens of Rice county

under great and lasting obligations to the Hon.

H. M. Eice, of St. Paul, from whom our county

takes its name, for a large and valuable collection

of books and documents, consisting of upwards of

200 volumes, recently presented by that gentle-

man, the same being the first contribution to our

county library."

At the August session of the board, the building

committee reported that they had advertised for

bids, and let the contract for building the addi-

tion to the Jail, according to plans and specifica-

tions made by C. N. Daniels, architect, to Messrs.

Sibbald, Hatch, Johnson and McOall, to be com-

pleted on the 1st of October, 1873. A contract

was also made with Henry Peltier for brick at

$8.25 per thousand. Bradey & Greenslade con-

tracted to furnish iron work on the jail for $2,300.

On the 1st of July, 1873, the County Commis-

sioners issued fifty bonds of the denomination of

$1,000 each, and payable from ten to twenty years

from date, with interest at 9 per cent, in payment

for county buildings.

In 1874, the Commissioners met on the 6th of

January, with the following in attendance:

T. B. Clement, H. H. White, J. G. Scott, J. F.

Healey, and J. 0. Closson. The board organized

by electing T. B. Clement, Chairman. At a ses-

sion in March, $400 was voted to improve the

buildings on the County Poor Farm. Considera-

ble time was spent discussing county buildings.

The board elected for 1875, were: T. C. Adams,

H. H. White, T. B. Clement, J. F. Healey, and J.

G. Scott, and they met on the 5th of January, and

organized by re-electing T. B. Clement to the

chair. ' Messrs. Scott and Adams were appointed

by the Commissioners as a committee to borrow

for the county the sum of $5,000, payable in one

year.

The following year, 1876, was spent by the

board without any important disclosures, nothing

of especial interest being transacted, and tax

matters consuming considerable time. The Com-
missioners for the year were : L. W. Denison, J.

G. Scott, T. C. Adams, H. H. White, and M. Han-

ley. The board held their first meeting on the

4th of January, and organized by electing L. W,
Denison, Chairman.

The board in 1877 were: A. P. Morris, Charles

Sweetzer, T. C. Adams, M. Hanley, and L. W.
Denison, and they met for organization on the 2d

of January. L. W. Denison was elected Chair-

man. They spent some time in discussing and

attending to the bills from pursuers of the North-

field bank robbers.

In 1878, the board first met on the 2d of Jan-

uary, and was attended by Christian Deike, A. P-

Morris, L. W. Denison, Charles Sweetzer, and M.

Hanley. The Chainnan elected wasL.W. Den-

ison. At a subsequent meeting the board author-

ized the Chairman to provide a suitable book-

case for the library presented bv the Hon. H. M.

Kice.

In 1879, the County Commissioners were D.

Cavanaugh, Mr. Morris, M. Hanley, Charles

Sweetzer, and Mr. Deike, and D. Cavanaugh was

elected Chairman.

In July a petition was received for aid in build-

ing a bridge across Straight Eiver on the line be-

tween Steele and Eice counties. A committee

was appointed to meet the Commissioners of Steele

county, and get them to bear a share of the ex-

pense. Nothing of any importance to the general

reader has transpired since. Below are given the

Commissioners who have served since the above:

Commissioners for 1880: D. Cavanaugh, Chair-

man, John S. Way, Charles Sweetzer, M. Hanley,

and Mr. Deike.

Commissioners for 1881 : D. Cavanaugh, Chair-

man, John S. Way, Charles Sweetzer, M. Hanley,

and Mr. Deike.

Commissioners for 1882: Charles Sweetzer,

Chairman, T. O'Grady, E. J. Healey, Mr. Deike,

and John S. Way. The last meeting was held by

the above board in May, 1882.

REaisTRY OP Deeds.—This office was opened

in 1854, in Mendota, the county seat of what was

then known as Dakota county, the territory then

embracing the county of Eice. It was kept in

Mendota until late in 1855, when Dakota was di-

vided and Eice county formed; the records per-

taining to Eice county were then transcribed and

moved to Faribault. Isaac Hammond was first

elected Eegister of Deeds of Rice county; C. C.

Perkins was appointed deputy, and did most of

the registering.
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Tbansfer op Land.—The earliest transfer of

land recorded is stated as being on the 5th of Oc-

tober, 1854. As it will be of interest, it is below

given in full:

'^Whereat, J. Q, and H. T. Scott have this day

purchased of Alexander Faribault the following

property, cornering at a point 28 rods east and

14 rods north from the southeast corner of the

town of Faribault, and embracing two acres, with

the northwest corner at the above named point,

being 18x36 lods, for the fcillowing consideration,

viz: The said J. G. and H. T. Scott to build in a

proper manner a good steam saw-mill on said

land, and put the same in successful operation

within one year from this date. Now, know ye!

that if the said J. G. and H. Y. Scott shall build

or cause to be buUt the said steam saw-mill, in

time and place aforesaid, then we, Alexander Faia-

bault, Luke Hulett, and Walter Morris bind our-

selves in the penal sum of $6,000, which sum is

considered double the value of said mill, to make

the said J. G. and H. Y. Scott a good and suffi-

cient general'warranty deed for and to the aforesaid

piece of land.

Given under our hands and seals this 5th day

of October, 1854.

(Signed) Alex. Faeibault, [Seal]

Ltteb Hulett, [Seal]

(Witnesses) Walteb Mobkis. [Seal]

G. H. Faeibaitlt.

E. J. Cetjmp.

Following the above is recorded a quit claim

deed conveying a piece of land from William Mor-

ris to John W. North for the consideration of

$1,000. The document is dated the 29th of De-

cember, 1854, and is witnessed by J. J. Noah and

H. H. Sibley.

The first mortgage placed on record was made
on the 20th of October, 1855, in which Isaac H.

Presho, for the sum of $400, mortgages the south-

east quarter of section five, township 111, range

20, containing 160 acres, to F. Fuller. This doc-

ument was signed, sealed and delivered in the

presence of O. F. Smith and Thomas F. Towne.

Immediately following the above document on

record is a mortgage dated the 11th of October,

1855, from Norbert Paquin to Alexander Fari-

bault in the sum of $350.

The register's office, in 1882, contains thirty-

four large volumes of mortgage records, fifty

eight volumes of deed records, and three volumes

of miscellaneous records. Under these heads the

records of Wills, Estrays, Bonds for Deeds, Offi-

cial Bonds, Power of Attorney, etc., are not classed

but are kept in separate books.

The present officers in this department are I. N.

Donalson and M. H. Cole, Register and Deputy,

and the affairs of the office receive attention which

gives satisfaction to aU concerned.

Clebk of Coubt.—This office was established

in Rice county in the early part of 1856, and the

records extend back to that date. J. J. Noah was

the first Clerk of Court, with the office first in

Mendota. The earliest record is a marriage,

dated the 15th of January, 1856, in which E. J.

Crump, a Justice of the Peace, testified that with

their mutual consent he had joined in holy wed-

lock Nathan A. Lease and Rachel Lightner, both

of Rice county. The witnesses to this interesting

event were John and Martha Morgan.

Henry C. Masters and Miss Anna Randle are

recorded as having been joined in the bonds of

matrimony on the 24th of February, 1856, by

Walter Morris, Esq., in the presence of Mr. Beach

and Mrs. M. M. Willis, at the residence of Russell

Randle.

The first minister whose ordination was recorded

inRice county, was Morgan A. Noble, who was or-

dained io 1845, at Peoria, Illinois, and it appears

as at first, transferred to Rice county books. The
first record of this kind that has a date attached

was made on the 11th of March, 1858, and li-

censed Rev. Henry C. Hazen. It is signed by H.

Ball. The present efficient officer in this depart-

ment is 0. L. Palmer.

FiNANOiALi.—Below is given the substance of

the financial reports of the Treasurers of Rice

county for the last few years, and a statement

showing the present condition of the finances of

the county. From the report of Treasurer Straub

for the year ending the 1st of March, 1878, the

following is gleaned:

Cash balance on hand March 1, 1877 $ 24,375.29

Total receipts from all sources during

year 134,010.61

Total $158,385.90

Total disbursements during year end-

ing March 1st, 1878 $125,378.13

Balance cash on hand and placed to

the credit of various funds $ 33,007.77

For the year ending March 1st, 1879, the total
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assets of the county, as shown by the Auditor's

statement, are as follows:

©ourt House and grounds $ 55,500.00

Jail, grounds, and improvements. . .

.

10,000.00

Poor farm and improvements 7,675.00

Personal property on poor farm 2,952.86

Cash credit to revenue, poor, and
bond funds 5,130.74

Unpaid county taxes 23,472.63

Total assets $104,731.23

The liabilities were shown as follows:

Court House bonds outstanding $ 50,000.00

Poor farm bonds outstanding 4,700.00

Accrued interest on above bonds .... 3,254.59

County orders outstanding 1,625.67

Total liabilities $ 59,580.26

Assets in excess of liabilities $45,150.97

Total receipts for this year were .... $187,352.98

Total disbursements 154,530.71

Balance on hand March 1st, 1879 $ 32,822.27

For the year ending March 1st, 1880

:

Total assets $107,026.14

Total liabilities 59,428.24

Assets in excess .of liabilities. . . $ 47,597.90

Totnl receipts during the year $174,911.09

Total disbursements for the year. . . . 147,032.76

Balance on hand $ 27,878.33

The salaries paid this year amounted $9,048.61.

The expense of the county poor was $7,360.18.

For the year ending March 1st, 1881:

Total receipts during the year $138,878.79

Balance on hand at commencement of

year 27,878.33

Total $166,757.12

Total disbursements during the year $130,603.18

Balance on hand 36,153.94

Total $166,757.12

For the year ending March 1st, 1882

:

ASSETS.

Court House grounds and improve-
ments $ 50,000.00

Jail grounds and improvements 10,000.00

Poor farm and improvements 8,500.00

Personal property on poor farm per
inventory 2,141.25

Cash credit to county revenue and
bond funds 14,828,54

Unpaid county taxes 22,668.09

Total $108,132.88

LIABILITIES.

Court house bonds $50,000.00

Accrued interest on above bonds 3,000.00

County orders outstanding 1,530.20

Total $54,530.20

Assets over liabilities 53,602.68

EBOEIPTS.

Balance on hand as per last year's

report $ 36,153.94

Total receipts during year endirig

March, 1882 148,665.69

Total $184,819.63

DISBTJESBMENTS.

Total disbursements for the year . . $ 139,989.90

Balance on hand March 1st, 1882 . . . 44,829.73

Total $184,819.63

BICE COUNTY IN THE STATE GOVERNMENT.

From the time of the organization of Dakota

county, in 1851, until 1855, this district, the sixth,

was represented in the Council by Martin McLeod
and Joseph K. Brown. In 1855, the district be-

came Dakota, Scott, and Kioe counties, and in the

Council were H. G. Bailey and Samuel Dooley,

who served until the State was organized. In the

House from this district during the corresponding

time were, James McBoal, Benjamin H. EandaU,

A. E. Ames, Hezekiah Fletcher, William H. No-

bles, H. H. Sibley, D. M. Hanson, M. T. Murphy,

O. C. Gibbs, John C. Ide, J. T. Galbraith, John

M. Holland, O. P. Adams, J. J. McVey, L. M.
Brown, F. J. Whitlook, Morgan L. Noble, and

Charles Jewett.

In the constitutional convention the representa-

tives, or delegates, from this district on the repub-

lican side were: John W. North, Thomas Bolles,

Oscar P. Perkins, Thomas Poster, Thomas J. Gal-

braith, and D. D. Dickinson; and on the demo-

cratic side: H. H. Sibley, Eobert Kennedy, Dan-

iel J. Burns, Frank Warner, William A. Davis.

Joseph Burwell, Henry G. Bailey, and Andrew
Keegan.

The senators from Rice county since the organ-

ization of the State have been as follows: Michael
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Cook, George E. Skinner, D. H. Frost, John M.

Berry, Levi Nutting, Gordon E. Cole, O. P. Per-

kins, George F. Baohelder, John H. Case, Thomas

8. Buckham, J. M. Archibald, and T. B. Clement.

The representatives in the House have been:

John L. Sohofield, John H. Parker, Warren Ven-

tress, E. N. Leavens, Luke Hulett, Ferris Webster,

J. D. Hoskins, Charles Wood, George H. Wood-

ruff, Caleb Clossen, Charles Taylor, A. N. Nourse,

A.H. Bullis, J. S. Archibald, Isaac Pope, Charles

A. Wheaton, Christian Erd, Jesse Ames, W. J.

Sibbison, E. Hollister, Henry Draught, WUliam
Close, Ara Barton, Henry Piatt, O. Osmundson,

John Hutchinson, H. M. Matteson, Elias Hobbs,

S. C. Dunham, J. B. Hopkins, Andrew Thompson,

B. M. James, H. E. Barron, J. H. Passon, H. B.

Martin, L. M. Healy, T. B. Clement, J. -8. Allen,

Joseph Covert, P. A. Noble, C. H. Grant, G. W.
Walrath, P. Plaisanoe, J. H. Pettys, Hiram
Soriver, A. W, MoKinstry, C. B. Coe, "E. C.

Knowles, J. W. Thompson, John Thompson, Stiles

M. West, L. W. Denison, J. S. Haselton, Seth H.

Kenney, A. Thompson, W. R. Baldwin, P. Plais-

ance, S. P. Stewart, R. A. Mott, and John Thomp-
son.

Rice county has not been remarkably well rep-

resented in the State offices, but those who have

occupied the most prominent position will be men-

tioned : General James Shields was a resident of

Faribault, and was a United States Senator; John
M. Berry has been for seventeen years Associate

Justice of the Supreme Court of the State; Ed-
ward W. Deike was State Treasurer; Charles Mc-
Ilrath was State Auditor; Gordon E. Cole was At-

torney General for six years; Charles R. Lucas,

O. D. Brown, and W. P. Jewett were chief clerks

in the Auditor's oflBce, and there may have been

others that have been overlooked.

CENSUS AND OTHBB STATISTICS.

The census of the State for the six census years

that have occurred since the first Territorial or-

ganization shows the following numbers

:

1850 6,077

I860 172,023

1865 250,099

1870 439,706

1875 597,407

1880 780,778

This is certainly a healthy growth. As to the

population of the cities in the State, Faribault is

the seventh and Northfield is the eighteenth, ac-

cording to the United States census of 1880.

The census of Rice county by sex, nativity, and

color reads thus:

Males 11,678

Females 10,807

Natives 15,691

Foreign 6,789

White 22,383

Colored 97

This includes one Chinaman, one Japanese, and

fifty-three Indians and half-breeds.

The several subdivisions of the county are thus

peopled

:

Bridgewater, including Dundas village. . . 1,683

Dundas ViUage 589

Cannon City 1,188

Erin 846

Faribault 5,415

Forest 858

Morristown 1,422

Northfield and city 8,150

Northfield City 2,296

Richland 957

Shieldsyille 781

Warsaw 1,018

Webster 872

Wells 1,100

Wheatland 1,464

Wheeling 917

Walcott 825

Marriages in the county in 1881 208

Divorces during the year 14

Naturalization in 1881 122

Of these latter there were sixtyHwo Scandina-

vians, and twenty-seven Germans, Prussians, Bohe-

mians, and Poles, no Irish, twenty-six English

and Scotch, and seven other nationalities.

Births in Rice county in 1880 772

Deaths 340

Natural increase 432

In point of population the county of Rice is

the seventh in the state of Minnesota. The num-

ber of inhabitants in the county for the several

census years since its organization were as follows

:

1860 7,543

1865 10,977

1870 16,083

1875 20,622

1880 22,480
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The western emigration within a few years has

actually decreased the number of people within

some of the counties of the State, but Bice has

more than held its own.

Births in the county in 1881 703
Deaths 308

Of the latter the principal causes were:

Consumption 40
Diphtheria 29
Pneumonia 30
Brain diseases 17

Most of the last were children. The large per-

centage of pulmonary diseases, which is not ma-

terially unlike other parts of the country, is due,

it is claimed, to the fact of the large number seek-

ing this, in common with other parts of the State,

as a relief from these diseases when in an ad-

vanced stage and beyond the reach of local sani-

tary conditions.

In 1873, there were 168 weddings in the county,

528 births and 256 deaths.

Items like these are interpolated that a general

idea of the progress of the county may be gathered

without haying to wade through so many statistics

as a yearly statement would involve.

Agbicultueatj Statistics.
—

"While it seems de-

sirable in this work to avoid dry statistics, there

are certain facts involving figures which are

most valuable, particularly by way of comparison.

For instance: it is known in a general way, that

the wheat belt has been traveling westward ever

since it was first started at Plymouth, Massachu-

setts, when the pilgrim fathers landed there two

hundred and sixty years ago. At first it moved on
itp westward march, not in a very rapid way, until

fifty years ago the valley of the Genesee in New
York was the great wheat raising region. But when
Michigan, Wisconsin, and Minnesota were opened
up for cultivation, the wheat growing center be-

gan its kangaroo jumps toward the setting sun,

and Minnesota is now its resting place, but how
soon a flying leap will land it in Dakota, time

alone can determine. Some of the figures here

presented may help to a prognosis in this regard.

The account begins with the cereals.

Acreage and crops in Eice county of the four

principal cereals, according to the United States

census of 1880

:

Acreage. BusheU.
Wheat 74,873 907,514
Oats 12,726 507,522
Com 11,524 405,990
Barley 890 22,789

The acreage of wheat in the State in 1881, has

simply held its own, although twenty-three

counties have had a decrease, but Bice county is

not in the list. The acreage in sugar cane in 1880

was 312, the number of gallons of syrup pro-

duced was 39,698, or 131.45 per acre.

The rye crop in 1880 was not large in Eice

county, only forty-eight acres, with a yield of

935 bushels, an average of 19.68.

Buckwheat had thirty-nine acres and 768 bush-

els—19.69 as an average.

Potatoes, 947 acres, yielding 91,651 bushels

—

96.79 as an average.

Bean crop, sixteen acres, yelding 342 bushels,

an average of 21.37 per acre.

Cultivated hay, 4,732 acres, 7,046 tons.

Flax seed, 1,399 acres, 11,622 bushels.

Apple trees in bearing 6,937. Trees growing,

23,070. Bushels of apples raised, 2,406.

Tobacco crop, 945 pounds.

Bees and honey. Hives, 583; honey, 3,502

pounds.

Maple sugar, 4,650 pounds. Syrup, 1,749 gallons.

Cows, 5.505, butter, 350,855 pounds. Cheese,

16,290 pounds.

Sheep, 7,278; wool, 30,605 pounds.

Horses in the county, 7,570.

The whole number of farms in the county in

1881, was 1,867.

The above crop statistics are taken from the

census reports of 1880.

FBOST.

As to the time when frost may be expected in

Eice county, the following table gives the history

of this uncertain event, as to its earliest appear-

ance for seventeen years:

1865—October 15.

1866—'August 15.

1867—September 1.

1868— " 15.

1869— " 26.

1870—October 13.

1871—September 19.

1872— " 27.

1873— " 7.

1874— " 14.

1875—August 22.

1876—September 26.

1877— " 17.

1878— " 10.

1879— " 19.

1880— " 7.

1881— " 28.

The average time being about the middle of

September.
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BIOE COUNTY IN THE WAB OP THE BBBELLION

—

NAMES OP SOliDIBES WHO PAETIOIPATBD.

Lookiiig at Kice county to-day we can hardly

realize that when the war broke upon the country,

in April, 1861, it had not been settled ten years,

and that Minnesota as a State of the American

Union was hardly three years old, but, notwith-

standing its own soil had not been fully subjuga-

ted to man's use, very material aid was promptly

furnished to assist in subjugating the rebellious

States. The feeling here prevailed among the

majority of the people that the Union must be

preserved.

The sights and the sounds that were visible and

audible in every city, village, and hamlet north of

Mason's and Dixon's hne, were duplicated here.

The celerity with which men abandoned the pur-

suits of peace to take up those of war, was most

marvelous, and in this sketch, in addition to the

names of the soldiers who were credited to this

county, various incidents will be alluded to, that

the methods, and the character of the patriotism

which was so well nigh universal, may be remem-

bered by coming generations whose gratitude was
thus merited.

ladies' soldiees- aid society.

On the 17th of October, when the idea of the

magnitude of the struggle began to dawn upon
the average northern mind, and the notion that

the rebellion could be put down in three months

was thoroughly dissipated, the patriotic ladies of

Faribault met at Metropolitan Hall, and organ-

ized a society to assist in supplying the sick and
wounded soldiers with necessary articles for their

comfort. The membership was quite large, and
embraced the leading women of the place, whose
services in the double cause of humanity and
patriotism were a new thing in warfare, and re-

vealed the true position to be occupied by the gen-

tler sex, while their husbands, sons, and fathers

were at the front forming walls of steel as a pro-

tection to the present and future firesides of this

great Eepublic.

The contrast between the wars of ages past, be-

fore there was any military surgery even, and this

war, with its medical corps, supplemented by the

collossal Sanitary and Christian commissions that

were kept supplied with material by just such
societies as this, was indeed most striking and re-

markable, revealing, in a clear hght, the progress-

ive age of the world in which we live, where the

actual brotherhood of man is practically exempli-

fied by such benefactions.

The first officers of this association were: Presi-

dent, Mrs. Bemis; Vice-President, Mrs. 8. B.

Eockaway; Secretary, Mrs. E. J. Crump;.Treas-
urer, Mrs. May Fisk; Committee, Mrs. J. H. Win-
ter, Mrs. A. J. Tanner, Mrs. W. fl. Stevens, Mrs.

S. P. Van Brunt, and Mrs. A. P. Tula.

To show the character of the contributions sent

to the sick and wounded soldiers, as well as to those

in camp, a list of articles furnished from North-

field as their second installment, and which was

forwarded on the 2d of June, 1862, is subjoined.

The invoice consisted of: Eight quilts, seventeen

pillows, two dozen woolen socks, six coarse combs,

ten fine combs, nine dressing gowns, one pair

slippers, nine new shirts, seven old shirts, eight

pair of drawers, one dozen brown towels, nine cot-

ton sheets, one linen sheet, twenty-one pillow-

cases, twenty-seven linen towels, forty cotton nap-

kins, five dozen compresses—one of hnt, four linen

handkerchiefs, fifty -four roUs of bandages, one

package of linen and cotton rags, eighteen palm-

leaf fans, one pair of shoes, three hair brushes, five

quires of paper, twelve packages of envelopes,

twelve drinking cups, nine cakes of toilet soap,

one package of tea, one package of cloves, one

package of com starch, one package of linen

thread, five papers of needles, three and one-half

dozen buttons, three and one-half dozen shirt but-

tons, one cake of beeswax, one package of hooks

and eyes, steel pens, sponges, one pair scissors,

two pounds of castile soap, five books, and two

Bibles.

Collections of a like character were made all

over the county, especially during the last three

years of the war, and it can readilv be seen what an

enormous amount of sanitary stores were sent.

In July, 1862, G. P. Batohelder offered a private

bounty of $10 to any man who would enlist. At

this time the government was paying .$25 in ad-

vance, $3 extra, and one month in advance to all

who enlisted.

On the ith of July, 1862, the patriotism of the

town of Faribault was stimulated by a celebration,

with Dr. Charles Jewett as the orator.

On the 12th of August, 1862, there was a war

meeting at Metropolitan Hall in Faribault, at

which speeches were made in the interest of re-
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cruiting. Later in the history of the war more

substantial inducements were offered in the shape

of large bounties,- if money is really more sub-

stantial than patriotism.

In the summer of 1862, Hon. Mr. Magoon was

in Faribault recruiting for the Sixth Eegiment.

Captain Parker was home in the summer on sick

and recruiting leave.

Up to August, 1862, under the calls the State

had to raise, 5,360 men, and the proportion for

Rice county was 336. Some of the residents went

to Canada to avoid the draft, as did men from

every State in the north. Levi Nutting was ap-

pointed Provost Marshal for the State. He is

still an honored resident of Faribault. The Can-

non River Guards, Capt. Pettit, recruited here,

marched on the 20th of August, 1862, with ninety-

four officers and men. Lieut. Cannough was com-

missioned to recruit for the Eighth Minnesota

Regiment.

The board of County Commissioners, on the 8th

of August, 1862, took up war matters, and ap-

propriated money from the county fund, and

provided that the sum of $20 be paid to every vol-

unteer, the number not to exceed 200, who should

on or before the 15th of August, enlist in the

Rice County Guards, the Emmet Guards, or any

other company organizing in Rice county. On
the 2d of September another bounty of $20 was

appropriated to all who would volunteer to fill

the quota. After voting these bounties it was de-

clared as follows, by the board

:

"To be the intent and meaning of this resolu-

tion, together with the appropriation, passed

August 8th, 1862, to provide for the payment
herein-above specified, to each and every person

who shall have voluntarily enlisted in the service

of the United States, as above mentioned. Pro-

viding, the number does not exceed filling Rice

county's quota."

On the 8th of January, 1863, the county board
Resolved—"That each town in the county con-

stitute a military district:" This was done in

accordance with a law which had been passed by
the Legislature of the State to organize all the

available men,, as to age and physical qualifica-

tions, into militia companies. In accordance with
the above law, which was passed on the 29th of

September, 1862, the election in the various dis-

tricts for commissioned ofiicers was held on the
7th of April, 1863. Some of the districts hav-

ing failed to elect, the officers were subsebuently

appointed by 4he board. The names of the officers

of these companies are not here given because

many of them never went to the front, and the

names of those who actually served will appear

in the subjoined list.

In January, 1864, a resolution was adopted to

equalize the bounty by the payment of $20 to

certain soldiers who had enlisted previous to

August 21st, 1862.

In 1864, the question of voting relief by the

county to the families of soldiers widows and

families was discussed, and resolutions were

offered in the board, but opponents of the meas-

ure succeeded in defeating it, which may not, per-

haps, be an evidence of want of patriotism, but

the entertainment of a doubt as to whether this

was the proper method to extend relief to this most

deserving class, so many natural protectors of

whom had sacrificed their lives for the safety of

our common home.

The Rice County Guards, Capt. Cutter, was an-

other local company; also the McClellan Guards.

Up to August, 1862, Morristown, with less than

100 legal voters, sent sixty men into the ranks.

At the time of the Sioux Massacre, in August,

1862, Rice county promptly sent a force of cavalry

to the front. Mr. Faribault had ninety men in

the saddle very promptly. The Rice County

Rangers was the first company to report at St.

Peter's. Maj. Dike was also authorized to raise a

company to operate on the frontier. Lieut. West
*

was likewise engaged in recruiting a cavalry com-

pany from the coimty. In October, 1862, the re-

cruiting was twenty-two ahead of the quota in

Rice county.

The Mounted Rangers, raised to operate against

the Sioux, and commanded by Col. Samuel Mc-

Phail, was partly recruited here by Lieut. O. D.

Brown. During that terrible time quite large

numbers from Rice county had their first expe-

rience in camp life in that campaign. While the

troops were engaged with the Sioux the draft was

impending with its alarming uncertainty, and its

distressingly few blanks, which, unlike usual

raffles, all were anxious to draw, and so the Gover-

nor sent a telegram to the President asking that

the draft be postponed and the time for paying

bounties for enlistments extended, and here is a

copy of his characteristic reply

:
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"Washington, Aug. 27th, 1862.

To Omernor Ramsey—^Yours received. Attend

to the Indians! If the draft cannot proceed of

course it will not proceed. Necessity knows no

law. The government cannot extend the time.

A. Lincoln."

Several clergymen from Rice county were in the

ranks, among them Eev. D. B. Anderson, a Baptist;

Eev. L. Pease, a Methodist; Eev. Lauren Armsby,

pastor of the Congregational church in Faribault,

was the chaplain of the Eighth Minnesota; Eev.

E. E. Lathrop, of the Tenth; Eev. C. G. Bowdish

also enlisted. Eev. L. Webb was in an Illinois

regiment.

Charles E. Davidson was the interesting army

correspondent of the Eepublican at Faribault.

He was a member of Company G, First Eegiment

Minnesota . Volunteers. He died in November,

1862, at Bledsoes Island, New York harbor, where

he was carried after the "seven days fight." He
left a wife and many friends in Faribault.

The Ladies' Aid Society in Faribault gave a

grand entertainment in the winter of 1863, Mrs.

H. Wilson was President of the society at that

time.

In June, 1863, there were several Indians at

Mr. Alexander Faribault's, and a rumor was cir-

culated to the effect that some of them had been

connected with the New Ulm massacre, but Mr.

Faribault promptly set the matter right. Those

who were with him were Wacon, or Le Clare and

• family, who came here when Faribault did, and

have been here ever since; Papa and family and a

widow and two children, the wife and mother of

Good Thunder, who assisted in saving captives

who were sent here for their safety. They were

all "good Injuns."

In the fall of 1863, Capt. E. A. Eice was at

home on recruiting service.

The Fourth Minnesota Eegiment re-enlisted in

the winter of 1864, and came home on a veteran

furlough.

Company G, of the First Regiment, had a like

home run, and a reception. The committee of re-

ception on the part of the citizens consisted of

Maj. William H. Dike, H. Wilson, E. N. Leavens,

G. F. Batchelder, R. A. Mott, and a suitable

honor was accorded them.

In February, 1864, a bounty of $1K was voted

by Faribault, and sixteen or seventeen were en-

listed under the new call.

Charles Jewett, who had gone to Massachusetts,

was commissioned as a Lieutenant in the Fifty-

fourth Eegiment of that State.

Some of Company I, of the Fourth Eegiment,

re-enlisted and visited home. Dr. Jewett had

three sons in the army; one of them, John, was

killed in battle.

In 1864, Eev. L. Webb was commissioned to

raise a company.

G. L. Porter was a recruiting oflBcer for heavy

artUlery in 1864.

Major Michael Cook, of the Tenth Eegiment,

was killed at the battle of Nashville; liis friends

and neighbors paid due respect to his memory on

the 27th of December, 1864.

In April, 1865, nearly $1,000 worth of sanitary

stores were sent south.

Early in the year 1865, a Soldiers' Families Aid

Societv was in operation, and festivals were in

order to raise money.

It may be a matter of interest to see a state-

ment of the number of troops called for by the

President during the war.

CAliliS FOE TKOOPS.

April 16, 1861 75,000
May 4th, 1861 68,784

July to December, 1861 500,000
July 1st, 1862 300,000

August 4th, 1662 300,000
Draft, summer of 1863 300,000

February 1, 1864 500,000
July 18, 1864 500,000

Total 2,543,784

As the different companies came home at the

expiration of their term of service, or at the close

of the war, they were handsomely received. On
the most important occasion of the kind General

Nutting made the welcome address, which was

responded to by Eev. Mr. Lathrop. Of course

there was the dinner and the usual concomitants.

The following is a list of soldiers from Eice

county, as prepared from the Adjutant General's

report. Great care has been taken to make this

list as nearly complete as possible, but it is not

unlikely that some defenders of their country, who

had a greater regard for their duty than for pre-

serving a record of their deeds, have been omitted

:

FIRST EEGIMENT INFANTY.

William H. Dike, Major.

OOMPANT F.

William Oolville, Jr., Captain.
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COMPANY G.

Lewis McKune, Oaptain.

Nathan S. Messick, First Lieutenant, promoted

Captain.

John J. McCoUum, First Lieutenant.

William E. Smith, Second Lieutenant.

Joseph H. Spencer, First Sergeant.

Charles 0. Parker, Sergeant.

George A. Williams, "

John J. McCollum, "

James De Grey, Corporal.

Edward Tuman, "

John Logan, "

Edward HoUister,

Charles E. Hess, "

Philo Hall,

Frank Dickinson, "

William H. Eamsey, "

Louis E. Hanneman, Musician.

John E. Strothman, "

Francis Oibson, Wagoner.

PRIVATES.

Adams Areman.

Edward H. Basset.

Henry Borchert.

Jefferson G. Baker.

George E. Buckmar,

Fridelin Boll.

Phineas L. Dunham.
James L. Dubois.

John Gatzke.

Jonathan Goodrich.

Joseph L. House.

Martin Healy.

Caleb B. Jackson.

Benjamin H. Jewett.

George A. Kenney.

Samuel Laird.

William Myers.

Asa Miller.

James L. Nichols.

Edward Potter.

JohnM. Ehover.

Lewis G. Eeynolds.

Peter W. Eamsdell.

Walter S. Eeed.

William A. Books.

Julius Schultz.

Ohauncey Squirer.

James T. Sawyer.

Charles E. Webster.

Marvin D. Andress.

Dennis L. Barton.

Norman B. Barron.

Charles M. Benson.

Juseph G. Bemis.

William G. Coen.

Charles E. Davison.

Stephen E. Ferguson.

Bobert Gregg.

Ezra D. Haskins.

George I. Hopkins.

John Holther.

Albert Johnson.

Anthony Jones.

Samuel Lilly.

George Magee.

John McKinster.

Edward Z. Needham.

George W. Olmsted.

William Potter.

Samuel Beynolds.

James E. Eussell.

Benjamin Eoberts.

Neri Eeed.

Banteus Soule.

George P. Sawyer.

Almon 0. Strickland.

Edgar Tiffany.

Theodore Williams.

Henry Clay Whitney. Eichard M. Wattles.

David Wood.

M. M. Curtis.

William A. Brooks.

Nathaniel Eeed.

G. J. MoCullough.

J. M. Babcock.

M. Haskell.

Edward E. Verplank.

BBORUITS.

William D. Beimett.

S. J. Pearl.

Charles Taylor.

J. W. Peasley.

S. S. Gifford.

COMPANY H PKIVATES.

Andrew J. Brock.

Newton Brown.

Henry C. Cady.

John Clausen.

William Cagger.

SECOND

Columbus Brock.

Franklin Bauman.

Mortimer Canfleld.

Dennis Crandall.

Samuel S. Cronkhite.

REGIMENT INFANTRY COMPANY A.

PRIVATE.

Appoles Owen.

COMPANY B PRIVATES.

James Bradley. Stephen E. Childs.

William McStotts. George Whitehouse.

OOMPANt 0. PRIVATES.

George B. Newell. Edwin H. Wood.

COMPANY D. PRIVATES.

Martin Keloher. Joseph Kartack.

William MUls.

COMPANY P PRIVATE.

Gabriel Lachap&ll.

COMPANY G. PRIVATE.

Joseph Clute.

COMPANY H. PRIVATES.

Joseph Capron. Charles Hodgen.

COMPANY I.—PRIVATES.

Ira Halladay. Edward Kellogg.

Frank Snyder. Hiram Swain.

COMPANY K.

David S. Coverdale, Corporal; promoted to

Sergeant, Second Lieutenant, First Lieutenant,

and Captain.

PRIVATES.

Thomas Adams. John W. Gould.

Samuel Gould. Eiley J. Phillbrook.

Jonathan Poe. Cyrus S. Bondurant.

Andrew L. Emery. Francis Schofleld.

THIRD REGIMENT INEANTRY. COMPANY B.

Olin C. EoUin, Second Lieutenant; promoted
to First Lieutenant and Captain,
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John Dana.

EUasT. Taylor.

Coleman M. Wood.

WUliam H. Wood.

PEIVATBS.

William L. Sloan.

Charles Wood.

Jacob Balyet.

COMPANY E.—PEIVATE.

Newton Vaughan.

COMPANY F. PEITATES.

Eben P. Jones.

Charles Russell.

Stewart Richmond.
Eugene H. Stone.

Johnson R. Truax-

Edward A. Vaughn.

William A. Bowe.

Edward S. Kellogg.

Cicero T. Richmond.
Francis J. Ridgeway.

Thomas Sandy.

Alonzo Verrill.

James H. Wright.

COMPANY H.

David Misner, First Lieutenant; promoted to

Captain, Company C, and Major, First Minnesota

Heavy Artillery.

Ahnon C. Strickland, First Sergeant.

James M. Moran, Sergeant; promoted Second

Lieutenant.

Leonard K. Flanders, Corporal; promoted

Sergeant.

John Cooper, Corporal.

WilUam T. Alvey, "

Albert W. Stewart, Wagoner.

PRIVATES.

Isaac A. Barrick.

Thamas Bradshaw.

Thomas Caroey.

Donald Gray.

James L. Haskett.

William A. Hussey.

Eliel W. Lawton.

Michael Logne.

FeUx A. Myrick.

Alexandria Reed.

Allen B. Donaldson.

Arthur H. Erwin.

William Foster.

George W. Hall.

Heber R. Hare.

Solomon Crosby.

Alvin Engle.

John G. Coimer.

Adam Eckhart.

WUliam H. Jackson.

David Lilly.

COMPANY

Alexander Reed.

George S. Bassett.

Edwin A. Biggs.

George Ervin.

Martin V. B. Hall.

Shefleld 8. Hay ward.

William A. Lamb.

Albert H. Lewis.

Robert Lumsden.

William Owen.

John Slater.

Malon B. Eckhart.

Lovell Eaton.

John Gibson.

Asa Howe.

Benjamin B. Baker.

Rees Evans.

Henry Taul.

Lorenzo Dearborn.

Gustaf Grandstrand.

Gottfried Huser.

I.—PErVATB.

POUETH BBGIMBNT INPANTEY COMPANY B.

PRIVATES,

Alfe Olson. Nels Oleson.

Adam Pfieffer. Ole Severson.

Andrew Severson. Thomas Thompson.

COMPANY c.

James F. DUley, Second Lieutenant.

PRIVATES.

Albert Drinkwine.

Benjamin Gypsin.
WUliam H. HUl.

Joseph Eroux.

Thomas R. Huggins.
Moses Herman.

William H. Long.

Edward McGillis.

Joseph Newell.

Charles Loyd.

John Loyd.

William McCrary.

COMPANY D.—PRIVATES.

George Anderson. Remi Orapeau.

Thomas Reilly.

CAMPANY B.—PRIVATES.

John Conrad.

Stephen E. Birch.

Edwin Walter.

Daniel Nevin.

George H. Thurston.

George F. Birch.

COMPANY P.—PRIVATES.

Charles PUlar. Charles Scofleld.

Charles F. Beytion.

COMPANY I.

John H. Parker, Captain; promoted Major.

Henry Piatt, First Lieutenant; promoted Cap-

tain.

Edwin O. Chapman, First Sergeant; promoted

Second Lieutenant.

Clark Turner, Sergeant; promoted Second

Lieutenant and First Lieutenant.

Levi B. Aldrich, Sergeant,

Henry I. Davis, Corporal.

John D. Hunt, Corporal; promoted First

Lieutenant.

David A. Temple, Corporal.

Joseph Williams, Corporal; promoted Ser-

geant and First Lieutenant.

Ira 0. Aldrich.

Balzer Bower.

John W. Davey.

Thomas C. Ferguson.

William R. Gillman.

Charles P. Hagstrom.

Charles O. Healy.

Simon Kreger.

Nels Nelson.

John G. Russell.

PRIVATES.

John Avery.

James H. Cronkhite.

WiUiam W. Davis.

Edward A. Gouser.

Cornelius Hull.

Joseph Hershey.

Stephen N. Johnson.

Hiram H. Marcyes.

SewaU G. Randall.

George W. Reinoehl.
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George Sohranth.

Mark Wells.

-PEIVATB.

Edward Beble.

August H. Trume.

COMPANY K.-

Jolin Powers.

FIFTH EBGIMENT INFANTRY COMPANY A.

PRIVATES.

Jacob Haines. John Sickler.

David M. Strang.

COMPANY 0. PRIVATES. '

Edward Berg. -Lyman H. Decker.

Halver Elefson. Frederick Knudsou.

Edward Both.

COMPANY G. PRIVATE.

Jeremiah Eyan.

COMPANY I.

Michael Oosgrove, Corporal.

PRIVATE.

Melvin O. Dutton.

COMPANY K.

Thomas Tiemey, Corporal; promoted Ser-

geant.

SIXTH MINNESOTA INFANTRY COMPANY C.

C. T. W. Alexander, Second Lieutenant.

Robert E. Hutchinson, First Sergeant; pro-

moted Second Lieutenant, and First Lieutenant.

Alexander M. Portman, Sergeant.

Thomas Watts, Corporal; promoted Sergeant.

John W. Gould, Corporal.

Amasa Classon, "

John T. McCUntock, "

John Hutchinson, Corporal;

geant and Second Lieutenant.

Charles Hetherington, Corporal

;

geant and Second Lieutenant.

Samuel T. Webster, Musician.

Alexander M. Thompson, Musician.

Aaron M. Comey, Wagoner.

Stephen Allen, Private; promoted Corporal.

promoted Ser-

promoted Ser-

Lewis Beerman.

George Beerman.

Chester T. Boss.

David E. Berdan.

Thomas Bame.

Schuyler Classon.

William S. Curren.

John H. Dauer.

Wellington H. Emery.

George Fogg.

August Beerman.

James F. Boss.

John D. Brown.

Johial W. Boyd.

Joseph Classon.

Andrew O. Chapin.

Leonidas H. Dunn.

Benjamin Davison.

James Emerson.

Sylvester S. Glidden.

Frank T. Hutchinson.

Jeremiah B; Jones.

John Merkel.

William E. Poe.

Calvin Eipley.

John W. Eichey.

William A. Shepard.

- Hugh Smith.

Newel T. Sumner.

Joseph W. Sargent.

Horace C. Stranahan.

Alexander V. Thasp.

Benjamin W. Viles.

John Daly.

Daniel C. Fitsimmons.

Edward P. Kermott.

Cornelius D. Personius.

William F. Eice.

Joseph O. Sargent.

D. PRIVATES.

John Huftclen.

William T. Kiekenapp.

Oliver T. Sanford.

David C. Brown.

Charles A. Cates.

Nelson T. Derby.

Peter Filbert.

Samuel Layman.

William Layman.

John Eoth.

Michael Wolf.

COMPANY I. PRIVATES.

Eudolph Eoseman.

SEVENTH REGIMENT INFANTRY COMPANY A.

Chancellor Cutler, Captain.

Loel B. Hoag, First Lieutenant; promoted

Captain.

Alpheus C. Barrack, Second Lieutenant.

George W. Butterfield, First Sergeant.

^Uliam W. Willis, Sergeant; promoted Sec-

ond Lieutenant.

Daniel Goodhue, Sergeant; promoted First

Lieutenant.

Louis Hannemann, Sergeant; promoted Sec-

ond Lieutenant.

Charles T. Anderson, Sergeant.

Eiohard 0. Eoss, Corporal.

George L. Kendall, "

Edwin Gillett,

Daniel O. Searle, "

Lyman B. Snow, "

William Goudy.

Joel M. Hart.

Elisha C. King.

John Plummer.

James E. Rice.

George W. Eobinson.

Andrew E. Eoberts.

Theodore H. Sanderson

William V. Stone.

Chauncy Swarthotit.

Eiohard Stopley.

Thomas F. Talbot.

Daniel B. Turner.

Thomas C. Brown.

William 0. Haycock.

William Hubbard.

Charles Peterson.

Hiram M. Powers.

George W. Searle.

COMPANY

Wilbur B. Green.

Isaiah Judd.

Lewis Sanford.

William H. Bush.

John W. Brown.

John Boshardt.

Thomas A. Fisher.

Charles H. Jordan.

Charles H. Mulliner.

Josiah Eiohardson.

Ira Sanford.
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Duncan F. Kelly, Corporal.
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Ephriam 0. MooJey.



WAR BEGOBD. 303

PRIVATES.

TenB. T. Dahle. Fingor Fingalson.

Author A. Flem. Christ Hanson.

Andrew J. Lockren. Harry Magoon.

HalverH. Quil. Jnets Fingalson.

PIBST EEGIMKNT MOUNTED EANGEBS—COMPANY A.

John Wiggle, Sergeant.

PBrVATES.

William Campbell. Edward Campbell.

George B. Page. Peter Stiren.

COMPANY p. PKIVATB.

AppoUo Owen.

COMPANY H.

Charles W. Cromwell, First Lieutenant.

O. D. Brown, Second Lieutenant.

Enoch C. Cowan, First Sergeant.

Asa Smith, Second Sergeant.

John E. Tuttle, Sergeant.

Arthur McMillan, "

Silas 0. Olmsted, Corporal.

Charles H. Kenney, "

James L. Christie, "

PEIVATBS.

Josiah Bailey. William Beckley.

George H. Byfield. Carson C. Oarr.

Vincent K. Carter. Leroy S. Clemens.

Timothy Collins. Antoine Fisher.

Leonard J. Flanders. Orlando G. Hatheway.

Francis B. Hetherington. Harrison Harlse.

Ira Hults. Osman B. Jacobs.

Kalph H. Kenney. Edelbert Loveland.

Charles A. Manney. WUliam P. Manney.

Charles H. Martin. Charles W. Marks.

J. M. Mills. Charles Y. Moses.

James G. B. Moses. William S. Moses.

Charles H. Mulliner. John W. Murtagh.

John Oleson. Myron Page.

Prank G. Peace. WUliam L. Sargent.

William D. Tucker. WiUiam J. Wilkins.

James W. Eoberts. Samuel B. Walter.

BKAOKETT's BATTALION CAVALEY—COMPANY A.

Herman Wedekuper, Corporal.

COMPANY B. PEIVATE.

Joseph B. Donaldson.

COMPANY C—PEIVATE.

James Thompson,

SECOND EEGIMENT CAVALBY. COMPANY A.—PEI-

VATE.

Henry Hanson.

COMPANY B.—PBIVATE.

Eobert S. Keene.

COMPANY D. PEIVATE.

William J. WUkius.

Albert F. Thielbar.

Peter F. Wise.

COMPANY E.—PEIVATES.

Isaac M. Tayloi.

COMPANY G.

Henry W. Bingham, Fu-st Lieutenant;

moted Captain.

Theron F. Carr, Sergeant.

Carson C. Carr, Corporal.

pro-

PEIVATES.

Halver Blande.

John Oonley.

William L. Hoover.

George Shepard.

Byron F. Carr.

William Dwyer.

John O'Neil.

Elijah B. Sperry.

COMPANY H. PEIVATES.

Stanley Barlow. Alvah M. Olin.

COMPANY K.—PEIVATE.

Soloman Bodle.

INDEPENDENT BATTAilON CAVAIiBY COMPANY A.

John W. W. Poison, Corporal.

Seth C. Kelley, Blacksmith.

PRIVATES.

Charles M. Stowe. John Kelly.

COMPANY 0.—PBIVATES.

Michael Cosgrove. James O'Neil.

COMPANY p.—PRIVATE.

William Dawney.

PIRST BATTERY ilGHT AETILDEEY'—PEIVATBS.

Willard Sproul. Ambrose Krech.

SECOND BATTBEY LIGHT AETILLBEY—PEIVATES.

William Oostello. Charles L. Noggle.

Ingrebeth Oleson. Joseph L. Sargent.

Alfred Townson. Edward W. Vaughan.

Lewis Y. Sargent. Lewis Y. Sargent.

THIED BATTEBY LIGHT AETILLBEY.

John C. Whipple, First Lieutenant.

PBIVATES.

George L. Kenyon. William Finlayson.

Arthur McCarger. Hiram K. Wilder.
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OHAPTEB XLIX.

PBKIODIOAIjS BAILBOADS EDUOATIONAL EELI-

GIOUS VARIOUS EVENTS GBNEEAX EEMAKKS.

Faeibault Eepublioan.—The first number of

this newspaper was issued in Faribault on the 22d

of October, 1856, under the caption of "The Bice

County Herald," as a neutral paper, by F. W.
Frink, who threw off six numbers, and then it was

sold to I. L. Pond & Co., and the services of R. A.

Mott were secured as editor. No. 7 was printed

as the first number under the new order, which

continued ten weeks, when Mr. Mott bought out

the whole establishment, from the shooting stick

to the Franklin press, and his first paper was in-

troduced on the 17th of December, 1856. The

name was changed to "The Faribault Herald,"

which at once took a position on the questions of

the hour, holding that slavery was sectional and

local, and that it should not be extended into the

territories, and assuming a strong opposition to

the slave power. It was edited with great ability

wliile in Mr. Mott's hands. On the 2d of June
1858, it was sold to Holley & Brown, who had

been publishing a paper in Ohatfield, in Fillmore

county. Mr. O. Brown was the editor. In Sep-

tember, 1858, the paper, which up to this time

had been a six column folio, was changed to a

seven column paper. The name was also changed

to "Central Eepublioan," and was conducted with

energy and spirit through the stormy period of

the war by Mr. Brown, who was always found on

the side of the Union, although at times he

severely criticised the methods of carrying on the

war, and the conduct of the campaign against the

Sioux. In December, 1865, the paper passed

into the hands of A. W. McKinstry, who has man-
aged it for seventeen years with good judg-

ment, securing the confidence and respect of the

community. On the 25th of May, 1870, the name
was changed to "Faribault Bepublican." It is on

a most substantial basis, and is issued from a first

class office, with steam power and facilities for

promptly turning off good work.

NoETHPiELD JoTJENAL.—In April, 1858, a paper

was started by Oapt. Hoag and Brother. The
press and material were moved to the place from
Cannon Falls, Wisconsin, and it was regularly

published for about three years. The establish-

ment was then leased to other parties, and several

had a hand in its publication, until early in the

sixties, when it was moved to Eoohester, and there

it was published for a time by the original pro-

prietors. During this time, before the "Northfield

Standard" was commenced by Mr. Kimball, there

was no paper in Northfield.

The Sidbeial Messbngee is published monthly

by Professor William W. Payne, the Director of

the Observatory at Carleton College, Northfield.

It is the only periodical in the United States, de-

voted exclusively to popular astronomy, and -it is

gratifying to be able to state that students and

observers in this fascinating branch of study are

giving it a cheering support. It was stai:ted in

the winter of 1882, and is a thirty-two page mag-

azine, neatly printed and well edited; the price is

$2 a year.

NoETHBEN Statesman and Westben Farmbe.—
A paper with the above appellation, to designate

its ambitious sphere, was established in 1861, at

Faribault, the first number bearing date of the

12th of November. The inaugural in the initial

number was an able, well written article, in which

the announcement is made that the good old

principles of democracy that had carried the coun-

try through so many storms, would control its ut-

terances, saying that; "In politics, the Northern

Statesman will be democaatic, as expounded and

illustrated by Jefferson and Jackson."

The editor of the paper was Alexander John-

son, who continued it until 1864, when its publica-

tion was suspended, and Mr. Johnson went to St.

Paul, where it is understood he is still connected

mth. the press of that city. While here it justly

earned the reputation of being one of the best

edited papers in the State. The material subse-

quently went into the office of the Democrat.

Thb Faeibault Leadee.—This paper was

started in July, 1870, by S. H. Kelley and sons,

who issued it as a weekly until September, 1871,

when it was sold to A. E. Haven, and became

"The Faribault Democrat," which was first issued

on the 8th of September, 1871. It is an eight col-

umn folio, published weekly, at |2 a year, and is

a neatly printed and well edited paper. Each of

the offices in the county has a job office attached,

and do good work.

The Minnesota Missionaet.—This is a denom-

inational monthly, originating in 1877, in Fari-

bault, and edited by Bev. George B. Whipple and

Eev. Edward C. Bill. A. E. Haven is the printer.

It is in the interest of the Episcopal Church, par-

ticularly in its missionary interests.
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Educational Monthly.—Late in the seventies

an educational journal was published for a year or

two by William Applegate, of Faribault.

BioB CouNTi JoTJENAL.—This is a, leading

newspaper in the county, published in Northfleld.

It was first established in 1872, by 0. A. Wheaton.

It was at first independent, and claimed to be the

organ of no individual-, clique, or ring, and was a

neatly printed eight column folio, ably edited and

well managed. Mr. Wheaton died in 1882. It is

now published by Wheaton & Pierce, Mr. Pierce,

being the editor-in-chief. The paper is now a

well printed nine column folio.

DuNDAS News.—This was started on the 4th of

November, 1876, by Henry E. Lawrence, the for-

mer publisher of the "Monday Morning News" in

Minneapolis. This was published for three years,

when it was removed and became "The North-

field News," the first number of which was is-

sued on the 1st of November, 1879; Henry E. Law-

rence, editor and proprietor. It is an eight column

folio, well printed and well edited.

MoBBiSTOWN Entekpkise.—On the 27th of

July, 1867, the Morristown Enterprise Company

printed the first number of this paper. The gen-

tlemen interested in the publication were J. N.

Powers, O. W. Howe, and H. L. Howe. J. N.

Powers was editor and publisher. It was issued

on Thursday of each week at $1.50 per annum,

la size it was 10x13 inches, with ten three-column

pages, and was stitched by a New American

machine. The company published but three

papers, when it was bought by J. N. Powers, and

he continued it until the winter of 1877, when he

went to Waterviire.

Morristown Messenger.—In 1878, H. S. Bar-

low published a five column paper, 14x24 inches,

on a wooden press made by himself. This was

issued- on Tuesdays. In a few months 8. B. Cos

bought an interest in the establishment and Bar-

low left. In 1879, Mr. Ooe sold to A. E. Verity,

having changed the name to the "Cannon Valley

Messenger," which was published several months,

when it fell a victim to one of the fatal diseases

which afflict newspaperdom.

As to one of the Morristown papers, we insert

the following extract from a neighboring paper

which is its own explanation:

"A RICE county journalist.

A correspondent of a Missouri paper writing

from Morristown, this county, speaks as follows

20

couoeming the office and proprietor of the Mes-

senger, published at that place, and we challenge

the entire State to produce another snch instance

of grit, genius, and native abilty

:

There is a small paper published here, called

THE MESSENGER,

which has a good circulation, and is certainly

an illustration of success under difficulties. I

spent this forenoon in the printing office, and the

sight of it is worth a visit to Minnesota, for it has

no equal in the world. There is not more than

fifty dollars worth of material in the office, and its

two presses were made by its proprietor, Mr. J. L.

Barlow, whose only tools consisted of a hatchet,

hand-saw, and jack-plane. They are built en-

tirely of wood, with the exception of the levers

and two iron rods, and their appearance is indis-

cribable, yet they do good work. The mantle of

Faust must certainly have fallen on Barlow. He
is not only a printer and mechanic, but a photo-

graphic artist as well, and Morristown may well

boast of a sort of universal genius."

OTHER PUBLICATIONS.

A little book entitled "A brief circular relating

to Bice county, Minnesota, showing its resources,

advantages, and the inducements it offers to those

seeking homes in the West," was published in

1860 by Holley & Brown, and edited by C.

Williams. It was a neat little pamphlet and well

calculated to serve the purpose for which it was

intended.

A county map was published in the early winter

of 1873, by W. M. Lawrence, of Dundas.

In 1878, a large wall map, representing each

farm with the ownership, and being complete in

all respects, was published by Warner & Foote, of

Red Wing.

In 1868, Mr. F. W. Frink published "A Eecord

of Rice county, Minnesota, being a review of the

settlement, growth and prosperity of the county,

and a brief description of its towns and villages."

It was neatly printed at the "Central Republican"

office, and was a book of thirty-two pages. In

1871, an appendix was added and a new edition

published. It was a valuable little work, Mr.

Frink being one of the earliest settlers, and most

of the time in public life, intimately associated

with county affairs, was admirably qualified to

prepare such a book.
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Minneapolis & Obdab Valley Eailboad.—
The seventh Territorial Legislature of Minnesota

granted a charter, which was approved on the

first of March, 1856, for a railroad from the Iowa

State line, near where the Bed Cedar crosses it,

and thence up the Cedar valley, along the Straight

River valley, and through the "big woods" to

Minneapolis, a distance of 100 miles. Gen. H.

H. Sibley, of Mendota, Gen. James Shields, of

Faribault, Franklin Steele, of Fort Snelling, F.

Pettitt, and Judge Alanson B. Vaughan were

named as commissioners to open subscription

books and to make arrangements for the perma-

neat organization of the company at Faribault,

This, according to the act, must be done jjrevious

to the first of March, 1857. These gentlemen suc-

ceeded in securing stock subscriptions to the

amount of $200,000, and a preliminary meeting

was held at the office of Shields & McCutohen on

Wednesday evening, the 28th of January, 1856

and a resolution was entertained to call a meeting

of citizens to see how materially they were inter-

ested in the project. In response to the invitation

the meeting took place in Crump's Hall, which

was crowded. Dr. Charles Jewett, who had been

a, great apostle of tempo'anoe in New England for

years, but who now resided here, was called to

preside, and E. A. Mott was appointed secretary.

Stirring speeches were made by the President of

the meeting, by Hon. M. L. Noble, by Messrs.

Peat and Conover, from Iowa, agents of the Cedar

Valley Bailroad, and others. A letter was read

from Gen. Shields, who was in Washington, with

gratifying assurances that a wealthy company

stood ready to to build the road, and that it would

be promptly built no one in town allowed himself

to doubt.

In 1862, an act of Congress was secured to

facilitate the construction of the MinneEota &
Cedar Valley Railroad. In 186i, the nearest place

to the cars was at Rochester, and a stage route

was arranged to connect there.

The railroad passed through various vicissitudes

which it seems unnecessary to recapitulate, and it

finally became the Minnesota Eailway Company,

and under this name reached Northfleld in Sep-

tember, 1865, and finally, Faribault, and so on to

its southern connections, and at last became ab-

sorbed in the great Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul Bailway Company.

It is now a part of that great railway system,

with its more than four thousand miles of track.

The service is regular, with morning, evening, and

mid-day trains in both directions, and ample

freight accommodations.

The railroad, as it is laid through the county,

is a north and south line, having connections at

Owatonna and Bamsey, with east and west lines,

and also at Farmington, in Dakota county, and a

road is building from the west to intersect at

Faribault, and running near the present line to

Northfield, and thence east to Bed Wing by the

way of Cannon Falls. From St. Paul and Minne-

apolis the road comes down to enter the county

near the northwest corner of the town of North-

field, where it strikes near the Cannon Biver which

it follows, not very faithfully however, as it is

sometimes three miles away, until reaching Fari-

baiilt, it crosses this stream west of the center of

the town, and then in a like manner takes up the

companionship of the Straight River to leave the

county east of the center of the southern boundary.

In its course it passes through or touches the towns

of Bridgewater, Cannon City, Wells, Warsaw, and

Walcott, as well as Northfield, already mentioned.

The stations in the county are Northfield, Dundas,

and Faribault.

lu 1871, there was considerable talk and pre-

liminary work on a railroad scheme called the

Green Bay, Wabashaw & Faribault Bailroad Com-

pany. The idea was to connect this part of the

country with the Mississippi and great lakes

direct. The road got so far as to appear on some

of the maps, which is much further than many
another railroad scheme has progressed, where

there was quite as much noise.

Cannon Valley Baileoad Company.—This

company is really one of the oldest in the State,

as it is the same corporation that was chartered in

May, 1857, under the name of the Minnesota Cen-

tral Bailroad. The route was to be from Bed Wing
to the Missouri Biver. Additional acts and

amendments have been passed at various times al-

most every year since. In 1867, it was arranged

that the road should go from Bed Wing via Can-

non Falls, Faribault, and Blue Earth, to the

southern boundary of the State. The capital was

at first fixed at $5,000,000. In June, 1872, Con-

gress passed an act to permit a railroad bridge

across the Mississippi at Bed Wing, and the State

of Wisconsin had the necessary legislation for ''
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oonnection with roads in that State. This was a

land grant road, and the chartered rights included

the improvement of the Cannon Eiver. Various

contending interests and arrangements by old es-

tablished lines with each other conspired to pre-

vent the construction of the line, the name of

which had been changed, as well as the plans, as

to the location. But a complete history of this

and other roads that have been projected would

make a large book, and we can only allude to what

has actually been done. At last the men who
were interested in this line were no longer to be

beguiled by promises and in the winter of 1881-

'82, the company was reorganized under the name

of the Cannon Valley Railroad. The capital was

fixed at $800,000 in shares of $50 each.. The in-

corporators were A. B. Stickney, William Eli

Bramball, Conrad Gotzian, William B. Dean, E.

G. Deathe, Joel May, and J. C. Pierce. It was re-

solved to build the road, and the Legislature in a

special act having authorized th:3 tveral towns

and cities along the route to furnish aid, the fol-

lowing in tills county voted the sums severally set

against their names : Morristown, $10,000; Fari-

bault, $50,000; Northfield, $10,000; Cannon Falls

also voted $10,000, and Bed Wing $50,000.

In May, 1882, grading was commenced at sev-

eral points, and bhe Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul Company, seeing that a rival line was build-

ing, backed up by a powerful rival comj^any with

Chicago and western connections, at once made a

survey practically over the same route, and put

on a, large force of workmen to complete a line

before this new company could possibly do it.

The position occupied by this line is said to be

a sort of neutral ground by a common under-

standing between the "Northwestern'" and the

Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul companies. As

this work goes to the printer, the following account

from the "papers" will reveal the status of the

case:

"NoETHPiBLD, July 10.—The excitement over

the railroad war in this city reached a climax yes-

terday, when the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul

road, iu order to cross the Waterford wagon
road, worked their tracklayers all day. The
ofBcers of the company claim they did it be-

cause the travel is light on Sunday and the

public would be less inconvenienced. The sit-

uation now is about as follows: Both com-

panies have large crews of graders at work all

along the line between this place and Bed Wing.

Their lines cross each other in four different

places. Work is being pushed and it looks very

much as though both roads would be built. Gen.

Supt. Clark, Asst. Gen. Supt. C. H. Prior, Attor-

neys Flandreau, Wegg, and A. D. La Due came

to Northfield to-day for the purpose of looking

over the situation of affairs and to inquire into

the legal aspect of the case. They make the fol-

lowing statement: In no case has the Chicago,

Milwaukee & St. Paul road located a mile of track

on the located line of the Cannon Valley railroad.

They say the Cannon Valley made the first pre-

liminary survey, and the Chicago, Milwaukee &
St. Paul the first permanent location. After the

latter company located their line, the Cannon

Valley changed their preliminary survey in several

places and planted their stakes within a few feet of

the located line of the other road. The Milwaukee

road claims that the law allows the right of way
to the first permanently located line. Friday, an

injunction was served on the Chicago, Milwaukee

& St. Paul by the Cannon Valley railroad, and it

is understood from good authority that they will

make a motion to have it removed to the United

States court. It is reported that the Cannon Val-

ley company have changed their line in the city

limits and will run nearer the river than the new

track laid by the other road.

The Milwaukee road has either brought or

served notices of suits for condemnation of a right

of way from Cannon Falls to Bed Wing.

A survey is being made by the Chicago, Mil-

waukee & St. Paul road for a road between Fari-

bault and Waterville, which survey will be con-

tinued in the towns on the Minnesota Biver. This

is to retaliate for the movements into their terri-

tory.

The Cannon Valley road have surveyed a line

from Bed Wing to Cannon Falls on the south side

of the river, crossing the river half a mile below

the town, and crossing the other road just east of

the depot.

NEWS VIA MILWAUKEE.

Milwaukee, July 10.—Engineer Sheldon, of

the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul road, left for

Cannon Falls, Minn., to-day, where he will take

charge of the surveyors at work on the branch.

Eeports from the latter place, as well as from differ-

ent points along the projected line, are to the

effect that both the Cannon Valley and the Mil-
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waukee roads are making strenuous efforts to

secure the right of way along their parallel routes.

The Cannon Valley officials, at last report, had

even gone so far as to institute an action against

the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul company.

Nevertheless the work near Northfleld is being

pushed rapidly forward by both companies. The

Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul has a large force

of men laying rails as rapidly as the grading -will

permit. The Cannon Valley has already let con-

tracts for the grading of its road from Northfleld

to Dundas. The Milwaukee officials here claim

that the road to Bed Wing will be in operation

January 1, 1883.

It is certain in any case that the Cannon Valley

company will build that road."

EDUCATIONAL.

The first school opened in the county, as far as

we are able to learn, was kept by Edward J.

Crvmip. Mr. A. Faribault and Luke Hulett fur-

nished most if not all of the children to attend.

This was in the winter of 1853. Accounts of the

early efforts to establish schools in several towns

are given here as a sample of the early methods,

and how soon the teachers and scholars adapted

themselves to their surroundings, and how faith-

fully they pursued the paths leading to knowledge.

No attempt is made to cover all that was done at

•tliat time.

In the spring and summer of 1857, there were

three private schools opened in Faribault, one

kept by Mrs. Dunning and daughter in a room

west of the land office, one by Miss Tuttle in

Crump's Hall, and the other by Miss Haskius in

the house of Col. Stevens. This was just before

the public school building was completed, which

tLe citizens so commendably began at such an

early day.

Miss H. G. Fisk, of Warner, New Hampshire,

opened a select school in the room which had been

occupied by Miss Dunn. Miss Mary A. Fisk

taught music in the summer of 1857.

In September, 1857, Miss Parish, of Vermont,

opened a select school in Faribault.

School district No. 6 had a schoolhouse, 26x32

feet, and sixty scholars. Richard Hoodland was

teacher.

District No. 7 was set off from No. 1 in the fall

of 1857. The school was kept in a house belong-

ing to G. B Dutton, about a mile fiom Faribault.

Miss Sarah Fish was an early teacher.

About this time there was a log house in dis-

trict No, 12 on East Prairie; it was ceiled and bat-

tened overhead, and there were thirty-one schol-

ars. E. Lyman Kendall was the teacher.

The following is taken from the local press, and

was published in the winter of 1857-58.

"SCHOOLS IN KIOB OOUNTY.

No. 1, Faribault.—Seldom has our pen been

exercised to make a more pleasant or satisfactory

report than that which comes under the above

head. The money panic pouncing upon us at a

time when the district was considerably involved

in consequence of the purchase of a lot and the

building of a first class schoolhouse, etc., has

made the duties of the trustees arduous and

thankless.

Some time in November last, three teachers were

employed and a partial but imperfect system of

grading effected. Miss Mary Fisk taking charge

of the primary department in Crump's Hall, and

Mr. Fish and Miss Parish, each occupying a room

in the schoolhouse, superintending the higher de-

partments. These schools closed last week. We
have visited them from time to time, and now pro-

pose to give others the benefit of our observa-

tion.

Miss Fisk has had under her tuition in number

from forty to fifty scholars, generally of the

younger class. The feature in this school, most

striking to the casual observer, has been the

perfect system attending every exercise ; the

best of order uniformly prevailed, and so perfect

was the teacher's self government that not a

word or gesture seemed to escape her without

bearing a significance which her pupils readily

understand. In fact we have no hesistation in

pronouncing it for system and good manners the

model seltool.

Many of the scholars were backward for their

age; yet their reading, spelling, and mental arith-

metic recitations were full of interest, especially

were we pleased with their prompt recitation of

passages of scripture, common tables, and their

vocal music.

Miss Parish came among us last fall a stranger,

but her reputation as a teacher, which she had

established in Vermont, had preceded her. Of

superior ediication, clear and pointed in her ex-

jjlanations, beloved of her school, were she but a

little more thorough in her government we could

find no point to criticise. Besides the tuition of
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about fifty pupils, comprising her department of

this school, Miss Parish has superintended a class

in algebra and one in astronomy from the other

department, both of which have made excellent

improvement, considering the number of classes

she has heard, and the double amount of labor

porcormed, she has certainly achieved great suc-

cess.

The department over which Mr. Fish has pre-

sided has been the largest and most difficult to man-

age. He made a general examination of his classes

last Saturday afternoon. The review was made with

a design to ascertain the real improvement made

and without any special preparation having been

made for the occasion. The questions were pro-

posed by the visitors as well as teacher. The per-

formance was really very creditable and far sur-

passed the general expectation. We think one

geography class, a large class in Weld's gram-

mar, the second class in spelling, and the entire

performance in arithmetic to be worthy of particular

notice, evincing such thorough mastery of ele-

mental principles as is seldom attained.

The general demeanor of the school gave evi-

dence that it had been under the tuition of a gen-

tleman.

We want to give no undue praise to these

teachers, and it we could not truthfully have

spoken well of them we should probably have said

nothing. But it is apparent to those who have

visited our schools that under many difficulties

these teachers have done for us this winter a noble

work, and we should not withold that reward so

dear to every teacher's heart, and yet the last to

be conferred, viz: appreciation.

Our schools should have continued at least an-

other month, but circumstances forbade it. We
hope our citizens will fill out by a select term the

time which to their children is so precious.

At some future time we will call up the subject

of books, the endless variety of which is the

source of the first great evil with which the

teacher is obliged to contend."

"No. 2, MoERisTOWN.—By O. 8. Crandall, teacher.

Mk. Mott, Sir:—In compliance with your re-

quest, I report at the earliest opportunity.

The room I occupy is in a log building 16x18

in size. It is comfortbly warm, being ceiled and

battened.

I have over fifty scholars in all and an average at-

tendance of about forty. They are about equally

divided into male and female and range in age

from four to twenty.

I will attempt to give you a list of

books in use, which you will find rather of a

mixed account, the result I suppose of gathering

scholars from all parts of the Union. My reading

classes mostly use Sanders' series, I have fifteen

in Sanders' fifth, six in McGuifey's fourth, and

five in Sanders' seeoiid. In Sanders' pictorial

primer I have a class of eight little girls and the

smartest class you ever saw, too. Besides these

classes there are several independent classes of one

reading in his own book. In spelling, Sanders'

speller is used by five; the elementary by twenty.

In arithmetic I have a class of four young men

now working in proportion, anotlier class is in

fractions; Kay's work part third is studied by

twelve, part second by five, Oolburn's mental by

eight. In grammer I have five classes as follows

:

two pupils in Browns' grammar, one in Smith's,

one in Welds', one in Wells', and one in Hazen's.

In geography, I have six in Mitchell's large edi-

tion, and two in the primary.

These are all the important facts I have to com-

municate. C. S. OrandaijL."

"No. 3, SHiEiiDsviLiiE.—This district was organ-

ized just in time in the present winter to receive its

share of the public money; as a matter of course

there was no schoolhouse till that time; a log

house was fitted up for the purpose, with tempo-

rary seats and desks, size 14 feet by 20; although

not very comely in apperrance, yet it is quite com-

fortable.

The number of scholars in the district is eighty-

four; twenty-seven is the number of attendants,

the average about twenty-two. The books in use

are as follows, introduced by myself the present

winter: Thompson's arithmetic. Wells' grammar,

Mitchell's geography, Oolburn's mental arithmetic

for small scholars, Sanders' series of readers and

speller. With a few exceptions, these are the

books used.

There is to be a new schoolhouse erected in the

spring.

The scholars, I think, are as far advanced as they

will average in the other schools in the county.

The inhabitants are interested in improvement,

and though from a foreign soil, they are loyal to

Uncle Sam in the great principles of government

and schools.

Wm. Bentlbt, Teacher."
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"No. 4, Warsaw.—The whole number of scholars

is seventy-three, average attendance about fifty.

The text books in use are Sanders' series of readers

and speller, Adams' and Thdbipson's arithmetics,

Oolburn's mental arithmetic, Mitchell's school and

primary geography, and Wells' grammar.

Our schoolhouse, you will remember, was de-

stroyed by fire in November last. We have since

occupied the building formerly used as a store by

Hollister, Frink & Co., dimensions, 16x32 feet.

It IS inconvenient, especially for so large a school,

yet under the circumstances a better one could not

be procured.

The scholars have been well disposed, and have

made good progress in their studies; and I be-

lieve the school, as a whole, will compare favorably

with other schools in the county; at least I am
willing it should stand upon its own merits alone.

E. Dabling, Teacher.''

"No. 5, Cannon City.—I. N. Safer, teacher.

This school, under its excellent superintendance,

has made flue improvement this winter. The
average attendance has been fifty-seven. With

the exception of an excellent class in natural phi-

losophy, only the common branches have been

taught.

To an advanced arithmetic class special notice

is due; the large number of adults, including

eight over the age of twenty-one, has given this

school a close resemblance to our higher institu-

tions.

In size the schoolhouse is 32x40 feet, with 14

feet posts. It occupies a picturesque site, and is

a thoroughly finished, imposing structure, doing

honer to the taste of its builders. It cost $1,400.

The apportionment of the county fund this year

gives this district $275."

The state of Minnesota has a law in relation to

text books, which, under its provisions, are pro-

vided through the county ofiicers, and, to reveal

the sentiment which usually prevailed in school

circles in relation to the law and its workings, an

extract from the County Superintendent's report

from Eice county for the year 1880, is here given

:

"The school work of Eice county has not been

as satisfactory for the year just closed as in the

three previous years, for two reasons. First, the

change in text books which has taken place has

been slow and tedious. Books ordered early in the

spring did not arrive until after the summer schools

Iiad been in session one and two months. The re-

sult was a lack of books, as the impression pre-

vailed that no other books could be used. Sec-

ond, the so-called cheap text-book law has stimu-

lated the idea that cheap teachers should also be

procured, and the result has been the employment

of a larger proportion of low grade, cheap

teachers, and many of the best teachers have

abandoned the profession.

The use of cheap text books naturally leads to

the employment of cheap teachers, and the use of

cheap apparatus, and results in lowering the

standing and checking the progress of our schools.

The working of the textbook Iaw is burdensome

not only to district officers, but to teachers and

superintendents, as it takes up much valuable

time that should be devoted to other work.

If the law is to remain in force, the Legislature

should modify it so that the contractor shall be

obliged to place the books within reach of the

pupils without county or State assistance. If the

books are the best and cheapest, they will be used.

If they are not the best and cheapest, they should

not be forced upon the schools through pains and

penalties."

Like all innovations this law had to run the

gauntlet. But it is believed to be working satis-

factorily now.

Some statisticts from the last annual school re-

ports are here given

:

Scholars in attendance who are not of

school age, and those who are non-resi-

dents 151

Mumber entitled to apportionment 5,480

Total number enrolled in winter 4,750

" " " in summer 3,664

Number of schools in all the districts 106

Average daily attendance in winter 3,013

" " " in summer 2,473

Number of teachers in winter—men 44

" " " " women .... 96

" " " summer—men.... 15

" " " women . 99

Average monthly wages—men $31 69

" " women ...... 25 87

Number of schoolhouses

—

Frame 76

Brick 19

Stone 6

Log 9

Total 110
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Value of all the Boboolhouees and sites. $135,520

Number of common school districts 103

Independent 1

Special 2

Whole number 106

Number of teachers, men 47

" women 119

Total. ..; 166

Number of certificates granted during the year

—

Ist grade, men —
" women 5

2d grade, men 26
" women 64

Total 95

3d grade, men 10
" women 39

Total 49

Number of applications rejected 59

Number of private schools in the county

—

Catholic 2

Protestant 8

Total 10

Enrollment in the above schools

—

Catholic 280

Protestant 679

Total 955

Eight of the teachers have attended a Normal

school and six are graduates.

The total amount paid for teachers wages dur-

ing the year ending August 31, 1881, was $32,-

385.27.

The number of scholars in the cities and villages

below named is as follows —
Faribault 1,067

Northfteld 544

Dundas 197

Morristown 176

Shieldsville 81

.East Prairieville 76

Brief items in relation to the several district

schools will be found in the sketches of the towns

in which they are located. The statistics here

given will be of value as a basis for comparison

at any future period, and they show at the pres-

ent time that the school system of the State, in its

application to Eice county, is an object of especial

regaid.

Graded Schools in the CorxiY.—There are

three of these graded districts, one in each of the

following places: Faribault, Northfield, and Dun-

das, and a few prominent points in the workings of

each are here given. Cost of buildings : Faribault,

$45,000; Northfield, $30,000; Dundas, $5,000.

Apparatus: Faribault, $500; Northfield, $75;

Dundas, $50. Salary of Superintendent: Fari-

bault, $1,500. Average monthly salary of teach-

ers: Faribault, $41.11; Northfield, $40,50; Dun-

das, $36.80. Number of scholars enrolled: Fari-

bault, 1,084; Northfield, 594; Dundas, 204.

Schools are kept from nine to nine and one-half

months in each year.

EELiaiOUS.

In rej^ard to the church edifices and the denom-

inational schools, of which the people are justly so

proud, and which have been the objects of such

self-sacrificing devotion, it is but a simple act of

justice to acknowledge the invaluable aid fur-

nished by friends from the East. Large numbers

who settled here were no sooner comfortably set-

tled than they began to miss their accustomed

religious privileges, and reflecting upon the

admirable situation of those they left behind in

this respect, would lose no time in writing to

those who would be hkely to assist in a true mis-

sionary spirit, in building churches in the West,

reciting the needs of the new community, with

the imperative necessity of prompt action to

save the new and fast swelling community in

the West from impending infidelity. And, to

the infinite credit of the East, it should be record-

ed that the responses to these calls were efficient,

and often suffifcient to meet the exigencies of the

occasion.

As a sample of what was actually done in the

direction just indicated, an extract from a letter

written by Dr. Charles Jewett to Bev. Dr. Jacob

Ide, of West Medway, Massachusetts, will be re-

produced here.

"Rev. and Bear Sir: Worn and wearied by

hard service in the temperance cause, I thought to

secure a little release from responsibilities and some

relief from severe toil, by removing westward and

devoting myself to the quiet labor of cultivating

the soil. Well here I am, where the circumstances

that surround me call for as severe and continuous

labor as I have ever been called upon to perform,

though I think the character of the service more

conducive to bodily health than that to which I
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liave been accustomed. I am as you see by the

post-mark, in the territory of Minnesota, sixty

miles south of St. Paul, forty west of the Missis-

sippi, and in latitude forty-four, on the very out-

skirts of civilization, where the Indian chases the

deer and the farmer follows the plow over the same

acres, where heathenism and infidelity must be

met on their own groand and conquered by Chris-

tian faith and Christian love. * * *

Last summer, a few of us, feeling our responsi-

bilities and spiritual needs, sustained at the village,

two and one-halt miles distant from my residence,

religious worship through a large portion of the

season, where only the summer previous had stood

more than a hundred lodges of the Sioux Indians.

* * * There are about twenty male

members of Congregational churches, and per-

haps as many females, who will unite in the for-

mation of a church; and the 7th of May is fixed

upon as the time for organization. We have as

yet no place of worship, and hold our meetings

in private houses. We want to build a church as

early in the summer as possible, as there is no

house in the village or on the prairies large enough

to seat one-half the number who would attend on

our worship, if we shall be able to secure, as we

hope to, a faithful and able religious teacher. But

how we are to accomplish what we so ardently de-

sire puzzles our bump of calculation not a little,

and draws pretty heavily on our bank of faith. *

* * Our old friends in the East must help

us a little until we can get fairly on our feet, and

then, with the blessing of God, we hope to be able

to stand and become in turn, helpers of others.

Minnesota is to be, I believe, the New England of

the West, and exert, when it shall take its place

among the States of the Union, a decided influ-

ence on the right side of those great questions

which are now agitating the country. The fol-

lowers of His Holiness the Pope, ever ready to

seize on the best points, have contracted to have a

church built here early in the summer. Oh ! shall

that be the first church edifice in this lovely region ?

God, and his faithful, forbid."

The communication of which this is an extract

was published by Dr. Ide in The Oongregational-

ist, of Boston, on the 9th of May, 1856, with the

following remarks by Dr. Ide:

" The following letter from Dr. Jewett is one of

great interest. Though the churches, in the pres-

ent state of things, cannot respond to the call

which every individual church in the West may
be disposed to make, yet such are the circum-

stances of the community in which Dr. Jewett is

located, and such are the feelings of the friends of

temperance and religion in the commonwealth to-

ward him for his long self denying and effective

labors in the cause, that they will, it is believed,

deem it a privilege to respond to the affecting ap-

peal which he now makes for a little assistance at

their hands. Medway will cheerfully pay the tax

which is laid upon her."

It is not strange that this appeal met a hearty

response among a people who had sent millions

for the purpose of Christianizing heathen savages,

where, in an economical view, the expense and the

return were woefully out of proportion. Dr. Ide's

church contributed $45; Milbury, where the Doc-

tor had lived, gave $35 ; the Elliot church in New-

ton, gave a Sunday-school library of two hundred

volumes and more than one hundred dollars; the

church in Whitinsville gave a bell, which was

one of the first to ring out its peals in this region,

awakening the prairie echoes before one-half of

people had their houses properly covered and pro-

vided with comforts. It was such efforts as these,

supplemented by labor at home that transformed

"the wilderness and the solitary places to blossom

as the rose."

It is very pleasing to be able to say in this

connection that while this work is writing, the im-

plied promise of Dr. Jewett that these benefac-

tions should be repaid to other needy ones, when

the ability should be acquired, is being fulfilled,

as the Sunday-school is making arrangements to

help pay for an organ for a Sunday-school out in

Dakota, one or more of the teachers in which

having gone from here. Indeed it is certain that

this obligation has been repaid in like manner over

and over again. This subject is introduced to

show the community of interest between the sev-

eral sections of the country.

Faribault and Northfield are noted for the num-
ber of their churches, and in the other villages and

throughout the county will be found a goodly

number of the various denominations.

SBVBEAI, COUNTY ORGANIZATIONS.

An Old Sbttlbbs' Association.—This was or-

ganized on the 4th of February, 1874, at Faribault,

with Luke Hulett, as president, and F. W. Frink

as secretary. A constitution was adopted and the

above mentioned ofBcers were made permanent,



SOCIETIES. 313

with tbe addition of James Shants as treasurer,

and the following vice-presidents: G. L. Bush-

nell, Northfleld; J. 8. Archibald, Bridgewdfcer;

Isaac Avery, Cannon Oity ; Oliver Tripp, Walcott

;

William Close, Eichland; H. C. KoUing, Wheeling;

H. M. Matteson, Faribault; J. Buck, Morristown;

J. W. Cowan, Wells; Peter Busch, Warsaw; Patrick

Murphy, Shieldsville ; Charles McBride, Erin; P.

Cody, Wheatland; Ferris Webster, Webster; John

L. Dearborn, Forest.

They had a grand reunion on the 23d of Feb-

ruary, 1874, with speeches, songs, and a dance

with a supper. The roads were badly blocked with

snow, but about sixty turned out, and most of them

although early settlers, were in the prime of life.

Luke Hulett called the meetimg to order and

quite a number of old settlers gave their early ex-

perience, and from these speeches much of the

earl history in this volume, relating to the early

settlement of the county, was gathered, and so

their stories will not be repeated in this sketch of

the association.

At one of these meetings Mr. F. W. Frink re-

marked that, "While the men were relating their

exploits, too little was said of the noble women
who had torn themselves away from the endearing

ties of early association, and without whose aid

and assistance all efforts to establish civilization

here would have been futile," and he related inci-

dents illustrating the heroic courage, fortitude, and

hopefulness of the wives of the pioneers, who sub-

mitted to their hard surroundings in a manner be-

yond all praise.

At this meeting a committee was appointed to

collect early history. Charles Jewett, H. B. Whip-

ple, Dr. Schofield, J. C. Whipple, Mrs. J. C. Ide,

George W. Newell, and the editors of the county

papers, were made honorary members.

On the ith of March, 1875, the annual reunion

took place in Faribault, and at this meeting Hon.

O. F. Perkins made one of the speeches, an ab-

stract of which is given elsewhere.

Mr. Mott contrasted the generous hospitality of

the early times with the present, apparent paucity

in this respect. Then, if a claim shanty had two beJa

there would be hardly a limit to the number that

could be taken in. This occasion was an enjoya-

ble one, with a supper, dance, etc., at the Barron

House.

On the 13th of January, 1876, the annual re-

union occurred. The Hon. Henry M. Rice was

present by invitation, and delivered a most inter-

esting address, full of anecdote and historical rem-

iniscences, a good part of which will be woven

into the early history of the county. Bishop

Whipple and others addressed the Association, and

at their conclusion the usual festivities were en-

joyed.

The Old SettWrs' reunion for 1877, was holden

on the 4th of February. The address of the oc-

casion was by Gen. H. H. Sibley, who paid a trib-

ute to the character of Mr. Faribault, and present-

ed, in a very pleasing way, various recollections of

pioneer life, among other things that sometime in

1857, Charles E. Flandreau came down from Yel-

low Medicine and removed quite a number of the

Waupakuta band of Indians, who were living on

Mr. Faribault. The Rev. Dr. Neill was present

and related some good anecdotes.

On the anniversary of the battle of New Orleans,

in 1878, the Old Settlers' Association convened,

and the exercises were of the usual interesting

character.

At one of the meetings of the association. Cap-

tain E. H. L. Jewett moved that Mrs. Emma
Hulett Miller, of Hartford, Connecticut, the first

white child born in Faribault, be elected an hon-

orary member.

EioE County Agkioultuba-l and Meohanioal

Association.—Pursuant to notice the citizens of

Eice county met in Crump's Hall on Monday the

22d of February, 1858, and effected a temporary

organization by the appointment of H. Eiedell,

Chairman and E. Thayer,' Secretary.

A committee on constitution and by-laws was

then appointed, consisting of E. Stevens, A. B.

Davis, and C. E. Davison. A committee on per-

manent organization was also appointed, consist-

ing of A. J. Tanner, Chas. Wheeler, and Dr. Tur-

ner. These committees were instructed to report

at their earliest convenience in the afternoon ses-

sion.

Meeting convened at 1 :30 o'clock p. m., pursu-

ant to adjournment, and received the report of the

committee on constitution, which was adopted.

The following of&cers were then duly elected for

the ensuing year, being with few exceptions the

names presented by the committee on permanent

organization : President, .T. W. North, Northfield

;

first vice-president, Levi Nutting, Faribault; sec-

ond vice-president, T. H. Olin, Northfield; third

vice-president, I. N. Sater, Cannon City; record-
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ing secretary, L. A. Fish, Faribault; corresponding

secretary, E. A. Mott, Faribault; treasurer, J. B.

Cooper, Faribault; general committee, G. F. Pet-

titt, Faribault; N. A. Swarthout, Cannon City; W.
E. Mansfleld, East Prairie; John S. Way, North-

field; Ferris Webster, Minnemedah; Mr. Bunnel,

Wheatland; Allison Houck, Forest; Isaac Ham-
mond, Houston; John Tufts, Shieidsville.

This association was resuscitated on the 25th of

June, 1870, the last meeting having been held in

May, 1863. The officers elected were: president,

Charles Wood; vice-presidents, J. G. Scott, of

Morriston, Benjamin Ogdin, of Northfield and T.

0. Adams, of Wolcott; recording secretary, E. A.

Mott; corresponding secretary, H. C. Whitney;

board of directors, Levi Nutting, E. W. Dike,

George F. Batchelder, D. Stevens, and Mr. Hud-

son, with a general committee.

In September of that year the third fair was held,

in Northfield.

Cannon VALiiBY Ageioultdbal and Mechani-

cal Association.—This institution which seems to

have supplanted all previous societies of a like

character in the county, except local town associa-

tions, wherever they exist, was organized in 1872,

and the first fair held in 1873, which was the only

one ever conducted by the association that was a

financial success, although a number were after-

wards held. The corporation was formed as a joint

stock company; $15,000 was subscribed and $10,-

actually paid in, by about seventy members. The

first oiBcers of the association were: President,

John Harding; treasurer,' Z. S. Wilson; secretary,

Hudson Wilson.

The fair grounds were purchased of Eandall

Fuller, and about $5,000 in improvements made.

The grounds embrace a half-mile track, stand,

covered seats, and conveniences for exhibitions.

The property finally reverted to Mr. Fuller in sat-

isfaction of a mortgage he held. The last fair

was given in 1876, and the year following the as-

sociation formally disbanded.

The Eice County Gkangb.—This was instituted

on the 4th of March, 1874, with thirty members.

EiGE County Anti-Hoese Thief Society.—An
organization, the object of which is indicated by

the name, was effected on the 1st of August, 1 867,

which has been kept in working order ever since,

and it is gratifying to be able to state that, al-

though horses have been stolen from various mem-
bers of the association, they have in every instance

been recovered, and the thief not unfrequently

caught and punished. The permanent officers of

the society were: President, William H. Dike;

vice-president, Luther Dearborn ; secretary,

Thomas Mee; treasurer, Hudson Wilson; executive

committee -and other officers, G. M. Gillmore,

Thomas Mee, D. M. West, Charles Shields, James

G. Scott, E. M. Norton, W. S. Leonard, H. A.

Swarthout, Thom-is Kirk, M. S. Seymour, Joseph

Covert, O. B. Hawley, H. C. Adams, Lyman H_

Henderson, H. E. Barron, P. E. Brown, Samuel

Dunham, 0. Decker, T. H. Loyhed, J. C. Turner

S. P. Terryll, J. G. Clark, D. P. Smith, Samuel

Barnard, S. M. West, J. A. Winter, P. M. West,

C. A. Giddings. Charles Sweetzer, F. M. Baker, J.

G. Scott, E. M. Norton, Henry Hall, Andrew

Thompson, Oscar Decker. Over 100 members

were at once enrolled. The organization is still

kept up, and it is likely that the fact of such a

well appointed society being in existence in the

county has reduced the horse stealing business to

a minimum here. The present officers are: Pres-

ident, G. M. Gillman; vice-president, H. M. Mat-

teson; secretary, Thomas Mee; treasurer, Hudson

Wilson; with an executive committee and several

riders in each of the towns in the county.

A Medical, and also a Bar Association existed in

the county at one time, but very few traces of

their existence now appear.

VAEIOUS EVENTS.

lu securing claims in this new county, as

everywhere along the constantly moving frontier,

there was, as there still is, opportunity for sharp

practices which were often put in requisition. The
land officers have simply to conform to the require-

ments of the law, and to accept the sworn state-

ments of the pre-emptor, and when he comes to

prove up his claim, sometimes swearing is required

by the exigencies of the case which would re-

ceive the designation of "tall," in the local ver-

nacular. The improvements which were some-

times declared to have been made were often in

constructive obedience to the law, not unlike that

of a southwestern frontiersman who cut the dates

of two different years on a couple of trees, and
planting a hill of corn between them swore that

he had raised corn between those years on that

ground. By placing a whisky bottle in stn aper-

ture in the side of a shanty, it was not considered

to be a very severe stretch of the conscience to

swear that there was glass in the windows. It is



VARIOUS EVENTS. 315

not claimed that these things were done here in a

more aggravated way than elsewhere.

As an actual instance of honorable alertness, a

case is stated where a man had driven a stake

with his name ; and the law allowed thirty days in

such a case for the man to occupy it. As the

thirty days drew to a close that claim was closely

watched, and as the would-be proprietor failed to

appear, at midnight the new claimant drove his

stake, and was at the land ofBce in Hastings

when it was opened the next morning. The claim

was secured, although, in the course of the lay,

another man came to get hold of it, but too late.

Among others who came here on the represen-

tations of Dr. Jewett, was a man whose wife be-

came homesick and dissatisfied with the country.

She was at the Doctor's house one Sunday morn-

ing when he was preparing to officiate at religious

service in some private house, and being pressed tor

time he asked the lady to select an opening hymn
which she did by placing a mark on the page. On
opening it to give out the hymn he was taken

aback to find this selection

:

" Ch, what a wretched land ifi this,

That yields us no supply?"

Of course the Doctor regretted that they ever

came West.

In those pioneer times Dr. Jewett had a hand

mill in one corner of his house, to grind the meal

used by his family, and some one told a man who

lived miles away, that Dr. Jewett had a grist-mill,

and so the man drove over with a wagon load of

com to be ground, rejoicing that civilization had

reached Minnesota with one of its useful inven-

tions. As he was introduced to the mill, his

countenance would have furnished a good sub-

ject for an artist's pencil.

The Doctor spent the winter of 1854 in New
England, lecturing upon the agricultural resources

of the West. He had maps of Minnesota, Hli-

nois, and Iowa, with rivers, bluffs, and prairie

land carefully prepared, and he also had boxes three

feet long to show by vertical sections actual speci-

mens of the soil, so that people could see for them-

selves just what they would find on coming west.

Newspaper articles like the following had much
to do with filling up this region

:

"TEN GOOD REASONS FOE EMIGBATING TO MINNE-

SOTA FACTS FOB NEW BNGLANDBES.

lat. Its lands, corresponding with the better

portion of those drained by the Mississippi and

its tributaries, are unsurpassed in fertility by any

portion of our Union.

2d. No State or Territory, at present inviting

immigration, is so well timbered, or comprises

such an excellent variety of woodland as Minne-

sota.

3d. Even New England the land of water-

falls can boast no superior manufacturing ad-

vantages upon a water-power basis.

4th. The climatology and meteorology of Min-

nesota are the wonder of the nrorld. The disa-

greement of the isothermal and geographical

lines of latitude, brings the mean temperature of

our seasons into correspondence with northern

Ohio and southern New York, at the same time

the dry, elastic, stimulating nature of our atmos-

phere differs so vitally from the damp, consump-

tion giving air of the Atlantic States, as to lead

us with perfect confidence to enunciate proposi-

tion.

5th. No State east or south of us can compare

favorably with Minnesota in those causes which

produce health and vigor, and upon which, in ,i

great measure, the prosperity of a State depends.

We have never seen, since we made this Territory

our home, any person prepared to dispute this

proposition, or even throw against it the weight

of his opinion, while hundreds giving their own

experience in evidence will attest its truth.

6th. Its geographical position as such as

makes an early and thorough development of our

mighty resources probable; commanding as we

do, the head waters of the largest lake and long-

est river in the world.

7th. So magnificent a system of trunk rail-

roads, based upon munificent land grants, has

never before fallen to the inheritance of any State.

8th. Such provisions for educational interests

are without parallel! in the history of the world.

We have already four State Universities charter-

ed. An immense University fund donated by the

federal government, and for the maintenance of

common schools, the magnificent bequest of one

sixteenth of the area of the State, or about three

millions of acres, worth probably from twenty to

thirty millions of dollars.

9th. The character of the population of Min-

nesota presents an anomaly in the history of west-

ern settlements, and no more refined, intelligent,

or moral people can be found in so large an ag-

gregate than are to be fonnd in this new sov-

ereignty.
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10th. And finally we have what all emigrants

want, seven millions of the best of soil yet un-

occupied.

We lack what emigrants can furnish us, the

'best of men.

Let us reciprocally satisfy these wants and

thus fulfil our destiny."

In May, 1871, the question as to the settlement

of the old railroad bonds by arbitration, which was

submitted to the people of the State, and defeated,

received the following vote in Eice county : For

the measure, 625; against it, 507, a majority of

118 in favor of the proposition.

Potato bugs first became plentiful in 1868.

The number of marriages in the county during

1868, was 118.

In 1869, quite a movement was made to get up

a new county with Northfleld as the capital.

On the 7th of January, 1873, a terrible cyclone

passed over the entire State and Eice county had

its full share of the borean excitement.

The flouring mills of Eice county, in 1874, pro-

duced 208,000 barrels of flour.

In 1878, there was a regularly organized wolf

hunt, which shows how hard the old occupants of

the country hold on, and how diflScult it is to

completely dislodge them.

On Thursday, the 4th of April, 1865, the region

of Eice county was visited by a terrible blizzard,

which did an immense amount of injury to the

crops and buildings.

The total number of farms in Eice county in

1866 was 1,200.

GoPHEK Hunt.—The amusements on the fron-

tier are peculiar, and sometimes combine the most

important utility with festive occasions. At this

day it is hardly possible to realize the number of

wild animals, including many whose habits were

inimical to agricultural interests, and whose pres-

ence in such infesting swarms it became necessary

to abbreviate with as little delay as possible. To

illustrate these several points, an account of a

gopher hunt instituted by the young men of East

Prairie, early in June, 1866, will be given.

The two towns, Walcott and Eichland, entered

into the contest with a view to ascertaining which

could secure the largest amount of this precious

game in a given time, the defeated party to pay

for the supper ordered at the close of the hunt.

At the appointed time the two parties took the

field under Captains W. Carter and Theodore

Close, respectively. On the 9th of June the con-

testants and their friends met at a picnic, and

among the other delicacies served up on the occa-

sioa was a gopher pie, with a huge pocket go-

pher crouched in the center, and rats with gray

and striped gophers around the margin, with their

heads peeping through holes in the crust; but

other viands prepared were so eagerly sought after

that this rare and appetizin g dish was totally neg-

lected. The number of animals secured on both

sides footed up as follows:

Gray gophers 1,358

Striped gophers 1,083

Eats 1,168

Pocket gophers 464

Making the almost incredible number of 4,073

GENEKAL BBMAEKS.

The piooeers of this whole region were partic-

ularly fortunate in their contact with the Indians;

the scenes of massacre which began with the

planting of the English colonies in Virginia and

Massachusetts, and moved with the advancing

civilization in a crimson line along the frontier,

with the most heart rending atrocities, seem to

have stopped at the Mississippi, leaving this sec-

tion in peace and quietness, to reappear, however,

in all its original fierceness to the west of us in

that terrible Sioux massacre, so truthfully depic-

ted in this work.

Although the tomahawk and scalping knife were

not a constant menace to the early comers, it

must not be imagined that there was not toil,

privation, cold, and hunger to undergo, for there

was nothing in these wilds of Minnesota, except

the intrinsic merit of the location, to attract peo-

ple from their more or less comfortable homes

in the East, or on the other continent, from whence

so many of them came. Those who first came

were inspired with hope, which indeed "Springs

eternal in the human breast," but they were re-

garc^ed by their friends who were left behind, as

adventurers, soldiers of fortune, who, if they got

through alive, would certainly never be able to

return, unless they were particularly fortunate.

They were a sturdy race, who realized the inequal-

ity of the struggle in the old States or Countries,

where humanity on the one hand, claiming a

right to " life, liberty, and the pursuit of happi-

ness," and the accumulations of labor in vast ag-

gregations in sordidly avaricious clutches on the

other, hedged in with traditional precedents and
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barriers, with every facility for receiving, but with,

few outlets for distribution, and they resolved to

establish themselves where merit would not be sup-

planted by antiquated relics of feudalism, which

afflict all the old communities.

The men who came here to establish homes for

themselves and their posterity, were, as a rule,

enterprising, open-hearted, clear headed and sym-

pathizing; they were good neighbors and so

good neighborhoods were created, and they made

a practical illustration of the great doctrine of the

" brotherhood of man," by example rather than by

quoting creeds, or conforming to outward obser-

vances which may or may not spring from motives

of purity, with a bravery that never blanched in the

midst of misfortune or danger, however appalling,

they were nevertheless tender, kind, and consid-

erate in the presence of disaster and adversity,

and their deficiences in the outward manifesta-

tions of piety, were more than compensated by

their love and regard for the claims of hnmauitv.

We, who enjoy the blessings resulting from the

efforts of these men, many of whom are still in

active life, would be less than human if we were

not filled with gratitude to these early settlers

who paved the way and made the condition of

things we now find a reality. The value of what

they accomplished can not be overestimated, and it

should be constantly remembered that whatever

of romance adhered to the hardy colonists, was

more than compensated for by hard work.

If this meed of praise is justly due to the men, as

it certainly is, what shall be said in commenda-
tion of the heroic women who braved the vicissi-

tudes of frontier life, endured the absence from

home, friends, and old associations, whose tender

ties must have wrung all hearts as they were

severed? The devotion which would lead to such

a breaking away, to follow a father, a husband,

or a son, into the trackless waste beyond the

Mississippi, where gloomy apprehensions must

have arisen in the mind, is above all praise. The

value of the part taken by the noble women who
first came to this uninhabited region cannot be

overestimated. Although by nature liberal, they

practiced the most rigid economy, and often at

critical times preserved order, reclaiming the men
from utter despair during gloomy periods; and
their example of frugal industry and cheerful-

ness, constantly admonished him to renewed ex-

ertions, the instincts of womanhood, constantly

encouraging integrity and manhood.

As to the effects of fnontier life, socially and

morally, upon those who have secured homes west

of the Mississippi, a few observations may not be

inappropriate.

During the last generation a noted divine in the

East, Rev. Dr. Bushnell, preached a sermon on the

barbarous tendencies of civilization in the West,

and on this the Reverend gentleman predicated

an urgent appeal to Christianity to put forth re-

newed and strenuous efforts to save this region

from a relapse into barbarism. This tendency was

supposed to result from the disruption of social

and religious ties, the mingling of heterogeneous

elements, and the removal of the external re-

straints so common, and supposed to be so potent

in older communities. It is evident, however,

that Dr. Bushnell did not have a sufficiently ex-

tended view of the subject, for the arbitrament of

time has shown that his apprehensions were

groundless, for if he had carefully surveyed the

history of the past, he would have found that in a

nomadic condition there is never any real pro-

gress in refinement. Institutions for the elevation

of the race must be planted deep in the soil, be-

fore they can raise their heads in beauty and

majesty toward heaven and bear fruit for the en-

lightenment of the nations. The evils that so

alarmed Dr. Bushnell were merely temporary in

their character, without a lasting impression.

The planting of a new colony where everything

has to be constructed, involves an obvious increase

of human freedom, the conventionalities of society

are necessarily disregarded to a great extent, but

the elements of sincere regard for the feelings and

welfare of others, and of self government every-

where, largely predominates, and the fusion of

the races modifies the asperities and the idiosyn-

cracies of each, and certainly will in due time

create a composite nationality in which it is hoj)ed,

in conformity to the spirit of this remarkable age,

will produce a nationality or a race as unlike, as it

must be superior to those that have preceded it.

Even now, before the first generation has passed

away, society here has outgrown the irritation of

the transplanting, and there are no more vicious

elements in society, if as many, as there are

in the old communities, as the criminal statistics

abundantly show.

Besides the West is already "pointing with

pride," to her educational institutions, where the

teaching is of an elevating and ennobling charac-

ter.
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CITY OF FARIBAULT.

OHAPTEE L.

GENERAL DBSOBIPTION EABLY SETTLEMENT —
EARLY EVENTS INDUSTRIAL BNTEKPKISES STATE

INSTITUTIONS SHATTUCK SCHOOL—SBABURX DI- .

VINITY SCHOOL CHUKOHES—PUBLIC SCHOOLS

—

PRATEBNAL AND OTHER SOCIETIES.

This is an independent political subdivision of

the county of Bice, with a city government, and

embraces a fraction from Cannon City, from

Wells, from Walcott, and from Warsaw, the pro-

portionate quantity of territory being in the or-

der named, and three miles square, which gives, of

course, nine square miles.

Its position brings the center of the city within

three miles of the geographical center of the

county of which it is the capital. It originally

possessed advantages of a high order, which have

been so well appreciated that it is one of the finest

and most prosperous cities in Minnesota. It is

situated with a prairie coming up from the south

and leaving it in the concave of a lunette of tim-

ber called the "Big Woods," extending north and

west for a great distance.

It is on the Straight Eiver, on the peninsula

formed by its confluence with Cannon Eiver. . The

water-power is large and reliable, and its utiliza-

tion has been one of the important elements con-

tributing to its growth and prosperity. The ex-

tent of the timber above mentioned was at least

1,800 square miles, or 1,152,000 acres, consisting

of oak, maple, bass, elm, poplar, and in some

places black walnut, butternut, cedar, and syca-

more; and immediately around Faribault it would

out a handsome amount of lumber to each acre,

and leave good material for fences and fuel. The

Straight Eiver timber, which laid to the south and

east, running into Steele county, comprised an area

of from three to four thousand miles. The Can-

non Eiver belt came in at an acute angle, so that

both bodies were ready to be drawn from, not with

tbat extreme economy which is practiced in com-

munities where, from its scarcity, timber is fully

appreciated, nor has it been wasted, as in the local-

ities where the getting rid of it is the problem

that exercises every new comer. The Cannon and

Straight Elvers run with strong currents, the

Straight being the smaller of the two, and this, it

is estimated, at the lowest stages passes 1,600 cubic

feet in a minute.

Three lime stone quarries were opened at an

early day, one by Mr. A. Faribault, operated by

Mr. Whipple, one by Charles Wood, and one by

M. N. Pond.

In 1856, two lime kilns were opened, Levi Nut-

ting had one, and Mr. Woodman the other. Take

these natural resources, associated with a county

having a rich and valuable soil which was rapidly

occupied with an industrious and intelligent popu-

lation, and you have the elements for the growth

and prosperity of the city of Faribault. All this

being supplemented by the advent in the city of

an unusual proportion of enterprising and public

spirited men and women, and there is no wonder

at what has been accomplished toward bringing

the shire town of Eice county so far along in the

race for metropolitan distinction.

In preparing the history of a county in which

the city plays such a prominent part as does Fari-

bault in that of Eice county, the difficulty of

drawing lines of demarcation between what should

appertain to the one or the other, excepting in

mere political qr governmental affairs, can be

readily appreciated after a moment's thought, and

in this work it will be seen that a sketch of the

early settlers of the city would be a simple reca-

pitulation of the coanty article, which is so full

in this regard. An attempt is made, however, to

group the items clearly belonging to the city in

this part of the book.

The first proprietors of what was known as the

"Old Town," were Alexander Faribault, Luke

Hulett, W. Morris, H. H. Sibley; and afterwards
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came the names of J. W. North, Porter Nutting,

J. H. Mills, B. Sherwood, Sen., Samuel Walcott;

and in the fall of 1855, Gen. James Shields, of

Mexican war fame, who had been a United States

Senator from Illinois, and was afterwards Senator

from Minnesota for the first short term after the

State was admitted into the Union. He was sub-

sequently a Senator from Missouri, the only in-

stance in this country where a man has represent-

el three Bitferent States in the American Senate.

He purchased an interest in the town site, and be-

came the agent and attorney for the company, re-

ceiving his deed from Judge Chatfleld, who form-

ally entered the town according to the act making

provisions therefore, on the 29th of May, 1855,

and for several years General Shields issued titles

to all the lots sold.

The original town, as surveyed and platted by

B. Densmore, contained 280 acres, but additions

were soon made as follows: Paquin's, surveyed

by 0. 0. Perkins and recorded December 7th,

1855, and April 16th, 1856, eighty acres; Cooper's,

surveyed by A. H. Bullis, and recorded April 3d,

1856, forty acres; MoOlelland's, surveyed by S.

Wade, and recorded April 30th, 1856, forty-two

acres; South Faribault, surveyed by O. 0. Perk-

ins, Shields and Faribault, proprietors, and re-

corded May 1st, 1856, fifty acres; North Fari-

bault, surveyed by A. H. Bullis, F. Faribault, pro-

prietor, forty acres, making in 1856, a total of 532

acres. All the lots were four by ten rods, making

one-fourth of an acre each, except the business

lots, which were two rods shorter.

In the winter of 1857, the lots were selling nt

from $500 to $3,000, which ought to have been a

satisfactory advauceon thirty-one and one-quarter

cents, paid the government a year or two before.

The tidal wave, or avalanche, whichever is most

appropriate to designate an oncoming of human-
ity and wealth, was in the spring and summer of

1856, for at the beginning Of that period there

was not a score of buildings in town, while

in the fall there were more than 250, and the

population had swelled up to be 1,500 or more.

There were in the town early in 1857, twenty-

three stores, four good .hotels, live wagon shops,

with blacksmith and shoemaker shops, two livery

stables, two meat markets, and three steam mills.

and surrounded by a rich country, fast filling up,

its growth and prosperity was an assurance whicli

has been well realized.

In the winter of 1856, Faribault had a literary

association, and published a paper called " The

Pioneer."

Goods at first had to be hauled from Hastings,

making a round trip of about 140 miles, although

in som3 seasons of the year supplies were landed

on the Mississippi at Heed's landing, at the foot

of Lake Pepin.

The first frame building put up here was by

Mr. Faribault, quite a good one and in striking

contrast with the log cabins, hovels, and shanties

which were extemporized by the pioneers on their

first arrival, to meet the imperative demands for

shelter. The cost of this first building was .f4,000.

The lumber for its construction was brought from

St. Paul; ij, part of it was left on the road, as the

team was unable to get through with such a load,

and this was burned by a prairie fire. The next

frame was erected by the Messrs. Barnard, at a

cost of $1,000, which was afterwards occupied by

J. H. Mills. This was in August, 1855, and

during that season quite a number of others went

up. Faribault's house still stands, not far from

the Barron house. The Post-office, which was

kept by Mr. E. J. Orump, the deputy, was oppo-

site where the Arlington House stands.

At first there was a struggle between the two

ends of the village, the south and the north. Mr.

Faribault lived at the south, and the French Ca-

nadian settlement was at the north end, and in

any contest where there was a vote on the ques-

tion, the countrymen of Mr. Faribault would go

with him, apparently against their own interest.

Mr. Orump had a pre-emption claim which he

was induced to waive in consideration of the

company's giving him the entire block upon

which the Arlington house stands.

General Shields had several thousand dollars,

and procuring a pair of horses and a carriage, he

traveled all over this country finally bringing up

in Shieldsville, where he was getting quite a

settlement when Mr. Faribault offered him such

liberable inducements to act for the town site

company, that he at once came here. The trouble

as to the ownership, and the adjustment of the

rival pre-emptioQ claims, was considerable, but

the General went to Washington where his ex-

perience in the land office enabled him to secure

a clear title. It is supposed that the disappoint-

ment attendiDg his political aspirations led to the

sudden abandonment of his property here to his

nephew.
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One of the first meetings for religious instruc-

tion was in April, 1854, in the grove near Luke

Hulett's, north of the bridge, on the Solomon

Atherton place, by an itinerant evangelist. The

audience was made up mostly of the Wau-pa-ku-

ta-Dakotas who were here in considerable num-

bers. The first denominational service was by

Jonathan Morris, a follower of Alexander Camp-

bell.

The village lots were surveyed in April, 1854,

and there were five claims covering the town at

that time. Mr. A. Faribault had the upper

claim ; J. B. Faribault , the father of Alexander,

had another; Mr. N. Paquin had the lower part

of the town ; whUe H. H. Sibley held the central

part, which, at that early day, Mr. Faribault in-

formed his particular friends sub rosa, was to

finally make a city with that as a center.

It was found that under the pre emption law,

town sites could be laid out in advance of the

land sale, and so it was arranged to lay out the

town at once, and the west, or prairie half, was
surveyed and platted, and filed in the recorder's

office at Mendota, in the name of A. Faribault,

H. H. Sibley, Walter Morris, and Luke Hulett.

This survey was subsequently cancelled, and,

iinder the auspices of J. B. North, a re-survey was

made ia the spring of 1855. This became per-

manent. In the fullness of time. Judge Ohat-

fleld was induced to become the trustee; the land

of Gen. Sibley was pre-empted, and through the

paramount influence of Gen. James Shields, who,

as mentioned elsewhere, had dawned upon the

scene, the title was finally vested so as to be lasting.

The city of Faribault proper is mostly in the

cul de sac, formed by the coming together of the

Straight and the Cannon Eivers on the northern

boundary. A part of the platted city lays east of

the Straight Biver including the Shattuck School,

the Deaf and Dumb Asylum, St. Mary's New
Hall, the Divinity School, the Asylum for the

Blind, and the Institute for the Idiotic and
Feeble Minded, and quite a number of residences.

These two parts of the city are connected by four

bridges. The east side is on a bluff which rises

abruptly from the river and overlooks the rest

of the city and country beyond, affording a fine

view from the public institutions located there.

The direction of the streets are coincident with

the cardinal points of the compass. The east and
west street crossing the river at the uppermost

point is Front street, and south of this, in the

same direction are Hickory, Pine, and South

streets. North of Front, the streets are numbered

consecutively. First, Second, and so on up to

Fifteenth, which is at the confluence of the two

rivers. The north and south streets are, Main, the

principal business street, which, commencing at the

south end, goes north to near the -junction of the

two rivers. Willow is east of this, and next to

the river; next is Water, which, on account of a

curve in the river is on both sides of it, then

comes Oak, Walnut, Vine, and Ash. On this side

the Hastings' road is a continuation of Second

street which deflects to the left. West of Main

street, and parallel with it, the streets are Elm,

Chestnut, Maple, Cherry, Cedar, Plum, Sycamore

and Buckeye, which is next east of the railroad.

West of the railroad are Irving, Cross, and Lin-

coln streets. This represents the street system of

Faribault, and there are several other short diag-

onal streets particularly at the south end of the

city. The streets are of good width and have

sidewalks, some of the outlying ones, however,

only on one side. They are usually of plank.

All the resident streets have shade trees which

are young and thrifty, and the common mistake

is made of allowing them to limb out too low

down, so that they obstruct the light and the

passage way, as in many streets an average man
cannot walk without getting his hat brushed,

which is anything but agreeable, especially in a

wet time, but this is evidently a result of a facetious

conspiracy against the glossy integrity of the few

remaining silk hats, or it may be from simple

thoughtlessness, which attention to the subject

will correct without the interposition of a city

ordinance. The blocks are laid out without

alleys which will be missed more" and more as the

city gets solidly built up. A few, however, have

been opened up. The city is admirably situated,

with good drainage facilities, and high and dry

above possible inundation by river floods. As to

healthfulness, there are seldom any prevailing

diseases.

In addition to the regular residents of the city,

there is a transitory population, brought hither

by the schools which have such a wide reputationi

and who remain for longer or shorter periods,

pending the education of their children. While

the city is metropolitan as far as churches, schools,

public halls, mercantile establishments, and the
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various concomitants of an advanced civilization are

concerned, it is nevertheless a rural city, where

the advantages of urban and suburban life can be

enjoyed together, without the annoyances inci-

dent to conditions where they have to be sought

separately.

The business houses and manufacturing estab-

lishments are commodious and well adapted for

their several purposes. The residences are in ac-

cordance with prevailing ideas as to what consti-

tutes a home, and there is a gratifying absence of

those extremes met with in older communities,

where the palaces with their columns, pilasters,

caryatides, entablatures, cornices, towers, and

minarets, in the midst of ornamented grounds,

with trees, flowers, fountains, and statuary en-

closed by lofty walls, and gates guarded by por-

ter's lodges, which suggest and point with un-

erring certainty to miserable hovels and abodes of

squalor and wretchedness, which are the counter-

part, or the other picture, upon which it is not so

pleasant to look. The luxuriance and ease on the

one hand being procured by the labor and depri-

vation on the other. These extremes are not met

with here, the people are all well housed and com-

fortable, showing that our republican institutions

are not a failure, but that they have realized the

idea that all men are created free and equal, and

also established the possibility of their remaining

so after they are born.

VAEIOUS EVENTS OF INTEBEST OHBONOLOGICAIiLT

ARBANGED.

A ladies' benevolent association was formed in

1855, and the first annual meeting held on the

14th of January, 1856. Mrs. Charles Jewett was

the president, and the other officers were, Mrs.

Armsby, Mrs. Bising West, Mrs. Tower, Mrs.

Stevens, and Mrs. Edwin AiTQstrong. This shows

that the noble women who first came here brought

with them a regard for humanity in its dependent

moods.

THE YEAE 1857.

On the 7th of January the Congregational

church was dedicated, and Eev. Lauren Armstrong

was installed as pastor of the church. Those as-

sisting were, Rev. Mr. Cressey, of Cannon City,

Rev. Mr. Barnes, of Cannon Falls ; and Rev. Mr.

Secombe. The people adhering to this faith ex-

hibited great energy in thus providing, at such an

early day, for their spiritual wants.

21

The laid office was removed here from Winona

some time toward the last of January. The teams

were eight days on the road with the documents.

On the 24th of February three young men
started to drive to the lake, and on their way were

hailed by a young Indian with a gun, who asked

for a ride, and without slacking up they beckoned

him to " come on," which he did. As he reached

the carriage, and was about clambering in, his

musket was discharged, and the ball penetrated

the arm of one of the young men, Godfrey Xa-

vier, breaking the bone above the elbow, and sev-

ering an artery. The Indian was arrested, but on

an examination the accidental character of the

shooting was shown, and he was discharged.

On the 17th of February two children of Mr.

Frederick Faribault, residing in an addition to

the city, while he was away from home, were

burned to death in the house, which was con-

sumed, it having caught or been set on fire, the

other members of the family escaping with great

difiioulty, one or two of them being seriously

burned.

The first quarterly returns of the Faribault

Post-office footed up $246 on letters alone.

At the election for delegates to the Constitu-

tional Convention, the whole number of votes cast

was 1,089.

Mr. Tillotson was appointed Receiver of the

land office in place of L. D. Smith, who had re-

signed.

Business at the land office for a single month,

ending on the 19th of June, 1857, was as follows:

Acres located, 118,178; with land warrants, 106,-

380; with cash, 11,798.

The taxable property In Faribault, returned on

the 1st of January, 1856, was $613,364, and the

tax assessed was $613.36, or one per cent.

Mail matter received and sent at the Faribault

Post-office in 1857 averaged from 1,800 to 2,000

pieces a week, which was quite a jump from two

pieces, in 1853.

Judge H. C. Lowell was appointed register of

the land office in this year.

A surveying party on a projected line of rail-

road reached Faribault in June.

During the summer a plank road was built be-

tween Faribault and Cannon City.

In July McCarn & Co. put on a new stage
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line to Hastings. The first line was run by

White, and afterward by Walker, the great fron-

tier stage driver.

Clark and Weld got their saw mill running in

Faribault in July.

The first Saturday in August the bell of the

Congregational church was hung in Faribault. It

weighed 1,000 pounds, and was claimed to be the

first bell, of which there is a large family, west of

the Mississippi.

In 1867, the grasshoppers came in the vicinity

of the county, and excited considerable curiosity,

not unmingled with alarm.

On the 15th of September a meeting was held

in the city to organize a cemetery association. A.

J. Tanner was the Chairman; E. P. Mills, William

Thoter, Charles Wood, E. A. Mott, E. D. Gifford,

G. W. Baleh, Elder L. S. Pease, H. Riedell, Arch.

Gibson, Charles Williams, Thomas S. Buckham,

and others, were interested in the movement.

The first movement to establish an institution

of learning in Faribault was in September, by a

committee consisting of Eev. Solon W. Manner,

Eev. E. Steele Peake, Messrs. Lloyd and Breck

At this meeting Messrs. Dike, Mott, Faribault,

Paquin, and Boardman were designated to receive

subscriptions of land or money.

There was a robbery of the land office in Sep-

tember of warrants to the amount of $40,000.

They were, however, recovered, except four from

the abstractor. Mason B. Clark, a Postmaster, who
lived at Sacramento, a place sixty miles west of

Bed Wing.

In the fall of 1857, at the time of that financial

depression, Faribault had arrived at a condition of

prosperity which was most remarkable, and it is

certain that all who were here at that time should

be designated as old settlers, and so a sketch of

the city, written by Mr. Mott for his paper, is re-

produced.

"But one church now stands in this place, viz.,

the Congregational. A fine church, built by the

Catholics, was burned last fall. In addition. Bap-

tist, Methodist, Episcopal, and Lutheran organiza-

tions exist, stated preaching having been secured

to each.

One schoolhouse has been erected at a cost of

$2,000. It is now occupied by two teachers. An-

other school is sustained in a commodious hall.

These teachers have now under their tuition, about

125 pupils.

A brass band; a string band; a vocal club; a

singing school ; a Mason's and Odd Fellow's lodge,

are all in successful existence.

Our mail service has been decreased since the

close of summer, but we still have fifteen arrivals

and eighteen departures weekly.

We have been unable to obtain the last census

report, but the enumeration made by the assessor

last June gave this town a population of 1683. It

is now reported at over 2,000. By actual count

there were, some time since, over 250 buildings in

the place. Faribault has become the center of

trade for a large section of country, of the exten-

sion of which some idea can be formed from a list

of business establishments which we now proceed

to give:

There are eight establishments in the general

variety line, comprising dry goods, groceries'

hardware, farming tools, &c.—The amount of busi-

ness transacted by these houses now during these

hard times would give them an annual trade of

over $200,000.

There are four large houses dealing exclusively

in hardware.

TJiree heavy grocery stores. (These have no

connections with the Devil's recruiting stations, of

which there are six or eight.

)

Three clothing and furnishing stores.

Three meat and provision markets.

Two drug stores.

Two first-class restaurants.

Two furniture stores and cabinet shops.

Three livery stables.

Three blacksmith shops, which employ eight

hands.

One harness shop.

Two boot and shoe stores.

One wagon and sleigh shop.

One broom factory.

One grist-mill, with three more within three

miles.

Two saw-mills, with seven more within three

miles.

One planing-mill.

One billiard saloon.

Two bowling alleys.

One race course.

So far as our memory serves, the following list

comprises the business men of the place

:

Town Pbopbibtoks—Shields & McCutchen, A.

Faribault, J. Cooper, H. McClelland, N. Paquin,
A. Faribault, Turner & Batohelder.
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Clergymen—L. Armsby, T. B. Cressey, J. H.

White.

PHrsioiANS—Bemis, Leighton, Burhans, Deni-

son, Stevens, and Turner.

Dentistry—Dr. Stevens and Dr. Biggs.

Tbaohebs—L. A. Pish, Miss Parish, Miss Sarah

Fisk.

Landlords— Barron House, H E. Barron

;

National, E. D. Giflford; Faribault House, T.

Nutting.

Bankers and Land Agents—Shields & Mo-

Cutchen, G. W. Boardman & Co., H. Wilson & Co.,

MoUrath, Cole & Co., L. 8. Pease & Co.

Attorneys and Counselloks at Law—Batch-

elder & Buokham, Cole & Eaymond, Davis & Tan-

ner, Berry & Perkins, H. W. Lamberton, O. A.

Dalrymple, C. Williams, G. E. Skinner.

Surveyors—A. H. Ballis, R. H. L. Jewett, G.

F. Batohelder.

Merchants— General Variety — Tower &
Brother, J. A. Moore, J. H. Mills & Son, Mr.

McGreavy, Van Brunt & Misener, Fuller & Smith,

J. H. Winter, D. Munch.

Hardware— C. T. Hinde & Co., Cottrell &
Brother, T. H. Loyhed, Cooper & Renwick.

Groceries—Chaffee & Berry, F. B. Nasou &
Co., Mr. Braley.

Clothing—W. 8. Eastman, Rauneoker & Hart-

man, P. B. Crosby & Co.

Provision Markets—M. Cole, C. T. Winans,

Nutting & Dickinson.

Rbstaubants—C. M. MUspaugh, J. & A. Man-

heim.

Drug Stores—Wheeler & Thayer, Stevens &
Thayer.

Furniture Stores—Hill & Brockway, Wandell

& Worlin.

Millinery—Mrs. L. Clement, Mrs. O. M. Cran-

dall.

Liveries—D. Smith & Co,, T. Smith.

Jewelry—J. L. Wilcox & Co.

Harness Shop—E. 0. Hinde.

Wagon Shop—J. D. Denison.

Architects and Builders—Hink & Newoomb,

Davison & Clemons, R. W. Russ, A. & J. Nutting.

Broom Factory—Misener & Brother.

Shingle-Mill—J. M. White.

Saw-Mills—Gibson & Co., H. Eiedell.

Gbist-Mill—Gibson & Co.

Planing-Mill—Clark & Weld.

Shoe Shop—D. O'Brien.

Our merchants are all well stocked, and they

are generally as fine dealers as ever stood behind

the counter. Our landlords are all gentlemen, and

spare no pains to make travelers at home. Our
mechanics have increased, greatly, their facilities

for doing good work. Our places of amusement

would lose their objectionable features if intoxi-

cating drinks could be banished from their pre-

cincts.

We would urge eastern mechanics and capital-

ists, who feel like breaking out into the free North-

west, to grow up with it, to pay us a visit next

spring. We want men with bronzed faces and

homey hands; men and women who can cheerfully

lock arms with toil. We promise you that toil

will here be richly remunerated. We are, now
especially, in need of plough, reaper, and mower
factories, and a pair of jolly coopers."

Those who are acquainted here now, will not fail

to notice the names of many business men who
are still here, some of them in the same business,

and some of them engaged in other occupations,

although in any case twenty-five years makes sad

havoc with mercantile firms and street signs.

The Catholic church at Faribault was burned on

the 8th oC October. The structure had cost about

.$1,000.

Early in the winter a literary association was

organized, Charles Williams was the president,

and the other officers were, H. E. Barron, G. W.
Jacobs, G. E. Cole, H. Chaffer, T. S. Buokham.

The meetings served to make the residents

acquainted with each other, and, to a certain ex-

tent, to reveal the mental calibre of those who par-

ticipated in the exercises.

The estimated improvements of the city of Fari-

bault in 1857, amounted to $100,000. The fol-

lowing from the "Herald" wUl give an idea of the

improvements of this year:

It is truly gratifying to take a view of the im-

provements which have been effected in onr place

during the past year. In nothing is this advance

more apparent than in the erection of new
buildings.

The building of the past year has been alto-

gether of a different and superior character from

that which preceded it. In place of pre-emption

shanties which constituted many of those before

numbered, we have now the stately edifice from

two to four stories in height. The buildings

erected within the last year would probably reach
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in number one hundred and fifty, the most notice-

able of these are as follows : Residence of A. Fari-

bault on a sightly bluff over the river, costing

about $4,000; the beautiful residence of James

Tower at a cost of '$2,500; the residences of Gen.

Shields, J. Cooper, N. Paquin, H. McClelland, F.

Faribault, Eev. L. Armsby, 8. Barnard, Mr.

Humphrey, H. Eiedell, J. Gibson, Messrs. Decker,

Alby, Lines, Whipple, &c., at an average of about

$2,000 each. The foUowingare among the most

important business erections : Store by M. Cook,

24x40; Oottrell & Co., 24x50; A. Blodgett, hall

and billiard saloon at an average of $2,500; store

and hall by Faribault & Co. ; restaurant by Mills-

paugh; bank by J. A. Moore; store by J. H.

Mills; drug store by Stevens & Thayer; Eeceiver's

office by J. B. Cooper; store by Mr. Merrill; all of

these new buildings are two stories and cost about

$2,000 each. A number of creditable one-story

buildings for offices, banks, stores &c., have been

erected. A number of fine buildings show them-

selves on Paquin's addition, among which we

notice one by I. H. Craig, 22x45, three stories

high, for store or hotel; F. Craig has built two,

one 16x36, the other 19x36, both two stories; two

stores, one by Fredette and one by Langeuin, both

20x40, two stories.

We cannot report in full, suffice is to say that

the amount expended in private building the past

year cannot fall short of $100,000.

In addition our commissioners have erected an

office and jail at an expense of about $5,000. The
school trustees have built a sohoolhouse costing

about $2,000. The Congregational church has

been enlarged and a bell procured. Three bridges

have been built across Straight River, and one

across the Cannon. A pleasant and commodious
cemetery has been laid out, and many other im-

provements which give great satisfaction to the

citizens of Faribault who love their homes.''

THE TEAK 1858.

The leading men early saw the necessity of en-

couraging the cultivation of the best in all de-

partments of agriculture, and as early as the 22d
of January, 1858, met for the purpose of organiz-

ing; and about the same time the young men
organized a students' literary association, which
served its purpose in an admirable way.

Faribault Mills, Warner & Buckhout, were
burned on the 5th of February, and in March Mr.

Sentill's mill was also burned. Soon after an-

other mill burst a boiler.

Graham's mill was burned on the 22d of Feb-

ruary, and also another on East Prairie, which

was a serious loss to the whole community, as well

as to the owners.

Dr. Charles Jewett, of Faribault really, al-

though his farm was in Warsaw, in the winter of

1858 went east and gave lyceum lectures on the

west, and Minnesota in particular, and also wrote

numerous articles showing the especial advan-

tages of this location, which, without doubt, was

the direct means of keeping the stream of emigra-

tion flowing in this direction, with a good class of

citizens.

A Ladies' Literary Association was organized

on the 7th of February. The officers were: Presi-

dent, Mrs. H. A. Pratt; vice-president, Mrs. T. 8.

Buckham; Recording Secretary, Miss Ada E. Hil-

ler ; Corresponding Secretary, Miss Nellie Mott;

Treasurer, Mrs. Hudson Wilson; Executive Com-
mittee, Miss E. Whitney, Mrs. George B. Whip-

ple, Mrs. A. E. Haven, and Mrs. J. H. Winter.

On the 15th of May, a meeting was held to see

about organizing an Episcopal University.

A Lodge of Gcod Templars was instituted on

the 13th of May, by Eev. Mr. Quigley, with

twenty-seven charter members.

Messrs. Judd & Dike put up a barrel factory.

THE YEAB 1862.

Leander Gagne, while at work on the roof of a

church at Faribault, on the 18th of June, fell a

distance of thirty feet, and was instantly killed.

The Baptist church was built in this year.

The 4th of July was celebrated in Faribault

in the time-honored way, with Hon. James W.
Taylor as the orator of the day.

On the 7th of July there was a violent storm in

Faribault and vicinity, doing great damage in its

track.

A daily mail was put on between Owatonna

and St. Paul, via Faribault, in the summer of this

year.

The saw and grist mill of Morris & Melhom, on

the Cannon Eiver, was destroyed by fire on

Wednesday morning, November 26th. This was

the second mill burned there.
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THE TEAK 1863.

Faribault had a tannery started by Mr. O'Brien.

A brewery also went up that year.

The 4th of July was duly celebrated.

THE TEAB 1864.

The Congregational Church was commenced in

the summer of this year.

An Episcopal church was completed during the

year.

Early in the sixties, ginseng, an aromatic tonic

root, exported to China, and used by the Orientals

as a remedial or luxury preparation, began to be

extensively gathered, as it is found indigenous in

certain localities here. Ten dollars a day, or

more, was often made by a single individual.

On the 23d of February a terrible and fatal

accident happened to Charles Babcock, who was

caught in the mill of Dike & Co., and mangled in

such a fearful manner that he died a few days

afterwards.

The first national bank was started in Fari-

bault in May of 1864.

When the cars began running, in 1864, a new

stage route to connect with the trains was started

by Burbank & Co., which reduced the staging

considerably.

THE TEAB 1865.

The census of Faribault was 2,339. Of these

1,216 were males, and 1,123 females. There were

sixty-nine soldiers in the service at that time. In

1860 the population was 1,520.

The Sisters of St. Clara Benton, five in num-

ber, arrived in Faribault in August to establish a

school.

The Central Minnesota railroad got in operation

as tar ar Northfield in September.

During the year 1865, sixty buildings went up

in Faribault.

THE TEAB 1866.

In the winter of this year the demand for more

and better buildings was quite urgent.

The Good Templars re-organized on the 22d of

January, with a good list of charter members and

capable officers.

There was a Legislative excursion to Faribault

in the fall. Governor Marshall and other State

officers were present. It was in the interest of the

educational institutions established here.

In April a meeting was held which was very

important in negative results. The subject was

to see about the establishment of a Congrega-

tional college, which was subsequently located in

Northfield.

In the summer of 1866, the Faribault papers

stated that there was Hot a single soda fountain in

town.

The corner stone of the Shattuck grammar

school was laid with appropriate ceremonies on the

26th of July.

The total number of farms under cultivation

in Rice county was 1,200. Number of sheep,

16,947.

St. Mary's Hall was opened on the 31st of Oc-

tober.

THE YEAR 1867.

There were thirty-eight Sioux remaining in Fari-

bault in July, when they were removed to their

reservation in Nebraska by Bev. S. D. Henderson,

the agent for the purpose.

The amount of building in Faribault this year

was $178,000.

THE YBAE 1868.

The Shattuck grammar school building, which

was erected in 1866, was burned on the 24th of

January.

The citizens had a meeting on the 24th of Jan-

uary to see about having a city charter. The

Chairman of the meeting was L. Dearborn; the

Secretary, E. H. L. Jewett. A committee consis-

ting of T. 8. Buokham, Luke Nutting, George

W. Batohelder, Cliarles Wood, and T. B. Clement,

was appointed to report at a subsequent meeting.

On Thursday, the 3d of January, the Minne-

sota Fruit Grower's Association met at Faribault.

A Board of Trade was organized in August,

with the following officers: President, T. B.

Clement; Vice-President, W. W. Knapp ; Treasurer,

Hudson Wilson; Secretary, Thomas Mee; Corre-

sponding Secretary, G. F. Batchelder; Directors,

D. O'Brien, W. H. Dike, Moses Cole, and others.

The Shattuck school was formerly reopened in

October.

The old schoolhouse in Faribault was sold this

year for $356, as there was no further public use

for the building. The new schoolhouse was com-

pleted in September, at a cost of $23,190.
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The population of Faribault was stated to be

3,424.

THE TEAR 1869.

Eev. Dr. S. W. Manny, who was connected with

the Seabury mission, on the 19th of January was

carried to

"That other side,"

"That heavenly shore."

Lieut. John 0. Whipple received his final

"marching orders" on the 5th of February, 1869.

He was at Fort Bidgely at the time of the Indian

massacre. Lieut. Whipple was bom on the 12th of

September, 1823, near the corners of New York,

Massachusetts, and Vermont. When quite young

he went on a whaling voyage, and was treated

with such cruelty by his brutal captain that he ran

away, and among savages had many thrilling ad-

ventures. He was a First Lietenant in the Thir-

tieth Minnesota Itegiment, was a brave officer, and

was buried with Masonic honors.

About this time, Taope, a noted red man, started

for the happy hunting grounds. He was always

friendly to the whites.

A plow and agricultural implement factory was

started in Faribault this year.

On the 14th of June Fleokenstein's brewery was

burned.

The cathedral of Our Merciful Savior was dedi-

cated on St. John's day, the 24th of June.

W. A. Heinrich, at his ashery, in 1869, made

19,000 pounds of potash.

The value of agricultural implements sold in

Faribault in this year was $27,715. They con-

sisted of 95 reapers, 47 horse rakes, 7 threshing

machines, and 12 mowers.

The Congregational church was dedicated on the

12th of October.

In October of this year a Horticultural Society

was formed.

THE TEAR 1870.

The German Catholic church was opened in

January.

The freight business done in Faribault during

the year 1869, was as follows: wheat shipped,

69,492 bushels; flour, 52,743 barrels; hogs, 398,660

pounds; total freight, 19,985,250 pounds.

Early in February there was a destructive fire in

Faribault, destroying several buildings. D.

Stevens, carpenter; and Smith, Mr. Sheeran, N. O.

Winans, J. Berghlems, .Rogers & Stevens, and

others were sufferers.

Itev. Dr. Eiddell, who was well and favorably

known here, died in Kansas in February.

On the 28th of June the Shattuck boys had a

regatta on Cannon Lake. There were four boats

in the race and they made the distace of two mUes

as follows:

Undine 20 min. 14 sec.

Bed Bird 20 " 24 "

Eover 20 " 36 "

Ariel 20 " 56 "

A flag was presented to the winning crew by

Miss Emily Du Bois. In the evening there was a

supper with the usual accessories. A Minneapolis

boat club afterwards sent a challenge, but as no

suitable boat could be procured no contest was had

with that club.

The census for Faribault in 1870 was 4,371.

THE TEAK 1871.

The second regatta was on Thursday, the 8th of

June, 1871, at Cannon Lake. The contest was be-

tween the Shattuck school, the St. Paul, and the

Tritonio Club, of the University, During the

progress of the race the University boat filled and

went under. The other boats stopped to rescue

the floundering oarsmen, and then the St. Paul

crew pulled in and were declared the winners.

Since that time boating has not been a specialty

with the Shattuck Cadets.

In May the old Van Brunt store was removed

from the corner of Main and Third streets to the

south side of Third, in the rear of the First Na-

tional Bank. This building was put up by Van

Brunt & Misener in 1855, the lumber having been

brought from Red Wing.

A Tamer's Society was organized on the 10th

of August, with the following corps of oflBcers:

President, C. E. Brandt; Vice-President, A. Muel-

ler; Treasurer, F. A. Theopold: Secretary, W.

Hendrick; Instructors, Newsal and Herbst; Su-

perintendent, Mr. Kraft.

Building improvements in 1871, in the city of

Faribault, amounted to $176,576.

THE TEAR 1872.

Hon. George W. Tower, the first mayor, was

inaugurated on the 9th of April.

In June the Shattuck and Seabury schools had
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a boat race, and the gray came in ahead of the

black.

A Golden Wedding.—Dr. and Mrs. Hollis

Howe celebrated the fiftieth anniversary of their

wedding. The assembly met at the residence of a

son of the aged couple, Mr. George Howe. The

rooms were appropriately decorated for the rare

occasion. The parlor had an arch emblazoned

with "Golden Wedding, June 4th, 1872." The

groomsmen and bridesmaids for this auspicious

occasion were Mr. and Mrs. James Gibson, Mr.

Andrew Gibson, and Mrs. Densmore, a sister of

the bride of half a century. Kev. Mr. Hinton, in

a few well-chosen words, exacted auew the promise

to " love, honor, and protect," and thus the well-

preserved couple started on the last half of the

century, the completion of which wiU certainly

find them on

—

"The other side of Jordan,

Where the sweet fields of Eden,
Where the tree of life is blooming.'

A golden wedding is such a rare event that it

should certainly be recorded in this permanent

form, for very few can realize what fifty years of

wedlock means, with its journeyings, it may be in

the wilderness, with the long deferred peace and

plenty, which is always hoped for in the not dis-

tant future, still deferred ; or it may be a journey

margined by fruits and flowers; but although the

paths have been those of pleasantness and pros-

perity as a - predominating feature, there must

have been rough and rugged places, and if they

have been happily passed without asperities from

either side, the journey has been indeed fortunate,

and these two lives have not been failures.

Dr. Howe was born in Marlboro', Massachu-

setts, in 1799, and was married in June, 1822, to

Miss Julia Bird, of Litchfield, Connecticut.

The Memorial Chapel of the Good Shepherd

was dedicated, and assigned to the use of the

Shattuck school on the 24:th of September.

Hill's furniture factory was burned on the 22d

of November, involving a loss of $25,000.

Seabury Hall was destroyed by fire on the 28th

of November, entailing a loss of $20,000.

THE YEAB 1873.

The city fire department was thoroughly re-

organized on the first of January, 1873. The
steam fire engine arrived on the 7th of February,

after being sixty days on the road.

E. W. Leavens was appointed Postmaster in the

spring of this year, and his " flag is still there."

Quite a serious fire took place on the 10th ol

April. The losses sustained were by, Tuttle anc

Barnard, a meat market ; Spo & Dappings, 3

McCutchen, George M. Gilmore, J. Stocklein, and

a few others. The expense of this conflagratior.

was about $6,000. The new steam fire engint

was out, but it met with several comical mishaps,

and before the various snarls it encountered could

be untangled the fire was extinguished.

In November H. E. Barron had a re-union of

his old friends at his hotel. He came to Fari-

bault in 1855, and built and started the Barron

house, with E. N. Leavens as clerk.

8. H. Jaquos died on the 22d of December, in

Philadelphia, of typhoid fever. He was a promi-

nent citizen of Faribault, and was in the real es-

tate and insurance business with H. W. Barry,

and was succeeded by J. D. Green. He was Secre-

tary of the Board of Trade, and interested in

other public enterpiises.

'

The Faribault Driving Park was opened on the

24th of July, under the patronage of the Cannon
Valley Agricultural and Mechanical Association.

THE TEAE 1874.

Scandinavian Liteeary Sooiett.—An institu-

tion with this name was organized on the 13th of

February in Faribault. A constitution and by-

laws were adopted, and officers elected as fol-

lows : President, H. A. Larson ; Vice-President, O.

L. Hamery; Treasurer, A. T. Brondvold; Secre-

tary, J. J. Schey; Assistant Secretary, M. J. Hol-

men.

In February a catamount weighing thirty-six

pounds was shot within a few miles of Faribault.

Presumably he was one of the last of his race in

this section.

Maj. Dike's house was burned on the 11th of

May.

On the 25th of May the Shattuck Guards had
an excursion to Minneapolis and St. Paul.

Ninety-eight cadets turned out, with Captain J.

M. Lancaster in command of the battalion, and

Captains Pierce, Oasville, Talbot, and Lieutenant

Wiley in command of the several companies.

Arriving at Fort Snelling the band joined them,

and in Blinneapolis the Dniversity Cadets fell in.

They were received in an address by O. 0. Merri-

man, President of the Council. Col. W. W. Fol-
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well of the State University also addressed the

party. At six o'clock the detachment started for

St. Paul. There they were addressed by Gov-

omor Davis, and there was a parade, etc. They

were most hospitably received and entertained at

the State Capital, and returned the next day.

Ou Sunday, the 2d of August, an insane stu-

dent of the Divinity School attempted to shoot

Bishop Whipple. He started from the audience

and walked into the chancel, where he raised a

pistol to shoot the Bishop, but he had forgotten

to cock the weapon, and his arm was siezed; others

interfering, he was secured and subsequently sent

to St Peter.

The church of the Immaculate Conception, in

Faribault, was consecrated on the 9th of October,

with imposing rites.

A Building and Loan Association was organ-

ized. 0. W. Andrews was president.

THE YEAB 1876.

On the 22d of February the Masonic Hall was

dedicated with suitable exercises.

William A. Shaw, of the firm of Carpenter,

Smith & Shaw, clothing dealers, died on the 11th

of March. He was a native of Seneca Falls, New
York, and came here in 1857. He left a widow

and one child.

A veteran re-union of the First Minnesota Begu-

lar Volunteer Infantry of the war of 1861, occurred

in Faribault on the 15th of June. An address of

welcome was presented by Mayor Nutting. H.

C. Whitney was the President of the Veteran As-

sociation. A collation was served, new officers

elected, and an enjoyable time passed.

The Grange Mill was burned on the 8th of No-

vember, entailing a loss of $10,000.

The new engine house in Faribault was built in

this year, at a cost of $7,300.

The ilouring mill of Bean Brothers & Tennant,

on the Cannon Eiver, a mile and three-fourths

from town, was burned on the 9th of December, at

a loss of $25,000.

THE YEAB 1878.

At the spring election of 1878, the question of

"License" or "No License" for the sale of intoxi-

cating beverages was sharply contested at the

polls, and the "No License" party succeeded in

obtaining a majority on the direct question, but

the other side elected their candidates for the sev-

eral offices, which proved to be a distressing state

of aifairs.

The telephone, with its interminable "Hello,''

struck the city this spring.

A golden wedding on the 17th of May was a

notable affair. The happy couple who had seen a

half century of realization of "loves young

dream" were Rev. and Mrs. J. Hoover. As the

parties began to arrive on this semi-centenial, it

was soon found that their parlor was much too

small for the company and so Mr. T. H. Lewis,

who lived near, kindly opened his house. Among
those present were, Mr. and Mrs. J. Jepson, Mr.

and Mrs. George Dampier, Mr. and Mrs. N.

Travis, Mr. and Mrs. W. Neel, Mr. and Mrs.

D. Buckham, Mr. and Mrs. E. Hanes, Mr. and

Mrs. W. Walrod, Mr. and Mrs. E. Hoover,

Rev. and Mrs. Guyton, Miss Alice Neel, with the

host and hostess, Mr. and Mrs. T. H. Lewis, and

others. The dinner at half-past two was an en-

joyable affair. The aged couple came here from

Ohio in 1855, in the month of April, and he was

the first resident minister, as stated at the time,

and organized the first worshiper's congregation.

A beautiful poem of a dozen stanzas, composed by

a daughter, was read by Miss Alice Neel. A few

lines are here transcribed as a specimen of the

whole:

"to tathee and mothee."

When in a world of fancy my spirit will roam,

Memory carries me back to my childhood's home,
The meadow, the orchard, and each shady nook,

And back of the house the laughing, silvery brook.

The orchard my father grafted with such care

The rosy-cheeked apple that yearly hung there.

But there's a bright circle forming above,

In that home, prepared by infinite love."
He S)t * !)< + '

The company separated at a seasonable hour,

well pleased with the display of affectionate re-

gard thus bestowed upon the venerable and worthy

pair.

The board of trade was reorganized on the 24th

of June.

The most disastrous fire that ever happened in

Faribault was on the 17th of June of this year.

Almost an entire square was consumed, including

two banks and ten stores; the losses were estimated

at $125,000, and embraced a long list of sufferers.

THE YEAB 1879.

A company to erect and operate an arhber cane

sugar refinery was organized in Faribault in 1879,
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with a capital of $9,000. 8. H. Kenney, John

Mullin, and I. B. Spencer were the officers.

The wiad-mill company was organized in this

year.

THE YEAR 1880.

The silver wedding of Captain and Mrs. E. H.

Outts was celebrated on the 9lh of January, 1880.

There were about forty friends of the worthy

couple to congratulate theru on arriving at the

half-way station on the road to the golden wedding-

The ancients considered silver to be the emblem of

wisdom, while gold was the representative of lovei

and among the tokens of regard, the cake baskets,

the butter dishes, and knives, enough of them were

gold lined to signalize the beautiful correspon-

dence of these two grand divisions of the human
mind and which are so indispensable in married

partners. Mrs. Cutts, on this occasion was arrayed

in her original wedding suit, and after a repast,

the joyous occasion was concluded with promises,

with that inevitable if, to be there when the golden

period should roll around.

In the summer of 1880, a stone manufactory

was added to the industries of Faribault.

On the 29th of October the Matteson flouring

mill, on the Cannon Eiver, was destroyed by fire,

loss $23,000; insured for $18,000.

In this year J. D. Greene & Co.'s mill was revo-

lutionized and transformed into a new process mill,

and its capacity put up to between three and four

hundred barrels a day, of the very best of flour.

The railroad business in Faribault during this

year was as follows : freight forwarded, 32,305,222

pounds; local charges, $85,516; freight received,

19,316,901 pounds, local charges, $48,364; ticket

sales, $24,667.

Births in the city, 772; deaths, 340; showing a

natural increase of 432.

The Faribault elevator was burned on the 10th

of June, at a loss of $65,000. It was built in the

winter of 1865, was 52x162 feet, and had a storage

capacity of 100,000 bushels. The losers were A.

W. Pratt, Pratt and Robinson, Hartford Brothers

& Tennant, J. D. Greene & Co., James Murphy,

with numbers of farmers who lost from one to two

hundred dollars worth each.

THE TEAK 1881.

Another golden wedding occurred on the 30th

of June, 1881, the subjects of the hearty demon-

stration being Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Crossett,

the parents of H. N. Crossett, of the United

States Express. They were married in East

Berkshire, Vermont, on the 30th of June,

1831. Beautiful gifts of out flowers, a purse of

gold from the Masonic brotherhood, of which he

was one of the oldest members, and other tokens

of esteem and regard were presented. As a sequel

to this joyous occasion it must be added, that on

the 16th of August following, Mr. Crossett's

spirit took its flight, to a land unknown, beyond

our mortal sight.

THE TEAS 1882.

Early in 1882, the city was numbered on the

Philadelphia plan, by George W. Cheney, agent

of the Pennsylvania Nunibering Company.

Mr. and Mrs. J. H. Winter were treated to a sur-

prise silver wedding on the 20th of January. They

were married in Amherst, Massachusetts, on the

20th of January, 1856, Miss Harriet N. Kellogg

being the name of the bride. Several who were

present at the original wedding were here at the

quarter century reunion, among them being Mrs.

Levi Nutting, James A. Winter, and Mrs. E. N.

Leavens.

On the 13th -of January there was a fire on

Third street, a building owned by Godfrey Fleoken-

stein was burned.

Faribault City Mills changed to Hungarian

system in the winter of 1882. It delivers .125

barrels a day.

On the 1st of March a fire practically destroyed

an old landmark in Faribault, Maj. Fowler's store,

which was used as the first Deaf and t)umb school,

and some other buildings were injured.

On the 25th of February, Orrin Wilson, one of

the pioneers of the county, died in Ohio at the age

of 78 years.

The Barron House was burned on the 17th of

March; Hummel's photograph gallery and Joseph

Thompson's confectionery store, and the Post-

office apartments were also burned, but the con-

tents of the office were safely removed. The loss

on the hotel was $22,000, and there were many
personal losses. The hotel is rebuilding by G. E.

Cole, J. B. Wheeler, and H. W. Pratt.

The railroad business for 1881, in Faribault was

as follows

:

Flour shipped, barrels , 146,935

MiUstufr, pounds 6,894,000
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Wheat, pounds 6,182,000

Dressed hogs, pounds 357,000

Cattle, cars 28

Live hogs, oars 12

H orses, cars 1

Sheep, cars 4

Total produce sliipped, pounds. . .48,436,960

Total freight received, pounds. . . .41,187,650

Charges $125,482

Tickets sold 25,620

THE CITY GOVBENMBNT.

Faribault was at first a town embracing perhaps

a half of Cannon City, defined by an irregular

line running diagonally across the original govern-

ment township in a southeast and northwest direc-

tion. But, as elsewhere mentioned, it was finally,

for the most part, restored to Cannon City, and

three miles square was determined as the form

and size of the city. In this way the government

went on in an uneventful manner until the grow-

ing town began to realize that a city government

was required.

On the 22d of January, 1870, a meeting of the

citizens of Faribault was held at the office of Gor-

don E. Cole. H. E. Barron was called to the chair,

and J. 0. Parshall was appointed secretary. A
committee was appointed to take the subject of

procuring a city charter into consideration, and

report at a subsequent meeting. This committee

consisted of the following gentlemen : Gordon E.

Cole, T. B. Clement, and Hudson Wilson. About

forty of the leading citizens were present, and sev-

eral meetings were afterwards held to formulate

the matter.

The requirements of the city were seen and ap-

preciated by the State Legislature, and an act to

incorporate the city of Faribault was passed, and

approved by the Governor on the 29th of February,

1872. The question of its acceptance by the peo-

ple was submitted to a vote on the 2d of April^

and accepted, and the first city government insti-

tuted by the choice of officers. The wheels of

authority which were then set in motion have been

almost noiselessly kept running ever since, and

"Law and order everywhere prevails.''

Hon. George W. Tower, the first Mayor of the

city, was inaugurated on the 9th of April. The

other officers elected were: Aldermen, C. D. Harn

J. H. Harding, 8. C. Dunham, L. C. Ingram, .7.

H. Winter, T. H. Nutting, W. L. Turner, and H.

E. Barron. H. E. Barron was elected President of

the board, and Henry E. Sime was appointed

Clerk; Justices of the Peace, Joseph C. Mold, O.

F. Perkins, J. B. Quinn, and J. L. Smallidge; City

Attorney, John C. Morrow; City Assessor, Henry

Dunham.

The organization of the city government was a

prominent milestone to mark the progress that had

been made, and to show the direction in which it

was moving.

The brief inaugural address of the Mayor-elect

is here presented. He said : "I came to Faribault

in October, 1855, and it has been my home ever

since. Many of the voters, the business men, the

wives, and the mothers of this young city were

then pratting children in other States, or on the

other Continent. The town itself, except as to the

mere territory, was not in existence, having been

subsequently entered as a town site by Judge

Ohatfield. The rapid settlement of the village

commenced in the spring of 1856, and its location

at such an important point very soon assured its

success, and it became the most promising place

in southern Minnesota. In 1857, Gen. James

Shields, who had already been a United States

Senator, by his influence in Washington secured

this as a point to be provided for in the congres-

sional land grant in aid of the Minneapolis &
Cedar Valley railroad, which finally secured this

most important railroad connection with the East.

Early in the sixties our delegates in the Legisla-

ture secured the location of the Deaf, Dumb, and

Blind Institute in Faribault, and in due time the

school was opened and the buildings erected.

About the same time, in a humble way, was laid

the foundation which has proved to be deep and

broad, of the Bishop Seabury University, and we
now point to these institutions with pride, and it

becomes us as a city to cherish for them a friendly

and fostering interest."

Pbbsbnt City Govbknmbnt.—Mayor, H. W.
Pratt; Board of Aldermen, Dennis Cavanaugh,

Henry Chaffee, Patrick Devrey, E. Kaul, J. F.

Lindeman, A. J. Mennell, E. J. Moran, J. D.

Shipley; Eecorder, J. J. Byrnes; Treasurer, S. I.

Pettitt; Justices of the Peace, J. J. Byrnes and

James Hunter; Street Commissioner, E. M. Lynch;

City Attorney, W. H. Keeley ; Health Officer, Dr.

B. Mattocks; Clock Tender, J. Andrews; City

Printer, A. E. Haven; Pound-keeper, Eeuben Eau-

dall; Chief of Police, J. D. Shipley.
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The PoiiiOE Dbpaetment.—The police depart-

ment was organized at the time of the institution

of the city government, in 1872. At first there

were four members of the force. Moses Cole was

Chief, and Henry Both, David Eeed, and James

Hunter were patrolmen. Mr. Cole remained at

the head of the force for two years, and then James

Hunter was Chief for two years, and after him

came S. C. Dunham and WUliam Campbell. In

the spring of 1882, J. D. Shipley was appointed

and there are stiU but four men on the force.

FiEE Depabtment.—The fire department of

Faribault is among the most efficient in the State.

It was organized in a small way in 1866, as a

hook-and-ladder company, and it kept branching

out and extending and consolidating, until it

reached its present condition of competency. In

1866, a hook-and-ladder truck was procured, and

as the department grew others were added, with

hose carts, etc. In 1874, the first steam fire en-

gine was purchased of the Sillsby Company, in

New York, at a cost of $4,000, and is considered

the best kind made.

The department, as now composed, is made up

of five companies, as follows: Engine Company,

No 1; Niagara Hose Company; Young America

Hose Company; Straight Biver Hose Company;
and the Excelsior Hook and Ladder Company.

Each of these companies has a separate organi-

zation, with a foreman, two assistants, a treasurer,

and secretary, all, however, amenable to the cen-

tral department, the officers of which are: Chief

Engineer, G. H. Palmer; First Assistant, J. F.

Whalon; Second Assistant, William McGinnis;

Treasurer, Thomas Mee; Secrefary, William Mil-

ligan.

The present equipment of the department con-

sists of the Sillsby engine, a hook-and-ladder

truck, and three hose carriages. The engine

house is on the north side of Third, between Elm
and Chestnut streets, and was constructed in

1876, at a cost of $7,300. The ground story is

occupied by the engine, trucks, and other appa-

ratus. The second story has a fireman's hall,

neatly furnished, and city offices. Indeed, the

building is sometimes called the City Hall. It is

of brick, is surmounted by a cupola with a bell,

and is a creditable building for a city of this size.

When the first fire company was formed it was

a mere "bucket " company. A pair of wheels were

procured, the boys manned the ropes, and with

their "Hi! hi! hi!" made a tour of the village,

stopping at every shop and store to seize buckets,

which they hung upon their primitive truck, and

thus the first fire extinguishing apparatus was se-

cured.

PosT-oFFiOE.—Alexander Faribault was the first

Postmaster, and E. J. Crump was his deputy.

The office was opened on Main street, opposite the

location of the Arlington House. This was early

in the spring of 1865, and a mail route was es-

tablished between St. Paul and Owatonna, with a

weekly service. The first mail carrier was Mr.

Davis, and afterwards J. J. Brackett, who was a

well-known character ; and for some time he could

carry the whole mail in his pocket, as not unfrc-

quently Mr. Hulett's New York Tribune would be

the only paper received in a week.

The service under Mr. Crump was satisfactory,

as he was a man of education, and of an accomo-

dating disposition. After a time a Mr. Young
became the deputy and acting Postmaster, and he

severely tried the patience of those having busi-

ness with the office. He was too indolent to rise

from his chair and hand over a letter, so ho would

declare there was " nothing," and having thus

committed himself he would stick to it until the

next weekly mail came before delivering it. After

a time he was removed, and the office was located

in the Moses Cole block, on the comer of Willow

and Front streets.

In 1857, George 8. Skinner was appointed Post

master, and the office was then kept on the west

side of Maio, between Third and Fourth streets,

in a building belonging to Skinner himself. The
office was afterwards moved across the street, and

he held the keys until the change of administra-

tion in 1861, when James Gibson succeeded to the

position, and kept it eight years. Prescott Fish

and Frank Boberts were at diffierent times his

deputies, and did most of the work.

In 1869, J. S. Fuller was appointed, and he con-

tinued in the place until 1873, when E. N. Leav-

ens was commissioned. He kept it in the same

place for four years, when it was removed to the

Barron House, between First and Second on

Main street. This was burned on the 17th of

March, 1882. By strenuous exertions and careful

management nothing was lost, and the same

evening the office was in running order at its

present location, on Third between Main and

Elm streets.
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There are three assistants in the office—the

deputy, J. S. Bemis, Mrs. Nellie Williams, the

mailing clerk, and Will. Wilson, who attends the

general delivery.

In 1873, the amount of stamps sold was $5,000.

Now the sales amount to $10,000 a year. It was

made a money order office during Gibson's term,

and the whole number that have been issued is

41,000. The business of this department amounts

to eighty or ninety thousand dollars annually.

Tliere is a daily mail to Waterville, via War-

saw, a tri-weekly to Red Wing, one to Holden,

and one to Rochester, and twice a week to Shields-

ville ; these are by stage routes. By railroad

there are two or more mails each way every day.

The office is accessible, well-managed, and well-

appointed, with Yale lock and other boxes. The

mail is promptly delivered in a gentlemanly way,

and gives general satisfaction.

INDUSTEIAIi ENTEBPBISES AND MANUPAOTUBING

ESTABLISHMENTS.

Faribault may be said to be, to a large extent,

a manufacturing city, its citizens realizing that

mere trade in this age of the world is not the

principal source of wealth and prosperity. The

endeavor is made to notice the principal manu-

faotaring and industrial enterprises, that the his-

torian of the next generation may, by a compari-

son with what may be found then, appreciate what

changes may have been wrought. The transfor-

mation that has taken place within a quarter of a

century is most marvelous, and if progress in the

future should be equally extensive and wonderful,

a comprehension of the changes at the present

time would draw upon the imagination in a way
that the possessor of only the broadest idealty

could honor. The purpose of this part of the

work is not to give a business directory, but

rather a bird's eye view of the material interests

of the city, and without doubt many meritorious

enterprises have been overlooked, but they can

console themselves that they will grow into notice

by real merit.

Stbaight Rivee Floubing Miiiii. — This is

usually called Greene's mill. It was originally

built by Mr. Faribault and got in operation on the

1st of April, 1862. In the building of this mill

a large amount of energy and enterprise was dis-

played. Mr. Faribault was induced to go into

the undertaking quite as much in the interest of

the town as with the idea that it would be remu-

nerative. It is one of the pioneer mills of the

county, and in itself illustrates the progress that

has been made in city and county.

In 1872, the mill was bought by Greene &
Oarnfel who immediately made extensive improve-

ments and operated it until 1878, when an addi-

tion of 40x40 feet, four stories, was made, and a

complete transformation effected at a cost of

$30,000. Among other improvements a Corliss

engine of 120 horse-power was put in, and the

Hungarian system of reduction with corrugated

porcelain rolls was adopted. The mill was run in

this way until 1880, when, learning that there was

still another system which was an improvement on

this, another extensive reconstruction was made,

and Stevens' corrugated chilled iron rolls were in-

troduced. This machinery is made by the John

G. Noye Manufacturing Company, at Buffalo,

New York. A great point gained, as is claimed,

is in "granulating the grain without cutting it."

The process of manufacturing flour is now very

complicated, it is done by gradual reduction, the

grain is squeezed a little at first, and what flour

results is carefully sifted out, then it is squeezed

again, and this process is repeated five or six

times with variations in the manipulation, and

three grades of flour result from all this handling.

The wheat itself, after being received, goes through

various machines to separate other grains or foreign

substances and to thoroughly clean it.

This mill now has six porcelain sets, one large

iron set, and six sets of Stevens' rolls, with the

reels, the middlings purifiers, and other apparatus

to make the highest grade of flour in the market.

The choice braftds are "Old Hickory" and

"Olympia." The mill has a capacity of about 400

barrels a day. In relation to the water-power it

may be mentioned that the fall is from twelve to

fourteen feet.

Crown Point Rollbe Mill.—This miU was the

incidental outgrowth of a saw-mill which was built

by Henry Riedell in 1856, at the corner of Fifth

and Willow streets. The saw-mill was run by a

portable steam engine and had a circular saw. In

1857, Mr. Riedell concluded to construct a grist-

mill, and so he ripped out the lumber for that pur-

pose and put it up and got it enclosed the same

year. W. H. Dike, who still resides here, and Wil-

liam Judd, now of Minneapolis, at this stage pur-

chased the building, put in the machinery, and had
it completed and in running order in 1859. The
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mill was 30x40 feet, three stories higli and had four

run of stones, with six reels, and could make 100

barrels of flour a day, which was an enormous

amount in those early days. The power was

derived from an upright engine with two boilers

and two flues in each. In 1862, Mr. Judd sold out

and the firm became Dike & Greggs. It was thus

run until the year 1867, after which Mr. Dike run

it alone up to 1870. Previous to this time it was

known as the "Bice County Mills." It is claimed

that this mUl was the first to ship flour to New
York from Minnesota, and that it was thus the

pioneer in the business which has become so colossal

in Minneapolis. The first consignment of flour

was to Plummer & Co., in 1859, and the brand was

"Cannon Biver Mills." It was what might be

called a straight grade of flour. While Mr. Dike

was sole owner he made an addition of an elevator

to the mill with a capacity of 25,000 bushels.

In the fall of 1871, Turner & Eiedell leased the

miU, and the following year the property was pur-

chased by the present proprietor, W. G. Turner,

who increased its size and capacity and trans-

formed it, in obedience to the milling revolution

which was sweeping over the cauutry, into a roller

mill, and it now has three run of stones and eight

sets of corrugated rolls, with purifiers and all the

improved modern machinery for the manufacture

of the finest grades of ilour. The power is de-

rived from an eighty horse-power engine, made at

the North Star Iron Works in Minneapolis, it be-

ing their first flouring mill engine. It now turns

out 150 barrels of flour a day, and the miU is well

managed by John N. Gwathmey, the head miller.

FARiBATJiiT City Floubing MtLL.—In 1877, Mr.

J. S. Hillyer leased from A. L. Hill, in his furniture

establishment, certain rooms, 30x50 feet and four

stories in height, and a basement 50x100 feet, with

sufficient power, and at once put in machinery for

the manufacture of flour, consisting of three run

of stones, and a capacity of 100 barrels a day. In

1881, George Tileston became an equal partner in

the concern, and it was transformed into a roller

mill with eight sets of rolls and three run of

•tones, two of which have been discarded since

then. It contains all the newly improved machin-

ery for a first-class flouring mill and turns out 140

barrels a day, also Graham flour, corn meal, and

feed. The best brand is "The Belle of St. Mary's."

It is what may be called a custom, sale, and
merchant mill, and its production has a wide repu-
tation.

Faeibaum Gbangb Floubing Milij.—A milling

company was organized and incorporated in July,

1874, with a capital of $30,000. The stock was

owned by the farmers, and the following gentle-

men were directors: G. W. Fox, John Thomson,

Eobert Hedges, John H. Passon, Isaac Hamlen, E.

A. Rice, James Murphy, William Close, Patrick

Healy, J. A. Mathers, S. M. West, N. H. Stone, and

Joseph Goar; about forty farmers were stock-

holders. Six acres of land was purchased, and a

mill was built and running in September. It was

50x60 feet, a frame building three stories high with

a stone basement, and there was an engine house

34x50 feet, and a 125 horse-power engine. The

mill had seven run of stones and the machinery

was fully up to those times. It could deliver about

two hundred barrels of very superior flour per day,

which ranked as such in the eastern market. The

whole cost of the building and machinery was

about $30,000. This mill had a successful career

until the 8th of November, 1876, when it was de-

stroyed by fire. J. H. Passon was president and

general superintendent, and Miles Hollister, secre-

tary and financier.

PoLAB Stab Mills.—^This mill was commenced

soon after a mill was burned which occupied the

same place, and is a three-story brick building

with a stone basement, 60x62 feet. At first it had

seven run of stones, and in about a year two more

were added, and in addition to the water a steam

engine of 125 horse-power was put in. The cost

of the engine and house was about $9,000. The
mill was built by a stock company, consisting of

the following: T. A. Bean, WUliam Tennant, A.

P. Stary, Miles Hollister, T. B. Clement, L. E.

Weld, G. W. Lewis, E. A. Mott, G. G. Gunhus, H.

W. Bingham, and D. W. Humphrey. The com-

pany operated the mill until 1878, when it was

leased by Bean & Tennant, who have since oper-

ated it. In 1881, it was transformed into a roller

mill, and it now has the ability to deliver 325

barrels a day. The company has kept the mill

up to tbe modern standard of efficiency in order

to produce the best flour. A cooper shop is in

operation in connection with the establishment.

The cost of the mill with the power was about

47,000. The old mill that occupied tbis site was

built in 1862, by Alexander Faribault and Henry

Mehlhom. It had two run of stones, driven by

two wheels, and eight feet head of water—now

there is eleven feet fall. The building was orig-
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inally frame, but was veneered over with brick.

It was sold to Sater & Bangs not long after it was

bnilt, who improved it somewhat. Sater subse-

quently sold his interest, and Mr. Bangs con-

verted it into a five-run mill. In 1867, it was sold

to the Bean Brothers & Tennant, and they oper-

ated it until it was burned on the 9th of Decem-

er, 1876, at a loss of $25,000.

Matteson's Mill.—In 1865, H. M. Matteson

and Luke Hulett began the erection of a mill a

few rods above the confluence of the two rivers.

The size of the mill was 30x80 feet, and was

adapted to four run of stones. The power was

derived from a dam thrown across the river at the

point mentioned, and was a combined mill and

elevator. The firm continued as Matteson & Hu-

lett for eighteen months, when Matteson became

the proprietor. This mill kept in operation, and

in 1879 a set of rolls were put in. In 1880, an-

other was added, and the capacity increased to

one hundred barrels a day. The principal brands

were "We Bet," "You Bet," and "Old Comfort."

The mill was burned in 1881.

Rbndall Mill.—In 1866, this mill was built by

Louis Carnfel and J. Y). Greene. In 1874, it

came into the hands of Greene & Gold. Its loca-

tion is on Fourteenth street and the Straight

River. Water and steam are both used as a

power, there being a head of six or seven feet.

When the general revolution in milling was in

full progress this mUl, being exposed, caught the

epidemic, and went through the change success-

fully. There are the corrugated and smooth

rolls, five of the one and three of the other, and

one of porcelain. It turns out 150 barrels a day

and has a storing capacity of 25,000 bushels. The

flour is high grade.

Millees' Association Elevatob.—This was

put up in 1881. The size is 32x60 feet, and one

hundred feet high. It has a capacity of 60,000

bushels. The power to work it is derived from

the foundry near where it is located. Mr. J. D.

Greene, one of the most enterprising millers in

this region, built this elevator and owns and

operates it. In its construction due regard was

paid to the most economical methods of handling

the grain, and the latest devices that had proved

valuable were adopted. An enormous amount of

grain is handled in it in the course of the year.

Pbatt's Elevatob.—When the railroad was

first completed an elevator with a capacity of

100,000 bushels was built, and this was operated

until may, 1881, when it was burned. The pres-

ent building was put up by S. W. Pratt. It is

30x50 feet, and reaches up eighty feet high; it has

a capacity of 50,000 bnshels. The power is de-

rived from the engine that pumps water to supply

the tank at the station.

Faeibatjlt Woolen Mill.—C. H. Klemer, in

1865, put a carding machine into an old wagon

shop 18x20 feet, situated on Chestnut street be-

tween Fourth and Fifth, using a five horse-power

steam engine. In 1869, a feed mill was put into

the establishment, which, however did not rua

long. He then made cotton batting for two

years or so, bringing the material from St. Louis.

After awhile, as the business did not prove remu-

nerative, it was suspended. In 1872, having

meantime enlarged the building, a regular set of

woolen machinery was put in, for the manufac-

ture of yarn. In 1877, still other machinery was

added, including three looms and other appliances

for making cloth. The mill now has three cards,

a spinning-jack, with 144 spindles, one wide loom,

and three narrow ones, one twister, one shearing

machine, one brush' machine, one jig, one picker,

with warping, washing and other machines for

the manufacture of flannels, blankets, yams, and

other woolen goods that are in active demand.

Mr. Klemer is now building a stone factory, two

stories and a basement, 44x100 feet, near the

river on Third street, and will greatly enlarge the

business.

E. M. Leaoh's Sash, Doob, and Blind Factoby

AND Planing Mill.—This is one of the old estab-

lishments of Faribault, as it was first started in

1857, by L. C. Ingram, as a sash, door, and blind

factory, using a wind-mill for power. Its loca-

tion was not far from the railway station. Some-

time during the war it was moved up to Main

street. In 1865, the concern was purchased by

E. M. Leach, the present proprietor, and removed

to its present location on Elm between Fourth

and Fifth streets. Its capacity for business was

at once enlarged by the introduction of a twenty

horse-power steam engine and considerable new

machinery. The size of the building now is 20x80

feet, two stories, for the main structure, and two

additions of a single story, covering still more

ground than the other. In the wood -working

department about eight men are employed. There
is also a feed-mill in connection with the estab-
lishment, and a lumber yard.
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The Hazbn WiND-MiiiL.—In the year 1875,

Thayer & Winter established a foundry and ma-

chine shop near the depot, and in 1878, the com-

pany commenced manufacturing the improved

wind-mill invented by Mr. S. Hazen, of Eipon

Wisconsin, which is supposed to be the very best

yet arranged for all purposes for which a wind

engine can be used. The works have a capacity

of one thousand a year. The establishment was at

first where the sugar refinery now is, but in 1879,

the company erected the shops near the station,

where the work is now carried on. In addition

to the wind-mill work, a general jobbing business

is done in mill and other machinery. The Hazen

wind engine is in extensive use in Iowa and Ne-

braska particularly. There is about $20,000 in-

vested in the business, which is one of the most

substantial in town. Another point in regard to

this mill ought not to be overlooked in this

sketch; it is prepared to repair and regrind the

rolls of the new process system for fiour making,

the only one in the State, outside of Minneapolis.

FARiBAUiT Wagon Wokks.—This establishment

is located on Elm, between Third and Fourth

streets; heavy wagons and bob sleighs are manu-

factured, and has been in continuous operation

since February, 1866, when it was started by Wil-

liam Frink who had bought out an old shop. He,

immediately buUt a frame buUding 32x40 feet on

the site of the present building, with a blaoksmitli

shop adjoining, both two stories high. Mr. Frink

run the establishment with different partners up to

1873, when G. W. Stafford became associated with

him and the business was thus continued until

1882, when P. S. Bateman was admitted into the

firm, the name of which now is Stafford and Bate-

man. They turn out about 150 wagons a year,

and from 20 to 30 sleighs, all the work being of a

very superior quality.

LiNDEMAN Beotheks' Oakkiage Factoby.—This

shop was commenced in 1876, by the erection of a

building 22x40 feet, on the corner of Main and

Fifth streets. At first they did all of their own

work, and met with such success that in 1877, an

addition was made, 20x22 feet, and in 1877 still

another. They now employ thirteen men. The

proprietors personally assist in the shop and super-

intend the work, which is confined to light car-

riages and sleighs which have an excellent reputa-

tion, and are sold all over the State. The business

amounts to $45,000 a year.

Fakibatjlt CiKBiAGE WoBKs.—There are three

buildings connected with this enterprise, one is

22x45 feet, two stories, another 86x50 feet, a single

story, and the blacksmith shop, situated on the

corner of Elm and Front streets. It was com-

menced as long ago as 1858, by J. D. Denison,

who at iirst did repairing, but finally enlarged it and

began to set up farm wagons. In 1866, the manu-

facture of carriages and sleighs was commenced,

and quite a business buUt up as there was no

opposition in the city, and the amount of repairing

done was very large. In 1876, Frink, Andrews &
Stafford became owners and run it until 1878,

when its present owner bought out the other mem-
bers of the firm and now has the exclusive control.

He is turning out large numbers of fine carriages

and cutters, and doing an extensive repairing

business.

Adam Weybe's Wagon Faotoey.—In 1868, this

shop was started in two small frame buildings on

Willow, near Second street, under the name of

Bieler & Weyer. In 1874, the present stone shop,

30x65 feet, two stories high, was built. About

fifty farm wagons a year are now made here with

thirty or forty "bob sleighs,'' and there is a geu-

ei'al blacksmith shop in the building which turns

out a large amount of work. Mr. Weyer is now

the sole proprietor.

Faeibault Fubnituee and Ohaie Factoby.—At

first this was owned and operated by N. S. Flint.

The business was commenced in 1867, on a small

scale, in a. building on the corner of Fifth and

Buckeye streets, which was small and but three or

four men were employed; a. single horse-power

drove what little machinery there was. In 1870,

a brother, M. M. Flint, became interested in the

firm. He put in a steam engine and increased the

capacity of the factory, and it has been doing a

very profitable business. From twenty-five to

forty men are employed, and from $30,000 to

$;40,000 worth of furniture is turned off in a year.

The engine is of thirty-five horse-power. In 1870,

great improvements were made in the establish-

ment; among other things a saw-mDl being put

in. Mr. M. M. Flint is now the sole owner.

Wandbll's Ftjenitube Factoby.—The manu-

facture of furniture was commenced here in 1856,

on a small scale, and by hand. In 1857, some

machinery was put in, with a six horse-power

engine, and the business was entered into more

extensively. The location Wcis on Main between
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Third and Fourth streets. It was owned and

operated by 0. Wandell. In 1862, it was moved

to the rear of the block and its capacity increased.

In 1872, a twenty horse-power engine was put in

and new machinery introduced. For some reason

—a want of enterprise and business capacity—the

establishment is in idleness and has been so for

several years.

Hill's Furnituke Factobt.—One of the largest

and most important manufacturing industries in

the city is the above-named establishment, owned
and operated by A. L. Hill. It was first brought

into existence in 1855. Mr. S. B. Brockway was

one of the proprietors. It was located on the flat

near the river, on Willow street between Second

and Third. At first it utilized a blind horse for

power, and a circular saw and a turning lathe was

all the machinery in use. One man only was at

first employed. There was serious trouble in pro-

curing lumber to build the mill, as men stood at

the saw-mill awaiting their turn to snatch each

board as it was out. The first building was 20x30

feet, one and one-half stories high; the business

was continued here eight years and then moved to

a larger building on the corner of Third and Wil-

low streets. This was in 1863, and he put in a

twenty horse-power engine and employed from

twenty to twenty-five men up to 1872, when the

whole establishment was lapped up by the flames.

The present building was soon constructed; it is

50x100 feet and four stories high, with an engine

house 50x50 feet. In 1878, a Corliss engine of

125 horse-power was put in. The old engine is

still used in the saw-mill which runs in connec-

tion with the factory, and which can cut up about

6,000 feet of lumber in a day. The factory is run

to its utmost capacity and makes all kinds of

furniture, except upholstered goods, and is a valu-

able institution in the city.

CiGA-B Faotoey.—In 1880, Philip LoeflFel com-

menced the manufacture of cigars in Batchelder's

block, employing from eight to twelve hands, but

he soon failed and Kaul & Filler bought the stock

and continued the manufacture, removing the

business to the corner of Second, and Main streets.

In the year 1882, M. O. Sheeran was taken in ^s

a partner, and the business is now carried on by
those parties. They employ about ten men. Un-
der the United States revenue laws this factory is

No. 8 of the First district of Minnesota.

Fabibault Plow Compant.—A plow manufac-

turing company was organized in 1869. The

active members were, John Mullen, Henry Chaffee,

and C. A. Snyder. A main building, 35x100 feet,

was put up, with an engine room, and the manu-

facture of a good pattern of a plow commenced

and carried on for about two years. Then the shop

was used for about five years as a general foundry

and machine shop, and afterwards transformed into

a sugar refinery.

Fakibault IbonWoeks.—W. P. Winkley estab-

lished this industrial enterprise early in the sixties,

and the establishment was owned and operated by

him until 1870, when it was purchased by A.

Moore who still retains it. It is a well appointed

shop with machinery for the manufacture of steam

engines, and general jobbing work. A feed-mill

is run in connection, that was put in operation in

1879. The establishment cost nearly $10,000,

and employs a dozen men. Its location is north

of the railroad station.

Straight Kivbr Woolen Mill.—I. G. Beau-

mont and N. W. Blood put up a building on Wil-

low street. Some wool machinery was put up

and run by steam for about three years, when it

was sold to Mr. C. H. Klemer. The building is

now used as a sale stable.

Jesse Sumner's Planing Mill.—Several years

ago a planing mill was started on the corner of

Fourth and Buckeye streets, by Mr. Sumner. It

run until in 1881, when business being dull it

was removed to St. Paul. This was the mill that

was built in 1857 by Clark & Weld, who brought

the machinery from Vermont. It was a planing

mill, and cost originally about $4,400. Its loca-

tion was at first north of Greene's mill, and was a

frame building, 20x40 feet ; it run here for about

seven years, and then was sold to Cole & Eiseng.

They operated it for about a year, when the ma-

chinery was sold to Jesse Sumner as above men-

tioned.

LuMBEE Yards.—When the country was first

settling up, of course the lumber business was

very active, and at one time there were seven

lumber yards in active operation, all doing a flour-

ishing business, but now there are only two. The
present firms are A. Blodgett & Son, and E. M.
Leach; the latter has a lumber yard in connec-

tion with his planing mill. Both of these firms

do a good business.

Case & Taylor's 'Bus Line.—This is an insti-

tution that is really a credit to the city, as it is
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managed by thoroughly obliging men who under-

stand the requirements of the business, and meet

all engagements, connecting with all passenger

trains, and have never, in a single instance, failed

to connect. It seems that Bishop Whipple met

Mr. 0. B. Case in TaUahasse, Florida, engaged in

the same business, and observing his promptness

and reliability, suggested that there was a grow-

ing town in Minnesota where a good business

coald be built up in this line, and he was thus in-

duced to come here. At the completion of the

railroad to this place, two of the hotels began

running carriages to the depot on their own ac-

count, and more in their own interest than that of

the general public. Mr. Case bought the old

hacks, procured a new omnibus from the East,

and commenced making regular trips to the

trains, having order slates at convenient points.

He afterwards took in Horace Taylor as a partner

and they drive the regular "busses," of which

they have five, and the necessary baggage wagons.

Bkewbry.—N. Paquin, in 1857, started to build

a hotel, but seeing how thirsty people were likely

to be, after coming so far as they had to, to settle

in this county, and realizing how grateful they

would be to receive the fresh brewed amber-col-

ored Uqnid, and how they would be likely to re-

munerate him for his outlay and interest in their

behalf, changed his mind and built a brewery.

The situation was on Willow street between

Eighth and Ninth. The dimensions of the struc-

ture were 26x40 feet. A still was also put in for

the manufacture of whiskey. The business did

not seem to flourish as he had hoped, and in 1860,

the concern was leased to E. Pleckenstein, who

run it a few months, and then Brandt and Gerdes

managed it for about two years. Edward Kelley

then got hold of it, and kept it in operation as a

distillery until about 1865, when it fell a victim to

the devouring element and has never been re-

built.

G. FiiBOKSTBiN's Bbewbbt,—On the corner of

Oak and Third streets this concern was built in

1857, the machinery coming from St. Paul. At

first about five barrels a day were turned out

without the aid of machinery. The cost was

about $2,000. The Fleckenstein Brothers owned

the place, but in 1860, E. Pleckstein retired from

the firm. A horse-power was afterwards put in,

and the capacity enlarged. In 1872, it was torn

down and rebuilt on a much larger scale, with a

22

two-story basement and two stories above this,

the vaults running five hundred feet into the

bluff, the cost of the establishment being $20,000.

The capacity is thirty barrels a day. In 1859, a

still was put in, which was operated until the ne-

cessities of the government established an excise

law, when this part of the business was suspended.

There is a good supply of spring water from the

bluffs above. It now has steam power, and is

fully occupied.

A. W. MDEttEB's Breweey. This is located

in the southern part of the city on South Willow

street. It was started in about 1862, by Brandt &
Gerdes. At first it was about 24x40 feet, of stone,

two stories high. In 1870, it was enlarged, a

twenty-five horse-power engine put in, and since

that time the whole establishment has been en-

larged and is now well appointed, with first-class

machinery and extensive cellars in the bluff in

the rear.

Stab BotttjIng Woeks.—This establishment

was started in 1872 by Sheeran k Misgen, on

Fourth street between Elm and Chestnut. At

first Soda Water was principally made. In 1875,

the concern was moved to Tenth Street and the

business enlarged, and the manufacture of Seltzer

Water, cider, and pop was added. The firm sub-

sequently became Sheeran & Filler. In 1877, they

began to put up Beer from the brewery of G. Pleck-

stein, and this business has amounted to about

$16,000 a year besides their own manufactures.

In 1880, the business was moved to the comer of

Third and Oak streets. They have all the mod-

ern improvements and do good work.

E. Fleckenstein' s Beeweby.—This is located

by the bluff on the road to the Shattuck School.

It was built by its present owner and manager in

1861. It is quite extensive and has a vault ex-

cavated into the rook of which the bluff is com-

posed. The establishment is of stone and has the

fixtures and appurtenances for delivering twenty-

five barrels of lager beer per day. A ten horse-

power engine is employed, and the business seems

to be eminently successful.

Amber Cane Sugab Manufactoby and Eefi-

NEEY.—In 1879, a stock company was organized,

with a cash capital of $9,000. The first officers

were: President, Seth Kenny; Treasurer, S. B.

Spencer; Secretary, John Mullen. It is one of the

finest establishments of the kind in the country,

with machinery, apparatus, fixtures, and facilities
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for manufacturing the juice into syrup and sugar,

and for refining this into the best white varieties.

Like all new enterprises there have been vicissi-

tudes attending the inauguration of the business.

The stockholders of the company were, Oapt. B.

Blakely, James Wilhelm, and S. F. Jolly. The

real estate belongs to John Mullen. Its location

is on the corner of First and Willow streets.

The Fiest Saw-Mill.—In the fall of 1854,

Harvey Y. and James G. Scott commenced the erec-

tion of a saw-mill, and it was completed during

the winter, but the cold was so intense that it was

not set in operation until the spring of 1855. It

was in a good-sized building, 20x40 feet, with a

large wing shed. It had an engine with sufficient

power, supplied with steam fi-om a double flue

boiler. At first it had a vertical saw, but a circular

was soon put in. Its location was where Hill's

furniture factory is, on Willow near the foot of

Third street. The Scotts run it for about one year,

when it was sold to James Gibson. The land,

about four acres, was given to the Scotts by the

proprietors, on condition that they build a saw-

mill. Some time the first year a run of stones was

put in and feed and flour was ground; this was the

first grist-mill in the county. The building was

finally torn down and the machinery placed in a

mill near Greene's, but it was finally burned. A
full account of all the difficulties overcome in

getting the machinery together to construct this

mill, would be very interesting. The machinery

was bought in St. Louis and came up by boat to

Hastings at an enormous cost, and it took twelve

yoke of oxen to haul the boiler from that point.

They were a long time in getting it from Cannon
City, as they had to cut a road through the dense

woods. A party they met after dark, as they

looked at the huge cylinder, exclaimed: "Well!

that is the biggest saw-log I ever saw!" When the

mill got in operation it run night and day, and it

did what may be called, "a land office business.''

At one time it was in the hands of Mr. Turner,

but at last it failed to pay.

Banking House op W. H. Dike.—This was

started in 1857, and the name of the firm was G.

W. Boardman & Co. The "company" being W. H.

Dike and Jerod Bishop. Bishop's interest, what-

ever it was, was looked after by Mr. Judd, now
well known in Minneapolis, who was an active man
in the business, but owing to certain financial in-

tricacies could hold no property in his own Vame

at that time. It was not a bank of issue, but they

did a general banking business. Their bank was

near the comer of Third and Main streets, where

Squier's dry goods store now is, in a frame build-

ing which lacked lath and plaster, but inside had

cotton cloth as a substitute, and this was papered

over and gave the place a business air. In 1858,

Mr. Boardman retired and it was then carried on

under the name of the Banking House of W. H.

Dike & Co. In those days of silver, gold, and land

warrants, not unfrequently there would be exposed

in the window of the bank |40,000 worth of this

kind of currency, which would astonish the new

comers. Bishop retired in 1863, but Mr. Dike con-

tinued until 1872, wlien the business was closed.

Fiest National Bank op Faeibault.—The date

of the organization of this institution -A'as on the

2d of December, 1868, with the following Board

of Directors: W. L. Turner, T. A. Berry, A. W.
McKinstry, and F. A^ Theopold, in addition to the

officers, who were: President, T. B. Clement;

Vice-President, E. W. Dike; Cashier, Thomas S.

Blackman. The capital was $50,000. The bank-

ing rooms were on the corner of Third and Main

streets, the front being a frame and the back part,

where the directors met, of logs. In 1876, a three

story brick building was erected at a cost of $115,.

000. On the 17th of June, 1878, this was, with

several others, razed to the ground by fire. The

structure was' immediately rebuilt and the bank

occupies the ground floor on the comer, and is one

of the substantial financial institutions of the

country with over $200,000 in deposits.

The Citizens National Bank.—President, Hud-
son Wilson ; Vice-President, G. R. Skinner

;

Cashier, E. P. Brown; Assistant Cashier, W. S.

Hill. This bank was first established in 1857, as

a private bank with Mr. Wilson at the head of it.

In 1871, it was organized as a National Bank.

The institution seems to be too full of business to

furnish much information as to its history.

Faeibault Gas Company.—This was organized'

in 1873, with a capital of $40,000 which has since

been increased to |50,000. It is a joint stock

company organized under the laws of the State.

The executive officers were and still are : President,

T. B. Clement; Vice-President, J. L. Noyes; Sec-

retary and Treasurer, A. W. McKinstry. The
Avorks are located between Ninth and Tenth streets,

east of Main. There are about four miles of four

inch mains.. The gasholder has a capacity of
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10,000 feet. The gas is made from naptha and the

quality is satisfactory. The charges for gas to

consumers is $3 per thousand with a discount of

ten per cent, for payment on presentation of the

bill, making the cost $2.70 net. The company has

a contract to furnish the streets with light at $36

a post, and to light, extinguish, and keep in repair.

THE MINNESOTA INSTITUTE FOB THE EDUCATION OP

THE DEAF AND DUMB, THE BUND, AND THE

SCHOOL FOli IDIOTS AND IMBBCIDES.

This is a pretentious name, broad in its mean-

ing and comprehensive in the work contemplated,

but, nevertheless, it is the true title, as the Insti-

tute now stands chartered by the State, and

warranted by the co-operative departments.

In the brief history of this Institute herewith

given the writer hopes to be able to explain why
this Institute was established, when founded, how
organized, the methods employed, the manner of

support, the present status of its affairs and

some of the results already realized.

Before Minnesota became a State, and while the

general government was providing liberally for

the public schools and the University, it was dis-

covered that there were children and youth still

unprovided for in matters of education, care and

training. In all our States and Territories the

deaf and dumb have been found to number from

one in fifteen to one in ten hundred; the blind

from one in fifteen hundred to one in two thousand

;

and the idiotic and imbecile as numerous as both

of the former classes together. We may safely

estimate forty thousand deaf-mutes, thirty-five

thousand blind, and sixty-five thousand idiotic and

imbecile persons in the United States, and this

State has her share of them. It was in anticipa-

tion of such facts as these, with no provision of a

public nature to meet the emergency, that the

friends of education, humanity, and the common-

wealth, gave thought, time, and laborj and urged

upon successive legislatures the importance, yes,

the necessity, of establishing just such schools as

are found in Faribault to-day.

The Deaf and Dumb and the Blind.—The

State Legislature, during its first session in 1858,

passed an act establishing " The Minnesota State

Institute for the Education of the Deaf and Dumb"
within two miles of Faribault, in Rice county,

upon condition that the town, or county, should,

within one year from the passage of the law, give

forty acres of land for its use. The land was do-

nated, but the school for various reasons was not

opened till five years later.

The Legislature of 1863, passed a law establish-

ing a department for the care and education of the

blind, together with the deaf and dumb, and under

the same authority and management, but this

school was not opened tiU 1866. During the sum-

mer of 1866, Miss. H. N. Tucker was employed as

teacher and three blind children were received,

provided for and taught in the Fitzgerald house,

in the south part of the town. Subsequently this

school was moved to the north part of the town

to the Tanner House, so called, and in May, 1868,

soon after the deaf and dumb occupied the north

wing of their buildiog, the blind were removed to

the same building with them. Here the blind re-

mained till their removal to their present quarters

on the old Faribault place, where for one year

they were under the care and instruction of Prof.

A. N. Pratt, acting principal, and subsequently

that of Prof. J, J. Dow who is still in charge and

has prepared the following brief history of the

blind department.

"As early as 1872, it had. become evident that a

permanent separation of the two classes for whom
the Institution was designed, was desirable, and an

appropriation for the erection of a separate build-

ing was asked for, which the next legislature

readily granted. The home property of the orig-

inal settler and founder of this city, Alexander

Faribault, at that time coming into market it was

purchased for the new home for the blind. It

recommended itself for such a purpose by its

beautiful situation upon the high bluff over-

looking the town from the southeast and com-

manding an extensive view of the valleys of the

Straight and Cannon Rivers, and the early and

extensive improvements made by its former owner,

by which immediate possession was obtained of

twenty years growth of ornamental, shade, and

fruit trees and shrubbery.

A commodious building for the use of the blind

was speedily erected, and in the fall of 1874, they

were removed to their new quarters, about one

mile from the building for the deaf and dumb, and

placed under the immediate charge of Prof. A. N.

Pratt.

At the close of the first year in this new home
Mr. Pratt retired from his connection with the

school, and J. J. Dow, Superintendent of the pub-

lic schools of the city of Austin, was selected to
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fill the place thus made vacant. For the next four

years little in the history of the school worthy of

mention occurred. Faithful and constant effort

was put forth to secure the best results possible in

the literary and musical departments of the school,

and a reasonable degree of success was attained,

but it was constantly felt that there should be a

department for training the youth here assembled

in such forms of manual labor as might be bene-

ficial in after life.

At the opening of the year 1878, an attempt

was made in a small way to accomplish this by

teaching the art of caning, with quite satisfactory

results.

At the opening of the next year an experiment

was made in broom-making, with such success that

during the year a shop was erected and the indus-

trial department permanently established. Since

that time it has continued to give evidence of the

substantial benefit arising from it, and there are

even in so short a time several broom shops in dif-

ferent parts of the State, operated by young men
who learned the trade in this Institution.

In 1879, the congress of the United States made
ri subsidy grant of money, the income of which

was to be annually expended for the education of

the blind throughout the country. This has been

of great help to the library department in fur-

nishing needed books, maps, and school apparatus

without expense to the State. The amount so re-

ceived has varied from seventy-five to one hundred

and forty dollars per year, according to the num-

ber of pupils in attendance.

At the beginning of the year 1881, J. J. Dow,

who bad for six years been the principal and the

resident officer in charge, was elected superintend-

eut of the blind department, thus completing the

separate organization of the department.

The attendance of pupils during the last seven

yc'irs has varied from eighteen to thirty-five which

was the attendance of the last school year. This

number is in excess of the capacity of the build-

ing, and an addition to the accommodations for the

blind is a pressing necessity, which it is confident-

ly expected will be appreciated and met by the

next legislature.

The school work as now organized is carried on

in three departments, the pupil spending an as-

signed portion of each day in each department.

In the litei'ary department instruction is given in

reading and spelling in the common or embossed

raised letter, and in a special system called the

New York point method which possesses the ad-

vantages of being more legible to the touch and

of being written by the learner, through the aid of

simple and cheap apparatus; in writing with pen-

cil in a letter approaching common script in foiTQ,

and legible to the ordinary reader, in the New
York point sistem and upon the type writer; in

arithmetic, both mental and written, the latter by

means of a simple arrangement of type, which

takes the place of the ordinary slate; in geography

through the aid of excellent raised and desected

maps, by means of which the form and outlines of

the different political divisions and. the general

elevations and depressions of the earth's surfice

are readily perceived; and in history, both ancient

and modern, with especial reference to the insti-

tutions of our own country. Elementary instruc-

tion is also given in such other branches of study

as the advancement ,and capacity of the pupil

seems to require. Among the studies which have

been pursued, in addition to those mentioned, are

grammar, composition, and rhetoric, English lit-

erature, political economy, and civil government,

mental and moral philosophy, natural philosophy,

chemistry, physiology, geology, zoology, and al-

gebra. In many of these departments of study,

text books are now printed in type for the blind,

while in those in which books are still lacking or

are unsatisfactory, oral instruction alone is em-

ployed. The facilities for the literary education

of the blind are improving year by year, with the

increase of books and apparatus for study and in

choice works in literature for general culture.

In the musical department instruction is given

in vocal music and upon the piano, three of which

instruments are owned by the Institution, cabinet

organ, violin, and several other orchestra instru-

ments. The recently perfected New York point

system of musical notation, by means of which the

simplest as well as the most difficult music can be

written and read by the blind, is now being intro-

duced, and bids fair to be of great service to this

department. Yet for much of his music a blind

musician must always depend upon a seeing read-

er, and instruction is chietiy given by reading.

In the Industrial department the broom and

cane work have already been mentioned. Besides

tliis work, which is especially for the benefit of the

boys, the girls are instructed in such of the house-

hold arts as can be most advantageously pursued
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by the blind. All are taught to sew by hand,

many become proficient in plain and fancy knitting,

croohetting, etc., and a fair proportion learn to

operatea sewing machine successfully. The mak-

ing of fancy bead work by the girls and smaller

boys gives excellent practice in securing delicacy

of touch, and minute exactness of detail in work.

In all of the departments the aim is to do for

blind persons what the home, the school, and the

shop may do for his more fortunate brothers and

, sisters, but what, for lack of skill and appliances,

they cannot do for him. All of the peculiar meth-

ods and apparatus in use are adapted to so supply

the want of sight in securing an education, as to

produce, as nearly as possible, the same degree of

physical, mental, and moral culture, and the same

capacity for meeting with success in life as the

seeing may so-much more easily secure.

The officers and teachers for the last school year

(1881-82) are as follows: J. J. Dow, superintend-

ent; Miss Kate Barnes, Matron; Josiah Thomp-

son, teacher ; Miss Julia Johnson, pupil assistant

;

Miss U. O. La Grave, music teacher; Michael C.

Schneck, foreman broom shop."

The Sohooij for Imbeciles and Idiots.—The

importance of establishing at an early day a

school for the care, education, and training of

feeble-minded children and youth, has been rec-

ognized by many citizens of the State. The first

public advocacy of such a step was made in the

annual report of the Superintendent of the Deaf

and Dumb, who had from time to time been

obliged to remove such unfortunate youth from

the school under his charge. As early as 1868,

attention was called to these children in his an-

nual report, and the same was emphasized in

1877. The State Board of Health also advocated

the movement in their annual reports.

The Legislature in 1879 took up the subject

and established in Faribault an experimental

school for idiots and feeble-minded children under

the same authority and management as the Deaf

and Dumb and the Blind, and made appropria-

tions for two years. In giving the history of

this State School for Imbeciles, we cannot do

better than to quote from the first report of the

Directors

:

"The last Legislature having entrusted the

Board of Directors of the Minnesota Institution

for the Deaf and Dumb and the Blind with the

charge of such children and youth as had drifted

* See Errata, page 603.

into the Insane hospitals of the State and were

found to be Imbecile and feeble-minded, rather

than lunatic, and seemed capable of improvement

and instruction, the Board early proceeded to the

trust.

The first want presenting itself was reliable in-

formation as to the special needs of this class of

children and the most approved methods of or-

ganizing and conducting an institution for their

training. Fortunately for us and our enterprise,

the late Dr. H. M. Knight, the founder and super-

intendent of the Connecticut School for Imbeciles,

visited our State in June, 1879. He was a man
of large brain and noble heart, and zealously in-

terested himself in our behalf. His long experi-

ence in this country and his personal examination

of the] principle Schools of Europe for the feeble-

minded, fitted him to give us such aid and counsel

as we most needed. He directed our preparations

and superintended the organization and opening

of the school until his son. Dr. G. H. Knight, who
had been brought up to the work by his father,

took charge in the latter part of September, 1879."

The report of the Acting Superintendent for the

first eighteen months states that during that time,

while the school was still an experiment, the

number of children cared for were twenty-five,

all that the bUjilding then occupied could be

made to accommodate. During that time the pro-

gress of those cared for proved conclusively that

the time had passed when the education of the

feeble-minded could be looked upon as simply an

experiment.

Accordingly the Legislature of '80 and '81,

upon being asked to make the school one of the

permanent Institutions of the State, did so with-

out a dissenting vote, and also appropriated the

sum of twenty-five thousand dollars, ($25,000)

for building purposes. The result of that sum is

a stone building 80 x 44 accommodating fifty-

five children, and completely equiped with steam

and water and all the conveniences for carrying

on a work of this kind successfully.

The Board of Directors is the same as that of

the Deaf and Dumb.

Ofeiceks and Teacheks.— Dr. George H.

Knight, Superintendent; Miss M. E. Powers

and Miss Susie Smith, Teachera; Miss Ella An-

derson, Matron.

Thus it will be seen that by the several enact-

ments of the Legislature the Institute founded in
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Faribault has been enlarged till, as its title sets

forth, it embraces what, in most all of the States

comprises three separate institutions,—and so far

as unity of aim and purpose in doing the work

for the State, and economy in its management,

and freedom from impartial and unjust legisla-

tion are concerned, this union of three schools

under one Board of Directors is wise and timely

and will appear so just as long as competent men
are placed in authority over it.

Oeqanization op the Deaf and Dumb Db-

PAETMBNT.—The first appropriation of the Leg-

islature for the support of the deaf and dumb
was in 1863. The same Legislature appointed

George F. Batchelder, B. A. Mott, and David H.

Frost as a Board of Commissioners to start the

school. Mr. Mott was sent to Ohio, where he

obtained the services of Prof. B. H. Kinney, an

experienced teacher, who came to Faribault and

organized the first deaf-mute school in Minnesota.

On the second "Wednesday of September, 1863,

the school opened with five pupils in attendance.

The building occupied was the store and dwelling

on Front street known as Major Fowler's store.

The next year the school increased, and George

W. Chase was employed as assistant teacher.

In 1864, the Legislature appropriated four

thousand one hundred dollars for the support of

the school, eight hundred and fifty dollars of

which were expended in erecting a small wcioden

building, 18x24, just east of Fowler's store, for a

boys' dormitory. This building was subsequently

sold and moved to Fourth street, and is now used

as a marble factory.

Prof. Kinney experienced difficulties and some

hardships in his work and sore bereavement in his

family, and at the end of his third year resigned

the office of Superintendent.

About this time an important change took place

in the contemplated site for a permanent building.

The original forty acres of land donated by thp

citizens of Faribault were sold and the preseot lot

on the bluff east of Straight River was obtained.

Prof. Kinney having retired, the Board of Di-

rectors employed J .L. Noyes, of Hartford, Conn.,

to take his place.

On the 7th of September, 1866, Mr. Noyes and

family, with Miss A. L. Steele, assistant teacher,

and Miss Henrietta "Watson, matron, arrived in

Faribault to carry on the work already begua.

This year chronicles the appropriation of fifteen

thousand dollars by the Legislature for the first

permanent building for the deaf and dumb on

the site already mentioned, and the next year the

foundation of the north wing of the present edi-

fice was commenced, and February 5th, 1867, the

corner-stone was laid by the Governor in the

presence of the members of the Legislature. The

citizens of Faribault had now contributed funds

to purchase fifty-four acres of land for the use

of the Institution, and by appropriation and pur-

chase in 1882 more was added, making the pres-

ent site nearly sixty-five acres in all."

North Wing.—On the 17th of March, 1868, the

North Wing was occupied by the deaf and dumb
for the first time. This was a day of great joy

to the pupils and all concerned with the school.-

The building was designed and arranged to ac-

commodate fifty pupils; sixty was the maximum.

In May of the same year the blind pupils were

added to the deaf-mutes, and soon the quarters

became too strait for the occupants.

During the year 1869 the foundation of the

South wing was laid, and the superstructure was

to be a building suited to accommodate the girls,

with class rooms for the bliad. These two wings

were of equal size, and stood ninety-six feet apart

with a temporary passage way between them.

September 10th, 1873, the school was re-organ-

ized, with the boys occupying the North Wing,

and the girls the South, with appropriate rooms

for the blind in each.

The same year steps were taken to provide a

separate permanent home for the blind pupils, as

there was not room enough for both classes in the

two wings, and it being obvious, after a fair trial,

that the two classes were so dissimilar that they

required separate apartments. Accordingly the

old Faribault farm of ninety-seven acres was purr

chased and suitable improvements made, and here,

in September, 1874, the school for the blind was

re-organized, with A. N. Pratt, Acting Principal
;

John J. Tucker, Maria E. Crandall, and Cora Ship-

man, teachers.

The places vacated by the blind were soon

filled by the deaf and dumb, and in 1879, the

plans of the main center building were completed

by the architect, Monroe Sheire, Esq., of St. Paul,

and steps taken towards completing the entire

edifice. In the fall of 1879, the entire building,

main center and the two wings, were occupied by
the pupils, and the school re-organized under the
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most favorable circumstances ever enjoyed in Min-

nesota. The entire edifice is' admirably ventilated

and warmed by steam, lighted by gas, and abun-

dantly supplied with pure spring water.

It is worthy of note to mart the steady growth

of the institution in periods of five years each.

Five years after the passage of the first act estab-

lishing the Institute in Faribatilt the school was

opened. Five years later the North wing was com-

pleted and ready for occupancy. In five years

more the South wing was erected and occupied by

sixty pupils, and the completion, furnishing and

heating of the main center building marks a

period of five years more. Every advance has

been made as the circumstances of the school de-

manded it, and not upon conjecture, or mere

probabilities. It is confidently expected that the

buildings now provided wiU afford ample accom-

modations for the deaf-mutes of the State for the

next ten or fifteen years. The object kept in view

has been to build substantially, in good taste, with

an eye to utility and the wants of the future, and

in a manner becoming a State enterprise.

It was the result of no pre-arrangement, or con-

tract, that the same architect drew the plans of the

entire building—the main center and two wings

—

at three different times and under three different

contracts. Whatever, therefore, of success has been

attained in the effort to unite the three portions in

one symmetrical, harmonious whole, is due to the

architect in faithfully carrying out the instructions

of the Board of Directors. And fortunately a

majority of the directors has remained on the

board during this building period, and have had

ideas, more or less definite, in regard to the deaf

and dumb, and the size and nature of the build-

ings required in providing for them.

The entire cost of all the buildings erected by

the State for the deaf and dumb in Faribault, to-

gether with heating apparatus, will, in round num-

bers amount to $200,000. This outlay for one

school seems large, and yet it is for all time and is

moderate in comparison with what neighboring

States have expended.

Methods.—The methods employed in the work

of instructing and training the deaf and dumb
have been those in common use in the older State

institutions at the East, and known as the French-

American system of signs, and the combined

method, together with a well arranged system of

industrial schools. The sign language is taught,

not as an accomplishment, or as an end, but as a

means to an end. No better method has been de-

vised by which the mass of deaf-mute children

can be initiated into the meaning and construction

of the English language than by the use of

natural signs as now employed in all the older

institutions for the deaf and dumb in the United

States and Canada. It is simply using the known
to obtain a knowledge of the unknown. And all

other devices have failed to bear the test of pro-

tracted experience.

Combined Methods.—By the combined method

is meant the union, or combination, of the sign

and oral systems so far as the condition and abOity

of the pupils will warrant. Eecognizing the fact

that quite a number—not over twenty per cent.

—

of the deaf and dumb children received into our

scliools have some knowledge of spoken language,

or by natural endowments, possess the ability to

acquire considerable knowledge of speech, pro-

vision is made to teach articulation and lip-reading

so far as circumstances warrant, and the pupils

give evidence of the proper ability. There

are a few schools that use only the oral method of

instruction, but they fail to educate all, and the

sign method has been toiind to succeed in many
cases where the pure oral system failed, hence the

wisdom of the combined method.

Directions fok Teaching the Deap and Dumb
AT Home."—Deaf-mutes begin in early childhood to

use the language of natural signs; it is their

mother tongue; and parents, brothers, and sisters,

should improve every opportunity to talk with

them.

Any person with a manual alphabet can select

the letters d-o-g, c-a-t, c-o-w, and teach the mnte

child to spell these words, placing its fingers in the

proper position for each letter. Take but one

word at a time, spell it slowly and repeatedly.

When these words are learned, teacb the name of

other objects in and about the house. "Write these

words upon a slate, and require the child to copy

them, till it can write them with ease. Then teach

its own name and the names of familiar persons,

distinguishing them by some appropriate sign.

If a person would consult the welfare of a mute

child, it must be taught obedience, right and

wrong, just as other children are taught. A nod

and smile of approval, or a shake of the head and

look of disapproval cannot fail to be understoo<l.

There is no mystery in this, as any one may learn

who makes the trial."
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Industrial Glasses. In 1869, a cooper shop

was opened in which the mute boys were taught

coopery. Having been well satisfied with the re-

sult of this experiment, in due time a tailor shop,

a shoe shop, a printing office, and a department

for dressmaking and plain sewing were organized,

and all of these have been continued with highly

beneficial results. The forenoon is given to school

exercises proper, and the afternoons to industrial

work. By this method habits of industry, skill

and regular physical exercise are formed, and, at

the end of their course pupils are graduated with

minds that can think, and hands that can use tools

skillfully. Thus theae unfortunate, dependent

children become useful, independent citizens

through the aid and bounty of the State.

The Mannbe oe Stjppokt.—As this is strictly

a State Institution, the support comes from ap-

propriations made by the Legislature from time

to time. The appropriations for buildings and

improvements come from the same source.

The products of the farm and garden contribute

something toward the table supplies, but at best

they yield but a very small part of what is con-

sumed during each year.

The shops are hardly self-supporting. As a

whole, when once provided with shops and a com-

plete outfit of tools, they have, as a rule, just

about met current expenses. Hence they cannot

be regarded as a source of pecuniary profit or in-

come, even under the best management. As fast

as the boys become skUlful workmen they leave,

and more boys take their places to repeat the

same thing in a few years. But the knowledge

and skill are valuable to the graduates in after

years.

The Present Status. The condition of affairs

in this Institution at this time may be indicated

by stating that the Board of Directors consists of

Gov. Ij. p. Hubbard, Hon. D. L. Kiehle, ex officio;

Hon. T. B. Clement, President ; Eev. Geo. B.

Whipple, Vice-President ; Hon. E. A. Mott, Sec-

retary ; Hudson Wilson, Esq., Treasurer ; Hon.

Geo. E. Skinner.

Ofpicees and Teaohbes; J.-L. Noyes, super-

intendent ; George Wing, Pender W. Downing,

Mary E. King, Ellen M. Franklin, Fannie Wood,

Anna Wicktom, Teachers ; Dr. P. G. Denninger,

physician ; Mrs. A. E. Hale, matron ; Horace E.

Barron, steward ; D. F. Munro, foreman of tailor

shop ; J. E. Sendner, foreman of shoe shop

;

George Wing, editor of the Companion; Philip

Slaven, foreman of cooper shop ; Mrs. S. M.

Perry, mistress of sewing room ; A. B. Irvine,

engineer ; N. P. Eood, night watch.

One hundred and sixteen pupils were in attend-

ance the last term, twelve of whom completed the

prescribed time, or course, in the school, and

graduated at the close of the term in June last.

The deaf-mute pupils have deported themselves in

such a manner that not a single expulsion has

occurred in the last sixteen years.

The finances of the institution are in a good

condition, the Legislature never having declined

to make the necessary provision for buildings, or

support, provided there was money in the State

treasury.

The citizens of Faribault and the State gener-

ally foster the school with special interest 'and

personal pride, and look upon it as one of the

most beneficial institutions the State has estab-

lished. It is not local or sectarian in its work,

nearly all classes, nationalities, and almost all the

counties in the State being represented in it.

Thc Mute's Companion.—This little paper,

issued every two weeks of the school year, is

edited by one of the teachers, and the work of

setting the type and printing, besides considerable

job work, is done by the pupils themselves. It

pleads the cause of the deaf and the blind in

many a household, and by way of exchange in

many of the papers throughout the State, and

brings to the reading room a copy of nearly all

the newspapers published in Minnesota. Many
copies of papers and periodicals from other States

are obtained in exchange for "The Companion,"

and thus the reading matter for the pupils is

greatly enlarged, and they are thereby provoked

to habits of reading and thought which, without

"The Companion," would be wholly lost. Parents

and patrons by it are called into a deeper sympathy

and interest in this school and its benevolent

work.

A slight change in the management of the In-

stitute has been made that deserves a passing

notice. From the commencement of this State

enterprise there has been only one board of trust,

one superintendent, and one steward until May
19th, 1881, when, with entire unanimity on the part

of the board, and the hearty approval of the Su-

perintendent, the latter was relieved of all care and

responsibility in regard to the blind department
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and the school for idiots and imbeciles, and Prof.

J. J. Dow and Dr. George H. Knight were ap-

pointed superintendents of their respective depart-

ments, so that at this writing Minnesota has in

Faribault a trinity of humane and benevolent

institutions under one board, one steward, and

three superintendents, all working together not

only harmoniously and zealously, but efficiently

and economically, and are iUustrating by practice,

what no other State has done, that these three in-

stitutions can be successfully and satisfactorily

managed in one place and by one board. The

State has heartily endorsed the plan, and successive

Legislatures have appropriated the funds necessary

tor their establishment and support with great

unanimity, and with reason, for the improvements

have all been made, the buildings erected, and the

current expenses met by the appropriations, and, as

a rule, a balance left in the treasury. It is but

giving utterance to public opinion to say the

buildings are first class in construction, well lo-

cated, well adapted to the work, and no stealing

and very small profits to contractors.

Some Results Ebamzed.—Two hundred and

eighty-five deaf and dumb children have been re-

ceived into the Institution since it was organized.

A large majority of the graduates learned a trade

while at school and have become quiet, useful, and

industrious citizens, possessing the respect and

confidence of those who know them, and earning a

comfortable living. A few have been very success-

ful. One is the editor and proprietor of a leading

country newspaper. Another is a highly esteemed

bookkeeper in a large banking house. Six have

entered college at Washington. One is the fore-

man of a cooper shop. Three have been success-

ful teachers of the deaf and dumb. A few have

excelled as type-setters. Fourteen have married

and have fourteen children, and as parents and

citizens they are acting well their part in life.

There are others who as farmers, coopers, shoe-

makers, tailors, and laborers, are earning an honest

comfortable living and no longer eating the bread

of dependence. Not one, so far as heard from, has

become a vagrant, or an idler, trying to make

capital out of his misfortune.

The graduates are realizing more deeply every

year how much the Institution has done for them.

Isolated from society, shut out from public lec-

tures and Sabbath instruction, which they enjoyed

_at_achool, they fail to grow in intelligence and
• See Errata, page 603.

knowledge of wordly matters like persons with all

their senses. Reading and writing comprise their

medium of communication with others and in this

sometimes they are deficient.

The nature and object of the Institution are be-

coming better known and parents realize more

than formerly the importance of an education and

a trade for the deaf and dumb, and moreover that

this cannot be obtained at home, or in the space of

four or five years even under very favorable cir-

cumstances. In order to realize more effectually

what the Institution has been doing the reader

should go to some of the homes of these children

and contrast the sadness, gloom, and despondency

that had settled over the hearts and minds of once

happy loving parents, and mark the contrast as

the cloud disappears before the joy, intelh'gence

and usefulness of the graduate as he takes his

place in society and the world. In instances not

a few parents have found language inadeqiaate to

express their gratitude for what has been ac-

compUshed. As the educated deaf-mute proves

the comfort in sickness, the stay and staff in age to

many parents throughout the commonwealth the

beneficial results of this State Institute will

widen and deepen in ratios beyond computation,

and in values that money cannot equal.

It is unquestionable that the State of Minnesota

has been most remarkably fortunate in the public

institutions located in Faribault. In the first

place the commissioners who were authorized to

make a beginning and to take the whole subject

into consideration, to ascertain the number of the

unfortunate who were by rights wards of the

State, and to report, did their work faithfully and

well, and while the oflBcers of the State have had

HteraUy to feel their way, as the labor magnified

on their hands, they have never made a mistake;

and what is most wonderful, in all the expendi-

tures for buildings and support, they have never

exceeded the appropriation, except in a single

unimportant instance. The institution in all re-

spects has been in its administration conducted in

an honest and economical way, and the gentle-

men who are in charge of the various depart-

ments are remarkably well adapted to the work,

and have kindly furnished this sketch, excepting

these concluding remarks.

There is considerable that might be said in this

connection, in relation to the personal fitness and

the remarkable adaptability of the officers to the
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performance of their duties ; the kindness and

consideration that has characterized their contact

with the various inmates ; the rare judgment that

has uniformly been displayed in the every day

affairs and in numerous trying emergencies ; but

the usual anxiety is for results, and as here they

have been entirely satisfactory, this statement

must close our final, pointing with pride at these

institutions.

SHATTUCK SCHOOIi.

The Shattuck School is under the patronage of

the Episcopal authorities, and is a most impor-

tant part of the denominational system of educa-

tion. It was organized in 1866, and placed in

charge of Eev. J. L. Breck, D. D,, who became

Rector of the school, and on bis removal to Cali-

fornia, in 1867, the Eev. James Dobbin succeeded

him. The object of the school is to train up boys

for the active business of life, which also embraces

a preparation for college, and to make it for Min-

nesota what Eton is for Englfind. Of course

there were at first many trials, but constant ad-

vances have been made, and it is now thoroughly

established on a lasting foundation, and in the

confidence and esteem of the community. The

buildings consist of two large halls built of stone,

a school-room, drill-room and gymnasium, and

one of the most beautiful college or school chap-

els in America, the whole costing over $80,000.

There are fifty acres of lan'd on a plateau back of

the bins', opposite the lower part of the city, and

north of the State Institution for the Deaf and

Dumb.
The school is a military one, and the boys as

they arrive are assigned to one of the organized

companies which are officered by the students in

accordance with the United States tactics, the

promotions being in the direction of competency

and seniority. The cadets are dressed in a neat

gray uniform, and the proficiency of the " Shat-

tuck Battalion" in the manual of arms and com-

pany and battalion movements, is very striking. A
Captain in the Eegular Army is detailed as in-

structor, commandant, and professor of Natural

Sciences.

The following article from a St. Paul paper,

from the pen of one of the staff of the journal is

here reproduced, although it covers some of the

points already presented, but it will give a view

from a different standpoint. Besides, the school

is of such a character that if tautology is to be ex-

cused in any case, it certainly will be in this in-

stance.

"THE ETON OP MINUBSOTA.

You can tell a town in which institutions for

the education of the youth abound almost as

soon as you enter it. There is an air of dignity

and scholastic quietude which permeates certain

portions thereof, and militates not one whit against

the mercantile or manufacturing activity likely

enough to be found in other localities. Then, too,

the surroundings, if not the town itself, are al-

most always characterized by especial beauties of

scenery. There is always a stream, and it is

usually picturesque, while foliage in abundance

mingles with plenitude of spires. The residences

show greater attention to the religion of the beau-

tiful, and the people more outward evidences, at

least, of culture than in towns where elevators are

the building of most note and the price of pro-

duce the principal topics of conversation. The

differences noted are more especially marked in a

State so new, comparatively, as our own, and no

one who has ever visited Faribault will wonder at

its serving as a text for the above. It is more

like a New England town, wherein decades have

merged into generations, and generations into

centuries, than a place of most modem foundation

and growth, and the claim that it is the prettiest

town in the State is hard, successfully to contro-

vert. The seat of the Deaf and Dumb Institution,

which crowns a commanding height on the east

side of the Straight Kiver (what a pity the name

of the latter was changed from the euphonious

Owatonna), it is more widely known as the locale

of the two schools—Shattuck and St. Mary's

—

founded by Protestant Episcopal liberality, and

supported by scholars of all denominations. It is

also the diocesan home of Bishop Whipple, and

here also is located Seabury Divinity School.

SHATTtJCK SCHOOL.

The choice location of the city, so rich in sites'

has unqixestionably been taken by Shattuck

school, an institution more thoroughly academic

in appearance, scope, and plan than any in the

State. Its founders wisely eschewed the preten-

tious name of " College," or the often bombastic

title of "University," knowing that such appella-

tions would, for many years at least, be misnomers,

if not shams, and adopted the expressive, if old-

fashioned, generic name. The success attendant
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upon the earnest fifforts of Bishop Whipple and

his coadjutors must be surprising even to them.

The parish school established as far back as 1858

was really the nucleus of Shattuck as it was of St.

Mary's, and when Bishop Whipple assumed

charge of the newly created diocese, in 1860, he

found the parochial school in anything but a fee-

ble condition, the population considered. In that

year the Bishop Seabury mission was incorporated

by H. B. Whipple, J. L. Breck, S. W. Manney,

and E. S. Peake, the charter giving ample educa-

tional powers to the board of trustees therein pro-

vided for.

In the autumn of 1865, it was determined to

separate an academic department from the Sea-

bury mission, the latter being more purely theo-

logic in its curriculum. Shattuck School took

high rank from the start, and not the least happy

of the ideas of its originators was that of making

the school

CLOSELY KESEMBLB WEST POrNT

in many important particulars. While the mili-

tary code is subordinate to the educational, it is

merged with it as well, and plays a highly im-

portant part in the discipline. - The pupils are

styled cadets and have their own commissioned and

non-commissioned officers, the commandant being

an officer of the regular army who is next to the

rector in academic rank. The government has

furnished rifles similar to those used by the West

Pointers, and weighing only seven pounds, while

other accouterments have also been provided in

plenty.

The uniform is of gray and the cross belts of

white exactly similar to the national cadets in cut

and trimming, while as far as possible, the organ-

ization is modeled after that of the best military

school in the world. The flag-staff on a com-

manding knoll, the frowning artillery, the uni-

formed cadets with their erect and soldier-like

beoring, the calls, and the hundreds of addenda of

a martial nature, are exceedingly pleasing to the

eye or ear, and better still have served a most ad-

mirable purpose. No one physically able is

excused from drills and concomitant military duty

and the esprit du corps is fostered by awards and

rewards into vigorous life.

THE COEPS AND BUILDINGS.

The limit of membership is fixed at 103 for the

present (it is to be enlarged to 150 as soon as

added facilities wUl admit), and there is but one

vacancy at present. Applications for the reception

of a much greater number are yearly received, but

are not acceded to, as the limit is rigid. The pre-

ceptors do not believe in crowding the cadets,

being of the opinion that the harm done would be

poorly compensated for by the increase of revenue.

Of course, the time is looked forward to when new
buildings will allow of an increase to 200, 300 or

400 students, and, if present popularity is any

criterion, the pupils will be ready ere the build-

ings are. There are now fully 100 acres in the

academic grounds, so that the room is ample. The

buildings are two large stone halls, each three

sbories in height, for recitation rooms, dormitories,

and refectories, and in the nedr future an addi-

tional hall 100x65, with a dining room 55x65, is to

be erected. The Manney Armory Hall, named in

honor Eev. Solon W. Manney, D. D., is of com-

paratively recent erection and is a model of its

kind. The lower story is fitted up as a gymnasium
and reading room, the latter not so well supplied

with books as it will be in the coming time, many
books having been burned in 1872, when Seabury

Hall fell victim to the flames. The gymnasium
proper is all that could be desired and is provided

with every possible appliance far athletic culture,

while the Eesthetic sense is pleased by the finish of

the entire building in hard woods, innocent of dis-

figuring paint, and handsome as are most of na-

ture's products. Up staii;B is the armory and drill

room, a spacious apartment ample for the evolu-

tions of the corps, the room being unobstructed by
supports or columns of any kind, and the floor so

braced and held by iron hearted girders as to be

absolutely safe. In the southern part of the

grounds and facing westward toward the river, as

do most of the buildings, is the beautiful Shum-

way Memorial Chapel, erected by Mrs. Hunting-

ton, of Cincinnati, in remembrance of a beloved

child. The Chapel is of suitable size and is most

perfect in all its appointments and exquisite in de-

sign. The stained windows were made abroad and

are very handsome, representing in mosaic of

glass, scenes in sacred history of the symbolisms

of the Church. The organ and altar within the

chancel are suited to the chapel, which ^necessarily

plays an important part in the exercises of the

school. The Bector's house is also a fine one, and

is finished in the latest style of modem ornamen-

tation, without mere display. East of the armory

there has recently been erected a handsome cot-

tage for the use of the commandant, who formerl y
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lived in the city. It is proposed soon to heat all

buildings by steam from central buildings, and it

would not be surprising if the electric light should

be introduced within a short time. The parade

ground for the out door evolutions of the cadets is

large and smooth, and a dress parade of the corps is

an exceedingly pleasant sight. At the present time

music is furnished by an excellent drum corps, but

as the school grows in size it is not at all improba-

ble that a band will be formed among the

cadets. * * ' *"

In relation to the scope and character of the

study in this school there is one point which is

most admirable, and which is so frequently, and

we had almost said criminally neglected in so

many schools that it should be emphasized in the

most striking way, and that is the physical train-

ing which goes along paripasee with the intellec-

tual. No plan to do this has ever been found

equal to the school of the soldier, as it combines

pleasure and labor in a way that is most condu-

cive to development fpom youth to .manhood,

because there is enough of the intellectual with it

to give it zest, even with the mentally inclined.

Without publishing the curriculum it will, per-

haps, be sufficient that a list of the text-books be

printed, although it must be understood that these

are mere auxiliaries in the realm of instruction.

The following Text Books are used in the

School

;

Arithmetic, Mental Stoddard.

Arithmetic, Written Hagar.

Algebra Wentworth.

Astronomy Gillet & Rolfe.

Botany Gray's School and Field.

Book-keeping Meservey.

Chemistry Avery.

Civil Government Townseud

Copy Books Spencerian.

English Literature Townsend.

Geography Colton.

Geography, Physical Geike.

Grammar Harvey, Whitney.

German Grammar Cook's Otto.

Geometry : Davies' Legendre.

Greek Lessons White.

Greek Grammar -and Reader Goodwin.

Greek Prose Jones

History, U. S Seavey's Goodrich.

History, England Guest's Lectures.

History, General ^. . . . i . . . .Talheimer

Latin, Introductory Lessons Harkness

Latin Grammar and Header. .Harkness, Stan. Ed.

Latin Prose Arnold.

Military Tactics Upton

Natural Philosophy Gillet & Rolfe.

Political Economy Paucett.

Physiology Hutchison.

Readers Appleton's, Shaw's Selections,

Leffingwell's Classics.

Rhetoric Hart.

Elocution Mitchell.

Spellers Harrington.

Study of Words , Trench.

In this line, a presentation of the corps of in-

structors will add still further to an idea of what

ground is covered by the teaching of the school.

FACULTY.

The Eight Reverend H. B. Whipple, D. D.,

Bishop of Minnesota, Chancellor and Visitor.

Rev. James Dobbin, A. M., B. D., Rector.

Rev. George H. Davis, Vice-Rector, and In-

structor in English Literature and Political Econ-

omy.

Oapt. Charles A. Curtis, A. B., U. S. A., Com-
mandant, and Instructor in MOitary and Natural

Sciences.

William W. Ohamplain, A. M., Mathematics.

Harry E. Whitney, A. M., Latin and German.

E. Webster Whipple, A. M., LL. B., Greek Lan-

guage and Literature.

Charles E. S. Easey, A. M., History and Elocu-

tion.

Mrs. H. E. Whitey, Instrumental and Vocal

Music.

Charles W. Clinton, A. M., Preparatoy Depart-

ment.

PHTSIOAli CULTTJKB.

G. Weston Wood, M. D., Physician and Sur-

geon.

Mrs. C. N. Parker, Matron.

Mrs. C. P. Sheldon, Nurse.

The officers of the Battalion organization are

also given:

FIELD AND STAFF.

Captain C. A. Curtis, U. S. A., Commandant.
G. W. Wood, Surgeon.

Cadet Lieut. E. L. Welch, Adjutant.

Cadet Sergeant Major, F. E. Evans.

Cadet Quartermaster Sergeant, S. S. Tanner.



GITT OF FARIBAULT. 349

Touching the government of the school, upon

which so much depends, the following extract

from the published rules is made

:

KtTLBS OF CONDTTCT.

"Only such rules are imposed as are known to

be necessary to correct, or to prevent improper

conduct and neglect of duty. The utmost watch-

fulness is maintained over the habits and conduct

of the cadets. The discipline, whUe kind and

just, is meant to be very strict. Everything is

designed to imbue each one with such a manly.

Christian spirit, and such a wholesome respect for

law as will secure cheerful as well as exact obedi-

ence.

The discipline of the school is semi-military.

All rules and regulations, except such as are

purely military, are imposed by the Bector. The

cadet officers of the battalion are required to aid in

their enforcement. The Commissioned officers are

detailed in rotation as " Officer of the Day."

During his term of duty the Officer of the Day is

rosponsible, together with his Sergeant and Cor-

poral of the Guard, for the maintenance of good

order, and the observance of all the regulations of

the school. In case of disorder, or of any known
or suspected violation of the rules, it is the duty

of the officers to report it. These reports are

made regularly each day in writing, through the

Commandant, and the penalties are assigned, in

all cases, by the Eeotor or his representative.

Every cadet who is reported for any delinquency

is given an opportunity to make an explanation

before he is punished. In this way all hasty, un-

just, and discriminating punishments are avoided,

and the discipline of the school is made, in its

truest sense, corrective. A record of all delin-

quencies and punishments is preserved, and is fur-

nished to parents if desired. So far as the various

faults and dispositions of cadets will allow, these

are uniform, and consist in the performance of ex-

tra drill, and study, the loss of holidays and

pocket money, confinement to close bounds, de-

merits, etc.

HABITS POKBIDDBN.

The following habits are strictly forbidden:

The use of ardent spirits.

The use of tobacco in any form.

Visiting saloons or billiard rooms.

The use of profane or obscene language.

Leaving the school grounds without permission.

Playing cards.

The contraction of debts.

Willfully marring and destroying school prop-

erty.

Beading books and papers disapproved.

An habitual and wilful indulgence in any of

these habits is held to be sufficient ground for re-

moval from the school."

The United States Government has supplied the

school with one hundred and fifty cadet rifle-

muskets, fifty cavalry sabres, eighteen small swords,

and two artillery pieces, with all the necessary

equipments. It also furnishes annually for prac-

tice firing, two thousand rounds of musket cart-

ridges, and one hundred rounds for six pounder

guns. The cadet rifle, including bayonet, weighs

nine pounds. No one able to drill is excused from

it. Each cadet is held personally responsible for

the arms assigned to him. An excellent drum

corps is attached to the battalion.

A paper, "The Shattuok School," is printed at

the school, and there are various societies, such as

"The Beading Boom Association," the "C. S. C.

Society," the "Athletic Association," the "Base

Ball Club," the "Choir," the "Orchestra," the

"Band," and others. There are various honors

and prizes to be contended for, and of course the

latter will increase as the school goes on.

PEES.

Tuition, military drUl, board, fuel,

lights and washing, ( one dozen
)

per annum $350 00

Payable September 14th $200 00

Payable January 4th 150 00

Entrance Pee (paid but once) ... 25 00

German, except to those pursuing

the graduating course 16 00

Lessons on piano 60 00

Use of piauo for practice 15 00

Medical attendance 5 00

Day scholars, payable half-yearly

in advance 50 00

A veiy liberal reduction is made to the sons of

clergymen.

The school year consists of thirty-eight weeks.

SBABTJKY DIVINITY SCHOOL.

In the year 1858, Bev. Dr. J. L. Breck, Eev. S.

W. Manney, and Eev. E. S. Peake organized an

associate mission at Gull Lake, and Mr. Breck and
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Mr. Manney began mission work in Faribault.

They acquired about forty acres of land, built a

small wooden Ohapel, two dwelling houses, and a

Divinity School of the dimensions of 16x18 feet.

By the next autumn—1859—when H. B. Whipple

was elected as the first Bishop of Minnesota, they

had a flourishing parish school, and had com-

menced the Seabury Divinity School with eight

or ten pupils.

On the 15th of May, 1858, the citizens of Fari-

bault, who were adherents of this faith, met and

formed an organization for the avowed purpose of

creating an "Episcopal University." The Chair-

man of this meeting was A. J. Turner, the Secre-

tary was O. F. Perkins. A committee was ap-

pointed to receive contributions as follows: G. E.

Skinner, Levi Nutting, and J. B. Wheeler.

It seems that the Eev. T. Wilcoxson had prev-

iously visited Faribault, and there was a mission

at St. Columbia, one hundred and fifty miles north,

and on the 30th of July, 1869, there was an event

of unusual interest in connection with this mission

work. Three Chippewaa had come down from

tbat distant mission; two, Ma-ne-ta-wah, a Chris-

tian chief, and En-me-gah-bowh, had come to be

ordained by the missionary Bishop Bt. Rev. J.

Kemper. Here mdeed was the fruit of missionary

labor, the service was crowded with Indians and

whites to witness a sight beheld for the first time

in America, the ordination of a full-blooded Indian

into the Priesthood or Deaconsliip of the church.

In 1859. a little missionary paper was printed

which revealed the wants of the mission and the

progress made.

The first anniversary exercises of the Seabury

Mission were on the 17th of August, 1859, and

according to the reports then made, the number
of scholars during the first quarter was fifteen, the

second sixty-seven; the third eighty-three; and

the term just closed one hundred and two. It can

thus be seen that the school at that time was needed

and appreciated.

The clergy and teachers then were: Eev. J.

Lloyd Breck, M. A. ; Eev. Prof. Manney, M. A.

;

G. Clinton Tanner; S. Dutton Hinman; James

Dobbin; Miss M. J. Mills; Miss M. J. Leigh.

The story of the conversion of the Chippewas

and of the Dakotas, and particularly of the edu-

cation of bright "Little Hattie" and "Clara Moko-
manik," children of the forest, excited interest in

this mission and helped to supply contributions

for its support, particularly as the name of J. J.

En-me-gah-bowh was added to the clergy of the

mission. The first two graduates of the school

were Indian missionaries.

In- 1860, in addition to the name of the Bishop,

was added to the associate missionaries the names

of Kev. G. C. Tanner and Bev. S. Dutton Hinman.

On the 22d of May, 1860, the Bishop Seabury

mission was incoi-porated with the following Trus-

tees: Kt. Rev. H. B. Whipple, D. D.; Eev. J.

Lloyd Breck, D. D.; Eev. S. W. Manney; Eev. E.

G. Gear; Eev. D. B. Knickerbacker; Eev. E. P.

Gray; Hon. H. T. Welles; Hon. E. T. Wilder;

Gen. N. J. T. Davy; Eev. E. E. Welles; and C.

WooUey. The school was named in honor and re-

memberance of Bishop Seabury, the first Bishop

in America, who was consecrated to this work in

Scotland.

These two men who thus came and entered upon

this missionary work with such a comprehensive

view of the requirements of the future, were the

real founders of the Divinity school, and when

Bishop Whipple came he at once took the enter-

prise under his protection, and with an energy that

never iiags, has, with the assistance that has been

secured, brought the school up to its present pros-

perous condition. The construction of Seabury

Hall was commenced in 1862. It is a noble stone

structure, three stories with a basement, and cost

about $16,000. It was completed in 1864. For a

few years there was a boy's collegiate school in

the same building and under the same teachers,

and various instructors were employed. The

necessity of the specific work of the Divinity

School became so urgent that in 1865, the Shat-

tuck School was organized, and since that time

this school has been enabled to concenljate upon
its special work. In 1864, Eev. E. 8. Thomas
joined the school, and Eev. Dr. S. Buel in 1866.

Eev. Dr. Breck removed to California in 1867, and

in 1869, to Eev. Dr. Manney,

"The God of bounds who sets to seas a shore,

Came to him in his fatal rounds, >

And said, no more!"

He had been a chaplain in the army with $1,800

a year, which he surrendered for $500 here with

labor and discouragements, but he lived long

enough to see that his planting would become a

fruitful vineyard. The Eev, Dr. T. Eichey was
elected professor of Ecclesiastical History. In

1870, Mr. Thomas was called to the rectorship of

St. Mark's Church in Minneapolis, and resigned
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his position here. In 1871, Mr. Buel became a pro-

fessor in the General Theological Seminary, and

he was succeeded by Bev. Dr. J. S. Kidney. In

1874, Esv. George L. Chase became warden and

Professor of Homiletics. The late Eev. Dr. S. Y.

McMasters acted as Professor of Evidences for

seven years. Eev. G. 0. Tanner was acting Pro-

fessor of Exegesis for two years, and he was suc-

ceeded by Eev. W. J. Gold. Dr. Eichey was suc-

ceeded by Mr. Humphrey, Acting-Professor of

Ecclesiastical History, and Eev. E. S. Wilson was

elected Professor of Exegesis.

In 1871, the Seabury Hall was burned. It was

a heavy blow and a serious loss, but another was

Boou commenced and the present edifice went up,

and now there is a noble hall, a beautiful ohapel,

a professor's residence, a library building, with

several thousand choice volumes.

The students read service at various outlying

stations.

The present staff is as follows, viz:

Bishop Whipple, Professor of Pastoral Worii.

The Eev. George L. Chase, A. M., Warden and

Professor of Homiletics and Liturgies.

The Eev. F. Humphry, Acting Professor of Ec-

clesiastical History, and Kev. E. S. Wilson, Pro-

fessor of Exegesis.

The Eev. J. Steinford Kidney, D. D., Professor

of Divinity, and Acting Professor of Ethics and

Apologetics.

The ''Bishop Seabury Mission" has a boatd of

trustees consisting of eight laymen and six clergy-

men, the Bishop is the President.

As a divinity school it has a high rank and is the

advocate of no party or faction, but "within the

liberty which the church gives, yields to every man
all the freedom of opinion, which the church tol-

erates."

ST. mabt's hall.

This is a school for girls which has obtained a

wide reputation for usefulness during the sixteen

years of its existence. The several hundred who
have received instruction here are scattered over a

wide expanse of territory, and each one, as she has

opportunity, is the center of usefulness. The

school was instituted by Bishop Whipple, and

opened in his residence in 1866, under the care of

Eev. L. J. Mills and Miss S. P. Darlington. Mr.

Mills had been associated with Bishop Kerfoot at

James College, and he brought the knowledge ac-

quired by that school. He only lived to work with

the school for four months, but during that time

left an impression upon its character which has

moulded and will continue to mould its forms of

instruction while it shall exist. At the end of six

years from the time of its institution the school

WBS placed in the care of a board of trustees. At

present the buildings occupy a block of land one

square from the Cathedral, diagonally across the

street, they are spacious, comfortable, cheerful'

and home-like, with shady walks and cheerful sur-

roundings. The avowed object of the school is to

train up Christian women, and the theory main-

tained is that religion should be a wellspring of

joy and pleasure, and not a source of sadness and

melancholy, and that girls will equal boys in

every department of letters, with equal advantages.

Eev. George B. Whipple, the brother of Bishop

H. B. Whipple, is the assistant in the spiritual

care of the school. It has accommodations for

seventy boarders and forty day scholars. We pre-

sent here as a fitting place, a brief sketch of the

woman who for fourteen years had her life bound

up in this school.

Miss S. P. Dabmngton.—This estimable lady

was the principal of St. Mary's Hall from 1862

up to the time when she was called to

—

''A land'unknown.

That day of days drew nigh.

Which shall unlock all hidden stores,

And bid our dreading, longing spirits fly

To thy mysterious shores."

Her passing away was on the 19th of February,

1881, after eight days of pain and suffering.

Prom the time when she took charge of the insti-

tution, except one year, she was the capable, cul-

tivated, and careful counselor of those under her

charge. Few women have better administrative

ability than she developed in the reponsibile posi-

tion that she occupied in such an efficient way.

the monuments that she reared are living all over

the country, as devoted wives, faithful and loving

mothers, and beloved women. She came from

Pennsylvania, a daughter of Dr. Darlington, a

noted botanist.

The mantle of Miss Darlington has fallen upon

Miss E. A. Eice, her former associate, who is in

every way qualified to fill the responsible posi-

tion to which she has been called.

The regular terms of the school begin on the

third Thursday in September, and close on the

third Tuesday in June, and has two weeks vaca-

tion at Christmas, and ten days at Easter, when

the pupils can, if they choose, visit home.
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The terms are $300 a year, with no extra

charges for French or German. Music and paint-

ing are an extra charge.

The following are the officers and teachers for

1881-82.

Kt. Bev. H. B. Whipple, D. D., Eector.

Eev. Geo. B. Whipple, Chaplain and Treasurer.

Mias E. A. Bice, Principal.

Prof. John Foster, A. B., Latin and Mathemat-

ics.

Miss E. Whitney, History, English Language,

and Literature.

Miss P. S. Beane, Natural Sciences and Mathe-

matics.

Miss M. Finch, English Branches.

Miss M. W. Greene, Preparatory Department.

Miss Mary A. Smith, Elocution.

Mile. M. P. Landerer, French and German.

Miss Grace D. Sherwood, Music.

Miss C. M. Hakes, Vocal Music.

Miss M. P. Harbaugh, Drawing and Painting.

Miss M. A. Williams, Matron.

Miss Susan Phelps, Assistant Matron.

Hon. Gordon E. Oole, Secretary.

Eight acres of land on the bluff opposite the

city and overlooking it, just south of the State

Institution for the Deaf Mutes, have been secured,

aud a building is now going up which will be in

every way adapted to the requirements of the

school and an ornament to the city. The cost

will be $75,000.

An account of the exercises attending the lay-

ing of the corner-stone is printed here from the

local press, and seems to be a fitting conclusion to

this summary account of St. Mary's Hall.

ST. MAKT'S HAIjI;. THE CEREMONY OP liAJING THE

OOENER-STONB.

'' The laying of the corner-stone of St. Mary's

Hall marks another era in the progress of educa-

tional work in the city. The school has outgrown

the primitive foundations upon which it was first

reared, and the new and noble edifice which is de-

manded by its necessities will soon become one of

the chief ornaments of our attractive city.

The ceremonies of Monday, June 19th, were

witne=:sed by a large concourse of people, among

whom were numerous visitors who were in attend-

ance upon the commencement proceedings.

About the stone ware grouped the bishop and

resident clergy, the pupils of St. Mary's and

Shattuck Halls, the architect, Mr. William Wil-

cox, the contractor, Mr. William McNeil, of Chi-

cago, and others.

The services were in accordance with the usual

church formulae.

The following articles were deposited in the box

which was placed under the stone :

English Bible, Prayer Book and Hymnal, Dako-

tah Prayer Book and Hymnal, Chippewa Prayer

Book and Hymnal, Catalogues of St. Mary's

Hal], Catalogues of Shattuck School, Catalogues

Seabury Divinity School, History of the Church

Schools in Faribault, Journal of Diocese of Minne-

sota, Conventional address of the Bishop, copies of

the St. Paul Pioneer Press, of June 18th and 19th,

1881, Minnesota Missionary for 1882, the Church-

man, the Episcopal Eegister, Guardian, Standard

of the Cross, Living Church, St. Paul Globe, St.

Paul Dispatch, Minneapolis Journal, Minneapolis

Tribune, Faribault Democrat, Fatibault Bepubli-

can, names of the President of the United States

and Cabinet, names of the Governor and State

Officers, Principal, Teachers and Pupils of St.

Mary's Hall, Officers and Teachers of Shattuck

School, and names of Superintendents of State In-

stitutions at Faribault.

The gtone bears the symbol of the cross and the

insciiption " St. Mary's Hall, 1882."

The Bishop, after laying the stone, delivered an

address of which the following is an extract:

BISHOP Whipple's address.

Beloved Friends: I bid you all a hearty wel-

come to share my ioy to-day. It is a day for

which I have waited long. Twenty-three years

ago 1 came to Faribault a stranger. Every busi-

ness man in the border village came to ask me
to make Faribault my home. They were men of

different creeds, mostly strangers to the church.

They had come here from far-off Eastern homes

to the distant West to found a State. They be-

lieved that Christian education must be its corner-

stone. They were, like myself, poor men. They

had an abiding faith in the coming future. They

gave me their pledge to be my helpers. Some of

those who welcomed me are scattered far, others

are sleeping with the dead, but the pledge they

made has been fulfilled.

I cannot tell you to-day the history of these

halls which have made the name of Faribault a

household word; nor can I tell you of a fairer

temple, not made with hands, buUded in living

souls. That rude cottage on yonder hill was our
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University. On the fair grounds of Shattuck

School, where stands that noble church, a loving

woman's gift to God, was a tangled forest. Where

now you hear the organ peal I heard the wierd,

wild dance of the Dak&tah. Sixteen years ago

there came to me, as the voice of God, the thought

that our schools would lose their rarest beauty un-

less we had a hall to train and mould into perfect-

ness Christian womanhood. Our other work was

in its infancy; halls to be bailt, library to be

gathered, professorships to found, an hundred

ways for every dollar given. I did not ask coun-

sel, save of the best of all counselors, a Christian

wife. We settled it that our home should be the

new St. Mary's Hall. God sent me a woman of

the rarest culture, the deepest faith, and the strong-

est will. She heard the plan; she believed in it,

and Miss Sarah P. Darlington became the princi-

pal of our sfehool. It was God's will that when

her work was done, she should be called home,

but the mantle fell on shoulders every way wor-

thy the trust. It seems as yesterday when we be-

gan this work. The school has to-day many hun-

dred daughters; I hear of them everywhere—lov-

ing children in happy homes^ Christian wives and

mothers, gentle women ministering to sorrow

—

and they have overpaid me an hundred-fold for

every care. To-day we reach another way-murk

of our history. The school has outgrown its

present home; we need a fairer, nobler building

adapted to its work. Three-fourths of the cost to

enclose this noble building has been the gift of

women, and I should wrong my brothers' hearts

if I doubted that they would complete a work so

well begun.

PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

Attention was early called to educational mat-

ters. No sooner were the people located here with

the children than they provided for a school. The

first school must have been the one started by E.

J. Crump, who had for pupils the children of Mr.

Faribault and Mr. Hulett. Mr. Mott, at an early

day, taught a select school. Other schools were

opened at various times which are mentioned in

another place. Ultimately the common school

system was adopted in the State, and full advan-

tage of its provisions was taken here.

By an act of the Legislature in 1864, school

district No. 1 was made a corporate body by the

name of "Faribault School District," and it is

under the control of a Board of Education con-

23

sisting of five members, who are elected by the

legal voters of the district. The Faribault Cen-

tral School is located near the center of the district

and is of blue limestone, 82x52 feet on the ground

and four stories in height, including the basement.

From basement to eaves is 57 feet, and the roof is

surmounted by a cupola which, including the

spire, reaches 45 feet above the roof. A hall 19

feet 5 inches wide, in which are the staircases,

divides the building on the three principal floors.

The basement has the heating apparatus, and a.

tenement for the janitor. On the first floor above

the basement are three schoolrooms with accom-

modations for 208 pupils. On the next story are

two rooms with an equal seating capacity, while

the upper one is .finished in a single room as a hall

for the use of the schools.

The city of Faribault constitutes a special school

district. The school department consists of a

Board of Education of five members, as follows:

L. W. Denison, President; S. B. Wilson, Clerk;

A. D. Keyes, Treasurer; and George W. Batch-

elder. These members of the board are elected by

the people on the first Saturday in October. The

above were the members for 1881-82.

The corps of instruction consists of one super-

intendent and nineteen teachers. The corps for

the year, ending June 16, 1882, was as follows:

B. M. Iteynolds, Superintendent. Ashworth Heys,

High School; George K. Simpson, Miss Abbie L.

Nutting, Miss Chessie Gowdy,and Miss MaryGrant,

Grammar Department; Miss S. H. Hussey, Miss K.

0. Adams, and Miss Mary Howe, Intermediate De-

partment; Miss Fanny O. Anderson, Miss Gertie

Denison, Miss .Tosephine H. Hegmon, Miss Mary
Howard, Miss Carrie Wood, Miss Hattie Evans,

Miss Anna Mahoney, Miss Mary Hughes, Miss

Mary Alden, Miss Nellie Bobertson, and Mr. A. J.

Wolfe, Primary Department.

The schools are divided into High School, Gram-

mar, Indermediate, and Primary Grades. During

the school year, ending June 16, 1882, one thous-

and one hundred and ninety-eight different pupils

were enrolled in all the departments. The current

expenses for the same year were a little over ten

thousand dollars.

The High School is under the supervision of the

State High School Board, and receives aid from

the State in accordance with an act of the Legis-

lature, approved March 3, 1881. The High School

course is sufficient to fit pupils for the different

colleges of the University.
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The public schoolhouse in Faribault was built

in 1868, and completed ready for occupancy in

September of that year. Dr. L. W. Denison was

President of the Board. The teachers were: G.

H. Warren, Lavinia Philbriok, Ella Winter, Laura

Van Horn, and Ellen Newcomb. The school had

300 pupils to start off with.

There are four other school buildings on the

west side, each capable of seating about fifty

pupils. Two of these houses are of brick and two

of stone. There is one on the east side that will

accommodate one hundred; it has two rooms and

two teachers.

The main school building has chemical, astro-

nomical, and other apparatus now found in the

best schools in the country, with school furniture

in striking contrast with the rude benches of a

quarter of a century ago.

Notwithstanding the denominational schools,

which stand out so prominently in Faribault, and

which have been the objects of so much care and

tender solicitude, the common schools have not

been neglected, but are in all respects up to the

modem standard.

OHUBOHES.

There are ten regular churches in town, in addi-

tion to the school chapels, where services are more

or less frequently held. An account of their loca-

tion and service is here printed, and it makes a

pleasing contrast with thirty years ago, when, near

where they stand,

"The rank thistle nodded in the wind,
And the fox dug his hole unscared."

Whatever it may be in contrast with thirty

years hence.

Cathedbal op Odr Mbeoipuii Savioub.—Cor-

ner of Sixth and Chestnut streets. Services at

10:30 A. M. and 7:30 p. M. Seats free. Bt. Rev.

H. B. Whipple, D. D., Rector; Eev. George B.

Whipple, Assistant.

Memorial Chapbi;.—Services at 3:00 p. m.

James Dobbin, Eeotor.

CoNGRBGATioNAii.—Oomer of Third and Majjle

streets. Services at 10:30 a. m. and 7:30 p. m.

Eev. E. Gale, Pastor.

Baptist—Corner of Fifth and Maple streets.

Services at 10:30 a. m. and 7:30 p. m. Rev. E. C.

Sanders, Pastor.

Methodist Episoopal.—Corner of Third and
Cherry streets. Services at the usual hours Sun-

day morning and evening; also Tuesday and

Thursday evenings of each week. Sunday school

at 12 M. J. T. Squiers, 8. S. Supt., R. Forbes,

Pastor.

Chuboh op the Immaculate Conception.—Cor-

ner of Front and Maple streets. High Mass at

10:30 A. M. Vespers at 7:30 p. m. C. Genis,

Pastor.

Gebman Catholic—Corner Eighth and Chest-

nut streets. High Mass every Sunday at 10:30

A.M. Vespers at 3 :00 p. M. Father Lette, Pastor.

German Methodist. — Third street, between

Maple and Cherry. Services at 10 :30 a. m.

Pbench Catholic.—Comer Sixth and Cherry

streets. High Mass every Sunday at 10:30 a. m.

Vespers at 3:00 p. m. J. H. Leonard, Pastor.

NoBWBGiAN Lutheran.— On Third between

Chestnut and Elm streets. Services at the usual

hours.

ZioNS Chuech.—Comer of Sixth and Cedar

streets. Regular services.

The Conqeegational Church of Faribault.—
This denomination was early in the field. About

the commencement of regular religious services

was in the summer of 1855. They were conducted

by various ministers who happened to be present,

and in the absence of a clergyman, Dr. Charles

Jewett, who had settled about two and a half

miles from town, and who is well remembered as

an apostle of temperance, conducted the exercises.

Oil the third Sunday in May, 1856, a society hav-

ing been organized, a church was instituted by a

council which had been regularly called for the

purpose, and nearly thirty members were gathered.

Tlie next Sabbath a Sunday school was organized,

and the services were regularly held in Crump's

Hall. A call was soon given to Eev. Lauren

Armsby, of New Hampshire, who accepted and

continued to preach until elected as a Chaplain of

the Eighth Minnesota Regiment in the war of 1861.

Early in 1856, plans were laid to build a church.

Dr. Jewett wrote to a friend of his in Massachu-

setts, a Reverend Doctor of Divinity, asking for a

little help to erect a church, from friends in that

locality. This appeal was published in the Cou-

gregationalist in Boston with favorable comments,

and the result was that there were some contribu-

tions from the East, a Sunday school library,

means to procure the communion service, the bible,

etc. The bell, which weighs 1,000 pounds, and

was hung on the last Saturday in August, 1857,

was presented by a cousin of Mr. Armsby, of
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Whitinsville, Massachusetts. , The church, which

was located on Thurd street between Chestnut and

Elm, was completed and dedicated on the 7th of

January, 1857. The Pastor, Eev. Mr. Armsby,

was installed in the morning and the church was

dedicated in the afternoon. It was a great occa-

sion for these people and for this town. Among
those present were Bev. Mr. Oressey, of Cannon

City, Eev. Mr. Barnes, of Cannon Palls, and the

Eev. Mr. Secombe. In July, 1857, the church hav-

ing been found to be too small, an addition was

made, This building cost about $3,000, and was

used until 1874, when it was sold to the Norwegian

Lutherans.

In 1864, another Congregational church was

provisionally organized and meetings commenced,

and ia the course of time a fine stone church was

built, and its history might as well be introduced

here.

Plymouth Chuboh was regularly organized on

the 25th of January, 1866, and the following Eev-

erend gentlemen were present: Mr. Dudley and

Mr. Hall, of St. Paul; Charles Secombe, of St.

Anthony; C. C. Salter, of Minneapolis; E, S.Wil-

liams and Mr. Good sell, of Northfleld; Dr. Aiken

and Deacon Williamson, of Medford; and E. L.

Tappan, of Owatonna, Eev. J. W. Strong was in-

stalled as pastor.

About this time an important meeting was held

here to see what could be done toward securing

Faribault as the location of the Congregational

College which was in contemplation. Little in-

terest was manifested and no special efforts made,

and so Northfield secured the prize.

The corner stone of Plymouth church was laid

on the comer of Maple and Third streets on the

11th of September, 1867, with suitable ceremonies;

a large number of clergymen were present with a

great concourse of people. The size of the edifice

is 40x75 feet, with a spire 114 feet high. The
building is of stone with a basement, built in a

modern style of architecture; it was completed

and dedicated to the service of Almighty God on

Thursday, October 12th, 1869. The Eev. J. W.
Strong, now president of Carleton College, was

the pastor. Among theoltrgymen of this denom-

nation who were present may be named: Eev. E.

M. Williams, of Austin; Eev. E. S. Williams, of

Northfield; Eev. Mr. Packard, of Anoka; Eev. Mr.

Whiting, of Janesville, Wisconsin; and Eev. Dr.

Secombe. Services were regularly held under sev-

eral pastors and a good membership resulted.

The two churches moved along in an uneventful

way until 1874, when the old organizations were

discarded and the members merged into a new so-

ciety and church with the name at the head of this

sketch. There is now a membership of 275, and

without doubt this church has been, and still is

one of considerable influence in the community, as

its leading members are also leading public

spirited men in the city and county.

As to 'the pastors of this church, the first, as

above mentioned, was Eev. L. Armsby, whose

place was held by the first church until his return

from the army, covering about ten years. Then
came E. Gail, whose services were seven years; J.

W. Strong and E. M. Williams, who was installed

on the 11th of October, 1871. Eev. Mr. Chapin

was next, and following were, Dr. Perrot, T. C.

Gardiner, Mr. Wilkie, T. C. Northcott, and E. Gail

again, the present pastor. Up to the time of the

organization, from the period of the seperation, of

course some two of the ministers were here at the

same time. When they united, the ori;;inal church

had 150 members, and Plymouth had 135. The

church was largely made up of New England

people, who have always assisted in building other

churches.

Baptist Chukch.—The movement for the or-

ganization of this church was commenced in June,

1856, by the following persons: Mr. and Mrs. M.

Cole, E. Q. Eising and wife, J. L. Smallidge and

wife, L. A. Pish and wife, D. Haskins and wife,

Mrs. A. Van Brunt, Mrs. Emily A. Howe, and Mr.

E. Darhng. The organization was publicly effect-

ed on the 7th of September, 1856, delegates being

present from Prescott, Owatonna, Hastings, Minne-

apolis, and St. Paul. The clergymen who partici-

pated were the Eevs. T. B. Eogers, of Prescott,

Iowa ; T. E. Oressey, of Cannon City ; Eev. Towne, of

Owatonna; Eev. E. W. Cressey, of Hastings; Eev.

D. S. Deane, and M. Bailey, of Illinois. The first

ofiioers elected were: Trustees, Davis Haskins, M.

Cole, E. Q. Eising, J. B. Cooper, and G. G. Howe;

clerk, L. A. Fish; treasurer, E. Q. Eising; dea-

cons, Davis Haskins and E. Q. Eising. Since or-

ganization the church has had 300 different mem-

bers, the present membership being about 115.

There has been eleven deaths of members.

The church has had eleven pastors, in order as

follows: Eev. T. E. Cressey, Eev. H. C. Haven,

Eev. T. S. Nize, Eev. Charles Swift, Eev. T. E.

Peters, Eev. W. L. Sanders, Eev. E. F. Gray, Eev.
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C. J. B. Jackson, Eev. S. S. Utter, and Bev E. 0.

Sanders.

After organization the congregation met for

some time in Phelp's Hall, subsequently, in 1857,

Metropolitan Hall was rented for three years. The

resolution to build a church edifice was adopted in

May, 1857, but owing to various hindrances the

building was not erected until May, 1862, being

dedicated to the worship of God on the 4th of

February, 1863. Three of the brethren purchased

the lots on which the church stands, for the society,

personally assuming the obligation. When the

erection of a church was decided upon the society

raised $900 and concluded to go on and build to

the extent of their finances. Geo. W. Tower

offered them all the timber they wanted, aod their

funds were expended long before the building was

covered. A committee appointed for a 4th of

July celebration offered them the proceeds of a

dinner to be served upon the occasion, if they

would undertake the labor. The offer was ac-

cepted and the ladies of Faribault provided the

food, netting $300 towards the church.

On the 28th of December, 1881, the church cele-

brated the 25th anniversary of organization, and

the Faribault Republican says in commenting

upon it, "The first settlers of our city, who were

largely of New England origin, brought with

them the attachment to schools and churches that

has ever characterized the descendants of the Puri-

tants, wherever transplanted. It is not surprising

therefore, that, ;is early as 1854, only a single year

after the colonists had reared the first log cabins

on the town plat, initiatory steps were taken for

the organization of churches, the Baptist element

being among the first in the field." The church

is a comfortable frame structure situated on the

corner of Fifth and Maple streets.

Free Wmii Baptist.—A church was organized

on the 8th of April, 1858, Elder Smith, of "Wasioja,

Dodge county, ofBciating. JRev. D. O. Hink was

the preacher and meetings were held in the school

room with more or less regularity for some time.

Methodist Episcopal.—The first class was or-

ganized in the summer of 1855, by Eev. T. M.
Kirkpatrick, in the house of Mr. Truman Nutting

This minister was appointed to the Cannon Kiver

mission by the Wisconsin Conference. The class

mentioned was composed of the following persons:

Truman Nutting and wife, Morgan Noble and
wife, J. M. White, E. J. Crump, and H. T. Raw-

son. Soon after, Eev. T. M. Kirkpatrick was ap-

pointed presiding elder of the district and Dr. J.

L. Scofield was employed to supply the Cannon

River mission The Minnesota Conference was

created by the general conference of 1856, and

met at Red Wing in August of that year, when
Rev. Mr. Jennison was transferred from Iowa and

appointed to Faribault. He remained in Faribault

six weeks, when, from some cause unknown he re-

signed the charge and returned to Iowa. Rev. Wm.
McKinley next took charge of the society. During

this time meetings were held in Crump's Hall, and

that was continued as their "meeting-house" until

they built a church.

Rev. Kirkpatrick preached his first sermon in the

office or bar-room of Nutting's hotel, to a respect-

able audience, among whom was Gen. James

Shields. The first quarterly meeting for Faribault

was held in Crump's Hall, in November, 1856,

and was organized by Rev. Mr. McKinley. The

latter gentleman says that when he arrived at the

place of meeting, at the hour set, he found three

boys performing on fiddles, who, upon being asked

if they knew anything of the quarterly conference

that was to be held, replied, ^'Nixie Jim!'''' Not-

withstanding this discouraging reply the quar-

terly meeting was held, by going to the houses

and "drumming up" the members.

The Mociety built a church in 1860, and in No-

vember of that year dedicated it to the worship of

God, and although small, gave the society.

"A local habitation and a name."

The lot for the church was donated to the society

by Gen. James Shields.

The order of ministers to officiate here has been

as follows: Revs. T. M. Kirkpatrick, William

McKinley, J. H. White, Thomas Day, J. O. Eich,

W. H. St. Claire, 0. G. Bowdish, E. E. Lathrop,

J. M. Eogers, Ezra Tucker, I. H. Eeddiok, David

Tice, J. F. Chaffee, E. E. Lathrop, A. B. Bishop,

Eobert Forbes, and in the fall of 1881, Rev. Chas.

N. Stowers accepted a call to the charge and is the

present minister. The present membership is

about 110.

The building first erected by the church was

used until 1875, when the present neat edifice was

erected. It was not completed, however, until

1881, the cost being about $12,000. It is of brick

and is located on Third Street,' a block below the

Court House.

German Methodist Episcopal Church.— This



CITT OF PAJRIBAULT. 357

congregation was organized on the 23d of No-

vember, 1868. The earliest meetings were held in

Mr. Klemer's house by Eev. Felix Punk. Serv-

ices were held over the store of Charles Degens

for several years. In 1870, the church was built,

at a cost of ^3,578. There is a parsonage in the

rear of the church. The first trustees were Eev.

F. Funk, F. Deters, Jacob Both, and 0. H. Klemer.

There are now 110 members. The church edifice

is located on Third between Maple and Cherry

streets.

The first quarterly conference was held in 1869,

in Degens' Hall; Eev. F. Eopf was the presiding

elder. F. W. Buckholz was the minister in

charge. Eev. George Hartung is the present

pastor. '

Norwegian Luthbean Chueoh.—An organiza-

tion was effected in 1869, the first services being

held in Metropolitan Hall. Eev. Mr. Quemmen
was an early preacher. In 1876, the Oongrega-

tiopalist society having built a, new church, the

old one was sold to this society for $2,250. Its

location is on Third street nearly opposite the

engine house. At that time it had thirty mem-
bers, now it has 100. The oflSeers of the church

are: Trustees, Ole Peterson, J. Madsen, and N.

Torkelson; treasurer, A. K. Brandvold; secretary,

L. Torvson.

ZiON Church of the EvANGELioAii Association

OF North America.—Was organized in 1879 with

forty-three members. The first services in this in-

terest were held in private houses by Eev. J.

Blank and Eev. W. 0. Lydow for about six

months prior to the organization. The church

was soon erectad, at a cost of about $2,500, on

the corner of Cedar and Sixth streets. There are

now about sixty-two members. The following

Eeverend gentlemen have been the ministers here

:

W. 0. Lydow, George Husser, L. Van Wald, and

George Staeth, the present pastor.

Roman Catholic: The Church of the Immac-

ulate Conception. This is sometimes called the

" Irish Catholic," on account of the prevailing na-

tionality of the worshipers there. Father Ea-

voux and Father Francis held mass in Mr. Fari-

bault's house at an early period of the settlement

of the town. In 1856, a little frame building was

put up for a church, in which missionaries had

service. In the fall of 1857, this was burned, and

in the spring of 1858, the building now in use was

started. Services were held there before its com-

pletion, which was not for some years. It is on

the corner of Maple and Front streets. Father

Genis was here when it was finally completed.

The first stationed priest was Father Keller, who
remained about ten years; Father Eivelle came

next, and remained about two years; then Father

Cheney, and after him was Father Genis, who still

remains. There is a most excellent house of wor-

ship. Land was given for this church by Alex-

ander Faribault, by Norbert Paquin, and General

James Shields, two men of French and one of Irish

descent. The predominating influence at first was

strongly French, but after a time the Irish mem-
bership became the larger, and the French mem-
bers gave up their share of the church property

and went by themselves.

Chuech of the Sacred Heart.—Or, as it is

called the " French Catholic Church." The first

separate services were held in April, 1877, by Eev.

Father A. Payett, of St. Paul, services being held

in the old church. A building was soon com-

menced by contract for $4,743. At the time of

the separation there were 140 families in this di-

vision. The cost of the structure up to this time

is $ 10,000, and there are now about 150 families

worshiping here.

In 1880, a parsonage was commenced, and com-

pleted in 1882, at a cost of $1,200. The church

is on the corner of Sixth and Cherry streets, and

the parsonage is near. The priests since Father

Payett have been. Father Joseph Leonard, and

tbe present priest. Father John Van Leent.

German St. Lawrence—Catholic.—This de-

nomination was for a number of years merged

with the Irish Catholic, or Church of the Immacu-

late Conception. In 1869, this class withdrew

from the above-named society, and on September

19th of that year, effected an organization. The

first mass was said on that date by Father Keller,

in the building now used for a blacksmith shop

on Fourth street, to an audience of about thirty-

five families. The building was purchased of Mr.

Lange, and this was used until their church edi-

fice was erected in 1876, on the comer of Chest-

nut and Eighth streets, at a cost of $5,400. Their

pastors have been the following : Fathers Keller,

Chaffee, Bcaumann, Stecker, Sewazkey, Lette, and

Father Van Leent, the present priest. The pres-

ent of&cers are: Father Van Leent, President; E.

Kaul, Secretary; Adam Weyer, Treasurer. A
neat and substantial parsonage was erected in

1876, at a cost of $1,000.
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This society is upon almost as substantial foot-

ing as any religious denomination in the city, and

has a good membership.

PABooHiAii School op the Immaculate Con-

ception.—This was cammenced at an early day,

on the coming of the Sisters of the Order of St.

Dominie. At first the school was in the basement

of the church, but there is now a large, two-story

stone building, and the school has an attendance

of 250 pupils, who are taught by four of the Sis-

ters. It is near the church. Scholars taking a

course of music are instructed in the Bethlehem

Academy, which is situated near the school.

Bethlehem Aoadbmy.—This institution, a

branch of the St. Clara Academy, Sinsinawa

Mound, Wisconsin, one of the leading educational

institutions of the Northwest, is now prepared to

offer to the public every educational advantage.

A new and commodious Academy, furnished with

all modern improvements, has lately been erected

on a pleasant and comma;ndiug point in the south-

ern part of the city. The higher branches, draw-

ing, music, painting, the languages, etc., are

taught. At the present time there are about

fifty children in the institution. The school is

held from September to June in each year, and it

is a regular boarding school where each one com-

mitted to its charge receives a kind and fostering

care.

As to its early history, the Sisters came here in

August, 1865, .and at first were located in a small

building near the Straight River, which was pur-

chased of Maj. Fowler. There they got together

from twenty to twenty-five day scholars, and taught

a parochial school in the basement of the church.

In 1869, they removed to a frame building in the

rear of the church. In 1875, the building now
in use was commenced. The intention is to have

the school incorporated under the laws of the

State, and to regularly graduate those who suc-

cessfully pass through the curriculum. The Lady
Superior in charge is Sister Gertrude.

Paeish op the Good Shepherd—The Pbotbs-

tant Episcopal Chitboh.—This church through

its schools, the Cathedral, the presence of the

Bishop of Minnesota, whose residence is here, has

a pronounced influence on the city in many re-

spects, aside from its moral and religious power.

The Divinity School, the Shattuck School, and

the St. Mary's Hall, may be considered a part of

the Episcopal Church which thus has tendrils

entwining hearts scattered over a wide region.

It is impossible that such educational influences

thrown around so many youthful minds during

the years of yielding susceptibility, should not be

continually held by those ties, which are so far

from being fetters ; and then the action and re-ac-

tion which a coming to maturity involves, intensi-

fies, and consolidates this influence, and helps

to sustain the parent trunk. The Episcopal

Church here is a nucleus, which, viewed in a cur-

sory way, may not display its full value, but its

effects are far-reaching, and its worth in the direc-

tion of its peculiar usefulness is not to be easily

estimated or comprehended.

This church has the confidence and esteem of

the whole community, and Bishop Whipple and his

co-laborers have wide reputations as philanthropic

religious teachers, and as Christian citizens. The

membership of the church is large, among so

many churches of other denominations, amount-

ing to 300 communicants.

The initial service of this church was in Fari-

bault on the 30th of June, 1855, Trinity Sunday,

at 10:30 a. m., and at 8 o'clock. A child of Mr.

Crump was baptized. The next was on Sunday,

September 9th, 1855, and again on the 15th of

December. In the meantime Bev. T. Wilcoxson,

who was the pioneer missionary, had held services

in Northfield and other places not far away. On
the 29th of September, in connection with Bishop

Kemper of Wisconsin, services were held in the

Congregational church here.

The history of the early struggles of this church

is a counterpart of what occurred with so many
others all through the country when it was filling

up with men with such diversified views. As neai:

as can be gathered the first continued service in

the Episcopal form was by the Eev. J. Lloyd Breck

and Rev. A. S. W. Manney, who came after Breck,

who were two devoted missionaries, clear headed,

and large hearted. They had a vision of the

future requirements of this community, which was

prophetic, and they set themselves at work with a

zeal that knew no flagging, and an intelligent de-

votion that laid a foundation for the success that

has followed, and that is so largely indebted to

their patriotic Christianity. The commencement
was in 1857, meetings were held in all eligible

points that could be reached by these unwearied

missionaries of the Cross. Mr. Breck was from

Pennsylvania. Rev. David P. Sanford came as an
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associate in the work in 1858. Faribault was

selected as the permanent missionary station, and

incursions and eicnrsions were, in the true evan-

gelical spirit, made in all directions for many miles.

The services here were at first in a store where

Major Fowler afterwards kept. After a few

months a building was erected that is known as

the "Old Chapel," which is near the public park,

and a parsonage called the "Mission house" was

constructed, which stood until 1869. A school

started at an early day which has already been de-

scribed under the appropriate head.

Eev. Mr. Sanford remained here about one year.

Bev. Dr. Manney remained here until the time of

his death .in 1869. Eev. Dr. Breck, remained

up to the year 1866, then went to California where

he died in 1876. He was a bom missionary, a

model pioneer who could submit to his surround-

ings were they ever so disagreeable, if they could

not be improved, which he always promptly set

himself to do. He was sadly missed, but the monu-
ments, of which he laid the foundation, will endure

while America remains a nation.

It was stated that there were but three church

members at first, besides Dr. Breck.

Bev. H. B. Whipple, who was pastor of the Free

Cbureb of the Holy Communion in Chicago, was
elected Bishop of Minnesota in June, 1859, and

was consecrated to this service on the 3d of Octo-

ber, 1859, at the St. James church, in Eichmond,

Virginia. He visited Faribault in February, 1860.

Here he found J. L. Breck, S. W. Manney, and E.

S. Peake, who had organized an associate mission.

Eev. Mr. Peake was in charge of the Gull Lake
Indian misson. They then had the school in oper-

ation. The Bishop moved here with his family in

May following. The first permanent building was
the Cathedral, the corner stone of which was laid

in 1862, and it was completed at a cost of about

150,000, and consecrated in 1869, under the name
of the "Cathedral of Our Merciful Saviour." It is

a gothic structure of stone, located on the corner

of Chestnut and Sixth streets. The tower, which

springs from the northeast comer, is as yet only

carried about half way up the height of the

church, but will be completed in due time. The
consecration was on the 24th of June, St. John's

day. and among those present were: Bishop

Kemper, of Wisconsin; Bishop Whitehouse, of

Illinois; the resident Bishop Whipple; Eev. Dr.

Gear, of Minneapolis; Bishop Armitage, of Wis-

consin; Eev. Dr. Buel; Eev. Dr. Patterson; Eev'

Dr. E. E. Welles; Eev. Dr. Knickerbacker; and

Eev. Mr. Wilkinson, of Milwaukee. The services

were impressive and there were several oi'dinations

When it was resolved to buUd a Cathedral, Eev.

Dr. Breck went East on a collecting tour, and was

engaged in this work for two-thirds of a year or

more, and secured between eleven and twelve

thousand dollars toward the object. And the

promises made then, to "become helpers," are be-

ing constantly fulfilled. In the Congregational

Church Sunday school, in July, 1882, they were

raising funds to help buy an organ for another

Sunday school in Dakota.

The Bishop has a fine residence on Sixth street,

opposite to the Cathedral.

The first records of the church are in relation

to a meeting of the vestry on the 27th of Febru-

ary, 1859, of the church of the "Good Shepherd."

Mr. Syntell was in the chair and called the meet-

ing to order when G. L. Prisbee was elected chair-

man. On the 5th of April the following named
brothers were elected vestrymen: G. C. Tanner,

Joseph A. Carter, S. W. Hinman, G. Y. Syntell,

and E. J. Crump, the latter being elected Senior

Warden.

On the 8th of February, 1860, a proposition

was received from E. J. Crump, offering land for

a burial place consisting of ten acres at $30 per

acre, Mr. Crump to donate $50 and retain a

single lot himself, which was accepted. At this

meeting a committee was appointed to draw up
articles for the organization of the church.

The Cathedral was built by the Seabury Mission,

and the parish really owns no church. Eegular

church services are held in the little old chapel in

the corner of the Cathedral lot, in the Norwegian

language.

The Episcopal Church in Faribault is so closely

connected with the several schools under their

patronage, and the direction of the efforts of the

clergy and laity has been so earnestly and closely

devoted to their interests that really the history of

the one is the history of the other, and in the ac-

count of these schools, will be seen, at all points,

the hand of the church. It is rare that so much
that is real, visible, and substantial has been ac-

complished in such a comparative brief period,

and it speaks of the devotion of all, from the

Bishop, through the various grades.

The ministers connected with the Cathedral are

:
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Et. Eev. Bishop H. B. Whipple, D. D., who is the

Beotor; and Eev. George B. Whipple and Eev. E.

0. Bill, assistant ministers. The professors who

belong to the Divinity School, and those of the

Shattuok School who are clergymen, may also be

said to belong to the Cathedral establishment.

PEATEENAIi AND OTHBE OEDBBS.

The fraternal orders which seem to be so rap-

idly multiplying in this country, and most of the

new ones with specific insurance features, are well

represented here. The Masonic order which, pre-

vious to the anti-Masonic excitement as long ago

as Gen. Jackson's administration, occupied this

ground solitary and alone, was early in the field,

and instituted s lodge, afterwards a chapter, and

finally a commandery.

There is unquestionably a taste in many minds

for a participation in

—

" The ancient rites and regalations,

The pass-words, the grips and signals,

Used among the pristine brothers,

In that eastern nation,

In the laud of milk and honey,

Where the grapes grew in clusters.

Where the palm spread its branches,

Where the fig tree was loaded

With its ricli and luscious treasures,

Where they taught its lessons,

The wholesome silver legends,

The truthful teachings,

Its principles of virtue,

Its simple traditions."

Whatever may be thought of these various or-

ders by the uninitiated, there is no question but

that each ritual teaches the tenets of morality

and virtue, but it is nevertheless true, that the

character of each order must and does depend

upon the character of the individuals who compose

it; as no mere didactic instruction in initiatory

exercises, however imposing, can radically modify

the ruling disposition of any candidate. The

sketches of these orders are all necessarily brief.

PAEiBAtriiT Lodge No. 9.—A dispensation to

open a lodge was granted on the 3d of March,

1856, and a charter was issued on the 6th of

January, 1857. On the 1st of June, 1865, the old

charter was surrendered, and on the 7th of June a

dispensation was granted. On the 25th of October

the same year a charter was issued under the

number of 53. On the 9th of January, 1868, this

was changed to the old number, 9, which it still

retains. Most of the property and records of the

lodge were burned with the hall, mentioned else-

where.

Among the earlier members were: George W
Dii Bois, Luther Dearborn, 0. N. Daniels, John

Mullin, Dennis O'Brien, Daniel N. Eussell, Zenas

Wilson, Thomas Carpenter, B. L. Van Horn, W.
T. Sargent, J. C. N. Cottrell, G. W. Batchelder,

Gordon E. Cole, George B. Whipple. The lodge

has a large membership, and is in a flourishing

condition.

EoYAL Akoh Ohaptbe—Tybian No. 6.—The

early records of this chapter were burned when

the Masonic Hall was destroyed. It was instituted

about 1863. The present oflBcers are: A. E. Ha-

ven, H. P.; Thomas Mee, K.; George B. Whipple,

S.; Thomas Carpenter, C. of H.', John Mullin, P.

S. ; Alexander Smith, E. A. C. ; D. O'Brien, T. ; J. E.

Parshall, G. 1st V.; C. L. Lowen,G. 2d V.; S. L.

Crocker, G. 3d V.; J. B. Gwathmey, Sen.

The following companions have held the office of

H. P. : 0. W. Daniels, John MulKn, E. A. Eice,

George H. Davis, J. G. Shants, 0. E. Eogers,

Alexander Smith, and A. E. Haven. This branch

of the Masonic order is in a healthy condition

here.

Knights Tbmplab—Faeibadlt Oommandeey.—
The first meeting was on the 3d of March, 1874.

The charter members were : Charles N. Daniels, J.

H. Harding, John Mullin, J. M. Bemis, Moses

Oram, G. B. Whipple, E. A. Eice, George W. Du
Bois, A. B. Eogers, L. Z. Eogers.

The first officers were: O. N. Daniels, E. C; E.

A. Eice, Gen.; L. Z. Rogers, C. G.; G. B. Whipple,

Pre. and acting Eec.

The present officers are: J. E. Parshall, E. 0.

;

B. P. Straub, Gen.; G. B.Whipple, Pre.; C. L.

Lowell, E.

The meeting are the first Tuesday in each

month.

The following^ is a list of the members of the

commandery: C. N. Daniels, G. B. Whipple, J.

Mullin, N. M. Bemis, A. B. Eogers, L. Z. Eogers,

C. E. Eogers, W. N. Oosgrove, B. F. Straub, J. B.

Harper, G. M. Phillip, J. E. Parshall, S. Eauvin,

T. H. Loyhed, Donald Grant, Thomas Mee, G. N.

Baxter, B. A. Van Horn, G. A. Blair, M. H. War-

ner, M. G. Kimball, A. W. Henkle, A. E. Haven,

A. Philman, E. W. Jacklin, L. Converse, E. H.

Smith, C. H. Whipple, A. W. Stockton, G. Wes-

ton Wood, C. M. Thompson, H. E. Whitney, J. N.

Porter, 0. L. Lowell, G. H. Davis, Carl Eicbel, J.,

L. Blackman.
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INDEPENDENT ORDEB OP ODD TBLLOWS.

Eainbow Lodge, No. 36.—Instituted on the

8th day of August, 1872. The charier members

were: Dr. F. A. Davis, N. G.; Dr. N. M. Bemis,

V. a.; J. S. Fullef, B. S.; O. Newoomb, Treas.;

William Campbell, James Paskanis, C. N. Carrier,

and F. 0. Beck.

Meetings were held in Batchelder's building on

Wednesday evenings, now in Odd Fellow's Hall,

on Main street between Second and Third. There

are fifty-seven members. There is a Rebecca

Lodge connected with it, and both are in a pros-

perous condition.

Lady Washington Lodge No. 44.

—

Gbbman.—
This lodge was instituted on the 16th' of July,

1874. The charter members were as follows : D.

Berkert, M. Engelmein, J. Richert, E. Flecken-

stein, H. Kaperneck, H. Boge, WiUiam Haas, Lewis

Fisher, and William Geiger. There are twenty-

four members, and the meetings are held weekly

on Thursday night.

ANCIENT OBDBB OF UNITED WOKKINGMEN.

Unity Lodge No. 45.—Instituted on the 7th of

February, 1878, with the following oflScers: O. F.

Brand, P. M. W.; C. L. Lowell, M. W.; O. T.

Palmer, G. T.; O. W. Fitch, O.; J. E. Bingham,

R.; O. DuReitz, F.; M. B. Haskell, W. ; O. F.

Brand, Rep. There are fifteen members and the

nights of meeting are the first and third Thursday

in each month.

knights of honob.

Fakibault Lodge No. 597.—Instituted on the

26th of April, 1877, with the following charter

mumbers : Charles Numbers, A. W. Henker, B. L.

Vanttom, S. L. Crocker, Lyman Tuttle, O. S.

Beake, M. F. Potter, J. C. N. CottreU, S. I. Pettitt,

George W. Wood, O. N. Danifel, I. G. Beaumont,

H. N. Crqssett, C. L, Lowell, G. H. Palmer, D. P.

Baldwin, C. T. Palmer, P. S. Kelly, John Grant,

D. E. Potter. The meetings are held in Knights

of Pythias Hall on the first and third Tuesdays in

each month. There are thirty-three members.

AMEEIOAN DEGION OE HONOB.

Fabibadlt Counoil No. 275.—Was instituted

on the 26th of August, 1880. The first officers

were; Charles D. McKellif, C; T. B. Clement, V.

C; Ara Barton, D.; 0. L. Lowell, P. C; M. H.

Cole, Sec; L. R. Weld, T. It has a membership

in town of thirty-three.

GEAND TEMPLE OP HONOB.

FabibaultNo. 38.—W. W. Regan, G. W. T.;

J. L. Zietlam, G. W. R. The charter is dated on

the 26th of September, 1881. The first officers

were: Charles Buch, W. C. T.; William Frink, W.

V. T.; A. J. Woolf, W. T. R.; H. Andrews, W. T.;

J. G. Williams, W. E. ; Rev. Mr. Sanders, C. ; N. A.

Coggswell, W. V. ; Frank Chesroun, W. D. V.

;

Seth Peach, W. G. ; George Chamberlain, W. S.;

J. Staufer, Lodge Deputy. There are forty-seven

members, and they meet on Monday nights in

Fraternal Hall.

KNIGHTS OP PYTHIAS.

Faeibaudt Lodge No. 16.—Instituted on the

16th of January, 1878. The first officers were: N.

R. Hurd, C. C; E. Barnum, P. C; E. Cooley, P.;

Ohver Du Reitz, V. C; Thomas Whitney, K.E. S.

It has about seventy members, and meets in the

Knights of Pythias Hall in Batchelder's block.

BQTJITABIiE AID UNION.

FABiBAtriiT No. 226.—The headquarters of this

order is in Columbus, Pennsylvania. The Union

here was instituted on the 28th of January, 1881.

The initial officers were: O. W. Stockton, 0.

;

WiUiam Close, A.; N. M. Bemis, P.; C. H. Dickin-

son, V. P.; G. W. Stafford, Aux.; E. D. Haskins,

T.; R. H. S. Jewett, S.; L. B. Smith, A. C; N.

W. Blood, War.: John A. Sanders, Sen.; C. W.
Hallock, Wat.

GEAND AEMY OP THE EEPUBDIC.

John C. Whipple Post No. 11.—Was insti-

tuted on the 2d of March, 1871, with the follow-

ing veterans as officers : Major W. H. Lower, P. C.

;

J. 0. Lower, S. V. C; A. P. Bell, J. V. C; H. 0.

Whitney, Adjt.; John Cooper, Q. M.; O. 8.

Brown, C; William Mulligan, O. of D.; Henry

Roth, O. of G.; W. S. Wetherstone, Q. M. S.;

Theodore A. Close, S. M.

SOME OTHEB SOCIETIES.

Ladies Litbbaby Association.—Organized on

the 7th of February, 1878. The officers are:

President, Mrs. H. A. Pratt; Vice-President, Mrs.

T. S. Buokham; Recording Secretary, Miss Ada E.

Hilton; Corresponding Secretary, Miss Nellie

Mott; Treasurer, Mrs. Hudson Wilson; Executive

Committee, Miss E. Whitney, Mrs. George B.

Whipple, Mrs. A. E. Haven, Mrs. J. H. Winter.

Fabibault Libbaby Association.—This estab-
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lishment had a sort of a reorganization in 1879.

The executive committee chosen then consisted ot

J. M. Berry, F. W. Frink, and J. J. Dow. G. E.

Cole and E. A. Mott have since been placed on this

committee in place of J. M. Berry and F. W. Frink

resigned. The books are kept in the Court House,

and the library is opened on Wednesday and Sat-

urday afternoons.

Faeibaum Dkiving Pabk Club.— This was

formed in 1882, with the avowed object of train-

ing horses, having racing, trotting, and pacing

meetings, butnot to hold fairs. The following are

officers of the Club: President, Col. James Hunter;

Treasurer, S. S. Crocker ; Secretary, William Mee.

A series of meetings are announced for October,

1882. The grounds are readily accessible, a half

mile west of the railway station.

Faribault Guards.—This militia company was

originally organized on the 19th of August, 1877,

with James Hunter, Captain; B. F. Straub, First

Lieutenant; and G. H. Palmer, Second Lieutenant.

Ou the 20th of August, 1880, they were mustered

out by reason of the expiration of the term of offi-

cers, and reorganized by the election of J. J. Van
Sann, Captain; A. W. Henkle, First Lieutenant;

and J. H. Ashley, Second Lieutenant. On the 5th

of Jaly, 1881, the company was again reorganized,

this time under the new law, and elected as ofScers

:

James Hunter, Captain; J. J. Van Sann, First

Lieutenant, and J. J. Ashley, Second Lieutenant;

Lieut. Henkle withdrawing from the company, J.

J. Van Sann was subsequently elected Quarter-

master of the Second Battalion, and J. J. Ashley

resigned, and the present incumbents, John W.
Snyder, First Lieutenant, and J. L. Buohann
Second Lieutenant, were elected to fill their places.

The first organization numbered thirty-one men,

three commissioned and twelve non-commissioned

officers. In the present organization there are

three commissioned and eleven non-commissioned

officers, two musicians, and thirty-three men.

Headquarters at Armory Hall, Fleckenstein's block,

where regular meetings are held the second and

fourth Tuesday in each month.

CHAPTEE LI.

biogeaphioal.

H. B. Andrews, a native of Genesee county,

Michigan, was born on the 30th of September,

1839. He moved with his parents to Grant county,

Wisconsin, when five years old, and after reaching

the age of manhood learned the carriage maker's

trade. In 1862, he enlisted in the Thirty-third

Wisconsin Volunteer Infantry, Company D, and

served three years and three days. After his dis-

charge, Mr. Andrews returned to his home in Grant

county and the same year came to Faribault. He
afterwards moved to Ohio and worked at his trade

for five years, carrying on a shop of his own dur-

ing the latter part of his residence there. He was

joined in wedlock on the 10th of March, 1867, his

bride being Miss Alice Earnhart. The result of

the union is four children, three of whom are liv-

ing. Mr. Andrews moved with his family try this

place in 1872, and in company with Mr. Frink

opened a carriage and wagon manufactory. He is

now doing a prosperous business, having recently

purchased his partner's interest.

Charles Antoinb, a pioneer of Minnesota, was

bom in Masquilange, province of Quebec, Canada,

on the 3d of November, 1794. He was brought

up by his brother on a farm, and wheh eighteen

years old came to the States, and in Detroit, Michi-

gan, joined the English army, serving only six

months. He then went to Green Bay, Wisconsin,

where he was employed by an Indian trader;

worked there three years and then went to Mil-

waukee, where he spent the winter, there being no

white men in the place at that time. From there

he went to Mackinaw, and again engaged in trad-

ing. His time expiring at this point, he entered

the employ of another trader, Louis Provanaalle,

whose daughter he afterward married. He re-

mained during the winter where St. Peter now
stands, and in the spring went to Prairie du Chien,

where he was employed by the Shatto & Eoulette

Fur Company of St. Louis, In 1820, he went to

the Eed Eiver country in company with an Eng-
lish lord, Duncan Graham, and Laidiow, carrying

with them the first wlieat to that section, and sell-

ing it at a profit of $12 per bushel on three

hundred bushels. Mr. Antoine returned to Prairie

du Chien after three months, and worked in dif-

ferent parts of the country several years. In Sep-

tember, 1824, he married Margaret Provansalle,

who was educated in Illinois and a daughter of a

French trader. Her mother was a full-blooded

Sioux. In October of the same year he engaged
as scout to an Infantry company under command
of Major Alexander, which was soon ordered from
Fort Crawford to Port Snellin g. He then returned

to Prairie du Chien and purchased a farm which
was his home several years; thence to Dubuque,
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and a year later returned to the former place. In

1847, ttey came to Minnesota, stopped in Mendota

three weeks and then to Faribault, where he was

engaged by Alexander Faribault to take charge of

his farm, his wife teaching the Sioux children in

the mean time. A year later he returned to Men-

dota, bought a tract of land which he improved,

giving his two sons a farm from the same. His

wife died in 1871, at the age of sixty-six years.

Mr. Antoine now makes his home with his daugh-

ter, Mrs. Johnville. Of five sons and three

daughters, but one son and two daughters are liv-

ing ; Margaret, the eldest, married Fred. Faribault,

youngest son of Jean Baptist Faribault, by whom
she had four children ; Agnes, Sterne, Libbie, and

Antoinette. Her husband died in 1867, and she

married, three years later, Jean Baptist Johnville.

The result of this_ union is one child, Freddie, now
living in this city. The second daughter, Frezine,

married George Faribault, a son of Alexander

Faribault, and now lives at Fort Yates, Dakota.

Antoine, the son, married Adelle Johnville, and has

five children.

W. R. Baldwin was born in Elyria, Ohio, on the

12th of September, 1841, and when five years old

removed with his parents to Connecticut, and lo-

cated in Meriden, where he received his education.

His father was a merchant, and W. E. followed the

same employment. In 1856, the family returned

to Ohio, and in 1864, Mr. Baldwin married Miss

Lyda Irvin, the ceremony taking place on the 12th

of September. The issue of the union was one

son, who is now dead. In 1868, they came to

Minnesota on account of the poor health of Mr.

Baldwin and located on a .fine farm just west of

Faribault, on which he remained until 1881, then

moved into the city , and retired from active busi-

ness. In 1880, he was elected to the State Legis-

lature for one term.

Aka Barton, who has been Sheriff of Rice

connty, since 1876, was born in Charleston, Sulli-

van county. New Hampshire, on the 12th of April

. 1824. His father and grandfather were natives of

the same State. When Ara was seven years old

his parents removed to western New York, where

he assisted his father on a farm. In 1851, he was

united in marriage with Miss Louisa Fish, the

ceremony taking place in August. The union

has been blessed with five children, four of

whom are living. In 1857, Mr. Barton came

to Minnesota and located in Dakota county, where

he was one of the pioneers. He put in one hun-

dred acres of wheat, tlie first in that part of the

State. In 1862, he enlisted in the Minnesota

Mounted Rangers, and served one jear as Lieu-

tenant in Company F. He then formed and was

Captain of Company D, Brackett's battalion, which

was engaged in war with the Indians. After his

discharge he located at Northfield, Rice county,

where he has since made his home when not a

county ofiicer. In the fall of 1875, he was elected

County Sheriff and stiU holds the office. In 1859

and '60, he was elected to the State Senate from

Dakota county, and in the fall of 1870 and

again in 1872, was in the Legislature from this

district. In 1873, he was a candidate for Governor

against Mr. Davis.

G. N. Baxter was bom in Onondaga county,

New York, on the 25th of February, 1845. Ten

years later the family removed to Michigan, wliere

G. N. learned the brick and stone mason trade of

his father. In 1863, he came to Faribault and fol-

lowed his trade, studying law at the same time

with Batchelder & Buckham until 1866, when he

was admitted to the bar; afterward formed a part-

nership with Judge Lafayette Emitt, with whom
he remained one year and has since been alone,

having a large and profitable business, acquired

through his energy and ability. He has an ex-

tensive library which cost about $4,000, and con-

tains many valuable law books. He was Justice

of the Peace five years, elected in 1866; County

Attorney six years, elected in 1871, and was

County Superintendent of schools in 1870.

Horace Everett Barbon belongs to the Bar-

ron family who settled in New England in the

early part of the eighteenth century. William

Barron, the great-grandfather of Horace Everett

Barron, was a scout during the French and Indian

war, and commanded a company from Lyndeboro,

New Hampshire, in the Revolutionary war. The
roll of his company, who first used their flint-

locks at Bunker Hill, is now in the archives of the

State department at Concord, New Hampshire.

He lived and died at Lyndeboro. His family

originated from Chelmsford, Middlesex county,

Massachussetts.

Micah Barron, his eldest son, bom at Lynde-

boro, Massachussetts, adjoining Chelmsford, in

1763, moved to Bradford, Orange county, Ver-

in 1788; was an enterprising lumberman and far-

mer, and for twenty-three years was Deputy

Sheriff' or Sheriff of Orange county. He was the

man who was sent to Canada to arrest Stephen
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Burroughs, the notorious counterfeiter and des-

perado. Micah Barron was at one time Colonel

of a regiment of the State Militia, and rose to the

rank of Brigadier-General. William Barron, son

of Micah and father of Horace, was less than a

year old when his parents moved to Bradford.

The maiden name of his second wife, mother of

Horace, was Hannah Davis Brooks, whose oldest

brother, Samuel Brooks, died while member of the

Canadian Parliament. His youngest son is now

a member o% the same Parliament. William Bar-

ron, like his father, had a taste for military affair?,

and rose to the rank of Colonel. He died in

Hartford, Connecticut, in the eighty-sixth year of

his age, as we gather from the "History of Brad-

ford, Vermont," whence other facts are derived.

President Harrison appointed Colonel Barron

United States Marshal for the district of Vermont.

Horace E. Barron was bom in Bradford on the

21st of March, 1826, spending his boyhood on his

father's farm, and completing his education at the

Bradford Academy. When about eighteen years

old he joined the engineer party who made the

first survey of the railroad from White Biver

Junction to Derby Line, and was thus engaged

for four years, or till the road was completed and

the cars run from White River to Wells River. In

October, 1850, Mr. Barron pushed westward to

Chicago, and for five years traveled for wholesale

houses in that city, hia trips extending over Illi-

nois and portions of Michigan and Indiana. In

October, 1855, he came to Faribault, then an em-

bryotic village, with several log cabins and two or

three frame houses. During the winter following

he purchased the site on which his hotel subsequent-

ly stood, and made preparations to build, which he

did the next spring. His elder and only brother,

William Trotter Barron, a graduate of the Univer-

sity of Vermont, and a lawyer of Chicago for several

years, and judge of Cook county one or two

terms, was killed in 1862, by a collision on the

railroad at Kenwood Station, near the southern

line of Chicago. For two years our subject was

engaged in looking after his property, returning

tq his hotel in 1864. In 1870, Mr. Barron built

the stately stone addition to his hotel, 44x80 feet,

and three stories above the basement, leaving the

old frame building standing, using it for office,

sample-rooms, wash-rooms, etc. It was one of the

most spacious, airy, and inviting public houses in

central Minnesota. This he leased in 1879, and

in March, 1882, it was consumed by fire.

Mr. Barron has held a few ofBces in the munici-

pality of Faribault, and in 1874, was a member of

the Legislature, being Chairman of the commit-

tee of ways and means. He has been a Director

of the Institution for the Deaf and Dumb and the

Blind, located at Faribault, for ten or eleven

years; has been President of the Board most of

the time, and since 1880, has been steward for the

institutions.

In politics he was formerly a Whig; latterly

he has been a Republican, occasionally attending

congressional and State conventions—more to

oblige others than to please himself. He is a

strong partisan, more ready to work for the offi-

cial elevation of his friends than of himself. Mr.

Barron lived a single life till the 22d of February,

1876, when he became the husband of Miss

Kate W. Gray, daughter of the late James L.

Gray, many years a merchant on North Clark

street, Chicago. They have had three children

(one pair of twins), and lost all of them. They

attend the Episcopal church.

Nathan Makvin Bbmis, M. D., the first physi-

cian to permanently settle in Faribault, was born

in Whitingham, Windham county, Vermont, on

the 25th of March, 1821, his parents being James

Gilbert and Stata (Smith) Bemis. His paternal

great-grandfather came from England, and his

grandfather, Edmund Bemis, was an officer in the

continental army. James G. Bemis was a farmer,

with whom the son remained until eighteen years

of age. At this period in life, with his heart set

on being a physician, and with his father's con-

sent, he commenced reading medicine with Dr.

Horace Smith, of Wilmington, a town adjoining'

Whitingham, in the same county ; attended lectures

and received hia education at the Vermont Medi-

cal College of Woodstock; practiced three years

at Shutesbury, Franklin county, Massachusetts;

nine or ten at Cummington, Hampshire county,

same State, and in May, 1855, settled in Faribault.

At that date only one frame house—that of Alexan-

der Faribault, for whom the town was named—was
completed; others were rising, and a few log

cabins had been up a short time. Indians were

abundant, and Dr. Bemis was the phyaiiian of two

chiefs of the Sioux nation, Papa and Red Legs.

His rides, especially during the first ten or fifteen

years, extended up and down the valley of the

Cannon River and up the Straight (which here

feeds the Cannon) a long distance. Probably few
men of his profession in the State have ridden
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more miles than he. In the territorial days of

Minnesota, road or no road, regardless of the state

of the weather, he promptly obeyed every sum-

mons, near or remote, whether to a wigwam or a

white man's cabin, facing th^ perils of swollen

streams, blinding snow storms, or a fearfully de-

pressed thermometer; Latterly his professional

circuits have ordinarily been limited to the city

and adjoining towns, younger men taking the

longer rides. He has been successful pecuniarily

as well as professionally, and fortunately can afford

to curtail his business. Though quite elastic for

a man past his three-score years, and though hav-

ing no deep wrinkles in his face, yet his long,

almost snow-white beard and rapidly whitening

head, indicate that "sap-consuming winter's drizz-

ling snows" are not only falling, but thickening in

their fall. He does just enough business to afford

him a healthful amount of exercise. His spirits

are buoyant, and his social habits admirable. In

early manhood Dr. Bemis was an abolitionist of

the milder type, casting his first presidential vote

in 1844, for James G. Birney. Of late years he

has voted the republican ticket; has never been an

office-seeker, and has strictly refused to accept any-

thing of the kind of a political nature. Among
the Freemasons he is a Knight Templar, and has

been Master of the Blue Lodge twice, and a Noble

Grand in Odd-Fellowship three times. Dr. Bemis

has been married since the 10th of February, 1842,

his wife being Miss Emeline H. Adams, a native of

Barre, Massachusetts, living at the time of her

marriage at Heath, in the same State. They have

had five children, all living but George O., who
died when only three years old. The four living

are all married but Ella J. Augusta E. is the

wife of William T. Kerr, a commercial agent, re-

siding in Davenport, Iowa; Joseph G. is a physi-

cian, educated in the College of Physicians and

Surgeons, New York City, and practicing in Fari-

bault; and Mary 0. is tlie wife of Henry C. Pres-

eott, agent for Seymour, Sabin & Co., manufac-

turers of the "Minnesota Chief" threshing machine

at Stillwater, Minnesota, their home being at Fari-

bault.

W. L. Bentley, a native of Franklin county,

Vermont, was bom on the 23d of March, 1833.

When eighteen years old he moved to Massachu-

setts and was employed in factories there for three

years, then to Ohio and later to Kansas where he

was connected with the Quartermaster's depart-

ment, engaged in shipping through Colorado,

New Mexico, and the southwestern States. He
has been a resident of Minnesota since 1868, first

locating in Mower county, where he married Miss

Annie Norton on the 28th of December, 1872.

Four children is the result of this union. Mr.

and Mrs. Bentley came here in 1872, and he was

engaged in the ice business until 1879, when he

opened his present feed store.

John McDonogh Beeby, of the supreme bench

of Minnesota, and a native of Pittsfield, New
Hampshire, was born on the 18th of September,

1827; his parents being John Berry, merchait,

and Mary Ann Brown nee Hogan. The Berry

family settled in southeastern New" Hampshire,

nearly, and perhaps fully, two centuries ago. The

maternal grandfather of our subject was from

Ireland. Tlie youth of Judge Berry was devoted

to the securing of an education; he spent his last

preparatory year at Phillips Academy, Andover,

Massachusetts; entered Yale College in Septem-

ber, 1843, when just sixteen years old, and grad-

uated in his twentieth year. He began to read law

at Concord, New Hampiihire, with Judge Perley,

afterward chief justice of that State; continued

his readings with Hon. Moses Norris; was ad-

mitted to practice at a term of the> supreme court

held at Concord in July, 1850, practiced about two

years at Alton, Belknap county. New Hampshire;

came as far west as Janesville, Wisconsin, in the

spring of 1853; was in practice there two years,

and then settled in Faribault, his home since then,

with the exception of something less than a year

spent at Austin, Mower county, his business being

the practice of law till he went on the bench. He
is a thorough legal and general scholar, and ranks

deservedly high among his profession in the State

for his literary tastes and acquirements. He may
be classed as a thinker as distinguished from a man
of action. Judge Berry was a member of the

territorial house in the session of 1856-57, and

chairman of the judiciary committee; was a mem-
ber of the State Senate fn 1863 and 1864, and

chairman of the judiciary committee in that body

also, and went on the bench of the supreme court

in January, 1865. He was re-elected in 1871, and

his second term expired with the year 1878. He
was elected to his present position before the legal

practice in this State had become extensive, and

without the opportunities for the practical work

of his profession which some of his associates have

enjoyed; but he brings to the exercise of the high

duties of his position a knowledge of legal prin-
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oiples acquired by careful and thoughtful reading,

united to a broad and comprehensive judgment,

and an inflexible integrity, which, disdaining petty

technicalities and seeking for the intrinsic justice

of the case, has placed him second to no judge

who ever held the office in this State in popular

estimation. His opinions are terse, crisp, and well

written,and distingushed rather for the enunciation

of some great general principle which disposes of

the case, than for minute discussions of minor and

technical poiiits. Judge Berry is a republican of

whig antecedents, but has never been very active

in politics. On the 26bh of May, 1853, Miss Alice

A. Parker, then of Boscoe, Illinois, but a native of

Oenterville, Ohio, became the wife of Judge Berry,

and they have four children.

A. 8. Bloxam was born of English parents in

Tlidgway, Iowa county, Wisconsin, in June, 1853,

When tbirteen years old he worked at the cabinet

maker's trade, and at the age of flfteen years went

to Dixon, Illinois, where he learned the gunsmith

trade, and worked at the same there for eight

years. In 1875, he came to Faribault, opened a

store and shop, in which he put a small stock of

guns, but has since greatly increased his stock to

accommodate his rapidly growing trade. Mr.

Bloxam was married on the 1st of January, 1881,

to Miss Martha M. Schmatz.

JoHAM J. BiiANK, one of the pioneers of Rice

county and the first man to take a claim in

Wheeling, was born in Germany, on the 15th of

September, 1821. He attended school until four-

teen years old, then engaged at work on the farm

and in 1843, emigrated to America, landing in

New York, and came directly to Cook county, Illi-

nois, where he conducted a farm on shares. In

1844, he was united in marriage with Miss Eliza-

beth Veeli, and ten years later came to Rice coun-

ty, Minnesota, and staked out a claim in Wheel-

ing, in sections twenty-two and fifteen. He im-

proved the land and erected a log house. In

October, 1878, he sold his farm and purchased a

residence in Faribault, corner of Thirteenth and
Main streets, where he still resides. Mr. and
Mrs. Blank have been blessed with nine children

;

Delia, Mary, Wilhelmina, who died with the diph-

theria in 1864, aged thirteen years; Elizabeth,

Caroline, Hannah, Sophia, who also died with

diphtheria, in 1872, thirteen years of age; Ma-
tilda, who died of consumption in 1864, three

years of age; and John Jacob.

A. BiiODGETT, an old settler of the county, and

.one of the leading lumber merchants, was born in

Alexander, Genesee county, New York, on the 3d

of May, 1831. He clerked for five years in a dry

goods store, and ^when about idneteen years old

went to New York city, where he engaged in a

paint and varnish shop. In 1856, he came to

Rice county, locating on a farm in Warsaw town-

ship, and in 1874, moved into town, engaging in

mercantile pursuits. In 1880, he opened his pres-

ent lumber yard under the firm name of A. Blod-

gett & Son. The junior partner, W. E. Blodgett,

was born in Warsaw on the 16th of August, 1857,

and received his education at the public schools

and at Shattuck School. He kept books one year

in this place, and studied music two years in Min-

neapolis. In 1881, he became a member of the

lumber firm above mentioned.

Geegob Bjoknstad was born in the stift of

of Ohristiania, Norway, on the 17th of October,

1856. He was reared on a farm, and when a

young man engaged in buying and selling cattle-

In 1870, he emigrated to America, came directly

to Minnesota and located in Red Wing where he

attended the public school two years. He subse-

quently worked eighteen months on a farm, and

for six months clerked in a store. In March,

1882, he came to Faribault and became landlord

of tbie Soandinjivian Hotel, which he has since

conducted.

Paetick BtBKBS, deceased, was born in Ireland

and came to America when young, located in Wis-

consin until 1863, then came to this county and
settled in Walcott, where he carried on a farm. In

1865, he move to this city, engaged in merchan-

dising, and was elected County Sheriff in 1871,

on the Democratic ticket. He was defeated once

after that by a small majority. His death oc-

curred in April, 1878. John J. Byrnes was born

in Winnebago county Wisconsin, on the 15th of

July, 1853, and came with his parents to this

county. He attended the Catholic school, the

public school, Shattuck School, and St. John's

College, in Stearns county. He then studied law

in the office of Gordon E. Cole, and was admitted

to the bar in 1876. He taught school a few

months, and then formed a partnership with J. F.

Walsh, in Henderson, Sibley county, which was
soon dissolved, and Mr. Byrnes returned here. He
was married on the 15th of October, 1878, Miss
Olive La Rose being his bride. He is Justice of
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the Peace, elected in 1879, and also City Eeoorder.

E. H. CuTTS is a native of Portsmouth, New
Hampshire, born on the 31st of May, 1831. His

ancestors were among the pioneers of that locality,

having settled at Portsmouth and on Cutts' Is-

land about 1640. When our subject was two and

a-hal£ years old the family moved to Vermont

and located on a farm. E. H. attended Kimball

Union Academy, at Meriden, New Hampahire,

when he was thirteen years old, and two years

later became a pupil at Thetford, Vermont, and

afterward at Norwich University, finishing the

scientific course in 1849. He then studied fur a

civil engineer, worked at that for a year, and then on

his father's farm. In 1853, he came to Wisconsin

and in December of that year started on the old

Indian trail from Hastings to Mankato on foot.

Passing through Faribault into what is now Wal-

oott, he staked out a claim on sections twenty-one

and twenty-two, then went on to Mankato. He
soon returned to Wisconsin, and in February, 1854,

came with two yoke of oxen and commenced to

improve his land, being the first actual settler and

building the first house in Walcott. In 1875, he

removed into the city of Faribault, and now de-

votes his time to overseeing his farms in this and

Lyon counties. In 1862, he enlisted in the

Eighth Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, Company
B, serving two months against the Sioux. In

June, 1864, he was appointed Captain of Com-
pany C, of the Forty -fifth United States Colored

Begiment, and served until the close of the war.

He has had nine children, four of whom are living.

Thomas Cabpbnteb was born in England in

1832, and learned his trade there. He came to

Faribault in 1857, and the following spring en-

tered into partnership with Alexander Smith, in

merchant tailoring. They have since added to

their business ready-made clothing and gents'

furnishing goods, hats, caps, etc.

J. G. CiiAKK, one of the old settlers of this city,

is a native of Franklin county, Massachusetts,

born on the 4th of February, 1820. He was rear-

ed on a farm and when sixteen years old went to

Brattleborough, Vermont, where he learned the

carpenter trade, and with the exception of two years

worked at the same in that State for twenty-one

years. On the 7th of August, 1849, he was joined

in wedlock with Miss Sarah Jane Miller, and the

union has been blessed with one boy, Dwight E.

In 1857, Mr. Clark came to this city and built a

planing mill which he operated with a partner

until 1865, then engaged in farming two years,

and since 1869, has conducted a livery stable,

keeping good horses.

Captain Ohables A. Cuktis, U. 8. Army, Com-

mandant of Shattuck School, was born iu HaUo-

well, Maine, October 4, 1825. He graduated at

Norwich University, Vermont, with the degree of

Bachelor of Arts in 1860. He served as military

instructor of volunteers in Maine, from April, 1861

to June of the same year, going to the Potomac

with the Sixth Maine as instructor to the officers.

He was commissioned a Second Lieutenant in the

regular army, April 14, 1862, and served in Vir-

ginia, Texas, and New Mexico, until the close of

the rebellion. He then served in the Indian war

with the Apaches and Navajos, in New Mexico and

Arizona, in 1865 and 1866. Was placed on the re-

tired list for wounds received in action December

15th, 1870. In 1866, the Captain married Har-

riette L. Hughes, and in 1869, was detailed as

Professor of Military Science and Tactics at Nor-

wich University, serving in that capacity until

1875, when he was elected president of the college.

In 1880, he resigned and accepted his present po-

sition. He has had five children, four of whom are

living.

Captain D. Cavanaugh, an early resident of the

county and a leading business man of this city,

claims Canada as his native place and his birth

dates the 3d of December, 1838. He was reared

to agricultural pursuits and in 1856, came with his

parents to this place and continued tilling the soil

until 1862, when he enlisted iu the Tenth Minne-

sota Volunteer Infantry, Company H. He was

promoted to Second Lieutenant and soon after to

Captain of Company C, serving in that office until

the close of the war, when he was honorably dis-

charged. After returning to Faribault Captain

Cavanaugh was engaged in the milling business

four years, and in 1871, opened a store in which

he keeps hardware and agricultural implements,

doing an extensive and successful business under

she firm name of Cavanaugh & Co.

M. H. CoiB was born in Albany, New York, on

the 24th of November, 1836, attended school there

and in Oooperstown until fourteen years old, then

clerked for a time, after which he went to school

until twenty years of age. He then engaged with

the Boston & Albany Railroad Company until

1861, when he enlisted in the Forty-fourth New
York Infantry as Second Lieutenant of Company
E. His senior officer being absent, he acted us
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Captain o£ the company for three years, was then

discharged and re-enlisted in the Ninety-fourth

New York Infantry, and was immediately detailed

to the enrolling office of which he became head

clerk at Hart Island, New York harbor, and served

till the close of the war. He went to New York

City and engaged as a commercial traveler, then

came west, and after visiting different parts of the

country came to Faribault in 1872. In 1875, he

was appointed Deputy Eegister of Deeds, which

office he has since filled with credit. Mr. Oole was

married in 1875, to Miss Laura Wheeler, the

adopted daughter of Mrs. John Nelson. They

have been blessed with two children.

WiLMAM Close is a native of Ohio, born on the

9th of September, 1827. When he was six years

old his parents sold their interests there and re-

moved to Indiana, locating in the Wabash valley.

In 1855, they came to Minnesota, and on the 12th

of June of that year settled in Eiohland township

where they were pioneers. William and his

brother John helped to organize the place, and the

former was the first school clerk, hiring Miss

Debby Newcomb to teach the first school in his

district. No. 21 ; was first Town Collector, and after

the town was fully organized was elected Assessor.

In the fall of 1870, he was a member of the State

Legislature, and in 1871, was appointed Marshal

and Euumeratoi: for seven townships, comprising

the east district of Bice county. While living in

Bichland he pre-empted land in Walcott, but sold

a short time after and bought more in the former

place, remaining in the township engaged in farm-

ing for twenty-five years. In 1876, he came to

this city, and resides on Eighth and Sycamore

streets. In 1881, he was appointed Enumerator for

the seventh ward of the city of Faribault. He is

engaged in the insurance business for the St. Paul

Fire & Marine Company and several other promi-

nent firms. He was married on the 19th of August,

1847, to Miss Elizabeth Fiers, who has borne him
nine children, of whom eight are living, four boys

and two girls were born in Rice county. Mr. Close

served a short time as recruit in the first Minnesota

Begiment.

GoBDON Eael Cole, for six years Attorney-

General of the state of Minnesota, is a son of

Lansing J. Cole, a physician, and Laura Brown;

his parents living at the time of his birth, June

18th, 1833, at Cheshire, Berkshire county, Massa-

chusetts. His great-grandfather was an early

settler at Saybrook in that State, and moved

thence into the western county. Gordon received

his literary education mainly at the Suffleld Aca-

demy, Connecticut; read law in the office of Gov-

ernor Briggs, at Pittsfield, and then with Gaunnell

& Adams, and graduated from the Dane Law
School, Harvard University, in 1854. He prac-

ticed two years in his native town; came to Minne-

sota in the autumn of 1856, and after spending

two or three months at Chatfleld, removed to Fari-

bault on the 1st of J anuary, 1857, having been in

the practice of his profession here since that date.

He has a deservedly high reputation in his pro-

fession, and for many years has held a leading

position at the bar of the State, some good judges

placing him at the head. He was the attorney

that procured the payment of the State bonds last

winter, (1881 and '82.) Everybody who heard

him will admit that he has wonderful power before

a jury, being self-poised, conscious of his own

strength, clear, forcible, and eloquent. In the

autumn of 1859, Mr. Oole was elected Attorney-

General of the State, and held the office three

consecutive terms; was elected a State Senator, to

fill a vacancy in the Eighth district, a short time

before his third term expired; served one session

and declined a renomination. He had previously

been elected one of the Commissioners for revising

the statutes, serving in that capacity about one

year. For the last eleven or twelve years he has

confined himself very closely to his profession,

doing an extensive and very remunerative practice.

He has also interested himself very much in local

enterprises of various kinds. He is a trustee of

Saint Mary's Hall, located at Faribault, an insti-

tution of learning for young ladies, under the

direction of Bishop Whipple; and is chairman of

a railroad committee, interested in building the

Cannon Valley railroad from Red Wing to Man-

kato. He has been the attorney of the Iowa &
Minnesota division of the Chicago, Milwaukee &
St. Paul Railroad Company since the enterprise

was completed. In politics, Mr., Cole has been a

republican since there was such a party, and was

chairman of a Fremont club in his native town in

1856, losing his vote that year by emigrating to

Minnesota. During the forty or fifty ballotings

for United States Senator in 1870, when at length

the republicans dropped the names of Messrs.

Eamsey and Davis, on one or two days Mr. Cole

led on the republican side, the votes being divided

among three or four strong men. We do not use

the word candidates, for, in the case of Mr. Cole,
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he was not a candidate—the act was sprung upon

the Legislature without his knowledge—though,

had he been elected, he would hardly have refused

to serve. He has the ability to fill with credit any

office which the people of Minnesota can bestow

upon him. He is a Eoyal Arch Mason, a vestry-

man in Bishop Whipple's cathredal, and a trustee

of the corporation known as the "Minnesota Foun-

dation," which is designed to afford an income for

the support of the bishop. Mr. Cole is living with

his second wife, being first married in August,

1855, to Miss Stella 0. Whipple, of Shaftsbury,

Vermont, she dying in June, 1872 ; she had four

children, three of them yet living. His present

wife was Miss Kate D. Turner, of Cleveland, Ohio,

chosen on the 14th of February, 1874.

Adolphb Cbaig, one of the early settlers here,

was born in Lower Canada on the 5th of Febru-

ary, 1829. He is of Scotch-French descent, lived

at home until 1852, then came to Shokopee and

took charge of a farm of Mrs. Oliver Fari-

bault. He also had charge of a farm of Gen.

Sibley's for a time, and in 1853, came to this

place and conducted a farm for Fred. Fari-

bault, near the junction of Straight and Can-

non Rivers. He subsequently took land near

Meudota, but in 1856, came here and engaged

in the freighting business. In 1857, he was joined

in marriage with Miss Julia Paquin, the ceremony

taking place on the 18th of January. This was

the first Catholic marriage preformed in the place,

it being during the mission of Father Eovoux. In

1862, Mr. Craig made a trip to Colorado and later

visited Canada, and upon his return settled on u,

farm in this county, which he carried on four

years. Since leaving the latter he has made this

city his home and is a prominent member of the

Catholic church.

Majob MiOHAEii Cook, deceased, was among the

very early settlers in Faribault, and one of the he-

roic men who fell in the late civil war. He aided

in building some of the first frame houses in this

place, and was honored with a seat in the terri-

torial council and the State Senate—a self-edu-

cated man of a noble type. He was a son of Eich-

ard Cook, and was born in Morris county. New
Jersey, on the 17th of March, 1828; had a com-

mon school education; learned the carpenter's

trade in New York City, and worked there as a

journeyman several years, attending a night

school while an apprentice. He early formed the

24

acquaintance of Horace Greeley, who encouraged

him in his struggle for knowledge. Major Cook

came to Faribault in 1855. He was in the State

Senate continuously from about 1858 to 1862, and

took a prominent part in legislative work. He
was a diligent worker, with very few words, and

stood well in the legislative body. Honesty in

him was personified. In the the summer of 1862,

he raised a company for the Tenth Minnesota; was

made Captain of the company; was subsequently

promoted to Major of that regiment, and killed

in the battle of Nashville, Tennessee. The

memory of very few deceased men who ever lived

in Faribault is niore warmly cherished than that

of Major Cook.

C. B. Case, one of the proprietors of the popular

"bus" line, was born on the 21st of March, 1823,

in Monroe county. New York, where his ancestors

were among the first settlers. In his youth he at-

tended the district schools, and when quite young

commenced driving stage, in which business he

has since spent most of his time, going to Chicago

in 1840, and two years later to Missouri. Dur-

ing the Mexican war he was engaged in shipping

horses for the American government. He was

afterwards general agent for the Mississippi, Ala-

bama, and Tennessee stage line. On the 10th of Jan-

uary, 1855, he was married to Miss Hannah Harris,

the ceremony taking place in La Grange, Tennessee.

She was formerly from Litchfield county, Connecti-

cut. For a time Mr. Case' was in the livery business

in Tallahasse, Florida, and during the war was

agent for the quarter-master in the Confederate

army, having charge of the transportations for the

State of Florida. In 1865, he came north, and the

following year to this city, where he has since

been connected with the business, as previously

mentioned. Mrs. and Mrs. Case have had four

children, three of whom a,re living.

H. N. Ceossbtt is a native of Canada, born

on the 15th of June, 1832. When four years

old he moved with his parents to Vermont,

where he received his education. For eight

years he was engaged in mercantile pursuits

in Albany, New York, and there he was married

on the 9th of April, 1857, to Angeline E. Hawley.

In 1858, they came to Juneau, Dodge county,

Wisconsin, where Mr. Crossett clerked onp year,

then entered the employ of the American Express

Company, as local agent; was soon made route

agent, and located at different places in the State.
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He came to this city in the employ of the com-

pany, and iu 1869, was made Division Superinten-

dent for the United States Express Company, and

now has under his supervision Minnesota, Wis-

consin, southern Dakota, northern Iowa, and

northern Illinois. Of seven children born to tlie

union, five are living.

Hbney Ohafebe was born in Berkshire county,

Massachussetts, on the 9th of April, 1827. IJe

was reared on a farm, and when eighteen years

old entered a store, in his native county, as clerk.

In 18.56, he came to this place and opened a gro-

cery store; two years later pre-empted a claim

in Waseca county, but continued to reside here.

He now owns a well-cultivated farm of four hun-

dred acres about a mile and a half south of this

city. Mr. Chaffee was married in 1871, to Miss

Charlotte Carter, who has borne him three chil-

dren. From 1866 to 1872, he operated a saw and

stave mill in Wells township, and has since been

a member of the Walcott Milling Company.

S. L. Okookbe was born in Genesee county,

New York, on the 12th of December, 1845. He
attended the common schools and completed his

education at Batavia Academy, in his native State.

He then engaged as clerk in a drug' store in Hills-

dale, Blichigan, for over two years; then, after fol-

lowing the same employment in Buffalo, New York,

one year, he came to Hastings, Minnesota, and in

1868, to Faribault. After clerking for a time he

purchased a drug store of W. T. Hunter, and now
has a full line of drugs, medicines, and fancy

goods. Mr. Crocker was joined in matrimony on

the 2d of November, 1876, with Miss Carrie Mee.

He has been Alderman for four years.

J. C. N. CoTTBBLL was born in Canada on the

26th of February, 1827, and is of English parent-

age. He attended school near home, and finished

his education in Brownington, Vermont. In 1849,

when but twenty-one years old, he went to Cali-

fornia, where he opened a store on Feather

Biver, with a stock of general merchandise and

miner's supplies. He was there three years and

met with great success; then returned to Canada
and opened a store in London. He was united in

marriage on the 2d of September, 1856, with Miss

Elizabeth Clinton. In 1857, they removed to

Minnesota and located in this place, where Mr.

Cottrell opened a hardware store opposite the Bar-

ron House, but in 1870, went to Chicago where

he engaged in business four years; then returned

here and purchased his former stand. '

Thomas Btjeb Clembnt, Senator from Rice

county, is a son of Frederick and Olive Mallory

Clement and was born in Manlius, Onondaga

county, New York, on the 19th of June, 1834.

His paternal ancestors were early settlers in

Dutchess county. New York, his great-grandfather

being a member of the continental army, who was

taken and held captite for some time on a British

prison ship. Thomas lived on a farm till sixteen

years old, with such education as a district school

furnished; commenced business as a clerk in the

store of his elder brother, Stephen M. Clement, at

Fredonia, in western New York; went into trade

there for himself at nineteen years of age. He re-

moved to Faribault in January, 1864. Here he

traded four years ; organized the ' First National

Bank of Faribault in 1868; was made its president

and still holds that position. It is regarded as

"ne of the soundest institutions of the kind in the

Cannon valley. Mr. Clement was a member of

the Minnesota house of representatives in 1875,

Mayor of the city in 1877, and a member of the

State Senate in 1878. During the first session that

he attended he was Chairman of the committee on

insurance, and of the committees on finances, and

banks and banking. He makes a wise and pru-

dent Legislator. He is one of the directors of the

institution for educating the deaf and dumb and

the blind, and has held other local offices of trust

and responsibility, being at one time Chairman of

the board of County Commissioners. He is a re-

publican, but not a strong party man. Blind zeal

of any kind never led him an inch. He is wedded

to business much more than to politics, and ofiice

seeks him or he would never be found in official

positions, either in the city or out of it; yet he is

a public spirited man, one of the leaders in local

enterprises, proud of his adopted home, glorying

in her progress and prospects, and shirking no re-

sponsibility which his fellow-citizens insist on his

assuming. He is a solid man in business and

moral as well as financial standing. Mr. Clement

was first married in May, 1856, his wife being Miss

Emma Johnson of Fredonia, New York ; she died

in 1865, leaving one child. His present wife was

Miss Ellen P. Johnson, sister of his first wife,

chosen in 1867; he has two children by her.

Gboegb Chbseoun is a native of Pennsylvania,

born in 1829. In 1852, he came to the territory
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of Minnesota, and located in Waloott, where he

married Miss Augusta Durston in 1858. Mr.

Chesroun is a cabinet maker in the employ of M.

M. Flint.

Thomas Donohub, a native of Ireland, wasbom
in Wexford county, on the 15th of February, 1847.

His parents died when he was yoxing, and when

eighteen years old he came to America, clerked in

New York City six months and then to Cincinnati,

Ohio, in a hotel. Miss Bridget Quinn became his

wife on the 13th of May, 1871. They came to

Faribault the same year and he opened a saloon,

but a few years later added a stock of merchandise

and in 1879, erected a brick building which he

occupies with general merchandise and a saloon.

Mr. and Mrs. Donahue have a family of five chil-

dren.

H. T. Dbtbrt is a German, born in Prussia on

the 1st of July, 1837. He came to America when

seventeen years old and located in St. Louis, Mis-

souri, where he learned the hamessmaker's trade.

In 1863, he enlisted in the Thirteenth New York

Cavalry, Company H, and served till the close of

the war. Mr. Detert was married on the 1st of

July, 1866, to Miss Caroline Speck. They have

had nine children, eight of whom are living. At

the close of the war, Mr. Detert located in St.

Louis and opened a harness shop, which he con-

ducted till 1870, then came here and soon after

engaged in the same business, manufacturing

horse collars which have the name of being the

best in the market, the demand having grown so

rapidly he intends to manufacture more exten-

sively. He is also the inventor and patentee of a

neck collar pad, which has a large sale.

T. N. DoNAiiDSON dates his birth the 10th of

December, 1841, in Westmoreland county, Penn-

sylvania, where his ancestors were among the pio-

neers of that section, taking a prominent part in

the early history and development of the county.

When he was eight years old his parents moved

to Wells county, Indiana, remaining until 1862,

and then came to this county, locating in Bridge-

water. The subject of this sketch assisted his

father on the farm till 1871, then engaged in the

mercantile business in company with his brother,

at Dundas. In 1875, he was appointed Post-

master; in 1877, elected Register of Deeds, and

is now serving his third term in that office. On
the 31st of January, 1872, while on his way to

business h6 met with an accident on the railroad

track, the cars running over his right leg' which

made amputation necessary. Mr. Donaldson was

joined in marriage on the 12th of November, 1861,

with Miss Sarah A. Decker. The union has been

blessed with six children.

H. N. Dale, M. D., one of the pioneers of Can-

non City, was bom in Hamilton, Butler county,

Ohio, and removed to White county, Indiana,

when but five years old. He attended an

Academy near his home until eighteen years old,

then became a pupil at the Asbury University,

where he remained two years, and subsequently

engaged in teaching school and studying medi-

cine. He entered the office of Dr. Haymond at

Moutioello, Indiana, and shortly after graduated

from the Eclectic Medical Institute at Cincinnati,

Ohio. In the fall of 1856, he removed to Cannon

City and commenced practice, and in 1867, came to

Faribault. In 1868, he spent one winter in Cin-

cinnati, Ohio, in the Medical schools and Hospitals.

The winter of 1875 and '76, was spent in the Chi-

cago schools, and the entire years of 1876 and '77,

in attendance at Eush Medical College and Cook

County Hospital. In 1879, Dr. Dale was married

to Mrs. E. M. McCauley. He has been County

Coroner two terms and County Physician three

years since coming to this city.

L. W. Denison, M. D., was bom in Clarksville,

Madison county. New York, on the 17th of Decem-

ber, 1819. His father died when our subject was

eleven years old, after which he worked at the

mechanic's trade in Whitestown and vicinity two

years; then studied medicine in the former place

and at Brookfleld. He attended lectures in the

medical department of the New York University,

also in Vermont, where he received a diploma.

After attending lectures in Buffalo, New York, he

came to Jefferson county, Wisconsin, in 1849,'aud

practiced two years, then went to California,

where he remained until 1855, when he came to

Faribault. In September, 1855, Miss Julia Frank-

lin became his wife. Mr. Denison practiced his

profession until the last few years, since which

time he has been engaged in mercantile pursuits,

also has some fine farming land in this vicinity.

He has been twice elected to the Legislature, and

an active member of the school board since 1857,

besides holding local offices. He is the father of

four children, three of whom are living.

J. D. Denison, one of the pioneers of Rice

county, was bom in Brookfield, Madison county.
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New York, on the 5th of August, 1810. When
twenty years of age he commenced learning the

wagonmaker's trade, and afterward opened a shop

in his native place. He was married on the 15th

of August, 1833, to MissOhloe Oately, a native of

Massachusetts. In 1848, he removed to Onondaga

county and in 1856, came here working at his

trade in the first shop of the kind in the place.

The same year he erected a building for a shop,

and in 1858, built a second, which was the begin-

ning of the Faribault carriage works of the present

day. He owned and operated them till 1876. Mr.

and Mrs. Denison have had four children, of whom
two are still living.

J. J. Dow, Superintendent of the Blind Institu-

tion, was born in India, on the continent of Asia,

the 15th of ]^ebruary, 1848, his father being a

missionary from East Givermore, Maine, to that

country. M. Dow's ancestors were among the

early New England settlers. J. C. Dow, the father

of the subject of our sketch, was a Free-will Bap-

tist minister, and returned to Maine while J. J. was

an infant, where the latter grew to manhood. In

1863, he enlisted in the Second Maine Cavalry,

Company P, serving two years. In 1866, he came

to Olmsted county, Minnesota, where his parents

had previously moved, and three ycJirs after en-

tered Oarleton College, from which he graduated

in 1874. He and Miss Myra A. Brown, who be-

came his wife on the 26th of December 1874, com-

posed the first graduating class from the above

College. He then became Superintendent of the

public schools of Austin, Minnesota, and in

August, 1875, became principal of the department

for the blind in the Deaf, Dumb, and Blind Insti-

tute. In 1881, he was made Superintendent of

the Blind Department, when it became an institu-

tion,of itself. He has since filled the ofiice with

credit to himself and makes the Asylum an honor

to the State. He has a family of four children.

P. G. Dbnningee, M. D., is a native of Berlin,

Germany, born on the 20th of January, 1848.

His father, Adolph, was a Lutheran minister. In

1862, the family emigrated to America, located

in Washington county, Wisconsin, and P. G. en-

tered the Northwestern College at Watertown. In

1869, he began the study of medicine at the Ho-

meopathic Hospital College in Cleveland; Ohio,

then entered the office of Dr. D. H. L. Bradley at

Horicon, Wisconsin. In 1871, he came to Eyota,

Olmsted county, and commenced practicing. The

same year he married Miss Susie Wagner, the

ceremony taking place on the 12th of June, and

in 1876, they removed to Spring Valley. He
graduated from the Hahnemann Homeopathy Col-

lege of Chicago in 1878. His wife and two chil-

dren died the previous year of diphtheria, and he

again married on the 16th of May, 1878^ to Miss

Cora Gunwald, who has borne him one child. He
came to this place in 1881, where he has a steadily

increasing practice.

Bbv. James Dobbin, of the Shattack school,

under whose good management and supervision it

has grown to its present prosperous condition, and

to whose energy is due most of the success of the

institution, is a good man in a good place. He
WHS born in Washington county, New York, on the

29th of June, 1833, and reared on a farm. When
eighteen years old he left home and prepared for

college by studying at Salem and Argyle, working

his way up by his own energy and industry. In

1855, he took charge of the school at Argyle,

where he remained till 1857, then entered Union

College, graduatihg in 1859. He came to Fari-

bault and taught in the first parish school one

year, then returned to New York and once more

conducted the Argyle Academy, and one year later

the one at Greenwick. In 1864, he returned to

this place and commenced the study of theology

at Seabury Divinity School. In 1860, he married

Fannie I. Leigh, the cbremony taking place on the

12th of December. She died after five years of

married life, on the 29th of December, 1865, leav-

ing one daughter. In April, 1867, Mr. Dobbin

commenced his charge of Shattuck school, to which

he has since given his whole time and has made it

a credit to the State. He was ordained as minister

of the Episcopal church in May of the latter year.

He was again married on the 9th of April, 1874

to Elizabeth L. Ames, who has borne him one

child, a son.

Majok WiiiLiAM H. Dike, a resident of Minne-

sota since 1857," and one of the most energetic

business men of Bice county, is a hative of Rut-

land county, Vermont, being born at Pittsford on

the 18th of May, 1818. His father, Jonathan

Dike, for many years High Sheriff of that county,

was born in Chittenden, Vermont. His great-

grandfather was in the first war with England,

and his father in the second. The latter reached

Plattsbui-g while the battle was progressing,

but not in season to take part in it, and re-
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fused to draw a pension. The wife of Jonathan

Dike was Tamizian Hammond, a native of Pitts-

ford, Vermont. The famUy moved into the vil-

lage of Rutland when William was about six years

old, where the son attended school a small portion

of each year until he was thirteen, when he left

home, and lived for many years with two mater-

nal uncles, Charles F. and John C. Hammond, of

Crown Point, Essex county, New York. With

them he clerked until he was eighteen, with six

months' schooling during this time. The Ham-
monds were engaged in lumbering as well as

mercantile pursuits, and for a period of several

years Mr. Dike had the oversight of this

branch of their business. They had also a

blast furnace, and were extensive manufac-

turers of iron, in which business Mr. Dike had

an interest with them for six or seven years,

also in the store. In the spring of 1857, he left

Crown Point, settled in Faribault, and commenced

banking, real estate and milling business, in con-

nection with other parties. He built what is

known as the Dike mill, and the first flour shipped

to Chicago and New York frem Minnesota went

from his mill, which was built in 1858, the year

Minnesota entered the Union in her sovereign

robes. At an early day people came a long way
to get their grist ground, usually with ox teams;

a distance of forty, fifty, and sixty miles was

_
not uncommon, and one time two men, with two

yoke of oxen and grists for half a dozen families,

came from the southern part of Blue Earth county,

a distance of more than eighty miles. Soon after

the First National Bank was opened Mr. Dike be-

came its cashier, resigining at the end of a year

or two. The last few years he has spent in taking

care of his property, which is somewhat scattered.

Besides his homestead of eight or nine acres in

the southern part of the city, and several small

bodies of improved land in ditFerent sections of

Kice county, he has unimproved land in Houston,

Waseca, Watonwan, Dodge, Blue Earth, and Le

Suenr counties, in the aggregate two thousand

acres or more.

A little episode in his life occurred when the

civU war broke out, in April, 1861. He raised a

company in two days for the First regiment; went

in as Captain of Company H; was made Major be-

fore leaving the State, participated in the first

battle of Bull Eun, and on that disastrous day was

one of the last members of the regiment to quit the

field, hunting up, just before leaving, the body of

Captain McKune, securing his sword, belt, and

watch, and kindly sending them to his widow.

Just after this battle a gentleman residing in

Washington thus spoke of his heroic bravery and

that of Lieutenant-Colonel Miller on that occa-

sion :

" Major Dike's conduct is especially mentioned

by all as having been cool, unexcited, and really

brave. He was among the last to leave, praying,

beseeching, and imploring the men to stand. If

one-half appeared in the newspapers that I hear

of him, he would be the Eoderiok of the battle.

He goes home to-morrow intending to recruit the

somewhat thinned ranks. He is a heavy artillery,

anyway, either as a man or a soldier—as popular

as a man can be wherever he goes, and as modest

in speaking of his own exploits as though he ran

at the first fire."

About the same time another newspaper thus

spoke of Major Dike:

" This gallant officer has won the plaudits of

the brave men he had the honor to lead, in part,

to battle on the fatal 21st of July. It was his big

heart and genuine love of the stars and stripes

that prompted him to take up arms, and the good

account given of him is just what was expected

by all who knew the man."

The St. Paul "Press" of the 21st of August,

1861, thus spoke of Major Dike just as he was re-

turning to the Potomac, after a brief visit to Fari-

bault to look after his private business

:

" While all accounts of the Minnesota regiment

whether in camp or on the field, have attested the

fidelity, coolness, and bravery of Major Dike, yet

there are some further particulars of the man and

his valuable services to the regiment, to which we

desire to refer. His energy and eifioienoy as a

man of business, concurring with his individual

liberality, were of immense service in the organi-

zation of the regiment, as every one familiar with

the events at Fort Snelling will attest. We are

not surprised to hear that since the battle at Man-

assas the wounded of the Minnesota regiment

have received constant proofs of his warm-hearted

sympathy. He would be sure to make the cause

of every sufferer his own."

The private business of Major Dike was so

pressing, that at the end of six months (October,

1861,) he resigned, and returned home. In poli-

tics he was originally a Whig, and of late years

has affiliated with the Bepublicans. Against his

wishes, and in the face of his refusal to go before
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the oonveution, he was nominated by the Eepub-

lioans and war Democrats for Governor in 1861,

but perem23torily refused to stand as a candidate

for that high office. Here is his modest letter, re-

fusing to stand as the nominee

:

" Camp Stone, Edwaed's Fbeby, Md.
" September 12, 1861.

"O. Beown, Esq., Editoe Faeibault "Cbnteal

EbPUBIiIOAN."

"Friend Brown: When I was in Minnesota, a

great number of persons of all political parties

called upon me, and urged me to accept the Union

nomination for Governor. While acknowledging

the compliment intended with gratitude, I finally

left the matter in the hands of friends to relieve

me from the necessity of declining it, by request-

ing that the nomination be conferred upon some

oth&r person. When I returned to my regiment

I found an engagement with the enemy imminent,

and our First regiment (at the front of the post of

danger at this point) close enough to hold con-

versation, and hold it daily with pickets sent out

to watch our lines. Under such circumstances I

do not feel justified in accepting the nomination

for any civil office. I cannot accept for other

reasons of a personal nature, but this I might un-

der ordiaary circumstances, forego. I therefore

beg all friends to accept my sincere thanks for the

honor they would have done me, and respectfully

but positively decline being run for any office by

any party or under any circumstances. My pri-

vate business is in such a condition that when I

can see a propriety in time and circumstances, I

must give it my supervision; but even that for

the present must be dismissed, and my whole at-

tention given to my imperiled country.

Most respectfully,

Your obedient servant,

W. H. Dike."

Major Dike has been twice married; first on the

29th of June, 1841, to Miss Louisa T. Alvord, of

Eutland, Vermont, sister of Benjamin Alvord, pay-

master general of the United States. She died on

the 21st of March, 1855, leaving one daughter,

Mary Hammond, who died on the 23d of Septem-

ber, 1860. His present wife was 'Miss Matilde M.

Bates, of JJoston, Massachusetts; married on the

14th of December, 1858. She accompanied her

husband and his regiment to the South; was with

him during his service there, often visiting the hos-

pitals at Washington, and ministering to the wants

of the wounded, sick and suffering. The night

before the battle of Bull Run the Major put a one

hundred dollar bill in her hands, requesting her

to use it in procuring delicacies for the sick sol-

diers in the Georgetown Hospital, which she did.

Major Dike has been the victim of misplaced con-

fidence once or twice, suffering pecuniarily from

partnership connections in business, but has a

competency ; is in fact independent in his circum-

stances, and in his delightful home has all the

comforts to which a remarkably busy and success-

ful life would seem to entitle him. A more liberal

and patriotic man never lived in Faribault. When
he enlisted in his company, at the opening of the

war, he took the money out of his own pocket to

support them till mustered in at Fort Shelling;

paid out thousands of dollars during the rebellion

to help on the Union cause; in March, 1865, he

was appointed to solicit contributions to the great

fair held at Chicago, under the direction of the

Northwest Sanitary Commission and Soldiers'

home; no man in the State working with more zeal

to aid that grand outpouring of humane gen-

erosity.

We conclude this sketch with an article which

appeared in a republican Faribault paper, just after

Major Dike had left the army, giving an account

of what is called "his first, second and only public

speeches," headed with the motto

:

"Not Words, but Deeds."

"Major Dike has never been suspected of military

aspirations. At the time when the late war broke

out he was known only as occupying a high posi-

tion in the first class of business men—kind and

prompt, cheerful and obliging. When it became

necessary to raise a company here for the Minne-

sota First, resort was had, as elsewhere, to a call

for a public meeting. The time arrived—patriotic

speeches by patriotic speakers came off, all very

well in their way. But there is no fighting mettle

in mere speeches-^there was no powder and ball

in them—^nor could they induce any to join the

list of those "to kill or to be killed" for the honor

of the country. A dark cloud of cold silence set-

tled down upon the hall and the audience, till at

length a cry came for "Dike, Me. Dike, Sqtjiee

Dike—a speech, a speech!" "Mr. Dike is called

for, will he step forward and favor the audience

with a short speech?" With a significant look and

bearing, peculiarly his own, that gentleman in-

stantly headed and signed the list of volunteer,
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and dispensing from his side pocket sufiBcient of

the material aid to start the enterprise comfortably,

he remarked, ' That is my speech.' It was his first

public speech. It aroused the life blood of his

fellow-citizens, who ralhed at once to his stan-

dard. A noble company was raised, with which

he immediately repaired to Fort Snelling for dis-

cipline and drill. After several weeks' efficient

drilling, the regiment, under the command of the

gallant Gorman, repaired to the notional capitol;

and thence, under orders of superiors in command,

to the battle of Bull Bun, where the Minnesota

First was dedicated to the service of the govern-

ment and the country in a baptism of blood.

There, where the bullets were as thick as whortle-

berries in August, Major Dike stopped not to

inquire whether the patriotic speakers whom he

had parted with at the Metropolitan Hall had

reached the battle-field, to share with him and

his the perils of the day, or whether they had per-

chance remained behind in the pursuit of private

business, or in the enjoyment of family, friends, and

home comforts. He was there, and there he faced

the enemy and fought out the fight like a man.

This was his second public speech. He has re-

mained in the service up to a short time since.

When it was difficult for government to induce

volunteers to enlist, and more difficult to procure

suitable officers. Major Dike abandoned his own

business for the time—threw his person and his

influence into the crisis—volunteered and accepted

an appointment, all as a matter of duty, and not

to gratify any military ambition. Now, when the

ranks of our citizen soldiery are readily filled up,

and other competent gentlemen are found justly

ambitious to fill his position, he has felt at Uberty

to resign his post, and return to his legitimate

business; and, so here he is, surrounded" by his

many warm friends at home."

E. M. Evans, the landlord of the popular Ogden

House, is a native of Jefferson, Schoharie county,

New York, born on the 21st of April, 1840.

While young he spent a few winters in sash

and blind factories and engaged at paint-

ing in the summers. In 1861, he enlisted in

the Fifty-flrst New York Volunteer Infantry,

Company G, served eighteen months and was

then honorably discharged, but re-enlisted in

the First New York Engineers, serving eleven

months. On the 14th of December, 1862, he mar-

ried Miss B. J. Holdgridge. Mr. Evans located in

Sohenevus, New York, where he kept a hotel three

years, and in 1878, came to this place, opening the

first Ogden House in 1879. In 1881, he opened

the present hotel which is a favorite resort for the

traveling public. Mr. and Mrs. Evans have three

children, two girls and one boy.

GoDFKiED Flbckenstein was born in Bavaria,

Germany, on the 20tti of November, 1832. His

father being proprietor of a brewery, Godfried was

reared to that business, and when twenty-one

years old came to America. He clerked in stores

in New York City for two years, and afterwards

resided in Cincinnati, Ohio. He came to Minne-

sota, remained in St. Paul for a time, and in 1857,

came to this place and, with his brother E. as a

partner, opened a brewery; his brother retiring

soon after, he has since conducted the establish-

ment alone. He was married on the 13th of

March, 1856, to Miss M. A. Ualz, in Cincinnati,

Ohio. Tliey have had eight children, six of whom
are living.

E. FiiECKENSTEiN, One of the early residents of

this city, is a native of Bavaria, Germany, born on

the 12th of January, 1834. His father owned a

brewery, in which occupation our subject was en-

gaged v/hen quite young and continued at the

same until 1854, when he came to America, living

first in New York City and then in Cincinnati. In

1856, he came to St. Paul, and the following year

to this place and immediately erected a brewery,

which he carried on in company with his brother

for a short time. He has since erected another

building and carries on the business alone. Mr.

Fleckenstein was united in marriage on the 7th of

July, 1859, to Miss Sophia Dopping. They have

had eight children, six of whom are living.

N. S. Flint, one of the old settlers of Faribault,

was born in Rutland, Worcester county, Mas-

sachusetts. His father was a farmer and chair

manufacturer. They moved to Buffalo, New York,

in 1846, and three years later to Jamestown. Mr.

Flint was married on the 28th of September, 1853,

to Miss Emily Stephens, of the latter place, and

in AprU, 1857, they came to Faribault. In 1866,

Mr. Flint commenced the manufacture of furni-

ture, and started what is now known as the Fari-

bault Chair and Furniture factory, to which he

gave his whole time until 1876, when he retired

from business.

The principal portion of the data for the fol-

lowing sketch was obtained by the compilers of

this work from the lips of Mr. Faribault himself.

It may be noticed that there are some discrep-
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anoies as to dates and locations when compared

with the statements in the general history of the

county. This can only be accounted for by the

fact that Mr. Faribault is now quite aged, and

possibly may have forgotten many important

events of his life, as well as the dates. The other

statements referred to have been verified by old

settlers who claim to have obtained those facts

from the subject a quarter of a century ago.

AiiEXANDEB Paeibault was bom in Prairie du

Ohien, Crawford county, Wisconsin. The family

record shows his birth to have been on the 22d of

June, 1806, but as his certificate of baptism bears

the same date, and he distinctly remembers that

event, we conclude he must have been born as early

as 1802 or 1803. His grandfather, Bartholomew

Faribault, came over from Paris, France, to Can-

ada in 1757, as secretary of the French army.

He was the apn of Bernard Faribault and Magda-

lena Hamon, the former of whom filled an honora-

ble position at the court royal, and died in Paris

on the 8th of May, 1741. The son, Bernard, was

a highly esteemed gentleman, and his son, Bar-

tholomew was born in Paris, where he was Notary

Public. Two years after his arrival in Canada,

after the defeat of the Canadians by the French,

in 1759, he went to Berthier, where he continued

his profession as Notary Public. He was married

to a lady by the name of Veronneau. He died in

the latter place on the 20th of June, 1801, and his

wife followed him in ten days. They left nine

children, the seventh, Jean Baptist, being the

father of Alexander Faribault. He was born at

Berthier on the 19th of October, 1775, married

Pelagie Haines, and died on the 21st of August,

1860, in Torab. When a child Alexander was

very fond of hunting, and can remember while on

a pigeon hunt, that the British troops and Indian

allies attacked the place. This must have been

during the war of 1812. In the spring of 1821,

he, in company with the old trader, P. La Blan,

came up the Mississippi to the Minnesota river,

and the latter established a trading post where Le
Sueur now is. In the fall, Mt. Faribault was

given the escort of two Frenchmen, and returned

on the Mississippi to the present site of Hastings,

and traded during the winter. The following

spring they went to Fort Snelling, which Mr.

Faribault remembers having seen on his previous

trip. His father soon after became established on

Big Island, at Mendota, as a trader, and once

when the Indian chief, Wanata, or Cut Head,

living where Fort Abercrombie was subse-

quently built, was wanted at Washington, he was

dispatched for him, having for companions Jo.

Snelling, son of the Colonel, and two French

guides. They took a pack horse, and made the

journey on foot, but when ' arriving there pur-

chased of the Indians a pony, which Jo. Snelling

and Mr. Faribault took turns in riding back. The

latter was appointed, by Major Taliaferro, United

States agent at Fort Snelling, and held the office un-

til 1825. He was married in the latter year to Mias

Elizabeth Graham, who is one year older than him-

self. Her father, Duncan Graham, was an ex-army

officer, and her mother, a half-breed, was a descend-

ant of the earliest explorers of Minnesota. The same

year of his marriage Mr. Faribault established

a trading post directly opposite the present city

of St. Peter, on the Minnesota bottom, and the

locality became known as We-we, or Wet Land.

He lived there in a log house during the winter of

1825 and 1826. As the southern Indians desired

a nearer trading post, he, with a guide, in July,

1826, crossed the Cannon Eiver at the present site

of NorthfleJd, and encamped where the city of

Faribault now stands. He continued his journey

through where Waterville now is, and about nine

miles southeast, a place now known as Okaman,

in Waseca county, concluded to locate. He marked

the place by putting up three stacks of hay,returned

to Mendota, and in the fall of 1827, with 'seven

ox carts, and seven French assistants, wended his

way back through the wilderness, remaining at the

post three winters, and living at Mendota during

the summers. In the fall of 1830, he erected a

trading post at Lake Sakata, near where Water-

ville now is. The following fall he moved to the

east end of the lake, in the present town of Morris-

town, Eice county. The next year he moved
about three-quarters of a mile southwest, across

the Cannon River, and remained during the win-

ter of 1832-33^ In 1833, he followed the Indians

south to their hunting grounds, locating in the

present county of Faribault. The place had an

Indian name, signifying chained lakes. He then

traded in what is now Steele county, where St.

Mary's now is. In 1835, he came to the present

site of Faribault and put up a log house 15x25

feet. It was on the first bench on the east side of

Straight river, between the bridge and the resi-

dence of Mr. Gibson. Ever since he first en-

camped here, in 1826, it had been his intention to

secure the spot if it ever came into the market.
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He remained at this post during the winter

months, and lived with his family at Mendota in

summer, employing two Frenchmen to look after

the stock and post.

The flat on the west side of the river had pre-

viously been cultivated by the Indians, and Mr.

Faribault plowed most of the land lying between

what is now WUlow street and the river, north of

Third street, and planted wheat and corn, the

Indians receiving the benefits, as they would take

the wheat from the stacks and thresh it in their

blankets, to all of which they were welcome. Mr.

Faribault then owned about thirty horses, one

hundred head of cattle, and from twenty to forty

hogs. In the spring of 1853, he hauled lumber

from St. Paul and employed twelve men in getting

timber from the woods here, and during the sum-

mer erected a commodious frame residence which

sfciU stands. It was the first frame building in the

county. He was a very wealthy man in those

days, but his generosity has ruined him, finan-

cially, and now he is almost a pauper, not even

owning a home of his own. For ten years before

1853, he had plowed and planted land that is now
within the city limits.

His wife, Mrs. Elizabeth Faribault, died in

Elizabethtown, near Fergus Falls, in 1 875. Mr.

Faribault served in the battle of Birch Cooley in

1862.

.

Feedbbick WiiiiABD Pbink, who assisted in

organizing Rice county, Minnesota, in 1856, and

selected the site for the present Court House, and

has been auditor of the county since March, 1863,

is a native of Eutland county, Vermont, dating

his birth June 24, 1828. His father is Oalvin

Frink, a stone mason by trade, and the maiden

name of his mother was Lydia L. Avery. His

paternal great-great-grandfather was from Eng-
land, and his maternal great-grandfather was a

Captain in the Continental Army. When Freder-

ick was ten years old, the family moved to Green

Bay, Wisconsin, and one year later (1839) to

Mineral Point, in the same State. There the

family remained until September, 1841, when

they removed to Sauk county, where Calvin Frink

and two other men laid out the village of Prairie

du Sac. There Frederick remained ten years,

farming and lumbering, finishing his education,

meanwhile, at the Beloit Seminary in 1846, pay-

ing some attention to the classics, as well as

mathematics and other practical branches. In

1851, our subject went to Waterloo, Grant county,

in the southwestern part of Wisconsin, was there

engaged in lumbering for three years, and in

September, 1854, settled in Eice county, pre-

empting one hundred and sixty acres of land in

Richland township. There Mr. Frink opened a

farm, but his health failing he moved into Fari-

bault in 1856. In October of that year he started

the "Rice County Herald," which he sold out in a

short time, and which is still published under the

name of the "Faribault Republican," a paper de-

voted for twenty-two years to the advocacy of the

tenets of the Republican party. About this time

he purchased a fifth interest in the new town of

Shieldsville, Rice county, named for General

Shields, who was a resident of this county for two

or three years. It proved to be a "paper" town,

and with ten thousand other land speculators in

the "flush times" of 1856-'57, Mr. Frink exper-

ienced a thorough "smash-up." After he had

made and lost his fortune in the Shieldsville ven-

ture, he was a clerk three years for Faribault mer-

chants; was two years of this time Deputy County

Treasurer, and was elected County Auditor in

November, 1862. He is one of the most efficient

and reliable business men in the county, and very

popular with the people. He was among the

frontier men when he broke land in Minnesota,

and he was a frontier boy when living at Prairie

du Sao, Wisconsin. The first mail ever taken

from Madison westward to Prairie du Sac, was

carried by him on horseback at the age of eleven

years, a ride of more than fifty miles a day. All

the road he had, most of the way, was a trail

marked by "blazed trees," he aiding his father to

do the "blazing." Mr. Frink was Chairman of

the first board of County Commissioners (elected

in 1856), and resigned at the end of one year to

become a millionaire at Shieldsville. In politics,

Mr. Frink was originally a free-soiler, his candi-

dates on the Presidential ticket in 1852, being

John P. Hale and George W. Julien. His wife

was Miss Julia E. Beach, of Grant county, Wis-

consin; their marriage took place on the 22d of

September, 1852. They have one son, Edward
Laman, aged twenty-five years.

Joseph Gadget was bom in Berthier, district

ot Montreal, Canada, on the 21st of May, 1833.

He left his native place in 1852, and came to St.

Paul, where he clerked until 1855, then came to

Faribault, and in 1856, opened a general merchan-
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dise store with a $2,000 stock of goods. One

year later he removed to Lake City, opened a sa-

loon and remained until 1860, when he went to

Tennessee. He returned to this place a year after-

ward, and has since been engaged in teaching in-

strumental music.

J. D. Gkbbnb, one of the active business men
of this place, was born in Kent county, Delaware,

on the 25th of April, 1828. His education was

received at the schools of his native county, and

when sixteen years old went to Philadelphia,

where he entered the employ of the extensive im-

porting firm of L. J. Levy & Co. In 1855, he

commenced business for himself, and in 1858,

went to Washington, where he received an appoint-

ment from the government, having charge of the

money department of the dead letter ofltice, whieh

position he held for eight years, having previously

been connected with the appointment office of the

same department. He then came here, engaged

in the real estate and insurance business a year or

two, then commenced milling, which he has since

followed, owning dud operating the Straight Biver

stone mills, and also, with Mr. S. K. Gold, operat-

ing the Kendall mill in the city. He has the

reputation of making as good flour as is made in

the State, which is saying a good deal, in Minne-

sota. He was married in 1854, to Mrs. Mary A.

Gold, who had two children by a former husband,

William J. and Sidney K., the one being an Epis-

copal clergyman and Professor of Greek at Racine

College, and the other in the milling business here.

Mr. and Mrs. Greene were blessed with three chil-

dren; Walter W., Mary W., and Kendall. His

wife died on the 16tli of April, 1875. She was a

most estimable woman, a daughter of Hon. Amos
Kendall, one of the leading men in Jackson's and

Van Buren's administrations, holding the position

of Postmaster General under them. He was the

founder of the Deaf and Dumb Institute in Wash-

ington, and was the agent and partner of Prof.

Morse in the development and establishment of

the telegraph system. Mr. Greene was again

married, his bride being Miss Minnie M. Gibson,

of Boston, the ceremony taking place on the 12th

of June, 1877. They have three children ; Joseph

D., Charles L., and Cornelia G.

James Gibson, deceased, came to Faribault in

November, 1856, and was an influential citizen, a

native of Pennsylvania. He died on the 24th of

March, 1874, at the age of seventy-four years,

eaving a wife and tree children.

John Rioks, deceased, was an early settler com-

ing in the retinue of Mr. Faribault. He was

nearly blind for several years before his death,

which was in February, 1870.

John B. Gwathmbt was born in Greencastle,

Indiana, on the 8th of July, 1830. After going

to the public schools he attended the Indiana

Asbury University four years. The family then

moved to Bowling Green, and his father being a

practicing physician, John studied medicine in his

office. He attended school one year at Louisville,

Kentucky, after whicl^ he clerked in Cincinnati,

Ohio, then worked at the cabinet-maker's trade in

Greencastle and in 1855, came to Faribault, Minne-

sota, and engaged at carpenter work on the first mill

here. After its completion he learned the trade in

it, and in 1862, enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota

Infantry, Company B, served three years, then re-

turned here and worked at his trade in different

mills in the State until 1870, since which time he

has been head miller in the Crown Point flouring

mill. He was married in 1893, to Miss Lucinda

R. Willis, the ceremony taking place on the 10th

of February. They have three children.

Fkank Glaseb was born in New Jersey on the

28th of June, 1856. He learned the butcher's

trade with his father, and when nineteen years old

came to Faribault and engaged at that business.

He was married on the 25th of December, . 1877,

to Miss Albertha Schultz, who has borne him three

children, all of whom are living. In 1879, Mr.

Glaser started a meat market of his own, which

he has since conducted.

Rev. Edmund Galb is a native of England,

born near Chichester, Sussex county, on' the 12th

of November, 1821. He first engaged in mercan-

tile pursuits, and afterward studied medicine. He
was ordained as a Congregational minister in

1856, after having preached one year in Geneva,

Ohio, and previou^y three years in England. On
the 28th of August, 1856, Miss Ruby C. Cowles

became his wife and they have three children. In

1863, Mr. Gale removed to Michigan and in 1866,

came to this place and assumed charge of the Con-

gregational church, remaining till 1873, and then

returned to Ohio. In April, 1881, he came again

to Faribault and has since had charge of the same
church.

G. M. GiLMOEB, a native of Suljivan county,

New Hampshire, was born on the 24th of April,

1824. His father was engaged in the manufac-
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ture of woolen goods and lumber, at which busi-

ness G. M. worked until the age of twenty -one.

He then, in company with his brother, went to

Boston and conducted a wliolesale foreign fruit

trade. In 1855, he came to Minnesota, and in

January, 1856, to this place and bought his present

farm which was then heavy timber. He soon re-

turned to his native State, and after visiting Mis-

souri with a view of locating there, came again to

his farm. He was married in September, 1851, to

Miss Sophia J. Medcalf. The result of the union

is seven children. In 1858, Mr. Gilmore run the

old Scott saw and flour mill, and continued it four

years, then was engaged in mercantile pursuits for

three years. In 1870, he moved on his farm and

has since devoted his time to its improvement. It

is beautifully located within the city limits and

finely cultivated, having fountains, well-kept build-

ings and lawn, and well-stocked trout and salmon

ponds, supplied with water by a spring a few feet

from the house.

Rev. C. Gbnis was born in France, on the 3d of

October, 1838. He received his education in the

seminary of Meximieux and the Grand Seminary

in the city of Bourg, and was ordained on the 15th

of June, 1862. The following year he came to

America and was engaged in missionary work in

Minnesota under Bishop Grace for five years, then

became parish priest at Austin, and since October,

1874, has been pastor of the Catholic church of

the Immaculate Conception in this city. To the

superior management of Father Genis is due much

of the present usefulness of this church.

AijBXandeb J. Grant was born in Canada West

on the 10th of November, 1850. He was reared

on a farm and when eleven years old moved to

Ohio. In 1866, the family came to Faribault and

his father was engaged in farming and lumbering,

and also contracted for railroad work, in all of which

Alexander assisted. In 1873, he was appointed

Deputy Sheriff of the county, held the office two

years and afterward clerked in a store. In 1879,

he bought the grocery store in which he had

previously clerked and has since carried on the

same, keeping a full line of staple and fancy

groceries. Miss Etta Fitz became the wife of Mr.

Grant in September, 1879, and they have one

child, Henrietta.

L. A. Hathaway, a native of Delaware county.

New York, was born on the 1st of May, 1834. His

father was proprietor of a hotel, ond he spent his

early life in that business. When he became of

age he went to El Paso, Illinois, and continued in

the hotel business, subsequently went to La Salle

and thence to Chicago where he was engaged in

mercantile pursuits in connection with the hotel.

In 1880, he came to Faribault, and under his su-

perior management the Arlington House has since

flourished. He was married before leaving his

native State to Miss Atlantic Beal, the ceremony

taking place on the 7th of March, 1852. They

have one boy, EUiott G.

P. J. Hummel, a native of Germany, was born

in Darmstadt on the 27th of February, 1859. His

father held the office of Recorder and Treasurer

in that city from the time he was of age until his

death. In 1869, P. J. came to America, landed iu

Rochester, New York, from which place, in 1872,

he came to Washington county, Minnesota, pud

remained three years engaged in different occupa-

tions. He afterward Uved in St. Paul one year

and in 1876, came to this city where he has since

carried on a photograph gallery, doing a very

prosperous business on Third between Main and

Elm streets. He is a member of the National

Guards of the state of Minnesota, in which he holds

the office of Sergeant. On the 8th of June, 1880,

he was united in marriage with Miss Emma Degen.

Luke Hulbtt, deceased, one of the earliest set-

tlers in Faribault, who was closely identified with

the interests and prosperity of the whole com-

munity, and to whom it, in turn is indebted for

valuable counsel and assistance in town, county,

and State organization, was born in Rutland

county, Vermont, in 1803. In 1824, he voted for

John Quincy Adams for President, and then started

for Ohio. In 1830, he visited Chicago, and after-

wards settled 100 miles east of that city. He
built a saw-mill on the St. Joe River in 1833. In

1846, he removed to Wisconsin. When he started

out his capital consisted of a knowledge of prac-

tical work on a farm, and when he got to Ohio

and began farming his wheat sold for twenty cents

a bushel, and it required ten bushels to buy a

pound of Young Hyson tea. Ten years afterward,

in northern Indiana, he sold wheat for thirty-flve

cents a bushel. When Mr. Hulett came here he

brought his wife and six little girls, which was

deemed a hazardous thing, but they remained to

become highly respected wives and mothers.

Horace Greeley used to allude to the "Tribune

readers" as a particular class of men, above the
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average intelligence, large hearted, and liberal in

their views, and with open sympathies for suffer-

ing humanity. Well Mr. Hulett was a "Tribune

reader," he took the paper from its very commence-

ment, and constantly reading it made him a man
of general information. He left his impress on

the times, retaining the confidence and respect of

all who knew him to the very last. He was the

authqf of the chapter in the Minnesota laws on

town organization. For more than half a century

he was a pioneer on the frontier. On the 18th of

March, 1882, at the ripe age of seventy-nine he

took his final departure. Besolutions of respect

were passed by the Old Settlers' Association, of

which he had been the honored and venerable pre-

sident from the first.

A. L. Hiijt, proprietor and owner of Hill's Fur-

niture factory, and one of the early settlers of the

city, was born in Hampden county, Massachu-

setts, on the 2d of April, 1829. When sixteen

yt;ars of age he commenced to learn the machinist

trade at Hadenville, at which he worked Until

1848, then came to Fond-du-Lac, Wisconsin, and

started a machine shop, the fir&t in that city, run-

ning his machinery by horse power. In 1853, he

visited California, but returned the next year and

engaged in the lumber trade in Fond-du-Lac, at

which he continued until 1855," when he came

here and manufactured Jurniture on a small scale.

He has increased his business, and now has one of

the largest manufacturing establishments in the

city, doing superior work. He carries on a retail

store also, and is proprietor of the fine business

block bearing his name.

Jbremiah Hbalt, deceased, the oldest settler of

Erin township, and one of the oldest in Rice

county, was born in the county of Cork, Ireland,

in 1819. He came to America in 1842, and set-

tled in Dubuque, Iowa, then a frontier town, re-

mained there till the spring of 1855, and moved to

the territory of Minnesota, settling in what is now

known as Erin township, Eice county. Mr. Healy

was noted for his integrity, honesty, and xm-

bounded hospitality, his claim shanty being open

to all emigrants, and assisting them in locating

claims in that vicinity free of charge. On the

25th of July, 1868, he passed calmly and peace-

fully away, surrounded by his family and friends

and fortified by the sacraments of the Catholic

church, of which he was a devout and consistent

member. He left a family of fourteen children,

seven boys and seven girls, nine of whom are still

living, Sarah being the first white child born in

the township. He was ably assisted by his noble

and devoted wife, who still survives him. The

eldest, Edward and Jeremiah were twins. The

latter was elected County Commissioner of the

Fifth district at the age of twenty-three years.

In 1874, he entered into the general merchandise

business in Faribault with his brother, Edward,

and was elected Alderman in the Third ward in

1880.

Edward taught school for several years in Eice

and Le Sueur counties, and in 1872, moved to

Faribault and engaged in mercantile pursuits.

He is at present County Commissioner of the

Third district. The two brothers do a successful

business on the corner of Third and Elm streets,

under the firm name of Healy Bros. John occu-

pies the old homestead.

J. 8. HiLLYBB, one of the proprietors ot the

Faribault flouring mill, was born in Southamp-

ton, Hants county, England, pn the 7th of April,

1840. His parents died before he was ten years

old, after which he attended school until eighteen

years of age at Duncan College, and then learned

the miller's trade. He bought the flouring mill

at Alresford, which he run until 1867. Mr. Hill-

yer was married in June, 1860, to Miss Selena A.

Miller. They removed to Winona, Minnesota,

where he owned and operated a flouring mill with

his brother-in-law. He remained there about

eighteen months, then removed to Eockford,

Wright county, Minnesota, where he was from

1869 to 1876, then visited England and the next

year commenced his milling interest here by
building the Faribault City mill. In 1880 and

'81, he owned a one-half interest in the -'Eed

Jacket Mills" at Mankato, which burned in the

latter year. He is the father of four children,

three of whom are living, one boy and two girls.

A. H. Hatch was born in Chelsea, Orange
county, Vermont, on the 19th of June, 1833. His

father being a farmer, our subject remained at

home on the farm until nineteen years of age. He
then worked one year at the harness-maker's

trade, but gave it up on account of his health and
returned to the farm. Two years later he engaged
as clerk in a grocery store in Boston, and in the

spring of 1857, came to Juneau county, Wiscon-

sin, and worked on a farm that summer, teaching

school that winter. He learned the carpenter
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trade of Edward Kay, and engaged at it in Tarious

places until 1861, then returned east. In 1864,

he came to Faribault and does business as con-

tractor and builder. He has been twice married;

first to Miss Mary Jane Ray, the ceremony dating

the 10th of March, 1858. They had three chil-

dren, and his wife died the 17th o£ August, 1874.

His present wife was formerly Eliza A. Eussell,

whom he married in October, 1876. Mr. Hatch is

a prominent member o£ Eainbow Lodge, No. 36,

I. O. O. P., and has held various offices in the same.

M. B. HaskeiiL, a native of Kennebec county,

Maine, dates his birth the 7th of May, 1848, and

was reared on a farm. In 1869, he cams to Steele

county, and opened a small store at Medford. He
was married on the 11th of October, 1869, his

bride being Bliss Etta 0. Boyles. In 1871, he

came to this place, and opened a confectionery

store on a small scale, but by good management

has increased his stock, and now carries a full line

of fancy and stuple groceries. Mr. and Mrs.

Haskell have been blessed with three children.

M. P. HoLMBN was born in Norway on the 6t'i

of May, 1847. He was reared on a farm and

worked in copper mines in his .native country,

coming to America in 1867. He came directly to

Minnesota, locating in this place the same year

and engaged in work on the railroad, continuing

at the same seven years, then clerked in the city

two years. In 1875, in company with Mr. Lar-

son, he opened a grocery store, but two years

later the firm dissolved partnership, and now Mr.

Holmen conducts the business alone. He was

married on the 12th of February, 1876, to Miss

Severena Matison. Of four children born to them,

three are living.

A. E. Haven, who owns and edits the '^ Fari-

bault Democrat," was bom in Guilford, Chenango

county, New York, on the 4th of February, 1840,

and attended the public schools of his native

town. In 1856, he went to La Crosse, Wisconsin,

was a pupil at the high school two years and tliea

studied law in the office of Judge Hugh Cameron,

learning the art of printing at the same time. Iq

April, 1861, he enlisted in the Second Wisconsin

Volunteer Infantry, Company B, serving in the

Army of the Potomac till 1864, and received his

discharge in July. In August, he commenced
work in the "La Crosse Democrat" office and was

gradually promoted to associate editor, having

entire editorial charge the last three years. On

the 15th of November, 1867, Miss Mary A. Meeker

became his wife and they have two children,

Reide M. and Freda. In 1871, Mr. Haven came

to this place, and purchased the " Faribault Lead-

er," changing its name to the " Faribault Demo-

crat," and issuing the first paper on the 8th of

September, 1871. He has been a member of the

School Board two terms during his residence here

and in 1876 and 1878, was elected County Super-

intendent of Schools.

E. D. Haskins, the efficient Deputy Couuty

Treasurer, was born in Northampton, Massachu-

setts, on the 9th of April, 1842. In 1856, the

famUy came to Faribault and E. D. assisted his

father at the carpenter trade,', and three years later

purchased a photograph gallpry, in which business

he was engaged until 1861, then enlisted in the

First Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, Company G,

serving three years as musician, and during tlie

latter part of that time as chief musician of the

regiment. After receiving his discharge, he vis-

ited the East, and while there learned the art of

making gold pens, then returned to this place, and

in 1868, was appointed to the office above men-

tioned, which he has since held, with the exception

Oi two years, when he was engaged, in the manu-

facture of gold pens. His wife was formerly Miss

Nellie A. Beach, whom he married in Amherst,

Massachusetts, on the 27th of November, 1866.

Miles Hollisteh was born in Cattaraugus

county. New York, on the 22d of August, 1829,

and was reared on a farm. . When ten years old he

went to work in a tannery and remained two sum-

mers, after which he worked on a farm and clerked

in a store, going to school winters until seventeen

years old, when he went to live with his oldest

brother in Michigan. On account of malarial

sickness he soon returned to New York, however,

and taught school winters and attended Spring-

field Academy during spring and fall terms. In

1851, he was married to Orcelia A. Griffith, and

went into business for himself. Ih September,

1854, he left New York, stopping and teaching

school in Michigan that winter, and came to Min-

nesota in the spring, arriving in Faribault on the

18th of April, 1855. He made a claim and be-

came a resident on section fifteen, in what after-

wards became the town of Sargent (since changed

to Warsaw), and engaged in mergantile and mill-

ing business. On the organization of that town

he was unanimously elected the first Chairman of
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the board of Supervisors. In thfi fall of 1858, he

was elected Olerk of the District Court of Bice

ooupty and removed with his family to Faribault

in the spring of 1859; was re-elected to the

latter office in 1861, having in the meantime been

twice elected Town Olerk. of Faribault, and also,

for a time, held the office of Deputy County Treas-

urer, and at other times doing the work of the

County Auditor. On the 5th of August, 1862, he

enlisted as a private in Company B, of the Eighth

Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, and on the 17th

of that month was commissioned its First Lieuten-

ant, and served in that capacity until the spring

of 1865, when he was transferred and mustered as

Captain of Company K, of the One Hundred and

Twenty-Third U. S. 0. T., and as such was mus-

tered out about the 1st of November, 1865, filling,

while in service, the positions of Commissary,

Quartermaster, Ordnance Officer, Commandant of

a Company, of a Fort, and of a Eegiment. On his

return from the army, he went to St. Paul to live,

keeping books in the State Land Office until 1867,

when he returned to Bice county, and the same

year was elected Begister of Deeds, in which

, office he served two years. In the spring of 1874,

he was chosen Secretary of Bice County Grange

Mill Company, and continued with the company
until their mill burned and the company went out

of business, since which time he has held the

same position in the Polar Star Mill Company.
On the 28th of August, 1862, Mr. Hollister was

united in marriage with Susie S. Hunkins, for-

merly of New Hampshire, his first wife having

died on the 28th of June, 1861.

Charles F. Hummer was born in Austria, on

the Nth of August, 1841. When eleven years of

age, he entered the government military school,

remained there eight years, and entered the

Austrian army, serving eight years longer. He
was then employed as station agent on the rail-

road, and in 1875, came to New York City,

eighteen months later to Owatonna, Steele

county, Minnesota, where he clerked in a

store. On the 10th of October, 1880, he married

Miss Annie Hoffman, and the following year came

here and opened his present billiard hall and

saloon.

Jambs Hunter was born in Stormont county,

in the province , of Ontario, Canada, and grew to

manhood on a farm. In 1861, he came to Fari-

bault and attended school one winter. In Feb-

ruary, 1862, he enlisted in the Second Minnesota

Light Artillery, and was the first man wounded in

the battery. He was disabled on the 8th of Octo-

ber, 1862,at the battle of Perryville, and in March,

1863, received an honorable discharge. Having

learned the blacksmith trade, he followed that for

a time, but in celebrating the surrender of Gen.

Lee, in 1865, his left arm was blown off just below

the elbow. He was married on the 25th of April,

1866, to Miss Elizabeth F. Metherson, and the

same year he was elected County Sherifi', held the

position six years, then was Chief of Police sev-

eial years, and has been City Justice for the past

five years.

S. H. Jay is a native of Maryland, born in

Montgomery county, on the 1st of March, 1821.

He was reared on a farm, and in 1833, went with

his mother to Ohio, where he followed farming,

and later was employed in the construction of

railroads. He was married on the 7th of Septem-

ber, 1847, to Miss Ellen Collins. They have had

thirteen children, only seven of whom are living.

In 1856, ,Mr. Jay came to Wisconsin in the employ

of the railroad company, and two years later as-

sisted in the grading of the first railroad in this

State. He subsequently opened a farm in Scott

county, and in 1871, moved to Owatonna, and the

following year came here. Since 1875, he has

been proprietor of the American Hotel.

C. P. KiBKENAPP, one of the pioneers of

Wheeling township, was born in Hanover, Ger-

many, on the 7th of March, 1838. In 1851, his

parents moved to Illinois, and four years later

drove an ox team from there to Wheeling, where

they located a farm. The father died in 1859,

and C. F. carried on the farm until 1871, when he

came here and was employed in the machine bus-

iness. In 1877, he opened a grocery store and

saloon, and has since continued in the same.

P. H. KiBKENAPP, a native of Cook county,

Illinois, was born on the 25th of February, 1854.

In 1856, the family removed to Wheeling, this

county, driving an ox team the entire distance.

In 1861, his father died, and when our subject was

eighteen years old he came to this place and

learned the harness maker's trade, working at it

here and in Chicago till 1876, when he opened his

present harness shop, and has since done a pros-

perous business. On the 1st of June, 1880, Miss

Mary Kriser became his wife, and they have one

child, Edwin.
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E. Kaul, a native of Germany, was born in

Prussia, on the 3a of March, 1839. He was

reared on a farm, and in 1865, came to America,

locating in Madison, Wisconsin. In 1866, he went

to Cassville, in the same State, and clerked until

1868, then came here and started in business for

himself, opening a stock of general merchandise.

On the 2d of Pebruary, 1871, he was married to

Miss Mary E. Misgen, who has borne him six

children. Mr. Kaul now carries on a grocery

store and saloon, and is engaged in the manufac-

ture of cigars. He has been Alderman of the first

ward four' years.

M. H. Kebley was born in Kathguile, county

Wexford, Ireland, on the 17th of March, 1854.

In the fall of 1858, his parents, with their family

of seven children, of whom the subject of this

sketch was the youngest, left their native country

and came to America, settling near St. Thomas,

in Western Canada. After some years passed at

St. Thomas, Sandwich, and Chatham successively,

they moved to Beloit, Wisconsin, in 1865. After

passing a few terms in the High School at Beloit,

Mr. Keeley entered the celebrated Congregational

College, located in that city, taking a full classical

course. He remained in that institution till he

completed the Freshman year, and in 1869, was

sent from thence by his parents to prosecute his

studies at the excellent Catholic university of

Notre Dame, Indiana. There he graduated in

1872, receiving his bachelor degrees in arts, and

for the two subsequent years taught in the insti-

tution. Meantime his family had moved to

Waseca county, Minnesota, whither, in the sum-

mer of 1874, he followed them, with a view, how-

ever, of returning to his Alma Mater the same

fall, where he had made arrangements to continue

teaching. Being prevailed upon to remain in

Minnesota, and having cancelled his engagement

to teach, he began reading law in the office of

Hon. John H. Case, in Faribault, and was ad-

mitted to the bar in 1877, since which time he lias

been engaged in the practice of his profession.

In 1878, his Alma Mater conferred on him the

degree of Bachelor of Law, and some years prior,

the degree of Master of Arts.

On the 26th of June, 1879, Mr. Keeley was

united in marriage to Miss Katie E. Cavanaugh, a

young lady of fine accomplishments, a graduate

of St. Clara's Academy, Sinsinawa Mound, Wis-

consin, and a universal favorite in the best social

circles, the marriage taking place at Mitchell,

Mitchell county, Iowa, the ceremony being per-

formed by Kev. Fathers Sanders and Guun, of the

Boman Catholic church. Immediately after his

marriage, Mr. Keeley, who, up to that time was

associated with Mr. Case, opened a law ofBce of

his own, and has since done a good business.

He has been City Attorney of Faribault three

successive years, and still holds that office. In

religion he is an uncompromising Cathohc, with-

out being a bigot; in politics a staunch Democrat,

without being a partisan.

A. D. Keyes was born in Acworth, Sullivan

county, New Hampshire. He first attended the

common schools, then graduated from Kimball

Union Academy in 1868, having the Valedictory

of the classical course, and in 1872, from Dart-

mouth College. On the 17th of August, 1872, he

married Miss Mary E. Weston, a graduate of Kim-

ball Union. Poor health compelled him to come

west, and he began the study of law in the office

of G. E. Cole and was admitted to the bar in 1873.

He practiced in the same office until 1879, since

which time he has been alone, doing a fine busi-

ness. F.e has held several local offiees and in 1881,

was elected to the office of County Attorney which

he still holds.

0. H. KiiEMER, a native of Berlin, Germany,

was bom on the 20th of January, 1824. His

father died when C. H. was but five years old,

leaving a family of ten children. Our subject

learned the turner's trade and in 1848, came to

America and engaged in farming in Dodge county,

Wisconsin, a short time, then worked at his trade

in Watertown, in the latter State, until 1857, when

he moved to Goodhue county, Minnesota, and en-

gaged in farming seven years. In 1864, he came

here, worked at his trade one year, then started a

carding mill with one carding machine. He has

increased his business until he now is proprietor

of the Faribault Woolen Mill.

Fred. Kkeft was born in Hanover, Germany,

on the 8th of October, 1834, and engaged at the

butcher trade in his native country. He emigrated

to America about 1856, located in Chicago, Illi-

nois, where he engaged in business, and while

there married Miss Sophia Messe. In 1859, he

removed to Wheeling, Bice county, where he was

one of the first settlers; engaged in farming four-

teen years, then came to Faribault and opened a

saloon, which he has since conducted. He is the
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father of eight children, six of whom are living.

J. W. KoLiiMANN, a native of Germany, was born

in Hanover on the 26th of Aiigust, 1849. He at-

tended school and clerked in his native place and

in 1867, came to Quincy, Illinois, where he re-

mained three years, then went to St. Louis, Mis-

souri, and followed the same employment till 1874,

when failing health compelled him to change

climate. He came to Faribault and clerked for A.

W. Mueller. On the 2l8t of January, 1875, Miss

Mary Wieohers became his wife. They have one

child, Beata. In 1877, Mr. KoUmann bought out

the large stock of dry goods of A. W. Mueller

and in 1881, opened, a clothing store opposite his

dry goods house, taking O. Vogl as partner in the

latter business, the firm being Kollmann & Volg.

E. N. Leavens, the efficient and obliging Post-

master and one of the pioneers of Faribault, was

born in Putnam, Connecticut, and when two years

of age removed with his parents to Webster, Massa-

chusetts where his father had charge of the ma-

cliinery in a cotton mill. When seventeen years

of age E. N. commenced clerking in a general

merchandise store and in 1853, married Miss

Eunice Darling. Two years later they came to

Faribault and he engaged to clerk for Mr. Barron

in the old "Barron House," and in the fall of the

same year opened a clothing store. He was iden-

tified with the mercantile interests of the city until

1862, when he joined the Sibley expedition against

the Indians, serving as sutler of the Tenth Minne-

sota Infantry, going with the regiment to St.

Louis and through their extensive campaigns till

the close of the war. He was made Quartermaster

of the regiment in 1864. After his discharge he

returned here, where he was a commercial agent

five years. In 1858, he was elected first Bepresen-

tative from this district, and in 1873, was appointed

Postmaster, which position he still holds.

Joel L. Levi, a member of the firm of Levi

Bros., was born in Clear Spring, Maryland, on the

9th of September, 1855. His father was a mer-

chant and Joel was reared to that employment. In

1863, the family moved to Goshen, Indiana, and

three years later to Oskaloosa, Iowa, where our

subject clerked until 1877, then came here and

opened his present clothing store, also carries a

stock of bats, caps, etc. In 1878, his store was

destroyed by fire, but he immediately rebuilt. His

brother, Morris L, lives in Iowa.

E. M. Leach, one of the early settlers of this

place, was born in Washington county, Vermont,

on the 22d of April, 1830. He remained on a

farm until of age, then came to Illinois and two

years later to Iowa. In 1855, he removed to this

place, and for five years was engaged in various

occupations. In 1860, he visited Colorado, which

was his home for four years. He then returned to

this place and became a partner in the sash, door,

and blind factory, under the firm name of Ingram

& Leach. In 1881, he became sole owner of the

factory and the lumber yard in connection with it.

Miss Caroline Stowel became his wife in Novem-

ber, 1866, and of nine children born to them, seven

are living-

E. J. LiEB was born in France on the 5th of

February, 1842. At the age of seven years he

came with his parents to Beloit, Wisconsin, where

he remained on his father's farm until 1859, then

came to Faribault, driving through with a wagon.

After his arrival, he learned the shoemaker's trade,

at which he worked for some time, then specu-

lated in land and in 1862, opened a retail boot and

shoe store, which he has since carried on, also

manufacturing the same. He also deals in hides,

furs, etc. On the 15th of April, 1867, he married

Miss Catharine Pallas, who has borne him five

children, four of whom are living. He was burned

out in 1882, but soon opened his present store.

D. D. LiiOYD was born in Flintshire, Wales, on

the 3d of December, 1824, and came to Oneida

county. New York, at the age of eleven years,

with his parents who located on a farm. In 1842,

our subject came to Galena, Illinois, where part of

his time was devoted to mining until 1846, when

he enlisted in the Sixth Infantry, Company K,

serving two years on detached duty in the Mexi-

can war. He then removed to Wisconsin and en-

gaged at the mason trade, which he had learned

while young, worked at that for a time, then de-

voted his time to mercantile pursuits. In January,

1850, Miss Jane E. Boberts became the wife of

Mr. Lloyd and the union has been blessed with

three children, only one of whom is living. In

1860, he came to this place; has been engaged in

dry goods, hardware and grocery business, but in

1881, opened his present flour, feed, and provision

store.

Samuel Lokd, Judge of the Fifth judicial dis-

trict of Minnesota, and a son of Enoch and Eleanor

Warren Lord, is a descendent of an old Connecti-

cut family, now spread over the New England,-
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Middle, and most of the Western States. He

dates his birth at Meadville, Pennsylvania, on the

26th of July, 1831, where he remained till of age,

losing his father, a farmer, when the son was four-

teen years old. Samuel was educated at the local

college, taking special studies, such as he deemed

of most importance, and not graduating, teaching

school one or two terms, but never designing to

follow that vocation. He read law at Meadville,

with Joshua Douglas; came to Minnesota in 1856,

and practiced three years at Marion, Olmsted

county, representing that county in the Legisla-

ture in the session of 1857-58. In 1859, Mr.

Lord removed to Mantorville, Dodge county, where

he was in practice, except when on the bench, un-

til 1876, when he removed to Faribault, his present

home. He was a member of the State Senate,

representing Mower and Dodge counties in 1866,

'67, '70rand '71, being chairman of the judiciary

committee during three of these sessions. His

standing in the upper branch of the Legislature

was highly creditable. Mr. Ijord was elected

Judge in the autumn of 1871, for a term of seven

years and was re-elected in November, 1878. He
is learned- in the law, and a man of liberal culture;

is patient and painstaking in his official duties,

cool in his deliberations, strictly impartial, and a

man of the highest integrity. Such men honor

the ermine. Judge Lord has always afBliated with

the republican party, to which he owes the re-

peated honors conferred upon him. In June,

1855, Miss Louisa Compton, of Erie, county,

Pennsylvania, was united in marriage with Judge

Lord. They have five children living, and have

lost two.

Hon. Hbnet Olat LowBtii, deceased.—As one

of the most eminent and influential men of Kice

county and the State in the time of his life, a his-

tory of Rice county would be incomplete without

a sketch of his life. He was bom in Tbomaster,

Lincoln county, Maine, on the 1st of September,

1803. He grew to manhood; studied law in East

Machias, Washington county, and was admitted

to practice in 1830. He then settled at Eockland,

Knox county, and for twenty-five years enjoyed

an honorable and extensive practice, not only in

his native State, but throughout all New England.

Wherever hie practice called him, he was recog-

nized as holding a, high place in the very front

rank of his profession. In 1855, he removed to

the West, and in August of that year settled on

25

a farm about two miles south of Faribault, where

he remained until the fall of 1862, when he re-

moved to the city. In the spring following he

went to Le Sueur to attend a term of District

court, where he was suddenly siezed with inflam-

mation of the bowels, and on the 19th of March,

1853, he died, being fifty years, five months, and

nineteen days old. During the first three years

of his residence in Rice county he did not practice,

but the force of habit and long ascociation could

not be resisted, and in 1858, he returned to the

bar, where for the following five years he was one

of the most active and successful practitioners in

the State, familiarly kriown in every judicial dis-

trict, and everywhere regarded as one of the

brightest ornaments of his profession. He fell

—

as he had often expressed a desire to fall—at his

post. He was a fine speaker, a true man, and his

fidelity to>his client had almost passed into a pro-

verb.

The remains of the deceased were buried in the

Episcopal cemetery, where a large and solemn gath-

ering, from all parts of the State, united in paying

the last tribute of respect to departed worth.

Honest and upright in all his dealings, he leaves

behind him a name that will be cherished by all

who knew him.

C. L. LoweijIi, one of the pioneers of this place,

was born in Knox county, Maine, on the 3d of Oc-

tober, 1829. Besides the high school of his na-

tive city he attended the Academies at Lewiston,

and East Machias, and studied law in the New
York Law School and at Rockland, where he was

admitted to the bar in 1850, and practiced until

1855. He then came to Faribault, and thence to

Wilton, Waseca county, Minnesota, with his father

and a few others, who platted the town. Mr.

Lowell was married in 1851, to Miss Georgia

Berry. In 1858, he returned to Faribault, where

he practiced his profession several years, when

poor health compelled him to abandon it. He
sold his library, etc., and engaged in mercantile

pursuits, but after a time again turned his atten-

tion to law, doing also insixrance and real estate

business. He is a strong Democrat, and several

times has been the choice of his party for office.

Oapi. Jambs Robbbt Lucas, deceased, was born

in Chicago, Illinois, in September, 1835. While still

an infant his mother died, and his father a few years

later. When he came to Faribault, in 1856, he had

been to school but six months. Under Mr. and
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Mrs. E. A. Mott he studied arithmetic and other

branches, and worked in the oiHoe as a printer,

and was afterwards foreman in a St. Paul office. In

1864, he was appointed a paymaster in the army.

While in Faribault he ixiarried Miss Eeid. In

1865, he was appointed clerk in the Auditor's

offl.ce, and was chief clerk at the time of his death

in 1875.

J. P. LiNDBMAN, one of the proprietors of the

carriage factory in this place, was born on the

24th of December, 1854, in Missouri. In 1857,

the family removed to Iowa, and when our sub-

!eot was fourteen years old they came to Hastings,

Minnesota. J. F. worked at the carriage maker's

trade three years in the latter place, then went

east, engaged at the same until 1876, when he

came here and in company with his brother

opened a factory for the manufacture of wagons,

buggies, etc., doing a prosperous business. On
the Ist of November, 1876, he married Miss Lena

Griebel. They have two children.

EoDNEY A. MoTT, a native of New York, was

born in Warsaw on the 6th of December, 1825.

In the month of April, 1835, he removed with bis

mother to Chicago, his father having previously

died. Our subject attended Baker Academy in

northern Illinois, and Knox College, in Galesburg,

until 1848, supporting himself by teaching

through his literary and law studies. In 1848, he

commenced the study of law in Chicago with

James H. Collins Esq. In 1850, he went over-

land to California, and returned in the summer of

1852, by water. He was married in October, 1852,

to Bliss Mary Eipley, daughter of Eev. David

Eipley, of Pomfret, Connecticut. Soon after Mr.

Mott's return from California, he started a school

known as Oreto Academy for training teachers,

remaining in it for several years. In the spring

of 1856, he came to Faribault, and was the first

teacher in the public schools. For several years

he was proprietor amd editor of the first paper

published in the place, the "Eice County Herald,"

changing its name to the "Faribault Herald," or

"Faribault Eepublican." He left this enterprise

in 1858, and was admitted to the bar, and imme-

diately commenced practicing law, which is still

his profession. He was County Attorney two

terms, County Superintendent of Schools several

years, and in 1880, elected to the State Legisla-

ture. Mr. Mott has been connected with the State

institutions at Faribault, as Director and Secretary

of the Board, ever since they started. He is

Chairman of the committees on education and the

Deaf and Dumb and Blind ImbeoUe schools. He

and his family (ake a more than ordinary inter-

est in literary pursuits and all matters pertaining

to education. His mother, born in 1801, is still

hale and active and lives with him. Mr. and Mrs.

Mott have five children living ; Millie, a graduate

of St. Mary's College, is the wife of Prof. West,

superinteuden-t of the Duluth schools; Mary E.,

Alice J., who graduated at St. Mary's in 1881;

Christie, who graduated in 1882, and Louise.

The children were all born in Faribault, and

the family are all members of the Congregational

church.

A. W. McKiNSTEY was born in Chicopee, Hamp-

den county, Massachusetts, in 1828. His ancestors

on the paternal side were Scotch-Irish, and on the

maternal of English descent. A. W. received his

education in the common schools, which he at-

tended in the winter and worked on the farm in

the summer till the age of sixteen years. He sub- -

sequently was a pupil in Fredonia Academy one

term. In 1844, he secured a position as appren-

tice to the printing business in the office of his

brother, who published the "Fredonia Censor" at

Fredonia, Chautauqua county. New York. After

serving four years, he worked for a time as journey-

man in eastern cities and then formed a co-partner-

ship with his brother in the publication of the Cen-

sor. In 1857, Ellen E. Putnam became his wife, the

ceremony dating the 3d of September. They

have two children; Grace E. and Linn H. In

1865, he disposed of his interest in the paper

above mentioned, and came to Faribault and pur-

chased the Faribault, then "Central," Eepublican,

of O. Brown, Esq. The first number, after the

purchase, was issued on the 27th of December,

1868, and from that time to the present he has

continued the publication of the paper. In 1877

he served one term in the Minnesota House of

Espresentatives ; has also been a director in the

First National Bank of Faribault a number of

years, and is one of the directors of the Minne-

sota Central Eailroad Company. Wi,th the ex-

ception of one year, he has been secretary of the

Faribault Gas Light Company since its organiza-

tion in 1873. Mr. McKinstry is one of the. lead-

ing and public spirited men of Faribault. Any

subject that arises involving action in the interest

of the community is sure to be presented to him
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for advice, and great reliance is always placed

upon his judgment. He is a man who is thought

more of this year than he was last, and next year

will be thought more of than he is this.

H. M. Mattson was bom in Herkimer county,

New York, on the 3d of May, 1818. He settled

in Dundas in 1854, and has since continued to

reside in the county.

August Mobtenson was bom in Sweden on

the 25th of November, 1829. When seventeen

years old he commenced to learn the harness

maker's trade, s,t which he worked in his native

country till 1854, then emigrated to America, and

in 1856, came to Faribault. He worked in the

first harness shop in the place, and in 1858,

opened one of his own which he has since con-

ducted. He was married in May, 1860, to Miss

Annie Nelson, and they have had eight children,

seven of whom are living. Mr. Mortenson has

been a member of the Oity CounoU six years.

Ohakles H. Meteh was born in Prussia, Ger-

many, on tha 17th of February, 1848. In 1854,

he came with his parents to America, and in Hli-

nois joined a colony with ox teams coming to this

county. They located in Wheeling township,

and about two weeks after their arrival his father

met with his death while in the woods near his

farm, and his body was not found for over a year.

When fourteen years old, Charles went to Hast-

ings and learned the blacksmith trade. In 1872,

he came here and opened a shop,which was burned

soon after, and then he worked at his trade a few

years. He was married on the 22d of April,

1875, to Miss Matilda Burkert, who died on the

7th of October, 1877, leaving one child. In

1876,Mr. Meyer again started in business for him-

self, and has since continued making wagons.

The maiden name of his present wife was Jennie

Helberch, the marriage taking place on the 2d of

April, 1879. Two children have been born to this

union.

Thomas Mee, one of the first settlers of this

city, is a native of New York, born in Essex

county, on the 11th of January, 1835. He at-

tended the public schools of the village, and com-

pleted his education at the academy of Elizabeth-

town. After leaving school he learned the

machinist trade, and in 1856, came to Oshkosh,

Wisconsin, and the following year to this place.

He began his business career here by running an

engine in the old Scott saw-mill, afterward was

employed as book-keeper, and in 1859, when the

first national bank in the place, owned by W. H.

Dike, was established, he entered as cashier. In

1863, he started in the livery business, but two

years later engaged- in mercantile pursuits. On
the 29th of November, 1865, he was married to

Miss Emma I. A. Davis. They have one son,

James Eobert. Mr. Mee continued in the latter

business until 1870, when he entered the employ

or the railroad company as station agent, but a

year later engaged as assistant cashier in the

First National Bank, and in 1872 was made cash-

ier, which position he still fills. He has held

many local offices, and been City Treasurer four

years.

Timothy J. McCabtht was born in Ireland in

1848, and came with his parents to Minnesota in

1855. The same year, in company with Gen.

Shields, they came from Dubuque, Iowa, to this

county, and pre-empted land in Erin township.

His father died when Timothy was twelve years

old, after which he earned his own living, work-

ing in different places. He finally came to Fari-

bault and attended school, and in 1868, began

teaching. His mother married again, and for five

years he worked for his step-father, then clerked in

the store which he now owns. After buying the

business, from 1872 to 1875, he had a partner, but

since that time has carried it on alone. In 1880,

he purchased the Faribault Marble Works, of

which J. H. Nightingale is foreman. This busi-

ness is located on Fourth street, and the store on

Third. He also owns a brick yard in the city

limits northeast of Main street, keeping from

twenty-five to thirty men employed during the

summer seasons. He likewise owns several farms

in the county. He was married in 1873, to Miss

Anna C. Burns. They have four children.

Lewis C. Newoomb was bom in Madison, Ohio,

on the 10th of August, 1848. His father was a

merchant and a farmer, and in 1851, the family

came to Fayette county, Iowa, where they battled

with hard times, and the father died in 1877.

Lewis came to Faribault with his mother and two

brothers, and commenced Ute for himself with

absolutely nothing but his activity. He clerked

for a year, then, after working on a farm for the

same length of time, opened a small store in

Northfield, and in 1869, came again to this place

and bought out M. B. Shefiield. He now carries

$6,000 worth of groceries, and is doing a good
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business. He was n»rried on the 13th of May,

1868, to Miss Alsina Boardman. They have one

child, Charles L.

Genbbaij Levi Nutting, once Surveyor-General

for the district of Minnesota, dates his birth at

Amherst, Massachusetts, January 7, 1819. His

grandfather was of Scotch-Irish pedigree, and his

maternal grandmother was pure Scotch. His

fathei', John Nutting, a millwright by trade,

joined the Revolutionary army from Northamp-

ton, Massachussetts, near the close of the war, go-

ing in at the age of seventeen, and serving till

peace was declared. The mother of Levi was

Catharine Smith, whose father was of English

descent. After receiving a very limited education

in a district school, at fifteen the subject of this

notice commenced learning the shoemaker's trade;

worked at the business as apprentice, journeyman,

and manufacturer eight or nine years; attended

and taught school three years; was then employed

in superintending various branches of mechanical

business until near the close of 1852. At thfit

time Mr. Nutting started for Minnesota; reached

St. Paul on the 7th of January, 1853, the day he

was thirty-four years old, and spent two years

there and at St. Anthony, now East Minneapolis,

working at the joiner's trade. During the first

year that General Nutting was in Minnesota—in

the month of May, 1853—he visited the site of

Faribault, was greatly pleased with it; made a

claim of one hundred and sixty acres, and fully

made up his mind that this would some day be

his home. In April, 1855, he moved hither; com-

menced improving his lands, and for a few years

farming was his leading business, he dealing, how-

ever, more or less, in real estate, running teams,

burning lime, building, etc. He is a natural me-

chanic, and there seems to be few kinds of work in

a new country to which he could not " turn his

hand." When farm work was slack there was a

demand for his skillful hands in other depart-

ments of manual labor, and no such legacy as

laziness was left him. In 1865, he was appointed

Surveyor-General; held the office four years; then

became special agent of the custom department of

the United States Treasury, and held that position

six years, retiring in the autumn of 1875. He su-

perintended the construction of the main building

of the Institution for the Deaf and Dumb and the

Blind.

General Nutting was a County Commissioner in

1861-62, and chosen State Senator in 1864, attend-

ing only one session—winter of 1864-65—and re-

signing to take the office of Surveyor-General,

which office he held several years. In politics,

he was originally an Abolitionist, one of the

voting class, whose candidate for the Presidency

in 1844, was James G. Birney. General Nutting

was one of the "constituent" members of the

Eepublican party, and has never abandoned it.

From 1859 to 1864, he was Sergeant-at-Arms of

the State Senate, and has had, at times, some-

thing to do with the shaping of the policy of the

party in this State. He is a man of considerable

influence, considerate and prudent, and a wise

counselor. The General has his third wife. The

first. Miss Orvilla M. Dickinson, of Amherst, Massa-

chusetts, married on the 29th of January, 1846, died

OQ the 24th of the next December,leaving a new-born

son, Maynard L., who died in 1867. His second

wife, who was Miss Mary Eliza Foster, of Shutes-

bury, married on the 8th of May, 1848, and died

childless on the 24th of December, 1856. His

present wife, who was Miss Luthera A. Winter, of

Amherst, was married on the 12th of November,

1857, has three children living, and has lost two.

D. O'Beien, one of the first business men of the

place, was born in Killenaule, Tipperary county,

Ireland, on the 24th of June, 1819. He learned

the shoemaker trade in his native place and moved
to Halifax at the age of nineteen years. He came

to America and settled in New York when twenty-

one years old, moved to Eochester when twenty-

seven, to Wisconsin when twenty-nine, and came

to Minnesota at the age of thirty -five years. He
was married in New York in 1846, to Miss Mary
Sheay. Since first coming to America Mr. O'Brien

has been engaged at his trade. He came with his

family and two yoke of cattle from Wisconsin to

this place in 1854. Having met with many amus-

ing as well as dangerous incidents in crossing the

country from Hastings, they arrived in Faribault

and settled on the claim he had taken the preced-

ing April, a mile and a half south of the present

city. He immediately erected a log house, the

Indians assisting him in rolling up the logs, and

here the first boots and shoes in Faribault were

made by him. He soon gave up his claim there,

located one on East Prairie, -which he sold and in

1855, erected a store on his present site, which

was one of the first frame buildings in the city.

Mr. O'Brien's present brick block is t'.ie third build-
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ing erected on the same site by him, and he now

carries on an extensive boot, shoe and leather store,

also deals in hides and furs.

H. W. Pbatt, Mayor of the city of Faribault,

was bom in Chautauqua county, New York, on the

8th of August, 1834. His father was a farmer

and at times dealt in merchandise. H. W.
removed to La Porle, Indiana, in 1854, where he

taught school one year, then, having previously

read law in the East, he prosecuted the study in

the office of Col. A. D. La Duo. In 1856, they

both came to Mantorville, Dodge county, Minne-

sota, where they bought a one- third interest in the

town site. Mr. Pratt was admitted to the bar in

1857, and practiced in the latter county ten years.

He was married on the 24th of November, 1862,

to Miss Imogene A. Theyer, who has bom him two

children. In 1867, they removed to Owatonna,

where he engaged in the grain trade, doing an

extensive business along the Chicago, Milwaukee

& St. Paul railroad and coming to this place in

1877, where he carries on the same business. In

many of the towns on the railroad from Blooming

Prairie to Jim Kiver the elevators are owned by

Mr. Pratt. He was Judge of Probate of Dodge

county from 1857 to 1862.

C. 0. Perkins, one of the pioneer attorneys of

Faribault, was born in Stowe, Lamoille county,

Vermont, on the 22d of May, 1833. His father

dying when he was about three years of age, he

was left with six other children, to the care of his

mother, and in a few years to the care of himself.

Until sixteen years old his time was divided be-

tween farm life and the public schools, and from

that time until twenty, between teaching and

academical studies, attending first Bakersfield and

afterward Barre Academy. He then commenced

the study of law in his native town with Hon. H.

H. Bingham and after two years, in the spring of

1855, he emigrated to this place. Having been

admitted to the bar at the first term of the Terri-

torial District Court, he practiced his profession

about two years in partnership with his brother,

Hon. O. F. Perkins. Ketiring from the firm at the

end of this period, he devoted a year to further

study at the Cambridge law school. After his re-

turn the partnership of Berry, Perkins & Perkins

was formed, with which C. C. remained until 1861.

Prom this time for six years, he presided at the

Justice Court for most of the litigation in the

county within its province, and from 1864, for

four years he held the office of Clerk of the Dis-

trict Court. During the decade he was also en-

gaged quite extensively in the real estate and

insurance business. In the fall of 1869, in con-

sequence of ill health he retired from active busi-

ness and devoted a year to traveling in the old

world, visiting most of the cities and other places

of interest in Great Britain and on the continent

of Europe. He never again resumed the practice

of his profession, and for the last twelve years has

divided his time between traveling and the care of

his private business. In all his joumeyings the

state of matrimony seems to have been entirely

overlooked.

C. P. Palmer was born in Onondaga county.

New York, on the 18th of August, 1844. He at-

tended school in his native county and also at the

Oneida Conference Seminary, where he prepared

for college, but his eyes failing him he returned to

his father's farm, and afterward clerked for a

time. In 1869, he married Miss Emma Wood, a

native of Onondaga county. New York, the cere-

mony taking place on the 27th of January. The

same year they came to Warsaw, this county,

where he engaged in farming two years, then re-

moved to Faribault and opened a book and sta-

tionery store, the firm name being Andrews A
Palmer. In the spring of 1875, he sold out and

the 'same fall was elected Clerk of the District

court which oiHce he has since held. Mr. and Mrs.

Palmer have three children.

S. J. Pettitt was born in Dutchess county. New
York, on the 25th of October, 1829, and grew to

manhood on a farm. In 1854, he removed to Illi-

nois, opened a lumber yard and remained till

1856, then came to MantorviUe, Dodge county,

Minnesota, and operated the first saw-mill in the

place and afterward carried on a farm and also a

flour mill. On the 14th of February, 1863, he

married Miss Hattie L. Pratt. In 1874, he met

with reverses in business, then came to this place

and was employed in a flouring mill, but in 1875,

he was caught in the gearing of the mill and both

of his arms were crushed so badly as to necessitate

amputation near the elbows. He then started a

small confectionery stand, and in 1879, took a part-

ner; the firm name being Pettitt "& HiU. They

carry a fine stock of fancy groceries and fruits.

Mr. and Mrs. Pettitt have had four childi-en, two

of whom are living, both daughters.

C. P.Pike is a native of St. Lawrence county,
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New York, born the 22a of February, 1828. When
about fourteen years of age he went to New York

City and attended school three years, then was

employed in the tailoring establishment of J.

Newer & Co. with whom he remained nine years;

was then in various places in the East till 1858,

when he came to Wisconsin for his health. In

1861, he removed to Faribault and has since con-

ducted a merchant tailoring house, carrying

also gent's furnishing goods. Miss Oliloe Deni-

son became the wife of Mr. Pike in 1865. .They

have had four children, three of whom are living,

one girl and two boys.

J. A. Pbtbksbn, an old resident of this State

and one of the pioneers of Owatonna, was bom in

Schleswig-Holstein, in the northern part of the

Prussian province, on the 15th of August, 1827.

He attended school in his native town and when

sixteen years old began to learn the cabinetmaker

and joiner's trade. From 1848 till 1851, he served

in the war against Denmark and then entered the

Danish army and remained in Copenhagen one

year. In 1854, he was married to Miss Johanna

C. Cook, the ceremony taking ^lace on the 9th of

July. They came to America the same year, di-

rectly to Minnesota and located oh a farm in

Owatonna where they remained six years. In

1863, Mr. Petersen came to Faribault, opened a

stock of general merchandise and in 1879, erected

his present line brick building on the corner of

Fourth and Plum streets.

E. B. Petbesbn, a brother of the subject of our

last sketch, was born in the same place on the 27th

of May, 1831. When young he learned the shoe-

maker's trade and in 1854, came with his brother

to America. He also took a claim in Owatonna,

the same year, but three years later came to this

county and opened a shoe shop in Warsaw. While

there he married Miss Annie Caplan on the 29th

of November, 1859. She died the same year and

he married Miss Margaret Sell on the 2d of June,

1661. They have one child, a son. In 1865, Mr.

Petersen came to Faribault, opened a stock of

boots and shoes and afterward added groceries,

but in 1881, sold out his boot and shoe business

and now carries groceries alone.

Milan N. Pond is a native of Erie county,

Pennsylvania, bom on the 24th of March, 1830.

In 1839, he removed with his parents to Ohio,

thence in 1844 to JanesviUe, Wisconsin, and re-

maiued on the farm until the age of twenty-one

years. He then commenced traveling through the

State, selling dry goods and notions. In 1852, he

was married at Union, Eock county, to Miss Clara

Ide of that place. Mr. Pond came to Minnesota

and located a. clain in East Plainville in 1854, but

a year later removed to Faribault where he was

one of the pioneer settlers. At the first election

held in the county he ran for Sheriff and was said

to be elected, but was never qualified. In 1857, a

paper was started kown as the "Neutral" and Mr.

Pond and his brother purchased it, changed its

name to "The Free Soil" or "Abolition" they being

strong abolitionists, run the same for some time

and added to it considerable type and working

material and made numerous other improvements.

He has several times been candidate for Represen-

tative and once for Treasurer. His children are

:

Eda, Minnie, Milan, Hattie, Libbie Ethel, George,

Eddie, and Marshal. His wife died on the 24th

of March, 1881.

Thomas H. Quinn was born in Berlin, Wiscon-

sin, on the 6th of November, 1854, from which

place, in 1865, he removed with his parents to

Faribault where, with the exception of a portion

of the year 1872, during which he was engaged

with a party of engineers in locating the boundary

line from Pembina to the Lake of the Woods, he

has since resided. During his residence at Fari-

bault, and prior to commencing the study of law,

Mr. Quinn attended school and worked at various

occupations, including clerking, bookkeeping,

teaching school, etc. In December, 1875, he com-

menced the study of law in this city with Judge

John B. Quinn, his brother, and was admitted to

practice in November, 1876, since which time he

has continued to practice his profession. He is

now a member of the law firm of J. B. and F. H.

Quinn.

J. Wabken Richaedson was born in Massachu-

setts, in Franklin county, in 1844. In 1854, the

family came to Minnesota, and his father rented a

farm in St. Anthony one summer, then, the same

year, moved to Rice county and pre-empted land

in what is now Walcott township. The same

year he sold to Samuel Walcott, for whom the

town was afterward named, and removed to Fari-

bault. Two years later they went to Roberd's

Lake, located a farm on the east side and re-

mained until 1862, then returned to Faribault,

and Warren assisted in the farm labor until he en-

listed in the Eighth Minnesota Volunteer Lifantry,
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Company B. He served three years, two on the

frontier, and one in the South under Gen. Thomas,

was in seven battles, and discharged on the 20th

of June, 1865. He immediately returned to Fari-

bault and was employed in the elevator until

the spring of 1867, when he commenced to im-

prove his farm in section nineteen, which is within

the city limits. Since 1879, he has been engaged

in the dairy business, keeping from eighteen to

twenty-seven cows. Mr. Bichardson was married

on the 16th of April, 1866, to Miss Elizabeth S.

Kerr, and the issue of the union is three children.

Benjamin Miles Ebynolds, Superintendent of

the Public Schools of Faribault, was born in Bar-

nard, Vermont, on the 12th of July, 1825. His

boyhood was spent on a farm. At the age of

nineteen years he commenced his preparations for

college at the academy in Boyalton, Vermont, and

completed at Thetford under the instruction of

Hiram Orcutt. He was graduated at Dartmouth

CoUegcf in the class of 1852, and immediately en-

tered upon the work of teaching in the public

schools at Windsor, and has followed this calling

ever since in New York, New England, and the

Northwest. He has always been employed in the

public school with the exception of six months,

when he was principal of the Academy of Brad-

ford, Vermont. Mr. Eeynolds has been engaged

in educational educational work in this State four

years; three at Northfield and one at Faribault.

During the last thirty years he has been Princi-

pal of the High School at Barre, Massachusetts;

first Superintendent of Schools at Bock Island,

lUinois; Principal of the Union School at Look-

port, New York; Superintendent of Schools at

Madison, Wisconsin; and Principal of the High

School at La Crosse, Wisconsin. He has acted

on the visiting committees of Knox College, Uni-

versity of Wisconsin, the Normal Schools of Wis-

consin and Mankato, and as President of the Wis-

consin Teachers' Association.

David Both, a native of Washington county,'

Ohio, was born on the 23d of April, 1848. He
was reared on a farm, and when seventeen years

old entered a wagon shop ^nd learned the trade.

The family moved to IlUnois, where David worked

at his trade three years, and in 1869, came to this

county and assisted his father on the farm. He
came to the city and was engaged at his trade a

few months, then in St. Paul until 1875, when he

returned here and opened a wagon making and

repair shop, which he has since conducted. On
the 7th of September, 1871, he was married to

Miss Annie L. Schmidt. Three children have

been born to the union; the oldest, Louis A., a

bright boy of ten years, had the misfortune of

losing his hearing, through sickness, when six

months old.

Feancis M. Bose, M. D., a member of the firm

of Bose & Wood, the leading physicians in this

part of the State, was born in Columbus, Ohio, on

the 25th of March, 1841. Mr. Eose's grandfather

visited the present site of that city in 1790, and

located on a farm twelve miles south of there,

where he difed. Francis' father was a merchant

in the same place, and remained there until his

death. Dr. Bose attended the schools of his na-

tive place and the State University two years,

commenced the study of medicine when sixteen

years old at Starling Medical College and gradu-

ated three years later. He practiced at West

Bushville, Ohio, until 1861, when he was appoint-

ed Asssistant Surgeon of the Forty- third Ohio

Eegiment; in April, 1862, was promoted to Begi-

mental Surgeon, and in the fall to Division Sur-

geon, being then only twenty-one years old. In

1863, he was Medical Inspector of the Seventeenth

Army Corps, on the staff of General Frank Blair;

in 1864, was Inspector of General M. F. Forath's

division, and remained until the close of the war.

He then located in Ottawa, Illinois, and in 1868,

removed to Faribault, forming the present part-

nership in 1874, On the 25th of November, 1876,

Miss Cornelia W. Whipple became his wife. They

have one child, Francis M.

W. H. Stevens, one of the active business men
of the place, was bom in Scipio, Cayuga county,

New York, on the 22d of May, 1814. Soon after,

the family moved to Ontario county, where W. H.

attended school and studied medicine with James

Carta, M. D., in Geneva, commencing the practice

of his profession in September, 1835. He was

married in November of the latter year to Jane M.

Morris, of Seneca Falls, Seneca county. New York.

They moved to Michigan in 1837, where he fol-

lowed his profession for nineteen years, and in

1856, came to this place. Difficulty of his throat

and lungs led him to change his business, and

having purchased a stock of drugs and medicines

in Chicago on his way hither, he opened the first

business of the kind in the city. The only build-

ing he could obtain at that time was one 20x24
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feet and one story high. He erected a more

suitable one the following fall, and now carries a

stock of $10,000, including drugs,, books, station-

ery, and fancy goods, under the firm name of W.
H. Stevens & Oo., his son, P. G., being his part-

ner.

Joseph STOOKiiBiN was born in Bavaria, Ger-

many, in 1832. He learned the confectioner's

trade when sixteen years of age, worked at it in his

native country until 1854, and emigrated to New
York City where he was engaged at the furniture

business two years. He then came to St. Paul

and was engaged in a bakery and confectionery

store for a time, then to Mankato, and in 1858,

came to this place and opened a bakery and

cracker factory on a small scale, but soon added

niore stock and conducted it ten years.' At the

end of that time he engaged in the dry goods

business, to which he now gives his attention.

Albxandeb Smith was born in Dumbarton, on-

the Clyde river, in Scotland, and learned the tail-

or's trade when fourteen years old. In 1853, he

came to New York City, where he worked at his

trade one year, then engaged at the same in New
Orleans nine months, when he returned to New
York, and a year later came to Michigan, and

from thence, in 1857, to Faribault. He opened a

tailor shop and the next year Thomas Carpenter

became his partner under the firm name of Car-

penter & Smith. Miss Annie Parsons became the

wife of our subject on the 25th of December,

1862. They have been blessed with seven chil-

dren, three of whom are living.

J. T. Squibes, a native of New York, was born

on the 29th of January, 1836, and raised on a

fai-m. When twenty-one years old, he clerked in

a general store in Madoc, Canada, remaining till

1863, then followed the same employment in

Chenango county. New York, and soon started a

store for himself. In 1872, he came to Minneap-

olis and became one of the proprietors of a whole-

sale spice mill, remained until 1877, and came to

Faribault. He immediately opened his present

store in which he carries a stock of staple and

fancy dry goods. Mr. Squiers was married on

the 17th of October, 1858, to Miss Elizabeth J.

Brown. The union has been blessed with four

chil(Jren, three of whom are living.

M. J. Shbbran was born in Eutland, Vermont,

on the 10th of August, 1852. When seven years

old he came with his parents to La Salle coUnty,

Illinois, and four years later to Houston county,

Minnesota. He resided on a farm for a time, and re-

moved to Blue Earth county. At the age of seven-

teen years he went to Mankato and learned the art

of manufacturing ginger ale, plain and fancy syr-

ups, soda and mineral waters, cider, etc. In 1872, he

came here and opened an establishment in which

he conducts the manufacture of the latter-named

articles, together with export bottled beer, which

the added 'in 1877. Their goods are shipped all

over the Northwest, the firm name being Sheeran

& Filler Bottling Company.

Mr. Sheeran was married on the 5th of April,

1875, to Miss Maria Biirke. They have five chil-

dren.

Jambs Shonts is a native of New York, born

in Tompkins county, on the 14th of September,

1816. When he was an infant his parents

moved to Schuyler county, where he was

engaged in different occupations and in 1842,

opened a farm. He was united in matrimony on

the 10th January, 1840, to Miss Mitta J. Erway.

The result of this union was four children, two of

whom are living. In 1854, Mr. Shonts made a

trip to Steele county, this State, and the following

year brought his family and settled in this coun-

ty, in Warsaw township. In 1856, he came to

Faribault which has since been his home, and he

is extensively engaged in real estate and money
loaning. Mrs. Shonts 5.ied in 1873, and the mai-

den name of his present wife was Theresa Hayden.

A. J. Staubpbb is a native of this State, born in

Washington county, on the 4th of September,

1856. He came to Faribault in the spring of

1869, and located on the old Hulett farm, where he

has since resided. On the 30th of March, 1881,

Miss Lina J. Cuvert became his wife.

B. Schmidt was born in Germany on the 25th

of November, 1849. When he was fifteen years

old he came to America and learned the marble

cutter's trade in Wisconsin. He was afterwards

engaged at the same in Chicago, then in Iowa,

and in 1873, came here and continued until 1877,

when he leased the United States Hotel, which he

has since conducted. It is a brick building con-

taining about thirty rooms. Mr. Schmidt was

married on the 26th of November, 1875, to Miss

Katie Staly, who has born him four children.

William Tbnnant was born in Ireland on the

2d of April, 1847, and while he was stiUan infant

the family came to St. Lawrence county. New
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York, and William lived on his father's farm until

seventeen years old. He attended school at Eossie

and Hammond and then learned the millers' s trade,

working at in New York until 1869, then went to

St. Louis, Missouri, and six months later came to

Minneapolis, where he remained till 1871. Until

1874, he was head miller for the firm of Green &
Camfel in this city, and was then employed in the

Polar Star Mill until it was destroyed by fire. It

was rebuilt, and Mr. Tennant became a stock-

holder in it, and is now a member of the firm of

Bean & Tennant, lessees of the present Polar Star

Mill. Our subject was married on the 20th of

June, 1874, to Miss Sarah E. Leamons. They

have had five children, four of whom are living.

P. A. Thbopold, one of the active business

men of this place, is a native of the province of

Prussia, bom in Lippe, on the 22d of June,

1833. His father was a minister, being a govern-

me'nt church official. The subject of our sketch

graduated from the college at Lemgo in 1849,

and intending to lit himself for a merchant, en-

tered and graduated from a commercial college at

Bremen in 1852. He emigrated to America, and

arrived in Baltimore on the 4th of July, 1852.

Was engaged principally in a manufacturing bus-

iness, and in 1854-55, had charge of a tobacco

packing establishment in Ohio. In 1856, he came

to Osage, Iowa, and engaged in real estate busi-

ness, and later carried a stock of general

merchandise. On the 12th of September, 1860,

he was married to Miss Eunice J. Cotton, at

Athens, Pennsylvania, and shortly afterwards he

moved to St. Louis, Missouri, and engaged in the

grocery and commission trade. In 1867, his

health demanded a change of climate, and he

came to Faribault, where he opened his present

fine and extensive grocery business, building his

store block in 1871. In 1869, he assisted in start-

ing and directing the First National Bank, and

also, in 1873, became one of the stock owners of

the Faribault Gas Company. Mr. and Mrs.

Theopold have had four children, three of whom
are living.

Geobge TiijEston, a native of Hopkinto:;,

Massachusetts, was bom on the 8th of October,

1858. When he was ten years old the family re-

moved to Hyde Park, and six years later to Hing-

ham, where George attended the High School.

In 1877, Tie went to Boston and entered » dry

goods commission house, then was connected

with a mercantile brokerage firm, and in 1879,

commenced the same business for himself. In

1882, he removed to Faribault and formed a part-

nership under the firm name of Hillyer & Tiles-

ton, and they have since carried on a successful

milling business, owning the only strictly roller

custom mill in the State.

W. L. TuRNEB, proprietor of the Crown Point

flouring mill, was bom in Windham county, Ver-

mont, on the 13th of February, 1824, and lived

on his father's farm until twenty-one years old. IJe

then went to Boston,Massachusetts, and engaged in

what was known for twenty years as the Cheney &
Co. express line, from there went to Predonia, New
York, and in 1866, came to Minnesota, stopped at

St. Paul a few weeks, and came to Faribault. He
was married on the 18th of August, 1852, Miss

Selina J. Comstock becoming his wife. Mr. Tur-

ner was in the lumber business three years, then

leased the Crown Point mill, and soon purchased

it. He was one of the first Aldermen of the city,

He is the father of three children, two of whom
are living.

L. TuttijE was born in New Haven, Connecti-

cut, on the 23d of August, 1837. When seventeen

years old he was employed in a mercantile house,

and remained until 1856, when he came to Fari-

bault and engaged to work in a meat market. In

1858, he went into the same business for himself,

with a partner, and they have now a fine, well

kept shop. Mr. Tuttle was married on the 14th

of October, 1869, to Miss B. Boynton, who has

borne him one child.

Kev. J. Van Lbent, a man of superior educa-

tion and one who is much respected by all his ac-

quaintances, was born in Holland on the 21st of

January, 1839. He received his early education

at an Episcopal college in his native country, and
finished his Latin course after six years of study

;

then becoming a Jesuit by teaching three years,

studying theology four years, and philosophy three

years. In 1869, he went to Belgium,where he met
Father De Smet, the Amejican missionary, and

came with him to St. Louis, Missouri, teaching in

the University there one year. He then went to

Cincinnati, Ohio, and was professor of languages

at St. Francis for two years, and subsequently

filled the same position in St. Ignatius College,

of Chicago, four years. He then went to Europe

for his health, and in 1879, came to Faribault,

where he has since had charge of the French and
German Catholic churches.
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John George Vbeh, deceased, one of the pio-

neers of this place, ^^a8 born in Germany on the

15th of November, 1799. He learned the stone-

cutter's trade, at which he was employed in the

summer and worked in a factory in the winter. In

1830, he married Miss Elizabeth Kahler, and in

1843, they came to America and located ii'. Cook

county, Illinois, where ho worked a farm on

shares. Mrs. Veeh died one week after her arrival

from a disease contracted on the boat. She left

two children; Elizabeth, now Mrs. J. J. Blank,

living in Faribault; and Delia, now Mrs. P. Hel-

friest, living in Wisconsin. Mr. Veeh removed to

Wiieeling, Minnesota, in 1854, and staked a claim

in section twenty-two, where he lived three years,

then made his home with his souTin-law, J. J.

Blank, until his death, which occurred on the 22d

of February, 1873.

Mathbw Wall, deceased, one of the pioneers

of this county, was bom in West Meath county,

Ireland. He received an education in his native

country and became a teacher. He came to

America, and in Dubuque, Iowa, continued to teach

school a few years coming to this place in 18—

.

He was one of the first teachers at Shieldsville and

also in the Catholic school in this place. In 1870,

he went to California for his health, but died three

weeks after his return in 1875. His son, S. P.

Wall, was born in Ireland on the 8th of May,

1848, and came to this place with his father. In

1862, he commenced to learn the tinner's trade,

and four years later went into business for himself

for two years. At the end of that time he went

to Mankato and three years later to Mason City,

Iowa, thence to California, and in 1873, returned

here, where he has since been engaged in the hard-

ware business. He was married in October, 1867,

to Miss Johanna Conners. They have had seven

children, six of whom are living.

J. B. Wheeleb, one of the pioneer merchants

of the city, was born in Northbridge, Worcester

county, Massachusetts, on the 8th of May, 1822. He
was brought up, to agricultural pursuits and edu-

cated at the Friends' school in Providence, Bhode
Island, and taught during the winter months. He
was a member of the school board and also Asses-

sor in his native town for several years. In 1850,

he visited Illinois, taught school near Chicago dur-

ing the winter and in the western part of the State

the following summer, then returned to his home
in Massachusetts. He was married in 1853, to

Miss Clara L. Slocomb. In 1856, being in poor

health, he was induced to again come west and the

following year opened a drug store in this city.

He located on the corner of Main and Second

streets where he has been in business twenty-five

years and now carries a fine stock of drugs, medi-

cines, and fancy goods in one department, and a

large stock of groceries, crockery, etc., in the

other. He was County Commissioner for several

years and has filled many local offices. He is the

father of three children, two of whom are living.

Adam Wbtbr was bom in Prussia, Germany, on

the 28th of February, 1838, and came to America

in 1847, locating in Kenosha, Wisconsin. When
eighteen years old he commenced learning the

,

wagonmaker's trade, and the following year went

to New Orleans, Louisiana, where he was engaged

at his trade three years. He then removed to Chi-

cago and in 1868, came here and began to manu-

facture wagons, having now a commodious stone

building and doing an extensive business. Mr.

Weyer was married on the 2d of Febrnary, 1870,

to Miss Lilbla Eoell. They have had five children

,

four of whom are living.

Bev. Gbkgb B. Whipple, a brother of Bishop

Whipple, was bom in Adams, Jefierson county,

New York, on the 26th of June, 1830. After at-

tending the schools of his native place he entered

Hamilton College from which he graduated in

June, 1852. He was then employed in a banking

house in New York until 1860, when business

called him to the Sandwich Islands where he re-

mained a short time, then came to Faribault and

taught in the Seabury Divinity School. He was

ordained in 1862, and three years later went as a

missionary to the Sandwich Islands. In 1873, he

returned and became pastor of the Cathedral of

our merciful Saviour, and is also acting Chaplain

of St. Mary's Hall. Miss Mary J. Mills, of Wash-
ington county. New York, became his wife on the

15th of August, 1861.

Ebv. E. S. Wilson, professor of Exegesis and

Hebrew in the Seabury Divinity School at Fari-

bault, was formerly a Presbyterian minister of the

Old School. He is a native of Ohio, bom in 1834,

educated at the college and the theological

seminary at Danville, Kentucky, and was admitted

to the Presbyterian ministry by the Presbytery of

west Lexington, Kentucky. He remained in that

State as a minister of the Gospel until the war was

half over, when he went to Vinceunes, Indiana,
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where he remained three years. From thence he

went to New York, where he remained twelve

years. During his residence in that State he be-

came a minister of the Protestant Episcopal church

and was Kector, first at Brockport and afterward

at Coming. He was then called to the professor-

ship at Faribault, where he is at present.

0. A.. Wood was born in Shefford, Canada, on the

11th of May, 1836. When fourteen years old he

entered a store as clerk, and after five years in that

employment was in the civil engineering corps of

the Stansted, Shefford, and Chamble Railroad

Company, and was soon made station agent and

telegraph operator. For a time, in company with

his father, he was engaged in the manufacture of

lumber, then again was employed by the above

railroad company. He was married on the 12th

of March, 1856, to Miss Helen W. Oammings. In

1866, they came to Wisconsin and farmed a year,

then to Fond du Lac, where Mr. Wood conducted

a saw-mill for the Chicago & Northwestern Eail-

road Company for over four years. After coming

to Faribault he engaged with his brother in the

sale of Agricultural implements for a few years,

then was employed by C. Aultman & Co. as travel-

ing salesman and collector. In 1880, he bought

out his brother's agricultural machinery business

and now has a good trade. Mr. and Mrs. Wood
have had five children, four of whom are living.

W. J. Wilson is a native of Upper Canada,

born in the township of Darlington, Durham

county, district of Newcastle, on the 1st of May,

1820. He was raised on a farm and in 1837, went

to New York and worked at farming and on the

rivers. In 1844, he came to Dodge county, Wis-

consin, where he opened a store, ten years later

moved to Iowa and was employed on the Missis-

sippi steamers several years. In 1861, he moved

to Waseca county, where he carried on a farm and

hotel, thence to Wabasha and remained about nine

years. He came to Faribault in 1879, and has

since been proprietor of the hotel known as Wil-

son's Exchange, located near the depot.

C. F. Wbndt was born in Prussia, near Berlin,

on the 18th of March, 1848. He learned the cab-

inet makers' trade in his native country, and when

nineteen years old emigrated to America. He
came dire(*ly to this place and was engaged in

different occupations until entering the Barron

House as'clerk, where, he remained three years.

In 1873, he opened a restaurant and confectionery

store and also has grooeritis. He was married on

the 7th of October, 1873, to Miss Mary Melott.

They have three children.

Kight-Rev. Hbnby B. Whipple, D. D., Protest-

and Episcopal bishop of the diocese of Minnesota,

was born in the town of Adams, Jefferson county.

New York, on the 15th of February, 1822. His

parents were John H. and Elizabeth Wagner Whip-

ple. The Whipples were early seetlers in Massa-

chusetts. Benjamin Whipple, the father of John

H., was in the revolutionary war, and taken priso-

ner, put on board a British ship, and held a Jong

time. The subject of this sketch gave his early

years to study, designing to go directly through

college, but while making preparation his health

failed, and he devoted several y9ars to mercantile

business at Adams. In 1847, his health being im-

proved, he relinquished trade, became a candidate

for orders in the Protestant Episcopal Church

;

pursued his studies with Rev. W. D. Wilson, D. D.

since professor in CornelJ University, Ithaca, New
York, and in August, 1849, was ordained deacon

in Trinity Church, Geneva, New York, by Bight-

Rev. W. H. DeLancy, D. D. On Advent Sunday

of the same year Mr. Whipple took charge of

Zion Church, Rome, New York. He was ordained

priest by the Bishop just mentioned, on the 16th

of July, 1850; had caUs to Grace Church, Chi-

cago, and St. Paul's Church, Milwaukee, in the

winter of 1856-57, but declined. In the early part

of 1857, at the solicitations of persons interested

in free churches, he went to Chicago, and on Easter

Sunday organized the Church of the Holy Com-

munion, a free-seated church, one of the first

Episcopal churches of the kind in the West. He
was elected bishop of the diocese of Minnesota, on

the 30th of June, 1859; was consecrated on the

13th of the following October, at Ricmond, Vir-

ginia, and spent the following winter in visiting

his diocese, holding his first service at Wabasha.

In the sprin;; of 1860, Bishop Whipple, with his

family settled in Faribault, he having been mar-

ried on the 5th of October, 1842, his wife being

Miss Cornelia Wright, daughter of Hon. Benjamin

Wright, of Adams, New York. He brought with

him six children, all yet living but the youngest

son. Prior to the Bishop's settling in Faribault,

Revs. J. L. Breok and S. W. Manney had com-

menced an associate mission here, designing to

establish denominational schools; and one of the

very first steps of the Bishop was to organize
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Bishop Seabury Mission, under which corporation

are the Seabury Divinity College and Shattuck

School. St. Mary's Hall, also located at Fari-

bault, and devoted exclusively to the education of

young ladies, has a separate board of trustees.

These schools are all popular and well patronized,

and are annually sending out large numbers of

young men and young women equipped for use-

fulness in the world. From the Divinity College

have gone out between forty and fifty clergymen,

most of them now in fields of much usefulness.

Under the direction of Bishop Whipple church

schools have been established at St. Paul, Minne

apolis, Shakopee, Eed Wing, and Hastings. At

White Earth, Polk county, is a Chippewa Indian

mission, with a church of between three and four

hundred members, and schools, and a hospital.

Since the Bishop settled in Minnesota more than

thirty Episcopal churches have been fornied, and

the denomination has been very largely strength-

ened. The churches in' his dioceso, numbering in

all not far from sixty, are all free but four or five •

G. Weston Wood, M. D., one of the leading

physicians of the city, was born in Canada, in

Sheffield county, Quebec, on the 8th of May,

1842. His father was a cavalry officer of some

prominence during the Canada insurrection in

1837, and wa,s also engaged in manufacturing. G.

Weston attended the Bishop's College, at Lenox-

ville until sixteen years old, and one year later

went to McGill College, where he graduated from

the medical department on the 4th of May, 1863.

He was united in marriage on the 4th of July,

1868, with Miss Ella M. Fox. In 1873, they re-

moved to Faribault, and one year later formed

the present partnership of Kose & Wood. He has

been County Coroner three terms and is now
County Commissioner. He was mayor of the city

iii 1881, and is now Surgeon of Shattuck School.

They have three children, two boys and one girl.

CITY OF NORTHFIELD.

CHAHTEB LII.

INTEODDOTION—EABIiT SETTLEMENT INTBKESTINQ

EVENTS BANDITS ATTACK THE BANK AND KILL

THE CASHIEB—INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS BNTBR-

PBISES ST. OLAP'S SCHOOL—OAELETON COLLEGE

OBSEKVATOET BELIGIOUS ASSOCIATIONS AND

SOCIETIES—OLD TOWN HALL—WATBRFOBD.

This beautiful and enterprising city originated

more than a quarter of a century ago,when the beau-

tiful valley of the Cannon River was the hunting

grounds of some savage tribe, and when much of

the surroundings were as free and wild as the

time when the stars of the morning sang anthems

of joy at nature's dawn.

The changes from the primitive to the devel-

oped state have been constant and rapid. It has

been one continual change from the moment of its

origin until Northfleld oC to-day stands forth one

of the brightest jewels tn the diadem of a noble

State. While there may have been nothing really

remarkable in the development of the past, or no-

,

thing peculiarly striking in the present, still there

is much that cannot fail to be of interest to those

who have been closely connected and identified

with the city in all the various changes that have

occurred from year to year. To those who have

watched its progress from its earliest origin— '

when Rice county was a wilderness—until the

present time, the accomplishment of bygone years

seem like a herculean task; but are in reality the

sure and legitimate results of an advanced state

of civilization. Endowed with many natural ad-

vantages, aided by the strong arm of an enterpris-

ing husbandry, Eice county has assumed a posi-

tion among the best and wealthier of her sister

counties throughout the State; and Northfleld, as

the second town within her boundaries, has kept

pace with the improvements and advancement of

the country by which it is surrounded.

Northfleld, with its three thousand inhabitants,

is located in the extreme northeastern portion of

Rice county, with Dakota county on the north,

and beautifully situated on both sides of the river.

Cannon River is one of the most beautiful streams

in the State. The ground upon either side of the

stream ascends gradually as it recedes from the

river, and the city, resting gracefully upon the
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gently sloping boundaries, presents An appear-

ance highly pleasing in its character.

A substantial iron bridge spans the river, unit-

ing the eastern and western divisions of the town,

the business interests of which are also divided.

There are numerous good substantial brick and

stone blocks to be seen upon the business thor-

oughfares, and a stroll through the town discloses

many handsome and costly dwellings. There are

several flue church edifices and elegant school

buUdings. An abundance of shade trees adorn

the streets, which in summer add greatly to the

beauty of the place. Northfield is surrounded by

. one of the finest agricultural districts iu the state

of Minnesota. The location is exceedingly healthy,

the inhabitants are possessed of intelligence, and

the society is -of the most refined and desirable

character.

Here is also one of the best water powers in the

State, with a capacity inexhaustable, and already

improved and partially utilized.

We know of no locality presenting a more favor-

able opportunity for the employment of capital in

industrial or manufacturing enterprisesj Situated

upon a division of the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul railroad—one of the most important thor-

oughfares in the country—the town is possessed of

the most desirable shipping facilities.

Northfield reminds one of the stories of New
England lite, and as we view the many white

robed cottages resting so gracefully upon the slo-

ping hillside, we can almost imagine ourselves in

some hamlet of the Eastern States.

The real originator of the town, or the man to

whom the community is indebted for its growth

and prosperity at that early day, is John W.

North, from Utica, New York, although when he

came here there were a few other settlers into whom
he at once infused a new life. Among these may
be mentioned Jonathan Alexander, John Hoyt,

and Mr. Kirkendahl, the latter of whom was per-

haps the first man here. His place covered a part

of the town plat, and he raised the first crop here-

abouts.

In 1857, J. D. Hoskins laid out thirty acres on

the south side of the town, and this became Hos-

kin'a addition. About the same time Albert Drake

laid out thirty acres, and Myron Wheaton added

several blocks on the east side. It can thus be seen

that all men were patriotic and no one was leaving

any obstruction to the growth of the city. In

I860, the school section became an addition, and

was cut up into blocks and lots, extending

down near the bridge. The year previous Mr.

North purchased a strip of land that had been

pre-empted by Daniel B. Turner, and be also pur-

chased the farm of Mr. Kirkendahl . which took in

the northern part of the town. This farm had »

log house, erected in 1855 by the former proprie-

tor, who left the covintry, and it was then occupied

by Herman Jenkins. These lots embraced the

original town plat, about 320 acres in all. The

surveying for the plat was done by a Minneapolis

man, and it was recorded by John W. North.

At a very early day a stage line was run within

a half mile of the place, through •' White's cor"

ners," by a Mr. Hackett, and the old stage barn

where the horses were changed still stands. There

were several other lines through the village until

after the railroad got in operation.*

Jenkins had filed a part of what became the vil-

lage plat, and Mr. North purchased Mr. Jenkins'

place and also the claim of Mr. Kirkendahl, and

moved into the house which had been erected by

the latter.

The following letter from Hon. J. W. North to

J. W. Thompson is printed entire because it is

from the real founder of the town, and because of

its historical value:

San Fbancisco, April 5th, 1880.

J. W. Thompson, Esq.

—

Dear Sir: Yours of

March 27th is received. In answer to your ques-

tions I have to say—and I answer simply from

recollection—that I first came to the spot now

known as Northfield about the 1st of January,

1855, or it may have been iu December, 1854. I

took measures to secure that location soon after I

first saw it. In the summer of 1855, 1 commenced

work on the dam and mill, which was completed so

as to commence sawing lumber about the 1st of

December of that year. During that month we

sawed lumber and buUt with it the dwelling house

we moved into on the 3d of January, 1856. There

were settlers around there before I mademy claim.

The first time I saw that place I stopped at the

house of Mr. Alexander. He called my attention

to the water-power in the river at that point. Mr.

Stewart, Mr. Olin, Mr. Drake, Mr. Turner, and sev-

eral other families were living in the vicinity at

that time. When we moved down there, there

were the Whites, Mr. Wheeler, Mr. Hoskins, Mr.

Jenkins, Mr. Cobum, Mr. Pease, Mr. Trawle, and
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several other families. Mr. Jenkins acted as my
agent until I moved there. Mr. Ooburn, Mr. Pease,

Mr. CoUett, and others worked for me. No one

was associated with me in the enterprise. I was

not one of the men of whom you speak who stopped

over night at Pelton's log house in Hastings with

you in June 1854. ' The incidents of the early set-

tlement will be remembered by the early settlers I

have named, t did not at first contemplate start-

ing a town, much less a city; I only thought of a

mill. There was then no road running through

the place, but I got one laid out from Watertord,

crossing the river just below the mills at North-

field. I then thought of a Post-office, school-

house, blacksmith shop, store, town site, and finally

a railroad, and by energetic work got them all.

The people who remain can fell you all the rest.

I never so much as thought that I was making

history ; and sb the work done is the only record

of my acts. Tours, very truly,

J. W. NOKTH.'

The following account of Northfield was pub-

lished in 1857, in a Faribault paper

:

"The site of this town was pre-empted by Dan-

iel Kirkendahl, Daniel B. Turner, and Herman
Jenkins, Mr. Kirkendahl settling on his claim in

June, 1854, Mr. Turner in December following,

and Mr. Jenkins in May, 1855. J. W. North, for-

merly of Utica, New York, purchased of these pre-

emptors, and surveyed and platted the town site

in October, 1855, soon selling one-half interest in

it to GeorgeLoomis,and they two were the sole pro-

prietors lor some time. In December, 1855, a saw-

mill was put in operation arranged with an upright

saw, and a siding mill, which cost when complete

over $4,000. The first frame house was completed

and occupied by Mr. North about the first of

January, 1856, and he then commenced the con-

struction of a flouring mill, which was completed

in September at a cost of over $10,000. The mill,

when in running order, contained three run of

stones, and was one of the best in the Territory at

that time, and did a thriving business. Messrs

Cox and Fleming erected a steam saw-mill with a

forty-horse-power engine, which cost from eight

to ten thousand dollars.

The improvement of the water-power by the

erection of these and the steam mills, gave the

town a permanent importance not experienced by
any other place in the vicinity. Messrs. N. B. and
T. E. Coulson built the first store, and commenced

trade in March, 1856, but in June following sold

out to H. Scriver, who at once began a large trade

with a capital of $10,000. Skinner & Brothers

opened a store in September of that year, and at

once commenced a good trade. Cole & Beach

opened up their goods in August. Goods were

then brought from Hastings, as the nearest point

on the river. At the beginning of 1857, there

were two hotels, and a third was building, two

carriages, two blacksmith shops, n schoolhouse, a

reading-room with a public library, and organ-

ized churches, but as a newspaper correspondent

boasted at the time, no 'grog shop.'

"

The first store was put up before Mr. North put

in an appearance. It was on the farm of Mr.

Coulson, a short distance from town in a little

hut, with a .wheelbarrow load of goods. When
the town was laid out, Coulson moved in and put

up a store, 18x30 feet, of green basswood boards,

and placed his goods on the shelves. This store

stood on the square in front of Mr. Scriver's

store. When Mr. Scriver arrived a short time af-

terwards, he purchased the store, and at the re-

quest of Mr. North, moved it back to enlarge the

square, and received his present lot in exchange.

The next store was erected by Skinner &
Brother on Main street, and a small stock of goods

was put in. The building is now used as a

dwelling.

About the same time. Cole & Beach constructed

a building, and they put in a small stock of goods,

but this is also now occupied as a residence.

The next year Harvey Allen put up a store and

began trade; the same place is now occupied by J.

K. Jones.

Then, in 1856, Mr. H. Jenkins erected a hotel

on the comer where McNeil's drug store now is,

which was an old fashioned building, 25x25 feet,

with a cotton cloth roof, and was run back to

make room for the store. It is now used as a

boarding house.

Philip Oolburn and Mr. Pease came shortly

after Coulson, and went to work by the day.

Jonathan Alexander came just before North, and

filed his claim on the east of the town, and still

lives there. Alexander Stewart, who may yet be

found on his place, secured it in 1855.

J. A. Hunt came in the spring of 1856, when
there was but a single frame house in the town-

He drove some claim stakes, and started a meat

shop, the first in town.
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I. S. Field was an early comer, and it is not

absolutely oertaia that his name did not suggest

the final syllable of the name of the town and

city, as Mr. North's certainly did the first.

There is, however, very little foundation for this

theory, if any. M. W. Skinner, Mr. H. Soriver,

Alva Cole, George Loomis, Olson Beaoh, Morgan

Emery, and others, were arrivals about that time,

and the following winter there was quite a little

town, and the people began to feel that they were

becoming quite metropolitan.

Mr. Jenkins was proprietor of the first hotel, and

the roof was a single thickness of cotton cloth.

Soon after it was built, the upper story was occu-

pied by twenty-five men one night when a terrific

thunder shower drenched the inmates in a most

unpleasant way. The next morning the proprie-

tor posted off to Hastings for shingles.

The second hotel went up in the summer of

1857, and was called the "Mansion House;" it was

kept by Benjamin Kimball. The size was 25x60

feet, and at first was all utilized as a hotel; now

the lower part is used for stores. Its location is on

the West Side, and it. was placed there to get out

of the jurisdiction of Mr. North, who sold lots with

the stipulation that no liquor should be sold on

the premises under penalty of forfeiture. This

hotel was on the school section, which was an

addition to the town plat. Kimball opened a bar

in the place and went on selling for a few weeks,

when three men, George Loomis, W. W. Willis,

and Warren Weed, went over and with an ax de-

molished barrels and bottles; this literally broke

up the establishment, and it was never reopened.

Of course this breaking of the peace created con-

siderable excitement, but the man was paid a

small sum for his loss.

The American House was built in 1858 by J.

W. North, and is now used by Oarleton College.

Gilson's was the very first stopping place

erected in Northfield, and was run as a boarding

house, hotel, or " hash factory," as it was some-

times called. It was erected by the man whose

name it bore, in 1855, and consisted of a log main

building about 16x20 feet, with a small addition

of twelve feeet square. It stood about one-balf

mile out of Northfield on the stage line of early

days. The shanty was roofed with split oak

pieces, which did excellent service in dry weather.

In the early part of 1856 this was the only place

to stop, and was very much crowded, the boarders

having to sleep on the floor, and on special occa-

sions they would use their wagons for a bed with

but the canopy of heaven for a cover. This was

run as a stopping place for about two years, when

it was made a dwelling house, and used as such

for a number of years. The beautiful residence

of William Giles, qow crowns the site the " stop-

ping place" occupied in days of yore.

Northfield can now accommodate her guests in

the following hotels: Arcljer's Hotel, Central

House, St. Paul House, Farmer's Home, Norske

Hotel, and several boarding houses.

INTBEBSTING EVENTS.

The first practicing physicians in the town were

Drs. Sohofleld and Hanchet, who were both in

business here in 1857 and '58. Dr. Schofield, who

was the earlier of the two, is stiU in active prac-

tice in town.

A child of Mr. and Mrs. Alexander Stewart, in

1856, was an early birth, and was named James.

Fred. Bingham, son of Mr. and Mrs. John Bing-

ham, was an earlj comer, and the young man is

now in the photograph business near Winnipeg.

Another early comer in Northfield was George,

a son of Mr. and Mrs. Morgan Emery, in 1856.

He grew up near Northfield, and is now a prac-

ticing lawyer in Le Sueur county.

Sadie Lockwood, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs.

Ephraim Lockwood, was ushered into existence at

an early day in 1857, and still lives in Northfield.

Charley, a son of Alva and Lovica Cole, was

also an early birth, being brought into the light

of this world in Northfield in the spring of 1857.

He is now a farmer near Grand Porks, Dakota

Territory.

Mr. and Mrs. J. A. Hunt were blessed with a

son on the 2d of January, 1858, which they named

William, and he is now a practicing physician.

In 1857, Mr. Bansom Smith and Miss Mary

Jenkins were joined in the bonds of wedlock by

the bride's father, H. Jenkins, Esq. The couple

are still living in town. At first they moved to

Brash' Prairie, but afterwards got into the city.

This was very likely tlie first marriage.

Mr. Benjamin Kimball to Miss Hattie Kelley

was the next event of this kind to happen, and

they at once took charge of the "Mansion House."

In the course of a few years they went to California.

The first person to pay the debt of mortality in
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Northfleld was a two-year old child of Ephraim

Lockwood, in November, 1856, and the remains

were deposited in a spot that was already in con-

templation for a cemetery, in the northeast part

of the town, but were subsequently removed to

the present cemetery in the south part.

Charles Loomis died in April, 1858, and his re-

mains repose in the cemetery south of town. He
died of hydrophobia—a very sad and peculiar

case.

Joseph Drake died in the spring of 1858, and

was buried in the same place, and was perhaps the

first there.

One of the first deaths was Mr. Simmons, who

was drowned in the Cannon Biver in June, 1856,

while floating logs for the construction of the mill.

He left a family of a wife and three children, one

of whom now lives in the township. His wife af-

terwards married a Mr. Mosher, and in 1864, com-

mitted suicide.

On the 5th of November, 1878, the first house

built in Northfleld was destroyrd by flre. It was

erected by John W. North, and stood, on north

Division street.

On the 19th of May, 1880, the Congregational

church and two barns were destroyed by fire.

A most heart-rending affair occurred in North-

field on the 22d of March, 1858. A son of Mr.

Finley McFee was riding a horse and leading an-

other with a halter tied around his wrist, when the

bad horse took fright, and pulled the lad off and

ran with him dashing out his brains in his mad
career.

On the 24th of October, 1872, a barn belonging

to Fred. Goodsell was set on flre by some unknown
person, and while attention was directed towards

th^ flre Mr. Emery's grocery store was entered and

robbed of $149.37. It was evidently what is

called in the rogues vernacular "a put up job." •

The brewery, one mile from town, was burned

on the 14th of December, 1872. The concern was

insured for $2,000.

On Saturday the 18th of May, 1873, a runaway

occurred in which a son of Mr. Leist, aged five

years, lost his life.

Silver Wedding.—The twenty-flflh anniver-

sary of the wedding of the parties named below

took place in Northfleld some time in 1879, but the

exact date has dropped out, and there is not time

to secure it now, so it is introduced as it came

from the local paper

:

" Saturday last signalized an interesting occa-

sion to some of our citizens. It was the twenty-

fifth anniversary of the marriage of W. H. Ben-

nett and wife, which was nothing less than their

silver wedding. Mrs. Bennett is a member of the

somewhat numerous Bunday race, and they all,' or

nearly all, rallied and stormed the castle, the num-

ber present being about flfty persons, though

some were unavoidably absent. Among the pres-

ents were the following: One silver-plated cake

dish, one silver-plated castor, one dozen silver

forks, very nice; two sets napkin rings, properly

marked; two butter-knives, one pickle-fork, one

silver thimble, one set each of silver. table and tea

spoons. These were presented by a neat speech

from S. S. Dickinson, Esq., and duly acknowl-

edged by the recipients, though it was so much of

a surprise to them that their utterance was some-

what emotional, as would be very natural under the

circumstances. It was a very interesting and en-

joyable occasion. We wish Mr. and Mrs. Bennett

much joy on this auspicious beginning of the sec-

ond quarter century of their married life, and

hope they may reach their golden wedding,

twenty -five years hence."

Makbibd Oveb Aftbe Fifty Years. Bebound
IN Golden Bonds.—In the spring of 1878, a house

full of old and middle-aged came together to keep

in fitting style the fiftieth anniversary of the wed-

ding of Mr. and Mrs. Almon Morris of this city.

The scene of the festivities was at the residence of

Mr. A. P. Morris, who with his wife invited the

guests and provided the entertainment. The bride

of a half century ago was attired in white. To
flank this couple were the aged Mr. and Mrs. Con-

verse, of Dundas, who six years before had enjoyed

a similar occasion. A brother and sister of Mr.

M. were present from Wisconsin. The first hour

was- occupied with giving and receiving congratu-

lations. A quartette sung by Cashier Phillips,

Prof. Thomas, Mrs. Bice and Emma Wheaton led

to some remaks by Bev. Mr. Leonard, including

the interesting story of courtship of this couple

and some of the incidents of their married life.

Then they arose, joined hands and convenanted

over to love, serve and cherish each the other till

the end of life. President Strong offered a prayer

relating to the past, the present, and the future.

The "Wedding March" was then rendered by Mag-
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gie Dickson. President Strong read a golden wed-

ding poem written for the occasion by a Vermont

minister pagfc eighty, and the former pastor of the

bride and groom. 0. A. Wheaton, of the Journal,

sang with due pathos, "John Anderson my Jo."

Prof. Pattee, in behalf of A. P. Morris, presented

a gold-headed cane to both father and mother, and

to the former a splendid Waltham gold watch and

chain, while to the latter, from a number of friends

in town, was given an easy chair. The wedding

dress was sent by Mrs. A. M. Eawson, of Chicago,

and an extra cane came from Wm. F. and Charles

Merriam of the same city. A table was covered

with other choice presents. Then followed the

singing by all of "Nearer My God to Thee," and

after that commenced a feast of another sort.

Oceans of various good things had been prepared

and were now served by the host in excellent style,

and in a style of equal excellence were con-

sumed. Thus hurried on the evening's close, and

at a late hour the pair, for whose sake the as-

semblage was held, were left to rest and to indulge

in pleasant memories of that notable 10th of June,

which surely will continue to the close of life. Not

far from 130 guests were present, and nothing oc-

curred to mar in the least the enjoyment of the

happy hoyrs.

EuBT Wedding.—The fortieth anniversary of

the marriage of Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Holt, was

celebrated on the 20th of November, 1879. The

bride's original name was Julia Cu>(hman. Forty

years is more than the life of a full generation,

and represents the time spent in the wilderness by

the children of Israel, but it is quite certain that

this couple, although they have traveled consider-

able, have not been all this time in the wilderness.

This affair was well attended and was a very

pleasant one.

MuKDEB AND ATTEMPTED EoBBBRT.—In the an-

nals of crime the Northfleld tragedy is widely

known on account of the daring atrocity of the

enterprise, and the fatality of its results to the

chief actors. The men engaged in the venture-

some exploit were the "James brothers," and the

"Younger brothers," and others whose names will

appear in the course of the narrative.

The party consisted of eight men who arrived

in town between 10 and 11 o'clock on the 7th of

September, 1876, and making tlieir headquarters

at a saloon, waited until 2 o'clock in the afternoon.

They then made a concerted attack upon the bank,

26

five of them paying especial attention to the rob-

bery which was contemplated, one of them sta-

tioned himself on the sidewalk near the corner of

Lee & Hitchcock's store, and one at the door of

the First National Bank, while the other three

went inside to commit the robbery. At the same

time the three others came galloping across the

bridge, and with frightful yells and horrible ejacu-

lations, began firing their revolvers into stores and

at all persons who dared to shom themselves at

doors or windows, and riding up Division sti'eet

patroled in front of the bank, keeping up a con-

tinuous firing from their revolvers and calling

with murderous imprecations upon all who came

in sight to "git," displaying the most excellent

horsemanship. Meantime the three men who

entered the bank jumped over the counter with a

single bound and presented revolvers to the heads

of the three men who were there, J. L. Heywood,

the acting cashier, E. E. Bunker, the teller, and J.

F. Wilcox, the bookkeeper, saying that they were

going to rob the bank, and asking for the cashier.

On being told that he was not in, they ordered Mr.

Heywood, who was seated at the cashier's desk, to

open the safe; the vault door was standing open,

but the safe door was closed. Mr. Heywood posi-

tively refused to open the safe for them, when the

villain took hold of him and drew a long knife

across his throat^Wireatening with the most hor-

rid oaths to out his throat from ear to ear, unless

he instantly complied. Mr. Heywood released

himself and started for the door crying murder at

the top of his voice, but he was knocked down

with a navy revolver, and dragged to the door of

the vault, and a shot was fired to farther intimi-

date him. Mr. Bunker, meantime had torn him-

self away and escaped out of the back door,

receiving a shot in the shoulder, which, however,

did not prevent his shouting an alarm. The leader

stepped into the vault and tried to open the inside

door when Mr. Heywood attempted to close the

door upon him, but was jerked away by one of

ruffians. Further efforts were made to induce the

acting cashier to open the safe door, but all with-

out avail. All this time one of the scoundrels had

young Wilcox on his knees with a revolver at his

temple.

This was the condition of affairs inside when

the men, who were being severely punished out-

side, called out to those inside of the bank to

leave it at once, as it was getting too hot for them.
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Two of them immediately jumped over the

counter and rushed into the street, the other one,

who is supposed to have been Jesse James, as he

was jumping over the counter, indignant and ex-

asperated at the dismal failure of the daring

scheme, turned and deliberately fired at Mr.

Heywood, the second shot killing him instantly, a

ball through the left temple literally blowing his

brains out.

While this tragedy was being enacted in the

bank, another drgma loaded with tragedy had

been rehearsing in a lively way outside. When

the "road agents" rode up towards the bank,

Mr. J. S. Allen, who kept a hardware store

on the south side of Mill Square, had his suspic-

ion aroused. He followed them, and reached the

bank just as the robbers had entered, the guard

there at once collared him, and pointing a pistol

at his head ordered him to keep quiet, but he

broke loose and ran, followed by two shots. Mr.

A. E. Manning, hearing the situation, seized a

breeoli-loading rifle and taking his station at the

corner of Lee & Hitchcock's store, fired a few

shots, and succeeded in killing one of the mis-

creants, wounding another, and killing a horse.

Of course it required a high order of courage to

thus make a target of himself; as it was, he nar-

rowly escaped destruction. Henry Wheeler,

a young man in a drug store on the east

side of the street, ran up stairs into the Dam-
pier House, where he liad an old carbine, and

coolly fired from the window three shots, all he

had, and killed one of the brigands and wounded

a horse and perhaps one of the bandits also.

Among others who took a hand in the skirmish

were, J. B. Hyde, L. Stacy, and Eev. Mr. Phillips,

who uaed shot guns and pistols, and they must

have done some execution, as the, cadavers' had

fine shot in their faces. Mr. George Bates also

drew the fire of the assassins by presenting a

pistol, and attempting to fire a gun that i Would

not go ofi^. As they came from inside, the sur-

vivors of the fray made no unnecessary delay in

starting on that perilous ride, which proved quite

as disastrous as the commencement of this abor-

tive robbery had thus far been. When they were

mounted and about to ride off, the wounded man
on the sidewalk said, "For God's sake boys, don't

leave me ;"so they took him up and threw him across

a horse and then galloped away. As they rode

up the street, a Swede came out of a shop and was

ordered to go back, but not understanding what

they said failed to comply, and he was shot

through the head, dying the next Monday.

Telegrams were at once stajrted in all directions

to intercept the outlaws. Unfortunately the

operator at Dundas was not in, or the whole gang

might have been captured there. Parties were

organized at various points, and the story of the

flight with the wounded man, the pursuit, with

the attending escapades and hair-breadth escapes

on both sides, aifords a most exciting chapter in

this kind of literature; for the whole country be-

tween here and Missouri, the headquarters of the

gang, was excited and under arms, and the result

was that three were captured and one more killed,

making six left behind of the eight who started on

this errand of plunder. The two who escaped

were Jesse and Frank James, the latter being the

one wounded in Northfield. The names of those

killed in Northfield were Olell Miller and Stiles.

Charley Pitts, alias George Wells, was killed at

Madelia, where Oole, Eobert, and James Younger

were flaully captured, and subsequently lodged in

the Faribault jail. Eumors of a rescuing party

caused a guard to be placed outside the jail, and

on the 3d of October, 1876, a watchman, who

wag coming to report for duty, was shot and in-

stantly killed by Frank Glazier, a guard at the

jail, who mistook him for the advance guard of

a rescuing party. This was indeed a sad and

fatal mistake, making the sixth human life de-

stroyed in consequence of the attempt to rob the

Northfield bank.

On the 16th of November, 1876, the bandits

were indicted at Faribault, and pleading guilty,

were sentenced on the 20th to State prison during

the term of their natural lives, and on the 22d of

the same month they were taken to Stillwater.

Thus ended this terrible affair.

THE INDIANS.

In the autumn of 1862, after the Sioux massa-

cre, the people in and about Northfield were in a

chronic state of apprehension. Indians were con-

stantly passing in small bands, and while*the days

wore passed with feelings of security, the nights

were instinct with emotions of dread, every un-

usual sound was transformed into indications of

the approach of the blood-thirsty savage, and

very many persons who had retired for the night

had the most gloomy forebodings, and felt that it
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wae extremely uncertain 'whether the light of

another morning would ever dawn for them.

Scouting parties were raised to scour the country

for the lurking foe, and in one of these squads

vras a man by the name of Hobbs, who, when a

few miles out concluded to fire off an old charge

in his gun, and pointing to a cornfield discharged

the piece, when there arose the most ear-pierc-

ing screams, and a woman made her appearance,

bringing one foot in her hand and exclaiming

that she had been shot, which proved to be the

case, the shot having taking effect in the foot.

Hobbs explained the nature of the accident, and

the woman, who was just from England, was

willing to forgive him, if "in another like time

he would shoot in the (h)air." But this state of

affairs did not continue long, and to paraphrase a

monotonous army report, "all was quiet on the

Cannon."

In the fall of 1857, a band of Sioux on a

predatory expedition to the Chippewa region

east of the river, camped near the village.

They soon moved on and crossed the river

between Hastings and Ked Wing and had a

bloody fight with their enemies, securing several

scalps. On their way back they again encamped,

this time within the city limits in the northeast

part of the village, and here, being so far away
from the Chippewas that they had no fear of a

surprise, a scalp dance was indulged in. Each
scalp was put on a hoop and that attached to a

pole about ten feet long, and around these with

spasmodic contortions and ear-splitting yells and

drummings they danced, if such gyratory jump-
ings can be so called.

Another Indian affair occurred in 1863, when
the Little Crow band of Indians were on the

rampage about the country. A party of four

left the main body west of Northfield and

made their way hither on a horse stealing ex-

pedition. Crossing Mr. Daniels' farm, a half

mile from town, and so on to Michael Kennery's

place and remaining concealed until night, took

six horses and made off toward the woods, retrac-

ing their steps. A force was at once organized

in town and a hot pursuit started. The Indians

finding themselves pursued kept dodging back and
forth in the woods. At one point there is a cross

road on the Dundas and Faribault road, leading

into the timber and to the ford of the Cannon
Eiver, and at this point a guard was stationed, as

the red skins might cross there. About eleven

o'clock they camfe in sight, crossed the ford and

pushed along slowly to the corners. There was a

farm house near the ambush, and as they passed,

the farmer's wife rushed out and screamed at the

top of her voice. "Here they come! Shoot 'em!

Shoot 'em I!" This of course alarmed the fellows,

and they turned and recrossed the river. They
were pursued for several days and finally over-

taken and the whole four shot to death, the whites

losing a single horse.

This locality for a year or two, seemed to be on

a regular thoroughfare for the Indians between

the Mississippi Eiver and some point on the Min-

nesota Eiver, as hardly a day passed without see-

ing them in greater or less numbers. It was not

uncommon for a woman, perhaps alone in the

house, to look up and see one of their "ugly

mugs" flattened against a window pane, or for a

man to stumble over them asleep in the barn.

At one time, Mrs. Martin, who lived where John

Ames now does, was badly freightened on seeing

a large number of them, estimated at fifteen him-

dred, passing not far from her house. She was

alone with a babe and two other children, and

hastily wrapping up the little one put it in ef drip-

ping pan, and tying a string to it, started with

the improvised baby carriage and the other chil-

dren for John S. Way's place, a mile and a half

distant.

POlilTICAIi.

A charter for a village government was obtained

in 1871, and the first meeting under the new or-

ganization held in March. The first officers were

:

President, S. P. Stewart; Councilmen, E. Lathrop,

H. Scriver, F. A. Noble, and E. Hobbs, and on or-

ganization, E. Lathrop was chosen Chairman.

Lewis Goodsell was elected Eecorder; Fred.

Goodsell, Treasurer; Charles Wheeler, Marshal;

Lewis Goodsell, Assessor; O. M. Meade, Attorney;

P. O. Eice, Surveyor; and A. F. Kingman, Street

Commissioner.

In the spring of 1875, a city charter was ob-

tained. The election for city officers having taken

place, a meeting for organization was held on the

16th of March at Lyceum Hall. It was called to

order by the Mayor-elect, H. Scriver, and there

were present the following Aldermen : Charles S.

Hulbert, O. W. Mann, A. P. Stewart, B. M. James,

C. S. Farrell, J. C. Nutting, Harold Therson, and

O. S. Taylor. A. P. Stewart was elected Presi-
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dent;jW. H. Norton, Eeoorder;' Charles Taylor,

City Attorney; O. M. Meade and C. A. WheUton,

Justices o( the Peace; J. L. Heywood, Treasurer;

Elias Hobbs, Chief of Police. The better class oE

citizens have always held the offices, and the ad-

ministration of the city government has been

without opportunity for adverse criticism.

The present officers are as follows: Mayor, G.

M. Phillips; Aldermen—First Ward, E. Lock-

wood and J. Handy; Second Ward, O. T. Lysne

and J. B. Hyde; Third Ward, P. A. Noble and

August Ebel; Eecorder, G. H. Coon; Treasurer,

H. B. Gress; Chief of Police, William Russell;

Fire Warden, S. S. Dickinson; Street Commis-

sioner, S. 8. Noteman; Justices of the Peace, T.

H. Streeter and O. M. Meade; Health Officers, H.

L. Coon, M. D., and J. S. Hoskins.

INDUSTEIAL AND BUSINESS INTBEESTS.

The industrial and manufacturing interests of a

community, as well as of the country, form as it

were the bone and sinew of prosperous life, and

like the agricultural interests, are one of the

ground principles upon which depends, to a great

extent, the success of all other branches of trade.

The benefits arising from industrial enterprise are

innumerable. It develops the various resources

of the country, builds up cities and villages, and

is naturally beneficial to all classes of business

men —the merchant, mechanic, and laborer—alike,

and in very many instances throughout the coun-

try, the rapid growth of cities and towns is due to

the exclusive agency of some manufacturing en-

terprise. The above is no less true in the case of

Northfield; although comparatively young in in-

dustrial growth, the good effects are nevertheless

readily observed, and the rapid and increased

growth of this particular branch of the business

interests of the place is the best evidence that

could be afforded in maintenance of the theory

presented.

FiBST SAW-MiLii.—Mr. North built the first

saw-mill, as he states in his letter ; It was an old-

fashioned mil], although it had, in addition to the

vertical saw, a circular that would cut a board not

exceeding twelve inches wide. This mill was run in

an intermittent way for about ten years by Mr.

North and Mr. Ames, and was afterwards pur-

chased by the latter.

A Steam Saw-Mill was l)uilt in the spring of

1857, by Cox & Fleming. The boilers were
hauled in winter by team from Dubuque. When

they arrived the event was duly celebrated by the

firing of anvils—the only available cannon—and

guns, aud other demonstrations of joy. It was

placed up the river just outside of the village

plat and run for about three years aud disposed

of to parties in Stillwater. The cost of operating

in the hard woo 1 lumber, it was claimed, was too

great to allow a margin for profits.

Van Bcskibk Beotheks' Machine Shops.—In

1876, a feed mill was established near the railroad

station, but it was soon discontinued as such, and

remodeled into a foundry and machine shop.

Wtman's Sash, Dooe, and Blind Faotoet.—
This was erected in 1867, by Daniel Wyman, and

run for about four years, when it was destroyed

by fire. It stood south of the depot, where the

planing mill now is. It was one of the best es-

tablishments in the State and had a saw-mill con-

connected with it, and a full complement of mod-

ern machinery.

A sash, door, and blind factory was put up in

1859, by Pease & Clarry, down the river on the

east bank. After about two years the machinery

was sold and the building, after a time, was re-

moved to the farm of Mr. S. Bunday.

Oebamee Manueactoey.—This establishment

was started in 1879, for the manufacture of the

'• Cooley Creamer," a piece of furniture to facili-

tite the handling of cream, which is made in two

sizes. No. 4 and No. 6, representing the number of

cans they hold. The first proprietors were Whit-

tier & Hunt, but the firm soon became Whittier

& Camp. In the spring of 1882, the firm was

changed to Whittier & Ensign, the names of the

members being C. F. Whittier and W. E. Ensign.

Its location is on Water street and employs about

six men.

Jesse Ames' Sons Floueing Mills.^The first

flour-mill built here was on the east side of the

river in 1856, by J. W. North. It was a two run

mill operated by water, and was run for several

years by the builder, but finally sold to C. A.

Wheaton who added another run of stones, and it

continued to grind as a custom mill till 1864 or '65,

when it went into the hands of Jesse Ames & Sons,

who rebuilt and enlarged the capacity to seventy-

five barrels a day and operated it as a merchant mill.

The mill was thus run until 1869, since when it

has been used as a custom mill, and it is now un-

der the management of Felix CoUett who helped
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to build it and has worked there continuously ever

since.

The New Mill on the west side of the river

was built by Josse Ames & Sons in 1869, and was

set in operation that winter with six run of stones

and the ability to turn out 150 barrels in twenty-

four hours. In 1875, the seventh run was put in

with new bolting arrangements to carry it up

to 175 barrels a day. In 1879, thirty-five feet

were added to the height, making it five stories

above the basement; steam power was also added

at this time in the form of an Atlas Corliss engine

of two hundred horse-power. At the same time a

complete transformation of the grinding machin-

ery was made, and to-day the establishment ex-

hibits the following schedule : Ten double sets of

Ellis' corrugated rolls, nine double sets of Smith's

rolls, two single sets, one set of Stevens' scratch

rolls, four centrifugal rolls, seventeen Smith's puri-

fiers, twenty-five reels, three run of stones, with

smutters, cockle machines, and the other apparatus

usually found in a first class mill. It now manu-

factures 400 barrels of fine floiir in twenty-four

hours. The water-power is derived from a head

of nine feet on the Cannon Eiver, .and is trans-

mitted by two Victor turbine wheels, forty-eight

inches in diameter The establishment employs

about twenty-five men, and the elevator capacity

is 40,000 bushels of wheat; the bran house will

hold about 200 tons, the storage capacity for flour

is 1,800 barrels, and there is a wood yard that

will hold several thousand cords. It is claimed

that this mill was the first in the State to turn out

the new process flour, and that the first patent

flour used in St. Paul was from this establishment.

Gen. Ames, one of the sons, lives in New York and

handles the flour for the market. The value of

such a mill to the city and country is very great.

It should be noted that at the international ex-

hibition in Philadelphia in 1876, this mill received

the highest marking of any straight flour at the

exposition.

The personnel of the firm is Adelbert Ames, John

T. Ames, and John Handy.

In connection with the mills there is a machine

shop, under the supervision of Felix Collett, Jr.^

where repairing is done and much new machinery

turned out, employing several men.

In 1880, a spur track mas built so that wheat is

delivered and the flour loaded at the mill.

The Northfibld Elevator was built by the

This laRt sentence should read: "In 1880, W. H. Norton,

railroad company at the time of the completion of

the road, and they still own it. It is 75x100 feet

and handles 200,000 bushels of grain annually.

It is operated by Ames & Archibald under the

personal management of George Grevy.

The railroad was completed in 1865, and the

present station immediately built, also an elevator

which at once began to receive grain. The gra-

ding was begun in 1860, but during the war work

was saspended, but subsequently resumed and the

tracklayers reached this point in September, and

made their way towards Faribault.

Citizens National Bank oe Northfielb.—
This banking house was established in January,

1878, by W. H. Norton, who was president, and A.

W. Norton cashier. The capital was $25,000. The

present bank building was erected by Mr. Norton,

the president, and in September of that year the

bank was regrdarly organized under the State law

with a capital of $50,000. In 1880, A. W. Nor-

ton, the cashier, died, and he was succeeded by

W. H. Norton. *

First National Bank.—This banking institu-

tion was originally established with a banking

capital of $50,000, which has been increased to

the present capital of $100,000. This bank was

the scene of the attempted robbery by the Younger

Brothers gang, which is given in full elsewhere.

PIEE DEPARTMENT.

There is a very efficient lire department in North-

field. It was at first organized on a small scale

about 1873, as a hook and ladder company, and

in 1880, a force pump was procured and attached

to the Ames mill, with sufficient power, with suit-

able hose, to throw water as tar as Dundas if

necessary. The Ames mill ofiered to furnish power

whenever it should be required for ttn years. The

present chief of the department is J. H. Lawrence,

and James Anderson is assistant, with headquar-

ters in the City Hall or engine room.

On the 12th of March, 1880, the City Council

authorized the Mayor and Recorder to issue bonds

to the amount of $4,500, for the purpose of pro-

curing fire apparatus.

The City Hall engine house was erected in 1880.

There are accommodations for the fire engine and

other apparatus on the first floor and the Council

chamber above. It is 20x60 feet, and in addition

to the two stories has a basement, the cost being

about $3,000.

the cashier, died, and he was sacceeded by A. W. Norton.''
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POLICE FOEOB.

Of course while NortMeld was still a town the

constables, or a deputy sheriff, if there happened

to be one in town, were supposed to be the official

guardians of the peace and the preservers of law

and order. When the village government was in-

stituted, the marshal was supposed to stand be-

tween the people and the elements of turbulence.

When, however, Northfield became a city, that

metropolitan luxury, a police force, made its ap-

pearance, and it has existed ever since. The force,

as at first organized, consisted of a Chief and

Assistant. The first Chief was John E. Horner,

the next was Elias Hobbs. The present Chief of

PoUce is Willianl Eussell, with two Assistants in

the persons of R. C. Ingalls and William Campbell.

POST-OFFIOB.

In the fall of 1855, a Post-office was established

abcmt a mile and a half west of Northfield, called

"Fountain Grove." Charles Wheeler, who]was the

second Sheriff of the county, was the Postmaster.

After some months it was removed to Northfield.

Charles Knight was afterwards Postmaster. It

was kept in a shanty on the land now owned by

William Childs, and remained there until the sum-

mer of 1856, when it was removed into a "lean-to"

connected with Jones' store, and John E. Kennedy

was commissioned to handle the mail. Mrs. Hat-

tie Kingsley was next in order and held the office

for a number of years, and then J. W. Sebberson

and afterwards Outlaf and S. H. French, the latter

of whom is the present Postmaster.

EDTJOATIONAIi.

The first school opened in Northfield was in the

fall or winter of 1856, and it was called to order

by Eollins Olin, who had twenty-five scholars in

the little frame building put up for the purpose

that year. This building was made' to answer the

requirement with considerable pressure up to

1861, at which time another was put up at a cost

$6,000, on the same site, and which was the envy

of neighboring districts for a wide range. Six

lots were bought and both buildings were used as

there were a sufficient number of children to fill

them. This consolidated school lasted until the

buUding was sold to the St. Olaf College. It was

used as a school for about two years when it was

moved over to their place and is now one of their

halls.

In 1874, an Independent school district was or-

ganized and a large commodious building erected

at a cost of $30,000. It occupies a place on a

whole square, next to the public park, and is a fine

appearing building of pressed brick, three stories

high, and a liberal basement story. It is sufficient

to state that it has all the modem school improve-

ments, and standing as it does near the Congre-

gationalist church, and not far from the college

buildings, it does not suffer in comparison with

them, but is a worthy companion for those stately

buildings alike devoted to educational purposes.

The contract for the erection of the edifice was

awarded to James Boyd, of St. Paul, who did all

the carpenter work for $12,114, and to J. E. Boyd,

& Co., of Minneapolis, who were to do all the

mason work for $8,494.50; the aggregate amount

for these two principal items in the construction of

the building being $20,608.50.

Tke present school officers are : Directors, O. F.

Perkins, President; J. T. Ames, Treasurer; W. S.

Pattee, and A. F. King ; Secretary, A. Noble.

The teachers are: Principal, S. F. Brady; As

sistant, Miss Williams; Miss Delia Parks, Miss

Hattie A. Field, Miss Catharine Bingham, Miss

Jameson, Miss Agusta Eiddle, Miss Wheeler, and

Miss Leota Bailey.

ST. OLAP'S SCHOOL.

A school adapted to the purpose of educating

the Scandinavian youth who may desire it in this

community, was started early in the seventies in

this city and kept for three years. A building

was then erected which now stands on a command-

ing eminence near the western boundary of the

city. It was built by subscription, and is of stone,

visible at a great distance. The cost was $18,000,

and it is still unfinished, although it is in good

condition to accommodate the 100 pupils who are

in attendance. In addition to the college build-

ing there is what is known as Ladies' Hall, a

structure 45x55 feet, and devoted to residence as

well as instruction purposes. The college was

opened in 1874. The management is vested in

ihirteen trustees. The following are the officers of

the institution: President, Eev. B. J. Muus; Vice-

president, N. A. Quannen; Treasurer, B. J. Muus;
Secretary, T. N. Mohn.

Mr. Mohn is the principal of the school and the

manager of the institution, residing within its

walls. The assistant teachers are Eev. O. G. Fel-

land and A. Egge, A. B. Vocal and instrumeutal

music. Miss M. O'Brien.
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The following from the announcement of the

Institution will show its objects and aims.

COTJESES OF STUDX.

"The school is especially adapted to the purposes

of the American youth, of Scandinavian parent-

age, who desire a thorough practical education

and hence the following branches are predominant:

English language and literature.

Mathematics.

History.

Geography. >

Natural sciences.

Music, (vocal and instrumental.)

Latin.

Bookkeeping.

German language and literature.

Norwegian language and literature.

EXPENSES.

Pall Term. —Two months.—Begins second

Wednesday in September.

Tuition $ 6 00

Board 14 00

Boom rent , 2 00

Total $22 00

Winter Term.— Five months. — Begins first

Wednesday in November.

Tuition $15 75

Board 36 75

Boom rent 5 25

Total... $57 75

Spring Term.— Three months.—Begins March

3l8t.

Tuition $ 8 25

Board 19 25

Boom rent 2 75

Total S30 25

Expenses to be paid at the beginning of each

term. Winter term paid in two installments, the

last, January 15tb.

Music and the use of instrument, $14 a term

—

twenty-four lessons."

OABIETON COMiEGE.

Carleton College owes its origin, primarily, to

Mr. 0. M. Goodsell, late of Northfield, who came

to Minnesota with the purpose of establishing

somewhere within its limits a Christian College

—

a sort of Northwestern Oberlin. That purpose

was made known 1o several of the older clergy-

men, some of whom had thought much upon the

subject and were deeply interested. These minis-

ters, among whom Eevs. Charles Shedd, Edward

Brown, Charles Secombe, Eichard Hall, and David

Burt should be specially named, consulted to-

gether, and in 1864, the State Conference of Con-

gregational Churches, in accordance with a resolu-

tion drawn by Mr. Brown, appointed a committee

to consider the feasibility of founding such an in-

stitution. Two years later, after having visited

the several places which had sought to secure the

location of the proposed college within their limits,

the committee reported unanimously in favor of

Northfield.

Here, in this beautiful town, situated on the

Cannon Biver and the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul Bailroad, the college was located on a com-

manding eminence overlooking a picturesque val-

ley and rich surrounding country. The grounds

donated by citizens of Northfield embraced nearly

twenty-flve acres, which, together with the money

raised by them, represented about $25,000. A
large building that had been used as a hotel was

purchased and fitted up for the immediate use of

the preparatory department, which was opened on

the 25th of September, 1867, under the charge of

Horace Goodhue, Jr., a graduate of Dartmouth

College. Por three years the school went on, the

trustees of the college, which had been incorpo-

rated, laboring with great zeal for its advance-

ment. Pecuniary pledges in various parts of the

State had been made to the extent of $12,000', but

a sum larger than could possibly be realized was

required to meet the current expenses which, had

been already incurred. There were no funds for

new buildings, the students were few. Mr. Good-

sell had died in May, the seeking for a man from

the East to take charge of the school had been in

vain, and the prospect of raising up an institution

here that would fulfill the hopes of its friends and

projectors seemed unpromising.

In September, 1870, the trustees proceeded to

open a collegiate department, and elected Eev.

James M. Strong, the pastor of the Congregational

church in Paribault, as President. He had been

from the first one of the trustees, and knew its

past history and present wants. On the 13th of

October another meeting of the board was held,

and there were several noted clergymen present'

who were in attendance upon the Congregational

Conference. A number of them were called into
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the council in relation to the college, they were

Bev. Dr. Eay Palmer, Kev. Dr. Olapp, and Rev.

Dr. William Barrows. Mr. Strong concluded to

accept, and on the next day the meeting of the

conference was devoted to the young college, and

to show the situation of affairs, and under what

circumstances this college was started we will allow

an eye witness to tell the story.

WONDBEPUL MEETING.

"It was a wonderful meeting. So soon as the

decision of the trustees was announced in Con-

ference, the Holy Spirit seemed to take possession

of the assembly. Men prayed that that border

land, not far as yet from wigwams, might be dedi-

cated to Christian learning; and that farms and

ballots and juries might come up under the sun-

light of the decalogue. These prayers wandered

off into blessed visions. Then remarks grew out

of the prayers, that they must raise up, on the

ground, the ministry and the intelligent and vir-

tuous merchants, farmers, and meohanies, that the

new country needed. Some one mentioned the

little beginnings, right among the Indians, of Old

Harvard and Dartmouth, and it gave such courage,

that poor men became rich, in faith, and women
broke forth into singing.

Between the songs and the prayers short

speeches were filtered in,closing with subscriptions

—the very best figures of speech for such an oc-

casion. Men of Amherst, Yale, Dartmouth, and

Williams said that they must plant as good a col-

lege there, and named their subscription. The

meeting increased in wonder, and we of the East

were amazed at the broad views, long forecastings,

and exurbent benevolence of those men and

women of the prairies. It does make some differ-

ence in a man's views whether the next hill is the

Eocky Mountains, or just over the brook back of

the red sohoolhouse. Thirty-seven donations were

made, and their hearty consecration to learning

made each a little fortune.

The miscellany of donors was typical of a wide

interest. Four of them were women, two were

families, three handled land, others handled goods

or mechanical tools, or agricultural, and one fresh

meat. Seventeen of them were ministers, and

mostly missionaries, and about as rich as Peter

and John when they went to a prayer meeting

once and met a lame man. How we all wept when
one man, who had better gifts than that of public

speaking, with a choked utterance, pledged twenty

dollars, and said it was for his boy in heaven who
died in the army. One stalwart missionary, who
told me his family burials had kept pace with his

field all the way from Ohio to Minnesota, said he

had no money, never expected to have, and the

brethren knew it; but he could not lose his chance

in so splendid a work. He offered a fine colt, that

was entered at forty dollars—more than the sheep

given to Cambridge College its second year. The

new president quietly remarked that no boys

would be allowed to ride a "pony" on college

grounds. Another brother, so good, hard-work-

ing and poor, whose parish I have seen east of the

Merrimac and west of the Missouri, offered his

twenty dollars in three annual payments. He
knew of the logs and spades around the founda-

tion of Illinois College. Vanderbilt, in his dona-

tions, never oame up to that twenty-dollar man in

proportion to his property. Then how we took

heart and sung and offered thansgiving when six

thousand dollars were pledged. One church was

pledged for one hundred aud six dollars, while a

modest lady, through her husband, put down five

hundred. Scores of thousands, and the name of

the college followed that donation, in good family

descent. A young missionary offered twenty-five

dollars out of the closing quarter of his scanty

salary. Just over the river from his hired log

parsonage was the Indian. He said the logs, shy

of each other, left the cabin well ventilated, and

the puncheon floor yawned with cracks, but

neither he nor his young wife had any jewelry to

lose through; and his four chairs were stout and

good if they were borrowed; and as he would

never have another chance so favorable to found a

college, he must take part. A secretary, private

agent to get rid of "unabridged" money, depiived

the happy subscriber of the luxury of paying the

amount.

So we went through the meeting and took the

thirty-seven subscriptions, and when the close

oame, the people were too happy to take the bene-

diction and separate.

Probably there have been few meetings beyond

the AUeghanies more joyful or devout, or more

fruitful for Christ's kingdom. When the meet-

ing opened, the total property of the institution

was estimated at $15,000, and the subscriptions

of that afternoon were $16,446. True, that sub-

scription would easily disappear in the high, ar-

tistic finish and furniture of a room or two in some
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eastern halls of learning, benevolently built, but

it went very far toward putting, already hundreds,

and by and by thousands of youth, well trained

in letters, the sciences, and morals, into our young

and gigantic West."

President Strong at once bent all his energies

to the work of putttng the College on its feet,

and during that fall came the earnest of future

gifts in the form of eighteen hundred dollars

from Mr. WUliam Carleton and Miss Susan Willis,

both of Oharlestown, Massachusetts, who had be-

come interested in this young College of the

Northwest. Their interest seemed to be greatly

increased by President Strong's providential pres-

ervation from death by railroad accident, at Hart-

ford, Connecticut, in December of that year.

Soon after sufficiently recovering from his injuries

to reach his home, in the spring of 1871, he re-

ceived for the college from Mr. Carleton the uncon-

ditional gift of $50,000. This princely donation at

once insured the success of the hitherto struggling

institution, to which, in grateful acknowledgement,

and by unanimous vote of the Board, the donor's

name was given. A subsequent gift of ten thous-

and dollars from Miss Willis, was acknowledged

by calling the central college building "Willis

Hall."

These early, and at that time unprecedented,

gifts to the college were supplemented by many

others, both at home and abroad. In 1872, nearly

nine thousand dollars were promised by tbe

churches of the State; and from the same sources

came, in 1875, for the endowment of the Chair of
,

Physical Science, pledges amounting to over

twenty thousand dollars. Of this amount the cit-

izens of Northfield, who have from the first cher-

ished this institution with singular civic pride,

gave more than one-third. The gifts of Minne-

sota to the college have aggregated over one hun-

dred thousand dollars, and nearly one-half of this

amount has been received from Northfield. Fif-

teen thousand dollars were raised in New Eng-

land, in 1875. Thus the funds of the college

steadily increased, enabling it to enlarge its edu-

cational facilities, and attain a conimanding posi-

tion among the institutions of learning in the

West.

The erection of the coUege building was com-

pleted and it was formally dedicated on Thursday,

the 19th of December, 1872. In June, 1871, the

"College Society," at a meeting in New Haven,

Connecticut, on motion of Eev. Dr. Bacon, "Carle-

ton College was duly endorsed and recognized as

a member of the brotherhood of colleges." And

from this time the college began a career of use-

fulness which it is gratifying to know still con-

tinues, sunny skies replacing the gloom which had

hung over its prospects. Professor Payne was se-

cured about this time, and with his enthusiasm in

Mathematics and Astronomy, infused new life into

every department of Carleton. In due time the

Observatory was added, with its practical as-

tronomical and meteorological observations, aided

'

by the costly apparatus which wOl be more fully

described further on. In 1872, the title of Doctor

of Divinity, which had been so clearly earned,

was conferred ubon the President, Kev. Dr. J. W.

Strong, as he was thereafter called. He had se-

cured pledges during 1872 and '73 to the amount

of eight thousand dollars. In 1874 and '75, over

fifteen thousand dollars was raised by him in New
England. During the year 1875, seven

thousand were pledged by the friends of

the college in Northfield on condition that

thirteen thousand more could be raised

on or before the 1st of January, 1876.

This was for the purpose of endowing the Chair

of Physical Science. The task was undertaken

by the indefatigable President, and after a weary

and difficult canvass, on the last of December, he

returned with the whole sum made up, when he

was confronted with a telegram revoking one be-

quest of one thousand dollars,thus jeopardizing the

whole amount, but prompt and decisive work se-

cured the deficiency, and on the 1st of Janu.^ry

the whole sum was pledged, and a surplus of four

hundred dollars.

The institution has been particularly fortunate

in its teachers, who have been earnest, self-sacri-

ficing, and devoted in the most intelligent way to

the best interests of the school.

The relationship to the General Congregational

Conference involves no jurisdiction over the Col-

lege, as there is no corporate connection, but it is

one of friendship and community of interest, and

that body through a committee yearly inquires

after its welfare to leam what good offices it can

render. On the board of trustees are representa-

tives of other denominations, and it relies u^jon

the letter of no Catechism, and inculcates the for-

mulas of no creed, but it is nevertheless the semin-

ary for the inculcation of the teachings of Chris-
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tianity as exemplified by Congregationalism as it

exists to-day in the teachings from its thousand

pulpits all over this broad land. Prom the very

nature of the case, Oarleton College is a home

missionary and a potent instrumentality in form-

ing public sentiment.

On the 23d of December, 1879, Willis Hall,

containing the library, cabinet, and recitation

rooms, was destroyed by fire. The utmost

vigilance was used to save the valuable things

contained in the different departments, such

as the valuable library and furniture connected

therewith. The books were hurriedly carried

to the Observatory. A large share of the Mu-
seum was saved, and considerable of the valu-

able apparatus in the Laboratory, more or less

damaged. One of the most important instruments

carried from the burning building was the grand

piano, which, with some risk, was safely landed on

the outside.

Fortunately for the college institution and for

Professor Payne individually, the many and costly

astronomical iustruments were safely located in

the Observatory, apd all unharmed. The insur-

ance aud the building ($12,000) was divided as

follows

:

Underwriters $3,000

North American, Philadelphia 3,000

Home, New York 3,000

St. Paul Fire and Marine 3,000

Total : .$12,000

And on the contents:

Phcenix, Hartford $2,650

Phenix, New Hork 2,650

Total 5,300

Making a grand total of $17,300

Professor Sperry lost almost his entire library,

containing encyclopsedias, dictionaries, medical

and scientific books; a quantity of valuable min-

eral and geological specimens, tents, bedding, and

camp equipage, three trunks containing a quan-

tity of Rummer and extra clothing, a fine double

piano-leg study table with drawer containing

clippings, memorandas, lectures, etc., the whole

having a cash value of nearly $1,000—upon
which, fortunately, he had an insurance of $500.

The energy and devotion of the officers of the

College were again placed in special requisition

and convenient temporary quarters were secured.

the students remained loyal, and college work was

pursued without interruption.

Meantime a deep and widely extended sympa-

thy for the College was awakened. The citizens

of Northfield, and others in the State, again gen-

erously_ tendered their aid, and old and new

friends at the East rose up to help the institution.

With the gifts thus offered, together with the

money received from insurance, Willis Hall was

rebuilt on an improved plan; a greatly-needed

building for scientific purposes was erected, and

the foundation of a not less-needed Ladies' Hall

was laid.

Thus, through judicious management on' the

part of its officers, and the generosity of Christian

friends, its growth has been unprecedented. Be-

sides assistants, its faculty now consists of thir-

teen professors and teachers who devote their

whole time to the work of instruction. During

the past year, over three hundred students were

enrolled in the different departments.

Four courses of study have been arranged.

Three of them, the Classical, the Literary, and the

Scientific, are collegiate courses—each covering

four yeais, after full preparatory work has been

completed; and one is an English course, de-

signed for those who cannot secure a more thor-

ough education. While students may pursue

elective studies, selecting from a wide range, de-

grees are conferred only upon those who complete

satisfactorily one of the prescribed collegiate

courses. Full provision is made for instruction

in Art, in Elocution, and in both Vffcal and In.

strumental Music. A special course in Pure

Mathematics and Practical Astronomy is now

offered.

As an item which may be interesting reading

years hence, when the changed values and cir-

cumstances may make the figures representing the

cost of an education here appear grotesque, the

following card is printed:

"BoABDiNG Dbpaktment.—The boarding de-

partment and the domestic affairs of the College

family at Ladies' Hall are committed to the direc-

tion of the Matron, under the general supervision

of the executive committee. It is designed, so far

as possible, to secure for every youg lady entering

the family, the influences and privileges of a Chris-

tian home. All the lady teachers reside there, and

board at the same table with the students. Gen-

tlemen students who prefer to do so, may also take
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their meals at Ladies' Hall. It is not designed to

make the Boarding H3II a source of profit to the

College, but to furnish to teachers and students

good and acceptable board at the lowest practic-

able rate.

Expenses—Board in College building, per

week (tea and coffee extra) $2 50

Tuition—Pall term 9 00

Tuition—^Winter and spring terms, each. . . 7 50

Boom rent, per term .....,....; 3 00

Incidentals, per term 1 00

Extras—^Tuition—^Piano or cabinet organ,

per lesson of one-half hour 50

Tuition—Cultivation of the voice, per lesson

of one-half hour 50

Use of piano or organ, per term, one hour

each day 2 00

Drawing, painting and Penmanship—As an-

nounced by the teacher.

Term bills are due at the beginning of each

term, and board bills every four weeks in advance.

No term bills are made out for less than half a

term.

No deductions are mad6, except in case of sick-

ness which continues for a month or more, unless

by special agreement when the student enters.

Students ordinarily can siipply themselves with

wood at an expense of from $4 to $5 per cord; and

those wishing board in private families (including

room, fuel, and lights) can secure it at from $3.50

to $4.00 per week. Furnished rooms, without

board, are obtained at $1.00 per week.

Applications for board and rooms should be

made as early as possible. Inquiries relating to

studies, classes, text-books, and examinations may
be addressed to any of the instructors, but all

general correspondence should be directed to

Jas. W. Strong, President,

Northfield, Minn."

CAHLETON COLLEGE OBSERVATOBT.

The Observatory of Carleton College is near the

east side of the campus. The main building is

twenty feet square, and, from the ground to the

top of the dome, thirty-three feet high. There are

two wings, each twelve by fifteen feet and fifteen

feet high, with flat roof. It fronts to the south,

with a total length of fifty feet. The west wing

contains the transit instrument and the chrono-

graph. On the first floor of the main building is the

small room for the portable instruments and their

accessories, the pier for the astronomical clocks,

telegraph oiBoe, computing room, and circular

stairway leading to the equatorial room in the

dome.

The central equatorial pier starts nine and one-

half feet below the surface of the ground, has a

footing of large flat stone in a vein of coarse

gravel, is built circular with a diameter of eight

feet, and is of solid masonry in cement to a height

of three feet above the groud. The well contain-

ing the pier is curbed with a dry stone wall from

the bottom to the surface of the ground, so that

the pier may stand independent of the ground

from its base. Above the first floor it is built of

brick in a circular form to the upper surface of the

second floor, and capped with a stone three and

one-half feet in diameter and eight inches thick.

The entire height of the pier is twenty-six feet.

The pier for the transit instrument is made in a

similar manner, except that it is rectangular in

shape.

The east wing is for the astronomical library

and observer's study.

The second story of the building is devoted to

the equatorial room which is circular and sixteen

feet in diameter. It is a little more than sixteen

feet from the floor to the highest point of the

dome. The dome is a hemisphere, and rests oij

twelve sheaved rollers, and it is revolved by ma-

chinery at the pleasure of the observer. The

ribs are of pine covered without with tin painted

nearly white, within with canv^as kalsomined blue.

Instruments.— The observatory is furnished

with the following instruments:

A Clark equatorial telescope, eight and one-

fourth inches aperture, ten and one-half feet focal

length, with a Bond spring governor driving clock

and a full battery of eye-pieces with powers rang-

ing from 50 to 800. The micrometer is of the late

Burnham pattern furnishing the best bright wire

illumination now in use.

A Byrne portable equatorial telescope, four and

three-tenths inches aperature; powers ranging

from 56 to 440.

A transit instrument made by Fauth & Co.,

Washington; three inches aperture, and forty

-

two inches focal length, with reserving apparatus.

Two Howard clocks, mean time, and sidereal,

numbered respectively 196 and 195. Both are

furnished with electrical break-circuit attachments

for time and longitude work.
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A Bond sidereal chronometer supplied also with

the break-circuit attachment and numbered 374.

A Olark chronograph and the ordinary meteor-

ological apparatus complete the list of the outfit

in instruments for practical astronomy.

Time Service.—The time service of the Observa-

tory began October 23d, 1878, immediately after

the new clocks were regulated, the Northwestern

Telegraph Company (now Western Union) having

previously asked for the time, and having run a

telegraph line to the Observatory and furnished it

with an office.

The daily electrical time-signals are given by

the mean-time clock itself, which has a break-

cirouit attachment operated by a small wheel on

the shaft o£ the second hand which has thirty-

one teeth spaced to represent two seconds of time

except three, which give continuous seconds, to

mark the close of each minute. This clock is

placed in a local circuit with appliances for cutting

it into the main telegraph line for daily noon sig-

nals.

By arrangement with the railroad companies the

mean-time clock is put into line daily at 11 o'clock

and 57 minutes, so that three full minute signals

may be given, the last stroke of the third minute

being understood to mark the time of twelve ex-

actly. Until quite recently the distribution of

the time to the railroads has been effected in the

following manner;

The principal offices of resort of the companies

terminating lines in St. Paul and Minneapolis have

wire connection with the main office of the Chi-

cago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Bailway for the pur-

pose of time. In this way the Observatory clock

has daily given its three-minute signals over the

main lines of these companies. The branch lines

use the same time, but it is repeated over them by

hand. When the main lines are thas connected

the clock has given its break-circuit signals over

1285 miles of wire in six different States and Terri-

tories, ranging from Kansas City to St. Paul,

Winona, and McGregor of Iowa. For a few weeLs

recently, the signal has been modified by reversing

the points of the relay in the local circuit, for the

purpose of a make-circuit signal on the main lines.

A five-minute signal attachment has also been ap-

plied to the clock that time balls may be dropped,

at noon, daily in connection with the railroad time

service. (Arrangements are already made to drop

a time-ball in each of the cities of St. Paul and

Minneapolis, the apparatus for the same now being

in hand.) This flve-minute attachment, as it is

called, is a plain disk, connected with the train of

the clock so as to revolve once in five minutes, and

a portion of the circumference representing four-

teen seconds is cut away. It is, of course, in the

local clock-circuit and serves to keep that circuit

closed, and hence the main line open during the

fourteen seconds preceding the sixtieth one before

noon. This interyal of open line gives oppor-

tunity to connect time-balls and eleotiically con-

trolled clocks with the Observatory clock for the

purpose of giving the noon signal publicly to

cities and the railway companies in various ways.

Distribution of the Time.—The following

railway companies take the Korthfleld meridian

time directly or indirectly, and use it over their

lines without local change except at distant points

:

1. Chicago, Milwaukee <fe St. Paul Bail-

way on its five divisions west of the

Mississippi Eiver.embracing an aggre-

gate length of 2,271

2. Winona & St. Peter Bailway (branch of

Chieag<j & Northwestern Bailway) uses

both Northfleld and Baraboo signals

but runs on Northfleld time 453

3. Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis & "

Omaha Bailway, from Sioux City to

Elroy, Wisconsin, on all its branches . . 1,057

4. Minneapolis & St. Louis Bailway, from

Minneapolis South 361

5. Northern Pacific to end of track west in

Montana 1,033

6. St. Paul, Minneapolis & Manitoba Bail-

way, to Winnipeg possibly, to St. Vin-

cent certainly , 1,025

7. St. Paul & Duluth to the head of Lake

Superior 153

Total number of miles 6,353

The last two companies do not take the time

directly from the Observatory, but from jewelers

in the city of St. Paul, who receive our daily sig-

nals. The Chicago, St. Paul, Minneapolis &
Omaha company have recently placed three of

Dudley's electrically controlled regulators 'on its

main line at St. James, St. Paul, and Eau Claire,

Wisconsin. These clocks are so constructed that

they may be set on true time by the Northfleld

clock daily by telegraph. This has been done tor

the last three months.
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The territory traversed by these railroads em-

braces all of Minnesota, parts of Iowa, Nebraska,

Dakota, Wisconsin, Montana, and possibly the

province of Manitoba.

The Observatory is in telegraphic connection

with Washington, and is placed on the list of

the Smithsonian Institution for free communica-

tion of astronomical discovery. Its exact geo-

graphical position is Latitude, 44 degrees, 27 ndin-

utes, 40.8 seconds; Longitude, 1 hour, 4 minutes,

23.8 seconds west of Washington.

Advanced Coubse in Mathematics and As-

tronomy.—In erecting the observatory the object

was threefold: 1, To give instruction to under-

graduate students; 2, To oifer an opportunity for

a complete course of study in pure mathematics

and practical astronomy ; and 3, , To aid in original

investigation.

With the present facilities, these three lines of

work have been undertaken, and unexpected suc-

cess has attended each. The latitude of the Ob-

servatory was determined by Professor B. F.

Thomas (now of the University of Missouri) in

1879, by the Talcott method, using a Wurdemann
two-inch zenith telescope, loaned by Lieut. Ed-

wfird Maguier, Chief Engineer of the Department

of Dakota. In 1880, the present director of the

Observatory re-determined it, using the same in-

strument and method, and obtained the result

given above, which varies but a few hundreths of

a second from that obtained one year before by

Professor Thomas. In October, 1880, by the

courtesy of the last officer named and Lieut. O. B.

Wheeler, of the Lake Survey, the longitude of

the Observatory was determined, the Coast Sur-

vey meridian of St. Paul being the base of opera-

tion. Independeut reductions of these observations

showed the longitudeof the Observatory to be 14.3

seconds west of St. Paul and hence from Wash-

ington, as named above. Original, elementary, or

class work of some kind is going on constantly, in

the midst of which the director aims to keep in

mind and fittingly to express the true relation of

the Creator to his own works.

Mathematical Library.—The library to aid

the special study of mathematics and astronomy

consists of about 800 volumes. It contains stand-

ard works from the Bryant collection, with addi-

tional purchases, and the published observations

of Washington and other leading observatories in

the world. Mr. T. Dwight Townsend, of Pitts-

burgh, Pennsylvanfa, has loaned to the Observa-

tory his library of rare and valuable works on

mathematics and philosophy. The Observatory is

in need of a better library.

Government Signal Station.—During the

summer of 1881, the government designated

Carletou College as a voluntary signal station,

and fumished the necessary instruments for ob-

servation and monthly report to Washington. The

College supplied further apparatus needed to make

the station first-class in every particular. Daily

observations are recorded according to the Wash-

ington rules, weekly averages by request, are sent

to a large number of country newspapers, and

monthly reports are regularly sent to Washington.

The Sidbkeal Messenger.—The latest step

taken by the Observatory in the interest of its

general work, is the beginning of an astronomi-

cal periodical, under the name given above. The

first number was published in March last, and it

will continue in monthly issues, except July and

September of each year. The subscription price,

per year, is $2. The work is adapted to those in-

terested in popular astronomy because of its

plainly-worded articles, and it will be helpful to

the student or amateur observer. It is the only

publication of the kind in the United States.

officers of oableton college.

Board of Trustees.—Kev. Richard Hall, St.

Paul; Hiram Soriver, Northfield; Rev. James W.
Strong, Northfield; Miron W. Skinner, Nortljfield;

Prof. J. L- Noyes, Faribault; David C. Bell, Min-

neapolis; Chas. S. Hulbert, Minneapolis; Rev.

Edward M. Williams, Minneapolis; Hon, Harlan

W. Page, Austin; Hon. William Windom,Winona;

Rev. Henry A. Stimson, Minneapolis; Hon. Wil-

liam R, Marshall, St. Paul; Daniel R. Noyes, Jr.,

St. Paul; Hon. C. E. Vanderburgh, Minneapolis;

Rev. Cassius M. Terry, St. Paul: George M.

Phillips, Northfield; Rev. L. H. Cobb, Minneapo-

lis; Rov. David Bart, St. Paul; Rev. D. L. Leon-

ard, Northfield; Rev. L. W. Chaney, Mankato;

Willis H. Norton, Northfield ; Rev. M. McG. Dana,

D. D., St. Paul; W. S. Pattee, Northfield.

Insreuotors, 1881-82.—Rev. James W. Strong,

D. D., President, and Professor of Mental and

Moral Philosophy.

Horace Goodhue, Jr., A. M., Professor of Greek,

and Principal of the Preparatory Department.

Wm. W. Payne, A, M., Professor of Mathematics

and Astronomy and Director of the Observatory.
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Miss Margaret J. Evans, A. M., Preceptress,

and Professor of English Literature and Modern

Languages.

Lyman B. Sperry, M. D., Professor of Geology,

Zoology, and Physiology.

Kev. George Huntington, A. M., Professor of

Logic and Bhetoric, and Instructor in Elocution.

Miss, Alice L. Armsby, A. M., Professor of

Latin.

Kev. Arthur H. Pearson, A. M., Professor of

Chemistry, Physics, and Mineralogy.

Eev. M. L. Williston, A. B., Professor of Polit-

ical Economy and History.

Dwight 0. Bice, Professor of M-usic. (Granted

leave of absence for the year).

Mrs. Mary B. Wilcox, Teacher in the English

Course.

Miss Susan A. Searle, A. B., Teacher in the

English Course.

Miss Alice M. Heald, Teacher of Instrumental

Music.

Miss Cora M. Nichols, Teacher of Vocal Cul-

ture.

OiTiCEBs.—Miss Anna T. Lincoln, Matron.

Alfred W. Norton, Treasurer.

W. S. Pattee, Loan Agent.

George M. Phillips, Financial Secretary.

Andrew Lee, Deputy Financial Secretary.

Conclusion.—As a fitting close of this sketch

of Carleton College, which to-day is so much larger

than Harvard or Yale was at several times its age,an

account of the closing exercises of the year 1882,

from the local press, is printed here, and if changes

in all that pertains to civilization are as radical

for the next one hundred years as has been wit-

nessed in the last century, this will be rich read-

ing to the graduates of that day

:

COMMENOBMBNT DAT.

The attractions of a beautiful June day added

to the usual magnetic attractions of Commencement
Day, brought together an immense multitude of

people this morning, filling every inch of available

space in the commodious audience room of the

Congregational church. The room itself, attract-

ive and pleasant in its appointments, was rendered

especially so by elaborate floral decorations. The
organ loft at the rear of the rostrum was a bower

of beauty. Upon the organ, covered with ever-

green, stood a large harp, also of evergreen, with

golden harp strings, and on either side was a

massive mound of foliage and flowers. At either

side of the platform stood large masses of tropical

leaves and blossoms. Above all was draped in

letters of gold on a back-gound of blue the class-

motto: "Noil Finita sed Bnita."

Soon after the appointed hour, 10 o'clock, the

members of the Board of Trustees and Faculty of

the College filed to their seats upon the platform,

whereupon Danz' orchestra struck up Wiegand's

"Popular Songs,'' and the exercises went on apace.

Dr. F. A. Noble, of Chicago, in a fervent prayer

invoked the Divine blessing upon the interests of

education in general, upon the interests of Carle-

ton College in particular, and upon the exercises

of the day and those who in them close their col-

lege days.

At the close of the prayer, Governor Hub-
bard, Professor Kiehle, and Bev. E. S. Williams of

Minneapolis, were led to seats upon the platform

amid applause.

In well-chosen Latin periods Miss Mary E.

Griffiin said in turn to the audience, the President

the Trustees, the Faculty, her class-mates and col-

lege-mates, i)os salutamus.

The first oration of the day was delivered by

Byron Abbott, on "Democracy in Europe." Start-

ing with the proposition "The history of the world

is the history of liberty," Mr. Abbott traced the

history of Democracy in Europe, showing the

steady growth of principles of freedom.

Selden Bacon in his oration endeavored to an-

swer the question, "Will the French Kepublic En-

dure?" Though finding some causes for fear, in

the character of the people and the complicated

political inheritance from the past, Mr. Bacon con-

cluded that the prospect was bright and bright-

ening, and that the French republic will endure.

Wuerst's "Under the Balcony,'' rendered by the

string quintette, was followed by the oration of

Wm. T. Bill, who spoke of " The True Destination

of Philosophy," and said in substance: The true

object of philosophy is the acquisition -of truth by
a study of the facts of the universe without and

the universe within, matter and mind, and a tra-

cing of their causes. In the past much error has

been associated with philosophy, but progressive

philosophy is leaving its mistaken principles be-

hind and advancing toward the ideal philosophy.

" The Unknown God " was the theme of the

classical oration of Charles C. Wheelock. After

referring to the scene in Athens where Paul was
inspired by the humble altar an^ its significant
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inscription to deliver bis eloquent address, the

speaker developed the thought that the idea of a

supreme being was universal among men. It has

manifested itself in various forms and phases

among different nations, and finally in its true'

form in the "Man of Nazareth."

Arcturus Z. Conrad argued that " Strong Con-

viction is the Vital Element of Progress " in his

oration. The influence of this mighty power

makes itself felt upon individuals, developing in

them siQoerity.deoision, courage, and independence,

and has given us the heroes and martyrs of his-

tory. It exerts its magic power upon society and

nations, and causes revolutions and reformations,

which mark the progress of mankind.

The audience rested itself by rising while the

orchestra played the "Reign of Venus" waltz, after

which Mr. Hale H. Cook orated in answer to the

question, " For What Will Our Age be Remem-
bered?" To our age, said he, much has been

given, and of it much will be required. What is

it which pre-eminently makes and is to make
memorable our age? Oars is the age of develop-

ment, past ages have been ages of discovery, this

is the age of development. Its influence is mak
ing its stamp upon science, philosophy and mor-

als of the age.

Miss Emily M. Brown, in her philosophical

oration, discussed " Mysticisip," which she deflueJ

as a belief in a direct and immediate intercourse

between man and his maker, as one of the many
theories man has made in his search after and study

of divinity and infinity. Mysticism and skepti-

cism are the two extremes. The one believes too

much, the other too little. Mysticism is scarcely

less baneful than skepticism, and ought to receive

the attention and opposition of champions of truth,

not lies.

" The Citizen of the Future " was the subject of

an oration by William P. PoweU. ' The advance

of civilization is placing more and more responsi-

bility upon the individual, the government of the

future is to be the republic of the present per-

fected. The citizen of the future must be quali-

fied for his position and prerogative by the char-

acteristics of integrity and honor.

The orchestra held the audience spell-bound by

the soft strains of the "Turkish Patrol," and there-

upon Mr. Merrill A. Robinson held their attention

by his presentation of the " Mission of the Educa-

tor." It is the privilege and duty of the ediicator

to train and cultivate young and plastic mdividu-

alifcy, which is to play so important a part in soci-

ety and government. He stands at the point where

to start the rivulets which will soon become the

great rivers, and he may and "does, to a large ex-

tent, direct their future course.

Lynn C. Skinner portrayed the wonderful char-

acter and career of Savonasola, the Italian re-

former, whose noble struggle in life and death for

principle and fellow men marks him one of the

greatest martyrs of the world.

The List oration of the day was that of William

A. Selleck, who made " Historic Perspective " his

theme. Greatness, he argued, is a relative term,

circumstances, times, and conditions modify con-

ceptions of things and events. In the historic

perspective we see things in their true relations,

nations in their proper bearings. By forecasting

the future perspective of our country many facts

and features of our natural life are made to stand

out before us more clearly. And now we turn to

the narrower perspective of ooUege life

The Valbdiotoby.—Mr. Selleck addressed suc-

cessively President Strong, the Board of Trustees,

the Faculty, the citizens of Northfleld, and his

classmates and schoolmates appropriate words of

farewell, infusing into the common-place valedic-

tory an unusual amount of good sense and good

sentiment.

Presentation op Diplomas.—After music by

the orchestra. President Strong, with the permis-

sion of Professor Noyes, president of the Board of

Trustees, presented the diplomas. To the follow-

ing were given degrees of bachelor of arts

:

Byron Abbot, Kandiyohi.

Selden Bacon, Norwich, Conn.

William T. Bill, Northfield.

Arcturus Z. Conrad, Sterling.

Hale H. Cook, Leslie, Michigan.

Merrill A. Robinson, Plainview.

William A. Selleck, Owatonna.

Lynn C. Skinner. Northfield.

Charles O. Wheelock, Mantorville.

Emily M. Brown, Granger.

Mary E. Griffia, Northfield.

Mr. Selleck also received a degree for complet-

iug the literary course.

To William P. Powell, of Medford, was awarded

the degree of Bachelor of Science.

The Master's degree was given to Mr. H. C.

Wilson, who graduated in 1879, and has passed
the required examinations.
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The PreaiJeDt stated that the Trustees had in-

structed him to state that those who had com-

pleted the English course of the College should

Eot take part in the commencement exercises or

receive degrees. He then presented to Misses

Esther E. Adair, of Owatonna, and Euth E. Eeed,

of Lime Springs, Iowa, certificates of graduation

in the English course.

The Awabd of Pbizbs.—Next in order was the

announcement of the prizes, which v/ere made by

the Chairmen of the committees, who acted as

judges. Bev. Mr. Kendall, of Northfield, after a

few interesting and amusing remarks, presented to

C. D. Decker, of the senior preparatory class, the

prize for the best declamation, and to P. E. Kent

the prize for the best essay.

Rev. Mr. Brown, of Owatonna, with pleasant

words of congratulation and counsel, gave to E.

K. Cheadle, of the junior class, the prize for the

best argument in debate; to Mr. F. N. Dickson, of

the freshman class, $16.50 of the freshman prize,

and to Miss Cheadle the remaining $8.50 of the

prize. President Strong announced that the

Keeve prize for perfect deportment and highest

scholarship was awarded to Miss Emily Brown of

the senior class.

The exercises, which were throughout more than

usually interesting, were concluded with the bene-

diction pronounced by Prof Kiehle, State superin-

tendent of public instruction.

Each of the speakers, on leaving the stage, re-

ceived numerous tokens of regard in the shape of

beautiful bouquets.

The Dinner.—Immediately after the exercises

at the church a large number of invited guests,

including the graduating class, trustees, faculty,

alumni, and friends, repaired to the dining room
at the Ladies' Hall. Here they found tables well

'laden with good things, to which they did ample

justice. The feast was elaborate in all its parts

and eet and served in attractive style.

As soon as a moderate degree of order could be

secured. President Strong said it was time for the

intellectual feast to begin, and called Prof. Noyes
to the chair, who, after a few remarks, expressing

his satisfaction in the exercises of the day and his

gratification at the prospects of the college, in-

vited Rev. E. M. Williams, of Minneapolis, to pre-

side over the exercises. Mr. . Williams made a

short sharp speech, and in turn called on Prof.

Kiehle, Gen. Nettleton, Gov. Hubbard, Rev. M.

W. Montgomery, and Dr. Noble, of Chicago, who
each responded with striking felicity, keeping

those present in a constant state cif laughter. The

general tenor of the remarks was highly com-

mendatory of the exercises of the day, and con-

gratulatory of the college on its prosperous pree-

ent, and hopeful future. Ex-Got. Pillsbury said,

"T congratulate the state of Minnesota on having

such an institution as this within its borders. I

am oflBcially related to the State University and

believe in it and rejoice in its prosperity; but not

more than I do Carleton College on its marvelous

success. There is an abundant field for both in-

stitutions. With one exception I have attended

every such anniversary exercises at Carleton Col-

lege since the beginning, and have watched with

increasing interest and pride its steady growth,

and witness to-day's exercises with keen pleasure."

I have been greatly pleased with what I have

seen and heard to-day, said Prof. Kiehle; for I see

here the growth and fruits of Christian education.

This institution bears an important relation to the

educational work in the State. I believe in the

State University, but I believe in Carleton College

also, and think there is atnple room for both to do

great things.

Dr. Noble said he had noticed a general ten-

dency among educators in the West to dwell upon

the advantages of small colleges; but he advised

those who speak of and for Carleton College not to

argue on this line, but to expect of the college

great things. The prospect is that,this institution

is to be one of the great educational centers of

the Northwest, great in its resources, in its influ-

ence, in its numbers, and in all things.

For the first time speeches were called for and

given by a number of the alumni, who told their

regard for the Alma Mater, and their joy in her

prosperity.

This was one of the most enjoyable features of

the anniversary exercises, and all dispersed with a

feeling of personal satisfaction and pride in the

young institution under whose auspices they*

had met.

The Pbbsidbnt's Reception.—In the evening

the president's reception took place at the residence

of Mrs. Norton. A large number of ladies and

gentlemen connected with and interested in the

college, accepted President Strong's invitation

and passed an unusually pleasant evening.

Theib Pbospeots.—The graduating class is
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made up of strong material and commence life

under favorable auspices. So far as tljey know at

present their several prospects are as follows:

Conrad will enter the Union Theological Semi-

nary, New York, in the fall; Miss Brown will go

to Japan, under the auspices of the A. B. 0. P.

M., as principal of a ladies' school, known as the

" Kobe Home." Mr. Bacon intends to study law

in Yale law school; Messrs Abbott and Bill will

read law somewhere in the West; Mr. Bobinson,

Miss Griffin, and Miss Adair will teach for a while;

Mr. Cook, after teaching for a time will probably

study law. Miss Eeed expects to make a further

study of music. Mr. Selleck will teach a year,

then take up the study of law; Mr. Skinner will

eventually go into the banking business; Mr.

Powell purposes going into business in Wisconsin;

Mr. Wheelock intends for the most part to pursue

linguistic studies at Yale."

BBtiaious.

First Congeegationaii Chuboh of Nokth-

piBLD.—On a Sunday afternoon in September,

1854, Elder Cressey, a Baptist missionary,

preached in an unfinished log house of Alexeuder

Stewart which all the Congregationalists were glad

to attend. On the 10th of June, 1855, Eev. Eich-

ard Hall preached in the same place, and on the

1st of August there were services in the cabin of

Thomas H. Olin. In May, 1856, Eev. J. E. Barnes

visited Northfleld and found a few Congregra-

tionalists, and on the 15th held service in the fore-

noon in a half built house, afterwards Jenkins'

Tavern, and in the afternoon another meeting was

held and the importance of starting right was

urged in relation to religious matters particularly.

At that time there was no plastering in the houses,

or fences in the fields. During the summer a

sohoolhouse was built, and there were services

once in two weeks or so. At that time there were

but eleven Congregational churches in existence

in Minnesota, six of theru being organized that

summer. A council was called on Saturday, the

30th of August, 1856, to regularly organize the

church. There were no delegates present and but

two ministers, Bev. J. E. Barnes and a chance

visitor, Eev. Joseph Peckham from Massachusetts,

and the next day the church was duly organized

with twelve members. Mr. Barnes continued until

May, 1857. * Eev. Joseph S. Bounce then located

here and remained six years.

In 1858, there was a revival and fourteen joined

27

the church. In 1860, there were thirteen who
withdrew to form a church in Waterford. The

Sunday-school and the prayer meetings were union

at this time. The little band struggled on up to

February, 1862, meeting in the schoolhouse and

Methodist church.

By a great effort a church fund was got up

amounting to $1,100, and a church was erected

24x40 feet and when completed was made free

from debt. The next summer a |90 melodion was

purchased and the event was looked upon as an

evidence of prosperity and progress most encour-

aging. In 1863, Mr. Bounce removed from North-

field and there was no pastor, Eev. J. G. Wilcox,

the Baptist minister, and the evangelist, Eev. H.

H. Morgan, supplying the pulpit. Eev. E. P.

Hammond, the revivalist, was also here tor a sea-

son and forty members joined the church, and the

thirteen who went to the church at Waterford re-

turned. That year the increment to the church

amounted to ninety-two souls, and after a greater

or less dependence for eight years upon the Home
Missionary Society, it became self-supporting.

On the 5th of April, 1864, Eev. Edwin S. Wil-

liams, just from Oberlin, Ohio, came, and his ordi-

nation followed on the 10th of June. In 1865,

the church was enlarged by the addition of twenty

feet, and a bell, the gift of eastern friends, was

hung up. In 1867, another enlargement was

made by an east wing 20x22 feet, and costing

$1,000. In 1868, a west wing of like size was

added.

In 1866, the State Conference located Carleton

College here, and thenceforward the church and

the college have had a propinquity which has been

mutually advantageous, as it has been intimate,

cordial, and helpful. Eev. J. W. Strong was in-

augurated as president of the college in 1870. Mr.

Williams continued his pastorate for six years re-

signing in May, 1870. In June, 1872, Esv. James

A. Towle was chosen pastor and broke the bread

of the word to this people until the 1st of April,

1875. The evangelist, Eev. Mr. Cadwallader, was

here in the winter of 1874 and '75.

The plan of weekly offerings was adopted in

1875, and has proved successful. President Strong

preached until Bev. D. L. Leonard came, in July,

1875, and he resigned in July 1881.

On the 19th of May, 1880, the church was

burned, and measures were at once taken to re-

build, a site being secured in a beautiful location
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nearly opposite the public sohool building. A
most elegant ohurob was erected in a modern style,

wHoli lias ample seating capacity, is well heated

and ventilated, and most admirably adopted for

church purposes, at a cost of over $20,000.

Eev. Heniy L. Kendall was called to become

pastor on the 18th of November, 1881.

The membership of the church at the present

time is 323. When it was organized there were

eight members, as follows: Moses Porter, Mrs.

Moses Porter, Ammi M. Nichols, Mrs. Lucie A.

Nichols, Daniel W. Kingsley, Allen N. Nourse,

Thomas H. Olin, and Mrs. Sarah Olin. This little

band of Christians must indeed have had extrava-

gant expectations if in that day of small things

they could have anticipated the condition of the

churcU and its surroundings that we now behold.

A list of those who have been clerks of the so-

ciety is here appended: Allen N. Nourse, Myron
W. Skinner, Joseph H. Spencer, Horace Goodhue,

James J. Dow, Henry S. French, Mrs. Nellie L.

Bunker, and the present clerk Miss Emma M'hea-

ton. On account of this being the home of Carle-

ton College this church must continue to be the

leading one ia town.

Methodist Episoopaij Chukch.—The first meet-

ings in this vicinity were lield in the house of Mr.

Larkins, three miles south of Northfield on the

road from Hastings to Faribault, on the 24th of

July, 1855,' by Dr. John L. Scofleld, a local

preacher from Racine, Wisconsin. Eev. Mr.,

McKeuzie, from Illinois, also preached for some

time at Mr. Larkins', at Cannon City, and other

places. At the Wisconsin Conference, in the au-

tumn of 1855, Eev. T. M. Kirkpatrick was ap-

pointed to the Cannon Eiver Mission, which

extended from the mouth of that river westward.

Early in September the meetings were held here

in the house of Joseph Drake, and also at Foun-

tain Grove. The first quarterly meeting was held

on the 1st of December, 1855, at James McGinnis'

residence. In February, 1856, Mr. Kirkpatrick

was appointed presiding elder. Dr. Schofield was

appointed a leader of the class which was filmed

with seventeen members. When the schoolhouse

was built, in 1856, Eev. William McKinley

preached at the several appointments, and by 1859,

about,100 members and probationers were g.atbered

within the circuit. At this time a board of trus-

tees was appointed and a lot procured, and ar-

rangemeuts made to build a church, which was

completed in 1859. Its location was several blocks

southeast of the present edifice. Among those who

were stationed here were the following Eeverend

gentlemen: Thomas Day, J. Stagdill, T. W. Eich-

ardson, G. W. Bennett, J. M. Eogers, under whom
a debt of $500 was paid, S. J. Sterrett, J. W.
Martin, now presiding elder of Mankato district,

which brings it up to 1870, when Noel Lathrop

followed and T. M. Gassart, W. W. Park, S. G.

Gale, G. E. Horr, and Levi Gilbert, the present

pastor. A parsonage was built at an early day.

The new parsonage was built in about 1875, and

the new church erected so as to be occupied on the

first floor in 1878, at a cost of over $8,000. There

are about 200 members and a Sunday-school of

100. The main audience room of the church is

now in process of completion.

Moravian Chuboh.—It is claimed that this

church originated in Moravia and Bohemia as long

ago as in 1415, having been started by John Huss

as a schism from the Catholic church, and thus

antedating the Lutheran.

In 1869, this society was organized in North-

field, there having been service for some time

previous. The, church is on Division street, and is

a neat structure. Among the clergymen who have

administered to this little flock may be named,

Rev. C. L. Eeinke, Rev. D. Z. Smith, and Eev.

Ernst Schwartze.

All Saints' Episcopal Chukch.—The first

remembered service in this belief was at the house

of Harley D. White, on the 9th of March, 1856,

and in the evening there was another service, and

one infant was baptized. Services were occasion-

ally held by Eev. E. J. Lloyd Breck, Eev. D. P.

Sanford, and others from Faribault. On the 1st ,

of November, 1858, the parish was organized, and

there was service by Eev. Mr. Breck, Eev. S. W.
Manney, and students from the Divinity School at

Faribault. The first visit of the Bishop was on

the 26th of February, 1860. Rev. Solomon
Stevens Burleson officiated from the 3d of Jan-

uary, 1864, until September, when he was or-

dained into the priesthood and became Sector,

and weekly service was afterwards held. On tho

22d of March, 1865, a lot was purchased of Sam-
uel Wing and deeded to the Seabury Mission,

The edifice was begun in May, 1866. The sum of

•11,100 was raised, and the building was ready

for service that winter. The consecration took

place on the 11th of April, 1867. Eight Rev.
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H. B. Whipple and Bev. Edward K. Wells were

present. A communion service was presented. In

October, 1868, means were raised to purchase a

parsonage, which was done, and in November it

was occupied. In 1869, the children of the Sun-

day school began work to secure funds with which

to procure a bell, and by September they had got

together $35. The citizens made up the baldncei

and on the 14th of October its peals rang out.

Among those who have been pastors here since

that time, may be named : Eev. T. 8. Pycolt.

George B. Whipple, Eev. A. E. Graves, Eev. A. J.

Teater, Eev. J. Dudley Ferguson, Eev. George L.

Chase, Eev. E. S. Wilson, and A. W. Eyan. As

to their having a pastor now can be judged from

the reply received on asking A. O. Whipple, one

of the leading members of the church, "What is the

name of the pastor?" he said he "did not know
they had a pastor."

Baptist Church.—The meeting held for the

purpose of organizing was on the 27th of July,

1856, and the following persons constituted the

membership: Charles F. Whittier, Mrs. Mar-

garet A. Whittier, Joseph Harris, Eansom V-

Smith, George W. Smith, Hannah P. Smith, and

Alvah Cole.

On the 27th of September following the organ-

ization was completed; Elder Cressey was Mod-
erator.

At a meeting in October, the church was for-

mally organized by the other churches of the

same denomination already in existence within

hailing distance. A third meeting was held on

the 23d of November, when Elder Cressey was

called as pastor, with a salary of $100 for one-

fourth of his time for one year. On the 31st of

March, 1857, it was resolved to build a church.

Eev. J. G. Wilcox came in April, 1858; he bad

been an agent of the American Baptist Home Mis-

sionary Society at New York. He became pastor

and succeeded in building the church which still

stands. He remained until 1869, when Eev. T. E.

Peters came and remained eleven months.

According to the records, he was ordained on the

24th of May, 1870.

Eev. J. H. Wilderman was the pastor in 1872.

Eev. S. S. Utter was afterwards pastor, and while

here he was instrumental in building the parson-

age, which was done in 1874 and '75, at a cost of

about $2,000. Eev. John Eounds became pastor

in March, 1869. There are now sixty members.

There is a Sunday school with J. T. Wyman aa

the superintendent.

St. DoMiNiE-EoMAN CathoiiIO.—About the first

service in the interest of this church was in 1860,

by Eev. Father Keller and Eev. Father Shene,

and the other priests up to 1882 have been, Eev.

Father Ealph Hoose, Eev. James McGlone, and

Eev. John Pahein who came in 1875. The land

was procured and building begun in 1866. Since

the church was built it has received an addition,

and there is a parsonage adjoiuing. Its location

is on the west side. Eev. Mr. Pahlm also has

another charge, ",the Church of the Annunciation''

located in Webster township.

Geeman Methodist.—The church where this

congregation worships is on the west side of the

river. The earliest services were held in about

1856. The ministers who have labored here are:

Eev, H. Hermsmyer, Eev. Charles P. Eichster,Eev.

Henry Schneicker, Eev. Henry Eoth, Eev. Wil-

liam Bucholz, Eev. William Eeltered, Eev. Jacob

Keller, and Eev. William Pogenhat, the present

pastor. The church was built about 1876, at a

cost of $2,000. The circuit embraces several

other places, Prairie Creek, East Prairie, and

others. There is a Sunday school under the

superintendence of Michael Tramm.

FlKST NOKWEGIAN EVANGELICAL LuTHBEAN
Oongeegation—St. Johannes.— Meetings were

held in 1869, in the . schoolhoTise and

in Thoreson's Hall, by Eev. N. A. Quam-
men at irregular intervals. Since then at

the German Methodist; and the Moravian Church

was leased at one time. This congregation is

closely connected with St. Olaf's School, Eev. Mr.

Mohn being the present pastor. The church was

built in 1881, at a cost of about $3,000.

In 1877, the question of temperance agitated

this church, many meetings were held, and it was

finally decided that those who habitually drink

intoxicating beverages could nbt be admitted as

church members. In 1876, the society joined the

Synod. There is a membership of fifteen families.

The Trustees are: O. T. Lysne, H. O. Graff,

anil Edwin Alfson; Treasurer, S. A. Siverts;

Clerk, M. A. Boe.

associations and societies.

The Old Settlebs' Association.—This club,

which is a county society, an account of which

appears in another part of this work, met in

Northfield on the 26th of January, 1876, and the
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usual variety of exercises were gone through with

and Mr. H. Soriver, the Mayor, delivered an ad-

dress, which is preserved here

:

" Selected by your Committee to open the cere-

monies of this festive occasion, I feel like the boy

on the Fourth of July morning who has the honor

of firin g the first anvil, a little nervous lest the noise,

or the powder, or the anvil have would a disagree-

ably elevating effect, and he come to some sad

end, like a good many little boys doing their coun-

try's duty. Nevertheless, like him, cheered on by

the reflection that it will be the opening chorus to

a good deal of thrilling music contributed by my
friends and neighbors, and as the explosions of

wit and humor, of tales of by-gone days, burst

forth, rocket-like, fi-om your well-filled memories'

store, I will be amply repaid for the risk I take.

And first I must congratulate you upon the day

;

a day to become dearer to us as the pleasant as-

sociations are increased with the revolving years.

A generous, whole-souled, large-hearted person

must he or she have been who first conceived the

idea of having a day set apart for the pui'pose of

reviving the memories of the buried past, to con-

tribute to the hearty cheer and good- will of the

present. A day to lift us out of the slough of the

cares and anxieties of this busy life, and make ns

" O'er a' the ills o' life victorious." Farther

north at a certain season of the year, as the sun

sinks below the horizon, the aurora follows the

circuit of the sky until the sun again bursts forth

in all his glory of light and heat. So the recol-

lections of this day will follow us as the year rolls

around, and we will feel its influences and have its

chear to help us through many a dark moment of

trial.

We cannot have too much "oil of gladness" in

this wearing, active life of ours, and it is a pleas-

ing feature to be noticed that the days of good

fellowship and pleasant associations are on the in-

crease among us. We may say of the day in the

words of Burns:

" But oil'd by thee,

The wheels o' life go down the scrieven

Wi' rattlin' glee."

In June, 1856, I came to the State (then Terri-

tory), riding in a stage from Hastings. As the

prairies spread out before us in their living green,

dotted with the wild rose and other flowers, was it

any wonder that the heart of the traveler from the

barren hills of the East or the wilds of Canada,

should leap for joy within him, and that he should

feel that this is indeed a goodly land ? And as we

came over the hill east of the village, and the

noble forest with that then magnificent grove of

elms near the mill broke upon our view as the

stage drove into the embryo city of Northfield,

need you be surprised that I ordered my trunk

taken off, and felt at last I had reached my jour-

ney's end, and in old settler's parlance "stuck my
stake." At that time the line of woods came down

upon a line with the railroad track. The school

section was furnishing wood and logs for the gen-

eral public. The latter (the logs I mean) were

sawed up at the old mill, standing where now

stands the west side grist-mill. The lumber so

furnished was building up the town, and so fur-

nished a salve to the consciences of those receiving

its benefits. The skeleton balloon frames were

being erected with great rapidity. The frames of

the Jenkins and Cannon Biver Houses were up,

and Mr. North's, the most complete in the village,

was a board house, battened and lined with cot-

ton cloth, in which he and his family had spent the

winter, standing about where Mr. Gress' shoe store

stands, and is now the building occupied by Mr.

Bivins opposite the Lyceum. The grist mill was

just enclosed, and under its shadow John Way
and I threw out black bass with a spear a fast as

we could handle them. The old bridge was a

rude affair of bents and stringers, swept away two

or three times and replaced. There was a tradi-

tion that floodwood was found on the line of this

Division street, landed here by some great flood.

Nothing so great has occurred in our day, al-

though we have had some pretty ones. The grist

mill furnished shelter for our first Fourth of July

dinner. Many of you remember the basswood-

plank, one-story building, 20x30 feet, set on

blocks, in which was the beginning of the mercan-

tile interests of Northfield, now grown to such

magnificent proportions. Perhaps you would not

recognize it now in the two-story building owned

by the corporation of Carleton College, and known

by the significant name of " Pancake Hall," taken

from the busy mart of commerce where it served

an honorable purpose, and exalted to the higher

duty of shelter and for the gastronomic uses of

those seeking knowledge under difficulties.

The first stock, in trade amounted to the modest

sum of $500. A pale-faced youth who had seen

too much in-door work for health, was its happy

proprietor, and on the counter, as ho made his bed
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on a piece of cotton cloth, the favprkig breezes

blew over him between the shrunken planka at the

sides and the loose boards of the floor, and brought

health and vigor again.

You remember the remarkable summer of '56,

and for that matter every season is remarkable.

The frequent and terrible thunder showers; bow

it seemed every night almost as though all nature

was about to collapse. How the lightning played

and the thunder roared and crackled, and the

morning would open clear and beautiful and na-

ture with her face washed would smile again.

At times during the night herds of cattle with

no fear of the "cattle law" before them, would

come down hungry for salt, and as the brine

dripped through the opening fioor from pork or

fish barrel, the frail building would surge back

and forth from their endeavors to reach it, till it

seemed to its owner a question whether the cattle

or the gentle breezes of the thunder showers

would succeed first in toppling over his castle.

Occasionally a venturesome calf would succeed in

crawling under, and then there was no more sleep

from the rattling and the banging of the floor

boards till that calf was dislodged. Warned by

these experiences, the new building has been sunk

to the solid rock. A hen hatched her brood under

one corner of the building, and asserting her right,

female-like, to roost or ruin, would ascend the

stairs in the quiet shades of evening, and at peep

of dawn the owner was awakened by peep of

chick, and the whole brood would come clamoring

down the stairs and demand an exit. Animal life

was active in getting a living. Even a little

mouse, attracted, perhaps, by the goodly size of

the young man's shoe, as affording sufficient stor-

age for a winter's supply of food for the family,

persisted several nights in succession in attempts

to fill it with nuts.

The first religious service that I attended was in

old Mr. Drake's house, two miles south. Dr. Sco-

fleld officiating. When the sehoolhouse on the

east side of the village was enclosed, services were

held there, and the good people came in to attend,

drawn by the sure-footed slow locomotion of ox

teams. The first debating club was organized and

held there, and the first question on the board was

"female suffrage." Thus early did this great

question agitate the minds and hearts of this com-

munity. It was difficult to find anybody to take

the negative, for the male sex, especially, felt that

the great necessity of the hour was the immigra-

tion of the fairer sex. Young men and old bache-

lors, therefore, were spoiling to have women vote,

and every inducement was offered to ^get them

here. The debating society grew, and a reading-

room was formed and the upper portion of Skin-

ner's store occupied, but it was soon felt that a

building suitable to its needs must be had, and the'

present Lyceum building and library was the re-

sult. The long winter evenings were spent in

debate, music, readings, original papers, etc. Of

course we had some astonishing bursts of eloquence,

for genius felt in this free air untrammeled. One,

in using a Bible illustration, spoke of the "Widow
Cruse's jug of oil as unfailing. In speaking of

his musical acquirements he said, "I once had no

ear, no voice, but look at me now." A sufficient

cause of encouragement in the musical line to

those who knew him. As we felt the necessity of

the civilizing influence of music in our semi-savage

state, a band of young men was formed, led by
John Mullin, now of Faribault, who, differing

somewhat from a certain long-eared gent, had more

voice than ear for music, the principles of whom
were that each should be an independent singer

sing in liis own key, and as loud as possible. Un-

der the inspiration of a large and appreciative

audience, when at the word that hopeful band was

let loose on the expectant ear, it was like a thous-

and bulls of Bashan, or a regiment of army mules.

The effect was terrific, and at the word "Halt!"

they were finally stopped, and the stillness could

be felt—a trifle. Such ancient lyrics as "Old

Grimes," "The Battle of the Nile," etc., were ren-

dered with stunning effect. Time hung heavy.

Money and girls, two prime necessities of life,

were scarce. Even a counterfeit bill was a prize

to some, and the first financial principle I heard

enunciated was, "Never refuse a counterfeit; I

would rather have a counterfeit than a genuine,

for it helps to make trade lively. Keep it circu-

lating." A principle which, if faithfully followed,

will no doubt make it lively. If a sleiglrride was

gotten up a sort of lottery was resorted to, and

sorry was the poor wight who was not paired off.

We have a tradition that the winters were cold

in those days. Certainly the climate is changed

now, but no doubt we were as often puzzled as the

Irishman who, looking at the thermometer, said,

"I have often wondhered how a little thing loik

that should make it so cault in the winther and so
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warrum in in the summer." It is, I suppose, be-

yond contradiction that in the winter of '56 it did

not thaw on the south side of the house for three

months. It is perhaps well to refresh our mem-
ories in these mild and salubrious days with recol-

lections of those severe winters which gave our

State such a bad reputation East, and in which it

is said we were obliged to piece out our thermom-

eters with broom handles in order to make a proper

record. Mr. Jenkins had a boarder who froze his

toes while asleep in bed with his feet near a win-

dow, and there was quite a disturbance among the

boarders in consequence of the smell of gargling

oil Tised in healing the injured members.

A more turbulent, roystering, good-natured, and

withal complaining, whining crew, ifrwould bg diffi-

cult to get together than were those boarding at

the two hotels during those winters. Scant fare

and tough beef were disguised blessings to stir

their sluggish blood and keep things lively. But

woe to the poor traveler who happened along.

What their ingenuity could not devise to annoy

each other was visited upon him. While his at-

tention would be attracted by some one at his side

at the dinner table his pie or cake, or any little

delicacy, was fast disappearing down the capacious

maw of a conspirator at the other side. Overcoat

pockets were visited and bottles, "contents not

noted," was sure to be confiscated for the public

good. At night he would wake up perhaps shiv-

ering from the loss of a blanket, and the snoring

occupants of the field room would be entirely

ignorant, of course, of the cause of his distress

until the disturbance would bring the landlord to

his relief. Toll was levied on the two enterprising

young merchants, and there was a constant oscil-

lation from one side to the other of these idlers.

Ingenious devices wers used to distract the

attention of the merchants, while a dip into the

candy-box or nut barrel was made. Nails were

driven into the ends of sticks by which a bunch of

raisins could be quietly "hooked." You see to

what straits for employment and amusement many
were driven.

In the spring ofr '57, when the river was at the

flood, a young man ventured to go over the dam.

In doing so, his boat swamped and he was nearly

drowned. Upon being drawn upon the bridge,

his landlord walked up to the almost lifeless body,

and giving it a kick said, "I'll teach you not to go
and drown yourself till you have paid me your
board."

In those halcyon days of steamboats, when rail-

roads and railroad bonds did not trouble us, those

of you who traveled, recollect how crowded they

were, packed like herrings in a barrel, was a com-

mon occurrence, when cabin floors, chairs, tables,

and every available space and piece of furniture

were put in requisition and covered by tired

humanity. It was once my good fortune to obtain

a room in company with a very corpulent German.

Retiring first, I took the lower berth, and was soon

fast asleep. I did not awaken when he entered,

but soon did so from a crash and the smothering

effects of the upper berth upon me while the fran-

tic struggles and great weight of my German

friend soon made me aware of what had happened.

He soon rolled off, however, and as soon as he

could get the mattress off, my ears were greeted

with the exclamations and question, "Mine Cot!

Mine Got! ish you kilt?" Soon assuring him I was

safe it no doubt took a great load off his mind, as

he did off my stomach.

But I must close my already too lengthy

sketch. Do you realize that many of you have

lived here one-fifth of the length of the life of

this Nation. It seems short, but so it is. But the

other day a light-haired youth was married who

had not seen the light of day when you and I

came here. A generation already past. It seems

but the other day when the Indian trail could be

tracked across the hill where now stands our Col-

lege building. I believe but few shadows have

fallen across our pathway during the past year.

Our number undiminished 'as we assemble again

with unbroken ranks. A mercy of which we
ought to be truly thankful, while it may be con-

sidered a glorious tribute to the general healthful-

ness of our climate. A kind Providence has certainly

smiled upon us. Changes scarcely perceptible

are constantly occurring with us. A few more gray

hairs may be noticed perhaps, a little more stoop

to the shoulders, a slight halting in the step, warn-

ing us that change is upon us, and that it cannot

always be so, but for present mercies let us be glad

and rejoice, that we have been enabled to meet to-

gether once more under such happy auspices."

The Association met in Northfield on the 16th

of February, 1882. The usual progromme was

carried out, and speeches were made by G. W.
Batchelder, Rev. A. Willey, Robert Watson, J. 0.

Cooper, Sherriff Barton, Gen. Nutting, D. H. Orr,

Rev. William Reynolds, F. W. Frink, Rev. L. Gil-
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bert, and others. A letter was received from Mrs.

E. Hobbs which was read and highly appreciated.

Lyceum Association.—A prominent feature in

early days was what is known under the above

title, and occupied a central position, as the citi-

zens were so nearly shut out of the world that

they had to depend upon their own genius for

sources of amusement. This society took quite a

wide range, and the best talent of the place was

called into requisition. A gratifying feature was

the commingling of elements which were denomi-

nationally antagonistic, as all shades of belief

joined hands in sustaining the societyl The

early records are not visible, but the tradition is

that it was called into being in 1858, and under

its benign pressure a building was cinstructed.

Weekly meetings were held in the regular season

the fee for membership being $2 at first, but af-

terwards it was reduced one-half.

The discussions which were held we:e character-

ized by ability, originality, and often blended with

eccentricity, leaving them long to be remembered

As the adherents of the various forms of religious

belief began to gather, each would get up social

gatherings by themselves, and the denominational

entertainments took the place of this association

;

thus apathy necessarily resulted, and finally the

meetings were discontinued. In 1878, the build-

ing and the library that had been accumulated

was transferred to the city.

Social Lodge No. 48

—

Masonic.—This was in-

stituted on the 6th of October, 1864, with the fol-

lowing first three officers: Charles Taylor, W. M.;

D. W. Whitney, S. W.; FeUx OoUett, J. W. The

regular communications are on the first and third

Wednesdays of each month.

The following brothers have been masters of

the lodge: Charles Taylor,' H. W. Bingham,

Morgan Emery, F. A. Noble, A. A. Keller, J. W.
Murphy, and O. F. Perkins, the present master.

The other officers are: H. L. Crittenden, S. W.;

Willis Bawson, J. W.; D. H. Lord, 8. D.; 8. L.

:^ushnell, T.

EoYAii Akch Chapter—Coeinthian No. 33.

—

Was instituted on the 1st of Maroh,1877. The char-

ter members were : C. N. Daniels, C. E. Eogers,

L. A. Fuller, J. D. Johnson, Peter W. Delaney,

8. Baineri, H. J. Eldred, F. Collett, J. C. Haven.

The meetings are on the second and fourth

Thursdays in each month.

The present officers are: H. K. Kelley, H. P.;

H. L. Cratten, K.; B. F. Henry, 8.; J. L. Black-

man, Sec. ; John Hands, T.

NOKTHFIELD LoDGB No. 50. OdD FeLLOWS.

There was a lodge instituted here before the war,

but which surrendered its charter.

The present lodge was instituted on the 15th of

November, 1875. The charter members were: S.

8. Dickinson, William H. Bennett, T. M. Gossard,

Otis S. Taylor, John Lapp, Samuel W. Matteson,

C. H. Miller, Peter Filbert, Henry Ebel, and W.
O. Johnson. There are now sixty members. The

present officers are Galen H. Coon, N. G. ; .T. A.

Lawrence, V. G.; James Morton, Secretary; 8.

Kaineri, Treasurer.

Okibnt Encampment No. 20.—The charter

members of this body were: J. A. Lawrence,

David Sibbeson, Seymour Finkelson, O. S. Tay-

lor, John F. Hunter, William H. Bennett, I. B.

Hodgson, Boss 0. Phillips, Ira Sumner, Charles

H. Miller, 8. Baineri, William Ebel, and Henry
Eiddell. The nights of meeting are on the first

and third Thursdays of each month.

Th^ officers for the current term are: Henry
Riddell, C. P.; G. H. Coon, H. P.; D. Sibbeson,

S. W.; F. Henderson, J. W.; 8. Finkelson, 8.;

8. Baineri, T.

NOKTHFIELD LoDGE No. 41

—

AkCIENT OeDEE
OF United Woekingmen.—The original members
were: George A. Henry, E. Lockwood, George

E. Bates, E. H. Springer, W. J. Sibbeson, E. J.

Clark, Mason Wheeler, D. J. Whitney, W. N.

Olin, and 8. A. Morse.

It has now a membership of twenty-two. The
officers for the present term are: James Kenney,

M. W., E. Lockwood, F.; O. W. Mann, O.;

F. O. Bice, K.; 0. A. Drew.T.

Knights or the Golden Eulb.—Institued on

the 15th of August, 1879, with the following roll:

H. S. Eobinson. Joseph Cocayne, E. B. Oarpen-

penter.

Young Men's Cheistian Association.—This

was first organized as a Students' Christian Asso-

ciation in 1874, with the following officers : Pres-

ident, J. J. Dow; Vice President, E. 8. Boss;

Treasurer, E. W. Young; Secretary, W. K. Mul-

liken.

The last meeting of this organization was on

ihe 14th of June, 1879, when it was reorganized

under the rules of the "Young Men's Chris-

tian Association." The present officers are : Pres-

ident, Dr. Graves; Vice President, O. L. Eobinson;
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Treasurer, M. Wright; Secretary, Sarah D. Steg-

ner. A reading room well filled with periodicals

is kept open down town.

Good Templabs.—This institution was organ-

ized on the 21st of September, 1881. Its meet-

ings are on Tuesday evenings.

The fraternal orders being rather popular at

the present time, particularly where there is life,

health, or accident insurance, there may be still

others in town, as there is certainly quite an ex-

tensive membership in outside companies.

OLD TOWN HALL.

This building was the first erected by the town

for public purposes, on Fourth street, and was us-

ually called "Lyceum Building," as it was con-

structed under the auspices of the Lyceum Asso-

ciation in 1858. All the residents contributed to

pay the $1,000 it is said to have cost. A library

was also started by subscription, and kept accu-

mulating through the means of festivals and en-

tertainments until there were upwards of 400

valuable volumes. The building is in a state of

decay, and is occupied as a justice's office.

WATBErOED.

Early in 1855, ii town was laid out north of

Northfield about two miles, just over the line in

Dakota county. This was before Northfield was

platted, and there was great rivalry between the

new places, which amounted to animosity in some

instances. This feeling between new towns which

were springing all around, seemed to be general;

each one seemed to feel that it could only flourish

at the expense of others. This town of Waterford

was laid out by "Bobby Masters." He secured a

Post-office and had it opened early that year.which

might have been in the fall of 1854, or early the

following year. One of the Atkin boys, whoever

they were, was the Postmaster. The office was

kept in an old trunk. Joseph Bills and Mr. Parch

have been Postmasters. Mrs. Madison is the pres-

ent Postmistress. The place now has about one

hundred inhabitants, and of course is no longer

a rival of Northfield.

This place, although in Dakota county, is men-

tioned for the good it has done and the good it is

stm doing as a place of trade for some of Eice

county people.

OHAPTEB LIII.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

Captain Jesse Ames was born at Vinal Haven,

Knox county, Maine, on the 4th of February, 1808.

He lived on a farm until fifteen years of age, then

went to sea and at the age of twenty-three was

master of a merchant vessel. On the 27th of Oc-

tober, 1832, Miss Martha Tolman became his wife.

She is a daughter of Thomas Tolman, of Rock-

land, Maine. Mi's. Ames sailed round the world

twice with her husband, who, after being captain

of a vessel thirty years, made his last voyage in

1861, coming from New Zealand to London, and

thence home, after selling his vessel. Having a son

in Minnesota, he visited the State and concluded

to cast anchor here for life,- and after two years

spent in farming in the county, located in North-

field. In October, 1864, Mr. Ames and his sons

purchased the flouring mill at this place, and the

"Northfield" brand of flour, made by Jesse Ames
& Sons, and now by Jesse Ames' Sons, is in high

repute. In 1868, Mr.iiAraes was in the Legisla-

ture and was also a member of the Convention at

Chicago, which nominated Grant the first term.

He has two children; John T. and Adelbert.

David Ames, a brother of Capt. Jesse Ames,

was born in North Haven, Knox county, Maine,

on the 26th of June, 1819. He received a good

education and taught school in the winter for

thirteen or fourteen years. During the summer
he coasted from Rockland to New York, having a

vessel of his own a portion of the time. In De-

cember, 1842, he married Miss Lucy Dyer, of his

native place, and they have four children; Char-

lotte B., Hannibal Hamlin, John B., and Arthur

H. In 1847 and 1850, Mr. Ames was in the Maine

Legislature. In 1867, he came to this place and

soon after engaged in his brother's flour-mill. He
owns a farm of four hundred and seven acres on

Prairie Creek, and a residence in the city. Has
been Chairman of the Board of Supervisors three

years.

W. M. Bbekman was born in Franklin county,

Indiana, on the 29th of March, 1854, and the 4th

of July following his parents came to Minnesota.

His father enlisted in the army, leaving his family

in Hastings, and in 1866, they removed to Min-
neapolis and soon after to St. Paul, where the

father still resides, being one of the leading vet-

erinary surgeons in the State. In 1878, our sub-

ject married Miss Daisy 0. Williamson, the cere-
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mony taking place the 5tb of September. In May,

1880, he came to Northfield, and his profession is

that of a veterinary surgeon and physician. He
has two children; Jessie 0., and Mildred May.

Julius L. Blackman was bom in Jericho, Ver-

mont, on the 20th of November, 1848. His par-

ents were Wells and Fidelia M. Blackman, and his

father was born in Connecticut but removed to

Vermont in an early day. When Julius was four-

teen years old the family moved to Northfield, Min-

nesota, locating on section thirty-four, where our

subject grew to manhood. He attended the com-

mon schools for a time, and afterwards Carleton

College. He learned the drug business with Con-

ner & Miner, and in 1872, engaged in the latter

business for himself, having since continued at

the same. His wife was formerly Miss Clara B.

McCausland. They have two children, Jessie

Marion and Henry Arthur.

Daniei, Bowe, a native of Genesee county. New
York, and one of Northfleld's early settlers, left

his native State when abojjt thirty years of age,

and went to Ohio, where for about ten years he

was engaged in farming. In 1842, Miss Eveline

Lord became his wife and in 1855, they came to

Northfield, locating in section seven. He read

law here and was admitted to the bar in 1862, and

until recently has continued in practice in this

place. He is at present in Dakota Territory. Of

a family of four children three are living: Ar-

thur E., Daniel E., who lives in Sciota, Dakota

county, and Mary, wife of E. J. Evans, of Fergus

Falls.

Arthur E. was reared on a farm and when
twenty years old entered the office of Gordon E.

Cole, of Faribault, with whom he read law for a

time, afterwards with his father in this place, and

then with E. Keynolds, at Detroit, in this State;

was admitted to the bar and after three years

at his profession went to Minneapolis. He
practiced there for a time, then returned to North-

field and formed a partnership with his father un-

der the firm name of Bowe & Bowe, and is still in

practice. He marrried Miss Hellie M. Hendergon

on the 1st of February, 1881.

Benjamin B. Babkee, a native of New York,

was born on the 24th of September, 1841, and re-

moved with his parents to Jeflerson county, Wis-

consin, when eight years of age. He worked at

the carpenter trade till 1866, with the exception of

one year spent in the army in the First Wiscon-

sin Heavy Artillery. He came to Northfield, and

one year later removed to Collins, McLeod county,

where he farmed and worked at his trade four

years, then went to Labettee county, Kansas, re-

mained one and a half years and in 1873, returned

to Northfield and has given his attention to his

trade. Mr. Barker has been twice married; first

to Miss Henrietta Wood, who died after a year

and a half of wedded life. The maiden name of

his present wife was Miss Eliza H. Curtis, Of

three children bom to him only one is living,

Ethel P.

FeiiIx Collett, a native of lower Canada, was

bom near Montreal, on the 14th of August, 1815.

When sixteen years old he went to upper Canada,

and for three years was engaged in the lumber

business, then came to Ohio, remaining twelve

years as clerk for the railroad and canal com-

panies, and was also in the land office. In 1849,

he went to California, and after mining two years

returned to Canada, where he engaged in lumber-

ing and carpenter work. In 1855, he came to

Minnesota, stopped in St. Anthony a few months

and in December came to Northfield and first

worked on the old mill, now standing on the east

side of Cannon Eiver. When it was completed he

was employed in, it and has remained there ever

since. Mr. Collett has been married twice. His

first wife was Miss Eebecca Batson and she bore

him three children, only one of whom is living,

Nelson T. His present wife was Miss Jane Chis-

holm.

HiBAM L. Coon, M. D., was born in Grafton,

New York, on the 25th of August, 1828, and

reared to agricultural pursuits. He removed with

his parents to Milton, Bock county, Wisconsin,

when twelve years of age, received an education

at the common schools, Milton Academy, and

Bush Medical College in Chicago, from which he

graduated in 1854. He commenced the practice

of his profession in Butland, Dane county, Wis-

consin, where he was married in 1855, to Miss

Sarah Morton, daughter of Eoger Morton. In

1856, he removed to Austin, this State, and in

1861 to Northfield, where he has been in con-

stant practice since, giving especial attention to

surgery. He is a member of the State and also

of the American Medical Societies; was County

Coroner several years. His ohUdren are Galen H.,

an attorney at this place, and George M., attend-

ing medical lectures at Eush Medical College, in

Chicago.
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Galen H. Coon, a native of Rutland, Wisconsin,

dates his birth the 21st of August, 1856, and

came with his parents to this place. He first at-

tended the common schools, then was a pupil at

Oarleton College and later at the State University

of Wisconsin, graduating from the law depart-

ment, and was admitted to the bar at Madison in

1880. On the 29th of December, 1875, Miss Jen-

nie S. Bush becanie his wife. They have had two

children, both of whom are dead. Mr. Coon has

continued at his profession here and is the City

Rscorder, elected in March, 1882.

Aethde W. Dampibe was born in Meriden,

Steele county, Minnesota, on the 3d of June,

1859. He is a sou of Edward Dampier, former

proprietor of the Dampier House, who in 1878,

rented Archer's Hotel, which he conducted tUl the

20th of July, 1880, when he was succeeded by his

son, Arthur W. The house is a four-story brick,

containing about fifty rooms and is a first-class

hotel. Mr. Dampier was married on the 12th of

October, 1 881, Miss Augusta M. Eiddell being his

bride.

H. D. Davis was born in Dodge county, Wis-

consin, in February, 1847, and came with his

parents to Minnesota when eight years of age, lo-

cating in East Prairieville, Eice county, where he

grew to manhood and received a common school

education. He engaged in farming in the latter

place but in 1871, went to St. Paul, where he en-

gaged in a meat market for one year, then came

to Northfield and carried on the same business.

He was joined in matrimony in 1877, with Miss

Eliza Spencer, a native of Vermont, born in 1847,

He is now engaged in the livery business, under

the firm name of Davis & Hibbard.

EzEKiBL C. DwiNEL was born in Newport, Sul-

livan county. New Hampshire, on the 29th of July,

1824. At the age of fourteen years he engaged

to work in a saw-mill, and two years later in a

machine shop remaining in the latter five years.

When twenty-one years old, he went to Claremont

engaged at his trade, and in two years removed to

Union village, Washington county. New York,

where he remained three years, employed in manu-

facturing pails, then went to Fort Edward. In

1848, Miss Louisa Tanner became his wife, the

ceremony taking place on the 20th of April. In

1856, he came to Northfield and the first work he

did was on the second frame house on the east side

of the river, then was employed on the mill being

built by Mt. North where the flour mill now

stands. After its completion he worked in it for

a period of four years and the following six years

was in the employ of Linus Fox in his machine

shop and foundry. In 1866 or '67, in company

with Frank Wyman, he built a planing mill and

sash, door, and blind factory, which they operated

about five years, when it was destroyed by fire,

the loss being $15,000 and no insurance. He then

built a small planing mill to which he added a

feed mill, which he conducted till 1875, then sold

to S. P. Stewart and went to his native town on a

visit. He returned in the fall, worked for Mr. Fox

until 1877, then went to the Black Hills and run a

quartz mill for a Minneapolis firm one yeai*, since

which time he has been in the en;plpy of the Ames'

as machinist and engineer. He had one son,

Charles C, who died at the age of seventeen years.

WiLLAED E. Ensign was born in Wood county,

Wisconsin, on the 23d of November, 1859, and

when two years old removed with his parents to

Wabasha county, Miijnesota, and ten years later

to Eedwood county, where our subject lived

till 1879. He then came to this place and was a

student at Carleton College two years, and in

March, 1882, formed a partnership with C. F.

Wbittier for the manufacture of the Cooley

Creamer, in which business he is now engaged.

Miss Anna M. Shufeldt became his wife on the

12th of June, 1882.

F. FiNKELSON was born in Eaoine, Wisconsin,

in 1855, and remained there until fourteen years of

age, then came to Minnesota and located in North-

field, where he grew to manhood. He first at-

tended the common schools and finished his edu-

cation in Minneapolis, afterwards clerked in the

general merchandise store of E. Lpckwood and

later became a partner in the same store. Mr.

Lockwood retired from business in the spring of

1882, and the firm is now Finkelson Brothers &
Alfson. He was married in 1877, to Miss Minnie

Gress, a daughter of C. W. Gress. They have

been blessed with three children; Grace, Emme-
line, and Charles.

Linus Pox was born in Oswego county, New
York, in 1828, and, reared on a farm. When six-

teen years old he removed with bis parents to

Lenox, in the same State, where he grew to man-

hood and received a common school education.

He learned the trade of a moulder and followed

that business until 1859, when he came to Minne-
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sota, located in Northfleld and built the first foun-

dry in the place whicli he still carries on in

company -with S. T. Ferris, having a machine shop

in connection with the foundry. Mr. Fox was

married in his native county in the spring of 1853,

to Miss Mary L. Palmer. He has been Justice of

the Peace two years.

Henbt S. French, a native of Stockton, Maine,

was born on the 14tli of September, 1 843, and spent

the first fourteen years of his life on his father's

farm. The confines of the land became too narrow

for,his enquiring mind and he engaged as cabin

boy on a ship, worked his way up until at the age

of twenty-two he was master of a merchant vessel,

saUing between the United States, West Indies,

and Europe. When twenty-eight years old he

sold the vessel of which he was a part owner at

Boston, and in 1872, came to Northfield, where he

engaged in the furniture business. On the 25th

of April, 1876, he was appointed Postmaster and

still holds the same position.

• L. F. GoEDON is a native of Guernsey county,

Ohio, and dates his birth the 16th of February,

1851. In 1858, his parents came to Bice county

and located on a farm near the village of Dundas,

where his mother still resides, his father having

died the 2d of April, 1882, and is buried in North-

field cemetery. Mr. Gordon makes his home in

Northfleld at present. He owns a farm of three

hundred and twenty acres in Stevens county; one

containing one hundred and sixty acres in Murray

county, and one of the same size in Grant county.

On the 11th of May, 1876, he married Miss Mary

L. Bounce, a native of Rice county. They have

two children ; Edith E. and Eldora.

H. G. Geuss, a native of Germany, was born in

1847. He grew to manhood in his native country,

received a common school education and learned

the cabinetmaker's trade. He came to Chicago in

1871, worked at his trade nine years, then was in

the furniture business, and in 1881, came to North-

fleld where he has a furniture store. He was mar-

ried in 1865, to Miss Sarah Brandes, a native of

St. Peter, Minnesota, the marriage ceremony tak-

ing place at Eock Island, Illinois. He is tl:e

father of four children, three of whom are living;

Albert, Annie, and Emma.

FEANKiiiN Hodge was born in Madison county.

New York, on the 25th of September, 1831, and.

grew to manhood on a farm. When eighteen years

of age he was obliged to depend on his own re-

sources. On the 21st of April, 1864, married Miss

Mary Jane Avery, who was born in Perryville,

New York. The same year he came to Minnesota

and now owns a farm in Dakota county and a

beautiful residence and grounds in the city of

Northfleld. His father died on the 3d of July,

1850, and his mother when he was but a few

months old.

J. A. Hunt was born in Franklin county, Mis-

sissippi, in 1823, and grew to manhood in his

native Staie, receiving a common school education.

He learned the tanner's trade and remained at

home on a farm until twenty-two years of age,

then removed to Eeadsborough, Vermont, where

he was married a few years later to Miss M. L.

Hicks, who is a native of Vermont, born in 1825.

He removed to Minnesota in the spring of 1856,

and located in Northfield, where he opened a meat

market, the first in the place. He was in that busi-

ness seven years, then opened a grocery store,

which he has since continued with the exception

of two years. Mr. and Mrs. Hunt have had three

children, two of whom are living, Hiram and Wil-

liam.

A. 0. Hammang is a native of Spring Prairie,

Wisconsin, born the 27th of June, 1848, and came

with his parents to this State in 1854. They lo-

cated in Dakota county where they remained

until their death. Our subject came to Northfield

in September, 1859, and learned the trade of a

blacksmith, at which he has been employed until

recently. He is now in company with Jacob

Diehl and conducts a meat market. Mr. Hammang
was married in February, 1872, to Miss Mary A.

Nash, a native of New Jersey. They have four

children; John W., Elizabeth May, Emma Adelia,

ttad Frank L. He owns a good residence and lot

in the city.

HiEAM A. Hunt, a native of Vermont, was bom
in Bennington, on the 27th of November, 1855,

and while still an infant removed with his parents

to Northfield. He received his education at the

common schools and Oarleton College, and was

subsequently employed as clerk in a mercantile

house. He was engaged in the insurance business

for three years and has since been bookkeeper for

Ames & Archibald.

John Handy is a native of England, born on

the 11th of November, 1846, and emigrated to

Canada when ten years old. In 1861, he removed

to Pennsylvania, where he worked at the milling
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business two years, then came to Dundas and was

in the employ of the Archibalds in the mill until

1871. He then came to Northfield and with the

exception of one year spent in California, was in

the employ of the Ames' until 1876, then became

a partner in the firm, having charge of the mill.

William E. Hibbaed was born in the town of

Orwell, Eutland county, Vermont, on the 12th of

October, 1851, and removed with his parents to

Dakota county, Minnesota, in 1855. They en-

gaged in farming in Waterford, and William, when

twenty-one years old, engaged with W. Gould in

Minneapolis in selling farm machinery. In 1876,

in company with Dwight Bushnell, he opened a

livery stable and agricultural house, but disposed

of it in a few years, and since October 25tb, 1881,

has been with H. D. Davis in the livery business,

under the firm name of Davis & Hibbard. They

own a fine two-story brick veneered building

33x110 feet with forty stalls. He married Miss

Frankie Bushnell on the 26th of January, 1881,

and they have one child, Ella L.

Elias Hobbs was born in Benton, Lackawanna

county, Pennsylvania, on the 4th of February,

1830. His father died when Elias was sis years

old, and he made his home with his grandfather

ten years, when the latter also died. Our subject

tlien learned the stone mason's trade and after-

ward became a student of Hartford University in

Susquehanna county. He then engaged in sur-

veying and in 1855, came to Hudson, Wisconsin, at

which place and Biver Falls he spent the winter.

In the spring of 1856, he removed to Northfield

and has since been engaged in surveying and real

estate business. He has been Deputy Sheriff' at

different times, and was in the Legislature in 1873.

He married Miss Emeline Stowell, a daughter of

Hammon Stowell. The issue of the union is three

children; Arthur C, Walter S., and Emily W.
John Huntbe was born in Dumfries county)

Scotland, on the 29th of May, 1826, and came to

Canada with his parents in 1831. They located

near Cornwall, where they resided till their death.

In 1849, our subject married Miss Jane Fergu-

son. In 1855, tney came to Minnesota, locating

in Dakota county, where they resided four years,

then moved to Faribault, and in November, 1869,

came to this city, where he has a fine residence

and also owns a farm in the township. Mr.

Hunter has a family of seven children; John F.,

Jane M., Barbara A., William H., Eliza H.,

Stephen A., and Marietta.

LoBL B. HoAQ was bom in Bristol, Vermont,

on the 19th of January, 1830, but moved to west-

ern New York with his parents while in his fifth

year, and was reared on a farm. When twenty

years old he learned the carpenter's trade, and al-

ternated between that, school teaching, and at-

tending school till 1856, when he came to Eoch-

ester, Minnesota, and engaged at his trade. In'

the fall of 1857, he removed to Cannon Palls, and

with his brother, E. A. Hoag, began the publica-

tion of a newspaper. In April, 1858, they moved

the printing office to Northfield and published a

paper several years. In August, 1862, he enlisted

in the Seventh Minnesota Volunteer Infantry as

First Lieutenant, and was mustered out as Cap-

tain three years later. He I'eturned to Northfield

and on the 21st of May, 1866, married Elizabeth

Beach. They have had ^hree children, two of

whom are still living; Nellie E. and Lillian M.

Poor health prevented him from working at his

trade, so,as an experiment,in 1870,he moved on his

farm in the township of Northfield, but continued

declining health compelled him to leave it

after a stay of five years, and he returned to the

city, where he still resides, but ill health has pre-

vented him from engaging in any business aince.

Bbnaiah M. Jambs was born in Northwood,

Eockingham county. New Hampshire, on the 2d of

December, 1824, and lived in his native place

until fifteen years old, receiving such an education

as could be obtained at the common schools. In

1849, he married Miss Mary D. Haynes, of Deer-

field, New Hampshire, and for several years was

engaged in the wholesale and retail business, carry-

ing a stock of fancy dry goods and confectionery.

In 1854, he removed to Wisconsin, and in 1855,

came to this State, locating near Eosemount, Da-

kota county, remained six or seven years, subse-

quently removing to St. Anthony, the schools be-

ing the main inducement. In 1866, he came to

Northfield, where he has a farm of sixty-five acres

within the present city limits, building a cheese

factory in 1871, which was one of the first enter-

prises of the kind in the place, and conducted the

same until recently. He has had five children,

four of whom are living; his son Willis A. being

Deputy County Treasurer of Hennepin county.

Mr. James was elected to the State Legislature in

1874, by the Eepublican party.

Captain Ddkbn F. Kellbi was born in New-
port, New Hampshire, on the 16th of November
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1839, and came to Northfield in 1855. He was a

student in Hamlin University in 1860 and '61, and

in August, 1862, enlisted in the Seventh Minne-

sota Volimteer Infantry. Marched to the relief

of Fort Eidgely against the Indians
;
participated

in the battle of Wood Lake on the 23d of Septem-

ber, the capture of "Bed Iron's" camp a few days

later, and the release of his white captives; was

with Gen. Sibley's expedition against the Sioux to

the Missouri in 1863; went south with the regi-

ment in September, and was appointed A. A. Q. M.

and A. 0. S., and served at Marganzie, Port Hud-

son, and Baton Rouge, Department of the Gulf.

Capt. Kelley was mustered out in the winter of

1867, after a continuous service of four years and a

half. He married Emma I. Eounoe, daughter of

Eev. J. S. Eounce, the first resident Congrega-

tional minister in Northfield, the ceremony taking

place on the 2d of February, 1863. Mr. Kelley

took the tenth Government census for the city of

Northfield in 1880. He is now proprietor of the

South-side dairy, comprising one hundred and

sixty acres within the city limits, from which the

town is supplied with milk. Mr. and Mrs. Kelley

have one daughter, Eva I.', born on the 26th of

October, 1866, at Baton Eouge, Louisiana.

A. F. Kingman was born in Massachusetts in

1824, grew to manhood and received his education

in that State. He taught school two years, then

eogaged in running a wholesale notion wagom
selling goods in different parts of the State twelve

years. He wa.? married in 1847, to Miss Marion

Jenkins, who was bom in 1824. She bore him

four children, only one of whom is living, Eolden

E. On account of his wife's failing health, he

removed to Minnesota in 1857; was on a farm in

Eice county until 1864, then removed to North-

field, where he started a meat market, and several

years later engaged in buying wheat, which he

continued four or five years and has since been in

the hardware business, the firm name being

Bacon, Kingman & Oo.

Fkanklin Kelley was born in Newport, New
Hampshire, on the 24th of September, 1810. He
received his education in his native town and at

New Hampton Seminary, and afterwards taught

vocal music and the district schools for several

terms. He was married on the 26th of Novem-
ber, 1835, to Miss Temperance Dwinell, of his

native place. Mr. Kelley was engaged in farm-

ing and the lumber business for about twenty

years, when, on account of his failing health, he

came to Minnesota and settled in Northfield on

the 22d of April, 1855, pre-empting near what is

now the city of Northfield. He was County

Commissioner several terms before Minnesota was

admitted as a State, was one of the building com-

mittee for the first church edifice in Northfield,

and has taken an active part in the religious insti-

tutions of the place. Mr. and Mrs. Kelley have

had seven children, six of whom are living;

Marha E., Duren F., Mary A., Seth C, Lura E.,

and Helen M., all but one of whom are married.

Mr. Kelley resides in the city and still owns his

old farm adjacent.

William A. King was born in Alexander, Gen-

essee county. New York, on the 5th of April,

1820. He came to Illinois in 1840, where in 1855,

he married Mrs. Marietta Brown, also a native of

New York. In 1868, he came to Northfield where

he has since resided, having fourteen aorss of land

and a fine residence in the city.

Hbney E. Laweence was born in Clarsmont,

Sullivan county. New Hampshire, on the 26th of

May, 1852. At the beginning of the war his father

enlisted, went South, and died at Port Eoyal,

South Carolina. The family came to Minnesota

iu the spring of 1861, and settled at Northfield.

After Henry completed his education, he entered

the Enterprise newspaper office at the age of six-

teen, and afterward published the "Monday Morn-

ing News" at Minneapolis for one year. On the

Ist of November, 1876, he established the "Dun-

das News,'' continued the publication in that vil-

lage three years, when he removed to Northfield

and changed the name of his paper to the

"Northfield News." It has a large circulation in

both towns.

Julian A. Lawkenoe was born in Claremont,

Sullivan county. New Hampshire, on the 16th of

April, 1852. In 1860, -he came to Northfield and

was engaged in agricultural pursuits several

years. In 1875, he started a saloon and has a fine

billiard hall on the corner of Fourth and Main

streets. He is chief of the fire department, is a

member of the Masonic fraternity and also an Odd
Fellow.

Edgar Lockeeby, a native of Bridgewater,

Michigan, was born on the 9th of August, 1838,

and came with his parents to Rice county in 1855.

They located in Bridgewater, where they remained

five years, then removed to Northfield. Our sub-
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jeot went to Idaho in 1864, and remained eight

months, and for one year after his return was en-

gagen in mercantile business. Then, in company

with Mr. Dwight Bushnell, he established a livery

stable. Their building is on West Third street.

Miss Ada Bullock became his wife on the 9th of

September, 1866. They have two children; Ida

F., and Charles E.

Debw H. Lobd was born in Lathrop, Susqe-

hanna county, Pennsylvania, on the 6th of June,

1844. He learned the carpenter trade and when

eighteen years old enlisted in the Seventeenth

Pennsylvania Cavalry, serving nearly three years

as musician. On receiving his discharge he went

to Scrant(m, where for eight years he engaged in

contracting, building, and lumbering. He was

married to Miss Olive M. Lord on the 20th of

April, 1870. He made a trip to Kansas but re-

mained only a few months, and in December, 1873,

came to this place and entered the employ of the

Ames' as millwright.

0. W. Mann was born in Canada on the 20th of

May, 1830, and removed with his parents to Eock

county, Wisconsin, in 1845, where he received his

education and grew to manhood. He removed to

Minnesota in the spring of 1851, and four years

later located in Northfield, in section thirty-four,

where be engaged in farming ten years. He was

married on the 4th of December, 1856, to Miss

Elizabeth A. Bush, also a native of Canada, born

the 10th of May, 1832, the marriage ceremony

taking place in St. Paul. They have three chil-

dren; Bion E., bom the 11th of October, 1857;

Lydia D., bom the 12th of Septeraber, 1859; and

Cora L., born the 31st of October, 1869. He re-

moved to the city of Northfield in the fall of 1869,

and has since been engaged in the lumber business.

Alexander Meeritt was born near Waterford,

New Jersey, on the 15th of April, 1815, and when

young moved with his parents to Cayuga county,

New York, and grew to manhood on a farm. He
was married in 1839, to Miss Betsey Davis, a native

of New York, born in 1817, and removed to Michi-

gan where he engaged in driving stage. In the

spring of 1856, he came to Minnesota, located near

Hader, Goodhue county, and came to this place in

1877. He had a family of nine children, five of

whom are living; Boseltha, Ann, Frederic S.,

Charles E., Melissa J., and William H.

Prop. T. N. Mohn was bom near Skien, Nor-

way, on the 15th of July, 1844, and came with his

parents to America at the age of eight years.

They settled in Columbia couiity, Wisconsin. Our

subject graduated from the Lutheran College at

Decorah, Iowa, in the class of 1870, having taken

the full classical course, and in 1873, from the

Theological department of the Concordia College

at St. Louis, Missouri. In 1874, he came to St.

Paul; was engaged in the ministry a few months,

then, when Bev. B. J. Muus founded St. Olaf's

School at this place Prof. Mohn was Sent to take

charge of it. He is principal of the Institution

and there are five or six teachers under his super-

vision. He was married in 1875, to Miss Anna E.

Ringstad, of Winneshiek county, Iowa. They

have two children ; Nils Ivar Edward and John

01 af Gerhard.

F. A. Noble was born in Vermont in 1825, and

removed with his parents to New Hampshire when

seven years old. He attended the common schools

and finished his education at the Academy of New
Hampshire. At the age of twenty years he en-

gaged in the manufacture of lumber and followed

the same for years, and subsequently went to Bos-

ton where he was engaged in the music business.

He was married in Sanbomton, New Hampshire,

in 1845, to Miss Lyda A. Smith who was born in

the latter State in 1826. In 1860, they removed

to Minnesota, located near Cannon Palls where

Mr. Noble was on a farm one year and a half, then

came to Northfield and engaged in the manufac-

ture of leather and gloves. He has had a family

of five children, four of whom are living; Lyda,

wife of Charles Anderson; Clara Jane, Florence,

and Flora.

A. W. Norton was born in Cattaraugus county.

New York, on the 1st of June, 1852. He remained

in his native county, living with his parents and

receiving a liberal education, until the western

fever reached the East, when they came to New
Eiohmond, Wisconsin. Here he remained until

1871, and then transferred himself to this place

and engaged in the dry goods store of Lee &
Hitchcock for the ensuing four years. He next

engaged in the insurance and loan 'business in

company with his brother who had preceded him
to Northfield, remaining in that business until the

bank with which he is now connected was started

by his brother, W. H. Norton, as a private enter-

prise. The subject of our sketch took the position

of cashier and when the Citizen's Bank was organ-

ized under the State law in September, 1878, he
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gave way to his brother and became assistant

cashier to him. On the Ist of January,' 1881, he

was re-elected cashier and still holds the position.

lu 1876, Mr. Norton was married to Miss Hattie

A. Strong, and one son has blessed the union.

W. H. Norton, deceased, a brother- of the sub-

ject of our last sketch, was alo born in Cattarau-

gus county. New York, in 1848. He came to

Northfield in 1868, and made his home here until

his death in 1880. He was most of the time en-

gaged in banking, loaning and insurance business

and was the founder of the Citizen's Bank, being

first president of the same. He erected the hand-

some bank building and did much toward making

Northfield what it is. He was highly esteemed by

all who knew him and left many friends to mourn

his loss.

William S. Pattbb is a native of Jackson, Waldo

county, Maine, born the 19th of September, 1846.

He attended the common schools and neighboring

academies, and in 1868, entered Bowdoin College,

from which he graduated in 1871, and was then

appointed Superintendent of public schools in

Brunswick, Maine. In 1871, Miss Julia Tuttle,

of Plymouth, in the same State, became the wife

of Mr. Pattee, and the next year he came to Hli-

nois, where he received an appointment as profes-

sor of natural history in Lake Forest University

in that State. In 1874, he removed to Northfield

where he had been elected Superintendent of the

public schools, and he did a great deal while in

that office and siuoe, in giving the schools the

reputation abroad for solid worth and attainments.

He had, previous to this time, studied law and in

1878, was admitted to the bar of Bice county, and

at once entered upon the practice of his profession

in the city of Northfield.

John Passon is a native of Germany and dates

his birth the 11th of October, 1823. He received

a. good education and in 1843, entered the Prus-

sian army, remaining in service seven years and

participating in engagements in Denmark. He
emigrated to America in 1852, and came to Minne-

sota seven years later, locating first in Winona..

He was married in 1863, to Mrs. K. Hannerman
who had one son by her first husband. She died

in this place. In 1866, they removed to North-

field, where Mr. Passon owns property, both in the

city and township.

William W. Payne was born in Somerset,

Hillsdale county, Michigan, on the 19th of May,

1837. He was reared on a farm, and at the age

of seventeen years taught school, which occupa-

tion he followed three years, teaching a poi-tion

of the time and attending school the remainde.'.

At the age of twenty years he entered the Hills-

dale College, from which he graduated in 1863,

then spent one year in the law department of

Michigan University, then the same length of

time in the Chicago Law School, graduating in

1865, received the degree of L. L. B., and was ad-

mitted to the bar of Illinois. In 1866, Mr. Payne

removed to Mantorville, Dodge county, Minnesota,

and formed a partnership with E. Taylor, which

continued one year. He was the projector of the

'Minnesota Teacher" and "Journal of Education,"

which he piiblished for about five years at St.

Paul. He was County Superintendent of schools

of Dodge county. In 1868, he was appointed

Clerk in the office of the Superintendent of Public

Instruction under Mark H. Dunnell. On the 8th

oC June, 1870, Miss Josephine Vinecore, of Stan-

ton, Montcalm connty, Michigan, became the wife

of our subject. In the winter of 1870 and '71, he

purchased the paper known as the " Mantorville

Express," which he edited a few months, and in

September, 1871, came to Northfield as Professor

of mathematics and astronomy in Carletou Col-

lege, and still holds the same position. In the

summer of 1881, the government made Carleton

College a signal office, and he was appointed vol-

untary signal observer. In March, 1882, he started

the "Sidereal Messenger," a monthly review de-

voted exclusively to astronomy. Mr. and Mrs.

Payne have one child, Jessie V.

F. 0. P. Pentz, M. D„was born in Hanover,Ger-

many, on the 20th of January, 1823. He received

an education at the high school, and in 1841 and

'42, served in the Prussian army.- In 1846, he

entered the Gottingen Medical Institute, but did

not take a full course, and in 1848, returned to

the army. He came to America in 1850, and in

1855, married Miss Eebeoca Abbott, a native of

Indiana. One year later they removed to Minne-

sota, but did not settle permanently in this place

until 1867. Mr. Pentz has practiced as a physi-

cian part of the time since coming to this country.

OsOAB P. Peekins, the first settler of the legal

profession in Eiee county, was born in Stowe, La-

moille county, Vermont, on the 4th of January,

1830. His parents were Capt. Ellet Perkins and

Mrs. (Lathrop) Perkins, a daughter of Ca]/.
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Daniel Lathrop. When fifteen years old, Oscar

went to Woodstock, spent three years in farming,

attending a district school in the winters, and then

for the ensuing four years was a student at

Bakersfield Academy, teaching during the winter

season. In 1853, Miss Harriet E, Fay became

his wife. He commenced reading la'n; with Wil-

liam 0. Wilson, and was admitted to the bar in

June, 1854. He came to Minnesota in the autumn

of ^hat year, spent the winter in St. Anthony, and

then located in Faribault, where he practiced his

profession twenty-one years, and in 1876, came to

Northfield, forming the law flrin of Perkins &
Whipple. Mr. Perkins has held various offices

since his residence in the State; was County Attor-

ney four years, a member of the constitutional

convention in 1857; prosecuting attorney for the

Fifth Judicial District one term, and was in the

State Senate in 1867 and '68, being Chairman of

the judiciary committee both sessions. He was

elected County Attorney in 1878, and still holds

the office. Their children are Pay and Mollie.

R. Plummeb was bom in Lincoln county,

Maine, on the 24th of October, 1835. He was en-

gaged in farming and the manufacure of lumber

in his native State until 1857, then came to Min-

nesota and located in St. Anthony, now East Min-

neapolis, where he followed the latter employment.

He enlisted in 1861, in the First Minnesota

Light Artillery, and served till the close of the

war, participating in many heavy battles under

Gen Sherman. He has been engaged in mercan-

tile pursuits most of the time since leaving the

army, and in 1874, opened a stock of goods in

Northfield, but has recently retired from business.

Mr. Plummer has been twice married; first in

1857, to Miss Sarah J. Norris, who died in June,

1866, and is buried in East Minneapolis. His

present wife was Miss Martha S. Moses, whom he

married in Octobei', 1869.

0. W. Pye "is a native of Yorkshire, England,

born on the 10th of September, 1846. When he

was two and a half years old his parents came to

America, and located in Du Page county, Illinois,

where they remained till 1856, then removed to

Wheeling, Eiee oounty,aud located on a farm. Our
subject attended Sbattuck School in Faribault

about five years, and for eight years afterwards

was engaged in teaching school, and since then

has practiced law. In 1878, he married Miss
Lucj A. Cook, who was bom near Madison, Wis-

consin, the 12th of March, 1845, and when sixteen

years of age came to Dodge county, Minnesota,

with her parents. Mr. and Mrs. Pye have three

children; William W., Grace M., and Edith M.

Abel H, Eawson, deceased, a native of New
Hampshire, was born on the 19th of May, 1814.

His father was a physician, but lived on a farm,

where our subject grew to manhood. When
twenty-one years of age, he went to Madison

county, New York, where he was engaged in mill-

ing for a time, and afterwards in mercantile pur-

suits. On the 6th of June, 1839, Miss Eliza Fos-

ter, of Stockbridge, Madison county, became his •

wife. The result of the union is four children;

Milton, Sarah, Willis, and Flora, the latter of

whom died at the age of fifteen years. In 1857,

they removed to Northfield township, bought a

farm in section thirty-two, but always lived in the

city. He was quite extensively engaged in the

lumber business, and in 1874, bought the saw

mill formerly owned by Whittle & Carlow, to which

he added a box factory, running them both two or

three years, then put in heading machinery and in

1878, began the manufacture of barrels, making
from 75,000 to 80,000 annually, most of them be-

ing used at home. His son and A. P. Morris were

with him in business under the firm name of Eaw-
son & Co. Mr. Eawson died on the 12th of July,

1882, and is buried in Northfield cemetery.

Willis Eawson, son of Mr. and Mrs. A. H.

Eawson, was born in Stockbridge, Madison county.

New York, on the 3d of July, 1848, and came to

Minnesota with his parents in 1857. In 1872,

Miss Sarah A. Converse became his wife, and they

have had four children, three of whom are living;

Willis C, Stella, and Jesse. Their youngest child,

Carlis Merle, was born on the 4th of December,

1881, and died the 17th of July, 1882,

0. N. Eamsdell was born in Windham county,

Vermont, on the 11th of May, 1816, and there

grew to manhood on a farm. In February, 1842,

he married Miss Maria E. Field, a native of New
Salem, Massachusetts, born on the 29th of Sep-

tember, 1820, and removed to Vermont with her

parents when twelve years old. In April, 1855,

they came to this State, located first on a farm in

Scott county and in February, 1858, came to this

township and settled on Prairie Creek, but now
reside in the city. They have one child, Ella M.,

now Mrs. C. H. Watson.

William H. Ebviek is a native of St. Lawrence
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county, New York, born on the 3d of March, 1855.

When twelve years of age he came to Bridge-

water, Eice county, with his mother and brothers,

and the former gtill resides in that township. Our

subject came to Northfield in March, 1881, and

does business under the firm name of Sampson &
Kevier. He is one of a family of eleven children,

of whom there are three girls and eight boys.

Oabl Eiohel, a native of Germany, was born in

1830, grew to manhood and received his educa-

tion in his native country. He was a carver by

trade, working at it there four years, and in 1853,

emigrated to New York Oity, where he engaged in

the furniture business. He then removed to New
Hampshire where he married Miss Sophia Oldham,

a native of England, bom in 1836, the ceremony

taking place on the 20th of July, 1857. In two

years he went to Ashbumham, Massachusetts,

where he remained over three years engaged at

his trade, then moved to Gardner in the latter State

and in the spring of 1874, came to Minnesota, lo-

cated in Northfield, and established a cigar manu-

factory. Mr. and Mrs. Kichel have eleven children

;

Charles A., twenty-four years old; Alfred H.,

twenty-one; William O., nineteen; Herbert, eigh-

teen; Benjamin F., sixteen; Emma, fourteen;

Christian F. S., ten; Josephine S., eight; Sarah,

six; Esther S., five; and Joseph G., one. Mr.

Eichel is a man of good address, sociable, and

liked by all

Chables ScopibiiD was born in Eacine county,

Wisconsin, on the 22d of March, 1842. His father

came to Minnesota in 1855, and the following year

moved his family to Bridgewjter, Eice county,

and located on a farm. Dr. Scofield soon moved

to Northfield, where our subject received his edu-

cation and learned the painter's trade, which he

still follows. In October, 1861, he enlisted in the

Fourth Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, Company
F, and served till the close of the war, participat-

ing in the battle of Corinth, Lookout Mountain,

and others. He was married in March, 1867, to

Miss Harriett Eiddle, a native of Canada'. They

have three children; Aura Ann, George Henry,

and Eobert Leroy. Mr. Scofield has a residence

in the oity and a farm in Dakota Territory.

John L. Scofibid, M. D., was ,born in Stam-

ford, Connecticut, on the 23d of July, 1811. His

parents were in the latter place on a visit at the

time of his birth, but were residents of New York

City. John graduated from the University of

28

Pennsylvania in 1832, and commenced practice in

New York. He subsequently went to Jackson-

ville, Florid-i, remaining but a short time, then to

Eaymond, Eacine county, Wisconsin. In 1836,

he married Miss Betsey A. Dibble, the ceremony

taking place on the 24th of July. He remained

in the latter place with the exception of two years,

1849 and '50,^ spent in California, untU 1856, then

came to Northfield, where he was the first, and for

many years the only physician in the place. He
first made a claim about four miles south of the

village and in March, 1858, removed to the town.

In 1857 and '58, Mr. Scofield was a member of the

Legislatui-e and has also filled local offices. He
has had four children, two of whom are living;

Francis L., and Charles.

HiEAM ScEiVBB, a native of Hemmingford,

Quebec, Canada, dates his birth the 22d of April,

1830. He engaged in mercantile establishments

till 1856, when he came to this place, and on the

12th of June purchased the general merchandise

store of Coulson Bros., who had started the first

store in town a few months before. Mr. Soriver

lias been in business here ever since and was an

early member of the board of Supervisors, of

which he was Chairman; also a member of the

school board and has held town and county offices.

He was married in 1860, to Miss Clara E. Olin,

and they had one child who died when two years

old. Mr. Scriver was the first Mayor of the city

of Northfield and was in the Legislature in 1877

and '79. He has been one of the trustees of Carle-

ton College since its organization, and recording

secretary until the last meeting of its officers.

Solomon P. Stbwabt was born in Williams-

town, Berkshire county, Massachusetts, on the

28th of August, 1823, and removed with his

parents, at the age of twelve years, to WUliams-

town, Oswego county. New York, and- five years

later he engaged in the lumber business. In the

spring of 1844, he came to Eacine county, Wis-

consin, where he engaged as a machinist, and

afterward in the livery business. In 1857, he

came to Northfield and has since taken a deep

interest in the progress of the town, having served

in the school board six years and as Mayor two

years. He has been twice married; first, in 1849,

to Miss Mary Allen, of Geneva, Wisconsin. She

died in January, 1861, leaving two children;

Granville W., and Mary Bell. His present wife

was formerly Miss Emily S. Tuttle, whom Mb mar-
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ried on the 10th of April, 1863. They have three

children; OarlL., Carrie E., and Mary B.

James W. Strong, D. D., President of Oarleton

College, is a native of Vermont, born in Browning-

ton, Orleans county, on the 29th of September,

1833. Efe graduated from Beloit College, Wis-

consin, in 1858, and from Union Theological Semi-

nary, New York, in 1862, being ordained in Sep-

tember of the same year. He commenced his

duties as a minister at Brodhead, Wisconsin, and

after two years came to Faribault, Minnesota,

where, in January, 1866, he was installed as pastor

of the Plymouth Congregational church. He be-

came the first President of Oarleton College in

1870, then known as Northfield College, and sub-

sequently the duties of professor of mental and

moral philosophy were assigned him. Mr. Strong

was married at Beloit, Wisconsin, to Miss Mary
Davenport, a native of Milan, Ohio. The union

was blessed wi*h four children, one of whom is

dead. Those living are William B., born on the

8th of December, 1866; Edward W., born on the

22d of October, 1870; and Arthur D. W., born on

the 6th of March, 1874.

HiKAM SPEAatJE was born near the village of

Ellisburgh, Jefferson county. New York, on the

16th of December, 1827, and there received his

education, learning the carpenter trade. His father

was captain on a vessel running from Ogdens-

burgh. New York, to Chicago, on the great lakes,

and when Hiram was seventeen years old he was

on the vessel with his father. In 1864, he came to

Minnesota and located on a farm on Prairie Creek

in Northfield township, where he remained five

years, then moved into the city. He has had three

children, two of whom are living; Lora Genevieve,

and Mary Eloise. The eldest is married.

Tbuman H. Stbbbtee, a native of Bowe, Frank-

lin county, Massachusetts, was born on the 16th

of December, 1816, and removed with his parents

to Whitiugham, Vermont, when quite young. He
worked on a farm and in a woolen mill until eigh-

teen years old, then entered the Whitingham

Academy, from which he graduated three years

later. He then went to New Jersey, taught school

two years and returned to his home. He com-

menced the study of law and was admitted to the

bar of Windham county, Vermont, some years

later. He was a Representative from Windham
county in the State Legislature in 1858, and dur-

ing tje Rebellion was a recruiting officer. In

1868, he came to Minnesota, located in this place

and has since practiced his profession here. He is

Court Commissioner and Justice of the Peace, be-

ing elected to the former five consecutive terms of

three years each, and the latter four times in suc-

cession. He has been married twice ; his first wife

was formerly Miss Nancy M. Taylor, and the

second wife Mrs. Eliza A. Thayer, both of whom
are dead.

Chaelbs M. Thompson, M. D., was born in Scot-

land, on the 7th of July, 1844, and emigrated with

his parents to America when ten years of age, lo-

cating in Worcester, Massachusetts. In a short

time they removed to WatervUle, Maine, and when

fifteen years of age our subject came to Still-

water, Minnesota, and in one year went south for

his health. In 1865, he came to Northfield and

clerked two years, studying medicine at the same

time. He then went to Ann Arbor, Michigan,

graduating from the University of that place in

the spring of 1870, and has since been in practice

here, with the exception of one year spent in Eu-

rope at the University of Edinburgh and St.

Bartholomew Hospital in London. He was mar-

ried in 1881, to Mrs. Annie M. Smith, the ceremony

taking place on the 30th of August.

Oapt. D. S. Van Ambubgh is a native of Jas-

per, Steuben county. New York, and dates his

birth the 27th of June, 1836. He received a good

education and learned the mason's trade, coming

to Wisconsin in 1854, and locating in Dane

county, where he was engaged in teaching school

part of the time. He came to Minnesota in 1859,

but did not settle until May, of the next year.

He entered the service in May, 1864, and was as-

signed to the Sixth Minnesota Volunteer Infantry,

Company I, went south and served till the close of

the war. He was married in 1862, to Miss F. S.

Patterson, and they have two sons, William E.

and George 0. He came to Northfield in 1873,

and has a farm of fifty acres in the city limits,

and has been engaged in teaching most of the

time since his residence in the State.

0. H. Watson was born in Canada in 1843, and

came to Red Wing, Minnesots, in 1855, where be

received his education and grew to manhood." II'.

August, 1862, he enlisted in the Sixth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company F, served three

years and was mustered out at Fort Snelling. Ha
returned to Red Wing, where he learned the har-

ness maker's trade, and in 1867, came to Northfield,
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where he has since been engaged at his trade, with

the exception of three years, when he was fanning.

He was married in 1868, to Miss Ella M. Eams-

dell, a native of Vermont, who has borne him five

children;Earl H., EUiot 0., Clara M., Fred J., and

Amy F*

KoBBBT Watson was born in Dundee, Scotland,

in September, 1825. He came with his parents to

Cleveland, Ohio, when twelve years of age, and

in April, 1850, in company with his brother Wil-

liam to Minnesota. They came from Galena, Illi-

nois, on Capt. Smith's new steamer "Nominee,"

her first trip to St. Paul. The first Territorial

Legislature had then but recently adjourned, it

having organized three counties east of the Mis-

sissippi, all the territory west being in possession

of the Sioux. In May, 1850, Mr. Watson settled

in Cottage Grove, Washington county, there being

but three families living in the place at that time,

viz: J. S. Norris, J. W. Purber, and Theo. Fur-

ber. He was a member of the Fourth Territorial

Legislature, in which the since famous Joe Rolette

represented Pembina and all beyond. In 1854,

Mr. Watson married Miss Mehetabel W. Fiirber, a

sister of those early settlers and a native of Maine.

They have four children living, the oldest born

before the admission of Minnesota as a State.

The subject of this sketoh is well acquainted with

the first settlers on Cannon Eiver and in the

northern part of Eioe county, many of them being

young men from Cottage Grove and the southern

part of Washington county. He has pic-niced at

Vermillion Falls when Hastings was not, all the

country west being one vast wilderness. His

mother, one of the oldest settlers of this place, is

still living in Northfteld, aged eighty-one years.

Rev. Isaac' WaiiDbon was born in Clifton,

Canada, on the 20th of November, 1812, and grew

to manhood in his native place. When about

twenty-eight years old he removed to Derby, Ver-

mont, and afterward attended the academy at that

place three years. He was married in 1839, to

Miss Eliza A. Goodhue, a native of New Hamp-
shire, but who afterward lived in Canada. In

1843, Mr. Waldron was ordained as a minister of

the gospel, and has continued to preach until seven

or eight years since, when his health failed. In

1858, he came to Minnesota in the interest of the

Baptist Home Mission Society, but in 1874, re-

tired from the field, and has since liv«d in North-

field. He has a family of three children, having

lost two. Those living are; Lu E., E. P., and

C. J.

Richmond L. Wabd, a native of Cayuga

county. New York, was born oi'. the 31st of Jan-

uary, 1839, and reared on a farm. In 1856, he

came to Northfleld, remained but one seasouj then,

went to Wisconsin and engaged in farming. In

1862, he married Miss Nancy Maganty, the cere-

mony being performed on the 4th of October. In

1864, he removed to Hlinois, where he farmed

four years, then returned to this place and learned

the mason's trade, at which he has since been en-

Steven V. Ward, one of the first settlers here,

was also born in Cayuga county. New York, on

the 17th of October, 1832. When nineteen years

old he learned the mason trade, worked at it in his

native place until 1853, when he came to Beloit,

Wisconsin. In 1855, after working in the latter

State and Illinois, he came to Northfleld and pur-

chased a town lot, but spent that year in Hast-

ings working at his trade. He then settled per-

manently in this place, and was married on the

7th of July, 1856, to Miss Ellen J. Tague, who

has borne him two children; Delass C. and Carrie

L. Mr. Ward spent six months in the army in

in Tennessee.

MlKON Whitakbb was born in Staiiord, Con-

necticut, on the 15th of May, 1847. While still a

child he came with his parents, William and Lunah

(Cushman) Whitaker, to Dakota county, Minne-

sota, where they were pioneers in Greenvale town-

shi'r). Ill eight years our abject - ime to North-

field, where he learned the carpenter trade at

which he has since been engaged, and is also, a

mill-wright. He married Miss Jennie Sidwell on

the 15th of May, 1870, and they have had four

children, two of whom are living; Hattie B . and

and Donna M. Mr. Whitaker served eight months

in the First Minnesota Heavy Artillery. He has

a brother, Frank, now living in Farmington, and

a sister, Josephine, now Mrs. Alfred Needham.

John P. Wyman was born in Rockport, Maine,

on the 25th of November, 1840, and when seven

years old went to Rockland to live with his

grandfather, who died when our subject was thir-

teen years old. He returned to his former home

in Rockport and lived with an uncle ; at the age of

sixteen years was apprenticed to learn the carpen-

ter trade, and three years later went to Tiverton,

Rhode Island, where he clerked till the 22d of
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August, 1861, when he enlisted in the Third

Rhode Island Volunteer Infantry, Company 0^

which was afterwards converted into Artillery.

He enlisted as private but was mustered out as

First Lieutenant on the 9th of June, 1865. He

then returned to Maine, worked at his trade a

few months and went to Massachusetts, where

he remained a short time> and then came to

Northfleld, entering the employ of the Ames' as

clerk. In 1867, he engaged in a planing mill

and manufactory of. sash, doors, and blinds, in

company with E. 0. Dwinel, but four years

later their establishment was destroyed by fire.

On the 19th of June, 1870, Mr. Wyman married

Miss Eliza H. Colby, and they have three chil-

dren; Paul, Kate, and Fannie R. He went to

Iowa, remained one year, then returned to this

place and one year later went to Minneapolis,

where he worked for two years in a sasli, door

and blind factory, and at the end of that time

came here to settle permanently. He has since

been with the Ames' as wheat buyer and super-

intendent of outside work. He was a member

of the City Council in 1878 and '79.

Rev. James P. Wilcox was born in Westmin-

ster, Vermont, on the 29th of September, 1806,

and was reared on a farm. When eighteen years

of age, he went to Mason Village, New Hamp-

shire, where for three years he was teaching school

and studying at intervals; then removed to New
York, following the same employment, and in

1830 went to Massachusetts and entered the Acad-

emy at Wakefield. Three years later he studied

in the Theological Seminary at Newton, from

which he graduated in 1836. In January, 1837,

he was ordained as pastor of the Baptist church

at Amesbury; remained there until 1842, and went

to Taunton, where he assumed the same duties till

1849, when he removed to Springfield as agent for

the American Baptist Missionary Union, remaining

a year and a half. He went to Burlington, New
Jersey, and thence, in 1854, to Trenton, and four

years later to Northfleld, Minnesota, arriving on

the 1st of May. For twelve years he had charge

of the Baptist church here, and also three other

churches a portion of the time, located at Owa-

tonna, Medford, and Castle Rock. Of late years

he has had no regular charge, but still continues to

preach. Mr. Wilcox- has been twice married, first

to Miss Louisa Smith, who bore him two children;

Maria L., who died in 1866, and Prank J., now

cashier of the First National Rank at this place.

His present wife was Miss Irene Colby, who was

at one time principal of the Normal School at

Trenton, New Jersey. Our subject has been an

earnest worker in the schools, and President of the

Board of Education.

Chables Augustus Whbaton, deceased, was

born on the 1st of July, 1809, in Amenia, Dutch-

ess county, New York. His parents moved to

Pompey Hill,Onondaga county,when he was but six

months old. He received his education at Pompey

Academy, which was a leading institution of

learning in that part of the country.. At the age

of twenty -five years he married Ellen, eldest

daughter of Victory Birdseye, a prominent lawyer

and public servant in western New York. After the

lapse of a year and a half, Mr. Wheaton moved to

Syracuse, Onondaga county. Early in his career

he espoused the anti-slavery cause, and was asso-

ciated familiarly with Gerrit Smith, Beriah Smith,

William Lloyd Garrison, and others. He was

also active in the temperance reform, and was for

several years identified with the educational inter-

ests of Syracuse. When he first went to the latter

city he became a member of the Presbyterian church

and was an earnest worker in it for many years, as

superintendent of the Sunday school, leader of the

choir, etc., but finally withdrew from the church

on account of disagreement on the slavery ques-

tion. He, with others who sympathized with him,

organized a First Congregational church, which he

served earnestly in various capacities.

All these years he carried on successfully an ex-

tensive business, but finally became much embar-

assed. The truths of the New Church came to

him when adversity hedged him in, and gave him

mush comfort. The loss of his wife, the compli-

cations relative to a railroad through some of the

Southern States for which he was heavily respon-

sible, revolutionized his afl'airs, and in 1860,

through the influence of his old and honored

friend, John W. North, he left his old home and

sought a new one in the state of Minnesota. In

1861, he married Martha Wagner, daughter of

the late Thomas Archibald, of Dundas, Minnesota,

and settled in the town of Northfleld, where he

was a resident for nearly twenty -two years. His

attention was first turned toward the milling in-

terests, but of late years he was engaged in edit-

ing "The Rice County Journal." His love for his
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country was always a strong passion with him,

and has descended through the narrower circles of

State, county, and town. His funeral ceremonies

were held at the Congregational church of Fari-

bault, on the 17th of March, 1882, and the banks

and many of the business houses were closed out

of respect to the memory of the deceased.

0. H. Pierce was associated with him in the

inanagemeut of the"Bioe County Journal,"and now
the firm name is Wheaton & Pierce.

BRIDGEWATER.

CHAPTER LIV.

GENERAL DBSOEIPTION— BABLT SETTLEMENT

POLITIOAIi— EDUCATIONAL—DUNDAS VILLAGE

INDUSTBIAL ENTBBPBISES— CHtTBOHES—GBADED

SCHOOL—BIOQEAPHIOAL.

This is one of the banner subdivisions of Eice

county, being one of the river and railroad towns.

The Chicago, Milwaukee k St. Paul railroad

enters on the eastern boundary of section two, and
,

crossing in a southwesterly direction leaves

through section thirty-one and enters Cannon City

township. The Cannon Biver divides the town,

winding its tortuous course almost parallel with

the railroad, running in a northeasterly dii-ection.

The town is bounded on the north by Dakota

county, on the south by Cannon City township, on

the east by Northfleld, and on the west by Forest

and Webster. It embraces 40 sections, in all

25,600 acres, and takes in all of township 111,

range 20, with the exception of the northeast cor-

ner section, and also includes sections thirty-one

to thirty-flve inclusive, of township 112, same

range. This ma'kes it the second township in size

in the county.

The township is well watered by numerous

streams, among them Heath Creek, Spring Creek,

and others of more or less importance. The Can-

non River has been mentioned heretofore. Aside

from these rivers and streams there are several

small lakes nestling among the hiUs, among which

are Macklewain, Spring, Albers, and Hart. The
surface is rather more broken than that of a ma-

jority of the towns in the county, and is mostly

timber land. Along the northern line and in the

northern part the timber is interspersed with spots

of prairie, which have been converted into the

most valuable farming land in the county. In

the southern part, and in fact in many parts of the

township, are interspersed pieces of prairie land.

The prairie in the southern part is called Little

Prairie and makes the richest farming land in the

township, containing 600 or 700 acres. Portions

of it was originally covered with hazel brush.

Along the river the surface is usually broken and

hilly, and there is found an abundance of limestone

which is very fine for either lime or building pur-

poses, but as you retreat from the stream the sur-

face is more of a rolling nature. Springs are not

uncommon in the town.

One peculiar physical feature is what is known
as "Hogs Back," which is a narrow ridge, com-

posed of sand and coarse gravel; it is about 20 to

40 feet high and 100 feet through at the base. This

commences in section twenty-one, and extends in

a southwesterly direction for a mile or mcire. The
supposition is, and it must, we presume, ever re-

main a tlieory, that at some ancient date a flood of

water piled up the mound and then receded, leav-

it as ap everlasting memento of its prowess. We
will venture no theory in regard to it—it is there

—and an explanation of it we leave to the archa-

eologist.

EAELY SETTLEMENT.

The auspicious epoch of the first arrival in this

township dates back further than most of the sub-

divisions of Rice county, and it may be said that

from the first advent of the "early settler" until its

fertile farms were all the homes of thrifty farmers,

the tide ofincomerswas constant and irrepressible.

Of course in this sketch it is not possible, nor is it

the intention, to carry the settlement of the town-

ship in detail up to the present day, but we have

used our utmost endeavors to chronicle the inter-

esting incidents of early settlement, and the most

notable arrivals.

The first exploration of this township, with a
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view to seouring homes, occurred in 1852, in the

fall. Although this is disputed by a few who claim

there is a mistake in the date, we are led to be-

lieve, from a personal interview with one of the first

explorers, that the date is correct, the parties con-

testing not having made their appearance until

two or more years after the time referred to.

Albon and John Hoyt, two brothers, were the

first to make their way to the town, and their first

trip through was in the fall of 1852, although

they did not take claims until some time later.

They had been stopping on the Mississippi Biver

for a short time, and having heard considerable

about the Oamon B' 'er Valley, they decided to

take their earthly possessions on their backs and

see what the reports concerning a "land flowing

with milk and honey" were based on. They

started with the intention of going as far as Fari-

bault, and return. Their first night was spent in

camp on the Vermillion Biver, and the next night

at Watertord, from there passing over the terri-

tority of Bridgewater and reaching Faribault.

Here they met Alexander Faribault, who told them

that they had just passed over the finest country

in the Territory of Minnesota, and they decided

to look more closely on their return. They re-

turned by the same route as they came, but failed

to find claims that suited them. Mr. A. Hoyt

says that "Although one upon the land at that

time was 'monarch of all he surveyed,' it was a

more difficult matter to select farms than would be

imagined. The country was beautiful and im-

pressive! I could gaze all about me, on the beauti-

ful hills covered with a mass of green verdure

swaying in the gentle breeze, that dipped silently

down to the level of the many trickling streams,

and say, here is the place of my choice; but, upon
gazing to the right or left I saw another that lured

me on by its fascinating beauty. And I followed!

The mania had seized me and almost before I knew
it I had reached my old stamping ground on the

Mississippi." The brothers remained on the Mis-

sissippi until the 10th of March, 1853, when they

again started for the Cannon Biver valley, this

time determined to stay. They brought with them

a couple of barrels of flour, 200 pounds of sugar,

axes, etc. A man by the name of Irish brought

them in by team, and the greater portion of the

distance they were obliged to cut their way
through the timber. In due time they arrived at

Faribault and pushed on to Cannon City where

they camped and bej^an to look for claims in

earnest. Albon Hoyt finally took a claim on sec-

tion eleven, in Bridgewater; John, his brother,

took a place west of him, adjoining the site of

Dundas village, and Irish made up his mind to

secure the townsite of Dundas, which he did.

John and Albon commenced at once the erection

of a log cabin near where Slee's farm residence

now is, the size of which was 12x14. They put up

the sides of poplar logs and then Albon Hoyt and

Irish left John on the ground with provisions, etc.,

to finish the cabin while they returned to the

shores of the Mississippi to attend to their im-

provements there. "While they were gone, and

before John had roofed the cabin, a snow storm

came up, and John, in laying in the cold and wet

became very sick with fever and ague; so bad, in-

deed, that he became delirious and was in a very

dangerous condition as he had no means of start-

ing a fire. In this condition he was discovered by

the Indians, and they, thinking him drunk began

sporting with him, saying, "Minnewankon seetya

do,'' (whisky bad very), and the band finally went

into camp near by. It did not take long, how-

ever, for them to discover that he was not drunk,

but very sick, and two Indians came to him one

day saying, "Puck-a-chee Habo tee-pee," which

meant "go to Faribault's home." After a time he

was taken to Faribault by the Indians, and there

staid at Bush's house until he recovered, the

"medicine man" making him potions which worked

a speedy cure.

In a short time a Mr. Clossen came through

Faribault with five yoke of oxen, and he and

John moved together, back to the Hoyt farms in

Bridgewater. Here they finished the cabin be-

gun by John and Albon, and broke ten acres on

John's place, this being the first furrow turned in

the township. In June, Clossen yoked his oxen

and took John to the Mississippi, where Albon

and Irish were, and here he remained until fully

recovered. In the meantime Irish had taken the

claim where Dundas now is, with the water power,

and intended to get a friend from Ohio to go in

partnership with him in the erection of a saw-mill.

In June, Albon Hoyt, Irish, and a man named
Bliss, came to the farms to make improvements,

and Albon planted two acres to potatoes, etc.,. by
just raising the sod and putting his germ under-

neath. After planting he did not touch or culti-

vate them until harvest. When harvest time came
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the entire force left to attend to the crop on the

Mississippi Eiver, where John still remained re-

cuperating his health.

In September, 1853, Albon and John both re-

turned to Bridgewater, this time with the inten-

tion of remaining, and found that during their

short absence another pioneer had made his ar-

rival. This was Mahlon Lookwood, who had ar-

rived with his wife and several children, and lo-

cated just south of Dundas near the Archibald

farm; and, as he brought a cow and a yoke of

oxen, he was a valuable acquisition to the meagre

settlement. He had already put up a little board

shanty, the material for which he had brought

with him, but this, it is said, would not keep the

sun out, so the entire party at once commenced

work on, and soon finished, a substantial log house

for the protection of the Lookwood family, and all

began to make preparations for the winter, which

they knew would be long and severe. Nor were

they wrong, as the long, dreary, and bitterly cold

months that followed proved, and some of the

settlers say they have hauled rails for fuel when

their faces were actually coated with a veil of ice

and their finger frozen stifif.

The Indians were plenty in the neighborhood,

and the timber abounded with all kinds of game;

deer, elk, and bear were the main articles of food,

and a good hunter in those days could always be

a high liver. The settlers made many fast and

useful friends among the Indians, all of them hav-

ing learned their "lingo"' were almost as much at

home among them as though they were whites.

They were not troublesome in regard to thieving,

if treated well, and the following incident will

serve to show the confidence felt in them. An
old Indian came one day to Albon Hoyt's cabin

and wanted to borrow his rifle, saying he could

not kiU deer with his shotgun, and that if the

"white man" would only allow him to take the rifle

three weeks, he would return it at the end of that

time in as good order as it was at the time of his

getting it. Albon allowed him to take it, and the

Indian disappeared. For three weeks nothing

was seen of Indian or gun, but on the day that the

three weeks expired, the Indian and rifle appeared

at the door, with a handsome present of game
that compensated him. Many incidents like this

occurred, and the old settlers came to believe, in

the words of Mr. Hoyt, that "if treated right

they are considerable better than the average

white.'"

This carries the settlers through a hard winter,

and brings them into the spring of 1854, with

Albon and John Hoyt and the Lookwood family.

Irish had gone to the Mississippi, intending to re-

turn during the summer. Hopes ran high among
them, for they were confident of a good crop,

and all had succeeded in getting more or less land

ready for seeding,in tact all the available land was

sown until their seed was exhausted. A good

crop was the result, although the acreage sown
was comparatively very small.

In the meantime the settlement had commenced
in various parts of the county. Northfield and

vicinity had received a number of settlers,' and the

entire settlement north of Faribault was known as

"Alexandria," after Jonathan Alexander, who was

an early pioneer near Northfield. Other portions of

this townhad also begun making evolutions toward

civilization, as in the same year, (1854) we find

thatKdmund Larkins, Job Chester, .Joseph Drake,

and Daniel Bundy, all made their appearance and

began opening farms in the eastern part of the

town. This settlement, however, properly be-

longed to the Northfield section, as they were di-

vided from Dundas by the heavy timber ridge,

and it was not until several years after the settle-

ment began that a road was cut and graded

through the timber strip.

0. C. Stetson, from Philadelphia, came in the

month of July, 1854, on his way to California, but

as he neared the Cannon Valley he heard so much
of its beautiful scenery, its excellent farming land,

and the unsurpassed advantages of the country,

he determined to secure a farm, which he did on

section twenty-four, where he still lives. He came

in comp&ny with Morris B. Stiles, with a team

they had bought in St. Paul. Stiles took a claim

adjoining Stetson on section twenty-four, this sec-

tion being on what was then known as the Indian

trail, a north and south stage line from Fort Snel-

ling to Faribault; and a short time after their

arrival the Hastings stages passed through their

farms; this being an east and west line. The for-

mer of these received its name of "Indian Trail"

from the number of Indians that were constantly

passing over it to and from the agency at Fort

Snelling, and after the agency was removed from

there, this was the established treadway of the In-

dians in visiting one another, until the Sioux out-

break in 1862, since which time they have almost

entirely disappeared from this as well as most of
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the towns in the county. This road is now the

county road through the eastern part of Bridge-

water, having been straightened considerably.

Stetson and Stiles at once put up a log shanty

and commenced keeping "batch," the former of the

two earning a "(fide reputation as a "cookist," as the

stage drivers called him. They were not troubled

with Indians, except as beggars, and although

they would not "steal for the sake of stealing," as

is claimed by some, victuals and anything like

liquor for medicinal purposes had to be carefully

guarded or locked up.

0. C. Stetson kept several cows and made excel-

lent butter which he used to treat his visitors

with, and on one occasion left the house unlocked,

with his milk pans arrayed in order about the

pantry. His pans had been leaking and he had

driven pine plugs into the holes to remedy it.

During his absence somebody called at the house

and pulled out all the plugs, and upon his return

he found his floor bathed in milk and he was so

much butter behind. Mr. Stetson also started a

blacksmith shop soon after he got here, which was

the first shop in this part of the country, and did

a good business shoeing horses on the stage lines.

The shop is still in full blast at Mr. Stetson's farm

on section twenty-four.

Morris Stiles' place finally went into the hands

of Mr. P. Oleson, an early settler who still lives

on the farm. The latter gentleman, in company

with Captain John Hanson, came in 1854.

In June, 1854, the eastern part of the township

received its first settlers in the persons of the Drake

brothers, Oharlee B., J. R., and A. W. Daniel

Bundy came about the same time, and all located

in school district number two. Tbey all put up

log cabins in which they lived for a number of

years.

Everything ran along very smoothly during

the summer and in November, 1854, Mr. H. M.

Matteson, a New Yorker, arrived with a livery from

St. Paul, prospecting for a chance to settle and

make a speculation. He was favorably impressed

with the location, but did not settle or take any

land at the time, driving back to St. Paul and

returning the following year ; arriving in the spring

of 1855, he jumped the claim that Mr. Irish had

selected and paid him for improvements. This

was the claim where Dundas is, including the

water-power, and he then commenced laying plans

for throwing a dam across the river and erecting

a saw-mill. His next move was to get out timber

for a mill, but before it was fairly begun he sold

his entire interest and 740 acres of land to the

Archibalds, in June, 1857. Mr. Matteson, after

selling his property here, removed to Faribault

where he stiU lives and is a prominent man.

This year, 1855, yielded the most bountiful

harvest to the pioneers of Bridgewater of any

year before or since. Wheat yielded from 40 to

45 bushels per acre, and the average price received

was $1.50 per bushel.

James Babb, of New Hampshire, had become

one of the settlement in April, 1854, with his wife,

and was located southwest of Dundas, adjoining

the place now known as the Archibald farm. He
afterwards, in company with another early pio-

neer, commenced the erection of a saw-mill.

James Smith was another who came this year

and remained for several years. He was after-

wards Town Clerk for a number of years in Fari-

bault, and was finally killed by Indians on his way

to California.

In the spring of 1855, Jacob Emery made his

appearance, and after looking about for a short

time decided to locate on Little Prairie, south of

Dundas, and he cut his way three miles through

the heavy timber to get to the place that suited him.

He finally reached it and was so well satisfied

that he still remains on the farm, in sections

twenty-one and twenty-eight.

Then the settlement commenced very rapidly

and in June and July of that year one could look

in any direction and see the white-winged prairie

schooners. Many came and found temporary

homes, who in the hard times that followed sold

for little or nothing and left the country. Among
those who came to stay were the Donaldson

brothers, James, John, Isaac, and Eobert, who

all settled in the timber in the southern part of the

town. Three of these, James, John, and Robert,

are still in the township, and Isaac is now Regis-

ter of Deeds of Rice county.

The Sheppards and Macklewains came and set-

tled in the southern part, the latter naming the

little lake in section thirty-two, but have since

quietly folded their tents and departed.

J. S. and George Archibald arrived in June,

1855, and platted Dundas, besides building the

rhills. They are treated more fully elsewhere.

Others came and settled- in early days, many of

whom are noted under the head of "Biograph-
ical."



BRIDGEWATBR TOWNSHIP. 441

EVENTS AND INCIDENTS.

The first religious services in the town were held

in Edmund Larkins' house in 1855, by Kev. Mr.

Oressey, of the Baptist faith. The same reverend

gentleman also held services in J. K. Drake's pri-

vate house to an audience of about thirty persons,

in 1856.

The first death in Bridgewater occurred in the

fall of 1854, in the departure of Jesse, a child of

Edmund and Jane Larkins, who lived in the

Stetson settlement. A son of these parents was

among the first births, and oocured in the spring

of 1855, with not a physician, nor even a woman

present to assist the mother. The child was chris-

tened Bruce, and is now a young man residing in

the township.

A. W. Drake deeded a cemetery ground to

Northfleld, and his father was the first to find his

last resting place in it. Joseph Drake died in

April, 1857, at the age of 63 years. Another

early death was the demise of Mrs. Owen, in Dun-

das, in 1855, early in the spring.

The earliest marriage, undoubtedly, in the

township, was celebrated in 1855, when Miss

Mary M. Drake and Daniel Bundy were united in

the bonds of wedlock.

In 1856, by mutual consent, Miss Catherine

Tucker was united to Mr. Smith Alexander.

In June, 1857, 0. 0. Stetson and Amelia Howe
were married.

The first Post-office established in the town was

known as the Fountain Grove Post-oflice, and was

opened in the winter of 1855-56, in the northeast-

ern part of the town. The offiee was removed to

Northfield within one year.

Edmund Larkins was one of the arrivals in

1854, and he brought a number of head of young

stock with him, settling in section twenty-four.

One day in the spring of 1855, a number of emi-

grant wagons passed his house while his stock was

grazing in the hollow near 0. C. Stetson's cabin

and when Larkins came to look for his cattle they

were nowhere to be seen. He became frantic and

rushed down to Stetson's, and without stopping

to explain or say a word took one of the horsos,

they being the only ones in the neighborhood, and

started in hot pursuit of the white covered wagons,

which had about three hours start of him. He
rushed on, goading the horse almost to death, and

finally, at night, overtook them, and found they

had seen nothing of his cattle. He had been on

a wild goose chase from his home to near St. Paul,

and camping out of doors that night, the follow-

ing day made his appearance at home with his

arm ever the horses withers, limping in a most

singular and pitiful gait. Here he found his cat-

tle quietly grazing within a few rods of where he

had got the horse. To pay for his foUy he carried a

pillow- to sit on for several weeks, and felt that

another trip like that would necessitate buckliug

a strap around his waist to keep him from splitting

in two, as it was said the ride made his legs an

inch or so longer, but we will not vouch for the

latter statement.

A terrible murder was committed in the town of

Bridgewater on the 30th of June, 1867. The

criminal was Alfred Hoyt; the victim being Josiah

Stamford, who had a farm adjoining Hoyt's.

There had been some trouble about the trespassing

of the cattle, and the parties met in the woods and

had some words, when Hoyt felled his neighbor

to the ground by a blow from an axe and then cut

off his head. He then went to the house and made

a mujderous assault upon Mrs. Stamford with the

axe, but she being a muscular woman defended

herself until her daughters and sons coming to the

rescue, secured him by tying, and then, he an-

nounced that he had killed the old man, and on

repairing to the pot it was found to be too true.

The man was at once placed in the hands of tbe

officers of the law, and upon trial was judged in-

sane and accordingly committed to the insane

asylum.

In June, 1867, the papers had an article headed,

"Female Monsteb." The facts of the case were

that Mathilda Kergin, living a mile and a half

from Dundas, was brought before Justice Perkins

on the 13th of June, 1867, charged with brutal

punishment of a boy that lived in her family by

the name of Franklin Pierce Adams, a lad of

eleven years of age. The boy's mother was dead

and he was bound out to the Kergins. He was

horribly whipped with more than one hundred

and fifty stripes, many of them cutting through

the skin. It seems that he had gone some distance

to do a certain piece of work, which detained him

longer than this sweet-tempered female thought

necessary, and she met him and knocked him

down, and with a cruel switch thrashed him in an

unmerciful manner, and what is most astonishing,

two fuU-grown men sat there and let her do it,

without remonstrance or interference. She was
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fined $50 and costs, and in default of payment

committed to jail.

POLITICAL..

The first town meeting of Bridgewater, for the

purpose of organizing the township, was held on

the nth of May, 1858, at the house of Fernando

Thompson in the village of Dundas. The meeting

was called to order and 0. C. Stetson was chosen

chairman, pro tern., and Benjamin Lookerby, mod-

erator. They next proceeded to ballot for officers,

which resulted as follows: Supervisors, Benjamin

Lockerby, Chairman, Jacob Emery, and J. A. Up-

bam; Clerk, C. C. Stetson; Assessor, Royal Ester-

brook ; Collector, Fernando Thompson ; Overseer of

the Poor, James Gates ; Justices of the Peace, Geo.

Barton, David Hatfield, and W. B. Taylor receiv-

ing the same number of votes, neither were de-

clared elected; Constable, Charles B. Drake and

Fernando Thompson were a tie. The whole num-

ber of votes cast at this election was fifty-nine.

During the war this township did its part,

•furnishing men as fast almost as they were called

for, and at the time of the organization of the

First Minnesota Eegiment three men went iuto it

from Archibald brother's store. A special town

meeting was held in 1864, at which the sum of

$1,500 was voted to pay a bounty to volunteers,

and bonds were issued at 7 per cent, to pay the

same. The sum of $25 was paid to each man. The

judges appointed were J. B. Drake, H. Drought,

and D. Hatfield. At a session some time afterward

an additional appropriation of $900 was made,

there being at that time four volunteers needed.

The management of the town has been efficient

and able, and no events have transpired to inter-

rupt the usual tranquility of town government;

the management of the finances of the town have

alsobeea commendable.

The officers elected for 1882 are as follows: Su-

pervisors, J. W. Huckins, Chairman, J. W. Boss,

and A. Wescott; Clerk, J. M. Oliver; Treasurer,

H. M. Babcook ; Justices of the Peace, William

Tew and J. W. Ennis; Assessor, W. B.Henderson.

BDUCATIOKAIi.

The general history of the rise, progress, and

present condition of the schools in the town of

Bridgewater is almost, in its salient points, a du-

plicate of that of almost every other township in

the county we might mention; it will, however, be

of interest to the residents of the various districts.

The educational interests of the township are di-

vided iuto six district schools and one graded.

The districts are all in good financial condition,

and the schools well attended. The total amount

of sghool property in town is about $10,000.

DisTBiCT No. 2.—This should probably have

been district No. 1, as the schoolhouse was the first

put up in the county. In the spring of 1856, it

was decided to build a schoolhouse, and Charles

Wheeler and others, during the night, quietly ap-

propriated timber from section sixteen. In the

daytime they hauled it away, and put up their

schoolhouse, the size of which was about 20x30

feet, upon the southeast corner of section twelve.

The first school was called to order soon after by

Miss Martha Kelley, now Mrs. A. Dodge, of

Northfield. School was continued in this building

two terms each year until 1880, when the old

house was burned, and then the present building

was erected at a cost of $1,700. This is the best

district schoolhouse in the township, being heated

with furnace and furnished with the latest im-

provements.

DisTBioT No. 11.—The first school held was in

a log honse, the organization being efiected in the

latter part of the fifties. The stone schoolhouse

now in use by the district for school purposes is

one of the best in the township; it is located in the

southern part of section thirty-five. The present

school board consists of Messrs. John Cheney,

J. J. Chester, and E. McKibbie. The school has

about twenty-four pupils.

DisTBiOT No. 13.—The first school was taught

in the latter part of 1856, or early in 1857, by
Miss Lockerby, in McKinley's house, when the

district may be said to have been organized. The
first winter school was taught by -James Ecles,

with about twenty scholars. The preseut site of

the schoolhouse is in the southwestern part of sec-

tion twenty-four.

DisTBiGT No. 15.—The first school in the dis-

trict was taught in 1857, when the district

was organized, in a log building owned by Smith

Alexander, and the following year a log school-

house was put up on the same site. This build-

ing served the purpose until 1865, when it was
destroyed by fire, but the following year it was
replaced by the building now in use. The loca-

tion of the school is the northwestern comer of

section twenty-eight.

DisTBioT No. 31.—The first school was called
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to order in 1857, by Peter Scurington in a house

a house on section eight. The history of the

early organization and growth of this district

seems to be almost forgotten, as those who live in

the same who have been interviewed, are very

conflicting iu their statements. The location of

the present sohoolhouse is the northern part of

section six.

DiSTBioT No. 91.—The organization of this

district was effected in 1874, and it is, therefore,

the youngest district in the township. The first

school was held in the present sohoolhoase in 1874,

with forty-five scholars in attendance, Miss Lucy

Cowan being the teacher. Their neat and sub-

stantial schoolhouse was erected in 1874, at a cost

of about $600i; the school board at that time being

composed of Messrs Tew, Gurran, and Donaldson.

The present members of the board are William Tew,

Henry Piatt, and W. S. Partlow. The school is

located in the southwestern part of section nine.

DTJNDAS.

This is the only village in the township of

Bridgewater, and is the third in size and impor-

tance in the county. It is situated on the Cannon

River, near the center of the town, its village plat

extending into sections ten, eleven, and fifteen.

The Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul railroad con-

nects the village with the outside world, passing

through it in a southwesterly direction.

The location of this thriving village is all that

could be desired. As we contemplate the changes

of a quarter of a century past we can scarcely com-

prehend or realize that the results of time's won-

der-working hand are the achievements of a period

BO brief as to be_within the remembrance, almost,

of the present generation.

Let us turn back, as it were, the leaves of time's

great book to but a quarter of a century ago, and

the stranger would have gazed upon a landscape

of wondrous beauty; selected by Dakota as his

camping ground, with that singular appreciation

of the beautiful which nature made an instinct

with the savage. These noble forests were as green

then as now, the prairie flowers bloomed as thickly

and diffused their fragrance as bountifully. We
are in the haunt of the red man, with scarcely a

trace of civilization, and literally a wilderness.

But what a contrast! Then all was as nature had

formed it, with its variegated hues of vegetation;

in winter a dreary barren waste, in summer a per-

fect paradise of flowers. Now many traces of the

primitive are obliterated; in place of the tall prairie

grass and tangled underbrush, we behold the rich

waving fields of golden grain. In place of the

dusky warriors' cabins are the elegant and sub-

stantial dwellings, and the "iron horse," swifter

than the nimble deer, treads the pathway so rec-

ently the trail of the red man.

In point of location, Dundas is all that could be

desired. The Cannon River at this point furnishes

one of the most valuable water-powers in the State,

and with the assistance of reliable railroad con-

nection with eastern markets, its future is assured.

The Minnesota Central railroad has already sur-

veyed and graded a line through the place and by

fall the lomotive will be pushing its way through

the village on this line.

The immediate surroundings of the village are

timber lands, but within a mile from the limits

you emerge^from the timber and before you lie the

richest prairie and farming lands in the State;

dotted with well built and costly farm houses, in-

dicating the thrift and prosperity of the farmers

from which the village receives its support. The

main part of the village, and where most of the

residences are, is upon the east side of the river,

upon the level table land extending from the low

hills to the river. A majority of the business

houses and the Dundas mills are on the west side

of the river, while the old stone mill and the

cooper shops are on the island which separates the

river at this point, and which is connected to the

main land by substantial iron bridges spanning

the divided river.

Eablt Settlement.—As stated in the article on

the early settlement of the township, the land

where the village now stands was pre-empted in

1852, by Irish; and he broke a few acres and then

left, when H. M. Malteson came in the spring of

1855, and jumped the claim, paid Irish for his

improvements, and commenced to get out timber

for a mill. In June, 1857, J. S. and George N.

Archibald arrived and purchased of Mr. Matteson

the town site, and at once laid out the town. They

threw a stone dam across the river and commenced

the erection of the old stone mill.

In the fall of 1856, a saw-mill was erected by a

Mr. Veeley, about 80 rods above the Archibald

mill site, on the river, and shortly after the com-

pletion of it the firm became James Babb & Veeley.

A small dam was thrown across the river, which

secured a three foot head of water. The mUl was
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equipped with a circular saw, and was purchased

by the Archibalds a short time after their arrival,

and used to timber the new grist-mill. After this

was set in motion the work on the stone mill pro-

gressed rapidly, and in the same year it was com-

pleted and in motion. The mill contained four

run of stones and was at that time considered the

best mill in the State. It was two stories high

with a stone basement, and still stands on the

island opposite the present fine mills. Flour made

by the old mill was taken to St Paul and Minne-

apolis by team, and won the reputation of being

the best made in the State.

The first stoi'e started in Dundas was built and

stocked by J. S. & G. N. Archibald in 1858. The

store stood one block south of the "bridge, and

was known far and near as the "Dundas Cash

Store." The first frame residence in town was

put up by the same gentlemen at the same time

and is now occupied by the widow of J. S. Archi-

bald.

The next store, and really the first substantial

one, was opened in 1859 by E. G. & J. J. Ault,

with about a $3,000 stock, in the building now
occupied as the shoe shop of Mr. Bichert. In

1861, George Kirkpatrick purchased the Archi-

bald Brothers' store and stocked it up. This occu-

pied the building now used as a residence by Ed.

Coppin. The Ault brothers afterward put up a

substantial stone building.

In 1858, the Post-ofEce was established, and

Herman»Jenkins was first appointed to handle' the

mails. He was called the traveling Post-master,

because he would go to Northfield, get the mail,

and then deliver it to the few inhabitants in the

place. In 1859, the people of Northfield raised a

bonus and secured a daily stage mail on' the line

from Northfield to Faribault. This was continued

until the railroad was constructed through the

place in 1864. The Post-office has in the mean-

time passed into numerous hands, and finally J.

M. Oliver, the present accommodating and efficient

Postmaster was appointed, and has since retained

the office.

Hotels.—In 1858, the first hotel was put up in

Dundas by H. Jenkins. It stood where the Arch-

ibald Company barn now is. It was not a very

gorgeously furnished establishment, but it served

the purpose until it was burned to the ground

some years later.

The next hotel was put up by H. C. Komoll, and

is still run and known as the "Komoll House."

Next was started the "Franklin Hotel," kept by

that best of hosts, A. Frink.

A few years ago Mr. Cramer started "Mer-

chants' Hotel," near the depot.

In 1870, Dundas had a population of about

500. In the last ten years it has almost doubled,

now having about 1,000.

EVENTS OP INTBEBST.

The first house or building ever erected on the

town site of Dundas was put up in the spring and

summer of 1855, by the owner at that time, H. M.

Matteson. It stood on the west side of the river

near the Merchants' Hotel; built of logs, size

16x20 feet, and for those days a good and sub-

stantial house. Mr. Matteson afterward told Mr.

Archibald, the owner, that he would buy the old

house and lot back, and board it up so as to "pre-

serve it for future reference," but Mr. Archibald

stated that the house was in the center of the

street and had to be torn down.

Among the first, and we are inclined to believe

the first death to occur in Dundas, was a daughter

of Wm. and Mary B. Taylor, named Oalista, aged
twelve years, of diphtheria. This occurred in Oc-

tober, 1856. A daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Taylor

was born on the 4th of January, 1856, and was
the first birth. The child was christened

Clara E., and still lives with her mother in

Dundas.

A short time after the occurrence above men-
tioned, Jacob, a son of Ira Markell, was born. He
also still lives in Dundas.

An early death was the child of Mr. H. C.

Komoll, the hotel keeper.

William B. Taylor was drowned in April, 1866.

The bridge over the Cannon Biver had been

washed out, and he, as well as other employes in

the mill, were obliged to go to and from their work
in boats. One day, as he, in company with the

miller, Thomas Handy, and two others were cross-

ing, the boat was capsized, and they were left

struggling in the water. Two of the occupants
were saved, but Taylor and Handy were swallowed
by the greedy torrent and both met watery graves.

Wm. B. Taylor left a wife and six children, and
Thomas Handy a wife and three children.

VILLAGE OEaANIZATION.

In the spring of 1879, the residents of Dundas
having come to the conclusion that an organiza-
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tion of the village was necessary, accordingly

took steps and had the village chartered. The or-

ganization was eifeoted by the election of the fol-

lowing officers : Council, E. T. Archibald, President,

0. W. Brown, B. E. Hutchinson, J. T. Thielbar,

and F. Shandorf; Eecorder, D. W. Markell; Treas-

urer, E. G. Ault; Justice of the Peace, J. B. De
Cousins; Marshal, C. Bunnels.

The business of the village has been transacted

in a commendable and economical way.

The present ofGcers are; Council, O. Bunnels,

President, P. K. Empey, Henry Carrol, A. Wool-

ery, and Wm. B. Henderson; Becorder, A. Hed-

re3n; Treasurer, J. W. Huokins; Justice of the

Peace, Edward Strange; Marshal, John C. King.

The council rent a building east of the iron bridge

for a Village Hall, and have made an addition to

the same for a look-up.

DDNDAS GRADED SOHOOIS.

This organization for educational purposes em-

braces the village of Dundas and the ir^mediately

surrounding territory, and in its management, both

financially and educationally, has been one of the

moat prudent and efficient institutions in the

county.

The first school in Dundas was taught in 1858,

in a building erected for a meat market, standing

where Hoyuck's bakery now is, and had in atten-

dance fifteen children. The teacher was Miss

Mary Hutchison, now Mrs. Drought. It was at

this time organized as district No. 4, and a house

erected soon after. The records commence on the

30th of May, 1865, the first record being a letter

from the Clerk of the district to County Superin-

tendent Buokham, stating that "if a teacher is not

secured for the summer term our 30 or 40 children

must run wOd until fall." In 1866, an appropria-

tion of $600 was made to furnish an addition to

the schoolhouse. On the 12th of May, 1868, the

district was organized into a graded school and

$4,000 in bonds voted to erect a school building,

the site selected being Maple Grove. Accord-

mgly, in 1869, W. 0. Oleland took the contract

and finished one half the present building at a

cost, when furnished, of about $5,000. In 1881,

the requirements of the school demanded an in-

crease, and the same contractor finished the other

half of the building at a cost of $2,000, making
the total cost about $7,000. The schools, are now
in good condition, employing three teachers with

an attendance of about 250 pupils.

SECEET SOCIBTT.

A. O. U. W.—An Ancient Order of United

Workmen was instituted in Dundas on the 27th of

February, 1878, with twenty-four charter mem-
bers. The prime movers in this, or those through

whose instrumentality it was organized, were H.

E. Lawrence, E. G. Ault, A. Hedreen, and C. W.
Brown.

The first officers elected were : Master Workman,

A. Hedreen; Eecordei-, H. E. Lawrence; Treas-

urer, E. E. Hutchinson; Financier, J. M. Oliver.

The present officers are as follows : Master Work-

man, J. P. Hummel; Eecorder, C. Bunnels; Treas-

urer, A. F. Thielbar; Financier, J. M.Oliver. The

order now has twenty-one members in good slandr

ing, and is in the most prosperous and flourishing

condition.

KEIiIGIOTJS.

The religious and God-fearing people of Dun-

das are divided into four denominations, and they

have already erected three substantial and neat

buildings, and another is now in process of erection.

Speaking financially, the churches in this place

are in as good condition as is usual in a town of

this size, and one may get an inference from that

as to their standing. Below we give a condensed

notice of the organization and principal proceed-

ings of each.

EpisooPAi.—The first service was held in Archi-

bald's hall in 1864, by Bishop Whipple. Their

church was erected in 1868, by W. C. Cleland,

contractor, at a cost of $7,000, and dedicated with

Bishop Whipple officiating. Rev. W. J. Gould

was the first regular pastor and remained for seven

years, after which Bev. Humphrey presided for

two years, and since that time they have had no

regular preacher. As above stated their church

was built in 1868 at a cost of S7,000, and in 1874,

a neat parsonage was erected at a cost of about

$3,300. This was all put up at the expense of,

and donated to the society by, J. S. Archibald,

with a vQiy little aid from a few others. Mr.

Archibald, at the time of his death, in 1875,

bequeathed the sum of $15,000 to the church,

making his total donations foot up to $25,000.

German Lutheean.—The first service held by

this denomination was in the summer of 1866, in

the old schoolhouse on the east side of the river,

by Bev. Shultz. Shortly afterward the organiza-

tion was effected, having at first about twelve
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members. Services were held at various places

until 1881, when they commenced the erection of a

church edifice on Second street, on the east side of

the river. The building is not completed as yet.

Among the pastors to oificiate in this denomina-

tion are Eeverends Shultz and Sipler. The pulpit

is now supplied by the Lutheran minister of Fari-

bault.

Pbbsbttbkian.—This society formally organ-

ized in the year 1865, with Eev. J. I. Smith

officiating, and had about twenty members. In

1867, they commenced the erection of a church

which w?,8 finished the following year at a cost of

about $1,200, and this is the building now in use

by the society. The pastors have been : Eeverends

Breok, J. H. Hunter, W. 8. Wilson, James Mc-

Lain, W. E. Donaldson, and J. C. Garver, the latter

being the present pastor. The church was dedi-

cated on the 17tb of July, 1868. •

Methodist.—There was at one time a strong

organization of this denomination here, but at

present there is not much interest felt or shown in

it. They erected a church and a parsonage. The

former was finally sold and is now used by Mr.

Phillip Empey as a livery stable; the parsonage

was destroyed by fire the 2d of March, 1879.

INDXJSTBIAL BNTEBPEISBS.

As all the industries of this nature in the town-

ship are centered at Dundas, they will all be

treated under one head, and a review of the various

manufacturing establishments of the village and

township will be appropos to this oecason, as they

are the nucleus to the now prosperous village-

The first we will allude to will be the manufactur-

ing enterprise known as the

DuNDAs FiiOTJEiNG MiLiiS, whioh have ever been

the magnet around which have clustered the vari-

ous business interests of which the town is pos-

sessed. These mills, in their past years of useful-

ness, have achieved a reputation perhaps second

to none other similar institution in the State. Ac-

cumulation of business and an increased demand
for the productions of the establishment from time

to time, rendering an increase of capacity necessary,

have been the means of forcing alterations which

have made its capacity without equal in this part

of the State.

The mills are located on the west bank of the

Cannon Eiver, within the limits of the village, and
consist of the main building, the old stone mill,

and several warehouses.

In 1857, J. S. and G N. Archibald, natives of

Canada, came to Dundas and put up the old stone

mill upon the island, building a stone dam across

the river and securing a good water-power. Pour

run of stones were placed' in the mill and opera-

tions commenced the same year. The crops fail-

ing that year and the following one the mill was

not operated to its full capacity until 1859, when

a small merchant bolt was put in, and in this con-

dition the mill was run until 1870. Shortly after

building and commencing operations, the firm was

dissolved; G. N. going out and J. S. continuing

until 1870, when it became J. S. & E. T. Archibald;

and at that time the frame portion of the present

main building was erected, size 35x70 feet, five

stories high, with a basement, and to this has been

added a stone wing 36x80 feet, joining the frame

on the north.

In 1866, the original dam, built in 1857, was

washed away, and the year following rebuilt. In

1871, the mill was enlarged to an eight run mill,

and in 1879, it was entirely remodeled and con-

verted into a roller mill. Thirty-five sets of rollers

were put in, and two burrs, making a capacity of

500 barrels per day.

The power by whioh the mill is run is both

steam and water; having nine feet of water fall,

and a 150 horse-power steam engine—making the

propelling force of the miU efficient and perma-

nent. The steam power was added at the recon-

struction of the mill in 1879, a substantial stone

engine house being erected at that time. About

same time a side track was laid from the main line

of the railroad to the mill door.

The present firm is E. T. Archibald & Co., en

personnel E. T. and Cyril Archibald. The origin-

ator and starter of the enterprise, J. S. Archibald,

died in 1875, leaving many earnest and warm
friends to mourn his loss. His widow, Mrs. C. C.

Archibald, still lives in Dundas, much esteemed

by all.

CooPEBAGB.—In connection with the mill is the

cooper business. The shops are located on the

island, one on each side of the street. Their ca-

pacity is only limited by the number of barrels

in demand per day, and this branch of industry is

certainly as important a factor and as beneficial

to Dundas as any it contains. It employs as a

rule about thirty men. When started they were

operated in connection with and under the man-

agement of the Dundas mills, but of late years it
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has been managed by a co-operative Cooper's

Association.

Stab Piouking MiijIjS.—To get. at the founda-

tion of this mill's establishment, one must go back

in date to 1869, when the firm of Drought & Hutch-

inson purchased the ground north of the bridge,

on the west side of the river, for a saw-mill. They

at once pat up a steam saw-mill with a perpen-

dicular, and a circular saw. This was run by them

four years and then sold to Jacobs & Dittis, who

run it until it was burned, two years later. In

1877, the site was purchased by James Peppin,

who commenced the erection of the mill which is

both a flour and saw-mUl. Three run of stones

were put in and an 80 horse-power steam engine.

In 1880, the firm became Newell & Peppin, and

the mill was remodeled and rollers put in in ad-

dition to the burrs, making the capacity about

150 barrels. The saw-mill in connection is

equipped with a circular saw, and has been piling

up saw-dust to the present time. The flouring mill

was only operated for about one year, the proprie-

tors having become involved in debt. The mill is

a large three story and a basement building, and

the entire outfit is estimated at having cost about

830,000.

CocHR.\N Mill.—A small custom mill was

erected in 1878 by Eobert Cochran, on section

twenty -two, and was run by steam. For a short

time it did a good business, but was finally, in the

fall of 1880, destroyed by fire.

Hoover Saw-Mill.—This enterprise was orig-

inally established in Cannon City by J. M. Hoover,

but after running there a short time was moved to

his farm on section thirty-two. It is run by

steam, and does good work. Mr. Hoover is still

proprietor of it.

The Pibst Saw-Mill.—In the fall of 1856, a

saw-miU was erected by a Mr. Veeley, a short dis-

tance from the present location of the Dun das

mills. It was run a short time by Babb & Veeley,

and flaiaUy, in 1857, was purchased by J. S. and

G. N. Archibald. It was run by water-power, a dam
having been built which gave them three feet fall

of water. This was the first institution of a man-

facturing nature started in this entire section of

country. A description 'of the mill is given else-

where.

Eailboad Business.—An idea can be formed

of the business importance of Dundas from the

following items obtained through the kindness

of the afiable depot agent Mr. J. W. Cam-
eron. The shipments from Dundas in April,

1882, amounted to 2,230,230 pounds, composed of

the following items: Flour, 1,558.780 pounds;

mill feed, 609,700 pounds; cierchandise, 56,770

pounds; potatoes, 5,270 pounds. The freight re-

ceived during this month amounted to 2,405,792

pounds.

The shipments during May were as follows:

Flour, 1,141,400 pounds; mill feed, 640,160

pounds; potatoes, 11,860 pounds, and merchan-

dise, 48,690 pounds. The total shipments for the

month were 2,642,910 pounds. Keceived during

the month, 2,403,305 pounds.

During the month of June the shipments were

as follows: Flour, 2,630,050 pounds; mill feed,

431,200 pounds; merchandise, 4,320 pounds, and

two car loads of wood. Total shipments for Jime,

2,546,570 pounds. Total receipts, 2,563,810

pounds. The express business amounts to about

$300 per year.

BIOGEAPHICAIi.

Cyeil Archibald was born in Stormont

county, province of Ontario, Canada, in 1837.

Hie father was a merchant and physician, and

Cyril remained in his native place, engaged in

farming and mercantile pursuits, in a limited way,

until August, 1880, when he removed to this place.

The following year he became a member of the

firm of E. T. Archibald & Co., proprietors of the

Dundas Flouring Mills, and is still one of the well

known firm. He was united in marriage in Jan-

uary, 1881, to Miss Gertrude, daughter of John K.

Wood, of Stormont county, Canada, and one child

has been the result of the union, a boy named

Heber.

J. J. AoLT is a native of Aultsville, Ontario,

Canada, born in 1834,and came to Dundas in 1859.

Aftar being engaged in various pursuits, he left

the place, but returned again in 1874, and has ever

since been in the employ of E. T. Archibald & Co.,

as cashier and book-keeper.

Edgar G. Ault was born in Canada in 1838.

Aultville claimed him as a resident until twenty

years old. He attended school at Potsdam

Academy, and finally completed his education at

Fort Edward, New York. He came to Dundas,

Blinnesota, in 1859, and engaged in mercantile

pursuits, which business he has followed most of

the time since. He buUt a large stone store in

1868, and in 1881, a large brick and stone store



448 IIISTOBT OF BIOS COUNTY.

which he now occupies, dealing in general mer-

chandise. Mr. Ault has been one of the active

men in building up the town and the schools.

Simon Babeigae was born in Canada in 1822,

and reared on a farm. In 1849, he removed to

New York, where he engaged in agricultural pur-

suits until 1863, then came to Minnesota, located

in Bridgewater in section nineteen, where he has a

farm of three hundred acres, most of which is im-

proved. He was married in Canada, and has had

a family of nine children, eight of whom are

living.

W. H. Bennett was born in Albany, New
York, on the 7th of February, 1815, and grew to

manhood in his native place. In 1837, he came to

Wisconsin and settled on a farm near Milwaukee,

and--there married Miss Mary Bunday, on the 13th

of September, 1849. She was born in Wayne
coanty, New York, on the 15th of January, 1829,

but had lived in Wisconsin many years. In

March, 1855, he came to Bice county and located

in Bridgewater, near what was then the village of

Northfield. He now owns sixty-six acres of land,

having sold the remainder of his claim for the

Northfield Fair Grounds. He has four children,

two having died; those living are; Elizabeth D.,

Ida M., Ella B., and Sarah S.

L. E. Baboook was born in New York in 1826,

and lived there until nine years of age. He then

removed with his parents to Indiana, where he

was engaged as an engineer, and spent his time

in the manner of a "Wandering Jew." He came to

Dundas in 1869, and found employment as a

cooper,' which business he now follows. Mr.

Babcoek was married in Indiana, and the union

has been blessed with eight children.

F. Cebiman was born in Germany in 1837,

where he remained until eighteen years old, then

emigrated to America. He has been in Dundas

seven years, engaged in the hotel business. Mr
Creiman's family consis>ts of a wife and two children,

G. W. Cameron was born in Canada in 1839,

where he attended school and was reared on a

farm. Wh§n he was twenty-two yerrs of age he

came to Vermont, engaged in farming two years,

then removed to Wisconsin, where he learned tele-

graphy. In 1865, he came to Northfield, Minne-

sota, where he engaged as telegraph operator,

coming to Dundas in 1867, and has since been the

agent of the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul rail-

road. He was married in Northfield in 1868, to

Miss 0. P. White, a native of Vermont. They

have been blessed with three children; Belle, nine

years of age; Jennie, seven; and Georgia, two.

Job Ohbstbe, a native of England, was born in

1818, and lived in his native country until four-

teen years old, then came with his parents to

America. They remained in Philadelphia one

year, then moved to Ohio, where Job finished

his education. He was employed as porter in a

wholesale store in Cleveland for five years, then

removed to St. Louis and engaged in the same

business two years. While in the latter city he

married Miss Anne Jeffries, a native of Canada,

the ceremony taking place in 1844. He came to

Bacine county, Wisconsin, engaged in farming

aud remained there eight years, then moved to

Bridgewater, Rice county, and staked out the first

claim in this township, locating it on section

twenty-five. He is the father of five children, one

of whom is dead,

William C. Clbland was bom in Ireland in

1823, and received his education in his native

country. When twenty-four years of age he

came to Canada, where he worked at the carpen-

ter trade, contracting, etc. In 1866, he returned

to Ireland, remained eight months, then came to

Dundas, where he has since been engaged in

farming, and also works at his trade. He has built

the greater portion of the best buildings in the

village.

Joseph Cltjtb was bom in Germany in 1837,

and remained there until 1854, when he emigrated

to America. He was educated in his native

country and reared to agricultural pursuits. In

1858, he removed to Minnesota and located in

Bridgewater, in section six, where he still resides.

He was married in 1863, to Miss Sophia Grone-

wald, also a native of Germany. The union has

been blessed with six children. Mr. Clute was

drafted into the army in 1865, and served six

months in the 'Second Minnesota Infantry. He
has been a member of the Board of Supervisors

two years, and one of the school board eight

years.

W. S. Ctjeeen was born in Wisconsin in 1842,

and removed with his parents to Minnesota when

fourteen years old, completing his education in this

State. In 1862, he was married; removed to his

farm in Bridgewater, section eight, in 1868, and

has one hundred and seven acres of land, nearly

all improved. Mr. and Mrs. Ourren have had eight
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children,,four of whom are living; two died of

diphtheria in one week, and two in infancy.

W. H. Emery was born in New York in 1841,

and at the age of fourteen years removed to Min-

nesota with his parents, who settled in Bridge-

water. W. H. attended school in New York and

finished his education here, also taught one term

of school. He was joined in matrimony in 1865,

with Miss Eunice Bardwell, a native of Pennsyl-

vania, who has borne him three children. He has

a farm of ninety acres in section twenty-one which

is well improved. Mr. Emery has been elected to

the oflBces of Constable, Supervisor, and Assessor.

He served through the Indian war of 1862, with

Gen. Sibley. He and Jiis wife are members of the

Methodist church.

Mes. Mabia Empby, a daughter of Mr. and

Mrs. Kansey Morgan, was born in Canada on the

24th of June, 1816. She was married to Mr.

Nicholas W. Empey on the 15th of September,

1834, in the eastern part of Canada. In 1840,

they moved to Hancock county, Hlinois, where

they remained about eight years, then returned to

their former home in Canada and resided on a farm

nine years. In October, 1856, they made their

way to Minneeota,and after sojourning in Northfield

several weeks located on a pre-emption in Steele

county, and afterward lived in Goodhue county four

years. In 1870, their farm in the latter place was

traded for the one on which Mrs. Empey now re^

sides. Her husband died on the 17th of Novem-

ber, 1872, leaving many friends to mourn his loss.

The. marriage was blessed with ten children of

whom five are now living, Samantha, Alice, Almeda,

Phillip, and Nellie. Mrs. Empey is a, firm be-

liever and an earnest worker in the church of the

Latter Day Saints, being respected and loved by

all who know her.

Philip K. Empby was born in Canada in 1857,

and removed with his parents to the United States

when two years of age. They first settled in

Steele and afterward in Goodhue county engaged

at farming. A few years later he came to Dundas

with his parents and engaged in the livery busi-

ness. He has been a prominent man in public

enterprises and has held several offices, being at

present a member of the Village Council. He and

his mother reside together.

Jacob Emeky was born in Wayne county, New
York, in 1819, and was reared to agricultural pur-

suits, receiving a common school education. He
29

was married in 1830 to Miss Eliza Portman, also a

native of New York. In 1855, he removed to

Minnesota, locating in this township, in section

twenty-eight, where he may still be found. His

wife died on the 6th of September, 1868, lenving

nine children, and he was again married in 1880,

to Miss Etta Hoover. Mr. Emery was a member

of the first board of Supervisors of the town and

was very active in organizing schools. He and his

wife are members of the Methodist church.

A. Feink is a native of Germany, born in 1826.

He attended school r.r'A. lived on a farm. In 1853,

he emigrated to Ai; drica, direct to Minnesota, and

located in St. Paul where he was engaged in lum-

bering two years, then removed to Dakota county

and pre-empted one hundred and sixty acres of

land. In 1860, he sold his farm and at the first

call for troops enlisted and served three months,

then came to Northfield where he engaged in a

hotel. In 1872, he again went to Dakota county

where he farmed three years, and in the fall of

1878, came to Dundas where he has since kept a

hotel. He was married in August, 1866, to Miss

Augusta Pox, also a native of Germany. They

have four children, all of whom are girls.

G. A. Gatzke was born in Prussia in 1846, and

received his education there, also learning the mil-

ler's trade. In 1864, he came to America and di-

rectly to Wisconsin where, in 1862, he married

Miss Amelia Johnson, also a native of Prussia.

In 1872, he came to Bridgewater, Rice county,

and has since been foreman in the Dundas mills.

Mr. and Blrs. Gatzke have had five children, four

of whom are living. They are members of the

Lutheran church.

Alio Gillandees was born in New York in

1844, where he attended school and was reared to

agricultural pursuits. He served in the Army of

the Potomac one year in the One hundred and

sixty-ninth New York Volunteer Infantry. In

1864, he removed to Minnesota and resided for

four years in Dakota county, then came to this

township and located in section eighteen. In

1867, Miss Elizabeth Moore, a native of New York,

became his wife. They have one child, Jennie,

eleven years of age. They are members of the

Methodist church.

Pbtbe Geau is a native of Germany, born in

1832; was educated and learned the lailor's trade

in his native country. In May, 1851, he emi-

grated to America and located in New York City
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where he followed his trade sixteen years. In

1864, Miss Martha Baker, also a native of Ger-

many, became his wife. He enlisted in the Seventh

New York Infantry, served one year, and after re-

ceiving his disoBarge came to Minnesota, locating

in Forest township, Eice county, and two years

later removed to Dundas where he is at work in the

Archibald mill. Mr. and Mrs. Grau have had six

children, four of whom are living. They are

members of the Presbyterian church.

Jambs Q-abkitt was born in Ireland in 1832,

where he remained until nineteen years old. He

served one year in the British army and emigrated

to America in 1856, coming directly to this jalace.

In July, 1859, he was united in marriage and the

union has been blessed with three children.

J. G. Hatfield was born in Ohio in 1836, and

removed with his parents to Indiana when two

years of age where he was educated. He was

married in 1859, to Miss Mary H. Donaldson who

was born in Pennsylvania in 1836. In 1864, they

came to Minnesota, located on a farm in Bridge-

water in section twenty-nine, where he still resides,

the farm containing eighty acres, all well im-

proved. They have been blessed with five chil-

dren, four of whom are living. He is a member

of the school board.

J. J. HuMMBL was born in Germany on the 23d

of July, 1854, lived in his native land with his

parents until fourteen years of age, when, in the

fall of 1868, he went to Algiers, Africa, where he

had relatives, and engaged in the brewing busi-

ness. This occupation receive his attention nntil

July, 1873, when he again removed, this time to

America. He came directly to where his parents

resided in Cottage Grove, Minnesota, and for a

little over a year devoted his time to agricultural

pursuits. His next move.was to Faribault, where

he remained until 1881, with the exception of one

year spent at the German-English Normal School

at Galena, Illinois. In 1881, he made a prospect-

ing tour to California, and upon his return to

Minnesota decided to move his family to the Pa-

cific coast which he did, but soon returned to this

State and took up his abode in Dundas, and in

March, 1882, became an active partner in the firm

of Hummel Bros, of the Dundas meat market.

His wife was formerly Josephine C. Degen, of

Faribault, whom he married on the 29th of No-
vember, 1877. One child has blessed the union, a

boy named Charles D.

J. P. Hummel, a brother of the subject of our

last sketch, is just two years his senior, having

been born on the 23d of July, 1852. He came to

America in 1869, with his mother, brothers and

sisters, his father having died in Germany. They

settled in Bochester, New York, where J. P. learned

the butcher trade. In June, 1871, he removed to

Washington county, Minnesota, and engaged at

his trade and farming until 1875, when he re-

moved to Dundas and still follows butchering.

He was. married in Wisconsin in 1876, to Miss

Elizabeth Hartman, a native of the latter State.

They have four children;

J. G. Hbbgott was born in France in 1848,

and when twenty years of age went to Africa, serv-

ing in the French army. He next went to Italy

and was in the army seven months, then to Ger-

many, where he served through the Prussian war,

was taken prisoner at Metz and held for seven

months, after which he returned to France. Mr.

Hergott emigrated to America in 1872, and after

traveling over a large portion of the United States,

located in Dundas, where he has since been en-

gaged in the milling business. He was married in

Chicago in 1876, and the issue of the union is two

children.

Andeew J. Hedbebn was born in Sweden on the

16th of December, 1846, and came to America

in 1866, landing in New York on the

4th of July. The most of his younger

days were spent in school, completing common
branches and taking a five-year collegiate course.

He cama direct to Otisoo, Waseca county, Minne-

sota, and taught one term of school, thence to

Faribault where he was engaged at surveying,

and subsequently learned the cooperJs trade. In

1872, he came to Dundas and has since been en-

gaged at his trade, being the first foreman of the

Co-operative Coopers Association of this place.

He is also a mamber of the Ancient Order o£

United Workmen. He is now Kecijrder of the

village, and has held several other offices of trust.

On the 1st of August, 1869, he was married to

Miss Lizzie O. Edsall, of Waseca county, and they

have four children; Lillie, Charles, Guy, and

Harry.

J. W. HucKiNS was born in Delaware, Bipley

county, Indiana, in 1838. When seventeen years

old he removed to Ohio, where he finished his ed-

ucation, then came to Minnesota, and thence to

Indiana, where he engaged in clerking. In 1861,
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he returned to Cannon City, Minnesota, where

mercantile pursnits claimed his attention until

1862, when he came to Minneapolis and engaged

in the same business. Four years later he removed

to Cannon City, and from there to Dundas, where

he deals in general merchandise and lumber. He
was married in Michigan in 1869, to Miss Annie

Graham, a native of Ohio. They were blessed

with two children.

B. B. Hutchinson was born in Montreal, Can-

ada, in 1838. When fourteen years old he removed

with his parents to Buffalo, New York, remained

five years, then went to Ohio, and one year later

to Minnesota. He received his education in

Canada and Buffalo. In 1862, he enlisted in the

Sixth Minnesota Infantry, was with Gen. Sibley in

the Indian massacre, at first as a private, then

promoted to the various higher ofBces and mus-

tered out as Captain in 1865. He returned to

Minnesota, and in 1877, came to Dundas, where

he has since been engaged in mercantile business.

He was married in 1866, to Miss Susan Batterson,

a native of Canada. They have five childien.

Albon Hoyt, one of the first settlers of this

township, is a native of New York, born in Frank-

lin county in 1824, and remained there until

twenty -five years old. He then came to St. Faul,

and in three years to Bridgewater, locating on

section eleven. He has a fine farm of one hun-

dred and eighty acres under good cultivation, sit-

uated between Dundas and Northfield.

Isaac Hendebson was born in Dundas county,

Ontario, Canada, in- 1834, where he received his

education and was reared as a farmer. In 1865,

he came to Bice county and located in Bridge-

water, in section twenty-two. He was married to

Miss Mary Hobbs, who was also born in Canada.

They have five children and -are members of the

Advent church.

WrDMAM Hendeeson was bom in Canada

in 1842, and reared on a farm, receiving a

common school education. He was married in

1864, to Miss Isabell Van Alstine, and the next

year they came to Wisconsin, where Mr. Hender-

son engaged on the railroad two years. After re-

moving to Minnesota he followed the same em-

ployment, and afterward engaged in farming. In

1872, they came to Bridgewater and he has since

been engaged in farming, owning a house and lot

in Dundas, and taking charge of the Archibald

land.

Heeman Hoyuck was born in Germany in

1844, where he received his education and learned

the baker's trade. In 1870, he emigrated to

America, worked at his trade two years in New
York City, then removed to Chicago and followed

the same business eight years. He was united in

marriage in 1876, and his wife is also a native of

Germany. In 1880, they removed to this county

and located in Dundas, where he has a bakery and

restaurant. Mr. and Mrs. Hoyuck have three

children.

Thomas Ingeam was born in Ireland in 1830.

When twenty years 'old he married Miss Olivia

Wightman, and the next year they came to Amer-

ica, remained in Canada one year, then came to

New York. He was engaged in boating two

years, and afterward in farming for eleven years.

In 1866, he removed to his present farm in Bridge-

water, Bice county. Mr. and Mrs. Ingram have

had six children, five of whom are living.

H. C. KoMOLii was born in Germany in 1824.

In 1855, he was united in marriage with Miss

Caroline Johnson, and one year later emigrated

to America, He had previously learned the shoe-

maker's trade, at which he worked four years in

Canada, then removed to Dundas, Minnesota,

where he worked at his trade for several years.

He then engaged in hotel keeping and also carries

on a farm, Mr. and Mrs. Komoli have been

blessed with three children, two of whom are

living.

S. Ltjckeet was boiTi in Germany in 1843. He
was educated in his native country and learned

the shoemaker's trade. In 1858, he emigrated

with his parents to America, located in Luzerne

county, Pennsylvania, and worked at his trade.

In 1865, he was united in marriage with Miss

Catharine Wagner, also a native of Germany. In

1866, they removed to Minnesota, engaged in

farming four years, then came to Dundas and was

in the boot and shoe business several years. In

1876, he opened a saloon and restaurant, and is

now erecting a brick building, two stories high

with a basement, which he intends occupying. He
is the father of seven children, three boys and

four girls.

W. 8. Mattison was born in Minnesota in

1857, and received his education in Dakota county,

where his father was a farmer. He came to Dun-

das in 1878, and has since been foreman in the

cooper shop.
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J. C. NoTEMAN was bom in New York, where lie

remained imtil sixteen years of age, tlien came to

Wisconsin, and in 1861, enlisted in the Eighth

Wisconsin Infantry, served three years, then, after

his discharge re-enhsted and served till the close

of the war. He then removed to Michigan and

worked in a drug store two years, and in 1876,

came to Dundas, where he buys wheat for the

Archibald Mills. He has a wife and one child.

J. M. Olivbb was born in Lawrence county,

Pennsylvania, in 1852, and lived in his native State

until 1869, when he came to Eice county, Minne-

sota. He attended school in Pennsylvania and

finished his education at the Shattuck school in

Faribault, after which he taught in Dundas. In

the fall of 1872, engaged in a store and has been

in that business most of the time since. He was

appointed Postmaster in 1877, and still holds that

position. He is Town Clerk, elected in 1878, and

has been re-elected every year since, and in 1876,

was Chairman of the board of Supervisors.

Peter H. Olson, one of the first to locate in

this township, was born in Norway in 1824, where

he received his education and lived on a farm. He
came to America in 1848, located in Wisconsin,

where he remained until 1853, then came to

Bridgewater, engaged in farming till 1861, then

went to California and worked in the mines. He
returned to Minnesota in eight years and located

in this township, in section twenty-four. He was

married in Northfleld in 1870, to Miss Carrie

Sable, a native of Norway, who has born him five

children, one of whom, Lewis Henry, died in 1882,

aged three years.

H. B. PoB was born iu Kentucky in 1832, and

remained in his native State until 1844, when he

removed with his parents to Indiana. In 1855,

Mr. Poe removed to Bridgewater, and located on

section thirty where he has a farm containing

eighty acres of improved land. He served one

year during the war. He has been a member of

the school board several terms and is always an

active worker in the advancement of education.

He was married two years after coming to this

place to Miss Eliza McHee. The result of the

union is six children.

JuLitJS Ebvibk was born in New York in 1840,

where he attended school and became skilled in

agricultural pursuits. He was united in marriage

with Miss Ann Perry, a native of Canada, and in

1865, he came to Minnesota, remaining but six

months. In two years they removed to Minnesota

and located on a farm in Bridgewater. He has

eight brothers all living in this State. Mr. and

Mrs. Eevier have had twelve children, nine of

whom are living. He is a member of the board

of Supervisors.

J. W. Boss was born in Sussex county. New
Jersey, in 1836, and at the age of six years re-

moved with his parents to Luzerne county, Penn-

sylvania, where he was educated and reared as a

farmer. In 1856, he came to Minnesota and

worked as a carpenter in this county for six years,

then engaged in farming in Northfield township.

In 1862, Miss Frances E. Durland became his wife,

and they removed to Bridgewater in 1873,' locat-

ing on section twenty-six. They have a family of

nine children. Mr. Boss has been Assessor one

year and a member of the board of Supervisors

five years.

Chablbs Btjnnbls was born in Vermont in 1846,

and moved with his parents to Ohio in 1850, re-

mained there five years then came to Iowa where

he learned the cooper's trade. In 1867, he came

to Minnesota, located in Winona; but removed to

Bridgewater in 1873, where he has since worked

at his trade. He was married in 1874, to Miss

Sarah J. McMurtin, a native of Pennsylvania, who

has borne him three children. Mr. Eunnels has

been Marshal of Dundas one year and is at present

Chairman of the Village Council.

John J. ScHuiiTZ is a native of Germany born

in 1848. His native country claimed him as a

resident until 1864, when he came to America and

located in Minnesota. He was married in Eoches-

ter in 1872, and the issue of the union is five

children, four of whom are living. In 1880, Mr.

Schultz came to Dundas and has since been head

engineer in Archibald's mill.

M. H. SouTHWOKTH was born in Eaymondville,

St. Lawrence county. New York, in 1850, and in

1862, removed with his parents to Wisconsin where

he was reared as a farmer. In 1866, he came to

Dundas and engaged at work in the Archibald

mill where he still is employed.

Fked Shandokb was born in France in 1842,

and removed with his parents to America when

two years old. They located in New York, where

he received his education and was raised on a

farm. He was married in 1868, to Miss Susan

Deshan, also a native of France. The same year

they came to Dundas, where Mr. Shandorf was
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engaged in farming until 1875, then engaged as

a butcher, and in 1879, commenced to deal in gen-

eral merchandise, which business he still follows.

He occupies a, double brick store, and is building

a large frame warehouse. He has been Council-

man three terms. They were blessed with five

children, only one of whom is living; three died

of diphtheria inside of three weeks, and the other

of the same disease.

Edwakd Stbangb was born near Danville, Hen-

dricks county, Indiana, on the 4th of January,

1842. In October, 1855, his parents came to

Goodhue county, Minnesota, where Edward at-

tended school and learned the wagon maker trade of

his father, with whom he was afterward in part-

nership for two years in Cannon Falls. In 1866,

the family moved to MiUersburg, where the father

and his son James engaged in business, Ed. work-

ing at the carpenter trade most of the time. He
was married in November, 1867, and moved to

Dandas the following year. He immediately

opened a wagon shop, the first of the kind in the

place, and continued in the business until 1881,

when he was elected village Justice.

0. 0. Stetson was Tjom in Maine^in 1823,

where he remained until twenty-one years old,

finished his education and learned the blacksmith

and machinist trade. He went to Massachusetts

and worked at his trade one year, then

to Providence, Ehode Island, where he re-

mained two years, thence to New Orleans, and

six months later to Texas. In the spring of 1850

Mr. Stetson went to California, remained there

three years engaged in mining and at his trade,

then returned to Maine, and in 1854, came to

Bridgewater. Three years after coming here he

married Miss Amelia Howe, a native of Ohio. Of

five children born of this union four are living, one

dying in infancy. Mr. Stetson was the first Town
Clerk in this place and has since held many other

local offices. They are members of the Congre-

gational church.

William Tew was born in New York in 1841,

and removed with his parents to Wisconsin two

years later. In the latter State he was educated

and reared as a farmer. In 1864, he was married,

an-d the result of the union is two children. Three

years after they came to Minnesota and pre-

empted a claim in Bridgewater in section nine,

where he still resides. He has been a member of

the board of Supervisors three terms. Mrs. Tew
died in 1881, at the age of thirty-five years.

H. P. Thielbar, a native of Germany, was born

in 1834, reared to farming pursuits, and received his

education in his native cottntry. In 1853, he emi-

grated to America, located in New York City,

where he engaged in the grocery business until

1857, then came to this county, where he carried

on a farm. He was married at Dundas in 1861,

to Miss Loesia Buckoern, also a native of Ger-

many. In 1863, he enlisted in the army, served

one year, then returned to his farm and in 1867,

came to Dundas, where he engaged in clerking.

In 1872, he commenced business for himself, and

has since carried a stock of general merchandise.

He has been Councilman one term and a member
of the school board several terms. Mr. and Mrs.

Thielbar have had eleven children, all of whom
are living at home.

A. WooiiEET was bom in Canada in 1844, came

to the United States with his parents and located

in Minnesota. In 1866, Mr. Woolery came to

Dundas and engaged in the Archibald Mill, where

he is now foreman. He was married since coming

to this place.
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WHEELING

CHAPTER LV.

GBNEBAIj DBSOBIPTION— BAEIiY SETTLEMENT

EVENTS OF INTEKEST MANTJEAOTUEING MEBCAN-

TILE INSURANCE COMPANY EEIjIGIOUS EDU-

CATIONAL BIOGBAPHIOAL.

The subdivison of Rice county bearing this, re-

volving appellation is in the eastern tier of towns.

It is composed, as originally surveyed, of thirty-six

sections or square miles, in all 23,040 acres. The

contiguous surroundings are Northfield on the

north, Richland on the south. Cannon City town-

ship on the west, and Goodhue county on the east.

Wheeling maybe called one of the prairie towns

of the county, as almost all of the area is made

up of prairie land. The southern portion is quite

level, but as you approach the north the surface is

more rolling, and the northwest comer, hiUy. The

soil is variable, the southern part being a rich

dark loam, while in the north, where the prairie is

more rolling, the soil is of a lighter color, in some

places having a clay mixture, and in others it is

of a sandy character. The town is well suited for

all kinds of agricultural pursuits, and also makes

excellent grazing land, as the fine natural meadows

are covered with all species of indigenous grasses.

There are no large streams and but few small

ones in the town. Prairie Creek touches the north-

west quarter section as it passes on its way from

Cannon City township to Northfield. A branch of

Prairie Creek starts from a spring on Henry C.

Kolling's land, on section twenty-one, passing

north to section sixtefen, then northwest to section

seventeen, thence north to section eight where it

takes an easterly course across section nine to sec-

tion ten; from there it runs in a northerly course

through section three to the town of Northfield,

where it joins Prairie Creek. This stream passes

thrugh quite a deep ravine, and on the way is

joined by several small rivulets. The head waters

of this stream never fail, but in some places the

bed is dry at times, and it is probable that there is

a subterranean passage through which it passes

in dry seasons. A stream called Little Cannon

rises on section thirteen, and passes in an easterly

direction to Goodhue county where it soon be-

comes quite a river and empties into Cannon River

near the falls.

There are two limestone quarries in the town,

from which considerable stone has been taken for

building purposes. There are two churches and a

number of private houses that have been built

from this stone. One of these quarries, located on

section three, is owned by S. Aslakson.

The town contains about two thousand acres of

timber land, the most of which is on sections six-

teen, nine, and ten, and the northeast quarter of

section six. When it was first settled the timbej-

was quite heavy, but the greater portion of the

original stock has been cut, and a flourishing young

growth taken its place.

BAKLT SETTLEMENT.

The actual settlement of this town commenced

in June, 1854, when a party of Germans, who had

stopped for a short time in Hlinois, made their ap-

pearance, having come with ox teams and

been four weeks on the road. The party consisted

of Henry Bultmann and family, Jacob Blank and

family, Louis Helberg, Priederich Hogrefe, and

John George Veeh. They arrived on the 15th of

June, 1854.

Jacob Blank,was the first to make a claim, and

drove his stakes in sections fifteen and twenty-

two, immediately commencing improvements. He
had brought with him a pair of steers and two

cows that he used in the yoke, and he at once put

up a little hay shanty to live in; in this same little

hay hut the first child born in the township first

saw the light. In the fall Blank built a log house

into which he moved that winter. As he could not

buy any lumber be had to manufacture it him-
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self. With his axe he split shakes from Oak with

which to cover the roof, and for flooring he split

the boards from bass wood, making them about

two inches thick. He cut small trees in the woods

which he converted into laths, naiUng them inside

and then plastering with clay. He lived in this

house until 1864, when he built another log house.

Mr. Blank improved his farm and lived there until

October, 1878, when he sold out and retired to

Taribault, where he is now enjoying the fruits of

his labor.

Mr. Veeh made the second claim on section

twenty-one. He was a widower with no family,

and improved a small part of the laud. In about

three years he sold and made his home with his

son-in-law, Jacob Blank, until his death which oc-

curred on the 22d of February, 1873.

Louis Helberg was the third to select a home,

which he did on section twenty-one. He was a

single man but soon found a partner. They were

the first couple married in the town. He improved

the land and built a good set of buildings and

made his home there until the time of his death

which occurred in August, 1879. His family now

occupy the homestead.

Henry Bultmann was the fourth man to make a

claim which he did on section seventeen. He also

built a hay shanty in which he lived a short time,

then built a log house, using fence rails for the

floor. He lived in that but a few years then built

a frame house in which he now lives.

Mr. Hogrefe made the fifth claim, on sections

seventeen and eight. He was a single man but

married soon after coming here. He carried on

his farm a few years then engaged in the ministry,

and is now a Methodist preacher at Bochester,

Olmsted county, Minnesota.

In August these colonists were joined by an-

other of their countrymen, named Henry C. Kol-

hng, who also came from Illinois where he had

been living a few years. He selected laod on sec-

tion twenty-one, then went back to Illinois and re-

turned with his family, living the first winter in

his brother-in-law's log house, Louis Helberg. In

the spring of 1855, he built a log house, sawing

the lumber with a whip-saw, and lived in that a

few years; then built the neat frame house in

which he now lives surrounded by the comforts of

a pleasant home.

Henry Grote, another German, came from Illi-

nois about the same time and settled on section

seventeen where he now lives.

About this time the settlement of this town be-

gan in earnest, and a number of Scandinavian

families came from Wisconsin where they had

made a temporary stop when first coming from

Norway. Those who remained here were Truls

Earlandson, John Olson, Andrew Olson, Seaver

Halgrimson, and Elef Trulson. They performed

the tedious journey with ox teams, bringing their

families. They at once improvised log residences

with bark roofs, and split bass wood logs for

floors.

Earlandson took a claim in section six where he

yet lives.

Trulson made a claim on section three where he

opened a blacksmith shop ; he remained there until

1872, when he sold out and moved to Kandiyohi

county where he may still be found.

John Olson planted himself in section six where

he still is.

Andrew Olson claimed a place in section five.

In 1879, he went to Dakota.

Hans Anderson came from Wisconsin where he

had been sojourning, and settled in section seven.

His wife was burned to death by a kerosene acci-

dent. He afterwards married Elling Johnson's

widow, and now lives in Grant county.

Seaver Halgrimson, another of the party of

Norwegians, arrived in July of the same year, and

after drifting about a short time anchored on sec-

tion five, where he remained steadfast until the gale

of death unmoored and carried him off in 1870.

His widow married again and stiU lives on the

original homestead.

Elling Johnson, of Norway nativity, carae from

Iowa and stationed himself on section eight, where

he stood guard until that insatiable enemy of im-

mortality removed him some seven years ago.

In 1855, the arrivals were quite numerous, and

most of them will be mentioned.

Ever Bonde, of Norway, came here from Iowa,

where he had been for a year, and settled on sec-

tion eleven, where he spent the remainder of his

days.

Ole Sherven, who first settled in Wisconsin,

came to this place from Iowa, where he had lived

five years, and secured a place in section eighteen,

where he is yet.

Adam Knopf, P. Wolf, and Christian Erb,

natives of Germany, came here from Cook county,

Illinois.

Wolf took his claim in section fourteen. He
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was killed by an accident in the timber on the 21st

of February, 1857.

Erb took his farm in section twenty-three. He
improved the land and built a house. In 1870,

he sold out, and now lives in Cannon City.

Knopf surrounded a claim in section twenty-

two and another in section twenty-three, which he

improved, and where he still lives.

Truls Halgrimson came during this year and set-

tled in section three.

Ole Olson Brodeu was another of the "fifty-

fivers."

Another settler about this time was Augustus

Meyer with his family,who had been here but about

two weeks, when one Sunday morning he shaved

himself, lighted his pipe, and proposed to go to

the timber to look out a road on which he could

haul some wood to the prairie, but he never re-

turned. Several days were spent by the whole

settlement in hunting for him without avail, and

it was not until eighteen months afterward that

his bones were found bleaching near his shoes,

pipe, and other articles, on section sixteen, on the

land now owned by Henry Bultmann. The man-

ner of his death is a profound mystery. His

children still live in the county.

Ole Benson made a claim in section ten, where

he is still at work.

Jacob J. Bosshart came here from Iowa,

and his lot fell in section twenty-seven.

John Hanson found a place that suited him in

section four, where he died in a few years, but his

widow yet occupies the homestead.

Watts A. Pye, an Englishman, came from Illi-

nois and took a place in se .jn eighteen, where

he still remains.

Hugh McDurland, a native of Pennsylvania,

came from there and halted and went to work

in section thirty, and he is still bustling around

there.

The accessions to the town settlement in 1856

were valuable, and will be mentioned as far as re-

membered.

Ole Pingalson at first alighted in section two, to

which he devoted himself up to 1878, when he

sold his place and moved to Becker county.

Truls Pingalson was stationed for some years in

section two.

Erick Eriokson Eood was another comer this

year. His place was in sections five and six. He
removed to Kandiyohi county in 1866.

Syver Aslaokson came up from Houston county,

where he first lived a while after crossing the Mis-

sissippi; his place was in section ten, and there he

still remains.

Hans O. Stenbakken, a native of Norway, settled

in section twelve, where he still has a home.

Mark Bosshart, of Switzerland, cultivated a

farm in section twenty-two, but in 1872 he was

called hence.

William Prederick came from Illinois and drifted

into section twenty-eight, where he is still an-

chored.

William Grote took a claim on sections twenty-

six and twenty-seven. A house was put up and

he lived there to the time of his death in 1871, his

widow lives in a house he was building when over-

taken by the "grim messenger."

Prederick Knaus built his castle in section

twenty-three, which he still holds.

Osmund Osmundson came here from California,

and at first built a" timber residence in section

fourteen, but he now has a brick house in section

eleven.

John Thompson came here from Eock county,

Wisconsin, and transplanted himself in section two

where he is still thriving.

In 1857, William Boltman, from Germany, came

and found an unoccupied spot in section twenty-

five which he has since cultivated.

Christian Deike, also a German, arrived in 1859,

and his place is in sectipn thirty-two. He is a

prominent citizen of the county.

EVENTS OS INTBEBST.

The first birth in the township occurred on tho

2d of October, 1854, in a little hay shanty put up

for temporary shelter by the father. The parents

were Jacob and Elizabeth Blank, the child being

ch"- 'ened Caroline. She now lives with her

;> riuts in Faribault.

x\.nother early birth was the bringing into exist-

ence of Halgrim son of Seaver and Christine Hal-

grimson, on the 20th of January, 1855.

In the fall of this year, Julia, daughter of Truls

and Annie Earlandson, was born, and now lives in

Minneapolis.

The first marriage in the township, that there is

any record of, took place on the 5th of November,

1855, the high contracting parties being Louis

Helberg and Wilhelmina Meyer. The groom died

in 1879.

The next marriage was Friedrick Hogrefe to
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Miss Dorothy Fischer, in December, 1855. They

are now living in Eochester, where Mr. Hogrefo is

a Methodist minister.

Jacob Johnson and Cecelia Evanson were made

one by mutual consent in the spring of 1856.

They are now living on section four in Wheeling,

and have been blessed with six children.

The first town meeting was in a schoolhouse in

district No. 27, on the 11th of May, 1858. The

oiHcers elected were : Supervisors, Watts A. Pye,

Chairman, Christian Erb, and Lewis Everson;

Clerk, Augustias Sickler; Assessor, Ole Sherven;

Collector, Lewis Helberg; Justices of the Peace,

Joseph Covert and Henry 0. Kolling; Overseer of

the Poor, John Brown; Constables, George Fogg
and Jacob J. Bosshart. The town government

thus started has wended the even tenor of its way
ever siroe.

The Town Hall was built in 1870. It is a frame

building costing i^600. Its location is on the

northeast quarter of section twenty-one. Before

its completion meetings were held in private houses

and in shoolhouses.

At the spring election in 1882, the following

officers were elected: Supervisors, Christian Deike,

Chairman, William L. T. Meyer, and O. H. Steu-

bakken; Clerk, H. C. Kolling; Assessor, Henry

Bultmann; Treasurer, Christian Deike; Justices of

the Peace, Michael Knopf and Tosten E. Bonde;

Constable, George Knopf.

The town paid in bounties $7,200, and sent

thirty-two men into the aripy.

SYEUP MANUFACTORY.

The firm of Both & Lips erected and commenced

operating a syrup mill iu 1880, on Eoth's place,

on section twenty-two, and during the first year

manufactured 966 gallons of syrup. In 1881, the

mill changed hands and became the property of

the Lips Brothers, who at once moved it to their

farm on section fifteen where it is still located. In

the fall of 1881, this company manufactured 1,300

gallons of syrup.

Knopf's mill.

In 1879, Michael Knopf started a like mill at his

place on section twenty-three, and this is the

largest mill in the township, having manufactured

in 1881, 2,400 gallons of syrup.

STOBBS IN WHEELING.

In 1877, Osmund Osmundson put up a store

building on section fourteen, which he rented to

Evans Brothers, who at once placed a stock of

goods on the shelves and commenced doing busi-

ness; they, however, only remained four months

when they removed to Owatonna. It was after-

wards rented to various parties who continued the

business until it finally became the property of the

present proprietors, Osmund Osmundson and Mr.

Hegnes. A large stock of general merchandise is

kept, and the store is of great convenience to the

suri'oucding neighborhood, as they keep good

articles and sell at reasonable prices.

Another store was erected in 1880, on the north-

east quarter of section twenty-three, by Henry

Knopf. It was well stocked, and opened on the

7th of July the same year, being still run by the

original proprietor.

BLACKSMITHING.

The first blacksmith shop in the town was in

1854, on the northeastern part of section three, by

Elet Trulson, who also carried on a farm in con-

nection with his shop until 1872, when he sold out

and moved to Kandiyohi county.

The town was then without a blacksmith until

1880, when George Knopf erected a shop in sec-

tion thirteen and hired a man to run it, but in

1881, sold to William Friday, who is conducting

it at the present time.

WHEELING MUTUAL I'lEB INSUKANCE COMPANY.

This is a local institution, the membership being

made up of farmers, that was organized on the

13th of May, 1876, by the prominent men of the

town. The following were the initial officers of

the company: Trustees, Christian Deike, H. H.

Kvi, M. Knopf, T. E. Bonde, John J. Hamra, G.

W. Grote, and Henry Bultmann; President, Chris-

tian Deike; Treasurer, Michael Knopf; Secretary,

T. E. Bonde. The amount of capital subscribed

was $32,400. The rate of premium was fixed at

three mills on a dollar, this, however, was raised in

1881 to five mills. No losses have yet been met,

and the funds are drawing interest at six per cent.

Only farmers' risks are taken, and the territory

embraced includes Wheeling, Northfield, Eich-

land. Cannon City, and Holden, in Goodhue
county. The secretary reports, in 1882, that there

are sixty-five policies in force, insuring $112,592.

The officers receive .$1.50 per day for actual work.

The experiment thus far has been a great suc-

cess.
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POST- OFFICES.

Wheeling P. O.—This office was establishad

in 1860, or '61, and named Wheeling in honor of

the town. E«v. Sebastian Weiss was first ap-

pointed Postmaster, and kept the office at the par-

sonage. Jacob J. Bosshart was the mail carrier,

coming once a week from Faribault, and he suc-

ceeded the former Postmaster. John B. Berges

is the present mail distributor/ with office at the

parsonage. Mail arrives three times a week, from

Faribault.

Nestrand p. O.—Was established in 1878, and

Augen S. Brokke appointed Postmaster, the office

being kept at the store on section fourteen. The

office was named by Osmund Osmundson, in

honor of his Post-office in Norway. Henry N.

Hegnes is the present Postmaster, the office being

kept at the same place. Mail arrives three times

per week from Faribault.

KBIilGIOUS.

Below we give a short sketch of the various

church organizations in Wheeling township, and

as nothing can be said in preface to them in re-

gard to their condition and growth that would not

be a duplicate of what should be said of all the

religious departments of the various subdivisions

of Kice county, it is best it should remain unsaid

here and the reader allowed to judge for himself

Lutheran Evangelical Denomination.—The

first services by the followers of this faith were

held at the residence of John Oleson, on section

six, the minister being Bev. Nils Brandt, and he,

also lield services in various places throughout the

town. In 1856, a society was organized just over

the line in Goodhue county, and the members in

Wheeling attended there. On one occasion, on

June 18th, 1858, a meetirig was held by the above

mentioned Reverend in Captain John Hanson's

grove, on the southwest quarter of section eight,

and thirty-three children were baptized. In 1866,

the society erected a neat and commodious stone

building on section three, in Wheeling. Eev. B.

J. Muus was the first minister, and Eev. N. A.

Quammen the present pastor.

German Methodist Church.—The first meet-

ings by this denomination were held in Jacob

Blank's house on section twenty-two, Eev. Mr.

Zollman being the first preacher. They organized

in 1856, with F. Grochteumire as preacher; he also

organized a Sabbath school at Jacob Blank's house.

where it was held through the year 1856, and Mr.

Grochtenmire preached one year. In 1857, he was

succeeded by G. Siebrasse, and Eev. William

Pagenhart is the present pastor. They held meet-

ings in private houses until 1862, when they built

their church on the northeast quarter of section

twenty-five. The congregation is made up partly

from Goodhue county. There are about fifty

members and quite a large congregation.

German United Ohuboh.—This was organized

in 1856, as a part of the Northwestern Conference,

and in the spring of 1857, they erected a small

log church on the northeastern part of section

twenty-eight. At the conference held that fall,

Eev. August Bremer was appointed as pastor. He
retained the charge for about two years, and then

for a like period they were without a ministerial

agent. At this time Eev. Sebastian Weiss took

the charge and remained about six years when he

was succeeded by Eev. Samuel Lang, who held

until the present pastor, Eev. John D. Berges, took

the pulpit. When first organized there were about

eighteen members, which has increased to sixty-

five. In the fall of 1869, the log church was

burned, and in 1870, a stone edifice was erected on

the old site, at a cost of about $5,000.

Salem Church.—This congregation belongs to

the Evangelical Association of North America.

The first services by this society were held in Paul

Wolf's house on section fourteen, in 1856, with

Eev. Andreas Turnutzer as the officiating minister.

The preacher came from St. Paul on horseback.

The society continued to hold meetings in private

houses until 1861, when they erected their neat

and substantial edifice on section twenty-four.

Eev. Mr. Hammetter, was the first preacher to ex-

pound the sacred word in the church. There are

now ninety members, many being from the ad-

joining county of Goodhue, and Eev. Julius J.

Manthay is the present pastor.

EDUCATIONAL.

District No. 61.—This district was organized

in 1860, and a schoolhouse put up the same year

on section fourteen. This was a frame build-

ing and served a good purpose until 1876, when a

brick building was constructed on the old site.

District No. 72.—An organization was effected

in 1867, and a schotlhouse erected on section

thirty-one. This is a union district extending into

Eichland.

District No. 43.—In 1859, this district was
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organized, and the first schoolhouse built of logs

on section eleven. This house was used until 1871,

when the present house was built at a cost of $800.

It is a nice frame house, located where the old

one stood. Miss Fannie, Thorpe and Halver Kvi

were teachers at an early day.

District No. 27.—In 1857, this district came to

existence, the first meeting being at the house of

George Fisher. In the spring of that year a house

was built on section seventeen, and in the fall of

1867, a new house was built on the same spot; E.

S. Senions was the first teacher in the new house.

DisTBicT No. 41. —At an early day this house

was built in the newly organized district, and was

placed on section four where it still stands but ere

long must be replaced by a new one.

DisTKioT No. 5.—In 1861, this was called into

being as a separate district and the same year a

tidy little frame building was constructed on sec-

tion twenty-six. The school here is usually in the

winter, as the residents being Germans send their

children for six months each year to a denomina-

tional school.

BIOGBAPHICAIj.

Heney Achtebkibch, a native of Germany, was

born on the 19th of November, 1837, attended

school in his native counTiry until sixteen, years of

age, then emigrated to America, remained three

months in New York and came to Oook county,

Illinois, where he had an aunt. In 1857, after

farming in the latter county, he went to the

southern part of the State and on to Tennessee

where he visited his uncle, then went to Missouri

in search of land, but soon returned to Illinois.

In 1860, he came to Minnesota and secured a farm

in Wheeling township on section twenty-one, but

engaged in farming for Henry Grote to obtain

money to improve his own land. On the 16th of

August, 1862, he enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company B.; was with Sul-

ly's expedition up the Yellowstone, then ordered

south in 1864, and participated in. the battle of

Murfreesborough; was ordered to Washington and

thence to Goldsboro, where they met Sherman,

going by way of Fort Fisher and Moorhead City.

He was honorably discharged on the 11th of July,

1865, and returned to his farm. On the 6th of

May, 1866, Miss Louise Lindermaun became his

wife. The union has been blessed with seven

children; Charles W., Minnie, Emma, Eddie, who

died in 1876, three years of age; Benedict, who
died in infancy; August, and Annie.

SyvEE AsLAKSON, One of the pioneers of Min-

nesota, was born in Norway in March, 1830, where

he attended school and worked on a farm. In

1850, he married Miss Margaret Olson, and the

same year emigrated to America, landed at New
York, and went to Book county, Wisconsin, by the

way of Albany, Buffalo, and the great lakes. In

1853, he came to Minnesota, settled in Houston

county and staked a claim, and three years later

sold out and came to Eice county, taking a claim

in Wheeling, section ten. He has a good house

and numerous outbuildings. He is the father of

seven children; Aslak, Ole, Kirstina, Lewis,

Thomas, Sever, and John. Aslak was married to

Miss IngeborN. O. Stoandemo in 1877,and moved
to Stearns county in the spring of the following

year, engaged in farming. Kirstina was married

to Mr. J. J. Johnson in the spring of 1880; they

own a farm in this township in section four,

Kbv. John D. Bekgbs was born in Prussia on

the 28th of January, 1838, and reared on a farm.

In 1854, he came to America, landed at New
Orleans and went directly to Missouri, where he

was engaged in farming two years, then came to

Iowa and made his home in Burlington until 1860,

He then returned to Missouri and entered the

Theological Seminary, studied there six years,

when he was ordained as a minsster at Evansville,

Indiana. He was immediately sent to Ohio, where

he had charge of two societies, one in Stark and

one in Tuscarawas county. In two years he re-

moved to Washington county, Wisconsin, and three

years later to Primrose, Lee county, Iowa, where

he remained four years, then came to Wheehng,

where he now resides, having charge of the Ger-

man United Evangelical church and the school

connected with it. He married in 1867, Miss Eliae

Moery, who bore him one child, Lydia, and died

in 1868. The next year Elizabeth Guth became

his wife. She bore him one child, Herman
Lorenzo, who died on the 14th of September, 1870.

seven months old, and the mother died the

same day, aged nineteen years. In 1871, he mar-

ried Miss Wilhelmina Guth, who has borne him

five children; Elizabeth, Lorenz, John, Edward,

and Annie.

Mabk Bos.shabt, deceased, one of the pioneers

of Kice county, was born in Switzerland in 1807.

He was married in 1832, to Miss Begula Ludwig.
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He engaged in working in a machine shop until

1857, when he purchased a farm. He emigrated

to America in 1856, landed at New York, came di-

rectly to this county and took land in Wheeling

on section twenty-two, and lived there until 1868,

then resided with his son until his death. He was

the father of two children; Elizabeth, born in

] 833, who married Henry Lips and died in 1871

;

and Jacob. The father died in 1872, and the

mother in 1875.

Jacob J. Bosshakt, son of Mark Bosshart, was

also born in Switzerland in 1835, and reared on a

farm. In 1853, he came to America, landed at

New York, then went to Philadelphia, remaining

four weeks, then to Du Page county, Illinois, and

two months and a half later to Galena, where he

engaged as fireman of a steamer on the Missis-

sippi River. In the fall of 1853, he went to work

in the pineries in Wisconsin, and in the spring

came to Burlington, Iowa, with a raft, and soon

after removed to Highland, Madison county, Illi-

nois, then to Cairo and thence to St. Louis, where

he remained about eight weeks. He then went up

the Missouri to St. Jo, Kansas Oity, and Port

Atkinson, Iowa. Early in the spring of 1855, he

set out on foot and came to about eighty miles

west of Mankato, then returned to Iowa, passing

Eice county in June. In July of the same year

he came again to this county and staked a claim

in Wheeling on section twenty-seven, where he

still resides. The next year he went to New
York to meet his parents, who returned with him.

In 1860, he married Miss Sophia Helberg, and

they have eight children; Anna, Herman, Mary,

Sophia, William, Henry, Frank, and John. He
first built a log house, which was burned in 1857

by a prairie fire, then erected another log struc-

ture, and in 1867 their present frame house. In

1875, he built a barn, 40x60 feet, with a stone

basemerit.

EvEB H. BoNDB, deceased, was born in Nor-

way, in December, 1800, and reared on a farm.

He was united in marriage in 1835, with Miss

Berret Bonde. They were blessed with five chil-

dren, two of whom are living ; Tosten and Halver.

In 1849, Mr. Bonde emigrated to America, landed

at Quebec and came directly to Wisconsin, settling

in Port Washington, where he remained until the

spring of 1854, then to Winnesheik county, Iowa,

and from there to Eice county, where he took land.

He improved the land and built a log house in

which he lived until his death, which occurred in

1875. His wife died two years later, seventy-

five years of age. Their oldest son, Tosten, was

born in Norway, on the 12th of January, 1843,

came to America with his parents and made his

home with them. He was married in April, 1867,

to Miss Ingebor Oleson. They have been blessed

with seven children; Edward, who died the 5th of

April, 1882, fourteen years and three months old;

Thomas, who died in 1870, two years old;

Thomas, Barnard, Oscar, who died on the 28th of

March, 1882, five years of age; Annie, and Albert,

who died on the 5th of April, 1882, one year

old. Mr. Bonde now occupies the old homestead.

In 1870, he built a bam 35x57 feet, and in 1875,

he erected the stone house in which they now live.

He has been elected to offices of trust in the town,

and is Justice of the Peace at present. His

brother, Halver, lives in Swift county.

Oheistian Dbike was bom in Germany on the

13th of December, 1834. He attended school and

worked on a farm and when twenty years old en-

listed in the German army and served three years.

In 1858, he emigrated to America, landed in New
York on the 29th of May and came directly to

Cook county, Illinois, where he engaged in farm-

ing. In the fall of 1859, he came to Minnesota,

bought land in Wheeling, section thirty-two, and

has since improved it. He married in 1864, Miss

Priederike Grote. In 1863, he buUt a frame house,

and in 1876 built the brick residence in which he

now lives. In 1875, he erected a barn 40x60 feet

with a stone basement. Mr. Deike has been Town
Treasurer, is Chairman of the board of Super-

visors and is serving his second term as County
Commissioner. He is Director and President of

the Wheeling Mutual Fire Insurance Company
and Treasurer and Secretary of the German church.

WiLHBLM Feibdbich was born in Germany on

the 21st of June, 1821, and commenced to learn

the carpenter trade when sixteen years old. On
the 19th of January, 1849, he married Miss

Augusta Grose. In 1854, they emigrated to

America landed at Quebec, came directly to Chi-

cago, and in four weeks went west thirty miles,

where he engaged at his trade until 1856, then

came to this county and took land in Wheeling,

section twenty-eight, where they still reside. He
first built a small frame house and in 1875 built

their present larger one. Mr. and Mrs. Friedrich

have had ten children; Pauline, Emil, Augusta,
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August, Minnie, Bertha, Louise, Emily, William,

and Gustave.

Hbnbt Gbote, Sr., was born in Germany on the

22dof June, 1812, attended school and worked on

a farm. He was united in marriage on the 26th

of September, 1847, with Miss Fredrica Abolman,

and three years later they emigrated to America,

landed at New York and came directly to Illinois

where he had a brother. He made his home there

until the fall of 1854, then came to Minnesota

and located a claim in Wheeling, section seventeen.

He spent the winter with Henry Bultman and in

the spring buUt a log house in which they lived

until 1870, when he erected his present brick house.

His wife died on the 3d of June, 1880, leaving

three children; Henry W., Mary, and Caroline.

Their only son, Henry W., was born in Cook

,
county, Illinois, on the 27th of January, 1851.

He has attended both German and English schools

and was confirmed on the 23d of April, 1865. On

the 13th of April, 1874, Miss Augusta Budde be-

came his wife. They had one child, T. C. H. Wil-

liam. Mrs. Grote died on the 28th of February,

1875. In 1876, he married Miss Mary E. T.

Rieman, and they have had five children four of

whom are living; Minnie, Henry, Annie, and

Louise. He now owns his father's farm and the

latter still lives with his son.

August Hansing, son of Ludwig Hansing, was

born in Illinois, on the 8th of February, 1855.

When three years of age he removed with his

parents to Minnesota where he has been reared to

agricultural pursuits, meanwhile attending both

German and English schools. His father died in

1876, leaving August the farm. In 1879, he mar-

ried Lizzie Barnstadt, and in 1880, built his present

frame house.

Henky N. Hegnbs was born in Norway on tlie

- 4th of July, 1857, and when sixteen years of age

commenced to learn the blacksmith trade, at which

he worked two years, then came to America. He
landed at Quebec, went to Goodhue county and

engaged in blacksmithing three years, then clerked

for a time and afterward purchased a half interest

in a store with A. H. Brokke in Wheeling. The

latter sold to Osmund Osmundson and they still

continue in the business, carrying a large stock of

general merchandise. Mr. Hegnes is Postmaster

of Nerstand Post-office. He married in 1878,

Miss Eliza Eothi, who has borne him three chil-

dren; Nils, Helmar, and Oscar.

Lewis Hbdbeeg, deceased, one of the pioneers

of Eice county, was born in Germany on the 11th

of February, 1829, and reared on a farm. In

1847, he came with his parents to America, landed

at Quebec and came directly to Chicago, working

on a farm in that vicinity uniil 1852, when he en-

gaged in draying two years, then came to Minne-

sota. He went to Mankato and St. Peter, made a

claim in that locality, and returned to Chicago for

a team and two cows ; then, in company with four

others, came again ^ to Minnesota. On reach-

ing Wheeling, in this oountj, they were unable to

drive further, the musquitoes were so numerous,

and consequently settled here. Mr. Helberg was

married in 1855, to Miss Wilhelmina Myer, the

ceremony being the first performed in the town-

ship. The union was blessed with eight children

;

Caroline, Sophia, Bertha, John, William, Emma,
Anna,and Ernestine. He staked out a claim in sec-

tion twenty-one and erected the first house in the

place, and in 1863, built a frame residence in

which he lived until his death in August, 1879.

Mr. Helberg was an honest and upright citizen,

and held a number of town offices, being the first

tax collector.

Fkiedeich Heleebg, a native of Germany,

was bom on the 5th of February, 1824, and in

1846, emigrated to America. He landed in New
York and went to Chicago, where he worked on a

farm. In 1853, he married Miss Caroline Meese,

and two years later they came to Minnesota and

settled in Wheeling, taking a claim in section

nine, and then bought land in section twenty-

eight, built a log house in which he lived five

years, then built a frame houise, and in 1877,

erected their present brick dwelling. Mr. and

Mrs. Helberg were blessed with eleven children,

but three of whom are living; Herman, Sophia, and

Mary. Louise died on the 5th of January, 1861,

two years old; Franz F. on the 13th of August,

1862, two years old; Henry, on the 80th of No-

vember, 1864, aged eight years; Frederick F., on

the 14th of December, 1864, at the age of nine

years and ten months; Charles, on the 24th of De-

cember, 1864, foTir years old; Caroline, on the 7th

of January,1865,when twelve years old ; Ludwig,on

the 2l8t of May, 186S, at the age of two years,

and Wilhelmina, on the 19th ot August, 1870, at

the age of eleven months.

Henky C. Kollino, one of the pioneers of

Eice county, was bom in Germany on the 14th of
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Ajiril, 1821, aud attended school in liis native

country. In 1845, be emigrated to America,

came to Illinois and made his home in Oook

ooanty until the fall of 1854, then oame to this

county and staked out a claim in section twenty-

one.Wheeling township. In 1855,heputin his first

crop, a few acres of oats and corn, and the next

year put in ten acre.3 of wheat. He threshed it

by hand and carried it to market in Hastings, a

distance of forty miles. In 1855, he built ^a log

house 16x22, and ten years later built their pres-

ent frame house. In 1869, he erected a barn

40x58, with an addition 30x30. Mr. Kblling has

been repeatedly elected to local offices, and is the

present Town Olerk.

John A. Mathbk, deceased, was born in Frank-

lin county, Massachusetts, in July, 1822, reared

on a farm and learned the carpenter's trade. He
was married in 1847, to Miss Mary E. Bedient, a

native of New York. In 1848, he came to Wis-

consin and took a timber claim in Waushara

county; soon sold that, however, and purchased on

Burr Oak Prairie, where he lived until 1857, then

removed to Minnesota and settled in Richland,

Eice county, taking land on section twenty-six.

He improved the land, built a log house and lived

there until 1865, when he sold, and bought a farm

on section twenty-seven, in this township. They

lived in a log house till 1871, when Mr. Mather

erected a frame house which sheltered him until

his death on the 7th of March, 1875. He had a

family of five children, three of whom are living.

He was one of the first Board of Supervisors.

His widow now resides with her son, John H.

The eldest son, James S., was born in Wisconsin,

on the 8th of January, 1852, and oame to Minne-

sota with his parents. In 1872, he bought a

farm in section twenty-two. The following year.

Miss Emma Fanning became bis wife, and has

borne him three children. In 1875, he lost his

house by fire, and immediately built their pres-

ent residence. He is engaged in stock raising

and dairying. Mr. Mather has been elected to

a number of local offices, and is the present town

Treasurer.

Eknst Mbbsb, a native of Illinois, was born in

Cook county, on the 4th of February, 1846, and

received his education in the district school. In

1865, he oame to Minnesota, lived two years on a

farm of his brother's, then located on his present

place. On the 17th of May, 1867, Miss Louise

Eodewall became his wife. Their children are;

Mena, Sophia, Caroline, Ida, Lizzie. Margaret-

George, Annie, and Birdie. In 1876, he built the

house in which he now lives, and the next year

built a bam.

Peter H. Odbgaed, generally known as Peter

H. Halverson, was born in Norway on the 7th of

May, 1837, and when thirteen years old emigrated

with his parents to America. They went to Green

county, Wisconsin- by way of Albany, Buffalo,

and the great lakes. Peter remained there but

a short time, going to Illinois, where he engaged

in farming one year, then returned to Wisconsin.

In 1854, he removed Tvith his parents to Minne-

sota, and four years later settled on school land in

section thirty-six in Wheeling. On the 16th of

July, 1867, he married Miss Guro Allen, who has

borne him eight children, four of them now living.

He first built a log house, and in 1876, built their

present brick house. His farm is supplied with

good out buildings.

Hon. Osmund Osmundson was born in Norway,

near the city of Stavanger, on the 7th of March,

1826. He attended school in his younger days,

afterward engaged at the carpenter trade, then

was on the sea five years. In 1850, he emigrated

to America, landing in New York on the 29th of

June, then went by steamer to Albany, from there

on the Erie canal to Buffalo, and thence by steamer

to Milwaukee. He was in Rock county one year,

then went to Walworth county and from there, in

1853, to California where he engaged in mining in

Nevada county three years then returned to Wis-

consin and thence, in the fall of 1856, to Minne-

sota. He was married in 1857, to Miss Ann Benson,

the ceremony taking place in Houston county.

Mr. Osmundson settled in Wheeling, taking land on

section fourteen and has since bought two hundred

and forty acres in section eleven. He lived in a

log cabin until 1861, then built a frame house and

in 1880, erected his present brick house. Mr. and

Mrs. Osmundson have had eight children; Andrew

Bernhart, Albert Oscar, Samuel Milton, John

Gabriel, Russell Edward, Esther Hebine, Ambrosia

Sophia, and Andrew Bernhart, who was born in

May, 1858, and died on the 6th of December,

1874, while attending the Lutheran College at

Decorah, Iowa. Mrs. Osmundson di^d on the 26th

of April, 1882. Mr. Osmundson has filled a num-

ber of local offices, has served as County Commis-

sioner and two terms in the State Legislature.
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Hans H. Binds, a native of Norway, was bom
on the 6th of April, 1829, and attended school

until fifteen years old, then was employed on a

farm. In 1853, he married Miss Eosa Nilson and

the same year they came to America, landed at

New York and came directly to Dane county, Wis-

consin, where they remained until 1855, then, in

company with four other families, came with an ox

team to Minnesota. He settled in Wheeling,

staked out a claim in section two, built a log house

and in 1862, erected their present frame house. In

1864, he enlisted in the Fourth Minnesota Infantry,

Company H, went south and joined Sherman at

Atlanta and was with him in his famous march to

the sea. He was discharged at Louisville, Ken-

tucky, in July, 1865, and then returned to his

farm. He has purchased more land and now has a

fine farm of four hundred acres. Mr. and Mrs.

Binde have been blessed with ten children ; Henry,

Nils, Ole, Theodore, Anna, Ellie, Inger, Helena,

Johanna, and Genie.

OiiE Shbbvbn was born in Norway on the 26th

of July, 1831. He went to school and worked on

a farm in his native country. In 1850, he emi-

grated to America, landed at New York, then

went to Albany, thence to Buffalo, and thence

to Milwaukee by way of tbe great lakes. He
remained three weeks in Dane county, Wis-

consin, then with oxen drove to Winneshiek

county, Iowa, took land, built a log house

and remained there five years. He was married in

1853, to Miss Inger Thoeson. He came to Bice

county, Minnesota, and settled in Wheeling, sec-

tion eighteen, where he still resides. He built a

log house in which he lived seven years then

erected their present frame house and in 1878, he

built a bam 40x64 feet with a stone basement, and

in 1881, a granary 20x30 with an addition 12x20.

Mr. and Mrs. Sherven were blessed with eight

children, five of whom are living; Oliver, Theo-

dore, Andrew, John, and Edward. Mrs. Sherven

died in 1870, thirty-eight years of age. In 1876,

he married Miss Maria Erickson and they have one

chUd, Julius. Mr. Sherven has held a number of

local offices and was the first Assessor of the town.

Hans O. Stenbakken, one of the pioneers of

Bice county, was born in Norway, in June, 1825,

attended school for a time and subsequently en-

gaged in herding cattle. In 1846, he mari-ied Miss

Carrie Erickson, who bore him six children, five

of them now livitfg; Eagnil, Ole, Eriok, Thor, and

Gunnild. In 1854, they came to America, landed'

in Quebec and came directly to Kock county, Wis-

consin, where he engaged in farming. In the

spring of 1856, he came to Wheeling and staked

out a claim in section twelve, built a small log house

which was plastered with clay, then built a larger

one, and in 1871, erected a franje house. His wife

died on the 28th of May, 1862, and two years

later Miss Mary Olson became his wife. His son

Erick occupies one farm, and his youngest son an-

other on section four, while Hans expects to spend

the remainder of his life with his son, Ole, on the

old homestead.

OiiE H. Stenbakken was bom in Norway on the

17th of December, 1848. When six years old he

came with his parents to America, landed at Que-

bec and came directly to Bock county, Wisconsini

where he remeined two years, and came to Bice

county, Minnesota, settling in Wheeling. His

father pre-empted land in section twelve at the

same time. Ole was united in marriage on the

13th of December, 1875, with Miss Berget H.

Bank. They have been blessed with three chil-

dren; Kari Maria, Hannah Sophia, and Gena

Karina. He bought his father's farm upon which

he now resides. He is serving his third term as a

member of the board of Supervisors.

Erick H. Stenbakken was born in Norway on

the 16th of October, 1851, and three years later

came with his parents to America. They settled

in Bock county, Wisconsin, and in 1856, came to

Minnesota and located in Wheeling. Erick at-

tended the district school and went one term to

St. Olaf's College in Northfield and has since de-

voted his hime to farming. In 1880, he married

Miss Bandi Halverson, who has borne him one

child, Hans Christian. He has a farm in sections

twelve and thirteen. On the twenty-fourth annivers-

ary of his birth he met with a sad accident, having

his right hand crushed in a threshing machine so

badly as to necessitate amputation.

John Thompson was born iu Norway in 1821,

and reared on a fann. He was married in 1846,

his bride being Miss Julia Benson. In 1848, they

came to America, landed at New York and went

to Milwaukee by the way of Albany, Buffalo, and

the great lakes, from thence to Bock county, Wis-

consin, and in 1856, removed to Bice county,

Minnesota, and located in Wheeling, section two.

He first built a log house and in 1863, erected his

present frame house. They were blessed with ten
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children, only one of whom is living, Julia. Eight

of the children died in infancy, and Theodore when

about seven years of age.

T. A. Veblbn, a native of Norway, was born on

the 2d of October, 1818. He attended school,

worked on a farm, and was employed at the car-

penter trade in his native place. In 1846, he was

united in marriage with Miss Kari Bundy. In

1847, they emigrated to America, landed at Que-

bec, came directly to Port Washington, Wisconsin,

and remained there one year, then removed to

Sheboygan, and six years later to Mount Vernon.

In 1866, he came to Minnesota, located in this

county and bought land in Wheeling, section

twelve, erecting the frame house in which they now

live, the second year. In 1872, he built a barn

48x62. Mr. and Mrs. Veblen have been blessed

with twelve children, nine of whom are living;

Andrew, Betsey E., Austin A., Tosten, Inger,

Mary, Thomas, Edward, and Hannah. Mr. Veblen

has always taken a great interest in education.

Andrew, Tosten, and Inger are graduates of Carle-

ton College at Northfield. Andrew is now attend-

ing the University at Baltimore, and Tosten is at

Yale College in New Haven; Thomas and Austin

have both attended Carleton College, the former

being obliged to leave on account of poor health,

while Austin is engaged in mercantile pursuits at

Blooming Prairie, Steele county.

RICHLAND.

CHAPTEE LVI.

GENEKAL DESCBIPTION EAKLT SETTLEMENT —
EVENTS OP INTEBEST —POLITIOAI;—EELIGIOUS—
SCHOOLS BIOGBAPHICAL.

In the southeast corner of Hies county, with

its thirty-six sections as designated by the gov-

ernment survey, lays the town with the above

name that so well describes the character of

its soil. Goodhue county is its neighbor on the

east. Dodge county touches its southeast corner,

Steele county is on the south, the town of Walcott

on the west, and Wheeling on the north.

It is a prairie town, somewhat rolling, and re-

markably well watered by small streams which

coalesce in the interior of the town to form the

north branch of the Zumbro Eiver. It seems

quite unnecessary to describe the course of these

rivulets, except, perhaps, to say that they are but

two or three miles apart at the widest point, and

this part of the topography leaves nothing to be

desired.

Section twelve, through which the river leaves

the town, was rather of a timber section, having

more than all the rest, of the township, and early

received the name of "Norwegian Grove," as the

people of that nationality secured possession of it

when first in the market. There were smaller

groves on sections sixteen and thirty-one. The
character of the soil is variable, being in places a

loam with a sand mixture, and in other places what

may be called black muck. It is everywhere deep

-and very productive.

EAKLY SETTLEMENT.

The year 1854 was the first to witness the ad-

vent of the westward bound emigrant. Four

sturdy Norwegians who had stopped long enough

in Wisconsin to learn the pioneering trade, so to

speak, came here in the spring of this year with

ox teams, which, at that time, was by all odds the

most sensible way to come to this new country.

Their names were Halver Halverson, Erik Gun-

derson, Ole Larson, and Osten Oleson.

Gunderson staked out the first claim on the

southeast quarter of section twelve, near the Zum-
bro. He put up a hay shanty and made himself

comfortable while getting up a log shelter, which

he lost no time in doing, and he has still a home
on the same spot.

Halverson claimed three forties in section eleven

and one in section twelve. He started life in a

tent which he improvised, using his wagon cover

for the top, then cut and cured some hay and soon

had a fashionable residence, and afterwards his

regular timber abode like a high-toned frontiers-

man. He may now be found on section twelve.

Olson also secured his acres in section twelve,

which he cultivated until 1863, when his mortal

remains were deposited beiieath the sod. His
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widow occupies the liomestead with her only

daughter, whose husband carries on the farm.

Ole Larson went into seotion ten and succeeded

in getting up the first house in town, which he

moved into in September, 1854. In 1856, he went

to Winona on some business with the land office,

and never returned. What became of him is still

a mystery most profound. The conjecture at the

time was that he was murdered. His son, Ever

Oleson, still lives on the place.

In the fall of this year there was quite a little

party came together and selected claims in section

thirty and the vicinity. Among this number

were F. W. Frink, J. Kinnison, Ozro Carter and

Willard Carter, two brothers, whose claims fell in

the township of Waloott. These people returned

to bring their families the following spring.

Other comers were Edward and Sumner Beach,

father and son; H. F. Smith; H. M. Beardsley;

George M. Smith; and Abner Beardsley; who

located in that neighborhood.

In 1855, there was a party who came from Wis-

consin, some of whom had stopped a while thereto

create homes for themselves,and others came direct-

ly from the eastern States. Arriving here they were

so well pleased with the country that some of them

at once proceeded to locate their claims in this

town, and brief sketches of these men are here

given.

J. M. Strunk was from Chautauqua county,

New York; he selected a place in section seven and

hved in his wagon for a while, then in a bark

shanty until he could get up his log cabin.

Mr. Barlow settled in section seven, where he

lived making improvements for several years. At

present he is keeping a hotel in Medford.

Edwin Wheeler found a place in seotion

eighteen.

William Close, a native of Ohio, came here

from Indiana during the summer of 1855, and se-

cured a foothold in section thirty-one, where he

remained until 1875, when his place was ex-

changed for city property and he removed to Fari-

bault where he has since resided.

F. Herrington, whose birthplace was Delaware,

put in a personal appearance in the fall of this

year and boarded with H. M. Beardsley through

the winter, and in the spring lie bought a claim in

section twenty-nine where he may still be found.

During the year 1856, the accessions to the

colony in this township were quite important.

30

John Close, from the Buckeye State, came up

here from Iowa, where he had remained for a year.

He came across the country with an ox team, a

distance of more than three hundred miles

through a trackless, and of course bridgeless

country, and such a trip, it seems almost needless

to add, required great good judgement as to the

direction to take and as to how to compass the

various difficulties being constantly met. He se-

cured the northeast quarter of section twenty-

nine.

During the first two or three years of the early

settlement of the township there were quite a

number of the sons of the "Emerald Isle" who se-

cured homes here, and some of the original comers

still remain where they were first planted.

John G. Miller, of Germany, came here in 1856,

and worked a farm on the school section, thirty

-

six, for two years, and then traded some land he

had acquired in Iowa before coming here for a

farm in section twenty-nine, where he still resides.

Nathan 8. Wheeler and his son George H. came

here from Illinois, being natives of the Empire

State; the father pre-empted a place in section

one, and the son staked out some land in section

thirteen. In the fall they returned to spend the

winter in Illinois. The young man came back in

the spring and he now lives in section twenty-one.

The old gentleman visited the town again in the

summer of 1858, but returned to remain in Illi-

nois.

The year 1857 saw fresh arrivals, among them

John A. Mather, and his position was in section

twenty-six. He improved that place for awhile,

then sold out and bought in section twenty-seven,

where he lived and wrought until his earthly

sojourn was ended, in 1875.

Frank Gowen, of Maine, started a farm in sec-

tion twenty-six, but after a time moved on to

Nebraska.

During this year several Massachusetts men ar-

rived, among them Andrew and Enoch Story and

Washington Tarr.

Mr. Tarr took a claim in section three; Enoch

Story took his slice from section two, and in the

fall they both returned to the old Bay State.

Andrew Story bought the east half of the south-

east quarter of section two, but at that time re-

mained but a few weeks. In 1861, however, he

returned and permanently located on the claim



46fi HISTORY OP RIGE COUNTY.

first taken by Washington Tarr, and he may yet

be found on the claim.

Harvey T. Scott, of New Jersey, came to Fari-

bault in 1854, in the month of June, where he

remained until 1860. In 1863, he came to Eioh-

land, having secured a place in section four where

he stiU abides.

EVBNTS OK INTBEBST.

One of the earliest marriages wad" Henry M.

Beardsley and Ariminta Newcomb, by Bev. B. F-

Haviland in 1857. Knud Finset was married to

Bess Berget Halverson about the same time.

On the 2d of January, 1857, Capt. John Hanson

was iiuited to Lena Halverson. They were mar-

ried in Faribault.

Earlier than any of the above was the union of

E. L. Beach and Elizabeth Beardsley, in the year

1856. They have both passed to the great be-

yond.

Columbia Adams, a lady of sixteen years of age,

was struck by lightning late in June, 1855, and

instantly killed. Mrs. Tew was injured by the

same bolt, and never recovered from the shook, but

passed away a few years afterwards. This mis-

fortune made a wonderful impression on the settle-

ment, and one that will never be forgotten. In

the absence of anything more suitable, a dry

goods box which had been used in bringing

F. W. Frink's furniture and goods, was split up
and made into a ooiSn. One peculiar incident

connected with the melancholy event was that the

bolt of lightning entered the victim's . head just

back of the ear, and passing the entire length of

the body made its exit through a nail hole in the

toe of the shoe.

John Wesley, son of John and Susan Close, was

born on the 4th of June, 1857. He now lives at

Little Falls, Morrison county, where he is engaged

in business as a druggist.

Bichard, a son of Richard and Bridget Leonard,

was born on the 10th of May, 1857. He now re-

sides with his parents.

Halver Austin, son of Osten Olson, was born on

the 14th of January, 1856. He was removed to

his eternal home on the 10th of April, 1876.

Eichland cemetery was laid out in 1873, and the

mortal remains of Herbert Stickney were the first

to be deposited there, early in December of that

year. It embraces one acre of land which was
purchased of Alonzo Stickney, and is in section

thirty.

The Catholic cemetery was platted in 1874, and

embraces three acres of land donated by S. G.

Nolan on section sixteen.

The first Postmaster was T. Larson. The pres-

ent incumbent is James Nolan, who was commis-

sioned in August, 1881.

A store was opened by T. Larson in 1878, in

1881, he sold to 8. G. Nolan, the present pro-

prietor, who still does business there in section

twenty-one.

A store had previously been started on section

thirty-six in 1875, by Nils N. Kvernoden, which he

sold to Hagan O. Naeseth in 1879, and he sold to

Mr. Lund in 1881, who is the present proprietor.

A Post-office had been established here while

Kvernoden was proprietor, and he handled the

mails, but it was discontinued. In June, 1 882, a re-

establishment of the office took place, with Peter

Lund as Postmaster, under the name of Mayland.

The mail is delivered twice a week. It formerly

came from Dodge City once a week.

POLITICAIj.

The first town meeting was on the 11th of May,

1858, at the house of E. W. Mathews. John A.

Mather was the moderator and Samuel Gowen
was clerk.

The officers to inaugurate the town government

were: Supervisors, Lafayette Barlow, Chairman,

John A. Mather, and E. S. Stafford; Town Clerk,

F. Mathews; Assessor, George W. Fox; Collector,

William Close; Justices of the Peace, J. M.

Strunk and Josiah H. Gale; Constables, Charles

Birge and James Stevens.

Town affairs from that time to this have been in

good hands, and everything in this line has run on

in the even tenor of its way.

Pkbsbnt Town Opficebs.—At the tbwn meeting

convened at the schoolhouse in district No. 24, on

the 14th of March, 1882, the following officers

were designated for the ensuing year: Super-

visors, J. B. Johnson, Chairman, August Weshoe,

and Charles Egenbrod; Clerk and Assessor, John

Murphy; Collector, James Mather; Justices of the

Peace, Albert Zigler and John Close; Constables,

William Hildebrand and C. E. Engle.

KBMGIOTJS.

Noewbgian Luthbean Chueoh.— As early as

1855, meetings were held in the house of Halver

Halverson on section thirteen, Eev. Nils Brandt

was the missionary. Meetings were continued in
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private houses for some time, but they now wor-

ship in a church in Goodhue county.

NOEWEGIAN EVANGBLIOAL LtlTHBBAN OONGEB-

GATtON.—The first meetings were at the school-

house in district No. 51, in 1878. Kev. Mr. Muus
was the minister. The next year an organization

was effected with about two score members. Eev.

M. O. Bockman was the pastor appointed by the

synod, and is the present incumbent. Part of

this congregation comes from Steele, Dodge, and

Goodhue coimties, and meetings are held once in

four weeks.

Bethel Methodist Episcopal CnnKCH.—In

1868, this society was established, and the meet-

ings were held in the schoolhouse in section

twenty-six. Eev. Mr. Bichardson was the first

preacher, and when the Grange Hall was built that

became the meeting house. The last minister was J.

Milton Akers. In 1881, the meetings were discon-

tinued.

Methodist Episoopai; Chuech.—In the winter

of 1856, Eev. William McKinley preached the

first sermon here in the residence of John Close.

In the spring of 1857, Eev. Aaron Matteson or-

ganized a society with Mr. Close as class leader

and seven members; John Close and wife, William

Close and wife, Mrs. Paul Williams, and Calvin

Prink and wife. The membership increased quite

rapidly until there were about one hundred.

Meetings were afterwards held in F. W. Prink's

log house, and also in the schoolhouse in district

No. 21. Meetings were kept up here until 1873.

Soon after the formation of the society, a Sun-

day school was started, and it has since been kept

up; T. B. Brown is the present superintendent.

Eev. J. Milton Akers is the present pastor. This

church is connected with the Minnesota Confer-

ence, and is a part of the Paribault circuit.

The EVANQBLICAL AsSOOI.iTION - Ebenezee

Chueoh.—The first meeting by this denomination

was held in Mr. Jenkins' house on section three, in

1863, Eev.. William Stegner (ifiBoiating, and meet-

ings continued to be held here for four years, and

a year or so in other houses of the members. In

1870, the congregation succeeded in building a

church, which is situated on section four, where

H. Y. Scott donated two acres of land. There is

a cemetery near the church, and the first burial

was in 1870.

Catholic Chuech.—Mass was first said in Mr.

Moore's house on section twenty-two, in Decem-

ber, 1858. Father G. Keller was the officiating

priest, and services were held in various houses

until 1874, when a church was built on section six-

teen. Father Genis is the present pastor.

SCHOOLS.

DiSTEiCT No. 12.—This was first organized in

1856, and a school was opened and presided over

by Mrs. Edwin Wheeler at the house of her hus-

band. The schoolhouse was built the same year

on section twelve, where it still stands and is yet

used for school purposes; when it was resolved to

build, the farmers all turned out bringing logs and

material and soon completed the structure. This

was the first district organized in this part of the

county.

DiSTEiCT No. 16.—A part of this district is in

the town of Wheeling, and it came into existence

in 1856. The next year the shoolhouse was got

up on section four. Miss Ella Evans had the honor

of teaching the first school here.

DisTEicT No. 80.—This was outlined in 1859,

and a school started at Eoland Fairfield's house,

his wife wielding the rod of authority. This was

in section twenty-three, and early in 1860, a log

house was rolled together on section twenty-four.

This was used up to the year 1877, when a new
and better one was provided on section twenty-

three.

DiSTEicT No. 51.—^In the house of Eoland Fair-

field, in 1859, a school was opened, and in 1864, a

division was made and No. 80 set off. The south

part kept the old number and built a house that

year on section thirty-five, and Miss Nellie White

took charge of the school. In 1870, the house now
existing was constructed on section twenty-six.

DisTEicT No. 88.—The. year 1868 saw this dis-

trict formed, and the schoolhouse was built that

same year. Mrs. Jeffers was the first to attempt

to teach the young idea how to shoot, in William

Sawyer's granary.

DiSTEicT No. 21.—The district with this num-
ber was created in 1857, and the earliest school

was in P. W. Frink's log house in the summer and

the following winter. In the spring of 1858, the

district, with commendable energy, got up a frame

building tor school purposes on section thirty,

which served until the building of the present

structure. Sarah Campbell was the first teacher

in the new house, and WOliam Bentley in the old.

The first schoolhouse was put up at the expense of

Calvin Frink, father of the present County Audi-
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tor, and he afterward received the tax levied in

return for his money.

DisTEiCT No. 24.—School was first taught in a

private house on section sixteen in 1859. The

schoolhouse is on section twenty-one, and was built

at an early day.

DiSTEiCT No. 102 was instituted about 1875,

and a schoolhouse put up on the north line of sec-

tion sixteen.

BIOGKAPHIOAI..

WiijMAM W. Beard was born in Kennebec

county, Maine, where he attended school and lived

on a farm. When twenty years old he went to sea

and was a sailor five years. He then engaged in

farming in his native State, and in 1854 Miss Betsey

W. Gowen became his wife. They came toWaushara

county, Wisconsin, in 1855, where he staked out a

claim, improved it, and built a house and barn.

In 1858, Mr. Beard came to Minnesota on a pros-

pecting tour, and in 1862, sold his farm in Wis-

consin and came to Eichland, where he bought a

farm on section twenty-six. He improved his

place and has since purchased one hundred and

sixty acres adjoining. They lived in a log house

until 1868, then erected their present frame house.

He is the father of seven children. Mr. Beard has

been elected to offices of trust in the town, and is

a man that is well known in this section of the

country.

John Close was born in Wayne county, Ohio,

on the 6th of October, 1825, and removed with his

parents to Indiana when seven years of age; first

settled in Oass county and then assisted his father

in clearing a claim in Miami county. The latter

died in September, 1845. On the 8th of January,

1846, John married Miss Susan Fickle who bore

him ten children, six of whom are living. Mrs.

Close was bom in Pennsylvania on the 15th of

December, 1828, and died the 24th of March,

1870. The maiden name of his present wife was •

Miss Martha J. Ernsperger whom he married on

the 4th of February, 1871. They have one child.

He purchased a farm in Kosciusko county, In-

diana, where he lived one year then sold out, in

1854, cjnd purchased land in Greene county, Iowa.

Be was sick the first summer there and the next

year came to Faribault, but- returned in about six

weeks, then worked in a grist-mill. In the spring

of 1856, he sold his land and came to this county,

settling in Eichland on a claim in section twenty-

nine. He first built a log cabin and engaged in

improving his land. He spent one vinter in Wal-

cott, and in 1866, built a bam, 32x42 feet, and

two years later built their present frame house.

Mr. Close has been a member of the Methodist

church since sixteen years of age.

Lbander Eastman, a native of Maine, was bom
on the 11th of March, 1836. He was reared on a

farm, and when sixteen years old went to the

pineries, where he was engaged in lumbering for

twelve years. In 1854, he married Miss P. A.

Bracke'tt, and they have had six children, four of

whom are living. Mr. Eastman came to Dakota

county, Minnesota, in 1861, and remained there

until 1863, when he came to Bichland and bought

a farm in section twenty-six, improved it, setting

out a grove, and in 1863, built a dwelling house.

In 1865, he enlisted in the first Minnesota Volun-

teer Infantry, Company H, went south and joined

Thomas in Alexandria, Virginia, and was honorably

discharged at the close of the war, on the 14th of

July, 1865. He the]i returned to this place,

bought a farm in section twenty-seven and built a

granary, in which they lived until 1869, then

erected their present dwelling.

.Eeik G. GtJNDBBsoN was born in Norway, on

the 24th of March, 1828. His younger days were

spent at school, and in 1849, he came to America,

landed at New York and proceeded directly to

Wisconsin, where he engaged in farming. He
was joined in matrimony in 1852, with Miss

Helena Hanson, and two years later, in company
with a few others, came to Minnesota. He pre-

empted land in Eichland township, this county,

and it was the first claim made in the town. He
first built a hay shanty, then a log house, and in

two years another one of logs, to which he has

put an addition. On the 24th of July, 1860, his

wife died, leaving five children. The maiden name
of his present wife was Miss Astre Asle, whom he

married in 1865. They have five children.

Jambs Gbbbly, one of the pioneers of Minne-

sota, was born in Hopkinton, New Hampshire, on

the 23d of February, 1826, and removed with his

parents when one year old to Maine, and lo-

cated in Waldo county. When fifteen years old

he went to sea and was a sailor eleven years on

merchant vessels between the United States and

the West Indies. He was married in 1849, to Miss

Sarah J. Band. When twenty-six years old he

retired from sea life and bought a farm in Waldo
county, which he carried on till 1856, then sold
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and removed to Steele county, Minnesota, took a

claim and built a house. In February, 1865, he

enlisted in the Second Minnesota Cavalry, went to

Fort Wadsworth, then returned to Fort Snelling

where he was honorably discharged in November,

1865, then returned to his farm. In 1866, he sold

his farm in Steele county, and bought in Eioh-

land in sections thirty-one and thirty-two, having

since devoted his time to its cultivation, building

a house, and in 1875, bought land adjoining his

first purchase. Mrs. Greeley died in October,

1868, leaving four children. The maiden name of

his present wife was Miss Augusta Parshal, whom
he married in 1869.

John B. Johnson was born in Montgomery

county, New York, on the 23d of June, 1834, and

obtained an education at the district school, and

later worked on a farm, On the 4th of January,

1856, Miss Anna E. Schuyler became his wife. In

1870, they removed to Minnesota and purchased a

farm in Biohland township, in section nineteen,

where he may still be found. Mrs. Johnson was

a native of Montgomery county, New York, bom
in May, 1831, and died in 1875, leaving three

children. In 1875, he was joined in marriage

with Miss Mahala Swanger, who has borne him

three children. He has held a number of local

offices, and is at present Chairman of the Board of

Supervisors.

John G. MinLEB, one of the pioneers of Eich-

land, was born in Germany in March, 1825. He
attended school,' and when fourteen years old

learned the shoemaker's trade, serving an appren-

ticeship of two years, besides paying $42 for the

privilege. In 1845, he emigrated to America,

landed at New York, where he worked one month
at his trade, then in Genesee county two months.

He found farming more profitable, engaged at it

two years in the latter county, and removed to

Bock county, Wisconsin, where, in 1850, he was

married. Miss Susan Burtman becoming his wife.

In 1851, he bought a farm in Fayette county,

Iowa, where he remained until 1856, then located

in Walcott, .Bice county, Minnesota, and lived two

years on section thirty-six. At the expiration of

that time he traded his land in Iowa for a farm in

section twenty-nine in Bichland township, to which

he moved the same year. He lived in a log house

until 1868, then built a frame house in which he
now lives, and in 1880, erected a barn 24x30 feet.

He is the father of nine children, six of whom are

living.

Moses C. Peasley, deceased, one of the pioneers

of Bice county, was born in New Hampshire in

1831, and both of his parents died when he was

but eight years old. When a young man he went

to California where he spent five years in mining,

then returned to New Hampshire and in a short

time came to Minnesota. He pre-empted land in

Bichland, in section twenty-six, then sold it and

bought on section sixteen where he lived a few

years; disposed of that and purchased three hun-

dred and twenty acres in sections twenty-two and

twenty-seven. On the 7th of September, 1859, he

married Miss Martha C. Finlayson, a native of

Canada. Mr. Peasley enlisted on the 13th of

August, 1862, in the Seventh Minnesota Volunteer

Infantry, Company A, served till the close of the

war and was honorably discharged on the 7th of

July, 1865, when he returned home and devoted

his time to the improvement of his farm until his

death in February, 1879. They had a family of

six children, four of them now living. Mrs. Peas-

ley lives on the homestead and carries on the farm.

Andbew Stoky was born in Hamilton, Essex

county, Massachusetts, on the 16th of November,

1812. He acquired an education at the district

school, and in May, 1829, engaged in the village of

Essex to learn the trade of shipbuilding, serving

three years. He worked as a journeyman for a

time, then started in business for himself, and

while in the business built as many as thirteen

schooners in one year. In November, 1838, he

married Miss Lucy A. Story. In 1857, he came

west on a prospecting tour with two young men
who were in his employ. During that summer

Mr. Story purchased land in Biohland in section

two, and the other two men made claims in sec-

tions two and three, which claims he afterwards

purchased. He returned to Massachusetts and in

May, 1861, launched his last vessel, then, with his

family removed to a place on section three, this

township, where he has a farm of four hundred

acres. In 1869, he built a barn and in 1878, an-

other one, which is connected with the first by a

shed. Mr. and Mrs. Story have had seven chil-

dren, six of whom are living. Lucy Ellen, the

eldest, died on the 7th of September, 1842.

J. M. Stkunk, one of the pioneers of this county,

was born in Chautauqua coujity. New York, on

the 21st of November, 1829. His younger days

were spent at school and since that time he has

been engaged in agricultural pursuits. In 1854,
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Lydia Williams became his wife. She was also a

native of the latter county. In 1855, they started

west; came to Wisconsin by rail and from thence

to Eioe county with a few others, with ox teams.

Mr. Strunk staked out a claim in Richland on section

seven, and now has a farm of three hundred and

forty acres of prairie land, besides forty acres of

timber. He first built a bark shanty, then a log

house, and in 1872, his present frame house, and in

1874, a barn 45x50 feet. He is the father of five

children, three of whom are living.

Gbobgb H. Whbelbb, one of the pioneers of

Kichland, is a native of Orange county, New York,

born on the 18th of May, 1835. He attended

school at Amity, and when fifteen years old re-

moved with his parents to Delaware, Ohio, where

they lived three years, then moved to St. Charles,

Illinois. In 1856, he and his father, Nathan S.

Wheeler, came to Minnesota, Eichland township,

the father taking land in section twelve and the

son in section thirteen. In the fall they returned

to Illinois where, in 1857, Celia M. Howard became

his wife. The following October they removed to

Minnesota, coming on a boat as far as Red Wing
then drove to their claim. He erected a house

with the help of a carpenter who came with him,

but in 1870, sold his farm and purchased in sec-

tion twenty-one where he still resides. His father

returned here in 1858, and spent the summer, then

went back to Illinois where he lives at present.

Mr. and Mrs. Wheeler have been blessed with nine

children.

WALCOTT.

CHAPTER LVII.

LOCATION AND DESOBIPTION— BABLY SETTLBMBNT

BVBNTS OE INTEBEST MANUFACTUBING TOWN
OBGANIZATION SOHOOLS—BIOGKAPHICAIi.

The location of this town may be thus de-

scribed. It is the second from the eastern boun-

dary of the county, on the south tier of townships.

Its contiguous surroundings are, Richland on the

east. Cannon City and Faribault on the north,

Warsaw on the west, and Steele county on the

south.

The principal river is Straight River, which

flows quite faithfully toward the north, a little

west of the center. Mud Creek and Rush Creek

with several other branches join it in its course.

The river leaves the town from section four, and a

quarter of a mile west it returns, moving directly

south to turn west and again get beyond the

town limits on the line between sections five and

six, passing through Faribault. As a rule, the

creeks and rivers carry a belt of timber that is

quite heavy for a mile or two wide, making about

one-third of the town covered with timber.

On the east side is the noted East Prairie, with

its black loam from eighteen inches to two feet in

depth, with a blue clay subsoil, and laying so low

that artificial drainage has to be resorted to. On
the west side the soil is sandy, with a gravel sub-

soil on what is known as the low prairie, which

extends west three-fourths of a mile, and north

from the southern line about three and one-half

miles. The rest of the town is known as High

Prairie, which is a sort of table land with a black

loam and clay subsoil, making the richest kind of

soil for any crops suitable to this latitude.

EABLT SETTLEMENT.

The first actual settler in this town was Edward
H. Cutts, who came from Vermont, having

stopped a while at the head of Lake Pepin, in the

year 1853. His first visit here was in December of

that year, and he selected a claim in sections

twenty and twenty-one. Late in February, 1854,

he returned with Jacob Chesrown, who was a

young man, and another by the name of Rouse,

who were hired by Mr. Cutts. They started from

Hastings with a yoke of oxen, a cow, and a pony,

with supplies on a sled, and for the first day had a

good many snowbanks to shovel through. When
twelve miles out they lost the trail, and while

looking right and left for it one of the men was

sent on ahead to a piece of timber to build a fire

and prepare supper. It was getting dai-k and

they heard a pack of wolves coming. One of

them seized the axe and the other got his pistol

ready, but they crossed at a little distance, evi-

dently on the track of a deer. The next day the
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ground got bare and it was literally "hard sled-

ding." The next night the camp was on the prai-

rie, and by picking up every stick they could find

and using what they could spare of the ends of

the sled stakes, got up quite a good Are. They

got out of hay, and in the night the cattle took

the back track and Mr. Cutts had to gallop back

on the pony after them for five or six miles. They

mixed up some meal in a handkerchief and baked

a cake in the ashes. Before they reached Fari-

bault the sled had to be abandoned and a wagon
secured, with -which he finally got his things on

his place and began to build. In a few days his

cow had a calf, and one night a timber wolf un-

dertook to carry it off, but he drove the brute

away and took the calf inside. There came up a

firghtful snow storm, and as he had no shelter, ex-

cept the lee side of the cabin, he had to take the

cow in also until the storm had subsided. Mr. Cutts

built the first log cabin in town, and the first frame

house; the first house was burned in the winter of

1855-56. The next winter he went to get married,

and brought his wife as far as Illinois and re-

turned, having a serious time in getting through.

Traveling in those days was not the pastime it is

now. When at last Mrs. Cutts oame on he went

to meet her in an ox cart, and she had to make a

part of the journey on foot, stoppmg at that

noted sod tavern, wheie they met Dr. Jewett, who
had also been to meet his family.

The town received a few settlers in 1S53.

Nathaniel Meyers, with his family, came and lo-

cated on section twenty-eight. He was from IJew

York, but has passed on to the great majority.

His son, John M., remains on the old homestead.

John Luther Cabot, a single man, also from New
York, came at the same time. He was born in

1831, and remained here a few years, removing to

Goodhue county.

The spring of 1854 brought a few more venture-

some individuals, among whom should be noted,

Richmond Jones, of New York, whose life has

been spared to the present time.

Joseph Eichard, also a New Yorker, came that

year, but several years ago 'he was called to the

great hereafter.

George W. Marks secured a place in section

eleven from whence he was transferred to "the

other shore" on the 27th of November, 1875. His

widow is still in town.

George Dorrance, another native of the Empire

State, is still in section twenty-three, where he

transplanted himself some time that year.

In 1855, attention having been called to this

region, the town was well filled up. Some of the

claims having been entered the fall before.

The town was named in honor of Salnuel Wal-

cott from Massohusetts, who was a very able,

energetic, and talented man, making everything

lively around his vicinity, but after a time bis mind

became distraught, and he found an abiding place

in an insane retreat in his native State. He was

public spirited, liberal minded, and with un-

bounded enthusiasm, and had he remained, who
can teU what projects for the improvement of his

adopted town he might have carried out.

EVENTS or INTEBEST.

The first religious exercises were by Elder Crist,

a Methodist minister, in 1855, in the spring, at a

private house owned by Mr. Bichrirdson.on section

thirty-two.

An early birth was Laura E., daughter of

George and Hannah M. Dorrance, on the 3d of

February, 1855, on section twenty-two in a log

cabin. She was married on the 14th of December,

1878, and the following spring removed to Yellow

Medicine county.

The first marriage remembered was on the 25th

of December, 1856, when Edward Beach and

Elizabeth Beardsley were united in the bonds of

wedlock; they have since been united in death.

The first death was that of Mrs. Axta Jones,

wife of Richmond Jones, who was struck by light-

ning on the 4th of July, 1854, while in their tent

in section twenty-nine; in the presence of her hus-

band, two children, her brother, and John Luther

Cabot. It was most remarkable that she alone of

the whole number should have been stricken down.

The following paragraph appeared in the local

papers in November, 1878: "Intelligence has just

reached here that a farmer, whose name could not

be learned, residing near Walcott, a little station

situated between Faribault and Medford, on the

Iowa division of the Chicago, Milwaukee & St.

Paul railroad, had administered a lesson to two

tramps, that by reason of its severity will never

be appreciated by thom in this world, but will

have a wholesome eff'ect in deterring others from

attempting similar crimes. The two tramps above

mentioned, under cover of the darkness, entered a

wheat field where a self-binding harvester had
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been at work during the day, and deliberately

piling the newly cut grain about the machine pre-

pared to cremate both grain and harvester. Un-

fortunately for the success of their plans, the

owner, whose suspicious had been aroused during

the day, happened with a double-barreled shot-

gun just as they applied the torch, and with an

impartiality which did him credit, gave each the

contents of a barrel. Eesult, two dead tramps

and a little damage to the grain. The farmer hur-

ried to Faribault after the deed and gave himself

up to the authorities, but instead of being detained

was told to go back to his farm, and if another

such attempt to destroy his property was made to

serve the perpetrators in a like manner."

The first railroad survey was made through the

town in 1858, and grading began in 1859, but it

was not until 1868, that the rumbling of the cars was

first heard. The road runs through the southwest

quarter of the town between the middle of the

southern boundary of section thirty-tvio and the

middle of the western boundary of section eigh-

teen. In 1877, a preliminary survey was made
through the northern part of the town for an east

and west line.

The first blacksmith shop was erected in 1860,

on section thirty-six, by Mr. McLaughlin, who
wrought the plastic iron and steel for two years,

when he packed up his "kit" and went "West."

From the time when that fire went out, the town

had no son of Vulcan within its borders until

1881, when Hans Floom, a Norsk, started a forge

in section twenty-four, and he is still making the

sparks fly.

Samuel Livingston, from 1860 to 1867, was

known as the "Walcott Lime Burner." He se-

cured his rook from the very bed of the Straight

River. E. 8. Lord succeeded him, and he took

the stone from the bank of the river.

There are a few farmers^^on the east side, where

the nature of the ground makes it impossible for a

threshing machine to visit them, and they get out

their grain with a flail, the good old fashioned

way; of course this farming is not on a large

scale.

Some excitement was once created by the mys-

terious disappearance on one occasion of Jack

Williams. Blood was found near the wood pile,

and murder most foul wss suspected. In a few

days he returned, still in the flesh.

A cheese factory was established in 1878 in

section one. The establishment was procured in

Eichland and moved here by William Mathers and

worked by his son. It is now owned and operated

by Clifton Tucker.

- This town has no public building of its own,

and town meetings are held under a tent, in a

barn, or under the lee side of a wood pile, as may
be most convenient, somewhere on section six-

teen.

Agricultural productions of the town for the

year 1881, as returned to the County Auditor:

Acres. Bushels-

Wheat 3,800 57,513

Oats 803 81,180

Corn 699 26,785

Barley 62 1,790

Buckwheat : 6 110

Potatoes 47 4,941

Beans 2 32

Sugar Cane 9 gals. 1,332

Cultivated hay . 778 tons 1,128

Wild hay " 1,382

Timothy seed bush. 60

Clover " " 299

Apples " 255

Sheep, 910 lbs. wool 5,632

Milch cows, 304 lbs. butter 24,950

Cheese lbs. 5,600

Honey " 881

Steaight Eivbb Gbangb.—This was organized

on the 5th of September, 1872, with seventy char-

ter members. Its meetings were on Saturday

evenings in sohoolhouse No. 50, and the organiza-

tion kept up until 1881, when it was finally dis-

banded.

The Htjntbks op the Pbaibie.—In 1860, a

society with this romantic name was organized,

and it was kept up for ten years. The first meet-

ing was in the schoolhouse, when an organization

was effected and officers chosen to lead in a war of

extermination against the predatory animals in the

vicinity, and a hunt was promptly instituted.

Two captains chose their respective followers,

and the whole community was thus divided into

two clans. Everything was game, from the tail

of a mouse up to the fiercest denizen of the forest.

The trophies of the chase were the caudle appen-

dages, and each had a value according to a pre-

established scale, and the losing party had to pay
certain prizes. In July, a regular picnic, which
went by the name of a "Gopher Picnic" in honor
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of the rodent that was most numerous here, was

held, where men, women.and children gathered to

participate in the sport, and after the contest was

decided by counting the game, a dinner and other

festivities were enjoyed. The number of animals

takeu would run up into the thousands, and these

hunts were of great value in ridding the country

of the swarming pests.

Redpiedd Old Settlers' Association.—This

society was organized in the sohoolhouse of dis-

trict No. 50, in 1858, meetings being held

annually. All were admitted, men, women, and

children, regardless of age, that had come from

the township of Eedfield in New York State, and

members were eligible from any portion of Eice

county. In 1868, the last meeting of the society

was held, the membership having dwindled down

to ten. During their time of prosperity, meetings

were held at the residence of M. S. Seymour, on

section twenty-two, the fleeting hours being occu-

pied in having a general good time.

Post-Oppice.—The first and only Post-office in

town was established in 1855. It was on the

northwest quarter of section thirty-three, with M.

Eichardson as Postmaster. In 1858, William

Babcook was appointed. The mail was brought

by a stage which run between Faribault and

Owatonna. In 1862, the ofiSce was discontinued.

In 1856, Samuel Walcott, having contracted the

prevailing epidemic which inspired so many to lay

out villages and cities, prooeded to plat a village

which was given the name of Walcott. The loca-

tion involved parts of sections twenty, twenty-one,

twenty-eight, and twenty-nine. There was noth-

ing small about the plan, the proportions of which

were magnificent, but it did not progress far

enough to be recorded. But a single house was

buUt, and that was for a hotel by Charles Smith.

There was a steam saw-mill with a twenty-five

horse-power engine ready to cut lumber to build

the prospective city. This was owned by E. H.

Auldon and run tor a while, but was subsequently

taken down and caiTied to Shieldsville where it

still is.

A golden wedding, one of the rare occasions

that so few may expect to experience in their own

persons, took place in Walcott on the 19th of

March, 1881. The groom and bride of half a

hiindred years were Mr. and Mrs. A. B. Sexton, Mr.

Sexton being 76 years of age and Mrs. Sexton 74.

They were married in central New York on the

19th of March, 1831. Six persons who were then

present assembled at the golden wedding. Their

names were Mr. and Mrs. Baker, of Tomah, Wis-

consin, Mr. John Castle, Mrs. Nesbitt, the mother

of Mrs.' I. B. Spencer, and the bride and groom.

Mrs. Anna, wife of Gaylord Sexton, made the

bridal cake for her own wedding, for the weddings

of each of her three sisters, and now for the semi-

centennial of her father and mother's wedding.

This notable gathering was one long to be re-

membered by those who were fortunate enou£,h to

be present.

On the 21st of November, 1861, Judge Isaac

Woodman had a burial ground surveyed on section

eight, a single acre, and divided up into forty lots,

seventeen of which have been taken. The first

burial here was Helena, a daughter of Mr. J. S.

and Mrs. S. A. House, who died on the 2d of

March, 1860, at the age of two years and three

months, a shocking and most horrible death. It

seems that her mother was called out for a few

moments in the performance of her domestic duties,

leaving the little girl tied into a high chair, which

she upset directly upon the stove and was

burned in such a terrible way that she survived

but a few hours.

Walcott, in the war of the rebellion, was well

represented, there being twenty-four men who vol-

imteered and who, strange to say, returned without

a missing man. No draft in town was had, but

the citizens voted at difierent times recruit boun-

ties amounting in the aggregate to $4,800.

In 1872, the town voted bonds to the amount of

$2,000 to build a bridge across the Straight Eiver

at the Walcott mills. A bridge had existed at the

mills partly constructed by the proprietors- and

partly by the town, but it washed away and the

mill owners being disinclined to repair the damage

so as to make it available for a road the town had

to rebuild it, which was done about twenty rods

north of its old position at the mill.

MANUPAOTHEING.

Walcott Mills.—Early in the seventies this

mill was constructed by Grant & La May as a feed

and flouring mill. It embraced two stories and a

basement and was 36x46 feet. Its situation is on

Straight Eiver, on section sixteen. At first there

was ten feet fall, but it was afterwards increased

to twelve. In 1874, it was bought by M. B. Shef-

field, George E. Skinner, and Henry Chaffee, un-
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der the firm name of Walcott Mill Company, and

a ninety horse-power steam engine was put in and

great improvements made, to the extent of $24,000.

In 1881, Mr. Sheifield became sole proprietor, and

since that time the mill has gone through a trans-

formation. It is now, after an additional expense

of $27,000, a lirst-class roller mill with five floors

and a daily capacity of 250 barrels. It has been

a merchant mill since 1874, and has a wide repu-

tation as a Minnesota patent process mill.

Embbson & Company's Mill.—In 1856, this

firm commenced tbe erection of a saw-mill on the

Straight River in Walcott township, on section

three. It was completed and commenced running

in the fall of 1857, with a Parker reaction water

wheel, and an upright saw, with a capacity of

about 3,000 feet of lumber per day. The com-

pany became insolvent, the mill continued to run,

however, until the dam joined arms with a freshet

and went careering down the stream in the spring

of 1858. A dam was again erected, but after the

debts began to push in a short time, the boss of

the company, in a colloquial phrase, "took his

foot in his hand and crossed the river to Charlie,"^

disappearing for good, and the mill from that day

to this has been silent. The building was finally

removed to East Prairieville for a baro.

A steam mill had been started before this one,

by Samuel Walcott on section thirty-three. It

was of twenty-five horse-power, and could cut

4,000 feet a day. It was on the land of Lewis

Howard, but in about a year it went to Owatonna.

Thomas Harlow built a saw-mill on section four,

on Straight River. This was a good mill, run by

an overshot wheel, and could rip out 8,000 feet a

day. It 1857, it was burned and again built up,

but at the end of a year the dam accepted the

urgent invitation of a flood to join its mad career

down stream. The dam was reconstructed and

the mill started, only to be again abruptly closed

by tlie emigration of the dam at the end of another

year.

TOWN OEGANIZATION.

Pursuant to notice, the first town meeting for

the election of officers and organization of the

town was held at the house of Jacob Chesrown,on

the 11th of May, 1858. The moderator was Isaac

Woodman, and the clerk was Isaac R. Pentz. An
assessment of $200 was made for town expenses;

what should constitute a lawful fence was agreed

upon. It was voted that horses and cattle could

run at large from November to the .first of April,

and that sheep and hogs be prohibited from being

at large.

The second town meeting was held at the house

of James Williams, and was an adjourned meeting

to elect officers, which was not accomplished at the

first meeting on account of the other business

upon which so many had to ventilate their ideas.

The town officers elected at this meeting were:

Supervisors, Isaac Woodman, Chairman, E. P.

Jones, and D. C. Hunkins; Assessor, James Den-

ison; Collector, Elijah Austin; Clerk, Isaac R.

Pentz; Justices of the Peace, William Kester and

George Dorrance; Overseer of the Poor, Isaac

Woodman; Constables, Jacob Chesrown and

Charles B. Kingsbury.

The first meeting of the Supervisors was on the

22d of May, at the house of the clerk, where the

first division of road districts was made. The

salary of the fir-t clerk was $4.30 for the first

year. At the first State election, in the fall of

1858, there were twenty-eight votes cast.

Town affairs have been managed in an honest

and economical way.

The officers of the town for 1882, are: Super-

visors, James Denison, Chairman, A. L. Austin,

and A. M. Harris; Clerk and Assessor, J. H. Pet-

teys; Treasurer, John D. Beardsley; Justices of

the Peace, T. C. Adams and M. S. Seymour; Con-

stables, T. J. Neil and John McNasney.

SHOOLS.

The following school districts are in the town of

Walcott, and a few items in relation to each will be

presented.

DisTBicT No. 35.—The first school here was in

the summer of 1857, in a blacksmith shop on sec-

tion thirty-two. The district was organized in the

spring of 1857, in the house of Jacob Chesrown

on section twenty-nine. In 1858, Miss Francis

taught in a house owned by Mr. Bird on section

thirty-three. The same year a log house was hired

on section twenty-one. The schoolhouse was built

in 1875, Miss Emma Cabot being the first teacher.

DiSTEioT No. 50.—In 1858, a part of the fore-

going district was set off and anew one formed. A
frame dwelling house was bought in Medford and

moved to where the schoolhouse now stands, on

section thirty-two. Miss S. Francis being the first

teacher, with twenty scholars. The present house

was built in 1876.
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District No. 12 was organized at the house of

Edward Jones in 1856, in section twenty-four, and

in the spring o£ 1857, a log house -was got up on

the same section, with two half windows for lighti

and Miss Arminta Newcomb called about twenty

pupils to order. In 1872, a frame house was con-

structed in section thirteen, near the town line and

so it is a union district.

DisTKiOT No. 38 came into existence on the 25th

of June, 1858, in section nineteen. A tax of $150

was raised to build a log house, which was 18x20

feet with six windows, one door, and a cottage

roof, located on section eighteen. James Denison

was the first instructor. In 1862, the house was

moved to section twenty. The schoolhouse now

standing was constructed in 1878. Miss Mary

Auldon had the honor of wielding the rod of au-

thority. The school now has twenty-five scholars.

It is quite likely that a new district will be

formed from the eastern part of No. 50, as it is so

inconvenient for many to get across the river to

school. In 1882, a private school with fourteen

pupils was taught on this side in a granary owned

by Bartlett Smith; Miss Maggie Foster was the

teacher.

DisTBioT No. 17.—This district was organized

in 1856, in the house of Isaac Woodman. The

house was built the same year, of logs or slabs,

and was 16x24 feet and had four windows and one

door and it was got ready for school purposes the

next year when Susie Frisbegwith taught the first

school. This building served until 1875, when the

district constructed a frame edifice, 18x28 feet, in

section eight, at a cost of $500. Miss Hattie

Howard inaugurated the first classes in the new

house.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

Laurits Andersen, a native of Denmark, was

born on the 22d of October, 1845. He emigrated

to Wisconsin in 1868? and one year later married

Miss Anna 0. Johnson, the ceremony taking place

on the 9th of April. They have one child. In

1871, they removed to Steele county, Minnesota,

and four yeara later to Kice county, where, in

1880, he purchased his present farm of one hun-

dred acres in Waloott, in sections eight and nine.

Jesse C. Castle was bom in Kome, Oneida

county. New York, on the 21st of July, 1858, and

removed to Minnesota in 1879. In 1881, he pur-

chased his present farm of one hundred and twenty

acres in Walcott, sections twenty and twenty-one.

He was married on the 24th of April, 1882, to

Minina L. Eeed, a native of Minnesota.

Chandler O. Castle was also born in Oneida

county, New York, on the 3d of June, 1826. He
was married in 1851, to Miss Elmira Knotgrass,

the ceremony taking place on the 20th of Novem-

ber. In 1878, he removed to this county where

he has two hundred acres of land in Walcott, sec-

tions twenty and twenty-one. Mr. and Mrs. Castle

have had four children, three of whom are living.

James Denison was born in New York, on the

3d of May, 1820, and while young removed with

his parents to Ohio. In 1840, he was united in

matrimony with Miss Mary McCochran, the cere-

mony taking place on the 13th of March. They

removed to Indiana in 1842, and in 1855, came to

Minnesota and located in Walcott, where he pre-

empted one hundred and sixty acres of land to

which he has since added one hundred and forty

acres. He has had a family of nine children, but

five of them are now dead. Mr. Denison was

Treasurer of the town in 1856, and Assessor and

Collector in 1859, and is the present Chairman of

the board of Supervisors.

E. O. Denlson, a son of James and Mary Den-

ison, was born in Indiana, his birth dating the 1st

of April, 1850. He came with his parents to this

township in 1855. He was joined in marriage

with Miss Barbara McEachran, on the 30th of

April, 1874. They moved to Redwood county,

but soon returned, and in the spring of 1881, pur-

chased eighty acres of land on section eighteen

adjoining his father's. His house was burned the

same spring, in April. Mr. and Mrs. Denison

have a family of three children.

Prank Decker was born in Tompkins county,

New York, on the 15th of July, 1848, and in 1864,

came to Minnesota, where he purchased land in

Walcott in section seventeen. His farm was

rented until three years ago, previous to which

time he was engaged in a feed store in Faribault.

His mother and sister reside with him on the

farm.

H. E. Eastling was born in Canada on the 1st

of January, 18— and removed to Michigan in

1862, and one year later to Rice county, Minne-

sota, where he purchased eighty acres of land in

Walcott, section twenty-nine. He was married in

June, 1865, to Miss Ellen Jane Kenslow, who has

borne him seventeen children, but eight of whom
are living, three girls, triplets, and five boys.
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Cathaeinb Grant was born in Canada on the

5th of May, 1812. She was married to William

Grant in 1829, and removed to Ohio in 1861. Her

husband died in 1865, and the following year she

removed to Minnesota with her six children, three

of whom are now married. She resides with her

son, D. W. Grant.

A. M. Haeris, a native of Lawrence county,

Pennsylvania, was born on the 1st of February,

1839. He was married on the 24th of Februaryj

1866. In 1868, they removed to Minnesota and

purchased eighty-eight acres of prairie land in

Walcott, section two, and Mr. Harris has since de-

voted his time in improving the same.

J. N. Howland was born in Barnstable, Mas-

sachusetts, on the 10th of May, 1838, where he

resided until 1852, then went to sea, was on the'

water six years, and on his return engaged at the

blacksmith trade. In 1862, he enlisted in the

Fortieth Massachusetts Infantry, Company E,

served fourteen months, then went to Boston,

where he engaged in gas fitting. Pe married

Miss Jane H. Mayhew, who died on the 27th of

February, 1862, and in 1868, he was again mar-

ried, his bride being Miss Ellen P. Weeks, the

ceremony taking place on the 20th of January.

In 1869, Mr. Howland came to Iowa, and in the

spring of 1872, returned to Boston, and two years

later came to Minneapolis. In 1878, he purchased

his present farm in Walcott, section thirty-two.

Of a family of five children, only two are living.

He was Assessor in 1879.

W. J. Johnstone was born in northern Ireland

on the 20th of June, 1830, and there prepared for

college, and in 1842, emigrated to New York,

where he finished his education at Union College.

In August, 1852, he married Miss Jessie Mills,

and the same year went to Freeport, Illinois,

where he taught a district school, Luther W.
Guiteau being one of the trustees, and his son

Charles J., then eleven years old, one of his

pupils. In 1854, Mr. Johnstone turned his at-

tention to theology, and in October, 1855, was or-

dained as a Presbyterian minister at Rock Eiver,

having charge of two parishes for ten years, then

changed his views and became an Episcopal cler-

gyman. He came to Faribault, assisted Dr.

Breck in the schools, and was the first to propose

the graded system in that place. In 1866, he was

rector of the parish, the next year went to Eoch-

ester and assumed the same duties, then returned

to Freeport, Illinois, and in 1871, went to Chi-

cago. After the great fire which destroyed his

parish there, he came, in July, 1872, to Stillwater

on account of failing health, and in 1874, to St.

Paul. He returned once more to Freeport,

and in 1876, came to his present place, where he

has since been engaged in farming. He has one

son now living in St. Paul.

Gboeqe W. Marks, deceased, was born in New
York on the 3d of May, 1819. He was married

in 1842, to Miss Phebe Jane Smith, the ceremony

taking place on the 4th of July. In 1854, they

came to Minnesota and pre-empted land in Wal-

cott, in section eleven. They had two children,

one of whom is living. The father died on the

29th of November, 1875. His widow and only

child, Charles W., are living on the old homestead.

Charles was born on the 22d of March, 1846, in

New York and came to Minnesota with his parents

in 1854. In 1863, he enlisted in the First Minne-

sota Mounted Eangers, Company H, and in 1864,

re-enlisted in the Third Minnesota Volunteer In-

fantry, Company H, and was discharged in Sep-

tember, 1865. On the 23d of October, 1875, he

married Miss Phoebe Jane Fish, who has borne

him one child.

John E. McLean was born in Quebec, Canada,

on the 27th of October, 1833, and when ten years

old moved to Upper Canada. In 1845, he re-

moved to Illinois and in 1850, to Faribault,

where he remained until 1864, then came to his

present farnj in Walcott. In 1866, he lost his

house by fire, then returned to Faribault, and in

1868, came again to this place. He married Miss

Catharine Faribault, who was born at the old

trading post of Mendota, and is a daughter of

Alexander Faribault, the first settler in this

county.

F. Mandell was born in Hardwick, Massa-

chusetts, on the 4th of April, 1852, and remained

there until 1874, when he came to Minnesota and

located in. Walcott in section twenty-nine. On the

30th of October, 1879, he was married to Miss

Lenora Nichols, who has borne him two children.

John M. MybrsIs a son of Nathaniel Myers, a

native of Washington county, Pennsylvania. The
former was born in Ohio on the 8th of January,

1828. On the 4th of July, 1854, he landed on his

present place in section twenty-eight. Mrs. Myers
was formerly Miss Hannah Dring. Of twelve

children born of this union, nine are Kving.
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T. J. Nral was born in St. Joseph county,

Miohigan, on the 16th of September, 1840. In

1864, he came to this coanty, and 1868, bought

his present farm of eighty acres in section thirty-

two, Waloott, moving on it in 1874. Twenty-one

acres were covered with heavy timber, the balance

was grub land, and he now has thirty-two acres

under cultivation. When he first came to the

State he worked in a saw-mill for Charles Wood.

HiLLiABD Nichols was bom in Maine on the

29th of June, 1809. He was united in marriage

in 1834, ta Miss Abbie Oopp, the ceremony taking

place on the 1st of April. In 1853, he went to

Massachusetts and run the express line in to Bos-

ton twelve years, then engaged in a grocery store.

They were blessed with one child, Aseneth, and

the mother died in December, 1855. In 1868, he

removed to Minnesota, and two years after located

on his present place in Walcott, on section twenty-

flve. On the 20th of March, 1872, Mr. Nichols

was married to Mrs. Bebecca Boyington, whose

maiden name was Williams. She was born in the

city of New York on the 2d of May, 1812, re-

moved with her parents to Ohio in 1824, and in

1830, to Indiana, where one year after she married

Gilbert Vail whom she bore eight children, six of

whom are living. She came to Minnesota in 1855,

and after her husband's death she married David

Boyington who died soon after the marriage, and

in 1872, she was united in matrimony with the

subject of our sketch.

Isaac E. Pentz, a native of Pennsylvania, was

born on the 12th of October, 1813, and removed

to Indiana in 1837. Miss Elizabeth Hall became

his wife on the 24th of August, 1846, and in Oc-

tober, 1854, they removed to Iowa. In May,

1855, Mr. Pentz visited Minnesota and the follow-

ing May brought his family and purchased one

hundred and sixty acres of land in Walcott, sec-

tion twenty-seven, and also one hundred and sixty

acres in section twenty, all of which he has now
under cultivation and well improved. Mr. and

Mrs. Pentz have been blessed with nine children,

six of whom are living, four boys and two girls.

Mr. Pentz served as Town Clerk in 1858, and was

Justice of the Peace a number of years.

A. B. Sexton was born in Oneida county, New
York, on the 15th of December, 1805. He was

married in 1831, to Miss Eliza Castle who has

borne him five children, four of whom are living.

In 1859, they came to Minnesota and purchased

their present farm of one hundred and sixty acres

in section eight and he has since devoted his time

to its improvement. He was a member of the

board of Supervisors in 1862, and again in 1866;

Assessor in 1865 and 1868. His daughter, Ann
Eliza Sexton, married Gaylord Sexton, who was

born in New York on the 29th of October, 1830,

and in 1867, came to this section of the country.

The marriage ceremony took place on the 12th of

January, 1858.

E. E. SmatiMdge was bom in Massachusetts on

the 2d of March, 1841. In 1855, he removed to

Walcott, Kice county, Minnesota, where he re-

mained three years then went to Faribault. In

1862, he was married to Miss Nellie Townseud, the

ceremony taking place on the 11th of March.

*,They have two children. In 1864, he removed to

Illinois but returned in two years to Walcott,

where he has eighty acres of land in section seven.

S. Baxtee Thompson, a native of New York,

dates his birth the 18th of July, 1830. In 1848,

he came to Wisconsin, from whence he went to

California in 1852, and in the fall of 1855, re-

turned to the former State. In 1856, he removed

to Warsaw, this county, and in 1862, pui'ohased

his farm in Walcott, section eighteen, to which he

has added one hundred and sixty acres. He was

married on the 10th of December, 1862, to Miss

Harriet Woods, who bore him one child, who soon

died. Mrs. Thompson died on the 30th of May,

1867. The maiden name of his present wife was

Miss Emma Lewis, whom he married in 1876.

They have a family of two children, both boys.

OleToeguson, a native of Norway, was born on

the 15th of February, 1825. He emigrated to

America in 1851, and worked in Iowa until 1856,

when he came to Minnesota and purchased land in

Walcott, in section sixteen, to which he has added,

making an aggregate of one hundred and thirty-

five acres. He has a timber farm about half of

which is under cultivation. On the 15th of March,

1860, Miss Martha Madelia Gabrielson became his

wife. The result of the union is ten children,

eight of whom are living.

D. C. Wood was born in Canada East on the

1st of April, 1850. In 1873, he removed to Kice

county, Minnesota, and in 1880, purchased a farm

in this township of his brother, J. W. It contains

three hundred and forty acres and is located in

sections seven, eight, and eighteen.
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FORERT.

CHAPTER LVIII.

GENERAL DESCRIPTION EABLX SETTLEMENT KB-

LIGIOUS BDUOATIONAL MILLEBSBUEG BIO-

GRAPHICAL

.

The township bearing this suggestive appella-

tion is in the northwestern part of Bice county,

and comprises the thirty-six sections of the con-

gressional township. It would be known in legal

and technical parlance as township 111, range 21

west, containing 23,040 acres. The contiguous

surroundings are Webster on the north, Wells on

the south, Bridgewater on the east, and Erin on

the west. The town is made up of rolling, and

in some places hilly, timber land, interspersed with

spots of prairie and natural meadow. There are

no bluffs, and few hills that are too abrupt for

agricultural purposes. When the township was

originally settled the prairie spots were, as a rule,

covered with patches of hazel brush, and here and

there lay acreg of natural meadow, seemingly pre-

pared and waiting for the plow. This, however,

has all been tranformed into the richest and most

fertile farms in the county.

The soil is mostly a black loam with a clay sub-

soil ; there is hardly any sand or lime stone in the

town. Good clear water can be obtained easily

within from twelve to fifteen feet.

There are a number of beautiful lakes nestling

among the hills, which all abound with fish of

various varieties, and because of the abundance

of the flnny species this locality was a favorite

resort for the Indians in an early day, many hun-

dreds of pickerel, pike, bass, etc., being secured

each season by the red-skias. Circle Lake is the

principal and the largest one in the towa. It is

situated in the geographical center of the town,

and takes its name from the fact that it makes a

complete circle, leaving an island in the center, of

97 acres. Just south of this is Fox Lake embrac-

ing about 200 acres. Union Lake extends into

the town in the northeast corner, and infringes on

section two. Lake Mazaska floods about one-half

of section thirty-one; and a little lake with tie

cognomen of "Mud" nestles in section eleven.

There are also numerous small streams in the

town. In an early day the Indians, in camping

in the vicinity of these lakes, made their perma-

nent camping ground upon land now owned by J.

W. Thompson, and they had opened and under a

fair state of cultivation a five- acre Indian corn

field. This was used to advantage by the present

owner, Mr. Thompson. Originally, in sections six

and seven, wild cranberries abounded, and many of

the early pioneers availed themselves of this

luxury, but of late years not much attention has

been paid to them and they have now become com-

paratively scarce. In 1856, from the northeast

quarter of section seven, John W. and Joseph

Thompson, and Albert Fillmore took $780 worth

of the' berries.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

When the first explorers of this township made
their appearance, they found the hills and inter-

spersed prairie spots covered with wild game and
the wild aborigines. The timber land was a forest

in the strictest sense of the word, and was almost

impenetrable, making the progress of the intro-

ducers of civilization very tedious and even

dangerous. Too much cannot be said in com-

mendation of the heroic manner in which the hills

and prairies were transformed into the beautiful

and fertile farms which now make up the territory

of "Circle Lake district."

The actual settlement in the locality commenced
in 1854, the honor of the "first settlership" being

due to William Henderson, who arrived in October

of that year, originally from Maine. He made his

way on foot from St. Paul, and. when he came to

consider that he "was monarch of all he surveyed,"

he made up his mind to avail himself of the op-
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portunity and take his "pick" of the fine farms in

the township. This he did by locating in the

northeastern part of the town on section two, at

the outlet of Union Lake. He at once put up the

frame of a small log shanty, and without com-

pleting it, remained to hunt and trap until he was

froze out when he "pulled up stakes" and went to

St. Paul to winter. The habitation he put up is

hardly deserving of the name of shanty, being

moi-e after the fashion of a "pen;" but this served

as shelter so long as the elements confined them-

selves to "horizontal" work as he was protected

by the sides of the pen,—which had three or four

logs for sides but no roof—when the elements re-

sorted to "perpendicular" measures, Henderson

had to make for the woods or get wet. As before

stated, after spending a few months on the ground

he went to St. Paul and spent the winter, in the

following spring again making his appearance,

this time bringing with him a small load of furni-

ture, his wife and her sister, an ancient maiden

lady. He took the claim that he had selected,

and on which Dr. Swain now lives, and commenced

opening a farm. Here he remained for about five

years when he left for parts unknown.

The next to east his lot among the lakes and

timber land of Forest was George Eaton, a young

man of grit and enterprise, ,who arrived a couple

of months later than Henderson and began call-

ing the southwest quarter of section eleven,

"home." He put up a small hewn log hut and

commenced trying to farm, but succeeded better

at trapping. This, it will be seen, commenced a

settlement; Henderson on section two, at the out-

let of Lake Union, and Eaton on section eleven,

one mile south, made a neighborhood, if two

neighbors will comprise one, and relived the mono-

tony of the solitude and comparative herraitage.

The next acquisition to the settlement was made

early in 1855, in the persons of Mr. Hill, John

Parker, and William Palmer, who aU located on or

near section nine, one mile west of the places set-

tled by Eaton and Henderson. Parker and Hill

had brought their families with them, and they at

once put up hewn log shanties. Hill brought in

with him one horse, and the other two, Parker

and Palmer, brought what they called '-a team on

snooks," or in other words, an ox team in which each

owned an interest. Then began a happy time in

the history of the early settlement, there being

just enough to have the entire party united with-

out bickering or hard feeling, and many social

gatherings were held that were enjoyed by aU.

And now, these pioneers being all safely housed

in their hewn log huts, we will take the reader

back one year while we bring tlie next comer across

Wisconsin and into Minnesota, with some of his

experience on the way to the Cannon Eiver Valley.

John W. Thompson arrived in Hastings on the

15th of June, 1854, on the famous old steam tug

"Galena," and found only one little log hut 12x14

there. He at once took a claim within two miles

of the present city of Hastings, and in company

with his brother Joseph, who had also made his

appearance, began making plans for erecting a log

cabin. John had bought an old horse of the In-

dians for $52, and he decided to haul logs for his

residence, but there appeared two difficulties to be

overcome, the logs which he had to build with

were across the Vermillion Kiver, he had no axe to

cut them with, and lastly, if they had their logs

cut, they had no harness with "which the horse

could draw them. After considerable trouble they

managed to buy an axe of their only neighbor tor

$5, and thus remedy that difficulty. Next came

the question of harness, and John W. Thompson

b-ithought a primitive way with which he con-

quered this. He went to the only hou83 in Has-

tings and succeeded in getting them to let him

have their "bed cord" and use boards in its stead,

while he took the heavy cord, and after doubling it

several times made a noose large enough for the

horse's neck, and slipping it over the head, and

extending the one tug between the legs of the

animal, his harness was complete, and he felt as
"

jubilant over it as if it were a gold-mounted, silver-

plated, four-in-hand outfit. The next proceeding

was to commence operations, and John "harnessed"

his horse, crossed the river, and hitched on to a

log; this was on the opposite side of the river to

that on which he wanted to build, and he stationed

his brother on the side Where the horse would

land. Then he started the horse into the river and

had him, by swimming, tow the log to the oppo-

site shore where Joseph was waiting to catch him.

In this way they succeeded in getting over a num-

ber of logs, but before they had got enough to

build, the Vermillion Kiver rose suddenly and be-

came so much of a torrent that they were obliged

to give it up for fear of drowning their horse, so

they abandoned the log idea entirely and resorted

to a shanty built of sods.
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They remained in Hastings for some time, but

finally the Indians became so troublesome, and

both the brothers being taken badly with the ague,

they decided to leave and look for "pastures

fresh." This they did, John W. making his way

eventually to his present home in Forest township,

and his brother Joseph going back to his former

place of residence in New York. The former ar-

rived and permanently located in May, 1856, hav-

ing been through the township twice previous to

this. He brought with him some furniture and

at once put up a small log shanty and commenced

opening the farm he now lives on. His farm near

Hastings he sold tor $283, and a few years later it

was sold for $12,000.

We will now carry the reader back to the time

of our digression, when we left a little settlement

of pioneers in the northeastern part of Forest, in

the Union Lake region. In the meantime the set-

tlers had made themselves very comfortable, con-

sidering their circumstances, and all were living

principally on deer meat and other wild game. In

this manner they spent the summer, a few of them

having put in a few potatoes, rutabagoes, etc., and

a rich harvest rewarded them; there were none,

however, but opened and prepared some land for

crop the following year.

In the fall of that year (1855) a nuinber of ar-

rivals were marked on the corner stakes of claims.

Leonard and Jacob Balyet, Joseph and Elijah

Houck, and John Craven, came together, aud all

took claims near Millersburg, a little south of the

settlement mentioned above. Of this party only

two now remain in the town, they are Leonard

and Jacob Balyet who are still on their original

claims.

Zebulon Sargent and John Jones came shortly

afterward and located in section twenty-seven, and

both with their families remain on their original

claims. They, in common with the rest of the

hardy pioneers, commenced Minnesota life in log

huts.

A few days after the arrival of the above par-

ties, there appeared three Norwegian families on

the scene, fresh from tiie pioneer life in Wisconsin,

and in covered wagons. As the season was getting

late and they bad their stock with them, thev con-

cluded to put up hay to last through winter be-

fore they erected cabins. This they did, and while

they were at work in the hay field the wife of one

of the emigrants was taken sick, and there, in the

covered wagon, was delivered of a girl baby. Both

mother and child lived, and the girl grew to

womanhood, was married, and now lives with her

husband and a large family of children on the

' identical spot where the wagon stood when the

birth occurred. This was the first birth in the

township.

This occurred in the fall of 1855, and brings

the settlement up to Christmas of that year, which

was observed in a limited way by most of the set-

tlers.

Early in 1856, Albert Fillmore and family, and

the following week, H. A. White, arrived and lo-

cated near Millersburg; and crowding after them

came James Fitzimmons and commenced laying

plans for the village of Millersburg. At the

same time should be chronicled the arrival of

George and Milo J. Sellon, John Wood, and E. P.

Taylor, who were brought in by- J. W. Thompson,

and all took claims, most of them in the neighbor-

hood of Millersburg.

August and William Demann took plSoes on

section twenty, where August still remains. In

the fall their brother Christian made his appear-

ance and still lives there, all of the brothers being

well-to-do farmers. When Christian first arrived

he purchased a fifteen-acre corner of his brother's

farm for $25 per acre, this being before the land

came into market; he could have secured a whole

quarter for the same amount of money, but not

knowing it he paid the money for fifteen acres.

This amount of land being gone from the corner

of his brother's farm "spoiled the sale of the

quarter," and Christian refused to sell the fifteen-

acre corner at any price, saying that if he was

cheated at first he would come out ahead at last.

The farm his fifteen acres infringes on is now
without tenants.

This brings us to a period when the rush to this

country became a sort of stampede, and as it will

be impossible to trace them in regular order, we

will only mention the arrival of a few notable

personages.

The richest man that ever lived in the town

made his appearance in the latter part of 1856, in

the person of Frederick Fisher, from Milwaukee.

He brought with him forty-one head of stock, and

two large wagon loads of furniture and goods.

It being late in the season he decided to follow the

example of the Norwegians in the fall before, and

put up hay for his stock before he erected a cabin,
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and afterward put up a substantial log house.

Here lie lived for a unmber of years, but was very

unfortunate in almost all his undertakings. His

wife was burned to death a few years after his ar-

rival, by the explosion of a kerosene lamp—auch a

thing as a lamp being at that time a novelty and a

curiosity. He expended all of his means in a few

years and removed to parts unknown. One inci-

dent connected with his early pioneering may

prove of interest. He brought in with him a very

large and fierce dog which it was said could

"down" an ox, and intended it for protection

against the wild beasts. One noon, at the time

when Fisher and his family were living in wagons

and making hay, immediately after their arrival,

they left the hay field, and while gone to dinner

the large dog went down to the field where a pack

of wolves were heard howling and barking, and

from the high point where the wagons were, over-

looking the meadow, they saw a fierce fight going

on between wolves and dog, and by the time they

got upon the ground all that was left of the dog

was the shining skeleton which had been picked

clean by the voracious pack.

The first death in the township was John Parker

who died in the fall of 1855. He was buried in

solitude under an oak tree near the cabin where he

lived in section ten, and now, the road having been

changed, passes immediately over his grave.

Antoinb Moshbk.—Although this personage

was not, properly speaking, an early settler in

Forest, he was a very early pioneer in Minnesota,

and was undoubtedly among the first to explore,

trap, and hunt through this region. As he sub-

sequently settled in Forest, and was for a number

of years identified with Bice county, he deserves

more than a passing notice. Antoim.' Moeher came

from Canada in 1829, to Wisconsin and Minnesota,

when these now wealthy States were without even

a name, and commenced to work for the Hudson

Bay Fur Company for $20 per month and "found;"

this was the contract, but Mosher said years after-

ward that he went to one of the proprietors ' not

long after commencing work, and told him that

he had not received anything to eat, and that ac-

cording to the contract the company had to "find"

him. The proprietor took him in at a glance and

said sarcastically, "If you get lost we'll guarantee

to find you, but if you want any meat you had

better find it or starve."

After this he wandered about through the North-
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west, hunting and trapping for a number of years,

and was finally married to a Winnebago squaw at

the wild spot where Hastings now is, and several

children were the result of this union, all of whom
disappeared except one son, Edward. The old

man began to get rich, the squaw being a thrifty

wife and a scheming money maker, and by making

lucky hits he became owner of a portion of the

town sites of Prescott, Minneapolis, and Bod

Wing, and was for years considered the richest

man west of the Mississippi Biver, it being frankly

stated by him that he did not know how much he

was worth.

In 1862, Mosber's son, Edward, who had mar-

ried a beautiful but extravagent half-breeJ, enlisted

in Company F, of the Seventh M' nesota Volun-

teer Infantry, and went into the Indian war leav-

ing his wife at home with his father. He was in

active service all through the Indian war, after

which he was sent south, and in the fall of 1864,

returned home sick and in a short time died, Isav-

ing his wife in the care of his father. The follow-

ing year, 1865, the fathers wife, llie Winnebago

woman, died, and he man-led the widow of liis de-

ceased son. In 1868, he came to Forest, and of all

his enormous fortune which he had accumulated

through the carefulness and thrift of bis former

wife, through the extravagance of his last wife

only $600 remain, " In a few years this and his

farm had been squandered by the cruel woman,

and his credit so low that he could not get tobacco.

His httle farm was finally taken on a mortgage

and he moved to Lac Qui Parle where he died a

iew years since, his wife having ruined and de-

serted him.

POMTICAIi.

The town of Forest was not behind the neigh-

boring towns in organizing and starting the local

governmental wheels. The first meeting was held

on that inevitable 11th of May, 1858, at the resi-

dence of James Fitzimmons, now the Millersburg

Hotel, and after organization the following

ofBcials were elected : Supervisors, Elias F. Taylor,

Zebuion Sargent, and Charles Brand; Clerk, Alex-

ander Smith; Assessor, Joseph L. Houck; Justices

of the Peace, George Miller and John B. Bartlett;

Constables, Milo J. Sellon and John W. Sargent;

Overseer of the Poor, John Jones. The clerk of

this meeting was J. F. Donaldson, and S. A. Hen-

derson, moderator. Three of the first of&cers are

stiU residents of the township.
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In 1881, a neat and substantial Town Hall was

erected in Millersburg, which is used for town

meetings, etc.

LBSTEB POST-OFPICB.

This convenient office was established in 1871,

at the instigation of J. "W. Thompson, and is

situated on the southwest quarter of section eight,

in the northwestern part of the town. The office

is very useful to the settlers in this vicinity and

undoubtedly supplies the largest number of in-

habitants of any country office in the county. J.

W. Thompson was appointed first Postmaster, and

still retains the office to the satisfaction of his con-

stituents. The business of the office amounts to

about $100 per annum. It is on mail route No.

26,148, extending from Northfield to Lester ma

Union Lake, once a week.

BELIGIOUS.

Forest township is well represented as to religious

creeds, and the way the professors' zeal is exhibited

is truly commendable. Service is scarcely ever

held in the town without a fair attendance, and

there are a, couple of very good churches which

are the outgrowth of this interest. When
the settlement of Germans first commenced there

was a large majority of them who belonged to the

Evangelical faith, but, strange to say, the feeling

has insidiously changed, and to-day there is only

one of this belief in the township.

Methodist.—This denomination organized in

Forest as early as 1857, when religious service was

held by a pioneer minister from Faribault. They

soon after erected a hewn log house of worship on

the south shore of Circle Lake, in section twenty-

seven. This log house was sold in 1877, up to

which time they had service in it. Since then

they have had no regular place of worship, hold-

ing service in the various schoolhousea in the town-

ship. The pulpit is now supplied irregularly by

the minister of the Dundas charge.

Baptist.—Services were held among the Ger-

mans of this society as early as 1858, in the school-

house of district No. 66 by Bev. August Stegner,

with an average attendance of forty during the

first year. The denomination organized in 1859,

and had the most flourishing society of any simi-

lar organization in the county. In 1866, they had

an average attendance of eighty. A Sunday

school was also organized, which has now a strong

membership, there being about seventy-five pupils.

The pulpit of the church is supplied by the Bev-

erends August Bieohel and Oarl Hirdler.

There is also an organization of Americans of'

the same faith, which was started in 1860. They

hold service m the schoolhouse of district No. 19

and other parts of the town, now having a mem-

bership of about thirty. «

Swedish Luthekan.—The organization of a re-

ligious sect by this name was efi'eoted in 1877, and

in 1878 they erected a neat church, size 34x60 feet,

at a cost of about $1,000, on section nine. The

first service was held in the house of Christian

Lundstrom by Bev. M-r. Anderson, of St. Paul, to

an audience of about seven. Next came Bev. Mr.

Vallien, and the present minister Bev. Mr. Ander-

son succeeded him. They have seventy members,

and an average attendance of 170. Services are

held every third Sunday.

MiiiiiEBiTBS.—In 1856, George M. Miller, a

brother of the man who, early in the forties,

seriously agitated the Christian- world by announc-

ing that he had unraveled the intricacies of proph-

ecy and made the startling discovery that the lit-

eral world would come to an end in 1843, on the

'• tenth day of the seventh month," which would

be in September, came to town and began to

propogate these doctrines. Of course he preached

as a " dying man to dying men," extending his

circuit throughout the greater part of the State,

proclaiming that he " preached without money and

without price." Several of the brothers moved in

and about Millersburg and succeeded in increasing

their force to about ten, but here it remained for a

time and finally began to droop.- They have at

last disappeared almost entirely, there not being

at the present time more than two in the town.

EDUCATIONAli.

The first move made in the town towards

educating the young, took place in the spring of

1857, in a log house near the residence of Zebulon

Sargent, in what is now district No. 19, with six

youngsters on the benches. This was the first dis-

trict organized.

The schools in the town are all in good financial

condition, and thriving with a good attendance of

scholars. There are six frame and one brick

schoolhouse, employing one teacher in each. The

sahools average about forty-five scholars, making

about 315 in the town. The total value of school

property is about $5,000. In 1881, the township
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received $1,065 from the school apportionment

fund.

Below is given a brief sketch of the various

districts, so far as the memories of old settlers can

furnish.

DiSTEioT No. 19.—The first school in this edu-

cational division was called to order by Elisha

Houtks in the spring of 1857, with six scholars

present, in the residence of Zebulon Sargent.

The first school board was composed of Zebulon

Sargent, John Bartlett, and Hugh Smith. A
schoolhouse was erected soon after, and was the

first school building in the township. The pres-

ent building is located in the northern part of

section twenty-six.

District No. 20.^This is the district embrac-

ing the village of Millersburg and surrounding

territory. The first school was taught by Ellen

Cress, in a log house on section- eleven, belonging

to Mr. Eaton; this took place in 1857, and there

were ten scholars in attendance. The first school

j-ficers were Messrs. Taylor, Dunham, and Geo.

W. Miller. A schoolhouse was erected the year

after organizing, 1858, which lasted for a number

of years when they erected their present house in

the western part of the village.

DiSTBiCT No, 29.—This district embraces ter-

ritory in the towns of both Forest and Bridge-

water, and the first sooool was held in the latter

town by Mrs. Crosby in the winter of '57, with an

attendance of nine pupils. The district was organ-

ized soon after, and in 1859, a log schoolhouse

was put up at a cost of about $150, on section

twenty-four. This served the purpose until 1870,

when it was dispensed with and the present cosy

frame house erected in the northeastern part of

section twenty-five. There are now about thirty-

five scholars who receive instruction here.

DiSTEiOT No. 56.—This subdivision effected an

organization in 1864, and embraces the territory

in the northeastern part of the town. The first

officers were: N. H. Swain, Clerk; B. Burton,

Treasurer, and H. M. Humphrey, Director. The

district has a neat frame building in the northeast

corner of section two. The present school board is

made up of: N. H. Swaia, Clerk; Alex. Walters,

Treasurer; and Benedict Wyman, Director. The

school has an attendance of about sixteen pupils.

DiSTBiCT No. 65.—The organization of this

district was effected in the early part of 1862, the

first meeting being held in Alexander Smith's

house on the 2d of April in that year, electing the

following as the first oflicers : Director, Ole Han-
son; Treasurer, John Jones; Clerk, John K. Bart-

lett. The first school commenced on the 27th of

July, 1862, and was taught by Miss Georgiana

Stevens, with twelve scholars registered, being

held in a house rented for the purpose. In 1863,

a house was erected at a cost of about $200, in the

northern part of section thirty-four. The present

officers are Ole EUingson, Hans Hanson, and A.

Frederickson ; the school enrolls thirty-seven

scholars at the present time. .

DisTEiCT No. 66.—Was organized in March,

1857, J. W. Tohmpson being the main factor in its

institution. The first meeting was held at the

residence of James Craven, on the date above men-

tioned, and Joseph Thompson was made Treasurer;

J. W. Thompson, Clerk, and James Craven, Direc-

tor. The clerk, J. W. Thompson, has held the

office up to the present day, being the oldest con-

tinuous school officer in the county. The first

school was held in the suiu i aer of l :}58, in J. W.
Thompson's new frame house, by Miss Murdock,

with twelve pupils in attendance; the following

few years until 1861, school was held in various

places, but in this year the inhabitants of the dis-

trict agreed and "voted" that each should furnish

their share of material and build a schoolhouse by

subscription. They then all turned out and se-

lected a site, and while the excitement was high, J.

W. Thompson mounted a log and put it to them

how much each would furnish. Promises were

made recklessly, and when Mr. Thompson said to

William Demann, "How much will you give ?" he

received the reply, "I will give 200 feet of liimber."

A brother of this liberal speaking gentleman,

August, was next asked, and he yelled, "If he gives

200 I will give 500 feet!" Next came another

brother. Christian Demann, who said, "If he gives

500 / iCj'B jfiw 1000 /t'eZ/" Others chipped in and

told what they would give, but as usual in such

cases the matter dropped and nothing was got

toward a schoolhouse, so the matter stood at this

point until after the war terminated, in 1865, when

the school clerk, J. W. Thompson, got back from

the war a cripple. He made out papers for a

meeting, while in bed, and the meeting thus

called voted $150 to put up a log schoolhouse,

12x24 feet. This lasted until 1879, when it was

sold at auction for !S6.25, and the present neat brick

house erected in section seventeen, size, 18x26 feet,
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at a cost of $525, being the best house in the

township for school purposes. The present school

board is composed of J. W. Thompson, John

Evert, and Frederick Prinzing.

District No. 97.—^This district was formed by

the County Commissioners in March, 1869, and

the first meeting was held at the house of Bobert

N. Smith, on the 27th of March of that year, the

district being substantially organized by the

election of A. Gillander, director; Robert N.

Smith, treasurer; and Simon Taylor, clerk. A
schoolhouse was put up in 1870, at a cost of

$385, the size of which is 20x26 feet and twelve

, foot posts, in the southeastern part of section

twelve. Miss Belle Van Emmons was the first

teacher, with ten scholars in attendance. The (at-

tendance is now fifteen pupils. The present

school board is A. Gillander, director; J. E.

Crosby, treasurer; and Gilbert Fish, clerk.

District No. 105.—This is the youngest dis-

trict in the township. It was set off and made a

separate organization on the 7th of September,

1878, having formerly been connected with No.

66. The first board was made up of H. 0. Oleson,

director; August Eiechel, treasurer; and J. W.
Thompson, clerk. In 1879, the board voted an

appropriation of $350 for a school building, 16x24

feet. This house was finished in May, 1880, at a

cost af $416, and is the one now in use on the

northeastern part of section seven. The first

school taught in this district was in C. O. Persons'

old log house, with fourteen scholars present, the

teacher being Catherine Deming. The district

paid Mr. Persons $15 for the rent of the shanty

for three months, the owner's valuation of the

same being $10. The present school officers are:

Nels Larson, director; August Eiechel, treasurer;

and J. W. Thompson, clerk.

MILIiBHSBURa VIIiiAGB.

This is the only village in the town of Forest,

and in it at one time laid all the hopes and aspira-

tiaDS, in this line, of the entire country surround-

ing it; but this, like many other similar enter-

prises shattered the fond hopes and anticipations,

after a brief struggle, and was laid on the shelf as

a thing of yore. It started with fair prospects,

advantages of a good location, etc., but the non-

arrival of a hoped for railway, with its accompa-

nying benefits, coupled with the opposition of

larger and surrounding towns, finally used the

struggling village up, and it was declared mori-

hund. '

The first settlement on the village site com-

menced in 1855, when James Fitzimmons came

and pre-empted 160 acres where the village is, and

opeijed it as a farm. In the spring following he

sold to George W. Miller, who also took some

other land.

Mr. Miller soon afterward platted the village

and recorded it as Millersburg. He also put up a

mill and a hotel. Next a store was started by

Albert Fillmore just out of the -village limits.

He made up his mind to start an establishment,

and went to the cranberry marsh on sections six

and seven and gathered a load of berries. These

he marketed, and with the proceeds thereof started

the fii'st store in Millersburg. He ran this store

one year and a half, Vhen the calamity of bank-

niptcy overtook him, and he went to Minne-

apolis, but hiis since died.

The next store was started by Thomas«Adamsin

the fall of 1858, who opened a building opposite

the hotel and put in a stock of groceries and gen-

eral merchandise. He succeeded in withstanding

the pressure for about one year, when the fate of

the former merchant overtook him and he removed

to Dundas.

In 1857, the first blacksmith shop was started

by Mr. Sellon in the same building that was af-

terwards converted into Adams' store. It was

operated as a "bellows and anvil" establishment

for about one year, when Mr. Sellon retired. There

have been a number of blacksmith shops started,

and now there are three in operation : Elof John-

son's, James Strange's, and Mr. Anderson's. The

Jatter son of Vulcan still retains the good old

fashioned way of shoeing horses in which each

man that wants a horse shod must hold its foot up

while the manipulator drives the nails.

Millersburg Hotel was originally started when

the town was platted by the proprietor, George

W. Miller, in 1857.

MibLEESBDRG PosT-OPFioE.—This Post-offlce

was established in 1859, and was located in the

village bearing the same name. Geo. W. Miller

was the first appointed to handle the mail. He held

the office for a number of years, and his son,

George A. Miller, is the present Postmaster.

Manufacturing.—The only saw-mill ever oper-

ated in the town of Forest was started at Millers-

burg in 1856, by James Fitzimmons. It was run
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by steam with a fifteen horse-power engine, and

was equipped with a perpendicular saw, the

capacity being about 4,000 feet per day. The

mill was run in this shape until 1862, when a cir-

cular saw was .substituted for the perpendicular,

and the mill became the property of George W.

Miller. He ran the mill and placed one run of

feed stones in it, continuing until 1875, when it

was sold to Mr. Eobbins, and in 1880 moved to

Montgomery, Le Sueur county, where the latter

gentleman still resides. He also owns most of the

Millersburg village property.

The village now contains the hotel, in which is

kept the Post-office, and the blacksmith shops.

Through some illegality in recording the village

plat, or some non-concurrence with some techni-

cal form, the lots and blocks of the village have

reverted to, and for the last few years have been

assessed as farm propeety.

BIOGBAPHIOAI;.

William An Dike was born in Huntingdon

county, Pennsylvania, in 1829, was reared as a

farmer and learned the blacksmith trade. In

1850, he removed to Dixon, Lee county, Illinois,

where he engaged at his trade and farming. In

1854, he was married to Mary Jane Kobinson, of

Pennsylvania. They came to Minnesota the fol-

lowing year and located a farm in Cannon City,

and in 1864, removed to Forest in section twenty-

six, and followed his trade and farming iintil 1877,

since which time farming lias been his occupation.

Mr. and Mrs. An Dyke have had eight children,

four of whom are living, four having died in in-

fancy.

E. M. Baenbtt was born in Hamilton county,

Ohio, in 1828, and at the age of two and a half

years removed with his parents to Michigan ; four

years later to Wisconsin, and thence, in two years,

to Linn county, Iowa, where they were the first

settlers of the county. Our subject lived in Iowa

seventeen years and there received his education

being reared as a farmer. In 1852, he married

Miss Margaret Wolmering, the ceremony being

performed in Dubuque. In 1855, he removed to

Cannon City, Kice county, but pre-empted land in

Goodhue county and improved ten acres; six

months later he came again to Cannon City, built

the second frame house in the place and worked at

blacksmithing. He remained there three years,

then removed to Faribault and engaged at the

same employment two years, at the end of which

time he came to Forest and bought his present

farm of eighty acres, most of which is improved.

He has three children ; John W., twenty-nine years

old; Francis B., twenty-six, and Ida May, twentyr

four years old. The latter is married and lives in

Douglas county. Mr. Barnett has been a mem-
ber of the school board several times. His father

died in Nebraska and his mother in Iowa.

J. W. Babnbtt was born in Clayton county,

Iowa, in 1853. He received a good education in

the college of Faribault and graduated at Shay-

lor's Commercial College in Michigan. In 1861,

his parents came to Eice county and located on a

farm. In 1873, J. W. made a trip through Michi-

gan and the eastern States returning to this county

and buying land in Forest township in 1875. His

parents and one brother live in this township and

a sister lives in Alexandria in this State.

Jacob Balltet was born in Ohio in 1835, and

reared on a, farm, receiving a common school

education. In 1854, he removed to Wisconsin and

one year later came to Rice county and located in

Forest on section fourteen, where he has since been

engaged in farming. In 1861, he enlisted in the

Third Minnesota Kegiment; was taken prisoner at

Murfreesborough, Tennessee, and paroled, then re-

turned home and served three months under Gen.

Sibley against the Indians. He again went south;

was at the siege of Vicksburg and mustered out of

service in 1864. Mr. Ballyet has been Town

Treasurer ten years and one of the board of Super-

visors one year.

John W. Beoklex was . born in Clay county,

Indiana, in 1849, and at the age of seven years, re-

moved with his parents to Minnesota. The latter

now live in Holden, Goodhue county. John re-

ceived his education in this State and grew to man-

hood on a farm. He taught school four years and

worked at the mason trade. He was married in

Holden in 1876, to Miss Adelia Engel, a native of

Wisconsin, and the same year they came to Eice

county, settling in this township, section twelve,

where he has since been engaged in farming. He
has eighty acres of land, all of which is well im-

proved and supplied with good buildiogs. Mr.

and Mrs. Beokley have three children; Elmer J.,

five years of age; Wesley B., three years old, and

Alfred, one year old. They are members of the

Methodist church.

S. W. CusHMAN is a native of Connecticut, bom
in 1824, received an education in his native State
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and studied medicine for a time. When twenty

years of age he went to Massachusetts and clerked

for two years in a hotel and one year in a dry

goods store. He then went to buying and selling

horses and studied for a veterinary surgeon which

employment he followed till 1853, when he re-

moved to Wisconsin and engaged in butchering

one year, then went to Michigan and engaged in

mercantile pursuits for the same length of time.

In the fall of 1856, he came to Minnesota, located

at Northfleld and started a restatirant and was

also dealing in horses tor four years. He then re-

moved to Iowa and engaged in buying and

shipping stock; returning to this State, he settled

in Waseca and followed the same employment. In

1873, he came to Millersburg, locating on section

fourteen where he has since kept a hotel and car-

ried on a farm. Mr. Cushman has been twice

married, his first wife being Miss Mary Farr, a

native of Vermont, whom he married in New Hamp-
shire in 1846. They have one child, a son, now
living in the northern part of the State. His pres-

ent wife was formerly Miss Luoinda Gilbert, a

native of Bochester, New York. They have one

child, Charlie 1'., fifteen years of age.

August Dbmann was horn in Germany and came

to America in 1856. He located in this township

in section twenty-one, where he has a farm of two

hundred acres of improved land with a brick

house, barns, etc. He enlisted in the army in

1864, and served eight months. Mr. Demann has

a wife and nine children, all of whom are living at

home.

John L. Dunham was born in New Jersey in

December, 1822, was educated and lived on a farm

in his native State. In April, 1856, he came to

Forest, and pre-empted land in section thirty. He
helped to organize a colony to emigrate, in Brook-

lyn, New York, and is the only one of the colony

now living in Minnesota. In 1858, Mr. Dunham
purchased a farm in section fifteen where he still

resides. He was married in May, 1862, to Miss

Sarah M. An Dyke, a native of Pennsylvania.

She died at the age of fifty-one years; was a mem-
ber of the Baptist church and is buried on his

farm. Mr. Dunham has again married. He has

held town ofiices every year since the organiza-

tion of this township, and has always taken an ac-

tive part in maintaining schools, sabbath schools,

and churches.

Gilbert Fish was born in Ohio in 1838, and

when nine years of age removed with his parents to

Wisconsin, where he received his education and

was reared on a farm. He was married in 1860,

to Miss Cornelia A. Dumond, a native of New
York. In 1862, he enlisted in the Eighteenth

Wisconsin Volunteer Infantry, serving till the

close of the war, a period of three years and three

months; was taken prisoner twice, once at Shiloh

on the 6th of April, 1862, 'and again at Atlanta,

Georgia. He was mustered out at Milwaukee and

soon removed to Bice county, locating in Forest in

section twelve, where he has since been engaged in

farming. Mr. Fish has been a member of the

board of Supervisors two years, being Chairman

one year and a member of the school board for

Si vera] terms, being very active in all school

matters. He has a family of five children; Elmer,

twenty years of age; Addie seventeen; Bertha,

fourteen ; George twelve, and Ida, ten.

John D. Gilbbbt, a native of New York, was

born in 1840, and came with his parents to Mich-

igan in 1847, remaining, however, but two years,

when they moved to Ohio, where J. D. grew to

manhood and received a common schoul educa-

tion. In 1859, he removed to Forest, Bice county,

located in section two and has since been engaged

in farming. In 1861, be enlisted at Cleveland,

Ohio, in the United States Fourth Artillery, Com-

pany I, serving three years and receiving his dis-

charge at Nashville, Tennessee. He was married

in 1866, his bride being Miss Martha Craven, a

native of Pennsylvania. They have six children,

all living at home. Mr. Gilbert's father died in

Millersburg at the age of eighty-six years and his

mother at the age of eighty-two. His only broth-

er died in the army.

Samuel Halloook was born in England in 1841,

and came with his 23arents to America at the age

of four years. They first located in Ehode Island,

and also lived in New Hampshire, Connecticut,

and Massachusetts, but in ten years came to Illin-

ois, where Samuel attended school and engaged

in farming. In 1865 he enlisted in the One Hun-
dred and Fifty-fifth Illinois Volunteer Infantry

,

and served till the close of the war. He was mar-

ried in Illinois, in 1867, to Miss Hannah J. Hatch,

of New York. They have had eight children,

seven of whom ar§ living. In June, 1876, they

came to Forest, and engaged in farming, which is

stUl his employment. Mr. Hallcock has been

school Treasurer five years.
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WiLiiiAM HAMiLii was bom in England in 1812,

received his education in his native country and

learned the trade of a cotton spinner. He emi-

grated to America in 1830, locating in Michigan,

and was engaged in farming in that State five

years, then removed to Massachusetts and was

employed as a spinner in a cotton factory, but re-

turned to Michigan in 1837, and engaged with

Judge Sibblay one year. In 1838, he enlisted in

the Fourth Artillery, served five years and then

went to Detroit, and from there to Jackson, where

he was watchman in the depot. In 1854, Miss

Phoebe Wooley became his wife, and two years

later they came to Eice county and located in

Forest in section one. In 1862, Mr. Hamill went

to Idaho and was gone eighteen months, then re-

turned home and has since devoted his time to

agricultural pursuits. He has had three children,

two of whom are living; William H., twenty-six

years old, and Mary E., twenty years of age.

Moses died' at the age of six years.

Oaei; B. HiBDiiBB, a native of Germany, was

born in 1828, and grew to manhood in his native

country. He learned the shoemaker's trade. In

1851, Miss Mary Mism became his wife, and in

1860, they emigrated to America, located in New
York City and engaged at his trade for a time;

then moved to Milwaukee, Wisconsin, and thence

to Michigan, where he farmed twelve years. In

1875, he removed to Jackson county, Minnesota,

and in August, 1876, came to Eice county, locat-

ing on a farm in Forest, section nine, where he

still resides. He has one hundred and nineteen

acres of land, nearly all of which is improved with

good buildings. Mr. and Mrs. Hirdler have had

ten children, seven of whom are living, five in this

county and two in St. Louis, Missouri. One child

died on the ocean and two in Michigan. Mr.

Hirdler has devoted some time to the practice of

medicine. He has been Town Clerk and was Justice

of the Peace in Jackson county. He and his

wife and four children are members of the Second

Advent Church, and he is Superintendent of the

Sabbath school.

Nils Labson was bom in Sweden in 1834, re-

ceived a common school education and was reared

on a farm. He was married in 1860 to Miss Marma
Andrias. In 1869, he came to America and located

in Michigan, remained there part of one year, then

removed to Wisconsin and one year later to Minne-

sota. He engaged in a mill in Wells, Eice coun-

ty, and in 1871 purchased one hundred and sixty

acres of land in Forest, section seven, where he is

still conducting a farm. His family came from

the "old country" in 1871. There are four chil-

dren, all living in this State. Mr. Larson is Con-

stable and also school director. Mr. and Mrs.

Larson are members of the Lutheran church in

Christdala, where he is a deacon.

John Majoe was bom in Canada in 1829, and
his native place claimed him as a resident until

the age of manhood, being educated there and

reared as a farmer. In 1849, he came to Jefferson

county. New York, and engaged in Watertown as

a carpenter and joiner. He was married on the

3d of July, 1853, to Miss Lenora A. Lyman, and

in four years they came to Forest and located on

a farm in section fourteen, where he has one hun-

dred and forty-five acres, nearly all improved. He
has been a member of the toTin and school boards

several terms. He had one adopted child, George

E., who was drowned in Wolf Creek on the 16th of

June, 1881, at the age of twenty-four years. Mr.

Major is a member of the Second Advent church.

Jacob Meyeb was born in Germany in 1827,

reared on a farm and received a common school

education in his native plane. He served in the

German army for three years and five months. In

1853, Miss Marylina Cenen became his wife. They

came to America the following year and settled on

a farm in Wisconsin, remaining twelve years.

Since 1869 Mr. and Mrs. Meyer have been resi-

dents of this place engaged in farming. They

have had seven children, six of whom are living.

C. F. MiLiiEB was born in 1831, in New York,

which was his home until the age of twenty-seven

years, graduating from the Cortland Academy.

He was married in 1856 to Miss Louisa Wright, a

native of Massachusetts. Mr. Miller was engaged

in wagon making in Waterloo, Iowa, for two and

a half years, then in farming three years. He came

to this place in a '-prairie schooner" and locat-

ed in section twenty-five, where he now lives. In

1871, he rented his place and went to St. Jo, Michi-

gan, where he engaged in fruit culture, but re-

urned to his farm after one year's absence.

When there, his son, Orlaud D., aged twelve years,

was drowned while bathing in the river, on the

5th of August, 1872. He has six children living,

and all but one at home; Clarence E. is in Wash-

ington, Dakota. Mr. Miller, in company with

Mr. Kinney, introduced sugar cane growing and
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manufacture in this county. He is a member of

the school board, and he and his wife are members

of the Congregational church.

G. A. MiLLBB is a son of G. W. Miller, who -was

born in New York in 1818, and lived in his native

State until 1857, when he came to Forest and

purchased land where Millersburg now stands,

giving the place his name. He built and run the

first saw-mill in the county, and was an energetic

man in all improvements. He died in 1876, at

the age of fifty-eight years. His wife died in New
York, and is buried there. Our subject, G. A., was

born in New York in 1846, and came with his

father to this State. He was married in 1871 to

Miss Amanda Enss, and they have a family of

three children. He has been Town Clerk, and a

member of the school board.

James CGkady, deceased ine of the pioneers

of Forest, was born in Ireland in 1800. In 1838,

he brought his family to America, located first in

Oswego county and then in Steuben county. New
York, remained until 1851, and removed to Mc-

Henry county, Illinois, where he engaged in farm-

ing four years. He then came to Minnesota and

located in this township, on section twenty, giving

his whole time to his farm until his death in 1875.

He had a family of eleven children. His son

Timothy O'Grady was born on the 15th of June,

1837, and made his home with his father until his

death. Ir; 1855, he came to this county and

staked out a c' rim in section one in Wells, then

reurned to Illinois, and in 1856, came to Forest,

where he pre-empted land in section twenty-two.

He afterward gave the farm to his father, and

after his death it became Timothy's. In 1860, he

purchased more land in the township and carries

that on in connection with the old homestead.

Mr. O'Grady is a member of the County Board of

Commissioners, and has been Chairman of the

Board of Supervisors five or six years and Asses-

sor one year. In 1881, he married Miss Mary
Jane Shield, and they have one child, Mary Ann.

0. O. Pebsons was bom in Sweden in 1846,

and his native country claimed him as a resident

until he reached the age of twenty-three. He at-

tended common schools and was reared on a farm.

He came to America, remaining only three years,

then returned to Sweden, and in April, 1873, was

married, returning to this country the following

month. He located in Meeker county, Minnesota,

and engaged in farming. While there he was a

member of the Board of Supervisors and of the

School Board. In 1876, they removed to North-

field township, and two years later to Forest, set-

tling on section eight, where he still resides, hav-

ing one hundred and sixty acres of land, ninety-

five of which is improved. He is Aesessor at pres-

ent, and has held the ofBoe four years, and was

census enumerator in 1880. Mr. Persons and wife

are members of the Swedish Lutheran Church,

and he is Secretary and Treasurer of the same.

They have had five children, four of whom are

living.

AtTGUST EiECHEL, a native of Germany, was

born in 1819, and there grew to manhood; re-

ceived an education in the common schools and

learned the blacksmith trade. He was niarried in

1855, to Miss Christine Luckert, and two years

later they emigrated to America; remained a short

time in New York City, tlien went to Newark,

New Jersey, where Mr. Eiechel engaged at his

trad part of one year. He removed from there to

p. Amboy, and one year and a half later to Wil-

lis liSburgh, working in a cork factory in both

places. In 1861, he came to Forest, and located

on section eighteen, where he built a log house

and remained till 1875, then removed to section

seven, where they still reside, having two hundred

and fifty acres of land. He has been a member of

the school board, and is at present treasurer of the

same. Mr. and Mrs. Eiechel have had ten chil-

dren, six of whom are living; Adolph, twenty-six

years of age; Annie Eaohel, twenty-two years;

August, twenty years; Henry, eighteen years;

Willie, sixteen years; and Martha, eight years

of age. Those dead are Hannah, who died in

New Jersey, in infancy ; Edward, who was acci-

dentally shot in his father's house in E'orest, and

Albert and Emma, who died in infancy.

Z. L. Sabgbnt was born in Maine in 1818, and

grew to manhood on a farm. In May, 1839, he

removed to Illinois, where he married his wife,

also a native of Maine, and in 1844, came to Wis-

consin territory and engaged in farming. In

1854, Mr. Sargent came to Cannon Falls and pre-

empted one hundred and sixty acres of land, then

returned for his family, and during his absence

his claim was taken. He then located in Forest,

in section twenty-seven, which is still his home.

He is the father of twelve children, ten of whom
are living. He was in the Indian massacre, and

was at Mankato when some of them were hung,
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and afterwards enlisted in the army. Tbree of his

sons were in the United States service, and the

oldest one died in the army. Our subject was the

first road supervisor in the township, opening the

first road. At the organization of the town he was

a member of the Board of Supervisors, an 1 has

held some oifice most of the time since, being a

member of the board at present.

James Sthange is a native of Kentucky, born in

1826, and removed with his parents, at the age of

one year, to Indiana, where he lived until twenty-

one years old. He then came to Goodhue county,

Minnesota, and in 1861, enlisted in the army,

served two years and received an honorable dis-

charge, after which he came to Forest and estab-

lished the first blacksmith shop in town and is still

engaged at the business. He owns forty acres of

land and a good house and shop.

Simon Tayeok was born in the province of

Quebec, Canada, in 1830, reared on a farm and re-

ceived a common school education. In 1848, he

went to Massachusetts and worked on a farm in

the summer and in the Bay State Mill in Law-

rence during the winter. In 1849, he moved to

grand Eiver, Michigan, but being taken with the

ague in a few days, as soon as he was able started

for a healthier country, and after a slow and weari-

some journey arrived in Appleton, Wisconsin. A
year later he went south and spent a year rambling

along and near the Mississippi river. In Decem-

ber, 1852, he landed in Mobile, Alab. ma, where

he remained until June, 1855, engaged in lumber-

ing. He then made a short visit to Canada, and

the 26th of July, 1855, found him near St. Paul,

and in November following he pre-empted the

quarter section on which he now lives, the first

land taken in this township. From that time until

1865, he spent his time farming and teaching

school in Minnesota, lumbering in Alabama, teach-

ing school in Canada, and building railroad

bridges for Uncle Sam in Virginia and Georgia.

He was married in Canada in 1863, to Miss

Maggie Saunders, who has borne him seven chil-

dren, five of whom are living; two died in infancy.

In 1865, he came with his wife and one child to

his farm on which he has since resided. Mr. Tay-

lor has, at different time.s, held the JDffices of Jus-

tice of the Peace, Supervisor, Assessor, and Treas-

urer. He is a member of the Methodist Episcopal

church.

Elias p. Taylor is a native of Rhode Island,

born in 1825, and lived in his native State until

eighteen years old, learning the trade of a spinner.

He then removed to Illinois and made that State

his home thirteen years, engaged in farming most

of the time, and there married, in 1852, Melissa

Sloan, of New York. In 1856, they came to Forest

and pre-empted a quarter in section ten where he

is still following farming. He was supervisor of

roads, appointed by the Commissioners before the

organization of the town and was made Chairman

of the first board of Supervisors. He has been

Assessor for five years, one of the Supervisors

several terms and w.as census enumerator of the

county in 1875. He is the father of two children,

one living in Minneapolis and one in Northfield.

Mr. and Mrs. Taylor are members of the Methodist

church.

Hon. John William Thompson was born in

Attleborough, near Nottingham, England, on the

27th of July, 1827. He received a common school

education, and while young his pocket money was

spent for books and mechanical tools. He served

an apprenticeship as engineer in his native coun-

try and one year after was appointed foreman of

the locomotive and machine works of the Shrews-

burg and Birmingham railway. In 1852, he came

to America and for two years engaged as engineer

on the New York Central and the Eome and

Watertown railroads. In the spring of 1854, he

removed to Minnesota, locating near the mounds,

two and a half miles south of Hastings, Dakota

county; the city of to-day, then contained only one

log shanty owned by a Mr. Felton. In February,

1855, when the land office was located at Red

Wing, our subject pre-empted his claim. His

nearest neighbor to the south was a Canadian, who

had married a Winnebago squaw and had a large

family, having been a trapper in the territory for

twenty years. The Winnebago and other bands

of Indians made their rendezvous near his place

and at times were very troublesome to those who
could not speak their language. His neighbors to

the westward were two families twelve miles dis-

tant. In the summer of 1855, Mr. Thompson was

Justice of the Peace in Dakota county and the

same year made^several trips prospecting through

Goodhue, Dodge, Waseca, and Rice counties, and

finally sold his former farm and settled in this

county in the township of Forest, which has since

been his home, being one of the earliest settlers

in the town. He worked on his timber farm.
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improving it, etc., until 1858. After tlae panic of

1857, farm products brought very low prices and

after selling potatoes for fourteen cents per bushel,

and wheat, after threshing it with a flail, for forty-

six cents, he collected what money he could, cash

sales not being frequent, and went to St. Louis

College. After two years attendance he graduated

with honors, then returned to Minnesota, remain-

ing,however,but a few weeks,then went to Napoleon,

Desha county, Arkansas, and formed a partner-

ship with Chas. Merckle, a watchmaker and manu-

facturing jeweler. After the presidential election

of I860 took place, and as soon as it was known
that Lincoln was elected, the people of that county

expressed freely their sentiments for war, and held

a mass meeting at the court house in Napoleon,

the county seat, and then and there voted two

hundred thousand dollars in bonds to buy fire

arms and ammunition to carry on war against the

Northern States. During the following winter,

companies and regiments were raised and drilled,

and in March, 1861, to avoid being drafted into

the southern army he went to Vicksburg, Missis-

sippi, but here he was liable to be drafted, and in a

few days returned to Napoleon to dispose of some

private property. When the news of the fall of

Port Sumter arrived all men were immediately

drafted into the confederate army, and Mr.

Thompson among the rest. He and five other

men were determined not to serve with the South

and found a hiding place until they made their

escape. Although the Mississippi and other rivers

had overflowed their banks, they crossed at some

places on logs and in other places in skifi's, and by
traveling at night and after being chased by blood

hounds, four of the six men arrived at St. Louis,

Blissouri, the other two having been shot while

on the way. The same day of their arrival the

fight at the court house took place between the

United States troops and the State malitia, and

our subject with two of his companions, the other

one remaining in St. Louis, took the steamboat for

Minnesota. He again commenced to clear his

land and in a few weeks his health was restored

after his many hardships. On the 18th of August,

1862, he enlisted in the Seventh Minnesota Volun-

teer Infantry, Company A, was ordered to Fort

Ridgely instead of South as the massacre was just

beginning. He took part in the battles of Birch

Cooley, Wood Lake, Big Stone Hills, etc., and was

in all the Indian expeditions of 1862, and '63, and

in the latter part of October, 1863, was sent with

his regiment to the South, and at the expiration of

three years they were discharged. Mr. Thompson
was Chairman of the board of Supervisors at the

time of his entering the army and has held other

town ofBces since the war. In 1871, he was ap-

pointed Notary Public and the same year Post-

master of Lester Post-office, still retaining both

positions, and at present is Justice of the Peace,"

having held that office several years. He was mar
ried on the 17th of March, 1873, to Charlotte

Lundberg, who has borne him two children; John,

who was born in June, 1878, and died in infancy,

and Mary C, born the 27th of September, 1881, is

still living. In the fall of 1877, our subject was

nominated at the republican convention, and was

elected by a large majority to the State Legisla-

ture, and at the county convention in 1879, was

defeated by only one vote in receiving the nomina-

tion for re-election.

Benedict Wyman was born in New York in

1635, and he was a resident of that State until

1852, then came to Wisconsin and engaged in

farming. In 1862, he enlisted in the Eighteenth

Wisconsin Volunteer Infantry ; was taken prisoner

at Altoona, Georgia, and confined fifty-two days

in the prison at Millen, in the same State. At the

close of the war he was mustered out at Milwaukee

;

returned to Wiuneconne, Wisconsin, and in 1866,

came to this township; bought one hundred and
sixty acres of land in section twelve and still

makes that his home. He was married in Forest

to Miss Margaret Jane Taylor, a native of Canada,
and they have four children, two sons and two
daughters, all living at home.
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WELLS.

CHAPTER LIX.

SBNBEAD DESCBIPTION EABLT SETTLEMENT

BULLT WEIiIiS-—EABLT NOTES OF INTEEEST

POLITICAI;—INDUSTBIAIi BNTBEPBISES EDUCA-

TIONAIi—SOCIETIES BIOGBAPHIOAIi.

Wells township is one of tlie central townships

of Rice county, and is next to the smallest in size.

It contains the full congressional township, with

the exception of two and one-half sections in the

southeastern part, that have of late years been an-

nexed to the city of Faribault. Thii leaves the

town an area of 22,440 acres, of which ;' consider-

able portion is covered with water. Tt is bounded

on the north by Forest; east by Cannon City

township and city of Faribault; south by Warsaw;

and west by Shieldsville.

It is amply supplied with water by lakes,

ponds, rivers, and brooks, and if any town in Rice

county can be said to be noted for its beautiful

lakes and streams this is the one. French Lake

covers more' land than any other, embracing 1,064

acres in sections seven, eight, seventeen, and

eighteen, in the western part of the town, and ex-

tending a short distance into the town of Shields-

ville. Eoberds' Lake is the next in size; a beau-

tiful sheet of water, and is connected to French

Lake by a stream called the "Inlet;" from the

southeastern shore also flows a small stream con-

necting it to the Cannon River. This, it will be

seen, makes the two lakes a "chain.'' Roberds'

Lake covers an area of about 700 acres, in sections

fifteen, sixteen, twenty-one, and twenty-two, in the

exact geographical center of the township. The

floor of the lake is made up of a sand bed, making

the limpid water pure and clear as crystal, while

the shore is formed of bold promontories and

rooks, broken here and^-there with level stretches

of pebbly beach. The, lake is well stocked with

fish, and is much frequented by pleasure seekers

from near and far, while a daily "bus'' connects it

to the busy little metropolis of Faribault. It re-

ceived, its name in honor of William Roberds.

The township contains several other lakes of less

importance. Mazaska Lake enters the town from

the northwest quarter and covers about one-third

of section six. Dudley's Lake is a small body of

water in the northwestern part of the town, lying

mostly in section eight. Wells Lake is formed

by the Cannon River in sections thirty-three and

thirty-four, and was named in honor of James

Wells, after whom the town was also named-

Peterson's Lake is located in sections thirty and

thirty- one. There are a number of other small

bodies of water in various parts of the town, some-

times called lakes, but more properly known as

ponds. Cannon River enters Wells from the south,

traversing section thirty-three, forming Wells

Lake, and after passing through thirty-four and

thirty-five, leaves the township and enters the city

of Faribault. Several small streams flow into

this as it makes its way through, and help to swell

the torrent. The streams at many points furnish

unexcelled water power, and this is made use of to

a limited extent.

Originally this township was a timber territory,

and covered with a heavy growth of the most

sturdy varieties. Sections thirty-five and thirty-

six were the only portions of it that could, strictly

speaking, be called prairie land; here and there,

however, throughout the town, might be found

small natural meadows and partial "clearings"

covered with brush and hazel. For the greater

part, the timber has now been cut down, and many
fine fields and farms mark what was but a quarter

of a century ago, a trackless wilderness. The soil

is variable, in some places a tendency to clayey-

ness being visible, and in others a rich dark loam.

The whole is very productive, and it is doubtful if

there is another locality in the State where the
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farmers are more universally prosperous and suc-

cessfnl than in this town.

Fruit, in couuection with other agricultural

products, has also received considerable attention,

and it has not been without success. Mr. Asa

Bebee is one who has proven in a practical way

that the theory of the impossibility of successful

fruit culture in this country is a fallacy, and he

has as abundant testimony a fine orchard of 500

thrifty apple trees,—undoubtedly as fine as any

in the State, and of which the far-famed New
York apple growers might well be proud.

A sketch of this township, published in 1S71,

states that it had 19,829-acres of taxable lands,

80 acres of iin.sold University land, a little over

320 acres of unsold school land, about 200 acres

of government land, and 160 acres of railroad

land. A majority of the population are of foreign

origin, and consists of Canadian, Belgian, French,

and Irish, although the American element is

stronger than either of these, and nearly equal

to them all. The population in 1860 was 461; in

1865, 624, and at the last census, in 1880, 1,100.

The unsold land mentioned is now about all in the

hands of actual settlers.

In 1870, the amount of real and personal prop-

erty as given to the census-taker was as follows

:

Eeal estate, $268,150; personal personal $108,485;

total, $376,635. The total assessed value of Wells

for the same year, real and personal, was $164,-

343. For the year 1882, the total assessed valua-

tion amounted to $220,414, of which $42,626 rep-

resented the personal, and $177,788, the real

property ; showing an increase of valuation in the

last ten years of $156,071. In the last report,

above mentioned, it states that in the township

there are 389 horses and colts over one year old;

742 cattle over one year; 357 sheep, and 416

hogs.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

As we contemplate the changes of but a little

more than a quarter of a century, noting the pres-

ent condition and prosperity, in comparison with

the, trackless and apparently impenetrable wilder-

ness of those days, we can scarcely realizsor com-

prehend how it was possible to make the transfor-

mation which we now behold. Insidiously, al-

most imperceptibly, has the change been wrought,

yet, since the first forward step was taken, has the

onward march of progress continued its untiring

tread until we find ourselves in the midst of a fer-

tile, civilized, well settled and cultivated land, from

which almost all traces of the primitive, which in

early days proved so glaring and painful, have

vanished.

To get at the original and very first settlement

of this town, we must take the reader and retrace

the steps of time twenty-nine years, to 1853, when

we find Wells without a single inhabitant, except

natives of the foi-est; not a shanty, not a furrow

turned, nor a sign of civilization. It was in this

shape the first settlers found it, and the quietude

was scarcely disturbed by the arrivals of that year,

there being very few and easily noted.

Mark Wells is probably the oldest living settler,

he being one of the party who first arrived. He
is a native of Massachusetts, and made his way
to Minnesota as best he could. He selected a claim

on section thirty-five, and put up a small log cab-

in, plastering it with mud and clay. In this he

made himself at home, and being a single man, in

company with several others kept bachelor's hall

until 1858, when he was married and moved to

Faribault, where he now lives.

About the same time that Mark arrived, a man
named Standish, of the same State, became his

neighbor, and took a claim adjoining him in sec-

tion thirty-five. He remained until 1856, when

he returned to his native State.

"Bully" Wells had also made his appearance,

and was making a claim in section thirty-four his

home.

This, it will be remembered, all occurred in

1853, and the- three settlers mentioned secured

places adjoining each other in the south-eastern

part of the township, this being the most inviting,,

because it was prairie land, and almost the only

locality that was prairie in the township. With
these few the settlement of the township "stood at

a standstill" until 1855, and probably the fact that

the remainder of the town was timber land, had
some influence in keeping the influx at bay for the

year 1854. In 1855, the settlement began to

spread, and other parts of the town received the

initiatory member of society.

William Eoberds, a native of North Carolina,

came in from Indiana and commenced a settle-

ment near the center of the town, taking a claim

in section twenty-two, on the banks of the lake

which now bears his name. He put up a small

log shanty the same year, erected a saw-mill, and
became a very prominent man. He made this his
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home nntil he paid the debt of mortality in 1869.

John Wesley Cowan, a native of Kentucky, hav-

ing stopped for a time in Indiana, soon swelled the

Eoberds' settlement by taking a claim in section

tweiity-two. He cleared some land and erected a

log hut, and remains in the same section yet.

Thomas B. Owings also helped fill the settle-

ment, and took a claim north of Roberds' Lake.

He has since moved to the Roberds' settlement,

and taken a claim in section twenty-two.

In the meantime a settlement had been com-

menced north of Roberds' Lake. John H. Pas-

son, a native of the Buckeye State, made his ap-

pearance and settled on section ten. He was a

millwright by trade, and erected a number of mills

in Rice county; he is now living in section fif-

teen.

The same year we find the following natives of

the Emerald Isle crowding into the northern part

to make a neighborhov-d near the Ohioan. This

party consisted of James Byrnes, Michael Brazil,

Thomas and Timothy Casey, and Patrick O'Brien.

James Byrnes, who had stopped awhile in Ver-

mont, took a claim in section four where he

still resides.

Timothy Casey made himself at home in section

six, and remained there until his death, in 1869.

His widow died in 1876.

Thomas Casey surrounded a claim in section

five, where his lamp still holds out to burn.

Michael Brazil secured a tract of land in section

nine, where he still lives.

James O'Brien made a habitation in section nine,

and still occupies the log house he erected at the

time of his settlement.

John L. Squier, of the Empire State, swelled

the settlement in the southern part of the town by

taking a farm from the prairie land of section

tliirty-four. where he may still be found.

Thomas Kirk had taken land on sections four-

teen and twenty-three, where he made his home

until the grim messenger called him hence in Oc-

tober, 1868. The deceased was father of the first

child born in the town.

Samuel J. Keller, a native of the good old Buck-

eye State, having stopped for a time in In-

diana, drifted in and dropjjed anchor on the only

quarter left in section twenty-two, in the Roberds'

settlement. He remained a few years and then

retraced his steps to Indiana.

Section thirty-four received another settler this

year in the person of William McCalla, a native of

Ireland, who, after remaining a few years removed

to California, where he still remains.

Isaac Anderson, from Ohio, made his appear-

ance and proceeded to enlarge the settlement in

the northern part of the town by taking a farm

from section nine, which had already received

one settler.

John Manahan did his part also, securing a

home in section one, in June, 1855, where he still

remains.

Two brothers, John and Thomas Johnson, ar-

rived in the summer of this year and both took

farms in the northern settlement; John on section

three, where he died in 1863; and his brother on

section eleven where he remained until 1861, when

he went to Vermont.

This is about the list of arrivals for the year

1855, and it will be seen that from the three settle-

ments started in the township, one in the south,

one in the center, and one in the north, the in-

comers had branched in every direction until every

portion of the township had received one or more

settlers, who had gone directly to work, putting

up shanties and opening land for cultivation. The

following year the immigration commenced and

continued with a rush until all the government

land within the borders had been secured. We
shall endeavor to give most of these arrivals, al-

though to give them all would be almost impos-

sible.

S. P. Case, originally, from Ohio, bat directly

from Grant county, Indiana, arrived in 1856, and

planted his stakes in section three. He has since

changed his location, now living on section twenty-

seven.

Peter Dunn drifted in and anchored near Mr.

Case, in section four, where his moorings are

still intact. He was a native of the land of the

Shamrock, having stopped for a time in Ver-

mont.

Robert Dudley, of the same nationality,

marched in and stationed himself over the farm

lying south of the one secured by Peter Dunn, in

the same section, and here he still stands guard.

Andrew Fredrickson came about the same time

and declared himself at home on a farm in section

three, in the same neighborhood, where he still

lives.

Many others came in in 1856, many of whom
have again pulled up stakes and started on with
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their faces still turned to an ever promising

"West."

In 1857, John Murray, a native of the Emerald

Isle put in an appearance and secured a tract of

land. He is now in section one, and is a promi-

nent man in the township.

Barnard Mehagnoul, a native of Belgium, also

arrived about the same time and pre-empted a

farm in section twenty-nine where he may yet be

found. The following year, 1858, he was joined

by a number of his countrymen, named Duch-

ennes, who settled a short distance north of him,

and about these have gathered quite a Belgiam

settlement.

In 1859, we note the arrivals of many others,

among whom may be mentioned John and Owen
Varley, who took claims in section eleven, where

the former still remains. The latter, Owen Varley,

paid the debt of mortality in July, 1877.

Joseph Milliron, arrived and secured a habita-

tion in section sixteen where Le still lives.

W. H. Pease was a pioneer in Minnesota, ar-

riving from New York State in 1855. He finally

secured the place he now occupies in section

twenty-one.

A. C.~ Judd, another prominent man in Wells,

and a native of the Empire State, arrived in 1860,

and located on his present place in section thirty-

three.

E. A. Orne, of Boston; Joseph Sesooult, of

Canada; and C. Meillier, of Wisconsin, have since

arrived at various times and settled in the town-

ship, where they are now influential men.

Joseph Ducreyt, a Frenchman, was another

early settler in the county, and a prominent man.

He originally took a claim in Wheatland in

1856, but finally found his way to the shores of

the lake bearing the memorial name in honor of

his nativity, in section seventeen, where he now
lives.

Charles T. Winans, a native of New York State,

came to Minnesota in 1856, and located in War-

saw. In 1860, after having been engaged for

several years in mercantile business in Faribault,

he moved to section fifteen in Wells.

Asa Bebee, a native of Monroe county. New
York, having stopped for a time in Illinois, was an-

other early settler in this vicinity. He first locat-

ed in Warsaw, but now lives in section twenty-six

in Wells township. His original slab shanty which

h3 first erected, 16x16 feet, makes quite a contrast

to his present elegant residence, which is among
the finest in the county. He is a prominent and

influential man in the county, as well as in the

township.

James G. Scott, another prominent man, came

to this county in 1854, and settled first in Fari-

bault, where he was en gaged in various pursuits.

He is now a resident of Wells township.

Many others might be mentioned here, but our

space forbids, and most of them are noted under

the head of biographies.

James Wells, or, as he was always known,

"Bully" Wells, having been a prominent and con-

spicuous figure in the settlement of Wells, which

town received its name in honor of him, a few

words as to a sketch of his life will not only be

interesting to the residents of Wells but to the

entire county. James Wells was the true name of

the subject of this sketch, but he won the nick-

name of Bully W§lls, and insisted on being known

by it. He was born in New Jersey in 1804, and

when a boy ran away from home, going to sea on

an American war vessel, serving as a cabin boy.

He finally enlisted in the U. 8. army, and served

for fifteen years, coming to Fort Snelling in 1819

with Col. Leavenworth. When his time as a sol-

dier expired he started a little trading post at Lit-

tle Eapids, or whatisnowChaska, and remained at

this point for some time. On the 12 th of Septem-

ber, 1836, he was married to Jane, a sister of the

wife of Alexander Faribault, and a daughter of

Duncan Graham. The marriage took place at the

house of Oliver Oratte, at Fort Snelling, the cere-

mony being performed by the Indian Agent at the

fort, Taliaferro. The same year he came south-

west and started a small trading post at the point

where Okaman, Waseca county, now is, and re-

mained here for about one year, when he again

removed, this time to locate at the foot of Lake
Pepin, on the Mississippi Eiver, where he carried

on a trading business until he came to Wells town-

ship. Having made up his mind while passing

through to take land in the vicinity of the Cannon
Lake, as soon as it came into market, in 1853, he

made his way to the lake and started a trading

post on section thirty-four, at the foot of Cannon
Lake, in Wells township. Here he did a profita-

ble business for a short time, but gradually turned

his attention to farming, and continued in it until

the close of the Sioux war in 1863, when he was
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murdered mysteriously, the supposition being that

it was the work of the treacherous Indians.

Bully Wells was a man of good impulses, rough

spoken, but with a heart that always beat for dis-

tress and a hand that never failed to offer relief. A.

friend in the truest sense of the word to a friend,

and a bitter enemy to a foe. Sequiescat in pace.

EARIT NOTES OF INTBREST.

The first blacksmith shop opened in the town-

ship was erected in 1855 by William Koberds, in

section twenty- two, on the shore of Roberds' Lake.

The shop was operated by his nephew, Freeman

Eoberds, for about three years, when it was dis-

continued, the manipulator moving to Faribault,

where he now carries on a like business.

Eaely Births.—The first birth in the township

of Wells took place on section twenty-three, in

October, 1855, and ushered into existence EUza-

beth, daughter of Thomas and May Kirk. The

father of the child died in October, 1868, and the

girl is now a teacher in the public schools of War-

saw.

The next event of this kind brought into the

light John, a son of T. B. and Elizabeth Owens,

on the 22d of May, 1856. This child, however,

died on the ll'h of December, 1864.

On the 4th of February, 1857, a son was born to

Isaac and Lydia Anderson, who was christened

Elias, and who now lives in Faribault a grown

man.

Four days later, on the 8th of February, John

C, a son of Peter and Margaret O'Brien was born.

He is now teaching school in Pope county, Minne-

sota.

Within a month after the arrival above men-

tioned, a daughter was bom to Mr. and Mrs. Peter

Dunn. The child was named Maria, and is now

married and living in the township of Shields-

ville.

Leonora, a daughter of John H. and Minerva

Passon, was bom on the 19th of May, 1857. In

1877, she married Mr. Julius Ripley, and now
maLes her home with her parents.

Marriages in an Earlt Day.—One of the ear-

liest marriages to occur in the township of Wellff

was the union of Martha Roberds and J. S. Mc-

Cartney, by E. J. Crump, Esq., at the residence of

the bride's father, William Roberds, in section

twenty-two. The happy couple now reside in

Lincoln county, having been blessed with an even

dozen of children, of whom ten are still in the laud

of the living.

In October, 1856, - Joseph Byrne and Alice

O'Brien were made one in the bonds of matrimony

and commenced housekeeping in his log house on

his farm in section four. The bride was called

away by the grim voice of death in December,

1864,and the husband still occupies the old home-

stead.

POLITICAL.

Pursuant to notice the first township meeting

was held on the 11th of May, 1858, in the log

schoolhouse in section fourteen, and organized

the township by the election of the following

officers: Supervisors, Thomas Kirk, Chairman,

William McCalla, and Patrick O'Brien; Collector,

J. W. Cowan; Clerk, S. P. Case; Assessor, T. B.

Owens; Constables, William Roberds and Timothy

Casey; Overseer of the Poor, S. 0. Dunham.
At the twenty-fourth annual meeting of the

town, on the 14th of March, 1882, the following

officers were placed in charge of town afl'airs:

Supervisors, Henry Greenwood, Chairman; Philip

McKenna, and Jacob Gutzler; Clerk, A. J. Swan-

son; Treasurer, A. B. Cowan; Assessor, William

Hassinger; Justice of the Peace, O. F. Burgess.

The government of the town has been tranquil

and even. The funds and expenditures have been

managed in a frugal but efficient manner, and on

a whole, the interests of the public in town mat-

ters have been taken care of in a way that is com-

mendable.

In 1878, the township purchased a building, the

original cost of which was $500, of school dis-

trict No. 18, to be used for a town hall. It is lo-

cated on section twenty-two.

INDUSTRIAL ENTERPRISES.

RoBBBDs' Lake Mills.—These mills were orig-

inally started in 1855, by William Roberds, who
erected a saw-mill at the outlet of the lake bear-

ing his name, on section twenty-two. It was run

by water power, and was equipped with an old-

fashioned perpendicular saw. In 1856, a run of

stones for feed was placed in the miU, and in 1858,

the firm became Roberds & Spear. A circular saw

was piit in and this firm continued the mill in this

shape until 1862, when they sold it to Bebee &
Wooil, whoran the establishment with water as

the motor until 1865, when the supply of water

failed and they hired a steam engine to saw up the
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logs on hand. In 1866, Charles Wood sold his

interest to Mr. Tenney, and the firm of Bebee &

Tenney at once erected a flour-mill, put in one run

of stones with all the necessary machinery for a

first-class mill, and it was continued under this

firm until 1869, when the partnership of Nutting

& Oarufel took hold of the property and run it

until 1871. This year it was purchased by

James G. Scott, the present proprietor. He put in

a steam engine of forty horse-power, to run when

the water was low, and constructed another saw-

mill with two circular saws and an excellent run

of machinery. In 1872, Mr. Scott remodeled the

flour-mill, and it now has two run of stones for

flour, one run for feed, two sets of rolls for mid-

dlings, three sets of bolting chests for flour, one

for buckwheat and rye, twD purifiers, and the nec-

essary cleaning machinery, and equipments for

mercliant and custom grinding. Altogether, the

mill is justly the pride of the township, and al-

though not having the capacity of some mills in

the county, in quality of work it equals them, and

gives perfect satisfaction to its patrons.

Mblboene Minii.—In 1856, Mr. Graham laid

the foundation for this mill by putting up a saw-

mill on the Cannon River in the northwestern part

of section thirty-five. He threw a log dam across

the river and started the mill, throwing sawdust

with a circular saw. In 1858, he added a run of

stones for flour and feed, and as such he continued

it until 1859, when he bought a small saw and

grist mill of "Bully" Wells, which he made into an

addition to his mill. In 1860, the dam got rest-

less and started down the river with a freshet,

when Mr. Graham tore down the old mill. He
soon after erected another on the same stream,

equipped with two run of stones. In 1861, he

turned this over to G. F. Pettitt,who in 1862, sold

the property to Henry Melborne, and in a short

time the establishment was destroyed by fire.

Ohappius' Sobghum Mill.—This mill was es-

tablished in 1870 by J. C. Chappius on his farm in

section seventeen. It has been operated every

season since its establishment, making about 1,500

gallons per season. The location of the mill is in

the western part of the town just east of French

Lake.

EDtJCATtONAL.

Wells township is divided for educational pur-

poses into seven districts, and if equally distrib-

uted would give in the township an area of about

five square miles to each district. The districts

are all in good condition and well attended. Dis-

trict No. 18 was the first organized in the town-

ship, and has the finest and most commodious

school building of any of the districts. Below is

given a short sketch of the oi'ganization, growth,

and development of each.

DisTBiOT No. 18.—The first school was called

to order in this district immediately after its or-

ganization, in 1856, by Miss Sarah Owens. This

same year a schoolhouse was rolled together, of

logs, on Thomas Kirk's land in section fourteen,

and in this building school was held antil 1861,

when the location of the schoolhouse was changed,^

and the district erected a small slab shanty in sec-

tion twenty-two, where the Park now is, and used

this until 1865. The shanty was then disposed of

and a neat school building erected at a cost of

$500. In 1878, this structure was sold to the

township for a public hall, and their present hand-

some brick edifice was erected near the lake, in

_ section twenty-two, at a cost of $1,500.

DiSTEioT No. 39.—Effected an organization in

1858, and a log house was rolled together this

year for school purposes in section nine. The first

school was held in this building immediately after

its completion, by Isiah Eoberds. Their original

building was used until it was burned in 1865,

when one term of schooV was taught in Joseph

Byrne's house while another log schoolhouse was

rolled together. In 1877, this house was dispensed

with and their present neat schoolhouse put up in

the northern part of section nine.

DisTKioT No. 57.—This distfict commenced its

existence in 1860, when it was organized and a

log house erected in the northeastern part of sec-

tion nineteen. Isiah Eoberds was the first instruc-

tor in the district, holding school in the newly

erected log cabin. In 1868, they dispensed with

the old log house, and erected the building now in

use, in the eastern part of section nineteen; Miss

Nellie Canley first called the school to order in

this house.

DiSTKiOT No. 73.—The district under this num-

ber effected an organization one year later than

the last mentioned, in 1861, and thefoUowmg year

commenced the erection of a log house in section

fourteen, completing it in 1863. This school

building answered the purpose until 1873, when

the present neat schoolhouse was built on the old

site in the northwestern part of section fourteen.
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Miss Bridget Fitzgerald flrst called the school to

order in the new house. The territory now em-

braced by this district was formerly a part of dis-

trict No. 18.

District No. 77.—Effected an organization in

1861, comprised of the territory now embraced in

district No. 100, in addition to its present limits.

The same year that organization took place, all

the farmers in the neighborhood turned out,

furnished logs and put up a log sohoolhouse in

the northeast quarter of section thirty-four. In

1874, the district was divided by the taking off of

district No. 100, the eastern part retaining the

original number of seventy-seven. A new school-

house was erected at this time, just over the line

into the southeast corner of section twenty-seven.

This sohoolhouse is used very frequently by

different denominations for religious services.

DisTBiOT No. 79.—The district under this num-

ber includes as a part of its territory a portion of

the western part of Cannon City township and

the northeastern part of Wells. The district was

organized in 1864, and the first school was kept in

-John Murray's claim shanty, with Miss Julia

Grady as teacher. In 1865, they erected a school

building of logs in section one, and the following

year moved it to the eastern part of section two,

where it remained in use until 1876, when the

present handsome brick house was erected in the

northeastern corner of section twelve.

District No. 100.—The territory now com-

prising this district was embraced in the the or-

ganization of district seventy-soven in 1861, and

remained as such until 1674, when it was set off

and orgaijized as No. 100. Miss Sarah Passon

was the flrst teacher. In 1875, the present school-

house was erected in the northwestern part of sec-

tion thirty-three, at a cost of about $200. Miss

Sarah Owens first called the school to order in

the present house, and remained for five terms

teaching the young idea how to shoot.

SOCIETIES.

The close proximity of this township to the city

of Faribault, relieves the necessity or need of local

organization,whioh,as a matter of course, would be

small, and makes it convenient for the inhabitants

to attend in the city, where the different societies

are strong, and where many of the farmers of

Wells are members. We find, however, notwith-

standing this fact, several organizations here, and

below give a short sketch of them, severally.

32

The first religious services in the town were held

in the little log sohoolhouse in section fourteen,

late in 1857, by the Congregationalists, Kev. Mr.

Armsby presiding. The same year the Methodist

Episcopal denomination organized, with Bev. Mr.

Day as their minister. They held services for a

short time regularly, when it was suspended, to be

revived during the war, when they held meetings

in the new sohoolhouse in section twenty-two.

This organization has been rather idle for a num-

ber of years.

About the same time, if not a little before the

organization of the above mentiongd society, the

Episcopalians got together and held services in

the same sohoolhouse alternately with the Metho-

dists. In 1875, the Episcopal society commenced

the erection of a church in the northern part of

section twenty-two. They raised the frame,

boarded it, put up a belfry, hung a bell and then

suspended the organization. Meetings of various

denominations ai'e now held in this edifice. Ser-

vices of the Episcopalians are also held here irreg-

ularly. A Sunday school was kept up here for a

number of years after building.

German Methodist meetings were held for the

benefit of the followers of this faith, in William

Braiin's house on section twenty-one, in 1874,

Bev. Emil Uhl being the first minister. Services

were held in Mr. Braun's residence until 1878,

when Mr. William Bartlett's house was used for

four years. In 1882, the society erected a frame

church building on section twenty at a cost of

about $700, where services are now held every

othef Sunday. A Sunday school has been organ-

ized here, which is held every Sunday, with

an attendance of about forty scholars, and a good

library in connection. Fred Saldswedel is super-

intiudent.

WeliiS Grange.—This fraternal society was

instituted in Wells township in January, 1873.

It commenced with about thirty charter members,

among whom may be mentioned John McCartney

A. B. Cowan, John H. Passon, T. B. Owens, John

W. Cowan, Mary Hassiuger, Sarah J. Owens,

Elizabeth Kirk, Sarah P. Passon, and Emma K.

Hankius. Meetings were held once in two weeks

in the sohoolhouse of district No. 18, and also in

the residence of S. D. Benedict. The society

grew stronger, and at the last meeting in Feb-

ruary, 1876, there were 'sixty members. They
have not disbanded, but at present no meeting"

are held.
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Catholic Oemetbby.—This burial ground was

laid out in 1858, and contains ten acres in the

southern part of section thirty-five in the south-

eastern part of the town. The bodies of Catholics

who were buried in Faribault have since been re-

moved to this place, and there are* now many
beautiful and costly tombstones marking the final

resting places of departed friends and believers in

the old Eomish church.

BIOGBAPHIOAI,.

Asa Bbbbe, one of the pioneers of Bice county,

was born in Monroe county, New York, on the 9th

of April,1829. When six years of age, he removed

with his parents to Will county, Illinois, where his

father died eight years later. He then returned

to New York and resided with his grand-parents

three years; attended school there and finished his

education at the district schools of Illinois. In 1850,

he went by overland route to California, and was

engaged in mining twenty-two months, then re-

turned home. Miss Mary J. Wood, a native of

Monroe county, New York, became his wife on

the 10th ot November, 1853; and May 1, 1855, he

came to Faribault, Minnesota, remained till 1860,

tlien sold his farm and made a trip to Colorado,

where he spent the summer mining, returning in

the fall to Illinois. In 1861, he enlisted in the

army, but did not serve on account of ill health,

and in the fall of the same year came to Faribault.

In the fall of 1862, he bought an interest in Eob-

erd's Lake Mill, and in August joined a volunteer

company going west to meet the Indians. They

went to St. Peter and thence to Swan Lake,finding

a number of the citizens wounded they conveyed

them to St. Peter for medical aid. In thirty days

they were relieved by government troops and our

subject returned home. The next year he pur-

chased a half interest in a portable saw-mill and

set it up about three miles north of Farib^iult, near

the Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul Railroad; con-

ducted it two years, then sold that and also his

interest at Boberds' Lake. He moved to Fari-

bault, and in 1871 made a trip south to Tennes-

see, but finding that Minnesota was the best place,

he returned and bought land in Wells, section

twenty -six, adjoining Fari'bault on the west, where

he now resides. He has one hundred acres of

cleared land, an orchard of five hundred trees, and
many varieties of small fruits.

WiLMAM Beaun is a native of Germany, born

oa the 29th of July, 1840, and received his edu-

cation in his native country. In 1866 he married

Miss Louise Malott, and three years later emi-

grated to America. They landed in New York,

then came to this State, and one year later settled

in Faribault, where he was engaged on the rail

road for three and a half years. He then came to

Wells and bought land on section twenty-one. He
has six children : Annie, Minnie, Fritz, Willie, Ed-

ward, and Lydia. Mr. Braun has been connected

with the Methodist church twelve years.

John Bultman, was born in Germany on the

1st of January, 1828, and attended school until

fourteen years of age, then for eight years follow-

ed- tlie sea. He came to New York and commenced

to learn the baker's trade,working at it three years,

after which he was engaged in fishing two years,

and at the expiration of that time removed to Pox

Lake, Wisconsin, where he carried on a farm. In

1858, he came to Minnesota and bought land in

Weils in section twenty-seven, where he remained

until 1872, then sold out and bought on section

thirty-three, which is still his home. In 1866, he

married Miss Mary Sullivan, and their children

are: Willie, Charlie, Hannah, Mary J., and George

C. In 1881 Mr. Bultman built his present frame

house.

OsoAB F. BuEGBSS was born in Corltand county,

New York, on the 12th of October, 1819. When
eighteen years old he learned the carpenter and

joiner trade, at which he worked seven years in his

native State, and afterward engaged as a mill-

wright for a time. Subsequently, in the spring

of the year, he shipped rafts loaded with lumber

and boats with vegetables and provisions down
the Susquehanna river to Harrisburg, at which

business he was engaged nine seasons. In 1865,

he came west and settled in Decorah, Iowa, where

he worked at his trade until 1873, then came to

Faribault, and in December, 1874, moved to Wells

and located in section twenty-six. The next spring

he commenced his present business of raising veg-

etables for Faribault markets, having been in sim-

ilar business during the last five years of his resi-

dence in New York. Mr. Burgess' first wife was
Miss Elenor Moore, whom he married in February,

1845. She died in May, 1850, leaving two chil-

dren, Louisa and Edward, and our subject was

again married in February, 1851, to Miss Harriet

Maria Nichols, who bore him three children,

Clarence, Clifford and Herbert, and died the 26th

of July, 1881, at the age of fifty-nine years. His
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present wife was Mrs. M. A. Cobb, whom he mar-

ried the 6th of July, 1882. His oldest son, Ed-

ward, enlisted in the army in February, 1864, and

died at Jacksonville, Florida, on the 20th of March,

the same year, aged sixteen years and eighteen

days. Herbert died the 27th of September, 1862,

aged three years and two months, and Clarence

died the 13th of October, 1881, thirty years of

age.

Joseph Byrne, one of the early settlers of Bice

county, was bom in Ireland on the 3d of April,

1816, and reared on a farm. In 1851, he emigrat-

ed to America, landed at Quebec, and went from

there to Oswego, New York, thence to Buffalo

and then to Ohio, where he engaged as a foreman

in a stone-qiiarry. In 1855, he came to Wells, and

staked out a claim in section four, built a, log

house, which was burned, and in 1875, his second

house was destroyed by fire, after which he erected

his present frame house. In October, 1856, he

married Misa Alice O'Brien, and they have had

four children, Mary A., Joseph, EUie, who died in

1869, aged eight years, and John.

Simeon P. Case, one of the pioneers of this

township, was born in Ohio on the 9th of Septem-

ber, 1825, and when three years of age removed

with his parents to Grant county, Indiana, where

he received his education, and when twenty years

old learned the carpenter trade. Miss E. J. Owens
I ecamehis wife in 1848, and in 1856, he came to

Minnesota, taking land in Wells, section three. In

A-Ugust, 1864, he enlisted in the Eleventh Minne-

sota Volunteer Infantry, Company D., went South

and served till June, 1865, when he received an

honorable discharge and returned home. In 1869

he removed to Faribault, but in 1876, came again

to this township and located on section twenty-

seven. He has had nine children, six of whom are

living; EUas P., WilUam L., Mary C, Martha A.,

Hose A., and Elroy E.

. John Wesley Cowan, one of the early settlers

in this town, was born in Bourbon county, Ken-

tucky, on the 25th of March, 1807, and was reared

on a farm. In 1833, he removed to Jefi'erson coun-

ty, Indiana, where, in 1839, Miss Elizabeth Bu-

chanan became his wife. In 1854, he removed to

Des Moines county, Iowa, where he spent the

winter, and in the spring of 1855, came to Rice

county, and on the 14th of May staked out a claim

in Wells on section twenty-two. He cleared about

twenty acres of land and built a log house, in

which he lived seven years, then sold and pur-

chased the northeast quarter of the same section.

He has cleared sixty acres of land, and in 1867,

built his present frame house. He was the first

Collector for the town. Mr. and Mrs. Cowan have

had eleven children, six of whom are living, An-

drew B., Martha, Elizabeth, Enoch C, Ann, and

Luciuda. Andrew B. was born in Jefi'erson county,

Indiana, in 1841, and has always made his home
with his parents. He enlisted in August, 1862, iu

the Eighth Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, C ,'m-

pany B, went West to the frontier, where he re-

mained two years; was then ordered South, and

was with the regiment till the close of the war.

He was honorably discharged in June, 1865, and

immediately returned home. He has been Town
Treasurer several terms, and has also filled other

offices.

Jean Louis Chavee was bom in Belgium on

the the 27th of December, 1820, and learned the

trade of harness making of his father, also worked

on the farm. In 1858, he came to America, landed

at New York, and from thence moved to Minne-

sota, locating in Wells on section nineteen, where

he still resides on a farm. He first built a log

house, then a frame house, and is now making

preparations to build one of brick. In 1861, he

married Miss M. Mahagnoul, and they have four

children, Mary, James L., Mary Antoinette, and

Jerome M. A.

Fkanois ChapdaiiAin Decolbtte is a native of

Canada, bom in December, 1827, and was reared

on a farm. When twenty years old he emigrated

to America, went to Stookbridge, Massachusetts,

then to Douglas, where he engaged in an axe

manufactory for six years, and returned to

Canada. In 1857, he came to this county and

bought land in Wells, section nineteen, built a log

house in which he lived till 1874, when it was de-

stroyed by fire. He then erected his present frame

house. He was married in July, 1858, to Miss

Pelicty Duohene, who has borne him nine chil-

dren, eight of whom are living; Mary, Alexander,

Susan, Lacy, Sherraffin, Lewis, Emma, and

Pelicty.

Joseph Deobay was born in France, just across

the line from Geneva, Switzerland, on the 22d of

February, 1830. He was reared on a farm and

learned the stone mason trade. On the 7th of De-

cember, 1855, he started for America and after a

very stormy passage, arrived at New York on the
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28th of February, 1856, went to Ohio, thence to

Kentucky and in a few months came to St. Paul,

Minnesota. He then came to Eioe county and lo-

cated a claim in Wheatland in section thirty-one,

where he remained until 1874, then purchased a

farm in Wells on section seventeen, where he now

resides. Miss Louisa Brognard became his wife

in 1871, and they have one child, Dinah Alber-

tiua.

Daniel Dillon was born in Ireland, in April,

1855, and when eight years old came to America

with his father. They landed at Quebec, then

came to Ohio, where they remained until the

spring of 1857, then to Wisconsin, and in 1860,

removed to Minnesota. They located in Wells,

where his father bought land on spotion eleven,

but soon sold that and bought on section two,

where he remained until his death in July, 1873,

hia wife dying the previous November. In 1866,

Daniel went to La Crosse, Wisconsin, and soon

after engaged on a steamboat running on the

Mississippi River, and followed that employment

for eight years being mate the last four years. In

1870, he married Miss Bridget Devyer. Their

children are: Mamie, Agnes, Thersa, Maggie,

Julia, Rose, and Johnnie. In 1877, he built his

brick house on the old homestead, and in 1879,

added to his land by purchasing in section two.

William Hassingbb was born in Germany on

the 10th of February, 1836. He attended school

until eighteen years of age and then devoted his

time to agricultural pursuits. In 1858, he came

to America, landed at New York and removed to

Wisconsin, settling in ,Winnebago county, where,

in 1864, he married Miss Mary Hart, a native of

England. In the spring of 1867, he came to Min-

nesota and bought a tract of land in Wells, section

twelve, where he erected a log house in which he

lived until 1881, then built his present frame resi-

dence. He has had four children; John William,

who was born in May, 1865, and died in April,

1871 ; Nellie L., Alice A., and Frank G. Mr. B as-

singer was Clerk of his school district twelve years

and is the present Assessor for the town.

A. C. JuDD was born in Tompkins county. New
York, on the 10th of April, 1828, where he at-

tended school and worked on the farm. In 1844,

he removed with his parents to Wisconsin, and lo-

cated in Kenosha county, making his home with

them until seventeen years old. In 1849, he

bought a farm in Columbia 'county and in 1850,

married Miss Lucinda Squier. One year later he

sold his farm and purchased one in Marquette

county on an Indian reservation, where he re-

mained two years and for the ensuing seven years

owned and lived on a farm near by. In 1860, he

came to Wells, and has since resided in the town-

ship, first on section twenty-eight, then worked a

prairie farm, and his present home is on section

thirty-three. He has seven children; Matilda,

Martin, Fred, Asa, George, Nettie, and Eva.

William Klatt is a native of Germany, born

the 8th of May, 1838, and attended school until

fourteen years old, then worked on the farm. In

1873, he married Miss Wilhelmina Kuster and the

next year they emigrated to America, landed at

New York, and came directly to this county, buy-

ing a farm in Wells, section sixteen. In 1879, he

built his present house. Mr. and Mrs. Klatt have

six children; Otto, Annie, Amelia, Helena, Wil-

liam, and Emil.

John Kbanskb was born in Germany on the 9th

of January, 1842, and reared to agricultural pur-

suits. In 1869, he came to America and directly

to Manitowoc, Wisconsin, where he engaged on

vessels in the harbor and at work in a brick yard.

In 1870, he married Miss Wilhelmina Hohenttans,

and in 1874, came to Faribault, engaged on the

railroad, and remained until 1877, then removed

to Wells which is still his home. They have six

children; Freddie, Annie, Minnie, Emma, Eddie,

and Willie.

Vincent Libb is a, native of France, born the

20th of August, 1834, and after attending school

learned the shoemaker's trade, working at that un-

til 1852. He then came to America and located

near Beloit, Wisconsin, where he engaged in

farming one year and then worked at his trade.

In 1857, he came to Forest, Rice county, and lo-

cated a claim, but in a few months went to Fari-

bault, and subsequently started a shoe shop there.

In 1858, he married Miss Elizabeth Hayward and

in 1866, bought a farm in Wells, where he has

since resided. Mr. and Mrs. Lieb have had ten

children, eight of whom are living; Mary, George,

Frank, Joseph, Annie, Nellie, Bertha, and Vincent.

Two died in infancy.

CoNBLUs Mahont, a native of Louisville, Ken-

tucky, was born in April, 1847, and removed with

his parents to Texas in 1854. That State not be-

ing suited to their idea for a home they removed

to Minnesota and located in Wabasha, where they
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were among the first settlers. In 1857, they came

to Shieldsville and in 1863, Conelus enlisted in

the army, but was rejected on account of his

youth; he again enlisted in 1864, in the First Min-

nesota Heavy Artillery, Oo.npany 0, went to the

South and served till the 17th of June, 1865, when

he receive! an honorable discharge and returned

home. In 1864, he purchased land in Wells, sec-

tion thirty, and in 1867, married Miss Catharme

Burkly, who has borne him five children; William,

Daniel, Catharine, Agnes, and Cornelius. In 1880,

he erected his present frame house.

B. Mbhagnodii was born in Belgium in Decem-

ber, 1829, and there received his education, being

reared on a farm. In 1857, he emigrated to

America, came directly to Kice county, Minnesota,

and bought land in Wells, section thirty. He
built a log house and lived there till 1861, then

sold out and removed to section twenty-nine. He
was joined in marriage in 1861, with Miss Mary

Joachim. They have seven children; Mary, Ma-

loney, Julia, Louis, Annie, Emil, and Ellen.

E. MoCuLiiOUGH was born in Northern Vermont

on the 7th of November, 1831, and when quite

young removed with his parents to St. Johns

province of Quebec, Canada, where they remained

a few years, then returned to Vermont. When
our subject was twenty years old he learned the

cabinet maker's trade at Montpelier, served four

years, then went to Montreal, Canada, and four

years later to Chicago, working at his trade in

both places. In 1855, he married Miss Madelia

Marpvell, and two years later they removed to

Faribault, where Mr. McCuUough engaged at car-

pentering. In 1873, he removed to Wells and set-

tled on a farm which he had purchased a few years

previous. He has had eight children, one of whom
died in infancy. Those living are; John, Marga-

ret, Annie, Willie, James, Henry, and Louisa.

CiiEMBNT MojROw was bom in the province of

Quebec, Canada, on the 18th of July, 1846. In

1857, he came to Faribault, where he engaged at

brick making, mason work, etc. In 1867, he mar-

ried Miss Mary St. Martin, and they have been

blessed with two children, Clement and Norman.

In 1870. he removed to Wells and located on sec-

tion thirty-two, having cleared about fifty acres.

EioHABD MtJEPHY is a native of Ireland, and

was born the 18th of March, 1827. He was reared

to agricultural pursuits, and in 1849, emigrated to

America, landed at New York, from there went to

Albany, and thence to Otsego county, where for

two years he was engaged in farming. He then

came to Beloit, Wisconsin, followed the same em-

ployment until 1857, and removed to Jefferson

county, making his home there until the spring of

1862, when he came to Faribault. In 1869, he

bought a farm in this township in section thirty-

five, to which he removed the next year. He has

improved the laud, set out a grove, which is now
a beautiful ornament to the place, and in 1875,

built his present frame house. He was married in

1852, to Miss Catharine Fleming, and they have

seven children, George W., Frances M., Annie M.,

Andrew A., James J., Richard J., and Alice M. For

several years Mr. Murphy was a, member of the

board of Supervisors besides having held other of-

fices of trust in the place, but for the past two years,

because of failing health, he takes no pai't in outside

affairs, his time being occupied with his farm and

family interests.

John Mukeay, a native of Ireland, was born in

1819, and reared on a farm. He worked at the

carpenter trade in his native country until 1850,

then came to America and engaged at the same

employment in New York. In 1853, Miss May
Ann Callahan became his wife, and in the fall of

1854, he came to Minnesota, spent the winter in

Minneapolis, then came to Faribault, and two

weeks later to "Red Wing, where he engaged (o

work on bridges for the government. In the fall

he was engaged at the same occupation across the

Snake and Kettle rivers, and in the spring of 1856

returned to Faribault, was employed on the Cath-

olic church, and the next fall removed to Wells and

pre-empt«d land in section one. He built a claim

shanty of logs, engaged in clearing the land, and

in 1863, erected his present dwelling. He has had

ten children, eight of whom are living, Josie, James

M., Nellie S., John F., Iiucy A., Mary F., Alice L.,

and Willie P. Those dead are Mary, who died in

1866, twelve years of age, and Julia M., who died

in infancy, in 1868.

Oaeistian Meillibr was bom in France on the

12th of July, 1831, attended school and was reared

on a farm. In 1854, he emigrated to America,

located in Springfield, Massachusetts, and in one

year moved to Bridgeport, Connecticut, where he

remained but six months, then came to Dodge

county, Wisconsin, and engaged in farming. In

1860,MiHs Margaret Des Lurzes became his wife. In

October, 1861, he enlisted in the Tenth Wisconsin
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Volunteer Infantry, Company B, went south to

Kentucky and Tennessee, where they were first

under Buell and then Bosecrans. Prom the latter

State he went to Alabama, and thence to Atlanta,

Georgia, where he joined Sherman, and remained

till October, 1864, when he was honorably dis-

charged at Milwaukee. In January, 1855, he

came to Faribault and in February to Wells, where

he bought a farm of eighty acres on section four-

teen. He now has one hundred and eighty acres

of land, eighty in timber and the balance

well cultivated, with good buildings. He has

had a family of four children, Fabian, Helene,

Jules, who died in infancy, and Mathilde.

Edwabd a. Oenb was bom in Carroll county.

New Hampshire, on the 28th of March, 1843, and

reared on a farm. When sixteen years old he

learned the shoemaker's trade, at which he worked

one year, and went to Salem, Massachusetts,where

he engaged in driving team, thence to Chelsea and

then back to the former place. From there he

went to Canada, engaged in the hardware busi-

ness two years, then removed to Boston and in a

short time came to Faribault and has since been

engaged in moving buildings, hiring the work

done in the city while he resides on a farm in this

township, in section twenty-six. In 1881, he

bought a piece of land on section twenty-seven

and now has a farm of two hundred and eighty

acres. He has been twice married; first to Miss

Melvina Whito, on the 15th of Jime, 1863. They

had three children; Eual Edward, Fred D., and

Winfield Scott. Mrs. Orne died the 22d of Febru-

ary, 1869, thirty-eight years of age. His present

wife was formerly Miss Elbina Whitehouse, whom
be married in 1870. They have four children;

Mabel, Herbert F., William H., and Walter. Mr.

Orne has taken a great interest in town affairs and

has held many local offices.

John H. Passon, one of the pioneers of Bice

county, was born in Darke county, Ohio, on the

9th of July, 1830. He attended school until

eighteen years old, then learned the millwright

trade, serving three years and the last as foreman.

He afterward engaged in business for himself and

in 1851, Miss Minerva A. French became his wife.

In 1855, he came to this State and located in

Wells in section twenty-three, soon sold that claim

however, and took another in section ten, and im-

mediately began to work at his trade. In August,

1862, Mr. Passon enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company B, went to the fron-

tier and engaged in one battle and several skirm-

ishes. In 1864, the regiment was ordered to Clif-

ton, Tennessee, from whence they went to Wash-

ington by way of Cincinnati and thence to North

Carolina and participated in the battle of Kinston,

remaining till the close of the wjr. Our subject

was discharged at Charlotte, North Carolina, and

mustered out at Fort Snelling in July, 1845, then

returned home. In, 1866, he sold his former farm

and bought in section fourteen, and ten years later

built his present brick residence. In 1874, he was

elected president of the Grange Mill company and

went to Faribault to build the mill. Mr. Passon

has filled many hjcal offices and represented his

district in the Legislature. He has had five chil-

dren, three of whom are living; Sarah P., Lenora,

and Amy E. Arthur W., died in Indiana in 1855,

three years of age, and Adaline M., in 1865, at the

age of five years.

W. H. Pease is a native of Madison county,New

York, where he was reared on a farm. He was

employed on the Erie canal eleven years and in

1855, came to Minnesota, locating in Deerfield,

Steele county, where he remained four years, then

came to Faribault and engaged in farming and

teaming. In the fall of 1860, he moved to Jack-

son county and staked out a claim. In 1861, he

enlisted in-the Fifth Iowa Cavalry, Company I,

went South to Fort Henry and in June, 1863, re-

ceived an honorable discharge on account of dis-

ability and returned to Faribault. There he en-

gaged in Hill's factory one year and in a saw mill

two years, after which he went to Eoberds' Lake

where he teamed for a time. In 1865, he married

Miss Martha Davis and they have three children

;

Carrie, James, and John. In 1870, he purchased

land in this township in section twenty-one, where

he still resides, having built his present frame

house in 1874.

William Bobbeds, deceased, one of the early

settlers in this township, was bom in Ohio in

1794, and reared to agricultural pursuits. In

1828, he removed to Grant county, Indiana, where

he was one of the first settlers. He bought a tim-

ber farm of the government, cleared the land,

erected buildings, and made his home there till

1855, when he sold out and removed to Minnesota,

located a claim in Wells, and built a saw-mill on

the outlet of the lake that now bears his name.

In 1856, he erected a saw-mill, but in 1861, sold
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both his mills and devoted his time to farming.

Mr. Eoberds was twice married; his first wife was

Miss Sarah Bennett, whom he married in 1815,

and they were blessed with five children, one of

whom is living, and that wife is also dead. His

second wife was Mrs. Sarah Cochran, widow of

John Cochran, and they were married in 1826-

The result of the union was seven children, five

of whom are now living. Mrs. Boberds makes her

home with her daughter, Mrs. T. B. Owens. Mr.

Roberd's death was cause'd by injuries received

from a tree which fell as he and a neighbor were

passing. Death ensued two days after the acci-

dent.

James Eoach, a pioneer of this county, was

born in Ireland in 1822, and grew to manhood on

a farm. In 1842, he emigrated to Americai

went from New York City to Albany, and

thence to Buffalo, where he remained two

years, then went to Ohio and after farming

two years, removed to Indiana. In 1854, Miss

Catharine Lawler became his wife. Two years

later he came to Minnesota with two horses, a yoke

of oxen, and a wagon, driving the entire distance,

and located in Shieldsville, where he bought one

hundred and sixty acres of land. He cleared some

of the land, but in 1864, sold out and bought in

section fourteen in this township; has added to it,

and now owns a farm of one hundred and seventy-

three acres. He has had five children, all sons,

but one of whom is living, Thomas.

Pateick Byan is a native of Ireland, born in

1828, and reared to agricultural pursuits. In

1846, he emigrated to America, landed at Quebec

and weut from there to Ogdensburg,New York,two

years later to Columbia, Ohio, and thence to Tor_

onto, .Canada, in three years. He next removed

to Medina, New York, worked on the Erie canal

one winter, then came to Wisconsin. In 1856, he

married Miss Mary Kyan and in 1857, they came

to Minnesota. He purchased two acres in Fari-

bault, but sold it in 1864, and bought a farm iu

Wells, section fourteen, building his present frame

Louse in 1879. He has had ten children; John,

Johanna, James, Mary E., Katie, who was born iu

June, 1865, and died the 20th of April, 1880;

Michael, Francis, Agnes, Daniel, Etta and Cora.

Jambs G. Soott, an early settler in this county^

dates his birth at Trenton, New Jersey, on the 24th

of October, 1824. His father purchased a fruit

farm, on which they remained till in 1836, then

went to Ohio,where James learned the cabinet mak-

ers' trade. He then went to Wisconsin and worked

at the business in Burlington, remaining till Uie

fall of 1849, thence to Monroe, and in the spring

started for California with five wagons and twenty-

five horses. They made the trip in five months^

remaining in Salt Lake City two weeks, from there

to Sacremento, where our subject lived until 1854,

then returned home by way of Norfolk, Virginia,

thence to Chicago, and from there to Monroe. He
subseqently visited Kansas, Nebraska, and Mis-

souri, and settled in Eice county, Minnesota, on

the 19th of June, 1854. He located in Faribault,

building the first saw-mill that was built on the

west side of the Mississippi in this State, pre-

empted land on the east side of Straight River

and commenced to build a saw-mill on the oppo-

site shore, which he run in company with his

brother till 1856. They sold out and opened an

office for the sale of land warrants and did a gen-

eral brokerage business. When the land office

was moved Mr. Scott went to Wisconsin and pur-

chased eight hundred and ninety-six sheep, con-

veyed them to his farm, and engaged in sheep

raising. In 1862, Miss L. A. Wood became his

wife, and the fruits of the union are two children

;

Mary and Walter. In 1871, he traded his farm

for the Roberds' Lake Mill property, and the next

year erected a saw-mill. Mr. Scott has been a

pioneer in three States, and voted for the admis-

sion of Wisconsin, California and Minnesota.

He was a County Commissioner for this county

from 1871 to 1874.

Fkiedrich Sei/Zwedel was born in Germany on

the 9th of May, 1831, and his younger days were

spent at school and on a farm. In 1859, Miss

Minnie Braun became his wife, and they have

three children; Willie, Freddie and Anna. In

1868, they came to America and directly to Mani-

towoc,Wisconsin,where Mr.Selzwedel was employed

on vessels in the harbor. He then went to Min-

nesota Lake, from there to Owatonna and thence to

Faribault, where he engaged on the railroad. He
bought property in the city but in 1873, traded it

for land in Wells on section twenty, and erected

his present house. He has been a member of the

Methodist church fifteen years, and is at present

superintendent of the Sabbath school.

John L. Squibb, one of the pioneers of this

county, was born in Washington county. New
York, on the 9th of April, 1811, and removed to
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Monroe county with his parents when he was sev-

enteen years old. In 1837, he went to Pennsylva-

nia, bought a farm in Crawford county, where he

lived two years, then returned to New York, and

3 1844, came to Marquette county, Wisconsin.

He purchased a farm on which he resided eleven

years, then sold out and bought a saw mill at

Harrisville, on Montello River, which he disposed

of in the spring of 1855, and came to Minnesota,

locating in Wells on a claim in section thirty-four,

building first a frame house, but in 1872, erected

his present frame house. Mr. Squier was first

married in 1832, to Miss Eoxanna Howard, who
bore him eight children, three of them now liv-

ing; Lucinda, Ohaunoey, and John H. She died

on the 5th of April, 1850, thirty-eight years of

age. His present wife was formerly Miss Abbie J.

Scoville. They have six children; Leonard, Emer-

son, Dennis, Charlie, Elma, and Stella.

Mabk Wells is a native of Deerfleld, Franklin

county, Massachusetts, where his birth occurred

the 29th of December, 1829. He was reared to

agricultural pursuits and when twenty-one years

old removed to Hampshire county and learned the

broom maker's trade. In 1853, he came with a

colony to St. Paul, and then on to Faribault, only

five of the number reaching that place, the rest

becoming disheartened remained in St. Paul. He
located on section thirty-five in Wells on what is

now known as the Mary Burgett farm, but soon

moved to the city and engaged at his trade. He
was married on the 15th of November, 1858, to

Miss Orpha L. Haskins who has borne him four

children, one of whom is dead. In 1863, Mr.

Wells enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota Volunteer

Infantry, Company B, servmg two years and

eight months.

CiiABK T. WiNANS, one of the pioneers of Rice

county, was born in Chemung county, New York,

in 1824.. He was married to Miss C. A. Winans in

1848, and in 1856, came to Minnesota, settling in

Warsaw. In 1857 and '58, he was engaged in

business in Faribault. In 1860, he exchanged his

farm for timber land in Wells, upon which he

now resides.

Nicholas O. Winans was born in Chemung
county. New York, on the 30th of August, 1830,

and attended a district school. In 1842, the family

removed to Illinois and settled in Aurora, where

our subject afterward engaged in the hardware

business. In 1C57, he married Miss Martha Ken-

dal, and the same year sold out and came to Fari-

bault where he engaged in a provision store. In

1872, he bought a farm on section twenty-six in

this township, and immediately began to improve

it, building his present house the same year. He
has three children ; Clarke; Richard, and John.

Theodore F. W^nslow was born in Chattar-

augus county, New York, on the 24th of Decem-

ber, 1844. In 1861, the family came to Minnesota

and located in Freeborn county where the father

pre-empted land, built a house and lived until 1878,

when ho sold and removed to Faribault. In 1878,

Theodore bought a tract of land in Wells, section

twenty-seven, and moved on it in the fall of that

year. He has improved it and built a good house.

In 1879, Miss Mary Atkin became his wife and

the issue of the union is two children; Minnie M.,

and Albert L.

Chakles Wood, a pioneer of this county, was

born in Randolph, Vermont, on the 1st of August,

1811. His father died at Burlington when Charles

was one year and a half old. He began hard

manuel labor when very young, and when four-

teen years of age learned the cooper's trade. In

1832, Miss Placentia Atherton became his wife.

She was a native of Waterbury, Vermont, born the

24th of October, 1810. In August, 1832, they

started West, went from Burlington to Whitehall,

then to Rochester, New York, where for two years

he was engaged in coopering and selling dry

goods and notions, thence to Greenfield, Michi-

gan, one year later to Grand Rapids, and then to

Crete, Illinois. In two years he removed to Joliet

where he operated a sawmill on shares a number of

years then returned to Crete. In 1850, Mr.Wood
went to California by land, making the trip in

four months, but soon returned on account of sick-

ness, and in 1854, came to this State and pre-

empted land in Kice county, at the junction of

Cannon and Straight Rivers, and engaged in farm-

ing. In 1856,' he built the first bridge across

Straight River and in the fall one across the Can-

non River. He was county Sheriff in 1856, also

served two years as Collector and represented his

district in the Legislature for the same length of

time. In 1860, he bought a farm in Morristown
and in 1863, an interest in Eoberds' Lake Mill
property; sold that in five years and purchased
lots in town. His children are, Jane, Janet, Har-
riet, Viola, Lucia, and Charlie D. His wife died
in April, 1876, two children having died be-
fore her. Mr. Wood makes his home with his son-
in-law, J. G. Scott, in Wells.
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WARRAW.

CHAPTER LX.

DESOBIPTIVE BABLY SBTTLBMENI EABLI" EVENTS

—TOWN, GOVERNMENT WABSAW DURING THE WAR
—MANIJFACTUBING—OEMETEBIES EDTJOATIONAL

—WABSAW VILLAGE—LAKE CITY VILLAGE BIO-

GBAPHIOAL.

Warsaw township lies along the southern

boundary of Eice county, being separated

from the western boundary by one town.

Its contiguous surroundings are Wells, Wal-

cott, and Morristown, with Steele county on

the south. The Chicago, Milwaukee & St. Paul

railroad passes through two sections in the north-

eastern part, making it one of the railroad towns

of the county.

In the northeastern part the city limits

of Faribault embrace the north half of sec-

tion one, leaving 22,720 acres to comprise the area

of the town. Of this about 2,000 acres are cover-

ed with water. The Cannon river winds its pow-

erful course diagonally through the northwestern

part of the town, entering from Morristown

through section eighteen, and flowing northeast-

erly forms Cannon Lake, and leaves the town by

way of section four and: enters Wells. MoKen-

zie's creek, named in honor of Alex. Mc-,

Kenzie, an early settler, a stream of considerable

importance, finds its source south of the town line

and winds its tortuous way northward through the

center of the town, until its waters mingle with

those of Cannon Lake. A small stream with the

non-aesthetic appellation of Mud Creek, infringes

on the southeast corner, and hastening its course

through sections thirty-five, thirty-six and twenty-

five, empties into Straight River in Walcot town-

ship. Dry Creek rises in Shieldsville and flows

through the northwest corner on its way to Cannon

Lake. The name this stream bears was evidently

Dot given to churncterize it, as the creek is soarce-

_ly ever dry; this, however, to a speculative mind.

will illustrate a point in one of the idiosyacrasies

of mankind.

Cannon Lake is the largest and most beautiful

lake in Eice county, and covers about 1,451 acres.

It extends almost across the northwest quarter of

the town, embracing portions of sections thirty-

four, seven, eight, nine, and ten. It is about four

miles long and from one-half to one mile in width,

being about 25 feet deep at the utmost The
lake abounds with all local species of fish, and in

early days this was made regular and oft-fre-

quented hunting and fishing grounds by the

> Aboriginies, if such Indians may be termed.

Many of the old settlers can call to mind occasions

when there were as many as two hundred tee-pees

on the shores of the lake, while the dusky skinned

hunters were laying in winter supplies. The lake

was originally named by the Indians, "Te-ton-ka

To-nah," or the Lake of the Village, and it bore

this name for a number of years. The story is

told, and we give it as a legend, that after the name
above given had been bestowed upon the lake by

the Indians, a small colony of Frenchmen were

driven by the red skins to the river, and they took

to canoes. The colonists had been prepared for

an emergency of this kind, and were supplied with

fire arms, besides having a small cannon in one of

the canoes. They were not, however, able to cope

with their pursuers, and in attempting to pass the

Cannon Falls, the canoe containing the cannon

became capsized and went to the bottom. Search

was made, and the Indians became superstitous in

regard to it, as they were unable to find the slight-

est trace of the lost gun. Since that time the river

has always been known as Cannon River, and the

lake being formed by it took the same name.

The soil of the township is mostly a dark loam,

of about two feet deep, and a yellow clay subsoil,

of about four feet, beneath which is a clay of a

bluish color. This partaius particularly to the

timbered portions of the town. The prairie laud



506 ffrSTOBT OP niGE GOUNTT.

is made up of a dark loam from eight inches to a

foot in thickness, with a yellow clay subsoil, un-

derneath which is a bed of gravel or sand.

About one-fourth of the township is made up of

timber land, and the balance prairie, which is now
the richest farming land in the State. The heavy

timber consists of the well-known and common
varieties, as red, black, and burr oak, rock elm,

maple, basswood, and willow.

The Cannon Valley railway line was surveyed

through the town of Warsaw in the year 1872, and

follows the bank of the lake, but for some reason

the matter remained at this point until 1882,

when work commenced on the line in earnest.

This road is treated more fully on another page.

A report from this township published in 1868,

says : '-The larger portion of Warsaw is prairie,

with occasional groves in the southern and middle

portion, and a heavy body of timber belonging to

and a part of the Big Woods, on the Cannon

Biver, in the northern part. It has within its

limits 21,000 acres of taxable lands, exclusive of

town lots. The Cannon Lake occupies about 1,-

400 acres of the northern portion of its area. It

has also 320 acres of school lands unsold, and one

forty of railroad land. There is a considerable

jjortion of the land of this town owned by non-

residents that can be bought for from $5 to $25

per acre. Its inhabitants are chiefly American,

Irish and German, with a majority of the first

named over all others."

The statement as to nationality of the inhabi-

tants is applicable to the present time, the Ameri-

cans having increased more rapidly than the other

classes. The unsold lands mentioned have now all

been transformed into fertile and productive

farms, while the price of land varies from $25 per

acre upwards.

As to values in Warsaw, the amount of property,

real and personal, as given to the census takers in

1870, was $615,545, of which $425,970 represented

the real, and $189,575 the personal property. The

asssessed valuation for the same year was, $205,-

500. The assessed valuation in 1882, amounted to

$316,331, of which |59,205 represented the per-

sonal, and $257,126 the real property; showing an

increase in assessed value of $110,831. The popu-

lation of Warsaw in 1860, was 550; in 1865, 718;

in 1870, 1,000; and in 1880, the last census, 1,150.

BAELT SETTIBMBNT.

The earliest infringement by settlers in this

town took place in 1853, and when started its set-

tlement was rapid and constant until all the gov-

ernment land within its borders was taken. Wlien

the first exploration by white men took place, it is

impossible to state, as this had been the pathway

and trading land of the Faribaults for years before

the advent of actual settlers. The town being re-

splendent with natural advantages and beautifying

works of nature, when once started the settlement

became irrepressble.

It is said that in the fall of 1826, Mr. Alexan-

der Faribault established a trading post at the

foot of the lake now known as Cannon Lake, but

then called, in the language of the Dacotahs'

'Tetonka Tonah," or Lake of the Village. Nearly

ten years afterwards, this trading post was removed

three miles eastward and established at the pres-

ent site of the town of Faribault. After this, from

the date of the removal, 1836, until early in the

fifties, this neighborhood was without a settler.

In 1852, Alexander Faribault was in St. Paul on

a trip for business purposes and met Mr. Peter

Bush, a blacksmith, and hired him to go to Fari-

bault and work. Mr. Bush was a Canadian

Frenchman, and after considering the matter, de-

cided to accept, and at once came to Faribault and

became a resident of Kice county. He remained

in Faribault the following winter, at work for Mr.

Faribault. In the spring of the year following

(1853), he decided to secure a claim and finally

made his way into Warsaw and selected one of the

finest farms in the county, on section three, at the

foot of Tetonka Tonah, or Cannon Lake. Here he

remained tor a number of years, and became
prominent in the early settlement of the county.

A few years ago he began to show symptoms of

a deranged mind, and he was finally, in July,

1881, placed in the State asylum.

The same year as the above arrival, N. N. Graves

made his appearance and secured a habitation one

mile and a half west of Bush, where he yet re-

mains. This was the extent to which the town
was settled this year, and the winter passed with

but two settlers there.

The next year, however, the beauties and advan-

tages of the Cannon Eiver country began to be

heralded abroad, and the prospective settlers be-

gan to file in slowly, it is true, at first, but still

civilatiou took a perceptible stride, and this year
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(1854,) chronicled the arrivals of Edward Hollis-

ter and Henry Daws who came and located near

the lake. The former was a native of New York

and still resides in the village of Warsaw where he

is Postmaster; the latter was an Englishman, and

remained until 1880, when the grim clutches of

death seized him and he was called hence.

About the same time cama Peter Dalcour and

planted his stakes on section four, where he still

flourishes.

Thomas Blackboru was another who availed

himself of the opportunitj and secured himself a

habitation. He, however, only remained a few

years, when he pulled up stakes and replanted

them in the town of Morristown, where he has

since been buried. His family still live in Morris-

town.

In 1855, the arrivals were more numerous, and

among them we notice, J. B. Wait, who is still

living on section twenty-eight.

F. Weatherhead drifted in and secured a claim

in section eighteen, and was afterward one of the

proprietors of Warsaw village.

Dr. Charles Jewett made his appearance and

selected a claim on section twelve, where he re-

mained a few years, and returned to New England,

from whence he came.

Thomas Sprague arrived in the town in 1854,

and almost immediately retraced his steps to St.

Paul for provisions, but taking sick on the road, he

died shortly after his ve-arrival in the town. This

occurred in the spring of 1855, and was the first

death in Warsaw.

Others came in very rapidly, and a year from

this time all the government land was taken. Tlie

prominent ones are noted elsewhere.

BABLT EVENTS OE INTEBEST.

The first birth in Warsaw took place on the 24th

of Novomber, 1854, being a son of Thomas and

Desire Blackborn, and the child was named Wil-

liam H.

The first marriage solemnized was on the 26th

of August, 1855; the high contracting parties

were Sarah Ann, eldest daughter of Mr. and Mrs.

Elias GUhousen, to Alexander McKenzie. Ti.o

affair took place at the residence of the bride's

parents on section seven, the knot being tied by

Charles Crump, Esq. Another early marriage

was that of Peter Dalcour ^o Miss Lucia Woolett,

on the 7th of December, 1857.

The Town Name.—In 1858, at the organiza-

tion,considerable diificulty was encountered in nam-

ing the town. Dr. Charles Jewett, a prominent

citizen, was present and insisted, and took the

stump to declare, that, he had a wealthy friend in

Massachusetts by the name of Sargent, and if the

citizens would name the town Sargent, he (Sar-

gent) would move to the town and make it his

future home, besides building a town hall and

donating $500 to the public fund. As there was

already a Post-office in the town named Warsaw,

in honor of a town in New York, from whence a

number of the early settlers had come, it was but

natural that a great many favored that name, but

after listening to the appeals of Dr. Jewett, the

feeling changed perceptibly, and upon the matter

being put to a vote, five ballots were found in

favor of Warsaw and five times that number favor-

ing the name of Sargent. It was accordingly de-

clared to be Sargent township. This was the cap-

tion until 1864, when as nothing had been seen or

heard of the rich man Sargent, the citizens of the

town decided to re-name it, and accordingly had a

bill passed by the Legislature in 1864, changing

the name from Sargent to Warsaw.

BtjlIjY WblXjS.—This peculiar and eccentric

character, although living just over the town line

in Wells township, was more or less connected

with the growth and development of Warsaw. He
was a very peculiar and rough spoken man, and

was always ready for a trade, although if his best

friend asked to buy an article of him, he always

replied that "he did not keep such things to sell,"

and made a present of it. He lived a short dis-

tance north of Peter Bush's residence in Lake

City, and for a year or more they were the only

neigliboi s in the township. Wells, being a man
of considerable means, would have his joke at aiiy

price. On one occasion, Peter Bush, being a

blacksmith, had run up quite a bill for iron in St.

Paul, and Wells, without saying a word to Bush,

stepped into the place where the latter dealt and

paid the iron bUl. When Bush got his pay from

the Indians he was doing work for, he went to St.

Paul, and on telling them he was ready to pay his

bill, received the reply that he had no bill to pay,

and an explanation of the matter. Bush at once

returned, and going to Wells told him he wanted

to settle with him; Wells obstinately refused to

have anything to do with him, and informed him

that if he "hung around any longer spouting such

nonsense he would lead him home.''
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Upon another occasion Bully was over at Bush's

house, and Mrs. Bush told him that she had been

offered $60 for a batch of honey by Faribault.

Wells said it must be a pretty nice lot, and asked

to see it. Upon being shown the lump, he remarked

that he guessed he could make good us of it him-

self, and thereupon loaded it up and took it home

without saying a word in regard to pay. Things

ran along for several days, nothing being said in

regard to it. Finally he went over to Bush's and

inquired if they did not need a cow; on being

answered in the affirmative, he immediately went

home and sent his hired man back with a cow, a

load of hay, and $60 in cash, with the remark that

he guessed that would balance the honey.

He was also bound to be called Bully Wells,

and on one occasion ordered a man off from his

place for calling him "Mr." Wells, saying he was

"Bully" or nothing.

Peteb Daioouk and the Indian Ponies.—
Peter Dalcour, of whom mention has already been

made, was not accustomed to frontier life, and

could not get to understand the Indians. On one

bright spring morning he discovered a number of

the Indian ponies in the meadow destroying the

hay and grass. He went down and tried to keep

them off, but could not succeed, and getting ex-

cited he went to the house, got his rifle, and com-

ing back commenced blazing away at them. It

was whiz, bang, and when be quit firing he had

killed fifteen ponies and twenty-five dogs. The

Indians didinot resent this fearful slaughter, but

the following spring one of them presented Dal-

cour with a huge butcher knife, and he said he

supposed it was to pay for the destroyed hay, and

as a token of future friendship and regard. This

occurred on the farni of Peter Bush while Dalcour

was working for him.

MuBDBB.—In the spring of 1874, Jacob Steok-

ner, while out hunting ducks, found the body of

his father, John Steckner, at the foot of Cannon

Lake, in a condition that proved undoubtedly that

he had been murdered. The deceased was a

Pennsylvania German, aged about fifty-five years,

and it was proven that he had left the Lake Hotel •

and driven across the ice in company with another

party, having about $30 in his pockets. This was

the last seen of him until he was found silent in

the arms of grim death. The head was battered

in a horrible manner, and a club lying near by
covered with the gore of the victim, proving, be-

yond a doubt, that there had been foul play, but

as no testimony could be brought forward sufficient

to convict, the matter still remains a mystery— .

and win until the old prophesy of "murder will

out" proves itself true.

De. Chaelbs Jewett, who is prominently men-

tioned in connectipn with the pioneer life in this

county, fulfilled his mission on earth on the third

day of April, 1879, at Norwich, Connecticut, of

chronic enlargement of the heart, at the rip.e age

of three score years and twelve. His nativity was

in Lisbon, Connecticut, on the 5th of September,

1807. He was educated at Plainfield, studied

medicine and graduated, and began the practice

of his profession in East Greenwich at the age of

twenty-two. In 1830. he was married to Miss

Lucy A. Tracy, who survived him. He early went

into the temperance work and was the agent of the

Massachusetts Temperance Union, and was the

best known total abstinence advocate in New Eng-

land. He afterwards located in Millbury, Massa-

chusetts, on a farm paid for by his temperance

friends. Here be resided for five years, doing tem-

perance work when wanted. In 1853, he went to

Batavia, Illinois, where, in connection with other

work he lectured on physiology in a school, which

did not prove to be a success, and, as himself and

family suffered from chills and fever, he removed

to Minnesota in the spring of 1855, locating in

Warsaw, on section twelve, and remained for three

years, when he returned to Massachusetts, at the

urgent invitation of the temperance people. A
part of the time during the war he was a resident

of Menasha, Wisconsin, at work in the temperance

cause. In 1873, he removed to Norwich, Connec-

ticut. He left a widow, four sons, and two daugh-

ters. He was an earnest, amiable, talented, and
true-hearted man, respected and beloved by all.

TOWN GOVEENMENT.

Pursuant to a notice issued by the Eegister of

Deeds of Eice county, a town meeting was held at

the Turner House in the village of Warsaw, on the

11th of May, 1858, for the purpose of organizing

the township and electing officers to guard public

matters. There were in all eighty-two votes cast

and the following were the officers elected : Super-

visors, Miles Hollister, Chairman ; Augustus John-
son and D. W. Woodworth;Clerk,John McDonald;
Assessor, John Goldthwait; Collector, George
W. Frink; Overseer of the Poor, Philander Griffith;

Justices of the Peace, J. P. Weatherhead and
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Charles Jewett, Jr. ; Constables, James O. Lamb
and J. H. Maine. The temporary officers of this

preliminary meeting were: J. F. Weatherhead,

Chairman; D. W. Woodworth, Moderator; and

Miles HoUister, Clerk.

The board at their first meeting, voted the sum

of seventy-five dollars to defray town expenses

during the ensuing year.

Town matters in Warsaw have run along

smoothly, the business of the public being in capa-

ble hands. At the last town meeting held at the

Lake House in sectioa three, on the 14th of March,

1882, the following o£B.cers were elected: Super-

visors, J. H. Austin, Chairman; G. W. Barton,

and G. W. Aargetsinger; Clerk, Frank Evans;

Treasurer, C. H. Nichols; Assessor, W. H. Cheney;

Justices of the Peace, Geo. W. Durham and P.

Griffith; Constables, W. P. Griffith and Bernard

Durham, Sr.

Wabsaw During the Wab.—It is a matter of

pride to the inhabitants of Warsaw, and justly,

that during the war of the rebellion their quota

was always filled without the necessity of force;

true, one draft was made out, but the volunteers

were furnished before it was enforced, and the

town in one instance raised S300 to pay Charles

Hagstrom to voluntarily enlist. There were, in

all, forty-one volunteers, of whom four never re-

turned, but found graves in confederate soil, as

follows: S. G. Bandall, Edward Bible, Clark

Turner, and Charles P. Hagstrom. Five of the

volunteers are drawing pensions.

agriculttjbai, statistics poe the teab 1881.

Acres. Bushels.

Wheat 3,800 57,513

Oats 803 31,180

Corn 699 26,785

Barley 62 1,790

Buckwheat 6 110

Potatoes 47 4,941

Beans 2 32

Sugar cane (gallons) 9 1,332

Cultivated hay (tons) 778 1,128

WHd hay " 1,382

Timothy seed (bush.) 60

Clover seed " 299

Apples " 255

Sheep, 910; wool, lbs. ._ 5,632

Milch cows, 304 ; butter, lbs . .

.

24,950

Cheese, lbs 5,600

Honey, " 881

MANUTACTUEING.

The Old Oeiginai; Saw Mill.—This was the

first saw-mill, or in fact any kind of a mill, that

was ever erected in the town. It was started in

1855, by Chris Hershey in section eighteen, on

Cannon Eiver, near where the village of Warsaw

now is. It was a good and substantial mill, its

size being about 30x40 feet, and the machinery

cost about $3,000. It was equipped with an up-

right saw, and the power was derived from the

Cannon Eiver through the medium of a ilutter

water wheel, having a capacity of about 3,000 feet

per day. In 1857, stones and flour making

machiaery were added, and it was remodeled and

a gi'ist mill was run in connection with it until

1862, when the dam was carried away by a flood

and the saw-mill portion was never rebuilt, the

timbers being used for various purposes.

In 1862, a grist-mill was put up on the old site,

by Hollister, Frink & Co., the size of which was

40x60 feet. This was continued by a number of

firms until 1872, when it was destroyed by fire.

Mr. Thompson next owned the site, and he, in

1872, rebuilt the mill, putting in two run of

stones, and erecting a building about 30x40 feet;

he ran it for a time and turned it over to S. M.

West, who in turn sold it to the Polar Star Mill

Company, which firm operated it until it was

burned in 1880, and as yet it has not been re-

built.

In 1869, an incorporated company was formed

by Messrs. Edward and Miles Hollister, and D. C.

and Orin Coates, as the Warsaw Steam Mill Com-

pany, which erected a saw-mill on section seven,

and put in a 56-inch circular saw; it was run

by steam with a thirty-horse-power engine, and a

capacity of about 7,000 feet per day. In 1876,

the management changed to Coates & Snyder,

under whose supervision the mill is still in opera-

tion. The saw has worn down four inches, being

now a fifty -two inch saw.

Cheese Factory.—In 1874, William Winter

put up a two story 20x24 foot building for a

cheese factory on section twenty-four, and operated

it until 1880, but as it did dot prove a success, it

has been discontinued.

SoEGHOM Mill.—A mill of this description was

erected in 1870, by Henry Biokel on section four,

and was run by horse-power, having a capacity of

100 gallons per day. In 1878, the mill was re-

modeled and a sixteen-horse-power steam engine
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placed in the establishment, and increasing the

capacity to 400 gallons per day. This was moved

to Morristown in 1881.

EIOE OOTJNTT POCK PAKM.

This institution is located in section two, War-

saw, and embraces the southwest quarter, contain-

ing one hundred and sixty acres. This farm was

pre-empted in 1855 by Mr. A. Bebee, a native of

the "Sucker State," who opened it as a farm and

put up a slab house. Here he remained until

1856, when he sold to Henry Grilford and re-

moved to the township of Wells, where he still

lives. In 1860, the farm again changed hands

and became the property of Sumner Sheffield,

who in 1865, sold it to Rice county for |4,000.

The farm, under the government of the county,

was first under the management of Charles 8.

Giddiiig, and in 1866, a substantial house was

erected, the size of which was 30x40, two stories

high, with a wing 18x24 on the west; the north

wing is made up of the original house, the size of

which is 18x36, where the superintendent now
lives. The appropriations for buildings and im-

provements on this farm are found in the article

on their proceedings in another chapter.

OEMBTEET ASSOCIATION.

The Warsaw Cemetery Association was organ-

ized in 1862,the first officers being Philander Grif-

fith, Secretary and Treasurer; and Miles HoUister,

President. The site was selected on J. F. Weath-

eriead's place, and laid into lots. The first

burial was the wife of the president of the associa-

tion, Miles Hollister, and now about 150 gleam-

ing tombstones mark the last resting places of

departed friends. The present officers of the asso-

ciation are, President, J. W. Outhouse; Treasurer,

Philander Griffith; and Secretary, A. Evans.

HBKSHBY BUKIAli GEOUND.

This graveyard is located in the northeastern

qiiarfcer of section seven. The first burial here was

Mary, daughter of Christian and Jane Hershey,

who died on the 30th of August, 1856, in her sixth

year. One grave in the yard has two bodies,

those of the wife and child of E. B. Peterson.

The ground has the remains of ten departed ones,

and, sad as it may seem, the ground is all a thicket

of hazel and blackberry bushes, which grow
thicker each year as tbe mortal remains under-

neath sleep on in quietude, undisturbed and un-

molested.

EDUCATIONAL.

In Warsaw we find more school districts than in

any township in Bice county, and as many," un-

doubtedly, as any township in the State, the aver-

age being from five to eight, while this has eleven

districts. This speaks well for the intelligence

and enterprise of its citizens, and their spirit is

commendable. The districts in Warsaw, if the

town were divided equally, would each have an

area of three and one-third sections, besides the

territory embraced in other towns and counties-

The districts are all in good financial standing,

and have neat and commodious school build-

ings.

DisTEicT No. 4.—The first instruction given in

this district was in the year 1857, and the organi-

zation was effected in March of that year in the

residence of John Acti. The first teacher was Miss

Pierce, and tbe school consisted of twelve pupils.

The board at this time was composed of George -

D. Potter, Director; Williard Hughson, Clerk; and

P. Griffith, Treasurer. In 1857, a log house was

rolled together by subscription, the size of which

was 14x18 feet. This district was discontinued in

1868, and the territory merged into other dis-

tricts. .

DisTEicT No. 14.—This is the educational sub-

division embracing the village of Warsaw and sur-

rounding territory. The district was organized in

1856, when a log schbolhouse was rolled together

in Lamb's addition to Warsaw, by subscj-iption,

and the first school was held in this building the

same summer by Edwin Darling, it is claimed with

sixty scholars in attendance. This house lasted

until it was burned, in 1863, the supposition at

the time being that it was set on fire by infidels

who objected to its use for church purposes. The
district then purchased the store building of J. C.

Turner, and this was converted into a schoolhouse

which lasted them until 1873, when the present

neat building was put up. The house is a sub-

stantial brick, two stories, and cost about $2,000,

Hollister Bros, being the contractors. This is the

best schoolhouse in the township, and the school is

in a most flourishing condition.

DiSTEiGT No. 23.—A meeting was held in Sep-

tember, 1866, in Nicholas Nusbaum's house, that

effectually organized the district, and elected the

school officers as follows: Director, T. P. Tovrae;

Clerk, William H. Cheney; Treasurer, Richard

Cooley. The first teacher was Miss Martha Wood,
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with twelve scbolars in attendance. A neat brick

sohoolhouae was erected in 1837, in the southern

part of section twenty, at a cost ot about $500.

The present board is: Director, S.A.Wales; 01erk_

H. A. Ackerman; Treasurer, N. Nusbaum. The

school now has thirty pupils in average atten-

dance.

DiSTBiCT No. 26.—On the 24th of April, 1864,

all the records of this district were destroyed by fire

in the burniag of the house of the Clerk, G. W.

Glines, and the organization of the district cannot

be ascertained with any degree of certainty. The

date, however, was about 1860, but who the ofBcers

were is not known. The district has a neat school-

house in the northern part of section twenty-five.

The present school officers are: Andrew Swanson,

Director; G. B. Weatherston, Clerk; and G. T.

Short, Treasurer.

DiSTBioi No. 37..—This was organized in 1864,

and the following officers were elected: Director,

A. Blodgett; Clerk, A. A. Sargent; and Treasurer,

M. Burke. The first school was held the same

year. Miss Hattie A. Wilson being the teacher,

with ten scholars in attendance, The Gannon Val-

ley road now runs through the old school groundi

and the building has lately been moved to the

shore of Cannon Lake, in section four.

DisteictNo. 55.—Was organized in 1856, in a

house owned by Dr. Charles Jewett on section

twelve. The house was shortly afterward moved

to its present location in the southwestern corner

of section twelve. The first school was taught by

Miss Lee, and the school board at the time of her

engagement was composed of Messrs. Geo. Seo-

fleld, Charles Lee, and N. N. Graves. The pres-

ent board is: Director, A. Post; Clerk, Barnard

Durham; Treasurer, N. N. Graves. The latter

member of the board has held the office of school

treasurer since the organization of the district.

DisTBicT No. 82.—In the tall of 1870, a meeting

was held at the house of William AUeu, at which

the organization of this district was effected, an d

the officers of the school elected as follows: Direc-

tor, Robert Hedges; Clerk, M. S. Eandall; Treas-

urer, Captain West. Their present excelleut

schoolhouse was erected in 1871, at a cost of $600,

and the first school was held in this year by Miss

Sarah Parker, with an attendance of eleven schol-

ars. The present school officers are: Bobert

Hedges, Director; 8. M. West, Clerk; J. J. Miller,

Treasurer. There is now an average attendance

of twenty pupils.

DisTEicT No.. 83.—Etfeoted its organization in

the spring ot 1867, in the house of Henry Karuw,

in section five, and placed the following officers at

the head: Director, Jacob Busier; Clerk, Harvey

SanbDrn, Sr.; Treasurer, Henry Karow. A small

house was erected the same summer at a cost of

about $100, on section six, and this lasted until

1874, when the present neat and substantial build-

ing was ei'ected at a cost of about -SSOO, size,

16x20 feet. The first teacher was Miss Jane

Chapens. The present school officials are Messrs.

John F.ant, John Keske, "and M. Bailey, respec-

tively Director, Clerk and Treasurer.

DiSTBior No. 92.—Effected an organization in

1868, and met in the house ot George Nichols to

elect officers. The result was as follows : Director,

J. E. Laugie; Clerk, George Nichols, and Treas-

urer, George W. Durham. The first school was

held at the time of organization, in 0. H. Nichols'

house in section fourteen, with fifteen scholars in

attendance. The present school board is: Direc-

tor, Charles Nichols; Treasurer, George Nichols;

Clerk, L. Jackson. The school house is located in

the southwestern part of section fourteen.

DisTKioT No. 93.—This educational sub-divis-

ion commenced its existence in 1864, inaugurating

its organization by electing George W. Glines,

Clerk; George H. Davis, Director; and T. P.

Towne, Treasurer. Shortly afterward they put

up a temporary building at a cost of about $100.

The present schoolhpuse is located on the northern

part of section thirty-four.

DiSTBiCT No. 95.—Eeceived its organization in

1868, the first meeting being held in the house of

Christian Low, on section twenty-seven, and the

following officers elected: Director, James Mur-

phy; Clerk, Thomas Clark; Treasurer, Henry

Haine. The first school was called to order by

Miss Katie Austin. In 1868, a neat, though small,

house was erected in section twenty-seven at a cost

of $20D. The present school officers are: W.

Ouskelly, Director; J. J. Carroll, Clerk; James

Murphy, Treasurer.

DiSTBicT No. 103.—This is the youngest dis-

trict in the township, not having dignified itself

with an organization until 1877. At this time it

was set off from the adjoining districts, and the

following officars were elected: Director, Francis

J. Voegele; Clerk, William Berigan; Treasurer,
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Michael Pinnegan. The first school in this dis-

trict was taught by Miss Ella Brown, with twenty-

two pupils on the benches. Their house was

erected the same year, size 18x24 feet, at a cost of

$400. The officers for 1882 are: Director, H.

Daws, Jr.; Olerk, William Berigan; Treasurer,

F. J. Voegele. The district embraces the territory

south of Cannon Lake.

WABSAW VILLAGE.

This is the largest and most important Village

in this township. It is located in the western part

of the town in sections seven and eighteen, on the

banks of the Cannon River, just west of the head

of Cannon Lake. The river here furnishes good

and sufficient water power to propel twice the

manufactories the village has. It is about seven

and one-hnlf miles south of Faribault.

As to the earliest settlement of the village, not

much can be said that would not apply, as to date,

with the other village in this township. In 1854,

J. Freeman Weatherhead, a native of New Hamp-
shire, migrated to Minnesota, freezing both legs

so severely that he was obliged to have them

amputated, and made his way to Warsaw town-

ship, securing by pre-emption the northeast quar-

ter of section eighteen. In 1855, he moved his

family fupon the farm, and commenced improve-

ments. Following him in 1855, came Christian

Hershey, a native of Canada, and took the quarter

section adjoining Weatherhead's on the west, in

section eighteen. The same year A. Lamb, a

native of Wisconsin, pre-empted a claim in the

southern part of section seven. This, it will be

seen, made quite a settlement m this neighbor-

hood, and in 1857, they conceived the plan of lay-

ing out lots and blocks for the village of Warsaw,

which was accomplished in this year. C. Hershey

and J. F. Weatherhead platted the main part of

the village on their farms in section eighteen, and

Mr. Lamb staked out Lamb's addition in the

southern part of section seven. This was all re-

corded as Warsaw, and started as a village.

Of the three original town proprietors, not one

of them remain in the township. Mr. J. F. Weath-

erhead passed on to the unknown world on the

2d of September, 1863, leaving many warm friends

and a family to mourn his departure. Christian

Hershey lived in the township until 1859, when he

removed to Morristown. Mr. A. Lamb, who was

of the Mormon faith, decided that he was not the

kind of a "sheep" to submit to the restriction of

his conjugal affections to one recipient, so in 1858,

he pulled up stakes and joined his amative breth-

ren in Utah.

The first house erected on the town plat was put

up in 1855, by Christian Hershey, on section

seven. The same building is now used as a stable

by Edward HoUister. In the spring of 1857,

Hollister & Prink put up the first store building,

and placed a stock of goods upon the shelves

worth about |2,000. Immediately following them

the firm of Clement & Belote erected a substantial

store building and put in a small stock of general

merchandise. This firm sold out in the fall to T.

P. Towne who continued the business until 1859,

and then turned it over to J. C. Turner, and the

building was, in 1864, sold to district No. 14, and

used for a school building.

In 1858, Nye & McDonald put up a building

and went into partnership in the mercantile busi-

ness. They continued for about two years and

dissolved, to disappear. A boot and shoe manu-

facturing establishment was started in 1857, by E.

B. Peterson, and during the war he resigned in fa-

vor of Moses Sears, who continued it until 1872,

since which time Warsaw has been without an es-

tablishment of this kind.

The first blacksmith shop was opened in 1856,

by Henry Plait, who is still hammering away. At

more recent dates two more shops have been

opened. Dan Harper came in 1872, and Mr.

Dargavel in 1880.

The first and only hotel ever put up in the vil-

lage was erected in 1856, by James Polar. It was

run by him until 1859, when it was sold to Eobert

Starbacks, and after passing through a number of

uands finally, in 1882, was sold by Alfred Daws
to N. Bemis, the present host.

A resume of what the village now contains would

read something like this: Two general merchan-

dise stores, two churches, three blacksmith shops,

three wagon repair shops, one steam sawmill, and

thirty-two dwellings. The village lies on both

sides of the river, the southern portion being the

principal part, and the river is spanned by a sub-

stantial bridge.

BELIGIOUS.

The first religious services ever held in Warsaw
was in 1856, by Eev. A. S. Ketchum, of the Bap-

tist faith, in the old log sohoolhouse to a small au-

dience. The year following the Baptist denomina-

tion was duly organized by the above minister in
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his house. The society has never erected a place of

worship but has held services in the schoolhouse

and in private residences.

Methodist Episcopal.—This denomination was

organized in 1857, in the schoolhouse in Warsaw,

by the Rev. Mr. Smith, with a good attendance.

A substantial brick church was put up in 1872,

which they now use.

Episoopai;—Bishop Whipple, of Faribault, or-

ganized this denomination in 1860, in the school-

house, and in 1865, a neat frame church was

erected, and the society is in good financial and

numerical condition.

As early as 1857, Rev. Walter Morris, a Camp-

bellite minister, preached in the schoolhouse to a

few believers in this faith, but there has never been

an organization.

MoKMONiSM.—In 1857, Milon Fillmore arrived

in Warsaw and commenced the organization of a

Mormon society. He remained for one year try-

ing to work up excitement enough to organize, but

it seems the excitement worked the wrong way as

he was driven out of the town.

WAESAW POST-OPPIOE.

This oflBce was originally established in 1856,

and J. D. Polar was first appointed to handle the

mail; it was on the old Faribault and St. Peter

road, the mail being carried by C. E. Hess. At

first the mail carrier went on foot, but Mr. Hess

soon after procured an old mule that he took

turns in riding with, sometimes going on foot and

sometimes on mule-back, thus accelerating his

speed. At times the various inhabitants of the

postal district would go to Faribault and bring

the mail to the office in a grain sack. On one

occasion Henry Piatt, in company with several

others, started for the mail, and upon arriving at

Faribault they found there was to be a dance that

night and they determined to stay and "shake the

light fantastic toe" with friends in Faribault, so

they got the mail sack, and when they got to the

hall they "fired" it under the benches and went on

with the dance. They remained untU daylight

and then took the mail to the anxious waiters at

Warsaw.

Until 1860, the mail was weekly, and after this

date, until 1868, it was made daily, and afterwards

daily from east and west. The Postmasters in

order have been as follows: J. D. Polar, M. Nye,

J. C. Turner, W. P. Sloan, 0. D. Hastings, Walter

Clayson, J. B. Gowen, J. W. Outhouse, J. B.

33

Gowen again and Edward HoUister, the latter be-

ing the present incumbent. The office is kept at

his general merchandise store in the northern part

of Warsaw.

liAKE CITY.

The little hamlot bearing this metropolitan

name was the scene of the first settlement in the

town, and played quite an important part in the

early history of the county. It was the first vil-

lage platted in the township. It had a beautiful

location on section three, at the foot of Cannon

Lake, in the northern part of the town.

In 1853, early in the spring, Peter Bush came

to the shores of Gannon Lake and pre-empted 160

acres in section three. He at once put up a log

habitation, 18x20 feet, and commenced making it

his actual home. He shortly after put up a small

shop, 18x20 feet, and being a practical blacksmith

commenced working at his trade. These were the

first buildings erected in either village or town-

ship. He hammered away at the anvil, and in

1856, conceived the idea, and at once platted the

village on his farm in section three, and recorded

it the same year as Lake City. Selling his shop

to Frederick Roth, in 1857, he went back to his

birthplace in Canada. He remained away one

year and then returned to his place, and again

took up the hammer and blacksmith tools, contin-

uing work at his trade until 1880.

George Burns arrived in 1855, and put up a

hotel, with a saloon in connection, near Bush's

blacksmith establishment. He managed this until

1866, when he sold to Henry D. Kopps, who, after

running it for two years, sold to Patrick Cuskelly,

and he in turn, in 1869, sold the establishment to

the father of the present proprietor, M. F. Depati.

This gentleman erected a brick addition, the size

of which was 28x33 feet, two stories, at a cost of

S:2,500, and in 1880 sold it to his sou, Moses F.

Depati, for $8,000, who still continues the estab-

lishment, with a $600 stock of goods in connec-

tion.

In 1856, at the time of laying out the village,

Joseph Gadory put up a two-story building for a

saloon, and run it as such until 1859, when he sold

the building to Peter ]?ush, who, with his family,

occupied it as a dwelling.

In the fall of 1856, a saw-mUl was put up in th®

"Village of the Lake" by J. Bowman, with a cir-

cular saw and a power of 40 horse, making the

capacity 1,500 feet per day. In 1857, the milj



514 EI8T0BT OF RIOE OOUNTT.

was destroyed by fire, the supposition being that

it was the incendiary work of Indians; and the

ground "was purchased by P. Melhorn and Enoch

Woodman, who rebuilt the mill, and in connection

with the saw they put in one run of stone, and

commenced doing custom work for the surround-

ing neighborhood. In 1859, the mill became the

property of P. Schuyler and Jared Patrick, who

operated it until 1862, when it was sold to D. M.

Lueris, and this gentleman removed it to Cordova,

and still runs it there.

The village has now become almost a thing of

the past, as the opposition of larger towns, and

their close proximity proved too much for the

little "burg," else, from the beauty of its location,

advantages of age, etc., the fond hopes of its pro-

jectors might have been realized. In its palmy

days it was recognized as an important point in

the county, and at one time had the concomitants

that would readily distinguish it from a cross-

road or a hamlet; now they have passed away and

it contains only a hotel, a school house, a couple

of dwellings, and the memory of days gone by.

There is still a chance, however, for this village,

as the Cannon Valley railroad passes directly

through the village plat within a few rods of the

hotel, and undoubtedly the time our readers are

perusing this the sound of the locomotive will be

heard in the region of the Lake City, reminding

the patriarchs of what "might have been."

BJOGEAPHIOAL.

H. A. AcKBBMAN was born in Fond du Lac

county, Wisconsin, on the 22d of November, 1848.

In 1864, he enlisted in the Fourth Wisconsin Cav-

alry and served till the close of the war. He then

returned to Wisconsin, and in 1870, came to this

place and located in section twenty-nine, where he

still resides. He has been clerk of his school dis-

trict, and also taught in the district. On the 25th

of Da33mb3r,1872, he was married to Miss Louisa

Suitcha, who has borne him two children.

FBANKiiiN Austin was born in New York on the

29th of December, 1816. He moved, to Ohio in

1841, and there married Miss Harriet Hively in

October, 1847. In 1856, they came to Minne-

sota, located first in Dakota county until 1867,

and then purchased the farm which has since

been their home. Mr. and Mrs. Austin have had

six children, of whom three are living.

OBiiiN AvBBY is the only son of John Avery,

\\\o was born on the 8th of January, 1827, in

Ohio. He married in May, 1846, Miss Lidia

Kechum and tlieir son, Orlin, was born ou the 2d

of January, 1854. The following spring they re-

moved ta Wisconsin, and in 1857, came to this

place, his parents moving to Lyons county in

1871, and still make it their home. Orlin, the

subject of this sketch, resides on the farm which

hi", father took. He was married on the 7th of

July, 1880, to Miss Frankey Aldrich. They have

one child.

Gbobgb W. Aldbioh, a native of New York,
'

was born on the 17th of September, 1836. In

1856, he came with his parents to this place, and

has since made it his home. Miss Jane Gilhousen

became his wife on the 5th of June, 1860. Of six

children born of this union, five are living.

NoBMAN Bbmis, proprietor and manager of the

hotel of this place, was born in Jefferson county,

Wisconsin, on the 20th of March, 1847. He was

united in marriage on the 15th of September,

1869, to Miss Augusta Getchaw and they have a

family of three children. They moved from the

latter State to this place in 1873, and engaged

in the hotel business as previously mentioned.

JosiAH Bailey was born on the 7th of October,

1844, in Indiana, where he remained until coming

with his parents to Minnesota in 1856. The

following year he purchased a farm in section six-

t-aen which has since been his home. In 1862,he en-

listed in the First Minnesota Mounted Bangers,

Company H, was discharged on the 28th of May,

1863, and re-enlisted in the Minnesota Heavy Ar-

tillery, Company L, and served till the close of

the war. After his discharge he returned to his

farm, and on the 1st of February, 1867, married

Miss Lusetta Gilhousen, who has bome him
three childien. Mr. Bailey has been a member of

the school board several times.

J. P. Bush, whose parents were among the firs*

to locate in this place was born in Oswego county.

New York, on the 1st of March, 1847. He came
with them to Beloit, Wisconsin, in 1850, and to this

township three years later, locating in section

three. In 1856, he returned east and resided in

Canada two years, then came again to his bome
here and has since engaged in farming, his mother

living with him.

Peteb Bush, one of the earliest residents of

Faribault and also one of the pioneers in this place,

was born on the 1st of August, 1808, in St.

Hugues, Quebec, He was married on the 4th of
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July, 1845, to Mrs. Emily Graasett. The follow-

ing year they moved to Oswego county, New

York, and in 1856, came west to Beloit, Wisconsin.

Mr. Bush located in section thirty-one, where

Faribault now is, in 1853, but soon after sold his

claim to Indian traders and in the fall located in

this township. He built a blacksmith shop and

worked at the business until 1856, when he went

to Le Sueur county and platted Lake City. The

same year he returned to his native place in Can-

ada, remained until 1858, and came again to Lake

City, where he was engaged at his trade several

years. In 1878, he returned to his farm in this

place, and has since made it his home. Mr. and

Mrs. Bush have had- seven children, only one of

whom is living.

D. 0. CoATBS, an old resident of this State, was

born in Luzerne county, Pennsylvania, on the. 8th

of September, 1839. In IBM, he came west with

his parents and located near Black Hawk, Iowa,

thence, in 1852, to St. Paul, and four years later

to Morristown, Rice county. On the 13th of Au-

gust, 1862, he enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company B, was in some im-

portant battles in the north and south and in a

number of skirmishes. After his discharge on the

31st of May, 1865, he came to this place and on

the 16th of November, 1869, was ioined in matri-

mony with Miss Mary A. Green. The union has

been blessed with one child, Martha Irene. Mr.

Coates was elected a member of his school district

in 1881.

David Davis was born in New York on the 12th

of May, 1831. When he was seven years old his

parents removed to Illinois and in 1850, to Iowa.

David learned the carpenter and joiner trade and

in 1855, came to Faribault where he worked at the

same, building the first house in the place after

the town was platted. He was married on the 1st

of April, 1858, to Janette Vanadal. Of eight chil-

dren born of this union, seven are living.

Peter Dalcoiik, one of the first settlers in this

place, was born in lower Canada in the District of

Montreal on the 18th of March, 1832. He left

his native place in 1854, and came to Warsaw

which has since been his home. He first built a

log house 14x16 feet, cutting the logs and carry-

ing them on his back. On the 7th of December,

1857, he married Miss Lucia A. Walleat, who has

borne him seven children, five of whom are living.

In 1874, he erected the fine brick building in

which he now lives.

AijPKED Daws is a son of Henry Daws, who

was born on the 27th of February, 1795, in Lon-

don, England; left his native place and emi-

grated to America in 1848. He remained in New
York one year and came from thence to Wisconsin

where he lived until coming to Warsaw in 1853,

and settled in section seventeen, being among the

first to locate here. He died on the 18th of Jan-

uary, 1880. His son Alfred, the subject of this

sketch, was born on the 31st of July, 1839, in

England and came with his father to America and

to this place, which has since been his home, com-

ing into possession of the old homestead at the

death of his father. He was married on the 16th

of March, 1866, to Miss Austena Thrown. They

have had three children, of whom two are living.

Moses F. Depati, Jb., was born in Montreal,

Canada, on the 15th of April, 1852, and left his

native home in 1869, coming to Faribault. In

1870, he moved to Warsaw and for ten years

worked at his trade, that of house and sign paint-

ing, which he learned in Canada. He was united

in matrimony on the 9th of December, 1876, to

Miss Anna Smith and they have three children.

In 1880, Mr. Depati bought the Lake House of

which he has since been landlord.

P. Gbiffith was born in New York on the 10th

of June, 1809. He was reared in his native State

and married on the 31st of October, 1830, to Clarissa

Barnes. In 1852, he moved to Illinois but re-

turned to New York two years later. He then

made a trip to Minnesota, pre-empted land and in

the spring of 1857, moved his family to the claim

and two years later removed to the village. In 1862,

he returned to his farm but came again to the vil-

lage in 1867, and engaged in mercantile pursuits.

Since retiring from business in 1877, he has filled

the oflBce of Justice of the Peace and been a mem-
ber of the board of Supervisors. Mr. and Mrs.

Griffith have had seven children, five of whom are

living.

Elias Gilhousen, one of the pioneers of this

place, was bom in Dauphin county, Pennsylvania,

on the 11th of October, 1817. He was married on

the 22d of February, 1838, to Miss Elizabeth

Siford, who bore him ten children, nine of

whom are living. In 1854, Mr. and Mrs. Gil-

housen emigrated to Minnesota, resided in St.

Paul until the Ist of March, 1855, when they

came to this township. Mrs. Gilhousen died on

the 30th of November, 1881.
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Jacob Hebshby was born in Wisconsin on the

28th of Decemberj 1844, and came with his par-

ents to this place on the 10th of May> 1855. On
the 13th of January, 1867, he married Miss Lu-

cilia Olemmer and two years later his father pre-

sented him with a farm in section seven. In 1876,

Mr. Hershey moved to Chippewa county and

while there was school Director three years and a

member of the board of Supervisors three years.

He returned to Warsaw in 1882, and is engaged

in the cultivation of his farm.

N. N. Gbaves, one of the earliest pioneers of this

place, was born in Oneida county. New York, on

the 18th of November, 1814, and at the age of ten

years removed with his parents to Jefferson

county, where he grew to manhood and learned

the carpenter trade. He 18.^5, he moved to Michi-

gan, and on the 18th of November, of the same

year married Miss Emily Welch, who has borne

him nine children, three of whom are living. In

1843, he returned to his old home in Oneida

county and engaged in blacksmithing four years,

then came to Wisconsin and farmed until 1852,

when he moved to this place in section one. Mr.

Graves built many of the first buildings in the

county. Until the last town meeting, when he re-

signed, he has held some local office, has been

Supervisor and Justice of the Peace.

Edward Hollistek, one of the first settlers of

this place, is a native of New York, born on the

27th of November, 1832. In 1853, he came to

Wisconsin but the following year retnrned

to New York. In October following he made
another trip west to Minnesota and located

a claim on the shore of Cannon Lake in this

township, where he lived until 1856, then went to

the village of Warsaw and engaged in mercantile

pursuits. In 1861, on the 29th of April, he en-

listed in the First Minnesota Volunteer Infantry,.

Company G, and participated in the first battle of

Bull Eun, was discharged for disability the last

of August of the same year, with the rank of

Fourth Corporal. He was married after returning

fi-om the army on the 24th of February, 1862, to

Miss Rowena Coats, who has borne him six chil-

dren, four of whom are living. Mr. Hollister was

a member of the Legislature in 1869 and '70, has

held the office of Town Treasurer eight terms and
is at jirjsent Postmaster and Notary Public. He
again engaged in mercantile business in 1881.

W. H. HuLSB was born in New York on the 16th

of March, 1846, and when ten years old came with

his parents to Minnesota Territory, and located in

this place, where they were among the early set-

tlers. Mr. Hulse enlisted in the First Minnesota

Mounted Rangers, Company H, in 1862, and serv-

ed fourteen months, then re-enlisted in the Elev-

enth Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, Company D,

and received an honorable discharge in 1865. He
immediately returned to Warsaw, and in 1876,

was united in marriage to Miss Marinda A. Har-

per, the ceremony taking place on the 26th of

February. The result of the union is one child.

Mr. Hulse's farm is located in section thirteen,

which he has owned since before the war.

WiiiiiABD HuGHSON, one of the pioneers of this

place, was born at Hamilton, in Upper Canada, on

the 7th of February, 1824. In 1833, he moved

with his parents to.Michigan,and in 1837, to Mil-

waukee, Wisconsin. On the 17th of January,

1850, he was united in marriage with Miss Harriett

E. Love, who has borne him four children, of

whom one is living. Mr. Hughson came to this

township in 1855, and pre-empted land in section

twenty-eight, upon which he lived until 1868,

when he moved to the village of Warsaw, but in

1871, returned to agricultural pursuits, this time

locating his present farm in section eight. He
was elected a member of the Board of Supervisors

in 1859, and Chairman of the same in 1876 and

'78, and in 1865, '66 and '67 was Assessor.

LoEBNZo .JACKSOisr, one of the pioneers of Rice

county, was bom in Manchester, Hillsborough

county, New Hampshire, on th6 26th of Septem-

ber, 1819. He was engaged in farming until 1845,

then clerked, and a year later started a dry goods

store for himself. He was united in marriage on

the 28th of November, 1850, with Miss Caroline

S. Bartlett, who has borne him six children, two

of whom are living. In 1856 he came to Cannon
City, where he was in the same business five years,

then came to Faribault, and entered the employ of

a mercantile house. Ten years later he engaged

in farming in Warsaw, where he still resides. In

.1881, he was elected County Treasurer, and still

holds the office; also has been a member of the

board of County Commissioners.'

Christian Low was born in Germany on the

2d of February, 1838, and in 1852 emigrated to

Wisconsin. On the 2d of February, 1864, he was
married to Hannah Guitchel. In 1867, they moved
to Warsaw, and located in section twenty-seven,
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which has since been their home. Mr. and Mrs.

Low have had eight children, six of whom are

living.

James A. Mobgan, one of the early settlers of

Warsaw, was born in Beaver couDty, Pennsylva-

nia, on the 1st of Marcb, 1832- He was mai ried

in his twenty-second year, on the 16th of May, to

Jane Denison. In an early day Mr. Morgan made

a trip through Maryland and Virginia, and in

1855, came to this township and pre-empted land

in section six. In 1859, -he went to Pike's Peak,

but returned shortly, and in 1862, enlisted in the

Eighth Minnesota Regiment, Company B, and

served till the close of the war. He then returned

to his farm, to which he has since given his atten-

tion. Mr. and Mrs. Morgan have had fourteen

children, nine of whom are living.

John Nusbaum is a native of Prussia, born on

the 13th of April, 1834, and at the age of twenty-

one years emigrated to America. He first located

in Toledo, Ohio, but a year later came to Wiscon-

sin, and in 1864, to Warsaw, where-he still resides.

He was married on the 22d of October, 1870, to

Miss Kaeynah Eichard, who has borne him six

children.

HowABD B^ND was born in Nova Scotia on the

11th of March, 1836, and in 1847, left his native

place and moved to Massachusetts. On the 25th

of December, 1858, he was joined in matrimony

with Miss Mary Reynolds, and they haye had

seven children, six of whom are living. In 1861

Mr. Band came to Minnesota, first settled in Good-

hue county, and in 1867, moved to Warsaw, where

he has since lived.

Andbbw Swanson; a native of Sweden, was

born on the 24th of July, 1823. He was married

near his birthplace on the 26th of December, 1848,

to Miss Betsy Mary Morgulson. They sailed for

America on the 17th of April, 1852, and located in

Illinois. In 1856 they moved to Bed Wing, Min-

nesota, and in 1860 rented a farm at the head of

Spring Creek, upon which they lived until coming

to this place in March, 1868. Mr. Swarson owns

a good farm of one hundred and sixty acres in

section thirty-six. He has a family of seven'chil-

dren, one having died.

H. Sanboen was born in New York on the 4th

of March, 1827, and moved to Wisconsin in 1844.

He was married there on the 20th of September,

1857, to Melittia A. Hull. The following year

they came to Blue Earth county, Minnesota, and

resided on a farm untU 1860, then came to this

township and bought land in section seven, where

they have since made their home. Tbey have had

four children, three of whom are living. Mr. San-

born has beenTown Clerk, and also School Clerk.

W. 8. SNrDBB was born iu Albany county. New
York, on the 22d of November, 1840. He removed

to Wisconsin, and thence, on the llth of June,

1856, to Warsaw. On the 10th of August, 1862,

he enlisted in the Eighth Minnesota Volunteer

Infantry, served three years; was wounded in the

third battle, and still carries the ball in the left

shoulder. Miss Maggie Wood became hia^wife oh

the 1st of January, 1872, and they have one child.

W. S. Weathebston was born in St. Lawrence

county. New York, on the 16th of July, 1844. On
the 9th of September, 1861, he enlisted in the

Sixth New York Cavalry, Company K, went south,

and was in the battles of William8burg,Fair Oaks,

Bull Bun, Antietam, Fredericksburg, Chancelsors-

ville, and the three days' fight at Gettysburg.

Having been discharged, and re-enlisted in the

winter of 1862, under Gen. Sheridan, he was in

the battles of the Wilderness, in front of Eioh-

mond, thence to Malvern Hill, and joined the

army under Gen. Grant. Mr. Weatherston after-

ward had charge of seventy men who were sent to

secure a supply of com. While making the

journey they were engaged in a severe fight

During all the battles and skirmishes in which Mr.

Weatherston participated, he received but one

mark, a ball at one time grazing his left leg and

leaving a black and blue spot. On receiving his

discharge, he came to Bice county, Minnesota, and

located in Wells township, where he resided until

returning to his native State in Ogdensburg, St.

Lawrence county, where he was joined iu marriage

with Miss Laura C. Lytle. In 1873, he returned

to this county, and settled in Warsaw, where he

engaged in grain raising until 1881, since which

time he has been engaged in the dairy business,

having some very fine blooded cattle, and has sold

one thousand pounds of creamery butter. Mr.

and Mre. Weatherston have had four children, one

of whom is living.
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CANNON CITY.

CHAPTER LXI.

DBSORIPTIVB—BABLY SETTLEMENT—EAELY ITEMS

OF nSTTBBEST POLITICAL EDUCATIONAL

VAKIOUS MATTERS—^VILLAGE OP CANNON CITY

EAST PRAIKIEVILLB—BIOGRAPHICAL.

Cannon City is one of the center towns of Bice

county, lying in the second tier from the south

and west county lines, and the smallest town in

the county. Its immediate surroundings are,

Bridgewater on the north; Wheeling on the east;

Walcott and Faribault on the south; and Wells

and Faribault on the west, embracing an area of

19,840 acres. The city of Faribault takes from

its southwest corner 3,200 acres, or sections

twenty-nine, thirty, thirty-one, thirty-two and the

southern halves of sections nineteen and twenty.

Of the area mentioned, considerable is taken up by

town lots and some is covered with water, which

leaves the township exclusive of these, an area of

13,243 acres.

Here we find both timber and prairie land; the

entire western portion being covered with timber,

in places heavy and again light, and interspersed

with meadow and timber openings. The eastern

and northeastern parts, extending from the north

to the south line of the town, is a rolling prairie,

with here and there fine groves of timber.

This is called East Prairie, for the reason that it

lies east of the Cannon Biver timber. Little

Prairie is a small prairie in section four. The
greater part of the town is under a high state of

cultivation, and many of the oldest and finest

farms in the county are located here. The soil is

rich and well adapted to the crops and agricul-

tural modes of to-day. A dark loam is the cover-

ing of the prairie, and as you approach the timber

a lighter nature of soil is visible, with a tendency

to clay and sand. Along the Cannon Biver, which

enters the township from Faribault and crosses

the western part in a northerly direction, tlie sur-

face is more or less broken, and in some places

enough so to be termed hilly, although there are

few places so abrupt as to be detrimental to till-

age. An abundance of excellent limestone is

found in various localities in the western part of

the town, and several have burned kilns with the

most satisfactory results, there being a number of

these enterprises now in operation. It is also val-

uable for building purposes, for which it has al-

ready been used quite extensively, several stone

quarries being now at work.

The town is well watered, but has not as many
lakes as the surrounding townships. Chrystal

Lake is the only one of note, and is located in the

central part, just north of the village of Cannon
City. Prairie Creek rises in section twenty-three,

and taking a northern course hastens its way to

Northfleld township, from whence it enters the

countji of Goodhue. The Cannon Biver has been

mentioned as traversing the western part. Otto

Falls Creek, or, as it is generally known. Pond's

Creek, rises in Wheeling, and flowing westward,

crosses the southern tier of towns and eventually

becomes part of the Straight Biver. Several

small streams traverse the northwestern part of the

township on their way to the Cannon Biver.

A sketch of the town, published in 1868 by P.

W. Prink, says that "Cannon City township occu-

pies the larger part of the same township in which

the town of Faribault is also located. The num-
ber of acres of taxable lands within its limits, ex-

clusive of town lots, is 13,243. Some of the oldest

and most valuable farm^i in the county are located

in this town, and in no part of the county can

more favorable locations be found with regard to

timber, meadow, water, and arable land. Its pop-

ulation is mostly emigrants from eastern and mid-

dle States."

In 1860, the population was 600; in 1865, 667;

in 1870, 497; and in 1880, the last census, 1,188.
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At the census taken in 1870, the values in Cannon

City, as given to the oeusus takers, were as fol-

lows: Beal property, $265,600; personal prop-

erty, $58,800; total, $324,400. The total value of

property tor the sBme year, as per assessment

rolls, was $126,139. In 1882, the total value as-

sessed was $318,850, of which $263,309 represented

the real, and $55,541, the personal properly. This

shows an increase of property assessed, during the

past twelve years, of 1192,711.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

To get at, with any degree of accuracy, the real

first settler of a section that has been settled for a

generation is a more difficult matter than would

be imagined by one who has never undertaken to

determine such a case, for, no matter how authen-

tic the source, or how conclusive the evidence

brought to bear, there will be a certain number of

men who will emphatically deny the assertion, and

bring up another candidate for" patriarchal hon-

ors, so to speak. Therefore, to avoid any mis-

understanding, or any chance for dispute, that

course has been adopted whereby the date of ar-

rival is given, as near as can be ascertained, and

the reader can select therefrom a first settler to his

notion. In the language of Mark Twain, you

"read the facts and take your choice,'' or words to

that effect.

The actual settlement of Cannon City township

commenced early in 1854, and it is claimed there

were one or two arrivals late in the year previous;

but of such we can learn notbing. Among the

first to locate was Mr. John Corsett, a native of

Ohio, who got into the town in the spring of 1854,

and took a claim in section thirty-five. He built a

little shanty covered with what he called "shakes,"'

and at once commenced putting up hay, succeeding

in securing about twenty tons. After he had

been there a short time a number of others swelled

the settlement in this part of the township. The

entire force that arrived in this year were .from

Dunkirk, Wisconsin, but they have now all

removed to other towns or counties, except one

family.

William N. Owens and family were natives of

New York, having left the place of their nativity

early in the forties and removed to Wisconsin.

Here they remained for ten years, in Dunkirk, and

in 1854, when the Minnesota fever first began to

find root in the minds of the eastern people, they

decided to join the throng. A number also came.

among whom were Isaac Hamlin and his parents,

George Marks and his family, John Pratt and

family, Samuel Howe, John Ealier, A. Eenslow,

and some who are mentioned elsewhere, and who

took claims in adjoining towns. These aU started

about the snme time, and came straggling along

on their way to the Cannon Valley. When they

got to the Root Eiver, in Fillmore county, where

Porestville now is, the typhoid fever took hold of

some members of Mr. Owens' family and he was

detained there some time, Mrs. Owens being con-

fined and delivered of a child during the deten-

tion. This, however, although it detained the

family, did not hinder the balance of the party,

and Mr. Owens with his teams assisted the others

to get into the country, his eldest coming up to

drive one of the teams. When the boy got back

he reported not very flattering news to his parent^,

and they seriously entertained the plan of retrac-

ing their steps to their former home, but finally

overcame their scruples and pushed on, arriving

on East Prairie, on the 1st of October, 1854. They

here found that those who had preceded them

had failed in their agreement to select a good claim

and cut hay for the detained party, and as they

had four yoke of oxen, two cows, and one horse,

they were obliged to secure hay or suffer severe

loss. After looking about for a short time, he

(Owens) made Corsett, who is mentioned above as

having put up twenty tons of hay, an ofier of $250

for his claim and hay, which offer was accepted

and Mr. Owens moved his family into Corsett's

doorless and floorless cabin. This was soon

remedied by making a floor out of slippery elm

bark, and door of slabs. The roof of the cabin

was very poor, as it was made of clap boards, and

Mr. Owens says that often has he heard the chil-

dren in the night crying, "Ma, Ma, it's snowin' in

my face!" and he determined to fix it, so he went

out on the prairie, cut sod and riacked it in layers

on the roof of his house. This remedied the evil

for the present and "kept the snow out of the chil-

dren's faces," but when the spring came and the

drenching rain washed crevices through the sod,

gseat haste was required in shoveling it oil' the

root to prevent the shanty from being transformed

into a mud hole.

During the fall Mr. Owens broke two acres of

the prairie, and later in the fall and through the

winter he fenced eighty acres; being the first fence

put up in the township; also making, at the same
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time, by night work, with a draw-knife, shingles

enough to cover the houses of Samuel Howe, John

Ealier, and his own, which were each 16x24 feet.

All of these settlers mentioned had comfe in un-

prepared for the extreme "newness" of matters

which they found, and as provisions and lumber

were very scarce Mr. Owens, in October, 1864,

started by team to Hastings to lay in a supply.

When he got there he found nothing but one little

hut, where was kept a few articles for sale,but they

were out of provisions and lumber was not to be

thought of. He then went to Prescott and Doug-

lass where he succeeded in getting provisions and

a few rough boards. Mr. Owens is still living in

section thirty-five and may be called the pioneer

tavern keeper of the town, as from his very first

advent he, more or less, kept tavern until about

1870. Of his sons, two of them still remain and

are prominent men in Rice county, while William

N. and Ancel E. Owen are now in the territory of

Montana, both having done valuable service for

their country, the first in crushing the rebellion,

and the last in the Indian war at Fort Aberorom-

bie.

But we digress. To return to the time of Mr.

Owen's arrival in October, 1854. After Corsett

had sold his farm he took a claim in Walcott town-

ship and finally found his way to Redwood

county, where he died some years ago.

About the time that Oweus settled, a few more

made their appearance. A party who were natives

of Vermont having stopped for a time in Wiscon-

sin, from whence they came direct. M. N. Pond
and wife, and Prof. Ide, his father-in-law, with

Mrs. Ide and her two daughters, made up the

party. They came direct to Faribault, following

the trail of Mr. Thomas 8prague,who had settled in

Warsaw, and arrived at their destination in due

time, having lost the single wagon trail. They

then started to East Prairie in search of farms.

There was not a track through the timber nor a

sign of civilization, and they were forced to tedi-

ously out a pathway through the heavy and

tangled woods. When they got to the prairie they

found signs of someone's having already been on

the ground, for on a stake, conspicuously planted,

appeared the warning words:

" 6,000 AoeEs

of this land is claimed by

TeiPP, Boss & Oo."

Whoever this remarkable "monarch-of-all-they-

surveyed" firm were, the sturdy pioneers allowed

them to claim it, and proceeded to select and settle

on the best farms they could find. Prof. Ide took

a claim in section thirty-five where the village

now is, while Mr. Pond secured a place in sec-

tion thirty-six, where he at once erected a hewn

log hut, making shingles therefor with a draw-

knife; the fact has been omitted that they had

brought with them a yoke of oxen and team of

horses. Here Pond remained until the survey was

made which discovered to him that he was upon a

school section, and he at once sold for $200 and re-

moved to the timber in section thirty-three, in

which he took the southwest quarter and at once

put up a bark shanty; peeling the bark from sap-

plings, unrolling and nailing it to the posts he had

prepared, making a shanty sixteen feet square.

He moved into this in the spring of 1855. The

winter of 1855-56 was a very severe one, and as

soon a.i the thermometer was put out the mercury

would at once bob out of sight, while the

anxious shiverer was still in doubt as to how cold

it really was, and it became a standing joke that

two thermometers must be tied together perpen-

dicularly to find how cold it was; but, it was an ac-

tual fact that for ninety days there was not a min-

ute's thaw. This was quite an unfortunate sur-

prise to the early settlers as the winter before had

been very mild, and it is stated on good authority

that musquitoes were seen in December and men
could work in shirt sleeves, almost - all winter.

However, they stood it, as they were obliged to,

many faring badly ; but it is a strange facb that

stock stood out of doors all through the frightfully

severe winter, enduring the cold and did not

suffer, apparently.

A number of others came about the same time

and increased the settlement in the southern part

of the town, and many pushed their way over the

line and took farms in Walcott. Among these were

George Marks and Mr. Emerson. The latter first

took a claim on East Prairie, but afterwards re-

moved to Walcott where he engaged in a mill.

Oliver Tripp, a native of the state of New York,

came on the 15th of August, in 1854, and took

possession of some of the prairie land in section

thirty-six, where he still remains.having purchased

adjoining lands until he now owns a farm of 320

acres, a part being in Walcott and Cannon City.

W. L. Herriman was another who came in 1854,

arriving from Ohio in the fall of the year named



CANNON GITY TOWNSHIP. 521

and secured a claim a short distance north of the

farms occupied by the parties above mentioned.

He was a blacksmith by trade and assisted in the

early settlement of the village by starting the first

blacksmith shop. He has held the office of Town

Treasurer for sixteen years and is still a prominent

man in the town.

Mr. Truman Boss came early in the fall of 1854

and secured a place in section twenty -two, where

Mr. 0. Erb now lives. He loft a number of years

ago.

Mr. John Thompson, a native of Scotland, ar-

rived in Cannon City township in 1855, and as-

sisted in the settlement of East Prairie and the

village, by. aiding in the erection of a steam and

grist mill, an account of which is found on another

page.

M. C. Sweat, a native of Vermont, after stopping

in Wisconsin for a time, made his appearance in

the year 1854, and took a claim north of the East

Prairie settlement, in section twenty-three, where

he still "tills the soil," having since his arrival

spent some time in the Kooky Mountains, besides

doing his country service in the late war. Mr.

Sweat was joined the following year by a New
Yorker in the person of H. C. Tripp, who with his

family made himself at home on an adjoining

farm in the same section where he still holds forth,

now hjving 240 acres of land and one of the finest

brick residences in Eice county.

About the same time another native of the Em-

pire State put in an appearance and joined his

fellow New Yorker by purchasing a claim in sec-

tion twenty-five. This was E. B. Orcutt, of

Oneida oo\inty, and after having stopped for a

time in Wisconsin, he made his arrival in 1855,

with two yoke of oxen. He still remains on the

claim he originally secured, having one of the

finest farms in the town. Mr. Joseph Covert, of

New York, came about the same time, and should

be mentioned as prominent among the early set-

tlers, although he first took a claim and lived

over the line in the town of Wheeling. In 1868,

he removed to his present place in section twenty-

five of Cannon City, adjoining Mr. Orcutt's on the

south. He has been and now is among the most

prominent and public spirited men in the township

and county.

Still another crowded into this section this year,

—1855—in the person of Koswell Bryant, of

New England, who, with his family, after stopping

for a time in Indiana, made their way to Minne-

sota and became identified with Cannon City

township pioneering by securing prairie land ad-

joining the places above mentioned. He still re-

mains on the place.

H. A. Swarthout, of Pennsylvania, came two

years later, in 1857, and purchased the farm he

now owns in sections twenty-six and twenty-

seven.

In the meantime other parts of the township had

begun evolutions toward civilization, although as

yet the north and south portions were as far apart,

in a social sense, as it is now distant from St. Paul.

Until the settlements grew so large as to merge

together there was no intercourse between them,

and one "heard not, neither did he see, what the

other did." Below we shall endeavor to give most

of the prominent arrivals in the northern settle-

ment, as they grew, and gradually converging be-

came one.

About the first to commence a settlement in the

north was what was known as the Closson party,

of Wisconsin. They consisted of Calab Closson

aad his sons J, Clark, Joseph, Amasa, and Schuy-

ler, who all took farms adjoining, in the northeast-

ern corner of the town, arriving late in the year

1854. They at once erected log houses and

stables as they had considerable stock with them.

Caleb, the father, remained here until about 1872,

when he removed to the northern part of the

State, where he is yet. The two oldest sons, J.

Clark and Joseph, were both married; the former

is now a drayman at Faribault, and the latter is

still on the farm. The other two boys, Schuyler

and Amasa, took claims here first, then went to

the army and died from the effects of injuries re-

ceived there. These were the most prominent

pioneers in the northern part of the town, and the

"Closson Settlement" is still often spoken of by

the old pioneers. Section five, a few mUes west of

this settlement, received an initiating settler soon

afterward in the person of John Dun gay, a native

of England who came from Chicago, where he

had been working at the carpenter trade for sev-

eral years, and secured a good farm in Cannon

City township. He at once erected a comfortable

house, sawing the lumber therefor with a whip-

saw, also preparing lumber and making probably

the first wagon made in Rice county. He re-

mained on his original place until 1862, when

he removed to where he hves at present, in section

sixteen.
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Thomas Van Eaton, late of Wisconsin, made

his appearance in the spring of 1855, and helped

fill in the gap between the two settlers above men-

tioned by taking a farm in section three. He
afterwards turned out to be a preacher, and was

finally murdered near Sauk Centre by the Indians

during their outbreak, they cutting off his head

and leaving his body lying in a slough. The

ghastly, grinning skull rolled over the. prairie for

nine years before it was identified- and buried.

Messrs. Godfrey, father and son, secured farms

,

in the northern part of the town in 1855, and

moved on them the following year.

Jesse Oarr, a native of the Empire State, made

his appearance the same spring, 1855, and pre-

empted a farm in section four, where he began im-

provements at once, and still remains on the place,

at the ripe old age of seventy-two years.

About the same time George A. Turner, of New
York, arrived and took a place near Mr. Carr, and

still lives in the township.

Thus it will be seen that by the fall of 1855 the

town had become pretty well settled and all

parts had representatives in the pioneer line.

Sears brothers had arrived and the village of

Cannon City brought into existence, while Prai-

rieville in the south, had made a very noticeable

stride. A few more of the most prominent arrivals

can be noted.

F. Van Eaton came from Indiana in 1856, and

secured a place in the northern part of the town,

where he has been a school clerk for fifteen

years.

0. H. MuUiner, a native of New York State,

came to Minnesota in 1855, and in 1856 secured a

place ia Cannon City township, where he still re-

mains, a prominent man among the most success-

ful farmers.

O. B. Hawley, another of Cannon City's public

spirited men, arrived from New York State, in

1856, and settled on his present farm in section

twenty-six, which his father, E. Hawley, had

pre-empted the year previous. Mr. Hawley was

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors which or-

ganized the township in 1858, which ofiice he held

for eight terms.

John Jepson, one of the pioneers of Minnesota,

arrived ia 1856, and took a farm in section four-

teen in Wheeling. He has since moved to Cannon

City and become prominently identified with the

interests of the township.

S. J. Clemans located in Warsaw in 1855, but

finally moved to Cannon City township, where he

still remains.

Thomas Gallagher, of Emerald Isle nativity, se-

cured a farm in section seven, where he still re-

sides.

P. Strunk, of the state of New York, came to

Bice county in 1864, and in 1873 formed a stock

company under the title of Cannon City Mill Com-

pany, and erected a flouring mill on the Cannon

Biver, in section eight.

William Dunn was among the first settlers in

the northern part of the town, coming about the

latter part of 1854.

A German named Sherman came in at an early

day in 1855.

Joseph Fanoher, and J. and Elson Emerson,

came from the east and settled on sections three

and eleven. They have since gone to parts un-

known.

Thomas Bowles, or as he was familiarly known,

Deacon Bowles^ of Michigan, a brother-in-law of

the Seai-8 brothers, came to Cannon City in the

spring of 1855, and took a farm near the village.

He mortgaged his farm to some capitalists of Fari-

bault, by which he finally lost it, and in 1872, re-

moved toOsakis.

BAEIiT ITEMS OF INTEEBST.

In 1854, when William N. Owens arrived' in the

southern part of the town, the particulars of which

have already been noted, he broke two acres of

prairie land which was the first sod turned for ag-

ricultural purposes in the town. The following

year he sowed this to oats from which he put up

a stack that he sold in the field for $50. At the

same time he put in six bushels of wheat, and

raised, besides enough for seed, 100 bushels,which

he sold for $2.00 per bushel, and could have got

more if he had asked it. It was cleared with an

old fashioned hand fan. He had settled on the old

"Indian Trail," and the Indians in passing

through from Bed Wood to Wabasha, became a

nuisance. The first thing they did after he had

settled was to come to the farm and strike their tee-

pees directly in front of his house, in a httle grove

which was there. This was more than the pioneer

family could bear, and as soon as they were rid of

them, Mr. Owens and his son repaired to the grove

where they felled every tree and turned over the

sod, so that the Indians, on their return, were

forced to seek shelter in the timber half a mile
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west of the farm. On one occasion the red skins

came to Mr. Owens' door for bread, and upon be-

ing handed a loaf laid down $2.50 in gold and re-

fused to take it back or receive any change. An-

other time a new gun was left for a pan of flour.

Mr. Owens says that had he been prepared for

trading he could have made a fortune in furnish-

ing provisions to them. It was sometime before

the Indians could be taught what fences were

made for, and in passing through the prairie land

would tear them down and march in tribes directly

through the growing grain and up to the house, in

oaildish ignorance that was very provoking, and

Mr. Owens stationed one of his children at the

point where they usually entered the field with in-

striictioQS to lead them around the piece of grain.

This finally taught them to be more careful, but

they proved to be so bothersome that Mrs. Owens

bethought a plan and carried it into successful

execution that cured their propensity for laying

around the house. She got her daughter, Amelia,

to go to bed when she saw them coming, and then

she would meet them at the door and blandly tell

them "Mecosha Sharada," which means small-pox,

and the red skins would "light" out like a pack of

The daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Owens, Amelia,

who is mentioned above, grew to be a great favor-

ite among the Indians, and many times has the

anxious mother feared they would abduct her, but

finally the messenger of death called her away

from the home in which she had so long been a

bright figure, which left a deep and lasting im-

pression on the small colony. For years afterward,

the Indians, who had loved and petted the bright

girl, would stop at Mr. Owens' door and enquire,

"PapooseV and on being told "Nepo," or dead,

would go away sadly saying, "Too bad. Too

bad!"

Eev. John Hoover, with his wife and three chil-

dren, and his son-in-law, William Neel, came

from Ohio, and arrived in Cannon City township

in April, 1855. He found all the claims marked,

mostly with the names of Tripp, Boss & Co., Wil-

liam Dunn, and Sears Brothers, and not knowing

that these parties had no right to claim

the land, he purchased a farm of a man named

Carr, who had settled on sections ten and eleven

and was living in a little pole shanty, one half of

which constituted his stable, and the other half

bis dwelling. Mr. Hoover at once moved on the

place and erected a log house, which he covered

with a roof of four thicknesses of "shakes," think-

ing that would surely keep out the rain. The sec-

ond night after this was put up there came up a

[rightful storm, which they found to be about as

severe in the house as out of doors, and to save

his library the Elder placed it under the bed, but

notwithstanding this precaution, the water soaked

through the bed and almost ruined his books.

When Eev. Hoover was at Taribault, on his way

here, he was called upon to preach a funeral ser-

mon over the body of an emigrant who had taken

sick and died in an Indian hut in the place. Mr.

H. protested that he could not, as he had nothing

but his rough traveling clothes and could not ap-

pear in such unsuitable garments. They insisted,

however, and borrowed him a suit, in which he

delivered the discourse to a congregation of two

men and several women. In fact, when the

shroud which had been made was brought forward

there were not enough men present to raise the

corpse, and it was split open in the back and

tucked under. This was on the 15th of April,

1855. During the summer of the same year, Mr.

Hoover posted up a notice that he would hold re-

ligious services on the shore of Chrystal Lake, he

being of the Methodist Protestant faith, and after

inaugurating it, seats were made of logs, and

spread over the grounds here and there. Many
well attended and able meetings were held here at

which Mr. Hoover officiated, and a Sunday school

was organized, which is still in force. William

Neel now occupies the farm secured by Mr.

Hoover.

Kev. T. E. Cressey was probably the first and

most prominent missionary of the Baptist faith in

Eice county. He originally came from Ohio, lo-

cating first, for a time, at Hastings. In 1855, he

came to Eice county and settled in Cannon City

township, where Mr. Turner now is, and was

prominent and foremost among religious circles,

preaching the first sermon in the town. In 1862,

he went into the army as chaplain and did val-

uable service. Eetuming after the close of the

war, he remained a short time and removed to

Des Moines, Iowa, where he died. He was a true

Christian, an earnest worker, and was beloved and

respected by all who knew him.

Among the first marriages in the town was that

of Elson Emerson to Charity Judd, at the resi-

dence of John Emerson, in 1856 or '57. Another

was that of Mr. and Mrs. Kiekenoff.
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The first death occurred in the spring of 1855,

and was Mrs. Warren, mother of Mrs. John Pratt,

at the latter's residence in the southern part of the

township. A coffin was made under the shade of

a tree by Mr. M. N. Pond, from the boards of a

wagon box, and was stained with a red wood cane.

Her remains are now at rest in the Prairieville

cemetery.

A few weeks after this death, on the 24th of

May, 1855, Amelia, a daughter of Mr. and Mrs.

W. N. Owens, was taken away by death, and was

buried in their garden, where they remained until

the burial ground was laid out. Eev. J. Hoover,

of Cannon City, preached the funeral discourse.

A man called "Doctor" died at the residence of

Truman Boss in the fall of 1855. He had just

sold nis claim and contemplated going back to his

eastern home, when the grim monster overtook

him.

POMTIOAIi.

This township was brought into existence for

self-government shortly after the territory became

a State, and the meeting for the purpose of or-

ganizing was held at the residence of I. N. Sater,

in Cannon City, on the 11th of May, 1858. The

meeting came to order upon call of I. N. Sater,

and officers pro tern, were placed in charge "of the

meeting as follows: Chairman, Thomas Robin-

son; Moderator, Peter Chenneworth; Clerk, D.

W. Albaugh. The meeting then took up the mat-

ter of township officers for the ensuing year, and

elected the following: Supervisors, O. B. Ha\^-

ley. Chairman, Jesse Carr, and J. A. Starks; Jus-

tice of the Peace, William N. Owens; Clerk, C.

Smith House; Assessor, J. D. Carr; Constable,

John Cusey. The first records of the township are

in such condition that it is impossible to ascertain

to a certainty who were the first officers, and the

above are as near correct as we can determine.

The name of Thomas Bowles also appears in the

first record as making a motion to vote $200 to

defray town expenses, which was carried.

This township voted sums at different times to

pay bounties to volunteers who should fill the

quota. On the 8th of August, 1864, an appro-

priation was made to pay $200 to each man who
should offer to enlist before the 5th of September,

1864, the vote on the question being 63 for and

17 against the proposition. On the 21st of Jan-

uary, 1865, another special town meeting was

held for the purpose of levying a tax to pay

bounties; but this was defeated by a vote of 63

against and 29 for.

At the annual town meeting in the spring of

1882, the following town officers were elected:

Supervisors, E. Walrod, Chairman, O. E. Ingram,

and P. Van Baton; Clerk, Thomas Sloan; Treas-

urer, W. L. Herriman; Assessor, H. 0. Leasure;

Justice of the Peace, Franklin Carter; Constable,

John Struthers.

BDtrCATIONAL.

DiSTKioT No. 8.—This district, which embraces

the village of Praireville, effected an organization

at the first meeting of the Eice County Commis-

sioners in January, 1856, although school had

been held the year previous, in the fall, by Mr.

Haugland in a sohoolhouse erected in the summer

of 1855, by K. Merrit, the lumber having been

drawn from Hastings. This was a very good

building and served the purpose until 1876, when

the present neat and substantial brick house was

erected on the same site in the village of Prairie-

ville, at a cost of $1,800, being heated by a furnace

and supplied with necessary apparatus for a suc-

cessful school. In 1858, James Anderson, Clerk,

reported this district as having thirty scholars, and

a year later E. Austin reported sixty-five.

DisTKiCT No. 9.—The first school taught in this

district was in the winter of 1856-57, at the resi-

dence of William Dunn, by Miss Mary Swart-

hout, with an attendance of about fourteen

scholars. The district was organized the same

year, and a schoolhouse erected soon after.

Their present school building is located in the

eastern part of section twelve, and cost $400; the

number of scholars at present is about eighteen.

This district, in January, 1858, reported to the

county commissioners as having thirty-two schol-

ars. Geo. Douglass was Clerk.

DiSTBiCT No. 10.—This is the district embrac-

ing the village of Cannon City. It was set apart

and organized under its present number, at the

very first meeting of the board of County Commis-
sioners, in January, 1856. The first school was

taught the summer before the organization, in a

store building belonging to North & Carroll, by
Miss Fannie Havlin, with twenty-five scholars

present. In January, 1858, J. Sanborn, Clerk, re-

ported this district as having ninety-two scholars;

and one year later, James D. Carr who was then

Clerk, reported 103 scholars. This was to deter-

mine how much of the apportionment money this
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district was entitled to; it being that year sixty-

five cents per scholar. The district now has a

very neat and commodious building on block

eighteen in the village, which was erected in 1873,

18x28 feet, of brick, at a cost of $1,700. It is

furnished with patent desks and necessary ap-

paratus. The last term was taught by Miss H.

Eay, with seventy scholars.

DiSTBTCT No. 25.—Effected an organization in

1862, and a log house was rolled together at that

time, 14x16 feet. Miss Mary Carr taught the first

school in this building, with fifteen juveniles on

the hard wood benches. The district now has a

fine brick schoolhouse, 20x30 feet, that was erected

in the northeastern part of section seventeen at a

cost of $600, with patent seats and heated with a

furnace. S. N. Haynes was the last teacher, there

' being an attendance of fifteen.

District No. 30.—This educational organiza-

tion came into existence in 1857, aud the first

school was taught in a building 18x24 feet, which

the district erected in the northern part of section

twenty-five, on G. G. Durland's land, the lumber

being hauled from Hastings, and there were ten

scholars present. The location of the present

school structure is the southwestern part of the

same section, there being now an attendance of

eighteen pupils. This district, in 1858, reported to

the Commissioners that they had thirty-five

scholars in attendance.

DiSTEioT No. 72.—The greater portion of the

territory now comprising this district was formerly

merged into the organization of district No. 22,

which was organized in 1857. It was set oil in

1861, and a schoolhouse erected in 1864, at a cost

of $150. The first school was held in a log house

on the Rutherford farm, a short time after the dis-

trict was set oS', by Miss Mary Jane Butterfield,

with thirteen scholars present. The prefent loca-

tion of the schoolhouse is in the southwestern

comer of section three, and the attendance regis-

ters twenty-four.

DiSTBiCT No 81.—Effected an organization in

1865, and the first school was taught in a little

shanty in section twenty-four by Miss Esther

Durance with eleven scholars. In 1867, a school-

house was erected, 20x24 feet, on the same site now
occupied by their building, the northwest corner

o" section twenty-four.

VABIODS MATTEES.

The Fikst Saw-Mill.—In 1855, M. N. Pond

commenced getting out timber on section thirty-

three for a saw-mill. He threw a dam across the

river, put in a flume with twenty-two feet head, and

equipping the concern with a sash saw commenced

making lumber at the rate of about 8,000 feet per

day, in 1857. He ran the mill for six or seven

years, until steam got so plenty and efficient that a

common water wheel of early days was too re-

mindful of a "poor-house" and he left it to rot

down. The old water wheel is still in the stream,

and combined with the rocky bluff, the water

trickling over the stone steps in the stream, which

nature formed, the uniised kiln makes a most pic-

turesque scene.

As early as 1854, Mr. Pond started the first lime

burning in the township, starting a kiln on a log

heap and burning enough lime to plaster his

house. In 1856, he erected a good kiln with a ca-

pacity of about 100 barrels per week, which he ran

for [ibout fifteen years. The kiln is still there but

not in use.

Soott's Mill.—In 1856, the foundation of this

mill was laid by Henry Andyke, who erected a

saw-mill there and commenced to cut lumber at

the rate of about 3,000 feet per day. It was run

by several parties and firms until 1873, when it

was converted into a grist-mill by Strunk & Com-

pany, the owners at that time. They continued

to run it until 1876, when the present owner, R.

H. Scott, purchased it, and continues to operate it,

with four run of stones, and the necessary machin-

ery to make a first-class custom and merchant

mill. It is located on the Cannon Kiver in the

southeastern part of section eight; its total cost

was about $84,000.

NoBWBGiAN Lutheran Chubch.—This society

was organized some years ago, and in 1881,erected

a small church building in the northwestern part

of section eight. This is about the center of the

Norwegian settlement, and the society is compos-

ed of about twenty families, the present pastor is

Rev. Carter Hanson.

A school in the Norwegian language is also

taught here for the benefit of the children of the

members.

Oak Ridge Cemetery.—This beautiful spot for

burial purposes is located on what is known as

"Oak Ridge," and contains ten acres. It was laid

out and recorded in the fall of 1857, and has more
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graves than any burial ground in the county, be-

ing connected with and under the management of

gentlemen in Faribault, usually going by the

name of "Faribault Cemetery." The grounds are

laid out in drives and walks, and a large vault

has been constructed in the eastern part. It is

under the care of Mr. Levi Nutting ; the present

officers of the association are : President, General

L. Nutting; Secretary,. H. L. Jewett; Treasurer,

E. A. Mott.

Early in June, 1857, two young ladies, Mar-

garat Morgan and Sallie Eobinson, were drowned

at Cannon City by the upsetting of a boat in

^^hich were twelve ladies and gentlemen, the oth-

ers being rescued. In a book by Edward Eggle-

ston, called the "Mysteries of Metropolisville,"the

scene of which is laid in this vicinity, the tragical

part of the story embraces the drowning of two

young ladies, which must have been suggested to

the aiithor by this sad and fatal accident, which

cast such ,a gloom over all hearts at the time.

VILIjAGB op C.tNNON CITY.

This village, the most important in the town-

ship, is located in about the center, in sections

fifteen and twenty-two, of township 110,

range 20. Contiguous to East Prairie, it lies in

the midst of a most valuable and productive

farming country; while the timber extends to the

outskirts on the west. It is situated on the banks

of a beautiful little sheet of water, justly called

"Crystal Lake," and as a spot of beauty for a vil-

lage site, the location is certainly hard to equal.

Tiie prospect at the times of starting was unex-

celled, as the hope and expectation of a railroad

and the county seat spurred the proprietors and

those concerned on to enterprise and energy ; but,

when the probability, even, of such events, began

to disappear, the village, which had taken many
strides in advance of the surrounding country,

began also to wane and decline, inaugurating a

retrogression which only ceased in its backward

march when it left what we find to-day as a mem-
ory of days gone by.

As an interesting item to those now here, as to

what was said in early days of Cannon City, we
annex a short sketch of the village, made in 1860,

by Mr. C. "Williams, and published by HoUey &
Brown in pamphlet form; it is as follows:

"Cannon City village was laid out in the fall of

1855, by the Messrs. G. A. and J. D. Sears, from

Jlichigan. It is located on section fifteen, town

110 north, range 20 west, four miles northeast of

Faribault, thirty-fiv.e miles from Hastings, and

forty-five from St. Paul, with excellent roads to

each of these places. It is eligibly situated with

reference to the surrounding country, on a beau-

tiful and elevated plat of ground commanding a

view for miles to the east, north, and south, and

contiguous to the "Big Woods." It is situated on

the main thoroughfare between the southwestern

and southern counties and St. Paul, Minneapolis,

St. Anthony, Hastings, and Bed Wing. The

village has all the requisite facilities

for the accommodation of the surround-

ing county, having a good flouring mill

aud saw-mill connected, of easy access, and driven

by steam, three stores, two hotels, mechanic's shops

of all kinds, blacksmith shops, a wagon shop, a

furniture establishment, a fanniug-mill manufac-

tory. It has church organizations of the various

Protestant denominations. The village is sup-

porting two select schools the present winter, and

they are well patronized by an intelligent, moral,

industrious, and frugal population. There is no

better farming country in the State than that

which lies contiguous to this village. It is on

the borders of what is known in this county as

'East Prairie,' a country hard to beat for farming

purposes in any State."

F. W. Frink, in his sketch of Rice county, says

of this village: "It has a beautiful location with

reference to surrounding country. * * *

It is four miles northwest from Faribault, and

being of easy access to some of the best farming

country in the county, is a good point for trade,

and its Post-office furnishes a large extent of

country with its mails, etc.," * * *

Its Eaelier D^ts.—The locality in which Can-

non City is situated first received a settler in the

year 1854, when Eli Oowen and Isaac Amy arrived

and secured farms there. Truman Boss had also

made his appearance and secured a habitation,

when, in the spring of 1855, the Sears Btothers, of

Michigan, arrived and conceived the idea of start-

ing a village. There were three of the brothers,

Gregory A., the oldest, who brought his family

with him, Douglass, and William. They suc-

ceeded in platting and recording the town in 1855,

naming it in honor of the Cannon River. The

first house had already been erected on the town

site by Eli Oowen and Isaac Amy, it being a small

and rather cheap log structure, and the Sears
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Bsothers at once opened a store, and erected a,

store building near this.

0. Smith House, for the firm of North & Carroll,

Hastings, erected a good store and placed a heavy

stock of goods upon the shelves; and, as the Post-

offlce was soon after established, it was made a

part of the store and Mr. House appointed Post-

master. Mr. Talbert erected and put in motion

an excellent steam power saw-mill, with a circular

saw, and did a splendid business for some time,

there often being, in the winter of 1856, as many
as 500,000 feet of logs in the yard at once. After

running it for a time Mr. Talbert sold to the firm

of Starks & Sears, who added a large flouring mill

to it at a cost of about $10,000.

W. L. Herriman, who had for a short time been

operating a blacksmith shop on his farm a short

distance from town, moved into the village and

erecting a shop commenced awakening echoes in

Cannon City, with the sound of the anvil. He is

still in the village. William An Dyke soon joined

his "fellow son of the forge," and after erecting a

building he remained for some time at his trade,

finally removing to Forest.

Mr. Freetine, of Jewish origin, came the spring

following, 1856, and constructed a small log tav-

ern about the place where the Christian Church

now is, and run it for a short time, when it was

discontinued and finally torn down.

The City Hotel was erected within a few months

after by Mr. Gowen, being a commodius frame

building; it was purchased shortly after its comple-

tion by J. Giles, who after running it a few years

sold to Mr. Samuel Hawkins, and it finally passed

into the hands of, and was partially torn down by,

W. L. Herriman. The last, but one, proprietor,

Samuel Hawkins, lost his life on Easter Day, 1881,

while trying to save his library from his house

which was burning, being so seriously burned

that he died shortly after. His widow still lives in

the village.

The Sherman House was put up aud opened

about the same time as the above hotel, by H.

Sherman.

Charles and Peter Chenneworth erected a fine

store building the same year—1856—and placed

a large stock of goods upon the shelves, running

it a short time and selling it to Albaugh & Brother.

J. W. Dean also made his appearance and

erected a substantial building for general merchan-

dise where Mr. Shank's blacksmith shop now is,

and put in a heavy stock of goods. He continued

in business some ten or twelve years. His build-

ing was sold and used for school purposes, and

finally made into a blacksmith shop.

So the growth of the village went on—increas-

ing and accumulating; but this is sufficient to

show how rapidly it was developed, and exhibits

the supposed "embryo city" in the height of the

"boom," it being at this time equal in importance

to any village in the county, not excepting even

Faribault, and we hereto attach an article clipped

from the Faribault Herald, of December, 1857,

which will reveal Cannon City at that time, and

throw some light upon a busy scene which justi-

fied high expectations. The article is as follows

:

"We paid Cannon City a visit this week, and are

happy to report positive permanent improvement.

The large steam saw and flouring mill of Starks &
Sears, built at a cost of nearly $14,000 (including

$5,000 paid for the saw-mill), is now ready for

operation. This mill is a monument of the energy

and enterprise of its proprietors. They have falt-

ered not in its early completion, although the

crisis lowered its dark front over our country. The
wheat pouring into its vaults, last Monday, is in-

dicative of its popularity. Its engine is of forty

horse-power, and three bolts are put up. Success

to the project.

Of her schoolhouse, Cannon City may be proud.

It is built and furnished with an eye to beauty and

comfort. It cost $1,400, and was designed to ac-

commodate sixty-four scholars. It might contain,

however, in the neighborhood of one hundred. We
found a school promising in numbers, just organ-

ized under the superintendence of I. N. Sater,Esq.,

of that place.

We counted forty-nine buildings, and appar-

ently none vacant.

The mercantile line is well represented. We
were shown over the establishment of C. Smith

House, and found as fine a variety of dry goods,

groceries, shelf wares, fancy goods, etc., as we

have seen in the Territory, and a larger assort-

ment of crockery and glass ware than we have be-

fore observed. His warehouse was literally

crammed with grain, which is taken in exchange

for goods. Mr. House is also Postmaster at this

place.

Albaugh & Brother are doing a good trade.

They also exchange for produce.

J. W. Dean is also proprietor of a general va-

rietv establishment.
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We notice two hotels : The City Hotel, by J.

Giles, and the Sherinan*House, by H, Sherman.

One cabinet shop by Neel & Bailor.

One chair factory by Beckley & Goss.

One wagon shop by E. S. Rice.

Three blacksmith shops and one harness shop.

The professions are represented by Bevs. T. E.

Cressey and J. Hoover, in the clerical line; Dr.

Dale in the medical; Starks & Carman in the le-

gal.

The topography of Cannon City has been too

frequently given to need a repetition by. us, suffice

it to say that as a spot of beauty it has few

equals."

This prosperous state of affairs kept up for a

time, but gradually the decline set in. The town

proprietors, with whom a great deal of merited

fKult had been found, packed up their "duds," as

they were called, and disappeared from view for a

time, finally coming to light as the town proprie-

tors of Karson City, Nevada, and since that time

have been lost sight oi. The mill was discontin-

ued and the flouring machinery removed to Matte-

son's Mill, in Faribault, while the saw portion

found its way to Osakis. C. Smith House, whose

name in front of his grocery store, had deceived

so many travelers into believing it was a hotel in

charge of "C. Smith," finally went out of business.

The lawyers and doctor left in quest of pastures

new, Dr. Dale removing to Faribault and grad-

ually the business interests deserted the town, with

the exception of a hotel, store and Post-offloe. The

two latter are in charge of William Kiekenoff, and

Mr. Gordon is "Mine Host" at the hotel, where, in

the words of Shenstone, the weary traveler

"May sigh to think he atill has found
The "warmest welcome at an inn."

In addition to this the village has a large num-

ber of residences, a good schoolhouse, three

churches, and in 1880, Isaac Walden erected a

building, put in machinery,and now operates a feed

mill with the steamer of his threshing machine.

As an important factor of the village, both of

early times and the present, we below give a short

history of the growth and development of the

various religious denominations.

Methodist Protestant.— This denomination

organized in 1860,with about forty members. The
first services were held in the summer of 1856, by

Bev. J. Hoover, on the shores of Crystal Lake,

where a Sunday school was also organized. After

organization, which took place in the schoolhouse,

services were held at various places until about

1870, when the membership increased to seventy

and a chuj-oh was erected, size 36x40 feet, at a

cost of .$2,000, besides a great amount of the labor

being accomplished by the members. In 1872,

the congregation merged into the Congregational

Society, the church was deeded over to new

trustees, and the denomination has since been

known under this head. Among the pastors who

have officiated here are, Bev. J. Hoover, Bev. Mr.

McChesney, Bev. Mr. Bushnell, Bev. Mr. Mitchell,

and Bev. Mr. Guiton. There is no regular pastor

at present.

Chbtstian ok Campbellitb Ohdboh.—Effected

an organization in 1873, in the schoolhouse, with

Bev. Mr. Taylor ofBciating, and a small member-

ship. The society increased rapidly and the fol-

lowing winter the lake was brought into requisi-

tion to baptize 150 members. Soon after a neat

and commodious church was erected in the village

which they now use; Bev. Mr. MoBennels being

the present minister.

Episcopal Society.—This was organized by

Bishop H. B. Whipple, of Faribault, in 1868, with

probably fifteen members. In 1874, a small,

though neat, church was erected, in which they

now worship, the membership not having in-

creased much. The society has no regular minis-

ter, tlieir pulpit being filled occasionally by a

student, whom the Bishop sends from the college

in Faribault.

Methodist Episcopal.—At an early day there

was a very strong organization of this denomina-

tion, but the interest waning and the organization

growing weak, was finally suspended and the

society declared moribund.

EAST PBAIBIEVILIiE.

This little hamlet is situated in the southern

part of the township of Cannon City, in section

thirty-five, extending partially over the line and

into Walcott township. The village started out

with a very fair prospect, although it was not laid

out with an eye to making a metropolis of it, but

more for convenience of farmers.

The village site is well located for a pleasant

village, adjoining the rich farming land of East

Prairie on the east, and the timber extends up to

the boundary of the village on the west, being

about two miles and a half distant from the city

limits of Faribault. To show what has been said
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of^the village at various times, we have clipped

from a sketch of the county by 0. Williams, in

1860, the following in regard to East Prairieville

:

"It is a little village situated upon the edge of

what is called East Prairie and the Straight River

timber. It has perhaps the best settled prairie

country east of it in the county. It contains from

fifty to a hundred inhabitants, has a Post-ofBcej a

• good schoolhouse, a tavern, a store, and a steam

mill."

Ten years later than the above was written, in

1870, F. W. Prink, County Auditor, commented on

the village as follows: "East Prairieville is a

small town four miles east of Faribault, lying on

the edge of the Straight Eiver timber, on what is

known as East Prairie, a name which designates a

large extent of the best prairie lands in the county.

The town has a neat and commodious church be-

longing to the Congregational society, has a

Post-office and a store, and from its situation must

always be a pleasant little village and a good

point for trade."

Eablt Development.—In 1854, Prof. Ide, in

company with others who are noted in another

place, came to Cannon City township and took as a

pre-emption the land in section thirty-five, where

the village now stands. He held it and remained

until the spring of the following year, when James

Anderson, with his father, Alexander Anderson,

and their families made their appearance, and

the former, in May, 1855, purchased Ide's claim,

John Corsett had also settled in the same section,

adjoining the village, and in 1854, sold to W. N.

Owens. On this pre-emption the first house

erected in the village was put up, in the spring of

1854, by Corsett. In the year 1855, the village was

laid out and all made ready for the events which

followed. In the meantime, before the platting of

the village,or about the same time,W. B. Spencer, a

native of Pennsylvania, came and erecting a httle

board building, placed a stock of goods in it, and

ijommenoed keeping store. Alf. Barriok had ar-

rived with his father and their families, and had

located in another part of the town, but when he

learned of East Prairieville he at once, came down

determined to start a shop, as he was by trade a

blacksmith. As trade was at first slow in coming,

he almost starved waiting for it, and had it not

been for the generous spirit of Mr. W. N. Owens,

who furnished his family with provisions, they.

would have suffered from hunger. This was soon

34

bridged over, however, and Mr. Barriok continued

until 1864, when he sold to John Wagner and re-

moved to Crow Eiver. Wagner continued for a

time and finally sold to Charley Edwards, who in

turn, in 1878, sold to the present proprietor, Mr.

McLean, who is now doing a good business, to the

entire satisfaction of all who patronize his estab-

lishment.

Geo. De Forest came to the village in the fall of

1857, and opened a cabinet and carpenter shop

which he continued until the time of his death in

1878.

Logan Eoss started and run a blacksmith shop

for a time, but finally gave it up and is now in

Montana.

Thus the growth of the village went on until

1858, when the condition of affairs here are pretty

well described by the following article, taken from

the Faribault Herald, which was published during

the early days of the village

:

East Prairieville is the name of a new town laid

out east of Straight Eiver timber, about three

miles from Faribault, by Anderson, Thompson &
Spencer. It is about three months since the plat

and s'urvey was completed. It already numbers

about fifteen houses—all new. A schoolhouse

twenty-five feet by thiriy-two has been erected,and

a school under the supeiintendenoe of Mr. R.

Hoagland is in progress. We will notice that

more fully some future time.

A hotel is in course of erection by Friedenburg

& Eoss.

We notice one blacksmith shop, employing two

hands.

One carpenter shop.

A general variety store, with a good assortment,

has lately been opened by W. B. Spencer, who has

entered into successful competition with the mer-

chants of the adjacent towns. From our own ex-

perience, we must say that we have never seen

goods cheaper in the west.

A steam saw and grist-mill has been built by

Anderson & Thompson, at a cost of over $12,000.

Tbe grist mill is thirty by forty—three stories

in height. They have put in three runs of stones

and four bolts.—Each run of stones will grind

twelve bushels per hour. We have tried some of

the flour and found it good as any in the market.

The machinery was made by Weston & Cogswell,

N. T. The extension which contains the saw-mUl

is thirty by sixty feet. Eight hundred feet of lum-
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ber is near the average out every twelve hours.

Logs are coming in briskly. The engine driving

both mills is of thirty-flve horse-power— from the

shop of Davis & Bonsell, Salem, Ohio, and works

admirably.

This place lies adjacent to a good body of tim-

ber, while south and east lies some of the richest

agricultural lands ia the country. The prairie is

thickly settled, and by a very intelligent and en-

teprising community."

Stoeb and Post-ofmob.—This was established

in 1858, with W. B. Spencer as manager, in a little

board building which Spencer had erected. The

first mail received consisted of two letters. Among
the proprietors since, have been, Daniel Bussell,

John Bailey, Charley L. Lowell, Isaac Hamlin,

Henry Hile, Mr. Alther, and Mr. Brockman. The

store and the Post-office have been discontinued.

The former is soon to be restocked, however, and

the latter re-established.

That XJnfobtunatb Milij.—This may seem an

odd and rather exaggerated caption, but when the

truth is known, it will be admitted as appropriate.

When James Anderson first came to the East

Prairie, he purchased a small portable saw-mill

which he moved to the village and commenced

running. After a time this was discontinued and

sold. Hon. John Thompson then went into part-

nership and erected a suitable building, put in ne-

cessary machinery, and commenced operating a

first rate steam saw-mill. Shortly afterward a

large two-story building was erected and a splen-

did flouring mill put in running order. This com-

menced grinding on the second day of December,

1857, and after running just six weeks caught fire

and was totally destroyed. This cast a gloom

over the entire settlement, as Mr. Anderson had

borrowed a good deal of money on the building,

and all the farmers in the neighborhood were in

one way or another financially interested in it, the

mill having been the hope and pride of the entire

southern portion of the township. It was intended

for five run of stones and at the time of the fire had

already received three run. This so crippled the

firm that they were unable to re-build, and a public

meeting was held for the purpose of furnishing aid,

which resulted in raising the sum of $1,900 toward

a new mill. This money was given to James An-

dersen with instructions to go to Cleveland, Ohio,

and purchase the necessary machinery. When he

returned he stated that he had accomplished it,

and had paid in addition to the $1,900, $400 from

his own pocket. In a short time $300 worth of

machinery arrived and the people got nervous but

Mr. Anderson seemed to be as impatient for its ar-

rival as any one. Next came the astonishing news

from the firm in Cleveland that they had shipped

all that Anderson had paid for,— $300 worth. An-

derson was arrested, but bailed out, and he disap-

peared from view. The true extent of his swind-

ling was never known until after he had gone,

when it was found that the lots of the village which

had been purchased by the various settlers were

all under heavy mortgage in the hands of Dr. Mo-

Cutcheon, of Faribault. Several widows and a

great many persons in moderate circumstances,

turned up, who had placed their entire wordly po-

sessions in the shape of ready cash, only to see it

vanish with the oily-tongaed scamp whom they

had trusted. Another interesting point in connec-

tion with this, is that during Anderson's absence

in Cleveland, supposedly purchasing machinery,

the citizens of this vicinity all turned out and

erected a suitable building, ready to place ma-

chinery in, and were going to surprise him; this

building is still doing service—not for which it

was built, but as the barn of Mr. Owens.

After all this had been settled as far as ever

could be, Mr. Thompson, the unfortunate partner

of Anderson, secured a partner in the person of

Mr. A. Eenslow, who furnished the necessary

means for purchasing the balance of the machin-

ery, and by the fall of 1858, a first-class saw-mill

was in operation, un^er the management of the

new firm. This was continued for about two

years, when it was sold to a Mr. Abbott, who
removed it to Medford.

East PbaieibvuiLB Hotbl. — In 1857, two

yonng men, Benjamin Friedenburg and John

Ross, who had been at work on the mill, purchased

six acre& and commenced the erection of this hotel.

After they had got up the walls the mill burning

catastrophe occurred which spoiled the hopes of

making a hotel profitable, and they thereupon

sold out to William N. Owens, who finished it and

opened up in October, 1858. Mr. Owens contin-

ued as the proprietor until 1866, when, his health

failing, ho sold to Isaac Hamlin, who operated it

until the present proprietor, O. E. Ingram, pur-

chased it in 1877, and now occupies the building

as a residence.
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KEMGIOtJS.

The first serviees of this nature in this

neighborhood were held in the house of Wil-

ham N. Owens, in March, 1855, by E«v. T. B.

Cressey, of the Baptist faith. After this, services

were held once every four weeks by Eev. Mr.

Cressey, but no organization took place in this

faith. Since that two societies have been organ-

ized, a short sketch of which are below given, the

Congregational and Methodist.

CoNGEEGATiONAi SocLETT.—The first services

for this denomination were held in the spring of

1858, at the sohoolhouse, by Bev. Mr. Heverland,

a photographer. An organization was effected

soon after, and in 1865, a church edifice was

erected by them in the village, the size of which is

about 30x50 feet, W. B. Spencer donating a church

site. Kev. Mr. Gilbert was the first minister sta-

tioned here, and remained for about fifteen years.

Their church was finally sold to the Methodist

society, and no meetings are held at present,

Methodist Denomination.—The first services

for this society were held by Bev. Mr. Kirkpatrick,

in the residence of Elijah Austin in the village,

in the fall of 1855, and a class of about fourteen

members was formed soon after. Services were

held in his house and the sohoolhouse until the

Congregational church was completed, when ser-

vices were held in that, and in 1876, the building

was purchased of the Congregationalists. There

are now about twenty members, and services are

held every two weeks in the church, with Rev.

Mr. Acres as pastor.

Pkairibvillb Cembtbby.—This burial ground

is located on the farm of William N. Owens, hav-

ing been laid out in April, 1860. The first inter-

ment here was the remains of Mrs. Warren who
died in April, 1855, and who was removed from

her former resting place to these grounds as soon

as laid out. The grounds are now pretty thickly

dotted with head stones and thoughts are enter-

tained of enlarging them.

BIOGRAPHIOAL.

Joseph Covebt was born in Sullivan county,

New York, on the 29th of April, 1828, brought

up on a farm and when twenty-two years old be-

gan the manufacture of lumber. Two and a half

years later he removed to Dodge county, Wiscon-

sin, and engaged in farming two years. In 1850,

he married Miss Sarah F. Ogden and three years

later came to this township, pre-empting wild

land in 1855, He now owns two hundred and

forty acres most of which is improved, and has

erected a fine brick residence. Mr. Covert has

held local offices and in 1876, was elected to the

Legislature, and again in 1879. He has a family

of seven children.

John T. Cowlbs is a native of Jefferson county,

New York, bom in 1832, and was schooled to ag-

ricultural pursuits. In 184.4, he removed to

Dodge county, Wisconsin, and continued tilling

the soil. On the 21st of November, 1858, he mar-

ried Miss Mary Jane Walrod. In 1863, they re-

moved to Plainview, Wabasha county, Minnesota,

and in '1865, came to his present farm of two

hundred and forty-seven acres in section sixteen.

Cannon City township. He has been a member

of the board of Supervisors three years. Mr. and

Mrs. Cowles have been blessed with five cMldren.

J. CiiOSSAN was born in Jefferson county. New
York, and remained at home on a farm until six-

teen years old, then came to Wisconsin, where in

1853, he married Miss Susan Koon. They came

to Bice county in 1855, and Mr. Olossan pre-

empted his present farm of one hundred, and sixty

acres in section one. He served nine months in

Company 0, of the Sixth Minnesota Volunteer

Infantry and was discharged at Fort Snelling for

disability. He has one child, a son.

Geobge Douglass was born in Beekmantown,

CUnton county, New York, in 1825, and grew to

manhood as a farmer and currier. In 1852, he

married Miss Minerva Howe, who was bom in

1881, in Vermont, and in 1855, they removed to

Minnesota, coming by the way of Iowa. Mr.

Douglass located a farm in sections twelve and

thirteen and now has two hundred acres improved,

building his present house in 1879. He has three

children.

P. B. Edwasds was bom in Warrensville, Ohio,

in 1848, and remained at home until twenty-one

years old. In 1869, he came to Bridgewater, this

county, and in 1874, to this township, buying a

farm of eighty acres in section thirty-five where

he still resides. Mrs. C. J. Edwards became his

wife in 1882.

B. C. GrODFBBr was bom in New Brunswick,

Canada, on the 4th of November, 1852. His

father, EHsha Godfrey, was a farmer £md was also

engaged in the fisheries to some extent, and after-

ward, in 1855, became a pioneer in this county
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Our subject came to this place and resided on his

father's farm, in section three, until he purchased

the same in 1880. He was united in marriage m
the latter year wtth Miss Eva Foster.

John Jbpson was born in New York in 1835,

and learned the cooper trade of his brother. In

August, 1856, he came to Eice county, and

staked out a claim in Eiohlaud township, and in

the fall of 1857, Miss Lyda L. Sherpy became his

wife. In 1860, he made a trip to California, re-

maining two and a half years, then returned and

located in Cannon City, where he conducted a

store nine years. He served seven months in the

First Minnesota Heavy Artillery. In 1876, he

removed to section fourteen and has a farm of two

hundred and eighty acres with good substantial

buildings. Mr. and Mrs. Jepson have four chil-

dren. He was Oohstable two years; Chairman of

the board of Supervisors one year; Postmaster

three years; Justice of the Peace three years, and

Town Clerk seven years.

C. H. MuLLiNBK was born in Penfield, Monroe

county. New York, on the 12th of November, 1826,

and when young worked on a farm. In 1850, he

came to Michigan and was engaged in farming in

different localities, and in 1852, he was married

to Miss Sabrina Sanford. In 1856, he removed to

this township, settled on section three, and in 1858,

removed to the village, where he has since resided.

He enlisted in 1862, in the First Minnesota Cav-

alry, served one year, and re-enlisted in the Sixth

Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, serving two years.

He now draws' a pension for injuries received

while in service. Mr. MuUiner has three chil-

dren.

D. A. MoLban was born in Canada on the 19th

of August, 1855, and learned the blacksmith trade

of his uncle, Alexander McLean. In 1878, our

subject came to Bice county directly to Faribault,

and bought the shop owned by 0. P. Edwards,

which he has since conducted, doing a good busi-

ness.

William Nbbl is a native of Ohio, born in

1829, and when seventeen years old learned the

carpenter trade. On the 18th of August, 1853,

he was joined in marriage with Miss Pauline

Hoover, and the next year removed to Bice coun-

ty. He pre-empted land in this township in sec-

tion thirty-two, which he sold the following win-

ter to G. M. Gilmore, and moved to Faribault,

where he engaged in cabinet making. The next

spring he sold out his business and removed to

Cannon City, locating in section ten, but after-

ward removed to his present farm in sections ten

and eleven, where he has a farm of one hundred

and sixty acres. Mr. and Mrs. Neel have four

children.

E. B. Obotttt was born in Oneida county, New
York, on the 22d of February, 1822, and ten years

later he removed with his parents to Ohio, but re-

turned to New York in 1838, and located in Mon-

roe county. On the 13th of June, 1851, he was

married to Miss Sylvia Dunning. Mr. Orcutt had

charge of a boat on the Erie Canal until 1852,

then removed to Dodge county, Wisconsin, and

in 1855, came with two yoke of oxen to his pres-

ent farm on section twenty-five, where he has two

hundred and sixty acres, all improved, and with a

maple grove, which he set out thirteen years ago.

He has a family of five children.

WrtiiiiAM N. OwBN, one of the pioneers of this

place, was born in Delaware county, New York,

in 1813, and grew to manhood on a "farm. He
was joined in marriage on the 5th of July, 1837,

and in 1844, removed to Dane county, Wisconsin,

where he was engaged in agricultural pursuits

•until 1854, then came to Eice county and located

a farm in this township on section thirty-five. He
built his bouse on the Indian trial, the Sioux In-

dians coming from Wabasha to the trading post,

Faribault, also . put up the first fence and raised

the first wheat and oats in Eice county. He states

that he was the first Justice of the Peace of this

place. , Mr. and Mrs. Owen have had eleven chil-

dren, six of whom are living, and all have received

a good education in the Faribault schools. His

son George conducts the farm.

William Pennook is a native of Madison coun-

ty, New York, born in 1822, and came with his

parents to Steele county, Minnesota, in 1842.

Miss Julia Hamlin became his wife in 1843, and

in 1869, they removed to this township and locat-

ed on their present farm near the city of Fari-

bault.

G. W. Pope was born in St. Lawrence county.

New York, on the 17th of September, 1828, and

removed with his parents to Kenosha county,

Wisconsin, in 1846, remaining at home until

twenty-three years old. He then located on a

farm near Portage City, and in 1852, married Miss

Adaline Barlow. In 1857, he removed to this

township, where he has one hundred and fifty-two
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acres of land in section thirty-Cve, with beautiful

buildings and many fine shade trees. He has a

family of six children.

F. STBtJNK was bom in New York in 1836, and

after working at agricultural pursuits, came

to Michigan in 1862. Two years later he removed

to this county, and in company with his brother

purchased a farm in Richland township, which he

sold in 1876, and came to this place, forming a

stock company for a flour mill, known as the Can-

non City Mill Co. This he conducted two years,

then sold out and purchased his present farm on

sections ten and eleven, having now two hundred

and forty acres. He was married in 1867 to Miss

AdaO. Bathbun, who has borne him three chil-

dren.

M. C. SwBATT, one of the old settlers of this

place, was bom on a farm in Vermont in 1829. In

1831, he removed to New Hampshire, where he

was married to Miss Cynthia Amy. They removed

to Wisconsin in 1849, and Mr. Sweatt worked on

a farm and' in the pineries until 1851, when he

moved to Green Bay. In 1854, he came to this

county, and located on his present farm, the north-

east quarter of section twenty-three. Soon after

coming here he visited the Eocky Mountains, but

returned and enlisted in the First Minnesota

Heavy Artillery, served one year, and previous to

that was First Lieutenant of the State Militia in

1861. He has a family of four children.

G. A. TuKNBB was born in Onondaga county,

New York, on the 1st of May, 1821, and removed

with his parents to Indiana when fifteen years of

age. In 1842, he went to Illinois, spent a few

months there, and made a trip south, spending

the winter of 1842 and '43, in New Orleans. In

the spring he went to Hillsdale county, Michigan,

and engaged in farming. In 1851, he married

Miss Eomina S. Blanohard, of Ovid, Michigan.

They came to this State in 1854, and after remain-

ing in Hastings a short time pre-empted one hun-

dred and sixty acres in section four, Cannon City,

which he made his home until 1862, when he re-

moved to his present farm in section two. Mr.

and Mrs. Turner have two daughters and five

sons.

John Thompson was bom in Scotland on the

28th of January, 1832, and removed to Canada

with his parents at the age of three years. He
assisted his father on the farm, and at the age of

seventeen years began the manufacture of lumber.

removing to West Canada in four years. In 1852,

he made a trip to California, remained three years

and came to Cannon City township, erecting a

steam saw-mill between Faribault and Prairieville;

conducted it one year, then traded it for three

factories, which he still owns. He was next en-

gaged in a grist-mill, first alone, but after its de-

struction by fire, erected another and took a part-

ner. On the 12th of July, 1857, he married Miss

Nancy E. Henderson, and the issue of the union

is three children, two of whom are living. In

1859, Mr. Thompson bought a part of his present

farm, moved on it, and now has a farm of four

hundred acres, well improved and good buildings.

In 1878, he was elected to the State Legislature,

and again in 1881.

H. C. Tripp was bom in Erie county, New
York, on the 10th of May, 1817, and his father,

Noah Tripp, being a farmer, H. C. was reared to

the same occupation. In 1838, he went to Jack-

son county, Michigan, worked in a saw-mill a

short time, then returned to New York. In 1840,

he married Miss Emma E. White, of Cayuga

county, who bore him three children. After her

death he married his present wife, Miss Minerva

Eay, who was bom in Vermont in 1825, the mar-

riage taking place in 1849. They removed to

Collins, Erie county. New York, where Mr. Tripp
'

engaged in carriage making until 1854, and in

that year started for Minnesota with a team, land-

ing in this place in 1855, and immediately located

a farm in section twenty-three, where he now owns

two hundred and forty acres of land. He has a

large brick house, beautifully located, and one of

the finest farms in the county. He was Justice of

the Peace four years, and Assessor one year. His

eldest son, Merritt N., enlisted in 1861, in Com-

pany A, of the Sixty-fourth New York Battalion,

and died at Alexandria Hospital on the 29th of

April, 1862. Mr. Tripp has two living children,

Lettie and Delose, both at home.

F. Van Eaton, a native of Indiana, was born in

] 835, and assisted in the farm labor until the age

of fourteen years, when he learned the blacksmith

trade, worked four years in his native State, then

removed to Illinois. In 1851, he removed to Win-

nebago county, Wisconsin, engaged in farming

until 1856, and came to Cannon City, locating on

his present farm of one hundred and sixty acres in

section three. His land is all improved but thirty

acres, which is covered with heavy timber, and
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has two mineral springs. He has been twice mar-

ried, first to Miss S. J. Patterson in 1853, and

after her death to Mrs. Phoebe M. Davis in 1864,

and has been blessed with four children. Mr. Van

Eaton has been a member of the board of Super-

visors three years, and District Olerk fifteen years.

J. M. Wood was born in Nova Scotia on the

24th of October, 1815, and learned the carpenter

trade when fourteen years old. He removed to

Massachusetts in 1839, where he married Miss

Mary Ann Finch in 1842, and the issue of the

union is three children. In 1860, they came to

this State, settled in Union Lakes until 1872, then

removed to his present farm in section seventeen.

Cannon City township.

A. L. Weight was born in FrankUn county,

Massachusetts, on the 1st of March, 1828, and

when sixteen years old went to Worcester county,

and for seven years worked, at the boot and shoe

business. At the expiration of that time he re-

moved to Northampton, where he engaged with

his uncle working in marble. In 1853, he re-

moved to St. Paul, Minnesota, arriving there the

3d of May, and in five months went to Medford,

Steele county, locating land in section five, which

was the first land claimed in that county, and he

and Mr. 0. Lull are said to be the first white men

there. In 1855, he married Miss Phoebe Hays,

the ceremony taking place the 22d of March.

They have five children. In 1863, he removed

to this place, and has two hundred and forty acres

of improved land in section three, being supplied

with good buildings.

WEBSTER.

OHAPTEE LXII.

GENBRAIj DBSOBIPTION EABLT SBTTIiBMBNX BABLY

EVENTS OF INTEREST TOWNSHIP ORGANIZATION

MANUFACTURING POSTOFFICES—^RELIGIOUS

BDUOATIONAIj BIOGEAPHICAI,.

Webster Township is the companion town of

Wheatland in extending the botindary Une of the

county northward. It is in the northwestern part

of Bice county; its contiguous surroundings are

the counties of Soott and Dakota on the north and

east, with Bridgewater township forming an east-

em boundary to section thirty-six; on the south

Forest and on the west Wheatland.

Webster is comprised of thirty -six square miles,

containing 23,040 acres, of which about 330 are

covered with water.

The soil is variable, the hilly portions being

somewhat clayey, while the rolling and bottom

lands are made up of a rich dark loam, with a clay

or sand subsoil. The southwestern part of the

township is very rolHng in some places, enough

so to be termed hilly, which gradually becomes

more level as you advance to the north. This was

originally covered with very fine timber such as oak,

walnut, maple, basswood, etc., but this has nearly

all been cut down long since and used for build-

ing and other purposes. One of the walnut for-

ests, such as abounded here in an early day, would

now prove an immense fortune to those who, in

pioneer times, cut them down as ruthlessly as

poplar. In the northern part of the town it is

also quite hilly, and this was covered with timber

of the smaller varieties; but as you go eastward

the surface becomes more even, although the

tendency to rolling is still apparent and some-

times quite abrupt. This portion was originally

covered with small timber, interspersed with nat-

ural meadows, and -small prairie spots covered

with hazel brush, scrub oak, elm, etc., but this has

long since almost' entirely disappeared, and now
many fine and fertile farms have transformed the

spot where once the Indian hunter and wild beast

held undisputed sway, into a land of beauty,

thrift, civilization, and productiveness.

Webster is not so well watered as most of its

contiguous neighbors, in fact it has no lakes of

any importance wholly within its borders, nor is

its surface traversed by streams of any note.

Union Lake is the largest body of water in the

town, entering from Forest and covering about

200 acres in section thirty-five. Knowles Lake is

the next in size, located in the western part of the

town, almost wholly in section nineteen. These
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two lakes are connected by a stream flowing from

the latter, called Ohub Creek. Another little

stream rises in the northwestern part of the town-

ship and crosses sections five and six as it leaves

and enters Scott county. Still another small

brook rises in the eastern part of section eleven,

and crossing section thirteen in a southeasterly

direction, enters Dakota county.

A small majority of the citizens at the present

writing are of German, Irish, and other foreign

origin, although the American population is grow-

ing more rapidly than the foreign-born. A re-

port of the township published a few years ago

states that the township contained "640 acres of

unsold school lands, 520 acres still belonging to

the government, and nearly 5,000 acres to the

railroad. Wild lands may be purchased from

$2.00 to $5.00 per acre, etc." This, however, is

now changed and almost all lands above men-

tioned have been sold to, and are now occupied

by actual settlers, while the wild lands have

doubled the price mentioned.

In the year 1860, the township had a popula-

tion of^lO; in 1865, 319; in 1880 the latest cen-

sus, 872. At the census taken in 1860, the values

in this town, as given to the census takers, were

as follows: Keal property, .f137,700; personal,

149,150; total, $186,850. The total assessed val-

uation for the same year, real and personal,

amounted to $53,259. In 1882, the board of

County Conrmissiouers in equalizing assessments

in the various townships made the following re-

port of valuation in Webster : Personal property,

$26,915; real property, $105,169; total, $132,084;

showing an increase in assessed valuation over the

year mentioned above of $78,825.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

Webster commenced evolutions toward settle-

ment and civilization in 1855, probably a little

later than any township in Rice county, but the

changes wrought are second to none. About the

first to take a claim and actually settle, who is yet

in the town, was Martin Taylor, a native

of Ireland, who secured a claim in section twenty-

one in November, 1855. He had left his family

in HastiQgs, but in the following spring removed

them to his new made home, where he had erected

a small log shanty. He then went to work and

cleared and spaded up three acres of land, which

he planted to corn and potatoes. The next spring,

wishing to seed the ground to wheat, he started to

Northflel'd, the nearest point where the seed could

be obtained, with a yoke of oxen but no wagon.

He placed one sack of wheat across the back of

one ox, and another across the yoke, arriving home
in safety with his wheat. With this he seeded his

ground, and from the three acres he raised one

hundred and ten bushels. This yield has never

since been equalled, but Mr. Taylor says that

since that crop he has never once been out of the

article.

In the spring of the year that Mr. Taylor ar-

rived—1855—a settlement was commenced in the

southeastern part of the town. Harry Humphrey,

a native of New York, having stopped for a time

in Ohio, arrived and secured a place in section

thirty-six, on the shore of Union Lake. He put

up a log house and commenced running it as a

hotel. He remained here until some time in the

seventies, when he disposed of his farm and re-

moved to Minneapolis, where he paid the debt of

mortality in 1881, his devoted wife soon following

him. They left several sons in various parts of

the Northwest.

Neither of the settlements, which were about

five miles apart, received many settlers during the

year 1855. The Union Lake settlement, in the

southern part of the town, that was begun in the

spring by Mr. Humphrey, was increased in De-

cember by the arrival of two more parties, S. J.

and Chalmer M. Webster, natives of Ohio. S. J-

took a valuable claim in section thirty-five, and

Chalmer M. took a.farm about two miles to the

west, in section twenty-eight. Both of these early

comers remained on their places until 1866, when

they removed to Marshall, Lyon county, where

they now reside.

Ferris Webster, now deceased, was a prominent

and active figure in the early settlement of this

locality, and it was in honor of him that the town

received its name. He was father of the parties

above mentioned, and came to the township at the

same time, taking a farm in section twenty -six,

where he remained until the time of his death,

which occurred in 1880. His respected widow

still lives on the old homestead, and he left one

son, M. C. Webster, who is still a resident of the

township, the rest of his descendants being located

in various parts of the Northwest. He was a man
honorable in his dealings and highly respected by

aU who knew him.

In the spring following Mr. Webster's arrival,
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all parts of the township began to be settled, and

the two settlements already settled branched into

surrounding sections with surprising rapidity.

Jacob Oamp with his wife came this year, and he,

after securing a farm in sections twenty-seven and

thirty-four, commenced the erection of a log hut.

The grit and perseverance of early settlers is pret-

ty well indicated by the fact that he carried the

logs to build his house on his shoulders, and drew

his stove through the woods from Northfield with

a sled by hand. He commenced life here with

scarcely anything, but has now become well-to-do

and independent.

Early in the spring and about the time of the

last mentioned arrival, Bansom F. and Oscar Web-

ster, natives of the Buckeye State, came and set-

tled in section twenty-six, immediately commenc-

ing to build log houses. The first remained in

the township until 1874, when he sold his farm

and removed to Lyon county, where a couple of

his brothers had preceded him. Oscar Webster

remained on his farm until 1870, when he re-

moved to Wisconsin, but has since gone to Water-

town, D. T., where he now lives.

In May, 1856, Thomas Keegan, a native of the

Emerald Isle, made his appearance and took a

claim northwest of Taylor's place, in section sev-

enteen. He put up a log shanty and a hay and

brush stable, and commenced getting land ready

for seed. He remained on his place until 1864,

when he sold out and removed to Nebraska. With

the settler mentioned above came another native

of Ireland, in the person of William Sabry. He
took a place a short distance south of his compan-

ion, locating in section twenty-one, where he made
improvements and remained until 1868, when he

removed to Bismarck, D. T.

Section eleven also received a settler this year,

and commenced a settlement in the northern part

of the town. John Gleason, of the "Land of the

Shamrock," drifted into this town one July morn-

ing, and anchored himself on section eleven, where

he'stUl remains fast. About the same time James

McOabe, a native of Massachusetts, moved in and

made Gleason company by selecting a farm in

section twelve. He erected a log shanty and com-

menced farming. In 1865, he opened a general

merchandise store, which he still continues on his

farm. Joseph Lilly was also a settler of this

year.

Mr. Belling Benton, a native of England, made

his appearance in 1856, and planted his stakes on

a beautiful piece of ground in section thirty-six,

bordering on the shores of Union Lake. The se-

lection proved satisfactory, as he still remains

there.

After this the influx became so rapid and in-

cessant that it would be impossible to chronicle

the arrivals in their sequence, but we give the

prominent ones who took farms and are yet culti-

vating them. Many came who have since pulled

up stakes and removed further west or returned

to their former homes in the East.

James Kiley, a native of Ireland, arrived in

1857, and secured a farm in section ten where he

still remains, satisfied. The following year, 1858,

another quarter of the same section was secured

by Mr. Maher, also of Celtic origin.

E. 0. Knowles drifted into the northwest quar-

ter of section twenty-nine, in 1860, where he is

still anchored. He came to Minnesota in 1855.

John Oole, was another early settler in Minnesota,

having come to the State in 1856. He arrived in

Webster in 1865, and taking a farm in^seotion

twenty-eight still stands guard over it. Corne-

lius Denman came to Eice -county from Ohio in

1855, and set tied in Morristown. In 1867, he pur-

chased a farm in section thirty-four, Webster,

where he still remains.

Ola Elstad, of Norway, settled in section one

in 1862, and in 1866, Edward Elstad, of the same

nationality kept him company by purchasing a

farm adjoining him in the same section, where

they both stiU remain. In 1874, Nels Hoagen-

son joined the little settlement of Norwegians^

and took a place in section two. J. O. Larson, G.

Christopherson, M. Christiansen and others came
in at various times and swelled the settlement of

this nationality.

Thomas Gleason, a native of the Emerald Isle,

came in 1864 and purchased a large farm in sec-

tions twelve apd thirteen, where he still lives.

Joseph Gear, another Irishman, took a farm off of

an early settler's hands, in 1868, in section twelve,

Eobert Campbell, of the old country, came to

America in 1862, and in 1866 arrived in Webster,

purchasing the farm where he now lives in section

eighteen. In 1867, Henry Graves came and pur-

chased 120 acres in section twenty-one, where he

now lives. The same year J. G. Walden, of Maine,

made his appearance and purchased the farm he

DOW occupies in section twenty-eight. Thomas
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Lynch, came in 1863 and bought a farm in sec-

tion thirty-two. He was a native of Ireland and

still occupies the place he originally settled on.

Thus it will be seen the settlement of the town-

ship pushed onward, each succeeding year wit-

nessing still further additions and developments.

Farms were opened in all parts of the town, and

the early comers began to reap the just reward of

their industry. Step by step the change had

been wrought, until a new era had almost imper-

ceptibly daWned upon the scene. Larger build-

ings were erected, schools and churches estab-

lished, and a general air of enterprise was mani-

fest where so recently all was wild and uninhab-

ited. From the crude efforts of earlier years the

present tillers of the soil fast adapted wiser and

more systematic modes of farming, the beneficent

results of which are already so plainly apparent.

EARLY EVENTS OF INTEBEST.

Town Name.—Webster township was originally

named by the government surveyors, "Minne-

mada," and for a short time this was the name of

the locality rather than the township. It was

afterwards voted by the citizens that the town be

named "Oarrolltown," but the County Commis-

sioners bestowed upon it the name of "Webster"

and it has ever since recognized this as its appel-

lation, being in honor of Mr. Ferris Webster, an

early settler in the town.

Eaely Births.—The first birth of a white child

in the township was John MoGuire, whose natal

date is on the 18th of March, 1857.

A daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Camp was

brought into existence in January, 1858.

There was a minor arrival in the shape of a

nine-pound child at the residence of Mr. and Mrs.

Salmon Webster in May, 1858.

December, 1858, witnessed the birth of Thomas,

a son of Martin Taylor and wife.

Early Mabbiages.—The first marriage of

Webster parties occurred in June, 1856, and joined

as man and wife Mr. Salmon Webster and Miss

Fannie Humphrey. Mr. Webster moved out of

the township in 1866, and now lives in Lyon

county.

Another marriage occurred in August, 1858,

the high contracting parties being Ephraim Dilly

and Miss Alice St. John.

Early Deaths.—In the summer of 1858, Web-
ster first felt the effects of the ravages of death.

The wife of Samuel DiUy was the first victim, and

passed to her eternal home. Her little daughter

died soon afterward and was the second death.

township organization.

In common with all the sub-divisions of Eice

county the organization of this township took

place soon after the Territory was admitted to the

sisterhood of States, in 1858, and the first meet-

ing was held on the 11th of May of that year.

This meeting was held at the residence of Ephraim

Dilly, and came to order by appointing Michael

O'Mara, chairman, and S. S. Humphrey, clerk.

The meeting then proceeded to ballot for officers

to take charge of town matters, which resulted as

follows: Supervisors, Geo. Carpenter, Chairman,

K. H. Dilly, and James Kiley; Town Clerk, J. J.

McCabe; Collector, Timothy Gleason; Justices of

the Peace, Ephraim Dilly, Sen., and F. Webster;

Constables, William' Dilly and Elisha Fitch; Over-

seer of Roads, William Dilly, Sen. Next the

meeting took up the matter of town expenses and

voted the sum of $100 for that purpose.

The affairs of public interest have been at-

tended to since this inaugural meeting with com-

mendable zeal and fidelity, there having been ex-

hibited due economy in regard to finance and pub-

lic expenditures.

At the twenty-fourth annual .meeting of the

town, in March, 1882, a full corps of township

officials were elected as follows: Supervisors,

John Gleason, Jr., Chairman, Hans Hamann, and

John King; Clerk, Thomas Skeffington; Treas-

urer, Hogen Oleson; Justices of the Peace, John

Hennesy and Henry Meinke; Constable, Henry

Weise; Assessor, Thomas Skeffington.

BUSINESS interests.

In this township, there being" no villages, the

matters under this head are somewhat scattered.

The Post-offices, blacksmith shops, and stores are

of great convenience to the farmers of the sur-

rounding country, relieving them of the necessity

of going out of their township for supplies or

common requirements of life. It can be said that

Webster is well represented so far as manufactur-

ing and mercantile affairs are concerned, consid-

ering the distance from railroad connection and

its accompanying advantages.

In 1856, Mr. Ferris Webster hauled goods from

Hastings by team and opened a small store in

section thirty-five, with a limited stock of grocer-

ies and provisions. It was operated for a short
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time and then discontinued, as the country was

too sparsely settled as yet to support the enter-

prise.

In the fall of 1865, however, another effort was

made with better success. Mr. James McOabe
hauled a stock of goods from St. Paul and opened

a store in a small shanty in the northern part of

section twelve. It proved a success and is now
occupying a commodious and substantial building,

18x55, on the old site, keeping a large and well

assorted stock of goods and is a great conven-

ience to the farmers. Until 1872 a stock of wines,

liquors, etc., were kept, but since that time they

have been dispensed with.

A saloon was started in the winter of 1857, in

the western part of section thirty-six, by a Mr.

Hoffnekle, but was only run for about three

months. It seems the proprietor got a lot of In-

dians in the saloon and proceeded to get them

drunk; he succeeded but the citizens near by came

down on him and he left.

Saw Mill.—An excellent steam saw mill was

erected in 1873 by Mr. WilHam Albers, in the

eastern part of section thirty-five, on the bank of

Union Lake. The propelling motor of the mill is

a thirty horse-power steam engine, that drives the

two circular saws with which the mill is equipped,

with sufBoient force to cut 10,000 feet of lumber

per day, although the average is only 5,000. This

mill is a great benefit to the surrounding country,

and takes a prominent place among the manufac-

turing interests of Kice county.

Blacksmith Shops.;—After the settlement of

the township commenced it was not long until a

brawny armed son of Vulcan moved his forge and

anvil into Webster and commenced to make the

steel ring. This was in 1856, and a Mr. Palmer

also opened his shop, and kept banging away un-

til 1858 when he pulled up stakes and removed to

Rochester where he now lives. His shop was lo-

cated on the eastern part of section thirty-five.

The next shop was opened in 1868, by Gilbert

Christopherson, who erected and commenced oper-

ating a shop in the northeastern part of section

one, where it is still in full blast.

Nels Oleson, in 1874, put up a shop in the south-

western part of section twenty-nine, putting in a

complete set of tools, and here he may yet be

found, still blowing the bellows.

Union IjAkb Post-oefioe.—This was the first

office established in the town of Webster, having

commenced its existence through a petition to

Congress in the winter of 1856. Henry Hum-
phrey was the first Postmaster, with the office at

his house in section thirty-five. This gentleman

was the incumbent until 1873, when George

Prunk was appointed to handle the mail, which

arrives on Thursday of each week by way of

Millersburg.

Hazblwood Post-office.—This office was es-

tablished in 1857, one year later than the above,

with J. W. Doyle, Postmaster. Mail was then re-

ceived once each week ; now it arrives on Tuesday

and Saturday of each week from Northfield.

James McOabe is the present Postmaster, and E.

W. Parker, mail carrier, th^ office being kept at

Mr. McOabfi's store, in the eastern part of section

twelve.

Webster Post-office.—This is the youngest

office in the township, having been established in

1879, with F. Butzke, Postmaster, and the office at

his house in section eight. He is still Postmaster.

Mail arrives twice each week from Northfield by

way of Hazelwood.

EELIGIOUS.

The first religious services held in this township

were in the summer of 1856, by Elder E. 0. Cres-

sey, a missionary of the Oongregationalist faith,

in the house of Mr. F. Webster in section twenty

-

six. After this, services were held in John Camp-
bell's house once in two weeks. This was contin-

ued until Mr. Campbell moved out of the town-

ship in 1866, and since that time there has been

no regular services, as the Congregationalists have

never had an organization.

Baptist Society.—This denomination com-

menced holding services at the log schoolhouse

of district thirty-three in 1870, with the Rev. Mr.

Gale, as officiating minister. The society was

duly organized in the fall of the same year with

twenty-eight members. In the year 1873, Mr.

Humphrey donated the church a site for a build-

ing, and they at once commenced the erection of

their present church edifice, completing it a num-
ber of years afterward at a cost of about $1,200,

it being a very neat and commodious structure.

Among the pastors who have presided here are

Elder James F. Walker, Rev. Frank Howard, Rev.

Mr. Piunk, and Eev. J. F. Wilcox, the latter gen-

tleman being the present pastor. The church is

located on the southern line of section twenty-five.

NoBWEGiAN Lutheran Church.—First held
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services in 1876, at the schoolhouse of district

No. 67, and continued holding irregular services

here and at various places until 1878, when the

society was organized, and the following trustees

chosen: Ole Beige, Peter Oleson, Ole Anderson,

and Christopher Seiga, with twenty members en-

rolled and Bev. Nels Veker the first minister. In

1878, the erection of a neat frame church was

commenced in the southwest corner of section

thirty-one, which, although not completed as yet,

has cost $600. The society now has thirty mem-

bers but no regular pastor. A cemetery is con-

nected with the church organization, being lo-

cated in the town of Wheatland.

CathoiiIO Sooibtt.—Meetings of this society

were first held in Timothy Grleaaon's house in

1857, the first mass being said at the residence of

James MoOabe in 1858, by Father Oster, who was

the first priest. In 1861, they decided to build a

church, as meetings were being held at various

places, and a buUding committee was appointed.

James McCabe donated the society ten acres in

section twelve and they purchased an additional

ten acres adjoining it. Their building was finally

finished as it now stands, with vestry, addition,

and steeple, in 1881, having cost .f3,100. The

present officers are: Secretary, James MoOabe;

Treasurer, Jame^ Kiley. The priest is Father

Reorlin. The church building of this denomina-

tion is a fine and commodious one; a credit to the

township, and the society deserve commendation

for their enterprise and zeal. Its location is in

the southern part of section twelve.

The Catholic cemetery, not far from the church,

was laid out in the summer of 1863, containing

one acre. The first burial here took place in the

same year, and placed the remains of Mrs. Fox in

their last earthly abode.

SoiiOES CONGBEGATION OF THE NoEWBGIAN

Ldthekan Sinod.—The fira,t services held in the

township by this denomination, was at the resi-

dence of Mr. M. Oleson, in section four, in 1876.

In 1878, an organization was effected and the

erection of a church commenced, in section nine,

which, although it is not yet completed, has cost

$700. The first pastor was Bev. O. A. Berah, who
still officiates.

In 1881, a cemetery ground was laid out by
this church on E. Anderson's farm in the north-

em part of section nine, near the church, contain-

ing sixty-six lots.

Gekman Luthbkax Ohdkoh.— Bev. Julius

Wolf, in 1871, held services with this denomina-

tion at the residence of Henry Blinker, and the

following year an organization was effected and a

frame church edifice erected in the northwestern

part of section five, at a cost of $400, the members

doing almost all of the labor. The present pastor

is Bev. Christian Alphers, with a membership of

about twenty, and a flourishing Sunday school in

connection with the church.

When the society was first contemplated, in

1871, a cemetery was platted and laid out in sec-

tion five, near the church site, and the burial of

a child of Mr. and Mrs. Hans Hamann, inaugurated

the sad and touching scenes that have since fol-

lowed.

BDUOATIONAL.

Historically speaking, there is not much to the

educational department of Webster township

—

not that it is inefficient or incapable, for such is

not the case, as it would favorably compare with

any of which we might speak—but there is an un-

avoidable sameness between them; in fact, the

history of one district is, with the exception of

minor points, almost a synonym of all others.

However, to gratify that pardonable local pride

and curiosity in regard to "our district," we attach

hereto a short sketch of the organization and

growth of the various districts severally.

District No. 33.—This district efiected an or-

ganization in the summer of 1857, and school was

held at the residence of Mr. Salmon Webster, with

three scholars in attendance, and Mrs. Frances

Webster, teacher. In the fall, of 1861, a log school-

house was rolled together in section thenty-six,

where Miss Bosy Bidwell first called school to

order. This primitive structure served its pur-

pose until 1873, when the present neat and com-

modious schoolhouse was erected on the same site

at a cost of about $625. B. J. Matson first taught

in the new house.

DiSTKiCT No. 42.—This educational subdivision

was set ofl" and organized under this number on

the 5th of June, 1858, with Messrs. Samuel Dilly,

B. H. Dilly, and John Gleason as school officers.

A school building was put together, of logs, on

section twelve soon afterward, which was kept in

use until 1872. In the latter year their present

building was constructed in the southern part of

section eleven, at a cost of !S400. Mr. James Ken-

ney first called school together in this house.
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DisTBiOT No. 52.—This was legally organ-

ized in 1865, and a log house built in the southern

part of section eight. The first school was taught

the following spring in this building by Miss

Mary Ann Shippy—although this statement is

contradicted—and the building was used continu-

ously until 1880, when it was dispensed with, and

the present house erected in the southern part of

section eight at a cost of $615.

DisTBiOT No. 67.—Effected an organization in

1861, and a school meeting was held on the 27th

of March, at the house of E. 0. Knowles, at

which school officers were elected as follows:

Treasurer, E. C. Knowles; Director,' Elisha Pitch;

and Olerk, H. D. Williams. At a special school

meeting held on the 9th of tfuly, 1864, a tax of

$200 was voted for the purpose of erecting a

schoolhouse, and the following year the walls of a

log house, 18x20 feet, were put up by contribu-

tion, that was completed in the fall of 1865 and

ready for use. In the summer of 1866, school

was held in it by Miss Angerora Shippy, and it

was in use from this on for school purposes until

1880, when the present house was erected in the

central part of section twenty-nine, at a cost of

$700. William H. Wetherston first called school

to order in this edifice. At present the school en-

rolls about sixty-five pupils.

BIOGEAPHICAli.

S. B. Bablow, one of the early settlers in Web-
ster township, was born in Connecticut on the 31st

of July, 1834. When he was but three years old his

parents moved to EranUin county,New York,where

he received his schooling. At the age of fifteen

years he was employed in the pineries; in 1853,

moved to Michigan, where he was in the lumber

business one year, thence to Wisconsin engaged in

digging wells and cisterns until 1857. He .then

came to Bice county and took a claim in section

thirty-two in this place, which has since been his

home. He erected a house immediately after his

arrival, but the following year built a more sub-

stantial one, which was destroyed by fire in 1866,

when he put \vp his present dwelling. In 1 862,

he enlisted in the Second Minnesota Cavalry and

served one year. After his discharge he returned

to his farm and has since devoted his time to its

cultivation, with the exception of the year 1872,

which he spent traveling through Minnesota,

Wisconsin, and Michigan. He was joined in mat-

rimony on the 16th of March, 1861, to Miss Louisa

S. Walden. They have bad seven children; Ad-

die, Melvin, Mabel, Sarah, Edna, and Cora. One

died in infancy.

Bellamy Benton, one of the old settlers of

Eice county, was born in England in 1809. He
was brought up on a farm, attended school and

learned the baker trade. At the age of twenty he

enlisted in the army and served two and a half

year.s when his parents bought his discharge. He
then returned home and was engaged on the po-

lice force in the City of Wisbeach four years. In

1846, he married Miss Mary Salmons and they

were blessed with five children, all of whom are

now dead, also his first wife. For twenty-four

years he was engaged in a grain warehouse and

afterward was appointed Warden of the jail in

Wisbeach remaining three years. He married his

second wife. Miss Maryan Mitohal, and soon after

emigrated to America, landing in New York. He
moved from there to Cleveland, Ohio, and the

same year (1856) came to this township, built a

log cabin in which they lived until 1871, and then

erected their present fine frame structure.

F. BuTZKE, one of the early settlers of this

township, is a native of Germany, bpm on the

22d of October, 1819. He attended school and

when quite young learned the blacksmith trade of

his father. In 1840, he enlisted in the Prussian

army and served three years. In 1845, Miss Hen-

riette Wasse became his wife. They emigrated to

America in 1857, landed in Baltimore and came
directly to Minnesota, stop^ng in Hastings one

month and then to this place. He staked out a

claim in section eight, built a log house in which

he lived about fourteen years, then erected his

present frame dwelling, and now owns three hun-

dred and twenty acres of land. He has a family

of seven children; Bertha, Herman, Ulrike, Ferdi-

nand, Matilda, William, and John.

Abel Caepbntee was born in Vermont on the

13th of June, 1813. At the age of three years he

moved with his parents to Predonia, New York,

where they remained five years, thence to Fairview,

Pennsylvania, and three years later to Ashtabula

county, Ohio, where Abel grew to manhood. He
was married tm the 28th of March, 1843, to Miss

Mary Britt. Two years later they moved to Lee

county, Iowa, where they resided on a farm until

1871, and on the 20th of May they came to this

township and purchased a farm in section thirty-

five, which has since been their home. Mr. and
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Mrs. Carpenter have a family of seven children

;

Henriette, James, William, George, Samuel, Abel,

and Emma. Abel was born on the 3d of March,

1859, in Lee county, Iowa, and has always made

his home with his parents. '

Jacob Camp is a native of Pennsylvania, born

on the 11th of August, 1829, and when an infant

removed with his parents to Holmes county, Ohio.

In the spring of 1855, he started with an oil-cloth

covered wagon and one horse for the West. On
reaching Dubuque, Iowa, he took a steamer for

Hastings, from whence he went to Washington

county and spent the winter. The following

spring he came to this township and was among
the first settlers, locating in section twenty-four

and twenty-seven. He was married in August,

1856, to Miss Mary Egan and the union has been

blessed with three children.

John Oolb, a native of Yorkshire, Ed gland,

was born on the 23d of April, 1829. He spent

his youth on a farm and in school and in 1852,

emigrated to America, landed in Quebec and came

directly to Detroit, Michigan, where he engaged

in farming and gardening. In 1856, he came to

Minnesota to seek a home, settled on Vermillion

river in Dakota county and remained until the

spring of 1865, when he enlisted in the First Min-

nesota Heavy Artillery, Company I, was sent

south to Chattanooga and stationed with the regi-

ment on Cameron Hill, remaining till the close of

the war. After receiving his discharge he re-

turned to Minnesota and located in Webster in

section twenty-eight, which has since been his

home, building his present house in 1870. Mr.

Cole was united in matrimony on the 28th of Feb-

ruary, 1860, to Miss Lenora Blew, a native of

New Jersey. The issue of the union is one son,

William.

Paul Dannielson is a native of Norway, born

on the 5th of December, 1850. In June, 1869, he

sailed for America, came directly to Minnesota and

resided in Dakota county on a farm four years,

then kept a boarding house in Minneapolis two

years, and in 1875, came to this township and pur-

chased his present farm. He was married on the

3d of March, 1874, to Miss Mary Severson, who

has borne him three children; Daniel, Peter, and

Tilla.

John Etlwakd was born in Ireland on the

20th of June, 1822. His father died when he was

twelve years old, after which be went to live with

an uncle and attended school. He came to Amer-

ica in 1847, landed in Savannah, Georgia, and

thence to New Jersey where he was engaged in

the print works. He was joined in wedlock with

Bridget Martin in July, 1852. In July, 1858,

they came to this township and are numbered

among the pioneers, building their present frame

house in 1870'. They have had six children; Sa-

rah, John, Mary, James, Martin, and Daniel. Sa-

rah died at the age of eleven years and James at

five.

OiiE L. EiiSTAD was born in Norway on the 19th

of February, 1822. He attended school in his

native place and in 1840, purchased a farm. He
was married on the 24th of June, of the latter year,

and remained in that country until 1869, when

they emigrated to America. They came to Min-

nesota and settled first in Dakota county and two

years later moved to this township, buying a good

farm in section one, which is still their home.

They have a family of eight children; Edward,

Augusta, Anna, Matilda, Maggie, Maria, Emeline,

and Alice.

Hugh Gboghagan, one of the prominent men
of this county and one of the first to locate a

farm in this township, was born in Ireland on the

15th of August, 1830. His youth was spent at

school and in farming pursuits, coming to Amer-

ica in 1852. He landed in New Orleans from

whence he came to Chicago and was in the employ

of the government as engineer for two years, and

afterward engaged as fireman and engineer in dif-

ferent parts of Illinois. In 1856, he made a trip

to Minnesota and secured land in this township

but did not settle here until 1865. He was mar-

ried on the 3d of April, 1860, to Miss Mary Hurly,

who has borne him ten children; Lawrence,

James, Hugh, Henry, Mathew, Mary, Thomas,

Anna, Catherine, and John Henry, the fourth born

was killed by a pile of lumber falling on him.

Daniel Glyzbk, a native of Indiana, was bom
on the 28th of October, 1850. He was

reared to agricultural pursuits and came with his

parents to Minnesota in 1862, first locating in

Lawrence county, but a year later came to this

place and bought a farm in section thirty-four.

His father died in 1870, and Daniel has since had

charge of the farm, his motner living with him.

Henky Graves was born in Ireland in 1838,

and spent eight years of his youth in school. He
sailed for America in September, 1845, and set-
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tied in Bureau county, Illinois, where, after reach-

ing his majority, he was employed on the Chica-

go, Burlington & Quincy railroad several years.

On the 9th of September, 1858, Miss Catherine

Duffy became his wife. In 1869, they came to

this township, purchased a farm of one hundred

and twenty acres in section twenty-one, and the

same year erected their present bouse. Mr. and

Mrs. Graves have had eleven children, ten of

whom are now living.

NiiiS HoAGENSON, a native of Norway, was born

on the 14:th of November, 1849. He remained at

home engaged in farming until the 20th of July,

1868, when he set sail for America in company

with his parents. They came direct to Minnesota

and settled in Rushford, Fillmore county, where

they remained five years and came to this town-

ship. Mr. Hoagenson purchased a farm and im-

mediately erected his present house. Miss Caro-

line Larson became his wife on the 5th of Febru-

ary, 1874, and they have a family of four chil-

dren.

Pbtbb Johnson was born in Norway on the

6th of March, 1831. He was married in his na-

tive country in July, 1864, to Miss Carrie Thomp-

son. They came to America in 1868, landed in

New York and from thence came to Carver county,

Minnesota, where they were engaged in farming

until 1872. In the latter year they came to this

township, purchased a farm in section twenty , and

in 1875, erected their present fine house. They

have a family of nine children ; Eva, Peter, Carrie,

Henry, John, Willie, Ola, Mary, and Charles.

John King, whose father came from New Jer-

sey to Webster in 1856, being among the first set-

tlers, was born in the latter State in 1853. All

his school days amounted to but nineteen months,

and when he was eight years old his father died.

John has always resided on the old homestead,

his sisters living with him. He ia a member of

the board of Supervisors.

Jambs Kebgan, one of the pioneers of this place,

was born on the 20th of March, 1828, in Ireland.

In 1846, he came to America and settled in Wash-
ington county, Maine, where he learned the tailor

trade, remaining two years. From thence he went

to New York and engaged at his trade, then

to McHenry county, Illinois, and afterward resid-

ed in Milwaukee and Chicago, and in 1865, came
to St. Paul, in each of which places he worked at

Lis trade. In 1856, he came to this township and

bought the land upon which he now resides. He
was united in marriage on the 16th of November,

1862, to Miss B. H. Carroll, who has borne him

two sons, James and Andrew.

Abthub KiNSBiiLA, deceased, was born in Ire-

land in 1821. He was reared on a farm and came

to America in 1850, first located in Eocktord, Hli-

nois, but soon after came to Dakota county; Min-

nesota. He was married in 1856, to Miss Anna

Mangon. They came to this township in 1862,

purchased a farm in section fourteen, and built a

shanty in which they lived until 1870, then erected

a fine frame house. Five children blessed this

union; Andrew, John, Arthur, George, and Mary.

Mr. Kinsella died on the 19th of June, 1874,

piourned by a large circle of friends.

E. 0. Knowles, one of the old settlers of Min-

nesota, was born in Merrimack county. New
Hampshire, on the 30th of August, 1820. In 1841,

he married Miss Lucinda Atwood of his native

place. He then engaged in farming for a time

but finally sold and bought a shingle mill, which

business and carpentering he continued until the

fall of 1849, when he was employed by the North-

ern Eailroad Company and worked five years as a

mechanic, building and repairing bridges, and was

also in the repair shops. In 1855, he came west

to seek a home, first pre-empted land in Dakota

county near Hastings and worked at his trade in

that city. In 1856, he bought a quarter section

in this township but cpntinued to reside in Hast-

ings. In 1858, he went to Kenyon, Goodhue coun-

ty, spent one season and then came to Northfield,

and in 1860, settled in this place. The following

fall he built the house in which he now lives. He
has many times been elected to local offices of

trust, and also represented this district in the

State Legislature. Mr. and Mrs. Knowles have

had eight children; John, Mary, Jane, Albert,

Ezekiel, Frank, Ella, and Orrin. Mary died in

1858, at the age of fifteen, and Ezekiel in 1856,

when six years old.

Jambs Lbahby was born in Ireland on the 15th

of August, 1840, and came with his parents to

America when seventeen years old. They landed in

New Orleans, and came from thence to Dakota

county, Minnesota, where James attended school.

He came to this township in 1859, now owns a

good farm, and has held many offices of trust. He
was united in marriage on the 5th of January,

1875, to Miss Mary Hagan, who has borne him
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four children; Daniel, John Henry, Mary Ellen,

nd James.
'

John Mol'iiOY was born in Ireland on the 12th

of March, 1835, and emigrated to America in 1852.

He was employed in a factory in Oswego county,

New York, untU 1857, then came to this township

and pre-empted a claim which is his present

home.

Andrew Nelson, a native of Norway, was born

on the 24th of August, 1830. His father died

when he was one year old, and he lived with his

mother attending school until the age of eleven;

then engaged to work in the pineries, continuing,

with the exception of two seasons, until 1869. In

the latter year he came to America, landed in Que-

bec, and came to Carver county, Minnesota.

WhUe there he married Miss Merrit Nelson in

1871. They came to this township in 1873, and

built the house in which they now live in section

twenty, where they have a good farm. Mr. and

Mrs. Nelson have had eight children; Annie,

Merrit, Andrew, Henry, Mary, Cora. Herman, and

Carrie, five of whom are dead.

Nels Oleson "Holte'' is a native of Norway,

born on the 25th of May, 1830. At the age of

sixteen years he began to learn the carpenter

trade, at which he was engaged until coming to

America in 1866. He was married before coming,

in 1855, to Miss Olianna Oleson. They first set-

tled in Trempealeau, Trempealeau county, Wis-

consin, where he was engaged at his trade. In

1868, he came to Dakota county, Minnesota, where

he followed his trade for six years, then in St.

Paul four years, and in 1874, came to this place,

bought a farm and built a blacksmith shop, which

he has since conducted. Mr. and Mrs. Holte have

had ten children, eight of whom are living.

Magnus Olson was born in Norway on the 15th

of November, 1830, reared on a farm, and at the

age of fifteen years began to learn the stone mason

trade. He was murried in 1858, to Miss Sophia

Cyprans. In 1852, they left their native country

and came to America, directly to Chicago, where

Mr. Olson worked at his trade for two months, and

came to Goodhue county, Minnesota. His wife

died in 1868, and in 1870, he married Miss Anna

Amundson. He remained in the latter place until

1876, when he moved to this township and bought

a farm in sections four and nine, which he has

since made his home. Mr. and Mrs. Olson have

hid two children, Simon and Carl.

Haagbn Olson was born in Norway on the 18th

of September, 1839. In 1865, married Miss Mary

Olson. The following year they cams to America,

to Dakota county, Minnesota, and after a residence

of five years there moved to Dakota territory. In

1875, his wife died and the same year he came to

this township, purchased a farm in section thirty,

and has since made it his home. The maiden

name of his present wife was Annie M. Swedeen,

and this union has been blessed with two children

;

Julianna and Edwin. Mr. Olson has been a mem-
ber of the Board of Supervisors and is at present

Treasurer.

Thomas Keynolds, one of the few Americans in

this place, is a native of New York, born on the

1st of June, 1839. He remained at home at-

tending school and in 1872 married; then came

west to this township and resided with his brother-

in-law until 1874. Having purchased a farm

upon his arrival, he built a house in the latter year

and has since made it his home. Mr. and Mrs.

Eeynolds have had seven children, four of whom
are living; Catharine, Florence, Maggie, and

Alice. Three died in infancy.

Ole Kygo was born in Norway on the 29th of

January,1832. In 1860, he came to America, locat-

ed in Door county,Wisconsin,thenc6 to Chickasaw,

Iowa, and in 1876, came to this township, pur-

chased a farm and built the house which has

since been his home. He was married in Wiscon-

sin on the 3d of May, 1863, to Miss Mary Hovy,

who has borne him three children; Oliver, Mary,

and an infant who died. The oldest also died.

Ole A. Sjoli was born in Norway on the 21st

of October, 1821, and there received a common
school education and learned the gardener's trade.

He was married in 1849 to Miss Amelia Lister.

They came to America in 1867, landed in New
York, and came directly to Eice county. His

wife died in 1870, leaving seven children; Anna,

Carrie, Adolph, Otto, Hannah, Olive, and Eminel.

In 1873, Mr. Sjoli married Miss Isabel Peterson,

and the same year they came to this township and

purchased a farm in section thirty. This union

has been blessed with three ohOdren; Peter, Mar-

tin, and Charhjtte.

Albert M. Stbatb, a native of Norway, was

born on the 18th of December, 1851. He came

to America in 1868, landed in New York, from

which place he came to Northfield, and thence to

Dakota county, where he was engaged in farming
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more or less for five years. During that time he

made a trip to the western part of the State, and

in 1874, came to this township and purchased a

farm, which he sold in 1881, and bought bis pres-

• ent land in section thirty-one. He was united in

marriage in 1877, to Miss Carrie Sjoli, who has

borne him two children; Berlothe and Alfred.

Pebeis Wbbstbe, deceased, one of the pioneers

of Bice county, was born in Franklin, Delaware

county. New York, on the 2d of February, 1802.

When he was quite young his parents moved to

Ohio, where he was reared on a farm and received

his education. He was married on the 12th of

January, 1824, to Miss Suean Abbott, who died

on the 5th of March, 1827, leaving two children.

Fis se^'ond wife was Miss Adaline Mitcham, who
bore bim three children, and died on the 24th of

January, 1844. In 1828, Mr. "Webster built a ho-

tel at Jefferson, Ashtabula county, and was its

landlord until 1843, when he sold and purchased

a farm in Kingsville in the same county. On the

28th of January, 1844, he married Miss Eoxana

Carpenter, who survives him. This union was

blessed with two children. In 1854, . he sold his

farm and built a hotel in Geneva, in the same

county, but sold soon after and went to Monroe-

ville. la the spring of 1856, he came west to

seek a home, and immediately upon his arrival

here took Government land in section twenty-six

of this township, which was his home until his

death, whick occurred on the 24th of August,

1880. Mrs. Webster resides on the old home-

stead. She has two children. Her youngest son;

Morrow C, was born in Kingsville, Ashtabula

county, Ohio, on the 13th of June, 1850, and came

with his parents to this place where he received

his education. He was married on the 7th of

February, 1872, to Miss Elizabeth Walter. They

have been blessed with two children; Archer

Pearl and Daisy A. He resides on the homestead

with his mother, and in 1878, built the house

which they now occupy.

Fbbd Wibsb wa'» born in Germany on

the twenty-third of February, 1853 When
he was an infant his parents emigrated to

America, settled first in Pittsburg, Pennsyl-

vania, then in Chicago, and from thence

to Milwaukee, where Fred received his education.

In 1870, he moved to New London, Minnesota,

and thence to the northern part of Wisconsin,

where he was engaged in the pineries two seasons,

and also in rafting on the Mississippi two seasons.

In 1874, he went to Michigan, was employed in

the mines and railroading for a time and re-

turned to New London, thence to Winona, and in

1875, came to this township. In June, 1881, he

bought his father's farm and erected a new house.

He was married to Miss Minnie Dodes in Septem-

ber, .1881.

C. D. Waltbb was born in Huron, Erie county,

Ohio, on the 7th of April, 1842. He came to

Webster in 1872, bought a farm in sections twen-

ty-five and twenty-six, and built the house in

which he now lives. He was united in marriage

in September, 1872, with Miss Alice Dilly. They
have two children; Daniel Listen and Edith M.
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WHEATLAND.

0HA5TEE LXIII.

GBNBBAIi DBSCEIPTION EAKLT SETTiEMBNT—
SOHOOI/S POST-OFFICE BELIGI0U8 BABIY

EVENTS—^VESSLBY VIIiI/AQE BIOGBAPHIOAI;.

This, the northwest comer township of Kice

county, has Le Sueur county on the west, Scott

county on the north, the town of Webster on the

east, and Erin on the south. It has the regular

thirty-six sections of a government township. As

to the name, whether it is derived from the "Wheat-

land which was the residence of President Bu-

chanan, from some town further east, or from its

intrinsic quality as regards the production of the

leading cereal of the country, it perhaps matters

little so long as it answers the two great purposes

of a name, which are to characterize and also to

distinguish it from all else with which it may be

confounded.

The town may be described as a rolling prairie,

being almost hilly in some parts. There was

formerly some heavy timber, but much of it was

brush prairie with scattering groves of small tim-

ber. The soil is remarkably well adapted to

hay or grain. There are three lakes, in addition

to Phelps Lake which lays mostly in Erin but

comes up into this town near the western corner,

on the southern boundary. The largest of these

lakes is Cody Lake, which is from a few rods to

half a mile wide and about two miles long. The

other two have not been honored with names that

appear on the maps, but they are oval in form and

half a mile in diameter, and certainly should have

this distinction. The overflow from these lakes,

which involve sections sixteen and seventeen for

one, and nineteen and twenty for the other, finds

its way into Cody Lake. There are two or three

little rivulets in town but no streams of import-

ance. The soil is a rich dark loam with clayey

outoroppings on the elevated points.

The township is well settled with men who as a

35

rule carefully cultivate small farms, from which

the best results may always be expected.

EAEIiT SETTLEMENT.

The earliest settlers to reach this town arrived

in 1855. It appears that Joseph J. Prazier, a

halfbreed, his father being a Scotchman, came

here at an eArly day on a hunting and trapping

expedition undei' the patronage of Gen. Sibley

who was his fast friend. Being attracted by the

location, in the year above named he made a

claim on section thirty-two, between Cody and

Phelps Lakes, and here he established a home, if

a bachelor hermitage can be so called, and existed

until 1861, when he was married and continued to

reside on the spot until gathered in by the Great

Reaper on the 23d of Febraary, 1869. In mem-
ory of his old friend, Gen. Sibley placed a slate at

the head of his last resting place. Prazier was a

noted hunter and Indian warrior, and was at Port

Bidgely when it was invested by the savages, and

ran through the lines and gave the alarm at Port

Snelling so that relief was sent. At the time of

his death, a sketch of his life written by Gen. Sib-

ley was printed in the Pioneer Press.

Thomas Lambert, a native of Canada, came

here from West St. Paul in 1855, and selected a

place in section twenty-nine, but the next year

went to Mendota. Eetuming the following Jan-

uary he located in section thirty-two where his son

Hercules now lives, and here he remained until

the 12th of March, 1882, when his demise oc-

curred.

Battice Bushman, also from Canada, came this

year and his lot fell in section twenty ; here he

made improvements for five or six years and then

moved to Nicollet county.

It is claimed that the first man after Prazier

was Louis Plaisanoe, a Canadian who planted

himself in section twenty-nine, but sold out in

1858, and transplanted himself to Mendota, but

now lives in Minneapolis.
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Henry Bellend, another Canadian, came with

Frazier from St. Paul and drove some claim

stakes in section thirty-two. He lived there long

enough to secure a title and then returned to

West St. Paul where he now resides.

John Faulkner, David Valentine, Charles Smith,

and John Taylor, natives of Scotland, formed a

settlement in the eastern part of the town. Faulk-

ner's place was in section thirteen which he culti-

vated for fourteen years and then removed to Mc-

Leod county where he now lives. Smith found a

piece of land in section fourteen; Valentine in

section thirteen; and Taylor struck a farm in sec-

tion fourteen. Some years ago the whole party

went to some place near Cannon Falls. Taylor

was struck to death by lightning early in the sev-

enties.

Elaire Legree, a Canadian Frenchman, secured

a home in section twenty-one, and when the war

broke upon the country he enlisted in the army

and died on his way home.

Thomas MoCormick surrounded a claim in sec-

tion twenty, which he worked up to 1866, when
he sold and went to Illinois and from thence to

Missouri.

Titus Bunnell, of Nova Scotia, came here from

Louisiana and placed his signet on a farm in sec-

tion nineteen; after a few years he went to Can-

non Falls and from there drifted over into Wis-

coDsin.

Among others who came this first year of the

settlement—1855—were Henry Bilon, William

Quinn, John Berry, Nelson Marsh, John Irvin,

John Cook, Benjamin LeDuc, and others".

In 1856, quite a number of new neighborhoods

were formed and the settlement considerably thick-,

ened up. Three brothers, Louis,Joseph, and Gus-

tavus Martin, in company with their father and an

uncle named Paul, came together and secured

homesteads. Louis dismounted in section twenty

and proceeded to make himself comfortable un-

til 1873, when he removed to Le Sueur county.

Joseph made a home in section thirty-one and
there he toiled on up to the year 1878, when he

sold his place and moved to White Earth, Becker

county, where he may be now found. Gustavus

settled on a lot in section thirty-one and there he

lived until 1875, when he went to Wisconsin. The
father made his home with Joseph. Paul lived in

section thirty-three until his departure hence in

1873.

Zenus Y. Hatch, of Maine, put bis sign man-

ual on a farm in section seventeen where he made

a home until 1870, when he sold and went to Bed-

wood Falls, and from thence to Sante Agency,

Dakota, where he now is.

John Lynch, of Ireland, settled down to work

in section six. In 1868, he sold the place and

went to Goodhue county.

Peter Campbell and Charles Orr went into the

same section. Orr died in 1862, and Campbell

removed to Scott county.

Eichard Browne, a native of the Emerald Isle,

surrounded a farm in section thirty-five, upon

which he has wrought to the present time.

The Wilson brothers, William and James, na-

tives of Scotland, came onto section seven where

they made improvements up to 1864, when they

both sold out and joined the army. They may
now be found in Scott county.

Barnard Durham, an Irishman, located his part'

of Uncle Sam's dominion in section eleven. He
now resides near Faribaalt.

James Thompson, another son of the Ever Green

Isle, took his acres in section thirty, and worked

the farm for four years and then went to Mendo-

ta. He took his place early in 1856, or late in

the year previous.

Michael Fitzpatrick, of the same Celtic origin,

found a spot in section twenty-three that met his

requirements, and he has been digging away

there ever since.

Onezian Berry, a native of Canada, pre-empted

a place for a home in sections nine and ten. In

1882, he moved into Wells.

Thomas Lawler, another Celt, procured a farm

in section eighteen, but he now lives in the town-

ship of Northfield.

Among others who should be mentioned as mak-

ing their appearance this year, although but few,

if any, of them remain in the township are: John,

William, and Thomas Barrett, Patrick Kirk, Pat-

rick Littleton, Thomas Eeily, Thomas KUroy, and

James Giblin, all natives of the "Shamrock Isle."

In 1857, the population received notable acces-

sions and some of the best remembered will be

mentioned.

Patrick Cody, a native Ireland, reported in per-

son to remain, on a farm in sections twenty-nine

and thirty-two, which he had selected the year

previous.

James Lynn and Thomas Browne, from Ire-
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land, came directly from California and selected a

location in section thirty-four which he has suc-

cessfully cultivated up to the present time.

Andrew Thompson, of the same nationality,

came with his son James and settled in section

thirty. Andrew, another son of the above, en-

listed in Company B, of the 6th Minnesota, and

returned at the close of the war, in June, 1865.

He was an able man and filled several town and

other offices and was three times a member of the

State Legislature. In 1880, he removed to Mc-

Leod county where he now resides.

Murdoch McLennan, a native of Scotland, se-

cured a homestead in section twenty-three, and

there he yielded up his life in 1865.

James Willey, from the land of the Shamrock,

was transferred to section twenty -six, where he

still is in a thriving condition.

Jabez W. PJavel, from England, came over and

lived here until 1864, then sold out and went into

the army, but returned to live in Scott county.

Peter O'Brien had a stopping place here for a

few years, when he moved on.

In tlie year 1858, the rear guard of the immi-

gration army came in and dropped down on vari-

ous unoccapied points.

John Montoul, a Canadian Frenchman, found

an unoccupied spot in section nine, and there he

stationed himself and stood guard for eighteen

years, when he vacated the old post and camped

on section thirty-four, where he is in command at

the present time.

Thomas Horner came down from St. Paul on

his way from the "Old country" and cast anchor

in section five where he still remains.

Joseph Kartaka, a Bohemian, the advance guard

of that small but determined army that has since

followed, found some unoccupied acres in section

sixteen which he captured, but he afterward

moved on to Beaver Falls. Within a year or so

afterward came Philip Plaisanoe, who served the

town in various capacities, the State as a repre-

sentative, and his adopted country as a soldier.

Mr. B. Stepson, another Bohemian, secured a

local habitation in section four, but he is now on

section fourteen. Of his two sons, John has a

farm which he assiduously cultivates in section

eleven, and Frank bustles around with the old

gentleman. Thomas Lapio, of section ten, came
here in 1862. At the present time the population

is largely Bohemian. Although but few of them

can be said to be old settlers.

DisTEiOT No. 59.—This has been designated as

the mother of districts. It was organized in 1857

and a school opened in a building owned by Bat-

tice Bushman, on which some repairs had been

made by sawing the lumber with a whip-saw.

Miss Ann Cody was the first to wield the ferule

here. The next building to be pressed into the

service in which to teach mental "shooting," was

a claim cabin belonging to Mr. Simons of St.

Paul. Miss Nancy Patterson was the next to try

her hand in keeping the motley throng in order.

In 1865, they constructed a schoolhouse of hewn
logs, which was high toned even at that time, on

section twenty-nine. Miss Jane Young then as-

sumed the government of the school. In 1877,

this house fell a victim to the devouring flames

and a new frame house was put up that fall which

still stands.

DisTKioT No. 76.—On the 15th of January,

1862, this district was brought into existence, and

Miss Lizzie Larkins opened a school in the house

of James Welby in section twenty-six. The next

year a log house was got together on the same

section and Miss Larkins inaugurated the exer-

cises. That building was made to answer until

1879, when another was built on the same section

but about 80 rods west, more in accordance with

the modern ideas. Miss Ella Lee was the initial

teacher here.

DisTBicT No. 45.—In 1863, this district assum-

ed form and a log cabin -nas rolled together on

section eleven. Miss Maggie Morrisey was the

presiding genius of the establishment, and this

building sheltered the school for about five years

when the wants of the district demanded better

quarters and the building that now stands on the

same section was placed there.

DisTBioT No. 107.—This is one of the newest

districts as it had no existence until January,

1881. The first board of directors was made up
of Ole Bigg, O. M. Strate, and J. Tossnm. Dur-

ing the year the house was erected on section

thirty-six. The first to take charge of the juven-

iles when collected for instruction was Kichard

Lynch.

DisTBioT No. 58.—In 1868, this district seemed

to be required by the growing wants of the neigh-

borhood, and after a regular organization the
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usual loghouse was gathered together on section

eight; a hypothetical bell was rung and the rising

generation assembled under its roof. Miss Mag-

gie Morrisey managed to manipulate them for a

fortnight when Miss Katie Galey took them in

hand and completed the term. In 1875, a frame

building was built, and here Joseph Mathias first

exclaimed, attention!

DiSTEiCT No. 108.—Here is another new dis-

trict, as its high number indicates, which was or-

ganized by one of those special acts of the legisla-

ture which took up so much time of that con-

glomerate body, and a schoolhouse is going up in

the village of Vessley.

,
DiSTBiOT No. 104.—The year 1878 witnessed

the formation of this district, and in the winter

the house was raised on section thirty-two and

completed at a cost of $800. Dan Duly was the

first to teach under its roof. It takes in a part of

Erin.

POSTtOEFIOB.

This luxury was early obtained for this settle-

ment, that is, in 1857. The Postmaster was Peter

O'Brien who opened the office at his store in

section nineteen and held it there for two years;

then Patrick Cody got the appointment, and the

office went over to his house in section thirty-two

where it remained up to 1876. Then Thomas

Plaisance took the office to his place in section

twenty-six and he continued to handle the mails

until George E. Bates was commissioned in 1880.

He kept it one year and then C. A. Eemillard was

appointed who still has the office at his store in

section thirty-three.

POLITICAL.

The town was organized on the 11th of May,

1858, but the records of the first town meeting

are, to use a legal term, non est inventus, but the

the minutes of the next meeting, in 1859, are pre-

served and the officers then elected were as fol-

lows : Supervisor, Z. Y. Hatch, Chairman, Charles

Orr, and Augustus Martin ; Assessor, Z. Y. Hatch

;

Collector, Caleb Vincent; Justice of the Peace,

Caleb Vincent; Town Clerk, ;Peter O'Brien. Titus

Bunnell and Patrick Cody were among the first

officers of the town.

On the 14th of March, 1882, the following

officers were elected for the ensuing year: Super-

visor, Albert Husman, Chairman, John Pauek,

and Albert Smechek; Clerk, Flavien Benjamin;

Treasurer, Frank Sherek; Assessor, John Swan-

awifcz; Justice of the Peace, C. A. Eemillard; Con-

stables, Thomas Lafitts and William Cody.

EBLIGIOUS.

CathoijIC Chueoh.—The first mass in town was

in Thomas Lambert's house on section twenty-

three in 1855, by Father Bavoux. Mr. Lambert

donated ten acres of land in section twenty-nine,

and a church was built on that in 1858, which

must have been the second Catholic church in the

county. It was of logs, the lumber to finish it

coming from St. Paul. Father Keller, from Fari-

bault, was the first priest in the church, which _

served until 1871, when the building now stand-

ing was erected. Father Leib was the priest for

a number of years but Father Slevin now offici-

ates.

The Bohemian Cataolio Chuech.—This church

stands on section ten and was constructed in 1875,

Mr. Thomas Lapic having donated fifteen acres of

land and John Ziska a like amount. There is a

cemetery connected with it. The first mass said

here before these people was at the house of John

Ziska.

MEECANTILB.

The first store in town was opened by Peter

O'Brien on section nineteen in 1857, but he kept

it up but a few years.

In 1874, Thomas Lambert opened a store in

section thirty-two, where he kept a general stock

of groceries, dry goods, boots and shoes, and liq-

uors. In about twenty months he became satis-

fied with his experience and closed up.

Napoleon Begin put up a building on section

thirty-three, and putting in a stock of goods be-

gan trade, and kept it up for about a year, when

he sold to C. A. Eemillard who kept on in the

same store for about six months and then bought

a building near. Be is still behind that counter.

EARLY EVENTS.

Eakly Bieths.—Edward H., a son to Thomas
and Eosalie Lambert, was introduced into this

world on the 10th of June, 1854; he is now a

married man with a residence in section twenty-

nine.

Louis, a son of Louis and Angeline Morton,

dates his nativity from the 11th of June, 1857.

Edward, son of Louis and Julia Plaisance, ar-

rived on the 12th of June, 1857.
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It is said that Joseph, a son of Joseph and Julia

Martin, was born in 1856, and lived to be two

years old.

Maebiagbs.—Mr. Thomas Lambert and Miss

Cecil Guartin were united in marriage in June,

1858, by Patrick Cody, Esq. Mr. Lambert lived

here until his summons by the Angel of death on

the 12th of March, 1882. His widow remains on

section thirty-two.

Deaths.—^Bosalie, wife of Thomas Lambert,

was taken to the "Other Side" in October, 18.57,

and her mortal remains were placed in the Cath-

olic cemetery in section nine.

Mary, daughter of Thomas and Eosalie Lam-
bert died some time in 1856, and was buried in

the same cemetery.

Deunken FoijIiT.—^A Bohemian named Mat-

thew Oiohla came to a fearful death on the 24th

of April, 1879. It seems that on Easter Sunday,

Cichla got upon an extensive spree in the course

of which he oifered a wager that he could drink a

tumbler of whisky and also eat the glass—put the

entire thing out of sight and digest it. The bet

was accepted and the foolish fellow proceeded to

win it by drinking the whisky and then pounding

up the glass which he mixed with the taUow of a

candle, he swallowed the mixture of glass and

grease. The potion did not take immediate ef-

fect, but on the following day he was seized witb

horrible pains as the glass began to lacerate his

bowels. He started for home but fell by the road

side and laid all day unattended, suffering inde-

scribable tortures. Toward night he was discov-

ered and carried home by neighbors and a physi-

cian secured, but as might be expected nothing

could be done, and the glass continued its cruel

and deadly work of grinding the poor wretoli's

inwards until Thursday afternoon when death in

mercy carried him off. A post mortem examina-

tion disclosed that his stomach and intestines had

been literally ground to shreds. The deceased

left a wife and family.

An Accident.—In September, 1879, whUe Mr.

and Mrs. Touack's little boy and girl were playing

in the haystack they conceived the idea of sliding

down the side, and while practicing this dangor-

ovs pastime the little girl missed her footing and

slid down striking on her head and instantly

breaking her neck, dying in a few moments.

Another accident similar to this occurred a few

weeks later near the same place, in which a Bo-

hemian, whose name we are unable to ascertain,

while threshing graia, fell from a strawstack and

was instantaneously killed.

THE VILIiAGE OP VBSSIiET.

This is one of the latest candidates for recogni-

tion as a growing village. It was laid out, platted,

and lots put into the market in 1880, so that as

yet it is but an infant, although it must be admit-

ted that it is a lusty one for its age. The sight

of the new town is mostly on section fifteen. It

may be said to be a Bohemian enterprise, an'd

has stores, a church, schoolhouse, and other

village accessories, which, with a rich surrounding

country, makes it already a promising place.

The name first given to the village, and which

is still retained by the Post-oflBce, was Wesely, but

it is said that seemed to grate harshly upon the

ears of the high ecclesiastical authorities, as it

sounded too much like the name of a destinguish-

ed dissenter, and so the W was bisected and S

added, and two letters transposed, but it is pre-

sumed that the bones of the illustrious Methodist

will moulder in the grave just as quietly, and his

influence on the present and succeeding gener-

ations be just as active as though all this had

never happened.

Business Interests.—Thomas Lapio started a

saloon in the spring of 1874, which is stUl in

operation. Another saloon was opened in 1881.

James Toaps has a shoemaker's shop where cus-

tom work and repairing are specialties.

Albert Naalc has a provision store.

Charles Mosher, in 1880, put in a stock of goods,

and stiU continues in trade.

Albert Wasejpher erected a forge in 1875, and

he still carries on the blaoksmithing business.

A. Oharland built a blacksmith shop in section

thirty-three in 1876, and started a fire and kept it

aglow for about one year when he jold to Joseiph

LaVoye who is still hammering away there.

In 1880, James Drozdu opened a saloon on

section thirty-three which is in full blast, to use a

furnace phrase.

The Post-office was established on the 1st of

July, 1879,- and Albert Wasejpher was commis-

sioned Postmaster.

In 1882, Maertz and Semoter, erected a building

20x60 feet with tenements overhead, and put in a

stock of goods in great variety. Mr. Semoter at-

tends to the business, his partner living in New
Prague where he is also in mercantile business.
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A harness shop is in course of construction.

Mathias Trinda, in January, 1879, opened a

saloon which is still in operation, in a building

24x56 feet with a hall in the second story.

John Tomek constructed & blacksmith shop

in 1877, and the sparks are still flying about-his

anvil.

Voe Machacek started a blacksmith shop in

1880, but at the end of eighteen months discontin-

ued the business.

Frank Sticka started the saloon business in

1877, which, after a few months was turned over

to Joe Vrana, who is still behind the bar.

BIOGEAPHIOAIi. '

Thomas Babbbti, deceased, was born in Ireland

in 1825, and in 1847, came to America, locating

in Xenia, Ohio, where he was employed on the

railroad a few years, then removed to Wisconsin

and engaged in farming. In 1855, he came to

Bice county and took a claim on section twenty-

three in this township, but did not settle here.

He went to Muscatine, Iowa, and thence in a year

to Iowa City, where, in 1858, he married Miss

Honora Lacey. They went to Memphis, Ten-

nessee, where Mr. Barrett worked on the railroad

while his wife kept a boarding house, and from

there to Madrid, in the sanle State, purchased a

pair of mules andworked at grading, but finally

returned to Memphis. He remained in that city

until it was taken by the Union army during the

late war, then removed to St. Louis, Missouri, where

he engaged in taking rafts of lumber from the river.

•In 1865, he came to his farm here and began to

improve it, bnilding a log house in which he re-

sided until 1871, when he erected the present

edifice in which his family still Uve, having since

built a granary. He died on the 20th of May,

1874, and left a family of six children; William,

Thomas, John, Henry, Joseph, and Edward.

Edmund died at three ye^rs of age and the only

daughter when seven months old.

Peter O. Beeg is a native of Norway, born the

18th of September, 1842, and attended school in his

native country. He was married in 1871, to

Olivia Larson and the same year came to Amerioa>

landed at Quebec, and came directly to Northfield,

Minnesota, thence moved to Dakota county, mak-

ing his home there until 1874. On removing to

"Wheatland, he purchased wild land in section

twenty-five and immediately began to improve it

and built his present house. Mr. and Mrs. Berg

have had six children, three of whom are living,

Laurets, Bernt, andlngea.

Plavibn Benjamin, Jr., was born in Iberville

county, province of Quebec, Canada, on the 11th of

July, 1850. He spent his youthful days at the

public schools, and in 1864 came to Minnesota

with his father, who bought land on section thirty-

three, Wheatland, and has since made his home

with him. His mother died just previous to their

removal. Our subject was married in the 20th of

February, 1882, to Miss Jennie Cody, daughter

of the late John Cody of St. Paul. He has been

elected to many local ofBces of trust; is the pres-

ent Town Clerk, and has been the Clerk of his

school district since its organization.

Thomas Bbown dates his birth in Ireland, on

22nd of October, 1827, and early in life engaged in

agricultural pursuits. In April, 1848, he emigra-

ted to America, landed in Boston, and went from

there to Wabau, in the same State, where he en-

gaged in farming two years and in a tannery one

year. He was married in 1851, to Miss Ellen

Brown, and soon removed to California, spending

three years in mining, then returned to Wabau,

Massachusetts, and again engaged' in a tannery.

In March, 1857, he came to Wheatland, located a

claim in sections thirty -four and thirty -five and

built a house which was subsequently destroyed

by fire, after which he erected a shanty and in

1869, his present house. In 1864, he was drafted

into the army but was exempted. He has a family

of six children, Michael, Thomas, Johanna, Pat-

rick, Catherine, and Mary.

Patrick Codt, deceased, one of the first settlers

in Wheatland, was a native of, Ireland, born the

19th of January, 1808. He attended school until

eighteen years old, when he came with his parents

to America, and located at Port Kent, where Pat-

rick learned of his brother the trade of making nails,

which was, at that time, done by hand. At the

expiration of three years he went to Beauharnois

county, province of Quebec, Canada, where he en-

gaged in farming, and remained during the re-

bellion, taking part in it, for which he was arrested

and barely missed being transported. He after

ward returned to New York and located in Clinton

county where he made his home on a farm until

1854, when he removed to St. Paul, Minnesota.

In 1855, he came to Kice county, staked out a

claim in this township in sections twenty-nine and

thirty-two and built a claim shanty of logs, mov-
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ing his family here in the spring of 1856. In

1875, he built the frame house in which he resided

till his death on the 19th of January, 1880. He
was married on the 6th of June, 1832, to Miss

Sarah Graham, a native of Cumberland county,

England. Their children were; Jane, now Mrs.

John Patterson, living in St. Paul; Andrew, who

died in infancy ; John, who died in 1863, in his

twenty-fourth year; Willie, who died in infancy;

Patrick, who died in 1864, in his twenty-fourth

year; Ann, now Mrs. Joseph Dubois, living in

St. Paul; Sarah, William, who is married and

lives on the farm adjoining the homestead; and

Mary, who died in 1871, in her nineteenth year.

Mrs. Oody still resides on the homestead with her

son, Edward, and daughter, Sarah. Mr. Cody
was warm-hearted and hospitable; no weary

traveler, whether rich or poor, ever passed his

door and found the latch string pulled in, and the

old settlers who have often times enjoyed his hos-

pitality sincerely mourn his loss.

Peteb Fabee, a native of France, was born the

7th of October, 1847. After receiving his educa-

tion he worked in a flour-mill, and in 1867, went

to Marseilles, where he was employed in the same

occupation for a few months. In 1871, he en-

listed in the French army, serving eight months

and receiving an honorable discharge. In the

latter part of 1871, he went to Lyons, engaged as

miller nearly a year, afterward removed to Paris,

and in 1873, emigrated to America, landing in

Quebec, Canada, and from there went to Mon-

treal, where he found employment at his traile.

One year later he came to Minnesota, and for

three months resided in Cannon City, then went

to Dundas and engaged in Archibald's Mills six

months. He came to Wheatland and conducted

St. Amond's Mill fourteen months, subsequently

erected a building on section thirty-two and

opened a store and saloon, which he conducted

trntn 1880. In 1876, he went to the Centennial

at Philadelphia, and afterward to France. He was

married in the latter year to Miss Louise Grothy,

who has borne him two children; Louise and Al-

bert. In 1879, Mr. Fabre built a flour-mill and

in 1881, a saw-mill, and has since conducted thom

both.

MiCHA^ FiTZPATBioK, One of the pioneers of

Bice county, was born in Ireland in 1817, and

was brought up on a farm. In 1842, he emi-

grated to America; went from New York City to

Corning where he engaged on the railroad and in

one year went to Great Bend and. afterward to

Kentucky. After working at railroading in the

latter State eleven months he returned to Corn-

ing. In 1854, Miss Bridget McCall became his

wife, and two years later they came to Mirmesota,

located a claim in Wheatland, section twenty-

three, which is still their home. Their children

are; Catharine, Michael, Mary, Lizzie, Susan,

Bridget, Margaret, and Ellen.

Pateiok Gobman was bom in Ireland in 1831,

and when eight years old his father died, and two

years later Patrick came to America with his

mother. They landed at Quebec and went from

thence to House's Point, New York, living in or

near the place four years. Our subject resided

in many different places in that State, including

Binghamton, Great Bend, and New Milford, un-

til 1855, when he removed to Scranton, Pennsyl-

vania, and engaged in railroad work one year. In

1856, he came to this State, located in Eagan

town, Dakota county, and for nine seasons was

engaged in boating on the Mississippi and Min-

nesota rivers. He served in the late war from

1864, until June, 1865, in the Tenth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company K. In 1870, he

bought one hundred and sixty acres of land in

this township, moved his family here and imme-

diately began making improvements. Mr. Gor-

man was married in Binghamton, New York, to

Miss Mary Mehan and the issue of the union was

seveu children, six of whom are living; Elizabeth,

Annie, James, Margaret, Katie, and Maria. His

wife died in Dakota county and is buried at Men-

dota. His present wife was Miss Mary Flynn whom
he married in 1871. They have had six children,

four now living; Cornelius, Daniel, Honora, and

Mary. Susan died in 1882, aged two years and

four months, and Edward died in 1875, at the age

of one" year and six months.

Thomas Hoenbk is a native of Ireland and

dates his birth in 1830. He was raised to agri-

cultural pursuits and in 1850, came to America,

going from New York to New Jersey, and after

working in a saw-mill five years, removed to Chi-

cago, Illinois, There he was employed in a gas

manufactory six months, then came to St. Paul,

and in 1857 pre-empted a quarter in section five,

Wheatland, where he remained long enough, to

establish his claim and returned to St. Paul. In

1861, he married Miss Mary Fox of his native
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country, and the same year settled permanently

on his farm. He has eight children ; James,

Thomas, Mary Jane, Patrick, Eobert, John, Ma-

tilda, and Ellen.

Thomas Lambbbt, deceased, one of the oldest

settlers of Wheatland, was born in Quebec, Can-

ada, on the 16th of November, 1823. He was

employed on boats on the St. Lawrence Eiver un-

til 1847, when he came to the States to settle and

for two seasons was engaged on a boat plying on

the Mississippi Kiver from St. Paul to St. Louis.

He made a claim at Little Grow village, but soon

sold and went to West St. Paul, bought a tract of

land and built a house. He was married in 1850,

to Miss Eosalie Osier and they had three children;

Hercules, Mary, and Edward. In 1855, he re-

moved to Wheatland and staked out a claim in

section twenty-nine, building a log house. He
assisted new-comers in selecting land and put up

shanties for many of them. In 1856, he moved

to Mendota and opened a stock of goods, but did

not make a success of it, closed out in about six

months and returned to this place, locating on his

son's land in section thirty-two. He built a frame

house in which he lived a few years, afterward

erected a large log house, in which he kept board-

ers. His wife died in 1858, and a few months

later he married Cecil Guartin who survives him.

Mr. Lambert enlisted in the Second Minnesota

Cavalry, was transferred to the Eleventh Minne

sota Volunteer Infantry, Company B, sent south,

and at Gallatin, Tennessee, was taken sick and

never after fully recovered his health. He died

on the 12th of March, 1882. Mrs. Lambert bore

her husband thirteen children, seven of whom are

living; Kosalie, Amelia, Mary, Benjamin, Orelia,

Sophrenia, and Zereme.

Edwaed H. Lambert, son of the subject of

our last sketch, made his home with his parents

until 1878, when he was joined in matrimony

with Miss Zereme Piston and now resides on his

farm in section twenty-nine.

Mtjbdoch McLennan, deceased, one of the

pioneers of this township, was born in Scotland

in 1809, While young he was engaged in herd-

ing sheep and afterward opened a provision, store

which he conducted about ten years. He was

united in marriage in January, 1848, with Miss

Catharine Lyon, and in 1857, they emigrated to

America, coming directly to Bice county and lo-

cating- a claim in Wheatland in section twenty-

three. He had six children; Arabella, Ellen

Murdoch, John, Janet,' and Kenneth. Mr. Mc-

Lennan died on the 5th of November, 1865, and

his wife in March, 1862. The children now oc-

cupy the homestead.

John Montoub is a native of Canada, born

the 18th of November, 1843, and was brought up

on a farm. In 1857, he came to Minnesota and

after one year's residence in St. Paul came to

Wheatland, bought land in section nine and built

a log house. He was married in 1861, to Miss

Lilda Laekepell, Mrs. Montour died leaving five

children; .Jessie, Mary Louise, Peter, Moses, and

Mamie. In 1880, he sold his former farm and

purchased in section thirty -four where he still re-

sides.

Theophilus O'Dette was born in Montreal,

Canada, on the 13th of October, 1812. In 1831,

he married Miss Elmira Montville, and in 1851,

removed to Pittsfleld, Massachusetts, remained

five years and came to Minnesota, taking land

near Mendota. He worked on Gen. Sibley's farm

one year, afterward made improvements oa his

own, and in 1864, entered the Second Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, Company D, serving till

June, 1865, and after his discharge returned to

Mendota. He contracted a disease while in the

army from which he has never fully recovered.

In 1866, he traded his land in the latter place for

a farm in this township in section twenty, where

he stUl makes his home. Of eight children born

to him five are living ; Emma, Mary, Vallaire, Ed-

ward, and Johanna.

Philip Plaisanob, a native of Canada, was

born in Litbiniere, Quebec, on the 25th of Sep-

tember, 1835, and attended the public schools of

his native village. He afterward clerked in a

store three years and in 1855, came to Minnesota,

arriving at Mendota the 19th of October; pre-

empted land in this county in the township of

Erin on which he lived until his claini was estab-

lished, then returned to Mendota. He clerked in

a store six months, after which he engaged in

farming and in 1857, purchased land in Wheat-

land, to which he removed two years later. He
was married on the 5th of July, 1858, to Miss

Sophia Corbin, of his native country. In June,

1864, he enlisted in the Eleventh Minnesota Vol-

unteer Infantry, Company B; served till May,

1865, when he was discharged and returned home.

The same year he built a log house, and in 1875,
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his present frame house. Mr. Plaisanoe has filled

local offices and served three terms in the Legisla-

ture. Of thirteen children bom to him two died

in infancy, and those living are; Ootavia, Philip,

Joseph, Mary, Thomas, Arthur, Delia, Denis,

Amanda, Emma, and Alice.

WiLiiiAM Quins is a native of Ireland, born in

1837, and when seventeen years old came to

America, landed in New York and went from there

to Philadelphia, remaining six months. He then

removed to this State, lived one year in Sauk

Centre, afterward went to Lousiana, where for one

winter he was engaged in building levees, and the

next spring removed to Cincinnati, Ohio. In

September, 1862, he enlisted in the Fifth Ohio

Volunteer Infantry, Company C, and after being

in camp five months, joined the army of the Ten-

nessee, and served till the close of the war, being

taken prisoner once in East Tennessee and held

five days. He was discharged in June, 1865, and

in 1867, came to Wheatland, locating in section

one on the land formerly owned by his brother.

In 1869, he married Miss Mary J. Gordon, who

died in 1870, and his present wife was Miss Mary

McKenna, who became Mrs. Quinn in 1871. The

result of the later union is five children; Sarah,

James, John, Thomas, and William.

C. A. Rbmillabd was born in the province of

Quebec, Canada, on the 25th of March, 1847, and

when seventeen years old, having then received

his education, he came to New York, where he en-

gaged on the Erie Canal one summer and in the

winter worked on a farm. In the spring he went

to Vermont and after working two years in a saw-

mill came to St. Paul, Minnesota, thence to North-

field, engaged on a farm, and in the fall returned

to St. Paul, where he clerked in a store one year,

then moved to Minneapolis and subsequently to

Lake Superior and worked on the railroad three

months. The next winter he spent in this town-

ship and the following two years worked in a saw-

mill in Minneapolis in the summer and in the

pineries in the winter, then returned here and en-

gaged in St. Amond's saw and grist-mill. In

1874, Miss Margaret Berry became his wife. In

1875, he opened a saloon on section thirty-three,

conducted it three months and moved to Erin;

spent four years there, and in 1881, engaged in

mercantile business in section thirty-three, which

he still conducts. He is at present Justice of the

Peace and also Postmaster, appoiuted in 1881.

His children are Emma, and Clare and Henry, who
are twins.

Albbet Smisek -was born in Bohemia in July,

1852, and received his education in his native coun-

try, coming to America in 1867, with his sister. He
was employed three years on a steamboat on the

Mississippi Kiver, and now owes and resides on a

farm in this township in section fifteen. He was

was married on the 19th of May, 1873, to Miss

Elizabeth Pasak, who has borne him five children;

Albert, Michael, Prank, Joe, and Mary.

Olie M. Stbate is a native of Norway and dates

his birth the 26th of August, 1849. He received

his education and engaged in farming in that

country until 1867, when he emigrated to Ameri-

ca. He came to Minnesota and settled in Eureka,

Dakota county, remaining until 1876, then came to

this county and bought a farm in section twenty

-

five; has most of his land cleared and owns a good

house. He was joined in marriage in 1876, with

Miss Mary Alickson. They have three children;

Betsy Maria, Magnus Bernhart, and Dorothea

Bagna.

James Toner was bom in the western part of

Ireland, in 1818, and grew to manhood on a farm.

In 1849, he married Miss Elizabeth Durfee, and in

1851, they came to America, landed at New York

and went directly to Willimantic, Connetiout,

where Mr. Toner engaged in the paper mill of L.

M. Page. In 1856, he removed to York, Wiscon-

sin, engaged in farming until 1869, when he came

to Hastings, Minnesota, and in two years to

Wheatland, buying wild land in section twenty-

five which is now nearly all cleared. His children

are; Mary, John, James, Michael, Kate, and

Thomas.

Jambs WrLsy, one of the early settlers of Wheat-

land, was born in Ireland in 1817, and when

young engaged in agricultural pursuits. In 1852,

he came to America, went from New York, the

place of landing, to New Jersey, and engaged in

farming two years, afterward went to Manistee,

Michigan. He was there employed in a saw -mill,

and in 1854, married Miss Bridget Branan. In

1856, he removed to St. Paul, and the next spring

to this township, locating a claim in section

twenty-six and in 1869, built his present frame

house, having previously lived in log houses. Of

nine children born to him, six are living; Patrick

Johnnie, Mary, Thomas, Margaret, and Martin.
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ERIN.

OHAPTEB LXIV.

DBSOBIPTIVB BAKIiY SETTLEMENT —EVENTS AND

INCIDENTS PODITICAIi EOWIiEKSVILLE EDU-

CATIONAL BIOGBAPHICAL.

The township bearing this memorial name
leaves no doubt as to the nationality which first

settled it, and naturally would keep thronging in;

and the name indicates the class of people by

which it is now almost entirely settled. As to the

general features of the surface and scenery, what

has been said of Forest and Shieldsville would

apply very readily to this township, except, how-

ever, that Erin is a more strictly timber town, and

has fewer lakes than either of those named; in

fact it has no lakes of any importanct; wholly with-

in its borders, although many small streams tra-

verse the valley of the timber to become affluents

to the Cannon Biver. Tuft's Lake , on the south

extends partially over sections thirty-four and

thirty-five, forming the largest body of water in

the township, while a small chain of lakes extend

the sheet eastward and forms a southern bound-

ary to section thirty-six. In the northern part of

town Phelps' Lake infringes on portions of sections

"five and six,enteritig from Wheatland; and one mile

to the east a small body of water covers a few

acres of land in section four. In the center of

section ten is located a pond known as "Logue
Lake,'' from which flows a small stream which

wends its way eastward to Circle Lake in Forest

township. Another small brook, which joins the

one mentioned, rises in section twenty-five, and

flowing northward completes the unison in sec-

tion thirteen.

The soil is mostly a rich dark loam, with, how-

ever, a frequent tendency to a lighter nature, and

sand; well adapted to the common crops of this

latitude, and rich for all varieties of indigenous

grasses for grazing. The entire town, with the

exception of a few natural meadows, was origin-

ally forest, the noted body of timber known as the

"Big Woods" claiming the greater portion of the

territory, but now a great deal of this has been

removed and many fine and valuable farm

are being cultivated, where originally the wilder-

ness was almost impenetrable; and the hand of

industry, which has wrought the change—con-

verted the dense, uninhabitable region into homes

and fields of plenty—is still at work, and proba-

bly, by the time another generation passes into

the "days of old," additional changes shall have

been wrought, quite as marvelous.

Erin is constituted as originally surveyed by

government officers, and has, therefore, thirty-six

sections or 23,040 acres, of which very little is no*

taxable. In i860, the population was barely 300,

five years later, it had increased to 38.5; m
1870, to 527; and in 1880, at the last census, to

846. In 1870, the values in Erin, as given to the

census takers, were as follows: real property,

$78,000; personal property, $42,350; total, $120,-

350. The total assessed value, real and personal

for the same year, was $57,187. In 1882, after

taxes had been equalized, the values were assess-

ed as follows: real property, $72,251; personal,

$25,357; total, $97,608. This shows an increase

of assessed value in the last twelve years of $40,-

421.

To furnish an idea of what was said of this

township in early days, here is a sketch of it made
in 1868, by F. W. Frink, and published in pam-

phlet form; it is as follows: "As its name indi-

cates,this town, like Shieldsville, is peopled almost

entirely by emigrants from the Emerald Isle. In

its general features of surface, and scenery also,

it resembles the town last mentioned, which it lies

next to on the north. Erin, however, has fewer

lakes, in fact none situated wholly within its bound-

aries, more of meadows and brush prairie and less

of heavily timbered land than the town of Shields-

ville. Of its whole area 19,528 acres are taxable
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lands, 1,960 acres belong to railroads,280 to Gov-

ernment, and 1,130 acres are unsold School lands.

Non-resident lands are held at from $2.50 to $5

per acre."

The above would answer very readily for the

present, except that the unsold land is now about

all occupied by actual settlers. Of its compari-

son, in the clipping, with Shieldsville, it is incor-

rect ; but that is treated in the former part of this

article. The price of land now ranges from $5

per acre upwards.

BABLY SETTLEMENT.

The earliest actual settlement of this sub-divi-

sion of Rice county was commenced early in the

year 1855, and was, therefore, a little behind the

majority of towns, as most of them received a set-

tler or two in 1854. As the name of the town im-

plies, there were none but the descendants of the

old loved Emerald Isle to be recorded in the

pages of its early history ; and, in fact, for a num-

ber of years, until a good share of the government

land was taken, there was not one resident of the

township of other than the Celtic origin; as it is

said, the arrival of pioneers of other nationalities,

with a view to securing homes, being regarded by

many of the citizens as an encroachment upon

their rights and domain.

In the spring of 1855, as if premeditated, a

party of pioneers, from various directions, burst

in upon the tranquility of the town, in the south-

eastern part, with the determination to secure

homes and promote civilization. The balance of

the county had already received a number of set-

tlers. Faribault was quite a town and near it

already was heard the sound of the water-wheel

and the buzz o"f the saw; but Erin was yet eon--

sidered "backwoods" and no pioneer had consent-

ed to accept the hardship, privation, and toil the

opening of the timber would necessarily incur.

This party had decided to risk it, and here they

were in June, 1855: Jeremiah Healy, Sylvester

Smith, John Burke, James Cummings, John Mc-

Manus and Owen Farley, the most of them bring-

ing their families.

About the first of this party to locate and select

a claim was Jeremiah Healy, and as he was an

important personage among the early pioneers,

we will give a short sketch of his life: Jeremiah

Healy was born in Cork, Ireland, in 1819, and re-

mained at the place of his birth until the year

1842, when he came to America and located at

Dubuque, Iowa, where, in April, 1849, he was

married to Miss Hannah McCarthy. He re-

mained here until 1855, when he came to Erin

and located in the southern part of the town,

where he put up a log shanty 16x24 feet, the first

in the township. Mr. Healy had left his family

in his former home, and after he had prepared a

place for them returned and brought them out,

bringing also a number of head of stock and one

colt. He remained in Erin until the time of his

death which occurred on the 25th of July, 1868.

Of his family of children, nine are still living.

His widow lives in Faribault with her two sons,

E. J. and J. F. Healy, twins, who are in the mer-

cantile business. Another son, John Healy, is

still on the old place in Erin.

After Healy had located, Sylvester Smith was

next to select a place, which he did in sections

twenty-five and thirty-six. He was a native of

Ireland and had stopped for a time in Iowa, get-

ting into Eice county with a yoke of. oxen and

immediately erected a small log shanty. Soon

after his arrival he manged to secure a grindstone,

and for a number of years the settlers for six

miles around would come to his place to sharpen

their knives and farming cutlery. He also was

fortunate enough to secure the first grain cradle

in the township. When he first arrived with his

family, consisting of his wife and two children,

there were only three houses between his place

and Faribault.

Mr. John Burke,' of the same nationality, plant-

ed his stakes on the claim of his choice, but only

remained for a few years when he left for parts

unknown to us.

James Cummings next secured a place on sec-

tion twenty-seven and put up a small log shanty

at once, as he had brought his family, and com-

menced pioneering with barely enough to get

along with, and by thrift and enterprise has now

become a well-to-do and influential farmer, still

living on the old place. One of his sons is now

a Justice of the Peace and Town Clerk, and an-

other is school clerk of the district in which he

lives.

John McManus, another son of the Emerald

Isle, a single man, took a claim in the southern

part of the town, near his fellow countrymen, and

still remains in the same vicinity. He was joined

in wedlock shortly afterward, making one of the

first marriages in the town.
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The last member of tLis party, Owen Parley,

settled on section twenty-six, where he still re-

mains.

This entire party came in with ox teams and all

settled in the south and southeastern part of the

township. Those of them who still remain, al-

though coming with little or nothing, are now
farmers in comfortable circumstances, and with

fertile and valuable farms.

In the same year, a little later in the season, the

southwestern corner of the town received a settler

and commenced building up a neighborhood as

efficiently as the southeastern part.

James McBride, another descendant of "The

Old Sod," drifted in and anchored himself in

section thirty-one, where his moorings are still

fast. He brought in considerable stock and com-

menced pioneer life by putting up a log shanty.

Shortly after McBride arrived in the fall, E.

Clarken put in an appearance and located on sec-

tion thirty, where .he still remains, having made
himself what he is, a wealthy farmer, since his ar-

rival in Erin.

This was the extent to which the township was

settled this year, carrying the settlement up to

the winter of 1855-56, which proved a very trying

and severe one to the meagre settlement, as they,

as yst, had had no time to prepare for it. A Mr.

Condon was frozen to death while on his way to

his claim near J. Oumming's place. He had gone

to Shieldsville for groceries and provisions to sup-

ply the wants of his family, and on his way home
lost the road, became discouraged and benumbed
by cold, and gave up to the drowsiness which in

freezing means death. This misfortune was the

third death that occurred in the township. Many
of the settlers, however, anticipating a hard time,

had avoided the danger by going to St. Paul for

the winter, and returning the following spring.

The next year the settlement became more rapid

and all parts of the town received a share of the

incomers. Many came who have since removed

with the restlessness of Americans, to the far

West, there to help, no doubt, in the civilization

and cultivation of a land fully as rich as this has

proved to be. Among the arrivals this year many
will be mentioned.

Charley McBride arrived in 1856, and made
himself at home on sections nine and sixteen

where his lamp still holds out to burn. His ready

wit, ever willingness for a joke, no matter who

the "butt" of it was, and altogether his good nature

and sociability made him a noted character

throughout the entire county and stamped him as

the "prince of good fellows." Wherever the

happy "phiz" of Charley is, there is sure to be

fun and a good time generally.

Andrew Kelly, of Celtic origin, drifted in and

dropped anchor in section twenty-six where his

anchorage still remains intact. He came in com-

pany with his brother. Prank Kelly, who took a

quarter section adjoining his farm. Frank was

married at an early day, and lived here until

about 1862, when he mysteriously disappeared^

and nothing has ever since been seen or heard of

him. Many theories, and they could be only

mere speculative ideas, have been advanced as to

the cause of his disappearance, but they are all

unsatisfactory, as nothing can be conclusive where

there is not the slightest shadow of fact for its

foundation. His son still holds the old homestead

in section twenty-six.

D. and John Caliban came in 1856, the latter

being still on his place. J. O'Reilly and father

came about the same time; the latter is now de-

ceased and the foimer is in St. Paul. The Ash

brothers also arrived about the same time. They

were Peter and Thomas, the former took the place

where he now lives, in section fourteen, and the

latter left without obtainiag any land.

Section thirty- three, in the southern part of the

town, was the recipient of T. Flannagan, an

Irishmen, who still "holds the fort" here, and-

about the same time of the year '56, Henry Smith

secured a home in section twenty-seven.

Pour Mulcahy brothers, Patrick, Timothy, Dan-

iel, and Dennis, natives of the Emerald Isle, put

in an appearance this year and took farms near to-

gether, on and about section twenty-nine. The

first two, Patrick and Timothy, died at an early

day; Dennis removed to Wells township ab(jut

1867, while Daniel still lives on the original pre-

emption.

In section eight, the same year, Edward P. Car-

roll took the northeast, and Patrick Sheehan secur-

ed the southwest quarter where they now reside

in comfortable circumstances. Just south of these

parties, in section seventeen, B. Foley and An-

drew Devereux each secured 160 acres and still

flourish on their places, both having been promi-

nent men in the township.

John Doyle, originally from Ireland, planted
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his stakes on an eighty acre piece of land in the

southern part of section five, and still occupies the

Hugh and Patrick McEntee, father and son,

came in 1856, and the former took the farm in sec-

tion twenty-four, on which he now lives, and after

a tew years Patrick got married and purchased a

place in section ten. E. Kiernan pre-empted a

place in 1856, which joins Patrick's farm.

There were many arrivals this year besides those

noted already, among which may be mentioned

John Gorman, who remained on his farm until

1870, when he removed to Eairbault where he is

now "Mine host" at the Northwestern Hotel; the

O'Sullivan brothers, Patrick, John, and James,

who are still prominent men in the town; James

Warren, who paid the debt of mortality in 1873,

leaving his widow and one son upon the place;

Dennis Dooley, Michael Eichardson, Chas. Ma-
guire, M. KaUaher, John Quinlan, E. Maher, and

T. MoBreen, all of whom settled this year, and

still remain in the township, well-to-do, influential,

and comfortable farmers.

This carries the settlement" up to a time when

the influx became so rapid and constant that it is

impossible to note them in sequence; but many
arrivals since this date are noted in another place

under the head of "Biographical," to which place

we refer the reader. In 1860, the population of Erin

had grown to 306, and almost all of the govern-

ment land was taken. It should be noted in this

connection that General James Shields had a great

deal of influence in developing this township, and

especially can the tide of Irish incomers be at-

tributed to him, as he had located just on the line

dividing this town from Shieldsville, and his ad-

vertisements in eastern papers inviting others to

join him, attracted the attention of his country-

men, and they thronged in. A great many of the

claims occupied by the settlers mentioned above,

had been selected before the parties had arrived,

by Jeremiah Healy, who was the first to actually

secure a farm. By observation, he had picked up

the rudiments of surveying and his knowledge

was very useful to the pioneers in laying out their

future homes. There have been as many as six-

teen or twenty of them, in early days, stopping at

Mr. Healy's log cabin—free of charge—while they

were looking for farms.

EVENTS AND INCIDENTS.

Eablt Bibths.—The first child bom in the

township was a daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah

Healy, in the latter part of 1855, in the southern

part of the town. The minor arrival was chris-

tened Sarah, and she afterwards married Mr. John

Dudley and is now living in Faribault.

The next event of this kind was in 1856, when a

child named Catherine was born to Mr. and Mrs.

John Burke. She now lives in Iowa.

Another early birth was James, a son of Mr.

and Mrs. E. darken; the boy grew to manhood in

Eria and now lives in St. Paul.

Mathew Smith, who now lives in Wells, was

born in Erin at an early day.

Maebiagbs.—In this line the township has a

peculiar history, one in fact, which is almost with-

out a parallel. It is, that since the original set-

tlement of the town, almost thirty years ago, un-

til the present time, only one marriage has taken

place within the limits of the town, this being the

ocL-asion, in 1878, when Mr. George Levoy and

Miss Annie Berry were united in the holy bonds

of matrimony by Father Bobierrie, at the house

of School district No. 68. The bride was the

daughter of John Berry. Of course this does not

signify that the residents of Erin have refrained

from taking partners to their joys and sorrows,

indeed, such is not the case, but by some queer

freak of the "god of chance" parties matri-

monially inclined have always had the conjugal

knot tied at some point out of the limits of the

town.

The first marriage of residents in the town oc-

curred in the winter of 1856, at Faribault and

were John Quinlan and Bridget Martin. The

ceremony was performed by Father Kavoux and

the happy couple still reside in their country's

namesake township.

As early as 1857, the marriage of Mr. John

McManus to Miss Eliza Kelly took place at the

village of Shieldsville, and after the couple had

taken the floor preparatory to listening to the

last words of the ceremony, it was discovered that

there was no ring to place upon the bride's finger,

and as this article was indispensible in the code,

for a moment it looked as though the young couple

were doomed to single life yet a short time, or

until the needed finger ornament was brought

forward. Happily, the oflBoiating minister con-

ceived an idea that he at once executed, which

relieved them of the difficulty; he took the key

from the door and placing it upon the bride's

finger pronounced them man and wife.
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Another early marriage was that of Thomas
Casey to Catherine Kelley. They now live in

Wells township.

Eablt Deaths.—Undoubtedly the first death

to occur in Erin was Mary Ann, child of Sylvester

Smith, who was called away in October, 1855.

She was buried in Shieldsville. This child's

grandfather, Martin Smith, father of Sylvester

Smith, was the second death, laying down the

burden of life's trials and uncertainties in 1855,

at the age of sixty-five years. His remains were

also interred at Shieldsville.

The next death was Mr. Condon, in the early

part of 1856, by freezing. He is mentioned else-

where.

In 1858, while Edward Eiley and Sylvester

Smith were in the timber chopping wood, a limb

from one of the trees fell, and striking Edward
Eiley on the head, killed him instantly.

First Cbop.—When Sylvester Smith first came

to the town in company with a few others, in 1855,

they made their way with ox teams through the

timber, having to out their own roads. Their

nearest place for supplies was at Hastings or St.

Paul. In 1856, they broke a little ground and

put in and raised a small crop of corn and pota-

toes. The first crop of wheat was raised in 1857,

and it was marketed at Hastings at 50 cents per

bushel, the trip being made with ox teams, and

occupying five days, camping on the way and

cooking their meals by the wayside.

FiKST EiiBOTioN.—The first precinct election

ever held, embracing Erin, was held at Shields-

ville in 1855; the precinct comprising what is now
known as Erin, Shieldsville, Wheatland, and

part of the towns of Forest and Wells.

MoBeidb and the Bats.—Charley McBride

can undoubtedly claim the honor of bringing rats

into this township, from what we can learn. It

seems that Mr. McBride, while in the East, sent

several boxes qE clothing, consigned to a commis-

sion warehouse in Hastings, and finally, after

much trouble, succeeded in getting them to

Shieldsville. Upon arriving there he selected the

one which upon opening was discovered

to contain two rats. He hastily slammed
the cover shut, and shouting to several

of his friends near told them to get sticks and he

did likewise. Friends all gathered round the

box, spit on their hands, held their sticks up ready

to flatten the first rat into a grease spot and thus

nip the rat business in the bud. All were in ex-

pectation. Every one held his breath, gripped

his stick tighter, and determined to do or die; the

deep silence was oppressive, as the box lid was

being raised. It came up with a rush, and with

a yell of vengeance the crowd of clubs made a

downward swoop! But, alas! As the foolish ex-

pression deepened on the countenance of the aston-

ished vengeance seekers, it was easy to guess the

cause,

—

fhe rats were gone. McBride, as usual,

laughed immoderately, and to this day when a

rat is seen it is called "McBride's pet" by those
~

who remember the incident.

But this did not injure McBride's reputation,

for his many good deeds overbalanced by far this

dark one. One of the latter was to bring in with

him some geese, and "McBride's geese" were for

years the only ones in the region, and from the

product of this small .flock, has many a feather

bed been made, that has given rest to not a tew

weary travelers, who can testify to the hospitality

of these natives of the Emerald Isle. This same

Charley McBride also brought the first horse team

into Erin township.

Clekgy in Ehin.—The town of Erin was first

encroached upon in the month of May, 1855, and

among the first to build a log cabin was Mr. Jer-

emiah Healy who, amidst the trials and privations

of pioneer life, had succeeded in preserving a few

seed potatoes and planted them near his cabin,

and about the time the potatoes were in bloom

Father Eavoux, the first missionary in this part of

the country, came traveling along on his Indian

pony, and discovering this cabin with the inmates

and a few scattering neighbors, he concluded to

stop and hold the first service here, and when
about to retire respectfully declined to sleep in-

side of the cabin, but taking his saddle for a pU-

low, and spreading his blankets, made his bed be-

tween the rows of potatoes, and there, with the

sky for a mantle, slept sweetly until the rising

sun kissed the morning dew.

Eein in the Late Wab.—This town did its full

share in the war of rebellion and we have suc-

ceeded in getting the list of volunteers who par-

ticipated in it from the township. The following

is the list: Daniel Caliban, John Caliban,

Charles Lipman, Tore Ooran, Antoine LaDuc,
David Tierney, James McLaughlin, John Mo-
Bride, James O'Neill, Arne Logue, Michael

Logue, Jerry Lyons, Thomas Grady, Herman
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Kampen, John Meehan, Martin Kallaher, Andrew

Devereux, Dennis Mulcahy, Patrick Quinlan, and

Edward Martin.

POMTIOAIi.

This town was organized in common with

the balance of the townships in Bice county,

when the Territory was made a State. The

first town meeting was held on the 11th of

May, 1858, at the residence of P. Byan. The

meeting was called to order by the election of

Thomas Plannagan as chairman, and William

Kerrott, secretary. A motion was then made by

D. Dooley to name the town " McBride," then one

to call it " Healy " in honor of Jeremiah Healy,

but both of these were lost. A motion was next

made by Mr. John Gorman that the township

should be called "Erin," in honor of their na-

tivity, and this was carried by a majority of seven.

They then proceeded to the election of the fol-

lowing officers : Supervisors, John Oonniff, Chair-

man; Timothy Foley, and Sylvester Smith; As-

sessor, Dennis Dooley; Collector, John Gorman:

Justices of the Peace, Thomas Flanigan and B.

Foley; Constables, Michael Bichardson and John

Smith; Overseer of the poor, Charles McBride;

Overseers of roads, Patrick Byan, Martin Duffy,

and Edward darken.

At the town meeting in spring of 1882, the fol-

lowing officers were elected: Supervisors, Patrick

Sullivan, Chairman, John Quinlan, and Patrick

Mangan; Town Clerk, Thomas Cummings; Jus-

tices of Peace, Thomas Cummings and Andrew

Devereux; Treasurer, Owen Farley; Constables,

Edward Eouin and Thomas Carroll; Assessor,

Michael Carroll. ' There is no town hall in Erin,

and elections and town meetings are held at the

residence of Michael Carroll.

POWLBBSVlOIiB POST-OPFIOB

This office was established in 1856, with Bar-

tholomew Foley as Postmaster, and the office at

his house. In 1857, John Smith was appointed

Postmaster and the office was removed to his

house in section eighteen, where it remained for

eight years, until Charles Cooke became Postmas-

ter, when it was again changed and kept in Bern-

ard Tague's house in section sixteen. Here it was

kept for a short time when Edward Carroll was

made Postmaster, and it was removed to his resi-

dence in section eight. Four years later Edward

Kieman was appointed to the office and the name

changed, to be finally, in 1880, discontinued.

BDUOATIONAL.

In Erin we find rather less than the average

number of school districts in the towns through-

out the county, there being only five. The dis-

tricts are all, however, efficiently managed, and

the educational advantages here are at par with

the general run of neighboring towns. The school

buildings are neat and substantial, and the schools

are well attended, employing one teacher in each

district, a short sketch of which are given below.

District No. 46.—This was the first district

organized in the township, having been effected

about 1857, and a log schoolhouse rolled together

in the southeastern part of section fifteen. The

school grew rapidly, and in 1865, Miss Powers

taught a term with thirty juveniles on the benches.

In 1872, the old log schoolhouse was dispensed

with and their present house erected near the

center of section eleven, at a cost of $300, where

Miss L. Dooley first distributed knowledge. The

pressnt school officers are: Messrs. Daniel Call-

ahan, Patrick McEntee, and Edward Kiernan,

respectively director, treasurer, and clerk. The

last school was taught by Miss Anna L. Kiernan,

with twenty-five scholars present. The land on

which the schoolhouse stands was generously

donated by Mr. Daniel Caliban.

District No. 49.—The first school in this dis-

trict was taught in the summer of 1860, in the

log house of Dennis Dooley, and Bridget Fitzger-

ald first taught the young idea how to shoot.

The first school board consisted of Messrs. Dooley,

Coffey, and Mehan. In 1863, the schoolhouse

was erected of logs in the eastern part of section

thirty, the land being donated by E. Clarken. The

first school was attended by twelve pupils, and it

has increased until there are now about twenty

enrolled.

District No. 68.—First came into existence in

1858, when the first school was taught in the win-

ter by Andrew Devereux in John Gorman's log

house in section fifteen. Shortly afterwards Pat-

rick Sheehan deeded the district one half an acre

of ground in section eight and a log house was

put up. This was about a half a mile north of

the present site, to which it was removed in

1859. In 1873, the present frame building was

erected at a cost of $400, on the same site in the

southern part of section eight. The present
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school board consists of Messrs P. Sheehan, B.

Foley, and P. Oassidy; the school now enrolls

about Eorty-two scholars.

DisTBiOT No. 69.—The first school in this dis-

trict was taught in a log house on Anthony Kel-

ly's land, in the summer of 1857, with Mrs. Eycn

as teacher. The winter school was taught by

Anthony Kelly in a little log hut that stood on

the Warren place, the inhabitants having agreed

that it should be held part of the time in one end,

and the remainder of the time in the other end of

the district. In 1859, the district was divided,

and this obtains the original number. A log

building was put up this year on the site of the

present building, the school ground having been

donated to the district by Andrew Kelly. This

house was burned to the ground on the evening

of election in 1870. It seems that on the day fol-

lowing, E. J. Healy, now a merchant of Fari-

bault, was to commence teaching a term of school

having been hired by the school board under the

bitter opposition of some of th<3 resideHts and one

member of the board, and the building was un-

doubtedly burned by some of the lawless to pre-

vent the school being taught. In this design,

however, they signally failed, for Mr. Healy went

to work, plastered a log building on theMcOul-

lough place, and two days after the fire, school

was called to order in this building and kept for

five months by the plucky teacher. At the time

of reorganization this was a very large district,

and the first school was attended by about twenty-

five scholars. At present the register shows about

twice that many enrolled, and the present officers

are: Director, Patrick Mangan; Treasurer, B.

Biley; and Olerk, H. Oummings.

DisTEioT No. 98.—This district comprises as

its territory portions of the townships of Erin

and Forest, "and its sohoolhouse is located on the

line between the two towns in section twenty-five.

The district is in good standing, well attended,

and ably managed, having been organized some

time during the sixties. Their present school

structure was erected at a cost of about $400, be-

ing a neat frame building.

BIOQKAPHIOAL.

Daniel Calihan was born in Ireland in 1823,

and when yoimg engaged in agricultural pur-

suits. In 1851, he came to America and for five

years resided in New York, engaged in brick

making. He was married in that State in 1852,
|

to Miss Ann Simpson, a native of Ireland. For a

time after leaving that place he was engaged in a

stone quarry in Bock Island, Illinois, quarrying

some of the stone for the first bridge built across

the Mississippi. In the spring of 1856, he came

to this county and located a farm in section

eleven, Erin, which has since been his home. He
has held local offices and has taken an active part

in organizing the schools. He was in the army

from 1864 until the close of the war, being with

Sherman in his famous March to the Sea. Mr.

and Mrs. Caliban have have had seven children,

four living; Arba, aged twenty-nine years, is the

wife of Thomas Oahill, clerk in the State House at

St. Paul; Bessie, Miles, and Mary.

James Oummings was born in Ireland in 1806,

and lived in his native country until 1846. He
then came to America, landed in Quebec, Canada,

and was engaged in railroading one. year, then

came to the States and followed the same business

in Vermont two years. He carried on a farm for

six years in Clinton county. New York, and then

moved to St. Paul where he was engaged in the

construction of the Catholic Church. Since 1856,

he has been a resident of this place, he being one

of the first six to settle here; his farm is located-

in section twenty-seven. He was married in his

native land in 1845, to Miss Alice Kirk. They

are both members of the Eoman Catholic church

in this place. They have had nine children, three .

of whom are living and at home; Thomas M., who

is Justice of the Peace and Town Clerk; William

H., aged twenty-four years, and Annie J., aged

nineteen years; Mary died in Canada at the age

of one year; Patrick died in Vermont when an

infant, James died in Vermont at the age of two

years, John died in this place when thirteen years

old; James, second, died after coming here, and

Ellen died in infancy.

Edwakd CiiABKBN was born in 1825, in Ireland

where he received his education and resided until

twenty-two years old. After coming to America

he located in Maryland and remained eight

months, then in Virginia and engaged in rail-

roading and mining for eight years. He was

married in the latter place and his wife is a na-

tive of Ireland. They have had ten children,

nine of whom are living, eight at home and one

in St. Paul. Mr. darken came with his family

to this place in 1856, and has since made his

home in section thirty, where he owns one hun-
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dred and sixty acres of land. He is a member of

the soliool board and also of the Catholic church.

John OobijET was born in Ireland in 1842, and

lived in his native country until the age of nine

years. He emigrated to America with his par-

ents in 1851, and located in Pittsburg, Pennsyl-

vania, where he was educated and afterward

taught school, remaining in the State sixteen

years. His father died in the latter place, and in

October, 1866, he and his mother came to Eice

county, Minnesota, and located a farm in section

thirty, Erin township, which is still their home.

Mr. Oorley was united in marriage at Shieldsville

in 1869, to Miss Margaret Maloney, a native of

Maine. She died on the 5th of September, 1870,

aged twenty-two years, leaving one child, Mary
Bertha, who died at the age of three months. He
has been a member of the board of education for

several years and is at present Rchool treasurer.

He and his mother, the only members of the fam-

ily now living, are both members of the Boman
Catholic church.

Andkew Dbveebux was born in County Wex-
ford, Ireland, in 1836. The Devereux family

are of Norman descent and have lived in Wex-

ford, Ireland, for centuries. The father of the

subject of this sketch, Patrick Devereux, was a

farmer in good circumstances and emigrated to

Canada in 1850, landed in Quebec, and after a so-

journ of two days settled on a farm of two hun-

dred acres, presented him by his brother William,

about twelve miles from Prescott, upon which

they lived five years. The family consisted of

five children, Andrew being the eldest. The sec-

odd, Bobert, was shot and instantly killed while

herding cattle in this place. The deed was done

in November, 1861, by a villain named Lydon,

and the death of Mr. Devereux was mourned by a

large circle of friends. William, the third child,

died in Ireland at the age of seven years; John,

the fourth son, is still living and owns a farm in

this township, his father living with him; Mary,

the youngest and only daughter, married a man
named Bernard Oassidy and lives in the city of

Stockton, California. After a residence of five

years in Canada Mr. Patrick Devereux returned

the farm to his brother, sold out his effects and

came to the States, settling in Iowa, twelve miles

south of Dubuque. There Andrew commenced

to- shape his own fortune, working at farm labor

during summer months and attending school win-

36

ters. He remained with his father until August,

1856, when he came to Minnesota territory and

after traveling over the greater portion of the

State- finally located in Erin, where he built a

shanty and also made claims for several of his

countrymen. At the beginning of the winter he

returned to his home in Iowa and commenced the

study of surveying, which he completed in six

months. He then came again to this place in

company with his brother Bobert, for whom he

made a claim adjoining his own, and where, as

previously mentioned, he lost his life. In the win-

ter of 1857, Mr. Devereux taught the first term of

school ever held in the township and the following

summer worked as a deck hand on a Mississippi

steamer. At the close of navigation he went

south as far as Lake Providence in Louisiana

where he acted as foreman for a contractor, repair-

ing levees. The following summer he spent at his

father's and in September, 1860, the whole family

moved to Minnesota. In August, 1862, he en-

listed in Company H, of the Tenth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry and was appointed duty Ser-

geant. He spent part of the winter in camp at

Swan Lake, Nicollet county, and from thence was

sent to LeSueur to attend a military school taught

by Lieut. Col. S. P. Jennison. In the spring of

1863, he joined Sibley's expedition and partici-

pated in several engagements with the Indians,

driving them across the Missouri Biver, but they

soon returned, however. The regiment returned

to Fort 'Snelling and then south, having their

winter quarters at St. Louis where they remained

six months, and in the spring of 1864, joined the

First Brigade of the First Division of the Six-

teenth Army Corps, commanded by Major Gen-

eral A. J. Smith, and was engaged in aU the bat-

tles in which the division took part. He was hon-

orably discharged at Fort Snelling in September,

1865, with the rank of First Sergeant, and imme-

diately returned to his farm. On the 3d of June,

1866, Mr. Devereux was married to Miss Mary

Cassidy and is now the father of six children;

Robert, aged fifteen years; Margaret, thirteen;

William P., eleven; Mary Jane, nine; Kate, five;

and John B., fifteen months.

Denis Doolt was born in 1820, in Ireland,

where he recieved his education and learned the

carpenter trade. In 1842, he came to Canada,

where he found employment at his trade and re-

sided fourteen years. He was married there in
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1843, to Miss Mary Allen, a native of Ireland. In

September, 1856, Mr. Dooly became one of the

pioneers of this place, locating a farm in section

thirty-two, where he has since resided. He has

been a member of the school board for several

terms, and always takes an active part in school

matters. Mr. and Mrs. Dooly have had seven

children, five of whom are living and all in this

StatQ; Patrick, thirty-five years of age; Mary Ann,

thirty-two; Louisa, thirty; Daniel, twenty-eight,

and Hattie, twenty-six. One chUd died in Canada

and one in Shieldsville, Minnesota.

Timothy P. Foley, a native of Minnesota, was

bom in Erin township in March, 1860. His lather

was bom in county Cork, Ireland, and is of a very

ancient family. He emigrated to America in

1845, landing in New York City where he worked

at the stone mason trade two years, at the end of

which time he engaged in agricultural pursuits

for six years. He moved from New York to Iowa,

and three years later he came to Minnesota and

pre-empted land in this township. He returned

to Iowa and married a young lady by the name
of Donahoe, a native of county Wexford, Ireland.

She is a lineal descendant of the O'Donahoes,

formerly valiant Knights of Ireland, who upheld

Christianity while in its infancy in that country,

their gleaming swords finally establishing the

Christian religion there. Mr. and Mrs. Foley

moved to his new home in Minnesota and imme-

diately began improvements on his farm and the

surrounding country, petitioning for the first pub-

lic road in the township. He established a Post

office which he kept a number of years, and also

held other local offices. Of a family of ten chil-

dren, nine are living; Elizae, the eldest, is a dress-

maker living in Minneapolis, aged twenty-four

years; Timothy, twenty-two; Mary Ann, twenty;

John,eighteen; Catheriue,8ixteen; Bridget,thirteen;

Thomas, eleven; Bartholomew, nine; William, the

youngest living, is six years of age, and Margaret

E., the youngest of the family, died at the age of

ten months. Timothy, the subject of this sketch,

received a good common school education and is

now engaged in farming.

Thomas Flanigan, one of the early settlers of

this township, was bom in Ireland in 1823, reared

on a farm and received a common school educa-

tion there. In August, 1844, he came to America,

was engaged in a tannery in New York City one

year, after which he removed to Bhode Island and

was employed in a cotton factory in all its dififer-

ent departments. While in that State he was

married in May, 1848, to Miss Ellen Hughs, a na-

tive of Ireland. In April, 1857, they came to

Eice county and settled in this township in sec-

tion thirty-three. He has a fine farm, well im-

proved ; has been chairman of the board of Super-

visors several terms, a member of the school

board. Justice of the Peace, and was Justice of the

precinct at the organization of the town. Mr. and

Mrs. Flanigan have had nine children, five of

whom are living; Cilia, aged thirty years; Clarry,

twenty-three; Eliza, twenty-one; Joseph, nine-

teen, and Ella, seventeen. Three children died in

Bhode Island and one in this place.

Anthony M. Kelly, another of the early settlers

of this place, was born in Ireland in 1814, and at-

tended the common school in his native country.

In May, 1840, he was married to Miss Judith

Ganghan. Just five years later they came to

America and located in Indiana where he was en-

gaged in farming and surveying on railroads. He
was subsequently employed as overseer in an

asylum in Indianapolis. In 1856, they came to

this place and located in section twenty-eight

which is still their home. Mr. Kelly has been

Justice of the Peace, Town Treasurer, Assessor,

and a member of the school board, taking an ac-

tive interest in all educational matters, having

taught the first winter school in his district. Of

ten children born to him, five are living; Bridget,

born in 1845;Thomas M.,in 1850; Kate E.,in 1853;

William A., in 1857; and Joseph P., in 1859; one

daughter died in Ireland aged four years; John
died in Indianapolis at the age of seven years;

one in infancy; Philip and Mary Ann, in this

place, of diphtheria. The family are all members
of the Catholic church. Joseph P. was elected

Justice of the Peace just as he attained his ma-
jority.

William Kbbbott was born in February, 1810,

and raised on a farm between Newry and Lough-
brickland in county Down, Ireland. He received

a fair business education in various private schools

kept by itinerant teachers and assisted in all de-

partments of farm labor until the age of seven-

teen years, He then entered the employ of Wil-

liam Francis Hart, Esq., his father's landlord, as

under steward and gardener at Greenogue in

county Dublin, discharging those duties five and

a half years, until the death of his employer. He
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was afterward engaged as foreman and salesman

in Livingston's nursery and public gardens in the

suburbs of the city, and later acquired the posi-

tion of steward in a popular seminary at Port

Bella from which place he departed for Liverpool,

England, on the 11th of May, 1835, and sailed for

America the 18th of the same month. He landed

in New York on the 24th of June and enjoyed the

first 4th of July with friends in Albany. Coming

westward by way of the Erie Canal he found em-

ployment for some time in Eochester, and then

engaged in the construction of new locks at Lock-

port on the latter canal, thence to Canada and

settled at the first lock on the Grand Eiver, as-

suming the duty of Deputy Collector, Lock-mas-

ter, and section Superintendent on the first divis-

ion of the said canal, discharging these duties for

twenty years with marked success and satisfaction

to the civil officers and directors. He was mar-

ried on the 20th of May, 1839. On the 15th of

May, 1856, they moved to Minnesota, and on the

9th of June following filed a claim in this town-

ship. By his advice his parents' family followed

him in the fall, coming in the steamer "Lady

Franklin" which sunk causing the loss of all their

effects and scattered the family of six boys and

two girls to struggle for self-support. In March,

1858, Mr. Kerrott organized an election precinct

in the town of Wheatland, and conducted the elec-

tion; afterward organized the town of Erin and was

its first Town Clerk. His wife, having a distaste for

the privations and struggles of frontier life, made

a visit to friends in Chicago where she died. In

October, 1859, Mr. Kerrott went to New Orleans;

in 1860, worked on levees at Lake Bolivar, Mis-

sissippi; in 1861, was in Tunica county, thence

north to Memphis and took passage for Colum-

bus, Kentucky, landing under fire of the Kebels

at Fort PUlow, where he acted with the sappers

and miners for some time. He returned to Mem-

phis and remained until it was occupied by Fed-

eral troops, being present at the naval conflict be-

fore the city surrendered. He was watchman of

Government freight transportation and also Su-

perintendent of a wood yard on Wolf Island. In

1866, he accepted employment at the National

Cemetery on the M. & O. railroad but two years

later returned to Minnesota and has since lived in

this county always holding some oifice of trust

—

Town Clerk, Justice of the Peace, etc., every one

of which was vacated on his own motion, having

no blot or stigma to stain the vista of fifty-seven

years.

Chaelbs McBride, one of the first farmers to

settle in this township, is a native of Ireland, bom
in 1812. He was married in 1830, to Sarah Mar-

tin. Two years later they emigrated to America,

located in Westchester county, New York, and re-

mained in the State six years. They afterwards

resided in New Jersey one year and in Iowa nine

years, engaged in farming. In the spring of 1856,

Mr. McBride came to Erin, bringing the .first horse

team in the township, and settled in section nine

where he still lives. His wife died in 1858, and is

buried in Shieldsville cemetery. She bore him

eight children, seven of whom are living. He
married his present wife, Miss Alesia McHall, a

native of Ireland, in 1861. The result of this

union is ten children, six of whom are living. His

children aU live in the State and six are at home.

He and his wife are members of the Koman Catho-

lic church. Mr. McBride took a very active part

in organizing schools in an early day; he hired

and paid the teacher who taught the first school

in this township; has been a member of the board

of supervisors and of the school board, each sever-

al terms.

Patbiok MoENTBEwas born in Ireland in 1844)

and lived in his native country until 1852. Jle

came with his parents to Virginia where he atten-

ded school, completing his education, after coming

to Minnesota, in St. Paul. The family settled

in section twenty-four in this township in 1856,

and our subject remained at home until 1869,

when he was married to Miss Mary Ann Dooley, a

native of Canada, the ceremony taking place in

Shieldsville. The same year he moved to section

ten which he stUl makes his home. He has been

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors two terms,

a member of the school board several terms and in

1880, took the census. His parents still live in

this township, his father aged seventy-five years

and his mother ten years younger. He has two

brothers and two sisters in this place, one sister

in St. Paul, and one in Chicago. Mr. and Mrs.

McEntee have had seven children, three of whom

are living ; William, Patrick, and Agnes.

Edwabd BuiNK was born in Canada in 1840,

and his native place claimed him as a resident

until the age of twenty-six. He was united in

marriage in 1862, with Miss Catherine McKinna,

a native of Ireland. They have a family of nine
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children; Timothy, nineteen years of age; Pat-

rick, seventeen; Catherine, fifteen; Julia Ann,

thirteen; Mary, eleven; Margaret, nine; Louise,

seven; Teresa, five, and Edward J., three, all

living at home. Mr. Buinn at present fills the

office of Constable.

SxLVBSTBE Smith, one of the first settlers in

this township, was born in 1814, in Ireland where

he received his education. He came to America in

1842, located in Sullivan county, New York, and

remained in that State ten years. He was mar-

ried in New York City, in 1851, to Miss Sarah

Brady, a native of Ireland. They resided in West

Virginia three years, then came to this place and

settled in section twenty-five, which has since

been their home. He has been a member of the

school board several terms, and was one of the first

to organize and maintain the school in this sec-

tion, it being by subscription; has also been a

member of the board of Supervisors two terms.

Mr. and Mrs. Smith have had seven children, five

of whom are living; John, Matthew, Julia, Mary,

and Annie. Mary A., died in infancy in 1855,

and was the first death in the township, and Sarah

E. was drowned in the lake while bathing, in June,

1875.

NOBTHFIELD

CHAPTER LXV.

GENERAL DBSOBIPTION BAELY SETTLEMENT—ITEMS

OP INTEEEST POLITICAL—WAB BEGOED SCHOOLS

INDUSTEIAL ENTBEPEISES—RELIGIOUS.

Northfield township is situated in the extreme

northwestern portion of Eice county, adjoining

Dakota county on the north, Goodhue county on

the east, and contiguous to the townships of

Bridgewater and Wheeling on the west and south;

embracing as its area, including the city of North-

field, forty-four sections of land, or 28,160 acres,

almost all of which is under a high state of culti-

vation, and admirably adapted to all agricultural

purposes.

The surface of the township is varied and diver-

sified. It is really a prairie town, smooth in

places, but everywhere is noticeable tlie rolling

tendency. As you approach the eastern line, along

Prairie Creek, the land is more broken and hilly,

covered with a heavy growth of timber. Here are

many ledges of barren rock extending along the

line of timber and prairie where it breaks its sur-

face to make room for the stream. Along the en-

tire western and southern boundaries the surface

is more broken and hilly, and as you retreat from

these you enter the prairie land which is undulat-

ing and beautiful. The soil on the prairie is a

dark, rich loam, and in the timber, or in the hilly

land, it is of a lighter color.

On sections twenty-six and thirty-four is located

what is known as the "Big Woods," although they

are now small and insignificant in comparison with

what they were in former years. Throughout the

town, where there is no natural timber, the far-

mers have cultivated domestic groves, which are a

great help in beautifying the township. One in

particular is worth mentioning, on the farm of

Samuel F. Johnson, in section thirteen. The
grove consists of maple and Cottonwood, covering

ten or twelve acres, set in symetrical rows about

twelve feet apart, and visitors pronounce it one of

the finest in the State. There are many fine farms,

well watered, well cultivated, and supplied with

excellent buildings, and it can unhesitatingly be

said that this is the finest township in Eice coun-

There are only two streams of any note passing

over the surface of this sub-divesion, the Cannon
Eiver, passing through the city of Northfield, and
Prairie Creek. The latter rises in Cannon City,

enters Northfield at the extreme southwestern

point, and flows through the southern tier of

towns until it reaches the northeastern part of sec-

tion thirty-four, where it is joined by another

small stream and makes a northward turn, keep-

ing this direction with a little inclination to the

west until it reaches section one, when it leaves

Northfield and enters Goodhue county. In sec-

twelve Prairie Creek is joined by Spring Creek,

which rises in section thirty-sis and flows north-
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ward through the eastern tier of sections until it

joins the more powerful stream.

A sketch of Northfleld published in 1868, when

the territory was a part of the town that now

comprises the corporate limits of the town of

Northfleld, says:

"NoBTHFiBLD, the northeastern town of the

county, contains one congressional township and

eight sections of land. Of its area eighty acres

belong to the government, two hundred and

eighty acres to the railroad, and one hundred and

sixty to the University. This town presents great

inducements for the investment of capital in farm-

ing, its surface is beautifully diversified with

prairies, groves, and running streams. The "Big

Woods " skirts the town on the west, and furnishes

an inexhaustible supply of timber. Its popula-

tion is principally of American origin, and its for-

eign born citizens mostly Germans and Nor-

wegians. The station of the Milwaukee & St.

Paul railway is in the town of the same name, sit-

uated in the northwestern part of the township."

Since the above was written the city of North-

field has been set off and organized as a separate

government, leaving the area of the township as

stated elsewhere in this article. The same report

states that the population of both in 1860, was

880, and in 1865, 1,502. In 1870, the population

of both town and city was 2,381.

The government and unsold land mentioned in

the above report is now occupied by actual set-

tlers. The statement as to the nationality of the

inhabitants will apply to the present time.

In 1870, the values in Northfleld, city and

township, as given to the census takers were as

follows: Eeal property, .'$984,180; personal,

$340,325; total, $1,324,505. The total assessed

valuation for the same year, real and personal, was

$716,890. In 1882, the County Oommissioners in

equalizing the taxes of the county made the fol-

lowing report of the assessed valuation in North-

field: Personal property, town and city, $527,-

473; real property, $979,459; total assessed value,

$1,506,932. Showing an increase since 1872, of

$790,042. Of the flgares given for 1882, the

total assessed valuation in the city was $1,050,265,

of which $445,841 represented the personal, and

and $604,416 the real property. The total as-

sessed valuation in the township, exclusive of the

city, for 1882, was $446,667, of which $71,632

was personal and $375,035 real property.

EAELT SETTLEMENT.

This subdivision of Eice county oommeneed its

era of pioneering in 1854, about the same time as

did almost all of the prairie towns, this kind of

land being more inviting to the incomers and more

easily subdued and made ready for agriculture.

The first to come into the township and actually

settle and take a farm was Mr. D. Kirkendahl, or, as

it is sometimes spelled, "Kuykendahl", who was a

native of Germany but recently from Pennysl-

vania. He took a farm just where part of the city

now is, and commenced western life in a tent

where the college buildings now are, and where,

in a few weeks, he put up a log cabin. His sell-

ing out to Mr. North and leaving is noted in the

history of the city.

Mr. Kirkenhahl had been here just twelve days

when Mr. Alexander Stewart made his appearance.

He was a native of New York, having stopped for

a time in Wisconsin, which latter place he left on

the 16th of May, and arrived in Northfleld on the

16th of June, 1854, and found Kirkendahl safely,

but temporarily, housed in his tent. Mr. Stewart

brought his family, and all he had in the world^

which consisted of three pair of oxen, four cows,

and some loose cattle, besides the usual household

articles and "nick-nacks." A tent was pitched on

his present place in which he lived four weeks

while he did some breaking and preparing land,

and then he erected a log shanty 14x18 feet, and,

as he says, "one story low." This he covered with

a half roof of shakes, the remaining half being

open for two months, no floor was put in and in

this shape the family moved into their new home

and remained there until after the fall work was

finished. Then Mr. Stewart went to St. Paul and

procured some lumber with which he made some

badly needed repairs. Shakes of black oak were

brought into use to make a good roof, which was

covered with sod, and this sheltered the inmates

for nearly two years when, on the occasion upon

which Elder T. E. Cressey, the pioneer Baptist

minister, was a guest of Mr. Stewart's, a heavy

rain storm came up and speedUy made mush of

the sod which had become rotten, and soon trans-

formed the little cabin into a mud pile. This

made it painfully apparent that there was still

room for improvement, which was speedily furn-

ished and afterwards a pleasant and neat dwelling

was erected to take the place of the cabin, which

still stands. Mr. Stewart still resides on his farm
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and is undoubtedly the oldest settler in the town-

ship or city. This little commencement was the

basis upon which grew the entire northern settle-

ment of the city and township. Two weeks after

Mr. Stewart's arrival, Jonathan Alexander and

fainily made their appearance and selected the

farm upon which they now live, near the last

named pioneer's place. He brought considerable

stock, about ten cows and ten head of loose cattle,

one horse, and was pretty well fixed with world's

goods. A tent was pitched which served as shel-

ter while a good shanty was erected; this was run

as a hotel and tavern, or an old fashioned inni

from the time of its erection for a number of years,

and many a weary traveler has here found shel-

ter. Mr. Alexander has one son who took a farm

as early, if not before he did, and both still oc-

cupy them.

J. D. Hoskins and Henry Tralle were about the

next to arrive. Hoskins was a native of the state

of Maine and secured the place now occupied by
Captain Ames. Tralle was a native of Germany
and took a farm which he sold in 1855 to 0. N.

Stewart. This was about the extent to which the

northern part of the town was settled this year,

and carried it up to the winter of 1845-55, which

was a very mild one and the settlers experienced

no trouble in getting through in safety. In the

meantime, and before cold weather had actually

set in, another native of the old "fader-land" had

arrived and settled south of this little neighbor-

hood, in the person of Prank Frahnkoop, who still

lives in the town.

In 1855, the immigration actually set in and as

many of the arrivals as can be remembered will be

given here.

John S. Way, whose nativity dates in Caledo-

nia county, Vermont, came through this township

from St. Paul where he had arrived in May, and

reached Northfleld in June, 1855. He put up
some hay and in September secured the claim he

now occupies in section seven, and put up a log

house which is still standing and in use for an ice

house. Mr. Way is now a member of the board

of County Commissioners.

Next among the arrivals in. the spring of 1855,

we notice the names of C. F. Whittier, who now
lives in Northfield, John Bingham, the White

brothers, H. H. Merrie, T. H. Olin, who still lives

on the second place he secured, and who is men-
tioned elsewhere; Sylvanus Bunday, who took

land in section eleven; Eansom and George

Smith, brothers just from Ohio; J. W. North, and

W. W. and James Willis, also from Ohio. After

this the settlement was carried on so rapidly that

it is impossible to trace it in sequence. The city

of Northfield was commenoed,and although slowly

at first, gained steadily until we find it what it is

to-day. The settlement of the township thicken-

ed, new modes of cultivation and agriculture have

been adopted, and now we find one of the richest

and most fertile farming localities in the State,

with the farmers all in most prosperous and com-

fortable circumstances. Since the time mention-

ed, and on various dates, the following are a few

of those who have arrived and now help fill the

northern part of the town: Daniel Goodhue, P.

Tosney, S. V. Ward, Thos. . Lawler, James Lynn,

the Bundays, Duncan Ferguson, Thomas De
Lancey, Colville Carlaw, Wells Blackman, John

Miller, B. F. Woodman, Thomas Wilson, Charles

S. Martin. J. 0. Oouper, W. E. Green, C. W. Ly-

man, E. Spear, Culver Hibbard, John Kiddell,

John Law, A. T. Barrows, S. M. Persons, Benja-

min Ogden, Nels Woodworth, G. Bacon, W. N.

Woodsworth, Franklin Kelly, etc., etc.

In the meantime a settlement had been started

and was growing rapidly in the southern and

central part of the township, and we must call the

reader back to the date of its beginning. About
the first to come and select a claim was J. D.

Jones, a Scotchman, Who had stopped for about

ten years in Wisconsin, and who arrived in the

township in the spring of 1855. He made his

way to East Prairie and toolf a farm in section

thirty-five on Prairie Creek, and found that he

had arrived just about the same time as a party

of Norwegians who wiU be mentioned hereafter.

He erected a small shanty and returned to Mil-

waukee, where he remained for a time but subse-

quently came back to his claim.

In the same spring, 1855, a party of Germans
made their way into the township and became
domiciled. Gottlieb Pray, or as it is sometimes

spelled, "Prehn," P. Sommers, Mr. Crintz, and
Gottlieb Lackel, were members of the party.

Gottlieb Pray (or Prehn) took a farm in section

twenty-two, where he dug a hole in the side of a

hill and commenced pioneer life. Soon afterward

a log house was erected, and he lived on his

place about fourteen years^ when he went to Illi-

nois where he died; his son still occupies the old
homestead, in comfortable circumstances.
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F. Sommers secured a home in section ten, and

put up a little shanty covered with dirt, and be-

gan " stayin " there. He still occupies his place

in a well flsed home.

Mr. Crintz took the farm now occupied by Mr.

H. Harris in section sixteen, where he erected a

house and lived until the time of his death, which

occurred in 1875. His first team consisted of a

couple of mUoh cows.

Gottlieb Laokel made a preemption in section

seventeen, and after living there a few years went

to Cannon City,and from there to Faribault where

he now lives. All of these parties had their fam-

ilies with them and had but very little of the

world's goods. There are now, however, those who

remain, among the "solid men" of this part of the

county. There is some dispute as to the date of

their coming, by outside parties who claim they

did not come until 1856, but we give it as re-

ported to us by one of the members of the party,

and we believe this to be correct.

T. H. Olin also arrived this year, being a na-

tive of New York. He made a claim near Mr. J.

D. Jones' place, and, as he was afraid some one

might jump it, he placed a man named Sanford

upon it to comply with the statutes, so it would be

safe. Sanford proved to be a treacherous fellow,

and after he had been on the place a short time

began to consider it his, and when Mr. Olin re-

turned from an eastward trip to claim the land he

had selected, Sanford pretended not to recognize

him, and although he had been paid for attending

it he refused to give it up, and as Mr. Olin was a

lover of peace, rather than make trouble he went

several miles north and purchased a claim where

he now lives. Oliu had put up, at a cost of $100,

one of the first houses in the township on this

land, hauling the lumber from Hastings, and to be

cheated out of the whole thing was a severe blow

financially. * Sanford, after six or seven months,

decided that this was an unhealthy locality for

him and he finally sold his claim to Mr. Thorpe

for $600, and went to Hastings where all of his

money was stolen from him and he and his fam-

ily commenced working their way eastward. He,

during his stay, had made considerable money by

locating parties on land, for which he charged ex-

orbitantly; but, after E. L. Fuller arrived, a

town plat was secured and this work was done

free of charge.

On the 24th of May, 1856, E. L. Fuller, a na-

tive of the Empire State, made his appearance

-

with his fainily, some stock, and household goods,

and took the claim he now occupies on^sections

twenty-two and twenty-seven. The first thing he

did was to pitch a tent, in which he lived until his

log house was erected. Charles Ferrall, a native

of New York, and a man from Wisconsin, Rich-

mond Clinton, came at the same time; the former

took land in section twenty-seven, where he re-

mained four years, and after spending a short time

in Northfleld finally found his way back to his

native State. Richmond Clinton secured a home
adjoining section twenty-two andT remained there

until his death, which occurred in April, 1864.

In June, 1856, J. D. Jones, who is mentioned

above, returned to the township, having spent

some time in Milwaukee, and commenced board-

ing with Mr. Fuller's family, as he was a single

man, while he did his breaking. Mr. Jones still

lives on his farm which is one of the finest in the

county, surrounded by all the luxuries and com-

forts of an eastern home, and is one of Eice

county's prominent men.

George and William Thorpe, of Vermont, ar-

rived on the 4th of July, 1856, and celebrated the

day by taking farms north of Mr. Jones. One of

them purchased Olin's farm of Sanford. Wil-

liam died some years ago, but the property is yet

in the family. John Dixon, late from Michigan,

drifted in about the same time and pre-empted the

northwest quarter of section twenty-eight, where

F. Koester now lives, and lived on it for six

years. He erected a log house, and his wife

taught school, but he finally returned to Michi-

gan from whence he came. Some old settlers

think Mr. Dixon did not come until one year later

than '56, while others claim this date is correct.

About the next to come in and take a home was

Lambert Watts and family, from Vermont, who

made their way with a team of horses and settled

on the northeast quarter of twenty-seven. They

stUI live in the township. Mr. William Koss and

family, from Pennsylvania, showed up about this

time, the whole party being on foot. They set-

tled on a farm in section twenty-one, and the fam-

ily held the claim while the father and son went

out to work until they had earned enough to buy

a team. They remained on the place for fifteen

or sixteen years, untU they became in comfortable

circumstances, and then removed westward; one

son is now in Bridgewater townshijJ.
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In the fall of 1857, Philip MUler and family,

wife and two children, Germans, drove into the

township behind a team composed of one ox and a

cow, and an old fashioned home-made wagon with

wheels without tires. They first settled in section

fifteen where they remained for a number of years

and then purchased the valuable farm they now
occupy in section twenty-one.

The same year a man named Gregory came and

settled, but has since gone. A man whose name

is forgotten came early and took a place in sec-

tions seventeen and eighteen and after occupying

the same a short time sold, in the fall of 1857, to

Joseph Cannedy who now occupies it.

Mr. David H. Orr had been in the town before

this on a prospecting tour, but returned to stay

in 1858.

A small colony of Norwegians had arrived in

1856, and it, is claimed that some came the year

previous. They all settled in the southern part

of the town, mostly along Prairie Creek. As

many of those whose names are remembered will

be given, viz : Halver Quie, Hans Hanson, Einde

Erick, Shure and Ingebret Igebretson, Toske Bun-

day, Sever Aslakson, Ole Lockrun and two broth-

ers, Helger Hanson, Lars Knuteson, Nel^ Oleson,

John Hanson, Andrew Johnson, Guttorm Sever-

BOUj Eson Clemmerson, Sever Oleson, Die Sever-

son, and a man whose name has slipped from

memory. In the summer this remarkable indi-

vidual was called the " Old Saw-mill " because, as

it is claimed, he and his daughter with a whip-

saw cut up all the lumber used by this small

army for building purposes; in the winter he

spent his time cobbling and was then called the

"Old Shoemaker." He has since gone west.

This crowd was joined the following year by Os-

mund Osmuadson, Captain John Hanson, who
could talk English, as could Halver Quie, and
Toske Bunday, and were known as the "Interpre-

ters." Many others came at various times, and
probably a few of those who are mentioned as

coming in 1855, did not reach their farms until

the spring of the following year.

The above list embraces most of the early set-

tlers, but of course it is not intended to be a com-
plete roll of all the pioneers, for only a census

taken at that time and carefully preserved could

do that.

ITEMS op INTBBBST.

It is claimed that Elder T. B. Cressey, the pion-

eer Baptist preacher, held services in the house of

Alexander Stewart in September, 1854. This was

among the first services in the county. The first

Methodist and Congregational services were also

held in the same place, the first by the Eev. Mr.

Ourran, and the last by Eev. Mr. Hall.

There has been three railroad lines surveyed

through the township, along Prairie Creek, but

all have proved failures.

Eaelt Bieths.—About the first birth in the

county, and undoubtedly the first in the township,

was the arrival of James, a son of Alexander and

Hannah Stewart, at their residence in section

thirty-one, near the City. The boy died some

years ago.

Willie Perrall, a son of Mr. and Mrs. Charles

Ferrall, was born in the year 1857, grew to

manhood, and is now a mail distributor in Minne-

apolis at a salary of $1,100 per year. A number

of Norwegian children were bom very early.

Maeeiagbs.—The first marriage of parties from

this town was John, a son of Jonathan Alexander,

who went east shortly after his arrival in the town

and was married while there to Miss Ann Toliif,

and together they returned to their new home in

the West. They still live in the township. Their

marriage must have occurred late in 1864.

About the first marriage within the limits of the

township took place in 1855, at the residence of

the bride's parents, and the high contracting par-

ties were Mr. John Lamphier and Miss Athea

Alexander; the ceremony being performed by the

Congregational minister, Eev. Mr. Hall.

William Bierman and Miss Christine Pray (or

Prehn) were joined in the holy bopds early in

1857, by Squire Frost, the happy couple going

and returning from their place of union on foot.

They are now well off.

In the same fall August Pray was mar-

to Miss Bierman, at the "dug out" of the groom's

father, by a German minister. They are still liv-

ing on the place where they were made one, sur-

rounded by all the comforts of life.

Deaths.—Two children of Herman Jerkins died

in the fall of 1856, and were buried on the old

Kuykendahl (or Kirkendahl) place.
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POLITIOAIj obganizations.

The first meeting of the township was undoubt-

edly held on the 11th of May, 1858, in common

with the balance of Bice county's subdivisions;

but the first twenty leaves have in some manner,

and owing to someone's carelessness or vandidism,

been torn from the clerk's book, and the original,

and therefore the most interesting part of the

township records must be guessed at. It is one of

the duties of the township clerk to see that the

town records are preserved, and to mutilate them

himself or to allow any one else to mutilate or

destroy any portion of them, is as open to penal-

ty as to make a false entry on them. Men should

be placed in office who can be depended upon, and

bonds required for the faithful performance of

duties, while the board should promptly investi-

gate matters of this kind with an eye to ascertain-

ing who the real culprit is. It is probable, how-

ever, in this case, that the books have been torn

while moving from one ofiice to another.

The first meeting shown by the records was held

on the 1st of April, 1862, in Lyceum Hall, in

Northfield, and O. H. Rawson was appointed mod-

erator, and George W. Butterfield, clerk. The

moderator then declared, the polls open, the ballot

box being in charge of N. G. Olary, G. Gregory,

and Linus Pox. After the polls were closed it

was found that there had been about ninety votes

cast, and the following officers were declared elec-

ted: Supervisors, John S. Way, Chairman J, A.

Hunt, and George 0. Thorpe; Clerk, George W.

Butterfield; Treasurer, M. P. Skinner; Justices of

the Peace, Charles Taylor and Linus Fox ; Asses-

sor, Elias Hobbs; Constables, Dwight Bushnell

and John Vanater. The government of the town-

ship was continued by these gentlemen, and has

been kept up by their successors in an efficient

manner.

At the town meeting in 1882, in the spring, the

twenty-fourth annual reunion of the voters, the

following officers were placed in charge of town

matters: Supervisors; J. J. Alexander, Chairman,

N. S. Oannedy, and A. T. Huseby; Clerk, JohnG.

Koester; Treasurer, C. J. Orr; Assessor, Charles

J. Sherpey; Justice of the Peace, J. D. Jones;

Constable, J. C. Sommers. Meetings are now held

in the Hall over Mr. D. H. Ori's cheese factory, in

the southwestern portion of section fourteen; but

-the project of erecting a town tail is now being

entertained by the officials.

Wak Eboobd.—In February, 1864, a request

was made by the free holders of the locality for a

special town meeting, to issue bonds for the pur-

pose of compensating volunteers who should en-

list to fill the quota assigned the town. This call

was signed by Charles Taylor, J. A. Hunt, Linus

Fox, S. L. Bushnell, William Thorpe, H. Scriver,

B. Lathrop, and E. Lockwood. Accordingly the

requisite papers were issued, and on the 26th of

February, 1864, the special meeting came to ordep

in the Lyceum hall, and T. H. OUn was chosen

moderator. The records then says they voted the

sum of $2,000, or as much thereof, as, in the dis-

cretion of the board, should be necessary to pro-

cure volunteers, Bonds to be issued at 12 per

cent interest. The prooeedimgs are signed by the

Supervisors, who were, John S. Way, J. A. Hunt,

and G. C. Thorpe; E. Lathrop was Clerk. Then,

on the 7th of the following March, the Treasurer

was directed to let bonds be issued in favor of the

following volunteers, at the rate of interest men-

tioned above, and to the amount as set opposite

their names, as follows:

Kleber Wilkinson $ 100

William A. Bowe 100

James A. PhUbrick 125

Henry Pratt 100

Frank Groom 100

WilUam C. Haycock, 100

William A. Bickett 100

Eobert S. Keane 100

B. B.Hale 100

WilUam H. Wood 50

Frank Schofield 100

Andrew L. Emory 100

Total $1,175

This order was signed by the last above mention

ed supervisors.

Shortly after this, in July, 1864, another re-

quest was made by the following named freehol-

ders, for a special meeting for the purpose of vot-

ing money to volunteers: Charles Taylor, William

Thorpe, J. A. Hunt, B. Lockwood, M. W. Skin-

ner, Eobert Silk, TJrill Butler, E. Slocum, John

Simmons, S. L. Bushnell, J. L. McFee, John Van-

ater, and H. Jenkins, jr. The requested meeting

was held in the store of H. Jenkins, jr., and Hiram

Soriver was elected moderator. After the usual

preliminaries it was voted that $6,000 should be

issued in bonds at 12 per cent, interest, to those
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who should volunteer to enlist to fill the town's

quota. The Supervisors at that time were D. H.

Orr, William Thorpe, and N. Wheaton.

Another special meeting was held on the eighth

of November, 1864, at which the sum of $200 was

Voted for relief to the families of volunteers, and

0. A. Wheaton, W. J. Sibbison, and I. S. Field

were made a committee to investigate and distrib-

ute the relief.

Still another special meeting was held on the

21st of January, 1865, at which $8,000 was voted

to pay bounties to volunteers, the meeting being

held at Lyceum Hall in Northfield, and the report

is sighed by William Thorpe, D. H. Orr, and M.

Wheaton, Supervisors.

BDUCATIONAL.

DisTEicT No. 28.—The first organization that

embraced the territory now comprising this num-
ber was organized in 1857 as district No. 13, with

a schoolhouse in the township of Bridgewater. It

was subsequently set ofi' and organized under its

present number, embracing the territory

in the eastern part of town, south of the

city of Northfleld. The present schoolhouse was

erected in 1867) at a cost of $1,200, being a good

and substantial stone building in section nineteen.

The first school was taught the winter following

by Miss Putney, with an attendance of fifty schol-

ars, the district embracing at that time a great

deal of territory; the attendance is now about

twenty-five.

DiSTBici No. 34.—This district effected an or-

ganization in 1857, at the residence of William

Thorpe. The first school was taught at the resi-

dence of John Merrill soon after organization.

In 1859, a schoolhouse was erected, a frame build-

ing in the eastern part of section twenty-six,which

still answers the purpose of a schoolhouse. This

district embraces the territory in the southeastern

part of the township.

District No. 47.—The first school taught in this

district was by Mr. E. L. Clinton in 1859, at a

residence erected by the teacher. This primitive

structure has since rotted down and its builder

passed to the great hereafter. In 1866, a neat and

commodious stone school building was construct-

ed in the center of section twenty-two, which is

still in use.

DiSTEiOT No. 62. — Miss Carrie Fields was

the first teacher in this educational subdivi-

sion, school being held at the residence of Mr.

Hoyt Field, in section eleven, in 1861. The present

owner of the place on which this building stood

is Mr. Sylvanus Bunday. The district was organ-

ized and a school building erected in 1862, which

was afterwards burned down. It has now an ex-

cellent stone edifice in the southeastern corner of

section eleven, which is well filled with the neces-

sary apparratus, and is one of the most healthy

and ably managed districts in the township.

DisTBiOTS No. 63 AND 70.—This is a consoli-

dated district, embracing territory in the counties

of both Bice and Dakota. No. 63 represents the

territory belonging to Northfleld township and

comprises the northeastern part. It was organ-

ized in 1861, and in the fall of the following year

a neat school structure was erected by both dis-

tricts in the northern part of section thirty-five.

District No. 75.—This educational subdivision

commenced its existence in 1867, and inaugurated

this dignity by immediately building a school-

house in the southern part of section thirty-four.

.

The first school was taught by Miss Sarah Eaw-
son, now Mrs. A. P. Morris, of Ndrthfied, with ten

juveniles on the benches. The school now enrolls

about twenty-five.

District No. 78.—Was organized in 1865, at

the residence of Philip Cobum. The first school

was taught the same year in a part of his house by
Maretta Alexander, now Mrs. Charles Holt, for the

sum of three dollars per week, sometimes there

being only two or three pupils present. In 1870,

the schoolhouse was erected in the northern part

of section ten. The average attendance at pres-

ent is about twelve.

District No. 94.—The first school in this dis-

trict was taught by Miss Edith Clark, now' Mrs.

Michael Coburn, at the residence of Solomon
Clark in section seventeen, in the summer of 1868.

School was afterward held in an old granary un-

til the present frame building was erected in the

northeast corner of section seventeen. Miss Clara

Kingston taught the last term in the old granary,

with an attendance of about thirty scholars.

Scandinavian Select School.—This school

is located on section twenty-six, in the southern

part of the town; it is kept in a small building,

14x16 feet, erected for the purpose, and its object

is the teaching of church catechism in the lan-

guage of the nationality who sustain it.
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INDUSTEIAL ENTERPRISES.

Pbaieib Greek Cheese Factobt.—This is one

of the principal manufacturing industries in this

part of the county. It was established on the 1st

of May, 1871, by David H, Orr, in the southwest-

em corner of section fourteen. Mr. Orr had some

misgivings as to the success of his enterprise, so

he erected a building that he could use as a barn

in case the matter failed to come up to his expec-

tation; but in this he was happily disappointed,

as he has been very prosperous and successful in

his undertaking, as will be seen by the fact that

the article manufactured by this factory took

the first premium at the Minneapolis fair.

The premium money, $100, offered by Mr. Gilson,

then proprietor of the Nicollet House, Minneapo-

lis, was for some unknown reason, withheld, al-

though the judges decided that it was due Mr.

Orr, so he got the name and honor but not the

gain. This factory also took the first "premium at

the American Institute in New York, and Mr. Orr

now holds the diploma as an evidence of his suc-

cess. Altogether the establishment is one which

is justly a credit to the town and county.

Jambs' Cheese Facioby.—This enterprise was

established in the fall of 1871, by Mr. M. D.

James, who erected a suitable building in the

southeastern part of section five. It was contin-

ued as a cheese-making establishment until 1881,

when it was sold to the EUis Brothers, of Boston,

who at once transformed the same into a creamery,

or butter-making establishment. New and

thorough machinery, churns, etc., have been put

in, and everything equipped in first-class shape.

Owing to the lateness of the season and the price

asked for cream, it has not yet commenced Tun-

ning.

GERMAN METHODIST CHURCH.

This society may be said to have effected an or-

ganization when their first services were held in

Mr. Drentlaw's house, in 1855, by the Rev.' Mr.

Soloman, with ten in the congregation. After this

services were held in private houses until their

church was erected in 1867 or '68, in the western

part of section twenty-two, which they still use.

It is a very neat and commodious structure, hav-

ing cost about $1,500, and Mr. Charlas Ebel gen-

erously donated three acres of land which is util-

ized for a cemetery. The present pastor is Rev.

Mr. Plagenhart, the membership numbering about

sixteen.

BIOGRAPHIOAIi.

Thomas Arthur was bom in the seaport town.

New London, Connecticut, on the 6th of Febru-

ary, 1825. Since the age of twelve years he has

maintained himself. In the fall of 1854, he came

to this township and built a shanty on the present

site of the elevator, which is supposed to be the

first building erected within the present city lim-

its of Northfield. He was married to Miss Eunice

Brown in October, 1849. She died in October,

1867, leaving three children; Homer J. A.,

Thomas W., and Katy, deceased. He married his

present wife, Zelia Brown, on the 29th of Janu-

ary, 1870. The latter union has been blessed with

three children; Cora May, and two who died. Mr.

Arthur located on his present farm a few years

since and now has it under good cultivation.

John W. Bibch, a native of New York, was

born near Saratoga Springs on the 16th of May,

1830. His parents came to Michigan when he

was four years old and located in Ann Arbor,

where John received his education and grew to

manhood. In 1856, he came to this county and

settled in Bridgewater township, where he was

among the first settlers. He came to his present

farm in the spring of 1874. On the 1st of May,

1856, he was married to Miss Louisa Lockerby.

They have a family of seven children, four sons

and three daughters.

William Biebman was born near the present

city of Chicago, lUinois, on the 11th of August,

1834. When he was quite young his parents

moved to the northeastern part of the State, in

WiU county, where he grew to manhood. He has

always made farming his occupation, coming to

Minnesota in 1854, and first located at Prairie

Creek, Rice county, where he remained until com-

ing to this township in 1865. He has a fine

farm, all under improvement. His wife was for-

merly Miss Gustina Prehn, a native of Germany.

They have nine children; Mary E., Oscar I., Ed-

ward, John L., Charles, Asa, Arthur, Martha, and

Jennie. Mr. Bierman's mother came to Minne-

sota with him but returned to Will county,Illinois,

where she died and wm buried near her husband

who died several years previous.

John Bbytibn, a native of Germany, was born

in Mecklenburg on the 12th of July, 1844. When
fourteen years old he came with his parents to

America, direct to Minnesota, and settled in

Bridgewater township. In 1867, he was married
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to Miss Sophia Sanders, who was born in his na-

tive place. They have two children; Anna M.,

and Matilda 0. They came to Northfield in 1873,

and own a farm of one hundred and sixty acres,

well improved. Mr. Beytien has-been a member
of the school board since coming hero.

Sylvanits Bunday was born in Orleans county,

New York, on the 4tli of August, 1834. In 1841,

his parents came west and settled on a farm near

Eacine, Wisconsin, where Sylvanus was raised and

received his education. He came to Northfield in

1855, but returned to Wisconsin the following

year. On the 1st of November, 1857, he was

joined in matrimony with Miss Ellen Spear. They

have seven children; Ida E., Alice M., E. Clar-

ence, Marvin I., Hattie A., Ernest S., and Tesslie

W. Mr. Bunday came again to this place in 1865,

and located on a farm in section eleven which is

still his home.

Nathan S. Davbnpobt is a native of Vermont,

born near St. Johnsbury on the 17th of January,

1843. He was brought up to agricultural pur-

suits, remaining at home until the breaking 'out of

the war when he enlisted and served one year.

He came to this place in August, 1865, and has

since made it his home. His marriage took place

in 1871, and his wife was Miss Alice E. Orr, of

New York. They have been blessed with a fam-

ily of three children, two boys and one girL

Asa Pebnoh was born in Springfield, New
Hampshire, on the 21st of November, 1814.

When young he was engaged in farming pursuits

in Vermont, and in 1836, married Miss Louisa

Ooggswell of his native State. In 1850, they

came west to Illinois, and in 1859, to this place.

He owns a fine farm adjoining the city of North-

field and displays the taste of a genuine Vermont

farmer in the management of the same. Mr. and

Mrs. French have had eleven children, ten of

whom are living.

Otto Foller was born in Monkton, Addison

county, Vermont, on the 25th of March, 1836.

He remained at home until the age of twenty-two

years when he married Miss Minerva Willoughby,

who was born near his home. They came west

the same year, located in Wisconsin, and in 1861,

came to this place. BIrs. Fuller died in July,

1866. Mr. Fuller's present wife was formerly

Mrs. Lucy Stam, a native of Maine. The result

of this union is two children; Wyron and Oas-

tara.

Duncan Fbbguson was bom in Dundee, Can-

ada East, on the 27th of March, 1826. He at-

tended school in his native place,and when twenty-

one years old went to New York but returned in

1852. In 1855, he made a trip to California and

remained there, engaged in mining, for six years.

He located his present farm in 1861, and the fol-

lowing year commenced making improvements

and has since made it his home, having two hun-

dred acres under cultivation. He was married on

the l&t of November, 1863, to Miss Barbara Spink,

also a native of Canada, born on the 22d of No-

vember, 1841. They have three children; John

A., Mary B., and Nellie A. Mr. Ferguson's par-

ents are both from Scotland.

W. K. Gbbbn, a native of New York, was born

in Morristown, St. Lawrence county, on the 13th

of December, 1846. Since the age of sixteen years

he has earned his own living, and when eighteen

came to Mijjnesota and was employed on farms in

Dakota county until February, 1864, when he en-

listed at Sciota inCompany I of the First Minneso-

ta Heavy Artillery. He was under Capt. Kearney,

sent south and remained in service eight months,

when he was honorably discharged at Port Snell-

ing. He was married in December, 1873, to Miss

Elizabeth Miller, who was- born near his home in

New York. They came to this place in April,

1876, and own a good farm in section three. They

have two children.

Asa D. Howe, deceased, one of the pioneers of

this place, was born in Vermont on the 7th of

]^ebruary, 1816. He was brought up on a farm in

Ohio, where his parents moved when he was quite

young. In 1855, he came to Minnesota, spent a

few days in Saint Anthony and then located a

farm in Northfield township, upon which his

widow now lives. He died on the 26th of Febru-

ary, 1863, and is buried in the Northfield ceme-

tery. Mrs. Howe has had ten children, only three

of whom are living, two sons and one daughter.

J. 8. Hasblton, a native of New York, was born

near New London in Sullivan county, on the 31st

of January, 1819. There he attended school and

learned the cabinet maker's trade, at whicl; he was

engaged seven years. He afterwards spent some

time teaching penmanship. In 1843, he married

Miss Esther B. Webster, who was born near Con-

cord, New Hampshire, on the 2d of October,

1820. They had three children all of whom died

in their infancy. In 1855, they came to Minneso-
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ta, and until 1868, resided in Hamilton, Dakota

county, tben came to this township where they

own a good farm. Mr. Haselton has held various

local offices, and in 1878, was elected by the Re-

publicans to the State Legislature.

A. P. Jameson, a native of Maine, was born in a

small village inWaldo county on the 30th of March,

1829. In 1850, he was married to Miss Aravesta

U. Fuller of his native State. Two years later

Mr. Jameson went to the gold mines of California,

returned to Maine in 1860, and soon after came

west and settled in this township, where he owns

a farm of two hundred acres. In 1876, he made a

trip to the mining regions in the Black Hills but

returned to his farm] in August of the same year.

He has a family of five children.

John D. Jones, the second settler in the south-

east half of this township, was born in southwest

Liverpool, South Wales, in March, 1828. He
came to America and landed in New York in June,

1842, from thence to Newark, Ohio, where he re-

mained two years. He then followed Horace

Greeley's advice and came west to Milwaukee,

Wisconsin, in Jiiue, 1844. The following year

he purchased a valuable tract of land from the

government at the land ofSoe at Milwaukee, and

since that time has been engaged in the real es-

tate business. Having a desire to improve his

education he attended the acadamy at Waukesha

and also the business department of the Carroll

Collej.e. Mr. Jones assisted in locating the La
Crosse railroad from Milwaukee to the Mississip-

pi Eiver. He came to Minnesota territory in May,

1855, and after several days' explorations located

his present farm about midway between the Can-

non rivers. He was married in Milwaukee in July,

1865, to Margaret Oliver, who was born in his

native land. They have two sons; Burton F. and

Oliver W. For eight years Mr. Jones has held

the office of Justice of the Peace. In his boy-

hood, previous to 1842, he visited Great Britain

and since has seen the fields in many States, and

it is his opinion that none is quite equal to the

fertile soil of Minnesota. He has a fine farm and

has been very successful as an agriculturalist.

Samuel P. Johnson was born near Brasher

Falls in St. Lawrence county, New Yurk, on the

19th of April, 1831. He was reared on a farm

and learned the trade of a sawyer in the mills

near his home. In 1852, he came to Little Fulls,

Morrison county, Minnesota, and was employed

at his trade in the mills of Per^'uson and Tattle

for two years. He then returned to his native

State and in 1856, in Vermont, married Miss

Weltha Hall, who died on the 15th of April, 1866.

The following year he married Miss Hannah Daw-

son, and the same year returned to Minnesota, to

this township where he owns two hundred and

forty acres of land, all well improved. His wife

died on the 5th of September, 18 77, and is bur-

ied in the Northfield cemetery. The maiden

name of his present wife was Ellen Dawson. He
is the father of four children, the three eldest; El-

don L., Hartland C, and Herbert G., by his first

wife, and Asa M. by his present. Mr. Johnson

has held most of the town and school offices and

in 1876, was Chairman of the board of Supervis-

ors. He was President of the Rice County Fair

in 1882. He devotes considerable time to stock

raising.

John Livingston was born near the village of

Binghampton in Boone county. New York, on the

26th o£ March, 1837. When he 'was eight years

old he moved with his parents to Wisconsin, lo-

cated a farm in Rock county and remained until

1857, when he came to this township. In 1861,

he enlisted in the army, served about fifteen

months and was discharged for disability. He
then returned to this place, and in the fall of 1867,

purchased his present farm. Miss Matilda Hoyt

became his wife in 1868, and the union has been

blessed with three children; Lynn, Mary E., and

Clara B.

T. H. Mdkkay is a native of Pennsylvania,

born near the village of Milton in Northumber-

land county on the 1st of July, 1825. He was

married in 1847, to Miss Mary J. Taggart, who

was born in the latter State on the 11th of July,

1827. The same year they came west and lo-

cated in Kalamazoo county, Michigan; remained

until 1854, and came to Minnesota, settling at

White Bear Lake. They came to this place in

1868, and own a fine farm in section two. Mr.

Murray's parents are both dead, his father dying

the 17th of March, 1869, and his mother the 21st

of July, 1879, and are buried in the cemetery at

White Bear. Mrs. Murray's father died in Feb-

ruary, 1851, and her mother on the 11th of De-

cember, 1858.

D. H. Oeb, a native of Madison county. New
York, was born on the 27th of August, 1825. He
received an academic education at Oneida Castle,
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after which he taught school, spending his leisure

time studying. In 1857, he came through North-

field to Watonwan county and pre-empted a

claim, but soon after returned to this township

and staked out his present land. He lived on his

farm one summer then returned to New York, and

in 1861, volunteered his services in the war but

was not accepted on nccount of poor sight. He
was married in 1862, to Miss Catherine Tiffany,

and immediately returned to his farm in this

place. They have had five children, four of whom
are living.

Alvah M. OiiiN, a native of Wisconsin, was

born in Waukesha, Waukesha county, on the

1st of August, 1843. At the age of twelve years

he came with his parents to this State and lo-

cated within the present city limits of Northfleld.

Alvah received his education here and afterward

taught school. In 1868, he married Miss Sarah

E. Jameson, who was born in Appleton, Maine, on

the 19th of June, 1844. She came with her

brother to Minnesota in 1860, and when sixteen

years old engaged in teaching school, which she

continued until her marriage. Mr. and Mrs. Olin

have had two children, one of whom is living,

Gertrude E., born on the 7th of May, 1872. Mrs.

Olin's mother died on the 19th of April, 1873, and

is buried in the Northfleld cemetery. Her father

died in the East.

John EiDDBtL was born near the village of

Brookville, Canada, on the 23d of December, 1828.

He received a good education and in 1849, moved

to New York, but soon returned to his native

place. On the 7th of October, 1852, he married

Miss Margaret Dodds, a native of Glasgow, Scot-

land. They have had six children, five of whom
are living. In the fall of 1857, they came to

Minnesota, located first at Cannon Palls, then in

Stanton, Goodhue county, and in 1864, came to

this place. Mr. Biddell owns a good farm, part

cultivated and part timber.

J. C. SoMMBRS, a native of Illinois, was born in

Monee, Will county, on the 28th of March, 1854.

His parents located in this place when he was an

infant of one year. He remained at home until

his marriage on the 20th of July, 1879, with Miss

Sarah M. Holmes, adopted daughter of Mr. Stall-

cop. She was born in Wisconsin. Mr. Sommer's

farm is three miles southwest of the claim taken

by his father. He has one child, Amy Grace, born

on the Ist of October, 1880. His father, who was

born in Germany, still lives in this place and his

mother died on the 19th of September, 1875.

Daniel B. Sayloe was born in Armstrong

county, Pennsylvania, on the 16th of April, 1851.

His parents came to Minnesota in 1861, and lo-

cated in Warsaw, Goodhue county, where they

still reside. Daniel was joined in wedlock in

September, 1875, to Miss Janette King, who was

born in the latter place. They came to North-

field and Mr. Saylor purchased a farm in section

one, upon which he has since lived. Mr. and Mrs.

Saylor have two children ; Adaline B. and Bertha

Ann.
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SHIELDSYILLE.

CHAPTER LXVI.

GENERAL DBSOBIPTION EAELY SETTLEMENT—TOWN

GOVERNMENT-SCHOOLS—EAELY BVENTS-SHIBLDS-

VILLE—SniELDSVILLB MILLS-—CATHOLIC CHURCH

—BIOGRAPHICAL.

Shieldsville is one of the townships in the

western tier, situated just north of Morristown.

On the north is Erin ; on the east Wells, and on

the west LeSueur county, embracing as its terri-

tory thirty-six sections, or 23,040 acres, of which

a greater portion is under cultivation.

There are no cataracts or water-powers, but it is

abundantly supplied with lakes. The largest of

these is Cedar Lake, in the southeastern part of

the town, covering portions of sections twenty-five,

twenty- six., twenty-eight, thirty-four, thirty-five,

and thirty-six. A number of islands dot the

placid surface of water. West of this lake one

mile is Mud Lake, covering about 320 acres of

section twenty-eight. Eice Lake floods about the

same number of acres in sections sixteen and sev-

enteen, and east of this one mile a small body of

water known as Hunt Lake occupies a part of sec-

tion fifteen. In the northern portion of the town-

ship is Tuft's Lake, and another small body of

water infringes on the territory from Erin. These

lakes are almost all connected Tjy small rivulets

and streams, sluggishly and lazily wending their

way through the marsh lands and lakes, to even-

tually mingle with the Cannon Eiver as it rolls on

to the Atlantic.

To the eye Shieldsville presents a view of un-

dulating surface, with here and there a tendency

to hilly, timber, marsh, and meadow land. The

wild forest, the tranquil and glassy lakes, embed-

ded in the midst of the hills, and the sluggish

course of the lazy streams as they wind their

pathway between the sister lakes, combine to

make Shieldsville a pleasant and picturesque

spot.

All through the township the early pioneers

found beautiful groves of oak, and all sturdy va-

rieties of timber, interspersed with maple and

walnut; and in the shady aisles of this miniature

forest, clear sparkling springs bubbled up, fur-

nishing, without stint or measure, that best of

beverages—pure, clear, cold water—and forming

the fountain heads of many afiluents to the Can-

non Eiver. A great deal of the timber has now
been removed, but enough remains to furnish an

idea of the delightful prospect which lured early

explorers in search of this kind of land, to found

homes in this locality.

The town is well adapted to agricultural pur-

suits, and has a large oultivatad area, yielding, be"

sides the usual cereals, all the crops common to

this latitude, and in the low lands, an abundant

yield of hay. Emit culture is also attended to

in a moderate and limited way, with fair results.

A sketch of this township published in 1868, by

F. W. Prink, says: "Shieldsville, the town join-

ing Morristown on the corth, is another township

of timber land. Its area of taxable lands, exclu-

sive of town lots, comprises 17,816 acres. About

2,500 acres of its surface is occupied by lakes, of

which there are eight, either wholly or in part

within the township. It has also bewteen 1,500'and

1,600 acres of railroad lands, 434 acres still be-

longing to the government, and 480 acres of un-

sold school lands within its limits. Its popula-

tion is made up chiefly of emigrants from Ireland,

with but few adults American born within its

boundaries. Non-resident lands in the township

may be had for from $2.50 to $5 per acre."

Since the above was written some changes have

taken place; the unsold land mentioned has long

since almost all passed into the hands of actual

settlers; and instead of $2.50 to $5 per acre, can-

not now be purchased for less than from $10 to

$25 per acre. The statement as to the inhabit-

ants wiU apply readily to the present writing, ex-
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cept that the American population has grown

more rapidly than the foreign born. In 1860, the

population of Shieldaville was 343; in 1865, 384;

in 1870, 562 ; and in 1880, the last census gave

the township 771, and village 118; total, 889.

As to the values in Shieldsville, the census

taken in '70 reports that the real property amounts

to 1109,750; personal, 139,725; total, 149,425; the

total assessed valuation for the same year was

$68,880. In 1882, after the County Commissioners

had equalized the county taxes, the assessed value

of property in Shieldsville was as follows: real

property, $90,159; personal, $23,010; total, 113,-

169, showing the creditable increase in assessed

value since 1870, of $44,289.

EARLY SETTLEMENT.

As in Erin township, the early settlement of

Shieldsville was due almost entirely to the des-

cendents of the Emerald Isle, and was known in

early days as General Shield's colony. About the

first to arrive in the township was General Shields,

a native of Ireland, who laid out the village of

Shieldsville and at once took steps towards col-

lecting his countrymen about him. He arrived in

1855, early in the spring, and after staying long

enough to lay out the village, he retraced his steps

to St. Paul, returning the same year with a num-
ber of Irishmen, many of whom settled in Erin

and were identified with the early growth and set-

tlement of that locality. Shields then commenced
a period of advertising in the papers of the East,

stating that he had located here, and was desirous

of being joined by his countrymen, and began

raising colonies. This had a telling efiect, as it was

not long until they began crowding in on toot, by

horse, ox, and cow teams, and taking farms, until

by the fall of 1856, the town was pretty well set-

tled, and the government land,of the better quality,

was scarce. Most of those who were in at this time

will be mentioned.

The first to be treated in this connection will be

the man after whom both town and village were

named.

Gbnebal James Shields. This distinguished

man was early identified with the settlement of

Eice county. He was born in Atmore, Tyrone

county, Ireland, on the 12th of December, 1810,

came to America in 1826, and studied law until

1832, when he went to Kaskaskia, Illiniois, to prac-

tice the profession. In 1836, he was in the legisla-

ture of that State, and in 1843 was Judge of the

Supreme Court. In 1845, he was appointed com-

missioner of the Land Office. His military career

commenced as a lieutenant in the Florida war.

When the Mexican war broke out. President Polk

appointed him as a Brigadier General, his com-

mission bearing date of the 1st of July, 1846, and

for distinguished services at Cerro Gordo, where

he was dangerously wounded, was breveted Major

General. He was again wounded at the battle of

Chepultepec. In 1848, the General was appoint-

ed Governor of Oregon Territory, which he soon

resigned, and in 1849 was elected United States

Senator for six years. At the expiration of his

term of service he came to Minnesota and started

the village of Shieldsville, but was soon induced

to join the proprietors of the town of Faribault,

where he was agent and attorney for the townsite

company.

He was elected to the United States Senate for

the short term terminating in 1860, at the expira-

tion of which he went to California. When the

Eebellion was inaugurated he received the ap-

pointment of Brigadier General by President Lin-

coln, was assigned to a command and gained a

victory at Winchester, where he was severely

wounded. After the war he took up his residence

in Missouri,where he remained in private life until

1877, when he was elected to fill a vacancy caused

by the retirement of Senator Armstrong, and

served to the end of that Congress, and afterwards

devoted his time to lecturing until his death,which

was on the 1st of June, 1879, at Ottumwa, Missouri,

and rather suddenly.

General Shields was a man of ability, with

a good share of ambition and a desire for public

life, and the fact that he was wanting in that pop-

ularity which in a Eepublic is so essential to suc-

cess in this regard, led him to leave a handsome
property in Faribault in search of pastures new.

To show why he came to be looked upon with dis-

favor, it is stated that when supplying deeds to

citizens who had purchased lots which they had
paid for at a good round stipulated price, he ex-

acted $5 for each deed, when he was under obli-

gation to furnish them impliedly for nothing.

Such transactions, together with his want of pub-

lic spirit, and utter deafness to charitable appeals,

always alienated his term of office. The General

was a brave man and a good soldier, and with a

liberal disposition he would have had all the ele-

ments for popular support.
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John Nagle, another native of the Emerald

Isle, had arrived in America in 1848, and located

in New York State, where he remained until 1855,

when he came west and arrived in Shieldsville at

the time the first settlement was made in Erin, in

June, 1855. The majoritj of the party he came

with located in the latter town, but he made his

way to section eleven in Shieldsville where he still

Uves. Mr. Nagle has held various ofBoes in the

township, and is one of the oldest settlers now

in the town. A few others came through, and

some stopped for a time in Shieldsville, but the

majority in this year settled in other localities.

Bernard Hunt, another Irishman, had stopped

in Illinois for a time, and in June, 1856, made

his appearance in Shieldsville and pre-empted a

place a short distance north of where he now is.

He remained for about a year and came to the

southwest quarter of section fourteen where he still

remains. The lake, to which his farm lies adja-

cent, was named by the Indians as Eagle Lake,

but it has now changed to Hunt Lake by common
consent. Among others who came in '56, Michael

Gavin and family were prominent and settled near

Hunt Lake, where Mr. Gavin's widow still remams,

he having died several years ago.

James Murphy and several sons, James Carpen-

ter, J. Boach, and Mr. Gillispie, all came, took

farms, erected log cabins and remained a short

time'; but have now all removed to other portions

of the Northwest.

Michael Delaney came in the spring of 1856,

and secured a habitation in section ten where he

remained until called away by the "grim messen-

ger," and his widow still lives on the place.

Eoger Madden arrived about the same time and

commenced a settlement in the eastern part of sec-

tion twenty-one, and Thomas Minton took 160

acres adjoining in the same section, on which farm

both still live in comfortable circumstances.

Patrick Hagarty and WiUiam Mahoney each

took a farm near Cedar Lake in sections twenty-

three and twenty-seven where they still live.

Thomas O'Donnell joined this settlement and

took 160 acres in section twenty where he still

lives. Patrick Smith located a couple of miles

west of these settlers, in section twenty-nine, at

the same time, and Patrick Murphy helped close

up the gap by taking a farm in section twenty-

two. John Fitzgerald carved a place lor settle-

ment, from the woods in section eight. All of

37

these parties still occupy their homesteads, and

are in comfortable circumstances.

Thomas Boaoh came into section seventeen the

same year, (1856), and remained a short time;

the place is now owned by Mr. Davis. Daniel

Savage located near Bice Lake and remained there

until he paid the debt of mortality some years ago,

and his sons now occupy the farm. John Buck-

ley also made a claim near the same lake and has

also been removed to the "other shore." His sou

runs the homestead now. Daniel and David Gon-

sor made their appearance and took pre-emptions

east of Hunt Lake, the latter of them going into

Wells some years later, and the former is dead.

John Kelly now owns the place originally taken

by Daniel. James Murphy, deceased, located in

section ten, where Mr. DaLac now resides.

NOTES AND ITEMS OF INTBEEST.

About the first birth in this township took

place, in 1856, in the log cabin of Bernard Hunt

on section twenty -two, and on the 28th of July

was ushered into existence this gentleman's son,

John J., who still remains with his father. In

February of the following year, a brother of John

was born. He was named Thomas and still lives

at his birth place.

D. F. Hagarty was born early in 1857, on sec-

tion twenty-two, and still lives there. Other early

births may have occurred but they have escaped

the memories of those interviewed.

Eabdy Mabeiagbs.—The earliest marriage of

parties from this township occurred in Hastings,

in 1857 ; the high contracting parties being Mr.

Michael Gavin and Miss Mary Ann Bogers, who

returned to the township and lived here until Mr.

Gavin's death in 1869; and the widow still lives in

the township. Another early marriage was that

of James Carpenter to Ellen McCohey, of St.

Paul; the ceremony taking place in that city in

1857, the groom meeting the bride there. The

happy couple came back to Shieldsville and still

reside here in comfortable circumstances.

Hawlby's Death.—In early days, as early as

1857, an outlaw named Hawley made this part of

the county his stamping ground, and as he had

committed many depredations for which he was

wanted by the oflBcers of the law, he was of course

about as quiet in his movements as possible. His

strategy, however, was ineffectual, as the author-

ities in Faribault someway became cognizant of

his whereabouts, and a party sent out in search
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of him. Anally found him near Shieldsville, and

surrounding him with ohibs and butcher knives,

belted him over the head, and carved him up as

they would butcher a hog. The only parties whose

names can be remembered as in connection with

this lawless execution, are Messrs Bentley and

Euss, whoever they are. This was among the

first deaths in the township.

Another early death was that of Miss Bridget

Harrison, a 16 or 17 year old girl, who was called

over the dark river in 1858.

The Indians.—During the Indian outbreak, in

1862, this township had many serious and amus-

ing anecdotes to divert the minds of the citizens

from agricultural duties. Although up to this

time there had been plenty of redskins passing to

and fro through the town, yet they had not been

especially troublesome, except as to their begging

propensities, and General Shields had permitted

them to use as a camping ground, a spot adjoin-

ing the village known as the General's Island.

When the actual outbreak occurred, the dusky

skinned hunters were wiley enough to see that the

whites were afraid, and they began to get arrogant

and defiant, and finally the whites decided to have

them go. So a small force, of probably 100 men,

gathered together, and going to the Island told

the disturbers that they must go. This they re-

fused to do, at first, offering as an excuse that

they had a letter from the General with a permit

to occupy the same as their home. Words were

bandied, and the spokesman of the pioneers in-

formed them that if "General Shields was

there, a gun would be put in his hands

and he would be forced to fight," imply-

ing that General Shields was not lunning

that campaign. This ended the matter of words,

and on a slight show of fight on the part of the

Indians, the pioneers "lit" into the camp and be-

gan knocking the tee-pees right and left, which set-

tled the matter as far as resistance was concerned.

The baggage was then taken from the squaws and

placed on the backs of the bucks, and the "In-

juns" grumblingly left, more enraged at having

to carry the baggage than to leave the camp; they

no doubt placed the baggage where they thought

it belonged—on the squaws— as soon as out of

sight of the "palefaces."

Another time a party of fifty armed pioneers

drove a band of 1,500 Indians from the hills near

Mud Lake, and forced them to leave the town-

ship, although at one time— as one of them told

us—there was not a man in the crowd but would

have given a number of years of his life to have

turned heels and run for the woods, and the same

party says that a good deal of the valor and

bravery exhibited on that memorable dayi was

due to the strength of the whiskey they had been

freely imbibing. On the way for volunteers to

this raid, the party would go to a neighbor's

house and tell him they wanted him; if he came

willingly, well and good; if not, he would be

"grabbed" and "yanked" into the ranks, where

an oath was administered to all, that "the first

man who turned to run was to receive a death

ball by the first who could draw a bead." Well,

it is unnecessary to state that no one ran.

Mazaska 'Lake.—This body of water extends

into four townships, Erin, Forest, Wells, and

Shieldsville, being located in the four corners, and

infringes on Shieldsville in the northeastern part.

The old Indian chief "Eastman," claimed that the

lake received its name in honor of his son, and

was for years called "Mazuka,'' which was the

name of his boy; but in after years the name be-

came demoralized, so to speak, common pronun-

ciation slightly altered it, and finally the map
men desingated it under the name of "Ma-

zaska,'' and it still retains that cognomen.

TOWN GOVEBNMENT.

This township was created as a government

within itself when the territory of Minnesota was

admitted to the Union as a State, in 1858, and the

first town meeting was held on the 11th of May,

that year, at Shieldsville village. After the usual .

preliminaries the township was organized by the

election of the 'first officers, as follows: Super-

visors, Joseph Hagerty, Chairman; Patrick Cun-

niff, and Patrick Smith; Constables, Michael Han-

ley and Patrick McKenua; Justices of the Peace,

Timothy Doyle and James Roach; Assessor, John

Finley; Town Clerk, John H. Gibbons. It was

voted that the town should be named Shieldsville,

in honor of General James Shields, with a slight

show of enthusiasm. Money was voted then to

defray town expenses for the coming year.

^^

ShieldsviiiLb dtjeing the wab.—This town-

ship did its share in sustaining the government

through the war of the rebellion, and in furnishing

men. We find that on the 2d of March, 1864, a

special town meeting was held at which the sum
of $3,000 was voted for the purpose of raising
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volunteers or substitutes to fill the quota of the

town. The officers at this meeting were Joseph

Hagerty, Chairman; Eichard Leahy, and Patrick

Smith; Maurice O'Hearn was clerk.

Again, on the 25th of January, 1865, another

special meeting was held at which the sum of

$4,000 was voted for the same purpose. The offi-

cers at this time were, Joseph Hagerty, Chair-

man; Patrick Murphy, and John Healy; Patrick

McKenna was clerk.

At a subsequent meeting $500 was levied to

pay interest on the bonds, making in all the sum

of $7,500.

The following is a list of the volunteers who

participated in the war as near as can be arrived

at: J. Buckley, P. Harris, Patrick Smith, J. Ma-

loney, J. Foran, P. Houlahan, J. GUson, 0. Ma-

hony, M. Hanley, John Hagerty, Joseph Hagerty,

and John Healy.

The financial and public government of the

township has been tranquil and pleasant, good

and efficient officers having had control of the in-

terests of the people.

SCHOOLS.

DiSTEiOT No. 32.—This was among the first to

receive an organization in the township, and is

generally known as the Shieldsville school, as it

is the educational sub-division embracing the vil-

lage and immediately surrounding country. It

commenced its existence in the spring of 1858,

and the following officers were elected: J. Hag-

arty, Patrick Hanlin, and Tim Shields. The first

school was taught in an old shanty erected by

James Tuft, by James Bentley, there being

about twenty-five scholars present. This build-

ing was then designated as the schoolhouse, and

used for school purposes until 1865, when a new

log house was erected in the village. The first

school in this house was taught by Mr. Wall with

an attendance of 120 soholara between the ages

of four and twenty, and it was used as their

school building until 1881, when the present

frame edifice was constructed upon land donated

the district by Gen. James Shields. The size of

the 'building is 28x40 feet, weU furnished, and

cost $1,000. The present school board is as fol-

lows: Christ. Gibnick, Director; Thomas Lang-

don, Treasurer; and William Kerrott, Clerk. Miss

Hagerty was the last teacher, with seventy pupils

on the register.

District No. 53.—The first school in this dis-

trict was taught by Mr. O'Connor in a log shanty

on Mr. Hugh Byrne's place, in 1863. The teacher

of the first school is now in the Insane Asylum, his

mind having become deranged. The organization

was effected in 1863, and the Messrs. Patrick

Smith, John Healy, and John McGancy were

made first officers. In the spring of 1866, a site

was purchased in the northern part of section

twenty-nine, and the school building now in use

was erected at a cost of about $600, being a neat

and substantial frame building. The present

school board is Thomas Mintrum, Director; A.

Hanlin, Clerk; aiid P. H. Byrne, Treasurer. The

school now enrolls about forty pupils.

District No. 70.—This district effected an or-

ganization in 1860, and a log schoolhouse was

erected the same year in the northeastern corner

of section eight,on land belonging to Michael De-

laney. The first officers were Messrs. M. Delaney,

Carpenter, and James McDonnell. Miss Bridget

Kelly taught the first school in the house just

erected, with twenty pupils on the benches. In

1864, the schoolhouse was burned and another log

structure was put up on the same site. In 1879,

this house also was destroyed by fire, and the pres-

ent frame house was built at a cost of four $400,

size 18x24, but upon the spot occupied by the for-

mer buildings. The present school officers are

Messrs. James Carpenter, James McDonnell, and

John Fitzgergld. The last term of school was

taught by Mies Kose Tague with about forty

scholars in attendance.

Disteiot No. 71.—This district was originally

in connection with the adjoining districts, but in

1861, was set off and has since been a government

for school purposes in itself. The organiza-

tion was really effected on the side of the road

near the spot where the school house now is, as

the citizens were selecting a site for a. school

building, and Biohard Iiahey was the first clerk;

the names of the other officers have been forgot-

ten, and the early records have either been lost or

destroyed, at least they are not in the hands of

the present clerk. The school structure was at

once erected of logs with a clap board roof, at a

nominal cost, and it is now in use, having been

greatly repaired. The first teacher was Miss

Laura Snyder, who agreed to instruct the fifteen

pupils for $10 per month and board herself. Since

organization the district has always had from •

seven to nine months school each year, and the
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scholars have steadily increased until at the last

term, taught by Miss Eosa Ward, thirty pupils

were enrolled, the teacher receiving the sum of

$20 per month for her services. The present offi-

cers are: O. Mahony, Clerk; Oscar Hearn, Direc-

tor, and D. LeMieux, Treasurer. The school

house is located near the center of section twen-

ty-six.

DisTBiOT No. 84.—Was organized late in the

sixties and the first officers were : B. Hunt, Direc-

tor; T. BIcDowney, Treasurer, and Michael Gavin,

Olerk. This district was formerly merged into the

territory of district number seventy -one. When it

was set off a schoolhouse was at once erected, at a

cost- of about $300, siee 16x22 feet, which is still

in use, having been improved to a considerable

extent. The first school was taught by Miss Mary
Ann McDowney, immediately after the school-

house was built, with fourteen scholars present,

and she was compensated with |25 a month. The

last term, taught by Miss Judge, had an attend-

ance of about twenty-six scholars. The present

officers are: Messrs. B. Hunt, William Judge and

Patrick Harrison. The location of the building is

the northeast corner of section fifteen.

SHIBIiDSVILliE VHjLAGE.

This is the only village in the township, or in

this part of the county. Tt is situated in section

one of Shieldsville township, between Lake Maz-

aska and Tuft, and on one of the most beautiful

town sites in the country. It is not a large vil-

lage, in fact it is among the smallest in Bice coun-

ty, but it has all the concomitants to distinguish

it from a "four-corners." The population at the

last census, in 1880, was 118.

The village was platted by Gen. James Shields

and James Tuft, whose coming here is recordeed

elsewhere, in the fall of 1855. This was General

Shield's second trip to this vicinity and with him

came Jerry Healy, John Burke, James Olarking,

S. Smith, and others, some of whom settled in the

town of Erin.

In 1856, Francis Maloney and others erected,

with a saw and hatchet astheir tools, the first store

building in the village, and the firm of Johnson &
Hanlin, now both dead, soon after opened a gener-

al merchandise store there. After running for a

time it was sold to Joseph Hagerty and brother,

who, after continuing for about fifteen years, went

out of the business.

The first business house, if such it may be term-

ed, was started early in 1856, by Conner & Mat-

thew, in a little log hut, and the principle article

handled was whiskey.

In the fall of 1856, or early the year following,

Mr. Francis Maloney opened a general ' merchan-

dise store in a large 30x40 log structure, and in

connection with the general requirements of life,

dealt out a large amount of stimulant, etc. Dur-

ing the Indian outbreak, he prepared himself for

the red skins by keeping a large bottle of strych-

nine for each barrel of lixuor, so as to be able to

treat the expected visitors in a vengeance like

way. Mr. Maloney continued in business until

1873, when he retired, although he still remains

in the village, one of the oldest settlers in the

town.

Mr. John Fox made his appearance, and about

1858, opened a blacksmith shop, which he ran for

a time and then retired to Minneapolis, where he

now is.

James Stack came early and also opened a shop

which is yet conducted by his sons.

Mr. M. Cochran was another blacksmith, who
hammered away for a time and then sold his shop

to Thomas Casey, who still runs the establishment.

James Connell runs a wagon shop, which was

started some years ago.

Patrick LcKenna arrived, and opened a general

saloon establishment, and still runs it at this writ-

ing, in connection with a hotel he has since erec-

ted.

Some time in the seventies, Thomas Coleman

came and bought out John Murphy who had

started a general merchandise store two years prior,

and Mr. Coleman still continues the business,

handling a little of the festive beverage over the

bar.

Messrs Mathew and Thomas Brown, some time

ago, started a general merchandise store which

they still continue, carrying a large and complete

stock. They have a substantial and large build-

ing, a good trade, and the finest general merchan-

dise establishment in this part of the country.

The village now contains the following: one

excellent steam saw-mill with a capacity of sawing

6000 feet of lumber per day ; a neat church ; a school

house ; two stores ; a Post-office; four saloons; a

hotel; two blacksmith shops; one wagon shop;

and a number of dwelling houses. It has a fine lo-

cation on the high land between two beautiful

lakes, which are surrounded by high wooded
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shores and a rioli farming country. These lakes,

like all others in Kice county, abound with fish of

various species. It is distant about ten miles

northwest from Faribault.

Catholic Ohuboh op SsiELDSVELiiE.—The his-

tory of this parish covers a period of twenty-six

years, having been organized in 1856, embracing

the territory of Shieldsville and Erin townships,

and a portion of Wells and Forest. In 1857, the

old church building was erected at a cost of

$1,200, which lasted until 1878, when their pres-

ent excellent stone structure was built at a cost of

about $16,000. This church was completed in

1882, and is one of the finest in the county, hav-

ing a seatiog capacity of 620 persons, with stand-

ing room for over a hundred. A parsonage was

also erected at a cost of about $1,000. The pas-

tors who have officiated here are Eev. Mr. Keller,

Father McCuUogn, Father Sales, Father Bobert,

and Eev. J. J. Slavin, the present pastor.

A cemetery ground was laid out by this society,

at the time of organizing the church. It occupies

fen acres just south of the vUlage, in which there

about 200 graves.

When the first church was erected it was left

without seats, stove or any furniture. It remain-

ed in this shape until 1867, when Catherine Dom-
ing returned to the village after an absence of

eight years, and with vim and energy that was

commendable, she, in company with a few other

ladies, got up a pic-nic and ladies fair from which

was netted the snug little sum of $160, and with

this the church was finished, a floor, stoves, and

seats being put in. Since that time the church

has grown rapidly, and now the rent of pews

alone is a revenue sufficient to keep the house in

repair and beautify the grounds.

Shieldsville mills.—^This enterprise was

founded in 1856, when the Delaney Brothers

erected a saw mill on the same site the present

mills occupy; and putting in a moderate steam

power and a circular saw commenced running with

a capacity of 2,000 feet per day. It did

not prove an entire success and in 1858,

General James Shields and others took pos-

session of the property; and putting in new

and more modem machinery, increased its capac-

ity to 6,000 or 7,000 feet per day. In this shape

it was continued until the 16th of April, 1864, (in

the meantime the firm of Bussell, Tenny & Co.

had purchased it) when it was destroyed by fire.

together with 25,000 feet of valuable lumber.

Soon afterward the firm of Hagerty, MoAvoy &
O'Hearn erected the present mill with a capacity

of 6,000 feet per' day. This firm continued the

business for about two years, when Mr. Hagerty

went out and the other two gentleman managed

the establishment until 1877, when Dooley, Taok

& McAvoy attached a two run grist and feed-mill

to the concern. Since that time the mill has been

managed by different^flrms until 1881, when the

present firm of Patrick and DanierDooley, under

the firm name of Dooley Brothers, purchased it

and still continue the business.

The mill makes good flour, with a capacity of

250 bushels per day, not as much in quantity as

other mills in the county, but equal in quality.

The saw-mill is equipped so as_to be able to saw

6,000 feet of lumber per day. The establishment

is run by steam and is in good condition.

BIOGEAPHICAL.

Thomas Coleman was bom in Ireland in 1843,

and lived in his native country until the age of

seven years. He then came to America with his

parents and located in Dunkirk, New York, where

he attended school; five years later moved to Ga-

lena, Illinois, and completed his education. In

1856, Mr. Coleman's father came to Shieldsville

and was one of the first settlers in the place.

Thomas was married here in February, 1863, to

Miss Ann Murphy a native of Ireland. She died

in 1876, and in 1877, he married his present wife,

formerly Miss Eliza Braman, a native of Wiscon-

sin. He had three children by his first wife, two

of whom are living, and also three by his present

wife, two living. Mr. Coleman has held the office

of Assessor and was commissioned Postmaster in

1878, still holding the latter.

John Pinlbt, one of the pioneers of this place,

is a native of Ireland, born in 1820. He was mar-

ried in 1845, to Miss Mary Tuey and resided in

his native place until the age of thirty-two years.

He came to America and first located in Bockland

county. New York, engaged in brick making.

In 1856, he moved to this place and located in

section three, where he still resides. He has been

Chairman of the board of Supervisors six years.

Justice of the Peace six years, and has been a

member of the School board several terms. He

and his wife are members of the Catholic church.

They have had four children, three of whom are
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living; James, aged thirty-five years; Ann,

twenty-nine years, and John, twenty.

Patrick MoKbnna is a native of Ireland, born

in the parish of Ardstree, county Tyrone, on the

15th of April, 1829. He received a common
school education and afcthe age of seventeen years

emigrated to America, locating in Quebec, Cana-

da. He was engaged in rafting timber for ships

five months, then removed to Toronto and worked

on a farm a year and a half. In 1848, he had

charge of a sail vessel which he run during sum-

mer months for four years and during the winters

was in the lumber business. On the 23d of Sep-

tember, 1849, he married Mfss Susan McKenna.

They reside! on a farm four years in Canada

West and in October, 1856,came to the territory of

Minnesota and directly to Shieldsville. There

were then but four white families in the place.

They moved to Erin township but soon returned

to this place, bought lots, built a house and start-

ed a grocery store. In 1876, Mr. McKenna erect-

ed a hotel called the North Star, which he now
keeps. He held the office of Town Clerk, Asses-

sor, and Constable all at the same time for twelve

years; in 1874, was elected Justice of the Peace

and still holds the office and in July of the same

year was appointed Notary Public by Gov. Davis.

Mr. and Mrs. McKenna have had fifteen children,

seven of Whom are living; John, thirty years of

age; Charles, twenty-five; James P., twenty-three;

Catherine, twenty-two; Mary Ella, seventeen; Ed-

die, thirteen; and Daniel, ten. The family are all

members of the Catholic church.

John Naglb, one of the earliest settlers of this

place, was born in Ireland in 1830, and resided

there until eighteen years old, attending school.

He came to America in 1840, and settled in Wash-

ington county, New York, where he was engaged

in farming until 1855, when he moved to Shields-

ville. He was married in New York to Bridget

Murphy, who has borne him six children, four of

whom are living; Kichard, aged twenty-five years;

Thomas, twenty-three ; John, twenty-one, and

Mark H., eleven. Katie died in May, 1882, at

the age of twenty -seven years. She was the wife

of James Finley. Dennis died in infancy and

both are buried in the cemetery at this place. Mr.

Nagle has been a member of the school board sev-

eral years and always takes an active part in all

school matters. His second son is studying law

at Faribault.

Ebv. John J. Slevin was bom in county

Longford, Ireland, on the 4th of March, 1855.

He attended St. Mary's Seminary in his native

place and afterward All Hallow's College at Dub-

lin and was ordained Priest on the 24th of June,

1878. He then came to America to St. Paul,

Minnesota, from whence he was sent by the Bish-

op to Shakopee, where he built a parsonage cost-

ing $1,600. In 1880, he came to Shieldsville,

since which time the Catholic church has been

completed at a cost of |1,600. Father Slevin has

four brothers and four sisters in Ireland and one

brother and one sister in the state of Missouri.

His father died in Ireland in 1882.
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MORRISTOWN.

CHAPTEB LXVII.

DESCRIPTIVB — BAEIiY SETTLEMENT KEMGIOtTS

EBUCATIONAIi—• INDtJSTBIAI; ENTEKPEISES—^VIL-

IiAQE OF MOBKISTOWN—BIOGBAPHICAIi.

Morristown is the southwestern corner township

of Eioe county; being contiguous to the counties

of Le Sueur and Waseca on the west and south,

with the towns of Shieldsville and Warsaw on the

north and west. It is comprised of thirty-six sec-

tions, or 23,040 acres of which 20,503 exclusive of

town lots, are taxable lands; 900 are covered by

its lakes, and a large part of the balance is under

a high state of cultivation.

The Cannon Biver crosses the township from

west to east, and seemingly divides the different

classes of land, as all the territory north of the

river is covered with timber of common varieties,

while that to the south is principally prairie land

interspersed with fine groves of timber, combining

to make a beautiful and picturesque country,

which, in connection with its fine soil, excellent

water and water power, soon attracted the atten-

tion of those seeking homes. The soil is mostly a

dark loam, with a blue clay subsoU, this apply-

ing particularly to the prairie, while in the tim-

ber, a tendency to sandiness is visible, and a sub-

soil of clay or gravel.

The township is abundantly watered by rivers,

creeks, and lakes. The Cannon Biver has been

mentioned above, it enters the town in the form

of Lake Sakata, which it forms in sections nine-

teen and twenty. A mineral spring bubbles up
on the south side of this lake, which, although

not at all notorious, is supposed to be valuable for

medicinal purposes. Sprague Lake is a small

body of water covering portions of sections twenty-

eight and twenty-nine. Pat's Lake lies nestled in

the midst of the timber in the northeastern part

of the town. Mormon Lake, so-called because in

an early day the Mormons used it for baptismal

purposes, occupying a few acres in the south-

western part of section twelve; while Bonesett

Lake is located just north of it. Devil's Creek

rises in Mud Lake, in Shieldsville, and flowing

southward, is joined by several small streams be-

fore it joins Cannon Biver. Dixon's Creek finds

its source south of the boundary, and wendiug a

northern course mingles its waters with those of

the Cannon in section twenty-three. Horseshoe

Lake infringes on the town in the northwestern

part, and is the source of a small stream which

connects it to Cannon Biver by way of section

eighteen and seventeen.

A sketch of this township published by P. W.
Prink in 1868, says: "Morristown, the south-

western township of Bice county, comprises with-

in its boundaries both prairie and timbered lands,

with a larger proportion of the latter. All the

country north of the Cannon Biver, which enters

the township in the shape of a lake, a little south

of the center of its western boundary, and flows in

the first two miles of its course in a northeasterly

direction, thence southeasterly to near the center

of the township, and from thence until it leaves it

on its eastern boundary in a direction north of

east, being heavily timbered. South of the Can-

non the land is chiefly prairie and meadow, with

frequent groves of timber intervening. But a

small proportion of its inhabitants are foreign-

born, and a majority of those are Germans. It

contains 20,503 acres of taxable land, exclusive,

of town lots, the remainder of its area is divided

as follows; about 900 acres occupied by its lakes,

five in number, 80 acres of unsold school lands

427 acres of railroad land, 360 acres belonging to

State University, and 320 acres stUl belonging to

the government. Unimproved lands of either timber

or prairie are held at prices ranging from $5 to $15

per acre." The above is still true in regard to

population, but the unsold land mentioned has

long since passed into the hands of actual settlers;
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and the price varies from $15 per acre upwards.

In 1860, the population of Morristown was 438

;

in 1865, 822; in 1870, 1,084; and in 1880, as per

last census, 1,939, of which 517 represented the

village, and 1,422 the township.

As to the values in l^orristown, from the census

returns of 1870, we glean the following returns

of property, as given to the census takers: Real

property, $356,225; personal, $162,905; total,

$519,130. For the same year the total assessed

value in Morristown was $169,611. In the year

1882, after taxes had been equalized, the total as-

sessed value was $323,181 ; of which $69,362 rep-

resented the personal, and $25p,819 the real prop-

erty. This shows the creditable increase of

$153,570 during the past twelve years. The val-

ues in the village of Morristown, as assessed for

1882, are as follows: Real property, $43,100;

personal property, $24,546; total, $67,646.

Cannon Valley Raileoad.—This line was sur-

veyed through the town several years ago, but no

actual work done until the spring of 1882, when
grading commenced in earnest. At the present

writing the line has been finished, except the lay-

ing of iron, and it is expected by the time this

work shall have been issued that the iron horse

will be treading the pathway, and doing the work

heretofore done by cumbersome stages. The road

enters the town from the east, in section thirteen,

and passing through the township and village in

a westerly direction, leaves to' enter LeSueur
county through section thirty.

EABLT SETTLEMENT.

As to the date of the steps and early movements

'leading to the subsequent development of this

thriving township, it will agree with a majority

of the sub-divisions of Rice county. It required

no prophetic vision to foresee the ultimate concen-

tration of capital and energy which have placed

this naturally favored spot among the foremost

and most prosperous inland towns, and given to

it superior manufacturing and industrial facilities,

and when the Cannon Valley railroad which is

now being constructed reaches and connects it

by rail with the leading markets of the Northwest,

marvelous things muy be expected.

The earliest settlement was made in the fall of

1853, when John Lynch and Henry Masters came
from St. Paul in a buggy, and on reaching the

town determined to stay, and erected a log house,

taking claims in sections twenty-three and twenty-

four, just east of where the village now is. Mas

ters was a native of Illinois, and the following

spring returned to his old home and brought back

a team. In January, 1855, he was joined in wed-

lock to Miss Anna Randall, by Walter Morris, this

being the first marriage in the township; be re-

mained until 1865, when he removed to the

Southwest, now living in Kansas. Mr. John

Lynch was a native of the Emerald Isle, and is still

a bachelor, yet lives in the town on section four-

teen, having never been out 'of the county since.

Shortly after the settlement of Messrs. Lynch

and Masters, in the spring of 1854, Andrew Story

with his wife Mary E., and son Charles, four

months old, made their appearance, Mrs. Story

being the first white woman to set foot in the

town, and took a claim in section twenty-two, just

west of the settlement above mentioned. On the

21st of August, 1855, a child was born to Mr.

and Mrs. Story, the first in the town; it was chris-

tened EUie, and is now a married woman, residiug

in Kansas. The Story family remained in Morris-

town until 1862, when they removed to Kansas

and are now living in Osborne county in that

State.

During the month of August, 1854, William

and Bartemus K. Soule, brothers of Mrs. Story,

came on from the East and selected claims south

of Mr. Story's place. William took a farm in sec-

tion twenty-three, but was too young to hold it

and was bought out by Mr. Morris in the spring

of 1855; he then went to section thirty-three

where he now lives. His brother took a claim in

section thirty-four and remained there until 1861,

when he enlisted and went to the war; returning

he settled in Chippewa county, Minnesota, where

he now resides.

In the month of September, 1854, three broth-

ers named Benson, Marshal, John, and C. M.,

natives of Vermont, having stopped for a time in

Indiana, arrived in the township. Marshal se-

cured a home in section twenty-one, where he re-

mained until 1865; then left and now lives in

Waterville. John drifted into the southwest

quarter of the same section and remained on it

for ten years; he now sojourns in Idaho Terri-

tory. C. M. secured a place on section twenty-

three, but as he was too young to hold it, sonie

one jumped the place, and in 1855, he took a farm

in section twenty where he yet remains. '

An incident in connection with the settlement
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of the Benson brothers is worthy of notice. A
man by the name of Drake, sometime during the

summer of 1856, at the place now known as

Waterville, thought he would be able to divert

the travel from the present site of Morristown by

constructing a road south of the old Indian trail.

About the time he had completed his rofid, the

Bensons went to work and constructed a.; good

w&gon road along the old Indian trail, ,,and

Drake's road was ever after untraveled. The

Benson road was probably the first improved high-

way in the county.

The following spring the Messrs Morris located

on section twenty -three, and the village of Morris-

town was brought into existence. Their meander-

ings are noted at length in anothei' column. They

were followed by Eobert Pope, a native of Cana-

da, who made a claim on section twenty-nine,

where he remained until 1857, when he joined his

amative Mormon brethren in Utah. Mr. Wilson

soon after made himself a habitation in section

thirty, where he remained until 1866, and left.

Joseph Ladoux, of France, joined him and took a

quarter section number thirty, where he died

in 1856, and his family, in 1857, went to Utah.

Mr. David Springer and family also came early

in 1855, and took a habitation in section twenty-

tbree, remaining there for a year and then return-

ed to Pennyslvania, his native State.

Joseph Dixon and family, in company with his

father-in-law, made their appearance about the

same time. Their child, Clarissa Dixon, born on

the 24th of August, 1855, in John Lynch's cabin,

was the second while child born in the township,

and is now Mrs. Albert Wolever, in the village.

Others came and have since gone, and the in-

flux became so great that it is almost impossible

to note them. The prairie land was taken very

rapidly, and in 1857, but few farms of much

value were left in the timber. Many of the early

and most prominent arrivals are noted under the

head of "Biographical,"' to which we refer the

reader.

Jonathan Moeeis.—This early pioneer and im -

portant personage in the early history of the

township bearing his name, was a man of consid-

erable note in various places before he came to the

West. He was born in the state of Pennyslvania,

on the 9th of January, 1804, and when four years

of age his father died, and his mother moved the

family to Ohio in 1809. lu this early day the

means of education were limited, and it is a fact

that the subject of this sketch did not know his

letters at the time of his marriage. He had fine

natural abilities, however, and by energy and hard

study, acquired a good general idea of the com-

mon branches of education, and entered the minis-

try of the Christian or Disciple faith, preaching

for twenty-five years through the states of Indi-

ana and Ohio, and was undoubtedly the medium

of 10,000 conversions. In the meantime his mar-

riage had been blessed with children, and in 1853,

in company with his son Walter, he came to St.

Paul, Minnesota, where the son remained during

the winter, in the State Executive Department, and

he went to Hastings. In the following spring,

—1854,—he joined his son, who had left the de-

partment at St. Paul, and purchased an interest in

the town site of Faribault, removing to the latter

place. Here they remained until the following

spring when they started up the Cannon Biver

in search of a mill site, as related elsewhere, and

located at Morristown, where he remained until

the time of his death which occurred on the 27th of

November, 1856. He left a wife and seven child-

ren to mourn his loss. His widow still lives in

Morristown with her son Walter Morris, and men-

tion is made of the parties elsewhere.

POLITIOAIj.

Morristown effected an organization in 1858, the

first township meeting being held on the 11th of

May, of that year, at the Delaware House. After

the usual preliminaries, James E. Davidson was

appointed moderator, and William P. Heydon,

clerk. The meeting then proceeded to the election

of town officials for the ensuing year, resulting as

follows : Supervisors, Isaac Hammond, Chairman,

"Henery'' Bassett, and John D. Benson; Clerk,

Charles D. Adams; Asssesaor, John S. Pope;

Collector, D. G. Wilkins; Overseer of the poor,

Eeuben Morris; Justices of the Peace, Walter

Morris and Willard Eddy; Constables, Wil-

liam P. Heydon and Samuel Clark; Over-

seers of roads, O. K. Hogle and Nathan Mor-

ris. All of these officers qualified except Samuel

Clark and John S. Pope, but their places were

soon filled.

On the 24th of August, 1864, bonds were voted

at a special meeting, to pay the sum of $25 to each

man who would volunteer to enlist in the army,

under the Presidents' call for 500,000 men; the

bonds to bear 12 per cent interest. The proposi-
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tion carried by a vote of 58 for, to seven against;

the committee men were, 0. D. Adams, T. MoClay,

and Isaac Pope.

On the 9th of February, 1865, a special meet-

ing was held at which it was voted that bonds to

the amount of $300 should be issued to each man
who would volunteer to enlist, and fill the quota.

This was under the Presidents' call for 300,000

men. This supplied the deficiency and no draft

was made. George Bassett and William Adams
were among those who volunteered, and they

found graves in southern soil.

At the twenty-fourth annual town meeting, held

in the spring of 1882, the following officers were

elected who still are incumbents: Supervisors,

John Hile, Chairman, Samuel J. Chapman, and A.

H. Greene; Clerk, Walter Morris; Treasurer, Chris-

tian Hershey, Jr.; Justices of the Peace, Isaac

Hand and J. N. Powers; Constables, Isaac Newell

and Chas. H. Grant, Jr.

BELIGIOUS.

The first religious services in the township were

held by Eev. Jonathan Morris, of the Disciple

faith, at his residence, where the village now is, in

1855; the same fall he organized his church at

the same place, with ten members, and continued

holding services in his house until 1856, when the

congregation became too large for the limited ac-

commodations, and a frame church was erected at

a cost of $350, with a seating capa.'ity of 150.

This building was destroyed by flre in 1874, and

since that time they have had preaching in vari-

ous places. The membership at the time the

church was burned was 100, with Walter Morris

as minister.

Episcopal Chtjbch.—The first services by fol-

lowers of this belief were held in the Morristown

hotel in 1858, by Eev. J. L. Breok. Organization

was effected shortly after with thirty members,

and in 1864, they erected their present church at

a cost of $2,600 in the village, it being a neat and

commodious structure, capable of seating 200 per-

sons. The Eev. Mr. Bills, of Faribault, is the

present pastor, there being twenty members, and

services are held once in two weeks.

Methodist Denomination.—This society was

organized at the house of Hilton Bloomer, on sec-

tion thirty-four, in 1856, by Eev. A. V. Hitch-

cock, and the first services were held just previous

to it by the same minister in the boarding house

of Walter Morris, in the village. At organization

there were eight members of the society. As soon

as erected, the denomination used the Christian or

Disciple church building until it was burned in

1874, and they then commenced the erection of

their church, in the village, which has already cost

$600, and is not yet finished. Eev. J. Whitney is

the present pastor, and services are held every

Sunday evening; Sunday school every Sabbath,

and prayer meeting Thursday evenings. The so-

ciety is in good financial as well as spiritual con-

dition, evidently considering true inward worth

as of more value than mere outward show and

pomposity.

United Bbbthbbn Chuboh.—Effected an or-

ganization at the house of Hiram Eriokson, on

section eighteen, where the first service was held,

with Eev. Daniel Eeed officiating, in the summer

of 1867. There were at organization fourteen

members, and services were held in private resi-

dences untU 1870, when a log church was con-

structed at a cost of $150, on the shore of Horse-

shoe Lake, in section seven. Eev. Uriah Cook is

the present minister.

The Albright Society.—This denomination

effected an organization in 1863, and in 1873,

erected their present neat and substantial church

edifice, at a cost of $1,400, in the southeastern

part of section thirty-four; there is now a mem-
bership of thirty on the church rolls. There is

also a cemetery ground platted adjoining the

church, in which peacefully repose the remains

of about fifteen departed friends.

Gebman Ldtheban.—This society effected an

organization in 1868, at the house of John Weber
in section four, and services were held at various

places in the northern part of town until 1881,

when their church was erected in section four at

a cost of $600. There is a burial ground con-

nected with this church, located in section five,

called the Weber cemetery, that was laid out in

1874, at the time of the demise of John Weber,

who was the first to find a last resting place in it.

EDTJOATIONAt.

Morristown is well up to the average towns in

educational matters, and many neat and commo-
dious schoolhouses dot the surface of the town-

ship. Not much can be said of them in general,

except that these districts are all in good condi-

tion, and are ably and efficiently managed. Be-

low we give a short sketch of the organization of

the various districts, together with their 1 ocations
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MoKBiSTOWN GBiDED SoHooi;S.—The first school

held in the village of Morristown was in a little

log shanty, 12x14 feet, and was taught by Isaac

Hammond in the winter of 1855-56, there being

twelve scholars present. In 1857, the district in

the meantime having been legally organized, a

frame schpolhouse was erected, 24x40 feet, at a

cost of $800. This building served the purposes

for which it was erected until 1873, when the

present neat and substantial building was erected

at a cost of $2,000. It is a two story building

with a seating capacity of about 120. The first

officers of the district were, Messrs. Andrew Story,

Levi Coen, and Hilton Bloomer. The present offi-

cers are: Director, Charles Grant; Clerk, Baron

Hopkins; and Treasurer, William Crawford. The

principal of the school is C. A. Sheridan.

DiSTBiOT No. 7.—This was about the first dis-

trict to effect organization in the township, dating

its existence back to 1856, when officers were

elected to take care of school matters, as follows

:

Director, H. Blanco; Clerk, Uriah Northrup; and

Treasurer, C. M. Benson; and Mr. Joseph Baker

called school to order the winter following with

fifteen pupUs in attendance. The district now

has a neat and commodious school building in the

northern part of section twenty-nine. The Sak-

ata Literary Association was organized at this

sohoolhouse in February, 1877, and is a meritori-

ous and commendable institution.

DiSTTiCT No. 40.—Effected an organization one

year later than the above, in 1857, and the dis-

trict shortly after erected a school building. The

first officers were as follows: Director, James K.

Davidson; Clerk, Lewis McKune; and Treasurer,

John MoKune. The first instruction was diffused

by Miss Nettie Davidson. The location of the

schoolhouse now in use is the eastern part of sec-

tion thirty-five, the district embracing the terri-

tory in the southeastern part of the town.

District No. 54.—^Embraces under its educa-

tional jurisdiction the territory lying just north

of the village of Morristown. The organization

was made substantial in 1859, the meeting being

held at the residence of H. Hershey, which re-

sulted in the election of first officers, the names of

whom have escaped the memories of those whom
we have interviewed. The first school was taught

by Miss Harriet Wood, with an attendance of

twelve juveniles. The present school structure is

in the northeastern comer of section fourteen.

DiSTEiOT No. 60.—Was organized in 1867, hav-

ing, prior to this, been merged into other districts.

The first school board was: Director, Peter

Euthen; Clerk, Seth H. Kenney; and Treasurer,

Samuel Donarh. The first school was taught by

Mr. Eli Smith with twelve pupils on the benches.

The district embraces the northwestern part of

the township as its territory.

District No. 89.—The organization of this

district took place in the year 1866, and the first

officials were: Director, John Hile; Clerk, Benja-

min Hershey; and Treasurer, William Haines.

The location of the house now in use by this dis-

trict is the northeast corner of section seventeen.

District No. 99.—Commenced its existence in

1872, being the youngest district in the township.

The first school was taught by Miss Jane Chapin

with an attendance of twelve pupUs, in a building

on section two, and the officers at that time were:

Director, Richard Cooley; Clerk, Horace Green;

and Treasurer, Richard Newell. The location of

the school structure now in use by the district is

the southeast comer of section three.

industrial entkrprisbs.

Under this head the matters pertaining thereto,

in both town and village, being identical, are

combined. Probably no township, away from

railroad connections and its accompanying advan-

tages, in the state of Minnesota, is as well sup-

plied, and therefore so prosperous, with manufac-

turing interests as is Morristown, and too much
praise cannot be bestowed upon those who have

devoted capital and energy to industries that fur-

nish employment to a large number of hands and

bring thousands of dollars annually to the local-

ity, the most of which is expended here, mutually

benefitting all classes.

Morristown Mtlis.—This is the largest man-

ufacturing enterprise in Morristown and one of

the large3t in the county. In 1876, a stock com-

pany was formed for the purpose of erecting a

mill, and elected the following gentlemen as offi-

cers: President, A. E. Barkley; Directors, C. D.

Adams, William Shaw, Tobias Ohler, and Chris-

tian Ramund, and this board superintended the

erection of the mill building. It is situated on

the south bank of Cannon River, in the village, a

four-story frame building, with a stone basement

and engine house, and cost about $43,000. Its

propelling power was a 120 horse-power steam en-

gine, and with eight ran of stones the capacity
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was about 200 barrels per day. The mill was

operated by the company, but did not prove an
entire success to them, and in 1880, George W.
Newell, the present proprietor, purchased the

property. In 1881, he had the mill remodeled

and all the modern improvements added for mak-

ing the mill a flrst-class merchant mill, with im-

proved rollers, burrs, packers, cleaners, etc., the

mill having cost, as it now stands, not less than

$65,000. About thirty men find employment in

the mills—fifteen coopers and fifteen mill men,

—

and the capacity of the mill is now about 250

barrels per day. Altogether it is the pride of the

township and surrounding country, and has been

and will continue to be the nucleus to the pros-

pering little village, and a magnet that cannot

fail to draw other business interests to this point.

Heeshet Gbist-Mimj.—The foundation of

this mill was commenced in 1855, when Jonathan

and Walter Morris erected a saw-mill on the same

site and began active operations the same year.

Owing to ^ome flaw in the foundation the water

found its way under the same, which resulted in

the destruction of the mill. Mr. Walter

Morris then , secured the site and immediately

commenced the construction of a new mill, which

he completed and put in operation early in the

fall of 1856, and once more the manufacture of

lumber was commenced in earnest and continued

until June, 1858, when the dam was washed out.

Steps were taken to repair the damage, and so

thoroughly was the work done that the same dam
remains to this day. In the autumn of 1858, Mr.

Nathan Morris purchased the property and oper-

ated it for a time. In 1860, the Messrs. Hershey

secured it and erected a good two and a half story

building, put in one run of stones and the neces-

sary flouring machinery and commenced grind-

ing. It was operated in this shape until 1877,

when it was partially remodeled, many improve-

ments added, and a wooden re-action water wheel

made the motor, increasing the capacity to 100

barrels per 24 hours. The mill is owned and op-

erated by Christian Hershey, Jr.

Hopkins' Head Lining Faotobt.—This, now
important enterprise, was originally commenced

as a sorghtim mill in 1867, by Seth H. Kenney

and E. Hopkins, on section six, and after being

operated for two years as such they came to the

conclusion. that a saw-mill would be more profita-

b\e, into which they thereupon converted it, and

continued its operation until it wbs destroyed by

fire in 1870. In 1872, J. B. Hopkins & Bro. pur-

chased the machinery that had fortunately been

saved, and moved it to the village, where they

erected large buildings, and with a 45 horse-

power engine kept turning out lumber until 1877,

when the head lining machinery was put in for a

capacity of 400,000 per day. In 1878, J. B. Hop-

kins became sole proprietor and still operates it,

employing fifteen hands and shipping produc-

tions all over the country, forty millions of them

being shipped every year to St. Louis. The tim

ber north of the Cannon Eiver furnishes material

for the mills of this description, and the business

is one of the most valuable elements of industrial

interests in the county.

Hbbshbt Saw-mill.—This enterprise origin-

ated in 1865, when Mr. Chris. Hershey erected a

building 30x40 feet, put in an upright saw, a

dam, and wooden re-aotion water-wheel, on the

east side of the bend of Cannon Eiver, near Mor-

ristown, and commenced running with a capacity

of about 3,000 feet per day. It was managed and

operated in this condition until 1875, when the

water played havoc with the river bank, and it

has not as yet been repaired. The remains of the

mill still occupy the old site but the bank wash-

ing away has left it almost in the middle of the

river.

OsTBEHOUT & Co.'s Faotoet.—In the year

1866, James Osterhoiit and his son Charles erected

a saw-mill, 20x60 feet, equipped it with a circular

saw, and with a thirty-five horse-power steam en-

gine commenced ripping up lumber at the rate of

8,000 feet per day. The original fiam operated it

until 1870, when they sold it to Daniel Scott, who
in turn, in 1876; turned the property over to Eli-

jah Spaulding. In 1878, the latter gentleman

remodeled the mill, and put in head lining ma-

chinery, made an addition of 30x100 feet, and af-

ter running a short time sold to the present firm,

H. H. Osterhout & Co., who have added many im-

provements and doubled the capacity. They are

manufacturers principally of heading and curved

head lining, furnishing employment to nine men
and four teams, and the mill has the reputation of

being equal to any in this region.
'

MoEEisTowN Stave Factoet.—This industrial

enterprise was started in 1867, by C. D. Adams
and George Smith, who erected a building 24x60

feet,, and with a fifteen horse-power engine com-
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menced operations. An equipment of carding

machinery was also put in the factory and it was

run by this firm until 1870, when Mr. Adams be-

came proprietor. It was burned soon afterward.

J. B. Buck, architect and builder, established

himself in Morristown in 1866. In 1881, he pur-

chased a building formerly used as a livery stable,

• and putting in the necessary machinery and a fif-

teen horse-power engine, is now doing a good

business in his line.

The first blacksmith shop was opened in 1857,

in a little log shop 16x20 feet, by W. S. Craw-

ford. In 1862, he bought a building of Mr.

Adams, in which he worked until he was burned

out in 1875, when he erected his present shop and

is still hammering away with two assistants, hav-

ing been twenty years oh the same spot.

Kbnney's Sobghum Factoey.—This manufac-

turing institution is located in the northwestern

part of the township, on the farm of the owner in

section six. It was originally established in 1860,

consisting of two wooden rollers made by Mr.

Stevens, father of the proprietor, and was run

each season until 1862, with a yoke of oxen and a

capacity of thirty-two gallons per day. In this

year, seeing that it could be made a success, he

purchased an iron mill, doubled the capacity, and

began running it with horse-power. During the

war he disposed of his sorghum at from $1.00 to

$1.25 per gallon. In 1866, the establishment was

enlarged and a twelve horse-power engine put in,

increasing the capacity to twelve barrels per day.

This was the first miU of this nature run by steam

in the State, and only partial success attended the

experiment. In the fall of 1868, the mill was en-

tirely destroyed by fire, and in the summer of the

year following two mills and two horse-powers

were brought into requisition to replace it. In

1879, a fifteen horse-power steam engine was at

tached; and, as the mills now stand, it having

been since refitted, they have cost $5,000. They

consist of a five ton mill, a storage and granulat-

ing house, 30x40 feet, three stories high, with a

storage capacity of 16,580 gallons; engine house,

22x26 feet; mUl house, 30x62 feet; boiling house,

16x30 feet; refinery mill, 20 feet deep, and n Oen-

triflcal for draining the sugar, that was purchased

in Germany at a cost of $500. Thus it will be

seen that the establishment is a costly one, and in

fact it is the finest and best managed mill in the

State. Its capacity is 700 gallons per day and

600 pounds of sugar, its productions being ship-

ped aU over the United States. The proprietor,

Seth H. Kenney, is president of the Minnesota

Amber Cane Association.

Ddbkin Saw-MiiiIi.—In 1856, two yoimg men
mamed Norton and Webster came from California)

bringing with them considerable capital,and erected

the second steam saw-mill in the county, in Mor-

ristown, on the present site of Hopkins' factory.

It was a good mill and they operated it until the

spring of 1857, when they left it with a cousin, K.

Norton, who ran it ror a time, but it finally became

the property of the present proprietor, E. P. Dur-

rin, and was moved to the timber in section three.

The mill was destroyed by fire early in the seven-

ties but was almost immediately replaced with a

building 18x26 feet, a fifty two inch circular saw,

and a thirty-two horse-power steam engine, giv-

ing it a capacitv of 6,000 feet per day, a majority

of the work being in furniture lumber.

In 1866, Mr. C. C. Aldrich established an apiary

on his farm in section twenty-seven, which has

grown with each year until it is now one of the

most extensive enterprises in the town, with an al-

most endless number of swarms and a regular

feeding or pasture ground sown in buckwheat for

the bees. In connection with this, in 1877, Mr.

Aldrich put in necessary machinery and a ten

horse-power steam engine, and commenced oper-

ating a first class sorghum factory which he still

continues.

VILIiAGE OF MOEBISTOWN.

This is the only village in the township, and has

a beautiful location on the Cannon Biver, in the

corners of sections twenty-two, twenty-three>

twenty-six, and twenty-seven. The river furnish-

es excellent water-power, and it is surrounded

with the best timber and prairie farming land in

the county. It is the fourth place of size and im-

portance in Bice county, and, when the railroads

which are now being graded are in working order,

it bids fair to become a formidable rival for a

higher place. The village has u population of

about 600, and according to the last assessment

the total value assessed in the limits is $67,546,

of which $25,546 represent the personal, and $43,-

100, the real property.

To give some idea of what was thought of the

village in an early day, below is a short sketch of

it made by Mr. C. Williams, in 1860; it says:'

"Morristown is another important village on the
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Cannon River in the extreme western part of the

county, and ten miles from Faribault. It contains

two stores, one steam saw-mill, one water saw and

grist miU, two taverns, one cabinet shop with water-

power, two blacksmith shops, one sohoolhouse,

one house of public worship, and a Post-ofBce.

The village contains 100 inhabitants. The farm-

country around it is very fine, combining the ad-

vantages of prairie, wood and water.''

In 1874, the village was incorporated, embrac-

ing in its limits sections twenty-two, twenty-three,

twenty-six, and twenty-seven, a square of two

miles.

EabiiY Settlement.—The first settlement of

the village commenced shortly after that

of the township, and since the beginning

has been rapid and constant. About the mid-

dle of April, 1855, Mr. Jonathan Morris, who
had the year before settled at Faribault, star-

ted up Cannon Eiver, in company with Walter

Morris, in search of a mill power. They followed

the course of the river as far up as the present site

of Waterville, then returned as far as Mr. Story's,

Where they remained over night, receiving at the

hands of Mr. Story and his excellent wife, true

pioneer hospitality. Finding that nature had

provided a splendid water power at this point, they

decided upon locating at the present site of Mor-

ristown, and in a few days thereafter, erected a

log cabin near where Mr. Hershey's dwelling now
stands, and moved in the same.

They immediately commenced the construction

of a saw-mill, which was completed and in active

operation early in the fall of the same year, a

history of which has already been given.

During the summer and autumn of 1855,

Joseph Dixon, Isaac Hammond, Eeuben Morris,

Daniel Wilkins, Richard Miller, Harrison and

Jackson Willis, Thomas and James Sprague, Cole-

man Bloomer and brother, and several others,

moved into the township and made claims, thus

forming quite a little community, and Mr. Jona-

than Morris decided on laying out a portion of

his claim into village lots, but owing to hard work
and exposure incident to the building of the mill

referred to, Mr. Morris was. taken sick, which re-

sulted in his death, being the first death in this

part of the county. After the death of Mr. Mor-
ris, his widow, Mrs. Sarah Morris filed upon the

tract of land she and her husband had settled

upon, and during the winter of 1856-57, went to

Winona and pre-empted it, and in the spring fol-

lowing secured the services of Mr. C. C. Perkins,

who surveyed a portion of her claim into town

lots. About this time Mr. Thomas Dexter moved

into the place and put up a small frame house,

and opened the same as a hotel, which was known

as the "Delaware House," Mr. and Mrs. Dexter

proved well adapted to the business, and did a

flourishing trade for several years.

Early in the spring of 1857, Messrs Locke &
Pope commenced the construction of a large hotel,

at that time one of the largest in the country, and

when completed, was known as the "Eagle Hotel."

This house continued to do a good business until

a road was opened up on the north side of the

river, which changed the travel so much as to ma-
terially effect the business, since which time the

house has changed hands several times, and to-day

stands without a tenant.

In the summer of 1855, Walter Morris built a

small log building near where Mr. Hershey's mill

now stands, which he fitted up as a store, and com-

menced the sale of goods, and continuedtill the

fall of 1856, when he sold out his entire stock to

Messrs Locke & Pope. In the fall of 1856, Mr.

Collins came from Hastings and opened a store on

the corner where Mr. Crawford's black smith shop

stands, but failing to meet his obligations, was

compelled to surrender his stock to his creditors

early the next spring; the store passing into the

hands of Messrs Adams & Allen. Mr. Adams took

charge of the store, but immediately sold out to

Reuben Morris, taking in exchange for the same,

Mr. Morris' claim of 160 acres lying immediately

west and adjoining the original survey of the vil-

lage, the consideration being estimated at $1,600

Soon after Mr. Lewis McKune purchased an in-

terest in the store with l^Er. Adams, whereupon
Walter Morris took charge of the store, and in the

winter of 1857, sold the stock to Messrs Hayden &
Graves.

In the month of January, 1857, Mr. Charles D.
Adams returned to Morristown bringing with him
a stock of merchandise, and opened up for busi-

ness in the store formerly occupied by Mr. Collins.

During Mr. Adams' absence one Benjamine Dexter

jumped the claim of Adams & Allen, which creat-

ed quite an excitement, and on the return of Mr.

Adams, several members of the "claim society"

proposed to remove Dexter from the claim. In
the early settlement of this country, the claim
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societies often resorted to violence to accomplish

their object, but Mr. Adams being a man of peace

desired to avoid all trouble and finally paid Dex-

ter $212 to leave the claim, and Dexter found it

convenient to leave the country, it not being con-

sidered a very healthy locality for,claim jump-

ers.

In the autumn of 1857, Mr. Adams erected a

large store building, and immediately moved into

it. This was ereuted on what is known as Adams'

& Allen's addition, and is still doing excellent duty

as a tenement house, and is an evidence of the

pluck and energy of the oldest merchant of the

place.

In 1856, Messr') Webster & Norton located here

and put into operation the first steam saw-mill in

this part of the country, which they continued to

run for some time, but finally transferred it to

Bufus Norton, who operated it for several years.

During the summer of 1858, Mr. Osterhout set-

tled in the village and put up another steam saw-

mill, making at that early day, one water and two

steam mills in town. Besides these mill there was

a cooper shop, cabinet shop, and two blacksmith

shops.

The town having gone ahead of the country it

was evident that a standstill would follow, untU

the surrounding country was better improved, and

it was some years before any other improvements

were made worthy of notice. What there has

been are noted under the head of "Industrial Enter-

prises."

The early settlers of this section were princi-

pally young and energetic men who had left

their homes in the East to endure the ha'rdships

and privations incident to settlement of new coun-

tries, and during the long winters, when one and

all were compelled to be more or less inactive, the

want of some kind of amusement suggested the

idea of organizing a mock legislature, and during

the winter of 1856, a society was organized, the

hall in the Eagle Hotel was secured, where, once

a week, the old and young, male and female, for

miles around, would attend to hear the boys dis-

cuss questions usual to such societies, and listen

to the reading of a paper, which purported to give

the current news of the day. The local depart-

ment of the paper proved of great interest to one

and all, and the settlers now living look back up-

on the winter of 1856-57, as the most pleasant

and enjoyable one they ever experienced.

Time or space will not admit of giving a full

account of every event that-transpired in the early

days of what is now the beautiful aud flourishing

village of Morristown. Where but a few years

ago the wigwam of the untutored savage stood,

has, by the hand of industry, been transformed

into a thriving village, containing churches,

schools, stores, mills, hotels, and in short, all the

•conveniences of civilization.

MoREisTOWN PosT-OFFiOE.—Was established in

1856, Walter Morris having been appointed Post-

master, with power to appoint a carrier at an ex-

pense not to exceed the net proceeds of the ofBce,

whereupon, Dr. Ward took the contract and con-

tinued to carry the mail from Pari! lault until a

mail route was . established, and M. O. Walker

commenosd running his stage from Hastings to

St. Peter. Owing to the rush of immigration in

1856, Mr. Morris deemed it best to run a stage

from Hastings to this place, whereupon, he pur-

chased stock and commenced running a convey-

ance twice a week, and continued until M. O.

Walker began running his stages over the same

route.

Mail now leaves Morristown tor Faribault at

eight o'clock in the forenoon and arrives at Fari-

bault at 11 o'clock. Leaves Faribault at one

•o'clock p. M., and arrives at Morristown at four

o'clock, daily. Charles Dolan is contractor and

driver, and Mr. Walter Morris is the Postmaster,

with the ofBce in his store.

"Not Dead."—A very peculiar circumstance is

reported in the various papers of the county as

oocurriug near Morristown on the 17th of Novem-

ber, 1872, and we give it, unvouohed for, as we

get it. A lady whose name is withheld, was ex-

tremely ill; she sank slowly away until it was

whispered, "She is dead." Friends gathered and

wept tears of sorrow over her departure; neigh-

bors were called and she was shrouded for burial.

Arrangements were fast being made to deposit

her remains in the narrow house. The time was

fixed,—but, to the joy of friends, signs of life

were visible; breathing apparent; life "struggled;

the eyes displayed their original beauty, and she

lived, while the friends joyfully dispersed.

BIOGRAPHICAL.

C/YBus 0. AiiDRiOH, a native of New York, was

born in Chenango county on the 5th of August,

1833. He was married on the 18th of February,

1854, to Amanda Ohapin. The year following
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they moved to Wisconsin, a year later to Fari-

bault, and in 1859, to Morristown, locating in sec-

tion seven. Mr. Aldrich. enlisted in the

First Minnesota Volunteer Infantry, Company G,

on the 21st of April, 1861, served three months

and then re-enlisted in the Fourth Minnesota

Eegimeut, was wounded in the battle of Altoona

and discharged for disability. After returning

from the army, being unable to perform heavy

manual labor, he engaged in the manufacture of

sorghum and bee culture and is at present pro-

prietor of the Central Apiary depot of supples,

hives, and honey. Mr. and Mrs. Aldrich have

had six children, five of whom are living. He
was one of the Councilmen the first two years

after the village was incorporated.

Hbbry Blencoe was born in Chenango county.

New York, on the Ist of June, 1837. He was

married on the 18th of March, 1863, to Mrs.

Mary Ann France, and his native place claimed

him as a resident until 1865. He came from there

to Minnesota and for two years lived in Waseca

county, then moved to the village of Morristown,

and in 1869, to his present farm in section twenty-

nine. Mr. and Mrs. Blencoe have two children

both girls.

0. M. Benson, one of the early settlers of Mor-

ristown, is a native of' Vermont, born on the 7th

of August, 1836. In 1853, he removed to Illi-

nois and the following year to this township

where he took a claim, but as he was not of age

it was "jumped" and soon after his twenty-flrst

birthday he made another, in section twenty,

which has since been his home. In 1861, he en-

listed in the First Minnesota Volunteer Infantry,

Company G, served three years and participated

in thirty battles, in the last of which he was shot,

the ball entering his left side passed through him
and lodged in his knapsack. He received an

honorable discharge, returned to his home, and on-

the 31st of May, 1866, married Miss Ann Eliza

Pool. The result of the ULion was eight children,

six of whom are living. Mr. Benson is always in-

terested in all school matters.

Alonzo Buboh, a native of Michigan, was born

on the 18th of December, 1844. In 1856, he

came with his parents to Steele county, Minne-

sota, and two years later moved to Faribault. He
enlisted in the army in 1862, and served till the

close of the war, then returned to Faribault and
engaged in mechanicaJ pursuits ten years. He

was joined in marriage on the 16th of November,

1867, to Ardella Hammond. They came to this

township in 1875i purchased land in section five,

and Mr. Burch has since devoted his time to its

cultivation.

Thomas Bennett was born in Licking county,

Ohio, on the 7th of October, 1816, and resided there

until the age of twenty -two years. He then, in

the spring of 1839, moved to Indiana, where he

married Miss Sarah Baker, the event taking place

on the 8th of May, 1846. In 1863, they came to

Morristown and two years later moved to Le
Sueur county, where Mr. Bennett was a member

of the board of Supervisors and Treasurer of his

school district. In 1873, he returned to Morris-

town and bought land in section six, where lie has

built up a comfortable home. Mr. and Mrs. Ben-

nett have had eleven children, seven of whom are

living.

Joseph Dixon was born on the 15th of April,

1830, in Highland county, Ohio. He was married

in Owen county, Indiana, on the 12th of Septem-

ber, 1850, to Miss Elizabeth Morris. Four years

later they came west to Faribault, and the follow-

ing spring to Morristown, where they were pio-

neers, and staked out a claim in section twenty-six,

now known as Nathan's addition of the village of

Morristown. On the 30th of April, 1864, he en-

listed in Company I, of the Fourth Minnesota

Volunteer Infantry, and served till the close of

the war. He then returned to his home in this

place and has since devoted his time to its culti-

vation. Mr. and Mrs. Dixon have ten children,

five of whom are married and five still remain at

home.

O. Hbbshbt, Je., one of the early residents of

this county, is a native of Canada, born on the

12th of September, 1836, and emigrated with his

parents to Wisconsin when three years old. In

1855, they moved to Warsaw township where Mr.

Hershey remained until 1869, then came to Mor-

ristown and has since made it his home. He
erected a saw and grist-mill, the latter of which

he still operates. He was married on the 1st of

January, 1869, to Miss L. A. Hurt and the union

has been blessed with three children. Mr. Her-

shey was elected Town Treasurer at the last elec-

tion.

J. B. Hopkins was born in St. Lawrence coun-

ty, New York, in 1837, and received an academic

education at Governeur Wesleyan Seimnary, and
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studied law at the Albany University. He was

married on the 6th of March, 1861, to Miss Emma
Lynde. In 1865, they removed to Missouri, two

years later to Faribault, arriving on the 4th of

July, and in a few months located in Morristown.

He has been Justice of the Peace several terms,

and in 1873 and '75 was a member of the Legisla-

ture. He is proprietor of the head lining factory

and also manufactures lumber and shingles. He
is the father of three children.

William Halbin, n native of Germany, was

bom on the 18th of Nobember, 1825. He was
married on the 12th of November, 1855, to Miss

Engle Neymier and the same year emigrated to

America and settled in Illinois. In 1865, he

moved from there to Waseca county, Minnesota,

and remained engaged in farming until 1881,

then came to this place and purchased land in

section thirty-four, where he now resides. Of

fourteen children born to liim, ten are living, two

married and eight at home. Mr. Halein has been

a school Director ever since his residence in this

State.

John Hilb was born in Northumberland coun-

ty, Pennsylvania, on the 17th of July, 1828. In

1844, he moved with is parents to St. Joseph coun-

ty, Michigan. In the spring of 1853, he left

home and went overland to California, crossing

the plains with an ox team, was engaged in min-

ing and lumbering until 1859, then returned by

way of the Isthmus of Pannama. He reached

Michigan in August, 1859, and the 1st of the fol-

lowing November, married Miss Sarah Jane Beed,

who bore him three children, two of whom are

living; She died on the 8th of April, 1864, soon

after which Mr. Hile enlisted in the Fourteenth

Michigan Light Artillery and served till July,

1865. He then returned to his home and children,

and on the 3rd of September, 1865, married Miss

Henrietta E. Vincent, who has borne him four

children, three of whom are living. A month

after his marriage, Mr. Hile brought his family to

Minnesota and lived in the village of Morristown

till the following spring when he purchased land

in section seventeen and in March moved his fam-

ily to the farm which has since been their home.

He has been a member of the board of Supervis-

ors and is at present Chairman; in 1880, was elec-

ted Assessor of the town and upon the organiza-

tion of his school district was chosen Director and

is now Treasurer.

38

C. S! Jaokson was born in Tipton county, In-

diana, on the 12th of July, 1842. In 1854, he re-

moved with his parents, Thomas and Margaret

Jackson, to Webster county, Iowa, and in 1856,

to Waseca county, Minnesota. In April, 1861, he

enlisted for' that month in Company G, of the

First Minnesota Volunteer Infantry and on the

29th of the mouth re-enlisted in the same regi-

ment for three years. He was discharged and re-

turned to his home, but in February, 1865, again

re-enlisted, in Battery L, of the First Minnesota

Heavy Artillery, was promoted from Sergeant to

Commissary of the Eegiment, and received his

discharge on the 27th of September, 1865, the

close of the war, having participated in twenty

-

two battles. Mr. Jackson's military record was

not excelled by any private soldier,and it is stated

by one of his comrades that at the battle of

Gettysburg he took at least forty prisoners, single

handed and alone, which fact can be attested by
Sergeant C. 0. Parker and many others of the

company. On the 22d of November, 1865, he

was married to Miss Mary E. Donaldson, who
has borne him five children, four boys and one

girl, the latter of whom died on tlie 12th of Au-

gust, 1881. After returning from rhe war Mr.

Jaokson removed to Morristown, and was em-

ployed as an engineer in a mill for three years.

Finding that the business did not agree with his

health he rented a small building and opened a

tin shop, employed a tinsmith and learned the

trade in his own shop. He now carries a good

stock of general hardware. He was elected Jus-

tice of the Peace in 1877, and held the offiqe until

1882, when he resigned.

Aaron Kisob is a native of Ohio, bom on the

13th of October, 1833. When ten years old he

moved with his parents to Wisconsin where he

was engaged in agricultural pursuits until 1859,

then removed to Le Sueur county, Minnesota.

While in Wisconsin he married Miss S. G. Dun-

lavey, a native of New York City, the ceremony

taking place on the 15th of September, 1855.

They have had eleven children, ten of whom are

living, eight boys and two girls. In 1875, they

moved to this township and settled in section fif-

teen, where they still live. Soon after his arrival

here Mr. Kisor was elected Town Treasurer, and

in 1879, Chairman of the board of Supervisors.

Seth H. Kenney, a native of Massachusetts,

was born m Williamstown, Berkshire county, on
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the 22d of February, 1836. In 1848, he moved

with his parents to Franklin county, and after-

ward resided in different counties in the same

State, remaining until 1857, when he moved west

to Minnesota and settled in Faribault, and the

following year bought land in section six, Mor-

ristown. He has since made the place his horns

and added to his farm, which now contains tliree

hundred and thirty-eight acres. On the 29th of

July, 1859, he was united in marriage with Miss

Olive Purinton, of St. Lawrence county. New
York, and they have four children, three sons and

one daughter. In 1869, he was chosen Chairman

of the board of Supervisors; in 1870, was elected

Justice of the Peace, and several times has been

clerk in his school district; in 1878 and '79, was

a Eepresentative in the State Legislature. Mr.

Kenney devotes his entire time to the manufac-

ture of sorghum and amber sugar, has a fine mill

and makes the best article in the State.

John Laeson was born in Norway on the 30th

of December, 1830; He was married in his native

land on the 1st of October, 1858, to Miss Anna
Anderson. They have had five children, four of

whom are now living, two boys and two girls, the

oldest having died after coming to this place in

1881. Mr. Larson came to America in 1869, re-

mained in St. Paul one year, during which time he

earned money with which to send for his family.

Soon after he purchased lanj. in Morristown and

has since enjoyed life in a comfortable home.

WaijTeb Morris, one of the early settlers in

this place, having come as early as April, 1855,

was born in Ohio on the 12th of January, 1833.

In 1846, his parents moved to Indiana, and in

1853, to St. Paul, thence to Hastings until 1854,

when they settled in Faribault where our subject

was one of the original proprietors, selling his in-

terest to John W. North. An event of his life,

which he will always remember, happened iii

1854, when he assisted Alexander Faribault in

getting five hundred Indians across the Bedwood
to receive their pay. While on their way thither

the Indians obtained liquor, got drunk and made
numerous threats, but were finally sobered down
and reached their destination in safety. After

leaving Mankato they traveled two and a half

days with nothing to eat and when finding a

skunk, which made them a meal, they thought

themselves fortunate. Mr. Morris was married on
the 4th of July, 1857, to Miss Anna Chilstrum.

She died on the' 17th of June, 1858, leaving one

child. His present wife was formerly Miss Solina

McQ-indley, whom he married on the 18th of Sep-

tember, 1860. Of four children born to this

union, two are living. In 1855, Mr. Morris was

appointed by Gov. Gorman, Justice of the Peace,

and afterward elected to the office, holding the

same four terms. In 1861, he removed to Owa-

tonna, where he was County Auditor and Register

of Deeds. In the fall of 1863, he resigned, and

the following spring made a trip to Colorado, en-

gaged in farming and remained two years, but as

the grasshoppers harvested both crops he removed

to Mason, Missouri. There he was Deputy Clerk

of the Court and Kegister of Deeds and remained

until 1870, then went to St. Louip, and in 1875,

returned to Morristown, which has since been his

home, engaged in mercantile pursuits. He is

Town Clerk and Postmaster.

M.iTHiAS Nelson is a native of Norway, born

on the 6th of January, 1837. His father died

leaving his mother and three children who emi-

grated to America in 1847. They first settled in

Waukesha county, Wisconsin, and remained until

coming to this township in 1856, being among
the first settlers. Mr. Nelson's brother, Nels, en -

listed in the army in 1862, and never returned;

his sister, Mary E., is married and lives in Lyon
county, and his mother, Catharine Nelson, died on

the 11th of June, 1881, in her seventy-sixth yearr

He was married on the 3d of April, 1864, to Miss

Elizabeth Lind, a native of Germany. They have

five children, two boys and three girls. He has

been a school Director the past term.

H. H. OsTERHouT was born in Detroit, Michi-

gan, on the 28th of April, 1832. He remained at

home until reaching the age of manhood, when he

engaged in the lumber business and as a mill-

wright. He was married on the 13th of April,

1857, to Miss Alvah A. Hall, who has borne him
four children, three of whom are living. In 1866,

Ml-. Oaterhout was made a member of the Post

Hope Masonic Lodge of Michigan, No. 138, and
in 1876, was converted and joined the Methodist

church. On removing to Morristown in 1877, he

joined the lodge in this place and also the M. E-

Church, of which he is class-leader and local

preacher. Soon after comming he purchased the

saw-mill and haading factory of which he is pro-

prietor.

C. H. PaBiNTON was born in New York on the
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15th of October, 1856, and resided in his native

State until the age of seventeen years. He then

came to Minnssota with his parents and settled in

this township in section eighteen, which has since

been his home. He is at present school Olerk for

district No 90.

Joseph K. SotrTHWicK was born in Monmouth

county, New Jersey, on the 12th of May, 1832.

For a time he was engaged in running a saw -mill,

and in 1848, moved to Indiana where he speafc six

years, then returned to his native place. Oa the

10th of February, 1856, he was joined in marri-

age with Miss Susan "Williams. They have had nine

children, seven of whom are living. In 1869, he

came west to Minnesota and purchased his farm

which has since been his home. He is one of the

school Directors in district No. 90.

Feanz Sohnbidbb was born in Germany on the

5th of April, 1830, and in 1856, emigrated to

America; first located in Wisconsin, where he en-

gaged in farming until 1878, then removed to this

place and bought his present farm of one hundred

and thirty-six acres. Mr. Schneider has been

married; first on the 4th of April, 1857, to Miss

Mary Hienz, who bore him eight children, six of

whom are still living. 3he died on the 9th of

September, 1879. The maiden name of his pres-

ent wife was Miss Johanna Gudensohwager, whom
he married on the 2d of June, 1882.

William Eiley Soule was born in Albany

county, New York, on the 22d of July, 1837.

His father died when William was ten years old,

leaving nine children dependent on their mother.

In 1848, she removed to Watertown, Wisconsin,

our subject remaining with his brother, B. F., in

New York, until the next year, when they too

moved to the same place. In 1850, William went

to Iowa, and four years later came to Morristown,

staking out land in section twenty-three, but be-

ing too young to hold it he was offered and accep-

ted $200 for it and the improvements, which con-

sisted of some house logs, four thousand rails, and

ten acres broken. In March, 1855. he removed to

his present place on section thirty-three, and soon

returned to Wisconsin for his mother, brothers, and

sisters. In 1865, he enlisted in the First Minne-

sota Heavy Artillery, Company L.; was in several

skirmishes and at the close of the war received an

honorable discharge at Nashville, Tennessee, and

came directly home. He has been elected to local

offices several times, but refused to serve. He was

married on the 21st of February, 1880, to Miss

Mary E. Veal and the union has been blessed with

one child, Kebecca Jane. His mother died the

11th of July, 1876.

-4^^
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EXPLOBEKS AND PIONEERS OP MINNESOTA.

Abraham, Plains of 1

Accault (Ako) Michael, compan-
ion of Hennepin, 10, 18, 20, 23, 24, 26
Described by La Selle 18
Leader of Mississippi Explo-
rations 19

Achiganaga arrested by Perrofc. . . 12
Tried for murder before Du
Luth 13

Aiouez, see loways
Albanel, Jesuit missionary at
Sault St. Marie 11

Allouez, Jesuit missionary visits
La Pointe 4
Meets the Sioux at the ex-
tremity of Lake Superior.. 4

Ames, M. Ey early lawyer . . .
.- 122

Anderson, Captain in British ser-
vice 81

Andrews, Joseph, killed by Sisse-
ton SiouY. .- 92

Aquipaguetin, Sioux chief men-
tioned by Hennepin 21, 27

Assineboines 2, 9, 23, 43, 46. 65
Augelle, Anthony, alias Pioard
du Guy, associate of Hennepin

10,18,23,24, 26
Ayer, Frederick, missionary to
Ojibways 107

Baker, B. P., Indian trader 112
Bailly, Alexis, drives cattle to
Pembina 93
Member of Legislature 93

Baloombe,St. A. D 127

Balfour, Captain 62
Bass, J. W., early settler at St.

Paul 116

Beauharnois, Governor, favors
Verendrye 68

Beaujean, urged by Langlade of
Wisconsin, defeats Braddook.. 61

Bi'Uin alludes to Fort Eouge on
lied river 87
Fort on St. Croix river 112

Beltrami. G. C, notice of 93
Discovers northern sources of
the Mississippi 94

Bishop, Harriet E., establishes
school at St. Paul 114

Blue Earth Kiver explored 45, 47

D'Evaque visits 48

Boal, J. M,, early settler at St.

Paul 116, 118
Bottineau, J. B., exposed in a
snow storm 102

Boisguillot, early trader on Wis-
consin and Mississippi 32

Boucher, Pierre, described Lake
Superior copper mines 7

Father of Bieur de Le Per-
riere 51

Bonder trades with the Sioux 48
Attacked by the I'oxes 49

Bougainville, mentions Indian
tribes seen by Verendrye 60

Boutwell, Eev. W. T., Ojibway
missionary 106, 118

Removes to Stillwater Ill

Notice of Stillwater 114
Eraddock's defeat 61

PAGES 1 TO 128.
PAGE

Bremer, Frederka, Swedish nov-
elist in Minnesota 122

Brisbin, J. B 127
Brisbois, Lieutenant in British
service 81

Brissette, Edward, notice of 114
Brown, Joseph K.. drummer boy
at Fort Snelling 95
Trading Post at Lake Trav-
erse 102
Keeps a grog shop fur sol-
diers 103

At Grey Cloud Island 113
Member of Wisconsin Leg-
islature 115

Makes a town site bear
Stillwa+er 118

Secretary of Council 1819.. 119
Bruce, trader at'Green B;iy 63
Branson, Eev. A., Methodist Mis-
sionary Ill, 113

Branson, B. W 119
Brusky, Charles, Indian trailer.. 77
Bulwer, Sir E. L., translation of
Sioux Death Song 67

Cameron, Murdock, sells liquor
to Indians 74

Campbell. Colin, interpreter 92
Carver's Cave mentioned 66, 78 81
Carver, Capt. Jonathan, early life
of 64
In battle of Lake George 64
Arrival at Mackinaw 64
Describes the fort at Green
Bay ; 61

Visits Winebago Village 61
Visits Fox Village 64
Describes Prairie du Chien. . . 64
Describes earth works at
Lake Pepin 65

Desoribescaveat St. Paul 66
Describes Falls of St- An-
thony 66

Describes Minnesota river. . . 66
Describes funeral rites 67
Translation of Bulwer ana
Herschell 67, 68

His alleged deed for Sioux
land VO

Grandsons of, visit Minne-
sota 82

Charlevoix on La Hontan's fab-
rications 86
On Le Sueur's mining opera-
tions 45

Chatfield, A. G., Territorial
3 udge ; 125

Chouart, Medard, see Groselliers
Christinaux mentioned 43, 44
Clark, Lt. Nathan, at "Fort Snel-
ling 90
LettersfromGen. Gibson 94

Coe, Eev. Alvan, visits Fort Snel-
ling in 1829 106

Convention to form a State Con-
stitution 128

Cooper, David, Territorial Judge 118
Copper mines of Lake Superior,
Early notice of 7
Notice of Isle Boyal J

PAGE
Notice of Ontanapon 7

Copper mines spoken of by
Talon. A.D., 1669 7

Coquard, Father, accompanies
Verendrye 60
Mentions Eocky Mountain
Indians 60

Dakotahs or Dahkotahs.see Sioux
D'Avagour, Governor of Canada,
opinion of the region West of
LakeSuperior 1

Day, Dr. David 124
De Gonor, Jesuit, visits Lake
Pepin 51, 58
Eeturn to Canada 54
Converses with Verendrye... 58

De la Barre, Governor, notices
Du Luth 11

De la Tour, Jesuits missionary. . . 13
DelaTourette. Greysolon, broth-
er of Du Lath 16

Denis, Canadian voyageur, joins
Le Sueur 42

Denonville, Governor, attacks
Seneccas 15
Orders Du Luth to build a
Fort 16

Sendi for western allies 80
Commissions Du Luth 32

Denton, Eev. D., missionaiy to
Sioux m

D'Esprit, Pierre, see Eadi.'ison. ... -
D'llvaque, in charge of Fort
L'Huiilier 48

Devotion, M., sutler at Fort
Snelling : 91

D'lberville, Gov., criticises Hen-
nepin 28
Relative of Le Sueur 39

Dieskau, Baron 61
Dickson, Col. Robert, visits Lt.
Pike 77
Trading post at Grand liapids 78
At Mendota 78
During war of ltH2 80, 81
At Lake Traverse 89
At Fort Snelling gs, 96
William, son of Eobert 96

Du Uhesneau, intendant of Can-
ada, complains of Duluth 11

Du Luth, Daniel Greysolon, early
lifeoJ 9
Various spellings of his name 6
Establishes a Fort at Kaman-
istigoya 9

Descends the St. Croix river
11, 112

Arrests and executes Indians
at Sault St. Marie U

Brings allies to Niagara, for
De la Barre 15

Establishes a Fort on Lake
Erie 15

Returns to Lake Erie with his
cousin Tonty 16

Brother of, from Lake Nepi-
gon 16

In command at Fort Fronte-
nac .J 16

Death of 17
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PAGE
At Valla of Bb. Authuiiy . . . .18, 25
Meets Hennt pin 25
Tribute to 27

. HiB tour from Lake Superior
to Mississippi 112

Meets Accault and Hennepin 112
Du Pay, a voyageur 10
Darantaye, commander at Mack-
inaw S3
At Ticonderoga 62
At Ni agara 15

Ely, E. F., missionary teacher, .

.

110
Enjal] . 1, Jesuit missionary at
Sault 1st. fllaire It, 13

Faffart, interpreter for Du Luth. 10
Visits the iSiou-x It

Falls of Saint Anthony, first

white man at ^ 25
First mill at 03, 9t
Described by L-^ S iUe 19

Described byHennppin. 24. 25, 26

Described by Lt.Z.M.Pike, 75. 76
- Described by Major Long

—

85

First newspaper at 123

Bridge, first across Missis-
sippi 126

Fisher, trader at Green Bay G3
Fitch, pioneer in iSt. Croix Val-
ley 112

Flat Mouth, Ojibway Chief, vis-

its Fort Snellin?, A. D. i>^27 .... 97

Forsyth, Major Thomas, accom-
panies first troops to Fort Snel-
fing 91
Pays Indians for reservation. .

.

91
Fort Beauharnois established A.
D. 1727, at Lake Pepin 51, 52

Commanded -by St. Pierre, 56, 57

Fort Crawford lOU
La Eeine, on River Assine-
boine 33, 87

Le Sueur, below Hastings ... 37

L'Huillier on BIug Karth
river 43

Left in charge of D'Evaque 47

McKay..... -. 81

Perrot, at Lake Pepin 29
Shelby, at Prairie du Chien

80, 81

Fort Snelling site secured by Lt.
Pike 75
Troops for, at Prairie du
Ohxen 90

Birth of Charlotte Ouiscon-
sin Clark 90

Col. Leji venworth arrives at
Mend( ta 91

First ofi&cers at cantonment.

.

91

Major Taliaferro Indian
agent at 91

Cass and Schoolcraft visits.

.

92

Col. Spelling succeeds Leav-
enworth 92

Events of A. D. 1821 93

Advance in building 93

Events of A. D. 1822, A. D.
1823 93

- First steamboat at 93

Beltrami, the Italian, at.. 93, 94

Major H. 8. Long arrives at.

.

94

Government mill near 94

Sunday School at 94

Events of A. D. 1821: 95

General Bcott suggests name
forfort 95

Euents of A. D. 1825 and 1826, 96

Mail arrival at 96

Great snowstorm March,1826, 96

High water at, April 21. 1826, 97

Slaves belonging to officers

at 97

Steamboac arrivals to close

ofl828 97

General Gaines censures Col-
onel of 97

Events of A. D. 1827 98

Flat Mouth. Ojibway chief.

viBits,inl827 98

Col. Snelling delivers mur-
derers for execution 99

Construction of, criticised by
General Gaines. 100

Kev. Alva Coeinl829 preach-

es at 106

J. N. Nicollet arrives at 102
Marriages at 102, 108, 120
Steamer Palmyra at, in July,

1838, with notice of ratifica-
• tion of Indian treaties 112
Indian council held at, by
Governor Ramsey 121

Fort St. Anthony, now Snelling. . 95
St. Charles, on Lake of the
Woods 58

St. Joseph, on Lake Erie, es-
tablished by DuLuth 16

St. Pierre, on Rainy Lake .... 58
In terview with Perrot 31
Mentioned, 33, 37, 38, 48, 46, 54, 55

Franklin, Sir John, relics of,pass
through St. Paul 126

Frontenac, Governor of Canada. 10
Friend of Duluth 11
Encourages Le Sueur 39

Frazer, trader 78
Fuller^ Jerome, Territorial Chief
Justice 123

Furber, J, W 127
GaJtier, Rev. L., builds first
chapel in St. Paul 114

Gavin, Rev. Daniel missionary.. Ill
Gibsijn. General, letters relative
to fclt. Anthony mill 94

Giilan, Capt. Zachary, of Bos-
ton, accompanied by Grosel-
lies and Radissou, sails for
Hudson's Bay in ship None-
such 5

Goodhue, James M., first Minne-
sota editor 117
Death of., :. 124

Goodrich, Aaron, Territorial
Judge 118

Gorman, Willis A. Governor 125
Gorrell, Lieut, at Green Bay— 62
Graham, Duncan, arrives at Fort
Snelling 100

Grant trader at Sandy Lake, vis-
ited'by Pike 77

Gravier, Father James, criticises
Hennepin 28

Greeley, Elam . . . = 109
Griffins;, La Salle's ship 10

Voyage to Green Bay 19
Grignod, Cabtain in British ser-
vice 78, 81

Groselliere, Sieur, early life— 1, 6

Visits Mille Lacs region 2
Meets the Assineboines 2
Visits Hudson's Bay 4

Name given to what is now
Pigeon river 5

Visits New England 6
Encouraged by Prince Ru-
pert 5

Death of 6

Guignas, Father, missionary at
Fort Beauharnois - 51

Guignas, Father, captured by In-
dians 54

Returns to Lake Pepin 56
Gun, grandson of Carver 82
Hall. Rev. Shermanj Ojibway
missionary 107

Moves to Sauk Rapids Ill

Hayner, H. Z., Chief Justice of
Territory 124

Hempstead accompanies Major
Long, A. D. 1817 82

Hennepin.Louis, Franciscan mis-
sionary, early life of 19

Depreciates Jesuits 18

At Falls of St. Anthony
16,22,24, 25

Denounced by La Salle 19

Chaplain of La Salle 20

AtLake Pepin 22

Met byDu Luth 25

Career on return to Europe. . 25

His later days 28
Opinion of Jesuit Missions.. 106

Henniss, C. J., Editor 122
Herschell, Sir John, translates

Schiller's song. Son of Sioux
Chief 68

Historical Society, first public
meeting 119

Hobart. Rev. 119

FAOE
Holcomb, Capt. William IIG
Hole-in-the-Day, the father at-
tacks the Sioux 103

Hole-in-the-Day, junior attacks
Sioux near St. Paul 121
On first steamboat above falls
of St. Anthony 121

Howe, early settler at Marine 113
Huggins, Alexander, mission
farmer 107

Hurnus drive.n to Minnesota 2
At war with the Sioux 4

Indiana Territory organized 73
Indians of Mississippi Valley,
earliest communication about. 46
Upper Missouri, seen by Ver-
endrye 60

Minnesota 101
lowaysj visited by Hurons 2

Visit Perrot at Lake Pepin ... 29
Iroquois, Virgin, her intercession
sought by Du Luth 17

Isle, Pelee, of the Mississippi,
below St. Croix River 87

Isle Royal, copper in 1667, noticed 7
Itasca, origin of word 107
Jackson, Henry, early settler in

St. Paul 114, 115
Jemeraye, Sieur de la, with the
Sioux 56
Explores to Rainy Lake..58, 59
Death of 59

Jesuit, Father AUouez 4
Cbardon 52
De Gonor 51
De la Chasse 51
Guignas 51, 54, 55, 56
Marquette 5
Menard 2, 3
Messayer 58

Jesuit missions unsuccessful 106
Johnson. Parsons K li9
Judd, earW settler at Marine 113
Kaposia, Chief, requests a mis-
sionary 114

Kennerman, Pike's sergeant 79
Kickapoos, at Fort Perrot 30

Capture French from Lake
Pepjn 54

King, grandson of Carver 82
La Hontan, his early life 35

Ascent of theFoxRiver 35
Criticised Carlevoix 36
Noticed by Nicollet 36

Laidlow travels from Selkirk set-
tlement to Prairie du Chien. ... 91
At Fort Snelling 83

Lac qui Parle Mission 109
Lake Calhoun, Indian farm es-
tablished 106

Lake Harriet mission described.. 109
Lake Pepin, called Lake of Tears

Described in A. D. 17C0 41
Fort Perrot at 29
Fort Beauharnois at 53

Lake Pokeguma Mission 109
La Monde, a voyager 10
Landsing, trader, killed 63
Lambert, David, early settler in

St. Paul ...; 118
Lambert, Henry A., early settler
in St. Paul 119

Langlade, of Green Bay, urges
attack of Braddock 61

La Perriere, Sieur de, proceeds to
Sioux country 81
Son of Pierre Boucher 51
Arrives at Lake Pepin 52

La I'orte, see Lovigny
La Potherie descrioes Fort Per-
rot at Lake Pepin 29

Larpenteur, A., early settler in
St. Paul 116

La Salle licensed to trade in Buf-
falo robes 10

Criticises Du Luth 10, 18
First to aescribe Upper Mis-
sissippi 18

Describes falls of St. Anthony 19
La Taupine, see Moreau
Laurence. Phineas, pioneer at St.

Croix Valley 113

Leach, Calvin, a founder of Still-

water U*
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PAGE
Lead mines on MiReissippi 33
Ijeavenworth, Colonel, estab-
lishes Fort Snelling 90

Legardeur, Augustine, associate
of Perrot 32

Legislature, Territoxial 119 to 127
First State Legislature 128

Leslie, Lt., command at ' Macki-
naw 62

L'Huillier, Fort, why named 43
Le Sueur, associated with Per-
rot, builds a fort below Has-
tings ?2
At Lake Pepin in 1683 and

1689 87, 40
lAt La Ponte of Lake Supe-

rior, 1692 87

Brings first Sioux chief to
Montreal ; 37, 83

Visits France 38
Arrives in Gulf of Mexico... 39
Passes Perrot's lead mines... 40
At the Kivcr St. Croix .' 42
Holds a council with the
Sioux 44

Returns to Gulf of Mexico . 45, 74
Libbey, Washington, pioneer at
St. Croix Falls 113

Lignery, commands at Macki-
naw 50

At Fort Duciuesne 61
Linctot, commander at Macki-
naw 51

Little Crow, Sioux chief, goes in
1821 to Washington.. 95

Long, Major Stephen H.. tour to
St. Anthony, A. D. 1817 82
Burial place 83

Kaposia Village 86
Carver's cave 84

St. Anthony Falls 85
- Opinion of the site of Fort

Snelling 86

Loomis, Captain Gustavus A.,

U.S. A 108

Loomis, D. B., early settler of St.

Croix Valley... 122

Loras, Bishop of Dubuque 109

Louisiana, transfer of 73

Lowry, Sylvanns, early settler. . . 127

Macalester College 125

Mackinaw re-occupied 50
Presbyterian mission at 106

Rey. Dr. Morse visits 196

Robert Stuart resides at 106

Rev. W. M. Ferry, mission-
ary at 108

Maginnis makes a claim at St.

Croix Falls 112

Map by Franctuelin indicates Du
Luth's explorations 9

Marest, James Joseph, Jesuit
missionary, signs the papers
taking possession of the Upper
Mississippi • . 32

Letter to Le Sueur 39

Marin, Larnarque de, French ofS-

cer \ 60

Marine, early settlers at 112

Marshall, Hon. W. R. mentioned,
115, 126

Marquette. Jesuit missionary at
La Pointe 4

Martin, Abraham, pilot 1

Maskoutens mentioned 37

Massacre Island, Lake of the
Woods origin of the name 59

McGillis, Hugh, N. W. Co. Agent,
Leech Lake 78

McGregor, English trader ar-

rested 15

McKay, trader from Albany 63

Lt. Col. William attacks
Prarie du Chien 81

MoKean, Bliaa, a founder of Still-

water 113

McKenzie, old trader 87

McKusick J., a founder of Still-

water 113

McLean, Kathaniel, editor 119

MoLeod, Martin, exposed to snow
storm 103

Menard Rene, Jesuit missionary
letter of 2

PAGE
Among the Ottowas of Lake
Superior 3

Medary, Governor, Samuel 127
Meeker, B. B., Territorial Judge

118, 119
Messaver, Father, accompanies
the Verendrye expedition 58

Miami Indians visited by Perrot, 30
Ask for a trading post on Mis-
sippi 33

Mill, first in Minnesota 93, 98
MilleLaos Sioux visited by Du
Luth 9

- Hennepin 22
Minnesota, meaning of the word, 116

River, first steamboat in 122
Historical Society 119
Territory, proposed bounda-

ries '. 115
Convention at Stillwater 115
When organized 117
First election 118
First Legislature 118
First counties organized 119
Recognized as a State 128

Mitchell, Alexander M., U. 8.
Marshal IIS
Candidate for Congress . : 125

Missions, Jesuit : 5,16, 106
Mission Stations 106 to 111

Missionaries. Rev. Alvan Cog
visits Fort Snelling 107
Frederick Ayer 107

W.T. Boutwell 107

E. F. Ely, (teacher) 109
Mr. Denton Ill
Sherman Hall 107
Daniel Gavin Ill

John F. Alton Ill
Robert Hopkins 117

Gideon H. Pond 107
Samuel W. Pond 107

J. W. Hancock Hi
J.D.Stevens 107

S.R. Riggs Ill
T. S. Williamson, M. D 107

M.N. Adams Ul
Moreau, Pierre, with Du Luth at
Lake Superior. 9 .

Morrison, William, old trader,73, 87
Moss, Henry L., U. S. District
Attorney 118

Kadowaysioux, see Sioux
Newspapers, first in St. Paul

117 to 123
Nicolet, Jean, first white trader

in Wiscdnsin .-. 1
Nicollet, J. N., astronomer and
geologist 102

Nivervule, Boucher de, at Lake
Winnipeg 60

Norris, J. S 126
North, J.W 122, 128
Northwest company trading posts 73
None. Robertal de la, rc-occupies
Du Luth's post at the head of
Lake Superior 50

Ochagachs, draws a map for Ve-
rendrye 58
Mentioned by the geographer
Bellin 87

Ojigways or Chippewas. ^..30, 31, 87
Early residence of 105
Principal villages of 105
Of Lake Pokeguma attacked 110
Treaty of 1837 112

Oliver, Lieut. U. S. A., detained
by ice at Hastings 91

01mstead,S. B.., 126
Olmsted, David, President of

first council 119
Candidate for Congress 122
Editor of Democrat 125

One Eyed SIotix, alias Hourgiie
Original Leve, Rising Moose.. 85
Loyal to America during war
of 1812 . 81

Ottawas, their migrations 2
ObtoeSj mentioned 42, 43, 41
Ouasicoude, ( Wah-zee-ko-tay )

Sioux chief mentioned by Hen
nepin 23, 27

Owens. John P., editor 123

PAGK
Pacific Ocean, route to

36, ro, 58, OJ, 69
Persons, Rev. J. P 110
Petron, uncle of Du Luth 11
Penicaut describes Fort Perrot. . 29

FortLe Sueur on Isle Pelee.. 37
Mississippi river 42
Describes Fort L'Huillier... 47

Pennensha, French,trader among
the Sioux ^ 53

Pere see Perrot.
Perkins, Lt. U. S, A., in charge of
IPort Shelby 80

PerrierrOj see L. Perrierre. •

Perrot, Nicholas, arrests Acbigar
naga at Lake Superior 12
Earlydays of 20
Account of Father Menard's
ascent of the Mississippi
and Black Rivers 2

Suspected of poisoning La
Salle 29

Associated with Du Luth 29
Presents a silver ostensorium 30
In the Seneca expedition 81
His return to Lake Pepin 81
Takes possession of the coun-
try 32

Condu cts a convoy from Mon-
treal 34, 88

Establishes a post on Kala-
mazoo river . 31

Threatened with death by
Indians 38

Peters, Rev. Samuel, interested
in the Carver claim 70,71, 96

Petuns, see Hurons-
Phillips, \V. D., early lawyer at
St Paul 116, 119

Pike, Lt. Z. M., U. S. army at
Prairie du Ohien 74
Address to Indians 74
Description of Falls of St.
Anthony 75, 76

Block house at Swan River.. 77
At Sandy Lake 77
At Leech Lake 78
At Dickson's trading post... 78
Confers with Little Crow 78
Pinchon, see Pennensha.

Pinchon, Fils de, Sioux chief,
confers with Pike 78
Editor of Dakotah Friend... 122.
Interpreter at treaty of 1851. 124

Pond, Rev. Samuel W. notifies
the agent of a Sioiix war party 103

Porlier, trader near Sauk Eapids
76; 78

Poupoiij Isadore, killed bj Sisse-
ton Sioux 92

Prairie du Chien described by
Carver 64
During war of 1812-1815 80
McKayat 81

Prcscott, Philander, early life. . . 91
Provencalle, loyal to America in
war of 1812 81

Quinn, Peter 103
Raclos, Madeline, wife of Nicho-

las Perrot 34
Radisson, Sieur, early life and
marriage 2

Rae, Dr., Arctic explorer at St.
Paul 124

Ramsey, Hon. Alexander, first
Governor 117
Guest of H. H. Sibley at Men-
dota 118

Becomes a resident of St.
Paul 118

Holds Indian council at Fort
Snelling 121

Randin, visits extremity of Lake
Superior 110

Ravoux, Rev. A., Sioux mission-
ary 109

Reaume, Sieur, interpreter 52
Bed River of the North, men-
tioned 87

Renville, Joseph, mention of. .76, 109
Renville, John 109
Republican convention at St.An- -

thony : 126
JSice, Hon. Henry M., steps to or-
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ary, letter of Ill
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Robertson, Daniel A,, editor,. 124, 125
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In charge at Mackinaw 62, 66
Rolette, Joseph, 8r., in the Brit-
ish service 81

Rolette, Joseph, Jr 127
Roseboom, English trader, ar-

rested near Macninaw 15
Roseboom, trader at Green Bay. 63
RoBser, J. T., Secretary of Ter-
ritory 12o

Russell, Jeremiah, pioneer in St.,

Croix Valley 109, i;2
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perior copper 7

Saint Anthony Express, first pa-
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-G- overnment mill at 93, Pi
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nam.e 42, 1!'2
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Early Settlers of 114
High water in 1850 121
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Superior 50
At Lake Pepin 55, 65
Commander at Mackinaw 61
At Fort La Reine 60
In N. W. Pennsylvania 60, 61
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Fort at 60

Schiller, versifies a Sioux chief's
sneech 67

Scott, Dreid,* slave at Fort Snell-
ing 97

Scott, General Winfield, suggests
the name of Fort Snelling 163

Selkirk, Earl, Thomas Dou^liis.. 87
Hemple, Governor of Selkirk set-
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Shea, J. G., on failure to estab-
lish Sioux mission 106

Sherburne Moses, Judge 12

j

Shields, Gen. James, elected U.
S. Senator 128

Sibley. Hon. H. H., at Stillwater
convention 115

Delegate to Congress from
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Sioux, origin of the word 1

Peculiar language of 4

Villages visited by Du Luth.. 9
Descri bed by Cadillac 16
Meet Accault and Hennepin,
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Nicolas Perrot 29
Described by Perrot 81
Meaning of the word 104
Different bands of 104
Warpaytwawns 105
Seeseetwawns 105
Mantantaws 32, 4^1

Sissetons 32
Oujalespoitone 43, 44
Chief's speech to Frontenac ?8
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Chief visits Fort L'lluillier. JS
In council with Le Sueur 44
Visited by Jesuits 51
A foil to the Foxes 55
Bands desciibed by Carver. .. 65
Chiefs speech described by
Carver 67

Langna^Cj Carver's views onT o'J

Chief. Original Leve, Pike's
friend 7"), 81

Formerly dwelt at Leech
Lake 78

Sissoton murderer brought to
Fort Snelling 92

In council with Ojibways ... 91
Sioux Delegation in A. D. 1-821,

go to Washington 95
Delivered by Col. Snelliii-. . . 99
Executed by Ojibways 99
Killed by Ojibways, April,

1838 : 103
Attack Lake Pokeguma band
in 1811 110

Arc attacked in 1842 Ill
Treaties of 1851 123
Attacked in St. Paul by Ojib-
ways 125

iMmpson, early settler in St. Paul 114
I'lavps, African, in Minnesota 97
Smith, C. K., first Secretary of
Territory 118 U9

Snellinir. Col. Josiah, arrives at
Fort onelling . 92
Delivers Sioux assassins to
Ojibways , 99

Death of 101

W. Joseph, son of Colonel,
career of 97

Pasquinade on N. P. Willis.. . 98
Steele, Franklin, pioneer of Sb.
Croix Valley 112, 113
At Stillwater Convention,

1848 115
Stevens, Rev. J. D 106. 108
Stillwater, battle between Sioux
and Ojibways 103

Founders of 113
Land slide in 1852 124

Stratton, pioneer in St. Croix
Valley lia, 113
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Stuart, Robert, at Mackinaw, in-
fluence of 106

Swiss emigrants, at Red River... 89
Taliaferro. Maj. Lawrence, agent
for the Sioux, notice of 91
Letter to Col. Leven worth.. 92
Takes Indians to Washington
A. D. 1824 93

Tanner, John, stolen from his
parents . . , 88

Tannery for Buffalo skins 46 48
Taylor, Jessie B., pioneer in St.
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Joshua L 118

N. C. D., Speaker House of
Representatives 1854 126

Speech to Gov. Frontenac 38
Tegalikouita, Catherine, the Iro-
quois virgin 17

Terry, Elijah, murdered by Sioux
at Pembina 124

Thompson, David, geographer,
N. W. Co 78

Tonty, Henry, with DuLuth at
Niagara 15

Treaties of 1837 with Sioux and
Ojibways 112

Tuttle, C. A.,at Falls of St. Croix 112
Uuiversity of Minnesota created 122
Van Cleve, Gen. H. P 9i'

Varennes, Pierre Gualtier, see
Terendrye.

Vercheres, in command at Green
Bay 61

VereudryCj Sieur, early li fe of . . . 58
Expedition west of Like Su-
perior 58

Return to Lake of the Woods 95
Sieur, Jr., accompanies St.
Pierre 59, 61

Wahkautape, Sioux chief ^visits
Le Sueur '.

. , .43, 44
Wahmatah, Sioux chief 95
Wait.L B 119
Wakefield, John A 116
Wales, W.W 127
Washington visits St. Pierre 60
Welch, W^. Chief Justice of
TerritoryTT. 125

Wells, James, trader, married. .. 102
At Lake Pepin . 117

Wilkin, Alexander, Secretary of
Territory 124
Candidate for Congress 125

Williamson, Re^s. T. S., M. D.
early life 107
Organizes church at Fort
Snelling 108

Missionary at Lac qui Parle
Kaposia 114

Willis, N. P., lampoons Joseph
Snelling 97

Winnebagoes mentioned 40, 52
Wisconsin River called Meschetz
Obeda by La Salle 18

Wolfe, General, death of 1
Wood, trader among Sioux 78
Xeiser, Captain at Fort Shelby.. 80
Yuhazee, executed at St . Paul. . . 124
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of 218
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Expedition to Fort Leavenworth 219
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Ulm 217
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the relief of Fort Abercrombie 235

Fort Abercrombie relieved 239
Fortifications erected at Paynes-
Tille, Maine Fraixie, St. Joseph,

Page 177 to 250.

and Sauk Centre : 231
Galbraith, Major, statement of . . 184
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Indians, thirty-eight hung at
Mankato 254

Indians, annuity, paid 183

Indian chiefs at church 188
Indian officials changed 188
Indians, large numbers of, ar-
rive at Yfellow Medicine 193

Indians forcibly enter the ware
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Little Crow, death of 256

Statement by aonof 250
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Marsh, Capt. killed 221
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Reunion at Barron House.; 327
Reunion of First Minnesota Vol-
unteer Infantry 328

Robbery 822
Saw and grist mill 324
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Seabury Divinity School 849 351
Shields, Gen 319
Shattuck grammar school burned 325
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Storm 324
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Carleton College commencement
day 414 416
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Page 454—464.
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Description 454
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First settlers 454 456
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Early settlers 464 466
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Schools 467 468
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Post-office 473
Schools 474 475
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FOREST.
Page 478-490.
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Religious 482
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Mills 495 496
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Schools 496 497
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Schools 524 525
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537
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Town name • 537
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Page 545-553.

Biographical 550 553
Descriptive 545
Early events 548 549
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Pioneers 545 547
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Post-office.. 548
Religious j 548
Schools .547 548
Village of Vessley 549 550
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Page 654-564.

Biographical 660 564
Description of 554
Early settlers 555 557
Education 559 560
Events of interest 557 558
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Political 559
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Page 564-574.

Biographical 571 675

Churches 571

Early items 588
Educational 570
First settlers 565 .568

General description 564 565
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Political , 569
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Page. 575-582.

Biographical 581 582
Description of 575

Early notes 577 678
Early settlers 675 576

Pchools 579
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Town government 579
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Page 583-595.

Biographical 591 595

Descriptive 583 584

Early settlement 584 585

Educational 586 687
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Political : 585 586

Religious 586

ERRATA.

On page 341, the second sentence under the

head of "The school for Imbeciles and Idiots,"

should read "0»« of the first to call attention to the

matter, was- the Superintendent of the Deaf and

Dumb," &c.

On page 341, the first sentence of the second

paragraph under the same head, instead of "Under

the same authority and management as the Deaf

and Dumb and the Blind," should read "under

the same board of directors as the Deaf and Dumb
and the Blind.

On page 345, the top line in first column "and

the school for idiots and imbeciles" and in the

second line, the name "Dr. George H. Knight"

should be erased, so that the ^reading would be

"and Prof. J. J. Dow was appointed superinten-

dent of his respective department."



Minneapolis & St. Louis R'y.

The Albert Lea Route''
FOE All, POINTS IN
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Close connections are made in Union depots both in Minneapoiis and St. Paul -with trains of the
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and St. Louis. The only line running EXCLUStVELY PQLLMAN PALACE SLEEP-
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THE!
Northern Pacific Country,

FEOM THE

Great Lakes to the Pacific,
TEAVEKSES

The G-reat Wheat Belt, G-razing Range,

and the Vast Gold and

Silver Regions
OF

Minnesota, Dakota. Montana, Idaho, Washington, and Oregon.

The most attractive regions for new settlement are unquestionably the grain and grazing lands along the line of the
Northern Pacific railroad in Minnesota, Dakota. Montana, Id^ho, Oregoa and Washington Territory. No section is
settling so rapidly. None offers such advantages to the farmer and stock raiser. The Northern Pacific Kailroad. C(pm-
pany now offers for tale

4,000,000 Acres of the Most ProduGtive Wheat Lands
lathe world, adjacent to its completed road in Dakota and Minnesota, which lands are now ready for the plow. No
failure of crops to apprehend. Average yield of twenty-two bushels of whe^t to tlie acre in Dakota last year.
Twenty-five to thirty bushels of wheat not an exceptional crop. No agricultural industry is more profitable than wheat
farming upon these rich and rolling plains. The country is well watered. Plenty of timber for domestic purposes*
Low freight rates on farm products and settlers' household goods.

•pTJTpIT? HT? T A T^T'HQ East of the Missouri River, in Dakota and Minnesota, $4 per acre, with a rebate
irXwiUJU Ur JjAlN XJO. of 25 per cent, for acreage cultivated within two years from purchase. West of the

Missouri River, along its completed road in Western Dakota and Montana, and in the beautiful valley of the Yellow-
stone, the company offers a large area of fine farming lands at the government price of $2.50 per acre {with a charge of 10
cents per acre to coper cost of surveying, &c.) admirably adapted for stock raising and general farming purposes. The
Northern Pacific is now completed and in operation to a point ninety miles west of Miles City, on the Yellowstone
River in Montana, and will soon be opened 200 miles further west. Settlers who go into this new region will have the
advantage of a choice of locations and lands, and of the rapid rise in the value of property. The climate of the Pacific
country is bracing and healthful.

IN THE MOUNTAIN REGION OF MONTANA
Sooa to be traversed bv the road there are many lovely and fertile valleys awaiting settlement, and vast wealth in
Gold, Silver, Copper and Iron offers fine openings in every kind of mining enterprise. Upon the Pacific slope the
Northern Pacific railroad is now in operation from Paget Sound to i>en d'Oreille Lake in Northern Idaho. 10,000,00-
acres of magnificent timber and wheat lands of unparalleled fertility in Oregon and Washington Territory are offered
for sale by the company in the immediate vicinity of rail and water transportation at the rate of $2 60 per acre.

PACIFIC COAST LANDS.
For information relating to the lands of the company west of the Rocky Mountains, address J. H. Hodghton, General

Land Agent, New Tacoma, W. T.or Paul Sohulze, General Immigration Agent, Portland, Oregon, or A. S. Stokes, Gen-
eral Agent, 52 Clark street, Chicago.

THE NORTHERN PACIFIC COUNTRY,
From Lake Superior to the Pacific Ocean, has unsurpassed attractions to the tourist. It offering an unrivalled field for
fishinf and hunting. For information and reduced rates for round-trip tourist and excursion tickets, address G. K.
Babnbs General Passenger and Ticket Agent, St. Pan), Minn. H. Haui'T, General Manager. J. M. Hannafoed, General
Freight' Agent. G. K. BABNEa, G. P. & T, A., St. Paul, Minnesota.

MINNESOTA, DAKOTA, AND MONTANA LANDS.
For land seekers' and colonists' rates of fare and freight, and inquiries relating to movements of colonists, and with

reference to traveling and land agencies, address P. B. Gboat, General Immigration Agent.

For all information referring to location, description, and prices of the millions of acres of cheap lands for sale by
this company, and for maps and descriptive publications relating thereto, address R. M. Newpoet, General Land Agent.
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RAILWAY COMPANY
OPERATES

TWO GREAT TRUNK LINES

RUNNING

NORTH AND WEST
FROM

ST. PAUL AND MINNEAPOLIS
UNITING AT

BJLKy2sr:K!s^iLiL.:E:i

And forming the only line which reaches every part of the Red River

Valley, It touches the Red River at three different

points and connects at either with 4,000

miles of inland navigation.

It traverses a section of country, whicli offers

:

^ ~

TO THE FARMER
A soil wMbh in richness and variety is unequaled.

TO THE BUSINESS MAN
An agricultural oommuaity who have been blessed with a succession of bountiful harvests.

TO THE SPORTSMAN
In its forests, on its prairies, in its numberless lakes or streams an abundance of game, and fish

of every variety.

TO THE TOURIST
Not only the most attractive Summer Eesort on the Continent

—

"LaikB IHilUietoilka.—but
the matchless beauties of the famous Park Eegion.

A. MANVEL,
General Manager.

W. S. ALEXANDER,
General Passenger Agent.

H. C, DAVIS,
Ass't General Passenger Age nt.

ST. ZP^XJL, IivdllDSr:]^.














